Annual Review of Immunology Volume 4 1986

The Acceptance and Rejection of Immunological concepts D W Talmage. Vol. 4: 1–12PDF (338K)

Factors Controlling the B-Cell Cycle F Melchers, and J Andersson. Vol. 4: 13–34PDF (700K)

An Overview of T-Suppressor Cell Circuits G L Asherson, V Colizzi, and M Zembala. Vol. 4: 37–68PDF (803K)

The Human Interleukin-2 Receptor W C Greene, and W J Leonard. Vol. 4: 69–95PDF (752K)

Lymphadenopathy-Associated-Virus Infection and Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome J C Gluckman, D Klatzmann, and L Montagnier. Vol. 4: 97–115PDF (690K)

Effector Mechanisms in Allograft Rejection D W Mason, and P J Morris. Vol. 4: 119–145PDF (701K)

Structural Correlates of Idiotopes J M Davie, M V Seiden, N S Greenspan, C T Lutz, T L Bartholow, and B L Clevinger. Vol. 4: 147–165PDF (675K)

Regulation of B-Cell Differentiation: Interactions of Factors and Corresponding Receptors Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono. Vol. 4: 167–204PDF (810K)

The Panspecific Hemopoietin of Activated T Lymphocytes (Interleukin-3) J W Schrader. Vol. 4: 205–216PDF (527K)

Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor Balance D H Perlmutter, and H R Colten. Vol. 4: 231–251PDF (681K)

Idiotypic Mimicry of Biological Receptors G N Gaulton, and M I Greene. Vol. 4: 253–276PDF (905K)

Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major Histocompatibility Complex-Encoded Molecules by DNA-Mediated Gene Transfer R N Germain, and B Malissen. Vol. 4: 281–315PDF (864K)

The Regulation and Expression of c-myc in Normal and Malignant Cells K Kelly, and U Siebenlist. Vol. 4: 317–338PDF (606K)

Regulation of the Assembly and Expression of Variable-Region Genes G D Yancopoulos, and F W Alt. Vol. 4: 339–368PDF (693K)

Current Status of Immunological Adjuvants H S Warren, F R Vogel, and L A Chedid. Vol. 4: 369–388PDF (818K)

Immunoglobulin A: Strategic Defense Initiative at the Mucosal Surface B J Underdown, and J M Schiff. Vol. 4: 389–417PDF (851K)

The Receptor with High Affinity for Immunoglobulin E H Metzger, G Alcaraz, R Hohman, J P Kinet, V Pribluda, and R Quarto. Vol. 4: 419–470PDF (1054K)

Murine Major Histocompatibility Complex Class-I Mutants: Molecular Analysis and Structure-Function Implications S G Nathenson, J Geliebter, G M Pfaffenbach, and R A Zeff. Vol. 4: 471–502PDF (909K)

The Membrane Attack Complex of Complement H J Muller-Eberhard. Vol. 4: 503–528PDF (652K)

The Molecular Genetics of the T-Cell Antigen Receptor and T-Cell Antigen Recognition M Kronenberg, G Siu, L E Hood, and N Shastri. Vol. 4: 529–591PDF (1774K)

The Role of the T3/Antigen Receptor Complex in T-Cell Activation A Weiss, J Imboden, K Hardy, B Manger, C Terhorst, and J Stobo. Vol. 4: 593–619PDF (751K)

The Physiology of B Cells as Studied with Tumor Models J M Hanley-Hyde, and R G Lynch. Vol. 4: 621–649PDF (865K)

Mechanism of Cytotoxicity by Natural Killer (NK) Cells R B Herberman, C W Reynolds, and J R Ortaldo. Vol. 4: 651–680PDF (869K)

Cancer Immunotherapy Using Interleukin-2 and Interleukin-2-Activated Lymphocytes S A Rosenberg, and M T Lotze. Vol. 4: 681–709



noved W, Talmage

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS

David W. Talmage

Webb Waring Lung Institute and the Department of Microbiology and Immunology, The University of Colorado School of Medicine, Denver, Colorado 80262

INTRODUCTION

Immunology is rich in concepts. Some of these, like "suppressor cells" and "helper cells," are difficult for the outsider to grasp and still more difficult to apply, but others, like "monoclonal antibodies," have been widely applied outside immunology. Still other concepts—e.g. DNA rearrangement—have pioneered scientific advance in a wide area of molecular biology.

The history of immunology is fascinating in part because the central concepts that power its research have changed so rapidly. In the 30 years before 1948, the word "lymphocyte" did not appear in the index of the *Journal of Immunology* (1). Today, half of the papers in that much expanded journal involve research on some aspect of lymphocytes.

What accounts for the rise and fall of biological concepts? It is my thesis that acceptance or rejection of a particular concept by the scientific community does not rest entirely on direct experimental evidence, but on the general milieu of related concepts that have preceded and followed it. This rather simplified version of Kuhn's paradigm theory (2) is based entirely on my own experience during nearly 40 years of research in immunology. It is by no means a documented study of the sociology of scientific advance.

The acceptance of a successful scientific concept appears to go through three distinct phases:

1. General skepticism about a new proposal that runs counter to the general tenets of the day.

1

- 2 TALMAGE
- 2. Wide awareness of an interesting but controversial hypothesis.
- 3. General acceptance of the concept as the preferred basis of research in the field.

The emergence of the new concept requires little evidence or support, but instead only an independent mind dissatisfied with current theories. The concept arrives at the second phase when several preparatory concepts that make it plausible have already reached general acceptance. The third phase is reached when the new concept has given birth to numerous successful descendants, i.e. concepts that have made it at least to phase 2.

The above thesis ascribes little credit to direct experimental evidence in the acceptance of a new concept. This is because experimental evidence in biology is rarely universally compelling. Evidence that appears to convince one scientist is frequently discounted by another. Thus, the wide acceptance of a particular concept depends more on the total framework of accepted and acceptable theories than on the experimental evidence designed to test that particular concept.

I will illustrate the above thesis with a description of the origin and acceptance of the cell selection theory, a concept that has interested me for thirty years. I will then attempt to apply the thesis to two of the concepts that are most controversial in immunology today.

CELL SELECTION THEORY

It was 1900 when Paul Ehrlich (3) first introduced a selective theory of immunity before the Royal Society in London. The side-chain theory, as Ehrlich called it, was a remarkable synthesis of the two existing and hotly debated theories of cellular and humoral immunity. Ehrlich had an excellent concept of the interaction between antigen and antibody molecules, cellular receptors and antibody molecules. He also proposed that antibodies were natural body proteins with which antigens made an accidental good fit. The side-chain theory should have launched the beginnings of cellular immunology. Instead it was rapidly forgotten. Like Mendel, Ehrlich was ahead of his time. To the scientists of his day, the sidechain theory seemed so ridiculous that it was not worth considering. His theory never made it past the first phase. When Landsteiner (4) showed that antibodies could be made to newly synthesized chemicals, the side-chain theory and the study of cells were dropped from the consideration of immunologists for more than 30 years.

This was the period of serology (1910–1940). The word "immunology" was invented in 1911 (5), the American Association of Immunologists

founded in 1913 (1), and the *Journal of Immunology* began publication in 1916. Immunologists of this period were primarily concerned with serum antibody. Landsteiner, Heidelberger, and Kabat were the dominant scientists in the field. In 1930, Breinl & Haurowitz (6) published their template theory of antibody formation, which was made more explicit by Pauling (7) in 1940.

Although people paid scant attention to the role of cells in antibody formation (Where did they think antibodies came from?), important progress was made in understanding the basis of immunological specificity. Landsteiner came very close to our modern concept in his discussion of Malkoff's findings (8). Malkoff had come to the conclusion that normal serum contained as many different specific agglutinins as there were sorts of cells that could be agglutinated. Malkoff demonstrated that unabsorbed goat serum could agglutinate pigeon, rabbit, and human blood. He showed, through a process of absorption, that the agglutination of each blood type had to be due to a different antibody. It was possible to absorb out the agglutinins for any two of the blood types and yet find that the third agglutinin remained active.

Because of the large number of different substances that could be agglutinated by normal serum and because each type of agglutinin amounted to several microgams per milliliter of serum, Landsteiner rejected Malkoff's explanation (4). He was able to purify the agglutinins by absorption and elution and to show that while the purified agglutinins acted most strongly on the red cells used for absorption, they also agglutinated other sorts of cells. Landsteiner concluded that:

"If one assumes that normal serum contains a sufficient number of agglutinins each reacting with a certain proportion of all bloods, a given sort of blood will absorb from a serum all those agglutinins for which it has affinity and there will remain after absorption some that react with freshly added blood of other species... One may conjecture that there exists a much greater variety of globulin molecules than would appear from physiochemical examination, some of which by virtue of accidental affinity to certain substrates are picked out as antibodies."

The preceding statement by Landsteiner had two of the essential ingredients of a selective theory: natural diversity and accidental affinity. He correctly attributed the specificity of natural antibodies to unique combinations of natural globulins. An extension of this concept to include immune antibodies might have seemed likely, because of the similarity of Landsteiner's own results with antisera to synthetic haptens to those of Malkoff with natural agglutinins (9). However, Landsteiner was not ready to make this jump because a number of essential ideas about cells were missing from his conceptual framework. Immune antibodies were thought

4 TALMAGE

to be more specific than natural antibodies, and no understanding existed of the nature or basis of immunological memory. Biology had not yet entered the immunological arena.

Nevertheless, it was Landsteiner & Chase who started the trend back to cellular studies. Although the current dogma held that natural and immune antibodies were different, it held a very unitarian view of immune antibodies. Agglutinins, precipitins, and hemolysins were considered different manifestations of the same antibody. Thus, when two allergists, Straus & Coca (10), claimed that immediate and delayed hypersensitivities were due to different types of antibodies, Landsteiner set out to prove them wrong. This culminated in the classic report with Chase (11) in 1942 announcing that delayed hypersensitivity could be transferred with cells.

The report of Landsteiner & Chase heralded the rebirth of cellular immunology. Thus, Landsteiner, who had effectively buried Ehrlich's synthesis of cellular and humoral immunity, played a large role in the rebirth of cellular studies 30 years later. The same year (1942) Coons et al (12) introduced the technique of immunofluorescence that made it possible to trace antigen and antibody inside cells. Three years later, Owen (13) reported that cattle twins of different sexes were red-cell chimeras, and six years later (1948), Fagraeus (14) showed that antibodies were made in plasma cells.

Antibody Production

In 1949 Burnet & Fenner (15) published the first edition of a small book called *Production of Antibodies*. In it they strongly attacked the current chemical approach to immunology and the isolation of immunology from the mainstream of biology. They looked to adaptive processes in bacteria for a model of antibody formation and introduced the term "protein synthesizing unit" (ribosomes were unknown at that time). They also attempted to explain Owen's red-cell chimeras with a self-marker theory of immunological tolerance. Thus, the little book played a large role in changing the conceptual framework through which antibody formation was viewed. I know it made a large impression on me, because it was published just as I was starting out in immunology.

It was just at this time that I was fortunate to spend two years (1950– 1952) with Frank Dixon learning the new radioisotope techniques and studying the effects of whole-body radiation on antibody formation. In a rooftop laboratory at Washington University Medical School in St. Louis, we labeled bovine gamma globulin with ¹³¹I, dialyzed it in huge cellophane sacks, and injected it into hundreds of beautiful white rabbits. We became very adept at removing small samples of blood from rabbit ear veins and then following the disappearance of antigen. The effect of whole-body radiation was easy to demonstrate. By blocking the production of antibody, radiation prevented the immune removal of labeled antigen from the blood. By varying the time of radiation relative to the injection of antigen, we showed that there were radiosensitive and radioresistant phases in antibody formation. Our explanation of these effects proposed that the antigen-induced modification of the gamma globulin generator was radiosensitive but that the actual production of antibody protein was radioresistant (16). This clearly followed the ideas of Burnet & Fenner.

Using the same ¹³¹I-labeled BGG, Paul Maurer and I (17) developed a labeled antigen precipitation test, called the P-80 because the endpoint chosen for comparison of different antisera was the precipitation of 80% of the label. Using this test we could easily show that the quantity of antibody detected in serum depended on a number of factors, such as the serum dilution and the amount of active complement present. This was contrary to the tenets of the "quantitative precipitation test" that purported to measure antibody in absolute nitrogen units. It was the first indication to me that the avidity of antibody was quite variable and that there was no clear line of demarcation between antibody and normal globulin. In other words, the specificity of antibody was not absolute.

In 1952 I moved to the University of Chicago and started to purify labeled antibodies by absorption and elution from an insoluble column. The tremendous variability in avidity of antibodies became quite apparent (18). Some of the labeled antibody came off the antigen column easily, with just a wash. Antibody of intermediate avidity could be exchanged with an unlabeled antiserum or removed with an acid wash. There was always some label that never came off the column. The great variability in avidity seemed to indicate that most antibody made an imperfect fit with antigen. How good did the fit have to be to qualify the globulin as an antibody and what distinguished antibody from nonantibody globulin? Didn't this indicate that there must be a tremendous diversity in normal globulin? If so, was it possible that antibodies were just the rare types of normal globulins that just happened to combine with antigen? These were some of the questions that were raised by the finding that antibodies were highly diverse with respect to avidity.

It seems significant to me that Niels Jerne's thesis work (19) was on the change in the avidity of diphtheria antitoxin and that this probably played a role in his development of the natural selection theory (see below).

In Chicago I developed a close collaboration with William (Tolly) and Lucy Taliaferro. Like Dixon's group, they had also made observations on the radiosensitivity of antibody formation (20). Tolly had started out as a zoologist at Johns Hopkins and had become interested in the host response to parasitic infections. He and Lucy, together with numerous students and

6 TALMAGE

collaborators, had made detailed studies of the cellular responses to trypanosomal and malarial infections. They introduced the term "lymphocyte-macrophage system" to indicate the cells most involved in immunity. Tolly was convinced that lymphocytes were stem cells that could differentiate into other cells such as monocytes, macrophages, and plasma cells. The marked radiosensitivity both of lymphocytes and of the immune response was a strong argument for the importance of lymphocytes to the immune response.

The Taliaferros had switched from studying parasites to measuring the hemolytic antibody response in rabbits to the injection of sheep red blood cells. They had developed an accurate, sensitive, and quantitative assay that could be performed on a small sample of blood. This permitted them to make frequent serial bleedings on the same animal. Using this technique Tolly was able to show that after an injection of antigen the concentration of antibody in the serum rose in a straight line if expressed as the logarithm (21) and that the peak titers of a large group of rabbits showed a log normal distribution.

Both the log normal and log rise of antibody titers seemed to fit with Burnet & Fenner's concept of a natural protein-synthesizing unit that could replicate. It is probably significant that Burnet & Fenner had also noted the logarithmic rise in antibody titer. In 1953, the classic paper of Billingham, Brent & Medawar (22) demonstrated that self-recognition could be learned in utero. This showed that immunological memory could be negative as well as positive and was strong evidence for a genetically determined antibody-synthesizing unit.

In 1954 the Harrises (23) and in 1955 Roberts & Dixon (24) showed that the production of antibody could be transferred with cells. Some of those who supported the antigen-template theory of antibody formation suggested that the anamnestic response and the production of antibody by transferred cells were both due to the release of preformed stores. In 1955 Tolly and I determined to test this hypothesis in a critical experiment (25). A rabbit preimmunized with bovine serum albumin (BSA) was given a second injection of BSA and over the next 5 days, 10 injections of ³⁵S-labeled yeast hydrolysate. At the end of this time the spleen cells of the rabbit were synthesizing highly labeled antibody, as indicated by radioactivity counts in the antigen-antibody complex precipitated from its serum. The spleen cells of this animal were removed, washed thoroughly, and injected into an unlabeled recipient. Within two days the serum of the recipient animal contained measurable amounts of antibody. The fact that this antibody was not labeled was clear evidence that it had been newly synthesized and that we had transferred antibody-producing cells, not preformed antibody. The experiment was also done the other way around (by labeling the recipient instead of the donor) with the same conclusion. Since only living cells could transfer antibody synthesis in this way, the cells themselves must be the antibody synthesizing units.

Natural Selection Theory

The results of the cell transfer experiments were incompatible with Jerne's Natural Selection Theory (26) which was published the same year (1955). Jerne had postulated a large set of natural globulins that had been diversified in some random fashion. The function of antigen was to combine with those globulins with which it made a chance fit and then to transport these selected globulins into an antibody-forming cell. This cell would then make identical copies of the globulin presented to it.

Jerne's theory was beautiful because it explained most of the recently developed concepts about antibodies. These included (a) immunological memory that could be both positive (anamnesis) and negative (immunological tolerance); (b) a specificity of antibodies that was not absolute but based on unique combinations of antibodies with a wide spectrum of avidities; (c) the identity of natural and immune antibodies; and (d) the logarithmic rise in antibody titer and the log normal distribution of peak titers.

However, Jerne's theory had several weaknesses. In addition to its inability to explain the cellular basis of immunological memory, his postulation of protein replication was without precedent and at odds with the developing consensus that the ability to replicate was the exclusive property of nucleic acids. Nevertheless, it was a simple matter to substitute randomly diversified cells for Jerne's randomly diversified globulin molecules and thus to develop a cell selection theory of antibody formation. This appears to have been done independently and almost simultaneously in 1956 and 1957 in Chicago (27) and Melbourne (28).

Evidence in favor of the cell or clonal selection theory was quick to arrive. Nossal & Lederberg (29) reported that single antibody-producing cells in culture made only one antibody. Newborn and fetal pigs (30) were found to have immunoglobulin determinants on the lymphocytes in their circulation. It was possible to destroy selectively the response of spleen cells to one antigen without affecting the response to another (31). Colonies of antibody-forming cells could be found in the spleen of animals given whole body gamma radiation and injected with small numbers of spleen cells (32). Perhaps the most impressive evidence of all was that of Raff, Feldman & de Petris (33), who showed that incubation of lymphocytes with antigen could aggregate (cap) all the surface immunoglobulin on antigen-binding cells; this indicated that the only immunoglobulin on the surface of these cells was antibody of a single specificity.

8 TALMAGE

Despite all the evidence, general acceptance of the cell selection theory was slow in coming. As late as January 1967 I gave a talk to the Midwinter Conference of Immunologists in Honolulu on "The Pallbearers of Clonal Selection" (Figure 1). In it I listed five current arguments against the theory and tried to answer them. Clearly cell selection was still on the defensive despite considerable direct evidence in its favor.

Acceptance of Cell Selection Theory

What happened in the 1970s to change the situation? The theory is not only generally accepted today but has become immunological dogma. This did not happen because of additional direct evidence. I believe it happened because cellular immunology itself exploded. Immunologists began to work with cells. First there were T cells and B cells (34), and then there were ten classes and subclasses of B cells and helper cells and suppressor cells and killer cells. The final coup was production of monoclonal antibodies (35). None of these concepts was designed as a test of cell selection. But the framework on which they were based assumed cell selection.

Molecular immunology also advanced rapidly in the 1970s. The structure of immunoglobulin and its genetic basis were completely developed. The finding that there were many different V genes rearranged randomly in different cells provided the molecular basis for diversity. Cell

THE HAPPY PALLBEARERS



Figure 1 A cartoon used in a talk to the Midwinter Conference of Immunologists in January, 1967, in Honolulu, Hawaii, depicting five current arguments against the clonal selection theory. The conclusion of the talk was that it was too early to bury the theory.

selection ceased to be controversial and became part of the immunological milieu.

CONTEMPORARY CONTROVERSIES

Finally, I would like to mention two concepts that are still quite controversial despite the fact that considerable experimental evidence has been reported in their favor. These are the concepts of an antigen-specific transfer factor and antigen-specific suppressor cells.

The existence of a dialyzable factor that could transfer delayed-type hypersensitivity to a specific antigen was first reported by Lawrence (36) in 1955, two years before the cell selection theories were proposed. At first, transfer factor could be demonstrated only in humans, but more recently it has been repeatedly confirmed in animals (37). One problem with the concept of transfer factor is that a clear picture of what it is and how it works is lacking. Immunologists are unable to connect it with what is known about immunoglobulins and T-cell receptors. The latter is particularly important if transfer factor is responsible for delayed hypersensitivity, an established T-cell function. In this regard, transfer factor lacks the MHC restriction characteristic of T-cells. It is also clearly too small to be the part of either an immunoglobulin molecule or a T-cell that recognizes antigen. Thus, we must assume that transfer factor represents a third type of antigen recognition system. If so, what is its structure and how is its diversity accomplished? Does it have a common and a variable region? These questions will have to be answered before there is general acceptance of the concept.

The problem with suppressor cells is somewhat similar to that with transfer factor, but worse. Despite a plethora of experimental evidence, widespread skepticism remains about the functional significance of suppressor cells. There is not just one antigen-specific suppressor factor, but at least five different factors (38, 39). Suppressor factors appear to come from T-cells and require T-cells to function, but unlike T-cells, they appear to recognize antigen directly (38) i.e. without MHC restriction. In this respect they resemble transfer factor, but unlike transfer factor, suppressor factors are not dialyzable. Thus, suppressor cells require the postulation of a fourth antigen-recognition system.

In summary, transfer factor and suppressor T-cells need to be brought into the mainstream of molecular biology and molecular immunology. I am convinced that they are real, but until their recognition systems and the mechanisms of their action are clearly elucidated, I will be skeptical of their physiological significance.

10 TALMAGE

Literature Cited

- Talmage, D. W. 1979. Beyond cellular immunology. J. Immunol. 123:1-5
- Kuhn, T. S. 1970. The Structure of Scientific Revolutions. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press. 210 pp. 2nd ed.
- Ehrlich, P. 1900. On immunity with special reference to cell life. Proc. R. Soc. London 66:424
- Landsteiner, K. 1933. Die Spezifizitat der serologischen Reaktionen. Berlin: Springer-Verlag
- Gay, F. P. 1911. Immunology: a medical science developed through animal experimentation. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 56: 578-83
- Breinl, F., Haurowitz, F. 1930. Chemische Undersuching des Prazipitates aus Hamoglobin und Anti-Hamoglobin-Serum und Bemerkungen uber die Natur der Antikorper. Z. Physiol. Chem. 192:45
- Pauling, L. 1940. A theory of the structure and process of formation of antibodies. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62:2643-57
- Malkoff, G. 1900. Beitrag zur frage der agglutination der rathe Blutkorperche. Deut. Med. Wochschr. 26:229
- Landsteiner, K., van der Scheer, J. 1936. On cross reactions of immune sera to azo proteins. J. Exp. Med. 63: 325–29
- Straus, H., Coca, A. 1937. Studies in experimental hypersensitivities in the rhesus monkey. III. On the manner of development of the hypersensitiveness in contact dermatitis. J. Immunol. 33: 215-28
- Landsteiner, K., Chase, M. 1942. Experiments on the transfer of cutaneous sensitivity to simple compounds. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 49:688-90
- Coons, A., Creech, H., Jones, R., Berliner, E. 1942. The demonstration of pneumococcal antigen in tissues by the use of fluorescent antibody. J. Immunol. 45: 159-77
- Owen, R. 1945. Immunogenetic consequences of vascular anatomoses between bovine twins. Science 102:400– 401
- Fagraeus, A. 1948. The plasma cellular reaction and its relation to the formation of antibodies in vitro. J. Immunol. 58: 1-13
- Burnet, F., Fenner, F. 1949. Production of Antibodies. Melbourne: MacMillan. 133 pp.
- Dixon, F., Talmage, D., Maurer, P. 1952. Radiosensitive and radioresistant phases in the antibody response. J. Immunol. 68:693-700

- Talmage, D. W., Maurer, P. 1953. I¹³¹ labelled antigen precipitation as a measure of quantity and quality of antibody. J. Infect. Dis. 92:288–300
- Talmage, D., Baker, H., Akeson, W. 1954. The separation and analysis of labeled antibodies. J. Infect. Dis. 94: 199-212
- Jerne, N. K. 1951. A study of avidity. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. Suppl. 87:1-183
- Taliaferro, W., Taliaferro, L., Janssen, E. 1952. The localization of x-ray injury to the initial phases of the antibody response. J. Infect. Dis. 91:105-24
- Taliaferro, W., Taliaferro, L. 1951. The role of spleen in hemolysin production in rabbits receiving multiple antigen injections. J. Infect. Dis. 89: 143-68
- Billingham, R., Brent, L., Medawar, P. 1953. Actively acquired tolerance of foreign cells. *Nature* 172:603-606
- Harris, A., Harris, T. N. 1954. Studies on the transfer of lymph node cells. III. Effects of variation in the interval between the injection of antigen into the donor and the collection of lymph node cells. J. Exp. Med. 100: 269–88
- Roberts, J. C., Dixon, F. J. 1955. The transfer of lymph node cells in the study of the immune response to foreign proteins. J. Exp. Med. 102: 379-92
- Taliaferro, W., Talmage, D. 1955. Absence of amino acid incorporation into antibody during the induction period. J. Infect. Dis. 97:88–99
- Jerne, N. K. 1955. The natural selection theory of antibody formation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 41:849-57
- Talmage, D. W. 1957. Allergy and immunology. Ann. Rev. Med. 8:239-56
- Burnet, F. 1957. A modification of Jerne's theory of antibody production using the concept of clonal selection. Aust. J. Sci. 20:67–68
- Nossal, G. J. V., Lederberg, J. 1958. Antibody production by single cells. *Nature* 181:1419-20
- Binns, R. M., Feinstein, A., Gurner, B. W., Coombs, R. R. A. 1972. Immunoglobulin determinants on lymphocytes of adult, neonatal and foetal pigs. *Nature* 239:114-16
- Dutton, R. W., Mishell, R. J. 1967. Cell populations and cell proliferation in the in vitro response of normal spleen to heterologous erythrocytes: Analysis by the hot pulse technique. J. Exp. Med. 126:443-54
- 32. Playfair, J. H. L., Papermaster, B. W.,

Cole, L. J. 1965. Focal antibody production by transferred spleen cells in irradiated mice. *Science* 149:998-1000

- Raff, M. C., Feldmann, M., de Petris, S. 1973. Monospecificity of bone marrow derived lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 137:1024-30
- Claman, H. C., Chaperon, E. A., Triplett, R. F. 1966. Thymus marrow cell combinations—synergism in antibody production. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 122: 1167-71
- Kohler, G., Milstein, C. 1976. Derivation of specific antibody producing tissue culture and tumor lines by cell fusion. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 6:511-19
- 36. Lawrence, H. S. 1955. The transfer in

humans of delayed skin sensitivity to streptococcal M substance and to tuberculin with disrupted leucocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 34:219-30

- Kirkpatrick, C. H., Rozzo, S. J., Mascali, J. J., Merryman, C. F. 1985. Murine transfer factor. II. Transfer of delayed hypersensitivity to synthetic antigens. J. *Immunol.* 134: 1723-27
- Dorf, M. E., Benacerraf, B. 1984. Suppressor cells and immunoregulation. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:127-57
- Strober, S. 1984. Natural suppressor (NS) cells, neonatal tolerance, and total lymphoid irradiation. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:219-37



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE- REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4:13–36 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE

Fritz Melchers

Basel Institute for Immunology, Basel, Switzerland

Jan Andersson

Department of Immunology, Biomedicum, University of Uppsala, Uppsala, Sweden

INTRODUCTION

The basis of a humoral response of the immune system to antigen is the proliferation of antigen-specific B lymphocytes and their maturation to antibody(immunoglobulin, Ig)-secreting cells (1). Antigen selects from the repertoire of resting B cells, each expressing one of the diverse sets of variable regions of heavy and light chains of Ig on their surface (2-5). Upon stimulation, in vivo or in vitro, B cells will divide every 20 hr at 37° C, in vitro for 5–15 divisions (6). A single B-cell clone retains remarkable synchrony for several divisions (6, 7). When B cells mature they not only increase their rate of Ig synthesis and begin actively to secrete Ig, they also switch the class of heavy chains that carry the variable regions involved in antigen recognition. A single dividing clone of B cells may switch at any division (8). Switching occurs in individual cells of the clone. Furthermore, a high rate of somatic mutations occurs in Ig genes during the process of clonal B-cell expansion that may alter the specificity of antigen recognition (9-12). Within an expanding clone of B cells, some cells may return to rest and remain in the immune system as long-lived memory cells (13). In vitro such memory cells have not yet been generated unambiguously. In vitro studies with polyclonally activated murine B cells have, however, given some insight into the kinetics of a B-cell response and the qualitative and quantitative changes in the expression of Ig genes that occur during this process (Figure 1) (14).

B cells can be activated to divide without maturing to Ig secretion (15-17)and can mature without dividing (18-21). In most stimulations, however, successive B-cell cycles are accompanied by gradual increases in the number maturing to Ig-secreting cells (22), a process that appears to be frozen at different stages in different B-cell tumors (23). This complexity and flexibility in responses of B cells to stimulation, whether virgin or memory B cells, make the interpretations of many measurements of B-cell activation ambiguous in their physiological meaning.

For the initiation of most B-cell responses, binding of antigen to Ig on the surface is a necessary but not a sufficient first step. Exceptions to this rule are the polyclonal responses of B cells to lipopolysaccharides (LPS) (24) and to lipid A (25, 26), as well as to lipoprotein (27), that circumvent the binding steps to Ig (28). These responses to B-cell mitogens were early signs that pointed toward our now generally accepted view that antigen-nonspecific growth and maturation factors, binding and signalling via receptors other than surface Ig, are needed to stimulate B cells to proliferate and mature. The other sign that suggested multiple controls of the B-cell cycle came from discoveries indicating that cooperation among helper T lymphocytes, accessory cells (A cells, macrophages), and B cells is needed for B cells



Figure 1 Changes of Ig expression in B cells after stimulation to proliferation and maturation to Ig-secreting cells.

to respond to most antigens (29-32). Furthermore, it became evident that these interactions were governed by the membrane proteins encoded in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), in particular by those of class-II molecules (Ia-antigens) (33, 34). Thus, only histocompatible cells, i.e. those expressing the same MHC antigens, could cooperate. T cells of a histoincompatible MHC haplotype could, however, adapt during their differentiation from stem cells in the thymus so they could cooperate with A cells and B cells expressing the MHC haplotype that the T cells had encountered in the thymus. Consequently stem cells of (a) haplotype, differentiating in the environment of the (b) thymus, may now cooperate with (b) A and (b) B cells (34, 35). On the other hand, B cells appear to be unable to adapt to a foreign MHC haplotype during their differentiation from stem cells (36), although reports to the contrary exist (37). Thus, interactions between T cells, A cells, and B cells have directions that are imposed by T-cell receptors that interact with antigen in the context of MHC (Figure 2). This concept has gained strong in vitro experimental support by the establishment of antigen-specific, MHC-restricted longterm tissue-culture lines of cloned helper T cells, which have followed these rules for T cell-A cell-B cell interactions (38, 39).



Figure 2 Antigen-specific, MHC-restricted T cell–B cell and T cell–A cell interactions, and lymphokines that have been reported to be produced by the different cells. It should be emphasized that this scheme of lymphokine production is oversimplified as it is derived from measurements with established or transformed cell lines, hybridomas, and tumors, while only scarce information is available for normal resting or activated cells. Our bias is that the spectra of lymphokine production are much more restricted in *normal* A, T, and B cells than those shown here.

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:13-34. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

The interaction of T cells, A cells, and B cells has at least three phases (40). The first is uptake and presentation of antigen by A cells followed by cellcell interaction with T cells. This leads to lymphokine production by A and T cells (Figure 2). The second is the excitation of antigen-specific B lymphocytes from their resting state, which makes them susceptible to lymphokine action that induces proliferation. The third is the cell-cycle control of activated lymphocytes by lymphokines, antigen, and cell-cell interactions. Classically, substances that elicit B-cell responses are divided into thymus-independent (41, 42) and thymus-dependent (29–31) antigens on the basis of whether they require cooperating T cells in order to generate an antibody response. Since the final outcome of antigenic stimulation is the same, namely, proliferation and maturation, it implies that thymusindependent antigens can circumvent or substitute for the effects delivered by T cells. We discuss below these multiple effects of the T cells.

THE INVOLVEMENT OF A CELLS IN B-CELL RESPONSES

One of the early events after antigen administration is its uptake by cells of the reticulo-endothelial system. These cells endocytose, digest, and present on the surface the antigen and fragments thereof to the helper T cells that recognize the antigen or its fragments in the context of MHC class-II antigens also expressed on the surface of these so-called antigen-processing, antigen-presenting, accessory (A) cells (43). A variety of cells can perform as A cells for T cells. They all express MHC class-II antigens and have the ability to endocytose, digest, and exocytose the antigen. While macrophages do so irrespective of the antigen, B cells will use their antigenspecific receptors to present "their" antigen specifically. As a consequence, antigen-specific B cells need much (up to 10^4 times) lower concentrations of antigen for presentation (44–46).

One result of the interaction between A cells (or B cells) and T cells is the production of lymphokines that act on T cells and B cells to stimulate proliferation and maturation (Figure 2). The tissue-culture media conditioned by these cell interactions can serve to stimulate antigen-specific B-cell responses in vitro. Since they do so also with T cell-depleted B-cell populations, the factors in these conditioned media have been called T cell-replacing factors (TRF) (47, 48, 112). Considerable confusion exists as to which lymphokines are active on B cells and which cells (A or T cells, or B cells) make which lymphokines. In addition, contaminations of cell lines by mycoplasma may contribute soluble products that may be among the many factors controlling in vitro B-cell growth and maturation (49–51).

It should be stressed that helper-T cells have one direct and two indirect

actions on B cells. In the direct interaction they are expected to excite cells to susceptibility to growth factors by interactions that involve the recognition of antigen and MHC by the T-cell receptor. It remains unclear whether T cell-independent antigens use their regularly repeated determinants to crosslink surface Ig as the T cell-replacing action at this point of the B-cell cycle (52, 53). In the indirect actions two types of factors produced by T cells and by macrophages stimulate B cells through the cell cycle. For the two forms of T-independent antigens, A cells are indispensable for B-cell growth (54). However, differences exist for T-independent antigens in their requirement for lymphokines produced by helper T cells: type-II antigens appear to need them (55), while type-I are independent (52).

THE NATURE OF A CELL–DERIVED B-CELL PROLIFERATION FACTORS

The influence of A cells on B-cell responses can be replaced by that of factors secreted by activated A cells (56, 57). We have called these activities α factors (40). Three types of assays have been employed for their detection : (a) the proliferation of J558 plasmacytoma cells that require α factor (58), (b) the proliferation of A cell-depleted B-cell blasts (59), and (c) the activation of A cell-depleted resting B cells into the cell cycle (57). In the two latter assays α factors are required but not sufficient for B-cell proliferation, i.e. they act synergistically together with polyclonal activators such as LPS. Recent studies with A cell-depleted, polyclonally activated, synchronized B-cell blasts have shown that α factors control the entry into S phase at a restriction point some 4-6 hr after mitosis in the G1 phase within the 20-hrlong cell cycle (59). It is at this point that diterpine forskolin may interfere with B-cell growth (60). The action of α factors can be inhibited by the soluble complement component C3d (62). On the other hand C3b or C3d, either aggregated or Sepharose-bound, replaces the effects of α factors in the B-cell cycle (61, 62).

These results recall earlier findings (63, 64) that have implied a role for C3 in the activation of B cells. In line with these findings are observations that find C3d-K, a kallikrein cleavage fragment of iC3b, to be a potent inhibitor of mitogen-induced B-cell proliferation (65). The C3d-specific complement receptor CR2 is expressed lineage-specifically on human B cells as a 140-kd glycoprotein (66–68, 72, 73). Polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies have been generated against CR2. Some of these antibodies have been shown to promote both proliferation and Ig secretion of human B cells (68, 69), while others inhibited such responses (70, 71). Although murine B cells that bind C3 were found enriched in marginal zones (74), the receptors for C3d on murine cells have not yet been characterized in molecular composition and

by specific antibodies (72, 73). One may postulate from these observations that A cells influence B-cell growth by releasing some components of complement—in particular C3, which signals via the C3d-specific CR2 receptor.

The finding that soluble C3d is inhibitory while aggregated C3, C3b, or C3d is stimulatory raises the question why soluble α factors are stimulatory if they are indeed complement components. The hypothesis may be advanced that microaggregation of CR2 receptors could be achieved by C3b interacting with other complement components such as C4b and C2a, thus providing a positive signal for B cells. One may, in fact, expand this speculation by the suggestion that the early pathway of complement activation is enacted on the B-cell surface. It starts with the binding of antigen to surface Ig, which then allows binding of C1q. This, in turn, activates C1r and C1s, then C2, C4, and finally C3. It is conceivable that some of the complement components could even be made by B cells, while others are already known to be produced by A cells such as macrophages (75, 76).

Many transformed cell lines of the T-, B-, and A-cell lineages have been found to produce α -factor-like activities (58), and we suspect that some of the B-cell growth-factor activities reported (77–80) are, in fact, α factors. Furthermore, the B cell growth factors produced by a T-cell hybridoma that stimulate proliferation but no maturation of activated B cells (101) appear to have α -, but no β -factor activity (F. Melchers and W. Lernhardt, in preparation). Interestingly, the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), which stimulates resting, but not activated, human B cells polyclonally (81, 82), enters the cells via the CR2 receptor (67, 71, 83). The α -factor-like EBV-stimulated entry of human B cells into S phase certainly provides the DNA-synthetic activity of a B cell that is required for the integration of the viral genome. Whether this also is a requisite for the subsequent immortalization of the cells by the virus is not known.

We believe that many of the differences observed in various assay systems for factors influencing B-cell growth and maturation reside in differences in the requirement for exogenously added α factors. Highly purified IL-1 has been shown to have B cell-costimulatory activity (84-86). These experiments should soon also be done with IL-1 made by recombinant DNA technology (87, 88). It may well do so as an α -factor-like activity either directly by binding to the B-cell surface or indirectly by acting on contaminating A cells (57), which in turn produce α -factor activities. It cannot be stressed strongly enough that culture systems for investigating the role of α factors should employ A cell-depleted B-cell populations and must be devoid of serum (89), since serum can be expected to be abundant with such factors. Finally, therefore, it appears that an antigen-presenting cell must have three properties to elicit a T cell-dependent B-cell response : It must be able to bind (and process) antigen ; it must express MHC class-II antigens, and it must produce α -factor activities.

THE NATURE OF T CELL–DERIVED B-CELL PROLIFERATION FACTORS

Both murine and human T-cell lines, clones, tumors, and hybridomas are extensively employed as a source of B-cell growth factors (90–101). Most of these cells must be stimulated by either mitogens (91, 102), phorbol esters (91, 92, 96, 98, 103–106), IL-2 (90), or antigen (97, 106–108) to release such factors, albeit some T-cell lines and tumors secrete them constitutively (98, 109, 110). One well-characterized growth factor is murine BSF-1 (92, 104) to which a monoclonal antibody has been raised (111). BSF-1 can be purified in a series of steps to high purity (93, 104). Even the most purified preparations still elicit both proliferation and maturation to Ig-secreting cells of murine B cells in the presence of the appropriate costimulators, i.e. Ig-specific antibodies and fetal calf serum (94, 104). This is not unlike the action of LPS on murine B cells; it also stimulates proliferation and maturation. However, this apparently contrasts with findings that proliferation- and maturation-inducing activities are conveyed to the B cells by separate molecular entities (112–114). BSF-1 purified by affinity chromatography over a column with monoclonal antibody is found as two molecular species with weights of 14 kd and 18-20 kd (111). BSF-1 is different from IL-1, IL-2, and IL-3 (93, 115). The action of BSF-1 on B cells can be mimicked by a monoclonal antibody, NIMR-3 (116). Other candidates for such activity may be the antibodies specific for the B celldifferentiation antigen Lyb2 (117) that have been shown to stimulate activated B-cell blasts (118, 119). A monoclonal antibody has recently been found that identifies a potential receptor for BCGF-1 on human B cells (120). It did not induce proliferation of resting B cells but inhibited the BCGF-1-induced proliferation of activated B cells. Our own recent experiments with activated, synchronized murine B-cell blasts have indicated that T cell-derived B-cell replication factors, which we have called β -factors and which may, in part, be BSF-1, act late in the cell cycle in the G2 phase at a restriction point 2-4 hours before mitosis (59).

A B-cell growth factor (B151-TRF) has been purified extensively and shown to retain the capacity to induce proliferation *and* maturation of B cells (109, 169). This activity appears to be different from BSF-1 and, therefore, was suspected to be BCGF-II (121–124). However, B151-TRF differs from BCGF-II by molecular weight and by the capacity to be absorbed by BCL₁ cells (169).

B-cell responses have been divided into thymus-independent and thymus-dependent on the basis of the requirement of the antigens for cooperating T cells. Since the final outcome of these stimulations is the same, namely, proliferation and maturation, it implies that thymusindependent antigens can circumvent or substitute for the effects delivered by T cells. Polyclonal activators such as LPS, and all haptens coupled to them as T-independent antigens of type I, apparently do not need the costimulatory action of BSF-1, β -factors, to stimulate B cells to proliferate. Whether this is also true for T-independent antigens of type II is at least highly questionable since high concentrations of these antigens, in contrast to type-I antigens, are *not* polyclonal activators of B cells (125, 126). Also, Bcell responses to type-II antigens have been found to require factors released by the interaction of cloned helper T cells and A cells (52, 53, 127). In the latter experiments, however, as in many others, no distinction can be made between the factors produced by A cells and those from T cells.

IL-2 IN B-CELL RESPONSES

Both human and murine IL-2 can be obtained in purified form, either by using the isolated genes (128, 129) to produce the protein by recombinant DNA technology or by affinity chromatography using monoclonal anti-IL-2 antibodies (130). When such reagents were used together with monoclonal antibodies that identified the receptor for IL-2 (131-134) [in humans called T-activated cell (TAC)], it soon became evident from a flurry of publications that IL-2 binds to human and murine B cells (135-137), that IL-2 receptor-specific antibodies (139, 140) bind to B cells (138–140), that binding is competitively inhibited by the receptor-specific antibodies, and that B cells have high- and low-avidity binding sites for IL-2 (135, 141, 142), just as T cells do. IL-2 receptors of T and B cells appear to share structural identity (139). There is less agreement as to the functional consequences of this binding (141, 143-146). The antibodies to the IL-2 receptor generally have not induced proliferation or maturation of B cells. The effects of IL-2 on B cells are inhibited by monoclonal antibodies to the IL-2 receptor (139, 140). However, competition of actual binding of these ligands has not yet been shown. IL-2, on the other hand, reportedly induces human B-cell preparations, claimed to be of high purity, either to proliferation (136, 147), to proliferation and maturation (140), or to maturation only (143, 149, 150). For murine B-cell preparations, less agreement is noticeable: While some reports agree with the conclusions reached through studies with human Bcell preparations (137, 144, 145), others show that the proliferation capacity of such B-cell preparations may entirely be due to contaminating T cells (151, 152). That IL-2 is not the only growth factor for B cells is indicated by

the finding that BSF-1 is not IL-2 (93, 153) and that IL-2 can be absorbed out of EL-4 supernatants without loss of B cell-stimulatory activity (143).

T cells and B cells are generally regarded as two separate, however related, lineages of cellular differentiation. The finding that IL-2 has receptors on B cells and acts in functional ways with these cells appears as a departure from the notion that cell lineages can be distinguished by cell lineage-specific growth factors and corresponding specific receptors. We must leave it to a more specified review, in which the purity of B-cell preparations, the purity of IL-2 and IL-2-receptor-specific antibodies, the specificity of binding of these ligands, the crossreactions between species (e.g. human IL-2 on murine B cells), and the quantitation of the functional responses and their in vitro conditions are critically assessed, to accept the notion that, as one example, a murine B cell will proliferate (and mature) in response to either BSF-1 or to IL-2.

MATURATION FACTORS FOR B CELLS

y-Interferon, made by recombinant DNA technology, has been implicated as a factor that induces the maturation of B cells to Ig-secreting cells (147, 148). Recently, however, reports increase that researchers cannot see this activity with B cells (93, 115, 124). It has been claimed that factors inducing proliferation are different from those inducing maturation (113, 114), but BSF-1, as purified as it can be obtained, still induces both proliferation and maturation of B cells (94, 104, 105, 115, 169). Maturation factors inducing IgM secretion have been found to be different from those inducing IgG secretion (154-156), but the same highly purified preparations of BSF-1 and of B151-TRF induce IgM as well as IgG secretion (104, 105, 157, 158; K. Takatsu, F. Melchers, in preparation). Furthermore, IL-2 can induce maturation (150), although the maturation factors for IgM and IgG reported in previous publications are not IL-2. All these apparent disagreements and paradoxes, to our mind, demonstrate the complexity of the controls that a B cell uses to mature to a secreting cell. It appears too simple to hope that a single molecule and its corresponding receptor may regulate these different manifestations of the process of maturation.

CELLULAR SOURCES OF LYMPHOKINES

Clones of helper T cells, T-cell tumors, and T-cell hybridomas have helped to clarify the fact that one cell can make a plethora of lymphokines. Lymphokines produced by T cells, T-cell tumors, or T-cell hybridomas include BSF-1 (90, 92–96, 159), BCGF-II (92, 95, 97–101, 121, 123, 124), γ -interferon (160–163), IL-2 (164), IL-3 (165, 166), TRF (95, 98, 102, 105, 109,

115, 150, 167–169), BCDF (104, 168), β factors (59), and α factors (58). Those made by B cells or B-cell tumors include BSF-1 (77, 79, 80), BCGF-II (78), BCDF (169), α factors (58), IL-1 (170), and even IL-2 (171). Those made by A cells include IL-1 (85, 86), complement components (76), and α factors (57). Thus A cells appear to produce a spectrum of lymphokines that is different from those of T and B cells or their tumors, while T cells and B cells or their tumors produce a widely overlapping spectrum of lymphokines. α Factors can be produced by all lineages (58). It remains unclear whether a difference can be seen in the spectrum of lymphokines produced by *normal* lymphocytes when compared with the one produced by established cell lines and their transformed and malignant counterparts.

THE RESTING B CELL

A resting B cell in the G0 phase of the cell cycle is refractory to the action of B cell proliferation-inducing factors (39). While most investigations agree with this notion (40, 92), some do not (106, 107, 172). A resting B cell can, however, be stimulated to maturation without proliferation (21). There are several reports that confirm these findings, some with more purified preparations of factors (96, 173). Again, purified BSF-1 appears to induce this maturation without proliferation (96).

B cells have to be excited from their resting state to become susceptible to the action of the proliferation-inducing factors. It remains to be seen whether the receptors for these factors are only expressed on the surface of B cells after excitation, or whether the receptors are always there but only after excitation become functionally linked to reactions that induce the mitotic cell cycle. At least, a number of surface markers appear on activated cells that cannot be detected on resting cells (174–176). Among those are B1 molecules on human B cells. Monoclonal antibodies against B1 inhibit Bcell proliferation (175). There are multiple ways to excite a resting B cell. T cell-dependent, alloreactive T cells recognize the foreign MHC antigens on B cells (177, 178), while antigen-specific, MHC-restricted T cells recognize the antigen in context with self-MHC on the B cell (39, 45, 178) (Figure 2). There is no general agreement on how important the latter recognition is in the total repertoire of T-B interaction in a mouse or in other species. Lyb5⁺ as well as Lyb5⁻ B cells can be activated by MHC-restricted, as well as MHC-unrestricted, pathways with the help of a single helper T-cell clone, and this may be due to a difference in the cell-cycle state of these B cells, i.e. either resting or activated (179). The combined findings of many laboratories experimenting with many different T cells indicate that MHC class-II antigens play an important role in the excitation reaction. Furthermore, antibodies have been raised to class-II MHC antigens that either stimulate B cells (180) or inhibit LPS-induced stimulation of B cells (181). It remains, therefore, all the more remarkable that Schimpl & Wecker's T cellreplacing factors (TRF) (112) can activate sheep erythrocyte-specific B cells in the presence of antigen, but in the apparent absence of MHC-recognizing structures. While the search for such antigen-specific, MHC-restricted structures has been frustrating for many (40), the hope is that such structures are, in fact, the T-cell receptors themselves and should be available soon in purified forms, produced by recombinant DNA technology.

B cells can also be excited from the resting state in MHC-unrestricted ways by either Ig-specific antibodies (182–185), usually in crosslinked form, or by polyclonal activators such as LPS, or by phorbol esters (136, 185, 186). Monoclonal antibodies directed towards any of the four constant region domains of the μ heavy chain will serve as acceptor sites for the polyclonal excitation by monoclonal antibodies (187, 188). Recently, mutant EL-4 thymoma lines have been generated that activate B cells by direct cell-cell contact polyclonally (189). It remains to be seen whether these interactions are dependent on MHC recognition while not being selective for a given MHC allele.

We have mentioned above the possible role of T cell-independent antigens as molecules replacing the action of B-cell growth factors in the cell cycle, i.e. the action of BSF-1 or β factors. A second function of T cellreplacing activity of T cell-independent antigens becomes apparent in the excitation of B cells from their resting state. A long-held belief is that ordered crosslinking of surface Ig on B cells by regularly repeated determinants of T cell-independent antigens is obligatory for stimulation. It may be at this point of excitation into G1 that this crosslinking plays a crucial role. Binding of antigens with single determinants may only induce crosslinking of surface Ig when a T cell recognizes a carrier determinant in the context of MHC class-II antigens. It thereby crosslinks the surface Ig molecules by multiple interactions with a multitude of T-cell receptors; T cell-independent antigens of types I and II may achieve this crosslinking without the help of multiple T-cell receptors in the membrane of a T cell. It may turn out to be the common denominator in the action of T cellindependent antigens and of T cells with B cells and may one day clarify one of the controls that regulates B-cell growth.

The final cell response of maturation only, or of proliferation and maturation, can be quantitated (6, 190). The proliferative response is quantitated by limiting dilution analysis (6). Even the most potent polyclonal activators have never been found to activate *all* B cells—at best,

30-40% of them (6). The same holds for maturation of B cells without proliferation (21). When tissue culture systems are employed that either have no filler cells (191, 192) or replace the usual thymus filler cells by 3T3-fibroblasts (193), the response is at best with 3-5% of all B cells and must be aided by high concentrations of fetal calf serum and polyanions. Nevertheless, these culture systems allow quantitations of B-cell responses that should be adequate references for comparison of data from different laboratories. This, unfortunately, is often not done and thus makes differences and paradoxes in experimental findings difficult to resolve.

THE TRANSITION FROM G0 TO G1 IN B CELLS

A wealth of early changes in biochemical parameters of B cells has been observed after they have been stimulated with polyclonal activators and with Ig-specific antibodies. Changes include increases in the size of B cells (94, 96, 194, 195), increased Ca⁺⁺ uptake (196), depolarization of surface membranes (196), changed phosphoinositol metabolism (194, 197), increased Ia (175, 198) and other surface marker (174-176) expression, and increased RNA constant (195). In some experimental conditions, factors produced by cloned helper T cells induce resting B cells to increased Ia expression and RNA synthesis as well as to entry into S phase (172). Many of these changes can be monitored at the single cell level by fluorescenceactivated cell analysis. It is remarkable that several of these early changes can be detected in practically all B cells of a given preparation. This is in marked contrast to the subsequent, much lower capacity of the same cell population to enter the mitotic cycle (6). Furthermore, many of the changes occur very rapidly and apparently synchronously, again in marked contrast to the finding that entry into the mitotic cycle is asynchronous and occurs at a constant rate after activation into G1 for the first 24 hours (7). Consequently early states of activation into G1 can be distinguished from late states by RNA content and surface marker expressions of B cells (195, 198). For the present time we are unable to link a given early change of B cells to reactions that finally lead to either proliferation alone, maturation alone, or to both. Purified BSF-1 activates resting B cells to an enlarged, G1-like state before the action of Ig-specific antibodies. The apparently paradoxical effect of this could be interpreted as a reaction that would finally lead not to proliferation but to maturation without proliferation (94). It may, in fact, not lead to any further cell-cycle progression at all. The dissection of the B-cell cycle into three restriction points (59), mentioned below, may help to order at least some of these early reactions and their functional consequences for B-cell proliferation and maturation.

CELL-CYCLE CONTROL OF ACTIVATED B CELLS

Studies with LPS as a polyclonal stimulator of multiple cell cycles have shown that individual B-cell clones at 37°C divide synchronously every 18-20 hr for at least 5, and in most cases no more than 7-10, divisions (6, 7). Recently, it became possible to synchronize asynchronously activated mass cultures of A cell-depleted B cells by size selection using velocity sedimentation (59). To enter several subsequent cycles, B-cell blasts of a given size were shown to require macrophage-derived α factors, helper T cell-derived β factors, and Sepharose-bound, Ig H chain-specific monoclonal antibodies. LPS was shown to replace the action of both Ig-specific antibodies and β factors (59), while α factors could be replaced by Sepharose-bound or glutaraldehyde-crosslinked C3b and C3d (62). Nonoverlapping, synergistic effects of LPS or a specific T_h signal on the one hand, and Ig-specific antibodies on the other, have also been observed in the induction of growth-factor responsiveness of B cells (103). When α factors (or C3) were omitted, B cells were arrested within the G_1 phase of the cell cycle, before entry into S phase. It is worth noting that this effect of α factors is similar to that of insulin-like growth factors, i.e. of progression factors,



Figure 3 The 20-hr cell cycle of activated murine B lymphocytes, divided into 8 hr of G1phase, followed by 8 hr of S-phase, then by 4 hr of G2-phase and finally by mitosis (M). In this cycle are placed the three restriction points controlled by Ig-specific antibodies (anti-Ig); α factors (α); and β factors (β). α Indicates the point of influence of macrophages, β that of helper T lymphocytes, and anti-Ig that of antigen in immune responses of B cells (55).

that control the entry into S phase of other eukaryotic cell lineages. There is very weak homology in the nucleotide sequence for C3d within the α chain of C3 (199) to murine epidermal and nerve growth factors; this suggests a possible phylogenetic relationship of C3d with insulin-like growth factors (62). When β factors were omitted, the B cells became arrested in the G2 phase of the cell cycle, 2-4 hr before mitosis. This rather unusual restriction point in the cell cycle, controlled by T cells, is at a stage when B cells have two sister chromatids. If sister chromatid exchange is required for class switching (11), then a delay in the provision of T-cell help may facilitate class switching in activated B cells and, thus, provide an explanation for the influence of T cells on Ig class switches (200, 201). When Ig-specific antibodies were omitted, cells became arrested directly after mitosis, early in G1. It therefore appears that a reaction similar to the original excitation reaction may be needed for the beginning of every new B-cell cycle. It remains to be investigated why earlier studies with different factor preparations and with asynchronous A cell-containing, B-cell blasts (6, 7) allowed B-cell blasts to divide several times in the absence of Ig-specific antibodies (101, 202-204). Three restriction points in the B-cell cycle further support the idea of multiple controls in B-cell growth, effected by antigen, macrophages, and helper T cells. These controls may become deregulated in different ways and different combinations to lead to autoimmunity, immunodeficiency, and malignancy (205-207).

COMMENTS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Several excellent reviews (40, 154, 208–211) have appeared lately—two of them in this series (154, 209)—that have covered large parts of the history and the recent (to that point) literature of the various aspects of B-cell activation and B-cell growth factors. Our attempt here has been to update the literature collection on B cell–growth control. We have found more than 150 pertinent papers for the years 1984 and (up to June) 1985. We apologize here to all our colleagues whose publications we have missed. We have taken this review also as an opportunity to summarize what we hope are accepted facts of the field, to point out controversies and paradoxes, and to state our biases. We have found it impossible to compare critically the experimental data of the papers and that of the literature already existing in the field, and thus to judge the validity of all the conclusions we quote.

We thank Drs. Michael Julius, Tomas Leanderson, and Ronald Palacios for critical reading of our manuscript. The Basel Institute for Immunology was founded and is entirely supported by F. Hoffmann-La Roche, Ltd., Co., Basel, Switzerland. Jan Andersson is supported by the Swedish Medical Research Council. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:13-34. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

Literature Cited

- Burnet, F. M. 1957. A modification of Jerne's theory of antibody production using the concept of clonal selection. *Austr. J. Sci.* 20(3):67-82
- Möller, G. 1961. Demonstration of mouse iso-antigens at the cellular level by fluorescent antibody technique. J. Exp. Med. 114:415-34
- Dutton, R. W., Eady, J. D. 1964. An in vitro system for the study of the mechanism of antigenic stimulation in the secondary response. *Immunology* 7:40-53
- Pernis, B., Chiappino, G., Kelus, A. S., Gell, P. G. H. 1965. Cellular localization of immunoglobulins with different allotypic specificities in rabbit lymphoid tissues. J. Exp. Med. 122:853-76
- Wigzell, H., Mäkelä, O. 1970. Separation of normal and immune lymphoid cells by antigen-coated columns. Antigen-binding characteristics of membrane antibodies as analysed by hapten-protein antigens. J. Exp. Med. 132:110-26
- Andersson, J., Coutinho, A., Lernhardt, W., Melchers, F. 1977. Clonal growth and maturation to immunoglobulin secretion *in vitro* of every growthinducible B-lymphocyte. Cell 10: 27-34
- Lernhardt, W. 1984. Asynchronous mitogenic activation and subsequent synchronisation of normal murine B-lymphocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* (Submitted)
- Andersson, J., Coutinho, A., Melchers, F. 1978. The switch from IgM to IgG secretion in single mitogen-stimulated B cell clones. J. Exp. Med. 147:1744– 52
- Weigert, M. G., Cesari, I. M., Yonkovich, S. J., Cohn, M. 1970. Variability in the lambda light chain sequences of mouse antibody. *Nature* 228:1045-47
- Gearhart, P. J., Johnson, N. D., Douglas, R., Hood, L. 1981. IgG antibodies to phosphorylcholine exhibit more diversity than their IgM counterparts. *Nature* 291:29-34
- Tonegawa, S. 1983. Somatic generation of antibody diversity. *Nature* 302: 575– 81
- Clarke, S. H., Hüppi, K., Ruezinsky, D., Staudt, L., Gerhard, W., Weigert, M. 1985. Inter- and intraclonal diversity in the antibody response to influenza hemagglutinin. J. Exp. Med. 161:687– 704
- 13. Sprent, J. 1977. Recirculating lymphocytes. In The Lymphocyte: Struc-

ture and Function, Part I, ed. J. J. Marchalonis, pp. 43-112. New York: Marcel Dekker

- Melchers, F., Andersson, J. 1973. Synthesis, surface deposition and secretion of immunoglobulin M in bone marrowderived lymphocytes before and after mitogenic stimulation. *Transplant. Rev.* 14:76–130
- Andersson, J., Bullock, W. W., Melchers, F. 1974. Inhibition of mitogenic stimulation of mouse lymphocytes by anti-mouse immunoglobulin antibodies. I. Mode of action. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 4:715-18
- Isakson, P. C., Simpson, L. 1984. Phorbol esters inhibit murine B cell differentiation to immunoglobulin secretion but not proliferation. J. Immunol. 133: 1788-91
- Maruyama, S., Kubagawa, H., Cooper, M. D. 1985. Activation of human B cells and inhibition of their terminal differentiation by monoclonal anti-µ antibodies. J. Immunol. 135:87-94
- Andersson, J., Melchers, F. 1974. Maturation of mitogen-activated bone marrow-derived lymphocytes in the absence of proliferation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 4:533-36
- Andersson, J., Lernhardt, W., Melchers, F. 1979. The purified protein derivative of tuberculin, a B cell mitogen that distinguishes in its action resting, small B cells from activated B-cell blasts. J. Exp. Med. 150: 1339-50
- Kishimoto, T., Yoshizaki, Y., Kimoto, M., Okada, M., Kuritami, T., Kikutami, H., Shimizu, K., Nakagawa, T., Nakagawa, N., Miki, Y., Kishi, H., Fukanaga, K., Yoshikubo, T., Taga, T. 1984. B cell growth and differentiation factors and mechanism of B cell activation. *Immunol. Rev.* 78:97-122
- Melchers, F., Andersson, J., Lernhardt, W., Schreier, M. H. 1980. H-2unrestricted, polyclonal maturation without replication of small B cells induced by antigen-activated T cell help factors. Eur. J. Immunol. 10:669-85
- 22. Melchers, F., Andersson, J. 1974. IgM in bone marrow-derived lymphocytes. Changes in synthesis, turnover and secretion, and in number of molecules on the surface of B cells after mitogenic stimulation. Eur. J. Immunol, 4: 181-88
- Andersson, J., Buxbaum, J., Citronbaum, R., Douglas, S., Forni, L., Melchers, F., Pernis, B., Scott, D. 1974. IgM-producing tumors in the Balb/c

mouse: A model for B-cell maturation. J. Exp. Med. 140:742-61

- Andersson, J., Sjöberg, O., Möller, G. 1972. Induction of immunoglobulin and antibody synthesis in vitro by lipopolysaccharides. Eur. J. Immunol. 2:349-53
- 25. Kumazawa, Y., Matsuura, M., Homma, J. Y., Nakatsuru, Y., Kiso, M., Hasegawa, A. 1985. B cell activation and adjuvant activities of chemically synthesized analogues of the nonreducing sugar moiety of lipid A. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 15:199-201
- 26. Williamson, S. I., Wannemuehler, M. J., Jirillo, E., Pritchard, D. G., Michalek, S. M., McGhee, J. R. 1984. LPS regulation of the immune response: separate mechanisms for murine B cell activation by lipid A (direct) and polysaccharide (macrophage-dependent) derived from bacteroides LPS. J. Immunol. 133:2294-2300
- Melchers, F., Braun, V., Galanos, C. 1975. The lipoprotein of the outer membrane of Escherichia coli: A B-lymphocyte mitogen. J. Exp. Med. 142:473-82
- Coutinho, A., Möller, G. 1975. Thymusindependent B cell induction and paralysis. Adv. Immunol. 21: 113-236
- Claman, H. N., Chaperon, E. A., Triplett, R. F. 1966. Thymus-marrow cell combinations. Synergism in antibody production. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 122:1167-71
- Davies, A. J. S., Leuchars, E., Wallis, V., Marchant, R., Elliott, E. V. 1967. The failure of thymus-derived cells to produce antibody. *Transplantation* 5:222– 30
- Mitchell, G. F., Miller, J. F. A. P. 1968. Cell to cell interaction in the immune response. II. The source of hemolysinforming cells in irradiated mice given bone marrow and thymus to thoracic duct lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 128: 821-37
- Mosier, D. E. 1967. A requirement for two cell types for antibody formation in vitro. Science 158:1573-74
- 33. Katz, D. H., Hamaoka, T., Dorf, M. E., Benacerraf, B. 1973. Cell interactions between histocompatible T and B lymphocytes. III. Demonstration that the H2-gene complex determines successful physiologic lymphocyte interactions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 70:2624-28
- Sprent, J. 1978. Role of H-2 gene products in the function of T helper cells from normal and chimeric mice measured in vivo. Immunol. Rev. 42: 108-37
- 35. von Boehmer, H., Sprent, J. 1976. T cell

function in bone marrow chimeras: absence of host-reactive T cells and cooperation of helper T cells across allogeneic barriers. *Transplant. Rev.* 29:3-26

- 36. Sprent, J., Bruce, J. 1979. Lymphoid function in F₁→ parent chimeras. Lack of evidence for adaptive differentiation of B cells or antigen-presenting cells. J. Exp. Med. 150:715-20
- 37. Katz, D. H., Skidmore, B. J., Katz, L., Bogowicz, C. A. 1978. Adaptive differentiation of murine lymphocytes. Both T and B lymphocytes differentiating in F₁ → parental chimeras manifest preferential cooperative activity for partner lymphocytes derived from the same parental type corresponding to chimeric host. J. Exp. Med. 148:727-45
- 38. Schreier, M. H., Iscove, N. N., Tees, R., Aarden, L., von Boehmer, H. 1980. Clones of killer and helper T cells: Growth requirements, specificity and retention of function in long-term culture. *Immunol. Rev.* 51:315-36
- 39. Andersson, J., Schreier, M. H., Melchers, F. 1980. T cell-dependent B cell stimulation is H-2 restricted and antigen-dependent only at the resting B cell level. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:1612-16
- Melchers, F., Andersson, J. 1984. B cell activation: Three steps and their variations. Cell 37:715-20
- Möller, G., Michael, G. 1971. Frequency of antigen-sensitive cells to thymus-independent antigens. Cell. Immunol. 2: 309-16
- Davies, A. J. S., Carter, R. L., Leuchers, E., Wallis, V., Dietrich, F. M. 1970. The morphology of immune reactions in normal, thymectomized and reconstituted mice. III. Response to bacterial antigens: salmonella flagella antigen and pneumococcal polysaccharide. *Immunology* 19:945-57
 Rosenthal A. S. Shung d. F. Shung d. F. Shung d. S. Shung d. Shung d. Shung d. S. Shung d. Shu
- Rosenthal, A. S., Shevach, E. M. 1973. Function of macrophages in antigen recognition by guinea pig T lymphocytes. I. Requirements for histocompatible macrophages and lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 138:1194–1212
- Rock, K. L., Benacerraf, B., Abbas, A. K. 1984. Antigen presentation by hapten-specific B lymphocytes. I. Role of surface immunoglobulin receptors. J. Exp. Med. 160:1102-13
- Lanzavecchia, A. 1985. Antigen-specific interaction between T and B cells. *Nature* 314:537–39
- Tony, H.-P., Parker, D. C. 1985. Major histocompatibility complex-restricted, polyclonal B cell responses resulting

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:13-34. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only. from helper T cell recognition of antiimmunoglobulin presented by small B lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 161:233– 41

- 47. Dutton, R. W., Falkoff, R., Hirst, J. A., Hoffman, M., Kappler, J. W., Kettman, J. R., Lesley, J. R., Vann, P. 1971. Is there evidence for a non-antigen specific diffusable chemical mediator from the thymus-derived cell in the initiation of the immune response? *Prog. Immunol.* 1:355-68
- Sjöberg, O., Andersson, J., Möller, G. 1972. Reconstitution of the antibody response in vitro of T-cell deprived spleen cells by supernatants from spleen cell cultures. J. Immunol. 109:1379–85
- 49. Proust, J. J., Buchholz, M. A., Nordin, A. A. 1985. A "lymphokine-like" soluble product that induces proliferation and maturation of B cells appears in the serum-free supernatant of a T cell hybridoma as a consequence of mycoplasmal contamination. J. Immunol. 134: 390-96
- Sitia, R., Rubartelli, A., Deambrosis, S., Pozzi, D., Hämmerling, U. 1985. Differentiation in the murine B cell lymphoma I.29: inductive capacities of lipopolysaccharide and Mycoplasma fermentans products. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 15: 570-75
- 51. Ruuth, E., Rånby, M., Friedrich, B., Persson, H., Goustin, A., Leanderson, T., Coutinho, A., Lundgren, E. 1985. Mycoplasma mimicry of lymphokine activity in T cell lines. Scand. J. Immunol. In press
- 52. Pike, B. L., Nossal, G. J. V. 1984. A reappraisal of "T-independent" antigens. I. Effect of lymphokines on the response of single adult hapten-specific B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 132:1687-95
- 53. Nossal, C. J. V., Pike, B. L. 1984. A reappraisal of "T-independent" antigens. II. Studies on single, haptenspecific B cells from neonatal CBA/H or CBA/N mice fail to support classification into TI-1 and TI-2 categories. J. Immunol. 132:1696-1701
- Mosier, D. H., Subbarao, B. 1982. Thymus-independent antigens: complexity of B lymphocyte activation revealed. *Immunol. Today* 3:217-22
- Nordin, A. A., Schreier, M. H. 1982. T cell control of the antibody response to the T-independent antigen, DAGG-Ficoll. J. Immunol. 129:557-62
- Hoffmann, M. K., Koenig, S., Mittler, R. S., Oettgen, H. F., Ralph, P., Galanos, C., Hämmerling, U. 1979. Macrophage factor controlling differ-

entiation of B cells. J. Immunol. 122: 497-501

- Corbel, C., Melchers, F. 1983. Requirement for macrophages or for macrophage- or T-cell-derived factors in the mitogenic stimulation of murine B lymphocytes by lipopolysaccharides. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 13:528–33
- Corbel, C., Melchers, F. 1984. The synergism of accessory cells and of soluble factors derived from them in the activation of B cells to proliferation. *Immunol. Rev.* 78:51-74
- Melchers, F., Lernhardt, W. 1985. Three restriction points in the cell cycle of activated murine B lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. In press
- 60. Muraguchi, A., Miyazaki, K., Kehrl, J. H., Fauci, A. S. 1984. Inhibition of human B cell activation by diterpine forskolin: interference with B cell growth factor-induced G₁ to S transition of the B cell cycle. J. Immunol. 133:1283-87
- Erdei, A., Melchers, F., Schulz, T., Dierich, M. 1985. The action of human C3 in soluble or cross-linked form with resting and activated murine Blymphocytes. Eur. J. Immunol. 15: 184-88
- Melchers, F., Erdei, A., Schulz, T., Dierich, M. 1985. Growth control of activated, synchronized murine B cells by the C3d fragment of human complement. Nature 317: 264-67
- Pepys, M. B. 1972. Role of complement in induction of the allergic response. *Nature* 237:157-59
- Dukor, P., Hartmann, K. U. 1973. Bound C3 as the second signal for B cell activation. Cell Immunol. 7: 349-56
- 65. Thoman, M. L., Meuth, J. L., Morgan, E. L., Weigle, W. O., Hugli, T. E. 1984. C3d-K, a kallikrein cleavage fragment of iC3b is a potent inhibitor of cellular proliferation. J. Immunol. 133: 2629–33
- 66. Iida, K., Nadler, L., Nussenzweig, V. 1983. Identification of the membrane receptor for the complement fragment C3d by means of a monoclonal antibody. J. Exp. Med. 158: 1021-33
- 67. Tedder, T. F., Clement, L. T., Cooper, M. D. 1984. Expression of C3d receptors during human B cell differentiation: immunofluorescence analysis with the HB-5 monoclonal antibody. J. Immunol. 133:678-83
- Frade, R., Crevon, M. C., Barel, M., Vazquez, A., Krikorian, L., Charriaut, C., Galanaud, P. 1985. Enhancement of human B cell proliferation by an antibody to the C3d receptor, the gp 140 molecule. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 15:73-76
- 69. Daha, M. R., Bloem, A. C., Ballieux,

R. E. 1984. Immunoglobulin production by human peripheral lymphocytes induced by anti-C3 receptor antibodies. J. Immunol. 132:1197–1201

- Tedder, T. F., Weis, J. J., Clement, L. T., Fearon, D. T., Cooper, M. D. 1985. Role of receptors for complement and Epstein-Barr virus in the induction of polyclonal B cell proliferation and differentiation. J. Immunol. (Submitted)
- Nadler, L. M., Boyd, A. W., Park, E., Anderson, K. C., Fisher, D., Slaughenhoupt, B., Thorley-Lawson, D. A., Schlossman, S. F. 1985. The B cell restricted glycoprotein (B2) is the receptor for Epstein-Barr virus. J. Immunol. (Submitted)
- Fearon, D. T. 1984. Cellular receptors for fragments of the third component of complement. *Immun. Today* 5: 105-10
- Ross, G. D. 1980. Analysis of the different types of leukocyte membrane complement receptors and their interaction with the complement system. J. Immunol. Methods 37:197-211
- 74. Gray, D., McConnell, I., Kumararatne, D. S., MacLennan, I. C. M., Humphrey, J. H., Bazin, H. 1984. Marginal zone B cells express CR1 and CR2 receptors. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 14:47–52
- 75. Lai, A., Fat, R. F. M., Van Furth, R. 1975. In vitro synthesis of some complement components (C1q, C3 and C4) by lymphoid tissues and circulating leukocytes in man. *Immunology* 28:359-68
- 76. Whaley, K. J. 1980. Biosynthesis of the complement components and the regulatory proteins of the alternative complement pathway by human peripheral blood monocytes. J. Exp. Med. 151:501-16
- 77. Gordon, J., Åman, P., Rosén, A., Ernberg, I., Ehlin-Henriksson, B., Klein, G. 1985. Capacity of B-lymphocyte lines of diverse tumor origin to produce and respond to B-cell growth factors: A progression model for B-cell lymphomagenesis. *Int. J. Cancer* 35:251-56
- Nakajima, K., Hirano, T., Takatsuki, F., Sakaguchi, N., Yoshida, N., Kishimoto, T. 1985. Physiocochemical and functional properties of murine B cell-derived B cell growth factor II (WEHI-231-BCGF-II). J. Immunol. 135:1207-12
- Brooks, K. H., Uhr, J. W., Vitetta, E. S. 1984. A B cell growth factor-like activity is secreted by cloned, neoplastic B cells. J. Immunol. 133: 3133–37
- Gordon, J., Ley, S. C., Melamed, M. D., English, L. S., Hughes-Jones, N. C. 1984. Immortalized Blymphocytes pro-

duce B-cell growth factor. *Nature* 310:145-47

- Åman, P., Ehlin-Henriksson, B., Klein, G. 1984. Epstein-Barr virus susceptibility of normal human B lymphocyte populations. J. Exp. Med. 159:208-20
- 82. Aman, P., Gordon, J., Lewin, N., Nordström, M., Ehlin-Henriksson, B., Klein, G., Carstensson, A. 1985. Surface marker characterization of the EBVtarget cell in normal blood and tonsil Blymphocyte populations. J. Immunol. In press
- Fingeroth, J. D., Weis, J. J., Tedder, T. F., Strominger, J. L., Biro, P. A., Fearon, D. T. 1984. Epstein-Barr virus receptor of human B-lymphocytes is the C3d receptor CR2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:4510–13
- Howard, M., Mizel, S. B., Lachman, L., Ansel, J., Johnson, B., Paul, W. E. 1983. Role of interleukin-1 in anti-immunoglobulin induced B cell proliferation. J. Exp. Med. 157:1529–43
- Hoffmann, M. K., Mizel, S. B., Hirst, J. A. 1984. IL 1 requirement for B cell activation revealed by use of adult serum. J. Immunol. 133:2566-68
- Booth, R. J., Watson, J. D. 1984. Interleukin 1 induces proliferation in two distinct B cell subpopulations responsive to two different murine B cell growth factors. J. Immunol. 133:1346– 49
- Lomedico, P. T., Gubler, U., Hellmann, C. P., Dukovich, M., Giri, J. G., Pan, Y.-C. E., Collier, K., Semionow, R., Chua, A. O., Mizel, S. B. 1984. Cloning and expression of murine interleukin-1 cDNA in Escherichia coli. *Nature* 312:458-62
- March, C. J., Mosley, B., Larsen, A., Cerretti, D. P., Braedt, G., Price, V., Gillis, S., Henney, C. S., Kronheim, S. R., Grabstein, K., Colon, P. J., Hopp, T. P., Cosman, D. 1985. Cloning, sequence and expression of two distinct human interleukin-1 complementary DNAs. *Nature* 315:641-46
- Iscove, N. N. Melchers, F. 1978. Complete replacement of serum by albumin, transferrin and soybean lipid in cultures of lipopolysaccharide-reactive Blymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 147:923-33
- Howard, M., Matis, L., Malek, T. R., Shevach, E., Kell, W., Cohen, D., Nakanishi, K., Paul, W. E. 1983. Interleukin 2 induces antigen-reactive T cell lines to secrete BCGF-1. J. Exp. Med. 158:2024-39
- Pike, B. L., Vaux, D. L., Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W., Nossal, G. J. V. 1982. Proliferation and differentiation of

single hapten-specific B lymphocytes is promoted by T-cell factor(s) distinct from T-cell growth factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:6350-54

- 92. Howard, M., Farrar, J., Hilfiker, M., Johnson, B., Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T., Paul, W. E. 1982. Identification of a T cell-derived B cell growth factor distinct from interleukin 2. J. Exp. Med. 155:914-23
- Ohara, J., Lahet, S., Inmann, J., Paul, W. E. 1985. Partial purification of murine B-cell stimulatory factor (BSF)-1. J. Immunol. In press
- Rabin, E. M., Ohara, J., Paul, W. E. 1985. B-cell stimulatory factor 1 activates resting B cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 1-5
- 95. Nakanishi, K., Cohen, D. I., Blackman, M., Nielsen, E., Ohara, J., Hamaoka, T., Koshland, M. E., Paul, W. E. 1984. Ig RNA expression in normal B cells stimulated with anti-IgM antibody and T cell-derived growth and differentiation factors. J. Exp. Med. 160:1736-51
- 96. Oliver, K., Noelle, R. J., Uhr, J. W., Krammer, P. H., Vitetta, E. S. 1985. B cell growth factor (BCGF I or BSPp1) is a differentiation factor for resting B cells and may not induce cell growth. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82: 2465–67
- Pettersson, S., Leanderson, T., Forsgren, S., Pobor, G., Coutinho, A. 1984. Functional and chemical characterization of B-cell growth factor produced by normal cloned T helper cells. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 20: 7-14
- 98. Shimizu, K., Hirano, T., Ishibashi, K., Nakano, N., Taga, T., Sugamura, K., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1984. Immortalization of BGDF (BCGF II)and BCDF-producing T cells by human T cell leukemia virus (HTLV) and characterization of human BGDF (BCGF II). J. Immunol. 134: 1728-33
- 99. Leanderson, T., Lundgren, E., Ruuth, E., Borg, H., Persson, H., Coutinho, A. 1982. B-cell growth: distinction from Tcell growth factor and B-cell maturation factor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:7455-58
- 100. Swain, S. L., Howard, M., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Watson, J., Booth, R., Wetzel, G. D., Dutton, R. 1983. Evidence for two distinct classes of murine B-cell growth factors with activities in different functional assays. J. Exp. Med. 158:822-35
- Lernhardt, W., Corbel, C., Wall, R., Melchers, F. 1982. T-cell hybridomas which produce B-cell replication factors only. *Nature* 300: 355-57
- 102. Kikutani, H., Taga, T., Akira, S., Kishi,

H., Miki, Y., Saiki, O., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1985. Effect of B cell differentiation factor (BCDF) on biosynthesis and secretion of immunoglobulin molecules in human B cell lines. J. Immunol. 134:990–95

- 103. Zubler, R. H. 1984. Polyclonal B cell responses in the presence of defined filler cells: complementary effects of lipopolysaccharide and anti-immunoglobulin antibodies. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 14:357-63
- 104. Vitetta, E. S., Ohara, J., Myers, C., Layton, J., Krammer, P. H., Paul, W. E. 1985. Serological, biochemical and functional identity of B cell-stimulatory factor-1 and B cell differentiation factor for IgG₁. J. Exp. Med. In press
- 105. Nakanishi, K., Malek, T. R., Smith, K. A., Hamaoka, T., Shevach, E. M., Paul, W. E. 1984. Both interleukin 2 and a second T cell-derived factor in EL-4 supernatant have activity as differentiation factors in IgM synthesis. J. Exp. Med. 160:1605-21
- 106. Leclercq, L., Bismuth, G., Theze, J. 1984. Antigen-specific helper T cell clone supernatant is sufficient to induce both polyclonal proliferation and differentiation of small resting B lymphocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81: 6491-94
- 107. DeFranco, A. L., Ashwell, J. D., Schwartz, R. H., Paul, W. E. 1984. Polyclonal stimulation of resting B lymphocytes by antigen-specific T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 159: 861-80
- Leanderson, T., Pettersson, S. 1985. Characterization of activities inducing polyclonal maturation of activated B lymphocytes to immunoglobulin secretion. Scand. J. Immunol. 21: 297-303
- 109. Nakanishi, K., Howard, M., Muraguchi, A., Farrar, J., Takatsu, K., Hamoaka, T., Paul, W. E. 1983. Soluble factors involved in B cell differentiation: Identification of two distinct T cell-replacing factors (TRF). J. Immunol. 130(5):2219-24
- 110. Harada, N., Kikuchi, Y., Tominaga, A., Takaki, S., Takatsu, K. 1985. BCGF-II activity on activated B cells of a purified murine T cell-replacing factor (TRF) from a T cell hybridoma (B151K12). J. Immunol. 134: 3944-51
- 111. Ohara, J., Paul, W. E. 1985. Production of a monoclonal antibody to and molecular characterization of B-cell stimulatory factor-1. *Nature* 315: 333–35
- Schimpl, A., Wecker, E. 1972. Replacement of T-cell function by a T cell product. Nature 237:15-18
- 113. Parker, D. C. 1982. Separable helper

31

factors support B cell proliferation and maturation to Ig secretion. J. Immunol. 129:469–75

- 114. Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T. 1982. DBA/ 2Ha mice as a model of an X-linked immunodeficiency which is defective in the expression of TRF-acceptor site(s) on B lymphocytes. *Immunol. Rev.* 64:25-55
- 115. Takatsu, K., Harada, N., Hara, Y., Takahama, Y., Yamada, G., Dobashi, K., Hamaoka, T. 1985. Purification and physicochemical characterization of murine T cell replacing factor (TRF). J. Immunol. 134: 382-88
- Parkhouse, R. M. 1985. In *Mechanisms* of B cell Neoplasia 1985, ed. C. Tschachtli, L. Nicklin, pp. 48–54. Editiones Roche. Basle, Switzerland
- 117. Sato, H., Boyse, E. A. 1976. A new alloantigen expressed selectively on B cells: the Lyb-2 system. *Immunogenetics* 3:565-75
- Subbarao, B., Mosier, D. E. 1983. Induction of B lymphocyte proliferation by monoclonal anti-Lyb 2 antibody. J. Immunol. 130:2033–37
- Subbarao, B., Melchers, F. 1984. The action of an Lyb 2.1-specific monoclonal antibody in soluble or immobilized form on resting and activated B cells. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 113:72-76
 Suzuki, T., Sanders, S. K., Butler, J. L.,
- Suzuki, T., Sanders, S. K., Butler, J. L., Cooper, M. D. 1985. BCGF-I receptor candidate detected on activated human B cells by monoclonal antibody 9.4. (Submitted)
- 121. Swain, S. L., Dutton, R. W. 1982. Production of a B cell growth-promoting activity, (DL)BCGF, from a cloned T cell line and its assay on the BCL₁ B cell tumor. J. Exp. Med. 156:1821-34
- 122. Maizel, A., Sahasrabuddhe, C., Mehta, S., Morgan, C., Lachman, L., Ford, R. 1982. Isolation of a human B cell mitogenic factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79: 5998–6002
- 123. Swain, S. L., Howard, M., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Watson, J., Booth, R., Wetzel, G. D., Dutton, R. W. 1983. Evidence for two distinct classes of murine B cell growth factors with activities in different functional assays. J. Exp. Med. 158:822–35
- 124. Swain, S. L. 1985. Role of BCGF-II in the differentiation to antibody secretion of normal and tumor B cells. J. Immunol. 134: 3934-43
- 125. Mosier, D. E., Mond, J. J., Goldings, E. A. 1977. The ontogeny of thymic independent antibody responses in vitro in normal mice and mice with an

X-linked B lymphocyte defect. J. Immunol. 119:1874-82

- 126. Mond, J. J., Stein, K. F., Subbarao, B., Paul, W. E. 1979. Analysis of B cell activation requirements with TNPconjugated polyacrylamide beads. J. Immunol. 123:239-45
- 127. Stein, P., Dubois, P., Greenblatt, D., Howard, M. 1985. Induction of antigen-specific proliferation in affinitypurified small B lymphocytes: Requirement for BSF-1 by type 2 but not type 1 thymus-independent antigens. (Submitted)
- 128. Tanigúchi, T., Matsui, H., Fujita, T., Takaoka, C., Kahima, N., Yoshimoto, R., Hamuro, J. 1983. Structure and expression of a cloned cDNA for human interleukin-2. *Nature* 302: 305– 10
- 129. Kashima, N., Nishi-Takaoka, C., Fujita, T., Taki, S., Yamada, G., Hammo, J., Taniguchi, T. 1985. Unique structure of murine interleukin-2 as deduced from cloned cDNA. *Nature* 313:402-4
- 130. Mingari, M. C., Gerosa, F., Moretta, A., Zubler, R. H., Moretta, L. 1985. B cell growth factor activity of immunoaffinity-purified and recombinant human interleukin 2. Eur. J. Immunol. 15: 193-96
- 131. Uchiyama, T., Broder, S., Waldmann, T. A. 1981. A monoclonal antibody reactive with activated and functionally mature human T cells. I. Production of anti-TAC monoclonal antibody and distribution of TAC⁺ cells. J. Immunol. 126:1393-1402
- 132. Ortega, G., Robb, R. J., Shevach, E. M., Malek, T. R. 1984. The murine IL 2 receptor. I. Monoclonal antibodies that define distinct functional epitopes on activated T cells and react with activated B cells. J. Immunol. 133:1970-75
- 133. Osawa, H., Diamantstein, T. 1984. A rat monoclonal antibody that binds specifically to mouse T lymphoblasts and inhibits IL2 receptor functions: A putative anti-IL2 receptor antibody. J. Immunol. 132:2445-50
- 134. Ceredig, R., Lowenthal, J. W., Nabholz, M., MacDonald, H. R. 1985. Expression of interleukin-2 receptors as a differentiation marker on intrathymic stem cells. *Nature* 314:98–100
- Robb, R. J., Greene, W. C., Rusk, C. M. 1984. Low and high affinity cellular receptors for interleukin 2. J. Exp. Med. 160:1126-46
- Ando, I., Crawford, D. H., Kissonerghis, M. A., Owen, M. J., Beverley, P. C. L. 1985. Phorbol ester-induced
expression and function of the interleukin 2 receptor in human B lymphocytes. Eur. J. Immunol. 15: 341-44

- 137. Žubler, R. H., Lowenthal, J. W., Erard, F., Hashimoto, N., Devos, R., Mac-Donald, H. R. 1984. Activated B cells express receptors for, and proliferate in response to, pure interluekin 2. J. Exp. Med. 160:1170-83
- 138. Suzuki, T., Cooper, M. D. 1985. Comparison of the expression of IL 2 receptors by human T and B cells: induction by the polyclonal mitogens, phorbol myristate acetate, and anti-μ antibody. J. Immunol. 134:3111-19
- 139. Boyd, A. W., Fisher, D. C., Fox, D. A., Schlossmann, S. F., Nadler, L. M. 1985. Structural and functional characterization of IL 2 receptors on activated human B cells. J. Immunol. 134:2387– 92
- 140. Mittler, R., Rao, P., Olini, G., Westberg, E., Newman, W., Hoffmann, M., Goldstein, G. 1985. Activated human B cells display a functional IL 2 receptor. J. Immunol. 134:2393–99
- 141. Muraguchi, A., Kehrl, J. H., Longo, D. L., Volkman, D. J., Smith, K. A., Fauci, A. S. 1985. Interleukin-2 receptors on human B-cells: Implications for the role of Interleukin-2 in human Bcell function. J. Exp. Med. 161:181-92
- 142. Prahash, S., Robb, R. J., Stout, R. D., Parker, D. C. 1985. Induction of high affinity IL 2 receptors on B cells responding to anti-Ig and T cell derived helper factors. J. Immunol. 135:117-22
- 143. Pike, B. L., Raubitschek, A., Nossal, G. J. V. 1984. Human interleukin 2 can promote the growth and differentiation of single hapten-specific B cells in the presence of specific antigen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:7917-21
- 144. Tsudo, M., Uchiyama, T., Uchino, H. 1984. Expression of TAC antigen on activated normal human B-cells. J. Exp. Med. 160:612-24
- Ralph, P., Jeong, G., Welte, K., Mertelsmann, R., Rabin, H., Henderson, L. E., Souza, L. M., Boone, T. C., Robb, R. J. 1984. Stimulation of immunoglobulin secretion in human B lymphocytes as a direct effect of high concentrations of IL-2. J. Immunol. 133:2442-48
- 146. Mingari, M. C., Gerosa, F., Carra, G., Accolla, R. S., Moretta, A., et al. 1984. Human Interkeukin-2 promotes proliferation of activated B-cells via surface receptors similar to those of activated T-cells. *Nature* 312:641–45
- 147. Nakagawa, T., Hirano, T., Nakagawa, N., Yoshizaki, K., Kishimoto, T. 1985.

Effect of recombinant IL 2 and γ -IFN on proliferation and differentiation of human B cells. J. Immunol. 134:959–66

- Brunswick, M., Lake, P. 1985. Obligatory role of gamma interferon in T cellreplacing factor-dependent, antigenspecific murine B cell responses. J. Exp. Med. 161:953-71
- 149. Nakanishi, K., Malek, T. R., Smith, K. A., Hamaoka, T., Shevach, E. M., Paul, W. E. 1984. Both Interleukin-2 and a second T-cell derived factor in EL-4 supernatant have an activity as differentiation factors in IgM synthesis. J. Exp. Med. 160:1605-15
- 150. Kishi, H., Inui, S., Muraguchi, A., Hirano, T., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1985. Induction of IgG secretion in a human B cell clone with recombinant IL 2. J. Immunol. 134:3104-7
- Leanderson, T., Julius, M. H. 1985. Mouse B-cells do not proliferate in human IL-2. Eur. J. Immunol. In press
- 152. Miedema, F., Van Oostveen, J. W., Sauerwein, R. W., Terpstra, F. G., Aarden, L. A., Melief, C. J. M. 1985. Induction of immunoglobulin synthesis by interleukin 2 is T4⁺/T8⁻ cell dependent. A role for interleukin 2 in the pokeweed mitogen-driven system. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 15:107-12
- 153. Schwarting, R., Welte, K., Chiorazzi, N., Ralph, P., Lane, C. L., Long, C., Wang, C. Y. 1985. Biochemical characterization and purification of human B cell stimulatory factor (BSF). Eur. J. Immunol. 15:632-37
- 154. Kishimoto, T. 1985. Factors affecting B-cell growth and differentiation. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3:135-59
- 155. Isakson, P. C., Puré, E., Vitetta, E. S., Krammer, P. H. 1982. T cell-derived B cell differentiation factor(s). Effect on the isotype switch of murine B cells. J. Exp. Med. 155:734-48
- 156. Layton, J. E., Vitetta, E. S., Uhr, J. W., Krammer, P. H. 1984. Clonal analysis of B cells induced to secrete IgG by T cell derived lymphokine(s). J. Exp. Med. 160:1850-63
- 157. Sideras, P., Bergstadt-Lindquist, S., MacDonald, H. R., Severinson, E. 1985. Secretion of IgG₁ induction factor by T cell clones and hybridomas. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 15:586–93
- 158. Sideras, P., Bergstadt-Lindquist, S., Severinson, E. 1985. Partial biochemical characterization of IgGinducing factor. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 15: 593-98
- Pike, B. L., Vaux, D. L., Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W., Nossal, G. J. V. 1982. Proliferation and differentiation of

single hapten-specific B lymphocytes is promoted by T-cell factor(s) distinct from T-cell growth factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:6350-54

- 160. Landolfo, S., Kirchner, H., Simon, M. M. 1982. Production of immune interferon is regulated by more than one T cell subset: Lyt-1,2,3 and Qat-5 phenotypes of murine T lymphocytes involved in IFN-y production in primary and secondary mixed lymphocyte reaction. Eur. J. Immunol. 12: 295-99
- 161. Nathan, I., Groopman, J. E., Quan, S. G., Bersch, N., Golde, D. W. 1981. Immune (γ) interferon produced by a human T-lymphoblast cell line. *Nature* 292:842-44
- 162. Morris, A. G., Lin, Y.-L., Askonas, B. A. 1982. Immune interferon release when a cloned cytotoxic T-cell line meets its correct influenza-infected target cell. *Nature* 295:150–52
- 163. Palacios, R., Martinez-Maza, O., De Ley, M. 1983. Production of human immune interferon (Hu IFN-γ) studied at the single cell level. Origin, evidence for spontaneous secretion and effect of cyclosporin A. Eur. J. Immunol. 13: 221-25
- 164. Möller, G. 1985. T cell stimulating growth factors. *Immunological Rev.* 51: 300–57
- 165. Prystowsky, M. B., Ely, J. M., Beller, D. I., Eisenberg, L., Goldman, J., Goldman, M., Goldwasser, E., Ihle, J., Quintans, J., Remold, H., Vogel, S. N., Fitch, F. W. 1982. Alloreactive cloned T cell lines. VI. Multiple lymphokine activities secreted by helper and cytolytic cloned T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 129:2337-44
- 166. Ihle, J. N., Rebar, L., Keller, J., Lee, J. C., Hapel, A. J. 1982. Interleukin 3: Possible roles in the regulation of lymphocyte differentiation and growth. *Immunol. Rev.* 63:5–32
- 167. Kiyono, H., Cooper, M. D., Kearney, J. F., Mosteller, L. M., Michallek, S. M., Koopman, W. J., McGhee, J. R. 1984. Isotype specificity of helper T cell clones. Peyer's patch Th cells preferentially collaborate with mature IgA B cells for IgA responses. J. Exp. Med. 159:798-811
- 168. Hirano, T., Taga, T., Nakano, N., Yasukawa, K., Kashiwamura, S., Shimizu, K., Nakajima, K., Pyun, K. H., Kishimoto, T. 1985. Purification to homogeneity and characterization of human B cell differentiation factor (BCDF or BSF p-2). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. In press

- 169. Hara, Y., Takahama, Y., Murakami, S., Yamada, G., Ono, S., Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T. 1985. B cell growth and differentiation activity of a purified T cell-replacing factor (TRF) molecule from B151-T cell hybridoma. Lymphokine Res. 4. In press
- 170. Scala, G., Kuang, Y. D., Hall, R. E., Muchmore, A. V., Oppenheim, J. J. 1984. Accesssory cell function of human B cells. I. Production of both interleukin 1-like activity and an interleukin 1 inhibitory factor by an EBVtransformed human B cell line. J. Exp. Med. 159:1637-52
- 171. Maino, V. C., Pace, D. R. 1985. Induction of interleukin 2 from a murine B cell tumor by a factor found in immune serum. J. Immunol. 134:2419-25
- 172. Leclercq, L., Cambier, J. C., Mishal, Z., Julius, M. H., Theze, J. 1985. Supernatant from a cloned helper T cell stimulates most small resting B cells to undergo increased I-A expression, blastogenesis and progression through cell cycle. (Submitted)
- 173. Thompson, C. B., Schaefer, M. E., Finkelman, F. D., Scher, I., Farrar, J., Mond, J. J. 1985. T cell-derived B cell growth factor(s) can induce stimulation of both resting and activated B cells. J. Immunol. 134: 369-74
- 174. Freedman, A. S., Boyd, A. W., Anderson, K. C., Fischer, D. C., Schlossman, S. F., Nadler, L. M. 1984. B5, a new B cell-restricted activation antigen. J. Immunol. 134: 2228-35
- 175. Tedder, T. F., Boyd, A. W., Freedman, A. S., et al. 1985. The B cell surface molecule B1 is functionally linked with B cell activation and differentiation. J. Immunol. 135:973-79
- 176. Kehrl, J. H., Muraguchi, A., Fauci, A. S. 1984. Differential expression of cell activation markers after stimulation of resting human B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 132:2857-61
- 177. Lanzavecchia, A., Parodi, B., Celada, F. 1983. Activation of human B lymphocytes: frequency of antigen-specific B cells triggered by alloreactive or by antigen-specific T cell clones. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 13:733–38
- 178. Lanzavecchia, A., Parodi, B. 1984. In vitro stimulation of IgE production at a single precursor level by human alloreactive T-helper clones. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 55:197-203
- 179. Asano, Y., Singer, A., Hodes, R. J. 1985. Lyb-5⁺ B cells can be activated by major histocompatibility complex-restricted as well as unrestricted activation pathways. J. Immunol. 134: 3682–85

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:13-34. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

- Palacios, R. C., Martinez-Maza, O., Guy, K. 1983. Monoclonal antibodies against HLA-DR antigens replace T helper cells in activation of B lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:3456-60
- 181. Forsgren, S., Pobor, G., Coutinho, A., Pierres, M. 1984. The role of I-A/E molecules in B lymphocyte activation. I. Inhibition of lipopolysaccharideinduced responses by monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunol. 133:2104-10
- 182. Finkelman, F. D., Smith, J., Villacreses, N., Metcalf, E. S. 1985. Polyclonal activation of the murine immune system by an antibody to IgD. VI. Influence of doses of goat anti-mouse δ chain and normal goat IgG on B lymphocyte proliferation and differentiation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 15:315-20
- 183. Flotte, T. J., Finkelman, F. D., Thorbecke, G. J. 1984. Polyclonal activation of the murine immune system by an antibody to IgD. V. Effect on germinal centers. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 14:725–28
- 184. Julius, M. H., Heusser, C. H., Hartmann, K.-U. 1984. Induction of resting B cells to DNA synthesis by soluble monoclonal anti-immunoglobulin. *Eur.* J. Immunol. 14:753–57
- 185. Suzuki, T., Butler, J. L., Cooper, M. D. 1985. Human B cell responsiveness to B cell growth factor after activation by phorbol ester and monoclonal anti-µ antibody. J. Immunol. 134:2470-76
- 186. Åman, P., Gordon, J., Klein, G. 1983. TPA (12-O-tetradecanoyl-phorbol-13acetate) activation and differentiation of human peripheral B lymphocytes. *Immunology* 51:27-34
- 187. Leptin, M., Potash, M. J., Grützmann, R., Heusser, C., Schulman, M., Köhler, G., Melchers, F. 1984. Monoclonal antibodies specific for murine IgM. I. Characterization of antigenic determinants on the four constant domains of the μ heavy chain. Eur. J. Immunol. 14:534-42
- Leptin, M. 1985. Monoclonal antibodies specific for murine IgM. II. Activation of B lymphocytes by monoclonal antibodies specific for the four constant domains of IgM. Eur. J. Immunol. 15:131-37
- 189. Zubler, R. H., Erard, F., Lees, R. K., van Laer, M., Mingari, C., Moretta, L., MacDonald, H. R. 1985. Mutant EL-4 thymoma cells polyclonally activate murine and human B cells via direct cell interaction. J. Immunol. 134: 3663– 68
- 190. Gronowicz, E., Coutinho, A., Melchers, F. 1976. A plaque assay for all cells

secreting Ig of a given type or class. Eur. J. Immunol. 6:588-90

- 191. Wetzel, G. D., Kettman, J. R. 1981. Activation of murine B lymphocytes. III. Stimulation of B lymphocyte clonal growth with lipopolysaccharide and dextran sulfate. J. Immunol. 126:723– 28
- 192. Vaux, D. L., Pike, B. L., Nossal, G. J. V. 1981. Antibody production by single, hapten-specific B lymphocytes: An antigen-driven cloning system free of filler or accessory cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78:7702-6
- 193. Pike, B. L., Nossal, G. J. V. 1985. A high-efficiency cloning system for single hapten-specific B lymphocytes that is suitable for assay of putative growth and differentiation factors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82: 3395–99
- 194. Grupp, S. A., Harmony, J. A. K. 1985. Increased phosphatidylinositol metabolism is an important but not an obligatory early event in B lymphocyte activation. J. Immunol. 134:4087-94
- 195. Wetzel, G. D., Swain, S. L., Dutton, R. W., Kettman, J. R. 1984. Evidence for two distinct activation states available to B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 133:2327-32
- 196. Monroe, J. G., Cambier, J. C. 1983. B cell activation. III. B cell plasma membrane depolarization and hyper-Ia antigen expression induced by receptor immunoglobulin cross-linking are coupled. J. Exp. Med. 158:1589-99
- 197. Coggeshall, K. M., Cambier, J. C. 1985. B cell activation. VI. Effects of exogenous diglyceride and modulators of phospholipid metabolism suggest a central role for diacylglycerol generation in transmembrane signaling by mIg. J. Immunol. 134:101-7
- 198. Cambier, J. C., Monroe, J. G. 1985. B cell activation. V. Differential signalling of B cell membrane depolarization, increased I-A expression, G₀ to G₁ transition and thymidine uptake by anti-IgM and anti-IgD antibodies. (Submitted)
- 199. Wetsel, R. A., Lundwall, A., Davidson, R., Gibson, T., Tack, B. F., Fey, G. H. 1984. Structure of murine complement component C3. II. Nucleotide sequence of cloned complementary DNA coding for α chain. J. Biol. Chem. 259:13857– 62
- 200. Taylor, R. B., Wortis, H. H. 1968. Thymus dependence of antibody: variation with dose of antigen and class of antibody. *Nature* 220:927–28
- Kishimoto, T., Ishizaka, K. 1973. Regulation of antibody response in vitro. VI. Carrier-specific helper cells from IgG

and IgE antibody response. J. Immunol. 111:720-32

- Melchers, F., Coutinho, A., Heinrich, G., Andersson, J. 1975. Continuous growth of mitogen-reactive B-lymphocytes. Scand. J. Immunol. 4:853-58
- Schreier, M. H., Andersson, J., Lernhardt, W., Melchers, F. 1980. Antigenspecific T-helper cells stimulate H-2-compatible and H-2-incompatible B-cell blasts polyclonally. J. Exp. Med. 151:194-203
- 204. Howard, M., Kessler, S., Chused, T., Paul, W. E. 1981. Long-term culture of normal mouse B lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78: 5788–92
- 205. Prud'homme, G. J., Fieser, T. M., Dixon, F. J., Theofilopoulos, A. N. 1984. B cell-tropic interleukins in murine systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) 1. *Immunol. Rev.* 78:159–83
- 206. Scher, I. 1982. CBA/N immune defec-

tive mice; Evidence for the failure of a B cell subpopulation to be expressed. *Immunol. Rev.* 64:117-36

- Klein, G., Klein, E. 1985. Evolution of tumors and the impact of molecular oncology. *Nature* 315:190–95
- Howard, M., Nakanishi, K., Paul, W. E. 1984. B cell growth and differentiation factors. *Immunol. Rev.* 78:185–210
- Howard, M., Paul, W. E. 1983. Regulation of B cell growth and differentiation by soluble factors. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:307-33
- Hamaoka, T. 1985. T-cell-replacing factor and its acceptor site on B cells: Molecular properties and immunogenetic aspects. Contemp. Top. Molec. Immunol. 10:231-59
- Zubler, R. H. 1985. Signal requirements for T-dependent and T-independent B cell activation. Lymphokines 10:89–108

١



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	454
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 37–68 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS¹

Geoffrey L. Asherson

Division of Immunological Medicine, Clinical Research Centre, Harrow, Middlesex, HA1 3UJ, United Kingdom

Vittorio Colizzi

Institute of Microbiology, University of Pisa, Italy

Marek Zembala

Department of Clinical Immunology, Institute of Pediatrics, Copernicus Medical School, 30-663, Cracow, Poland

INTRODUCTION

T-suppressor circuits show many similarities to conventional positive immune responses. They are no more complicated than effector systems

¹Abbreviations used in this chapter: ABA, azobenzenearsonate; Ag, antigen; Con A, concanavalin A; DNP, dinitrophenyl; FcR, receptor for Fc of immunoglobulin; GT, GAT, copolymers of glutamic acid and tyrosine and glutamic acid, tyrosine, and alanine; IL-2, interleukin 2; KLH, keyhole limpet hemocyanin; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; NP, 4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenylacetyl; PSA, picrylsulfonic acid, 2,4,6-trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid; T-acc, T-acceptor cell; Th, T-helper cell; ThF, antigenspecific T-helper factor; TMA, phenyltrimethylammonium; TNP, trinitrophenyl or picryl; Ts, T-suppressor cells and factors afferent, which only act when given early in the immune response. They differ from Ts-ind by not acting through the Ts-eff/T-acc circuit; Ts-eff, TsF-eff, antigen-directed Ts and TsF effector which act at the effector stage of the immune response; Ts-ind, Ts and TsF inducer that induce idiotype-directed Ts-trans and antigen-directed Ts-eff; Ts-trans, Ts and TsF are anti-idiotypic and act on the Ts-eff.

such as antibody, which augments and depresses immune responses and has modes of action through the mast cell and the complement cascade. Moreover, the induction of T-suppressor cells by antigen in the context of I-J is analogous to the induction of conventional responses by antigen in the context of I-A, while the sequence of T-suppressor-inducer and Tsuppressor-effector cells is analogous to conventional T-T or T-B collaboration.

This review is mainly concerned with T-suppressor cells (Ts) that affect contact sensitivity in the picryl (trinitrophenyl, TNP) and oxazolone (4ethoxymethylene-2-phenyloxazolone) systems and compares these with a synoptic view of other systems, many of which have been reviewed in this series (1, 2, 3, 4, 5). It starts with a discussion of nomenclature and continues with a comparison of antigen-specific T-helper factors (ThF) and antigenspecific T-suppressor-inducer factors (TsF-ind or TsF₁), which may be regarded as antigen-specific "helper factors for the induction of suppression." This discussion relates our knowledge of the structure and recognition sites on antigen-specific ThF to its biological properties. The next part deals with the expression stage of the T-suppressor cell circuit and elaborates the role of the T-acceptor cell (T-acc), which produces nonspecific T-suppressor factor(s) (TsF) that inhibit the passive transfer of contact sensitivity and the production of IL-2. A discussion of the possible effects of IL-2 on the induction and maintenance of tolerance links this modulation of IL-2 production to the general problem of immunological unresponsiveness. The review continues with a description of other Tsuppressor-afferent cells (Ts-aff) that limit the response to contact sensitizing agents but are different from Ts-ind (Ts_1) and do not act through the Ts effector (Ts-eff, Ts₃). Their existence emphasizes the need to explore the response to different antigens and different modes of immunization with an open mind so as to discover how many different systems exist. The review ends with a general consideration of the biological role of T-T collaboration and anti-idiotype loops in helper and suppressor circuits.

Mode of Action of T-Suppressor Factors

A rational nomenclature for suppressor cells requires some knowledge of how suppressor cells act. The main modes of action of the cells and factors in suppressor cell circuits are:

- Interference with the induction of immunity or unresponsiveness at the level of the antigen-presenting cell—a phenomenon sometimes called immunological agnosis (6);
- 2a. Provision of antigen-specific help for the induction of suppressor cells which, together with antigen, gives rise to an antigen-directed Ts-eff by

a process of immunization, as in the lysozyme (7, 8) and GT (9) systems; cf antigen-specific help for T-cell cytotoxicity, delayed and contact sensitivity (10; see 11);

- 2b. Provision of help and idiotype (antigen) for the production of idiotypespecific Ts-transducer (Ts-trans), as in the NP and ABA (Ts₂) systems (2, 12);
- Provision of antigen-nonspecific proliferation or differentiation factors (13, 14);
- 4. Activation of Ts-eff to secrete Tsf-eff when stimulated by anti-idiotypic TsF-trans. In this context TsF-trans may be regarded as an internal image of antigen and hence as able to stimulate the Ts-eff (15);
- Direct action of TsF on target cell. This is proposed in the LDH system (16);
- 6. Arming of nonspecific acceptor cells, such as the T-acceptor cell or macrophages. These cells, when subsequently exposed to antigen and I-J, release nonspecific TsF (17) and macrophage suppressor factor (18). Both suppressor factors block the transfer of contact sensitivity (19), and the nonspecific TsF also blocks the production of IL-2 (20, 21).

Another way of looking at the T-suppressor-cell circuits is to consider the nature of the interactions between the different cells. There are four main interactions: *immunization, immunization with T-cell help, triggering* of specific cells to release antigen-specific TsF and perhaps nonspecific factors, and *arming* of cells with specific TsF and the subsequent *triggering* of the release of nonspecific factors by antigen and I-J (22). The initial *immunization* to produce Ts-ind (Ts₁) can be effected by haptenized I-J⁺ macrophages (23) and in some systems by haptenized I-J⁺ T cells (24).

In some systems the complete Ts-eff/T-acc circuit occurs without any anti-idiotypic loop. This is seen in the lysozyme, GT (7, 8, 9), and picryl system (25) [when picrylated cells are used to induce Ts]. Antigen, together with TsF-ind (TsF₁), induces antigen-directed Ts-eff cells by a process of *immunization together with T-cell help*. This Ts-eff is usually called Ts₂. In other systems, the complete Ts-eff/T-acc circuit with an anti-idiotypic loop occurs. Thus, in the NP and ABA systems (2, 12) the TsF-ind (TsF₁) provides both help and the antigen (idiotype) for the induction of the antiidiotypic Ts-trans (Ts₂). In this case the anti-idiotypic TsF-trans *triggers* the release of TsF-eff from the Ts-eff that arises independently (2). Although this Ts-eff is equivalent to the Ts-eff in the lysozyme system, it is usually called Ts₃. In the picryl, oxazolone (18, 26), NP (27, 28), and lysozyme (7) systems, the Ts-eff has a mode of action by *arming* a T-acceptor cell or macrophage. Finally, antigen together with I-J *triggers* the release of nonspecific TsF from the armed T-acc. In some systems the circuit is

apparently incomplete and there is no evidence at present for Ts-ind that augment the production of Ts-eff. Thus, although cells making TsF-ind are produced by the injection of picrylated cells intravenously (25), there are no data on whether similar cells are involved when Ts-eff are induced by the injection of the water soluble, chemically reactive haptens, picrylsulfonic acid (trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid, PSA) and "oxazolone-thioglycolic" acid (29). In fact, the complete circuit is apparently absent, and only the Ts-eff and the T-acc have been described. Whether these Ts-eff are produced without T-T collaboration or whether Ts-ind remain to be discovered is unknown. These systems are summarized in Table 1.

Nomenclature

The nomenclature of T-suppressor cells and factors is somewhat confusing because the term Ts₂ has two different meanings and has been used to refer both to the antigen-directed Ts-eff and to the idiotype-directed Ts-trans that act on the Ts-eff. In fact, Benacerraf's terms (30), Ts₁, Ts₂, and Ts₃, correspond to Gershon's terms Ts-ind, Ts-trans, and Ts-eff (1). Ts₁ and Ts₃ have also been called Ts afferent and Ts efferent (4, 5, 31). Both nomenclatures leave open the nature of the interactions between the cells. Because of the confusion over Ts_2 and Ts_3 we wish to propose the use of the terms Ts-inducer (if necessary specifying whether for the induction of Tstrans or Ts-eff) for the cell that behaves like a T-helper cell for the induction of suppressor cells; Ts-transducer for the anti-idiotypic cell whose TsF triggers the Ts-effector cell; Ts-effector for the cell that makes antigenspecific TsF-eff; and T-acceptor cell for the cell armed by TsF-eff that releases nonspecific inhibitors when exposed to antigen. The T-acc is also known as the Ts auxiliary cell or Ts_4 (28, 32). This nomenclature is summarized in Table 2.

T-Suppressor Afferent Cells

In both the lysozyme and NP circuits there is a cell, the Ts-ind, that suppresses only when given early and acts through the Ts-eff/T-acc circuit. Ts-eff and Ts-ind also occur together in the picryl system (25). However, other T-suppressor cells are found in the picryl system that like the Ts-ind (Ts₁), only inhibit when given early but, unlike the Ts-ind, do not act through the Ts-eff/T-acc circuit (5). These cells may be termed Ts-afferent, in contradistinction to the Ts-ind of the previous circuit. Many specific suppressor cells that affect cell proliferation (36) and the induction of antibody and delayed hypersensitivity (35) may belong to this family of cells (see 5). The evidence for the existence of these distinctive cells is discussed in the section on T-suppressor afferent cells.

Table 1 T-suppressor inducer, transducer, effector, and acceptor cells and their interactions

Circuit	Activity	Target cell	Result
Complete Ts-eff/T-acc circuit with anti- idiotynic loon e o NP system	(a) Induction of Ts-ind ^a by ag on I-I ⁺ cell [Immunization]	Unprimed Ts-ind	Primed Ts-ind (Ts ₁) ^a
word pix toop, v.g. tot aparent	 (b) Induction of Ts-transmustree (b) Induction of Ts-transh by TsF-ind ind^a [<i>Immunization</i> with TsF-ind 	Unprimed Ts-trans	Primed Ts-trans $(Ts_2)^b$
	providing idiotype and T help] (c) Induction of Ts-eff ^a by ag on I-J ⁺	Unprimed Ts-eff	Primed Ts-eff (Ts ₃) ^a
	(d) Triggering of Ts-eff ^a by TsF- trans ^b to produce TsF-eff ^a	Primed Ts-eff	Release of TsF-eff (TsF ₃) ^a
,	(e) Arming of acceptor	T-acceptor cell	Armed T-acc (Ts ₄)
	(f) Triggering of acceptor cell by ag and I-J	Macropnage Armed T-acc Macrophage	Armed macrophage Release of nonspecific TsF or macrophage suppressor factor
Complete Ts-eff/T-acc circuit without anti-idiotynic loon e a lysozyme	(a) Induction of Ts-ind ^a by ag on L1 ⁺ cell [<i>Tumunization</i>]	Unprimed Ts-ind	Primed Ts-ind (Ts1) ^a
system	(b1) Induction of Ts-eff* by TsF-ind* + ag [Immunization with TsF-ind* - notoviding T help]	Unprimed Ts-eff	Primed Ts-eff (Ts ₃) ^a
	(e) Arming (f) Triagering	Acceptor cell Armed acceptor cell	Armed acceptor cell (Ts4) Nonspecific inhibitors
Incomplete Ts-eff/T-acc circuit without known Ts-ind e a nicrol	(c) Induction of Ts-eff by ag on I-J ⁺ cell [<i>Immunication</i>]	Unprimed Ts-eff	Primed Ts-eff (Ts ₃)
(picrylsulfonic acid) system	(d1) Triggering of Ts-eff by antigen + I-J to produce TsF-eff	Primed Ts-eff	Release of TsF-eff (TsF ₃) ^{4,6}
	(e) Arming (f) Triggering	Acceptor cell Armed acceptor cell	Armed acceptor cell (Ts ₄) Nonspecific inhibitors
Possible direct effects of TsF-eff	(g) Inhibition	T cell B cell	Inhibition of proliferation, lymphokine production Inhibition of antibody production
 Directed against antigen. ^b Directed against idiotype. ^c Ts-eff secrets the antigen-binding chain of 1 	sF even without stimulation by additional antige	en. However, antigen together	r with 1-J is needed for the secretion of high

molecular weight, disulfide bonded TsF.

-68. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org	1 08/27/07. For personal use only.
1986.4:37	HINARI OI
Immunol.	by F
Rev.	
Annu.	

Summary of nomenclature of T-suppressor circuits Table 2

Name	Synonym	Directed against	Mode of action	Examples
Ts inducer (Ts-ind)	Ts ₁ Ts afferant	Antigen	Provides idiotype for inducing second order Ts-trans directed against idiotype Provides I-J that together with antigen induces	NP (2), ABA (12), TMA ^e (33) Lysozyme ^b (7), picryl ^d (25), GT, GAT
Ts transducer (Ts-trans)	Ts_2	Idiotype	second other 15-traus unected against antugen Triggers Ts-eff to release antigen-specific TsF effector	(FC) NP (2)
Ts effector (Ts-eff)	Ts.ª Ts-efferent	Antigen	Arms: macrophage T-acceptor cells	Picryl, (18) Picryl, oxazolone (26), NP (27), ^{1vecorma (7)}
T acceptor (T-acc)	Ts ₄ Ts auxiliary		Releases nonspecific inhibitor when triggered with antigen and I-J	rysocyme (7) Picryl, oxazolone (26), NP (27), lysozyme (7)
Ts afferent (Ts-aff)			Unknown. Does not have an obligatory mode of action through the Ts-eff/T-acc circuit	Picryl (34, 35), DNP (30)
a Collod To in	T att taitur ai amatau T att taitu	ind to ather	ith antiana associtan To aff	

"Called 1s, in systems in which the 1s-ind together with antigen generates 1s-eff. b.I.J genetic restriction. • Both antigen and Ts-ind required. • MHC genetic restriction. The other Ts-ind are not MHC (I-J) genetically restricted in their action.

ć

42 ASHERSON, COLIZZI & ZEMBALA

THE ANALOGY BETWEEN ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC T-HELPER FACTOR AND T-SUPPRESSOR INDUCER AND EFFECTOR FACTORS

This section compares antigen-specific ThF with the antigen-specific TsFind that acts by providing help for the production of Ts-trans and Ts-eff. However, the structure of TsF-eff closely resembles that of ThF and TsFind and is also discussed here.

Production of Antigen-Specific T-Helper Factor

Antigen-specific ThF occurs in the culture supernatants of nylon-woolpurified, lymph-node T cells from mice painted with contact sensitizer, e.g. picryl chloride. It increases the contact sensitivity response to a suboptimal dose of picrylated lymphoid cells that have been incubated in it and then injected into the footpad. It is one of several antigen-specific ThF that affect cell-mediated immunity (10; see 11). It probably differs from the mast cellarming factor that causes ear swelling in mice (37), as this is genetically unrestricted in its action, while ThF is I-A restricted (38).

Minimal Model for T-Helper Factor

It may be useful to summarize the structure of ThF and TsF and to give the qualifications afterwards. ThF consists of two chains, one that binds antigen and another that contains I-A determinants (see Figure 1). After dissociation by reduction, the two chains can be separated. Both are needed for biological activity, and there is an I-A genetic restriction in this interaction (39). For this reason the antigen-binding chain is shown as having a recognition site for I-A. Antigen-specific TsF is similar except that it bears I-J determinants, and the restriction between the chains maps to I-J in the one case studied (40, 41).

T-HELPER FACTOR BINDS TO ANTIGEN The antigen specificity of ThF and affinity chromatography on picryl linked to Sepharose through diaminohexane show that ThF has an antigen-binding site and that the binding



Figure 1 Minimal model for antigenspecific T-helper factor. The upper chain with its antigen-binding site (angle) is disulfide bonded to the lower chain with its I-A determinant (black half-moon). Note the interaction between the antigenbinding chain and the I-A determinant shown by the open half-moon. In general, antigen-specific T-suppressor factor is similar, but I-A is replaced by I-J.

does not require a protein carrier or MHC (11). Similarly, TsF-ind in the NP (2), ABA (see 12), KLH (42), and lysozyme systems (7, 8) and TsF-eff in the picryl, oxazolone (29), and NP (2) systems bind directly to antigen. Moreover, most antigen-directed T-suppressor cells adhere to antigen-coated plates. However, in the pneumococcal polysaccharide system, association of the antigen with I-J determinants is required for adherence (43). Perhaps the affinity of binding of the suppressor–T cell receptor to the hydrophilic polysaccharide is insufficient, and binding to I-J is also required. The role of positive cooperativity in the binding of antigen and MHC, in which the binding of one increases the affinity for the other, may be relevant here (44).

I-A⁺ T-HELPER FACTOR AND I-J⁺ T-SUPPRESSOR FACTOR Affinity chromatography on monoclonal antibody shows that picryl and other ThF bear at least some I-A determinant(s) (3, 11, 45, 46). However, the occurrence of I-A determinants may not indicate the presence of a complete chain of conventional I-A. Likewise, nearly all TsF studied have I-J determinants or require a separate I-J⁺ chain for their activity. There are no unequivocal exceptions. The finding that TsF in the DNP and schistosomal (4, 47) systems bears I-C determinants needs reassessing in the light of current views on class-II antigens (48). In the picryl system, disulfide bonded TsF-eff contains an $I-J^+$ chain (40); the reports of $I-J^-$ factor are probably due to studying free antigen-binding chain instead of the complete disulfidebonded molecule (49). Finally in the LDH system, monoclonal TsF consists of an antigen-binding chain linked with a chain bearing A_{β} or E_{β} determinant(s). However, the anti- A_{β} monoclonal used crossreacts with I-J, while certain anti-I-J react with E_{β} determinants (16). The occurrence of I-J determinants on antigen-specific TsF and on certain nonspecific TsF (50, 51) suggests that cell surface receptors for I-J may be important targets for the action of these factors.

ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC T-HELPER AND T-SUPPRESSOR FACTORS HAVE A TWO-CHAIN DISULFIDE-BONDED STRUCTURE Reduction and alkylation under mild conditions splits picryl-specific ThF into two chains: one chain is antigen binding, and it is presumed that the other chain, which is antigen nonbinding, bears the I-A determinant(s) (39) (see Figure 1). T-cell augmenting factor in the KLH system has a similar structure (46). On the suppressor side, TsF-ind has a disulfide-bonded, two-chain structure with one chain binding antigen and the other chain bearing the I-J determinant. This is seen in the KLH (42, 51) and GT (52) systems. Likewise TsF-eff has a two-chain structure in the picryl (40), NP (53), GAT (34), and LDH (54) systems.

The biological activity of disulfide-bonded TsF apparently varies in its

susceptibility to reduction and alkylation. This may be due to the amount of oxygen in the solutions used, as there is a critical intrachain disulfide bond that cannot reform when reduction and alkylation occur under anaerobic conditions (54). In keeping with this, retention of activity after reduction is not due to reassociation of the chains (34).

SINGLE-CHAIN, ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC T-SUPPRESSOR FACTOR Not all factors have a two-chain disulfide structure. In some helper (46) and suppressor systems the two chains occur separately, and both are needed for biological activity (40, 41, 42, 55). There are also clear descriptions of a single-chain, biologically active Ts-ind with both an antigen-binding site and I-J determinants in the GAT (9, 34) and TMA (33) systems. These induce Ts-eff and Ts-trans, respectively. There are no descriptions of similar TsF-trans or Ts-eff.

Complementation Between the Two Chains of Antigen-Specific Factors

BASIC PHENOMENON Both chains of ThF are required for biological activity. However, unlike most antibodies, the antigen-nonbinding chain is not an essential part of the antigen-binding site. Thus, the antigen-binding chain of picryl ThF can be complemented by the antigen-nonbinding chain of oxazolone ThF (39). Similarly, the antigen-binding chain of TsF-eff, which occurs free in mice injected with PSA without painting, can be complemented by I-J from nonimmune cells (41). Complementation also occurs between the antigen-binding chain and an I-J⁺ antigen-nonbinding chain from several sources in the sheep red blood cell antibody system; this again shows that the I-J chain does not make an essential contribution to the antigen combining site (55).

GENETIC RESTRICTION IN THE INTERCHAIN COMPLEMENTATION, INDUCTION, AND ACTION OF ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC FACTORS An interesting generalization can be made concerning the role of the I-A region of the MHC in relation to ThF. In fact the MHC determinant(s) of ThF, and three genetic restrictions, i.e. in the ability of the separated chains of ThF to show biological activity (interchain complementation), in the induction of ThF by picrylated cells and in the action of ThF, all map to the I-A region. A similar generalization applies to TsF, except that the mapping is to the I-J region. One exception is the Ts-eff in the DNP system, which is class-I restricted but bears class-II determinants (55a). The most likely explanation of this generalization is that the antigen-binding chain of factors and the T-cell receptor have recognition sites for MHC-related determinants: I-A for Th and I-J for Ts. Hence, the Th or Ts is triggered by antigen in the context of the appropriate

MHC-related determinant, while the recognition site for the MHC-related determinant on the antigen-binding chain explains why the antigennonbinding chain is $I-A^+$ in ThF and $I-J^+$ in TsF. The recognition site for MHC-related determinants or the MHC determinant itself also accounts for the genetic restriction in the action of these factors (see Figure 1 and the next section).

The evidence for a genetic restriction in interchain complementation is summarized here. In the case of ThF, the separated chains show a genetic restriction in their complementation that maps to I-A (38). In general a genetic restriction implies both a polymorphic determinant, e.g. I-A, and a recognition site for that determinant; this basic rule allows the deduction that one chain bears I-A determinant(s), as is already known from serological studies, while the other chain bears a recognition site for I-A. The data on the genetic restriction in interchain complementation for TsF are incomplete. In the case of picryl (41), NP (2), and GT (34) TsF-eff, the two chains separated from the disulfide-bonded molecule show a genetic restriction. This has been studied using the naturally occurring free chains in the picryl system and maps to the I-J region (41). This interaction between the chains may be a preliminary to intracellular disulfide bonding.

Comparison Between Secreted T-Cell Factors and the T-Cell Receptor

Inspection of Figure 1 shows that the antigen-binding chain of ThF, like the T-cell receptor, has recognition site(s) for antigen and I-A. This suggests that the antigen-binding chain of the ThF uses the same gene rearrangements as the T-cell receptor of the cell that made it. The question then arises as to whether the two chains of ThF correspond to the α and β chains of the T-cell receptor? The current view is that the T-cell receptor of the helper is a heterodimer (~80 kd) composed of an α and a β chain, both involved in antigen recognition, that apparently lack I-A and presumably I-aT (56) determinants by biochemical criteria. Similarly, the T-cell receptor of a Ts hybridoma (28 kd) lacks covalently linked I-J determinants (57). In this respect the α and β chains of the T-cell receptor differ from the antigennonbinding chain of the secreted products that bears MHC-related determinants. Moreover, it is unlikely that the antigen-binding chain corresponds to both the α and β chains, as there is no clear evidence that it can be dissociated into two different chains. Further polyacrylamide gel studies are needed.

This simple model, in which the recognition site for interchain complementation uses the same gene rearrangements as the receptor on the T cell that makes it, is a modern rephrasing of Ehrlich's side-chain theory. This analogy predicts that the cell that makes ThF, like the ThF itself, should recognize I-A, and in keeping with this, picrylated cells injected into the footpad only induce ThF when they are I-A matched with the recipient (38). Similarly the cell that makes TsF, like the TsF itself, should recognize I-J, and in keeping with this, only haptenized cells of the appropriate I-J genotype induce Ts when injected intravenously (2, 23, 24).

The reason that ThF induces positive "helper" and not suppressor responses is probably that ThF bears I-A determinants and hence can favor the presentation of antigen in the context of I-A. A similar argument may explain why the lysozyme TsF-ind, which is I-J restricted, induces secondorder suppressor and not helper T cells. Whether Ts-eff and nonspecific TsF can also induce further suppressor cells by virtue of their I-J determinants is unclear.

The alternative view is that there are two separate MHC recognition sites on the antigen-binding chain that is analogous to the T-cell receptor—one site for MHC-restricted antigen recognition and the other for MHCrestricted interchain complementation. There is formal evidence supporting this view in the case of TsF. (See section on Crosslinking and I-J Are Required To Trigger the T-Acceptor Cell.) This model with two-MHC recognition sites allows the possibility that the two sites may show different MHC specificities (crossed systems model). In this situation, an antigen recognized in the context of one determinant, e.g. I-A, might stimulate the production of a factor bearing a different determinant, e.g. I-J. Hence, an antigen seen in a context normally giving rise to help might cause suppression.

Mode of Action of Antigen-Specific T-Cell Factors

The I-A determinant(s) and the recognition site(s) for I-A on ThF suggest several ways in which it may act as a helper factor, and similar arguments apply for Ts-ind, which bears I-J determinants and presumably has recognition site(s) for I-J. In fact ThF may:

1. *Provide I-A*, which together with antigen triggers the T cell. Both this and Mechanism 2, below, would account for the intriguing observation that there is an I-A genetic restriction in the action of ThF, i.e. picrylated allogenetic cells induce contact sensitivity, providing they are incubated in ThF that is I-A compatible with the recipient (38).

The analogy for TsF-ind is the provision of I-J, which together with antigen triggers the Ts. This and Mechanism 2 below predict that the induction by Ts-ind is genetically restricted by the MHC locus and in particular the I-J region. This is seen in the lysozyme (7) and picryl (25) systems in which TsF-ind together with antigen gives rise to Ts-eff. However, this is unlikely to be the sole mechanism in systems lacking this genetic restriction. These include the GAT system (34) and systems in which

Ts-ind induces idiotypic Ts-trans. These considerations do not explain why the TsF-ind and TsF-eff, in the lysozyme system, have the same fine specificity for the suppressor epitope. However, this may be due to a disproportionate representation of T cells directed to the suppressor epitope or to an idiotype-anti-idiotype loop.

2. Attach to $I-A^+$ antigen-presenting cells. After ThF attaches to $I-A^+$ cells through its recognition site(s) for I-A, the antigen-binding site may serve to concentrate antigen. Although macrophages and dendritic cells are the obvious I-A⁺ antigen-presenting cells, there may also be I-A⁺ antigen-presenting T cells that produce or passively acquire I-A determinants. Similarly, TsF-ind may bind to an I-J⁺ macrophage or T cell through its recognition site(s) for I-J.

3. Attach to antigen-presenting cells by mechanisms not involving recognition of I-A. ThF may be cytophilic for certain antigen-presenting cells and, hence, may concentrate antigen on their surface and perhaps increase the amount of I-A available to facilitate the interaction of antigen with T cells.

On the suppressor side, this mechanism is relevant for those TsF-ind that are not genetically restricted in their action and, hence, cannot act only as a source of I-J or receptor for I-J. In these situations the antigen-presenting cell provides I-J, since there is an I-J genetic restriction between the antigenpresenting cell (macrophage) and the recipient. This is seen in the NP (2), ABA (12), and TMA (33) systems in which the TsF-ind provides both help and antigen (idiotype) and generates anti-idiotypic Ts-trans.

4. Arm a cell that then releases nonspecific factors when exposed to antigen. This possibility is formally analogous to the action of Ts-eff through a T-acceptor cell or macrophage (19).

5. Interfere with suppressor-cell responses. This is a possible mode of action of ThF formally analogous to contrasuppression (1). For instance, some evidence suggests that certain $I-J^+$ molecules are receptors for self I-A (56). The implication is that I-A and I-J molecules may interact and hence $I-A^+$ ThF might interfere with $I-J^+$ Ts. Similarly $I-J^+$ TsF might interfere with I-A-based immune responses.

BIOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS It is not clear whether ThF is essential for the induction of contact sensitivity or only increases its magnitude, nor whether TsF-ind is essential for the Ts-eff response or only increases its size. In any event there are two different effects of Ts-ind: the induction of idiotype-directed Ts-trans and of antigen-directed Ts-eff. No system is known in which the same TsF-ind gives rise to both Ts-trans and Ts-eff (but see 33). It may be that these effects are due to two different classes of Ts-ind. Alternatively, the basic rule may be that Ts-ind alone gives rise to Ts-trans, and Ts-ind together with antigen gives rise to Ts-eff, and the exceptions may have special explanations. Thus, in the TMA system antigen together with TsF-ind is required to produce the anti-idiotypic Ts-trans. Perhaps antiidiotypic cells are so poorly represented in the repertoire that their number must be boosted by idiotype-positive cells induced by antigen. Other alternatives are that antibody induced by the antigen provides the idiotype or that the idiotypic determinant recognized by the Ts-trans is only generated when the idiotype combines with antigen.

Although TsF-ind induces antigen-directed Ts-eff when injected with antigen, it fails to induce idiotype-directed Ts-trans when injected alone; this may be due to the use of monoclonal Ts-ind in a system that lacks a dominant idiotype (7). Under these conditions, any Ts-trans produced would only interact with the idiotype of a minority of the Ts-eff and might escape detection.

ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC T-SUPPRESSOR FACTORS

Molecular Biology of T-Suppressor Factor

Although biologically active antigen-binding and I-J⁺ chains of TsF can be produced by translating mRNA (58, 59), there are only limited data about the molecular biology of T-suppressor cells. Radiation leukemia virus which make antigen-specific TsF-ind show rearrangement of clones α , β , and γ genes of the T-cell receptor. The β gene was expressed in both a lysozymespecific and an acetylcholine-receptor-specific clone. However, the lysozyme clone failed to express α or γ mRNA, while the other clone expressed comparable amounts of β and γ and a small amount of α (60). β gene rearrangement has also been found in a human line (OKT4) that suppresses antibody (61). The deletion of the area of the β gene in the DNA and the failure of β expression in Ts hybridomas were unexpected. It is possible that only a minority of the cells were producing TsF or had Ts cell receptors (62).

Molecular Forms of Antigen-Specific T-Suppressor Factor

The production of TsF-eff, which blocks the passive transfer of contact sensitivity, requires both injection of picrylsulfonic acid and reexposure to antigen by painting (4, 66). This is because the injection of PSA leads to the production of the antigen-binding chain of TsF that is inactive alone, while the final painting with picryl chloride causes the production of an additional I-J⁺ chain. In fact, the TsF activity that inhibits the passive transfer of contact sensitivity can arise in two different ways. It may be due to a two-chain, I-J⁺ disulfide-bonded molecule around 90 kd (46). Alternatively, it may be due to complementation between two separate molecules, one antigen-binding and the other bearing I-J determinants,

which may arise from a single cell (40) or from distinct cells of different phenotypes (41; see also 49).

HIGH-MOLECULAR-WEIGHT, DISULFIDE-BONDED HETERODIMER The culture supernatants of lymphoid cells from mice injected with PSA and then painted with picryl chloride contain TsF activity around 90 kd, due to disulfide-bonded molecules. This TsF dissociates on reduction and alkylation into an antigen-binding $I-J^-$ chain and $I-J^+$ antigen-nonbinding chain. Both chains are required for biological activity. The I-J genetic restriction in this interchain complementation was studied using naturally occurring separate chains. It implies that one chain is $I-J^+$, a fact already known from serological studies, while the other chain has receptors for I-J (40). The presumption is that the two chains are both made and disulfide bonded within a single cell; the production of disulfide-bonded TsF by hybridomas supports this view (2, 51, 52).

SEPARATE ANTIGEN-BINDING AND I-J⁺ CHAINS The same supernatant also shows activity around 50 kd, due to separate antigen-binding and I-J⁺ chains as shown by affinity chromatography on antigen or anti-I-J. The presumption is that there is a loose complex of antigen-binding and I-J⁺ chains or that both chains occur separately, perhaps as homodimers, with a M_r of ~50 kd. Finally, the supernatants contain separate antigen-binding and I-J⁺ chains with M_r of ~35 kd and ~25 kd, respectively, by gel filtration (40).

As the two chains of TsF are both required for biological activity, they are important assay reagents for each other. In fact, the antigen-binding chain can be obtained relatively free from the other chain by immuno-chemical or biological methods. These include:

- 1. Making culture supernatants containing both disulfide-bonded and free chains with cells from mice injected with PSA and then painted with picryl chloride, and then removing the disulfide-bonded molecules from the supernatants, by absorption with anti-I-J antibody.
- Splitting crude culture supernatant or high molecular weight TsF with dithioerythritol and then reducing and isolating the antigen-binding chain by affinity chromatography followed by elution with 3 M KCNS, 0.1 M NH₄OH, or "picryl-ε-aminocaproic acid."
- Using culture supernatants that lack appreciable amounts of disulfidebonded TsF or I-J⁺ chains. These are regularly produced in our laboratory by injecting PSA without subsequent painting (43; but see 49). In this case, activity is found around 35 kd and 70 kd by gel filtration.

The I-J⁺ chain can be obtained by a variation of method 1 or 2 above. It also occurs in a potassium chloride extract of normal spleen cells. (The KCl

probably acts by activating proteolytic enzymes, which release surface I-J, and by breaking cells, which releases cytoplasmic I-J.) I-J also occurs in the 24-hr culture supernatant of haptenized, but not of normal, spleen cells. It is not clear whether haptenization acts by killing cells or by activating synthesis, secretion, or shedding.

TSF ACTIVITY MAY BE DUE TO THE PRODUCT OF A SINGLE CELL OR TWO DISTINCT CELLS In summary, TsF can appear as a disulfide-bonded molecule or as two separate chains made by a single cell. Alternatively, the two chains may be made by distinct cells. Thus, $Ly-1^{-2+}$ I-J⁺ cells from mice injected with PSA make the antigen-binding chain, while haptenized $Ly-1^{+}2^{-}$ I-J⁺ normal spleen cells make the I-J⁺ chain (41). Similar observations have been made in the sheep red blood cell system which suppresses antibody production (55).

DISTAL COMMON PATHWAYS IN THE T-SUPPRESSOR EFFERENT CIRCUIT Concept of the Nonspecific Acceptor Cell

Although TsF-eff may have a direct action on Th or B cells, it has no direct effect on the cells that mediate contact sensitivity and cannot affect passive transfer when the cells are taken from donors which have received cyclophosphamide. Its nonspecific mode of action can be readily understood through its analogy with the IgE/mast cell system. Figure 2 illustrates



Figure 2 T suppressor efferent/T acceptor cell circuit. The diagram illustrates that the initial immunization is by antigen together with I-J. In some circuits this may require help from Ts-ind. The Ts-eff that results from this immunization secretes the antigen-binding chain of TsF-eff. However, it releases high molecular weight, two-chain, disulfide-bonded TsF-eff when stimulated with antigen and I-J. (In the NP system an idiotype-directed Ts-trans also triggers the secretion of TsF by the Ts-eff.) The TsF arms an acceptor cell, the T-acceptor cell, or macrophage. The T-acceptor cell is then triggered by antigen and I-J to release non-specific TsF, which inhibits contact sensitivity and the production of IL-2.

that TsF arms the T-acceptor cell or macrophage. These may be regarded as nonspecific *acceptor cells* that lack intrinsic *relevant* immunological specificity but acquire it when armed with antigen-specific TsF-eff. Triggering with antigen and, at least in the case of the T-acc, with I-J liberates nonspecific inhibitors. The specificity of the antigen and the genotype of the I-J must correspond to the TsF-eff and not to the acceptor cell. This is an amplification system and enables a small amount of specific factor to cause the release of a large amount of a nonspecific factor in an antigen-specific fashion.

The Macrophage as an Acceptor Cell

It may be useful to trace the development of the concept of the nonspecific acceptor cell. Early studies showed that macrophages absorb TsF and are then able to inhibit the passive transfer of contact sensitivity (63, 64). In fact, the armed macrophages release a nonspecific macrophage suppressor factor (M_r 10–20 kd) when exposed to picrylated cells or picrylated protein (18, 65). It is not clear whether both antigen and I-J are required for this release. The factor inhibits the passive transfer of contact sensitivity. There is some evidence that it also inhibits cell proliferation in vitro (66).

This macrophage suppressor factor may play a role in suppression of the response to NP. In this system the anti-idiotypic TsF-trans can be absorbed by adherent cells (macrophages) and still cause suppression. There is an I-J genetic restriction between the macrophage and the TsF-trans, but not between the TsF and final recipient (15). One possible explanation of this genetic restriction is that the macrophage armed with TsF-trans is triggered by the combination of idiotype in the final recipient and the I-J of the macrophage to release nonspecific macrophage suppressor factor.

T-Acceptor Cell

The ability of TsF-eff to attach to immune cells in the cold and its failure to inhibit without incubation at 37°C suggested an indirect mode of action (18). In the DNP contact sensitivity system, a T-suppressor auxiliary cell is required for the action of Ts cells produced by painting with supraoptimal doses of antigen (32). In fact, a similar cell is required for the action of antigen-specific TsF-eff in the picryl and oxazolone systems. Thus, TsF-eff does not affect passive transfer by cells from mice subjected to adult thymectomy or cyclophosphamide. However, the inhibition can be restored by adding 4-day immune cells produced by the same or an unrelated antigen. Analysis of this system led to the recognition of the nonspecific T-acceptor cell with the following properties (17, 19):

1. The cell is produced by painting the skin with contact sensitizing agents,

but specific immunization is not required. The cell is not found in resting mice but appears by 2 days after immunization in the lymph nodes and spleen and disappears by day 10. Similar cells are probably produced by injecting haptenized cells in the footpad and may also occur 2 weeks after immunization with antigen in Freund's complete antigen (67). The T-acc also occur in mice given large doses of BCG intravenously (see 66).

- 2. The cell is Thy- 1^+ , Ly- 1^-2^+ , FcR⁺, I-J⁺.
- 3. The cell is sensitive to adult thymectomy and to cyclophosphamide given before immunization. This effect may be on antigen-presenting cells (23) or on the precursors of the T-acc.
- 4. The cell possesses receptors for TsF-eff. Thus, T-acc adhere to haptenized albumin on a plate when armed with the appropriate TsF-eff. This provides formal proof that TsF binds to the surface of the T-acc.
- 5. The cell is triggered to release nonspecific inhibitor by antigen together with I-J.

Similar T-acc are required in the TMA antibody (67), lysozyme delayed hypersensitivity (7) and NP delayed hypersensitivity systems (27, 28); and at least in the last two, the T-acc do not require specific immunization for their production. The contrasuppressor circuit in the picryl system also utilizes an I-J⁺, cyclophosphamide-sensitive cell that requires immunization, but not specific immunization, for its production; it is similar or possibly identical to the T-acc. This cell liberates a nonspecific contrasuppressor factor when armed with antigen-specific contrasuppressor factor and then triggered with antigen (68).

Although this article is not primarily about I-J, a brief COMMENTS ON I-J comment may be helpful. This subject has been recently reviewed (see 56). I-J was originally regarded as the product of an MHC locus lying between A and E. This was not confirmed by DNA studies, and a locus on chromosome 4 may also be involved (69). This led to the suggestion that I-J was, or shared determinants with, a receptor for recognizing self-MHC (56). This is based on the finding that certain anti-I-J sera react with responder cells and inhibit the mixed lymphocyte reaction. I-J determinants may also be associated with E_{a} , as both these determinants occur on the antigennonbinding chain of the TsF in the LDH system (16). In any event, both conventional and monoclonal antibodies recognize different I-J determinants on Ts-ind and Ts-eff (70); several authors have pointed out that anti-I-J sera might recognize receptors for I-J, because the congenic mice used to produce them differ in both I-J and recognition molecules for I-J. Nevertheless, the term I-J is still useful for the loci that distinguish B10.A(3R) and B10.A(5R) mice and for the products recognized by anti-I-J sera.

CROSSLINKING AND I-J ARE REQUIRED TO TRIGGER THE T-ACCEPTOR CELL The triggering of the T-acc requires both antigen and I-J corresponding to the source of the TsF and not to the source of the T-acc (17, 20, 26). This was shown using picrylated cells from B10.A(3R) and B10.A(5R) mice as a source of antigen. This genetic restriction is usually attributed to an I-J recognition site on the TsF that interacts with I-J on the haptenized cell, and not to the I-J of the TsF interacting with an I-J recognition site on the haptenized cell. This I-J genetic restriction in triggering is in addition to the I-J restriction in the complementation between the two chains of the Ts-eff.

In fact, the antigen-binding chain of TsF has two recognition sites for I-J: one for interchain complementation and the other for triggering, when the TsF is attached to the surface of the T-acc. This view is based on studies in (CBA \times B10)F1, i.e. (k \times b)F1, mice. These mice produce distinct I-J^k and I-J^b disulfide-bonded TsF. Two separate antigen-binding chains are obtained by affinity chromatography on anti-I-J columns, followed by reduction and alkylation: one is only complemented by an I-J^k antigennonbinding chain and the other by an I-J^b. The key observation relates to the genetic restriction in the triggering of the T-acc armed with antigenbinding chain of F1 origin complemented with the corresponding antigennonbinding (I-J⁺) chain of parental origin. Under these conditions, either $H-2^{k}$ or $H-2^{b}$ picrylated cells can be used as a source of antigen for triggering. However, there is still a genetic restriction, as picrylated thirdparty cells (H-2^d) are ineffective. In other words, antigen-binding chain derived from I-J^k-bearing TsF of F1 origin (but not of parental origin) complemented with I-J^k chain (of F1 or parental origin) recognizes antigen in the context of either I-Jk or I-Jb at the triggering stage. Whether this is due to two types of antigen-binding chains, one that recognizes antigen in the context of I-J^k and the other in the context of I-J^b, or to a single type of chain that recognizes both I-J^k and I-J^b is unclear. In any event, the fact that the genetic restriction for interchain complementation can be different from the genetic restriction for triggering implies that there are two distinct I-J recognition sites on the antigen-binding chain, one for interchain complementation and the other for triggering (unpublished data, M. Zembala).

Subsequent experiments showed that there was no need for the hapten and the I-J to be on the same "antigen-presenting" cell, e.g. T-acc armed with TsF of genotype I-J^k could be triggered by picrylated I-J^b cells providing I-J^k cells were added (M. Zembala, unpublished data). This suggests that antigen or I-J or both could move to the surface of the armed T-acc. Attempts to simplify the source of the antigen and the I-J showed that antigen could be provided by picrylated albumin or by the bivalent, low-molecular-weight hapten, bis(picryl)-L-lysine, while the I-J could be provided by normal cells or by extracts of normal cells. Affinity-purified I-J can also be used (26).

Further analysis was based on studying bifunctional, mixed haptens in which the dibasic amino acid lysine was derivatized on the α -amino group with picryl (or NP) and on the terminal *e*-amino group with oxazolone. This gave a molecule univalent with respect to either hapten but able to crosslink TsF of picryl and oxazolone specificity with each other. Experiment showed that these mixed haptens triggered T-acc armed with both TsF, but not cells armed with only one factor. This implies that crosslinking of separate molecules of TsF leads to triggering, as these mixed haptens are unable to crosslink the combining sites of a single molecule. Occupancy and perhaps crosslinking of the recognition site for I-J is also required. It is interesting that the I-J and the antigen can be given in any order, which makes it likely that the receptor has sufficient affinity to bind the hapten and the I-J alone (26). It would be interesting to know whether there is a positive cooperativity of binding so that binding of antigen or I-J increases the affinity of binding of the other factor, as suggested in a recent model of the T-cell receptor (44).

EQUIVALENCE OF CONVENTIONAL AND MONOCLONAL TSF-EFF This collaboration between TsF of different antigen specificities indicates that oxazolone and picryl Ts-eff belong to the same class. Similar experiments show that monoclonal NP TsF₃ is functionally equivalent to oxazolone TsF-eff. In particular, T-acc armed with a mixture of conventional oxazolone TsF-eff and monoclonal NP TsF-eff (TsF₃) are triggered by the mixed hapten "NPoxazolone-lysine." Further evidence for the equivalence of these two factors is their common action through the nonspecific T-acc and the I-J genetic restriction in triggering (27).

Nonspecific T-Suppressor Factor That Inhibits the Transfer of Contact Sensitivity

The nonspecific-acceptor cells, the macrophage and the T-acc, and their nonspecific suppressor factors provide a common pathway for many Ts-eff. In fact, the acceptor cell system provides an example of the specific activation of a nonspecific effect. In these systems, the initial antigenspecific TsF-eff gives rise to a nonspecific factor in the presence of the corresponding antigen and I-J. Hence, the usual specificity control of asking whether antigen-specific TsF-eff affects a third-party response cannot show a nonspecific effect unless antigen and I-J corresponding to the TsF are also present (see 64). Despite this final nonspecific effect, it is

likely that the distinctive location of antigen and movement of cells to the local environment limit generalized nonspecific suppression in the intact animal (71).

The inhibitory factor(s) made by T-acc (nonspecific TsF) has two main effects—the inhibition of the passive transfer of contact sensitivity and the inhibition of IL-2 production. The inhibition of the passive transfer of contact sensitivity is due to a molecule of $M_r \sim 50$ kd by gel filtration and a pI around 6.7. It is antigen nonspecific and MHC unrestricted. The factor itself is I-J⁺. However, it is made by the T-acc, and the I-J is not derived from the antigen-specific TsF, as the phenotype of the I-J corresponds to the T-acc and not to the TsF (50). The factor may act by blocking lymphokine production—a possibility suggested by the finding that antigen-specific TsF-eff, which can act through nonspecific TsF, blocks the production of an inhibitor of the migration of T cells (72). The interpretation of experiments, which suggest that the present nonspecific TsF can be produced in the absence of T-acc, may be complicated by the presence of macrophages acting as acceptor cells, since the T cells were not purified. Alternatively the depletion of T-acc cells may have been incomplete (73).

Nonspecific T-Suppressor Factor That Inhibits the Production of IL-2

The supernatants that block the transfer of contact sensitivity also block the Concanavalin A (Con A)-induced production of IL-2 when added within the first 8 hr of culture. This is not a toxic effect, as nonspecific TsF has no effect when added before stimulation with Con A and then washed off (20, 21). Analogy with a human factor produced by cells stimulated with *Candida albicans* in vitro (74) suggests that nonspecific TsF may act by blocking IL-1 production by macrophages (74).

The nonspecific TsF is absorbed by adherent cells (macrophages) and by activated, but not resting, lymphocytes (M. Malkovsky, personal communication). It does not act on the cell responding to IL-2; IL-2 shows the same activity in stimulating Con A blast cells whether diluted in medium or in nonspecific inhibitor. This apparently distinguishes it from the factors described in serum of normal mice and mice infected with malaria (75, 76). However, interpretation may be complicated as inhibition of IL-1 production may interfere with the appearance of receptors for IL-2.

This factor is probably different from stimulated rat T cell-derived inhibitory factor (STIF), which blocks the response to IL-2 (77); from soluble immune response suppressor (SIRS), which does not affect T-cell proliferation; from inhibitor of DNA synthesis (IDS), which has a pI of ~ 2.9 (see 78); and from a factor produced by cells in the mixed lymphocyte reaction that inhibits the production of IL-2 (79).

In keeping with its effect on the production of IL-2, nonspecific TsF limits Con A-induced DNA synthesis in vitro. It also limits antigen-induced lymph node proliferation and contact sensitivity in vivo when given at the time of immunization. The pI and molecular weight of the factor that inhibits the transfer of contact sensitivity and DNA synthesis in vivo are comparable when tested in parallel. Moreover, the pI of the nonspecific Tsuppressor factor(s) that blocks IL-2 production and the transfer of contact sensitivity are similar (50). Nevertheless, further studies are needed to determine whether the T-acc makes a single nonspecific or a family of nonspecific TsF.

Control of the Balance Between Immunity and Suppression

In general, antigen+I-J is the cue for inducing Ts (2, 23, 24), while antigen + I-A induces Th responses. However, it is unlikely that this is the only determinant of the relative activity of helper and suppressor circuits. One possibility is that the level of production of IL-2 is an important determinant. For instance, if Ts require less IL-2 than Th (or have a higher affinity for IL-2) then the suppressor circuits would dominate when IL-2 is rate limiting, while helper circuits would dominate if more IL-2 is present. The following experiment suggests that IL-2 may indeed influence the balance between unresponsiveness and immunity. Normally the intravenous injection of picrylated cells gives rise to unresponsiveness associated with suppressor cells. However, contact sensitivity occurs when IL-2 (or Con A that induces the formation of IL-2) is injected at the same time (80, 80a). This shows that exogenous IL-2 influences the balance between immunity and unresponsiveness and raises the question whether endogenous IL-2 has the same effect. These considerations may elucidate the contrast between the induction of unresponsiveness by antigen given intravenously and the immunity by antigen given subcutaneously (81). This might be due to differences in the amount of IL-2 produced and the amount of IL-2 needed to initiate immune responses in the spleen as compared with those in the lymph nodes. Further analysis requires separate study of unresponsiveness associated with suppressor cells and unresponsiveness in which suppressor cells cannot be demonstrated; these types of unresponsiveness differ in the MHC requirements for their induction and in their sensitivity to cyclophosphamide (82, 83).

Further evidence of the importance of IL-2 in influencing the outcome of the immune response has been obtained in transplantation systems. In neonatal tolerance, using the (CBA \times B10)F1 \rightarrow CBA combination, in which transplantation tolerance is difficult to induce, IL-2 prevents the induction of tolerance when given 1 day after the injection of the

semiallogeneic cells used to induce tolerance (84). One possible mechanism is that the IL-2 stimulates an immune response that eliminates the injected cells whose presence is needed for the persistence of tolerance. Moreover IL-2 slowly terminates neonatally induced tolerance in mice bearing a tolerated skin graft over about a month. The implication is that limitation of IL-2 production is important for the maintenance of tolerance in this system (85).

The following experiment suggests a possible link between Ts and the clonal anergy that is seen after the injection of PSA, as assessed by limiting dilution studies of cytotoxic cell precursors (86). In preliminary experiments a primary mixed lymphocyte reaction (CBA anti-B10) was conducted in the relative absence of IL-2 produced by nonspecific TsF that depresses IL-2 production. At 4 days, the viable cells were isolated and restimulated with the same antigen (B10) or third-party antigen (B10.S). The relative lack of IL-2 in the primary led to selective loss of the secondary mixed lymphocyte reaction with retention of the third-party response. Mixture experiments showed no evidence of suppressor cells (M. Malkovsky, unpublished data). These results raise the possibility that the Ts-eff/T-acc circuit, which produces a nonspecific TsF that inhibits the production of IL-2, may be one of the mechanisms of clonal inactivation of T cells (see 87).

Another level of control of unresponsiveness is suggested by the finding that agents that selectively derivatize SH groups cause suppression, while those that derivatize amino groups cause immunization when applied to the skin (88, 89). Although these differences may be due to effects on the distribution or persistence of antigen, or to a requirement for amino derivatization for activating positive responses, it is possible that there are free SH groups on I-J or molecules that associate with I-J and hence that selective SH (thiol) reagents preferentially activate Ts.

The Role of the T-Acceptor Cell in the Depression of Contact Sensitivity by Antigen (Desensitization In Vitro), T-Suppressor Factors, and Anti-Idiotypic Antibody

The Ts-eff/T-acc cell circuit offers a simple explanation of the ability of antigen, TsF-eff, anti-idiotypic TsF-trans, and anti-idiotypic antibody to suppress the passive transfer of contact sensitivity. In the picryl system 4-day immune cells transfer contact sensitivity. However, this is blocked by incubation for 1 hr with antigen-specific TsF or syngeneic picrylated cells.

Why does either antigen or TsF suppress passive transfer? The likely answer is based on the presence of antigen on the surface of lymph node cells, probably T cells and macrophages, 4 days after immunization, as shown by the cells' ability to immunize other mice (see 90). By adding a large amount of TsF, the small amount of antigen available is sufficient to trigger the release of nonspecific TsF from the T-acc. Alternatively, when a large amount of antigen (haptenized cells) is added, the release of TsF may be stimulated and this then arms the T-acc, which is then triggered by the antigen to release nonspecific TsF. In keeping with this interpretation, desensitization in vitro requires the presence of two cells: one is the antigenspecific Ts-eff, which is cyclophosphamide resistant, adult-thymectomy sensitive, and antigen adhering; the other is nonspecific T-acc, which is sensitive to both cyclophosphamide (91) and adult thymectomy and adheres to antigen only after arming with TsF (92). (See Figure 2.)

In the NP system, mice are routinely immunized by injecting NPmodified cells subcutaneously. These mice show delayed sensitivity but also have Ts-eff and probably T-acc (28, 67) in their lymph nodes. Their delayed sensitivity can be inhibited by the injection of anti-idiotypic TsF-trans (TsF₂), which is known to trigger the release of TsF-eff (TsF₃) even in the absence of antigen. The presumption is that the anti-idiotypic factor is an internal image of antigen, and the situation is formally analogous to desensitization in vitro. As the factor is $I-J^+$, it is possible that it provides the I-J determinants necessary to trigger the Ts-eff to make TsF-eff (but see section on *The Macrophage as an Acceptor Cell*). Anti-idiotypic B cells (93) and anti-idiotypic antibody (94) that affect contact sensitivity probably act through the T-acc (95).

T-Suppressor Afferent Cells That Do Not Act Through the Ts-eff/T-acc Circuit

Some Ts that only suppress when given early in the immune response do not act by inducing Ts-eff or anti-idiotypic Ts-trans of the type already discussed. The argument goes as follows: The Ts-aff that affect contact sensitivity and DNA synthesis in vivo cannot be Ts-eff, because they only act when given early and show different sensitivities to adult thymectomy and cyclophosphamide. Moreover, they cannot have an obligatory mode of action through the Ts-eff/T-acc circuit, as they are active when injected into mice that cannot generate these cells as a result of adult thymectomy (5, 35, 36). The properties of the Ts-aff are summarized below (5):

1. Ts-aff are produced by giving two injections of PSA or by painting with picryl chloride. In the dinitrophenyl system they are also produced by injecting haptenized lymphoid cells or cells taken from mice that contain Ts-eff (and presumably other cells) (31). The ability to produce these Ts-aff after adult thymectomy shows that Ts-eff are not necessary for their induction, but it is an open question whether the Ts-eff is one of the cells that can facilitate their induction (31).

2. Ts-aff cannot be produced in mice given cyclophosphamide before

immunization or infected with Newcastle disease virus (96), but their generation is unaffected by adult thymectomy. The target for the action of cyclophosphamide may be the precursors of the Ts-aff or the antigenpresenting cell needed for its generation (23). In contrast, the Ts-eff has the opposite sensitivities and cannot be produced after adult thymectomy, but is unaffected by Newcastle disease virus or cyclophosphamide given before immunization. The T-acc is sensitive to all three procedures. When cyclophosphamide sensitivity is studied one day after immunization, it is unclear whether the generation of the Ts-eff and/or the T-acc is affected (2, 28).

3. Ts-aff specifically block the secondary IgG but not the IgE response to picryl chloride (97, 98); they also block the in vivo proliferation in lymph nodes following immunization (36, 99) and affect the induction of cytotoxic cells (100). In the GAT system, Ts-aff inhibit delayed hypersensitivity but not proliferation. This might suggest that there are two distinct Ts-aff. Alternatively a single Ts-aff might carry out both activities, but one is blocked by another cell (101). It is not clear whether all these effects are secondary to inhibition of the production of antigen-specific ThF, which augments contact sensitivity (102), or whether there is a family of closely related Ts-aff.

4. These cells also affect the induction of contact sensitivity, perhaps by blocking the production of ThF. However, they cannot be demonstrated in mice painted with the standard dose of picryl chloride used to produce contact sensitivity, perhaps because of the presence of T-helper and contrasuppressor cells in the immune population (68).

It is likely that the Ts-aff produced by injecting haptenized cells, which affect DNA synthesis and occur in the absence of Ts-eff, belong to the same family and in this case are probably anti-idiotypic (31). There are numerous other Ts that affect antibody production and delayed hypersensitivity and in which a Ts-eff/T-acc circuit has not been described; these Ts may also belong to this family (103, 104). However, detailed studies are needed because the Ts-eff/T-acc circuit, which leads to the production of a nonspecific TsF that blocks the production of IL-2 and perhaps other lymphokines, is also able to suppress delayed and contact sensitivity and may in principle affect cell proliferation.

Biological Function of T-Suppressor Cells

Why is there a need for both suppressor-inducer and suppressor-effector cells? This is analogous to the general question of why T-T and T-B collaboration is required. The classical answer is that two-cell systems lend themselves to greater amplification and finer control. Perhaps the alternative—a cell that provides help for itself, e.g. a Ts-inducer cell that is

also a Ts-effector cell—is too difficult to control. An additional consideration is that the animal needs a memory of the antigen at the time of the initial invasion by the microorganism. For instance, viruses must have the property of being able to adhere to cells so that they can enter them; the molecules used at that time—and perhaps the molecules with which they react—are the best target for the main immune response. However, several days after infection, the production of free viral-coat protein might cause the immune system to give a response appropriate to a large amount of soluble protein. Perhaps the T-helper (inducer) cell in the two-cell system provides a memory for the initial mode of presentation of antigen and prevents the response being unduly influenced by the large amount of viral protein produced later. This argument applies equally to conventional and suppressor cell responses.

What is the role of anti-idiotypic transducer cell in suppressor circuits and of the anti-idiotypic helper cell in conventional systems? One possibility is that they provide a method of anticipating antigens arising from antigenic variation in microorganisms. One method is the mutation of variable-region genes. An alternative is an idiotype anti-idiotype loop that induces further cells, which share an idiotype with the original immune response but are not necessarily directed to the same antigen. This may increase the number of cells that have a greater than random chance of reacting with new antigens arising from antigenic variation.

Another possibility emerges from the ability of various antibodies, and perhaps T-cell products, to enter the fetus. Anti-idiotypic factors may affect the clonal distribution of cells in the offspring and hence provide an additional method whereby the antigenic experience of the mother may influence the child. The basic consideration is that the microorganisms met by the mother are a guide to those likely to be met by the offspring.

It is interesting that the amount of microorganismal antigen rises following infection. In general, successful handling of the infection leads to a decline in the rate of rise of the amount of antigen and later to an absolute decline, while failure to control the infection leads to a progressive rise in the amount of antigen. In the first situation, an orderly reduction in the size of the immune responses is required that makes provision for recrudescence of the infection and antigenic variation. In the second situation, there are three rational strategies: (a) augmentation of the ongoing response, which may be qualitatively appropriate but too small; (b) changing the nature of the ongoing responses which may be inappropriate for the particular organism; and (c) diminution at least of those responses that cause immune damage. Clearly there is no general purpose "correct answer," and the need to prevent a whole species from being killed by a variant microorganism requires that responses to different antigens and modes of presen-

tation of antigen should be subject to extensive genetic and environmental variability within a species. Perhaps we are studying a system in which variability of results between different members of the same species is an essential feature.

Summary

This review gives an overview of two main suppressor circuits. In its complete form, the first circuit form has an early acting Ts-inducer that behaves like a T-helper cell for the production of idiotype-directed Ts-transducer or antigen-directed Ts-effector cells. In this circuit, the T-suppressor effector cell (Ts-eff) produces antigen-specific T-suppressor factor (TsF). This has a mode of action through the T-acceptor cell (T-acc), a cell that requires immunization, but not specific immunization, for its production. This cell, when armed with TsF-eff and then triggered with antigen and I-J, releases nonspecific TsF that blocks the passive transfer of contact sensitivity. It also blocks the production of IL-2. The biological significance of the complexities of this circuit is discussed in relation to the control of unresponsiveness and the handling infection and antigenic variation of microorganisms.

The second set of suppressor cells, T suppressor afferent cells, inhibits only when given early in the immune response but differs from the Ts-inducer by lacking an obligatory mode of action through the Ts-eff/T-acc circuit.

In general, the antigen-specific T-helper and T-suppressor factors have a two-chain disulfide-bonded structure. One chain carries the antigenbinding site and the other chain MHC-related determinants. Both chains are required for biological activity, and the genetic restriction in this complementation implies that the antigen-binding chain has a recognition site for MHC determinant(s). The generalization can be made that the MHC-related determinants carried by the factors and the genetic restriction in their induction, in their action, and in the interchain complementation between their separated chains all map to the same region of the genome. This is intelligible on the assumption that the T-cell receptor on the cell that produces the factor has a recognition site for antigen and MHC determinants and that the antigen-binding chain of secreted factor has the same properties.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to thank Drs. L. Adorini, G. Doria, and J. Little for valuable discussions. Vittorio Colizzi and Mark Zembala also thank EMBO, the Polish Academy of Sciences, and the Wellcome Trust Foundation for financial support.

Literature Cited

- 1. Green, D., Flood, P., Gershon, R. 1983. Immunoregulatory T-cell pathways. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:439-64
- Dorf, M., Benacerraf, B. 1984. Suppressor cells and immunoregulation. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:127-58
- Webb, D. R. 1983. The biochemistry of antigen-specific T-cell factors. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1: 423–38
- Claman, H. N., Miller, S. D., Conlon, P. J., Moorhead, J. W. 1980. Control of experimental contact sensitivity. Adv. Immunol. 30: 121-57
- Asherson, G. L., Zembala, M., Thomas, W. R., Pereira, M. A. C. C. 1980. Suppressor cells and the handling of antigen. *Immunol. Rev.* 50: 3-45
- Ptak, W., Gershon, R. K. 1982. Immunological agnosis: a state that derives from T suppressor cell inhibition of antigen presenting cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79: 2643-48
- Adorini, L., Colizzi, V., Pini, C., Doria, G. 1985. Immunoregulation of lysozyme-specific suppression. Analysis of the different phases of the suppressor circuit induced by lysozyme-specific T suppressor factor. J. Immunol. In press
- Adorini, L., Colizzi, V., Doria, G., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P. 1984. Immuno-regulation of lysozyme-specific suppression. II. Hen egg-white lysozyme-specific monoclonal suppressor T cell factor suppresses the afferent phase of delayed-type hypersensitivity and induces second-order suppressor T cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 14: 826-30
- Kapp, J., Araneo, B. A. 1982. Antigenspecific suppressor T cell interactions. I. Induction of an MHC-restricted suppressor factor specific for L-glutamic acid⁵⁰-L-tyrosine⁵⁰. J. Immunol. 128: 2447-52
- Yamada, A., Himenoka, K., Kumazawa, Y., Nomoto, K. 1984. Antigenspecific augmentation of delayed type hypersensitivity by a humoral factor in the culture supernatant of immune spleen cells. *Cell. Immunol.* 84: 206–9
- Colizzi, V., Asherson, G. L., James, B. M. B., Malkovsky, M. 1984. T helper factor in contact sensitivity: Antigen-specific I-A⁺ helper factor is made by an Lyt-1⁺2⁻, I-A⁺, I-J⁻ T cell. Immunology 52:26-67
- Dietz, M. H., Sy, M. S., Benacerraf, B., Nisonoff, A., Greene, M. I., Germain, R. N. 1981. Antigen- and receptordriven regulatory mechanisms. VII. H-2 restricted anti-idiotypic suppressor

factor from efferent suppressor T cells. J. Exp. Med. 153:450-63

- Rich, S., Carpino, M. R., Arhelger, C. 1984. Suppressor T cell growth and differentiation: identification of a cofactor required for suppressor T cell function and distinct from interleukin-2. J. Exp. Med. 159:1473-90
- Bromberg, J. S., Delovitch, T. L., Kaufman, K., Greene, M. I. 1983. In vivo analysis of allogeneic lymphocyte interaction: activation of suppressor T cells by an I-J restricted allogeneic effect factor (AEF). J. Immunol. 130:2250– 55
- Usui, M., Aoki, I., Sunshine, G. H., Dorf, M. E. 1984. Requirements for suppressor T cell activation. J. Immunol. 133:1137-41
- 16. Ikezawa, Z., Baxevanis, C. N., Arden, B., Tada, T., Waltenbaugh, C. R., Nagy, Z. A., Klein, J. 1983. Evidence for two suppressor factors secreted by a single cell suggests a solution to the J-locus paradox. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:6637-41
- Zembala, M., Asherson, G. L., Colizzi, V. 1982. Hapten-specific T suppressor factor recognizes both hapten and I-J region products on haptenized spleen cells. *Nature* 297:411–13
- Ptak, W., Zembala, M., Hanczakowski-Rewicka, M., Asherson, G. L. 1978. Nonspecific macrophage suppressor factor: its role in the inhibition of contact sensitivity to picryl chloride by specific T suppressor factor. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 8: 645–49
- 19. Zembala, M., Asherson, G. L., James, B. M. B., Stein, V., Watkins, M. C. 1982. Anti-hapten T suppressor factor acts through an I-J⁺, Lyt-1⁻²⁺, T acceptor cell which releases a nonspecific inhibitor of the transfer of contact sensitivity when exposed to antigen. J. Immunol. 129:1823-29
- 20. Malkovsky, M., Asherson, G. L., Chandler, P., Colizzi, V., Watkins, M. C. 1983. Nonspecific inhibitor of DNA synthesis elaborated by T acceptor cells. I. Specific hapten and I-J driven liberation of an inhibitor of cell proliferation by Lyt-1⁻²⁺ cyclophosphamide-sensitive T acceptor cell armed with the product of Lyt-1⁺²⁺ specific suppressor cell. J. Immunol. 130:785-90
- Malkovsky, M., Asherson, G. L., Stockinger, B., Watkins, M. C. 1982. Non-specific inhibitor released by T

acceptor cells reduces the production of interleukin-2. *Nature* 300:652–55

- 22. Asherson, G. L., Zembala, M. 1982. The role of the T acceptor cell in suppressor systems: antigen specific T suppressor factor acts via a T acceptor cell; this releases a nonspecific inhibitor of contact sensitivity when exposed to antigen in the context of I-J. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 392:71-89
- Noma, T., Usui, M., Dorf, M. E. 1985. Characterization of the accessory cells involved in suppressor T cell induction. *J. Immunol.* 134:1374–80
- 24. Colizzi, V., Asherson, G. L., James, B. M. B. 1983. The role of I-J in the suppressor T cell circuit which influences the effector stage of contact sensitivity: antigen together with syngeneic I-J region determinants induces and activates T suppressor cells. *Immunology* 49:191-99
- 25. Tsurufuji, M., Benacerraf, B., Sy, M. S. 1983. An antigen-specific signal is required for the activation of secondorder suppressor T cells in the regulation of delayed-type hypersenstivity to 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid. J. Exp. Med. 158:932-45
- 26. Asherson, G. L., Colizzi, V., Zembala, M., James, B. M. B., Watkins, M. C. 1984. Nonspecific inhibitor of contact sensitivity made by T acceptor cells. Triggering of T cells armed with antigen specific T suppressor factor (TsF) requires both occupancy of the major histocompatibility complex recognition site(s) by soluble I-J product and crosslinking of the antigen recognition sites of the TsF. Cell. Immunol. 83: 389– 97
- Asherson, G. L., Dorf, M. E., Colizzi, V. B., Zembala, M., James, B. M. B. 1984. Equivalence of conventional antipicryl T suppressor factor in the contact sensitivity system and the monoclonal anti-NP (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenylacetyl). TsF₃: their final nonspecific effect via the T acceptor cell. *Immunology* 53:491–97
- Furusawa, S., Minami, M., Sherr, D. H., Dorf, M. E. 1984. Analysis of the suppressor T cell cascade with products derived from T cell hybridomas. In Cell Fusion, Gene Transfer and Transformation, ed. R. F. Beers, E. G. Bassett, pp. 299–313. New York: Raven
- 29. Asherson, G. L., Zembala, M. 1980. T suppressor cells and suppressor factor which act at the efferent stage of the contact sensitivity skin reaction : their production by mice injected with watersoluble, chemically reactive derivatives

of ozazolone and picryl chloride. Immunology 42:1005-13

- Germain, R. N., Benacerraf, B. 1981. A single major pathway of T lymphocyte interactions. Scand. J. Immunol. 13: 1-10
- 31. Miller, S. D., Butler, L. D., Claman, H. N. 1982. Suppressor T cell circuits in contact sensitivity. 1. Two mechanistically distinct waves of suppressor T cells occur in mice tolerized with syngeneic DNP-modified lymphoid cells. J. Immunol. 129:461-68
- 32. Sy, M. S., Miller, S. D., Moorhead, J. W., Claman, H. N. 1979. Active suppression of 1-fluoro-2,4-dinitrobenzene-immune T cells: requirement of an auxiliary T cell induced by antigen. J. Exp. Med. 149:1197–1207
- 33. Jayuraman, S., Bellone, C. J. 1985. Hapten-specific responses to the phenyltrimethylammonium hapten. V. A single antigen binding I-J⁺ first order T suppressor factor requires antigen to induce anti-idiotypic second-order suppressor T cells. J. Immunol. 134:1011– 18
- 34. Kapp, J. A., Sorensen, C. M., Pierce, C. W. 1983. Antigen-specific suppressor T cell interactions. II. Characterization of two different types of suppressor T cell factors specific for L-glutamic acid⁵⁰-L-alanine³⁰-L-tyrosine¹⁰ (GAT). J. Exp. Med. 158: 1962–78
- 35. Thomas, W. R., Watkins, M. C., Asherson, G. L. 1981. Differences in the ability of T cells to suppress the induction and expression of contact sensitivity. *Immunology* 42:53-59
- 36. Thomas, W. R., Watkins, M. C., Asherson, G. L. 1979. Suppressor cells for the afferent phase of contact sensitivity to picryl chloride. Inhibition of DNA synthesis induced by T cells from mice injected with picrylsulphonic acid. J. Immunol. 122:2300-3
- 37. Askenase, P. W., Van Loveren, H. 1983. Delayed type hypersensitivity: activation of mast cells by antigen-specific T cell factors initiates the cascade of cellular interactions. *Immunol. Today* 4:259-64
- Colizzi, V., Asherson, G. L., Zembala, M. 1985. I-A genetic restriction in the production and action of an antigen specific T helper factor which bears I-A determinants. *Cell. Immunol.* 95: 322-29
- 39. Little, J. A., Asherson, G. L., Colizzi, V., James, B. M. B., Hraba, T. 1985. Two chain disulphide bonded structure of antigen specific T helper factor: both chains are necessary for activity and

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:37-68. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only. their interaction is I-A restricted. Immunology 55:713-19

- 40. Asherson, G. L., Watkins, M. C., Zembala, M. A., Colizzi, V. 1984. Two chain structure of T suppressor factor: antigen specific T suppressor factor occurs as a single molecule and as separate antigen binding and I-J⁺ chains both of which are required for biological activity. *Cell. Immunol.* 86:448-59
- 41. Zembala, M., Watkins, M., Colizzi, V., Asherson, G. L. 1984. T suppressor factor activity is due to two separate molecules: Lyt-1⁻²⁺, I-J⁺ cells of mice primed with antigen make an antigen binding molecule which is only active when complemented by cofactor made by Lyt-1⁺²⁻, I-J⁺ cells. Cell. Immunol. 87:240-51
- 42. Taniguchi, M., Takei, I., Tada, T. 1981. Presence of interchain S-S bond between two gene products that compose the secreted form of an antigen-specific suppressor factor. J. Exp. Med. 153:1672-77
- Braley-Mullen, H. 1983. Activation of type III pneumococcal polysaccharidespecific suppressor T cells in cyclophosphamide-treated mice: requirement for recognition of antigen and I-J determinants on antigen coupled to syngeneic spleen cells. J. Immunol. 131: 2190-95
- 44. Cleveland, W. L., Erlanger, B. F. 1984. Hypothesis: The MHC-restricted Tcell receptor as a structure with two multistate allosteric combining sites. *Mol. Immunol.* 11:1037-46
- Apte, R. N., Lowy, I., De Baetselier, P., Mozes, E. 1981. Establishment and characterization of continuous helper T cell lines specific to poly(L-Tyr,L-Glu)poly(DL-Ala)-poly(L-Lys). J. Immunol. 127:25-30
- 46. Nakajima, P. B., Ochi, A., Owen, F. L., Tada, T. 1983. Presence of IgT-C and I-A subregion-encoded determinants on distinct chains of monoclonal antigen-specific augmenting factor derived from a T cell hybridoma. J. Exp. Med. 157:2110-20
- Chesnue, S. W., Boros, D. V., David, C. S. 1983. Regulation of the granulomatous inflammation in murine schistosomiasis. II. T suppressor cell-derived I-C subregion-encoded soluble suppressor factor mediates regulation of lymphokine production. J. Exp. Med. 157:219-30
- 47a. Moorhead, J. W. 1977. Soluble factors in tolerance and contact sensitivity to DNFB in mice. II. Genetic require-

ments for suppression of contact sensitivity by soluble suppressor factors. J. Immunol. 119:1773-77

- Klein, J., Figueroa, F., David, C. S. 1983. H-2 haplotypes, genes and antigens: second listing. II. The H-2 complex. *Immunogenetics* 17:553–96
- 49. Ptak, W., Rosenstein, R. W., Gershon, R. K. 1982. Interactions between molecules (subfactors) released by different T cell sets that yield a complete factor with biological suppressive activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:2375-78
- 50. Zembala, M. A., Colizzi, V., Asherson, G. L., Watkins, M. C. 1984. Nonspecific inhibitor made by T acceptor cells inhibits both the afferent and efferent stage of the contact sensitivity reaction. *Immunology* 52: 599-606
- Taniguchi, M., Takei, I., Saito, T., Igarashi, M., Kurihara, K., Tomioka, H. 1981. Antigen-specific and nonspecific suppressor factors derived from T cell hybridomas: their function and molecular organization. Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 66 (Suppl. 1): 204-11
- 51a. Taniguchi, M., Tokuhisa, T., Itoh, T., Kanno, M. 1984. Functional roles of two polypeptide chains that compose an antigen-specific suppressor T cell factor. J. Exp. Med. 159:1096-1104
- Lei, H. Y., Ju, S. T., Dorf, M. E., Waltenbaugh, C. 1983. Regulation of immune responses by I-J gene products. III. GT-specific suppressor factor is composed of separate I-J and idiotype bearing chains. J. Immunol. 130: 1274– 79
- 53. Sherr, D. H., Minami, M., Okuda, K., Dorf, M. E. 1983. Analysis of T cell hybridomas. III. Distinctions between two types of hapten-specific suppressor factors that affect plaque-forming cell responses. J. Exp. Med. 157:515–29
- 54. Ikezawa, Z., Waldern, P., Arden, B., Nagy, Z. A., Klein, J. 1984. Composition of a suppressor factor that inhibits the immune response to lactate dehydrogenase B. Scand. J. Immunol. 20:113-23
- 55. Yamauchi, K., Chao, N., Murphy, D. B., Gershon, R. K. 1982. Molecular composition of an antigen-specific, Ly-1 suppressor inducer factor. One molecule binds antigen and is I-J⁻; another is I-J⁺, does not bind antigen, and imparts an Igh-variable region linked restriction. J. Exp. Med. 155:655-65
- Tada, T., Uracz, W., Abe, R., Asano, Y. 1985. I-J as an inducible T cell receptor for self. *Immunol. Rev.* 83:105-24
- 57. Kumagai, Y., Okumura, K., Tada, T.

1984. Photoaffinity-labeled haptenbinding T-cell receptor on a suppressor T-cell hybridoma. *Mol. Immunol.* 21: 545–59

- Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Robbiuati, F., Barbanti, E., Colizzi, V., Pini, C., De Santis, R., Doria, G., Adorini, L. 1985. Immunosuppression by cell-free translation products from monoclonal antigen-specific suppressor T cell mRNA. Eur. J. Immunol. 15: 351-55
- 59. Sumida, T., Takei, I., Taniguchi, M. 1984. Activation of acceptorsuppressor hybridoma with antigenspecific suppressor T cell factor of two chain type: requirement of the antigenand the I-J restricting specificity. J. Immunol. 133:1131-36
- 60. Mori, L., Lecoq, A. F., Robbiati, F., Barbanti, E., Righi, M., Sinigaglia, F., Clementi, F., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P. 1985. Rearrangement and expression of the antigen receptor alpha, beta and gamma genes in suppressor antigenspecific T cell lines. *EMBO J.* 4: 2025–30
- 61. Toyonaga, B., Yanagi, Y., Suciu-Foca, N., Minden, M., Mak, T. W. 1984. Rearrangements of T-cell receptor gene YT35 in human DNA from thymic leukaemia T-cell lines and functional Tcell clones. *Nature* 311:385–87
- 62. Hedrick, S. M., Germain, R. N., Bevan, M. J., Dorf, M., Engel, I., Fink, P., Gascoigne, N., Heber-Katz, E., Kapp, J., Kaufmann, Y., Kaye, J., Melchers, F., Pierce, C., Schwartz, R. H., Sorensen, C., Taniguchi, M., Davis, M. K. 1985. Rearrangement and transcription of a T-cell receptor chain gene in different Tcell subsets. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:531-35
- Zembala, M., Asherson, G. L. 1974. T cell suppression of contact sensitivity in the mouse. II. The role of soluble suppressor factor and its interaction with macrophages. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 4:799– 804
- 64. Asherson, G. L., Zembala, M. 1974. T cell suppression of contact sensitivity in the mouse. III. The role of macrophages and the specific triggering of nonspecific suppression. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 4: 804–7
- Ptak, W., Zembala, M., Asherson, G. L., Marcinkiewicz, J. 1981. Inhibition of contact sensitivity by macrophages. *Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol.* 65: 121-28
- Colizzi, V., Ferluga, J., Garreau, F., Malkovsky, M., Asherson, G. L. 1984. Suppressor cells induced by BCG release nonspecific factors in vitro which

inhibit DNA synthesis and IL-2 production. Immunology 51:65-71

- 67. Jayaraman, S., Bellone, C. J. 1982. Hapten-specific responses to the phenyltrimethylamino hapten. III. Mice whose delayed-type hypersensitivity responses cannot be abrogated by the presence of anti-idiotypic suppressor T cells lack a critical modulatory T cell function. J. Exp. Med. 155:1810-22
- Ptak, W., Bereta, M., Ptak, M., Iverson, R. K., Green, D. R. 1984. Antigenspecific contrasuppressor factor in cellmediated immunity: interactions leading to eradication of the tolerant state. J. Immunol. 133:1124-31
- Hayes, G. E., Klyczek, K. K. 1985. The I-J glycoprotein: genetic control, biochemistry and function. *Immunol. Rev.* 83:41-59
- Waltenbaugh, C., Lei, H. Y. 1984. Regulation of the immune responses by I-J gene products. V. Heterogeneity of I-J gene products as detected by anti-I-J monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunol. 133:1730-34
- Playfair, J. H. L., Dockrell, H. M., Leichuk, R. 1984. The importance of being nearest. *Immunol. Today* 5:38–39
- 72. Zembala, M., Kowalczyk, D., Asherson, G. L., Noworolski, J. 1981. The in vitro inhibition of migration of mouse spleen T lymphocytes. II. Blocking of the sensitized T-cell responses in the migration inhibition test by specific suppressor cells and their inhibitor factors. Cell. Immunol. 57:370-76
- Ptak, W., Gershon, R. K., Flood, P. M. 1983. Mechanism of suppression in the transfer of contact sensitivity. Analysis of an I-J⁺ molecule required for Ly-2 suppressor cell activity. J. Exp. Med. 158:1822-35
- 74. Lombardi, G., Vismara, D., Piccolella, E., Colizzi, V., Asherson, G. L. 1985. A nonspecific inhibitor produced by *Candida albicans*-activated T cells impairs cell proliferation by inhibiting interleukin-1 production. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 60:303–10
- Hardt, C., Rollinghoff, M., Pfizenmaier, K., Mosmann, H., Wagner, H. 1981. Lyt-23⁺ cyclophosphamide-sensitive T cells regulate the activity of an interleukin 2 inhibitor in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 154:262-74
- Male, D., Lelchuk, R., Curry, S., Pryce, G., Playfair, J. H. L. 1985. Serum IL-2 inhibitor in mice. II. Molecular characteristics. *Immunology* 56:119–26
- 77. Chiba, K., Nishimura, T., Hashimoto, Y. 1985. Stimulated rat T cell-derived
inhibitory factor for cellular DNA synthesis (STIF). III. Effect on cell proliferation and immune responses. J. Immunol. 134:3172-78

- Chiba, K., Nishimura, T., Hashimoto, Y. 1985. Stimulated rat T cell-derived inhibitory factor for cellular DNA synthesis (STIF). I. Isolation and characterization. J. Immunol. 134: 1019-25
- Kramer, M., Koszinowski, U. 1982. T cell-specific suppressor factor(s) with regulatory influence on interleukin 2 production and function. J. Immunol. 128:784-90
- Colizzi, V., Malkovsky, M., Lang, G., Asherson, G. L. 1985. In vivo activity of interleukin-2: conversion of a stimulus causing unresponsiveness to a stimulus causing hypersensitivity by the injection of interleukin-2. *Immunology*. In press
- 80a. Cleveland, R. P., Claman, H. N. 1980. T cell signals: Tolerance to DNFB is converted to sensitization by a separate nonspecific second signal. J. Immunol. 124:474-80
- 81. Greene, M. I., Sugimoto, M., Benacerraf, B. 1978. Mechanisms of regulation of cell-mediated immune responses. I. Effect of the route of immunization with TNP coupled syngeneic cells on the induction and suppression of contact sensitivity to picryl chloride. J. Immunol. 120:1604-11
- Lowy, A., Drebin, J. A., Monroe, J. G., Granstein, R. D., Greene, M. I. 1984. Genetically restricted antigen presentation for immunological tolerance and suppression. *Nature* 308:373–75
- Miller, S. D., Sy, M. S., Claman, H. N. 1977. The induction of hapten-specific T cell tolerance using hapten-modified lymphoid membranes. II. Relative roles of suppressor T cells and clone inhibition in the tolerant state. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 7:165-70
- Malkovsky, M., Medawar, P., Hunt, R., Palmer, L., Dore, C. 1984. A diet enriched in vitamin A acetate or in vivo administration of interleukin-2 can counteract a tolerogenic stimulus. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 220:439-45
- 85. Malkovsky, M., Medawar, P. B., Thatcher, D. R., Toy, J., Hunt, R., Rayfield, L. S., Dore, C. 1985. Acquired immunological tolerance of foreign cells is impaired by recombinant rat interleukin 2 or vitamin A acetate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82: 536–38
- Good, M. F., Nossal, G. J. V. 1983. Functional clonal deletion and sup-

pression as complementary mechanisms operative in adult hapten-induced cytotoxic T cell tolerance. J. Immunol. 131:2662-69

- 87. Asherson, G. L., Colizzi, V., Malkovsky, M., Colonna Romano, G., Zembala, M. 1985. The role of interleukin-2 as one of the determinants of the balance between immunity and unresponsiveness. *Folia Biol.* In press
- Dunn, I. S., Liberato, D. J., Castagnoli, N., Byers, V. S. 1982. Contact sensitivity to urushiol: role of covalent bond formation. Cell. Immunol. 74:220-33
- Parker, D., Long, P. V. C., Turk, J. L. 1983. Comparison of the conjugation of DNTB and other dinitrobenzenes with free protein radicals and their ability to sensitize or tolerize. J. Invest. Dermatol. 81:198-201
- Salerno, A., Brai, F., Dieli, F., Colonna Romano, G., Abrignani, S., Colizzi, V., Asherson, G. L. 1984, Complement activation by cell-associated immune complexes in contact sensitivity. *Cell. Immunol.* 89:376–84
- Thomas, W. R., Smith, F. I., Walker, I. D., Miller, J. F. A. P. 1981. Contact sensitivity to azobenzenearsonate and its inhibition after interaction of sensitized cells with antigen conjugated cells. J. Exp. Med. 153: 1124-37
- 92. Zembala, M., Asherson, G. L., Colizzi, V., Watkins, M. C. 1982. Desensitization in vitro: the role of T-suppressor cells, T-suppressor factor and T acceptor cells in the inhibition of the passive transfer of contact sensitivity to picryl chloride by exposure to antigen in vitro. *Immunology* 47:605-15
- Zembala, M., Asherson, G. L., Noworolski, J., Mayhew, B. 1976. Contact sensitivity to picryl chloride: the occurrence of B suppressor cells in the lymph nodes and spleen of immunized mice. Cell. Immunol. 25: 266-78
- 94. Sy, M. S., Moorhead, J. W., Claman, H. N. 1979. Regulation of cell mediated immunity by antibodies: possible role of anti-receptor antibodies in the regulation of contact sensitivity to DNFB in mice. J. Immunol. 123:2593– 98
- Moorhead, J. W. 1982. Antigen receptors on murine T lymphocytes in contact sensitivity. III. Mechanism of negative feedback regulation by auto-antiidiotype antibody. J. Exp. Med. 155: 820-30
- Dieli, F., Colonna Romano, G., Abrignani, S., Colizzi, V., Salerno, A. 1985. Infection of mice with Newcastle

67

disease virus (NDV) inhibits the T suppressor afferent cell circuit which regulates contact sensitivity to picryl chloride. *Cell. Immunol.* 94:225–30

- 97. Thomas, W. R., Watkins, M. C., Cox, K., Asherson, G. L. 1981. Suppression of antibody responses by cells from mice treated with picrylsulphonic acid: T cells that suppress IgG antibody without inhibiting concomitant IgE responses. J. Immunol. 127:217-20
- Thomas, W. R., Watkins, M., Asherson, G. L. 1978. Reaginic antibody to contact sensitizing agents: occurrence of cells which suppress IgG but not reaginic responses. *Immunology* 35:41-47
- 99. Wood, P., Asherson, G. L., Mayhew, B., Thomas, W. R., Zembala, M. 1977. Control of the immune reaction: T cells in immunized mice which depress the in vivo DNA synthesis response in the lymph nodes to skin painting with the contact sensitizing agent picryl chloride. Cell. Immunol. 30:25-34
- 100. Tagart, V. B., Thomas, W. R., Asherson,

G. L. 1977. T suppressor cells which block the induction of cytotoxic T cells in vivo. *Immunology* 32:1109–16

- 101. Jenkins, M. K., Lei, H. Y., Waltenbaugh, C., Miller, S. D. 1985. Immunoregulatory pathways in adult responder mice. I. Induction of GAT-specific tolerance and suppressor T cells for cellular and humoral responses. Scand. J. Immunol. 19:510–19
- 102. Asherson, G. L., Colizzi, V., James, B. M. B. 1985. The control of the contact sensitivity skin reaction: Tsuppressor afferent cell blocks the production of antigen-specific T-helper factor. *Immunology* 54: 521-26
- 103. Hewitt, J., Liew, F. Y. 1979. Antigen specific suppressor factors produced by T cell hybridomas for delayed hypersensitivity. Eur. J. Immunol. 9:572-75
- 104. Loblay, R. H., Fazekas de St. Groth, B., Pitchard-Briscoe, H., Basten, A. 1983. Suppressor T cell memory. II. The role of memory suppressor T cells in tolerance to human gamma globulin. J. Exp. Med. 157:957-73



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	454
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4:69-95

THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR¹

Warner C. Greene

Metabolism Branch, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland 20205

Warren J. Leonard

Cell Biology and Metabolism Branch, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland 20205

OVERVIEW OF INTERLEUKIN-2 (IL-2) AND IL-2 RECEPTORS

In 1976, Morgan et al first reported the presence of a T-cell growthpromoting activity in the supernatants of activated T-cell cultures; they denoted this *T-cell growth factor* (TCGF) (1). In subsequent years, TCGF was characterized as a distinct biochemical entity and found to be a 15,500dalton glycoprotein (2). TCGF was purified to homogeneity (3), molecularly cloned (4), and cDNAs expressed in eukaryotic cells. The entire gene has now been sequenced (5, 6) and localized to human chromosome 4 (7).

TCGF, or interleukin-2 (IL-2) as it is now denoted, has played a key role in the study of T-cell biology. This lymphokine has permitted both the longterm growth and the cloning of human and murine T-cell lines displaying helper and cytotoxic T-cell function (8). Furthermore, possible therapeutic effects of IL-2 in various malignancies and immunodeficiency states are now under study.

IL-2 is not produced by resting T cells; however, following activation with antigen or mitogen in the presence of the monokine interleukin-1, IL-2 is rapidly synthesized and secreted (Figure 1) (9). Following activation,

¹ The US Government has the right to retain a nonexclusive, royalty-free license in and to any copyright covering this paper.



Figure 1 A model of T-cell activation and growth.

another, possibly overlapping, subpopulation of T cells expresses specific high affinity receptors for IL-2, as directly demonstrated by binding studies using radiolabeled IL-2 (10). In the presence of IL-2, these cells with receptors proliferate, resulting in the expansion of T-cell populations capable of mediating helper, suppressor, and cytotoxic functions (11, 12). Thus, the specificity of the T-cell immune response is determined by the antigen. However, after IL-2 receptors are induced, T cells proliferate in response to IL-2 in an antigen-independent manner.

IDENTIFICATION OF ANTI-IL-2-RECEPTOR MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES

The biochemical characterization of IL-2 receptors was greatly facilitated by the identification of anti-IL-2-receptor monoclonal antibodies. The first of these antibodies was anti-Tac, prepared by Uchiyama et al by immunizing mice with intact activated T cells from a patient with a cutaneous T-cell malignancy (13). This antibody was initially determined to recognize an "activation antigen" (hence the name anti-Tac for "Tactivated"). Subsequent studies indicated that the Tac antigen was the human IL-2 receptor. Evidence supporting this conclusion includes the following findings: (a) Anti-Tac blocked IL-2-dependent proliferation of continuous T-cell lines (14); (b) anti-Tac blocked the binding of radiolabeled IL-2 to activated T cells (14); (c) IL-2 blocked the binding of radiolabeled anti-Tac to activated T cells (15); (d) IL-2 coupled to affigel and anti-Tac coupled to sepharose bound the identical 55,000-dalton glycoproteins from extracts of activated T cells (see Figure 2) (16); (e) both anti-Tac and anti-IL-2 antibodies precipitated the same 65,000-70,000-dalton band after IL-2 was covalently cross-linked to its receptor (15).

Anti-Tac was used to characterize the IL-2 receptor as a 50,000-dalton glycoprotein on HUT-102B2 cells and as a 55,000-dalton glycoprotein on normal activated T cells, as evaluated by migration on SDS polyacrylamide gels electrophoresed under reducing conditions (14, 15, 17, 18). We discuss in detail below the difference in apparent M_r in these cell types that is the result of difference in posttranslational processing, rather than of differences in amino acid sequence.

Other monoclonal antibodies that recognize the human IL-2 receptor have been identified. For example, B49.9 (19) and 2A3 (20) have properties very similar to anti-Tac. Monoclonal 7G7B6 (21) identifies a distinct epitope on the human IL-2 receptor. Both anti-Tac and 7G7B6 precipitate the identical 55,000-dalton protein from activated T cells and can bind simultaneously to the IL-2 receptor. Unlike anti-Tac, 7G7B6 does not inhibit IL-2-induced proliferation of T cells nor IL-2 binding to its receptor.



Figure 2 The IL-2 receptor has an apparent M_r of 55,000. IL-2 was covalently coupled to affigel and anti-Tac coupled to sepharose. Cellular extracts from normal activated T cells biosynthetically labeled with ³⁵S-methionine were passed over each column, the columns washed extensively, and the bound protein eluted with 2.5% acetic acid from the IL-2-affigel column (lane A) or the anti-Tac sepharose column (lane B). (Ref. 16. Reproduced with permission from the editors of the *Journal of Experimental Medicine.*)

Antimouse and -rat IL-2-receptor antibodies have also been prepared. Monoclonals 3C7 and 7D4 (22) recognize distinct epitopes on the murine receptor; 3C7 inhibits both IL-2 binding and action. In contrast, 7D4 inhibits IL-2-induced proliferation, but not IL-2 binding. ART18 recognizes the rat IL-2 receptor (23). The anti-mouse and -rat IL-2-receptor antibodies all precipitate a glycoprotein of approximately 55,000 daltons. In addition, some of the anti-IL-2-receptor antibodies coprecipitate other proteins: one between 110,000 and 120,000 daltons, and a second of approximately 180,000 daltons. It has been hypothesized that one or both of these proteins might be a subunit of a receptor complex.

PURIFICATION OF RECEPTOR PROTEIN AND MOLECULAR CLONING OF IL-2-RECEPTOR cDNAS

Three groups have employed similar protein purification and cDNA cloning strategies for the human IL-2 receptor (24-26). We present the details of our own studies. Anti-Tac was coupled to cyanogen bromideactivated sepharose and used as an affinity column to purify microgram quantities of IL-2 receptor from HUT-102B2 cells. In brief, for each protein preparation, 4×10^9 HUT-102B2 cells were extracted in NP40 containing buffer, and the cellular extracts passed first over a control antibody column and then over the anti-Tac column. The column was washed extensively with buffers of varying ionic strength, and then the bound protein was eluted with 2.5% acetic acid. This relatively simple purification scheme yielded material that was over 90% homogeneous as evaluated by densitometry scanning of silver-stained SDS-polyacrylamide gels (24). The sequence of the first 29 N-terminal amino acids of the IL-2 receptor was defined using this material, with certain positions determined or confirmed by sequencing of biosynthetically radiolabeled receptor protein. The sequence obtained was NH2-glu-leu-cys-asp-asp-pro-pro-glu-ile-prohis-ala-thr-phe-lys-ala-met-ala-tyr-lys-glu-gly-thr-met-leu-asn-cys-glu.

Based on the amino acid sequence of residues 3–8 (underlined above), an oligonucleotide probe of length 17 and 64-fold degeneracy was synthesized. The probe was end-labeled with polynucleotide kinase and ³²P-ATP and used to screen 200,000 phage from a HUT-102B2 cDNA library prepared in lambda gt10. After tertiary screening, 11 candidate clones were identified, of which three were chosen for further evaluation. First, these cDNAs were used in selective hybridization experiments. The cDNAs were baked onto nitrocellulose and hybridized to total cellular HUT-102B2 cell mRNA. The selectively hybridized mRNA was eluted in water and translated in a wheat germ lysate translation system. The IL-2-receptor primary translation product was then immunoprecipitated using an anti-IL-2-receptor hetero-

antiserum prepared by immunization of rabbits with affinity-purified IL-2-receptor protein. These data confirmed that all three cDNAs were clones associated with the IL-2 receptor.

The two longest clones, denoted pIL2R3 and pIL2R4 (24), were then sequenced by the dideoxy chain termination method. The clones shared the same 5' end, and each contained a long open reading frame, including 87 bases precisely corresponding to the 29 amino acids determined by protein sequencing. However, clone 4 differed from clone 3 in two ways. First, it was shorter (1589 bases versus 2335 bases), extending less far 3'. Second, it lacked a 216-base-pair segment within the protein coding region that was present in clone 3. Shown in Figure 3 is the amino acid sequence we deduced for the insert of pIL2R3. The 72 amino acids not encoded by clone 4 are identified in the shaded box.

In order to determine which of these clones encoded the IL-2 receptor, we



Figure 3 Deduced amino acid sequence of the IL-2 receptor based on the sequence of the HUT-102B2 cDNA (clone 3). The signal peptide (amino acids -21 to -1), two potential N-linked carbohydrate addition sites (amino acids 49 to 51 and 68 to 70), transmembrane domain (amino acids 220 to 238), and cytoplasmic domain (amino acid 239 to 251) are identified by open boxes. The deduced sequence of clone 4 lacks the 72 amino acids identified in the shaded box.

subcloned the cDNA inserts of both clones in the correct orientation into an expression vector, pcEXV-1 (provided by J. Miller and R. Germain, NIH) which contained SV40 enhancer and promoter elements. The plasmids were then transfected into COS-1 cells by calcium phosphate precipitation. At 48 hr after transfection, binding studies using both radiolabeled anti-Tac and radiolabeled IL-2 were performed to detect IL-2 receptor expression. Only clone 3 was identified to encode a functional IL-2 receptor, and a typical 50,000-dalton protein was precipitated from the surface of clone 3-transfected cells. Significantly, although the clone 4transfected cells were transcriptionally active, no synthesized protein was detected either by binding with radiolabeled IL-2 or radiolabeled anti-Tac, or by precipitations performed with anti-Tac or the anti-IL-2-receptor heteroantiserum. Thus, it is possible either that the clone-4 mRNA was not translated efficiently or that the resultant protein was either rapidly degraded or lacked domains recognizable by IL-2, anti-Tac, or the anti-IL-2-receptor heteroantiserum. As we indicate below, clone 4 is not simply a cloning artifact; rather, it corresponds to an alternatively spliced mRNA present in both normal activated T cells and in HTLV-I-infected leukemic cells.

In Figure 3, the IL-2 receptor is demonstrated to consist of a 21-aminoacid-long signal peptide and a mature protein of 251 amino acids. The amino terminus is extracytoplasmic and the carboxy terminus intracytoplasmic. The receptor has a short (13-amino-acid-long) cytoplasmic domain that is positively charged and presumably serves an anchoring function. The protein contains a hydrophobic 19-residue membrane spanning region, as predicted by Kyte-Doolittle hydrophobicity plots, and the majority of the protein (219 amino acids) is extracytoplasmic. There are two N-linked carbohydrate addition sites and multiple potential O-linked carbohydrate addition sites. The region from amino acids 1-64 is 22%homologous to amino acids 102-174, suggesting that a historical internal gene duplication event occurred.

cDNAs encoding the murine IL-2 receptor have also been isolated by low stringency hybridization studies using human IL-2-receptor cDNAs (27, 28). The mouse IL-2-receptor sequence shares 72% DNA and 61% amino acid homology with the human IL-2 receptor. The mouse sequence also contains the internally duplicated region, indicating that this event occurred at least 50 million years ago.

Computer homology searches of the National Biomedical Research Foundation and GenBank databases revealed that the IL-2 receptor does not have significant homology to any known oncogenes. However, the IL-2 receptor shares significant amino acid homology with the recognition (binding) domain (Ba fragment) of complement factor B, as determined using a program written by Dr. Minoru Kanehisa, National Cancer Institute, that converted all GenBank DNA sequences to protein sequences. In this regard, the low density lipoprotein receptor, which shares homology with coagulation factor IX, and the IL-2 receptor both share sequence similarities to proteins that participate in a proteolytic cascade.

GENOMIC STRUCTURE

Genomic Southern blots probed with IL-2-receptor cDNAs yielded simple hybridization patterns; these made it likely that only a single gene encoded the IL-2 receptor. This was confirmed by a combination of DNA spot blot analysis and in situ chromosomal hybridization that localized the gene to chromosome 10, bands $p14 \rightarrow 15$ (29).

Genomic phage clones spanning the human IL-2-receptor gene have been isolated, and all exons and exon-intron splice junctions sequenced (30). The gene is composed of 8 exons and 7 introns, and it spans at least 25 kilobases (see Figure 4). Much of the length of the gene is contained in intron 1, which appears to exceed 15 kilobases.

The first exon contains the 5' untranslated region and the DNA sequence corresponding to the signal peptide. The second exon begins with amino acid number 1 of the mature protein. Exon 2 contains potential O-linked carbohydrate addition sites, and exons 2 and 3 each contain one N-linked carbohydrate addition site. Exon 2 shares significant homology with exon 4 corresponding in this way to the historical gene duplication event referred to above. Exon 4 encodes the segment that is missing in the cDNA (clone 4) derived from an alternately spliced mRNA. Thus, this alternate splicing event results in the deletion of exon 4 and the joining of exon 3 to exon 5. Exon 6 encodes the domain immediately exterior to the cell membrane, as well as additional potential O-linked carbohydrate addition



Figure 4 Genomic organization of the human IL-2-receptor gene. The locations of the transcription initiation sites, signal peptide, N-glycosylation sites, potential O-glycosylation sites, and transmembrane domain are indicated. The historically duplicated domains (exons 2 and 4) are indicated.

sites. Exon 7 encodes the transmembrane domain, and exons 7 and 8 encode the cytoplasmic domain. Exon 8 also includes the 3' untranslated region with at least 3 polyadenylation signal sites and repetitive alu sequences between the second and third polyadenylation signal sites.

In order to identify the 5' end of the IL-2-receptor mRNA Leonard et al conducted primer extension experiments (30). In these studies, a synthetic oligonucleotide probe corresponding to the sequence near the 5' end of the cDNA was synthesized, end-labeled with polynucleotide kinase and ³²P-ATP, annealed to mRNA, and extended with reverse transcriptase. Gel analysis of the products indicated that the IL-2-receptor gene contained two principal transcription initiation sites separated by 58 bases.

To confirm that these two bands represented true transcription initiation sites, rather than areas of secondary structure in the mRNA that resulted in artificial stop sites during reverse transcription, Leonard et al carried out S1 nuclease protection assays. These experiments used a genomic DNA fragment that included the 150 most 5' bases of the cDNA, and extended approximately 500 bases 5' to the end of the cDNA; the fragment was subcloned into M13 bacteriophage. A radiolabeled, single-stranded probe complementary to mRNA was synthesized using the Klenow fragment of DNA polymerase I. This probe was hybridized to mRNA from IL-2receptor positive and negative B- and T-cell lines, digested with S1 nuclease, and the resulting fragments electrophoresed on a denaturing urea/ polyacrylamide gel. These studies revealed bands that corresponded to the major transcription initiation sites identified in the primer extension studies and thereby confirmed that two distinct transcription initiation sites, and thus two promoters, are used. Based on the relative intensities of the bands, no apparent preference in transcription initiation site utilization was detected.

MULTIPLE IL-2-RECEPTOR mRNA SPECIES

Although the IL-2 receptor is encoded by a single gene, Northern blots performed with IL-2-receptor cDNAs demonstrated two major size classes of mRNA with apparent sizes of 1500 and 3500 bases (24–26). To clarify whether each of these mRNAs encoded IL-2-receptor protein, mRNA was size-fractionated on a methylmercury agarose gel, the gel sliced, mRNAs from all regions of the gel were translated, and the translation products immunoprecipitated. These studies proved that mRNA from both 1500and 3500-base-size ranges encoded the IL-2-receptor primary translation product.

It was therefore possible that the difference in size might be explained on the basis of the use of different polyadenylation signals. Careful analysis of the sequence of the longest cDNA, pIL2R3, revealed that it contained two polyadenylation signal sequences in the 3' untranslated region, neither of which was utilized in that particular cDNA. To investigate if the 3500-base mRNAs corresponded to the use of a further 3' polyadenylation signal, Northern blots were hybridized with a radiolabeled probe from the 3' end of the cDNA distal to the polyadenylation site. With this probe, only the 3500base species was identified; this confirmed the hypothesis that the 1500base mRNAs were produced by utilization of more 5' polyadenylation signals (24).

S1 nuclease protection assays performed with DNA probes corresponding to a segment overlapping both proximal polyadenylation signals contained within pIL2R3 confirmed that both of these signals were also utilized in the formation of mature IL-2-receptor mRNAs. Thus, at least three different polyadenylation sites were used (see Figure 5) (31, 32).

In addition to the variable polyadenylation, however, each of the mRNAs classes presumably can exhibit alternate mRNA splicing of the 216-base region discussed above. Evidence for this was provided by S1



Figure 5 Six alternative transcripts of the IL-2 receptor gene. At least six different IL-2receptor mRNAs exist. These different mRNAs are generated by the use of three different polyadenylation signals (AAUAAA or AUUAAA sequences). In addition, each mRNA may be either normally spliced or alternately spliced to omit the 216-base segment identified in black, within the protein coding region.

nuclease protection assays and by hybridizing Northern blots with radiolabeled DNA probes generated from this segment.

Thus, it appears that the 3500-base mRNA consists of at least two species, generated by normal or alternate mRNA splicing, and the 1500base mRNAs represent at least four species: Either of two proximal polyadenylation signal sequences may be used as well as the mRNA that is either normally or alternatively spliced. Figure 5 depicts schematically these six mRNAs (see 23, 31, 32). In view of the existence of more than one transcription initiation site, however, the number of IL-2-receptor mRNAs is presumably even greater.

IL-2-RECEPTOR GENE EXPRESSION

With so many mRNAs, we sought to investigate whether any of these were preferentially synthesized under certain conditions (31, 32). Interestingly, when peripheral-blood T cells were activated with optimal concentrations of either phytohemagglutinin (PHA) or phorbol myristate acetate (PMA), the 3500-base class of mRNA was preferentially synthesized. However, when PHA and PMA were used together, both 3500- and 1500-base classes of mRNA were synthesized in approximately equal amounts. These data suggest the possibility that PHA and PMA stimulate IL-2-receptor expression through complementary mechanisms. Like lymphoblasts activated by PHA plus PMA, ATL cells infected by HTLV-I also synthesize approximately equal quantities of mRNAs of both classes and thus correspond to maximally activated normal T cells.

As noted above (see Figure 1), resting T cells do not express IL-2 receptors, but they are rapidly induced following activation with PHA. Nuclear run-off experiments were used to evaluate whether this induction was regulated at the level of transcription (32). In nuclei isolated from resting cells, no IL-2-receptor mRNA was detected; however, within 3 hr of activation (the earliest time studied), IL-2-receptor gene transcription was occurring at a high level. Transcription continued at a high level for 24 hr and then declined. In contrast, when peripheral-blood T cells were activated with PHA, IL-2-receptor mRNA expression reached a maximum at between 8 and 24 hr and then declined. Analysis of the data indicated that an increase in transcription could account for the initial increase in IL-2-receptor mRNA levels; however, these appeared to fall before there was a substantial decline in IL-2-receptor nuclear transcription. Thus, it is possible that post-transcriptional rates of mRNA processing or degradation are also important in regulation of IL-2-receptor gene expression.

Although IL-2-receptor mRNA levels were maximal between 8 and 24 hr, receptor expression at the cell surface did not peak until 48–72 hours.

The long lag between the peak in mRNA levels and protein levels is somewhat surprising and presently unexplained.

SEQUENTIAL GENE EXPRESSION DURING **T-LYMPHOCYTE ACTIVATION**

Using nuclear transcription analysis, Krönke and colleagues (33) have studied the temporal sequence of gene activation following stimulation of human T cells with PHA and PMA (Figure 6). These authors have found that the proto-oncogene, c-myc, was activated rapidly and reached peak transcription within 6-9 hr, results consistent with those of earlier studies of Kelly et al (34). c-myc expression was followed sequentially by transcription of the genes encoding the IL-2 receptor and interferon-gamma that peaked at 9-15 hours after mitogen addition. IL-2 gene transcription occurred later, reaching optimal levels at approximately 24 hr. Thus, activation of the IL-2-receptor gene temporally preceded IL-2 gene expression. Transcription of each of these four genes was not inhibited by the addition of cycloheximide in sufficient quantities to block >98% of protein synthesis. These data indicated that the protein products of these genes were not required for the subsequent activation of transcription of the other genes; for example, the c-myc protein was not necessary for transcription of the IL-2 gene. In contrast to this family of genes, transcribed early and independently of protein synthesis, the transferrin receptor gene was not expressed until 24 hr after mitogen activation and did not reach peak levels until 48 hr. Addition of cycloheximide at the initiation of culture completely blocked transferrin receptor gene transcription; this indicated a dependence on protein synthesis. These results were in agreement with those of the earlier studies of Neckers & Cossman, who reported that transferrin



Figure 6 Sequential gene expression in activated human T cells. Nuclear runoff assays were performed with isolated nuclei obtained from human T cells incubated for varying periods of time with PHA and PMA. The level of transcription of c-myc, IL-2 receptor, interferongamma, IL-2, and transferrin receptor genes was measured at times from 0-72 hr after activation. Time of peak transcription for each of these genes is schematically shown. Identical studies were performed in the presence of cycloheximide to assess the dependence of gene transcription upon intact protein synthesis.

receptor expression required a prior interaction of IL-2 with the IL-2 receptor (35).

INDUCTION OF IL-2-RECEPTOR REEXPRESSION

As noted earlier, mitogen-induced, IL-2-receptor expression is characterized by an early rise followed by a later decline in cell surface receptor number that is paralleled by changes in the proliferative capacity of these cells. After 10–12 days of culture, IL-2-receptor number is only 10–20% of the peak level present on activated T lymphocytes at day 2–3 (36, 37). These senescent T cells, however, remain susceptible to signals that result in the reexpression of IL-2 receptors and restoration of cellular proliferation (36– 40). Three general types of activation signals appear to stimulate IL-2receptor reexpression (Figure 7, left panel). First, the greatest increase in receptor number was obtained by reexposure of the cells to mitogenic lectin (37, 41). For example, PHA restimulation resulted in a 2–10-fold increase in IL-2-receptor number within 24 hr. As studies with actinomycin D and cycloheximide indicate, PHA-induced reexpression of IL-2 receptors was



Figure 7 Induction of IL-2 receptor reexpression. Left Panel: Day 11 PHA lymphoblasts that had lost > 80% of their surface-IL-2 receptors were restimulated with PHA, PMA, or IL-2, and receptor expression was measured 12-24 hr later in ³H-anti-Tac-binding assays. Right Panel: Total cellular RNA was isolated from Day 11 lymphoblasts that were stimulated with either medium, PHA, PMA, or IL-2 for 12 hr at 37°C. 20 micrograms of RNA from each sample was size fractionated on formaldehyde gels and transferred to nylon membranes (Gene screen, NEN). The blots were then hybridized with radiolabeled IL-2-receptor cDNA probes.

dependent upon de novo RNA and protein synthesis, and this suggests that receptor display was not solely the result of mobilization of preformed intracellular receptors to the cell surface. Second, addition of the phorbol ester, PMA, also produced augmented IL-2-receptor display. Similarly, phospholipase C and synthetic congeners of diacylglycerol each stimulated increased IL-2-receptor expression (37, 41). These agents activate protein kinase C, suggesting that this kinase may play an important role in the regulation of IL-2-receptor expression. Third, addition of IL-2 also promoted augmented IL-2-receptor display in both human and murine T cells (42–44). Other investigators have also reported that IL-2 amplifies IL-2-receptor expression in freshly isolated, resting lymphocytes activated under suboptimal conditions (42, 45, 46). Similarly, IL-2-induced increases in IL-2-receptor number have been detected in a cloned B-cell line (5B4) that constitutively expresses small numbers of IL-2 receptors (47). These effects of IL-2 occurred at ligand concentrations that preferentially result in binding to the high, but not low, affinity class of IL-2 receptors (43, 47; see below for discussion of high and low affinity receptors). Low affinity receptors are preferentially induced in these reexpression experiments. We discuss later the possibility that this difference relates in part to the finding that the high, but not low, affinity IL-2 receptors undergo receptormediated endocytosis (48).

In Northern blotting studies (Figure 7, right panel), PHA, PMA, and IL-2 each augmented the expression of IL-2-receptor mRNA. Measured in nuclear runoff assays, IL-2-receptor gene transcription also increased. IL-2mediated reexpression of receptors was also associated with increased levels of c-myc and transferrin receptor mRNA but did not alter the levels of mRNA encoding the beta chain of the T-cell-antigen receptor (43). Within 48-72 hr after activation with PHA, PMA, or IL-2, the IL-2-receptor numbers again declined, which indicates that both the initial induction and subsequent reexpression of IL-2 receptors is a transient, nonsustained event. Despite the capacity of IL-2 to mediate upregulation of IL-2receptor number in these senescent T cells, this ligand did not prevent the initial and physiologic decline in receptor levels. This finding may reflect active but transient repression of IL-2-receptor gene transcription that results in the initial decline in receptor number (43). Similar repressor activity has been implicated in the transient expression of the IL-2 gene in activated T cells (49).

POSTTRANSLATIONAL PROCESSING OF HUMAN IL-2-RECEPTOR PROTEIN

Attempts to immunoprecipitate the primary translation product of the human IL-2 receptor with currently available monoclonal antireceptor

antibodies, used either alone or in combination, have proven unsuccessful (W. C. Greene, W. J. Leonard, unpublished observations). However, following immunization of a rabbit with small amounts of receptor protein purified by anti-Tac immunoaffinity chromatography, a polyclonal antiserum was produced that reacted with the primary translation product generated in a wheat germ lysate system; this process used mRNA from both normal activated T cells and HTLV-I-infected HUT 102B2 cells (24). SDS-PAGE analysis indicated that the primary translation product had an apparent Mr of 34,500 in both normal and leukemic activated T cells (Figure 8). After pulse-chase labeling with ³⁵S-methioninine in the presence of tunicamycin, which blocks N-linked glycosylation, a 33,000 M, protein (p33) was identified with anti-Tac. This protein corresponded to the unmodified IL-2-receptor peptide (15, 18). Thus, signal peptidase cleavage of the 21 amino acid hydrophobic leader sequence and perhaps other posttranslational folding events are required for recognition of the protein by anti-Tac. In the absence of tunicamycin, p33 was not identified; rather, two precursor proteins of Mr 35,000 and 37,000 (p35 and p37) were present. This suggests cotranslational processing of p33 by N-linked glycosylation (15, 18; Figure 8). That relationship was confirmed in studies with endoglycosidase F, which cleaves N-linked sugar moieties, by conversion of p35/p37 to p33. Analysis of the primary amino acid sequence of the IL-2 receptor that had been deduced indicates the presence of two N-linked glycosylation sites (24). Pulse-chase studies also demonstrated that the Nlinked precursors were subsequently exported to the Golgi apparatus where O-linked sugar and sialic acid were added; that resulted in a saltatory increase in apparent receptor size to an Mr of 55,000. These Golgiassociated processing events were blocked by addition of the carboxylic



Figure 8 A schematic depicting the pattern and time course of posttranslational processing of the human IL-2 receptor as determined by pulse-chase labeling studies performed in the presence and absence of tunicamycin and monensin, digestion with endoglycosidase F and neuraminidase, and labeling with ³⁵S-sulfuric acid and ³²P-orthophosphoric acid. The primary translation product was immunoprecipitated with an anti-IL-2-receptor heteroantiserum, while other forms were immunoprecipitated with anti-Tac or immobilized IL-2.

ionophore, monensin; the result was an accumulation of p37, but not p35 nor p33 (18). These data suggest that p35 is normally processed to p37.

In addition to the introduction of N- and O-linked carbohydrate, the IL-2-receptor protein is posttranslationally modified by sulfation (18). At present, it is unknown whether the sulfate is introduced into carbohydrate (usually N-linked sugar) or protein (occasionally tyrosine residues). However, after ³⁵S-sulfuric acid labeling and hydrolysis of the labeled protein, essentially all of the radioactivity was precipitable with barium chloride; this indicates that the label was incorporated as sulfate rather than sulfide. The difference in apparent size of the HUT 102B2 compared to normal activated T-cell IL-2 receptor (50,000 Mr versus 55,000 Mr) is at least in part related to diminished addition of sulfate as well as sialic acid to the leukemic receptor protein. The biochemical basis for this altered posttranslational processing is not completely understood. Comparison of the amino acid sequence deduced for the HUT 102B2 receptor (cDNA sequence) and normal receptor (genomic sequence) has revealed no apparent differences (30). Thus, the presence of a point mutation resulting in the removal of a site for sulfation or glycosylation does not appear to be likely. Furthermore, other glycoproteins such as T4 and T9 are normally processed in HUT 102B2 cells indicating that these leukemic cells do not display global defects in posttranslational processing of membrane proteins.

Following these extensive posttranslational processing events, the mature receptor protein (M_r 55,000 in normal activated T cells) is displayed on the cell surface. Constitutive phosphorylation of this mature receptor protein has also been detected (18, 50). The primary site of phosphorylation involves the serine residue at position 247 located within the intracytoplasmic domain. Thus far, evidence for IL-2-induced phosphorylation of the IL-2 receptor has not been obtained but cannot yet be excluded. Certainly, the intracytoplasmic domain of the p55 IL-2-binding protein is insufficient in length to encode a kinase activity; this makes IL-2-receptor-induced autophosphorylation unlikely.

Both IL-2 and anti-Tac immobilized on bead supports react with p33-, p35-, and p37-precursor forms of the receptor, but neither reacts with the primary translation product (18). Therefore, the extensive posttranslational processing of this receptor is not obligately required for IL-2 binding; however, it is possible that these processing events alter the resultant affinity of the receptor for its ligand.

IL-2 RECEPTORS ON B CELLS AND THYMOCYTES

Although it was initially assumed that IL-2 receptors were uniquely expressed on Tlymphocytes, various lines of evidence began to suggest that

IL-2 receptors were present on at least some B cells. Low-level binding of ¹²⁵I-anti-Tac was detected on the Burkitt lymphoma cell line Concepcion (unpublished observations) as early as 1982, and Ortega et al (22) noted that IL-2 receptors were present on lipopolysaccharide-stimulated B lymphoblasts. As a B-cell malignancy (51) determined by rearrangement of both heavy and light chain immunoglobulin genes, hairy cell leukemia expressed Tac antigen. These studies have been extended now to demonstrate that IL-2 may induce both proliferation (52) and differentiation of B cells (53). Waldmann et al (47) demonstrated high-affinity IL-2-receptor sites on a cloned, activated B-cell line. Further, they provided evidence for upregulation of IL-2 receptors on that cell line in response to exogenous IL-2. The IL-2 receptors on T cells and on B cells are identical when evaluated by chymotryptic peptide maps (54). The in vivo role of IL-2 in B-cell differentiation and proliferation remains unknown, but the concensus now is that IL-2 receptors may be expressed on B cells and that at least in vitro, B cells can be responsive to purified IL-2.

IL-2 receptors have also been detected on thymocytes (55, 56). Ceredig et al (55) have described IL-2 receptors on 50% of the Lyt2 negative, L3T4 negative thymic "stem cells." These cells are distributed throughout the thymic cortex and medulla. Raulet (56) has identified IL-2 receptors on 30% of these same cells and, in addition, on 50% of immature fetal thymocytes. These cells proliferate weakly in response to IL-2 or concanavalin A, but strongly when costimulated with both reagents. It is unknown what, if any, in vivo role IL-2 receptors have with thymocytes, but it is possible that they may be involved in the positive selection of thymocytes during thymic education.

HIGH AND LOW AFFINITY RECEPTORS FOR IL-2

The initial radiolabeled, IL-2-binding studies of Robb et al indicated that normal activated human T cells displayed 2000–4000 IL-2 receptors per cell (10). IL-2 interacted with these receptors with unexpectedly high affinity (apparent K_d of 2–5 pM). In contrast to these results, binding studies performed with radiolabeled anti-Tac demonstrated 30,000–60,000 receptors per cell (37, 57). Furthermore, while virtually all of the anti-Tac binding could be blocked with IL-2, the quantities of IL-2 required were much greater than predicted by the apparent K_d of IL-2 binding (15, 58). This discrepancy in receptor number measured in the two assays was determined not to be the result of F_c receptor binding of antibody or of partial occupancy of IL-2 receptors by endogenously produced IL-2; neither was it secondary to significant errors in the estimation of the specific activity of either ligand. Therefore, the possible existence of two affinity classes of IL-2 receptors was considered. To address this possibility, binding studies were repeated with additions of much greater amounts of IL-2 (59). These studies revealed a second, more numerous class of IL-2 receptors that bound IL-2 with a lower apparent affinity (K_d of 5–20 nM). In general, the high affinity receptors comprised only 5-10% of the total number of IL-2 receptors, while 90-95% of the receptors were of low affinity. In contrast, these different affinity classes of IL-2 receptors were not discriminated in the anti-Tac binding assays. The sum of the high and low affinity IL-2 receptors measured with radiolabeled IL-2 approximated within a factor of 2 the number of receptors obtained in the anti-Tac binding studies. This level of agreement is certainly within the margin of error for estimation of specific activity of each of the radiolabeled ligands. High and low affinity receptors for other growth factors and hormones have also been recognized in other experimental systems (60-62). However, the difference in K_d of the high and low affinity IL-2 receptors was considerably greater (approximately 1000fold) than that encountered in other systems (50-100-fold difference). Recent studies by Lowenthal and colleagues (63) have similarly detected both high and low affinity forms of the IL-2 receptor on the surface of activated T and B cells; however, these authors estimate that the apparent difference in K_d is only 75-fold for activated T cells (K_d of 17 pM versus 1.27 nM). These findings may reflect methodological differences of washing in the assays performed by the two groups (63).

Notwithstanding, the growth-promoting effects of IL-2 appear to be mediated by the interaction of ligand with the high affinity receptors (10, 59). The biological function of the low affinity IL-2 receptors, if any, remains now unresolved. As noted earlier, the high affinity, but not low affinity, IL-2 receptors undergo receptor-mediated endocytosis (48). These studies further highlight a fundamental structural and functional difference in the high and low affinity IL-2 receptors. Whether the internalization of the high affinity form of the receptor is involved in signal transduction is unknown.

The structural differences that distinguish the high and low affinity IL-2 receptors remain undefined. At least three possibilities for these different receptor affinity classes exist. First, it is possible that the high affinity IL-2 receptor is actually composed of a complex of proteins. This model is particularly attractive in terms of providing a mechanism for receptor signal transduction. As noted earlier, the intracytoplasmic domain of the 55,000-dalton, IL-2-binding protein is only 13 amino acids in length and contains no obvious enzymatic activity. In particular, tyrosine kinase activity, found with virtually all other growth-factor receptors, is not associated with this intracytoplasmic domain. Perhaps other proteins complexed with the Mr 55,000-dalton protein are required for high affinity IL-2 binding and propagation of the signal for growth into the cell. In this

regard, anti-Tac immunoprecipitation of activated T cells biosynthetically labeled with ³⁵S-methionine has revealed small quantities of two additional proteins termed p113 and p180 (14). These proteins are not labeled by cell surface iodination, nor do they appear to be glycosylated; however, each is phosphorylated. It is possible that one or both of these proteins, or other yet unrecognized proteins, together with p55 form a receptor complex capable of binding IL-2 with high affinity and transducing the growth-promoting signal.

Second, since the IL-2 receptor undergoes extensive post-translational modification, it is conceivable that the high affinity IL-2 receptor is produced by a select form of processing. For example, potential differences in phosphorylation or sulfation could alter the affinity of the receptor for its ligand. This model, however, does not provide an explanation for signal transduction through the short intracytoplasmic domain of p55.

The third possibility is that the high and low affinity receptors are encoded by different genes and that the cDNAs isolated correspond to the low affinity receptor form. In this regard, expression of the IL-2-receptor cDNA in mouse L cells results in the exclusive display of low affinity IL-2 receptors (64). However, this finding could also reflect the lack of the appropriate companion proteins required to form the high affinity, IL-2receptor complex, or it may reflect the absence of appropriate posttranslational processing within the L cells. The two-gene hypothesis is also made less likely by the presence of shared monoclonal antibody-binding epitopes between the high and low affinity forms of the IL-2 receptor. In the human system, both high and low affinity receptors react with anti-Tac and probably 7G7B6. In the murine system, both receptors react with two different monoclonals (3C7 and 7D4) that recognize different epitopes on the mouse IL-2 receptor (22). Thus, if the high and low affinity IL-2 receptors are different proteins, they must share antigenic sites recognized by these monoclonal antibodies.

IL-2-RECEPTOR EXPRESSION IN HTLV-I-INDUCED ADULT T-CELL LEUKEMIA

Human T-Lymphotrophic Virus-I (HTLV-I) is a type C retrovirus capable of infecting and transforming mature T cells (65–67). HTLV-I has been implicated as the etiologic agent (68) in the Adult T-Cell Leukemia (ATL) (69). This aggressive and often fatal leukemia is geographically clustered in HTLV-I endemic areas including the southwestern part of Japan, the Caribbean basin, southeastern United States, and sub-Saharan Africa. Patients with this leukemia may present with epidermal or dermal leukemic T-cell infiltrates, hypercalcemia, osteolytic bone lesions, infection with opportunistic organisms, hepatosplenomegaly, and pulmonary infiltrates (69, 70).

A unique feature of the HTLV-I-infected T-cell lines is the constitutive expression of 5–10-fold more IL-2 receptors than are present on optimally activated PHA T lymphoblasts (57, 71). Furthermore, some, but not all, ATL cell lines display IL-2 receptors that are abnormal in size, apparently due to differences in posttranslational processing of the receptor (18, 72).

The mechanisms accounting for high level IL-2-receptor display in HTLV-I-infected T cells and the potential role of these receptors in the growth of these leukemic cells remain unknown. Northern blotting studies with IL-2 cDNA probes have demonstrated that the majority of ATL cell lines do not transcribe IL-2 mRNA; thus leukemic T-cell growth based on autocrine stimulation is unlikely (73). Furthermore, the majority of established ATL cell lines are not dependent on IL-2 for cell growth, nor is their proliferation blocked by anti-Tac. However, these data do not preclude the possibility that circulating IL-2 may play an important role in leukemic T-cell growth at an earlier stage in the ontogeny of this leukemia. In this regard, a period of growth-factor dependence followed by the progressive development of growth-factor independence has been demonstrated in other tumor systems.

As noted earlier, the human IL-2-receptor gene has been localized to chromosome 10 bands $p_{14} \rightarrow 15$ (29). Karyotypic analyses of several ATL cell lines, as well as freshly isolated leukemic T cells, have not revealed consistent abnormalities of chromosome 10. Thus, it appears unlikely that augmented IL-2-receptor expression is the result of chromosomal translocation involving the IL-2-receptor gene locus. Furthermore, Southern blotting analysis has provided no evidence for rearrangements or amplifications of the IL-2-receptor gene in several ATL cell lines (31). Analysis of HTLV-I integration sites in a variety of freshly isolated leukemic cells, as well as in ATL cell lines, has demonstrated that this virus does not integrate at unique sites (74). Thus, it is quite unlikely that IL-2-receptor expression reflects *cis*-activation of the IL-2-receptor gene via viral promoter insertion.

How then does HTLV-I activate IL-2-receptor expression? Studies are presently focusing on the possibility that the virus elaborates a factor(s) that, acting in a *trans*-manner, might activate transcription of the IL-2receptor gene (Figure 9). In this regard, Seiki et al have completely sequenced one HTLV-I viral isolate and found evidence for four open reading frames in a region termed pX located near the 3' end of the virus (75). Several groups (76-80) have studied the protein products of this pX region. One of these genes is referred to as LOR (long open reading frame). Utilizing plasmid constructs of the regulatory LTR region of HTLV-I linked to the *chloramphenicol-acetyl-transferase* (CAT) gene, Sodroski et al

have demonstrated that the LOR protein (M_r of 42,000 daltons in HTLV-Iinfected T cells) is capable of activating transcription of genes controlled by the retroviral LTR in a *trans* manner (81, Figure 9). Studies are now focused on whether the LOR protein also *trans*-activates transcription of cellular genes, including possibly the IL-2 receptor, which leads to T-cell transformation and uncontrolled growth (Figure 9). A direct action of the LOR protein on cellular genes has not yet been proven. Yodoi and coworkers have described the production by ATL cells of a soluble mediator termed ADF (Adult T Cell Leukemia Derived Factor) that is capable of inducing IL-2-receptor expression in select target T-cell lines (82). It is possible that ADF is involved in the augmented expression of IL-2 receptors in this leukemia. It is not yet known whether ADF production is linked to preceding action of the LOR protein.

While the mechanism of viral induction of IL-2-receptor display remains elusive, Northern blotting studies indicate that ATL cell lines constitutively express large quantities of IL-2-receptor mRNA (31). S1 nuclease studies of posttranscriptional splicing and use of the three different polyadenylation signal sites indicate that these events occur normally in ATL cells (31). Nuclear run-off studies have demonstrated that the IL-2-receptor gene is



Figure 9 Hypothetical model for the mechanism of constitutive IL-2-receptor expression in HTLV-I-infected leukemic T cells.

transcribed at a high level in ATL cells in the absence of added mitogens. However, the addition of PHA and PMA, which activate IL-2-receptor expression in normal T cells, paradoxically inhibits (60–80%) IL-2-receptor gene transcription in the HTLV-I-infected leukemic T cells (31). This inhibition is not the result of generalized cytotoxic effects of these stimulants, as transcription of the transferrin receptor and c-myc genes is unaltered. Krönke et al have speculated that the inhibitory effects of mitogens in ATL cells might represent activation of a repressor mechanism that selectively inhibits IL-2-receptor gene transcription (31). This same repressor system might also mediate the physiologic decline in IL-2receptor number occurring in normal T cells.

To further investigate the constitutive display of IL-2 receptors in ATL cells, Leonard et al analyzed IL-2 receptor promoter structure and function in these cells by using primer extension analysis and S1 nuclease protection assays (30). Primer extension studies in which a 5' radiolabeled oligonucleotide probe was annealed to mRNA and extended with reverse transcriptase indicated the presence of the two major sites for initiation of transcription, as noted above, in both normal and ATL leukemic T cells (30). However, a third transcription initiation site was detected in ATL cells that was not apparently utilized in normal activated T cells. S1 nuclease protection assays confirmed these two principal shared transcription initiation sites and the unique site in ATL cells. Together, these data suggest that both normal and ATL leukemic T cells utilize two separate major promoters while ATL cells also utilize a third, normally cryptic, promoter. The presence of a third IL-2-receptor promoter in ATL cells is intriguing, but these studies demonstrate that this promoter is considerably less active than the two major promoters. Thus, this third promoter would not appear to provide a full explanation for the deregulated, amplified expression of IL-2 receptors encountered in this leukemia.

ANTI-IL-2-RECEPTOR ANTIBODIES AS POSSIBLE THERAPEUTIC AGENTS IN ATL

No satisfactory chemotherapy for the treatment of patients with Adult T-Cell Leukemia has been identified. The display of large numbers of IL-2 receptors by these leukemic T cells coupled with the availability of monoclonal antibodies that bind to these receptors with high affinity has made immunotherapy an attractive therapeutic approach. Waldmann and associates are presently evaluating the effects of unmodified anti-Tac antibody administered intravenously to patients with this leukemia. Preliminary results suggest that patients with the more common aggressive form of this disease are not significantly benefited by this therapy. This

finding is consistent with the inability of anti-Tac in vitro to inhibit the growth of IL-2-independent ATL cell lines. However, a subgroup of these patients may present with a more smoldering, less aggressive form of leukemia. One such patient has responded to parenteral anti-Tac therapy with marked regression of skin lesions and a decline in the number of Tacpositive leukemic T cells circulating in the peripheral blood (T. A. Waldmann, unpublished observations).

In view of the apparent lack of therapeutic effects with unmodified anti-Tac in ATL patients with aggressive disease, in vitro and in vivo studies have been initiated that employ anti-Tac covalently coupled to select toxins. Krönke et al have demonstrated that anti-Tac-ricin A-chain immunotoxins selectively kill HTLV-I-infected leukemic T cells in vitro (83). Furthermore, immunotoxin killing was enhanced in the presence of lysosomotropic agents such as ammonium chloride, chloroquine, and monensin. In regard to the possible use of such immunotoxins to "purge" leukemic bone marrow, Krönke et al have observed, in clonogenic assays, that doses of anti-Tac ricin A, which kill greater than 99.9% of the ATL cells, had little or no inhibitory effect on the growth of bone marrow progenitor cells (83, and M. Krönke, W. C. Greene, unpublished observations).

Fitzgerald et al have found similar cytotoxic effects of anti-Tac covalently coupled to pseudomonas exotoxin (84). Therapeutic trials of anti-Tacpseudomonas exotoxin conjugates in the treatment of patients with ATL are presently underway at the National Cancer Institute.

IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE EFFECTS OF ANTI-IL-2-RECEPTOR ANTIBODIES

Depper et al have demonstrated that anti-Tac inhibits most of the proliferative responses of human T cells stimulated with soluble, autologous, or allogeneic antigens (85). Consistent with a functional blockade of the IL-2 receptor, this inhibition of proliferation was reversed by the addition of excess amounts of purified IL-2. Similar results have been obtained by Malek et al using monoclonal anti-IL-2-receptor antibodies in the murine system (86). Anti-Tac also inhibited T-cell proliferation induced by the mitogenic lectins—concanavalin A, pokeweed mitogen, and to a lesser extent, phytohemagglutinin. In addition, anti-Tac abrogated the IL-2-dependent maturation of cytotoxic T-cell precursors into cytotoxic effector T cells (85). In terms of effects on humoral immunity, anti-Tac inhibited the production of B-cell immunoglobulin activated by pokeweed mitogen. As the pokeweed mitogen—induced response is dependent upon helper T cells, the site of anti-Tac action in this inhibition is unclear. The monoclonal antibody could be reacting either with the required helper T cells or, alternatively, with the activated B cells now known to display IL-2 receptors.

The in vitro inhibition of the development of cytotoxic T lymphocytes has recently been explored in vivo in a rodent model of allograft transplantation by Kirkman and colleagues (87). These investigators have found that anti-IL-2-receptor antibodies markedly diminish rejection of transplanted allogeneic hearts in this animal model. These data suggest the possibility that anti-Tac or similar monoclonal antibodies might be of therapeutic utility in the prevention of allograft rejection in humans.

CONCLUSIONS

In this review, we have attempted to discuss salient molecular, biochemical, and functional features of the human interleukin-2 receptor. This surface receptor plays an important role in the growth of normal human T cells and perhaps B cells as well. The development of monoclonal antibodies that react specifically with this receptor has permitted biochemical characterization of both precursor and mature forms of this receptor as well as the recognition that these receptors are displayed in high and low affinity states. The purification and NH₂ terminal amino acid sequencing of the receptor protein has allowed the successful isolation of cDNAs encoding the IL-2 receptor. The availability of these molecular probes has led to the elucidation of the structure and chromosomal location of the IL-2-receptor gene as well as insights into the regulation of receptor gene expression. The recognized deregulated expression of IL-2 receptors in HTLV-I-induced Adult-T Cell Leukemia remains an intriguing but unexplained phenomenon. Studies are underway to define whether these receptors participate in the uncontrolled growth of these cells or alternatively occur as a byproduct of virus-induced transformation of these T cells. Regardless of the unresolved relationship of HTLV-I to the IL-2 receptor, the presence of these receptors on the surface of ATL cells, often in large numbers, has provided novel approaches to the therapy of this leukemia, approaches that employ unmodified anti-Tac or anti-Tac covalently complexed with toxins, drugs, or radionuclides. Certainly the availability of cloned genes and cDNAs for both IL-2 and its cellular receptor, appropriate monoclonal antibodies, and large amounts of purified IL-2, make this growth factorreceptor system particularly attractive for future study of transduction of growth-promoting signals. Similarly, as the IL-2 receptor is an activation antigen, this receptor may serve as an excellent model system for the general study of eukaryotic gene activation and expression.

Literature Cited

- Morgan, D. A., Ruscetti, F. W., Gallo, R. C. 1976. Selective *in vivo* growth of T lymphocytes from normal human bone marrows. *Science* 193:1007–8
- Mier, J. W., Gallo, R. C. 1980. Purification and some characteristics of human T-cell growth factor from phytohemagglutinin stimulated lymphocyte conditioned media. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77:6134-38
- Robb, R. J., Kutny, R. M., Chowdhry, V. 1983. Purification and partial sequence of human T-cell growth factor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 5990-94
- Taniguchi, T., Matsui, H., Fujita, T., Takoka, C., Kashima, N., Yoshimoto, R., Hamuro, J. 1983. Structure and expression of a cloned cDNA for human interleukin-2. *Nature* 302: 305-10
- Fujita, T., Takaoka, C., Matsui, H., Taniguchi, T. 1983. Structure of the human interleukin-2 gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 7437-41
- Holbrook, N., Smith, K. A., Fornace, A. J., Comean, C., Wiskocil, R. L., Crabtree, G. R. 1984. T-cell growth factor: complete nucleotide sequence and organization of the gene in normal and malignant cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81: 1634-38
- Siegel, L. J., Harper, M. E., Wong-Staal, F., Gallo, R. C., Nash, W. G., O'Brien, S. J. 1984. Gene for T-cell growth factor: location on human chromosome 4q and feline chromosome B1. Science 223:175– 78
- Gillis, S., Smith, K. A. 1977. Long-term culture of tumor-specific cytotoxic Tcells. *Nature* 268:154–56
- Smith, K. A. 1980. T-cell growth factor. Immunol. Rev. 51: 337-57
- Robb, R. J., Munck, A., Smith, K. A. 1981. T-cell growth factors: quantification, specificity, and biological relevance. J. Exp. Med. 154:1455-74
- Coutinho, A., Larsson, E. L., Gronvik, K. O., Anderson, J. 1979. Studies on T lymphocyte activation. II. The target cells for concanavalin A induced growth factors. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 9:587–92
- Gillis, S., Baker, P. E., Ruscetti, F. W., Smith, K. A. 1978. J. Exp. Med. 148: 1093-98
- Uchiyama, T., Broder, S., Waldmann, T. A. 1981. A monoclonal antibody (anti-Tac) reactive with activated and functionally mature human T cells. J. Immunol. 126:1293-97
- Leonard, W. J., Depper, J. M., Uchiyama, T., Smith, K. A., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1982. A monoclonal

antibody that appears to recognize the receptor for human T cell growth factor: partial characterization of the receptor. *Nature* 300:267–69

- Leonard, W. J., Depper, J. M., Robb, R. J., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1983. Characterization of the human receptor for T cell growth factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80: 6957–61
- Robb, R. J., Greene, W. C. 1983. Direct demonstration of the identity of T-cell growth factor binding protein and the Tac antigen. J. Exp. Med. 158:1332-37
- 17. Wano, Y., Uchiyama, T., Fukui, K., Maeda, M., Uchino, H., Yodoi, J. 1984. Characterization of human interleukin 2 receptor (Tac expression) in normal and leukemic T-cells: coexpression of normal and aberrant receptors in HUT 102 cells. J. Immunol. 132: 3005-10
- Leonard, W. J., Depper, J. M., Krönke, M., Robb, R. J., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1985. The human receptor for T-cell growth factor: evidence for variable post-translational processing, phosphorylation, sulfation, and the ability of precursor forms of the receptor to bind TCGF. J. Biol. Chem. 260:1872– 80
- Cotner, T., Williams, J. M., Christenson, L., Shapiro, H. M., Strom, T. B., Strominger, J. 1983. Simultaneous flow cytometric analysis of human T-cell activation antigen expression and DNA content. J. Exp. Med. 157:461–72
- Urdal, D. L., March, C. J., Gillis, S., Larsen, A., Dower, S. K. 1984. Purification and chemical characterization of the receptor for interleukin-2 from activated human T lymphocytes and from a human T-cell lymphoma cell-line. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:6481-85
- Rubin, L. A., Kurman, C. L., Biddison, W. E., Goldman, N. D., Nelson, D. L. 1985. A monoclonal antibody, 7G7/B6, binds to an epitope on the human IL-2 receptor that is distinct from that recognized by IL-2 or anti-Tac. *Hybridoma* 4:91-102
- Ortega, R. G., Robb, R. J., Shevach, E. M., Malek, T. R. 1984. The murine IL-2 receptor. I. Monoclonal antibodies that define distinct functional epitopes on activated T-cells and react with activated B-cells. J. Immunol. 133: 1970-75
- Osawa, H., Diamantstein, T. 1983. The characterization of a monoclonal antibody that binds specifically to rat T lymphoblasts and inhibits IL-2 receptor functions. J. Immunol. 130:51-55
- 24. Leonard, W. J., Depper, J. M., Crabtree,

G. R., Rudikoff, S., Pumphrey, J., Robb, R. J., Krönke, M., Svetlik, P. B., Peffer, N. J., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1984. Molecular cloning and expression of cDNAs for the human interleukin-2 receptor. *Nature* 311:626-31

- 25. Nikaido, T., Shimizu, N., Ishida, N., Sabe, H., Teshigawara, K., Maeda, M., Uchiyama, T., Yodoi, J., Honjo, T. 1984. Molecular cloning of cDNA encoding human interleukin-2 receptor. *Nature* 311:631-35
- Cosman, D., Cerretti, D. P., Larsen, A., Park, L., March, C., Dower, S., Gillis, S., Urdal, D. 1984. Cloning, sequence and expression of human interleukin-2 receptor. *Nature* 312:768–71
- Shimizu, A., Kondo, S., Takeda, S., Yodoi, J., Ishida, N., Sabe, N., Osawa, H., Diamantstein, T., Nikaido, T., Honjo, T. 1985. Nucleotide sequence of mouse IL-2 receptor cDNA and its comparison with the human IL-2 receptor sequence. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 13:1505-16
- Miller, J., Malek, T. R., Leonard, W. J., Greene, W. C., Shevach, E. M., Germain, J. I. 1985. Nucleotide sequence and expression of a mouse interleukin-2 receptor cDNA. J. Immunol. 134:4212–17
- Leonard, W. J., Donlon, T. A., Lebo, R. V., Greene, W. C. 1985. Localization of the gene encoding the human interleukin-2 receptor on chromosome 10. *Science* 228: 1547–49
- Leonard, W. J., Depper, J. M., Kanehisa, M., Krönke, M., Peffer, N. J., Svetlik, P. B., Sullivan, M., Greene, W. C. 1985. Structure of the human interleukin-2 receptor gene. *Science*. In press
- Krönke, M., Leonard, W. J., Depper, J. M., Greene, W. C. 1985. Deregulation of interleukin-2 receptor gene expression in HTLV-I induced adult T-cell leukemia. *Science* 228:1215–17
- Leonard, W. J., Krönke, M., Peffer, N. J., Depper, J. M., Greene, W. C. 1985. Interleukin-2 receptor gene expression in normal human T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:6281
- Krönke, M., Leonard, W. J., Depper, J. M., Greene, W. C. 1985. Sequential expression of genes involved in human T lymphocyte growth and differentiation. J. Exp. Med. 161:1593-98
- Kelly, K., Cochran, B. H., Stiles, C. D., Leder, P. 1983. Cell-specific regulation of the c-myc gene by lymphocyte mitogens and platelet derived growth factor. *Cell* 35:603-10
- Neckers, L. M., Cossman, J. 1983. Transferrin receptor induction in mitogen stimulated human T lymphocytes is required for DNA synthesis and cell divi-

sion and is regulated by interleukin-2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 3494-99

- Cantrell, D. A., Smith, K. A. 1983. Transient expression of interleukin-2 receptors: consequences for T-cell growth. J. Exp. Med. 158: 1895-1911
- 37. Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Krönke, M., Noguchi, P. D., Cunningham, R. E., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1984. Regulation of interleukin-2 receptor expression : effects of phorbol diester, phospholipase-c, and reexposure to lectin and antigen. J. Immunol. 133:3054-61
- Hemler, M. D., Brenner, M. B., McLean, J. M., Strominger, J. L. 1984. Antigen stimulation regulates the level of expression of IL-2 receptors on human T-cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:2172–75
- Reske-Kunz, A. B., von Steldern, D., Rude, E., Osawa, H., Diamantstein, T. 1984. Interleukin-2 receptors on an insulin specific T-cell line: dynamics of receptor expression. J. Immunol. 133:1356-61
- Kaplan, D. R., Braciale, V. L., Braciale, T. J. 1984. Antigen dependent regulation of interleukin-2 receptor expression on cloned human cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 133: 1966–69
- Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Krönke, M., Drogula, C., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1985. Activators of protein kinase C and 5-azacytidine induce IL-2 receptor expression in human T lymphocytes. J. Cell. Biochem. 27:267-76
- Smith, K., Cantrell, D. 1985. Interleukin-2 regulates its own receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:864-69
- Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Drogula, C., Krönke, M., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1985. Interleukin-2 (IL-2) augments transcription of the interleukin-2 receptor gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:4230-34
- Malek, T. R., Ashwell, J. D. 1985. Interleukin-2 upregulates expression of its receptor on a T-cell clone. J. Exp. Med. 161:1575-80
- Reem, G. H., Yeh, N.-H. 1984. Interleukin-2 regulates expression of its receptor and synthesis of gamma-interferon by human T lymphocytes. *Science* 225: 429-30
- Welte, K., Andreeff, M., Platzer, E., Holloway, K., Rubin, B. Y., Moore, M. A. S., Mertelsmann, R. 1984. Interleukin-2 regulates the expression of Tac antigen in peripheral-blood T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 160: 1390–1403
- Waldmann, T. A., Goldman, C. K., Robb, R. J., Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Sharrow, S. O., Bongiovanni, K. F., Korsmeyer, S. J., Greene, W. C. 1984. Expression of interleukin-2 receptors on

activated human B-cells. J. Exp. Med. 160:1450-66

- 48. Weissman, A. M., Harford, J. B., Svetlik, P. B., Leonard, W. J., Depper, J. M., Waldmann, T. A., et al. 1986. Only high affinity receptors for interleukin-2 mediate internalization of ligand. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. In press
- Efrat, S., Kaempfer, R. 1984. Control of biologically active interleukin-2 messenger RNA formation in induced human lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81: 2601-5
- Shackelford, D. A., Trowbridge, I. S. 1984. Induction of expression of the human interleukin-2 receptor by a phorbol diester. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 11706-12
- 51. Korsmeyer, S. J., Greene, W. C., Cossman, J., Hsu, S., Jensen, J. P., Neckers, L. M., Marshall, S. L., Bakhshi, A., Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Jaffe, E. S., Waldmann, T. A. 1983. Rearrangement and expression of immunoglobulin genes and expression of Tac antigen in hairy cell leukemia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 80:4522-26
- Tsudo, M., Uchiyama, T., Uchino, H. 1984. Expression of Tac antigen on activated normal human B-cells. J. Exp. Med. 160:612-17
- 53. Nakanishi, K., Malek, T. R., Smith, K. A., Hamaoka, T., Shevach, E. M., Paul, W. E. 1984. Both interleukin-2 and a second T-cell derived factor in EL-4 supernatants have activity as differentiation factors in IgM synthesis. J. Exp. Med. 160:1605-21
- Mittler, R., Rao, P., Olini, G., Westberg, E., Newman, W., Hoffmann, M., Golstein, G. 1985. Activated human B-cells display a functional IL-2 receptor. J. Immunol. 134:2393-99
- Ceredig, R., Lowenthal, J. W., Nabholz, M., MacDonald, H. R. 1985. Expression of interleukin-2 receptors as a differentiation marker on intrathymic stem-cells. *Nature* 314:98-100
- Raulet, D. H. 1985. Expression and function of interleukin-2 receptors on immature thymocytes. *Nature* 314: 101-3
- Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Krönke, M., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1984. Augmented T-cell growth-factor receptor expression in HTLV-I infected human leukemic T-cells. J. Immunol. 133:1691-95
- Greene, W. C., Robb, R. J., Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Drogula, C., Svetlik, P., Wong-Staal, F., Gallo, R. C., Waldmann, T. A. 1984. Phorbol diester induction of Tac antigen expression in human acute lymphocyte leukemic T-cells. J. Immunol. 133: 1042-47

- Robb, R. J., Greene, W. C., Rusk, C. M. 1984. Low and high affinity cellular receptors for interleukin-2: implications for the level of Tac antigen. J. Exp. Med. 160: 1126-46
- Buxser, S. E., Kelleher, D. J., Watson, L., Puma, P., Johnson, G. L. 1983. Change in state of nerve growth-factor receptor: modulation of receptor affinity by wheatgerm agglutinin. J. Biol. Chem. 258: 3741-46
- 61. Kawamoto, T., Sato, J. D., Polikoff, J., Sato, G. H., Mendelsohn, J. 1983. Growth-stimulation of A431 cells by epidermal growth factor: identification of high-affinity receptors for epidermal growth factor by an anti-receptor monoclonal antibody. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 80:1337-41
- Williams, L. T., Tremble, P. M., Lavin, M. F., Sunday, M. E. 1984. Plateletderived growth factor receptors form a high affinity state in membrane preparations. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 5287-94
- Lowenthal, J. W., Zubler, R. H., Nabholz, M., MacDonald, H. R. 1985. Similarities between interleukin-2 receptor number and affinity on activated B and T lymphocytes. *Nature* 315:669-72
- 64. Greene, W. C., Robb, R. J., Svetlik, P. B., Rusk, C. M., Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J. 1985. Stable expression of cDNA encoding the human interleukin-2 receptor in eukaryotic cells. J. Exp. Med. 162: 363-68
- 65. Poiesz, B. J., Ruscetti, F. W., Gazdar, A. F., Bunn, P. A., Minna, J. D., Gallo, R. C. 1980. Detection and isolation of type-C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77:7415–19
- 66. Poiesz, B. J., Ruscetti, F. W., Reitz, M. S., Kalyanaraman, V. S., Gallo, R. C. 1981. Isolation of a new type-C retrovirus (HTLV) in primary uncultured cells of a patient with Sezary T-cell leukemia. *Nature* 294:268-71
- 67. Yoshida, M., Miyoshi, I., Hinuma, Y. 1982. Isolation and characterization of retrovirus from cell lines of human adult T-cell leukemia and its complication in the disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:6476-80
- 68. Gallo, R. C., Wong-Staal, R. 1982. Retroviruses as etiologic agents of some animal and human leukemias and lymphomas and as tools for elucidating the molecular mechanism of leukemogenesis. Blood 60:545-57
- genesis. Blood 60:545-57 69. Uchiyama, T., Yodoi, J., Sagawa, K., Takatsuki, K., Uchino, H. 1977. Adult Tcell leukemia: clinical and hematologic

features of 16 cases. Blood 50:481-92

- Bunn, P. A., Schechter, G. P., Jaffe, E., Blayney, D., Young, R. C., Matthews, M. J., Blattner, W., Broder, S., Robert-Guroff, M., Gallo, R. C. 1983. Clinical course of retrovirus associated adult Tcell lymphoma in the United States. N. Engl. J. Med. 309:257-64
- Gootenberg, J. E., Ruscetti, F. W., Mier, J. W., Gazdar, A., Gallo, R. C. 1981. Human cutaneous T-cell lymphoma and leukemia-cell lines produce and respond to T-cell growth factor. J. Exp. Med. 154:1403-17
- 72. Wano, Y., Uchiyama, T., Fukui, K., Maeda, M., Uchino, H., Yodoi, J. 1984. Characterization of human interleukin-2 receptor (Tac expression) in normal and leukemic T-cells : coexpression of normal and aberrant receptors in HUT 102 cells. J. Immunol. 132: 3005-10
- Arya, S. K., Wong-Staal, F., Gallo, R. C. 1984. T-cell growth factor gene: lack of expression on human T-cell leukemia lymphoma virus infected cells. *Science* 223: 1086–87
- Seiki, M., Eddy, R., Shows, T., Yoshida, M. 1984. Nonspecific integration of HTLV provirus genome into adult T-cell leukemia cells. *Nature* 309:640–42
- 75. Seiki, M., Hattori, S., Hirayama, Y., Yoshida, M. 1983. Human adult T-cell leukemia virus: complete nucleotide sequence of the provirus genome integrated in leukemia cell DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:3618
- 76. Haseltine, W. A., Sodroski, J., Patarca, R., Briggs, D., Perkins, D., Wong-Staal, F. 1984. Structure of the 3' terminal repeat region of type-II human Tlymphotropic virus: evidence for a new coding region. Science 225:419–21
- 77. Kiyokawa, T., Seiki, M., Imagawa, K., Shimizu, F., Yoshida, M. 1984. Identification of a protein (p40^s) encoded by a unique sequence pX of human T-cell leukemia-virus type-I. Gann 75:747-51
- Shimotohno, K., Miwa, M., Slamon, D. J., Chen, I. S. Y., Hoshino, H. O., Takano, M., Fujino, M., Sugimura, T. 1985. Identification of new gene-products encoded from X-regions of human T-cell

leukemia viruses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:302-6

- Seiki, M., Hikikoshi, A., Taniguchi, T., Yoshida, M. 1985. Expression of the pX gene of HTLV-I: general splicing mechanism in the HTLV family. *Science* 228: 1532-34
- Wachsman, W., Golde, D. W., Temple, P. A., Orr, E. C., Clark, S. C., Chen, I. S. Y. 1985. HTLV-X gene product : requirement for the env methionine initiation codon. Science 228:1534-37
- Sodroski, J. G., Rosen, C. A., Haseltine, W. A. 1984. Trans-acting transcriptional activation of the long terminal repeat of human T-lymphotropic viruses in infected cells. *Science* 225: 381–85
- Yodoi, J., Teshigawara, K., Uchiyama, T., Wano, Y., Tsudo, M., Nikaido, T., Smith, K. A., Maeda, M. 1984. In Human T Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma Virus, ed. R. C. Gallo, M. E. Essex, L. Gross, pp. 255– 59. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Lab.
- Krönke, M., Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Vitetta, E. S., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1985. Adult T cell leukemia: a potential target for ricin A chain immunotoxins. *Blood* 65: 1416-21
- 84. Fitzgerald, D. J. P., Waldmann, T. A., Willingham, M. C., Pastan, I. 1984. Pseudomonas exotoxin-anti-Tac cell specific immunotoxin active against cells expressing the human T-cell growth factor receptor. J. Clin. Invest. 74:966-71
- Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Waldmann, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1983. Blockade of the interleukin-2 receptor by anti-Tac antibody: inhibition of human lymphocyte activation. J. Immunol. 131: 690-96
- Malek, T. R., Robb, R. J., Shevach, E. M. 1983. Identification and initial characterization of a rat monoclonal-antibody reactive with the murine interleukin-2 receptor ligand complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:5694–98
- Kirkman, R. L., Barrett, L. V., Gaulton, G. N., Kelly, V. E., Ythier, A., Strom, T. B. 1985. Administration of an antiinterleukin-2 receptor monoclonal antibody prolongs cardiac allograft survival in mice. J. Exp. Med. 162: 358-62



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4:97–117 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME

J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann

Laboratoire d'Immunologie Néphrologique et de Transplantation, UER Pitié-Salpétrière 75634 Paris, Cedex 13, France

L. Montagnier

Unité d'Oncologie Virale, Institut Pasteur, 75724 Paris, Cedex 15, France

INTRODUCTION

Tremendous accomplishments have followed the original clinical description in 1981 of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and other apparently related syndromes (1–4). The major advance has been the isolation and characterization of a novel human retrovirus, lymphadenopathy-associated virus (LAV) (5–7). The belief that it is the causative agent of these new diseases stems from a large body of evidence from viro- and sero-epidemiological studies, and this belief is supported by the major characteristics of its biological properties.

Although a vaccine is still several years away, therapeutical breakthroughs are presently expected from the use of drugs that are active against such viruses (8–10). However, many questions remain unanswered. Besides the problem of precise taxonomic classification of LAV, these questions concern both the pathophysiological mechanisms that lead from viral infection to disease and the capacity of a given host actually to mount protective immune responses against this virus.

98 GLUCKMAN, KLATZMANN & MONTAGNIER

THE DISEASE

Brief Description

AIDS is an epidemic form of immunodeficiency that results in high susceptibility to opportunistic infections or to such malignant diseases as Kaposi's sarcoma (11, 12). Up to now, it has been observed most frequently among individuals belonging to "at risk" populations : homosexual men, intravenous drug abusers, and blood product recipients, especially hemophiliacs (13). It has also occurred as an epidemic that strikes males, females. and infants in Central Africa and in Haiti (14-16). A variety of other chronic or acute (17) conditions have also been noted with increasing frequency in the same high-risk populations (4, 18). These conditions include nonspecific symptoms such as persistent generalized hyperplastic lymphadenopathy, recurrent fever, diarrhea, and weight loss, and they have been called lymphadenopathy syndrome (LAS) or AIDS-related complex (ARC), according to their gravity. They appear to be either prodromata or milder forms of AIDS. Although clinical presentations vary, the overall pattern of biological abnormalities found in all these syndromes is similar, albeit with different intensities (19, 20).

Major Immunologic Abnormalities

A large number of immunologic abnormalities have been described in these conditions (21, 22), but the major characteristic of AIDS is a persistent, profound, quantitative, and functional defect of the helper-inducer T-lymphocyte subset that is defined by the expression of the CD4 antigen (also termed T4) at the cell membrane (23). At least some of these defects may be related both to the decrease in the number of T-cell precursors present in the bone marrow or blood (24) and to abnormalities of their differentiation capacities (25). Altogether, deficient CD4 + lymphocyte function appears central to most of the functional defects that affect the other cells involved in the immune response (22).

A relatively constant feature of AIDS is the host's decreased capability to secrete lymphokines (22), especially Interleukin-2 (IL-2) (26) upon T-cell stimulation. Such inability may be one of the mechanisms of immune deficiency in AIDS patients. Nevertheless, although the addition of exogenous IL-2 has been shown to increase some immune function in vitro, it has as yet usually been unable to restore these responses to normal levels (26, 27). This argues against the existence of a pure selective defect in IL-2 production, all the more so since clinical trials with this molecule have thus far proven to be unsatisfactory. Moreover, a reduced capability of IL-2 receptor (T-activated antigen-Tac) expression exists among activated T lymphocytes (26, 28). Therefore, one can consider that both low IL-2

production and reduced numbers of Tac + responding cells contribute to immune deficiency in this disease. These mechanisms are compatible with the retroviral etiology of AIDS and LAS in a manner similar to that described for animal retroviruses, which depress T-cell function by reducing both secretion of and response to IL-2 (29-31).

THE VIRUS

Soon after the disease was identified, epidemiological data strongly suggested that AIDS was caused by an infectious agent. Transmission of the disease by filtered blood products, as in hemophiliacs, for example, indicated that this agent was most likely a virus. Retroviruses were good candidates since some animal leukemogenic viruses are known to cause immune deficiency (30). The hypothesis that human T-cell leukemia viruses (HTLV-I and -II), just discovered, were involved seemed at first attractive (32, 33). However, HTLV-I was not frequently isolated from AIDS patients (34); antibodies to HTLV proteins were rarely detected in European patients (35–37); and AIDS was nonexistent in Japan although HTLV-associated adult T-cell leukemia is a recognized disease in that country.

All these negative data suggested that a new retrovirus was the cause of AIDS.

Isolation of LAV

The virus was first isolated at the beginning of 1983 from lymph node lymphocytes of a homosexual man with LAS, which were cultured under optimal conditions for the growth of T lymphocytes (5). It is why this virus was named lymphadenopathy-associated virus (LAV). Thereafter, it was obtained from patients presenting with the various clinical forms of AIDS (opportunistic infections, Kaposi's sarcoma, lymphoma), LAS, or ARC, who belonged to the major risk groups (homosexuals, hemophiliacs, drug users, Haitians, Africans, etc) (6, 38).

More recently, retroviruses with similar morphological and antigenic properties have been isolated in several other laboratories (39–41) from individuals of the same groups. Various names, HTLV-III (human T lymphotropic virus-III) (39) or ARV (AIDS-related virus) (41), have been given to some of these isolates, but clearly they are antigenically and molecularly related to LAV (42, 43). Thus, they appear to be variants of the same virus.

Characteristics of the Virus

LAV has the general properties of a retrovirus: (a) morphogenesis by budding at the cell surface (Figure 1), (b) envelope made of a major
100 GLUCKMAN, KLATZMANN & MONTAGNIER

glycoprotein, (c) density in sucrose gradient of 1.16 to 1.17, (d) high molecular weight RNA (70S), and (e) presence of a reverse transcriptase (RT) that has chromatographic properties similar to those of other retroviruses (6).

MORPHOLOGY Mature virions, 110–130 nm in diameter, have a characteristic morphology with a small dense eccentric round or bar-shaped core, depending on the section incidence (Figure 1).

Viral buds at the cell surface show a dense crescent, presumably the viral ribonucleoprotein, separated from the surface by a characteristic structured material. This organization persists in free particles, before the core's condensation. Spikes of the glycoprotein appear to be higher at the cell surface and in immature virions than in mature particles (Figure 1). Reduction of the envelope carbohydrate content might explain these differences (44).

PROTEINS Four antigenic major proteins can be detected. Three of these proteins are associated with the core: (a) the p13, whose basicity suggests that it is tightly bound to viral RNA; (b) the p18; and (c) the p25. They are synthesized as a unique precursor of 55 kilodaltons (kd), which is probably cleaved by the action of a virus-coded protease (45).

The fourth protein is the envelope protein, a large glycoprotein (gp) of 110 kd. Using immunoblotting techniques, it has been shown that antibodies against the gp also recognize some peptides of lower molecular weight (70, 41, and 34 kd) that are likely to be its cleavage products (44).

VIRAL GENOME The complete LAV genome has been cloned (46–48) and sequenced (43, 45, 48, 50). It is 9193 base pairs long, larger than that of most other retroviruses, except for lentiviruses.

The proviral genome structure is original (Figure 2). Besides the three classical retroviral genes (*gag*, *pol*, and *env*) and the regulatory sequences (long terminal repeats = LTR), there exist two open reading frames (*orf*) named q and f, lying respectively between *pol* and *env*, and between *env* and the LTR3'. These *orf* could code for two proteins of 22–23 kd, not yet identified.

LAV proviral DNA hybridizes under high stringency conditions with that of HTLV-III and ARV, but not with that of HTLV-I or -II, even under low stringency (46). Sequence data confirm the absence of relevant homology between LAV and HTLV-I and -II DNAs, an absence already suggested by the different morphology and the lack of cross-reactivity between viral antigens.

Thus, LAV seems to be the prototype of a second group of human retroviruses that diverged long ago from the others (51). By its morphology,



Figure 1 Electron micrograph of a section of CEM cell infected with LAVI. Note the budding particles. Insert: a typical mature virion.

Annual Reviews



Figure 2 Diagram of the provirus structure of LAV1 (after Wain-Hobson et al (45). q and f are two extra open reading frames.

the size of its glycoprotein and of its genome, and the antigenic crossreactivity of its major core protein (p25) to that of equine-infectious-anemia virus (EIAV) (52), it appears to be close to the subfamily of lentiviruses whose prototype is the sheep's visna virus. The genetic variation of the envelope gp of lentiviruses is well known, and it may even impair humoral responses against these viruses (53, 54). Actually, sequence comparison of different isolates indicates that the env gene of ARV differs by about 20% in the 3' region from that of the LAV or HTLV-III strains, while their overall sequence difference is approximately 5% (43). Sequence comparison with more isolates is needed to evaluate the degree of variation in LAV and to determine whether there exists a small number of definite subtypes or a continuous variation within isolates even in a given infected individual. However, antigenic variations between isolates do not seem sufficient to impair detection of antibodies to viral proteins in all groups of patients. Especially, antibodies against the gp can be detected in all adult AIDS patients when the prototype strain, LAV1, is used as antigen (44).

IN VITRO BIOLOGICAL PROPERTIES OF LAV

Conditions for Optimal Virus Production

Lymphocyte activation appears necessary for virus expression and replication and, as for many other retroviruses, LAV seems to require active mitotic cells to replicate. Usually this is obtained by using phytohemagglutinin (PHA) followed by culture with a conditioned medium containing IL-2. Other T-cell mitogens such as Concanavalin A (Con A) or T- and Bcell mitogens (pokeweed mitogen, wheat germ agglutinin) (55) can replace PHA. In this respect, a toxin isolated from *Streptococcus pyogenes* group A, a preferential CD4 + mitogen (A. M. Korinec et al, submitted), has been particularly efficient for virus propagation in lymphocytes from adult normal blood donors.

In addition, stimulation by allogeneic normal lymphocytes, by allogeneic or autologous Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-transformed B-lymphoblastoid cell lines, or even by soluble bacterial (PPD) or fungal (candidin) extracts can also be used instead of lectins for virus production.

Selective Tropism of LAV for Helper-Inducer T Lymphocytes

Some of the earliest evidence that LAV might be the cause of AIDS stemmed from the demonstration of its highly selective tropism for the very same lymphocytes that are affected in AIDS, namely the CD4+ helper-inducer T lymphocytes. This has been demonstrated in two ways (31, 56): (a) When T lymphocytes from an asymptomatic virus carrier (7) were separated into CD4+ and CD8+ cells by cellular affinity chromatography with the relevant monoclonal antibody, only CD4+, not CD8+, were able to express the virus upon activation (Figure 3). (b) In parallel experiments, only CD4+ lymphocytes from normal individuals could be productively infected in vitro with LAV after PHA activation and culture.

However, even at the peak of virus production, few CD4 + cells (<10%) express virus antigen as determined by indirect immunofluorescence staining on fixed cells with LAV-specific patients' sera or monoclonal antibodies. This finding suggests either (a) that most of the cells are infected but only a few are virus producers at a given time, or (b) that only a fraction of CD4 + cells is susceptible to LAV infection, which indicates a functional



Figure 3 Virus production and phenotype of cultured lymphocyte subsets. $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ fractions were purified by cellular affinity chromatography (56). Reverse transcriptase activity was determined every 3 to 4 days. Cell suspension phenotypes were determined on days 0, 10, 14, and 18. (Reprinted by permission from D. Klatzmann et al. *Science* 225:59–63. Copyright © 1984 by the AAAS.)

106 GLUCKMAN, KLATZMANN & MONTAGNIER

		% Lymphocytes expressing:				DTC	
Lymphocytes	CD3	CD4	CD8	DR	IL-2R ^b	$(\text{cpm}^{d} \times 10^{-3})$	
LAV (-)	96	46	54	59	27	0.4	
LAV (+)	75	24	50	25	10	30.6	

Table 1 Modification of activated lymphocyte markers at the time of virus replication in LAV-infected cultures^a

^a Lymphocytes were stimulated with PHA. After 3 days, they were infected by LAV and then maintained in culture using conditioning medium containing IL-2. The experiment described here was conducted 9 days after LAV infection. LAV(-) cells were cultured under the same conditions without infection.

^b IL-2 receptor as determined by the Tac antigen.

° Reverse-transcriptase.

^dCounts per minute.

cation associated with reduced IL-2 receptor expression can be noted from the time of the peak of virus production in LAV-infected lymphocyte cultures maintained in IL-2-conditioned medium (Table 1).

Continuous Cell Lines

Some transformed lines of the T-cell lineage are permissive to the virus. They generally express the CD4 marker at their membrane (60). In this respect, clones of the CEM line, derived from a lymphoblastic leukemia of a four-year-old child, have been particularly suitable for high-titer LAV production, since most of the cells replicate the virus. Inhibition of cell multiplication, lysis of infected cells, and occurrence of giant cells can, however, also be noted in these lines.

EBV-TRANSFORMED LYMPHOBLASTOID CELL LINES Some lymphoblastoid cell lines, obtained by EBV transformation of B lymphocytes, can also support LAV replication (63). Only some cell lines are susceptible to the virus, and it is possible that ability to be infected by LAV depends on the transient expression of the CD4 molecule in some of the cells (60). The possibility that an EBV-negative cell line (BJAB) can be infected by LAV indicates that EBV by itself is not necessary for viral infection, though yield of the virus is greatly enhanced upon transformation of this line by EBV; this suggests some kind of positive interaction between the DNA virus and the retrovirus.

The possibility that EBV-transformed B cells may serve as reservoir for LAV in AIDS patients, in whom EBV reactivation is often seen, cannot be excluded. It should be stressed, however, that only a few LAV or HTLV-III strains have so far demonstrated such a tropism, perhaps because they went through adaptation during a long in vitro propagation. Nevertheless, the

biochemical and antigenic properties of the "B" LAV strain remain unchanged, as well as its selective tropism for the CD4 + subset of normal T lymphocytes (63).

CURRENTLY AVAILABLE MARKERS OF LAV INFECTION

Up to now, the most commonly available marker of LAV infection in individuals who have encountered this virus is the detection of specific antibodies directed against the major viral proteins.

Antibody Assays

Various techniques, which do not always give the same results, are available:

- 1. Immunofluorescence on LAV-infected fixed cells should be interpreted with caution since LAV-infected individuals often display antibodies that can react against normal lymphocyte antigens (64). Hence, proper controls have to be included in each preparation.
- 2. The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) appears to be sensitive and specific. To avoid the pitfall of nonspecific IgG binding by lymphocyte antibodies, our group developed an ELISA with a control antigen made of a lysate from uninfected lymphocytes (65).
- 3. The radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) (44) uses ³⁵S-cystein metabolically labeled virus, electrophoresed in a polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE) after immune complex formation with antibodies of positive sera.
- 4. Immunoblotting, or Western blot, is a sensitive technique that does not necessarily detect the same types of antibodies as RIPA (44). This is especially true for high molecular weight molecules, such as gp 110, which are less well transferred than smaller proteins.

Only RIPA and Western blot allow precise determination of antibody specificities to each of the core proteins, or to envelope proteins such as gp110. Nevertheless, sera that are positive with one technique are usually also positive with the others, though immunofluorescence or ELISA can sometimes give false positive results in healthy individuals.

Sero-Epidemiological Data

PATIENTS WITH AIDS AND RELATED SYNDROMES The strongest antibody responses are generally noted among patients with LAS. Of these, 90% are positive in the ELISA, most with antibodies against the viral core proteins, while some present only with anti-gp110 antibodies (44, 65).

108 GLUCKMAN, KLATZMANN & MONTAGNIER

There is a frequent decrease of the antibody response to LAV in AIDS patients during the course of the disease, and those directed to core proteins may even disappear while those against the gp110 remain detectable till the end (7, 44).

HEALTHY INDIVIDUALS BELONGING TO HIGH RISK GROUPS A high incidence of LAV seropositivity (18% in 1983, 35% in 1984) has been noted in homosexuals consulting a sexually transmitted disease (STD) clinic in Paris (65; and J. C. Gluckman, L. D. Lachiver et al, unpublished observation). Similar or even higher percentages—greater than 60%—have been found among homosexuals from London, New York, and San Francisco (68, 69). Similar figures can be observed in intravenous drug abusers (68).

Hemophiliacs are also largely seropositive: In a recent survey, 59% of French hemophiliacs heavily treated with factor VIII or IX were positive, compared to 10% of another group less heavily treated (70). Hence, viral transmission appears to occur through antihemophilic preparations containing LAV-infected plasma.

Other populations potentially at risk, such as multitransfused individuals, have not yet been systematically investigated. However, the systematic detection of LAV-seropositive blood donors will almost eliminate any risk in such patients.

GENERAL POPULATION It is quite possible that, besides known "risk groups," there exist seropositive individuals in the general population. Studies (65) that have now extended to thousands of blood donors in France indicate a 0.1-0.3% prevalence of LAV seropositivity in the French population. Similar results have been obtained in other Western countries and in the USA (71, 72).

The situation appears different in central Africa. As early as 1980, 5% of the sera of Zairan young mothers was positive (66), and similar data have been found in neighboring countries (73). This higher prevalence of LAV infection in Equatorial Africa could be due to an earlier dissemination of the virus.

Significance of LAV Seropositivity

LAV seropositivity is a marker of viral infection but this does not predict subsequent disease development. However, although the virus can frequently be isolated from the cultured lymphocytes of seropositive (but not from seronegative) individuals, it is not yet known whether LAV seropositivity is an indicator of past, latent, or productive infection. One cannot therefore clearly specify those individuals who are able actually to transmit the virus by intimate contact or blood donation.

Our current hypothesis is that antibodies against core proteins reflect recent expression of the whole virus followed by lysis of virions or infected cells, whereas antibodies against the gp110 are determined by a constant expression of the latter at the infected lymphocyte surface even in the absence of whole virus expression. Only new techniques, that allow direct and easy detection of LAV itself or its constituents in biological fluids and lymphocytes will allow a more complete understanding of the natural history of LAV infection. It will perhaps appear then that, in some instances, one can be a virus carrier without having developed antibodies to LAV (74).

A PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL MODEL OF AIDS

The etiological role of LAV in AIDS and related syndromes is supported by many observations: (a) Up to now, isolates have been almost exclusively obtained from AIDS, LAS, and ARC patients, their sexual contacts, or individuals at risk. (b) Similarly, serological data indicate the prevalence of LAV infection in AIDS and related syndrome patients as in healthy individuals at risk for these diseases. (c) Short of the so-called "Koch postulate," the best evidence of acusal relationship between LAV and AIDS comes from documented cases of accidental transmission of the virus and the disease by blood transfusions (40, 75–77). (d) Finally, LAV's biological properties, especially its CD4 + lymphocyte tropism and its cytopathic effect, are exactly those that would be expected from the AIDS etiologic agent.

It is nevertheless obvious that LAV infection is most often asymptomatic and that it can remain latent, at least for years, in some individuals. The cofactors that contribute to the subsequent development of AIDS are presently unknown, but it is now possible to delineate some likely mechanisms of the disease pathogeny.

Individual Susceptibility to Virus Infection

The hypothesis that a particular immunologic "terrain" might influence the host's response to LAV and predispose to the development of disease stems from the observation that immune abnormalities can be noted, even in the absence of LAV infection markers, in individuals from most, if not all, groups at risk for AIDS.

For example, we recently conducted a study of 31 high risk male homosexuals attending a STD clinic who were of age and life style comparable to the AIDS patients. Results were compared to those of a control group of 35 heterosexual men attending the same clinic, who were in the same age range and presented with a similar pattern of STD. Antibodies to LAV were detected in 11 (35%) of the homosexuals and in none of the heterosexuals. These latter had, on the average, slightly reduced delayedtype hypersensitivity (DTH) responses as compared to a normal control

110 GLUCKMAN, KLATZMANN & MONTAGNIER

population ($P < 5 \times 10^{-2}$), but their lymphocyte and T-cell counts were in the normal range. Comparatively, the homosexuals had significantly reduced DTH reactivity, decreased CD4⁺-cell numbers, and lower CD4⁺/CD8⁺ ratios (Table 2). These abnormalities could not be associated with the existence of LAV antibodies, although mean values were always lower in LAV-positive individuals. Moreover decreased DTH and low CD4⁺ counts could be observed in seronegative as well as in seropositive subjects: Response to <1 antigen occurred in 6/20 vs 5/11, and CD4⁺ counts $< 500 \ \mu l$ (23) in 7/20 vs 4/11, respectively. In addition, the LAVnegative homosexuals still significantly differed from the heterosexuals with respect to these parameters. These results indicate that LAV, which is expected to affect the cellular immune system because of its tropism, is but one of the causes of immune test abnormalities in homosexuals. Other factors are possibly also involved, particularly since similar disturbances have been described in a variety of infections (78), especially with viruses of the Herpes group (79-80), which are known to occur with high incidence in this population (81). However, we did not note any relationship with the current bacterial or viral STD presented by 26 (74%) of the heterosexuals and 12 (36%) of the homosexuals. Altogether, reduced DTH reactivity or low CD4⁺ cell counts do not appear to be relevant indicators of LAV infection, at least in symptomless homosexuals, and other immunological markers have yet to be defined.

Such a situation also appears to be true for hemophiliacs (82, 83) (probably because of repeated injections of foreign proteins) as well as for Africans or Haitians, who often present with immunodepressing diseases (tuberculosis, malaria) (66).

Genetic Background

The occurrence of autoimmune diseases, such as thrombocytopenia (84, 85), and the presence of immune complexes (22) and/or of antilymphocyte antibodies (64), is frequently observed in individuals at risk for AIDS. It is thus possible that, in full-blown AIDS, immune deficiency first induced by LAV is further exaggerated by as yet unidentified immune processes.

Such autoimmune reaction might then well depend on the host's genetic constitution and especially on his HLA background.

Antigenic Stimuli

In most cases, LAV primary infection is inapparent. Only a small number of mature CD4⁺ lymphocytes in the blood or lymph nodes, or precursors in the bone marrow (25), integrate the proviral genome. It is only when these infected lymphocytes are activated during viral, bacterial, or fungal infections, or by contact with allogeneic cells (lymphocytes for example)

Table 2 Immunological studies in homosexual men without symptoms of AIDS or lymphadenopathy syndrome and in a control group of heterosexuals

		DTH*:		Ŭ	ell counts per $\mu^{1^{\circ}}$		
	Z	Mean number of + reactions	Lymphocytes per µl	CD3+	CD4+	CD8+	CD4 ⁺ /CD8 ⁺ ratio
Populations							
Homosexuals (Hm)	31	2.00 ± 1.32	2070 ± 650	1415 ± 500	670 ± 355	810 ± 330	0.90 ± 0.50
LAV positive (+)	11	1.45 ± 1.13	1970 ± 605	1370 ± 385	575 ± 295	835 ± 440	0.75 ± 0.45
LAV negative (–)	20	2.30 ± 1.34	2125 ± 685	1440 ± 465	720 ± 380	795 ± 270	1.00 ± 0.55
Heterosexuals (Ht)	35	3.06 ± 1.08	2190 ± 525	1680 ± 470	1095 ± 315	670 ± 270	1.80 ± 0.70
Statistical significance							
Hm vs Ht		$P < 10^{3}$	۹SN	SN	$P < 10^{-6}$	SN	$P < 10^{-8}$
LAV(-) vs LAV(+)		NS	SN	NS	NS	SN	NS
LAV(-) vs Ht		$P < 5 \times 10^{-2}$	NS	SN	$P < 10^{-4}$	NS	$P < 10^{-4}$
^a Delayed-type hypersensitivity (I	DTH) was a	sessed by the MULTITE	ST® (Merieux, Franc	e), a device that al	lows investigation	of the cutaneous	tresponse to seven

different antigens. Results are expressed as mean \pm SD.

^b NS = not significant.

* Peripheral-blood T-cell populations were measured by indirect immunofluorescence with monoclonal antibodies.

Annual Reviews

112 GLUCKMAN, KLATZMANN & MONTAGNIER

such as are present in semen (86), that they would actively replicate the virus. Indeed frequent infections or contacts with allogeneic cells or proteins are common in homosexuals and hemophiliacs at least.

LAV infection would then spread to other helper-inducer T lymphocytes whose progressive destruction would lead to severe and irreversible immune deficiency. In some patients, the disease could be limited to the lymph nodes by active immune defense reactions, not yet described, which would thus induce lymph node hyperplasia.

Multiple LAV Infections

LAV diffusion might also be related to multiple exposures to this virus. Indeed, LAV infection might follow the same pattern as that reported for lentiviruses: sheep can be infected repeatedly with several visua virus strains, each persisting for a long time in the host; the equine infectious anemia virus seems to undergo genetic changes at the level of its envelope gp, thereby escaping the host's neutralizing antibody response (87, 88).

No data presently available show whether such variations are possible for LAV, but it is known from sequence comparison of several isolates that the *env* gene displays great genetic variation compared to other viral genes.

Synergistic Effects of Other Virus Infections

We have already indicated that EBV-infected B lymphocytes might serve as a reservoir for LAV when CD4⁺ cells have all but disappeared. EBV could also be at the origin of polyclonal B-cell activation, a characteristic feature of LAV-related diseases. This activation could also be the consequence of a suppressor-cell defect in relation with the deficiency of suppressor-inducers present in the CD4⁺ T-lymphocyte subset (89).

Finally, DNA viruses such as CMV or hepatitis B virus that also replicate in T cells may also have synergistic effects on LAV replication.

CONCLUSION

There presently exists a consistent pathophysiological model for AIDS development. Testing the various hypotheses mentioned here is of primary importance, since this will help to delineate future therapeutic and preventive strategies applicable to LAV-infected individuals.

This goal will ultimately come from cooperative research programs involving clinicians, immunologists, virologists, and molecular biologists.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to express their thanks to all colleagues who have contributed to the work cited in the present review and who have participated in many stimulating discussions. We thank Mrs. C. Debrun for secretarial help.

Literature Cited

- Gottlieb, M. S., Schroff, R., Schanker, H. M., Weisman, J. D., Fan, P. T., Wolf, R. A., Saxon, A. 1981. Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia and mucosal candidiasis in previously healthy homosexual men: Evidence of a new acquired cellular immunodeficiency. N. Engl. J. Med. 305: 1426-31
- Masur, H., Michelis, M. A., Greene, J. B., Onorato, I., Van de Stouwe, R. A., Holzman, R. S., Wormser, G., Brettman, L., Lange, M., Murray, H. W., Cunningham-Rundles, S. 1981. An outbreak of community-acquired Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia : Initial manifestation of cellular immune dysfunction. N. Engl. J. Med. 305:1431-38
- Stahl, R. E., Friedman-Kien, A., Dubin, R., Marmor, M., Zolla-Pasner, S. 1982. Immunologic abnormalities in homosexual men: Relationship to Kaposi's sarcoma. *Am. J. Med.* 73:171–78
- Centers for Disease Control. 1982. Persistent generalized lymphadenopathy among homosexual males. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 31:249-51
- Barré-Sinoussi, F., Chermann, J. C., Rey, F., Nuygeyre, M. T., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Dauguet, C., Axler-Blin, C., Vezinet-Brun, F., Rouzioux, C., Rozenbaum, W., Montagnier, L. 1983. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science 220:868-70
- Montagnier, L., Chermann, J. C., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Nugeyre, M. R., Rey, F., Dauguet, C., Axler-Blin, C., Vezinet-Brun, F., Rouzioux, C., Saimot, A. G., Rozenbaum, W., Gluckman, J. C., Klatzmann, D., Vilmer, E., Griscelli, C., Gazengel, C., Brunet, J. B. 1984. A new human Tlymphotropic retrovirus: Characterization and possible role in lymphadenopathy and acquired immune deficiency syndromes. In *Human T-cell Leukemia/ lymphoma Viruses*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory 363-79. Cold Spring Harbor, Me.
- Vilmer, E., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Rouzioux, C., Gazengel, C., Vezinet-Brun, F., Dauguet, C., Fischer, A., Manigne, P., Chermann, J. C., Griscelli, C., Montagnier, L. 1984. Isolation of new lymphotropic retrovirus from two siblings with

haemophilia B, one with AIDS. Lancet 1:753-57

- McCormick, J. B., Getchell, J., Mitchell, S., Hicks, D. R. 1984. Ribavirin suppresses replication of lymphadenopathy associated virus in cultures of human adult T-lymphocytes. *Lancet* 2: 1367–69
- Mitsuya, H., Popovic, M., Yarchoan, R., Matsushita, S., Gallo, R. C., Broder, S. 1984. Suramin protection of T-cells in vitro against infectivity and cytopathic effect of HTLV-III. Science 226: 172–74
- Rozenbaum, W., Dormont, D., Spire, B., Vilmer, E., Gentilini, M., Griscelli, C., Montagnier, L., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Chermann, J. C. 1985. Antimoniotungstate (HPA 23) treatment of three patients with AIDS and one with prodrome. Lancet 1:450-51
- Centers for Disease Control. 1984. Update: Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)—United States. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 32:688–91
- Ziegler, J. L., Beckstead, J. A., Volberding, P. A., Abrams, D. I., Levine, A. M., Lukes, R. J., Gill, P. S., Burkes, R. L., Meyer, P. R., Metroka, C. E., Mouradian, J., Moore, A., Riggs, S. A., Butler, J. J., Cabanillas, F. C., Hersh, E., Newell, G. R., Laubenstain, L. J., Knowles, D., Odajnyk, C., Raphaël, B., Koziner, B., Uramcher, C., Clarkson, B. D. 1984. Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in 90 homosexual men. Relation to generalized lymphadenopathy and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 311:565-70
- Centers for Disease Control. 1982. Update on acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) among patients with hemophilia A. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 31:644–46
- Jonckheer, T., Dab, I., van de Perre, P., Lepage, P., Dasnoy, J., Taelman, J. 1985. Cluster of HTLV-III/LAV infection in an African family. *Lancet* 1:400-1
- 15. Malebranche, R., Guerin, J. M., Laroche, A. C., Elie, R., Spira, T., Drotman, P., Arnoux, E., Pierre, G. D., Péan-Guichard, C., Morisset, P. H., Mandeville, R., Seemayer, T., Dupuy, J. M. 1983. Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome with severe gastrointestinal manifestations in Haîti. Lancet 2:873-78
- Viera, J., Frank, E., Spira, T. J., Landesman, S. H. 1983. Acquired immune defi-

114 GLUCKMAN, KLATZMANN & MONTAGNIER

ciency in Haitians: Opportunistic infections in previously healthy Haitian immigrants. N. Engl. J. Med. 308:125-29

- Cooper, D. A., Gold, J., MacLean, P., Donovan, B., Finlayson, R., Barnes, T. G., Michelmore, H. M., Brooke, P., Penuy, R. 1985. Acute AIDS retrovirus infection. Definition of a clinical illness associated with seroconversion. *Lancet* 1:537-40
- Curran, J. W. 1983. AIDS—two years later. N. Engl. J. Med. 309:609-11
- Ammann, A. J., Abrams, D., Conant, M., Chudwin, D., Cowan, M., Volberding, P., Lewis, B., Casavant, C. '1983. Acquired immune dysfunction in homosexual men: Immunologic profiles. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 27:315-25
- Metroka, C. E., Cunningham-Rundles, S., Pollack, M. S., Sonnabend, J. A., Davis, J. M., Gordon, B., Fernandez, R. D., Mouradian, J. 1983. Generalized lymphadenopathy in homosexual men. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 99: 585-91
- Pinching, A. J. 1984. The acquired immune deficiency syndrome. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 56:1-9
- Seligmann, M., Chess, L., Fahey, J. L., Fauci, A. S., Lachmann, P. J., L'Age-Stehr, J., Ngu, J., Pinching, A. J., Rosen, F. S., Spira, T. J., Wybran, J. 1984. AIDS—An immunologic reevaluation. N. Engl. J. Med. 311:1286–92
- Cavaillé-Coll, M., Messiah, A., Klatzmann, D., Rozenbaum, W., Lachiver, D., Kernbaum, S., Brisson, B., Chapuis, F., Blanc, C., Debré, P., Gluckman, J. C. 1984. Critical analysis of T-cell subset and function evaluation in patients with persistent generalized lymphadenopathy in groups at risk for AIDS. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 57:511-19
- Triebel, F., Gluckman, J. C., Chapuis, F., Charron, D., Debré, P. 1985. T-lymphocyte progenitors in man: Phenotypic characterization of blood and bone marrow T colony forming cells. *Immunology* 54: 241–48
- Lunardi-Iskandar, Y., Georgoulias, V., Allouche, M., Rozenbaum, W., Klatzmann, D., Cavaillé-Coll, M., Meyer, P., Gluckman, J. C., Gentilini, M., Jasmin, C. 1985. Abnormal in vitro proliferation and differentiation of T colony forming cells in AIDS patients and clinically normal male homosexuals. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 60:285–93
- 26. Gluckman, J. C., Klatzmann, D., Cavaillé-Coll, M., Brisson, E., Messiah, A., Lachiver, D., Rozenbaum, W. 1985. Is there correlation of T-cell proliferative functions and surface marker phenotypes in patients with acquired immuno-

deficiency syndrome or lymphadenopathy syndrome? Clin. Exp. Immunol. 60:8-16

- 27. Lifson, J. D., Benike, C. J., Mark, D. F., Koths, K., Engleman, E. G. 1984. Human recombinant Interleukin-2 partly reconstitutes deficient in vitro immune responses of lymphocytes from patients with AIDS. *Lancet* 1:698–700
- Prince, H. E., Kermani-Arab, V., Fahey, J. L. 1984. Depressed interleukin 2 receptor expression in acquired immune deficiency and lymphadenopathy syndromes. J. Immunol. 133:1313–17
- Copelan, E. A., Rinehart, J. J., Lewis, M., Mathes, L., Olsen, R., Sagone, A. 1983. The mechanism of retrovirus suppression of human T cell proliferation in vitro. J. Immunol. 131:2017-20
- Snyderman, R., Cianciolo, G. J. 1984. Immunosuppressive activity of the retroviral envelope protein PI5E and its possible relationship to neoplasia. *Immunology Today* 5: 240–44
- 31. Klatzmann, D., Cavaillé-Coll, M., Brunet, J. B., Rozenbaum, W., Kernbaum, S., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Chermann, J. C., Montagnier, L., Gluckman, J. C. 1984. Immune status of AIDS patients in France: Relationship with lymphadenopathy associated virus tropism. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 437:228-37
- 32. Poiesz, B. J., Ruscetti, F. W., Gazdar, A. F., Bunn, P. A., Minna, J. D., Gallo, R. C. 1980. Detection and isolation of type C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77:7415-20
- 33. Kalyanaraman, V. S., Sarngadharan, M. G., Robert-Guroff, M., Miyoshi, M., Blayney, D., Golde, D., Gallo, R. C. 1982. A new subtype of human T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-II) associated with a T-cell variant of hairy cell leukemia. *Science* 218:571-74
- 34. Gallo, R., Sarin, P. S., Gelmann, E. P., Robert-Guroff, M., Richardson, E., Kalyanaraman, V. S., Mann, D., Sidhu, G., Stahl, R. E., Zolla-Pazner, S., Leibowitch, J., Popovic, M. 1983. Isolation of human T-cell leukemia virus in acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). *Science* 220:865-67
- 35. Evatt, B. L., Stein, S. F., Francis, D. P., Lawrence, D. N., McLane, M. F., McDougal, J. S., Lee, T. H. H., Spira, T. J., Cabradilla, C., Mullens, J. I., Essex, M. 1983. Antibodies to human T cell leukaemia virus-associated membrane antigens in haemophiliacs : Evidence for infection before 1980. Lancet 2: 698-700
- 36. Robert-Guroff, M., Blayney, D. W.,

Safai, B., Lange, M., Gelmann, E. P., Gutterman, J. W., Mansell, P. W., Goedert, J. L., Groopman, J. E., Steigbigel, H. J., Sidhu, G. S., Johnson, J. M., Friedman-Kien, A. E., Dowing, R., Bayley, A. C., Gallo, R. C. 1984. HTLV-I specific antibody in AIDS patients and others at risk. *Lancet* 2:128-31

- Tedder, R. S., Shanson, D. C., Jeffries, D. J., Cheingsong-Popov, R., Clapham, P., Dalgleish, A., Nagy, K., Weiss, R. A. 1984. Low prevalence in the UK of HTLV-I and HTLV-II infection in subjects with AIDS, with extended lymphadenopathy, and at risk of AIDS. *Lancet* 2:125-27
- Montagnier, L., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Klatzmann, D., Gluckman, J. C., Rouzioux, C., Brun-Vezinet, F., Chermann, J. C. 1985. A novel human lymphotropic retrovirus (LAV): new data on its biology and role in AIDS. In RNA Tumor Viruses in Human Cancer. In press
- 39. Gallo, R. C., Salahuddin, S. Z., Popovic, M., Shearer, G. M., Kaplan, M., Haynes, R., Palker, T. J., Redfield, R., Oleske, J., Safai, B., White, G., Foster, P., Markham, P. D. 1984. Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS. Science 224: 500-3
- 40. Feorino, P. M., Kalyanaraman, V. S., Haverkos, H. W., Cabradilla, C. D., Warfield, D. T., Jaffe, H. W., Harrison, A. K., Gottlieb, M. S., Goldfinger, D., Chermann, J. C., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Montagnier, L. 1984. Lymphadenopathy associated virus infection of a blood donor-recipient pair with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Science* 225:69-72
- Levy, J. A., Hoffman, A. D., Kramer, S. M., Landis, J. A., Shimabikuro, J. M., Oshiro, L. S. 1984. Isolation of lymphocytopathic retroviruses from San Francisco patients with AIDS. Science 225: 840-42
- Ratner, L., Gallo, R. C., Wong-Staal, F. 1985. HTLV-III, LAV, ARV are variants of same AIDS virus. *Nature* 313:636–37
- Rabson, A. B., Martin, M. A. 1985. Molecular organization of the AIDS retrovirus. Cell 40:477-80
- 44. Montagnier, L., Krust, B., Clavel, F., Chamaret, F., Rey, F., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Chermann, J. C. 1985. Identification and antigenicity of the major envelope glycoprotein of lymphadenopathy associated virus (LAV). Virology. In press
- Wain-Hobson, S., Sonigo, P., Danos, O., Cole, S., Alizon, M. 1985. Nucleotide sequence of the AIDS virus, LAV. Cell

LAV INFECTION AND AIDS 115

40:9-17

- 46. Alizon, M., Sonigo, P., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Chermann, J. C., Tiollais, P., Montagnier, L., Wain-Hobson, S. 1984. Molecular cloning of Lymphadenopathy Associated Virus (LAV). Nature 312: 757-60
- Hahn, B. H., Shaw, G. M., Arya, S. K., Popovic, M., Gallo, R. C., Wong-Staal, F. 1984. Molecular cloning and characterization of the HTLV-III virus associated with AIDS. *Nature* 312:166-69
- Luciw, P. A., Potter, S. J., Steimer, K., Dina, D., Levy, J. A. 1984. Molecular cloning of AIDS-associated retrovirus. *Nature* 312:760-63
- 49. Muesing, M. A., Smith, D. H., Cabradilla, C. D., Benton, C. V., Lasky, L. A., Capon, D. J. 1985. Nucleic acid structure and expression of the human AIDS/lymphadenopathy retrovirus. Nature 313:450-58
- 50. Ratner, L., Haseltine, W., Patarca, R., Livak, K. J., Starcich, B., Josephs, S. F., Doran, E. R., Rafalski, J. A., Whitehorn, E. A., Baumeister, K., Ivanoff, L., Petteway, S. R. Jr., Pearson, M. L., Lautenberger, J. A., Papas, T. S., Ghrayeb, J., Chang, N. R., Gallo, R. C., Wong-Staal, F. 1985. Complete nucleotide sequence of the AIDS virus, HTLV-III. Nature 313:277-84
- Wain-Hobson, S., Alizon, M., Montagnier, L. 1985. Relationship of AIDS to other retroviruses. *Nature* 313:743
- 52. Montagnier, L., Dauguet, C., Axler, C., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Nugeyre, M. T., Rey, F., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Chermann, J. C. 1984. A new type of retrovirus isolated from patients presenting with lymphadenopathy and acquired immune deficiency syndrome: Structural and antigenic relatedness with equine infectious anemia virus. Ann. Virol. (Inst. Pasteur) 135E: 119-34
- Scott, J. V., Stowring, L., Haase, A. T., Narayan, O., Vigne, R. 1979. Antigenic variation in visna virus. *Cell* 18: 321-27
- Clements, J. E., Narayan, O., Griffin, D. E., Johnson, R. T. 1980. Genomic changes associated with antigenic variation of visna virus during persistent infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77: 4454-58
- Ulmer, A. J., Scholz, W., Flad, H. D. 1982. Stimulation of colony formation and growth factor production of human T lymphocytes by wheat germ lectin. *Immunology* 47:551-56
- Klatzmann, D., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Nugeyre, M. T., Dauguet, C., Vilmer, E., Griscelli, C., Brun-Vezinet, F., Rouzioux, C., Gluckman, J. C., Chermann, J. C.,

116 GLUCKMAN, KLATZMANN & MONTAGNIER

Montagnier, L. 1984. Selective tropism of lymphadenopathy associated virus (LAV) for helper-inducer T lymphocytes. *Science* 225:59–63

- Tenner-Räcz, K., Räcz, P., Dietrich, M., Kern, P. 1985. Altered follicular dendritic cells and virus-like particles in AIDS and AIDS-related lymphadenopathy. *Lancet* 1:105-6
- Gyorkey, F., Melnick, J. L., Sinkovics, J. G., Gyorkey, P. 1985. Retrovirus resembling HTLV in macrophages of patients with AIDS. *Lancet* 1:106
- 59. Klatzmann, D., Champagne, E., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Cuetard, D., Hercend, T., Gluckman, J. C., Montagnier, L. 1984. T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. *Nature* 312:767–68
- 60. Dalgleish, A. G., Beverley, P. C. L., Clapham, P. R., Crawford, D. H., Greaves, M. F., Weiss, R. A. 1984. The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. *Nature* 312:763–67
- Rogozinski, L., Bass, A., Glickman, E., Talle, A., Goldstein, G., Wang, J., Chess, L., Thomas, Y. 1984. The T4 surface antigen is involved in the induction of helper function. J. Immunol. 132:735-40
- 62. Wong-Staal, F., Gallo, R. C. 1985. The family of human T-lymphotropic leukemia viruses: HTLV-I as the cause of adult T cell leukemia and HTLV-III as the cause of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Blood 65:253-63
- 63. Montagnier, L., Gruest, J., Chamaret, S., Dauguet, C., Axler, C., Guetard, D., Nugeyre, M. T., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Chermann, J. C., Brunet, J. B., Klatzmann, D., Gluckman, J. C. 1984. Adaptation of the lymphadenopathy associated retrovirus (LAV) to replication in EBV-transformed B lymphoblastoid cell lines and a Burkitt lymphoma line. Science 225:63– 66
- 64. Kiprov, D. D., Anderson, R. E., Morand, P. R., Simpson, D. M., Chermann, J. C., Levy, J. A., Moss, A. R. 1985. Antilymphocyte antibodies and seropositivity for retroviruses in groups at high risk for AIDS. N. Engl. J. Med. 312:1517
- 65. Brun-Vezinet, F., Rouzioux, C., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Klatzmann, D., Saimot, A. G., Rozenbaum, W., Gluckman, J. C., Montagnier, L., Chermann, J. C. 1984. Detection of IgG antibodies to lymphadenopathy associated virus (LAV) by ELISA, in patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome or lymphadenopathy syndrome. Lancet 1: 1253-56
- 66. Brun-Vezinet, F., Rouzioux, C., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Barré-Sinoussi, F.,

Geroldi, D., Chermann, J. C., Piot, P., Taelman, H., Bridts, C., Stevens, W., McCormick, J. B., Kapita, B., Desmyter, I., Feinsod, F. M., Quinn, T. C., Montagnier, L. 1984. Prevalence of antibodies to lymphadenopathy associated retrovirus in African patients with acquired immune deficiency syndrome. *Science* 225:453-56

- 67. Carne, C. A., Weller, I. V. D., Sutherland, S., Cheigsong-Popov, R., Ferns, R. B., Williams, P., Mindel, A., Tedder, R., Adler, M. W. 1985. Rising prevalence of human T-lymphotropic virus type III (HTLV-III) infection in homosexual men in London. Lancet 1:1261-62
- 68. Centers for Disease Control. 1984. Antibodies to a retrovirus etiologically associated with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in populations with increased incidences of the syndrome. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 33: 377–79
- 69. Goedert, J. J., Sarngadharan, M. G., Biggar, R. J., Weiss, S. H., Winn, D. M., Grossman, R. J., Greene, M. H., Bodner, A. J., Mann, D. L., Strong, D. M. 1984. Determinants of retrovirus (HTLV-III) antibody and immunodeficiency conditions in homosexual men. Lancet 2:711-16
- Rouzioux, C., Brun-Vezinet, F., Couroucé, A. M., Gazengel, C., Vergoz, D., Desmyter, J., Vermylen, C., Klatzmann, D., Geroldi, D., Barreau, C., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Chermann, J. C., Christol, D., Montagnier, L. 1985. IgG antibodies to LAV in differently treated French and Belgian hemophiliacs. Ann. Intern. Med. 102:476-79
- 71. Carlson, J., Hinrichs, S., Bryant, M., Levy, M., Yamamoto, J., Yee, J., Gardner, M., Higgins, J., Peterson, N., Holland, P. 1985. HTLV-III antibody screening of blood bank donors. *Lancet* 1:523-24
- Schneider, J., Bayer, H., Bienzle, Y., Wernet, P., Hunsmann, G. 1985. Antibodies to HTLV-III in German blood donors. *Lancet* 1:275-76
- 73. van de Perre, P., Munyambuga, D., Zissis, G., Butler, J. P., Nzaramba, D., Clumeck, N. 1985. Antibody to HTLV-III in blood donors in central Africa. *Lancet* 1:336-37
- 74. Salahudin, S. Z., Groopman, J. E., Markham, P. D., Sarngadharan, M. G., Redfield, R. R., McLane, M. F. 1984. HTLV-III in symptom free seronegative persons. *Lancet* 2:1418–20
- Groopman, J. E., Salahuddin, S. Z., Sarngadharan, M. G., Mullins, J. I., Sullivan, J. L., Mulder, C., O'Hara, C. J., Cheeseman, S. H., Haverkos, H., For-

gacs, P., Riedel, N., McLane, M. F., Essex, M., Gallo, R. C. 1984. Virologic studies in a case of transfusion associated AIDS. N. Engl. J. Med. 311:1419-22

- 76. Feorino, P. M., Jaffe, H. W., Palmer, E., Peterman, T. A., Francis, D. P., Kalyana-raman, V. S., Weinstein, R. A., Stoneburner, R. L., Alexander, W. J., Raevsky, C., Getchell, J. P., Warfield, D., Haverkos, H. W., Kilbourne, B. W., Nicholson, J. K. A., Curran, J. W. 1985. Transfusionassociated acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Evidence for persistent infection in blood donors. N. Engl. J. Med. 312:1293-96
- 77. Boiteux, F., Vilmer, E., Girot, R., Muller, J. Y., Rouzioux, C., Chamaret, S., Montagnier, L. 1985. Lymphadenopathy syndrome in two thalassemic patients after LAV contamination by blood transfusion. N. Engl. J. Med. 312:648-49
- 78. Williams, R. C., Koster, F. T., Kilpatrick K. A. 1983. Alteration in lymphocyte cell
- surface markers during various human infections. Am. J. Med. 75:807-16
 79. Reinherz, E. L., O'Brien, C., Rosen-thal, P., Schlossman, S. F. 1980. The cellular basis for viral-induced immunodeficiency: Analysis by monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunol. 125: 1269-74
- 80. Carney, W. P., Iacoviello, V., Hirsch, M. S. 1983. Functional properties of T lymphocytes and their subsets in cytomegalovirus mononucleosis. J. Immunol. 130:390-93
- 81. Mintz, L., Drew, W. L., Miner, R. C., Braff, E. H. 1983. Cytomegalovirus infection in homosexual men: an epidemio-

LAV INFECTION AND AIDS 117

logical study. Ann. Intern. Med. 99: 326-31

- 82. Lederman, M. M., Ratnoff, O. D., Scillian, J. J., Jones, P. K., Schacter, B. 1983. Impaired cell-mediated immunity in patients with classic hemophilia. N. Engl. J. Med. 308:79-83
- Menitove, J. E., Aster, R. H., Casper, J. T. 1983. T-lymphocyte subpopulations in patients with classic hemophilia treated with cryoprecipitate and lyophilized concentrates. N. Engl. J. Med. 308:83-86
- 84. Morris, L., Distenfeld, A., Amorosi, E., Karpatkin, S. 1982. Autoimmune thrombocytopenic purpura in homosexual men. Ann. Intern. Med. 311:635-39
- 85. Walsh, C. M., Nardi, M. A., Karpatkin, S. 1984. On the mechanism of thrombocytopenic purpura in sexually active homosexual men. N. Engl. J. Med. 311:635-39
- 86. Olsen, G. P., Shields, J. W. 1984. Seminal lymphocytes, plasma and AIDS. Nature 309:116-17
- 87. Issel, C. J., Coggins, L. 1979. Equine infectious anemia current knowledge. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 174:727-35
- Clavel, F., Klatzmann, D., Montagnier, L. 1985. Deficient LAV neutralising capacity of sera from patients with AIDS or related syndromes. Lancet 1:879-80
- Mohagheghpour, N., Damle, N. K., Moonka, D. K., Terrel, C. P., Englemann, E. G. 1984. A human alloreactive inducer T cell clone that selectively activates antigen-specific suppressor T cells. J. Immunol. 133:133-36



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	454
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986, 4: 119–45 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION

Don W. Mason

Medical Research Council Cellular Immunology Unit, Sir William Dunn School of Pathology, University of Oxford, Oxford, OX1 3RE, United Kingdom

Peter J. Morris

Nuffield Department of Surgery, University of Oxford, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford, OX3 9DU, United Kingdom

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

This review is divided into two parts. The first of these on the mechanism of allograft rejection concerns studies made with experimental animals and the second, the observations made in clinical transplantation.

The experimental data relate mainly to the effector mechanisms of graft rejection but, because it is impossible to consider these without also considering how these effector mechanisms are called into play, a brief outline of present knowledge of the induction of the rejection process is also included.

In humans, most immunological and histological observations have been made of patients with renal allografts, which are primarily vascularized tissue allografts where the rejection reaction has been modified by immunosuppressive therapy. Despite these differences from much of the experimental animal data, the interpretation of the human data is dependent on the experimental work and seems likely to remain so for some time. The need to understand the mechanisms by which an organ allograft is rejected in humans is essential for the design of better immunosuppressive therapy.

120 MASON & MORRIS

EXPERIMENTAL

The study of the immunological responses of laboratory animals to tissue or organ grafts from genetically dissimilar donors continues to be an active field of research although it is almost 40 years since the discovery of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) (1). Allogeneic and xenogeneic grafts evoke a wide range of immunological effector mechanisms, both aggressive and, in some instances, tolerogenic; this fact together with the clinical importance of organ transplantation has ensured continued interest in this subject.

The aim of this section is to review present knowledge of how grafts are rejected in experimental animals and to indicate where this knowledge is inadequate.

Most of the data discussed are concerned with the rejection of skin or organ grafts, but some papers on the rejection of tumor grafts are also described. The rejection of bone marrow or lymphoid cell grafts is not considered.

THE CLASSICAL SCHEME

Solid tissue or organ grafts are apparently rejected by a process conveniently divided into three stages. First, antigenic material is released by the graft into the draining lymphatics (afferent stage); it then activates the immune reaction in the recipient lymph nodes (central stage). Finally, cellular and humoral effector mechanisms, generated by this reaction, leave the nodes via the efferent lymphatics, enter the blood stream, are thence delivered to the graft, and bring about its destruction (efferent stage) (2). This scheme is supported by the findings that grafts placed into sites that have no lymphatic drainage (3) or that do not receive a blood supply (4) enjoy prolonged survival, as do grafts placed in animals deficient in lymphocytes (5, 6). With the discovery of the role of the thymus in lymphocyte differentiation and the finding that congenitally athymic mice do not reject allografts or even xenografts, researchers soon recognized that the T lymphocyte played the essential role in the rejection process (5, 6). A similar conclusion was drawn with respect to tumor allografts (7).

Recent work has made significant contributions to the further understanding of all three phases of this rejection process.

THE AFFERENT ARM

The antigenic material that leaves an organ graft and stimulates the draining node has been identified almost conclusively as a bone marrow-derived dendritic cell. Earlier experiments showed that rat renal allografts

from bone marrow chimeras often survived indefinitely in normal hosts if the bone marrow-derived cells in the grafts were syngeneic with the graft recipients (8). These observations were followed by the demonstration that allogeneic rat kidneys that had resided for some time in an immunosuppressed host could often be transferred to a *normal* secondary host, syngeneic with the first, without rejection (9, 10). In addition, researchers found that thyroid allografts, depleted of bone marrow-derived passenger cells by prior in vitro culture, also enjoyed prolonged survival in unsuppressed recipients (11). These experiments have led to the idea that organ allografts are immunogenic by virtue of their content of a migrant population of "passenger leukocytes," a concept first introduced almost 30 years ago to explain tumor allograft rejection (12).

The identification of the passenger leukocyte resulted from the discovery that cells with striking dendritic morphology, recovered from mouse spleen (13) and rat afferent lymph (14), expressed large quantities of class-II MHC antigens and were potent stimulators of the mixed leukocyte reaction. When relatively small numbers of such cells, recovered from rat afferent lymph, were injected into rats receiving passenger leukocyte-depleted kidney allografts syngeneic with the dendritic cell donors, this caused rejection of the organ grafts (10), whereas injection of lymphoid cells did not. Finally, using immunofluorescence to detect class-II MHC antigenpositive cells in cryostat sections (15), researchers showed that dendritic cells were widespread in mammalian tissues (absent only from brain) and were likely therefore to play a significant role in almost all studies of organ transplantation.

The potential clinical importance of dendritic cells in stimulating the rejection of organ grafts has been stressed by the finding that pancreatic islet tissue, cultured in vitro in conditions believed to destroy passenger leukocytes, can sometimes be transplanted successfully from allogeneic and even xenogeneic (rat) donors into recipient mice without chronic immunosuppression, whereas uncultured grafts are rejected (16).

ARE DONOR-STRAIN DENDRITIC CELLS ESSENTIAL FOR ALLOGRAFT REJECTION?

There are exceptions to the rule that allograft survival in rodents is assured if dendritic cells are removed from the graft before transplantation. When rat renal allografts, depleted of dendritic cells, are transplanted into nonimmunosuppressed recipients, the subsequent fate of the grafts depends on the donor/host strain combination used. In some of these combinations, grafts survive indefinitely, while in others rejection occurs with a tempo little different from that seen when normal allografts are transplanted (9, 17). Furthermore, passenger leukocyte-depleted rat pancreatic islets are Annual Reviews

122 MASON & MORRIS

usually rejected in allogeneic recipients (18), and similar results are found in some mouse strain combinations (19). Finally allografts of neuronal tissue, which contain no demonstrable dendritic cells, may undergo rejection when placed in the third ventricle of recipient rats—in this case rejection occurs with a tissue lacking dendritic cells and a transplantation site lacking a lymphatic drainage! In this instance, however, the rejection is slow (20).

There are two possible explanations for these results. Either dendritic cells are not unique in their ability to activate host inducer/helper T cells; alternatively, graft transplantation antigens can be processed by host dendritic cells, as conventional antigens are believed to be, and presented to host T cells in this way. There is evidence for both of these possibilities, and they are not mutually exclusive. Vascular endothelium can be induced to express class-II MHC antigens in rodents (21, 22) [and is constitutively expressed on this tissue in humans (23, 24); it has also been shown capable of inducing mixed leukocyte culture (MLC) reactivity in vitro (25). Additionally, experiments designed to test the ability of recipient mice to process both major and minor transplantation antigens and to present them to the recipients' inducer/helper-T cells have produced positive results (26, 27). These findings clearly call into question the suggestion that dendritic cell depletion of organ allografts will inevitably result in prolonged graft survival, and species differences in particular may have a profound effect on the outcome (28).

CENTRAL EVENTS AND EFFECTOR MECHANISMS

The fate of dendritic cells entering a lymph node via the afferent lymphatics is not known, but bone marrow-derived cells with similar morphology that express similarly high levels of class-II MHC antigen can be demonstrated in the thymus-dependent areas of the node (29). Bearing in mind that dendritic cells stimulate vigorous mixed leukocyte culture responses, we may anticipate that if such cells enter the T-dependent areas of allogeneic hosts, prompt T-cell activation will ensue. Cellular interactions occurring in antigen-reactive lymph nodes are difficult to study in situ, but in vitro experiments have demonstrated a central role for the inducer/helper T cell (T_h) in regulating the immune response. As Figure 1 shows, T_h cells are implicated in activating a number of effector mechanisms, any one of which might, in principle, bring about destruction of allografts.

ROLE OF DELAYED-TYPE HYPERSENSITIVITY AND CYTOTOXIC T CELLS IN GRAFT REJECTION

Noting the histological similarities between the cell infiltrates in skin allografts and those in delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) reactions,



Figure 1 The Central Role of Inducer/Helper T Cells in Allograft Rejection. The diagram illustrates, in broad outline only, the role played by inducer/helper T cells in promoting the activation, proliferation, and differentiation of different effector mechanisms involved in immune reactions. Further details are contained in the references quoted. The diagram also draws attention to the ability of inducer/helper T cells to induce or enhance the expression of MHC antigens on nonlymphoid tissue such as the vascular endothelium of allografts. The letters (a)–(i) in the figure correspond to the following numbers in the references listed at the end of this article. (a)–44; (b)–71-73; (c)–74; (d)–75; (e)–76; (f)–21; (g)–21-23; (h)–77; (i)–78. Abbreviations: APC, antigen-presenting cell; NK, natural killer; T_b, inducer/helper cell; T_{cp}, cytotoxic T-cell precursor; C, complement; ADCC, antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

earlier workers suggested that allografts were rejected by a mechanism similar to that mediating DTH (30). With the discovery of cytotoxic T cells (Tc) (31) this earlier view was largely discarded (32, 33), but it has recently been revived because of observations of the capacity of different T-cell subsets to restore the ability of T cell-deprived rodents to reject skin and organ allografts. Experiments in both rats (34) and mice (35) have shown

Annual Reviews

124 MASON & MORRIS

that animals made T cell-deficient by adult thymectomy, lethal irradiation, and bone marrow reconstitution (ATXBM animals) do not reject skin allografts, but their ability to do so can be restored by inocula of syngeneic T cells of inducer/helper phenotype, i.e. Lyt 1^+2^- cells in the mouse and $W3/25^+$ OX-8⁻ cells in the rat. Cells that mediate DTH reactions are known to be of inducer/helper phenotype, and the above results have been interpreted as supporting the view that allografts are destroyed by a mechanism essentially the same as that responsible for the tissue damage that accompanies DTH reactions to tuberculin (35). Doubt must be cast on this conclusion for two reasons. First, the T-cell deficiency in ATXBM rats and mice and in congenitally athymic mice appears to be confined to the inducer/helper-T cell subset. That such animals possess the precursors of cytotoxic T cells is shown by the fact that lymphocytes from these animals will differentiate, both in vitro and in vivo, into specific cytotoxic T cells if provided with the appropriate inductive signals from inducer/helper T cells (36–39). Significantly, it has recently been shown that cytotoxic T cells can be recovered from the spleens of ATXBM mice receiving skin allografts and inocula of inducer/helper-T cells (40), and cells of cytotoxic-T-cell phenotype have been found in skin allografts of rats similarly treated (34). In an attempt to minimize any host contribution to the rejection process, researchers have subjected animals to sublethal irradiation at the time of grafting (40, 41, 42, 43). Results from these experiments are essentially the same as those using ATXBM animals in that T cells with inducer/helper phenotype, when transferred to the irradiated hosts, cause allograft rejection to occur with a similar tempo. In some of these experiments, the restorative inocula have been contaminated with cells of the classical cytotoxic phenotype since specific cytotoxic T cells, derived from the donor inocula, have been isolated from the spleens of mice subject to this protocol (40). Similarly cells with cytotoxic phenotype have been found in heart grafts of acutely irradiated rats given inducer/helper T cells (43). However, not all attempts to detect classical cytotoxic T cells in experiments of this type have proved successful (40, 42). Possible explanations for these negative results are discussed later in this review.

The second problem in ascribing graft rejection to a DTH-like mechanism arises because it has been shown that cytotoxic T cells with specificity for class-II MHC antigens arise from precursors with inducer/helper phenotype (44), and cytotoxic-T cell clones expressing this phenotype have been isolated (45). Curiously, although some show specificity for class-II MHC antigens (45), others recognize class I (46). The existence of cytotoxic-T cell precursors with inducer/helper phenotype clearly poses problems for the argument that cytotoxic T cells are not involved in the graft rejection observed in these experiments. However, attempts to recover cytotoxic T cells for class-II positive targets, from organ grafts in sublethally irradiated rats given cells of inducer/helper phenotype, have yielded negative results (47). Further discussion of these findings will be deferred until later in this review.

INDUCIBILITY OF CLASS-II MHC ANTIGENS ON ALLOGRAFTS

One potential argument against the suggestion that cytotoxic T cells specific for class-II positive targets may be important in allograft rejection is that the tissue distribution of such antigens is rather limited. Thus, for example, although rat cardiac allografts, in sublethally irradiated hosts given primed T cells of inducer/helper phenotype, undergo rejection (42), class-II MHC antigen in normal rat heart is found only on the bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (21). However, it is well established that class-II MHC antigen expression can be induced on a variety of allograft tissues including the vascular endothelium and myocytes of rat heart grafts (21, 22, 48). Induced class-II antigen expression can be important in allograft rejection. Thus, mouse skin grafts exchanged between recombinant mice differing only for MHC class-II antigens are rejected, although the only class-II positive tissue in *normal* mouse skin is comprised of the Langerhans cells, and these cells are not targets for the rejection process (49). In these skin grafts the activation of host T cells, by Langerhans cells of the graft, may result in lymphokine production and consequent induction of class II-MHC antigens on the graft vasculature. These blood vessels may then become the target of the rejection mechanism (22, 50).

EVIDENCE THAT CYTOTOXIC T CELLS CAN DESTROY ALLOGRAFTS

There are several lines of evidence that support the view that cytotoxic T cells are able to mediate allograft rejection. An early experiment of Mintz & Silvers (51) suggested that graft rejection was mediated by a process that destroyed individual allogeneic cells rather than by one that caused tissue damage nonspecifically as a bystander effect. When skin grafts from allophenic mice, produced by the fusion of blastomeres of two different H-2 strains, were transferred to recipients of one of the parental strains, melanoblasts and hair follicles that expressed the same H-2 antigens as the host survived, while those expressing the foreign H-2 antigens were destroyed. Similarly, no bystander cytotoxicity was observed when two different tumors were mixed and introduced, together with lymphoid cells preimmunized to only one of the tumors, into the peritoneal cavity of

126 MASON & MORRIS

irradiated mice. In this experiment only the tumor that was the specific target for the sensitized cells was rejected (7).

While mitigating against DTH as the effector mechanism, these experiments could not directly implicate cytotoxic T cells. However, when mouse lymphoid cells, sensitized against a tumor allograft, were separated into adherent and nonadherent fractions by adsorption onto specific fibroblast monolayers, it was found that the nonadherent fraction was less effective in retarding tumor growth in vivo and lysing tumor cells in vitro, whereas both these functions were enhanced in the adherent population (52).

More recently, a cytotoxic-T cell clone has been shown to eliminate susceptible tumor cell grafts in mice (53), and another cytotoxic clone, to cause local tissue necrosis when injected intradermally into mice expressing the minor, skin-specific tissue antigen to which the cytotoxic-T cell clone was directed (54). The results with these cloned effector cells, although unambiguously demonstrating the in vivo cytotoxic capacity of the clones, are somewhat artificial, as the clones were generated in vitro before their in vivo function was assayed. Studies on the T-cell requirement for the rejection of heart allografts in sublethally irradiated rats, where host and donor were incompatible only for class-I MHC antigens, have shown that graft rejection occurs. This is true, however, only if the restorative T-cell inoculum contains cells that are $W3/25^-$, $OX-8^+$, i.e. of the phenotype of cytotoxic T cells that recognize class-I MHC antigens (55). Similar results have been obtained in mice where studies have shown an essential role for cytotoxic T cells in the rejection of H-2D-incompatible split-heart grafts (56) and of pancreatic islet grafts (which express only class I MHC antigens) (57).

Less conclusive, but suggestive, evidence exists that cytotoxic T cells play a role in organ allograft rejection in rats. Infiltrating mononuclear cells harvested from rejecting renal allografts have been compared to those from healthy allografts in cyclosporine A-treated animals to determine their ability to lyse ⁵¹chromium-labelled target cells. Both mononuclear cell populations kill NK cell-susceptible targets, but only those from rejecting allografts kill Con-A blasts of graft donor strain. These latter cells are susceptible to cytotoxic T cell-mediated destruction but are not lysed by NK cells. While supporting the conclusion that cytotoxic T cells are involved in allograft rejection, this experiment also demonstrates that apparently healthy allografts can contain large numbers of cells with NK activity. This finding strongly suggests that these cells play no significant role in organ allograft rejection in rodents (58).

Further evidence for a role for cytotoxic T cells in allograft rejection derives from experiments in which monoclonal antibodies to inducer/ helper- and cytotoxic-T cell subsets have been used to study the mechanism of skin allograft rejection in adult thymectomized mice. The results indicate that, as expected, antibody to the inducer/helper subset greatly prolonged allograft survival, but antibody to the T-cell subset containing precursors for cytotoxic T cells specific for class-I MHC antigens (Lyt 2^+ cells) also increased graft survival time in some experiments (59). A similar result has been obtained with minor histoincompatible skin allografts in rats where graft survival on sublethally irradiated animals is longer on recipients given restorative inocula depleted of cytotoxic-T cell precursors than it is on recipients given undepleted inocula (44).

CAN ALL ALLOGRAFT REJECTION IN EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS BE ATTRIBUTED TO CYTOTOXIC T CELLS?

A number of experiments challenge the idea that, in rodents, cytotoxic T cells are essential for allograft rejection to occur. As noted above, sublethally irradiated rats reject kidney and heart allografts when injected with T cells of inducer/helper phenotype, but in several of these experiments cytotoxic T cells cannot be recovered from these animals (40, 42, 47). Similarly, in certain mouse strains, female mice will reject male skin grafts by virtue of the male specific H-Y antigen expressed on these grafts, but no H-Y-specific, cytotoxic T cells can be demonstrated in vitro. Conversely, in other mouse strains, no rejection of male skin grafts occurs despite the fact that H-Y-specific cytotoxic T cells can be generated (60). These results have led to the suggestion that cytotoxic T cells appeared to be neither necessary nor sufficient for the rejection of syngeneic male skin by female mice.

All these experiments pose severe, but perhaps not insurmountable, problems for the idea that cytotoxic T cells play an essential role in graft rejection in rodents. With regard to the rat organ graft data, it should be noted that in vitro cytotoxicity assays have rather high background levels of ⁵¹Cr release that make it impossible to detect any low levels of specific cytotoxicity that may be present. Thus, the inability to detect cytotoxic T cells among those harvested from these grafts might be interpreted to imply that relatively few of these cells are needed to cause allograft destruction. In this context, note that relatively few cloned cytotoxic T cells are required to produce local tissue necrosis when injected intradermally into the appropriate mouse strain (54). The data on the rejection of male skin grafts by female mice pose a rather different problem in that, as noted, there appears to be no correlation between graft rejection and cytotoxic-T cell production in vitro. Interpretation of these findings is complicated by the fact that the H-Y antigen has not been biochemically characterized and could, in principle, comprise a number of antigens, some of which are present on skin but not on the target cells used in the in vitro cytotoxicity assays. Indeed,

128 MASON & MORRIS

there is evidence that the H-Y antigen is immunologically complex (61). Those working on the rejection of male grafts by female mice suggest that the cytotoxic T cells demonstrated in vitro may not be specific for the appropriate antigen (60). Cytotoxic T cells for H-Y, restricted to class-II MHC antigens, may play a role in these skin graft experiments, since class-II antigens may be induced on the vasculature of skin allografts in the mouse (22).

EFFECTOR MECHANISMS OTHER THAN CYTOTOXIC T CELLS AND DTH

In species other than rodents clear evidence demonstrates the importance of rejection mechanisms other than cytotoxic T cells and DTH. Thus, it is well established that hyperacute kidney rejection in humans is mediated by preformed antibody (see below). However, attempts to obtain rejection of skin (62) or kidney (63) allografts in rodents by this process have proved unsuccessful in all but a few cases (64), possibly because the lytic capacity of rodent complement is less than that of human. Paradoxically the administration of alloantibody to rodents at the time of grafting often leads to improved graft survival, a phenomenon known as enhancement (65), and it is generally accepted that antibody per se does not mediate allograft rejection in these experimental animals. However, it is less easy to exclude antibody-dependent, cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) as an effector mechanism in allograft rejection in rodents. If the accumulation of cells mediating ADCC in an allograft is dependent on the presence of inducer/helper T cells then when antibody is passively transferred to T celldeprived rats bearing skin allografts, the inability of the antibody to bring about graft rejection need not imply that ADCC plays no role in the rejection process. However, in a number of experimental systems no correlation exists between alloantibody synthesis and graft rejection. Though they may be producing anti-H-Y antibody, female mice may fail to reject syngeneic male skin (66), while skin grafts from H-2 mutants may be rejected on wild type recipients with no detectable antibody production (67). No evidence exists that ADCC plays an essential role in experimental allograft rejection. The possibility that it may, under certain circumstances, augment the rejection reaction cannot be excluded (65).

VARIATIONS ON THE CLASSICAL SCHEME— PERIPHERAL SENSITIZATION

In the classical scheme of allograft rejection already described, the lymphatic connection between the graft and the local lymph nodes plays an

essential part. There is evidence, however, that both skin (68) and organ (69) allografts deprived of a lymphatic drainge are susceptible to rejection. In these circumstances it is believed that lymphocytes become activated to graft antigens as they pass through the graft—a mechanism that has been termed peripheral sensitization (68). This process is evidently less efficient than the central one that occurs when lymphatic drainage is intact, as the kinetics of rejection are considerably different.

CONCLUSIONS ON EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

The most controversial topic concerning effector mechanisms of allograft rejection in experimental animals is the contribution made by specific cytotoxic T cells and by delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions. The suggestion that cytotoxic T cells, rather than DTH, can mediate graft rejection receives strong support from a number of experiments already described. The evidence may be summarized as follows:

- 1. Cytotoxic T cells, cloned in vitro, can cause the rejection of allogeneic tumor cells in immunosuppressed hosts (53).
- 2. Cloned cytotoxic T cells, injected intradermally into mice, produce local tissue necrosis, but only in those strains expressing the minor H antigen to which the cloned cells are reactive (54).
- 3. Tissue destruction of skin allografts derived from allophenic mice shows exquisite specificity in that cells expressing H-2 antigens allogeneic to the host are destroyed while those expressing syngeneic H-2 antigens are not (51). Similar target specificity has been shown in the rejection of tumor cells (7).
- 4. The ability of immunosuppressed rats to reject class-I MHC antigenincompatible heart grafts is restored by inocula of recipient strain lymphocytes containing cytotoxic-T cell precursors, but not by inocula depleted of these cells (55, 56); cytotoxic T cells have been implicated in pancreatic islet allograft rejection (57).
- 5. Whereas both specific and nonspecific (natural killer) cytotoxic cells can be harvested from rat renal allografts undergoing unmodified rejection, only nonspecific effector cells can be recovered from healthy grafts in cyclosporine A-treated hosts (58).
- 6. Sublethally irradiated rats bearing minor-H-incompatible skin grafts reject these when injected with unfractionated inocula of recipient strain lymphocytes, but rejection is delayed if these inocula are depleted of cytotoxic-T cell precursors (44).

Despite this impressive list, there are some difficulties in ascribing

Annual Reviews

130 MASON & MORRIS

rejection of all solid tissue grafts in experimental animals to cytotoxic T cells. These exceptions are:

- MHC-incompatible skin and organ grafts and experimental tumors in immunosuppressed rodents are rejected if the graft-bearing hosts are injected with syngeneic lymphocytes of inducer/helper phenotype (34, 35, 42, 43, 47, 70).
- Female mice of different inbred strains show variation in their ability to reject syngeneic male skin. This variation does not correlate with the ability of these different strains to generate, in vitro, cytotoxic T cells against the male-specific H-Y antigen (60).

Explanations for these largely negative findings have been proposed in the main text, but in some instances their validity remains to be established. One major difficulty in deciding whether grafts are destroyed by a DTHlike mechanism is that there is no in vitro assay for it. Thus, most evidence that grafts can be rejected in this way derives from attempts to exclude all other possibilities. The problems inherent in this approach are self-evident.

An attempt has been made in this review to reinstate the cytotoxic T cell as an effector of graft rejection. The evidence is particularly compelling for class-I MHC incompatible grafts. This need not imply that other mechanisms, including DTH, are not equally important at least in some instances, but definitive proof is difficult to establish. Finally it should be noted that, whereas tissue damage mediated by DTH in rodents is minimal, this is not the case in humans where, for example, massive tissue necrosis may occur as a consequence of the host's immune response to infection with mycobacteria. Thus, DTH may play a more important role in clinical organ graft rejection than it does in experimental animals.

Despite the many remaining uncertainties about the mechanism of allograft rejection, almost all workers agree that inducer/helper T cells play an essential role. Any immunosuppressive regime that directly or indirectly interferes with activation of these cells is likely to prevent rejection taking place.

HUMAN STUDIES OF ALLOGRAFT REJECTION— GENERAL OBSERVATIONS

Following the observations by Gibson & Medawar that skin allografts in burn patients underwent rejection (79), most of the information about the effector mechanisms of allograft rejection in the human has been based on studies of patients with a renal transplant, i.e. a vascularized organ allograft. Although interpretation of the observations made in humans have been very dependent on the knowledge acquired from animal models discussed in the previous section, there are several essential differences between the two: (a) In clinical practice the graft is between members of an outbred population, and hence the disparity in terms of major and minor histocompatibility differences is less well defined than in rodent models; (b) in humans the rejection reaction will always be modified by some form of immunosuppressive therapy; (c) much of the experimental data in animals until recently has been obtained from skin allograft models, whereas in human transplantation most of the data has been obtained from primarily vascularized renal allografts.

Most of the earlier observations of rejection of a human kidney were confined to descriptions of the histological changes in the graft itself, initially after removal of a rejected kidney and later on from Trucut needle biopsies of the graft in situ. Then attempts were made to detect antibodies to histocompatibility antigens, and finally assays were developed for the study of cellular immunity in graft recipients. The histological studies were rather limited in their ability to determine mechanisms of rejection; until recently they were dependent on a description of the morphological changes seen in the graft. But now monoclonal antibodies detecting various leucocyte subpopulations are being used to define more precisely the nature of the cellular infiltrate during rejection.

Furthermore, in part because of the modification of the immune response to a graft by immunosuppression, several types of rejection have been defined in man, based on their time of presentation after transplantation, but no doubt reflecting different effector mechanisms (80):

- 1. Hyperacute rejection occurs in the first 24 hr after transplantation and is almost always antibody mediated. It is seen in a recipient sensitized against donor histocompatibility antigens.
- 2. Accelerated rejection occurs in the first 5 days and is considered to be the equivalent of a second-set reaction in the experimental animal. This type of rejection may be mediated by cells or antibody or both.
- 3. Acute rejection occurs in the first 3 months (usually in the first few weeks) and is the equivalent, albeit modified by immunosuppression, of the normal first-set type of response seen in the unmodified experimental animal; again, it is mediated presumably by cells and antibody.
- 4. Chronic rejection occurs at any later time after transplantation and is generally associated with a rather insidious decline in renal function, accompanied by somewhat typical vascular changes in the graft itself; it may be due to low-grade cellular and humoral mechanisms of rejection or merely be the aftermath of severe acute rejection episodes in the early weeks after transplantation.

Although rejection of a renal allograft is probably not caused purely by a cellular or a humoral mechanism (with the exception of the hyperacutely rejected kidney), it is easier to discuss the possible roles of both components

132 MASON & MORRIS

of the response to the graft separately. Furthermore, the discussion will be confined in general to vascularized renal allografts in humans as there is not a great deal of information concerning effector mechanisms in other tissue transplants as yet.

HUMORAL MECHANISMS OF REJECTION

Hyperacute Rejection

The best-documented example of antibody-mediated rejection is that of hyperacute rejection. In the classical example, the kidney is rejected within hours of revascularization and rejection is accompanied by a massive infiltration of polymorphonuclear leukocytes and deposition of antibody and complement within the graft (77, 81–84). In the late 1960s the phenomenon of hyperacute rejection was first recognized to occur in the presence of donor-specific leukoagglutinating antibodies (81). Shortly after that, it was found to be a consequence of the presence of lymphocytotoxic antibodies in the recipient which lysed donor lymphocytes in the presence of rabbit complement, a so-called positive crossmatch (77, 82–84). Thereafter it was assumed that all positive crossmatches in a standard lymphocytotoxic assay represented evidence of donor-specific presensitization, and hence a positive crossmatch between donor and recipient became an absolute contraindication to transplantation.

However, in recent years exceptions to the above dogma have been defined, for not all antibodies that give rise to a positive crossmatch are directed against donor histocompatibility antigens of the major histocompatibility complex in man-human leukocyte antigen (HLA) (85). For example, the antibodies reacting with the donor may be autoantibodies or directed at non-HLA targets, and they may be harmless to a subsequent graft (86, 87). Certainly antibodies directed at class-I HLA antigens of the donor will result in immediate rejection; this might be expected, for these antigens are widely expressed in the kidney (88). In the case of class-II antibodies, the situation is not so clear. Certainly class-II antigens are expressed in the human kidney not only on dendritic-like cells, but also on the mesangium, capillary endothelium, proximal tubules, and weakly on the endothelium of large vessels (89, 90). Thus, the presence in the recipient of antibodies specific for donor class-II antigens might be expected to result in antibody-mediated damage to the graft, but the evidence for this remains unclear (85).

Although it is not thought that a cellular response plays a primary role in hyperacute rejection, there are instances where immediate rejection of a kidney occurs in the absence of any demonstrable humoral sensitization in the recipient. The possibility that cells are responsible for hyperacute rejection here must be considered, bearing in mind the demonstration of a cellular-mediated hyperacute rejection of renal allografts in the absence of antibody in the miniature pig model (91). Furthermore, renal transplantation performed in the presence of a cellular positive crossmatch, where recipient lymphocytes lyse donor lymphocytes in the absence of complement and serum, does increase the likelihood of rejection but does not result in immediate rejection (see below). Thus, this type of rejection is mediated by preexisting antibody specific for donor HLA antigens; the observed cellular changes are merely a response to the initial antibody- and complement-mediated damage.

Accelerated or Acute Rejection

In accelerated or acute rejection, especially where this has proved to be resistant to treatment resulting in loss of the graft, antibody has been considered a major factor in the effector mechanism, mainly because of the histological picture often seen in this type of rejection. Lymphocytotoxic antibodies were first demonstrated many years ago in patients after removal of a rejected renal allograft (92), and these antibodies had donor specificity (93). The failure to detect antibodies in the blood while the graft was in situ was considered to be due to their absorption by the grafted kidney. Furthermore, antibody, both IgG and IgM, were shown to be present in kidneys undergoing acute rejection, but not in grafts with stable function (94).

Histological examination of grafts undergoing accelerated or acute rejection often revealed striking vascular changes such as arteriolar thrombosis, interstitial hemorrhage, and fibrinoid necrosis of the walls of larger arteries (95), all of which were—and indeed still are—considered to be due predominantly to antibody rather than cells. However, although antibodies both donor-specific and nonspecific have been demonstrated by a variety of techniques (96) in the recipient of a renal allograft, and donorspecific antibody has been eluted from rejected kidneys (97, 98), no uniform agreement has developed that the appearance of antibody necessarily precedes acute rejection. Indeed, their appearance may be compatible with apparently stable renal function. Nevertheless, it is difficult not to propose a role for antibody in acute rejection.

Chronic Rejection

Characterized as they are by intimal fibrosis and occlusion of arterioles and arteries, the histological changes of chronic rejection have tended to be attributed to a humoral mechanism. Any firm evidence for this is lacking, however, and these changes probably reflect the aftermath of early acute rejections or a long-standing low-grade rejection.

134 MASON & MORRIS

Another Role for Antibody

A further role could be in an antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxic (ADCC) reaction where the specificity of the reaction is provided by the antibody, but the cytotoxicity is mediated by killer cells that are nonspecific (K cells). Positive ADCC assays after transplantation have been associated both with stable function and rejection (99, 100), and the role of this in vitro phenomenon in vivo remains uncertain.

CELLULAR MECHANISMS OF GRAFT REJECTION

The role of lymphoid system cells in the rejection of human renal allografts has never been questioned, although undoubtedly the modification of the response to the graft by immunosuppression often leads to less evidence of a cellular infiltrate in an allograft undergoing acute rejection than is noted in rejecting skin and vascularized organ allografts in the experimental animal. The relative paucity of the cellular infiltrate in these instances, often associated with marked vascular changes in the graft, as already noted, has led to the belief that this type of rejection is mediated predominantly by antibody rather than cells. Certainly this type of histological picture is seen more often in rejection episodes that do not respond to treatment. However, the possibility that this vascular type of rejection is also mediated by cells cannot be excluded, for undoubtedly the cellular response could be directed against histocompatibility antigens as primary targets on endothelium, with the subsequent vascular changes due to this initial endothelial damage. Some support for this is provided by a detailed electron microscopic study of human skin allografts and autografts in nonimmunosuppressed healthy human volunteers. Widespread microvascular damage was a characteristic early feature of rejection, and this damage was seen initially in those venules, arterioles, and small veins enveloped by lymphocytes (101).

The role of cells in rejection of human renal allografts has depended until recently on morphological observations both of grafts removed after irreversible rejection or at autopsy and of Trucut needle biopsies of the in situ graft. In general a cellular infiltrate, either focal or generalized, was associated with rejection; in the absence of marked vascular changes as described above, this type of rejection could be expected to respond to antirejection treatment. Little information was available on the type of cell making up the infiltrate, but analysis of cells separated from grafts removed for rejection, using assays available at the time, showed that the composition of the infiltrating cell population was made up of T cells, macrophages, and B cells (102, 103). However, the availability of monoclonal antibodies that recognize different leukocyte subpopulations has enabled much more precise studies of the nature of this infiltrate in the graft (104-111).

The findings from a number of studies have produced rather conflicting data concerning the nature of the cellular infiltrate during rejection of a renal allograft. In some instances, the infiltrate was said to be composed mainly of T lymphocytes (108, 109), while in others macrophages were the major cell type present (105). However, much of the discrepancy between studies can be attributed to the monoclonal antibodies used and their behavior in frozen and fixed tissue sections; this is discussed below. The studies of the cellular infiltrate in cadaveric renal allografts in the Oxford unit were notable because biopsies were taken before implantation of the graft and at 7, 21, 90, and 365 days after transplantation, as well as at other times for clinical indications (110). In addition, biopsies were taken from patients entered into a controlled trial of cyclosporin versus azathioprine and prednisolone as immunosuppression for renal transplantation. This has provided a wealth of information on the cellular infiltrate in a renal allograft, both in the presence of stable graft function and during rejection, for sequential biopsies were available for analysis in 83 cadaver-graft recipients, approximately half of whom received cyclosporin and half, azathioprine and prednisolone. All of the biopsies underwent a morphometric analysis that allowed a quantitative correlation of the histological findings with the clinical course of the graft.

In brief, as noted by others, a significant leukocyte infiltrate occurred in kidneys undergoing an acute rejection episode or that were removed because of irreversible rejection (110); this infiltrate involved approximately 20% of the area of the histological section. Of note, however, was the significant infiltrate in grafts with stable function during the first 3 weeks after transplantation, when no clinical or biochemical evidence of rejection was present. Furthermore, patients receiving azathioprine and prednisolone tended to have a greater degree of leukocyte infiltration than patients receiving cyclosporin, regardless of whether the graft was undergoing rejection or had stable function (110, 111). Similarly, analysis of the Tcell component of the leukocyte infiltrate-this comprising some 30-35% of the infiltrate—showed the same pattern in that T cells were present in greater numbers in rejection than during stable function, and there were more T cells in grafts when the immunosuppression was mediated by azathioprine and prednisolone, than when it was cyclosporin (Figure 2). Of the remaining components of the infiltrate, monocytes and macrophages comprised about 60%, and NK/K cells less than 10%. Furthermore, there was no alteration in the T4: T8 ratio of the T-cell component in rejecting grafts compared to that in grafts with stable function, and indeed T8 cells

136 MASON & MORRIS

were always present in greater numbers than T4 cells in both situations. Furthermore, the composition of the infiltrate was similar in patients both on azathioprine and prednisolone and on cyclosporin (Figure 3).

Thus, some of these findings are in marked contrast to others. For example, the T lymphocyte has been said by some (108, 109) to be the major cell in the infiltrate, but on the other hand, Hancock et al (105) have reported findings similar to those from Oxford (110, 111)—that T lymphocytes comprise 35% of the infiltrate, with macrophages and NK cells making up most of the remainder. Concerning the T-cell infiltrate, again there is considerable disagreement as to the preponderance of either T4 or T8 cells. Some have found that T8 cells are the major component of the T-cell population (104–106), while others claim that T4 cells are more frequent (106–108). Some of this disagreement may be explained by the monoclonal antibodies used. Some commonly used monoclonal antibodies stain weakly on tissue sections, especially those used for the detection of T4, which in addition show some crossreactivity with macrophages. This has led to incorrect conclusions concerning the T-cell infiltrate. The method of assessment of the infiltrate is another possible source of misinterpretation.

However, if one tries to assess the available data as objectively as possible, then it would seem that the leukocyte infiltrate is a major feature of rejection and is made up of macrophages, NK cells, and T cells—the last



Figure 2 The T lymphocyte infiltrate in grafts undergoing rejection or with stable function at various times after transplantation, including grafts undergoing late rejection or removed for irreversible rejection (GNx). The infiltrate is expressed as a percentage of the total area of the section examined.
ALLOGRAFT REJECTION 137



Figure 3 The composition of the leukocyte infiltrate is expressed as a percentage of the total infiltrate at different times after transplantation. (a) Patients on cyclosporin with stable graft function; (b) patients on azathioprine and prednisolone with stable graft function; (c) patients on cyclosporin and undergoing rejection at days 7 or 21 or later after transplantation; (d) patients on azathioprine and prednisolone undergoing rejection at days 7 or 21 or later after transplantation.

138 MASON & MORRIS

comprising about 30% of the infiltrate. Of the T cells, T8 cells are present in greater numbers than T4 cells (not a uniform finding), regardless of whether the graft is undergoing rejection or has stable function. Attempts are now being made to isolate these T cells from the graft and to assess the specificity of their cytotoxicity, in bulk culture experiments as well as after the development of T-cell clones from these infiltrates. The development of the technique of fine needle aspiration of a renal allograft, which allows samples to be obtained on a daily basis, may help to determine serial changes in the cellular infiltrate of a rejecting graft and may allow cells to be obtained in sufficient numbers for in vitro studies of function.

Can any conclusions be drawn from these observations as to the nature of the effector mechanism in rejection of a renal allograft in the human? Apart from hyperacute rejection of a graft in a recipient with preexisting antibody against donor histocompatibility antigens, where antibody can be incriminated as the cause of rejection, it is not possible to separate humoral from cellular mechanisms in the modified acute rejection seen in an immunosuppressed recipient, nor in the case of the cellular reaction is it possible to say whether it is a DTH reaction or a classical cytotoxic–T cell response. The T-cell component of the infiltrate comprises both T4 and T8 cells together with a large macrophage component that might be thought to be more compatible with a DTH type of reaction, but the more recent recognition of cytotoxicity mediated by cells of the T4 phenotype and directed at target class-II HLA antigens (112, 113) means that a classical cytotoxic reaction may well be the initial cellular-effector mechanism.

In view of the observations made in a number of experimental models that class-II histocompatibility antigens are expressed in tissues undergoing an inflammatory reaction (discussed in the earlier section), it is interesting to note recent evidence in human renal allografts that class-II antigens are expressed in the kidney during a rejection episode (114). Class-II antigens have a limited expression in the normal human kidney, confined to capillary endothelium, mesangium, dendritic cells, weakly on endothelium of large vessels, and in some kidneys on proximal tubules (90, 115, 116)—although there is some dispute about this latter observation (117-120). The Oxford material has allowed sequential analysis of the expression of class-II antigens to be made during the course of the graft, during both stable function and rejection (121). These sequential biopsies showed not only that class-II antigen was expressed on all tubular cells and more densely on large vessel endothelium during rejection, but that there were fluctuating levels of expression in the same graft. In addition, the expression of class-II antigen correlated with the degree of cellular infiltrate and this in turn with rejection. Furthermore, if the increased class-II expression in the graft regressed, then the graft was more likely to survive. Thus, in the small series studied, all allografts with normal class-II expression in biopsies taken 90 days after transplantation had survived 2 years, whereas only 60% of grafts with increased expression at 90 days were functioning at 2 yr. Furthermore, the increased expression of class II was much more common in patients receiving azathioprine and prednisolone than in patients receiving cyclosporin, as was the incidence of irreversible rejection. It is possible that some of the immunosuppressive effect of cyclosporin may be related to this decreased expression of class-II antigen in the grafted kidney.

Nevertheless, it is not possible to conclude that the increased expression of class-II antigen leads to rejection, for it could well be merely a marker of the inflammatory reaction associated with rejection. However, it seems not unreasonable to suppose that the appearance of increased amounts of the class-II antigen in the graft might lead to augmentation of the response to the graft, either at the level of induction or more likely at the level of target antigen, particularly that expressed in increased amounts on endothelium.

The comments made hitherto have been confined to changes in the graft itself, but a good deal of work has been directed at both functional and population changes in the blood leukocytes of recipients of renal allografts. For example, donor-specific cellular cytotoxicity has been demonstrated in the blood of patients undergoing severe acute rejection episodes; this cytotoxicity regressed with successful treatment of the rejection episode (96, 99). Again, it has been shown that patients with donor-specific cellular cytotoxicity at the time of transplantation in the absence of a positive antibody crossmatch with the donor do have an increased likelihood of early graft failure from rejection (96, 122). Other assays, such as the mixed lymphocyte culture, cell-mediated lympholysis, leukocyte migration test, and the tanned erythrocyte electrophoretic mobility test, to name but a few, have been used to detect evidence of donor-specific cellular immunity in the host (123). However, the reproducibility of these assays has not been consistent, and although the observations are probably reasonably valid in general, the assays have not become of general use in clinical practice. More recently, monoclonal antibodies have allowed identification of different leukocyte subpopulations in the blood, and although there have been claims that a high ratio of T4 to T8 lymphocytes preceded or was associated with acute rejection (124), these claims have not been substantiated (125, 126); nevertheless, a low T4: T8 ratio does seem to predispose to viral infections (127). Although this approach to the study of effector mechanisms is in its infancy, one cannot help but feel that it will be necessary to continue to study the graft itself, if further light is to be shed on effector mechanisms of graft rejection in the human. Certainly access to the graft in situ is possible—regular Trucut needle biopsies are relatively safe and fine

140 MASON & MORRIS

needle aspirates possible on a daily basis. This allows not only documentation of sequential changes in the graft itself, both during rejection and during stable function, but may also enable functional studies of cells obtained from renal biopsies or aspirates as well. Such observations should help in our further understanding of the effector mechanisms of rejection, when they are interpreted in the light of the observations made in welldefined experimental allograft models.

CONCLUSION

Rejection of a vascularized renal allograft in humans is modified by immunosuppression and is mediated by cells and antibody. There is no question that antibody in a specifically presensitized recipient is responsible for hyperacute rejection of a renal allograft. Although it is more difficult to establish firm evidence for a role of antibody in a modified first-set type of reaction, indirect evidence suggests that antibody does play a part in the effector mechanism. Rejection is invariably accompanied by a leukocyte infiltrate; this is compatible with the importance of the cellular effector response, but not surprisingly it is impossible to say whether this is a DTHtype reaction or a classical cytotoxic-T cell reaction, for the infiltrate is made of macrophages, T cells (both of T4 and T8 phenotype), and NK/K cells. The increased expression of class-II HLA antigen in kidneys after transplantation is associated with rejection and a cellular infiltrate, and this phenomenon may augment the induction of the response or act as a target for the effector arm of the response that might then be mediated by cytotoxic T cells of the T4 phenotype.

Literature Cited

- Gorer, P. A., Lyman, S., Snell, G. D. 1948. Studies on the genetic and antigenic basis of tumour transplantation. Linkage between a histocompatibility gene and "fused" in mice. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B 135:499
- Gowans, J. L., McGregor, D. D., Cowen, D. M., Ford, C. E. 1962. Initiation of immune responses by small lymphocytes. *Nature* 196:651
- 3. Barker, C. F., Billingham, R. E. 1968. The role of afferent lymphatics in the rejection of skin homografts. J. Exp. Med. 128:197
- •4. Medawar, P. B. 1948. Immunity to homologous grafted skin. III. The fate of skin homografts transplanted to the brain, to subcutaneous tissue, and to the anterior chamber of the eye. Br. J. Exp. Pathol. 29:58

- Miller, J. F. A. P. 1962. Effect of neonatal thymectomy on the immunological responsiveness of the mouse. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B* 156:415
- Rygaard, J. 1969. Immunobiology of the mouse mutant "nude." Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. 77:761
- Freedman, L. R., Cerottini, J.-C., Brunner, K. T. 1972. In vivo studies of the role of cytotoxic T cells in tumor allograft immunity. J. Immunol. 109: 1371
- Guttmann, R. D., Linquist, R. R., Ockner, S. A. 1969. Renal transplantation in the inbred rat. IX. Haematopoies tic origin of an immunogenic stimulus of rejection. *Transplantation* 8: 472
- Hart, D. N. J., Winnearls, C. G., Fabre, J. W. 1980. Graft adaptation : studies on possible mechanisms in long-term sur-

viving rat renal allografts. Transplantation 30:73

- Lechler, R. I., Batchelor, J. R. 1982. Restoration of immunogenicity to passenger cell-depleted kidney allografts by the addition of donor strain dendritic cells. J. Exp. Med. 155:31
- Lafferty, K. J., Bootes, A., Dart, G., Talmage, D. W. 1976. Effect of organ culture on the survival of thyroid allografts in mice. *Transplantation* 22:138
- 12. Snell, G. D. 1957. The homograft reaction. Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 11:439
- Steinman, R. M., Witmer, M. D. 1978. Lymphoid dendritic cells are potent stimulators of the primary mixed leukocyte reaction in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 75:5132
- Mason, D. W., Pugh, C. W., Webb, M. 1981. The rat mixed lymphocyte reaction: roles of a dendritic cell in intestinal lymph and T-cell subsets defined by monoclonal antibodies. *Immunology* 44:75
- Hart, D. N. J., Fabre, J. W. 1981. Demonstration and characterization of Ia-positive dendritic cells in the interstitial connective tissues of rat heart and other tissues, but not brain. J. Exp. Med. 154: 347
- Lacy, P. E., Davie, J. M. 1984. Transplantation of pancreatic islets. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:183
- Stuart, F. P., Bastien, E., Holter, A., Fitch, F. W., Elkins, W. L. 1971. Role of passenger leucocytes in the rejection of renal allografts. *Transplant. Proc.* 111: 461
- Bartlett, S. T., Naji, A., Silvers, W. K., Barker, C. F. 1985. Influence of culturing on the survival of rat islet allografts and their ability to induce unresponsiveness. *Transplant. Proc.* XVII: 393
- Georgion, H. M., Mandel, T. E. 1985. Fetal pancreatic islet allotransplantation in the mouse: tissue culture versus graft immunogenicity. *Transplant. Proc.* XVII: 404
- Mason, D. W., Charlton, H. M., Jones, A., Parry, D. M., Simmonds, S. J. 1985. Immunology of allograft rejection in mammals. In *Neural Grafting in the Mammalian CNS*, ed. A. Björklund, U. Stenevi. Series, 5:91. New York: Elsevier
- Milton, A. D., Fabre, J. W. 1985. Massive induction of donor-type Class I and Class II major histocompatibility complex antigens in rejecting cardiac allografts in the rat. J. Exp. Med. 161:98
- de Waal, R. M. W., Bogman, M. J. J., Maass, C. N., Cornelissen, L. M. H., Tax, W. J. M., Koene, R. A. P. 1983.

Variable expression of Ia antigens on the vascular endothelium of mouse skin allografts. *Nature* 303:426

- Hari, D. N. J., Fuggle, S. V., Williams, K. A., Fabre, J. W., Ting, A., Morris, P. J. 1981. Localization of HLA-ABC and DR antigens in human kidney. *Transplantation* 31:428
- Daar, A. S., Fuggle, S. V., Fabre, J. W., Ting, A., Morris, P. J. 1984. The detailed distribution of MHC Class II antigens in normal human organs. *Transplantation* 38:293
- Hirschberg, H., Bergh, O. J., Thorsby, E. 1980. Antigen-presenting properties of human vascular endothelial cells. J. Exp. Med. 152:249s
- Butcher, G. W., Howard, J. C. 1982. Genetic control of transplant rejection. *Transplantation* 34:161
- 27. Czitrom, A. A., Gascoigne, N. R. J., Edwards, S., Waterfield, D. J. 1984. Induction of minor alloantigen-specific T cell subsets in vivo: recognition of processed antigen by helper but not by cytotoxic T cell precursors. J. Immunol. 133:33
- Fabre, J. W. 1982. Rat kidney allograft model: Was it all too good to be true? *Transplantation* 34:223
- Barclay, A. N. 1981. Different reticular elements in rat lymphoid tissue identified by localization of Ia, Thy-1 and MRC OX-2 antigens. *Immunology* 44: 727
- Brent, L., Brown, J. B., Medawar, P. B. 1962. Quantitative studies on tissue transplantation immunity. VI. Hypersensitivity reactions associated with the rejection of homografts. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B* 156:187
- Govaerts, A. 1960. Cellular antibodies in kidney homotransplantation. J. Immunol. 85:516
- Cerottini, J.-C., Brunner, K. T. 1974. Cell-mediated cytotoxicity, allograft rejection, and tumour immunity. Adv. Immunol. 18:67
- Berke, G. 1980. Interaction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes and target cells. Prog. Allergy 27:69
- 34. Dallman, M. J., Mason, D. W., Webb, M. 1982. The roles of host and donor cells in the rejection of skin allografts by T cell-deprived rats injected with syngeneic T cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 12: 511
- 35. Loveland, B. E., Hogarth, P. M., Ceredig, Rh., McKenzie, I. F. C. 1981. Cells mediating graft rejection in the mouse. I. Lyt-1 cells mediate skin graft rejection. J. Exp. Med. 153:1044
- 36. Hünig, T., Bevan, M. J. 1980. Specificity

of cytotoxic T cells from athymic mice. J. Exp. Med. 152:688

- Gillis, S., Union, N. A., Baker, P. E., Smith, K. A. 1979. The *in vitro* generation and sustained culture of nude mouse cytolytic T-lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 149: 1460
- Hale, A. H. 1980. Elicitation of primary cytotoxic T lymphocytes in nude mice. *Cell. Immunol.* 55:236
- 39. Wagner, H., Hardt, C., Heeg, K., Röllinghoff, M., Pfizenmaier, K. 1980. T-cell-derived helper factor allows in vivo induction of cytotoxic T cells in nu/nu mice. Nature 284:278
- LeFrancois, L., Bevan, M. J. 1984. A reexamination of the role of Lyt-2positive T cells in murine skin graft rejection. J. Exp. Med. 159:57
- Dallman, M. J., Mason, D. W. 1983. Cellular mechanisms of skin allograft rejection in the rat. *Transplant. Proc.* XV: 335
- 42. Lowry, R. P., Gurley, K. E., Clarke Forbes, R. D. 1983. Immune mechanisms in organ allograft rejection: I. Delayed-type hypersensitivity and lymphocytotoxicity in heart graft rejection. *Transplantation* 36:391
- 43. Hall, B. M., de Faxe, I., Dorch, S. E. 1983. The cellular basis of allograft rejection *in vivo*. III. Restoration of first-set rejection of heart grafts by T helper cells in irradiated rats. *Transplantation* 36:700
- Mason, D. W., Dallman, M. J., Arthur, R. P., Morris, P. J. 1984. Mechanisms of allograft rejection: the roles of cytotoxic T-cells and delayed-type hypersensitivity. *Immunol. Rev.* 77:167
- 45. Spits, H., Borst, J., Terhorst, C., de Vries, J. E. 1982. The role of T cell differentiation markers in antigenspecific and lectin-dependent cellular cytotoxicity mediated by T8⁺ and T4⁺ human cytotoxic T cell clones directed at Class I and Class II MHC antigens. J. Immunol. 129:1563
- 46. Greenstein, J. L., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Burakoff, S. J. 1984. The role of L3T4 in recognition of Ia by a cytotoxic, H-2D^d-specific T cell hybridoma. J. Exp. Med. 159:1213
- 47. Lowry, R. P., Gurley, K. E. 1983. Immune mechanisms in organ allograft rejection. III. Cellular and humoral immunity in rejection of organ allografts transplanted across MHC subregion disparity RT¹.B (RT¹.D). Transplantation 36:405
- Dallman, M. J., Mason, D. W. 1983. Induction of Ia antigens on murine epidermal cells during the rejection of

skin allografts. Transplantation 36:222

- Woodward, J. G., Shigekawa, B. L., Frelinger, J. A. 1982. Bone marrowderived cells are responsible for stimulating I region-incompatible skin graft rejection. *Transplantation* 33: 254
- Barclay, A. N., Mason, D. W. 1983. Graft rejection and Ia antigens—paradox resolved? *Nature* 303:382
- Mintz, B., Silvers, W. K. 1970. Histocompatibility antigens on melanoblasts and hair follicle cells. Cell-localized homograft rejection in allophenic skin grafts. *Transplantation* 9:497
- Berke, G., Levey, R. H. 1972. Cellular immunoabsorbents in transplantation immunity. Specific in vitro deletion and recovery of mouse lymphoid cells sensitized against allogeneic tumors. J. Exp. Med. 135:972
- Engers, H. D., Glasebrook, A. L., Sorenson, G. D. 1982. Allogeneic tumor rejection induced by the intravenous injection of Lyt-2⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones. J. Exp. Med. 156:1280
- Tyler, J. D., Galli, S. J., Snider, M. E., Dvorak, A. M., Steinmuller, D. 1984. Cloned Lyt-2⁺ cytolytic T lymphocytes destroy allogeneic tissue in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 159:234
- 55. Lowry, R. P., Forbes, R. D. C., Blackburn, J., Marghesco, D. 1985. The pivotal role of cytotoxic T cells in the rejection of heart grafts bearing isolated Class I disparities. *Transplant. Proc.* XVII: 227
- Park, M. M., Davis, W. C., Burger, D. 1980. The role of T cell subpopulations in rejection and enhancement of heart allografts. *Fed. Proc.* 39:354 (Abstr.)
- Lafferty, K. J., Prowse, S. J., Simenonovic, C. J., Warren, H. S. 1983. Immunobiology of tissue transplantation: a return to the passenger leukocyte concept. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:143
- Bradley, J. A., Mason, D. W., Morris, P. J. 1985. Evidence that rat renal allografts are rejected by cytotoxic T cells and not by nonspecific effectors. *Transplantation* 39:169
- 59. Cobbold, S. P., Jayasuriya, A., Nash, A., Prospero, T. D., Waldmann, H. 1984. Therapy with monoclonal antibodies by elimination of T-cell subsets in vivo. Nature 312:548
- Hurme, M., Chandler, P. R., Hetherington, C. M., Simpson, E. 1978. Cytotoxic T-cell responses to H-Y: correlation with the rejection of syngeneic male skin grafts. J. Exp. Med. 147:768
- Melvold, R. W., Kohn, H. I., Yerganian, G., Fawcett, D. W. 1977. Evidence suggesting the existence of two H-Y

- 62. Billingham, R. E., Brent, L., Medawar, P. B. 1954. Quantitative studies on tissue transplantation immunity. II. The origin, strength and duration of actively and adoptively acquired immunity. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 143:58
- French, M. E. 1972. The early effects of alloantibody and complement on rat kidney allografts. *Transplantation* 13: 447
- Collste, L. G., Falk, R. E., Ericsson, J. L. E. 1970. Hyperacute cortical necrosis after antibody pretreatment of syngeneic rat kidney transplants. Scand. J. Urol. Nephrol. 4:58
- Carpenter, C. B., d'Apice, A. J. F., Abbas, A. K. 1976. The role of antibodies in the rejection and enhancement of organ allografts. *Adv. Immunol.* 22:1
- 66. Goldberg, E., Boyse, E. A., Scheid, M., Bennet, D. 1972. Production of H-Y antibody by female mice that fail to reject male skin. *Nature New Biol.* 238:55
- McKenzie, I. F. C., Morgan, G. M., Melvold, R. W., Kohn, H. I. 1976. Serological and complementation studies in four C57BL/6 H-2 mutants. *Immunogenetics* 3:241
- Tilney, N. L., Gowans, J. L. 1971. The sensitization of rats by allografts transplanted to alymphatic pedicles of skin. J. Exp. Med. 133:951
- 69. Hume, D. M., Egdahl, R. H. 1955. Progressive destruction of renal homografts isolated from the regional lymphatics of the host. *Surgery* 38:194
- 70. Fujiwara, H., Fukuzawa, M., Yoshioka, T., Nakajima, H., Hamaoka, T. 1984. The role of tumor-specific Lyt-1⁺2⁻ T cells in eradicating tumor cells in vivo. I. Lyt-1⁺2⁻ T cells do not necessarily require recruitment of host's cytotoxic T cell precursors for implementation of in vivo immunity. J. Immunol. 133:1671
- 71. Smith, K. A. 1984. Interleukin 2. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:319
- Paetkau, V., Bleackley, R. C., Riendlau, D., Hamish, D. G., Holowachuk, E. W. 1985. Towards the molecular biology of IL-2. Contemp. Top. Molec. Immunol. 10:35
- Howard, M., Nakanishi, K., Paul, W. E. 1984. B cell growth and differentiation factors. *Immunol. Rev.* 78:185
- Adams, D. O., Hamilton, T. A. 1984. The cell biology of macrophage activation. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:283
- 75. Ortaldo, J. R., Herberman, R. B. 1984. Heterogeneity of natural killer cells.

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:359

- Nabholz, M., MacDonald, H. R. 1983. Cytolytic T lymphocytes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:273
- Williams, G. M., Hume, D. M., Hudson, R. P., Morris, P. J., Kano, K., Milgrom, F. 1968. Hyperacute renal homograft rejection in man. *New Engl. J. Med.* 279:611
- Lovchik, J. C., Hong, R. 1977. Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytolysis (ADCC): Analyses and projections. Prog. Allergy 22:1
- Gibson, T., Medawar, P. B. 1943. The fate of skin homografts in man. J. Anat. 77:299
- Williams, G. M. 1984. Clinical course following transplantation. In Kidney Transplantation: Principles and Practice, ed. P. J. Morris, pp. 335-54. New York: Grune & Stratton. 2nd ed.
- Kissmeyer-Nielsen, F., Olsen, S., Petersen, V. P., Fjeldborg, O. 1966. Hyperacute rejection of kidney allografts associated with pre-existing humoral antibodies against donor cells. *Lancet* 2.291:262
- Patel, R., Terasaki, P. I. 1969. Significance of the positive crossmatch in kidney transplantation. New Engl. J. Med. 280:735
- Myburgh, J. A., Cohen, I., Gecelter, L., Meyers, A. M., Abrahams, C., Furman, K. I., Goldberg, B., Blerk, P. J. P. 1969. Hyperacute rejection in human-kidney allografts—Shwartzman or Arthus reaction? New Engl. J. Med. 281:131
- Starzl, T. E., Lerner, R. A., Dixon, F. J., Groth, C. G., Brettschneider, L., Terasaki, P. I. 1968. Shwartzman reaction after human renal homotransplantation. New Engl. J. Med. 278:642
- Ting, A., Morris, P. J. 1985. Current status of crossmatching in clinical transplantation. Progress in Transplantation 11, ed. P. J. Morris, N. L. Tilney, p. 45. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone
- Ting, A., Morris, P. J. 1977. Renal transplantation and B cell crossmatches with autoantibodies and alloantibodies. *Lancet* 2:1095
- Ting, A., Morris, P. J. 1981. Positive crossmatch transplants—safe or not? *Transplant. Proc.* 13:1544
- Daar, A. S., Fuggle, S. V., Fabre, J. W., Ting, A., Morris, P. J. 1984. The detailed distribution of HLA-A, B, C antigens in normal human organs. *Transplantation* 38:287
- Daar, A. S., Fuggle, S. V., Fabre, J. W., Ting, A., Morris, P. J. 1984. The detailed distribution of MHC Class II antigens

144 MASON & MORRIS

in normal human organs. Transplantation 38:293

- 90. Fuggle, S. V., Errasti, P., Daar, A. S., Fabre, J. W., Ting, A., Morris, P. J. 1983. Localisation of MHC (HLA-ABC and DR) antigens in 46 kidneys. Differences in HLA-DR staining of tubules among kidneys. *Transplantation* 35: 385
- 91. Kirkman, R. L., Colvin, R. B., Glye, M. W., Williams, G. M., Sachs, D. H. 1979. Transplantation in miniature swine. VII. Evidence for cellular immune mechanisms in hyperacute rejection of renal allografts. *Transplantation* 28: 24
- 92. Morris, P. J., Williams, G. M., Hume, D. M., Mickey, M. R., Terasaki, P. I. 1968. Serotyping for homotransplantation. XII. Occurrence of cytotoxic antibodies following kidney transplantation in man. *Transplantation* 6: 392
- Morris, P. J., Mickey, M. R., Singal, O. P., Terasaki, P. I. 1969. Serotyping for homotransplantation. XXII. Specificity of cytotoxic antibodies developing after renal transplantation. Br. Med. J. 1: 758
- McKenzie, I. F. C., Whittingham, S. 1968. Deposits of immunoglobulin and fibrin in human allografted kidneys. *Lancet* 2:1313
- Dunnill, M. S. 1984. Histopathology of rejection in renal transplantation. See Ref. 80, p. 355
 Stiller, C. R., Sinclair, N. R. 1979.
- 96. Stiller, C. R., Sinclair, N. R. 1979. Immunological monitoring after renal transplantation. In *Kidney Transplantation: Principles and Practice*, ed. P. J. Morris, p. 251. London: Academic Press. 1st ed.
- Garavoy, M. R., Suthanthiran, M., Gailiunas, P., Carpenter, C. B., Bush, G., Tilney, N. L. 1978. Anti-Ia antibody eluted from rejected human renal allografts. *Transplant. Proc.* 10:613
- McPhaul, J. J., Stastny, P., Freeman, R. B. 1981. Specificities of antibodies eluted from human cadaveric renal allografts. Multiple mechanisms of renal allograft injury. J. Clin. Invest. 67:1405
- 99. Stiller, C. R., Sinclair, N. R. St. L., Abrahams, S., McGirr, D., Singh, H., Howson, W. T., Ulan, R. A. 1976. Antidonor immune responses in prediction of transplant rejection. *New Engl. J. Med.* 294:978
- 100. Gailiunes, P., Suthanthiran, A., Person, A., Strom, T. B., Carpenter, C. B., Garavoy, M. R. 1978. Post transplant immunologic monitoring of the renal allograft recipient. *Transplant. Proc.* 10:609

- 101. Dvorak, H. F., Mihm, M. C., Dvorak, A. M., Barnes, B. A., Manseau, E. J., Galli, S. J. 1979. Rejection of first-set skin allografts in man. The microvasculature is the critical target of the immune response. J. Exp. Med. 150: 322
- 102. Strom, T. B., Tilney, N. L., Carpenter, C. B., Busch, G. J. 1975. Identity and cytotoxic capacity of cells infiltrating renal allografts. New Engl. J. Med. 292:1257
- 103. von Willebrand, E., Häyry, P. 1978. Composition and in vitro cytotoxicity of cellular infiltrates in rejecting human renal allografts. *Cell. Immunol.* 41:358
- 104. Platt, J. L., LeBien, T. W., Michael, A. F. J. 1982. Interstitial mononuclear cell populations in renal graft rejection. J. Exp. Med. 155:17
- 105. Hancock, W. W., Thomson, N., Atkins, R. C. 1983. Composition of interstitial cellular infiltrate identified by monoclonal antibodies in renal biopsies of rejecting human renal allografts. *Transplantation* 35:458
- 106. Hammer, C., Land, W., Stadler, J., Killer, C., Brendal, W. 1983. Lymphocyte subclasses in rejecting kidney grafts detected by monoclonal antibodies. *Transplant. Proc.* 15:356
- 107. Tufveson, G., Forsum, U., Claesson, K. 1983. T lymphocyte subsets and HLA-DR-expressing cells in rejected human kidney grafts. Scand. J. Immunol. 18:37
- Van Es, A., Meyer, A. J. L., Oljans, P. J. 1984. Mononuclear cells in renal allografts. *Transplantation* 37:134
- 109. Hall, B. M., Bishop, G. A., Farnsworth, A. 1984. Identification of the cellular subpopulations infiltrating rejecting cadaver renal allografts. *Transplantation* 37:564
- 110. McWhinnie, D. L., Thompson, J. F., Taylor, H. M., Chapman, J. R., Bolton, E. M., Wood, R. F. M., Morris, P. J. 1985. Leucocyte infiltration patterns in renal allografts assessed by immunoperoxidase staining of 245 sequential biopsies. *Transplant. Proc.* 17:560
- 111. McWhinnie, D. L., Thompson, J. F., Taylor, H. F., Chapman, J. R., Bolton, E. M., Carter, N. P., Wood, R. F. M., Morris, P. J. 1985. Morphometric analysis of cellular infiltration assessed by monoclonal antibody labelling in sequential human renal allograft biopsies. Submitted
- 112. Ball, E. S., Stastny, P. 1982. Cellmediated cytotoxicity against HLA-D region products expressed in monocytes and B lymphocytes. *Immunogenetics* 16:157

- 113. Flomenberg, N., Duffy, E., Naito, K., Dupont, B. 1983. Two distinct phenotypes of HLA-DR-specific cytotoxic T cell lines. *Immunogenetics* 17:317
- 114. Hall, B. M., Duggin, G. G., Bishop, G. A., Horvath, J. S., Tiller, D. J. 1984. Increased expression of HLA-DR antigens on renal tubular cells in renal transplants: relevances to the rejection response. *Lancet* 2:247
- 115. Hancock, W. W., Kraft, N., Atkins, R. C. 1982. The immunohistochemical demonstration of major histocompatibility antigens in the human kidney using monoclonal antibodies. *Pathology* 14:409
- 116. Evans, P. R., Trickett, L. P., Smith, J. L., MacIver, A. G., Tate, D., Slapak, M. 1985. Varying expression of major histocompatibility complex antigens on human renal endothelium and epithelium. Br. J. Pathol. 66:77
- 117. Scott, H., Brandtzaeg, P., Hirschberg, M., Solheim, B. G., Thorsby, E. 1981. Vascular and renal distribution of HLA-DR-like antigens. *Tissue Antigens* 18: 195
- 118. Natali, P. G., DeMartino, C., Quaranta, V., Nicotra, M. R., Frezza, F., Pellegrino, M. A., Ferrone, S. 1981. Expression of Ia-like antigens in normal human non-lymphoid tissues. *Trans*plantation 31:75
- 119. Koyama, K., Fukunishi, T., Barcos, M., Tanigaki, N., Pressman, D. 1979. Human Ia antigens in non-lymphoid organs. *Immunology* 38:333
- 120. Häyry, P., von Willebrand, E.,

Andersson, L. C. 1980. Expression of HLA-ABC and DR locus antigens on human kidney, endothelial, tubular and glomerular cells. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 11: 303

- 121. Fuggle, S. V., McWhinnie, D. L., Chapman, J. R., Taylor, H. M., Morris, P. J. 1985. Sequential analysis of HLA-Class II antigen expression in human renal allografts: induction of tubular Class II antigens and correlation with clinical parameters. Submitted
- 122. Carpenter, C. B., Morris, P. J. 1978. The detection and measurement of pretransplant sensitization. *Transplant. Proc.* 10:509
- Wood, R. F. M. 1984. Monitoring after transplantation. See Ref. 80, p. 382
- 124. Cosimi, A. B., Colvin, R. B., Burton, R. C. 1981. Use of monoclonal antibodies to T-cell subsets for immunologic monitoring and treatment in recipients of renal allografts. New Engl. J. Med. 305:308
- 125. Carter, N. P., Cullen, P. R., Thompson, J. F., Bewick, A. L. T., Wood, R. F. M., Morris, P. J. 1983. Monitoring lymphocyte subpopulations in renal allograft recipients. *Transplant. Proc.* 15:1157
- 126. von Willebrand, E. 1983. OK T4/T8 ratio in the blood and in the graft during episodes of human renal allograft rejection. Cell. Immunol. 77:196
- 127. Chatenoud, L., Chkoff, N., Kreis, H., Bach, J. F. 1983. Correlation between immunoregulatory T-cell imbalances and renal allograft outcome. *Transplant. Proc.* 15:1184



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4 : 147–65 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES

Joseph M. Davie,^{1,2} Michael V. Seiden,¹ Neil S. Greenspan,² Charles T. Lutz,² Timothy L. Bartholow,¹ and Brian L. Clevinger³

Departments of Microbiology and Immunology¹ and of Pathology,² School of Medicine and Division of Biomedical Science,³ School of Dental Medicine, Washington University, St. Louis, Missouri 63110

DIVERSITY OF IMMUNOGLOBULINS AND IDIOTYPY

Immunoglobulin gene expression is unique. Through several mechanisms, an enormous structural diversity of variable-region domains is generated. Variable-region genes are constructed from two (V_L and J_L) or three (V_H , D, and J_H) gene segments that combine without known restriction (1–5). Their combinatorial joining process is variable in that the same two gene segments can be joined in more than one way to generate junctional diversity (6–8). Both mechanisms largely focus diversity on the third hypervariable regions of heavy and light chains. The source of diversity for the first and second hypervariable regions is the polymorphism seen in multiple copies of the V_H and V_L gene segments encoding these regions (9) and in special mechanisms of somatic mutation that seem to produce single-base changes at a rapid rate in rearranged variable-region genes (10– 13). The result of these varied mechanisms of genetic diversification is an enormous repertoire of immunoglobulin-binding sites (14).

It was recognized many years ago that the structural diversity of antibody molecules could be detected serologically. Amino acid changes, particularly within the binding site, were expected to generate new antigenic determinants (15). The work of Kunkel et al (16) and Oudin & Michel (17) and their colleagues over 20 years ago confirmed this prediction and established the utility of these determinants, now called idiotypes, in studying variable-region domains. Since then, idiotypic determinants have

been widely used in the analysis of variable-region inheritance (18–20) and in comparisons of variable-region structure (21). Kunkel and Oudin both showed that antibodies that share antigen-binding specificity often shared idiotypes (16, 17, 22, 23), and this finding has been repeated many times since. Surprisingly, it has been discovered recently that molecules of genetic origin different from that of immunoglobulins, such as T-cell antigenspecific receptors (24-26), hormone receptors (27-30), and virus receptors (31), can share idiotypic determinants with immunoglobulin if they bind the same ligands. This fact has two major implications: There are limited ways of constructing a binding site capable of interacting with a given ligand, and at least some idiotypic determinants reflect the critical binding-site structures. In fact, antibodies to the binding-site idiotopes resemble antigen not only in their affinity for the antigen-reactive molecules of disparate genetic origin, but in their ability to mimic antigen functionally to trigger B and T lymphocytes, in an antigen-specific fashion (25, 32, 33). This antigen mimicry can even extend to a functional substitution for hormones, such as insulin (30) and epinephrine (28), in which antiidiotopes cause responses similar to hormones after binding to the hormone receptors. Thus, idiotopes serve as both structural and functional markers.

In addition, Jerne first recognized that idiotopes could provide means of immune regulation by serving as targets for communication between antigen-reactive cells in the absence of extrinsic antigen (34). An animal is clearly capable of producing antiidiotypic responses to its own immunoglobulins, and antiidiotypic antibodies can either augment (32, 33) or depress (35) the production of idiotype-bearing antibodies. However, it is not yet established that the idiotype network is physiologic, i.e. that normal immune responses depend on idiotype-antiidiotype interactions. Yet, the idea of its central role permeates current immunologic thought and provides an important framework for experimentation.

Finally, observations that immunity can be regulated by passive administration of antiidiotypes led to the possibility of regulating growth of idiotype-bearing lymphoid tumors by antiidiotypic sera (36). Other therapeutic roles for antiidiotype that have begun to be explored include suppression of autoimmune clones, suppression of allograft-responsive clones in transplantation, and stimulation of idiotype-bearing clones as vaccine substitutes.

Although idiotypes are extremely important in a variety of areas of immunology, our knowledge about the structure of idiotypic determinants is fragmentary. To assign structure to particular idiotopes has been difficult. In part, this is because the extraordinary diversity of immunoglobulin structure often leads to multiple structural differences between idiotope(+) and idiotope(-) molecules. Therefore, idiotopes have been assigned

successfully when large panels of immunoglobulin molecules were analyzed structurally to localize more precisely the relevant variables.

The second major difficulty in molecular assignment of idiotopes has to do with the nature of antigenic determinants themselves. Ideas about what constitutes an epitope range from those that see a protein as expressing an unlimited continuum of surface structures, each potentially an epitope (37), to those that envisage epitopes to be portions of molecules with intrinsic attributes that make them antigenic (38, 39). Those who hold to the former view could justifiably question the validity of molecular assignment of a particular idiotope because no general principles about idiotope structure would emerge. On the other hand, if only certain parts of variable domains are intrinsically antigenic, the search for molecular correlates of idiotypy will be both important and fruitful.

The purpose of this review is to summarize current information about the molecular basis of idiotypy and to focus attention on strategies that may be useful in idiotypic definition. For more detailed discussion of the biological aspects of idiotypy and other perspectives on their structure, several excellent reviews can be consulted (40–43).

NATURE OF IDIOTYPES

Before considering the molecular basis of idiotypy, it is important to discuss first the nature of idiotypes, their definition, detection, general location, and some general principles of serology.

It is very easy to detect idiotypes; it is another thing, however, to define them. Typically, an antiidiotypic serum is what remains after extensive absorption of a heterologous antiserum raised against a homogeneous immunoglobulin. The absorbent essentially determines the mix of antiidiotopes remaining, and the cynic might claim that no two antiidiotypic antisera are alike because normal serum immunoglobulin, the traditional absorbent, is undefinable and probably irreproducible. However, careful choice of immunoglobulins for absorbents generally provides a more specific, definable reagent. Certainly, the generation of a monospecific reagent would require absorption with immunoglobulins that share all determinants (for both constant and variable domains) except the desired one. Alternatively, only a single epitope would be detected by a multispecific reagent, if an immunoglobulin sharing only the single epitope with the immunogen were available to serve as the ligand. In practice, the number of epitopes detected by a given antiidiotypic serum is nearly always unknown or at best only approximated.

Monoclonal reagents have solved many of these uncertainties and have ensured that different investigators now can use standard reagents that

react with a single epitope. Determination of the location of that epitope, the topic of this review, involves several steps. First, the distribution of the epitope among other antibodies with similar or different specificities provides clues to its possible location. An epitope found exclusively on the immunogen might be determined by a unique somatic mutation; an epitope found on some or all of the antibodies, however, could be a reflection of V_H , D, or V_L encoded structures, either alone or in aggregate. Secondly, reaction with separated H and L chains, or homologous and heterologous H-L recombinants, will permit localization of some determinants.

Another revealing serologic parameter only infrequently used in idiotypic analysis pertains to the variability of the epitope among different immunoglobulins. Figure 1 shows the pattern of expression of two idiotopes among a panel of murine monoclonal antistreptococcal group A carbohydrate (GAC) antibodies (44). The height of each line represents the extent of expression of each idiotope on anti-GAC antibodies, based on the binding of monoclonal antiidiotopes. It is clear that proteins are either equally IdX(+) or IdX(-), but that IdI-3a is expressed to a variable degree on the majority of anti-GAC antibodies. One can infer from this that IdX resides in a germline-encoded portion of the variable domains subject to only modest variability and that IdI-3a is in a highly variable region, most likely involving the binding site. This was supported by the fact that IdI-3a was no longer accessible to antiidiotope when the hapten, N-acetyl glucosamine, occupied the binding site, whereas IdX was not affected (45). Clearly, hypervariable regions, particularly HV3, are the most likely locations for epitopes expressing a continuum of variants, like IdI-3a.

It is also clear that the kind of assay used to measure idiotope expression is important. Direct binding assays, like those depicted in Figure 1, are able



Figure 1 Idiotopes vary in their polymorphism. Two monoclonal antiidiotopes, detecting a nonbinding site determinant (IdX, left) and a binding site determinant (Id-3a, right) on anti-GAC antibodies of A/J mice, were tested on a panel of monoclonal anti-GAC antibodies. The height of each line represents the degree of reactivity of antiidiotope with a separate monoclonal anti-GAC antibody. The values are relative; 10 or below represents background. (Modified from 44.)

to detect low-affinity cross-reactions. In competitive binding assays where one measures the relative capacities of a panel of antibodies to block binding of a labelled idiotope-bearing ligand to antiidiotope, the relative affinities of inhibitor and ligand for the antiidiotope are important. Lowaffinity binders may not be able to inhibit, at a reasonable concentration, the binding of high-affinity ligands, whereas the reverse is not true. Thus, results that emerge from competitive binding assays are particularly sensitive to the relative affinities of ligands and inhibitors for the antiidiotope. In addition to determining whether idiotope expression is modified by hapten or haptens coupled to carriers of a larger molecular weight, the relative positions of idiotopes on the surface of variable domains can be determined by cross-inhibition studies with other antiidiotopes and anticonstant-region reagents (45). Armed with appropriately targeted reagents, it should be possible to develop a topographic map of idiotopic determinants. Finally, in some instances it has proved fruitful to modify immunoglobulins chemically to determine whether particular idiotopes depend on modified residues or not (46, 47). Thus, a great deal can be learned about the characteristics of idiotopes by serologic means alone.

A variety of descriptive terms have been applied to idiotopes, public vs private, cross-reactive (CRI) vs individual, IdX vs IdI, that essentially reflect the relative degree of expression of a determinant among antibodies of the same specificity. As will be seen, none of these operational definitions has been put on satisfactory structural grounds yet. Separation of idiotopes into binding site and nonbinding site determinants is informative and probably important, but again structural explanation of this is lacking. It is therefore probably still premature to consider categorization of idiotopes other than by the operational terms currently in use.

STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES

Although many families of antibodies have been studied idiotypically, knowledge of only a few systems has progressed to a point where structural correlations of idiotopes can be considered. Several of these systems are described here.

Idiotopes of Antidextran Antibodies

The immune response in mice to B1355S dextran is very simple. Only BALB/c or other mice with the Igh-C^a haplotype produce significant levels of antibodies to dextran (48); IgM, IgG3 (49), and IgA all paired with λ_1 L chains are the dominant isotypes. Essentially all of the antibodies are $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 3) \alpha(1 \rightarrow 6)$ -specific, but they are heterogeneous with regard to fine specificity (50). At least half of the antidextran antibodies share an idiotypic

Annual Reviews

152 DAVIE, SEIDEN, GREENSPAN ET AL

determinant termed IdX with two BALB/c myeloma proteins, M104 and J558 (51, 52). In addition, M104 and J558 possess unique determinants termed IdI(M104) and IdI(J558) that are shared by much smaller fractions of the total antidextran antibody population.

Amino acid sequence analysis of antidextran hybridoma proteins has been most rewarding in identifying the residues critical to the expression of IdI(J558), IdI(M104), and IdX idiotopes (Figure 2). Because nearly all antidextran monoclonal antibodies studied to date bear $\lambda 1$ light chains, which are known to arise from single V and J gene segments, structural analysis has focused on V_H sequences. Of the antidextran immunoglobulins 20 have had complete V_H regions sequenced (53); 15 of these are shown here. Interestingly, all of these sequences are unique, yet most vary from J558 and M104 by only a few residues. The proteins are most likely created by the combinatorial joining of 2 or more related V_H segments, an unknown number of D segments generating 10 different sequences at H100 and H101, and 4 J_H segments. Most striking are the sequences of M104 and J558 that are identical in the V_H and J_H segments and differ only in the two-residue-D segment. Since L chains of these proteins are identical (54), the expression of



ANTI-DEXTRAN ANTIBODIES

Figure 2 Structural correlates of idiotopes on antidextran antibodies. Amino acid sequences of $V_{\rm H}$ regions of mouse monoclonal antidextran antibodies are shown. All antibodies have λ_1 L chains. Lines indicate identity to the sequence of the first protein; letters (Dayhoff code) show differences or regions correlated with idiotopes (boxed area marked by arrows). Idiotype reactions of each protein with several heterologous antiidiotopes is shown on the right. (Modified from 53, 56.)

the IdI(M104) or IdI(J558) idiotypes must be dependent on the D segments. Computer modeling of J558 and M104 (Figure 3) suggests that the D segments are prominently exposed within the binding pocket and may lead to significant structural changes that could account for the idiotypic determinants themselves. (See 55 for a discussion of computer modelling of antibodies.)

The correlation of D segments with IdI(M104) or IdI(J558) idiotype expression is striking (56; Figure 2). All three proteins with RY residues (Dayhoff code) in their D segment express the IdI(J558) idiotype. Partial expression of IdI(J558) is seen in proteins with NY D segments. Further, IdI(M104) expression is correlated with YD and AD in the D segment. However, not all IdI(+) proteins have related D segments. Recently, Kearney and colleagues generated several monoclonal antiidiotype antibodies that distinguish M104 and J558, thereby qualifying as IdI-specific reagents (57, 58). Although some of these monoclonals recognize determinants similar to IdI(M104) and IdI(J558), others do not. Thus, it is possible that proteins differing only by two amino acids may bear several idiotypic differences.

The IdX idiotope appears to depend on two amino acids in HV2 (56). Proteins differing only in residues H54 and H55 are IdX(+) and IdX(-).



Figure 3 Computer-generated models of variable domains of two antidextran antibodies, M104 and J558, showing approximate positions of amino acids correlated with three idiotopes, IdX, IdI(M104) and IdI(J558). These two proteins differ by only two amino acids encoded by D that correlate with IdI(M104) and IdI(J558). The binding sites face to the lower left; IdX is on the lip of the binding site and the IdI determinants emerge from the floor. The J_H region (grey) lies in a groove between V_λ (upper left) and V_H (lower right) and connects with CH₁ (top right). (Models courtesy of Richard Feldmann and Michael Potter, NIH.)

All proteins that are IdX(+) have NN at these positions. Thus, although some questions still remain concerning IdX and IdI expression, available sequence information strongly suggests D segment involvement for IdI expression, and residues H54 and H55 in IdX expression.

From these studies, it is clear that a few amino acids are strongly correlated with the expression of particular idiotypic determinants. However, from this information alone it is impossible to determine whether the critical amino acids are themselves the idiotypic determinants or whether they are only secondarily involved in forming the idiotopes, possibly by conformational influences on other parts of the V domains.

Idiotopes of Anti-PC Antibodies

Most mouse immunoglobulins generated to phosphocholine (PC) bear the dominant T15 idiotype, with much smaller portions of the response bearing the M511 or M603 idiotype. In BALB/c mice, the prototype strain, anti-T15 serum can inhibit 70–80% of the PC-specific plaque-forming cells (59–61); in addition, the majority of monoclonal anti-PC antibodies express the T15 idiotype (10, 62).

Molecular study of PC-specific immunoglobulins has indicated that the entire response is generated from a single germline V_H segment gene (63) in combination with one of three V_K light chains (64–67). Each of the three major idiotypic families is correlated with the expression of a single light chain (62). Hence, T15(+) molecules are composed of a heavy-chain-gene segment encoded by the VH-PC paired with the VK22 light chain, while M511(+) molecules use the same heavy chain paired with the VK24 light chain. The reciprocal, however, is not true, since some VH-PC-VK22 molecules are T15 idiotype(-). In addition to the limited V_H and V_K repertoire, the anti-PC response is also restricted to the JH₁ and JK₅ joining segments; however, extensive diversity in the D segment suggests that at least three D genes are used (68).

Somatic mutations have been demonstrated in both the heavy and light chains (69, 70). Differences between the amino acid sequence predicted from the single germline V_H gene segment and the actual PC-specific heavy-chain protein are due to somatic mutations. Of over 40 published sequences, at least 24 have V_H segments identical to the germline sequence (10, 65, 68), with the remainder demonstrating somatic mutation leading to at least one amino acid substitution. Even the most divergent PC-specific protein, however, still shares 88/95 residues with the germline T15 V_H segment. In comparison, M104, a dextran-specific immunoglobulin, shares only 45/95 residues with T15 V_H segment.

Finally, N-junctional diversity and gene conversion also play a role in the anti-PC repertoire. N-junctional diversity has been postulated to account

for nucleotides present at the VDJ gene junctions that could not have been contributed by V_H , D, or J_H gene segments (68). Gene conversion has been implicated in a single anti-PC clone, which appears to have accepted portions of two related V_H genes to encode its V_H region (71).

Several attempts have been made to characterize the T15 idiotype. In particular, chain recombination experiments using sequenced H and L chains have suggested that the idiotype is complex with direct or indirect contributions made by the L chain and the D segment (72, 73). Recent study of monoclonal antiidiotope antibody (anti-C3-16 Id) showed patterns of reactivity with anti-PC antibodies consistent with involvement of both D-segment and light-chain determinants in expression of the idiotope (74; Figure 4). Only antibodies with VK22 light chains and the dominant D region YYGSS and YYGNS are reactive with anti-C3-16 Id (solid box, Figure 4). Further, certain Id-C3-16(-) anti-PC antibodies, not shown in this figure, are identical to Id(+) proteins in V_{H} region but are paired with VK8 light chains instead of VK22. Heavy- and light-chain mixed molecules from idiotope(+) and (-) antibodies supported this conclusion. The T15 IdX determinant, measured by A/He anti-T15 antisera, also has been localized tentatively to this region (Figure 4; solid and hatched box), although, in view of the multiplicity of determinants detected by allo- and xenoanti-T15 sera, it is likely that other regions of T15 will be identified as idiotopes in the future.

Furthermore, the reaction between anti-C3-16 Id and its idiotope is



ANTI-PC ANTIBODIES

Figure 4 Structural correlates of idiotopes on anti-PC antibodies. $V_{\rm H}$ regions of anti-PC antibodies (all expressing VK22) from several different strains of mice were sequenced. Reactivity with A/He anti-T15 and a monoclonal antiidiotope is indicated on the right. The region of structural correlation with idiotope expression is indicated by the boxed areas and the arrow (T15 IdX, solid + hatched box; C3-16Id, solid box). (Data from 74.)

blocked by the hapten PC; this is interesting because the only contact residues for PC in M603 (an anti-PC antibody that expresses VK8 and a similar V_H sequence to the C3-16 Id(+) molecules) are found in HV1 and HV2. Nonetheless, it is interesting to consider an idiotope that is dependent on both D region and V_{κ} elements. It is possible that the actual determinant is found on one partner chain, either H or L, but conformational influences from the other permits expression of the idiotope. Along these lines, Fulton et al recently reported an idiotope expressed on K chains from anti-GAC antibodies that was dependent for expression on the H partner (75). K chains that expressed idiotope in the absence of H chains actually lost the idiotope when paired with inappropriate H chains. For anti-PC antibodies, the other possibility is that both D and VK22 form the C3-16 Id. The D region comes in close proximity to HV1 of the L chain, an area of considerable variability among the three V_{K} genes used in anti-PC responses. Distinguishing between these several explanations for the location of the idiotope will likely require new approaches.

Idiotopes of Antigalactan Antibodies

Anti- $\beta(1 \rightarrow 6)$ -D-galactan antibodies in mice have also been studied structurally and idiotypically. A series of myeloma proteins (76) and hybridomas (77) from animals immunized with galactan-containing antigen have been sequenced. The majority of these immunoglobulins have K chains with identical V_{κ} segments coupled with different J_{κ} segments. However, the V_{H} domains show considerable diversity resulting from the pairing of one or a few V_H gene segments, an uncertain number of D, and at least three J_{H} genes combined with extensive diversity at the V_{H} -D and D- J_{H} junctions and with probable somatic mutations. Allogeneic antiidiotypic sera detect a variety of idiotopes on this family of proteins, two of which are strongly correlated with HV3 amino acid sequences (Figure 5). The Id HG3-bearing group have an invariant GYYGY sequence in HV3 absent from idiotype(-) molecules, although some (-) antibodies differ by only a single amino acid from this sequence. Similarly, the Id HG6 group uniquely has LGHYGY in the D region. Heavy- and light-chain recombination experiments support the heavy-chain location of these idiotopes, although contributions of light chains to these determinants are not ruled out (78).

Idiotopes of Anti-NIP Antibodies

Rajewsky and his colleagues have applied an important new approach to the localization of idiotopes by selecting from idiotope(+) cell lines spontaneous mutants that have lost the idiotope. These investigators have described a variety of idiotopes on mouse antibodies to the hapten 4hydroxy-3-nitro-5-iodophenylacetyl (NIP), including Ac38, a determinant outside the binding site, and Ac146, a determinant inside the binding site (79). Variants were isolated from a NIP-specific cell line B1-8. δ 1 expressing both determinants. One mutant that lost the binding-site determinant also lost the ability to bind NIP (80). This variant, B1-8.V1, differs from the parent by 10 amino acids in the V_H domain, resulting from recombination of the rearranged VDJ gene of the parent and a similar, presumably unrearranged, V_H gene (Figure 6). It is possible that Ac146 expression correlates with HV2 structures. An even more interesting variant, B1-8.V3, lost the nonbinding site determinant, Ac38, retaining both the binding-site idiotope and NIP specificity (81). This protein differs from the parent by a single amino acid in HV3. Thus, various idiotopes on NIP-specific antibodies involve, at a minimum, amino acids in HV2 and HV3, as well as pairing with appropriate L chains.

The approach of isolating idiotope-loss mutants provides an opportunity for determining each of the regions of an immunoglobulin critical for the expression of a given determinant. With sufficient effort, researchers should be able to map and precisely delimit even the most complex determinant.

Idiotopes of Anti-ARS Antibodies

Another extensively studied family of antibodies involves those specific for ρ -azophenylarsonate (ARS). Essentially, three families of anti-ARS antibodies, ARS-A, -B, and -C, are generated from very few germline genes and



ANTI-GALACTAN ANTIBODIES

Figure 5 Structural correlates of idiotopes on antigalactan antibodies. V_H regions of several BALB/c myeloma and hybridoma-derived antigalactan antibodies are shown along with reactivity patterns with two allogeneic antiidiotopes. All antibodies use very similar L chains. Correlates of idiotopes are indicated by boxes and an arrow. (Data from 77.)



Figure 6 Idiotope-loss variants of anti-NIP antibodies. Variants B1-8. δ .V1 and B1-8. δ .V3 were isolated from NIP-specific hybridoma cell line B1-8. δ 1 on the basis of selective loss of reactivity with one of two monoclonal antiidiotopes, Ac38 and Ac146. Amino acid sequences of V_H regions of the parent and variant-derived antibodies are shown. Idiotope expression and sites of structural correlation are shown. (Data from 80, 81.)

can be detected by heterologous antiidiotypic sera reactive with V_{H^-} associated determinants (20, 21, 82). The three families are expressed to different degrees among various strains of mice. The dominant component of A/J responses to ARS-KLH is ARS-A (21), whereas this family is virtually absent from that of BALB/c mice. ARS-A is nearly always generated from single V_H segment, D segment, and J_H segment genes. The absence of this V_H segment gene from the BALB/c genome seemed to explain the absence of the V_H -associated idiotype, CRI_A, from BALB/c anti-ARS sera (83, 84). However, Urbain and colleagues demonstrated that treatment of BALB/c mice with anti-CRI_A and ARS-KLH elicited CRI_A(+) anti-ARS antibodies (85, 86). Upon sequencing the V_H domains of two of these unusual antibodies, Meek et al found them to be over 45% different from A/J CRI_A(+) antibodies (87; Figure 7). However, once again the idiotope is strongly associated with sequences in the D region. Surprisingly, BALB/c CRI_Aassociated D regions were paired with two different J_H gene segments, and



Figure 7 Structural correlate of an idiotope on anti-ARS antibodies. Hybridoma producing $CRI_A(+)$ anti-ARS antibodies were selected from two strains of mice, A/J and BALB/c, with disparate V_H genomes. Amino acid sequences of V_H regions of three $CRI_A(+)$ antibodies are shown and the most striking structural correlates of CRI_A are indicated. (Data from 87.)

neither of them corresponds to the J_H segment that typically appears in A/J CRI_A(+) molecules. In addition, the BALB/c V_H gene segment could hardly be more different from the A/J V gene segment. Further, A/J CRI_A(-) antibodies were shown by Gridley et al to express the same V_H gene segment with different D segments (88). Not only does this result serve as a striking illustration of the importance of D regions to idiotypy, it speaks to its role in binding specificity.

At the same time, however, the two BALB/c $CRI_A(+)$ antibodies expressed L chains that in H-L recombination experiments were required for CRI_A expression. Therefore, it is still not clear whether CRI_A resides on D, L, or both.

USE OF PEPTIDES IN LOCALIZING IDIOTOPES

In all of the examples given so far, with the exception of the $V_{\rm K}$ idiotopes on anti-GAC antibodies, idiotope expression depends on specific H-L pairs. And, as we have just seen, distinguishing which chain of the pair bears the determinant or deciding whether the idiotope spans both chains is difficult. Probably most idiotopes require specific H-L pairs (89, 90), although exceptions are not uncommon (75, 91, 92).

Idiotypes have been defined until recently using antisera or monoclonal reagents derived from animals immunized with intact immunoglobulins. Clearly, this permits detection of complex, conformation-dependent idiotopes that are difficult to characterize. The last few years have seen an increased interest in using synthetic peptides or peptide fragments of proteins as immunogens (93). As far as idiotopes are concerned, a major advantage to this approach is that the determinant location is predetermined. Several groups of investigators have recently explored the usefulness of peptides in the study of idiotypy. Chen and colleagues have been successful in generating antiidiotypic reagents using synthetic peptides from HV2 and HV3 of human rheumatoid factor (94, 95). Anti-HV3 seemed to define a private idiotype binding only the protein with the identical sequence, while antisera to the HV2 region defined a crossreactive idiotype present on many rheumatoid factors, including some that were not sequence identical. Similarly, McMillan and colleagues found HV3 peptides of antidextran antibodies (Figure 2) to be effective stimulators of antiidiotypic antibodies (96). In many cases, unabsorbed rabbit anti-HV3 could distinguish between two immunoglobulins (M104 and J558) whose variable region domains differed by only two amino acids (Figures 2 and 3) (M. V. Seiden, R. Heuckeroth, B. Clevinger, S. McMillan, R. Lerner, J. M. Davie, submitted for publication). In addition to confirming that the IdI(M104) and IdI(J558) determinants are located in

HV3, these results illustrate the fact that HV3 idiotopes do not always require L-chain influences. Interestingly, antisera to HV1 and HV2 peptides of antidextran antibodies were less satisfactory as immunogens, in spite of the presumed location of IdX in HV2. Similarly, HV1 and HV2 peptides were less effective stimulants of antiidiotope responses in two other recent studies (97, 98) in which HV3 peptides were highly immunogenic. Finally, new idiotypic determinants were discovered by antisera raised to JH_1 peptide (99). It seems, in this case at least, that a single peptide is capable of eliciting multiple binding site-associated antiidiotopes.

It is intriguing, from several perspectives, that the third hypervariable region of H chains emerges as an important region for idiotypy. In all of the systems discussed in this review, HV3 and, to a lesser extent, HV2 are implicated as sites for idiotypic determinants. Because this region lies at the β bend between the eighth and ninth β -pleated sheets, it is tempting to speculate that this region may have high mobility and therefore increased immunogenicity, at least according to some (38, 39). The role of L chain may be to provide proper positioning of this H-chain region. Clearly, the hypervariable regions for both V_H and V_L approximate one another (100), and interactions are likely.

Although HV3 has a clear role in idiotope structure, it should not be concluded that other, parts of variable domains are not involved in idiotypy; rather, there is considerable evidence that many other sites are involved, and future structural studies will likely locate them. At the least, however, the present state of knowledge of idiotope structure suggests that general principles may emerge from this line of investigation that may permit predictions of idiotope location and structure. In time, with better understanding of the role of idiotypes in immune regulation and immunotherapy, it may be possible to bring practical application to this knowledge.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank our colleagues for their continuing interest and support: David Briles, Jerry Fulton, Daniel Hansburg, Richard Lerner, Seamus McMillan, Moon Nahm, Roger Perlmutter, and Antoine Srouji. Research from this laboratory was supported by grants AI-15926 and AI-15353 and training grants GM-02016, CA-09118, and GM-07157.

Literature Cited

1. Early, P., Huang, H., Davis, M., Calame, K., Hood, L. 1980. An immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region gene is generated from three segments of DNA: V_{H} , D and J_{H} . Cell 19:981

 Brack, C., Hirama, M., Lenhard-Schuller, R., Tonegawa, S. 1978. A complete immunoglobulin gene is created by somatic recombination. Cell 15:1

- Wood, C., Tonegawa, S. 1983. Diversity and joining segments of mouse immunoglobulin heavy chain genes are closely linked and in the same orientation: implication for the joining mechanisms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 3030
- Seidman, J. G., Max, E. E., Leder, P. 1978. A *k*-immunoglobulin gene is formed by site specific recombination without further somatic mutations. *Nature* 280: 370
- Manser, T., Huang, S.-Y., Gefter, M. L. 1984. Influence of clonal selection on the expression of immunoglobulin variable region genes. *Science* 226:1283
- Sakano, H., Huppi, K., Heinrich, G., Tonegawa, S. 1979. Sequences at the somatic recombination sites of immunoglobulin light chain genes. *Nature* 280:288
- Alt, F. W., Baltimore, D. 1982. Joining of immunoglobulin heavy chain gene segments: implications from a chromosome with evidence of three D-J_H fusions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79: 4118
- Gough, N. M., Bernard, O. 1981. Sequences of the joining region genes for immunoglobulin heavy chains and their role in generation of antibody diversity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:509
- Schiff, C., Milili, M., Fougereau, M. 1985. Functional and pseudogenes are similarly organized and may equally contribute to the extensive diversity of the IgV_HII family. *EMBO J.* 4:1225
- Gearhart, P. J., Johnson, N. D., Douglas, R., Hood, L. 1981. IgG antibodies to phosphorylcholine exhibit more diversity than their IgM counterparts. *Nature* 291:29
- Cook, W. D., Rudikoff, S., Giusti, A. M., Scharff, M. D. 1982. Somatic mutation in a cultured mouse myeloma cell affects antigen binding. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79: 1240
- Selsing, E., Storb, U. 1981. Somatic mutation of immunoglobulin light chain variable region genes. Cell 25:47
- Gearhart, P. J., Bogenhagen, D. F. 1983. Clusters of point mutation are found exclusively around rearranged antibody variable genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:3439
- Honjo, T. 1983. Immunoglobulin genes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:499
- 15. Milgrom, F., Dubiski, S. 1957. Anti-

genicity of antibodies of the same species. Nature 179:1351

- Kunkel, H. G., Mannik, M., Williams, R. C. 1963. Individual antigenic specificity of isolated antibodies. *Science* 140:1218
- Oudin, J., Michel, M. 1963. Une novelle forme d'allotypic des globulines gamma du serum lapin apparemet lice a la fronction et a la specificity anticorps. C. R. Acad. Sci. (Paris) 257:805
- Eichmann, K. 1975. Genetic control of antibody specificity in the mouse. *Immunogenetics* 2:491
- Eichmann, K., Kindt, T. J. 1971. The inheritance of individual antigenic specificities of rabbit antibodies to streptococcal carbohydrates. J. Exp. Med. 134:532
- Kuettner, M. G., Wang, A.-L., Nisonoff, A. 1972. Quantitative investigations of idiotypic antibodies. VI. Idiotypic specificity as a potential genetic marker for the variable regions of mouse immunoglobulin polypeptide chains. J. Exp. Med. 135: 579
- Milner, E. C. B., Capra, J. D. 1982.
 V_H families in the antibody response to p-azophenylarsonate: correlation between serology and amino acid sequence. J. Immunol. 129:193
- Gell, P. G. H., Kelus, A. S. 1964. Antiantibody or clone product? *Nature* 201:687
- Kunkel, H. G. 1970. Experimental approaches to homogenous antibody populations. Individual antigenic specificity, cross specificity and diversity of human antibodies. *Fed. Proc.* 29:55
- Binz, H., Wigzell, H. 1975. Shared idiotypic determinants on B and T lymphocytes reactive against the same antigenic determinants. I. Demonstration of similar or identical idiotypes on IgG molecules and T cell receptors with the same specificity. J. Exp. Med. 142:197
- Eichmann, K., Rajewsky, K. 1975. Induction of T and B cell immunity by anti-idiotypic antibody. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 5:661
- 26. Germain, R. N., Ju, S.-T., Kipps, T. J., Benacerraf, B., Dorf, M. E. 1979. Shared idiotypic determinants on antibodies and T-cell-derived suppressor factor specific for the random terpolymer Lglutamic acid⁶⁰-L-alanine³⁰-L-tyrosine¹⁰. J. Exp. Med. 149:613
- Sege, K., Peterson, P. A. 1978. Use of anti-idiotypic antibodies as cell-surface receptor probes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 75:2443
- 28. Schreiber, A. B., Couraud, P. O., Andre,

C., Vray, B., Strosberg, A. D. 1980. Antialprenolol anti-idiotypic antibodies bind to β -adrenergic receptors and modulate catecholamine-sensitive adenylate cyclase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 77:7385

- Wasserman, N. H., Penn, A. S., Freimuth, P. I., Treptow, N., Wentzel, S., Cleveland, W. L., Erlanger, B. F. 1982. Anti-idiotypic route to antiacetylcholine receptor antibodies and experimental myasthenia gravis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:4810
- Schechter, Y., Maron, R., Elias, D., Cohen, I. R. 1982. Autoantibodies to insulin receptor spontaneously develop as anti-idiotypes in mice immunized with insulin. *Science* 216:542
- 31. Noseworthy, J. H., Fields, B. N., Dichter, M. A., Sobotka, C., Pizer, E., Perry, L. L., Nepom, J. T., Greene, M. I. 1983. Cell receptors for the mammalian reovirus. I. Syngeneic monoclonal antiidiotypic antibody identifies a cell surface receptor for reovirus. J. Immunol. 131:2533
- Sacks, D. L., Kelsoe, G. H., Sachs, D. H. 1983. Induction of immune responses with anti-idiotypic antibodies : Implications for the induction of protective immunity. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 6:79
- Nisonoff, A., Lamoyi, E. 1981. Implications of the presence of an internal image of the antigen in anti-idiotypic antibodies: Possible applications to vaccine production. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 21:397
- Jerne, N. K. 1974. Towards a network theory of the immune system. Ann. Immunol. 125C: 373
- Cosenza, H., Kohler, H. 1972. Specific suppression of the antibody response by antibodies to receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 69:2701
- Miller, R. A., Maloney, D. G., Warnke, R., Levy, R. 1982. Treatment of B cell lymphoma with monoclonal antiidiotypic antibody. *New Engl. J. Med.* 306:517
- 37. Benjamin, D. C., Berzofsky, J. A., East, I. J., Gurd, F. R. N., Hannum, C., Leach, S. J., Margoliash, E., Michael, J. G., Miller, A., Prager, E. M., Reichlin, M., Sercarz, E. E., Smith-Gill, S. J., Todd, P. E., Wilson, A. C. 1984. The antigenic structure of proteins: A reappraisal. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:67
- Tainer, J. A., Getzoff, E. D., Paterson, Y., Olson, A. J., Lerner, R. A. 1985. The atomic mobility component of protein antigenicity. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3:501
- 39. Westhof, E., Altschuh, D., Moras, D.,

Bloomer, A. C., Mondragon, A., Klug, A., Van Regenmortel, M. H. 1984. Correlation between segmental mobility and the location of antigenic determinants in proteins. *Nature* 311:123

- Rajewsky, K., Takemori, T. 1983. Genetics, expression and function of idiotypes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:569
- Rudikoff, S. 1983. Immunoglobulin structure-function correlates. Antigen binding and idiotypes. Contemp. Top. Mol. Immunol. 9:169
- Urbain, J., Wiulmart, C., Cazenave, P.-A. 1981. Idiotypic regulation in immune networks. Contemp. Top. Mol. Immunol. 8:113
- Kabat, E. A. 1984. Idiotypic determinants, minigenes, and the antibody combining site. In *The Biology of Idiotypes*, ed. M. I. Greene, A. Nisonoff, pp. 3–17. New York : Plenum
- 44. Greenspan, N. S., Davie, J. M. 1985. Analysis of idiotope variability as a function of distance from the binding site for anti-streptococcal group A carbohydrate antibodies. J. Immunol. 135:1914
- Greenspan, N. S., Davie, J. M. 1985. Serologic and topographic characterization of idiotopes on murine monoclonal anti-streptococcal group A carbohydrate antibodies. J. Immunol. 134:1065
- 46. Dickerman, J., Clevinger, B., Friedenson, B. 1981. Loss of an individual idiotype on chemical modification: A strategy for assigning idiotypic determinants. J. Exp. Med. 153: 1275
- Binion, S. B., Rodkey, L. S. 1983. Destruction of antibody idiotopes with ultra-low concentrations of reducing agents. *Mol. Immunol.* 20:475
- Blomberg, B., Geckeler, W. R., Weigert, M. 1972. Genetics of the antibody response to dextran in mice. Science 177:178
- Hansburg, D., Briles, D. E., Davie, J. M. 1976. Analysis of the diversity of murine antibodies to dextran B1355. I. Generation of a large pauci-clonal response by a bacterial vaccine. J. Immunol. 117: 569
- Newman, B., Sugii, S., Kabat, E. A., Torii, M., Clevinger, B. L., Schilling, J., Bond, M., Davie, J. M., Hood, L. 1983.
 Combining site specificities of mouse hybridoma antibodies to dextran B1355S. J. Exp. Med. 157:130
- Weigert, M., Raschke, W. C., Carson, D., Cohn, M. 1974. Immunochemical analysis of the idiotypes of mouse myeloma proteins with specificity for levan or dextran. J. Exp. Med. 139:137

- 52. Hansburg, D., Briles, D. E., Davie, J. M. 1977. Analysis of the diversity of murine antibodies to dextran B1355. II. Demonstration of multiple idiotypes with variable expression in several strains. J. Immunol. 119:1406
- 53. Schilling, J., Clevinger, B., Davie, J. M., Hood, L. 1980. Amino acid sequence of homogeneous antibodies to dextran and DNA rearrangements in heavy chain V-region gene segments. *Nature* 283:35
- Weigert, M. G., Cesari, M., Yonkovich, S. J., Cohn, M. 1970. Variability in the lambda light chain sequences of mouse antibody. *Nature* 228: 1045
- Feldmann, R. J., Potter, M., Glaudemans, C. P. J. 1981. A hypothetical space-filling model of the V-regions of the galactan-binding myeloma immunoglobulin J539. Mol. Immunol. 8:683
- 56. Clevinger, B., Schilling, J., Hood, L., Davie, J. M. 1980. Structural correlates of cross-reactive and individual idiotypic determinants on murine antibodies to $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 3)$ dextran. J. Exp. Med. 151:1059
- 57. Clevinger, B., Thomas, J., Davie, J., Schilling, J., Bond, M., Hood, L., Kearney, J. 1981. Anti-dextran antibodies: sequence and idiotypes. In *Immunoglobulin Idiotypes*, eds. C. Janeway, E. E. Sercarz, H. Wigzell, pp. 159– 68. New York: Academic
- 58. Stohrer, R., Lee, M. C., Kearney, J. F. 1983. Analysis of the anti- $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 3)$ dextran response with monoclonal antiidiotype antibodies. J. Immunol. 131: 1375
- Lieberman, R., Potter, M., Mushinski, E. B., Humphrey, W. Jr., Rudikoff, S. 1974. Genetics of a new Ig V_H (T15 idiotype) marker in the mouse regulating antibody to phosphorylcholine. J. Exp. Med. 139:983
- Claflin, J. L., Lieberman, R., Davie, J. M. 1974. Clonal nature of the immune response to phosphorylcholine. II. Idiotypic specificity and binding characteristics of anti-phosphorylcholine antibodies. J. Immunol. 112: 1747
- Claffin, J. L. 1976. Uniformity in the clonal repertoire for the immune response to phosphorylcholine in mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 6:669
- Claflin, J. L., Hudak, S., Maddalena, A. 1981. Anti-phosphocholine hybridoma antibodies. I. Direct evidence for three distinct families in the murine response. J. Exp. Med. 153:352
- Crews, S., Griffin, J., Huang, H., Calame, K., Hood, L. 1981. A single V_H gene segment encodes the immune re-

sponse to phosphorylcholine: somatic mutation is correlated with the class of

- the antibody. Cell 25:59
 64. Hood, L. E., Potter, M., McKean, D. 1970. Immunoglobulin structure: Amino terminal sequences of kappa chains from genetically similar mice (BALB/c). Science 170:1207
- 65. Hood, L., Loh, E., Hubert, J., Barstad, P., Eaton, B., Early, P., Fuhrman, J., Johnson, N., Kronenberg, M., Schilling, J. 1976. The structure and genetics of mouse immunoglobulins: An analysis of NZB myeloma proteins and sets of BALB/c myeloma proteins binding particular haptens. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 41:817
- Rudikoff, S., Potter, M. 1978. Kappa chain variable region from M167, a phosphorylcholine binding myeloma protein. *Biochemistry* 17:2703
- Appella, E. 1980. Amino acid sequence of the light chain variable region of M511, a phosphorylcholine-binding murine myeloma protein. Mol. Immunol. 17:711
- Perlmutter, R. M., Crews, S. T., Douglas, R., Sorensen, G., Johnson, N., Nivera, N., Gearhart, P. J., Hood, L. 1984. The generation of diversity in phosphorylcholine-binding antibodies. *Adv. Immunol.* 35:1
- Kim, S., Davis, M., Sinn, E., Patten, P., Hood, L. 1981. Antibody diversity: somatic hypermutation of rearranged V_H genes. Cell 27: 573
- Gearhart, P. J., Bogenhagen, D. F. 1983. Clusters of point mutations are found exclusively around rearranged antibody variable genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80: 3439
- Clarke, S. H., Rudikoff, S. 1984. Evidence for gene conversion among immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region genes. J. Exp. Med. 159:773
- Berek, C. 1984. The D segment defines the T15 idiotype: the immunoresponse of A/J mice to Pneumococcus pneumoniae. Eur. J. Immunol. 14:1043
- Maddalena, A., Hudak, S., Claflin, J. L. 1984. Idiotypes of anti-phosphocholine antibodies: structural correlates. Ann. Immunol. 135C: 117
- Nishinarita, S., Claffin, J. L., Lieberman, R. 1985. T15 D region germ line amino acid sequences distinguished by monoclonal anti-idiotope antibody. J. Immunol. 134:436
- Fulton, R. J., Davie, J. M. 1984. Influence of the immunoglobulin heavy chain locus on expression of the VK₁^{GAC} light chain. J. Immunol. 133:465
- 76. Rao, D. N., Rudikoff, S., Krutzch, H.,

Potter, M. 1979. Structural evidence for independent joining region gene in immunoglobulin heavy chains from anti-galactan myeloma proteins and its potential role in generating diversity in complementarity determining regions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76:2890

- Rudikoff, S., Pawlita, M., Pumphrey, T., Mushinski, E., Potter, M. 1983. Galactan-binding antibodies. Diversity and structure of idiotypes. J. Exp. Med. 158:1385
- Manjula, B. N., Glaudemans, C. P. J., Mushinski, E. B., Potter, M. 1976. Subunit interactions in mouse myeloma proteins with anti-galactan activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 73:932
- Reth, M., Imanishi-Kari, T., Rajewsky, K. 1979. Analysis of the repertoire of anti-(4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl) acetyl (NP) antibodies in C57BL/6 mice by cell fusion. II. Characterization of idiotopes by monoclonal anti-idiotope antibodies. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 9:1004
- Bruggemann, M., Radbruch, A., Rajewsky, K. 1982. Immunoglobulin V region variants in hybridoma cells. I. Isolation of a variant with altered idiotypic and antigen binding specificity. *EMBO J.* 1:629
- Radbruch, A., Zaiss, S., Kappen, C., Bruggemann, M., Beyreuther, K., Rajewsky, K. 1985. Drastic change in idiotypic but not antigen binding specificity of an antibody by a single amino-acid substitution. *Nature* 315: 506
- Milner, E. C. B., Capra, J. D. 1983. Structural analysis of monoclonal antiarsonate antibodies: Idiotypic specificities are determined by the heavy chain. *Mol. Immunol.* 20:39
- 83. Sims, J., Rabbitts, T. H., Estess, P., Slaughter, C. A., Tucker, P. W., Capra, J. D. 1982. Somatic mutation in genes for the variable portion of the immunoglobulin heavy chain. *Science* 216:309
- 84. Šiekevitz, M., Gefter, M. L., Brodeur, P., Riblet, R., Marshak-Rothstein, A. 1982. The genetic basis of antibody production: The dominant anti-arsonate idiotype response of the strain A mouse. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 12:1023
- Moser, M., Leo, O., Hiernaux, J., Urbain, J. 1983. Idiotypic manipulations in mice: BALB/c mice can express the cross-reactive idiotype of A/J mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 4474
- Leo, O., Slaoui, M., Marvel, J., Milner, E. C. B., Hiernaux, J., Moser, M., Capra, J. D., Urbain, J. 1985. Idiotypic analysis of polyclonal and monoclonal

anti-p-azophenylarsonate antibodies of BALB/c mice expressing the major cross-reactive idiotype of the A/J strain. J. Immunol. 134: 1734

- 87. Meek, K., Jeske, D., Slaoui, M., Leo, O., Urbain, J., Capra, J. D. 1984. Complete amino acid sequence of heavy chain variable regions derived from two monoclonal anti-p-azophenylarsonate antibodies of BALB/c mice expressing the major cross-reactive idiotype of the A/J strain. J. Exp. Med. 160: 1070
- Gridley, T., Margolies, M. N., Gefter, M. L. 1985. The association of various D elements with a single immunoglobulin V_H gene segment: Influence on the expression of a major cross-reactive idiotype. J. Immunol. 134:1236
- Eichmann, K. 1978. Expression and function of idiotypes on lymphocytes. *Adv. Immunol.* 26:195
- Hopper, J. E., Nisonoff, A. 1971. Individual antigenic specificity of immunoglobulins. Adv. Immunol. 13:57
- Yarmush, M. L., Sogn, J. A., Mudgett, M., Kindt, T. J. 1977. The inheritance of antibody V regions in the rabbit : Linkage of an H-chain-specific idiotype to immunoglobulin allotypes. J. Exp. Med. 145:916
- 92. Cannon, L. E., Woodland, R. T. 1983. Rapid and sensitive procedure for assigning idiotypic determinants to heavy or light chains: Application to idiotopes associated with the major cross-reactive idiotype of A/J antiphenylarsonate antibodies. *Mol. Immu*nol. 20: 1283
- Lerner, R. A. 1984. Antibodies of predetermined specificity in biology and medicine. Adv. Immunol. 36:1
- 94. Chen, P. P., Houghten, R. A., Fong, S., Rhodes, G. H., Gilbertson, T. A., Vaughan, J. H., Lerner, R. A., Carson, D. A. 1984. Anti-hypervariable region antibody induced by a defined peptide: An approach for studying the structural correlates of idiotypes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:1784
- 95. Chen, P. P., Fong, S., Normansell, D., Houghten, R. A., Karras, J. G., Vaughan, J. H., Carson, D. A. 1984. Delineation of a cross-reactive idiotype on human auto-antibodies with antibody against a synthetic peptide. J. Exp. Med. 159:1502
- 96. McMillan, S., Seiden, M. V., Houghten, R. A., Clevinger, B., Davie, J. M., Lerner, R. A. 1983. Synthetic idiotypes: The third hypervariable region of murine anti-dextran antibodies. Cell 35:859
- 97. Goldfien, R. D., Chen, P. P., Fong, S.,

Carson, D. A. 1985. Synthetic peptides corresponding to third hypervariable region of human monoclonal IgM rheumatoid factor heavy chains define an immunodominant idiotype. J. Exp. Med. 162:756

98. Thielmans, K., Rothbard, J. B., Levy, S., Levy, R. 1985. Syngeneic anti-idiotypic immune responses to a B cell lymphoma. Comparison between heavy chain hypervariable region peptides and intact Ig as immunogens. J. Exp. Med. 162:19

- 99. Seiden, M. V., Clevinger, B., McMillan, S., Srouji, A., Lerner, R., Davie, J. M. 1984. Chemical synthesis of idiotopes. Evidence that antisera to the same JH₁ peptide detect multiple binding siteassociated idiotopes. J. Exp. Med. 159:1338
- Davies, D. R., Metzger, H. 1983. Structural basis of antibody function. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:87



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4 : 167–204 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION:

Interactions of Factors and Corresponding Receptors

Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono

Institute for Cancer Research, Osaka University Medical School, 1-1-50, Fukushima, Fukushimaku, Osaka, Japan

INTRODUCTION

The antibody response to nominal antigen such as hapten-carrier conjugates involves the cooperation of hapten-specific B cells and carrier-specific helper T cells (1–4). In addition to the carrier specificity, helper T cells recognize determinants encoded by genes in the class-II major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on antigen-presenting cells as well as on B cells (5–13). The interaction between helper T cells and antigen-presenting accessory cells (APC) is genetically restricted by products of the major histocompatibility complex (14–16). However, the cellular interactions between helper T cells and B cells have been reported as restricted by self-MHC products (5–7, 10–12, 17) or not restricted by the MHC elements (18, 19).

Since genetic restrictions imposed by products of the MHC are considered as a requirement for the recognition by T cells of self-MHC determinants expressed by non-T cells (APC), this controversy can be explained on the basis of whether T cells must necessarily recognize the MHC determinants expressed by B cells in order to trigger them to secrete antibodies. Since the original description of a role for T cells in the antigendependent stimulation of B cells, a great deal of effort has gone toward elucidating the mechanism by which helper T cells function.

A series of studies demonstrated that some members of the B-cell population participate in cognate cellular interactions with helper T cells. Cognate interaction refers to the recognition of both antigen and a class-II MHC molecule on the B-cell surface as a requirement for activation. Other

168 HAMAOKA & ONO

B-cell populations have the property to be stimulated by several unrestricted nonspecific lymphokines. Attempts to isolate and characterize soluble helper-T-cell factors and to determine how these act in synergy with antigens to stimulate B cells have not yet established their number, their function, or whether these factors act in a definite order. Recent studies suggest that induction of B-cell proliferation requires T-cell factors that are distinct from those that induce B-cell differentiation to antibody-secreting cells (20–22). In a murine system with the use of antiimmunoglobulin (anti-Ig) as a polyclonal B-cell activator, Howard, Paul, and coworkers (20, 21) suggested that a series of exogenous signals were necessary for anti-Igstimulated B cells to proliferate and differentiate. Thus, anti-Ig was found to stimulate resting B cells to enter an early G1 phase, where they acquired responsiveness to a T cell-derived factor, B-cell growth factor (BCGF). BCGF was found to be necessary to drive the cells into late G1 phase. At this stage of action, they required a macrophage factor, interleukin 1 (IL-1), to enter the S phase (23, 24). IL-1 and/or BCGF-driven B-cell proliferation is thought to generate daughter cells capable of differentiating into Ig-secreting cells as a consequence of responses to a battery of B-cell differentiation factors (BCDF). The sequence of B-cell differentiation events remains obscure, however.

In this review we consider the current understanding of B-cell differentiation factors that govern late events in the development of antibody responses. Although it has recently been reported that B cells also produce BCGF (25) and BCDF (26), and some B-cell populations are regulated in their proliferation and differentiation by macrophage-derived IL-1 (20, 21, 25) and accessory cell-derived factor(s) (27), we concentrate the discussion on T cell-derived B-cell differentiation factors. After an initial listing of the distinct T cell-derived B-cell differentiation factors identified to date, an attempt is made to illustrate the interactions of involved factors and corresponding receptors. We refer to this background information when analyzing the data to demonstrate how these T cell-derived B-cell differentiation factors play an important role in antibody responses under physiological and some pathological conditions. We then attempt to draw some general hypothesis about the mode of action of B-cell differentiation factors that are influenced by class-II MHC-mediated cell-cell interactions.

FACTORS INVOLVED IN THE DIFFERENTIATION OF ACTIVATED B CELLS

After the original discovery of T-B cell collaboration in the antibody response, several investigators further recognized that the B-cell response

could be triggered under certain circumstances in which B and T cells were independently stimulated by determinants present on two distinctly separate molecules. The mechanism underlying such B-cell triggering was interpreted to be the mediation of the T-cell effect via the release of molecules with T cell-replacing factor (TRF) activities (28–33).

In fact, several laboratories have demonstrated that resting B lymphocytes can be stimulated to proliferate and differentiate into immunoglobulin (Ig)-synthesizing cells by anti-IgM antibodies together with a series of T cell-derived growth and differentiation factors (34-39). Howard, Paul & associates, for example, have utilized the anti-IgM polyclonal B-cell activation system as an effective means of separating proliferation and differentiation events. The proliferation of anti-IgM-activated B cells can be stimulated by B-cell stimulatory factor p1 (BSFp1) (34, 39). B-cell growth factor-I (BCGF-I) or B cell-stimulating factor, provisional 1 (BSFp1) has been defined as a T cell-derived lymphokine that acts as a costimulator of polyclonal B-cell growth in B cells cultured with anti- μ , anti- δ , or anti-Ig. Based on a number of studies they suggested that anti-Ig induces cell enlargement, entry into the G1 phase of the cell cycle, and expression of receptors for BSFp1. BSFp1 subsequently induces entry of the cells into S phase. However, this process is unable to induce production of antibody response. Recently, by adding BSFp1 prior to anti-Ig, Vitetta and associates (40), and Paul and colleagues (137), found evidence that BSFp1 renders cells susceptible to anti-Ig-mediated entry of cells into G2/S phase. In contrast, if cells were first treated with anti-Ig, washed, and then cultured with BSFp1, they did not enter S phase. These results suggest that BSFp1 acts on the resting B cells not as a growth factor but rather as a lymphokine that prepares B cells for anti-Ig-mediated activation.

Moreover, Nakanishi et al (41) reported that differentiation to high rate Ig synthesis of such activated B cells depends upon two additional T cellderived factors. One (B151-TRF), required early in the course of the response, is found in the supernatant of the B151K12 T-cell hybridoma line established in our laboratory (42). The second factor, (EL-TRF), can be added relatively late in the course of the culture (43) and is present in supernatants of EL-4 thymoma cells that have been stimulated with phorbol esters. These two factors are further distinguished by kinetic studies that clearly demonstrated their independent roles in the development of Ig-secreting cells: B151-TRF is required in the last 48 hr in a 4-day culture, whereas EL-TRF appears to function in the final 24 hr. The actions of B151-TRF and EL-TRF are apparently antigen nonspecific and are dependent on the presence or prior action of BSFp1. EL-TRF is not active in the anti-IgM synergy assay described above by Howard & co-workers

170 намаока & опо

(20, 21). It is, therefore, readily distinguished from the proliferation cofactor BSFp1.

Data of Nakanishi et al (44), moreover, demonstrated that a combination of lymphokines was required for a maximum IgM response in their system and that if any one of these activities was missing, there was marginal or no IgM response from resting B cells. Thus, this system allowed a detailed study of the relationship between each step in the B-cell response process and the appearance of mRNA involved in the secretion of IgM. These investigators examined levels of membrane-type IgM heavy-chain (μ m) mRNA, secretory-type IgM heavy-chain (μ s) mRNA, and total μ H-chain mRNA, as well as J-chain mRNA and κ chain mRNA in resting B cells and in anti-IgM-stimulated B cells that had been cultured with various T cellderived growth and differentiation factors. Their results indicate a striking induction of μ s mRNA and J-chain mRNA, and an increase in the μ s/ μ m mRNA ratio which occurred at the end of the response process, when all T cell-derived growth and differentiation factors have acted upon these cells. No major specific changes were detected in cells that had completed only a part of the total response. In their system, 10-30% of the cells cultured with anti-IgM in conjunction with these three sets of T cell-derived factors possessed cytoplasmic IgM.

In these and other experiments (45), the presence of B151-TRF was obligatory for the effective induction of antibody-forming cells. B151-TRF was originally defined in antigen-specific responses as a molecule that induces antigen-primed B cells to undergo specific antibody-forming cell development in the presence of antigen (46). The T cell-replacing nature of the B151-TRF was determined on the basis of its triggering of the antihapten IgG PFC responses of T cell-depleted hapten-primed spleen cells upon stimulation with the hapten-heterologous carrier conjugate. More definitively, DNP-D-GL (D-glutamine: D-lysine copolymer), a compound to which the T cells do not respond, was also able to trigger DNP-primed B cells in the presence of the B151-TRF (42). Leibson et al (47, 48) have reported that interferon (IFN) could induce terminal differentiation of B cells in combination with IL-2. Our results, however, distinguished B151-TRF from a number of previously described lymphokines, because B151-TRF material did not show any significant BSFp1, IL-2, or IFN activity. Thus, the B151-TRF that is biologically distinct from IL-2 and IFN can directly induce terminal differentiation of a portion of antigenspecific B cells to become antibody-forming cells.

In view of the differences in assays utilized in the above two laboratories, it cannot yet be definitely stated that the TRF activity found in culture fluid supernatant (CFS) of B151 T-cell hybridoma used in our assay is identical to the activity demonstrated by Nakanishi et al (43, 44). Nevertheless, the
similar biological role and restricted cellular source of the activities studied in both laboratories as well as the fact that B151-TRF is active in the dextran sulfate synergy assay may indicate that the same molecule may be responsible for the functional activity observed in both assays.

B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION FACTOR WITH APPARENT PROLIFERATION ACTIVITY ON ACTIVATED B CELLS

Swain, Dutton et al (49, 50) recently found B-cell growth factor (BCGF-II) in CFS from antigen-activated T-cell clones or T-cell hybridomas. According to their findings, BCGF-II activity can be assayed in a costimulator assay with normal B cells and dextran sulfate or with the BCL-1 in vivo line. Moreover, CFS of B151K12 exerted potent BCGF-II activities on BCL-1 cells.

To examine whether B-cell growth-inducing activity is mediated by the same TRF molecule responsible for inducing differentiation of activated B cells, we undertook purification of the B151-TRF molecule (51). The purification scheme consisted of ammonium sulfate precipitation, DEAEcellulose chromatography, Blue-Sepharose chromatography, hydroxylapatite chromatography, gel permeation with fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC), and disc polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Overall, B151-TRF was purified approximately 34,000-fold with a maximum 3.8%recovery of activity. During the course of the purification procedure, BCGF-II activity was simultaneously evaluated. BCGF-II activities always resided in the same fraction in which B151-TRF activity was detected. Physicochemical characterization of B151-TRF revealed that the active molecule is hydrophobic, with Mr 50,000-60,000 on gel permeation chromatography and 18,000-19,000 on SDS-PAGE. Highly purified B151-TRF activity was lost after treatment with trypsin but not with RNase. Moreover, it bound to lima bean agglutinin (LBA)-Sepharose, indicating that B151-TRF is a glycosylated protein containing N-acetylgalactosamine residues. Further detailed analyses convincingly demonstrated that B-cell growth and differentiation activity of B151 supernatant is mediated by a single TRF molecule (52). This conclusion was derived from the following sets of observations: (a) B-cell growth and differentiation factor (BGDF) activity was copurified by reversed-phase HPLC and LBA-agarose column. (b) This active fraction revealed a single band of 19kd by SDS-PAGE and autoradiography analysis by utilizing ²²⁵I-labelled material. (c) The induction of B-cell growth and differentiation by this molecule was blocked comparably by adding N-acetylgalactosamine in the culture. Thus, these studies indicated that a single TRF molecule induces a certain

172 намаока & оло

population of activated B cells to undergo both clonal expansion and differentiation into Ig-secreting cells.

B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION FACTOR WITHOUT APPARENT PROLIFERATION ACTIVITY ON ACTIVATED B CELLS

One aspect of factor-mediated regulation of B-cell differentiation still requiring significant exploration is whether or not all the B-cell differentiation factors are capable of stimulating proliferation. Indeed, this characterization is hard to resolve, since it is unclear whether or not B cells require one or several cycles of division before producing antibody. However, this may not be a crucial issue for understanding the mechanisms of B-cell differentiation governed by the T cells or their products. Rather, this distinction may provide us with information on how many factors are involved in the consecutive sequence of B-cell differentiation and, secondly, how different these factors are from each other with respect to the molecular mechanisms of B-cell activation.

Kishimoto and colleagues (53) have reported BCDF-secreting human Tcell hybridomas that secrete a factor that does not support B-cell proliferation. The BCDF produced by their newly HTLV-transformed human T-cell line (TCL-NaI) had a M_r of 35,000 and a pI value of 5.5. This distinguishes BGDF, which was eluted in the fractions corresponding to M_r of more than 60,000 and pI values of 5 to 6 (54).

In the murine system, EL-TRF may represent a B-cell differentiation factor that lacks proliferation activity on activated B cells. In concert with B151-TRF, EL-TRF acts to drive anti-Ig-activated B cells into Ig-secreting cells (21, 41). The EL-TRF is distinguished, as mentioned previously, by kinetic analyses showing that EL-TRF acts at a much later stage of an Igsynthesizing response (i.e. day 3 versus day 2 of B151-TRF of a 4-day anti-IgM-induced response). EL-TRF does not act in either the anti-IgM or the dextran sulfate synergy proliferation. Biochemical studies indicate that EL-TRF is trypsin-sensitive, has an approximate M_r of 30,000–40,000 by gel filtration analysis, an isoelectric point of 4.5, and is moderately hydrophobic as determined by phenyl Sepharose chromatography (43).

IL-2 AND GAMMA-INTERFERON AS DIFFERENTIATION FACTORS ON ACTIVATED B CELLS

It has been reported that interleukin 2 (IL-2) also expresses its function as a B-cell differentiation factor under certain experimental conditions (55–59).

The observation that EL-TRF activity was found in the pH 4.5 fraction of an isoelectric focusing separation, close to the pI of IL-2 (43), raised the question as to whether IL-2 is also a B-cell differentiation factor. In fact, EL-4 culture supernatant contains two molecular species (EL-TRFs) that have differentiative activity. One comigrates with IL-2, and its activity is blocked by antibody to the IL-2 receptor. IL-2 was found to have EL-TRF activity, by measurement of the induction of cytoplastic IgM, and also caused an 8– 16-fold increase in levels of mRNA for the secretory form of μ heavy chains when used on B cells cocultured with anti-IgM, BSFp1, and B151-TRF. An important observation relating to the action of IL-2 as an EL-TRF is that high concentrations (100 U/ml or above) of this lymphokine are required for induction of IgM synthesis. The other product with EL-TRF activity has an M_r of 32,000. This material lacks IL-2 and γ -interferon (IFN) activity. Moreover, antibody to the IL-2 receptor does not impair this EL-TRF function (43).

Results from some other recent studies have also suggested that γ -IFN may be a component of TRF. Indirect evidence was obtained from the acidlabile character of TRF present in antigen- or Con A-stimulated-T-cell supernatant (60, 61) and also from a correlation of γ -IFN levels and TRF activity of supernatant of T-cell hybridomas (62) in some systems. This view is further supported by recent data (63, 64) showing that recombinant DNA-derived murine γ -IFN can act as a second component of a complementing TRF system to support PFC responses to antigen (63). Thus, the data suggest that purified γ -IFN may modulate B cells in their maturation to antibody production.

Kishimoto and colleagues (65) also recently reported the effects of IL-2 and γ -IFN on the activation of human B cells with recombinant IL-2 and γ -IFN. BCDF-responsive B-lymphoblastoid cell lines and highly purified human B cells were employed as target B cells. IL-2 or γ -IFN did not induce any IgG or IgM secretion in the B-cell lines CESS and SKW6-CL4, in which IgG and IgM were inducible with conventional T-cell factor(s). IL-2 alone did not induce the optimum production of Ig but did induce proliferation in the Staphylococcus Cowan I (SAC)-stimulated B-cell population. The addition of γ -IFN together with IL-2 induced IgM and IgG secretion that was comparable with that induced by a conventional Tcell factor(s). IL-2 induced proliferation not only in SAC-stimulated B cells but also in an anti- μ -stimulated B-cell population. Double staining of anti- μ -stimulated B cells with anti-Ig and anti-TAC antibodies demonstrated that anti- μ stimulation induced an increased expression of TAC antigen on surface Ig-positive B cells.

All of these results strongly support the notion that IL-2 can act as a growth factor for B cells, and γ -IFN can mediate differentiation of B cells.

However, it is not clear to what extent this is accomplished through the pathway normally regulated by TRF.

B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION FACTOR ACTING ON RESTING B CELLS

One of the major issues regarding activation of B lymphocytes is whether resting B cells which usually require cognate interaction with T cells for their activation can be directly stimulated by certain lymphokines to differentiate into antibody-secreting cells. As summarized above, a recent model describing B-cell activation by lymphokines (21, 22) proposes that anti-Ig and B-cell growth factors synergize to induce polyclonal proliferation of resting B cells. B-cell differentiation factors then induce Ig secretion by the activated cells. Although most published data are compatible with this model, they do not exclude the possibility that different lymphokines act on different subsets of B cells, rather than sequentially on the same B cells. There is also controversy as to whether lymphokines exist that can move a resting B cell in stage G0 to Ig-secretion.

B-Cell Maturation Factor

Some T cell-derived factors have the ability to activate resting G0-phase B cells to undergo terminal differentiation. Melchers and colleagues (66) reported that although small B cells (isolated on the basis of cell density) could not proliferate in response to B-cell stimulation factor, they could differentiate into Ig-secreting cells. B-cell activation is characterized by a transition from the G0 to G1 phase of the cell cycle and by cellular enlargement. In their system, a factor with M_r of 30,000 was isolated from the supernatant of a helper-T-cell line specific for horse erythrocytes. This factor has been designated as B-cell replication and maturation factor. Leclercq and associates (67) also reported that helper-T-cell supernatant is sufficient to induce a polyclonal proliferation and differentiation of resting B cells. The differentiation of resting B cells in the presence of T-cell supernatant may operate through a pathway other than the sequential one summarized earlier and may be mediated by some unique lymphokine(s).

Sidman and colleagues also recently identified a B-cell differentiation factor acting on the resting B cells and designated as B-cell maturation factor (BMF). BMF appears to cause polyclonal Ig secretion of normal B cells in high frequency with virtually no, or only marginal, proliferation. The responding B cells include neonatal B cells, B cells from various organs, nu/nu B cells, and B cells from CBA/N mice. Response of B cells separated by Percoll density gradients or 1 g sedimentation velocity gradients indicates that BMF acts upon small resting B cells. According to Sidman and colleagues, BMF is a mildly acidic (pI 5–6) and extremely hydrophobic glycoprotein, with an apparent M_r of 50,000–55,000 daltons on gel permeation and 16,000 of SDS-PAGE (68, 69).

B151-TRF 2

Recently we have found another unique B-cell differentiation factor acting on resting B cells in the supernatant of B151-T hybridoma (S. Ono, S. Hayashi, Y. Takahama, K. Dabashi, Y. Kato, K. Nakanishi, W. E. Paul, T. Hamaoka, manuscript in preparation). Further detailed analyses indicate that the B151 supernatant factor responsible for the differentiationinducing activity on resting B cells is distinct from the previously described B151-TRF, which causes growth and differentiation of activated B cells. [Thus, the B151-TRF described in the section above can be renamed B151-BGDF according to the new system of nomenclature (39, 21, 22). For reasons of simplicity, however, we will refer to this as B151-TRF 1.] The newly found factor activates resting splenic B cells prepared by Percoll density centrifugation, as well as neonatal B cells, with a striking increase in IgM-secreting cells in 4- or 5-day culture without antigenic stimulation. (Thus, this factor can be designated as B151-BCDF. We will refer to this new factor as B151-TRF 2.) Approximately 10-20% of the total B cells added to the culture responded to this factor. Loss of B151-TRF 2 activity by treatment with either Sepharose-bound proteolytic enzymes or heating at 56°C for 30 min indicated that the activity is mediated by protein. The response of C3H/HeJ and B10ScCr B cells (which are low or nonresponders to lipopolysaccharide) strongly argues against the possibility that the activity of B151-TRF 2 is mediated by lipopolysaccharide contamination of culture medium. Although B151-TRF 2 induces differentiation of resting B cells, this factor is distinct from the Sidman's BMF. The differences were determined by the following observations: (a) B151-TRF 2 is a rather acidic (pI 4.3-4.5) and extremely hydrophobic (more than B151-TRF 1) protein without detectable sugar, as is revealed by the lack of significant binding to various lectin-columns. The apparent Mr was 30,000-35,000 on gel permeation (Y. Kato, S. Ono, Y. Takahama, T. Hamaoka, manuscript in preparation). This is in sharp contrast with the 50,000-55,000 M_r glycoprotein nature of BMF. (b) CBA/N B cells are nonresponders to B151-TRF 2. This is again in sharp contrast to the positive response of CBA/N B cells to BMF. Interestingly, DBA/2Ha B cells, which are nonresponders to B151-TRF 1 (70) and BMF (Sidman; personal communication), respond quite well to B151-TRF 2.

The B151-TRF-1 and B151-TRF 2 activities could be selectively absorbed with BCL1 and DBA/2Ha B cells, respectively. These cell lines were selected by the preferential expression of the TRF 1 and TRF 2 receptors on their

surface. Moreover, TRF 2 activity revealed specific binding-affinity to Nacetylglucosamine-coupled agarose beads but not to any lectin-coupled beads so far tested, whereas TRF 1 activity showed no binding to sugarcoupled bead but did bind to the LBA column. These results, in conjunction with the preferential inactivation of TRF2 activity by heat treatment (56°C, 30 min) without affecting TRF-1 activity, clearly indicate that the activities are mediated by two distinct molecules. An important conclusion drawn from these results is that resting B cells can be activated by soluble T-cell factors in the absence of any overt signal through the Ig receptor by anti-Iglike stimuli.

Whether and how these factors described above are active in MHCrestricted cognate T-T cell interactions or mediate some other completely different pathway of B-cell activation has not yet been determined, however. It can be anticipated that rapid progress in the understanding of the receptor molecule involved in the interaction of those lymphokines on the B-cell activation, part of which we discuss later, will solve this issue in the next few years. In Figure 1 and Table 1, the various pathways of B-cell differentiation and factors involved are summarized. In conclusion, several



Figure 1 Schematic illustration of B-cell differentiation process and signals required for the B-cell activation. BCGF, B-cell growth factor, BGDF, B-cell growth and differentiation factor; BCDF, B-cell differentiation factor.

Responding cells	Murine B-cell differentiation factor (activity)	Molecular weight	Other properties
Ag or anti-Ig activated B cells	B151-TRF 1 (BGDF)	50,000–55,000 (gel-filtration) 18,000–19,000 (SDS-PAGE)	Glycoprotein PI 5.0 Responder (CBA/N and others)
	EL-4 TRF (BCDF) IL-2 (BGDF) y-interferon (BCDF)	30,000-40,000 (gel-filtration)	PI 4.5
Resting B cells	B-cell replication and maturation factor (BCDF)	30,000 (gel-filtration)	
	BMF (BCDF)	50,000–55,000 (gel permeation) 16,000 (SDS-PAGE)	Glycoprotein PI 5-6 Responder (CBA/N and others)
	B151-TRF 2 (BCDF)	30,000–35,000 (gel filtration)	Protein PI 4.3–4.5 Responder (DBA/2Ha and others) Nonresponder (CBA/N)

Table 1 Murine B-cell differentiation factors

B-cell differentiation factors have been defined. Some of these molecules differ from each other on the basis of functions and physicochemical properties.

RECEPTORS FOR FACTORS INVOLVED IN THE B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION

As mentioned above, several B-cell differentiation factors have been demonstrated, and B-cell differentiation signals vary considerably depending on the nature of the B-cell subpopulation under study. The differences in factor-responsiveness of B cells may be reflected by the difference in expression of the functional receptors on the same lineage of B cells to respective B-cell differentiation factors, or they may be due to the different pathways of B-cell activation that occur in B cells of distinct lineages. For further analysis of this point, more information on the receptors corresponding to the B-cell differentiation factors is required.

IL-2 Receptor

Among the numbers of putative receptors of B cells to various lymphokines, the IL-2 receptor represents one of the best characterized molecules. This characterization has been facilitated by the availability of anti-IL-2 receptor monoclonal antibody and recombinant IL-2. In general, activated B cells express small numbers of membrane molecules that bear epitopes in common with the T-cell IL-2 receptor, and activated B cells bind small numbers of IL-2 molecules (71-75). Nakanishi et al (43) demonstrated that B cells stimulated with anti-IgM and BSFp1, with or without B151-TRF 1, express determinants that react with two monoclonal antibodies that recognize distinct epitopes on the T-cell IL-2 receptor. These determinants were present at much lower density (100-fold) on stimulated B cells than on activated T cells. Indeed, similar ratios were obtained by comparing numbers of molecules of ³H IL-2 bound by activated T cells and by stimulated B cells with the relative binding of monoclonal anti-IL-2 receptor antibodies by these two cell populations. Both approaches suggest that activated T cells have 56-125-fold more IL-2 receptors than B cells stimulated with anti-IgM, BSFp1, and B151-TRF 1. The action of IL-2 in causing activated B cells to differentiate to high rate IgM-synthesizing cells was dependent upon their treatment with B151-TRF 1. Without B151-TRF 1, neither enhancement in levels of mRNA for the secretory form of μ -heavy chains nor the presence of cells with cytoplasmic IgM was observed. However, B cells cultured with anti-IgM and BSFp1, without B151-TRF 1, did express epitopes recognized by anti-IL-2 receptor antibodies and these stimulated B cells could bind small amounts of ³H IL-2. Thus, the expression of IL-2 receptors on B cells does not appear to depend upon the presence of B151-TRF 1.

The binding of anti-IL-2 receptor antibodies to B cells activated with anti-IgM and BSFp1, with or without B151-TRF 1, is perhaps not surprising. Mouse B-cell blasts induced with lipopolysaccharide have already been shown to bind anti-IL-2 receptor antibody (76). Human hairy cell leukemias, which are a form of B cells as judged by Ig gene rearrangement, and some human lymphoblastoid cell lines, as well as activated B cells, have been shown to possess the TAC antigen (77), which is an epitope on the human T-cell IL-2 receptor. Thus, the action of IL-2 as EL-TRF, its inhibition by anti-IL-2 receptor antibody, the presence of the epitope on activated B cells, and the capacity of activated B cells to bind small amounts of ³H IL-2 are all in keeping with a direct action of IL-2 on B cells that have been cultured with anti-IgM, BSFp1, and B151-TRF 1. Using a single hapten-specific B-cell culture in the absence of any feeder, filler, or accessory cells, Pike et al (78) reported that a B cell could be

stimulated to division and differentiation only in the concomitant presence of lymphokines acting as B-cell growth and differentiation factor (BGDF). In this system, human IL-2 prepared by recombinant DNA technology was also effective as BGDF, albeit with rather weak activity. However, when an IL 2-free source of BGDF was used with the antigenic stimulus, addition of IL-2 did not augment the response, nor did removal of IL-2 from the crude lymphokine mixture diminish the BGDF activity.

Structurally, the IL-2 receptor found on activated B cells is identical with that on activated T cells, since anti-TAC antibody immunoprecipitated a molecule of identical size (M_r 65,000) from T and B lymphocytes. B cells were also shown to synthesize the IL-2 receptor actively. Moreover, the chymotryptic peptide chromatograms of TAC antigen from T and B cells show these molecules to be indistinguishable (75, 80, 81).

B151-TRF 1 Receptor and B151-TRF 2 Receptor

B151-TRF 1 and -TRF 2 both stimulate syngeneic and allogeneic B cells, indicating that B151-TRFs trigger B cells irrespective of the major histocompatibility type. Importantly, antigen-primed but not antigennonprimed B cells from X-linked defective CBA/N mice responded well to B151-TRF 1, whereas B cells from the mutant mice of DBA/2Ha strain failed to show any significant response to the B151-TRF 1 even after antigen-priming (82). The responsiveness of the B151-TRF 1 is controlled by the gene linked to the X chromosome, which is defective in DBA/2Ha mice. In contrast, with respect to the responsiveness to B151-TRF 2, DBA/2Ha B cells are high responder and CBA/N B cells are nonresponder.

In order to examine whether the absence of a particular receptor site for TRFs on low responder B cells determines their response type, we conducted experiments to measure the ability of B cells from high responder and low responder mice to absorb TRFs' activities. Residual TRFs' activities after absorption with those B cells were determined. The results demonstrated that B cells from BALB/c mice were able to absorb both TRFs' activities. In contrast, B cells from DBA/2Ha mice could absorb TRF 2 activity but not absorb the TRF 1 activity, indicating the lack of a particular functional receptor site for TRF 1. In sharp contrast to this, BCL-1 cells could absorb TRF 1 activity but not TRF 2 activity. Interestingly, CBA/N B cells could absorb both TRF 1 and TRF 2 activities, whether or not the B cells were primed with antigen. This indicates that the defective response of CBA/N B cells to B151-TRFs is not determined by the absence of corresponding receptors but may be due to a defect in some undefined signal transmission mechanism(s), which are discussed later.

By taking advantage of the selective absence of TRF 1 receptor on

DBA/2Ha B cells, an antiserum was raised in (DBA/2Ha × BALB/c) (DC)F₁ male mice by immunization with BALB/c B cells or BCL-1 cells, and then it was evaluated. It was found that DCF₁ male anti-BALB/c B-cell antiserum specifically inhibited the B-cell responses mediated by the B151-TRF 1 in the continuous presence of antiserum in the culture. Furthermore, the suppressive activity of this antiserum was successfully removed by absorption with high responder BALB/c B cells and BCL1 cells but not with low responder DBA/2Ha B cells (82). Moreover, this antiserum augmented primary IgM anti-sheep red blood cell (SRBC) antibody responses when intravenously injected in combination with suboptimal doses of antigen in BALB/c as well as CBA/N mice, but not in DBA/2Ha mice (83–85). Thus, the DCF₁ male anti-BALB/c B-cell antiserum contains antibodies capable of substituting for TRF activity. The ability of this antibody to substitute for TRF 1 activity was also obvious in the in vitro secondary anti-DNP IgG PFC responses (86). In this system, the anti-Thy 1 plus C-treated DNP-primed B cells from B151-TRF 1 high-responder mice were effectively stimulated by this antibody, whereas B cells from lowresponder DBA/2Ha mice were triggered only with difficulty by the antibody under the same conditions. An intriguing finding was that the DNP-primed B cells from CBA/N mice were also effectively triggered by this antibody, suggesting that the putative TRF 1 receptor detectable by this antibody is distinct from Lyb-3 and Lyb-5 molecules, which are defined to be lacking in CBA/N mice.

In order to study the mechanism of B-cell triggering via the B151-TRF 1 receptor, we examined the TRF 1-substituting activity of the $F(ab')_2$ and Fab' fragments of the DCF₁ male anti-BALB/c B cell antibody in the induction of secondary IgG PFC responses (86). The results showed both the bivalent $F(ab')_2$ and monovalent Fab' fragments of the anti-TRF 1 receptor antibody activity were comparable to the IgG fraction in inhibiting TRF-mediated anti-DNP IgG PFC responses when added continuously to the culture. This indicates that these antibody preparations possess binding activity operationally comparable to the TRF 1 receptor. On the other hand, the monovalent Fab' alone possessed no ability to stimulate B cells. This was indeed in sharp contrast to the potent TRF 1-substituting activity of the $F(ab')_2$ and IgG. Thus, these results indicate that the bivalent anti-TRF 1 receptor antibody can lead to B-cell triggering. The molecular and cellular mechanisms of this stimulation are under study.

Data from these experiments provided several important insights into the mechanism of TRF 1 action. The first is that many, and perhaps all, of the lymphokine actions in the induction of B-cell differentiation can be initiated by the interaction of ligands other than the lymphokine with the receptor molecule. The data suggest that the TRF 1-receptor perturbation by ligand or anti-receptor antibody, when properly triggered, is capable of initiating B-cell differentiation. The second major point is that receptor aggregation or clustering by ligand is required for the effective induction of B-cell differentiation. However, this does not necessarily imply that the TRF 1 molecule itself has the bivalent binding sites to the receptor. It can be postulated as a possibility that, even if TRF 1 is a monovalent molecule, the crosslinking of the receptor could be induced by some serum proteinbound form by virtue of its hydrophobic property.

The further detailed chemical properties of the B151-TRF 1 receptor molecule have been summarized in Hamaoka (87), and some intriguing functional properties of TRF 1 receptor and TRF 2 receptor are further discussed in the following section.

ROLE OF SUGAR MOIETY IN THE INTERACTION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION FACTORS WITH CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS

Several studies on the role of carbohydrate moieties in lymphoid cell interactions have suggested the involvement of carbohydrates in the triggering of lymphoid cell functions, e.g. mannose blocking of the T cellmacrophage interaction (88) and appearance of alloantigen-presenting activity of B lymphocytes after sialidase-treatment (89). Some functional studies on lymphokines suggested that carbohydrate structures on the receptors for lymphokines are responsible for the expression of their functions. These are exemplified by the possible role of α -L-fucose on migration-inhibitory factor receptor (90), galactose residue as the lymphotoxin binding site (91), and ganglioside GM₂ as an interferon binding site (92). On the other hand, direct evidence for the functional significance of carbohydrate moiety on lymphokine molecules has not been clearly demonstrated. Studies on structures of lymphokines have identified some carbohydrate residues on lymphokine molecules. Robb et al (93) reported the existence of O-linked N-acetylgalactosamine-containing carbohydrate structure on the interleukin 2 (IL-2) molecule. However, in this case no change was observed in the IL-2 activity even in the absence of sugar moiety. Ishizaka and colleagues (94, 95) demonstrated that N-linked carbohydrate structure on IgE-binding factor determined its activity. IgEbinding factor glycosylated by glycosylation-enhancing factor potentiated IgE production, whereas inhibition of its glycosylation by glycosylationinhibitory factor converted it into IgE-suppressive factor. However, in these studies, the role of carbohydrate residues in the expression of their activities has not yet been clarified.

182 намаока & опо

Role of Gal-NAc Moiety on B151-TRF 1 Molecule in Its Binding to TRF 1 Receptor and B-Cell Differentiation

Concerning the role of sugar moiety for the B-cell differentiation factor activity, particularly interesting is the description by Tomaska & Parish (96) of the inhibition with Gal-NAc of Concanavalin A-induced, T cell factor-mediated, B-cell differentiation of DNP-primed B cells. In accordance with their results, Takahama et al in our laboratory (97) demonstrated that the induction of B-cell differentiation into Ig-secreting cells by B151-TRF 1 was specifically inhibited by addition of N-acetyl-Dgalactosamine (Gal-NAc) to the culture. Such inhibition appeared to be the interference of Gal-NAc with the binding of TRF1 to its receptor, since absorption of TRF 1 activity with B cells was notably inhibited by the presence of Gal-NAc. We also established a binding assay of B151-TRF 1 molecule to the receptor on B cells using radio-labelled TRF 1 fraction, and we demonstrated that the binding of B151-TRF 1 molecule to the receptorpositive B cells such as BCL1 was almost abrogated by Gal-NAc. Moreover, the existence of Gal-NAc residue(s) on B151-TRF 1 molecule was determined by the fact that the TRF 1 molecule specifically bound to the lectin-gels, such as LBA-, DBA-, SBA-, and LPA-coupled agarose beads. The functional significance of the Gal-NAc moiety in the expression of B151-TRF 1 activity was also supported by the fact that TRF 1 activity disappeared after treatment of B151-TRF 1 with α -N-acetylgalactosaminidase. Although sialic acid residue(s) were also detected on B151-TRF 1 molecule, their functional role is obscure. Thus, the Gal-NAc residue(s) on B151-TRF 1 molecule play an important role in binding of TRF 1 molecule to the receptor and in the induction of B-cell differentiation. Since the induction of B-cell differentiation by conventional TRF 1 activity in antigen-primed T-cell culture supernatants was also inhibited by adding Gal-NAc to the culture, inhibition with Gal-NAc seems to be a general phenomenon in TRF 1-mediated B-cell differentiation.

Receptor molecules with carbohydrate-binding properties have been demonstrated previously, notably the asialoglycoprotein receptor on liver cells (98) and the mannose-6-phosphate receptor on fibroblasts (99). Since Gal-NAc residue(s) on B151-TRF may be recognized by TRF-receptor on B cells, it is of interest to examine whether or not Gal-NAc binding to the TRF-receptor is enough to activate B cells. Our preliminary results revealed, however, that neither Gal-NAc-coupled bovine serum albumin nor Gal-NAc-coupled agarose beads was able to stimulate B cells, even though both reagents demonstrated significant binding to the TRF 1– receptor-positive BCL-1 cells. Therefore, it is likely that in addition to GalNAc moiety, another oligosaccharide portion or a portion of polypeptide may be also required for the expression of TRF 1 activity.

Glc-NAc-Binding Property of B151-TRF 2 Molecule and Its Role in TRF 2–Receptor Binding and B-Cell Differentiation

In contrast to the role of Gal-NAc moiety on B151-TRF 1 molecule, the specific affinity of B151-TRF 2 molecule to the N-acetylglucosamine (Glc-NAc) plays an important role in the stimulation of resting B cells. As briefly summarized in the above section, B151-TRF 2 is a heat (56° C, 30 min)-labile nonglycosylated protein, stimulatory to the B151-TRF 1-unresponsive DBA/2Ha B cells. Interestingly, however, the addition of Glc-NAc (20-40 mM) to the culture of a TRF 2 assay strikingly inhibited the induction of Ig-secreting cell response from the resting B cells. Indeed, this was mediated by the specific reaction of Glc-NAc to the TRF 2 response, since the TRF 1 response induced to the activated B cells was not inhibited under this condition.

In order to establish that the inhibition of B151-TRF 2 response by Glc-NAc is mediated by the blocking of receptor-ligand interaction, inhibition of absorption of B151-TRF 2 activity with B cells by the presence of Glc-NAc was demonstrated. In addition, Glc-NAc-binding property of B151-TRF 2 was demonstrated by its binding to the Glc-NAc-agarose beads and specific elution from the column with Glc-NAc solution. The existence of Glc-NAc moiety on the TRF 2 receptor and its involvement in ligandreceptor interaction were further substantiated by the fact that N-acetylglucosaminidase(Glc-NAc-ase)-treatment of B cells specifically induced a loss of their ability to absorb B151-TRF 2 activity, whereas the absorbing activity of the same B cells for B151-TRF 1 activity was not changed. Moreover, the effect of Glc-NAc-ase treatment on B cells was specifically inhibited by the presence of p-nitrophenyl Glc-NAc. Finally, we examined whether the binding of Glc-NAc-specific lectin could substitute for the B151-TRF 2 activity and activate resting B cells. The results revealed that Glc-NAc-specific, wheat germ agglutinin-bound agarose beads with appropriate density significantly stimulated the resting B cells (Y. Kato, S. Ono, Y. Takahama, T. Hamaoka, manuscript in preparation). Taken collectively, these results indicate that B151-TRF 2 molecules interact with the corresponding receptor via the recognition of Glc-NAc moieties on the receptor.

Thus, in conclusion, a series of these studies clearly illustrated the existence of a carbohydrate-dependent signal transmission mechanism in the B-cell differentiation process mediated by the factor. The molecular



Figure 2 Ligand-receptor interaction in B151-TRF 1- and B151-TRF 2-mediated B-cell differentiation. NeuNAC, Sialic acid.

properties of B151-TRF 1 and -TRF 2 and their mode of interaction with corresponding receptors are summarized in Table 2 and schematically depicted in Figure 2.

BIOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF B151-TRF 1 AND -TRF 2 MOLECULES IN B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION

Most of lymphokine-producing cell lines have been propagated over long periods of time. Because continuously cultured cell lines have an extremely high incidence of mycoplasma contamination, and because several mycoplasma species can induce the proliferation and differentiation of both human and murine B cells (100–102), we should exclude, therefore, the possibility that B-cell differentiation factor, found in supernatant of B151-T hybridoma, or from some other T-cell lines as well, may be due to mycoplasma or some other unknown microorganism contamination.

B151-TRF 1 as a Physiological Mediator of Terminal B-Cell Differentiation

Nordin and associates (103) demonstrated that a soluble product with Bcell stimulating activity was separated from the serum-free supernatant of a T-cell hybridoma infected with mycoplasma. Hybridoma cells freed of mycoplasma by detergent treatment failed to produce active supernatant, and reinfection of the treated cells reconstituted the activity. Furthermore,

Properties	B151-TRF 1	B151-TRF 2
Responding	Ag-primed B cells	Neonatal B cells
cells	Activated B cells	Adult resting B cells
	(not DBA/2Ha B cells)	DBA/2Ha B cells
	BCL1 cells	(not BCL1 cells)
T-cell or	No	No
accessory-cell		
dependency		
M _r (gel-filtration)	50,000-55,000	30,000
(SDS-PAGE)	19,000	ND
Proteinase treatment	Sensitive	Sensitive
Heat stability	Stable	Unstable
(56°C, 30 min)		
Preferential	BCL1 cells	DBA/2Ha B cells
binding		
Lectin-gel	LBA, DBA, LPA, SBA	None
binding		
Sugar moiety	Gal-NAc, Sialic Acid	None
Inhibitable by	Gal-NAc	Glc-NAc
Sugar-gel binding	None	Glc-NAc-gel

Table 2 Properties of two distinct TRF molecules from B151-T-cell hybridoma

ND, not done.

deliberate infection of a mycoplasma-free unrelated T-cell hybridoma, as well as the monocytic cell line, resulted in the production of supernatants with B-cell stimulation activity.

The facts that at least B151K12-T hybridoma is free of any detectable mycoplasma and that the molecular weight of the reported active fraction (average of 90,000) is different from B151-TRF 1 as well as from -TRF 2 seem to negate the possibility that these factors are mycoplasma-derived soluble products. However, these are still not formal proof that B151-TRF 1 and -TRF 2 are the physiological mediators of B-cell differentiation.

Previously, we demonstrated that antigen (Mycobacterium tuberculosis; Tbc)-primed helper T cells of the surface phenotype Lyt 1⁺, 2⁻, 3⁻ released soluble factor(s) upon stimulation with purified protein derivative (PPD), which replaced T-cell activity in the induction of the secondary anti-DNP IgG-PFC response to soluble DNP-carrier conjugates (104). This TRF 1-responsivity of B cells is under X-chromosome control, and DBA/2Ha B cells are nonresponder to the TRF 1. By use of this nonresponder characteristic of DBA/2Ha B cells, the B-cell differentiation factor that was released from T-cell hybridoma was screened, and the B151K12 clone was selected (42).

The B151-TRF 1 obtained from a continuously cultured B151K12 clone acts on the TRF 1-receptor site on B cells according to the same mechanism as seen with PPD-induced TRF from Tbc-primed T cells. This was demonstrated by the fact that the alloantiserum raised in the lowresponder (DBA/2Ha × BALB/c)F₁ male mice by immunization with high-responder parental BALB/c B cells amply blocked B-cell triggering mediated by B151-TRF 1 (42). Furthermore, as mentioned earlier, Gal-NAc inhibited both PPD-induced TRF 1 and B151-TRF 1 activities. These results, taken together, indicate that the B151-TRF 1 acts on the same physiological TRF 1 receptor on B cells as does the antigen-induced TRF 1.

Preferential Induction of TRF 2 Activity from T Cells of Autoimmune MRL/lpr Mice

The biological significance of B151-TRF 1 and -TRF 2 for the B-cell differentiation was further demonstrated by the fact that this activity was also detectable under certain pathological conditions associated with the polyclonal B-cell stimulation, i.e. in the chronic graft-versus-host reaction (GVHR) as well as in the MRL/lpr mice with T cell-proliferative autoimmune disease. Prud'homme et al (105, 106) reported that lymph node and spleen cells of the autoimmune MRL/Mp-lpr/lpr mouse spontaneously produce (in the absence of any mitogenic or antigenic stimulation) one or more B-cell differentiation factors that induce or enhance polyclonal B-cell differentiation and Ig-secretion. This factor is not produced by the congenic MRL/n mouse strain that lacks the lpr gene. Moreover, lymphoid cells of the B6-lpr/lpr strain also produce the similar B-cell differentiation factor. The factor acts on resting B cells. Cell depletion studies revealed that this factor is produced by T cells of the Lyt-1⁺2⁻ phenotype. Because of its association with the lpr/lpr genotype, they term this B-cell differentiation factor L-BCDF. Functional analysis of L-BCDF revealed that it induces B-cell differentiation in the absence of IL-2 and BCGF. No T cell proliferation-inducing activity or B cell growth factorlike activity can be detected in MRL/lpr-derived supernatants.

The above studies did not establish, however, whether L-BCDF is a single factor or a combination of factors. L-BCDF by itself did not have conventional TRF (TRF 1) activity. Namely, L-BCDF did not restore the primary in vitro anti-SRBC response of T cell-depleted splenic B cells (105). We functionally compared our B151-TRF 1 and -TRF 2 activities with the above B-cell differentiation factor(s) and tried to determine any biological resemblance (K. Dobashi, S. Ono, S. Murakami, T. Hamaoka, manuscript in preparation). The results demonstrated that the 24 hr-culture supernatants of the spleen and lymph node cells from MRL/lpr strain (but not

from MRL/n strain) contained B151-TRF 2-like activity in our assay. The B-cell differentiation factor activity of the MRL/lpr culture supernatant as the mediation of TRF 2 was implicated by the following observations: (a) Both B151-TRF 2 and L-BCDF did activate resting B cells to differentiate into Ig-secreting cells without antigenic stimulation; (b) the B151-TRF 2like activity in L-BCDF was almost completely absorbed by DBA/2Ha B cells but not by BCL-1 cells, which were established to express B151-TRF 2 and -TRF 1 receptors, respectively; (c) the TRF 2-like factor activity in MRL/lpr supernatant was inactivated by the heat treatment at 56°C for 30 min; (d) the differentiation of resting B cells by MRL/lpr supernatant was significantly blocked by Glc-NAC but not by Gal-NAC; (e) finally, the Bcell response induced by MRL/lpr factor could be completely inhibited by the addition of prostaglandin E2 to the culture, in a manner analogous to the B151-TRF 2-induced B-cell differentiation. These results strongly support the notion that B151-TRF 2 represents at least a part of L-BCDF. In fact, the injection of B151-TRF 2 into normal BALB/c mice induced a striking PFC response against bromelain-treated (Bm) mouse red blood cells (MRBC), representing one of the autoantibody responses, and this activity was indeed heat labile. Especially the latter observation reinforces the notion that B151-TRF 2 is a physiological substance responsible for the polyclonal stimulation of B cells, particularly in the induction of autoantibody responses.

TRF 2 as a Polyclonal B-Cell Stimulator for Autoantibody-Induction in Chronic GVHR

In addition to the spontaneous lupus models described above, autoantibody production and an SLE-like disease can also result from the induction of chronic graft-versus-host(GVH) disease across I-A or I-E (but not usually H-2D or H-2K) differences. In this case, donor-T-cell proliferation is associated with stimulation of the recipient's B cells, leading to polyclonal B-cell stimulation, production of anti-DNA and other autoantibodies, and immune complex disease (107–109).

In contrast to the preferential expression of TRF 2 activity in the MRL/lpr supernatant, the culture supernatant of spleen cells from mice with chronic GVHR disease, i.e. $(C57BL/6J \times DBA/2J)F_1$ transferred with DBA/2J spleen cells, produced both TRF 1- and TRF 2-activities. It is interesting, however, that the spleen cells of $(C57BL/6J \times DBA/2J)F_1$ mice transferred with DBA/2J thymocytes preferentially produced TRF 1-like activity. The TRF 1-like activity detected under these conditions was almost completely absorbed by BCL-1 cells, but not by DBA/2Ha B cells; it was heat resistant and blocked by Gal-NAC, but not by Glc-NAC.

Moreover, the B-cell differentiation induced by TRF 1-like activity in this culture supernatant was completely resistant to prostaglandin E2, and this was indeed in sharp contrast to the response to TRF 2 activity. Thus, the TRF 1 activity can be also detected in the mice undergoing chronic GVHR. The fact that parental thymocyte-injection into F_1 mice induced TRF 1 activity may imply that the TRF 1 represents one of the previously reported allogeneic effect factors, i.e. alloantigen-stimulated T cell-derived factors.

We next addressed the question of whether or not the GVHR-induced TRF 1 is also responsible for the polyclonal B-cell stimulation and autoantibody production. The results showed that only chronic GVHR induced by the spleen cells (but not by the thymocytes transfer) resulted in a severe SLE-like syndrome characterized by the appearance of Coomb's antibody and proteinuria; these results strongly support the notion that TRF 1 is not responsible for the induction of autoantibody. In fact, the injection of B151-TRF 1 into normal mice did not induce any anti-Bm-MRBC PFC response.

It has been shown that introduction of the *xid* genetic mutation into lupus-prone mice significantly delays SLE onset and reduces polyclonal Bcell activation and autoantibody production (110-113). Unresponsiveness to TRF 2 by CBA/N xid mice would support the theory that even the overproduction of L-BCDF(B151-TRF 2) would not trigger the induction of autoimmunity. We, therefore, examined the B-cell responses of xid $(CBA/N \times DBA/2J)F_1$ male mice and their non-xid counterparts of female mice. The B cells from F_1 female mice responded to the signals provided by L-BCDF and B151-TRF2, whereas in male xid mice B-cell responses to these B-cell differentiation factors drastically reduced the polyclonal Igsecreting cell response and autoantibody production. These results demonstrate that introduction of the xid mutation does indeed render their B cells unresponsive to differentiation signals provided by TRF 2, as has been described for L-BCDF (105). These observations for B151-TRF 2 activity are in sharp contrast to the Sidman's BMF, which was reported to be able to induce differentiation of resting CBA/N B cells to the same magnitude as the B cells from normal nondefective mice (69).

It is possible to speculate that role of TRF 2 in physiologic B-cell differentiation is such that a pool of activated T cells in vivo may continuously secrete low levels of TRF 2 which, in turn, sustain Ig secretion by resting B cells. In some types of autoimmune diseases such as exemplified by MRL/lpr mice and chronic GVHR, control mechanisms that maintain normal Ig levels may be aberrantly affected by the rapid expansion of the TRF 2-producing T-cell population.

SIGNIFICANCE OF CLASS-II MHC-MEDIATED T-B CELL INTERACTION FOR INDUCTION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION FACTOR FROM T CELLS AND ACQUISITION OF B-CELL RESPONSIVENESS TO THE FACTOR

We have described several physiologically distinct B-cell differentiation factors and discussed certain aspects of receptor-ligand interactions for the expression of their biological activities. However, it is not known whether a subpopulation of B cells, or all of the B cells, eventually require such factors for their differentiation, since in T-B cell interactions, helper T cells may produce several soluble factors stimulatory to the resting as well as activated B cells, in addition to participating directly in the MHC-restricted cell-cell interaction. Isolation and characterization of these factors that govern the B-cell differentiation are valuable for analyzing certain aspects of cellular and molecular events in the differentiation process of B cells as discussed above. However, the interpretation of these phenomena should be made cautiously: It is not known whether a series of factors can act on a single B cell. Alternatively, interactions of various cell populations during MHC-mediated or idiotypic immune circuits and networks may be differentially sensitive to the effect of these molecules. The following lines of evidence will illustrate that the acquisition of B-cell responsiveness to the differentiation factors is indeed tightly connected to the class-II MHCmediated cell-cell interactions, and they will provide another intriguing complexity of the factor-mediated B-cell differentiation mechanism (Figure 3).

Ia-Bearing B Cells as Stimulator Cells for the Factor Production of T Cells

After the demonstration that B cells also bear Ia antigens (114) and that at least some interactions between antigen-specific helper T cells and B lymphocytes are Ia restricted (5, 6, 13), many investigators have attempted to determine whether B lymphocytes can also function as antigenpresenting cells. In fact, B cells present antigens to T cells and could stimulate immune T lymphocytes to proliferate in an Ia-restricted fashion (115–123). Convincing evidence for the role of B cells in presenting antigen came from studies of Chesnut & Grey (115), who showed that macrophagedepleted splenocytes cultured with rabbit antimouse immunoglobulin (Ig), but not rabbit IgG lacking anti-Ig activity, could stimulate rabbit IgGprimed T cells to proliferate in vitro. This result not only established the ability of B lymphocytes to present protein antigens to T cells, it also



Figure 3 (A) Ia-mediated T-B-cell amplification loop for induction of B-cell differentiation factor from T cells and acquisition of B-cell responsiveness to the factor. (B) Ia-mediated B-B cell interaction for determination of responsivity of B cells to the B151-TRF 2. PFC, plaque (antibody)-forming cell.

indicated that their surface Ig receptors played an important role in this phenomenon. Subsequently, it has been shown that resting and mitogenactivated normal B lymphocytes, as well as a variety of Ia-positive B cellderived tumors and cell lines, are capable of presenting foreign proteins to Ia-restricted, antigen-reactive T lymphocytes (116-123). Rock et al (124) also demonstrated that hapten-specific B lymphocytes are highly efficient at presenting hapten-protein to T cells for producing IL-2, and that haptenbinding surface Ig molecules are critically involved in this effective form of T-B interaction. Moreover, in their system it appeared that the major role of surface Ig is to concentrate or "focus" antigen onto the relevant B cells. Other studies have found that Ig-receptor may capture antigen. Subsequently, the processed antigen is expressed on the cell surface in the context of Ia (125). These results raised the possibility that antigen-binding B cells may serve an important role as antigen-presenting cells in physiologic immune responses. The ability of B cells to present nominal protein antigens to inducer T cells has several implications for physiologic immune responses. It may provide an accessory cell-independent mechanism for stimulating inducer cells to secrete helper factors that are necessary for clonal expansion and differentiation of B lymphocytes. The critical role of surface Ig in this phenomenon suggests that B cells are most efficient at presenting the antigen for which they express specific membrane receptors. This provides an explanation for the original observation that physiologic H2–restricted cognate T-B collaboration occurs in vivo (5, 6) and in secondary antibody responses to low-dose antigen challenge in vitro (126).

Ia-Mediated Signal Transduction by T Cells for Acquisition of B-Cell Responsivity to the Factor

Looking at the B-cell side, binding of antigen (or anti-Ig) to the B-cell Ig receptor has the role of rendering that cell sensitive to a battery of differentiation factors including B151-TRF 1 that effectively amplify the specific response to that antigen (41, 42, 44, 45). In addition, researchers have reported the existence of lymphokines including BSFp1 that induce an increase in the expression of Ia antigen on B cells (40, 127). Therefore, in the T-B cell interactions, T cells may be activated by B cells, and then activated T cells provide signals through production of various lymphokines for the activation of B cells. Some lymphokines from activated T cells as well as the antigen binding to Ig receptors induce an increased expression of Ia molecules on B cells, and these exert a positive feedback effect on the cellcell interactions. This process may represent a signal transmission mechanism provided by direct interactions of H-2 restricted T and B cells, and the B-cell activation signals may also be transduced through Ia molecules on B cells. This can be also deduced by the following observation made by Kimoto et al (128): Nonactivated xid B cells from CBA/N mice or $(CBA/N \times C57BL/6)F_1$ male mice do not respond to BSFp1 and/or BCDF for proliferation and Ig secretion. However, when xid B cells were cocultured with an H 2-restricted helper-T-cell clone for 24 hr, proliferation and Ig secretion could be induced in those cells with BSFp1 and BCDF, showing that direct interaction with a helper-T-cell clone activates xid B cells to the stage responsive to BSFp1 and/or BCDF. These results are highly consistent with our observation (82-86) that CBA/N B cells have TRFs receptor and that, once stimulated by the Ia-mediated pathway including antigen-priming in vivo, they become responsive to B151-TRF 1.

ROLE OF CLASS-II MHC-MEDIATED B-B CELL INTERACTION FOR DETERMINATION OF RESPONSIVITY OF B CELLS TO THE B151-TRF 2

Another intriguing role of Ia-mediated cell-cell interaction for determination of responsivity of B cells to the B-cell differentiation factor has emerged from the B151-TRF 2 response analysis. The B151-TRF 2 directly activates

192 намаока & опо

small resting B cells in the complete absence of any T-cell effect. However, in this reaction, class-II MHC-mediated B-B cell interaction was found to play an obligatory role in the determination of TRF 2 responsivity of B cells.

Ia-Mediated B-B Cell Interaction for Determination of B151-TRF 2 Responsivity

A crucial role of Ia-mediated B-B cell interaction for acquisition of TRF 2 responsivity was demonstrated by the drastic inhibition of TRF 2 response when monoclonal anti-Ia antibody was added to the culture. The inhibition of anti-Ia antibody was observed only in B151-TRF 2-induced PFC response, but not in B151-TRF 1-induced response. The class-I MHC-specific antibody did not inhibit both responses. It is possible that inhibition of TRF 2-induced PFC response by anti-Ia antibody is due to blocking of binding of TRF 2 to the TRF 2 receptor by virtue of a plausible steric hindrance effect of antibody. But this possibility is negated by the fact that the ability of B cells to absorb TRF 2 activity was not changed after the treatment of B cells with anti-Ia antibody.

Further detailed kinetic studies of the inhibition of anti-Ia antibody in TRF 2 response demonstrated that inhibition of anti-Ia antibody was effective only when it was added at the initiation of the culture, and delayed addition (on day 2) of antibody did not inhibit the 4- or 5-day culture of the TRF 2-induced PFC response. In a series of these kinetic studies, it was also found that the stimulation of B151-TRF 2 on day 2 induced almost the same magnitude of PFC response as the day-0 stimulation, while TRF 2 stimulation given for the initial 2-day culture, in which the cells were then washed off, did not induce any substantial response. This suggests that some cellular activation process precedes the time when the resting B cells become responsive to TRF 2 and that this process is the one inhibited by the anti-Ia antibody. Thus, the process of B-cell differentiation induced by TRF 2 can be divided into two steps: The first step is Ia-mediated B-cell activation (thus, an anti-Ia antibody-inhibitable, but TRF 2-independent) process which proceeds within 2 days after the culture. The second step commences around 2 days after the culture is now in the Ia-independent but TRF 2-dependent phase. These two steps in the distinct process of B-cell activation in response to TRF 2 are schematically depicted in Figure 3.

In order to study more stringently the existence of an Ia-mediated B-cell activation process in response to the TRF 2, additional experiments were carried out using $(P1 \times P2)F_1$ B cells, and inhibitory activities of anti-Ia antibodies with either one of the parental specificity were examined. Interestingly, the magnitude of inhibition of TRF 2 response of F_1 B cells evidenced by either one of the antiparental Ia antibody was approximately

half that of the parental B cells, suggesting that F_1 B cells may be separated into two populations that recognize specifically the respective parental Ia. This is reminiscent of the response of MHC restricted F_1 T cells (129). To substantiate this point, F_1 B cells were separated into adherent and nonadherent cell population by panning onto either one of the parental monolayer B cells, and the specificity and magnitude of the inhibition of anti-Ia antibody was examined.

The results unequivocally demonstrated that the TRF 2 response of $(P1 \times P2)F_1$ B cells adherent to the P1 or P2 B-cell monolayer was selectively inhibited by anti-P1 or anti-P2 Ia antibody, but not by irrelevant reciprocal combination of anti-P2 or anti-P1 Ia antibody (S. Ono, Y. Takahama, T. Hamaoka, manuscript in preparation). These findings strongly suggest that $(P1 \times P2)F_1$ B cells comprise at least two populations with selective binding capacity to either one of the parental Ia-positive B cells and that the activation of resting B cells to the TRF 2-responsive state requires B-cell recognition of B-cell class-II MHC product. Thus, these studies employing selective cell separation technique and specific anti-Ia antibody-induced inhibition of TRF 2 responses of F_1 B cells strongly support the notion that B cells recognize polymorphic class-II MHC product for response to B151-TRF-2 (Figure 4).

While each of the studies noted above attempted to control or account for the self Ia-recognition requirements of B-B cell interaction for determination of TRF 2 responsivity of B cells, it might be argued reasonably that cryptic Ia-positive accessory-cell contamination was present in the monolayer of the B-cell populations employed in these

Ia-restricting (P1 × P2) F1 B Cell Populations



Figure 4 Haplotype-specific self-Ia restriction of $(P1 \times P2)F_1$ B cells in B151-TRF 2-induced B-cell differentiation.

studies and that all of the observed self Ia-recognition requirements were in fact accessory cell-mediated, Ia-restricted B-cell response. However, one set of experiments was carried out in which this possibility was excluded though the use of anti-Ig-purified B cells, and it was found that the Igpositive B-cell monolayer is also effective for the self Ia-specific separation. In these separation experiments, it was also found that pretreatment of responder B cells with anti-Ia or anti-Ig antibodies did not affect the separation efficiency, whereas treatment of monolayer B cells with anti-Ia antibody completely abolished the Ia haplotype-specific separation of responder B cells. Moreover, the effective separation of B cells was also accomplished by H-2 identical, but background disparate, B-cell monolayer, and I-A subregion identity between monolayer cells and responder B cells was required (Y. Takahama, S. Ono, T. Hamaoka, manuscript in preparation). These findings are also consistent with the notion that TRF 2-responsive B cells are capable of discriminating the class-II MHC determinants expressed by B cells.

Self-Ia Recognizing Structure on B Cells

A number of recent studies have now suggested that B cells as well as T cells may express specificity for self-MHC determinants as well as for nominal antigens. We previously reported that B cells obtained from BALB/c mice that had been immunized with M104E myeloma protein have an idiotypespecific enhancing activity for antidextran B1355S antibody responses in vivo. The enhancing cells were Thy-1⁻, Lyt-1⁻, 2⁻, nylon wool adherent, and rabbit anti-mouse Ig-dish adherent (130). The significance of these B-B cell interactions was further analyzed in vitro by Yamamoto et al (131), using various Igh-1 and H-2 congeneic strains of mice. The results demonstrated that the capability of enhancing B-cell induction is related to the producibility of the respective idiotype in that strain of mice. Moreover, successful cooperation between those two types of B cells requires the same class-II MHC haplotype.

In an analogous manner, Sherr et al (132) demonstrated that the B-B cell interaction activity is restricted by genes linked to the Igh complex, a result that probably reflected its Igh-linked NP^b-idiotype specificity. Moreover, B cells are H-2 restricted and the H-2 restriction maps to the I-A sub-region. These investigators claimed that the B cells involved are Lyt-1⁺ subpopulation.

Probably more convincingly, for the system of MHC restriction between a specific subpopulation of antigen-specific B cells and accessory cells, Singer & Hodes analyzed the response stimulated by the polysaccharide antigen TNP-Ficoll (133). Antibody responses stimulated by TNP-Ficoll require Ia-positive accessory cells and exhibit both a T-independent and a T-dependent component. For the T-independent component of the TNP-Ficoll response (134), it was observed that spleen cells from $(P1 \times P2)F_1$ into parent P1 and from full allogeneic (P1 into P2) radiation bone marrow chimeras were MHC-restricted in their interactions with accessory cells, so that these chimeric B cells only cooperated with host-type but not donortype accessory cells.

If the B cells are capable of simultaneously expressing specificity for both nominal antigen or idiotype and self-Ia determinants, what is the nature of the cell-surface receptors that mediate this specificity? Antigen and self-Ia could be recognized either by a single receptor or by two distinct receptors. If recognition were mediated by a single receptor on the B cell, the antigenspecific immunoglobulin receptor may be the most apparent candidate for this function. The implication of such a hypothesis is that the cell-surface Ig receptor, and presumably its secreted antibody counterpart, would express specificity for both antigen and self-Ia. Although most antibodies have classically been identified through their ability to bind antigen alone, recent examples have been reported of antibodies that uniquely recognize nominal antigen in association with class-I MHC products (135, 136). It remains to be determined whether some Ia-restricted antibodies can be identified in significant proportion, especially for antibodies generated by the TRF2 stimulation, particularly under the condition in which B-cell activation appears to be Ia-restricted. However, IgM antibody with such self Iarestricting specificity was not detected in the 7-day-culture supernatant in our complement-dependent cytotoxicity assay, which indeed detected murine anti-Ig allotype antibody activity to the B cells under the same condition.

Alternatively, it is possible that B-cell recognition of nominal antigen and of self-MHC are mediated through two receptors and that the receptor for self-MHC determinants is distinct from the immunoglobulin receptor for antigen. In fact, in our experiment, capping off Ig-receptor from responder $(P1 \times P2)F_1$ B cells by anti-Ig treatment before monolayer separation did not affect the subsequent separation efficiency and specificity of responder B cells, strongly suggesting that Ig-receptor is not involved in the selective binding of F_1 -responder B cells to the parental B-cell monolayers. In our opinion, it is this experimental result that is most difficult to reconcile with the concept that the Ia recognition structure of the TRF 2-responsive B cells is an immunoglobulin receptor.

Adaptive Differentiation of the Self Ia–Recognizing Structure on B Cells

Finally, we addressed the question of whether Ia-restriction specificity of TRF 2-responsive B cells can be adaptively differentiated in allogeneic

Annual Reviews

196 HAMAOKA & ONO

chimera. The results illustrated that the PFC responses stimulated by TRF 2 in the presence of mitomycin C-treated P2 B cells as the costimulator at the spleen cells of (P1 into P2) allogeneic radiation bone-marrow chimera mice were inhibited only by P1-specific anti-Ia antibody, but not by P2specific anti-Ia antibody. This shows that the self Ia-restriction specificity of TRF 2-responding B cells is not adaptively differentiated in the heavily X-irradiated host environment, particularly even in the presence of radiation-resistant Ia-positive accessory cells. However, this does not exclude a possibility of adaptively differentiating properties of the self Iarecognizing structure of B cells. If there exists any anti-self Ia-differentiating process, the possibility remains that this might occur among the transferred bone-marrow-cell population (intra-bone marrow education). In fact, this occurred when the mixed bone-marrow-cell chimera was established by transferring (P1 + P2) bone-marrow cells into heavily X-irradiated $(P1 \times P2)F_1$ recipients: The TRF 2 response of the P1-derived cells in recipients (obtained after P2-specific anti-H-2 antibody plus complementtreatment) eventually became sensitive to the inhibition of anti-Ia antibody specific for the allogeneic P2 haplotype, when the response was induced in the presence of mitomycin C-treated P2 B cells as costimulator. Thus, the restriction specificity of the self Ia-recognizing structure on TRF 2responsive B cells can be educated to become reactive to other Ia-haplotype specificity, when the B cells are cultured in the mixed bone marrow chimera (Figure 5) (S. Ono, Y. Takahama, T. Hamaoka, manuscript in preparation).





Figure 5 Adaptive differentiation of P1 B cells to become reactive to P2 allogeneic B cells in the B151-TRF 2 response. P1 B cells were prepared by anti- H^{-2P^2} antibody plus C-treatment of the spleen cells from heavily X-irradiated (P1 × P2)F₁ chimera mice reconstituted with (P1 + P2) mixed bone marrow cells. It was established by other experiments that mitomycin C-treated (MMC) P2 B cells alone do not respond to TRF 2 to generate PFC but possess Ia-restricting stimulatory activity to the MMC-nontreated B cells to respond to the B151-TRF 2.

Implication of Self Ia–Restricted B-B Cell Interaction

The need for recognition of self-Ia determinants by B cells in response to B151-TRF 2 increases enormously the complexities of lymphokinereceptor interactions. Indeed, it raises the provocative possibility that each Ia-restricted cell-cell interaction involved in the activation of B cells might simultaneously involve a number of discrete sets of receptor-ligand interactions in which each partner cell expresses Ia determinants as well as anti-Ia receptors and TRF 2 receptor as well. The current widely held immunological concept has affirmed that MHC-restricted self recognition is a property unique to T cells. The experimental findings reviewed here represent a significant challenge to the contemporary prediction or assumption that the T-cell-receptor molecule is a unique self MHCrecognizing element. It challenges also the concept that lymphokines perform a simple task as differentiation-inducers to a single B-cell mediated by rather simple receptor-ligand interactions. A more definitive analysis of this issue may await the availability of systems that will allow the assessment of B-B cell interactions on a clonal level and activation requirements for individual B cells or the isolation of Ia-recognizing receptors from putatively Ia-restricted B-cell populations. Further exploration of the mechanisms of self Ia-mediated B-B cell interaction for excitation of B cells by TRF 2 may provide us with new insights into the class-II MHC-centered lymphocyte-activation process, as well as an intriguing feature of the self MHC-recognizing element of B cells, identical (or analogous) to, or distinct from, that of T cells.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to express our deep appreciation to Ms. Kazuko Ishimura for her outstanding secretarial assistance. Many thanks are expressed to our colleagues at the Institute, particularly Drs. Yohsuke Takahama, Kunio Dobashi, Yoshiya Kato, and Shinichi Hayashi, who have shared their unpublished data with us. Support was provided by grants-in-aid from the Japanese Ministry of Education, Culture and Science and from the Japanese Ministry of Health and Welfare.

Literature Cited

- Rajewsky, K., Schirrmacher, V., Nase, S., Jerne, N. K. 1969. The requirement of more than one antigenic determinant for immunogenicity. J. Exp. Med. 129: 1131
- Katz, D. T., Paul, W. E., Goidl, E. A., Benaceraff, B. 1970. Carrier function in anti-hapten immune responses. I. En-

hancement of primary and secondary anti-hapten antibody responses by carrier preimmunization. J. Exp. Med. 132:261

 Mitchison, N. A. 1971. The carrier effect in the secondary response to haptenprotein conjugates. II. Cellular cooperation. Eur. J. Immunol. 1:18

- Hamaoka, T., Takatsu, K., Kitagawa, M. 1971. Antibody production in mice. IV. The suppressive effect of anti-carrier and anti-hapten antibodies on the recognition of hapten-carrier in the secondary immune response. *Immunology* 21: 250
- Katz, D. H., Hamaoka, T., Benacerraf, B. 1973. Cell interactions between histoincompatible T and B lymphocytes. II. Failure of physiologic cooperative interaction between T and B lymphocytes from allogeneic donor strains in humoral response to haptenprotein conjugates. J. Exp. Med. 137: 1405
- Katz, D. H., Hamaoka, T., Dorf, M. E. Benacerraf, B. 1973. Cell interactions between histoincompatible T and B lymphocytes. IV. Involvement of the immune response (Ir) gene in the control of lymphocytes interaction in responses controlled by the gene. J. Exp. Med. 138:734
- Katz, D. H., Benacerraf, B. 1975. The function and interrelationship of T cell receptors. Ir-genes and other histocompatibility gene products. *Transplant. Rev.* 22:175
- Paul, W. E., Benacerraf, B. 1977. Functional specificity of thymus-dependent lymphocytes. Science 195:1293
- Kappler, J. W., Marrack, P. 1977. The role of H-2 linked genes in helper T-cell function. I. In vitro expression in B cells of immune response genes controlling helper T cell activity. J. Exp. Med. 146: 1977
- Sprent, J. 1978. Restricted helper function of F₁ hybrid T cells positively selected to heterologous erythrocytes in irradiated parental strain mice. I. Failure to collaborate with B-cells of the opposite strain not associated with active suppression. J. Exp. Med. 147: 1142
- 11. Sprent, J. 1978. Restricted helper function of F_1 hybrid T-cells positively selected to heterologous erythrocytes in irradiated parental strain mice. II. Evidence for restrictions affecting helper cell induction and T-B collaboration, both mapping to the K-end of the H-2 complex. J. Exp. Med. 147:1159
- 12. Yamashita, U., Shevach, E. M. 1978. The histocompatibility restrictions on macrophage T-helper cell interaction determine the histocompatibility restrictions on T cell-B cell interaction. J. Exp. Med. 148:1171
- Benacerraf, B. 1978. A hypothesis to relate the specificity of T lymphocytes and the activity of I region-specific Ir

genes in macrophages and B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 120:1809

- Rosenthal, A. S., Shevach, E. M. 1973. Function of macrophages in antigen recognition by guinea pig T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 138:1194
- Erb, P., Feldmann, M. 1975. The role of macrophages in the generation of T helper cells. II. The genetic control of macrophage-T-cell interaction for helper cell induction with soluble antigens. J. Exp. Med. 142:460
 Pierce, C. W., Kapp, J. A., Benacerraf,
- Pierce, C. W., Kapp, J. A., Benacerraf, B. 1979. Regulation by the H-2 gene complex of macrophage-lymphoid cell interactions in secondary antibody responses in vitro. J. Exp. Med. 144:371
- Swierkosz, J. E., Rock, K., Marrack, P., Kappler, J. W. 1978. The role of H-2 linked gene in helper T-cell function. II. Isolation of antigen-pulsed macrophages of two separate populations of F₁ helper T cells each specific for antigen and one set of parental H-2 products. J. Exp. Med. 147:554
- McDougal, J. S., Cort, S. P. 1978. Generation of T helper cells in vitro. IV. F₁ T-helper cells primed with antigenpulsed parental macrophages are genetically restricted in their antigenspecific activity. J. Immunol. 120:445
- Singer, A., Hathcock, K. S., Hodes, R. J. 1979. Cellular and genetic control of antibody responses. V. Helper T-cell recognition of H-2 determinants on accessory cells, but not B cells. J. Exp. Med. 149:1208
- Howard, M., Paul, W. E. 1983. Regulation of B-cell growth and differentiation by soluble factors. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:307
- Howard, M., Nakanishi, K., Paul, W. E. 1984. B cell growth and differentiation factors. *Immunol. Rev.* 78:185
- Kishimoto, T. 1985. Factors affecting B-cell growth and differentiation. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3:133
- DeFranco, A. L., Raveche, E. S., Asofsky, R., Paul, W. E. 1982. Frequency of B lymphocytes responsive to anti-immunoglobulin. J. Exp. Med. 155: 1523
- Howard, M., Mizel, S. B., Lachman, L., Ansel, J., Johnson, B., Paul, W. E. 1983. Role of interleukin 1 in anti-immunoglobulin-induced B cell proliferation. J. Exp. Med. 157:1529
- Brooks, K. H., Uhr, J. W., Vitetta, E. S. 1984. A B cell growth factor-like activity is secreted by cloned, neoplastic B cells. J. Immunol. 133:3133
- 26. Yoshizaki, K., Nakagawa, T., Fukunaga, K., Tseng, L. T., Yamamura, Y.,

Kishimoto, T. 1984. Isolation and characterization of B cell differentiation factor (BCDF) secreted from a human B lymphoblastoid cell line. J. Immunol. 132:2948

- Dekruyff, R., Clayberger, C., Fay, R., Cantor, H. 1985. B cell activation: Role of dendritic and T cell factors in the response to thymic-independent and dependent antigens. J. Immunol. 134: 2860
- 28. Dutton, R. W., Falkoff, R., Hirst, J. A., Hoffman, M., Kappler, J. W., Kettman, J. R., Lesley, J. F., Vann, D. 1971. Is there evidence for a nonantigen-specific diffusible chemical mediator from the thymus-derived cell in the initiation of the immune response? *Prog. Immunol.* 1:355
- Schimpl, A., Wecker, E. 1972. Replacement of T cell function by a T cell product. Nature 237:15
- Gorczyski, R. M., Miller, R. G., Phillips, R. A. 1973. Reconstitution of T celldepleted spleen cell populations by factor derived from T cells. III. Mechanism of action of T cell-derived factors. J. Immunol. 111:900
- Kishimoto, T., Ishizaka, K. 1973. Regulation of antibody response in vitro. VII: Enhancing soluble factor for IgG and IgE antibody. J. Immunol. 111:1194
- 32. Hamaoka, T., Katz, D., Benacerraf, B. 1973. Hapten-specific IgE antibody response in mice. II. Cooperative interaction between adoptively transferred T and B lymphocytes in the development of IgE response. J. Exp. Med. 136:538
- 33. Watson, J. 1973. The role of humoral factors in the initiation of *in vitro* primary immune responses. III. Characterization of factors that replace thymusderived cells. J. Immunol. 111:1301
- 34. Howard, M., Farrar, J., Hilfiker, M., Johnson, B., Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T., Paul, W. E. 1982. Identification of a Tcell-derived B-cell growth factor distinct from interleukin-2. J. Exp. Med. 155:914
- 35. Yoshizaki, K., Nakagawa, T., Kaieda, T., Muraguchi, A., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1982. Induction of proliferation and Ig production in human B leukemic cells by anti-immunoglobulins and T cell factors. J. Immunol. 128:1296
- Parker, D. C. 1982. Separable helper factors support B cell proliferation and maturation to Ig secretion. J. Immunol. 129:469
- 37. Butler, J., Muraguchi, A., Lane, C., Fauci, A. 1983. Development of a

human T-T cell hybridoma secreting B cell growth factor. J. Exp. Med. 157: 60

- 38. Okada, M., Sakaguchi, N., Yoshimura, N., Hara, H., Shimizu, K., Yoshida, N., Yoshizaki, K., Kishimoto, S., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1983. B cell growth factors (BCGF) and B cell differentiation factor (BCDF) from human T cell hybridomas: Two distinct kinds of BCGFs and their synergism in B cell proliferation. J. Exp. Med. 157: 583
- 39. Paul, W. E. 1984. Letter to the Editor. J. Immunol. 132:1056
- 40. Oliver, K., Noelle, R. J., Uhr, J. W., Krammer, P. H., Vitetta, E. S. 1985. Bcell growth factor (B-cell growth factor I or B-cell-stimulating factor, provisional 1) is a differentiation factor for resting B-cells and may not induce cell growth. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:2465
- Nakanishi, K., Howard, M., Muraguchi, A., Farrar, J., Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T., Paul, W. E. 1983. Soluble factors involved in B cell differentiation: Identification of two distinct T cell-replacing factors (TRF). J. Immunol. 130: 2219
- 42. Takatsu, K., Tanaka, K., Tominaga, A., Hamaoka, T. 1980. Antigen-induced T cell-replacing factor (TRF). III. Establishment of T cell hybrid clone continuously producing TRF and functional analysis of released TRF. J. Immunol. 125:2646
- 43. Nakanishi, K., Malek, T. R., Smith, K. A., Hamaoka, T., Paul, W. E. 1984. Both interleukin 2 and a second T cell-derived factor in EL-4 supernatant have activity as differentiation factors in IgM synthesis. J. Exp. Med. 160: 1605
- 44. Nakanishi, K., Cohen, D. I., Blackman, M., Nielsen, E., Ohara, J., Hamaoka, T., Koshland, M. E., Paul, W. E. 1984. Ig RNA expression in normal B cells stimulated with anti-IgM antibody and T cell-derived growth and differentiation factors. J. Exp. Med. 160:1736
- 45. Eldridge, J. H., Kimura, S., Morisaki, I., Michalek, S. M., Hamaoka, T., Hamada, S., McGhee, J. R. 1985. Immunoregulation in the rat: Cellular and molecular requirements for B cell responses to types 1, 2, and T dependent antigens. J. Immunol. 134: 2236
- Hamaoka, T., Takatsu, K., Okuno, K., Tsuchida, T. 1981. Functional characterization of the killer-helper factor responsible for the induction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes from thymocytes,

and evidence for the nature of this factor as distinct from T-cell-replacing factor (TRF) in regards to B-cell triggering. J. Immunol. 126:659

- Leibson, H. J., Marrack, P., Kappler, J. W. 1981. B-cell helper factors. I. Requirement for both interleukin-2 and another 40,000 mol. wt. factor. J. Exp. Med. 154:1681
- Leibson, H. J., Marrack, P., Kappler, J. 1982. B-cell helper factors. II. Synergy among three helper factors in the response of T-cell- and macrophagedepleted B-cells. J. Immunol. 129:1398
- 49. Swain, S. L., Howard, M., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Watson, J., Booth, R., Dutton, R. W. 1983. Evidence for two distinct classes of murine B cell growth factors which have activities in different functional assays. J. Exp. Med. 158: 822
- functional assays. J. Exp. Med. 158: 822
 50. Dutton, R., Wetzel, G., Swain, S. 1984. Partial purification and characterization of a BCGFII from EL4 culture supernatants. J. Immunol. 132: 2451
- 51. Takatsu, K., Harada, N., Hara, Y., Takahama, Y., Yamada, G., Dobashi, K., Hamaoka, T. 1985. Purification and physicochemical characterization of murine T cell replacing factor (TRF). J. Immunol. 134:382
- 52. Hara, Y., Takahama, Y., Murakami, S., Yamada, G., Ono, S., Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T. 1985. B cell growth and differentiation activity of a purified T cell-replacing factor (TRF) molecule from B151-T cell hybridoma. Lymphokine Res. 4:243
- 53. Kishimoto, T., Yoshizaki, K., Kimoto, M., Okada, M., Kuritani, T., Kikutani, H., Shimizu, K., Nakagawa, T., Nakagawa, N., Miki, Y., Kishi, H., Fukunaga, K., Yoshikubo, T., Taga, T. 1984. B cell growth and differentiation factors and mechanism of B cell activation. *Immunol. Rev.* 78:97
- 54. Shimizu, K., Hirano, T., Ishibashi, K., Nakano, N., Taga, T., Sugamura, K., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1985. Immortalization of BGDF (BCGF II)and BCDF-producing T cells by human T cell leukemia virus (HTLV) and characterization of human BGDF (BCGF II). J. Immunol. 134: 1728
- 55. Ralph, P., Jeong, G., Welte, K., Mertelsmann, R., Rabin, H., Henderson, L. E., Souza, L. M., Boone, T. C., Robb, R. J. 1984. Stimulation of immunoglobulin secretion in human B lymphocytes as a direct effect of high concentrations of IL 2. J. Immunol. 133:2442
- 56. Teranishi, T., Hirano, T., Lin, Bi-Hu.,

Onoue, K. 1984. Demonstration of the involvement of interleukin 2 in the differentiation of Staphylococcus Aureus Cowan I-stimulated B cells. J. Immunol. 133: 3062

- Mond, J. J., Thompson, C., Finkelman, F. D., Farrar, J., Schaefer, M., Robb, R. J. 1985. Affinity-purified interleukin 2 induces proliferation of large but not small B cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:1518
- Kishi, H., Inui, S., Muraguchi, A., Hirano, T., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1985. Induction of IgG secretion in a human B cell clone with recombinant IL 2. J. Immunol. 134: 3104
- 59. Mingari, M. C., Gerosa, F., Moretta, A., Zubler, R. H., Moretta, L. 1985. B cell growth factor activity of immunoaffinity-purified and recombinant human interleukin 2. Eur. J. Immunol. 15:193
- Swain, S. L., Wetzel, G. D., Soubiran, P., Dutton, R. W. 1982. T cell replacing factors in the B cell response to antigen. *Immunol. Rev.* 63:111
- Roehm, N. W., Marrack, P., Kappler, J. W. 1983. Helper signals in the plaqueforming cell response to protein-bound haptens. J. Exp. Med. 158:317
- haptens. J. Exp. Med. 158:317
 62. Zlotnik, A., Roberts, W. K., Vasil, A., Blumenthal, E., Larosa, F., Leibson, J., Endres, R. O., Graham, S. D. Jr., White, J., Hill, J., Henson, P., Klein, J. R., Bevan, M. J., Marrack, P., Kappler, J. W. 1983. Coordinate production by a T cell hybridoma of gamma interferon and three other lymphokine activities: Multiple activities of a single lymphokine. J. Immunol. 131:794
- Leibson, J., Gefter, M., Zlotnik, A., Marrack, P., Kappler, J. W. 1984. Role of γ-interferon in antibody-producing responses. *Nature* 309:799
- Brunswick, M., Lake, P. 1985. Obligatory role of gamma interferon in T cell replacing factor-dependent, antigenspecific murine B cell responses. J. Exp. Med. 161:953
- 65. Nakagawa, T., Hirano, T., Nakagawa, N., Yoshizaki, K., Kishimoto, T. 1985. Effect of recombinant IL 2 and γ-IFN on proliferation and differentiation of human B cells. J. Immunol. 134:959
- 66. Melchers, F., Andersson, J., Lernhardt, W., Schreier, M. H. 1980. H-2 unrestricted polyclonal maturation without replication of resting B cells induced by antigen-activated 1 helper factors. Eur. J. Immunol. 10:679
- Leclercq, L., Bismutk, G., Theze, J. 1984. Antigen-specific helper T-cell clone supernatant is sufficient to induce

both polyclonal proliferation and differentiation of small resting B lymphocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81: 6491

- 68. Sidman, C. L., Paige, C. J., Schreier, M. H. 1984. B cell maturation factor (BMF): A lymphokine or family of lymphokines promoting the maturation of B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 132:209
- Sidman, C. L., Marchall, J. D. 1984. B cell maturation factor: Effects on various cell populations. J. Immunol. 132: 845
- Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T. 1982. DBA/2Ha mice as a model of an Xlinked immunodeficiency which is defective in the expression of TRF-acceptor site(s) on B lymphocytes. *Immunol. Rev.* 64:25
- Tsudo, M., Uchiyama, T., Uchino, H. 1984. Expression of TAC antigen on activated normal human B cells. J. Exp. Med. 160:612
- 72. Zubler, R. H., Lowenthal, J. W., Erard, F., Hashimoto, N., Devos, R., Macdonald, H. R. 1984. Activated Bcells express receptors for and proliferate in response to pure-interleukin 2. J. *Exp. Med.* 160:1170
- 73. Waldmann, T. A., Goldman, C. K., Robb, R. J., Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Sharrow, S. O., Bongiovanni, K. F., Korsmeyer, S. J., Greene, W. C. 1984. Expression of interleukin 2 receptors on activated human B cells. J. Exp. Med. 160:1450
- Lawrence, K. L. J., Hara, T., Fu, S.-M. 1984. Detection and functional studies of p60-65 (TAC antigen) on activated human B cells. J. Exp. Med. 160:1597
- Muraguchi, A., Kehrl, J. H., Longo, D. L., Volkman, D. J., Smith, K. A., Fauci, A. S. 1985. Interleukin 2 receptors on human B cells. Implications for the role of interleukin 2 in human B cell function. J. Exp. Med. 161:181
- Malek, T. R., Robb, R. J., Shevach, E. M. 1983. Identification and initial characterization of a rat monoclonal antibody reactive with the murine interleukin-2 receptor-ligand complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:5694
- 77. Korsmeyer, S. J., Greene, W. C., Cossman, J., Hsu, S.-M., Jensen, J. P., Neckers, L. M., Marshall, S. L., Bakhshi, A., Depper, J. M., Leonard, W. J., Jaffe, E. S., Waldman, T. A. 1983. Rearrangement and expression of immunoglobulin genes and expression of TAC antigen in hairy cell leukemia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:4522
- 78. Pike, B. L., Raubitschek, A., Nossal, G.

J. V. 1984. Human interleukin 2 B cells in the growth and differentiation of single hapten-specific antigen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:7917

- 79. Deleted in proof
- Boyd, A. W., Fisher, D. C., Fox, D. A., Schlossman, S. F., Nadler, L. M. 1985. Structural and functional characterization of IL 2 receptors on activated human B cells. J. Immunol. 134:2387
- Mittler, R., Rao, P., Olini, G., Westberg, E., Newman, W., Hoffmann, M., Goldstein, G. 1985. Activated human B cells display a functional IL 2 receptor. *J. Immunol.* 134: 2393
- 82. Tominaga, A., Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T. 1980. Antigen-induced T cellreplacing factor (TRF). II. X-linked gene control for the expression of TRFacceptor site(s) on B lymphocytes and preparation of specific antiserum to that acceptor. J. Immunol, 124: 2423
- Hamaoka, T., Takatsu, K., Tominaga, A., Sano, Y., Tomita, S., Hashimoto, N. 1981. Anti-TRF acceptor site(s) antibody substitutes for helper T cell activity in the triggering of B cells. In Mechanism of Lymphocyte Activation, ed. K. Resch, H. Kirchner, p. 480. Amsterdam: Elsevier/North Holland Biomedical Press
- 84. Takatsu, K., Sano, Y., Tomita, S., Hashimoto, N., Hamaoka, T. 1981. Antibody against T cell-replacing factor acceptor site(s) augments *in vivo* primary IgM response to suboptimal doses of heterologous erythrocytes. *Nature* 292:360
- 85. Takatsu, K., Sano, Y., Hashimoto, N., Tomita, S., Hamaoka, T. 1982. Acceptor site(s) for T cell-replacing factor (TRF) on B lymphocytes. I. TRFsubstituting activity of anti-TRF acceptor site(s) antibody in the triggering of B cells. J. Immunol. 128:2575
- Tominaga, A., Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T. 1982. Acceptor site(s) for T cellreplacing factor (TRF) on B lymphocytes. II. Activation of B cells by crosslinking or aggregation of the TRF acceptor molecule. J. Immunol. 128:2581
- Hamaoka, T. 1985. T-cell-replacing factor and its acceptor site on B cells: Molecular properties and immunogenetic aspects. In Contemporary Topics in Molecular Immunology, ed. S. Gillis, F. P. Inman, pp. 231-61. New York: Plenum
- Muchmore, A. V., Decker, J. M., Blaese, R. M. 1980. Evidence that specific oligosaccharides block early events necessary for the expression of antigen-specific

proliferation by human-lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 125:1306

- Cowing, C., Chapdelaine, J. M. 1983. T cells discriminate between Ia antigens expressed on allogeneic accessory cells and B cells: A potential function for carbohydrate side chains on Ia molecules. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 6000
- 90. Remold, H. G. 1973. Requirement for α-L-fucose on the macrophage membrane receptor for MIF. J. Exp. Med. 138: 1065
- 91. Sawada, J., Kobayashi, Y., Osawa, T. 1977. The effect of pulse treatment of target cells with guinea pig lymphotoxin and the nature of its binding to target cells. Jpn. J. Exp. Med. 47:93
- 92. Besancon, F., Ankel, H. 1976. Specificity and reversibility of interferon ganglioside interaction. Nature 259: 576
- 93. Robb, R., Kutny, R. M., Panico, M. Morris, H. R., Chowdhry, V. 1984. Amino acid sequence and post-translational modification of human interleukin 2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81: 6486
- 94. Yodoi, J., Hirashima, M., Ishizaka, K. 1982. Regulatory role of IgE-binding factors from rat T lymphocytes. V. The carbohydrate moieties in IgE-potentiating factors and IgE-suppressive factors. J. Immunol. 128:289
- 95. Huff, T. H., Uede, T., Iwata, M., Ishizaka, K. 1983. Modulation of the biologic activities of IgE-binding factors. III. Switching of a T cell hybrid clone from the formation of IgE-suppressive factor to the formation of IgEpotentiating factor. J. Immunol. 131: 1090
- 96. Tomaska, L. D., Parish, C. R. 1981. Inhibition of secondary IgG responses by N-acetyl-D-galactosamine. Eur. J. Immunol. 11:181
- 97. Takahama, Y., Ono, S., Hara, Y., Hayashi, S. I. Dobashi, K., Hamaoka, T. 1985. Role of N-acetyl-D-galactosamine residue on B151K12-derived T cell-replacing factor (B151-TRF) molecule in B cell-receptor binding and -stimulation activity. J. Immunol. 135: 2534
- 98. Ashwell, G., Morell, A. G. 1974. The role of surface carbohydrates in the hepatic recognition and transport of circulating glycoproteins. Adv. Enzymol. 41 : 99
- 99. Sando, G. N., Neufeld, E. F. 1977. Recognition and receptor-mediated uptake of a lysosomal enzyme, α -Liduronidase, by cultured human fibro-

blasts. Cell 12:619

- 100. Biberfeld, G., Gnonowicz, E. 1976. Mycoplasma pneumoniae is a polyclonal B-cell activator. Nature 261:238
- Naot, Y., Ginsburg, H. 1978. Activation of B lymphocytes by mycoplasma mito-
- gen(s). Immunology 34:715 102. Naot, Y., Merchav, S., Ginsburgh, H. 1979. Mycoplasma neurolyticum: A potent mitogen for rat B lymphocytes. Eur. J. Immunol. 9:185
- Proust, J. J., Buchholz, M. A., Nordin, A. A. 1985. A "Lymphokine-like" soluble product that induces proliferation and maturation of B cells appears in the serum-free supernatant of a T cell hybridoma as a consequence of mycoplasmal contamination. J. Immunol. 134: 390
- 104. Takatsu, K., Tominaga, A., Hamaoka, 1980. Antigen-induced T cell-Τ. replacing factor (TRF). I. Functional characterization of helper T lymphocytes and genetic analysis of TRF production. J. Immunol. 124:2414
- 105. Prud'homme, G. J., Park, C. L., Fieser, T. M., Kofler, R., Dixon, F. J., Theofilopoulos, A. N. 1983. Identification of a B-cell differentiation factor(s) spontaneously produced by proliferating Tcells in murine lupus strains of the lpr/lpr genotype. J. Exp. Med. 157:730 106. Prud'homme, G. J., Fieser, T. M.,
- Dixon, F. J., Theofilopoulos, A. N. 1984. B-cell-tropic interleukins in murine systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) 1. Immunol. Rev. 78:159
- 107. Gleichmann, E., VanElven, E. H., Vander Veen, J. P. W. 1982. A systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)-like disease in mice induced by abnormal T-B cell co-operation. Preferential formation of auto-antibodies characteristic of SLE. Eur. J. Immunol. 12:152
- 108. Rolink, A. G., Pals, S. T., Gleichmann, E. 1983. Allosuppressor and allohelper T cells in acute and chronic graft-vshost disease. II. F₁ recipients carrying mutations at H-2K and/or I-A. J. Exp. Med. 157:755
- 109. Goldman, M., Feng, H.-M., Engers, H., Hochman, A., Louis, J., Lambert, P.-H. 1983. Auto-immunity and immune complex disease after neonatal induction of transplantation tolerance in mice. J. Immunol. 131:251
- 110. Taurog, J. D., Moutsopoulos, H. M., Rosenberg, Y. J., Chused, T. M., Steinberg, A. D. 1979. CBA/N X-linked Bcell defect prevents NZB B-cell hyperactivity in F_1 mice. J. Exp. Med. 150:31 111. Steinberg, E. B., Smathers, P. A.,

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:167-204. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

Frederickson, K., Steinberg, A. D. 1982. Ability of the xid gene to prevent autoimmunity in (NZB \times NZW)F₁ mice during the course of their natural history, after polyclonal stimulation or following immunization with DNA. J. Clin. Invest. 70:587

- 112. Smith, H. R., Chused, T. M., Steinberg, A. D. 1983. The effect of the X-linked immune deficiency gene (Xc36 upon the Y chromosome-related disease of BXSB mice. J. Immunol. 131:1257
- 113. Golding, B., Golding, H., Foiles, P. G., Morton, J. L. 1983. CBA/N X-linked defect delays expression of the Y-linked accelerated autoimmune disease of BXSB mice. J. Immunol. 130:1043
- 114. Shreffler, D. C., David, C. S. 1975. The H-2 major histocompatibility complex and the immune response region: Genetic variation, function and organization. Adv. Immunol. 20: 125
- 115. Chesnut, R. W., Grey, H. M. 1981. Studies on the capacity of B cells to serve as antigen-presenting cells. J. Immunol. 126:1075
- 116. Chesnut, R. W., Colon, S., Grey, H. M. 1982. Antigen-presentation by normal B cells, B cell tumors and macrophages : Functional and biochemical comparison. J. Immunol. 128:1764
- 117. McKean, D. J., Infante, A. J., Nilson, A., Kimoto, M., Fathman, C. G., Walker, E., Warner, N. 1981. Major histocompatibility complex restricted antigen presentation to antigen-reactive T cells by lymphocyte tumor lines. J. Exp. Med. 154:1419
- 118. Glimcher, L. H., Kim, K. J., Paul, W. E. 1982. Ia antigen-bearing B cell tumor lines can present protein antigen and alloantigen in a major histocompatibility complex-restricted fashion to antigen-reactive T cells. J. Exp. Med. 155:445
- 119. Kappler, J., White, J., Wegmann, D., Mustain, E., Marrack, P. 1982. Antigen presentation by Ia-positive B-cell hybridomas to H-2-restricted T-cell hybridomas. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:3604
- 120. Issekutz, T., Chu, E., Geha, R. S. 1982. Antigen presentation by human B cells: T cell proliferation induced by Epstein-Barr virus B lymphoblastoid cells. J. Immunol. 129: 1446
- 121. DeFranco, A. L., Ashwell, J. D., Schwartz, R. H., Paul, W. E. 1984. Polyclonal stimulation of resting B lymphocytes by antigen-specific T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 159:861
- 122. Ashwell, J. D., DeFranco, A. L., Paul,

W. E., Schwartz, R. H. 1984. Antigen presentation by resting B cells: Radiosensitivity of the antigen-presentation function and two distinct pathways of T cell activation. *J. Exp. Med.* 159: 881

- 123. Webb, S. R., Hu Li, J., Wilson, D. B., Sprent, J. 1985. Capacity of small Bcell-enriched populations to stimulate mixed lymphocyte reactions: Marked differences between irradiated vs. Mitomycin C-treated stimulators. Eur. J. Immunol. 15:92
- 124. Rock, K. L., Benacerraf, B., Abbas, A. K. 1984. Antigen presentation by hapten-specific B lymphocytes. I. Role of surface immunoglobulin receptors. J. Exp. Med. 160:1102
- 125. Tony, H.-P., Parker, D. C. 1985. Major histocompatibility complex-restricted, polyclonal B cell responses resulting from helper T cell recognition of antiimmunoglobulin presented by small B lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 161:223
- 126. Singer, A., Hodes, R. J. 1983. Mechanisms of T cell-B cell interaction. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:211
- 127. Roehm, N. W., Leibson, H. J., Zlotnik, A., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Cambier, J. C. 1984. Interleukin-induced increase in Ia expression by normal mouse B-cells. J. Exp. Med. 160:679
- Kimoto, M., Yoshikubo, T., Kishimoto, S., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1984. Polyclonal activation of xid B cells by auto-Ia-reactive T cell clones. J. Immunol. 132:1663
- 129. Fathman, C. G., Kimoto, M. 1981. Studies utilizing murine T cell clones: Ir genes, Ia antigens and MLR stimulating determinants. *Immunol. Rev.* 54: 57
- 130. Inada, T., Yamamoto, H., Bitoh, S., Fujimoto, S., Hamaoka, T. 1982. Detection and characterization of idiotypespecific enhancing cells generated in mice immunized with idiotype. J. Immunol. 129:2069
- Yamamoto, H., Bitoh, S., Fujimoto, S. 1984. Regulation of immune responses via genetically restricted cellular interactions. I. Augmentation of antibody responses by idiotype-specific enhancing B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 133: 2882
- 132. Sherr, D. H., Dorf, M. E. 1985. H-2restricted helper activity mediated by immunoglobulin-bearing lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 134:2084
- 133. Singer, A., Hodes, R. J. 1982. Major histocompatibility complex-restricted self-recognition in responses to trinitrophenyl-Ficoll: Adaptive differentia-

tion and self-recognition by B-cells. J. Exp. Med. 156:1415

- 134. Hodes, R. J., Hathcock, K. S., Singer, A. 1982. Major histocompatibility complex-restricted self-recognition by B-cells and T-cells in responses to TNP-Ficoll. Immunol. Rev. 69:25
- 135. van Leeuwen, A., Goulmy, E., van Rood, J. J. 1979. Major histocompatibility complex-restricted antibody reactivity mainly, but not exclusively directed

against cells from male donors. J. Exp. Med. 150: 1075

- 136. Wylie, D. E., Sherman, L. A., Klinman, N. R. 1982. Participation of the major histocompatibility complex in antibody recognition of viral antigens expressed on infected cells. J. Exp. Med. 155:403
- 137. Rabin, E. M., Ohara, J., Paul, W. E. 1985. B-cell stimulating factor 1 activates resting B cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:2935



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726
Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 205–30 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3)

John W. Schrader

The Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Post Office Royal Melbourne Hospital, Victoria 3050, Australia

INTRODUCTION

The T-cell lymphokine that forms the subject of this review has been studied using a variety of bioassays, under many different names. As the discussion below indicates it is now apparent that burst-promoting activity, CFUsstimulating activity, histamine-producing cell stimulating factor, interleukin-3, mast-cell growth factor, multicolony-stimulating factor, P cellstimulating factor, and WEHI-3 factor are all products of a single gene. The diversity of these assay systems reflects the fact that this single lymphokine stimulates hemopoietic cells from every major hemopoietic lineage. Although there is some controversy, no well-substantiated evidence indicates that this lymphokine acts on lymphoid cells. Because this lymphokine clearly functions as a hemopoietin with a characteristically broad range of targets, where a general term is required the factor will be described as panspecific hemopoietin (PSH).

HISTORY

In 1963, the first report of the growth in vitro of cells of hemopoietic origin documented the generation of mast cells from cultures of thymic cells (1). Because the cells used in these experiments were taken from noninbred mice, the generation of these mast cells very likely depended on the release of PSH from T cells activated by allogeneic interactions.

The myelomonocytic leukemia WEHI-3B that has played a central role

in the molecular and biological analysis of PSH was reported six years later (2). Tissues from WEHI 3-bearing mice released an activity that stimulated colony formation in agar cultures of normal bone marrow (2). This colony-stimulating activity probably reflected the secretion of PSH; a decade later, descendants of WEHI-3B were used as sources of burst-promoting activity (3), interleukin-3 (IL-3) (4), mast-cell growth factor (5, 6), P cell-stimulating factor (7), and WEHI-3B factor (8). Moreover, the constitutive production of PSH by this myelomonocytic leukemia led to the notion that aberrant production of PSH by a hemopoietic cell could lead to autostimulation and thus might be a critical step in leukemogenesis (9).

In 1974 Cerny (10) reported that the T-cell mitogen phytohemagglutinin enhanced the survival in vitro of pluripotential hemopoietic stem cells (CFUs). This was the first indication that activated T cells secreted a molecule that stimulated pluripotential hemopoietic stem cells. Some five years later Schrader et al showed that CFUs-stimulating activity (CFUs-SA) was directly synthesized by the activated T cell (11, 12) and, in subsequent work, that CFUs-SA was identical with PSH (13). At present PSH appears to be the only hemopoietin able to stimulate the in vitro production of pluripotential hemopoietic stem cells.

The capacity of medium from cultures containing activated T-cells to stimulate the growth of colonies of megakaryocytes (14) may in hindsight be accounted for by the action of PSH as a megakaryocyte colonystimulating factor. Likewise PSH can account for the capacity of medium conditioned by activated T lymphocytes to stimulate the growth not only of large colonies of erythroid cells, originally termed burst-promoting activity (3) or erythroid colony-stimulating factor (15), but also colonies of multiple lineages of hemopoietic cells including erythroid cells, megakaryocytes, neutrophils, and macrophages (15, 16) an activity initially termed mixedcolony stimulating factor. Burgess et al characterized in broad molecular terms the colony-stimulating activities present in medium conditioned by activated T cells (17) but were unable to come to definitive conclusions about the number of molecular species responsible for the various activities.

ASSAYS FOR PSH

The characterization of this molecule has depended largely on two major assays. The first depended on the unique ability of PSH to support the in vitro growth of factor-dependent mast cells or persisting (P) cells (5, 11, 18–22) or of certain factor-dependent lines of other hemopoietic lineages (8, 23). The specificity and simplicity of assays based on the stimulation of mast-cell growth and survival led to their widespread use in the characterization and purification of the molecule (7) and ultimately to the isolation of the cDNA clones that now effectively define the molecule (24, 25).

The second assay that played a major role in the characterization of this factor was that for interleukin-3 (26). This involved the induction of an enzyme 20- α -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (20- α -SDH) in cultures of the spleen cells from congenitally athymic (mu/mu) mice. Although the IL-3 assay did not find widespread use, largely because of the relative technical complexity of the assay of 20- α -SDH, its importance lay in the fact that Ihle and colleagues used it to purify IL-3 and obtain the first information about the N-terminal amino acid sequence of the protein (4).

Assays Using Factor-Dependent Lines

The finding that lines of murine mast cells could be maintained in vitro using a soluble factor released from activated T cells was made independently by a number of workers. Schrader (18, 19, 27, 28) showed that homogeneous populations of cells that shared many characteristics of mast cells could be reproducibly obtained by culturing cells from normal lymphohemopoietic tissues together with medium conditioned by concanavalin A-activated spleen cells or T-cell hybridomas. These cells were initially termed persisting (P) cells, in reference to their characteristic persistence in these cultures after other cell types had disappeared. P cells could be cloned but were not immortal, and subsequent work has established that they represent the in vitro counterparts of a normal subset of mast cells. The subset has been variously termed the "atypical," "thymusdependent," or "mucosal" subset of mast cells (29).

Hasthorpe (20), also in Melbourne, independently reported a permanent line of mast cells that grew from cultures of cells from the spleen of a mouse infected with the Friend murine-leukemia virus. The line was also dependent upon a factor released by mitogen-activated spleen cells. Tertian et al (30), Razin et al (21), and Nabel et al (22) all independently reported the growth of mast cells from normal tissues using medium that had been conditioned by activated spleen cells or T cells, while Nagao et al (6) reported that similar cell lines were derived from long-term bone marrow cultures using as a stimulus medium conditioned by the myelomonocytic leukemia WEHI-3B.

WEHI-3B conditioned medium had also been used by Greenberger et al (31) and Dexter et al (32) to obtain permanent factor-dependent cell-lines from virus-infected (31) or normal (32) long-term bone marrow cultures. These immortalized lines had the characteristics of early myeloid cells. Dexter's group later used the growth of these lines to characterize PSH.

PERMANENT VERSUS NONPERMANENT FACTOR-DEPENDENT LINES Permanent, factor-dependent lines corresponding to many types of hemopoietic cells have been reported. These include mast cells (20) and early myeloid cells (31, 32)—bipotential cells giving rise to megakaryocytes

and mast cells (33), or megakaryocytes and erythrocytes (34), and even multipotential lines giving rise to neutrophils, macrophages, eosinophils, megakaryocytes and erythroid cells, etc (35). These permanent factordependent lines corresponding to a variety of hemopoietic lineages differ from the factor-dependent mast cells that persist in culture for only limited periods in several important respects.

One key distinction lies in the likelihood of the presence of genetic abnormalities in the permanent lines. The prolonged but not indefinite, PSH-dependent growth of normal mast cells in tissue culture appears to reflect a physiological capacity for a limited amount of self-renewal in welldifferentiated murine mast cells of this subset. In contrast, the capacity for indefinite self-renewal demonstrated by the permanent lines probably results from genetic abnormalities (see 33). This notion is supported by the fact that whereas the nonpermanent lines of factor-dependent mast cells can be obtained quite reproducibly from normal tissues, the permanent lines of factor-dependent hemopoietic cells occur only infrequently and unpredictably. Moreover the frequency with which immortalized lines of hemopoietic cells can be established is increased by infection of the cultures with murine leukemia viruses (31), or by the use of donor mice that have high levels of endogenous murine leukemia viruses (36) or have been infected with murine leukemia viruses (37). Prolonged passage in vitro of the permanent lines also may select for karyotypic abnormalities (33).

Specificity of the Factor-Dependent Cell-Line Assays for PSH

Earlier results indicated that the effect of PSH on the growth of lymphokine-dependent mast cells was specific and could not be replaced by lymphokines such as the granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (38, 39). interleukin-2 (5), or interferon- γ (39), or by other hemopoietins such as macrophage colony-stimulating factor (27). These results do not of course exclude the possibility that these factors could have effects on mast cells apart from the stimulation of growth. For example, interferon- γ has been shown directly to influence the expression of major histocompatibility antigens on PSH-dependent mast cells (40). At present, PSH appears to be the only factor capable of stimulating the growth of P cells or lymphokine-dependent mast cells. Certainly, it is clear that the three different groups that used the mast-cell growth-factor assay to purify a protein (7) or to isolate cDNA clones (24, 25) were all studying the same molecule; this suggests that, at least in the cases of the sources they used, the mast-cell growth assay probably detects a single product.

The question of whether assays based on the stimulation of growth of murine-mast cell lines can be used to define unequivocally the presence of

PSH is an important one. For example, assays based on permanent factordependent murine-mast cell lines have yielded positive results with soluble factors from human sources (41) and from nonlymphoid murine tissues, e.g. keratinocytes (42) or astroglia (43). However, to establish unequivocally that a mast-cell growth-stimulating molecule from a novel source is PSH or a related molecule, additional data are necessary. These could include evidence of competition between the factor and labeled-PSH for binding to the PSH receptor, reactivity with antibodies specific for defined regions of PSH, or the presence in the cellular source of mRNA that hybridizes with PSH cDNA probes.

The need for additional tools in the characterization of factors stimulating lines of hemopoietic cells is emphasized by reports that permanent PSH-dependent cell lines can in some instances respond to multiple lymphokines (44, 45). The instance of factor-dependent lines of myeloid progenitor cells that respond to both PSH and GM-CSF (45) should not be surprising, as normal myeloid progenitor cells have receptors for not only PSH but also GM-CSF (33). When used in parallel with a target line that responds only to PSH, these lines form a convenient assay system for GM-CSF. Another myeloid line, the monocytic leukemia WEHI-274.14 responds to three hemopoietins—PSH, GM-CSF, and macrophage-CSF (CSF-1) (J. W. Schrader & S. Schrader, unpublished results), a pattern of responsiveness that again resembles that of the normal counterpart of the line, in this case a macrophage progenitor.

More intriguing are reports that permanent mast-cell lines can respond to IL-2 (44). Although this may reflect a genetic aberration that has occurred in a permanent cell line, this observation should provoke a search for a possible role of IL-2 in mast-cell physiology. It is a provocative fact that the various hemopoietic growth factors and IL-2, while showing no obvious structural interrelationships, can nevertheless interchangeably promote the growth and survival of certain cell lines. This fact implies that the interaction of these various factors with their respective receptors results in the activation of common pathways and opens up the possibility that pathological growth of hemopoietic cells could result from the aberrant expression of lymphokine receptors not normally characteristic of these cells.

Assay of Interleukin-3

The enzyme 20- α -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase is assayed by its ability to metabolize radiolabeled progesterone (26). This enzyme attracted Ihle's attention as a potential marker of T-cell differentiation because it was expressed in medullary thymocytes but not cortical thymocytes. Moreover, it was absent in the spleen of congenically athymic (nu/nu) mice but could

be rapidly induced by a factor present in medium conditioned by mitogenstimulated spleen cells (26). Because it was assumed that the induction of $20-\alpha$ -SDH reflected stimulation of the differentiation of T-cell precursors, and because he had shown that the factor was distinct from interleukin-2, Ihle suggested that this third putative factor in T-cell differentiation should be termed interleukin-3 (26).

It is now clear that the notion that this assay is measuring a parameter of T-cell differentiation is incorrect. There is no direct evidence that IL-3 has any effect on $20-\alpha$ -SDH levels in any T-cell or committed T-cell progenitor. Moreover the enzyme $20-\alpha$ -SDH is not specific for the T-cell lineage and is expressed by myeloid cells (46–48), including mast cells (49). The observed induction of $20-\alpha$ -SDH by PSH (IL-3) can be readily accounted for by the well-documented effects of PSH on hemopoietic progenitors of lineages known to express $20-\alpha$ -SDH. Moreover, it has been suggested that the induction of $20-\alpha$ -SDH is not unique to PSH. Thus Hapel et al (48), although not Ihle et al (50), have observed that a distinct hemopoietin, GM-CSF, also induced an increase in the levels of $20-\alpha$ -SDH with a third cytokine, macrophage-CSF or CSF-1, and concluded that the presence of $20-\alpha$ -SDH was characteristic of proliferating hemopoietic cells of certain lineages, regardless of the hemopoietin with which they were stimulated.

MOLECULAR CHARACTERIZATION OF PSH

The first evidence that the factor stimulating the growth of mast-cell lines was a direct product of T cells came from the demonstration that it was released by Con-A stimulation of cloned T-cell hybridomas (18, 27). Subsequently, Yung et al reported that the factor was released by mitogen-activation of a T-cell lymphoma, LBRM (5), and Nabel et al showed that it was produced by activation of long-term clones of helper T lymphocytes (22). Ihle showed that IL-3 was produced by mitogen activation of the T-cell lymphoma EL4 (49). Later, limit-dilution strategies were used to demonstrate that short-term T-cell clones produce the spectrum of bioactivities now known to be characteristic of PSH (51).

One exception to the apparently exclusively T-cell origin of PSH was the production of a factor that stimulated the growth of permanent lines of myeloid cells (31, 32) or mast cells (5, 6, 52) by the myelomonocytic leukemia WEHI-3B. Likewise, Ihle and colleagues observed that WEHI-3B was a good source of interleukin-3 (53). Because the WEHI-3B lines that were studied by these workers expressed high levels of the Thy-1 antigen (54), there was some speculation that WEHI-3B represented an abnormal T cell.

However, as we indicate below, this conclusion was not valid because normal myeloid progenitors express the Thy-1 antigen when stimulated by PSH (55), and the expression of the Thy-1 antigen by a myelomonocytic leukemia may merely reflect a freezing of differentiation of the neoplastic cell at the stage of an activated myeloid progenitor cell.

Early studies established that PSH was a heavily glycosylated protein and that glycosylation accounted for most of the charge-heterogeneity of the protein (56). The apparent M_r on gel filtration ranged from 45,000 (22) to 30,000 (56). By gel-filtration under dissociating conditions in the presence of 6M guanidine-hydrochloride, the mean M_r was estimated at 23,000 (56). By SDS-gel electrophoresis PSH was heterogeneous with a mean M_r of about 25,000 (7, 8).

Initial studies seemed to indicate that IL-3 as assayed by the induction of 20- α -SDH differed significantly from the molecules studied in the assays based on the growth of mast cells or factor-dependent hemopoietic lines. Thus, purified IL-3 was reported to have an apparent M_r on SDS gelelectrophoresis of around 40,000 (49). Subsequently, low molecular weight forms of IL-3 were reported (57); the apparent M_r of the dominant form was 28,000, with a smaller amount of material with M_r of 32,500. The high M_r form of IL-3 initially reported seems to represent a heavily glycosylated species, as peptide maps suggest that the protein is identical with low M_r IL-3 (58).

Initial biochemical and biological studies pointed to strong similarities between the mast-cell growth factor and IL-3 made by activated T cells and those made by WEHI-3B. Because WEHI-3B produced relatively high levels of bioactivity constitutively, without the need for stimulation by mitogens, it was a convenient source of material for the attempts at the purification and detailed molecular analysis of the molecule which, although extremely potent, was produced in very small amounts.

The severe logistic problems involved in obtaining sufficient amounts of purified material for analysis of the amino acid sequence were first solved by Ihle et al who used 150 liter batches of WEHI 3B-conditioned medium (57). Using the induction of $20-\alpha$ -SDH as an assay, Ihle et al obtained sufficient, homogeneous material for limited amino acid sequencing and reported a unique N-terminal amino acid sequence (4). Ihle sent purified IL-3 to a number of laboratories that had been studying factor-dependent mast cells or other factor-dependent lines, and these collaborative studies demonstrated that purified IL-3 was active in these multiple systems (57).

Clark-Lewis et al subsequently reported the purification of PSF (7) again from WEHI-3B conditioned medium. This material had a unique Nterminal amino acid sequence that differed from that of IL-3 in that there

were an additional six N-terminal amino acid residues, after which the sequence coincided with that of IL-3 (7). The possible significance of this difference is discussed below.

Recombinant DNA Studies

The sensitivity and specificity of the mast-cell growth factor assay made it relatively simple to detect PSH production by Xenopus oocytes that had been injected with fractionated mRNA from WEHI-3B or activated T cells (59). However, the low abundance of the PSH mRNA made isolation of the appropriate cDNA clones a daunting task, and a number of strategies were tried by the various interested groups. In the event, two laboratories succeeded in isolating virtually identical cDNA clones, both using the translation of mast-cell growth-stimulating activity from hybrid-selected mRNA in Xenopus oocytes as a screening strategy. Young's group in Australia (Fung, 24) isolated a cDNA clone from WEHI-3B, as did Arai's group in California (Yokota, 25) from a helper T-cell clone developed by Nabel. The sequences of the two clones differed by only a single base, pointing to the identity of the factor produced by the myelomonocytic leukemia WEHI-3B and the T-cell line.

Arai's group subsequently isolated the gene and showed that it contained five exons (60). Examination of the noncoding sequences suggested the presence of an enhancer-like structure in the second intron and a TATAlike sequence preceded by a G+C rich region in the 5'-flanking region of the gene. Comparative analyses of the molecular mechanisms involved in the induction of this gene and of the genes coding for other T-cell lymphomas, e.g. IL-2, interferon- γ , and GM-CSF, are underway in a number of laboratories and may lead to fundamental insights into the regulation of mammalian genes.

Structure of PSH

A relatively clear picture of the primary structure of PSH has now emerged. The nucleotide sequence of the full-length cDNA clones that have been isolated predict that the primary translation product is a polypeptide of 166 amino acids. Data on the N-terminal amino acid sequence of PSF (7) indicate that mature PSH is formed by cleavage of this 166–amino acid polypeptide between positions 26 and 27 at a glycine-alanine bond, a site likely to be susceptible to cleavage by enzymes involved in the processing of secreted proteins. The further cleavage of the six N-terminal acids required to generate the IL-3 sequence reported by Ihle et al (4) would then occur at an arginine-aspartic acid bond, a potential site for attack by proteolytic enzymes. Both the 140–amino acid (PSF) and the 134–amino acid (IL-3) forms are heavily glycosylated (56, 58), accounting for the apparent M_r of about 25,000 on SDS-PAGE (7, 8, 57).

Affinity-purified antibodies against synthetic peptides offer one approach to the question of which form of PSH is the major natural product. Experiments using affinity columns made with affinity-purified antibodies specific for residues 1–6 of PSH have demonstrated that at least 80% of the bioactivity in medium conditioned by either activated T cells or WEHI-3B or in the serum of mice bearing WEHI-3B tumors has the six additional amino acids present on PSF but not IL-3 (H. J. Ziltener, I. Clark-Lewis, B. Fazekas, S. B. H. Kent, L. E. Hood, J. W. Schrader, in preparation). Analysis of PSH produced by the activated T-cell lymphoma, LBRM, indicates that, like PSF, it has the six N-terminal amino acids not found on IL-3 (61).

Data obtained by many groups using IL-3 prepared by Ihle suggest that the initial 6 N-terminal amino acids of PSH are not critical for any of its various biological activities (4). The possibility that these results could be due to low-level contamination of the 7–140 form (IL-3) by the 1–140 form (PSF) has been excluded by experiments in which the 7–140 form has been synthesized nonbiologically and shown to have all of the bioactivities of PSH (61a). Nevertheless, further experiments are required to determine whether there are subtle differences between the two forms of PSH in terms of their bioactivity or in vivo behavior. Certainly, available data indicate that the 140-amino acid species of PSH is the major product both from the physiological source (the activated T cell) and from pathological sources (e.g. myeloid leukemias such as WEHI-3B) and is likely to be the most significant species in vivo.

Chemically Synthesized Analogues of PSH

The demonstration that biologically active polypeptides corresponding to the entire 140 amino-acids of PSH could be synthesized using automated peptide synthesis (61a), has led to a new and rapid approach to analysis of the structures critical for bioactivity. Clark-Lewis et al (61a) have synthesized analogues that have demonstrated the importance for bioactivity of the cysteine residue at position 17. Similar experiments have shown that the first 16 amino acids are not essential for bioactivity and that a peptide corresponding to residues 1–79 at the N-terminal half of the molecule has detectable biological activity (61a).

It seems from these data that a loop stabilized by a disulfide band between the cysteine at position 17 and the cysteine at either position 79 or 80 is important for biological activity. The cysteine at position 140 probably forms a disulfide bond with the unpaired cysteine at either position 79 or 80, thus creating a second loop. These details should be

rapidly elucidated by ongoing work, which, together with analyses of monoclonal antibodies that neutralize the bioactivity of PSH (H. J. Ziltener, I. Clark-Lewis, B. Fazekas, S. B. H. Kent, L. E. Hood, J. W. Schrader, unpublished), should clarify the nature of the active site.

BIOACTIVITIES OF PSH

Definitive conclusions about the bioactivity of PSH are possible now that the purified native protein (4, 7), material expressed from molecularly cloned cDNA (62), and finally chemically synthesized polypeptides (61a) are available. Knowledge of the targets of PSH is now limited not by uncertainties about the chemical homogeneity of the biologically active material but solely by the biology of the assay systems.

Action on Hemopoietic Progenitor Cells and Differentiated Cells

The clearest conclusions about which cells interact directly with PSH come from systems involving homogeneous populations of target cells or single, isolated target cells. The use of a cloned population of mast cells has established that pure IL-3 (4), pure PSF (7), products of expression of cDNA clones (62), and chemically synthesized PSH (61a) directly stimulate the growth of mast-cell lines. Single isolated hemopoietic progenitor cells have been shown to respond to pure PSF by generating neutrophils, macrophages, megakaryocytes, and mast cells (13); burst-promoting activity purified from WEHI-3B has been shown to stimulate single, isolated progenitor cells to form erythroid bursts or colonies containing mixtures of erythroid and myeloid cells (63). Thus, there is now rigorous evidence that PSH directly stimulates the progenitors of multiple lineages of hemopoietic progenitor cells.

It is important to note that the action of PSH is not limited to immature hemopoietic cells. Purified PSH stimulates the division of welldifferentiated mast cells (13) and also regulates their expression of major histocompatibility complex antigens, antagonizing the action of interferon- γ (40). Furthermore, experiments in which pure PSH has been added to single, isolated peritoneal macrophages have demonstrated that PSH directly stimulates cell division and phagocytosis in well-differentiated macrophages (64).

Another broad category of experiments has dealt with the effect of PSH on heterogeneous populations of cells. Such experiments do not allow definitive conclusions about whether PSH directly interacts with a given cell but do demonstrate important effects on the hemopoietic system as a whole. When added to suspensions of bone-marrow cells in medium gelled by agar, purified PSH stimulates the growth of colonies of megakaryocytes, mast cells, neutrophils, and macrophages (59, 13). Burst-promoting activity (BPA) was purified using the stimulation of colonies (bursts) of erythroid cells or of mixtures of erythroid and myeloid cells (3, 63). Precisely the same effects are seen with material generated by the expression of cloned cDNA (62) or with synthetic PSH, produced by nonbiological peptide synthesis (61a)

The known bioactivities of PSH clearly can account for many of the hemopoietic cell-stimulating activities released by activated T cells; these activities include megakaryocyte colony-stimulating factor (14), burst-promoting activity (63), and mixed colony-stimulating factor (15). Although PSH acts as a granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor in stimulating the growth of colonies of neutrophils and macrophages (59), the majority of the granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating activity released by activated T cells is due to a distinct and unrelated molecule (38, 65), usually termed granulocyte-macrophage CSF (GM-CSF) or sometimes CSF-2 (see Ref. 33 for a review of the factors regulating hemopoiesis). Material expressed from cloned cDNA also generates colonies of eosinophils in agar cultures of bone marrow (62), indicating that the eosinophil colony-stimulating activity in T cell-conditioned medium is contributed to by PSH. However, GM-CSF also has some eosinophil colony-stimulating activity, particularly in the human (66), and there may be additional eosinophil-stimulating factors released by T cells (33).

Although, at present, PSH appears to be the only factor that alone stimulates the formation of colonies of mast cells, megakaryocytes, or mixed colonies, this situation could change. It is worth noting that at least four discrete hemopoietins-namely, granulocyte macrophage colonystimulating factor; granulocyte colony-stimulating factor; macrophage colony-stimulating factor; and PSH--stimulate to some degree the progenitors of neutrophils and macrophages (33). Likewise, erythropoiesis may be influenced by at least two hemopoietins in addition to PSH, namely, erythropoietin and a T-cell lymphokine, erythroid-potentiating activity (67).

Thy-1-Inducing Activity

The first evidence that the expression of the Thy-1 antigen on myeloid cells was regulated by a T-cell lymphokine came from experiments in which T cell-depleted bone-marrow cells were cultured together with medium conditioned by activated T cells. By 3 days, large numbers of cells expressing high levels of the Thy-1 antigen had appeared (55). The relevant factor was produced by activated T-cell hybridomas and by WEHI-3B and had the same apparent M_r as PSF (55). Separation of the Thy-1 positive

cells by fluorescence-activated cell sorting demonstrated that they included the progenitors of mast cells, neutrophils, macrophages, and also pluripotential hemopoietic stem cells capable of forming macroscopic colonies of erythroid and myeloid cells in vivo. No evidence emerged that the Thy 1– positive population contained cells committed to the T-cell lineage; although the Thy-1 positive cells were large blasts, they did not survive or grow in the presence of IL-2. These data indicated that expression of Thy-1 could no longer be regarded as unequivocal evidence of commitment to the T-cell lineage amongst these cells.

Later experiments have shown that purified PSF (59, 13), purified IL-3 (58), products of expression of cDNA clones (62), and synthetic PSH of nonbiological origin (61a) are all active in inducing the expression of the Thy-1 antigen on bone-marrow cells. Very low levels of Thy-1 antigen have been detected on normal hemopoietic progenitor cells that had not been deliberately stimulated (68); this suggests that PSH increases a preexisting low level of expression of Thy-1 antigen. This increase is transient, as mature hemopoietic cells including mast cells are Thy-1 negative in the mouse. The expression of high levels of Thy-1 antigen on activated myeloid progenitor cells fits with the presence of Thy-1 antigen on factor-dependent myeloid lines (32) and the myelomonocytic leukemia WEHI-3B (54).

Action on Pluripotential Hemopoietic Stem Cells

Early studies indicated that the T-cell factor that stimulated mast-cell growth (PSF) copurified with a factor, CFUs-stimulating activity (CFUs-SA), that supported the in vitro culture of pluripotential hemopoietic stem cells (12). The latter were identified as CFUs (colony-forming units—spleen), i.e. as cells that when injected into lethally irradiated mice were able to give rise to macroscopic colonies of erythroid and myeloid cells. Experiments using purified PSF (13, 59), purified IL-3 (J. N. Ihle & J. W. Schrader, unpublished), material expressed by cloned cDNA (62, J. W. Schrader & A. J. Hapel, unpublished), and chemically synthesized PSH (61a) have conclusively established that CFUs-SA is identical with PSH.

This action of PSH involves stimulation of division of CFUs or their precursors and not merely stimulation of their survival, as PSH increases the proportion of CFUs that can be killed using cell cycle-specific cytotoxic agents (13). The pluripotential hemopoietic stem cells that are stimulated by PSH and give rise to colonies present one week after injection into irradiated mice may represent stem cells that have a limited capacity for self-renewal (see 33). However, PSH also supports the culture of stem cells that presumably have a significant self-renewal capacity in that they give rise to splenic colonies present as late as three weeks after injection into congenitally anaemic W^+/W^+ mice (J. W. Schrader, unpublished data). To demonstrate that the effect of PSH on pluripotential hemopoietic stem cells with high self-renewal capacity is a direct one will require experiments that are technically very demanding. However, PSH has been shown to directly stimulate isolated pluripotential cells capable of giving rise to colonies containing multiple hemopoietic lineages in vitro (63).

In Vitro Culture of Cells Giving Rise to B Lymphocytes and Thymocytes

Purified PSH directly or indirectly supports the in vitro culture of cells that are capable of giving rise to thymocytes and T and B lymphocytes when injected into irradiated animals (13; J. W. Schrader and J. Clark-Lewis, in preparation). Bone-marrow cells were cultured for 6-7 days in the presence or absence of pure PSH and then injected into irradiated hosts. The use of donors and hosts with different allelic forms of the Thy-1 antigen permitted identification of thymocytes and T cells derived from donor bone-marrow cells that had been cultured with the PSH. In experiments aimed at identifying cells that gave rise to B lymphocytes, the donor bone marrow was from CBA or CBA.T6.T6 mice, and the hosts were of the CBA/N genotype and thus lacked B lymphocytes that were capable of forming colonies in agar. Repopulation of the B-lymphocyte compartment by donor cells from PSH-stimulated cultures was established by the demonstration of B-lymphocyte colony-forming cells in the reconstituted mice and by the presence of the T6 chromosomal-marker in B-cell blasts isolated from the reconstituted animals.

These experiments do not establish that PSH directly affects any cell that has become committed to the lymphoid differentiation pathway. The results are just as consistent with the notion that PSH stimulates a pluripotential lymphohemopoietic stem cell that only give rise to cells of lymphoid lineage after transfer into the host animal. Moreover, there is at present no direct evidence that this effect of PSH is a direct one, as the target population of bone-marrow cells is heterogeneous and consists of many cell types. Nevertheless, this action of PSH may form a useful practical tool in the analysis of lymphopoiesis.

DOES PSH OR IL-3 ACT ON T CELLS?

The fact that the induction of $20-\alpha$ -SDH by PSH that formed the basis of the IL-3 assay (26) can be accounted for by the well-documented stimulatory effect of PSH on hemopoietic progenitor cells does not necessarily exclude the original notion that IL-3 also stimulates the

induction of $20-\alpha$ -SDH in T-cell precursors. However, at present there is no good evidence that IL-3 induces $20-\alpha$ -SDH in T cells or their precursors or indeed has any direct effect whatsoever on these cells.

One piece of evidence in favor of the notion that IL-3 acted on T cells or their precursors was the claim that purified IL-3 promoted the growth of clones of helper T cells that expressed Lyt.1 and Thy-1 antigens (69). These lines secreted IL-3 constitutively and could be induced by tetradecanoylphorbol-acetate to secrete IL-2 (69). However, these data have not been reproducible even in the original laboratory (49, 58). One explanation for some of these data is that the putative helper-T-cell lines were in fact WEHI-3B cells that had contaminated the cultures, as WEHI-3B cells express the Thy-1 antigen and secrete IL-3 constitutively.

Palacios has reported a somewhat similar line of experimentation, indicating that purified IL-3 or medium conditioned by WEHI-3B stimulates the growth of lines of T cells derived from human peripheral blood cells (70). These lines eventually become independent of exogenous growth factors, and Palacios suggested that the growth of these variants depended upon the autogenous production of an IL-3-like factor. No other laboratory, however, has reported similar findings.

Ihle has reported that Thy 1-positive, IL 3-dependent lymphoma lines can be derived from mice infected with Moloney murine leukemia virus (58). However, as noted above, the Thy-1 antigen is no longer acceptable as an unequivocal marker of membership of the T-cell lineage in the mouse, as it also occurs on activated myeloid progenitors (55). Before accepting that IL-3 dependent cells or cells derived from an IL-3 dependent line belong to the T-cell lineage, it will be important to have evidence that other T cell-specific properties, e.g. rearrangement of T-cell-receptor genes or expression of the T-cell receptor, are present.

Ihle also reported that IL-3 was necessary for the establishment in vitro of IL-3-independent lines that lacked IL-3 receptors from mice with primary tumors induced by murine Moloney leukemia virus (58). Ihle has suggested that the IL-3-independent lines had arisen in vitro from IL-3responsive cells that had differentiated to a stage at which they no longer responded to IL-3. However, an alternative possibility is that the IL-3independent cells were present in the original inoculum from donor animal and that consequently the effect of IL-3 on the establishment of these cells in vitro was an indirect one involving the stimulation of PSH-responsive cells such as macrophages or mast cells. Certainly, careful analysis of experiments of this nature using unambiguous markers of cell lineage and genetic markers of clonality, e.g. the presence of unique sites where viral DNA is integrated, is important because it is possible that some of the PSHdependent lines from mice infected with murine leukemia virus may turn out to be counterparts of early cells in the hemopoietic or lymphoid differentiation pathways. As yet, however, there are no well-documented reports of PSH-dependent cell lines capable of generating T lymphocytes.

Thymocytes or T-cells do not have detectable receptors for PSF (71) or IL-3 (72, 58). Nor do thymocytes respond in any detectable way to either molecule (58, J. W. Schrader, unpublished data). There are reports that IL-3 can affect T-cell responses in vitro, for example, enhancing the generation of cytotoxic-T cells (73) or suppressor-T cells (74). However, before accepting the notion of a direct interaction of PSH with T cells, it is important to exclude an alternative explanation based on the well-substantiated effects of PSH on hemopoietic cells. Thus, the ability of pure PSH to stimulate mature macrophages (64) or regulate the expression of Ia antigens on mast cells (40) points to the possibility that PSH could influence immune responses by stimulating the production or function of accessory cells of hemopoietic origin (75).

PSH and Nonspecific Cytotoxicity

The question of enhancement of cell-mediated cytotoxicity by PSH is complicated by the fact that nonlymphoid cells that are known to respond to PSH, including mast cells and monocytes, have cytotoxic activity (reviewed in 33). PSH enhances natural cytotoxic activity in cultures in vitro (76) and supports the growth of lines that have NC-activity (77), although the lineage of the cells stimulated is not clear. However, at present there is no evidence that the effect of PSH on cell-mediated cytotoxicity involves a direct effect on cells of the T-cell lineage.

DOES PSH DIRECTLY AFFECT PRE-B OR B LYMPHOCYTES?

The only evidence that PSH directly affects cells committed to the B lymphoid pathway comes from Palacios and colleagues (76). These workers reported that lines of PSH-dependent pre-B cells could be reproducibly isolated from fetal liver. In most cases the identification of these lines as pre-B lymphocytes rested on their expression of an antigen detected by a monoclonal antibody. However, it has yet to be shown that this antigen is specific for pre-B cells and is absent from from cells of other hemopoietic lineages such as mast cells.

In the case of one of the IL-3-dependent "pre-B-lymphocyte" lines, evidence was presented of the presence of rearrangements of the immunoglobulin genes typical of the B-lymphocyte lineage (76). The data on this cell-line appear unambiguous but, as yet, similar lines have not been reported by other laboratories. If PSH-dependent pre-B lymphocytes can

be obtained as readily and reproducibly as this paper claims, it is difficult to understand why these results have not been readily reproduced. Certainly, if confirmed these experiments represent an important milestone in the in vitro study of lymphopoiesis.

Pike & Nossal (76a) observed no effect of pure PSH on the growth or differentiation of a single antigen-stimulated B lymphocyte, and the failure of spleen cells to absorb detectable amounts of PSH (71) suggests that mature B cells (and T cells) lack receptors for PSH. As we indicated above, while PSH permits the in vitro culture of cells capable of giving rise to B lymphocytes in irradiated hosts, there is no evidence that these cells are committed to the lymphoid lineage. At present the work of Palacios (76, 77) stands alone as the only evidence of direct effects of PSH on B lymphopoiesis.

MECHANISM OF ACTION OF PSH

Evidence for a Cell-Surface Receptor

The initial interaction of PSH with its target cells occurs via a specific cellsurface receptor. The first evidence for such a receptor came from experiments demonstrating that contact of PSH-dependent cells with PSH at 4°C, resulted in the specific absorption of biological activity (9, 71). Specific absorption was also observed when lightly fixed cells were used, and biologically active PSH could be eluted from these fixed cells using glycine buffer at pH 2. With the bioassay it was possible to quantitate accurately in units of biological activity the amount of PSH bound and the affinity of PSH for the receptor (71). Assuming a specific activity of PSH that corresponds to a 50% maximal level of stimulation in the PSH bioassays at a concentration of pure PSH of 1.3×10^{-13} M, these experiments indicate that PSH-dependent lines had about 1000 available PSH receptors per cell and that these receptors interacted with PSH with Kd of approximately 5×10^{-12} M.

Palaszynski and colleagues have used radiolabelled pure IL-3 and have characterized cell-surface receptors on a number of cell types (72). The numbers of available receptors on PSH-dependent lines were in approximate agreement with those determined by absorption, although the Kd differed—at about 5×10^{-11} M.

Palacios & Garland (77) were unable to demonstrate the absorption of PSH by PSH-dependent mast cells, although they were able to demonstrate the absorption of PSH by a PSH-dependent cell that they identified as a pre-B lymphocyte. It is difficult to explain the marked discrepancy between their results and those of Crapper et al, which clearly demonstrated absorption by mast cells (9, 71), although the conditions of growth of PSH- dependent cell lines do have quantitative effects on absorption capacity, and down-regulation of the receptor can occur (unpublished data). Certainly, Palaszynski et al (72) have demonstrated the specific binding of radiolabelled IL-3 to mast-cell lines. At present, it seems unlikely that Palacios & Garland (77) are correct in proposing that PSH stimulates mast cells by a mechanism that does not involve a cell-surface receptor.

Experiments in which PSH-dependent cell lines have been incubated with PSH at 37°C have demonstrated that metabolically active PSHdependent cells consumed PSH at a high rate (R. M. Crapper, J. W. Schrader, in preparation). Up to a concentration of PSH that was more than 10-fold higher than that necessary for the maximal stimulation of growth, the rate of consumption increased with increasing concentrations of PSH. Consumption of PSH at 37°C could be blocked by metabolic inhibitors such as sodium azide, and also by chloroquine (K. Leslie, J. W. Schrader, unpublished data), suggesting that the consumption of PSH involved internalization and recycling of receptors. In vivo, consumption of PSH by PSH-dependent cells may be a significant mechanism for controlling local levels of PSH.

Antibodies to the PSH Receptor

Evidence that PSH acts via a cell-surface receptor also came from experiments with antisera produced by immunizing rabbits with PSHdependent cells and extensively absorbing these sera with mouse tissues that lacked the PSH receptor (78). Antibodies prepared from these sera were able to mimic the effects of PSH and stimulated both PSH-dependent cell-lines and normal hemopoietic progenitor cells. Antibodies to the PSH receptor should be useful in purifying the PSH-receptor and analyzing the effects of blocking the action of PSH in various pathological conditions.

Metabolic Effects of PSH

Dexter and colleagues have suggested that a critical effect of PSH on target cells is an elevation of intracellular ATP and that PSH can be substituted for, at least to a limited extent, by an ATP-generating system (79). After contact of PSH-responsive cells with PSH, one early event is enhanced glucose uptake (80). Farrar et al have also reported that PSH induces a redistribution of C-kinase from the cytoplasm to the membrane (81).

Physiology of PSH

PSH was discovered and characterized in in vitro systems. Subsequent in vivo experiments have now established that the physiological role of PSH conforms largely with that predictable from in vitro observations. PSH is released in vivo when T-cells are activated by antigen (82–85). The effects of

this PSH are usually local and are restricted to the vicinity of the activated T cells, i.e. the site of immunization or sites to which activated T cells migrate (82). It is only with severe immunological stimuli, such as parasitic infestation (84) or graft-versus-host disease (85), that PSH occurs in the serum. PSH is not complexed to carrier proteins in the blood (85). It is filtered by the kidney, and in pathological conditions where it enters the serum, PS is detectable in the urine, although the relative levels in serum and the urine suggest that it is degraded to a significant extent in the kidney. The half-life of PSH in the blood is relatively short—of the order of 40 minutes (83, 86).

The effects of the release of PSH differ at different anatomical sites depending on the availability of particular targets cells. In some locations such as the gut mucosa, the most prevelant target is a cell that is committed to the generation of mast cells (87); T cell-dependent immune responses in the intestinal mucosa thus result in the release of PSH and stimulate a local mastocytosis. In lymph nodes the most obvious effect of the local release of PSH is again a local increase in the number of mast cells and their progenitors (82). However, at sites where other hemopoietic progenitor cells are available as potential targets, e.g. the bone-marrow or the spleen, this apparent specificity of PSH for mast cells is not seen. In these sites the release of PSH stimulates the production not only of mast cells but also of metamyelocytes, megakaryocytes, etc (83), together with cells that respond to PSH—witness the dramatic increase in IL-3 responsive cells demonstrated in the spleens of mice undergoing a chronic immune response against a murine leukemia virus (88).

One significant insight into the in vivo role of PSH came from the observation that in vitro-derived PSH-dependent mast cells that had been transferred into the skin of mice survived for a prolonged period only if the mice were carrying a PSH-producing tumor (89). If the mast cells that increase in number at the sites of immunological reactions in humans also require maintenance of local levels of PSH to stay alive, measures based on interruption of the production of PSH or its interaction with mast cells might form the basis of new therapeutic approaches to allergic disease.

These experiments indicate that the physiological role of PSH is to function as a link between the immune system and the hemopoietic system that provides many of the accessory and auxillary cells necessary for an efficient defense and repair response. There is no evidence that PSH, or at least PSH produced by T cells, plays any role in the steady-state production of any hemopoietic cells. PSH is not detectable in the serum of normal mice (83); moreover, the long-term bone-marrow cultures that generate pluripotential hemopoietic stem cells and progenitor cells do not contain detectable levels of PSH (28).

In Vivo Effect of Injected PSH

The first formal demonstration that the injection of PSH leads to increases in vivo in mast cells and other hemopoietic cells and their progenitors has come from the use of chemically synthesized PSH (61a). Treatment of mice with an 8-hourly-subcutaneous injection of approximately 10⁴ units of PSH for 4 days, resulted in 100-fold or greater increases in the numbers of progenitors of mast cells and other myeloid cells in the spleen (J. W. Schrader, I. Clark-Lewis, H. Ziltener, S. B. H. Kent, and L. E. Hood). Mast cells also increased in number in the spleen, gut, and in the skin at the injection site. The synthetic PSH had a half-life in the blood similar to natural PSH. These experiments point to the potential for the therapeutic use of synthetic PSH or analogues in enhancing the production and function of cells of hemopoietic origin, e.g. during bone-marrow engraftment.

ROLE OF PSH IN ONCOGENESIS

The aberrant expression of the PSH gene in cells that are normally the targets for this factor could play a key role in oncogenesis. The initial clues to this notion lay in the production of PSH by the myelomonocytic leukemia WEHI-3B. The release of PSH by WEHI-3B differed from that by T cells in that it was constitutive rather than inducible and was not accompanied by the secretion of other T-cell lymphokines such as IL-2, GM-CSF or interferon- γ . These considerations led to the hypothesis that the secretion of PSH by WEHI-3B was a reflection of the abnormal activation of a PSH gene, and that autostimulation by autogenous PSH had played a key role in the genesis of this leukemia (9, 59). The expression of the Thy-1 antigen by WEHI-3B (54) was also consistent with the notion that this myelomonocytic leukemia was the malignant counterpart of a neutrophil-macrophage progenitor cell activated by PSH.

Although studies performed on the initial isolates of WEHI-3B suggested that WEHI-3B both responded to and produced a hemopoietin (2), most clones of WEHI-3B that were in common use a decade later showed no signs of receptors for or responses to PSH. This situation may reflect their long period of culture in vitro, or alternatively, the very high levels of PSH that they produce—as Whitton et al (80) did detect a response of WEHI-3B to PSH at 20°C, a temperature at which the secretion of PSH was reduced.

Southern blot analysis of a number of clones of WEHI-3B, including those that had been used for the isolation of PSH and others that were independently isolated, demonstrated that one copy of the PSH gene had been rearranged (60; K. Leslie, J. W. Schrader, S. Schrader, in preparation).

The rearranged gene has recently been cloned and shown to be constitutively expressed as a result of the insertion of an intracisternal-A particle into the 5' flanking sequence (8a). These results clearly support the notion that secretion of PSH by WEHI-3B is pathological and, in the light of evidence discussed below, was likely to have had a direct bearing on the pathogenesis of this tumor.

Evidence that Activation of the PSH Gene is an Oncogenic Change

Direct evidence that abnormal activation of the PSH gene could be a critical event in leukemogenesis came from in vitro experiments with variants of a PSH-dependent line (9). In these studies 50 million PSH-dependent cells of an immortalized, mast-cell/megakaryocyte line were plated in agar in the absence of an exogeneous source of PSH. A small number of autonomous colonies subsequently grew and were recloned in the absence of exogeneous PSH. These autonomous variants were producing a factor with the biological properties of PSH; moreover, their rate of growth in vitro was strongly dependent on the concentration of PSH in the culture medium or upon the cell density in the cultures. These two observations suggested that the growth of the cells still depended on the external interaction of PSH with cell-surface receptors. Furthermore, unlike the parental line, these autostimulatory variants were leukemogenic and gave rise to disseminated mast-cell/megakaryocyte leukemias when they were injected into syngeneic animals.

Further experiments using Northern blots have demonstrated that activation of the PSH gene has occurred in the variant line, since PSH mRNA of normal size are present in the leukemogenic variants but not the parental line (90). These results were supported by biochemical and immunological studies that have demonstrated that the molecule secreted by these leukemic variants has molecular characteristics identical with PSH (90) and reacts with antibodies specific for peptides corresponding to parts of the amino acid sequence of PSH (H. J. Ziltener, I. Clarke-Lewis, K. Leslie, S. B. Kent, L. E. Hood, and J. W. Schrader). Experiments with independently derived variants of the same line also demonstrated the coincident onset of the autonomous production of PSH and of leukemogenic behavior in vivo. These observations established conclusively that the initiation of the aberrant production of PSH can be a critical step in oncogenesis.

Aberrant Activation of PSH Gene in Leukemias Arising in Vivo

Further evidence that the abnormal activation of the PSH gene played a role in myeloid leukemias that had arisen in vivo came from observations

on the monocytic leukemia WEHI-274, which arose in a mouse that had been infected with Abelson-murine-leukemia virus. A cloned line, WEHI-274.14, was isolated from an early passage of the tumor and was shown both to produce PSF and to require it for in vitro growth (90).

Southern-blot analysis of DNA from WEHI-274.14 showed that one PSH gene had been rearranged. Moreover, Northern-blot analysis indicated that these cells produced a polyadenylated RNA transcript of grossly abnormal size (K. Leslie, J. W. Schrader, S. Schrader, in preparation). Biochemical characterization (90) and immunological analyses using antibodies to peptides corresponding to defined parts of PSH (H. J. Ziltener, K. Leslie, S. B. H. Kent, L. E. Hood, and J. W. Schrader) have demonstrated that the PSH-like molecule secreted by WEHI-274.14 is indistinguishable from T cell-derived PSH.

The experiments on the in vitro genesis of leukemogenic lines by activation of the PSH gene (9) demonstrated that aberrant activation of the PSH gene can be a leukemogenic step. Taken together with the evidence discussed here that the PSH gene is abnormally rearranged in two myeloid tumors that arose in vivo, i.e. WEHI-3B and WEHI-274, these results suggest that autostimulation by PSH constitutes one important mechanism of leukemogenesis in cells of hemopoietic origin. Interruption of autostimulation using either antibodies against PSH or the PSH-receptor, or synthetic antagonists of PSH, may form the basis for novel and relatively specific and nontoxic therapies for diseases involving this mechanism. For this reason it will be important to determine whether a similar mechanism is involved in any neoplastic disease involving the hemopoietic system in the human (discussed in 91).

SUMMARY

The combined deployment of cellular, biochemical, and recombinant DNA techniques has resulted in the emergence of a relatively clear picture of the molecular structure of PSH and of a number of other T-cell lymphokines. Already there is evidence that new techniques, in particular, the chemical synthesis of biologically active peptides, will lead rapidly to a detailed picture of the secondary and tertiary structure of PSH and its active sites. Moreover, the availability of antibodies to the receptor and the use of recombinant DNA techniques should result in the molecular characterization of the cell-surface receptor and eventually a detailed structural analysis of its interaction with PSH. Given the likelihood that PSH may play a pivotal role in chronic allergic diseases and possibly in hematological disorders, there are real prospects that analogues and antagonists of PSH may provide a basis for new therapeutic approaches to these diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank my colleagues, I. Clark-Lewis, R. M. Crapper, K. Leslie, S. Schrader, G. H. Wong and H. J. Ziltener, who together with technical assistants, D. Galatis and J. R. Ringham, have made work in this area so enjoyable.

Work from the author's laboratory was supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council, Canberra, Australia, the Bushell Trust, the Windermere Hospital Foundation, and in part by a Grant No. R01 CA38684-01 from the National Cancer Institute.

Literature Cited

- Ginsburg, H., Sachs, L. 1963. Formation of pure suspension of mast cells in tissue culture by differentiation of lymphoid cells from mouse thymus. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 31:1
- Metcalf, D., Moore, M. A. S., Warner, N. L. 1969. Colony formation in vitro by myelomonocytic leukemic cells. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 43:983
- Iscove, N. N., Roitsch, C. A., Williams, N. Guilbert, L. J. 1982. Molecules stimulating early red cells, granulocyte, macrophage and megakaryocyte precursors in culture : similarity in size, hydrophobicity and charge. J. Cell Physiol. 1:65 (Suppl.)
- 4. Ihle, J. N., Keller, J., Oroszlan, S., Henderson, L. E., Copeland, T. D., Fitch, F., Prystowsky, M. B., Goldwasser, E., Schrader, J. W., Palaszynski, E., Dy, M., Lebel, B. 1983. Biologic properties of homogeneous interleukin 3. I. Demonstration of WEHI-3B growth factor activity, mast cell growth factor activity, P cell-stimulating factor activity, colonystimulating factor activity, and histamine-producing cell-stimulating factor activity. J. Immunol. 131:282
- activity. J. Immunol. 131:282 5. Yung, Y.-P., Egar, R., Tertian, G., Moore, M. A. S. 1981. Long-term in vitro culture of murine mast cells. II. Purification of a mast cell growth factor and its dissociation from TCGF. J. Immunol. 127:794
- Nagao, K., Yokova, K., Aaronson, S. A. 1981. Continuous lines of basophil/mast cells derived from normal bone marrow. *Science* 212:333
- Clark-Lewis, I., Kent, S. B. H., Schrader, J. W. 1984. Purification to apparent homogeneity of a factor stimulating the growth of multiple lineages of haemopoietic cells. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 7488
- 8. Bazill, G. W., Hynes, M., Garland, J.,

Dexter, T. M. 1983. Characterization and partial purification of a haemopoietic growth factor in WEHI-3 conditioned medium. *Biochem. J.* 210:747

- Schrader, J. W., Crapper, R. M. 1983. Autogenous production of a hemopoietic growth factor "P cell stimulating factor" as a mechanism for transformation of bone-marrow derived cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:6892
- Cerny, J. 1974. Stimulation of bone marrow hemopoietic cells by a factor activated T cells. *Nature* 249:63
- Schrader, J. W., Clark-Lewis, I., Bartlett, P. F. 1980. Lymphoid stem cells. In *The Biology of Bone Marrow Transplantation*. ICN-UCLA Symposia on Cellular and Molecular Biology, ed. R. P. Gale, C. F. Fox, 9:443-60. New York: Academic
- 12. Schrader, J. W., Clark-Lewis, I. 1982. A T cell-derived factor stimulating multipotential hemopoietic stem cells; molecular weight and distinction from T cell growth factor and T cell-derived granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J. Immunol. 129:30
- Clark-Lewis, I., Crapper, R. M., Leslie, K., Schrader, J. W. 1985. P cell Stimulating Factor; Molecular and Biological Properties. In Cellular and Molecular Biology of Lymphokines, ed. C. Sorg, A. Schimpl. New York: Academic Press. In press
- Metcalf, D., MacDonald, H. R., Odartchenko, N., Sordat, B. 1975. Growth of mouse megakaryocyte colonies in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 72:1744
- Johnson, G. R., Metcalf, D. 1977. Pure and mixed erythroid colony formation in vitro stimulated by spleen conditioned medium with no detectable erythropoietin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 74: 3879
- 16. Hara, H., Ogawa, M. 1978. Murine

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:205-216. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

hemopoietic colonies in culture containing normoblasts, macrophages and megakaryocytes. Am. J. Hematol. 4:23

- megakaryocytes. Am. J. Hematol. 4:23
 17. Burgess, A. W., Metcalf, D., Russell, S. H. M., Nicola, N. A. 1980. Granulocytemacrophage, megakaryocyte, eosinophil- and erythroid-colony stimulating factors produced by mouse spleen cells. Biochem. J. 185:301
- Schrader, J. W., Nossal, G. J. V. 1980. Strategies for the analysis of accessorycell function: The in vitro cloning and characterization of the P cell. *Immunol. Rev.* 53:61
- Schrader, J. W., Clark-Lewis, I., Bartlett, P. F. 1982. T cell hybridoma-derived lymphokines: Biology and biochemistry of factors regulating hemopoietic and lymphoid cells. *Lymphokines* 5:291
- Hasthorpe, S. 1980. A hemopoietic cell line dependent on a factor in pokeweed mitogen-stimulated spleen-cell conditioned medium. J. Cell. Physiol. 105: 379
- Razin, E., Cordon-Cardo, C., Good, R. A. 1981. Growth of a pure population of mast cells *in vitro* with conditioned medium derived from concanavalin-A stimulated splenocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:2559
- Nabel, G., Galli, S. J., Dvorak, A. M., Dvorak, H. F., Cantor, H. 1981. Inducer T lymphocytes synthesize a factor that stimulates proliferation of cloned mast cells. *Nature* 291:333
- Ihle, J. N., Keller, J., Greenberger, J. S., Henderson, L., Yetter, R. A., Morse, H. C. 1982. Phenotypic characteristics of cell lines requiring interleukin-3 for growth. J. Immunol. 129:1377
- 24. Fung, M. C., Hapel, A. J., Ymer, S., Cohen, D. R., Johnson, R. M., Campbell, H. D., Young, I. G. 1984. Molecular cloning of cDNA for murine interleukin-3. Nature 307:233
- 25. Yokota, T., Lee, F., Rennick, D., Hall, C., Arai, N., Mosmann, T., Nabel, G., Cantor, H., Arai, K.-I. 1984. Isolation and characterization of a mouse cDNA clone that expresses mast cell growth factor activity in monkey cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:1070
- 26. Ihle, J. N., Pepersack, L., Rebar, L. 1981. Regulation of T cell differentiation: In vitro induction of 20-alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in splenic lymphocytes from athymic mice by a unique lymphokine. J. Immunol. 126:2184
- Schrader, J. W. 1981. The *in vitro* production and cloning of the P cell, a bone marrow-derived null cell that expresses H-2 and Ia-antigens, has mast cell-like granules, and is regulated by a factor

released by activated T cells. J. Immunol. 126:452

- Schrader, J. W., Lewis, S. J., Clark-Lewis, I., Culvenor, J. G. 1981. The persisting (P) cell: histamine content, regulation by a T cell-derived factor, origin from a bone-marrow precursor and relationship to mast cells. *Proc. Soc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 73: 323
- 29. Schrader, J. W. 1980. Ontogeny and differentiation of the mast cell. In Mast Cell Heterogeneity, ed. D. Befus, J. Denberg, J. Bienenstock. New York: Raven Press. In press
- Tertian, G., Yung, Y.-P., Guy-Grand, D., Moore, M. A. S. 1981. Long-term in vitro culture of murine-mast cells. I. Description of a growth factor dependent culture technique. J. Immunol. 127:788
- 31. Greenberger, J. S., Newberger, P. E., Sakakeeny, M. A. 1980. Phorbol myristate acetate stimulates macrophage differentiation and replication and alters granulopoiesis and leukemogenesis in long-term bone marrow cultures. *Blood* 56: 368
- Dexter, T. M., Garland, J., Scott, D., Scolnick, E., Metcalf, D. 1980. Growth of factor-dependent hemopoetic precursor cell lines. J. Exp. Med. 152:1036
 Schrader, J. W. 1983. Bone marrow
- Schrader, J. W. 1983. Bone marrow differentiation in vitro. CRC-Crit. Rev. Immunol. 4:197
- Wendling, F., Shreeve, M., McLeod, D., Axelrad, A. 1985. A self-renewing bipotential erythroid/mast cell progenitor in continuous cultures of normal murine bone-marrow. J. Cell. Physiol. In press
- 35. Greenberger, J. S., Sakakeeny, M. A., Humphries, R. K., Eaves, C. J., Eckner, R. J. 1983. Demonstration of permenant factor-dependent multipotential (erythroid/neutrophil/basophil) hemopoietic progenitor lines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 80:2931
- Greenberger, J. S. 1980. Self-renewal of factor-dependent hemopoietic progenitor cell lines derived from long-term bone marrow cultures demonstrates significant mouse strain genotypic variation. J. Supramolec. Struc. 13:501
- Oliff, A., Oliff, I., Schmidt, B., Famulari, N. 1984. Isolation of immortal cell-lines from the first stage of murine leukemia virus-induced leukemia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:5464
- Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W. 1982. Biochemical characterization of regulatory factors derived from T-cell hybridomas and spleen cells. I. Separation of T-cell growth factor and T-cell replacing factors from granulocyte-macrophage

colony-stimulating factor. J. Immunol. 128:168

- Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W., Breschkin, J. 1982. Preparation of T-cell growth factor free from interferon and factors affecting hemopoietic progenitor cells and mast cells. J. Immunol. Meth. 51: 311
- Wong, G. H. W., Clark-Lewis, I., Hamilton, J. A., Schrader, J. W. 1984. Pcell stimulating factor and glucocorticoids oppose the action of interferon-y in inducing Ia antigens on T-dependent mast cells (P cells). J. Immunol. 133: 2043
- Stadler, B. M., Hirai, K., Tadokoro, K., De Weck, A. 1984. Distinction of the human basophil-promoting activity from a human IL-3-like factor. Lymphokine Res. 3:243
- 42. Luger, T. A., Wirth, U., Klock, A. 1985. Epidermal cells synthesize a cytokine with interleukin 3-like properties. J. Immunol. 134:915
- Free, K., Stadler, B., Fontana, A. 1984. Astrocyte-derived interleukin 3-like factors. (Abstr.) Lymphokine Res. 3:243
- Warren, H. S., Hargreaves, J., Hapel, A. J. 1985. Some IL-3 dependent mast cell lines also respond to IL-2. Lymphokine Res. 4:195
- Hapel, A. J., Warren, H. S., Hume, D. A. 1984. Different colony-stimulating factors are detected by the interleukin-3dependent cell lines FDC-P1 and 32D cl-23. Blood 64: 786
- Garland, J. M., Lanotte, M., Dexter, T. M. 1982. Expression of 20 alphahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase nonlymphoid hemopoetic cell lines. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 12:332
- Garland, J. M., Dexter, T. M. 1982. 20alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase expression in hemopoietic cell cultures and its relationship to interleukin 3. Eur. J. Immunol. 12:998
- 48. Hapel, A. J., Osborne, J. M., Fung, M. C., Young, I. G., Allan, W., Hume, D. A. 1985. Expression of 20-alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in mouse macrophages, hemopoietic cells, and cell lines and its induction by colony-stimulating factors. J. Immunol. 134:2492
- Ihle, J. N., Rebar, L., Keller, J., Lee, J. C., Hapel, A. J. 1982. Interleukin-3: possible roles in the regulation of lymphocyte differentiation and growth. *Immunol. Rev.* 63:5
- Ihle, J. N., Keller, J. 1984. The relative roles of interleukins 1, 2 and 3 in the regulation of T-cell differentiation. In Long-Term Bone Marrow Culture, ed. D. G. Wright, J. S. Greenberger, pp. 399– 421. New York: A. R. Liss

- Staber, F. G., Hultner, L., Marcucci, F., Krammer, P. 1982. Production of colony-stimulating factors by murine T cells in limiting dilution and long-term cultures. *Nature* 298:79
- Lee, J. C., Hapel, A. J., Ihle, J. N. 1982. Constitutive production of a unique lymphokine (IL-3) by the WEHI-3 cell line. *J. Immunol.* 128:2393
- Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W., Wu, A., Harris, A. W. 1982. A B-lymphoma line produces growth factors for hemopoietic, lymphoid and mast cells. *Cell Immunol.* 69:196
- Walker, E. B., Lanier, L. L., Warner, N. L. 1982. Characterization and functional properties of tumor cell lines in accessory cell replacement assays. J. Immunol. 128:852
- Schrader, J. W., Battye, F., Scollay, R. 1982. Thy-1 is not limited to cells of the T lineage in cultures of mouse hemopoietic cells. Proc. Soc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:4161
- Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W. 1981. P cell-stimulating factor: biochemical characterization of a new T cell-derived factor. J. Immunol. 127:1941
- Ihle, J. N., Keller, J., Henderson, L., Klein, F., Palaszynski, E. 1982. Procedures for the purification of interleukin 3 to homogeneity. J. Immunol. 129:2431
- 58. Ihle, J. N. 1985. Biochemical and biological properties of interleukin-3: a lymphokine mediating the differentiation of a lineage of cells that includes prothymocytes and mast-like cells. Contemp. Top. Molec. Immunol. 10:93
- Schrader, J. W., Clark-Lewis, I., Crapper, R. M., Wong, G. H. W. 1983. P-cell stimulating factor: characterization, action on multiple lineages of bonemarrow derived cells and role in oncogenesis. *Immunol. Rev.* 76:79
- Miyatake, S., Yokota, T., Lee, F., Arai, K. 1985. Structure of the chromosomal gene for murine interleukin 3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:316
- Canlon, P., Luk, K. L., Park, L. S., March, C. J., Hopp, T. P., Urdal, D. L. 1985. Generation of monoclonal antibodies which recognize mature CSF-2-α (IL-3) protein. J. Immunol. 135:328
- 61a. Clark-Lewis, I., Rebersold, R., Ziltener, H. J., Schrader, J. W., Hood, L. E., Kent, S. B. H. 1986. Automated chemical synthesis of a protein growth factor for hemopoietic cells, interleukin 3. Submitted
- 62. Rennick, D. M., Lee, F. D., Yokota, T., Arai, K. I., Cantor, H., Nabel, G. J. 1985. A cloned MCGF cDNA encodes a multilineage hematopoietic growth factor:

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:205-216. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

multiple activities of interleukin-3. J. Immunol. 134:910

- 63. Iscove, N., Roitsch, C. 1985. The factors required for growth differentiation of pluripotential hemopoietic precursors in culture. In *Molecular and Cellular Biology of Lymphokines*, ed. C. Sorg, A. Schimpl. New York: Academic Press. In press
- 64. Crapper, R. M., Vairo, G., Hamilton, J., Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W. 1985. Pcell stimulating factor stimulates peritoneal and bone marrow derived macrophages. *Blood*. In press
- Clark-Lewis, I., Thomas, W. R., Schrader, J. W. 1985. Characterization of hemopoietic growth factors from T cells and the myelomonocytic leukemia WEHI-3B. Exp. Hematol. 13: 304
- 66. Lee, F., Yokota, T., Otsuka, T., Gemmell, L., Larson, N., Luh, J., Arai, K., Rennick, D. 1985. Isolation of cDNA for a human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor by functional expression in mammalian cells. *Proc. Soc. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:4360
- 67. Gasson, J. C., Golde, D. W., Kaufman, S. E., Westbrook, C. A., Hewick, R. M., Kaufman, R. J., Wong, G. G., Temple, P. A., Leary, A. C., Brown, E. L., Orr, E. C., Clark, S. C. 1985. Molecular characterization and expression of the gene encoding human erythroid-potentiating activity. *Nature* 315:768
- Basch, R. S., Berman, J. W. 1982. Thy-1 determinants are present on many murine hematopoietic cells other than T cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 12:359
- Hapel, A. J., Lee, J. C., Farrar, W. L., Ihle, J. N. 1981. Establishment of continuous cultures of Thy-1.2⁺, Lyt-1⁺, 2-T cells with purified interleukin-3. *Cell* 25:179
- Palacios, R. 1982. Cloned lines of interleukin-2 producer human T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 129:2586
- 71. Crapper, R. M., Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W. 1985. Analysis of the binding of a hemopoietic growth factor, P cell stimulating factor, to a cell surface receptor using quantitative absorption of bioactivity. Exp. Hematol. In press
- of bioactivity. Exp. Hematol. In press 72. Palaszynski, E. W., Ihle, J. N. 1984. Evidence for specific receptors for interleukin 3 on lymphokine-dependent cell lines established from long-term bone marrow cultures. J. Immunol. 132:1872
- Curtsinger, J. M., Fan, D. P. 1984. Interleukin-3 augments the murine primary cytolytic T lymphocyte response to allogeneic tumor cells. J. Immunol. 133:267
- Abbud-Filho, M., Kupiec-Weglinski, J. W., Araujo, J. L., Heidecke, C. D., Tilney, N. L., Strom, T. B. 1984. Cyclosporine

therapy of rat heart allograft recipients and release of interleukins (IL 1, IL 2, IL 3): a role for IL 3 in graft tolerance? J. Immunol. 133:2582

- Schrader, J. W., Clark-Lewis, I., Wong, G. H. W. 1985. T cell lymphokines and the production and function of accessory cells. *Immunobiology* 168:425
- Palacios, R., Henson, G., Steinmetz, M., McKearn, J. P. 1984. Interleukin-3 supports growth of mouse pre-B-cell clones in vitro. *Nature* 309:126
- 76a. Pike, B. L., Nossal, G. J. V. 1985. A high efficiency cloning system for single hapten-specific B lymphocytes that is suitable for assay of putative growth and differentiation factors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:3995
- Palacios, R., Garland, J. 1984. Distinct mechanisms may account for the growth-promoting activity of interleukin 3 on cells of lymphoid and myeloid origin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81: 1208
- Crapper, R. M., Schrader, J. W. 1985. Antibody-mediated stimulation of hemopoietic cells. *Blood* 65:869
- Whitton, A. D., Dexter, T. M. 1983. Effects of haemopoietic growth factor on intracellular ATP levels. *Nature* 303: 629
- Whitton, A. D., Bazill, G. W., Dexter, T. M. 1985. Stimulation of hexose uptake by haemopoietic-cell growth factor occurs in WEHI-3B myelomonocytic leukemia cells: A possible mechanism for loss of growth control. J. Cell. Physiol. 123:73
- Farrar, W. L., Thomas, T. P., Anderson, W. B. 1985. Altered cytosolmembrane enzyme redistribution on interleukin-3 activation of protein-kinase C. Nature 315:235
- 82. Crapper, R. M., Schrader, J. W. 1983. Frequency of mast cell precursors in normal tissues determined by an *in vitro* assay: antigen induces parallel increases in the frequency of P cell precursors and mast cells. J. Immunol. 131:923
- Crapper, R. M., Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W. 1984. The *in vivo* functions and properties of persisting cellstimulating factor. *Immunology* 53:33
- 84. Abbud Filho, M., Dy, M., Lebel, B., Luffau, G., Hamburger, J. 1983. In vitro and in vivo histamine-producing cellstimulating factor (or IL 3) production during Nippostrongylus brasiliensis infection: coincidence with self-cure phenomenon. Eur. J. Immunol, 13:841
- Crapper, R. M., Clark-Lewis, I., Schrader, J. W. 1985. Role of the T-cell lymphokine persisting-cell stimulating

factor (PSF) in graft-vs-host reactions. Immunology. In press

- 86. Garland, J. M., Aldridge, A., Wagstaffe, J., Dexter, T. M. 1983. Studies on the in vivo production of a lymphokine activity, interleukin-3 (IL-3), elaborated by lymphocytes and a myeloid leukaemic line in vitro and the fate of IL-3 dependent cell lines. Br. J. Cancer 48:247
- Schrader, J. W., Scollay, R., Battye, F. 1983. Intramucosal lymphocytes of the gut: Lyt-2 and Thy-1 phenotype of the granulated cells and evidence for the presence of both T cells and mast cell precursors. J. Immunol. 130:558
- Lee, J. C., Ihle, J. N. 1981. Increased responses to lymphokines are correlated with preleukemia in Moloney-virus innoculated mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 78:7712
- 89. Crapper, R. M., Thomas, W. R., Schrader, J. W. 1984. In vivo transfer of

persisting (P) cells; further evidence for their identity with T-dependent mast cells. J. Immunol. 133:2174

- 89a. Ymer, S., Tucker, W. Q. J., Sanderson, C. J., Hapel, A. J., Campbell, H. D., Young, I. A. 1985. Constitutive synthesis of interleukin-3 by the myelomonocytic leukemia WEHI-3B is due to a retroviral insertion near the gene. *Nature*. In press
- 90. Schrader, J. W., Schrader, S., Leslie, K., Dunn, A. 1985. Role of autogenous production of a hemopoietic growth factor in myeloid leukemia. In Leukemia: Recent Advances in Biology and Treatment, ed. R. P. Gale, D. Golde. New York: Liss
- 91. Schrader, J. W. 1984. Hypothesis: Role of a single hematopoietic growth factor in multiple proliferative disorders of hematopoietic and related cells. *Lancet* 11:133



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE- REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 231–51 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

MOLECULAR IMMUNOBIOLOGY OF COMPLEMENT BIOSYNTHESIS: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor Balance

David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten

Department of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts 02115

INTRODUCTION

The twenty proteins of the complement system are synthesized in liver, but several are also produced at extrahepatic sites. Blood monocytes, tissue macrophages, epithelial cells of the gastrointestinal and genitourinary system, and fibroblasts are among the extrahepatic cells shown to synthesize complement in tissue culture. Complement synthesis and its regulation has also been examined in cell lines derived from hepatomas and myelomonocytic tumors. The functional importance of an extrahepatic source of complement has been established only for mononuclear phagocytes. These cells synthesize the complement effector and control proteins [except for the terminal components of the membrane attack complex (C6, 7, 8, 9]. In fact, the macrophage-derived complement proteins are produced in sufficient amounts to opsonize particles for complement receptor-mediated phagocytosis without addition of plasma (1). Activation products of the complement proteins produced locally alter vascular permeability and smooth muscle tone, and direct migration of leukocytes. Furthermore, these proteins participate in recruitment of intravascular humoral and cellular constituents that enhance and then regulate inflammation.

The net biological effects of the regulation of complement gene expression must be understood in the context of local concentrations of the rate-

232 PERLMUTTER & COLTEN

limiting activation proteins and inhibitory proteins of the complement cascade. Hence, changes in transcription, posttranscriptional processing, translation, and posttranslational modification for each of the activating and inhibitory proteins must be assessed. Moreover, interactions of complement proteins with other products of the macrophage, including several enzymatic cascades and enzyme inhibitors, introduce an additional level of complexity to the analysis. That is, one must also consider the molecular regulation of activators of coagulation, clot lysis, components of the collagen-collagenase system, elastase-alpha₁-antitrypsin system, and the oxidative burst in the analysis of the biological effects of complement proteins produced by macrophages. Finally products of the macrophage that act at remote sites (e.g. the effects of IL-1 on hepatocytes) regulate complement and other acute-phase protein concentrations in plasma and therefore influence the later phases of inflammation and tissue repair. This last level of control reveals one of the several selective and independent mechanisms regulating expression of the complement genes in hepatocytes and macrophages (Figure 1).

THE COMPLEMENT CASCADE

Two distinct pathways initiate the complement activation sequence. The classical pathway is triggered by interaction of the first component of complement (C1) with antibodies of the IgG and IgM classes in complex



Figure 1 Expression of complement proteins by human mononuclear phagocytes and hepatocytes. Local and remote factors regulate expression of complement proteins at each site and also regulate other products of mononuclear phagocytes and hepatocytes. Products of mononuclear phagocytes (e.g. IL-1) may also regulate expression of the products of hepatocytes.

with antigen. C1 is a macromolecule consisting of three noncovalently bound subcomponents—C1q, C1r, and C1s. The C1q subcomponent is a 460 kd (kilodalton) protein composed of 18 polypeptides in 6 collagen-like triple helical units (A, B, and C chains), each terminating in carboxyterminal globular regions and serving as the immunoglobulin-binding domains. The collagen-like regions bind dimers of the C1r and C1s subcomponents, each in its zymogen-form (reviewed in 2, 3). On cell surfaces, a single IgM or IgG dimer complexed with antigen binds and activates a single C1 molecule (4). Activation is the result of cleavage of the single-chain C1r protein (90 kd) generating an amino-terminal 60 kd peptide disulfide linked to a 30 kd carboxy-terminal fragment. The latter bears the active enzymatic site for C1r cleavage. The active C1r enzyme then cleaves zymogen C1s to activate this subcomponent by conversion of the single-chain protein to a disulfide-linked heterodimer (5, 6). C1s and C1r are structurally and functionally homologous proteins.

The natural substrates of the C1s enzyme are the fourth (C4) and second (C2) components of complement. The fourth component is a three-chain disulfide-linked glycoprotein (~ 200 kd), and C2 is a single-chain glycoprotein of (~ 102 kd). A 10 kd amino-terminal peptide (C4a) is cleaved from the alpha chain of C4 to generate C4b. The C4b binds to antigen or antibody via covalent linkage of amino or carboxyl groups to reactive groups in C4 protein generated by scission of a thiolester bond within the C4 alpha chain (7). The two human C4 genes encode distinct proteins, one of which, C4A, reacts more rapidly with amino groups and the other, C4B, with carboxyl groups. The bound C4b complexes with the carboxyl terminal (60 kd) C2a fragment liberated from C2 by the action of C1s (8). The C4b2a complex is an unstable enzyme that facilitates cleavage, at the Arg₇₇-Ser₇₈ bond, of a 9 kd peptide (C3a) from the alpha chain of the third component (C3), leaving C3b. The C3 protein, like C4 and alpha₂ macroglobulin, has an internal thiolester site (9) that upon activation forms covalent bonds with proteins or carbohydrates. Oxidation of C2 stabilizes the human C3-cleaving enzyme, C4b2a (10, 11). This represents one of the mechanisms that influence effective tissue concentrations of complementactivation products.

The alternative pathway enzyme (C3bBb) cleaves C3 alpha chain at precisely the same site (12) as that cleaved by the classical pathway enzyme. The Bb portion of the enzyme is the carboxy terminal 68 kd polypeptide liberated from factor B (a protein structurally and functionally similar to C2) by the action of factor D, a serine proteinase analogous to C1s. A product of the reaction (C3 \rightarrow C3b) is a component of the alternativepathway C3-cleaving enzyme. Hence, a positive feedback amplification

234 PERLMUTTER & COLTEN

loop is generated during activation of this pathway. Access of control proteins to the enzyme C3bBb determines its rate of decay-dissociation and thus the extent to which this pathway participates in complement activation.

The C3a fragment of C3 is homologous to the corresponding alphachain-cleavage products of C4 (C4a) and C5 (C5a) (reviewed in 13). C3a has vasoactive properties and may also have immunoregulatory functions. The balance of the protein C3b and cleavage products derived from C3b are important ligands in the interaction of receptors on lymphocytes, macrophages, polymorphonuclear leukocytes, and other cells with microorganisms, soluble immune complexes, and particles to which C3b has bound covalently (14, 15). In addition, the C3b component forms a portion of the enzyme responsible for terminal complement activation and the assembly of the membrane attack complex. This complex consists of a fragment of C5 (C5b) and the sixth, seventh, eighth, and ninth components of complement. A diagram of the complement activation cascade is shown in Figure 2.

In addition to the proteins forming the activation mechanism, a number of regulatory proteins that control the complement system have been recognized. These include the C1 inhibitor, an alpha globulin that inhibits the action of the C1s enzyme, and the C3b/C4b inactivator (factor I), which in the presence of cofactors BIH (factor H) or C4 binding protein (C4BP) mediates cleavage of C3b and C4b respectively. Several membrane proteins [e.g. C3b receptor and decay accelerating factor (DAF)] also have the capacity to modulate complement activation.



Figure 2 Complement activation pathway. Regulation of the pathway by C1 inhibitor (C1 inh), factor I/C4 binding protein (I/C4BP), factor I/factor H (I/H) and factor I/Crl receptor (I/Crl) is indicated.

ACTIVATORS OF THE CLASSICAL AND ALTERNATIVE PATHWAYS

The First Component (C1q, C1r and C1s) and Its Control Protein (C1 Inhibitor)

Biosynthesis of the C1 macromolecular complex has been demonstrated in primary and long-term epithelial cell cultures, in mononuclear phagocytes, and fibroblasts (16). In addition, hepatoma-derived cell lines (17) synthesize the subcomponents C1r and C1s. These studies indicate that the regulation of C1q synthesis is independent of the control of C1r and C1s synthesis (18), but the mechanisms have not yet been defined. The human C1q B chain is encoded by a 2.6-Kb gene that has been assigned to chromosome 1p (19). The B chain is programmed by a ~ 1.5 -Kb mRNA, but the structure of the primary translation product and the details of postsynthetic processing, except for the known hydroxylation of lysine and proline residues, have not been studied. Inhibition of postsynthetic hydroxylation selectively inhibits C1q-subcomponent secretion (20).

Recent observations from several laboratories (21, 22) suggest that monocytes synthesize the C1 inhibitor as well as C1 subcomponents. C1 inhibitor is the major inhibitor of the classical activating pathway of complement. It is a glycoprotein with an estimated molecular mass of 105 kd and total carbohydrate content of 33% (23). C1 inhibitor blocks C1 activity by forming equimolar complexes with C1r and C1s by a covalent interaction with the active-site serine of the proteases, and in the process, it removes C1r-C1s from 'the C1q component (24–26). Liver is the major source of plasma C1 inhibitor (17, 27–29), but little is known about regulation of its synthesis. Recent studies by Bensa et al suggest that C1 inhibitor is present in cell-culture fluid of human monocytes incubated with a crude lymphokine mixture (21), and the lymphokine mixture contains a factor that regulates C1 synthesis as well. Molecular probes are now available for C1q and C1 inhibitor, so that the mechanisms accounting for control of their expression should soon be revealed.

Factor D

Factor D is a serine proteinase (25 kd) that circulates in plasma in its active form. Early studies (30) indicated that factor D is synthesized in mononuclear phagocytes, but definitive evidence was obtained only recently (31). In the latter, Barnum & Volanakis showed synthesis in a monocytic cell line of a factor-D protein 3 kd larger than the native protein. Regulation of factor-D synthesis and the mechanism of activation of D will be of considerable

236 PERLMUTTER & COLTEN

importance because this protein is the trigger for alternative complement pathway activation.

The Second Component (C2) and Factor B

The genes encoding the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class-III proteins C2 and factor B are on the short arm of human chromosome 6 and mouse chromosome 17. The human (32, 33) and murine (34–36) MHC class-III genes have been mapped with a series of overlapping cosmid clones. These studies reveal a similarity between the species. The 3' terminus of the C2 gene is upstream and close (for human, ~ 1 Kb) to the 5' end of the factor-B gene. There is a single copy of the C2 gene per haploid, but the fine details of C2 genomic structure have not yet been published.

Preliminary data suggest many similarities between the C2 and factor-B genes. Single loci for human (32, 33, 37) (~ 6 Kb) and murine (34) factor-B genes have been identified. The human factor-B gene is divided into 18 exons (37). Three exons coding for regions within the Ba fragment show significant sequence homology to one another, i.e. they may be products of tandem duplication. Active site residues in the Bb fragment are encoded on separate exons. With the exception of a unique exon found in Bb, the organization of this region of the factor-B gene is similar to that observed for other serine proteinase genes.

Human liver mRNA directs synthesis of three C2 primary products when translated in vitro (38) or in Xenopus oocytes (H. R. Colten, G. G. Goldberger, R. Kay, D. Woods, unpublished). The three forms of C2 found in human hepatoma cells and in human monocyte/macrophage cultures are probably derived from differential transcription or posttranscriptional modification. Translation of the most abundant C2 mRNA (~ 2.8 Kb) generates an 84 kd product that is secreted within 1–2 hours. Two forms of C2 of lower molecular mass remain cell-associated. These multiple forms of C2 have also been detected in murine L cells transfected with a genomic fragment bearing the human C2 and factor-B genes (36). In the transfectants, human C2 mRNA and C2 protein are found, but the lower molecular weight C2 mRNA is present in greater amounts than in primary cell cultures or cell lines (see below).

In extrahepatic mononuclear phagocytes, the proportion of C2producing cells and the rates of synthesis per cell vary as a function of cellular maturation and tissue origin (39). For example, the proportion of C2-producing cells increases from the point where none is detectable in marrow and 10% in blood monocytes to 45% in spleen and peritoneal cavity. Only 2.5% of lung (bronchoalveolar lavage) macrophages produce C2, but the higher rate of synthesis of C2 per bronchoalveolar cell compensates for the lower proportion of C2-producing cells (40). Local C2 synthesis is affected during an inflammatory response at least in part by a pretranslational regulatory mechanism. That is, the net tissue concentration of C2 is augmented not only by the increase in cell number but also by increased C2 mRNA and rate of synthesis of C2 per cell (41, 42). Interferon gamma (IFN-gamma) is one of the mediators of this change in C2 expression (see below). Preliminary data (F. S. Cole, H. R. Colten, unpublished) also suggest that in activated macrophages the specific biological activity of C2 is increased possibly by oxidation-dependent stabilization of the classical pathway C3 convertase.

Synthesis of the factor-B primary translation product (83 kd) is directed by a ~ 2.6 -Kb polyadenylated mRNA (43). The synthesis and secretion of factor B is similar to that described for C2, but important differences, including the response to cytokines that regulate B and C2 gene expression, have been observed.

Human, murine, and guinea pig factor B are synthesized in liver and at extrahepatic sites in mononuclear phagocytes (44–46). Control of factor-B synthesis is rather complex and almost certainly is exerted at multiple levels. Recent data (A. Falus, H. R. Colten, unpublished) demonstrate a genetically determined independent regulation of B and C2 in murine hepatocytes and macrophages that is similar to the genetically determined, tissue-specific control of murine C4 and Slp noted in earlier studies. Peritoneal macrophages in exudates elicited with starch or thioglycollate synthesize factor B at about the same rate as resident cells, but specific signals (e.g. LPS, IFN-gamma) can trigger rather significant changes in expression of the factor-B gene.

In human mononuclear phagocytes, a small but significant increase in C2 and factor-B mRNA is induced by the lipid-A component of endotoxin (LPS) (47). A corresponding increase in factor-B synthesis (2–3-fold) is noted, but net C2 protein synthesis is not affected by lipopolysaccharide. These findings suggest that an increase in C2-translation rate requires a second signal, or that increased catabolism of C2 protein accounts for zero net change in C2 synthesis in the presence of LPS. Endotoxin injection into an LPS-responsive (C3H/FeJ) strain, but not the LPS unresponsive strain (C3H/HeJ), induces a dose-dependent increase in factor-B-gene expression in liver as well as in lung, kidney, intestine, spleen, heart, and peritoneal macrophages (48).

Recently the purification of IL-1 to homogeneity and isolation of cDNA clones corresponding to human and murine IL-1 (49, 50) have allowed generation of well-defined reagents for examination of the effect of these polypeptides on complement gene expression. For these and studies of

238 PERLMUTTER & COLTEN

IFN-gamma regulation, we have initially focused our attention on the C2/factor-B genes, but the importance of these mediators in the control of other genes has been recognized.

IL-1 regulates factor-B expression in murine hepatocytes and in a human hepatoma cell line (51, 52). In addition, when recombinant-generated purified mouse IL-1 (rIL-1) is injected into mice (C3H/HeJ), increased factor-B mRNA is observed in both hepatic and extrahepatic sites. Whether extrahepatic factor-B-gene expression (especially in peritoneal macrophages) is regulated directly by IL-1 (autocrine or paracrine regulation) or via another cytokine (e.g. IFN-gamma) is uncertain. The latter possibility might be tested in studies of extrahepatic C2 gene expression in the IL-1 injected animals, since expression of this gene is increased by IFN-gamma but not by IL-1.

In primary murine hepatocyte cultures, both recombinant-generated murine IL-1 and highly purified human IL-1 induce a dose- and timedependent, reversible increase in expression of the factor-B gene and a decrease in albumin gene expression. This regulation is pretranslational, since the kinetics and direction of change in specific mRNA for factor B and albumin correspond to the change in synthesis of the respective proteins. The small size of the factor-B 5' flanking region (limited by the 3' terminus of the IL-1-unresponsive C2 gene) provides a well-defined region to probe the structural basis for the differential effect of IL-1 on factor B and the closely related gene, C2. A cosmid bearing both genes on an \sim 30-Kb segment of human DNA has been introduced into mouse L cells where each is constitutively expressed (36). These MHC class III-transfected cells synthesize and secrete C2 and factor-B proteins. In the transfectant, human factor-B, but not C2, gene expression is increased when the cells are incubated with murine rIL-1 or human IL-1. The response is dose dependent and reversible.

Interferon-gamma regulates expression of both the C2 and factor-B genes in primary cell culture and in the MHC class-III transfectants (53). IFN-gamma induces a dose-dependent increase in synthesis of C2 and factor-B protein (detectable first at concentrations of IFN-gamma of 50 pg/ml). Regulation is pretranslational, but the kinetics and magnitude of the response to IFN-gamma for the two proteins is different. In both primary human monocytes and in the class-III transfectants, the IFN-gamma-induced increase in factor B always exceeds the increase in C2-gene expression.

The Third (C3) and Fourth (C4) Components

Among the complement components, C3 protein is present in plasma at the highest concentration. Native C3 is a 185 kd two-chain disulfide-linked
glycoprotein, which is synthesized as a single-chain precursor. The synthesis of prepro-C3 is programmed by a \sim 5-Kb mRNA. Postsynthetic cleavage by signal peptidase and a plasmin-like enzyme generates native C3 (54-57). As is the case for the precursors of C4 (pro-C4) and C5 (pro-C5), beta chain is the amino-terminal segment in pro-C3. In each, beta chain is separated from alpha chain by an arginine-rich intersubunit-linking peptide; a similar linking peptide separates C4 alpha from the carboxy-terminal gamma chain. These and other structural similarities suggest that C3, C4, and C5 have evolved by gene duplication.

The murine C3 gene is approximately 24 Kb and has been localized to chromosome 17 outside of the H-2 complex. The human C3 gene is on chromosome 19 (58). Genomic clones that include a region \sim 1.2-Kb 5' to the gene have been isolated (59). Nucleotide sequence data for this 5' flanking region are relevant to studies of C3 expression by endotoxin, IL-1, and IFN-gamma, especially since some species-specific differences have already been recognized. Endotoxin, and specifically the lipid-A component of LPS, increases net C3 protein synthesis 5-30-fold in adult human mononuclear phagocytes (47). This mechanism is largely pretranslational since the concentration of C3-specific mRNA is increased at least 5-fold. The response of C3 to LPS stimulation is also developmentally regulated as a comparison of adult and neonatal monocytes indicates. C3 and factor-B gene expression are not affected by lipid A in the neonatal monocyte, while other monocyte functions (e.g. superoxide generation) are modulated by the lipid A. Preliminary experiments suggest that C3 and B expression is enhanced in the neonatal monocytes when exposed to precursors of lipid A, to proteins associated with endotoxin, and when the neonatal cells are coincubated with adult monocytes exposed to lipid A (60). Dr. F. S. Cole and colleagues are pursuing these provocative findings.

C3 gene expression in murine hepatocytes, in a human hepatomaderived cell line, and in murine fibroblasts is increased by either purified human or recombinant-generated murine IL-1 (51, 52). The response to IFN is species specific, i.e. human IFN-gamma affects only the human cell, and murine IFN-gamma affects only the murine cell. Apart from differences in the source of the cytokine, the response of human and murine C3 genes to IFN-gamma in mononuclear phagocytes and L-cells differs. IFN-gamma has no effect or *decreases* expression of human C3, whereas IFN-gamma induces an *increase* in expression of the endogenous murine C3. These differences in C3 regulation by IFN-gamma may reflect differences in regulatory sequences within or flanking the corresponding human and murine genes. The nucleotide sequence of the 5' flanking region of the murine C3 gene has been reported (61). Once the human C3 5' flanking sequence is determined, a direct comparison and site-specific mutation can

240 PERLMUTTER & COLTEN

be used to test whether the response to IFN-gamma is a function of a difference in gene structure or the result of a species-specific signal transduction.

In studies of regulation of C3 expression, selective changes in translation, posttranslational modification, or secretion have not been detected. Extracellular enzymatic modification of C3b, however, constitutes another level of regulation of C3 that is well characterized. Cleavage of C3b by factor I and cofactor H generates C3bi, blocking further steps in the complement-activation sequence and in the interaction of C3b with its receptor (Cr1), but the fragment C3bi can interact with another specific receptor, Cr3 (also known as Mo1 or Mac1). Factor I, or another enzyme acting at a second cleavage site, generates a fragment, C3d-g, that inhibits lymphocyte mitogenesis and leukocyte migration (13, 62). Further cleavage by plasmin or trypsin generates still another fragment, C3d, that can bind to a distinct cell-surface receptor (Cr2) (14, 15). Therefore, the net balance of C3b, proteases, and antiproteases in the extracellular fluid has an important effect on generation of the diverse biologically active C3 cleavage products.

Synthesis of the 185 kd single-chain presursor of C4, pro-C4 (63, 64), is directed by a polyadenylated mRNA of approximately 5 kb (65, 66). Post-translational modification involves proteolytic excision of two intersubunit-linking peptides, sulfation (67), modification of residues within the region of the thiolester site (68), and glycosylation of the alpha and beta subunits (69, 70). There is extracellular cleavage of a carboxy-terminal peptide from alpha chain as well (71).

In the murine and human genome, there are two C4-like genes per haploid, but a relatively high frequency of duplications, deletions, and rearrangements lead to variations in this region. Some species such as guinea pig and hamster appear to have only a single C4 gene (72). Immediately 3' to the human and mouse C4 genes are two genes (21-OH A and 21-OH B) with sequences corresponding to a cytochrome P450 enzyme, 21-hydroxylase (73, 74). The human C4 genes differ in size (C4A, \sim 22 kb; C4B, \sim 16 kb). This size difference results primarily from the presence of a larger intron in the 5' region of the C4A gene (33). The murine S1p and C4 genes are each ~ 16 kb and are similar in exon-intron structure and nucleotide sequence at the 5' end of the genes (75). However, they differ in sequences within the 5' flanking regions. This is of importance in view of the differences in regulation of C4 and S1p and is in striking contrast to the extensive sequence homology within coding regions (96% nucleotide: 94% amino acid). The 5' flanking sequence differences cannot account for all the differences in regulation of S1p and C4 because tissue-specific factors are of importance as well. For instance, S1p is expressed in hepatocytes, but not macrophages, of most S1p⁺ inbred strains. The notable exception is found in several strains designated H-2^w (64). Regulation of C4 synthesis in hepatic parenchymal cells and mononuclear phagocytes is also under separate control. Serum levels of C4 in different mouse strains reflect hepatic synthetic rates (76) and content of C4-specific mRNA (77), whereas macrophages from high- and low-serum C4 strains synthesize similar amounts of C4 protein (77, 78).

Mouse-resident-peritoneal cells synthesize C4, but in tissue culture the rate of secretion declines within the first few hours (78, 79). This decrease is not due to limitations of the culture, because total protein synthesis remains approximately constant and factor-B synthesis increases several fold. This change in C4 biosynthesis in culture is regulated at a pretranslational level, since the content of C4 mRNA changes in parallel and there is no difference in postsynthetic processing, rate of secretion, or stability of secreted C4 (77). Elicited murine macrophages in inflammatory exudates produce considerably less C4 than resident macrophages (79). This phenomenon is also under transcriptional or posttranscriptional control, i.e. the steady state C4-mRNA levels correspond to the amount of pro-C4 synthesis in the respective cell populations.

Important differences in regulation of C4 synthesis by murine and guinea-pig macrophages have been observed. The results indicate that differences in tissue-specific regulation may be even more complicated than were appreciated from investigations of murine C4. Approximately 10% of adherent mononuclear cells derived from guinea-pig bone marrow synthesize C4. A comparable proportion of the circulating monocyte population produces hemolytically active C4, but 40-50% of macrophages derived from several different tissues yield C4-plaque-forming cells (39). These and other data indicate that C4 gene expression varies as a function of the maturation of the mononuclear phagocyte. Secretion of C4 by guinea-pig-resident macrophages is also tightly regulated. This is accomplished by a selective and specific feedback inhibition of C4 biosynthesis that is mediated by a pretranslational mechanism (80). The direct regulation of C4 production in macrophages by extracellular C4 has important consequences for regulation of an inflammatory response. That is, it provides a mechanism for controlling constitutive secretion of C4 in resting macrophages as well as a mechanism for repletion of C4 following complement consumption or diffusion from the site of inflammation. The direct control of C4 synthesis would, thus, not depend on plasma concentrations of C4.

Factor I (C3b/C4b Inactivator), Factor H, and C4 Binding Proteins

As indicated above, expression of biologically active C3 and C4 is also influenced by expression of another inhibitor of the complement-activation sequence, factor I. Factor I is a two-chain glycoprotein that cleaves the C3b

242 PERLMUTTER & COLTEN

and C4b fragments. The liver is the primary source of factor I in plasma (17). In human hepatoma-derived hepatocytes, factor I is synthesized as a singlechain precursor that undergoes glycosylation and limited intracellular proteolysis to generate the two disulfide-linked subunits of the native protein (81). Biosynthesis of factor I has also been detected in primary cultures of human-peripheral-blood monocytes (30). Expression of factor I, C3, and C4 by mononuclear phagocytes presents another example of regulation of protease and protease inhibitor in the same cell. In this case, inactivation of C3, by the inhibitor factor I, requires as a cofactor, factor H or the C3b receptor CR1 (82-85), both of which are expressed in mononuclear phagocytes and liver. Cleavage fragments characteristic of the action of factors H and I on C3 alpha chain have also been identified in the cell-culture fluid of monocytes (1). The significance of protease and inactivator in this case is not entirely clear but suggests that local secretion of complement components by mononuclear phagocytes cannot lead to unregulated complement activation. C4 binding protein (C4BP) serves a function comparable to that of factor H in its action as cofactor for the cleavage of C4b. The gene encoding C4BP, factor H, and CR1 are closely linked (86). DNA clones for each have now been isolated so that studies of gene expression can be undertaken.

The Fifth (C5) Component

The mRNA specifying pro-C5 translation is similar in size to those for pro-C3 and pro-C4 (87). C5 is synthesized in hepatocytes and in extrahepatic sites (30, 88). Our understanding of the regulation of C5 biosynthesis is incomplete, but several experiments suggest that control of C5 expression in murine macrophages may involve posttranslational control mechanisms. For example, Ooi et al demonstrated that elicited peritoneal macrophages synthesized five times more immunochemically detectable C5 than did resident peritoneal macrophages, but the cell-culture fluid of the elicited cells had 4–5 times less C5 hemolytic activity (89, 90). C5 expression by murine macrophages may also be influenced by histamine, but the mechanism for this effect is uncertain (91). The recent isolation of C5-cDNA clones (87) should make it possible to study the regulation of C5 gene expression in greater detail.

Expression of Other Proteases and Their Inhibitors

Several plasminogen activators are produced by human mononuclear phagocytes. The Bb fragment of the alternative complement pathway component, factor B, can cleave and activate plasminogen (92). Production of a more specific plasminogen activator, urokinase, by human monocytes has also been demonstrated (93, 94). Both monocytes and U937 histiocytic lymphoma cells synthesize urokinase as a single-chain 55-kd inactive zymogen. Intramolecular proteolytic cleavage activates the enzyme, and another proteolytic reaction generates an enzymatically active 33 kd urokinase. Expression of urokinase is enhanced by conconavalin A, phorbol myristate acetate, and lymphokine supernatant, but is decreased by glucocorticosteroids (95, 96). Recently, Vassalli et al have described a high-affinity cellular-binding site on monocytes and U937 cells for urokinase (97). These studies suggest that urokinase is secreted and taken up on the cell membrane or that part of the urokinase synthesized is directed to the surface of mononuclear phagocytes. In addition, an inhibitor of urokinase has recently been demonstrated in the conditioned medium of human monocytes (93). Although the production of urokinase and a urokinase-inhibitor protease-nexin has been described for human fibroblasts (98), the urokinase inhibitor in conditioned media of monocytes does not resemble protease-nexin. Expression of both plasminogen activator and inhibitor by monocytes is not counterproductive since the protease is not ordinarily activated and therefore does not complex with inhibitor. On the other hand, during inflammation urokinase is activated so that the capacity also to express an inhibitor of urokinase may prevent uncontrolled proteolysis.

In addition to the plasminogen-activating effect of complement factor Bb, there are other interactions between the fibrolytic and complement systems. Plasmin, derived from urokinase-mediated cleavage of plasminogen, can cleave C1s, factor B (99), and C3 (100), thereby activating the complement system. Interaction with other pathways will undoubtedly become clear as more is learned about the expression of these proteases.

Proteases of the coagulation pathway are also produced by human mononuclear phagocytes. The procoagulant activity of human monocytes and macrophages has been attributed to tissue factor or tissue thromboplastin. Tissue thromboplastin is a 52-kd plasma-membrane lipoprotein that binds and activates factor VIII to initiate the extrinsic coagulation pathway (101). Regulation of mononuclear phagocyte-tissue thromboplastin activity has been studied at a functional level, but relatively little is known about its structure, structural-functional correlates, or molecular characteristics. The procoagulant activity of monocytes and macrophages is ordinarily minimal but greatly enhanced in cell culture by LPS (102, 103), mitogens (104), immune complexes (105), and complement components (106, 107). It has been shown that T-lymphocyte collaboration is required for or enhances the response of mononuclear phagocytes to LPS (108– 111) and immune complexes (112, 113). Using immunofluorescent flow cytometry, T lymphocytes of the inducer/helper subset were shown to be responsible for the collaboration in human monocyte procoagulant activity (114).

Regulation of procoagulant activity produced by human monocytes

244 PERLMUTTER & COLTEN

provides another example of interaction between two distinct pathways, the extrinsic coagulation and the complement activating pathways. C3b (107) and a chemotactic fragment of C5 (106) enhance the expression of tissue thromboplastin activity by human mononuclear cells. Interaction between the coagulation and fibrinolytic systems in cultures of mononuclear phagocytes has not been addressed. Further characterization of the biosynthesis, intracellular processing, and secretion of tissue thromboplastin will be necessary to determine if inhibitors of this molecule are also expressed by monocytes and macrophages.

Other proteases and their inhibitors are produced by human monocytes and macrophages. Several previous studies suggested that alpha₁antitrypsin, an important serine protease inhibitor, was produced by mononuclear cells (115–118). It is known that $alpha_1$ -antitrypsin is synthesized by liver from a 1.4-kb RNA as a 52-55-kd single-chain glycoprotein with 15% carbohydrate attached to three asparagine residues (reviewed in 119). The alpha₁-antitrypsin gene is 10.2-kb (120) and localized to chromosome 14 (121-122). It has recently become possible to identify definitely alpha₁-antitrypsin biosynthesis by peripheral-blood monocytes, bronchoalveolar and breast macrophages, but not B or T lymphocytes (123). Alpha₁-antitrypsin mRNA, similar in apparent size to that in human liver cells, was detected in human monocytes and macrophages by RNA-blot hybridization. Synthesis and secretion of alpha₁antitrypsin was also demonstrated in monocytes and macrophages, but not in lymphocytes. In these biosynthetic labelling experiments, alpha₁antitrypsin was not only identified in its native form but also in forms complexed with serine protease. The serine protease interacting with alpha₁-antitrypsin was derived from mononuclear phagocytes. The ratio of alpha₁-antitrypsin in native to complexed form, and the apparent size of the alpha₁-antitrypsin protease complexes, varied in mononuclear phagocytes from different tissues (blood monocyte, bronchoalveolar, and breast milk macrophages). This suggests independent regulation of serine protease and alpha₁-antitrypsin in different local microenvironments.

Several proteases with which alpha₁-antitrypsin might interact have been identified in human monocytes. A cell surface serine elastase degrades the amyloid protein, SAA (124), and a secreted elastase mediates plasminogen-independent fibrinolysis (125). It is also possible that neutrophil elastase is taken up from the extracellular fluid by macrophage receptor-mediated endocytosis (126, 127) and later released again into the cell-culture fluid (128, 129). Expression of alpha₁-antitrypsin may also be affected by metallo- and thiol-protease, e.g. the murine macrophage elastase (130, 131).

Other factors may affect the balance of alpha₁-antitrypsin and protease

in tissues. For instance, another major proteinase inhibitor, $alpha_2$ -macroglobulin, is synthesized and secreted by monocytes (132). $Alpha_2$ -macroglobulin-protease complexes are internalized by macrophage receptor-mediated endocytosis (133-135). Although $alpha_2$ -macroglobulin is similar to $alpha_1$ -antitrypsin in inhibition of serine proteases, it also inhibits proteases of the thiol-, carboxyl-, and metalloprotease classes. In addition, the generation of hydrogen peroxide and oxygen radicals by mononuclear phagocytes may influence the $alpha_1$ -antitrypsin-protease balance in the local microenvironment. For instance, enhanced expression of oxygen radicals during macrophage activation could oxidize and inactivate $alpha_1$ -antitrypsin leading to higher local concentrations of free serine protease.

Expression of both serine protease and alpha₁-antitrypsin by mononuclear phagocytes may be similar to the previously mentioned protease-inhibitor systems in providing finely tuned regulation of proteolysis during the initial phases of inflammation and tissue injury. This thesis is based on the observation that lymphokine(s) enhance expression of alpha₁-antitrypsin by human monocytes and macrophages (S. Takemura, unpublished), and the pattern of protease-antiprotease expression changes as a function of as yet undefined factors.

Proteases and inhibitors of the coagulation cascade, of a fibrinolytic system, and of the elastase-alpha₁-antitrypsin system are only a few examples of proteins that interact with the complement-activating system. Nevertheless, these examples provide ample evidence of the intricate and complex forces that determine the net biological effect of complement and the tissue response to injury/inflammation.

Literature Cited

- Ezekowitz, R. A. B., Sim, R. B., Hill, M., Gordon, S. 1984. Local opsonisation by secreted macrophage complement components. Role of receptors for complement in uptake of zymosan. J. Exp. Med. 159:244-58
- 2. Reid, K. B. M. 1983. Proteins involved in the activation and control of the two pathways of human complement. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 11:1-12
- Cooper, N. R. 1983. Activation and regulation of the first complement component. Fed. Proc. 42:134–37
- Borsos, T., Rapp, H. J. 1965. Hemolysin titration based on fixation of the activated first component of complement. Evidence that one molecule of hemolysin suffices to sensitize an erythrocyte. J. Immunol. 95: 559-66

- Lepow, I. H., Naff, G. B., Todd, E. W., Pensky, J., Hinz, C. H. 1963. Chromatographic resolution of the first component of human complement into three activities. J. Exp. Med. 117:983-1008
- Sim, R. B., Porter, R. R., Reid, M. B. M., Gigli, I. 1977. The structure and enzymic activities of the C1r and C1s subcomponents of C1, the first component of human serum complement. *Biochem.* J. 163:219-27
- Campbell, R. D., Dodds, A. W., Porter, R. R. 1980. The binding of human complement component C4 to antibody-antigen aggregates. *Biochem.* J. 189:67-80
- Cooper, N. R. 1975. Enzymatic activity of the second component of complement. Biochem. 14:4245-51

246 PERLMUTTER & COLTEN

- Sottup-Jensen, L., Stepanik, T. M., Kristensen, T., Lonblad, P. B., Jones, C. M., Wierzbuck, D. M., Magnusson, S. M., Domdey, H., Wetsel, R. A., Lundwall, A., Tack, B. F., Fey, G. H. 1985. Common evolutionary origin of alpha₁ macroglobulin and complement components C3 and C4. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:9-13
- Polley, M. J., Muller-Eberhard, H. J. 1967. Enhancement of hemolytic activity of the second component of human complement by oxidation. J. Exp. Med. 126:1013-25
- 11. Rapp, H. J., Borsos, T. 1970. Molecular Basis of Complement Action. New York : Appleton-Century Crofts
- Hugli, T. E. 1979. Complement anaphylotoxins as plasma mediators, sparmogens and chemotaxins. In *The Chemistry and Physiology of the Human Plasma Proteins*, ed. D. H. Bing, pp. 255–80. New York: Pergamon
- Hugli, T. E. 1981. The structural basis for anaphylatoxin and chemotactic functions of C3a, C4a, and C5a. CRC Crit. Rev. Immunol. 1: 321-66
- Arnaout, M. A., Colten, H. R. 1983. Complement C3 receptors: Structure and function. *Molec. Immunol.* 21: 1191-99
- Fearon, D. T. 1983. The human C3b receptor. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 6:159-72
- Morris, K. M., Colten, H. R., Bing, D. H. 1978. The first component of complement: A quantitative comparison of its biosynthesis in culture by human epithelial and mesenchymal cells. J. Exp. Med. 148:1007-19
- Morris, K. M., Aden, D. P., Knowles, B. B., Colten, H. R. 1982. Complement biosynthesis by the human hepatomaderived cell line, HepG2. J. Clin. Invest. 70: 906-13
- Muller, W., Hanauske-Abel, H., Loos, M. 1978. Biosynthesis of the first component of complement by human and guinea pig peritoneal macrophages: evidence for an independent production of the C1 subunits. J. Immunol. 121:1578-84
- Reid, K. B. M., Bentley, D. R., Wood, K. J. 1984. Cloning and characterization of the complementary DNA for the betachain of normal human serum C1q. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London* 306: 345-54
- Muller, W., Hanauske-Abel, H., Loos, M. 1978. Reversible inhibition of C1q release from guinea pig macrophages by 2,2'-dipyridyl. FEBS Lett. 90:218-22
- 21. Bensa, J. C., Reboul, A., Colomb, M. G.

1983. Biosynthesis in vitro of complement subcomponents Clq, Cls, and Cl inhibitor by resting and stimulated human monocytes. *Biochem. J.* 216: 385-92

- Yeung-Laiwah, A. C., Jones, L., Hamilton, A. D., Whaley, K. 1985. Complement subcomponent-C1-inhibitor synthesis by human monocytes. *Biochem. J.* 226: 199–205
- Harrison, R. A. 1983. Human C1 inhibitor: Improved isolation and preliminary structural characterization. *Biochemistry* 22: 5001-7
 Harpel, P. D., Cooper, N. R. 1975.
- Harpel, P. D., Cooper, N. R. 1975. Studies on human plasma C1 inactivator-enzyme interactions. J. Clin. Invest. 55: 593-604
- Sim, R. B., Arlaud, G. J., Colomb, M. G. 1980. Kinetics of reaction of human C1 inhibitor with the human complement system proteases C1r and C1s. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 612:433-41
- Arlaud, G. J., Reboul, A., Sim, R. B., Colomb, M. G. 1979. Interaction of C1 inhibitor with the C1r and C1s subcomponents in human C1. Biochem. Biophys. Acta 576:151-56
- Gitlin, D., Biasucci, A. 1969. Development of gamma G, gamma A, gamma M, beta-1-C/beta-1-A, C1 esterase inhibitor, ceruloplasmin, transferrin, hemopexin, haptoglobin, fibrinogen, plasminogen, alpha₁ antitrypsin, orosomucoid, beta-lipoprotein, alpha₂ macroglobulin and prealbumin in the human conceptis. J. Clin. Invest. 48: 1433-42
- Colten, H. R. 1972. Ontogeny of the human complement system: in vitro biosynthesis of individual complement components by fetal tissues. J. Clin. Invest. 51:725-30
- Johnson, A. M., Alper, C. A., Rosen, F. S., Craig, J. M. 1971. Immunofluorescent hepatic localization of complement proteins: evidence for a biosynthetic defect in hereditary angioneurotic edema (HANE). J. Clin. Invest. 50: 50a
- Whaley, K. 1980. Biosynthesis of complement components and the regulatory proteins of the alternative complement pathway by human peripheral blood monocytes. J. Exp. Med. 151: 501-16
- Barnum, S. R., Volanakis, J. E. 1985. In vitro biosynthesis of complement protein D by U937 cells. J. Immunol. 134:1799-1803
- 32. Carroll, M. C., Campbell, D. R., Bentley, D. R., Porter, R. R. 1984. A molecular map of the human major histocompatibility complex class III

REGULATION OF COMPLEMENT BIOSYNTHESIS 247

region linking complement genes C4, C2 and factor B. Nature 307:237-41

- Carroll, M. C., Belt, T., Palsdottir, A., Porter, R. R. 1984. Structure and organization of the C4 genes. *Phil. Trans. R.* Soc. London 306: 379–88
- 34. Chaplin, D. D., Woods, D. E., Whitehead, A. S., Goldberger, G., Colten, H. R., Seidman, J. G. 1983. Molecular map of the murine S region. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:6947-51
- 35. Chaplin, D. D., Sackstein, R., Perlmutter, D. H., Weis, J. H., Kruse, T. A., Coligan, J., Colten, H. R., Seidman, J. G. 1984. Expression of hemolytically active murine fourth component of complement in transfected L cells. *Cell* 37:569-76
- Perlmutter, D. H., Colten, H. R., Grossberger, D., Strominger, J., Seidman, J. G., Chaplin, D. D. 1985. Expression of complement proteins C2 and factor B in transfected L-cells. J. Clin. Invest. 76: 1449
- 37. Campbell, R. D., Bentley, D. R., Morley, B. J. 1984. The factor B and C2 genes. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London* 306:367-78
- Perlmutter, D. H., Cole, F. S., Goldberger, G., Colten, H. R. 1984. Distinct primary translation products from human liver mRNA give rise to secreted and cell-associated forms of complement (C2). J. Biol. Chem. 259: 10380-85
- 39. Alpert, S. E., Auerbach, H. S., Cole, F. S., Colten, H. R. 1983. Macrophage maturation: Differences in complement secretion by marrow, monocyte, and tissue macrophages detected with an improved hemolytic plaque assay. J. Immunol. 130:102-7
- Cole, F. S., Matthews, W. J., Marino, J. T., Gash, D. J., Colten, H. R. 1980. Control of complement synthesis and secretion in bronchoalveolar and peritoneal macrophages. J. Immunol. 125: 1120-24
- Cole, F. S., Auerbach, H. S., Goldberger, G., Colten, H. R. 1983. Mechanisms regulating complement production during monocyte-macrophage maturation. *Immunobiology* 164:224
- Cole, F. S., Auerbach, H. S., Goldberger, G., Colten, H. R. 1985. Tissuespecific pretranslational regulation of complement production in human mononuclear phagocytes. J. Immunol. 134:2610-16
- Woods, D. E., Markham, A., Ricker, A., Goldberger, G., Colten, H. R. 1982. Isolation of cDNA clones for the human complement protein factor B, a class III major histocompatibility com-

plex gene product. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:5661-65

- Beatty, D. W., Davis, A. E., Cole, F. S., Einstein, L. P., Colten, H. R. 1981. Biosynthesis of complement by human monocytes. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 18:334–43
- 45. Cole, F. S., Schneeberger, E. E., Lichtenberg, N. A., Colten, H. R. 1982. Complement biosynthesis in human breast milk macrophages and blood monocytes. *Immunology* 46:429–41
- Cole, F. S., Matthews, W. J., Rossing, T. H., Gash, D. J., Lichtenberg, N. A., Pennington, J. E. 1983. Complement biosynthesis by human bronchoalveolar macrophages. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 27: 153-59
- 47. Strunk, R. C., Whitehead, A. S., Cole, F. S. 1985. Pretranslational regulation of the synthesis of the third component of complement in human mononuclear phagocytes by the lipid A portion of lipopolysaccharide. J. Clin. Invest. 76: 985
- Ramadori, G., Sipe, J., Colten, H. R. 1985. Expression and regulation of the murine serum amyloid A (SAA) gene in extrahepatic sites. J. Immunol. In press
- Dinarello, C. A., Renfer, L., Wolff, S. M. 1977. Human leukocyte pyrogen, purification and development of a radioimmunoassay. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 74:4624-28
- LoMedico, P. T., Gubler, U., Hellmann, C. P., Dukovich, M., Giri, J. G., Pah, Y. C. E., Collier, K., Semionow, R., Mizel, S. B. 1984. Cloning and expression of murine interleukin-1 cDNA in Escherichia coli. *Nature* 312:458-60
- 51. Ramadori, G., Sipe, J. D., Dinarello, C. A., Mizel, S. B., Colten, H. R. 1985. Pretranslational modulation of acute phase hepatic protein synthesis by murine recombinant interleukin (IL-1) and purified human IL-1. J. Exp. Med. 162:930
- 52. Perlmutter, D. H., Goldberger, G., Strunk, G. C., Cole, F. S. 1986. Regulation of complement proteins C2 and factor B by interleukin-1 and interferon gamma. *Molec. Immunol.* In press
- Strunk, R. C., Cole, F. S., Perlmutter, D. H., Colten, H. R. 1985. Gamma-interferon regulates complement synthesis in human monocytes and in cells transfected with human complement genes. *Clin. Res.* 33: 562A
- 54. Einstein, L. P., Hansen, L. P., Ballow, M., Davis, A. E., Davis, J. S., Alper, C. A., Rosen, F. S., Colten, H. R. 1977. Biosynthesis of the third component of complement (C3) in vitro by monocytes

from both normal and homozygous C3-deficient humans. J. Clin. Invest. 60:963-69

- Brade, V., Hall, R. W., Colten, H. R. 1977. Biosynthesis of pro-C3, a precursor of the third component of complement. J. Exp. Med. 146:759-65
- Domdey, M., Wiebauer, K., Kazmaier, M., Muller, V., Odink, K., Fey, G. 1982. Characterization of the mRNA and cloned cDNA specifying the third component of mouse complement. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:7619–23
- Morris, K. M., Goldberger, G., Colten, H. R., Aden, D. P., Knowles, B. B. 1982. Biosynthesis and processing of a human precursor complement protein, pro-C3, in a hepatoma-derived cell line. *Science* 215:399–400
- Whitehead, A. S., Sim, R. B., Bodmer, W. F. 1981. A monoclonal antibody against human complement component C3: The production of C3 by human cells in vitro. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 11:140-46
- Fey, G. H., Domdey, H., Wiebauer, K., Whitehead, A. S., Odink, K. 1983. Structure and expression of the C3 gene. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 6:119-47
- 60. St. John Sutton, M. B., Strunk, R. C., Cole, F. S. 1986. Regulation of synthesis of the third component of complement and factor B in cord blood monocytes by lipopolysaccharide. In press
- 61. Fey, G. H., Lundwall, A., Wetsel, R. A., Tack, B. F., deBruijn, M. H. L., Domdey, H. 1984. Nucleotide sequence of complementary DNA and derived amino acid sequence of murine complement protein C3. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London* 306:333-44
- Meuth, J. L., Morgan, E. L., DiScipio, R. G., Hugli, T. E. 1983. Suppression of T-lymphocyte functions by human C3 fragments. J. Immunol. 130:2605-11
- Hall, R. E., Colten, H. R. 1977. Cell-free synthesis of the fourth component of guinea pig complement (C4): Identification of a precursor of serum C4 (pro-C4). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 74: 1707-10
- 64. Roos, M. H., Atkinson, J. P., Shreffler, D. C. 1978. Molecular characterization of the SS and Slp (C4) proteins of the mouse H-2 complex subunit composition, chain size, polymorphism and an intracellular (pro-Ss) precursor. J. Immunol. 121:1106-15
- 65. Ogata, R., Shreffler, D., Sepich, D., Lilly, S. 1983. cDNA clone spanning the alpha-gamma subunit junction in the precursor of the murine fourth comple-

ment component, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:5061-65

- 66. Whitehead, A. S., Goldberger, G., Woods, D. E., Markham, A., Colten, H. R. 1983. Use of a cDNA clone for the fourth component of human complement (C4) for analysis of a genetic deficiency of C4 in guinea pig. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80: 5387-91
- 67. Karp, D. R. 1983. Post-translational modification of the fourth component of complement. Sulfation of the alpha chain. J. Biol. Chem. 258:12745-48
- 68. Karp, D. R., 1983. Post-translational modification of the fourth component of complement. Effect of tunicamycin and amino acid analogs on the formation of the internal thiol ester and disulfide bonds. J. Biol. Chem. 258: 14490-95
- 69. Matthews, W. J., Goldberger, G., Marino, J. T., Einstein, L. P., Gash, D. J., Colten, H. R. 1982. Complement proteins C2, C4 and factor B: Effect of glycosylation on their secretion and catabolism. Biochem. J. 204:839-46
- Roos, M. H., Kornfeld, S., Shreffler, D. C. 1980. Characterization of the oligosaccharide units of the fourth component of complement (Ss protein) synthesized by murine hepatocytes. J. Immunol. 124:2860-63
- 71. Chan, A. C., Mitchell, K. R., Munns, T. W., Karp, D. R., Atkinson, J. P. 1983. Identification and partial characterization of the secreted form of the fourth component of human complement: Evidence that it is different from the major plasma form. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:268-72
- Levi-Strauss, M., Tosi, M., Steinmetz, M., Klein, J., Meo, T. 1985. Multiple duplications of complement C4 gene correlate with H2-controlled testosterone-independent expression of its sex-limited isoform, C4-Slp. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 1746-50
- 73. Carroll, M. C., Campbell, R. D., Porter, R. R. 1985. Mapping of steroid 21hydroxylase genes adjacent to complement component C4 genes in HLA, the major histocompatibility complex in man. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 521-25
- 74. White, P. C., Grossberger, D., Onuker, B. J., Chaplin, D. D., New, M. I., Dupont, B., Strominger, J. L. 1985. Two genes encoding steroid 21-hydroxylase are located near the genes encoding the fourth component of complement in man. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 1089-93
- 75. Nonaka, M., Nakayama, K., Yeul, Y.

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:231-251. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

D., Shionizu, A., Takahashi, M. 1985. Molecular cloning and characterization of complementary and genomic DNA clones for mouse C4 and Slp. J. Biol. Chem. In press

- 76. Rósa, P. A., Shreffler, D. C. 1983. Cultured hepatocytes from mouse strains expressing high and low levels of the fourth component of complement differ in rate of synthesis of the protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:2332–36
- Sackstein, R., Colten, H. R. 1984. Molecular regulation of MHC class III (C4 and factor B) gene expression in mouse peritoneal macrophages. J. Immunol. 133:1618-26
- Newell, S. L., Shreffler, D. C., Atkinson, J. P. 1983. Biosynthesis of C4 by mouse peritoneal macrophages. I. Characterization of an in vitro culture system and comparison of C4 synthesis of "low" versus "high" C4 strains. J. Immunol. 129:653-59
- Newell, S. L., Atkinson, J. P. 1983. Biosynthesis of C4 by mouse peritonal macrophages. II. Comparison of C4 synthesis by resident and elicited populations. J. Immunol. 130:834–38
- Auerbach, H. S., Baker, R. D., Matthews, W. J., Colten, H. R. 1984. Molecular mechanism for feedback regulation of C4 biosynthesis in guinea pig peritoneal macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 159:1750-61
- Goldberger, G., Arnaout, M. A., Aden, D., Ray, R., Rits, M., Colten, H. R. 1984. Biosynthesis and postsynthetic processing of human C3b/C4b inactivator (Factor I) in three hepatoma cell lines. J. Biol. Chem. 259:6492-97.
- 82. Pangburn, M. R., Schreiber, R. D., Muller-Eberhard, H. J. 1967. Human complement C3b inactivator: Isolation, characterization and demonstration of an absolute requirement for the serum protein beta-1-H for cleavage of C3b and C4b in solution. J. Exp. Med. 146:257-70
- Fearon, D. T. 1979. Regulation of the amplification C3 convertase of human complement by an inhibitory protein isolated from human erythrocyte membrane. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76: 5867-71
- Medof, M. E., Iidak, Mold, C., Nussenzweig, V. 1982. Unique role of the complement receptor CR1, in the degradation of C3b associated with immune complexes. J. Exp. Med. 156: 1739-54
- Medicus, R. G., Melamed, J., Arnaout, M. A. 1983. Role of human factor I and C3b receptor in the cleavage of surface-

bound C3bi molecules. Eur. J. Immunol. 13:465-70

- Natsuume-Sakai, S., Sudoh, K., Kaidoh, T., Hayakawa, J. I., Takahashi, M. 1985. Structural polymorphisms of murine complement factor H controlled by a locus located between the Hc and the beta₂ M locus on the second chromosome of the mouse. J. Immunol. 134: 2600-6
- Lundwall, A. B., Wetsel, R. A., Kristensen, T., Whitehead, A. S., Woods, D. E., Ogden, R. L., Colten, H. R., Tack, B. F. 1985. Isolation of a cDNA clone encoding the fifth component of human complement. J. Biol. Chem. 260:2108-12
- Phillips, M. R., Rother, U. A., Rother, K. O., Thorbecke, G. J. 1969. Studies on the serum proteins of chimeras. III. Detection of donor type C5 in allogeneic and congenic post-irradiation chimeras. *Immunology* 17:315-21
 Ooi, Y. M., Colten, H. R. 1982. Biosyn-
- Ooi, Y. M., Colten, H. R. 1982. Biosynthesis and post-synthetic modification of precursor (pro-C5) of the fifth component of complement (C5) by mouse peritoneal macrophages. J. Immunol. 129:200-5
- Ooi, Y. M., Harris, D. E., Edelson, P. J., Colten, H. R. 1980. Post-translational control of complement (C5) production by resident and stimulated mouse macrophages. J. Immunol. 124:2077-81
- Ooi, Y. M. 1982. Histamine suppresses in vitro synthesis of precursor (pro-C5) of the fifth complement component (C5) by mouse peritoneal macrophages. J. Immunol. 129:200-5
- Sundsmo, J. S., Wood, L. M. 1981. Activated factor B (Bb) of the alternative pathway of complement activation cleaves and activates plasminogen. J. Immunol. 127:877-80
- Vassalli, J. D., Dayer, J. M., Wohlwend, A., Belin, D. 1984. Concomitant secretion of pro-urokinase and of a plasminogen activator-specific inhibitor by cultured human monocytes-macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 159:1653-68
- phages. J. Exp. Med. 159: 1653-68
 94. Unkeless, J. C., Gordon, S., Reich, R. 1974. Secretion of plasminogen activator by stimulated macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 139: 834-51
- Vassalli, J. D., Hamilton, J., Reich, E. 1977. Macrophage plasminogen activator: Induction by concanavalin A and phorbol myristate acetate. *Cell* 11: 695-705
- Vassalli, J. D., Reich, R. 1977. Macrophage plasminogen activator: Induction by products of activated lymphoid cells. J. Exp. Med. 145:429-41

250 PERLMUTTER & COLTEN

- Vassalli, J. D., Baccino, D., Belin, D. 1985. A cellular binding site for the Mr 55,000 form of the human plasminogen activator, urokinase. J. Cell Biol. 100: 86-92
- Scott, R. W., Eaton, D. L., Duran, N., Baker, J. B. 1983. Regulation of extracellular plasminogen activator by human fibroblasts: The role of protease nexin. J. Biol. Chem. 258:4397-4403
- LeSavre, P. H., Muller-Eberhard, H. J. 1978. Mechanism of action of factor D of the alternative complement pathway. J. Exp. Med. 152:1102–14
- 100. Bokisch, V. A., Muller-Eberhard, H. J., Cochrane, C. G. 1969. Isolation of a fragment (C3a) of the third component of human complement containing anaphylatoxin and chemotactic activity and description of an anaphylotoxin inactivator of human serum. J. Exp. Med. 129:1109-20
- Edwards, R. L., Rickles, F. R., Bobrove, A. M. 1979. Mononuclear cell tissue factor: Cell of origin and requirement for activation. *Blood* 54:359-67
- 102. Rickles, F. R., Rick, P. D. 1977. Structural features of Salmonella typhimurium lipopolysaccharide required for activation of tissue factor in human mononuclear cells. J. Clin. Invest. 59: 1118-95
- 103. Niemetz, J., Morrison, D. C. 1977. Lipid A as the biologically active moiety in bacterial endotoxin (LPS)-initiated generation of procoagulant activity by peripheral blood leukocytes. *Blood* 49:947-56
- 104. Rickles, F. R., Hardin, J. A., Pitlick, F. A., Hoyer, L. W., Conrad, M. E. 1973. Tissue factor activity in lymphocyte cultures from normal individuals and patients with hemophilia A. J. Clin. Invest. 52:1427-34
- 105. Rothberger, H., Zimmerman, T. S., Spiegelberger, H. L., Vaughan, J. H. 1977. Leukocyte procoagulant activity. Enhancement of production in vitro by IgG and antigen-antibody complexes. J. Clin. Invest. 59: 549-57
- 106. Muhlfelder, T. W., Niemetz, J., Kreutzer, D., Beebe, D., Ward, P. A., Rosenfeld, S. I. 1979. C5 chemotactic fragment induces leukocyte production of tissue factor activity. J. Clin. Invest. 63:147-50
- 107. Prydz, H., Allison, A. C. 1978. Tissue thromboplastin activity of isolated human monocytes. *Thrombos. Haemo*stas. 39:582-91
- Edwards, R. L., Rickles, F. R. 1980. The role of human T-cells (and T-cell pro-

ducts) for monocyte tissue factor generation. J. Immunol. 125:606-9

- 109. Levy, G. A., Edgington, T. S. 1980. Lymphocyte cooperation is required for amplification of macrophage procoagulant activity. J. Exp. Med. 151: 1232-44
- 110. Levy, G. A., Schwarts, B. S., Edgington, T. S. 1981. The kinetics and metabolic requirements for direct lymphocyte induction of human procoagulant monokines by bacterial lipopolysaccharide. J. Immunol. 127: 357-63
- 111. Levy, G. A., Edgington, T. S. 1982. The major histocompatibility complex requirement for cellular collaboration in the murine lymphoid procoagulant response stimulated by bacterial lipopolysaccharide. J. Immunol. 128:1284– 88
- 112. Schwartz, B. S., Edgington, T. S. 1981. Immune complex-induced human monocyte procoagulant activity. I. A rapid unidirectional lymphocyteinstructed pathway. J. Exp. Med. 154: 892–906
- 113. Schwartz, B. S., Edgington, T. S. 1981. Lymphocyte collaboration is required for induction of murine monocyte procoagulant activity by immune complexes. J. Immunol. 127:438-43
- 114. Helin, H. J., Fox, R. J., Edgington, T. S. 1983. The instructor cell for the human procoagulant monocyte response to bacterial lipopolysaccharide is a Leu 3a⁺ T cell by fluorescence-activated cell sorting. J. Immunol. 131:749-52
- 115. Wilson, G. B., Walker, J. H., Watkins, J. H., Wolgroeh, D. 1980. Determination of subpopulations of leukocytes involved in synthesis of alpha₁-antitrypsin in vitro. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 164:105-14
- 116. Ikuta, J., Okubo, H., Kudo, J., Ishibashi, M., Inoue, T. 1982. Alpha₁antitrypsin synthesis by human lymphocytes. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 104:1509-16
- 117. Van Furth, R., Kramps, J. A., Diesselhoff-DenDulk, M. M. C. 1983. Synthesis of alpha₁-antitrypsin by human monocytes. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 51:551-57
- 118. Rogers, J., Kalsheker, N., Wallis, S., Speer, A., Coutelle, C. H., Woods, D. E., Humphries, S. E. 1983. The isolation of a clone for human alpha₁-antitrypsin and detection of alpha antitrypsin mRNA from liver and leukocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 116:375-82
- 119. Carroll, R. W., Jeppson, J. O., Laurell,

C. B., Brennan, S. O., Owen, M. C., Vaughan, L., Boswell, D. R. 1982. Structure and variation of human alpha₁antitrypsin. *Nature* 298: 329–34

- 120. Long, G. L., Chandra, T., Woo, S. L. K., Dane, E. W., Kurachi, K. 1984. Complete sequence of the cDNA for human alpha₁-antitrypsin and the gene for the S variant. Biochemistry 23:4828-37
- 121. Pearson, S. J., Teton, P., George, D. L., Francke, U. 1983. Activation of human alpha₁-antitrypsin gene in rat hepatoma X human fetal liver cell hybrids depends on presence of human chromosome 14. Somat. Cell Gen. 9:567-92
- 122. Lai, E. C., Kao, F., Law, M. L., Woo, S. L. C. 1983. Assignment of the alpha₁antitrypsin gene and a sequence-related gene to human chromosome 14 by molecular hybridization. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 35: 385–92
- 123. Perlmutter, D. H., Cole, F. S., Kilbridge, P., Rossing, T. H., Colten, H. R. 1985. Expression of the alpha₁ proteinase inhibitor gene in human monocytes and macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:790–95
- 124. Lavie, G., Zucker-Franklin, D., Franklin, E. G. 1980. Elastase-type proteases on the surface of human blood monocytes: Possible role in amyloid formation. J. Immunol. 195: 175-80
- 125. Ragsdale, C. G., Arend, W. P. 1979. Neutral protease secretion by human monocytes effect of surface-bound immune complexes. J. Exp. Med. 149: 954-68
- 126. Campbell, E. J., White, R. R., Senior, R. M., Rodriguez, R. J., Kuhn, C. 1979. Receptor-mediated binding and internalization of leukocyte elastase by alveolar macrophages in vitro. J. Clin. Invest. 64:824-33
- 127. White, R., Janoff, A., Gordon, R., Campbell, E. J. 1982. Evidence for in vivo internalization of human leuko-

cyte elastase by alveolar macrophages. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 125:779-81

- 128. Campbell, E. J., Wald, M. S. 1983. Fate of human neutrophil elastase following receptor-mediated endocytosis by human alveolar macrophages : Implications for connective tissue injury. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 101: 527–36
- 129. McGowan, S. E., Stone, P. J., Calore, J. D., Snider, G. L., Franzblau, D. 1983. The fate of neutrophil elastase incorporated by human alveolar macrophages. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 127:449– 55
- Banda, M. J., Clark, E. J., Werb, Z. 1980. Limited proteolysis by macrophage elastase inactivates human alpha₁proteinase inhibitor. J. Exp. Med. 152:1563-70
- 131. Werb, Z., Banda, M. J., Jones, P. A. 1980. Degradation of connective tissue matrices by macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 152:1340-57
- 132. Hovi, T., Mosher, D., Vaheri, A. 1977. Cultured human monocytes synthesize and secrete alpha₂-macroglobulin. J. Exp. Med. 145:1580-89
- Dolovich, J., Debanne, M. T., Bell, R. 1975. The role of alpha-1-antrypsin and alpha-macroglobulins in the uptake of proteinase by rabbit alveolar macrophages. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis 112:521– 25
- 134. Kaplan, J., Nielsen, M. L. 1979. Analysis of macrophase surface receptors. I. Binding of alpha-macroglobulin-protease complexes to rabbit alveolar macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 254: 7323– 28
- 135. Kaplan, J., Nielsen, M. L. 1979. Analysis of macrophage surface receptors. II. Internalization of alpha-macroglobulin-trypsin complexes by rabbit alveolar macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 254: 7329-35



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
The Panspecific Hemopoietin of Activated T Lymphocytes (Interleukin-3), John W. Schrader	205
MOLECULAR IMMUNOBIOLOGY OF COMPLEMENT BIOSYNTHESIS: A MODEL OF SINGLE-CELL CONTROL OF EFFECTOR-INHIBITOR	001
BALANCE, Davia H. Perimutter and Harvey K. Cotten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N. Gaulton and Mark I. Greene	251
ANALYSIS OF THE EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF CLASS-II MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	233
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> in Normal and Malignant Cells, Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 253–80 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS

Glen N. Gaulton and Mark I. Greene

Department of Pathology, Division of Immunobiology, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104, and Department of Medicine, Tufts University School of Medicine, Boston, Massachusetts 02111

INTRODUCTION

This article examines the mimicry of biological receptors by immunoglobulin idiotypes. This mimicry is usually defined empirically by the interaction of antiidiotypic antibodies with epitopes of these receptors. We begin with a definition of the theoretical base and operational terms used in this analysis. For clarity, precise distinctions in terms of specificity and function are made between the different subclasses of antiidiotypic antibodies. Next, we present an overview of the most defined examples of idiotypic mimicry. These systems are to be distinguished from those that regulate lymphocyte function by interaction of antiidiotypic antibodies with lymphocyte antigen receptors. For discussions of these effects we refer the reader to several excellent recent reviews that summarize the roles of antiidiotypic antibodies in the regulation of lymphocyte function, activation, and ontogeny (1–3).

The majority of examples of receptor mimicry are relatively new, and their focus is thus far biased toward the phenomenological and practical use of antiidiotypes as research tools (4, 5). Certainly, the application of antiidiotypic antibodies as specific receptor probes has unique advantages over more conventional ligand-based methodologies. Perhaps most useful is the discovery that antiidiotypes that bind receptors may be generated in the absence of either purified ligand or receptor (6, 7) and that antiidiotypes often mimic the biological activities of ligand upon receptor contact (4, 5, 8, 9). In addition, antiidiotypes by their nature are free of the potentially hazardous effects of ligands and are experimentally maleable. Finally, large

quantities of purified, monospecific antiidiotopes can now be generated using hybridoma technology.

The major disadvantages of selecting an antiidiotype-based approach to receptor studies are that some idiotype-antiidiotype interactions are genetically restricted (10, 11) and some experimental artifacts arise as a byproduct of cross-reactivity or combinatorial effects of polyclonal antiidiotype preparations (12). Thus, care must be taken to verify the specificity of antiidiotype binding by using multiple biochemical and immunological methods, and when possible, monoclonal reagents.

The stimulation of idiotypic mimicry of receptors in vivo can perturb the immune network in ways that may affect the maintenance of self-tolerance. Examples of autoimmune diseases believed or suspected to be linked to the presence of antiidiotypic antibodies include myasthenia gravis (13, 14), Grave's disease (15, 16), and insulin-resistant diabetes mellitus (17, 18). A discussion of the potential causative roles and pathogenic consequences of antiidiotypes that display receptor autoreactivity is contained in the closing section of this work.

THE IMMUNE NETWORK

Definition of Terms

The immune system exists as a homeostatic network balanced by interactions between clones of lymphocytes at the level of their specific antigen receptors. The remarkable diversity within and between V_H and V_L gene families is responsible for the vast repertoire of potential antigen receptors and, equally, for the unique idiotypes associated with these receptors. In essence, the network is maintained by the interaction of idiotypes and complementary antiidiotypes. The ground work of this theory was advanced by Jerne (19) in 1974 and with slight modification (20) is widely accepted today. Ample experimental evidence now exists of the presence of antiidiotypes in normal immune responses (21, 22) and of their role in the regulation of antibody synthesis (23) and in the formation of the idiotypic repertoire (1, 24, 25).

Idiotopes are autologous antigenic determinants expressed on immunoglobulin heavy- and light-chain, complementarity-determining regions that are defined serologically by the binding of antiidiotopic antibodies. An idiotype is the set of idiotopic determinants expressed on the V region of a particular antibody. As described in detail in an accompanying chapter of this volume (see Structural Correlates of Idiotopes) most idiotopes, like antigen-binding paratopes, require the participation of both $V_{\rm H}$ and $V_{\rm L}$ chains, although some reactivity with isolated chains has been reported (26, 27).

Subclasses of Antiidiotypic Antibodies

The tremendous diversity of the immune system led Jerne (19) to postulate that any external antigen is potentially represented within the immune system as an idiotope determinant. Such idiotopes are called *internal images* of antigens. Nisonoff & Lamoyi (28) have proposed that the term *related epitope* be employed to describe this mimicry in light of the possibility that the paratope of the internal image antiidiotope may represent varying degrees of homology or resemble only a portion of the antigenic epitope.

Theoretically, idiotopes may be located at any antigenically active structure on the immunoglobulin surface created by the complementaritydetermining regions. A schematic representation of the different classes of antiidiotopes is presented in Figure 1. Antibodies with internal image activity will be generated only when either (a) idiotopes on immunoglobulins of unrelated specificity bear related epitopes (we call this class $Ab2_{\beta}$ using the convention of Jerne); or (b) the paratope of an antibody (Ab1) serves as an idiotope (we call this class $Ab2_{\rho}$ —paratope associated). One should keep in mind that internal image antiidiotopes comprise a minor subset of potential antiidiotypes. Urbain and coworkers have estimated that only 15% of anti-tobacco mosaic virus (anti-TMV) antiidiotypes are internal images (29). The majority of antiidiotypes recognize idiotopes that are either nonbinding-site related (30), or binding-site related, i.e. epitope inhibitable. In keeping with previous nomenclature (32), we call nonsite related antiidiotopes, $Ab2_{av}$ and site-related antiidiotopes, $Ab2_{yv}$.

Such guidelines make possible prediction of some of the properties of



Figure 1 Specificities of antiidiotope antibodies: (A) Internal image-antiidiotopes $Ab2_{\rho}$ and $Ab2_{\rho}$; (B) Structural antiidiotopes— $Ab2_{\gamma}$, binding site related and $Ab2_{\alpha}$, nonbinding site related; (C) Cross-reactive antiidiotopes— $Ab2_{\gamma}$.

internal image antiidiotypic antibodies. These qualities have been discussed in detail by Nisonoff & Lamoyi (28) and are briefly summarized here with current revisions. The tightness of fit to idealized internal image behavior will depend to a large degree on the extent of epitope relatedness. These properties are: (a) Internal image antiidiotopes that contain related epitopes should bind to a substantial proportion of the total anti-X (epitope) population; (b) they should recognize anti-X antibodies derived from various strains and species; (c) they should compete with antigen for binding to the anti-X binding site; (d) only a small fraction of all antiidiotopes should express related epitopes; (e) inoculation of an antiidiotope containing a related epitope to that on antigen X should elicit an anti-antiidiotope response (Ab3) that resembles anti-X (Ab1') and is not species restricted, i.e. antiidiotopes should display antigenic mimicry; and (f) in instances where epitope X is involved in the delivery of ligand (antigen) function, e.g. hormone receptor binding, an antiidiotope may either mimic or compete with this function.

Excellent immunological, biochemical, and functional evidence now points to the existence of internal image antiidiotopes. Examples of idiotypic mimicry of biological function include hormone, neurotransmitter, and viral systems; these are discussed in detail in the succeeding sections. Antigenic mimicry by antiidiotypes has also been detected in several diverse systems. Urbain et al (29, 33) were the first unambiguously to describe this phenomenon using polyclonal rabbit antiidiotypic antibodies directed against anti-TMV. Antiidiotypes reacted with essentially all anti-TMV antibodies obtained from rabbits, mice, goats, or chickens, yet they did not bind to anti-DNP, micrococcus, or hemocyanin antibodies. Also, when injected into mice, antiidiotype elicited the synthesis of anti-TMV antibodies. Thus, antiidiotypes to anti-TMV behaved in all respects as if they possessed one or more antigenic determinants of TMV, i.e. contained an epitope(s) related to an epitope(s) on TMV. Results of a similar nature have recently been reported by researchers using monoclonal antiidiotope antibodies to poliovirus type II (34), the mammalian reovirus type 3 (35, 36), sendai virus (37), and phosphorylcholine (38).

Finally, we must consider one additional potential source of receptorrelated idiotypic mimicry—that which results when antiidiotypic antibodies recognize cross-reactive structures shared by Ab1 and the physiological receptor of ligand. In this instance the related epitope may be distinct from both the Ab1 paratope and the ligand-binding determinant on receptor. The presence of such cross-reactive structures might be expected of peptide conformations that are closely linked structurally or genetically to sites of equivalent binding specificity on independent receptors, i.e. antibody as compared to ligand receptors. Similarly, cross-reactivity might be expected if antibody and ligand receptor genes share an evolutionary linkage. These antiidiotopes most probably represent a special subclass of Ab2, antibodies. This form of antiidiotypic mimicry is presented schematically in Figure 1C. We term these cross-reactive antiidiotopes $Ab2_x$.

Because of the predicted linkage of Ab2, idiotopes to the paratope of Ab1 and concordantly of the related epitope on receptor to the ligand binding site, the following general characteristics of $Ab2_{\chi}$ as compared to $Ab2_{\beta}$ and $Ab2_{\rho}$ are expected : (a) Because they are binding-site related, antiidiotopes Ab2, should inhibit antigen binding to either Ab1 or receptor; (b) they should represent a small fraction of antiidiotypic antibodies; (c) the ability of Ab2, to bind anti-X and to induce anti-X (Ab1') immunity may be species and perhaps strain restricted; and (d) binding to receptor would not be expected to mimic ligand function; rather, it would be more likely noncompetitively to inhibit signal delivery by ligand. Although there is not direct proof of the existence of cross-reactive antiidiotopes, the results of several studies may be interpreted in support of their presence. For example, the observation of so-called epibodies, seen in the population of antiidiotypes to human rheumatoid factors (39, 40), represents an analogous cross-reactivity between idiotopes and related epitopes on complementary antigen.

IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF RECEPTOR FUNCTION

The preceding paragraphs have outlined the structural and biological characteristics of internal image and cross-reactive antiidiotypic antibodies in general terms. We now address specific examples that demonstrate functional idiotypic mimicry of biological receptors or, correspondingly, antiidiotypic mimicry of ligand. It is important to reemphasize that the existence of internal image as contrasted to cross-reactive antiidiotypy is difficult to prove and should be attempted by using a combination of those characteristics of antiidiotypes listed previously and, when possible, monoclonal reagents. When possible, we distinguish these classes of antiidiotypic mimicry in the examples that follow.

Hormone and Vitamin Receptors

RETINOL-BINDING PROTEIN RECEPTORS Sege & Peterson (41) were the first to demonstrate idiotypic mimicry experimentally at the level of biological receptors. Working directly from assumptions based on Jerne's network hypothesis, these workers showed that a crude antiidiotypic antibody preparation generated against antiretinol-binding protein (RBP) im-

munoglobulin did bind specifically to human prealbumin, a natural carrier of RBP. Idiotype (Ab1) was prepared by injection of rats with RBP, and anti-RBP antibodies were purified from sera by affinity chromatography on RBP coupled to sepharose beads. Affinity-purified anti-RBP was used to immunize rabbits, and antiidiotypic antibodies were isolated by chromatography over protein A sepharose, then extensively absorbed with rat immunoglobulin and RBP-sepharose to remove xenogeneic cross-reactive antibodies and free RBP. These antiidiotypes bound specifically to labeled human prealbumin or anti-RBP antibodies, and this binding was inhibited by the addition of either unlabeled anti-RBP antibody or RBP itself, which suggests that the antiidiotype and RBP bound to identical or overlapping sites on prealbumin.

Confirmation of the specificity of anti-RBP antiidiotypes was achieved by the demonstration of antiidiotype binding to RBP receptors on the surface of rat intestinal epithelial cells. This binding was blocked by the addition of anti-RBP; however, inhibition by RBP was not reported. The binding of antiidiotype was also shown to inhibit RBP-mediated uptake of ³H-retinol by intestinal epithelial cells (8), reinforcing the notion that antiidiotype bound to the RBP-recognition site. It is not possible at this time unambiguously to determine the class of these antiidiotypes; however, their cross-species reactivity and inhibitory effects favor classification as Ab2_{β}.

INSULIN RECEPTORS Sege & Peterson were also the first to demonstrate antiidiotypic mimicry of physiological signals delivered by ligand (8). Xenogeneic antiidiotypic antibodies to antibovine insulin were prepared as described above for RBP. These antiidiotypes bound specifically to antiinsulin antibodies, and this binding was inhibited by insulin but not RBP. Antiinsulin antiidiotypes, but not preimmune immunoglobulins, inhibited the binding of ¹²⁵I-insulin to epididymal fat cells in a dosedependent fashion. This inhibition was reversed by the addition of unlabeled antiinsulin antibody. Most significantly, antiidiotype binding to rat thymocyte cells stimulated the uptake of α -aminoisobutyric acid in a way reminiscent of the effects of insulin. The amount of antiidiotype needed to induce equivalent levels of uptake was, however, 1000-fold (by weight) beyond that of insulin, and control immunoglobulin also stimulated a low but reproducible increase in uptake (8, 12). These results reflect typical problems associated with the demonstration of idiotypic mimicry. While discrepancies in specific bioactivity could be explained by the likelihood that internal image antiidiotypes comprise only a small fraction of the total antiidiotypic population, confirmation of functional mimicry awaits the precise measurement of antiidiotypic effects in an insulin-dependent signal

transmission assay. We suggest that the stimulation of insulin receptor phosphorylation in vitro or in vivo would provide a definitive assay of mimicry.

More recently, Shechter and coworkers (42, 43) have shown that mice immunized with bovine or porcine insulin spontaneously develop antibodies to both insulin and the insulin receptor. Antiinsulin receptor antibodies were identified as antiidiotypes because they specifically bound to guinea-pig-insulin antibodies (42) and because their insulin-like effects, listed below, were inhibited by affinity-purified mouse-antiinsulin idiotypes (44). The possibility that these effects were due to insulin contamination was excluded by repeated passage of antibodies over insulin-immunoadsorbent columns. Antiidiotypic antibodies blocked the binding of ¹²⁵I-insulin to fat cells, stimulated glucose oxidation and lipogenesis, and inhibited lipolysis, all of which are insulin-induced effects. These observations strongly suggest the presence of internal image Ab2 ρ or perhaps Ab2 β antibodies to insulin receptors. Confirmation of this requires immunological demonstration of the ability of antiidiotype to induce antiinsulin antibodies across species barriers. These studies also provide substantial insight into the potential role(s) of spontaneously generated antiidiotypes in autoimmunity. The relevance of this observation is discussed more fully in a succeeding section.

THYROTROPIN RECEPTORS The application of antiidiotypic antibodies as probes of thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) receptors has been conducted by Farid and coworkers (45). These studies were begun in an attempt to elucidate both the structure and the function of the TSH receptor, and the role of anti-TSH receptor antiidiotypes in the etiology of autoimmune Grave's disease.

Anti-TSH antibodies were isolated from rats immunized with either human or bovine TSH (45). The anti-TSH immunoglobulin fraction was purified by elution from a TSH-affinity column. Rabbits were immunized with anti-TSH and the resultant immunoglobulins were purified and absorbed with preimmune rat immunoglobulin. The presence of antiidiotypes to anti-TSH in this polyclonal population was demonstrated by their ability to inhibit the binding of ¹²⁵I-TSH to anti-TSH antibodies and to thyroid plasma membranes. Antiidiotypic antibodies themselves displayed specific, saturable, and high-affinity binding to purified thyroid plasma membranes (5). Antiidiotype was also shown to mimic many of the biological effects of TSH on thyroid cells including: (*a*) stimulation of membrane-associated adenylate cyclase activity in the presence of guanyl nucleotides; (*b*) inhibition of ¹³¹I uptake by thyrocytes when briefly pulsed (10 min) with antiidiotype; (*c*) stimulation of ¹³¹I thyrocyte uptake upon

prolonged incubation (4 hr); and (d) organization of cultured thyrocytes from disperse, flattened monolayers into follicles containing rounded cell aggregates (45, 46). Results of a similar nature have been reported by Beall et al (47), and recently Baker et al (48) have prepared antiidiotypes to anti-TSH hormone receptors that inhibit TSH-mediated adenylate cyclase stimulation.

Anti-TSH antiidiotypes have also been used to characterize the TSH receptor biochemically. Radiolabeled antiidiotype bound a M_r 197,000 band on western blots of thyroid plasma membranes run on SDS-polyacrylamide gels under nonreduced conditions (5, 48). This is in good agreement with a previously reported holoreceptor of M_r 200,000 obtained by ligand isolation (49). This same band was identified by labeled TSH, but not human chorionic gonadotropin or insulin, and preincubation of blotted paper with unlabeled TSH blocked the binding of a labeled antiidiotype to M_r 197,000 (5, 48). Antiidiotype did not bind to receptor subunits when gels were run under reduced conditions; this suggests that idiotypic mimicry reflected binding to epitopes present on the native conformation of TSH.

Based on these findings, monoclonal anti-TSH antibodies that recognize either the α or β subunits of human TSH were used to induce antiidiotypes (48, 50). The characteristics of these antiidiotypes were similar to those previously described with the exception that anti- α TSH and anti- β TSH antiidiotypes displayed additive or synergistic effects of mimicry. For example, binding to the holoreceptor on western gel blots and stimulation of adenylate cyclase activity were only detected when anti- α and anti- β antiidiotypic antibodies were added simultaneously and in equal proportions (5, 51). In addition, stimulation of ¹³¹I uptake in thyroid epithelial cells by anti- β TSH antiidiotype was substantially enhanced by the addition of anti- α TSH antiidiotype, which had no effect on its own. These observations have enabled a partial dissection of the mechanism of TSH signal delivery. Farid and co-workers have proposed that the action of TSH is most probably linked to the effects of α and β subunits cooperating to deliver a single stimulatory trigger, as opposed to two independent stimulatory events. According to this model, low-affinity binding of the noncatalytic α TSH subunit induces a conformational change in the receptor that enhances the binding affinity of the catalytic β TSH subunit, which in turn stabilizes aTSH subunit binding.

Neurotransmitter Receptors

 β -ADRENERGIC RECEPTORS The use of natural ligand analogues in the preparation of an antiidiotypic antibody membrane receptor probe has been elegantly demonstrated in studies of β -adrenergic receptors (9, 52–56).

Antibodies prepared to the β -adrenergic antagonist alprenolol were used as immunogens to generate antiidiotypes that behaved in one instance as an agonist (9, 52) and in another as an antagonist (55).

Homcy et al (55) have isolated antiidiotype to affinity-purified antialprenolol antibody. These antiidiotypes inhibited the binding of ³Halprenolol to its idiotope and possessed antagonist activity. Antiidiotypic antibodies behaved as competitive inhibitors of β -agonists as measured by direct binding assay and by their effects on basal- and agonist-stimulated adenylate cyclase.

Using a similar protocol, Strosberg and co-workers have prepared polyclonal, and more recently monoclonal (mAb2B4), antiidiotypic antialprenolol antibodies that bind to β -adrenergic receptors and inhibit ³Halprenolol binding. Polyclonal and mAb2B4 antiidiotypes had potent agonist activity (9, 52). Antiidiotypic antibodies did bind to turkey erythrocytes, which possess β -adrenergic receptors, but not to human or sheep erythrocytes, which are devoid of β -adrenergic receptors (52, 54). This binding was inhibited by preincubation of antiidiotypes with antial prenolol antibodies or by pretreatment of cells with β -adrenergic agonists or antagonists (9, 52). These workers also utilized antiidiotypic antibodies to characterize receptors on A431 human epidermoid cells biochemically (9). mAb2B4 bound to a single M, 55,000 protein on western blots of isolated membranes, in good agreement with the reported M_r 50,000-67,000 of β receptors (57, 58). Further evidence that mAb2B4 recognized β -receptors was achieved by the demonstration that immunoprecipitation of receptors from detergent solubilized A431 cells removed 80% of the alprenololbinding activity from the supernatant, while immunoprecipitations performed with control mAb had no effect (9).

Studies have not been conducted to determine whether idiotypic mimicry of β -receptors is the product of internal image or cross-reactive antiidiotypes; however, a series of valuable immunologic experiments illustrated the reciprocal cycling of idiotype and antiidiotypic antibodies. When antialprenolol antibodies were injected into rabbits, antiidiotypes appeared in brief 2–3-week recurrent peaks (53). These observations resemble those reported in several other systems (3, 59). The disappearance of antiidiotype was correlated with the appearance of autologous antiantiidiotypes that possessed catecholamine-ligand-binding activity. Initially anti-antiidiotype (Ab1'), purified by antiidiotype affinity chromatography, bound labeled alprenolol with a higher affinity than did idiotype. Interestingly, in succeeding weeks the affinity of anti-antiidiotypes decreased substantially relative to the initial antialprenolol antibodies (idiotype) even when the animals' immunity was intermittently boosted with antiidiotype. These observations are in direct contrast to well-

established observations of the selective increase of antibody affinity to ligand during the ontogeny of immune responses (60).

These results suggest that the immune network may selectively modulate the affinity of autoreactive clones in a unique fashion to limit the extent of autoreactive expansion. Studies that directly compare the binding affinities of "normal" versus autoreactive antiidiotypes and anti-antiidiotypes will be necessary to resolve this issue. The work of Strosberg et al also points out that continuous monitoring of antiidiotype activity is a major practical concern for the successful isolation of antiidiotypic antibodies because the timing of antiidiotype cycling varies greatly among individual animals.

ACETYLCHOLINE RECEPTORS Investigation of the possible interaction of antiidiotypes and acetylcholine receptors (AChR) began as an extension of work conducted to elucidate the causes of myasthenia gravis (MG). Patrick & Lindstrom (61) first demonstrated that immunization with purified AChR led to clinical symptoms of MG. These and other studies (62, 63) formed the basis for an animal model of MG, known as experimental myasthenia gravis (EMG), and established a firm linkage between the occurrence of MG and the presence of AChR antibodies (64, 65).

In view of these findings and observations of idiotypic mimicry discussed previously, Erlanger and coworkers were prompted to investigate the potential pathological effects of anti-AChR antiidiotypic antibodies. Polyclonal antiidiotypes were produced by immunizing rabbits with affinity-purified rabbit antibodies to BisQ, a synthetic AChR agonist. Sera from these animals bound AChR on rat or eel cells, and binding was inhibited by BisQ (14). These anti-AChR antibodies were not, however, directly demonstrated to be antiidiotypes to anti-BisQ. Interestingly, two of three rabbits immunized showed signs of muscle weakness typical of EMG, although this was to a milder extent than that seen following immunization with AChR. The severity of EMG symptoms in the two rabbits correlated well with their anti-AChR titers. The rabbit that had a significant anti-AChR titer showed no signs of muscle weakness; this indicated that multiple factors affect the ultimate sensitivity to anti-AChR antibody.

As a sequel to these observations Cleveland et al (66) have isolated and characterized mAb anti-AChR antiidiotopes from mice immunized with BisQ-bovine serum albumin conjugates. One mAb antiidiotope, termed F8-D5, was shown specifically to bind rat and eel AChR, and this binding was inhibited by the presence of BisQ. Whether the administration of mAb F8-D5 induces EMG was not reported.

Cellular Receptors for Virus

THE MAMMALIAN REOVIRUS RECEPTOR Antiidiotypic antibodies have been used as probes of the cell biology and immunology of the mammalian

recovirus in our laboratories. These studies employed the unique properties of antiidiotypes to study: (a) The cellular distribution and biochemistry of reovirus receptors; (b) the parameters of reovirus receptor binding and internalization; (c) the structural and functional relationships of virus receptors on neurons and lymphocytes to antigen receptors for virus, i.e. idiotypes on B and T lymphocytes; and (d) the use of mAb antiidiotope antibodies as viral vaccines.

The binding of reovirus to its cellular receptor is governed solely by the specificity of the minor outer capside protein S1, which also mediates virally induced hemagglutination (67–70). The S1 protein is thus often referred to as the viral hemagglutinin (HA). In addition to tissue tropism, the reovirus HA determines the serotype specificity of antibodies, cytolytic T cells, and in vivo delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions (67, 71–73).

Preparation of antiidiotypic antibodies The production, purification, and screening of polyclonal reovirus type-3(HA3)-specific antiidiotypic antibodies have been described by Nepom et al (6). Briefly, immunoglobulins from mice immunized with type-3 virus were first absorbed with type-1 virus and the recombinant virus 3HA1 (a type-3 virus with a type-1 HA) to remove all antibodies not directed against HA3. Immunoglobulins were then absorbed with preimmune mouse immunoglobulin to remove xenogeneic reactive antibodies. Rabbits were immunized with these polyclonal anti-HA3-specific antibodies, and the presence of anti-HA3 antiidiotypes in the resultant sera was verified by radioimmunoassay. A panel of monoclonal anti-HA3-specific antibodies was then screened for the ability to inhibit the binding of type-3 antiidiotype to anti-HA3 antibodies. One neutralizing mAb, termed 9BG5, inhibited 83% of antiidiotype binding, indicating that this epitope is immunodominant in the type-3-antiidiotype response.

Based on this finding, 9BG5 immunoglobulin was used as an immunoabsorbent to affinity purify HA3-specific antiidiotypes from crude immunoglobulin fractions. Indirect immunofluorescence staining with purified antiidiotype demonstrated that the pattern of antiidiotype binding mimicked the tissue tropism of reovirus type 3, but not of type 1, on both central nervous system and lymphoid targets (6, 74). When lymphocytes were separated into reovirus-binding and -nonbinding populations, purified antiidiotype binding was restricted to only those cells that bound reovirus. Results of a similar nature were obtained by double fluorescence labeling of reovirus type 3 and 9BG5 purified antiidiotype (74). We have also shown that antiidiotype can mimic viral functions upon binding to target cells. For example, antiidiotype induced the activation of suppressor T cells in a manner indistinguishable from that seen with intact virus (74). Taken together these results indicate that the epitope on the type-3

	Cell lines			
	Idiotype positive		Idiotype negative	
	R 1.1	R 1.E	EL.4	P815
Untreated	3319±530	3355±348	7355±1832	15,380±549
Treated with antiidiotype	317±416	365 <u>+</u> 183	6022 ± 77	$13,356 \pm 662$
% Inhibition of viral binding	90.4	89.1	18.1	13.2

Table 1 Antiidiotype inhibition of reovirus binding is restricted to idiotype positive lines^a

* Binding studies were conducted at 4°C by the addition of 25,000 cpm ³⁵S-labeled reovirus (2×10^6 cells) for 1 hr. The effect of antiidiotype was determined by preincubation of cells with purified antiidiotype for 30 min prior to virus addition. Untreated controls were without antibody addition. Binding is expressed as cpm bound per 2×10^6 cells ± SEM of triplicate samples. From Gaulton et al (4).

hemagglutinin recognized by mAb 9BG5 is involved in the binding of type-3 virus to its cellular receptor.

More recently, a syngeneic murine monoclonal type-3-specific antiidiotope has been isolated following immunization of Balb/c mice with the 9BG5 mAb (7, 67, 75). Anti-HA3-specific mAb antiidiotopes were initially screened for the ability to inhibit the binding of 9BG5 to purified 125 I-HA3 protein in a competitive radioimmunoassay (7). One mAb, termed 87.92.6, that blocked binding was selected for further study. The binding of 87.92.6 to a panel of cells mirrored both the type-3 and polyclonal antiidiotype patterns.

Direct evidence that mAb antiidiotope recognized the reovirus type-3 receptor was achieved by the demonstration that prior incubation with 87.92.6 specifically inhibited the binding of type-3 virus to R1.1 thymona cells by 70-90% (Table 1; see also 75, 76). In addition, recent evidence indicates that mAb antiidiotope inhibits the infectivity of reovirus type 3 on neuronal targets (M. A. Dichter, G. Mitchell, H. Weiner, B. Fields, J. Noseworthy, G. Gaulton, M. Greene, manuscript submitted). Infectivity studies were conducted using three-week-old rat-neuronal-cell cultures. Only neurons specifically bound 87.92.6, and greater than 90% of all neurons bound antiidiotope. When mAb antiidiotope (200 μ g) was added to cultures for 60 min prior to the addition of virus (5 \times 10⁴ plaque-forming units), a 75% reduction in the number of viral replicating bodies was seen relative to control antibody. If antiidiotope was mixed with virus and then added to neuronal cultures, a 40% reduction in viral replication was seen. As mAb 87.92.6 does not bind reovirus (G. Gaulton, unpublished information), the blocking effects of mAb antiidiotope are a result of specific competition for binding to the cellular virus receptor.

Isolation of reovirus receptors The isolation and characterization of reovirus receptors was accomplished using both polyclonal and mono-

clonal antiidiotypes. Reovirus receptors were isolated from surfaceradioiodinated-R1.1 thymoma cells by precipitation of detergent-soluble cell extracts with either purified polyclonal antiidiotype, mAb 87.92.6, or type-3 reovirus particles. An autoradiograph of immunoprecipitates run on SDS-polyacrylamide gels is presented in Figure 2. Polyclonal antiidiotype (lane 1) routinely precipitated a single M_r 67,000 protein, not seen in controls, which is also the major band of monoclonal (lane 2) and virus (lane 3) precipitates result from a combination of less efficient precipitation conditions and partial degradation of receptors during isolation.

Immunoprecipitations have also been performed on a variety of different cell types and donor species including several neuronal lines. In all instances receptors were found to be of identical molecular weight (77). More detailed analyses indicated that purified receptors were sensitive to digestion by protease and neuraminidase, shown in lane 4 of Figure 2, and that the receptor is monomeric with a slight charge heterogeneity of pI 5.8–6.0.

These observations are strengthened by the results of antiidiotypic antibody hybridization to western blots of purified R1.1 cell membranes run on SDS-polyacrylamide gels. ¹²⁵I-labeled reovirus type 3 and polyclonal and monoclonal antiidiotype all bound to a similar band of M_r 67,000 that was not seen in hybridizations conducted with either normal rabbit immunoglobulins, antibovine serum albumin, or control mAb (76, 77).



Figure 2 Electrophoretic analysis of antiidiotype and virus precipitates. ¹²⁵I-labeled R1.1 detergent lysates were precipitated with either affinity-purified rabbit antiidiotype (lane 1), mAb 87.92.6 antiidiotope (lane 2), or type 3 virus (lane 3). The product of neuraminidase treated polyclonal antiidiotype immunoprecipitates is shown in lane 4. From Co et al (77).

Purified mAb 87.92.6 has recently been used to quantitate the number of receptors on target cells (76, 77). These analyses demonstrate that equivalent numbers of receptors are detected by antiidiotope and virus—approximately 50,000-75,000 sites per cell, which approaches saturated packing of virus on the surface (69, 78).

Structural similarities of reovirus and β -adrenergic receptors Data from a number of systems indicate that many viruses utilize integral membrane proteins, which provide essential cellular functions, as specific viral-binding proteins. For example, the membrane receptor for lactate dehydrogenase virus on macrophages has been identified as the Ia molecule (79), the Epstein-Barr virus has been shown to bind to the C3d receptor CR2 on B lymphocytes (80, 81), and the T-cell marker OKT4 serves as an attachment site for HTLV-3 (82, 83). Using anti-HA3 antiidiotypic antibodies, experiments from our laboratory indicate that the β -adrenergic receptor serves as a reovirus-type-3 attachment site.

We initially observed that both the reported molecular weight and the tissue and distribution of the mammalian β -adrenergic receptor matched those of the mammalian reovirus type-3 receptor (57, 70, 71, 84, 85). Based on this, more detailed studies were conducted (86) and are summarized here. Antiidiotypic antibodies specifically immunoprecipitated conventionally purified (by β -ligand affinity chromatography) β 2-adrenergic receptors. As shown in Figure 3, the two-dimensional gel patterns of purified reovirus (panel A) and β -adrenergic (panel B) receptors are indistinguishable. The partial trypic digestion fragments of purified reovirus and β -adrenergic receptors run on SDS-polyacrylamide gels were also identical, indicating that receptor homology extends beyond the ligand–virus binding domain. To determine whether antiidiotype binds functionally active β -adrenergic receptors, β -ligand-binding studies were conducted using the radiolabeled β -antagonist ¹²⁵I-iodohydroxybenzylpindolol (IHYP). As shown in Figure 4, we have analyzed both the amount of membrane-bound IHYP that



Figure 3 Comparison of purified reovirus type 3 and β -adrenergic receptors by twodimensional gel electrophoresis. Panel A, reovirus receptor isolated from R1.1 thymoma cells by antiidiotype immunoprecipitation. Panel B, β -adrenergic receptor ligand-affinity purified from calf lung. From Co et al (86).



Figure 4 Binding of β -adrenergic ligands to purified and cellular reovirus receptors. The extent of ¹²⁵I-HYP binding and competition by isoproterenol (ISO) was assessed by measuring antiidiotype (open bars) and by the binding of IHYP to antiidiotype purified receptor (hatched bars). Control refers to immunoprecipitations using preimmune rabbit immunoglobulin. From Co et al (86).

coprecipitates with reovirus receptors and the binding of IHYP to antiidiotype-purified reovirus receptors. In both instances, the specificity of IHYP binding was verified by inhibition in the presence of the unlabeled β agonist isoproterenol to control levels, which ranged from 60–90% inhibition for receptor and whole cells assays, respectively. Competitive binding analyses have indicated that IHYP displays saturable binding to purified receptors and that, as expected from coprecipitation data, reovirus and antiidiotype bind to a separate site on receptors from that recognized by β -adrenergic ligands (G. Gaulton, manuscript in preparation).

No studies have been conducted that offer a clear picture of whether antireceptor antibodies recognize an epitope found on both β 1- and β 2adrenergic receptors. Although the studies described above were conducted using β 2 receptors isolated from calf lung, reovirus preferentially infects heart and muscle tissues, which express predominantly β 1 receptors (58, 84, 85). In addition the number of cellular reovirus and antiidiotypic antibodybinding sites is 5–10-fold greater than typical β 2-receptor levels. This suggests either the presence of previously undetected low affinity β -sites or that antiidiotypes recognize an epitope present on a larger family of β , and perhaps other, catecholamine receptors.

Modulation of the immune network by syngeneic monoclonal antiidiotope antibody As we indicated previously, the network theory predicts that immunization with antiidiotypic antibodies (Ab2) will elicit an anti-

antiidiotypic (Ab3) response. In the case of internal image antiidiotope antibodies (Ab2 β and ρ), a subset of Ab3 will resemble the initial antibody (Ab1) in the specificity of its epitope binding (Ab1'). Regulation of antibody responses in the network has been shown to include coordinate regulation of idiotype- and antiidiotype-bearing T cells (1, 2, 87, 88). Thus, if mAb 87.92.6 represents an internal image of reovirus type-3 hemagglutinin, immunization with 87.92.6 should induce HA3 specific antireovirus immunity at both the T- and B-cell levels.

These predictions have been verified by our laboratories. Immunization of syngeneic mice with purified mAb 87.92.6 stimulated potent, dosedependent and type-3-specific anti-viral responses, as determined by cytolytic-T-cell, delayed-type-hypersensitivity, helper-T-cell, and antibody assays (35, 36, 89). The exquisite specificity of these responses is typified by the results presented in Table 2 for elicitation of a delayed-type hypersensitivity response.

Immunization with mAb 87.92.6 antiidiotope primed the host for the expression of a hypersensitivity response only upon challenge with either type-3 reovirus (HA3) or the recombinant virus 1HA3 (type-3HA on a type-1 background), but not with either type-1 reovirus (HA1), the recombinant 1HA3 (type-1HA on a type-3 background), or the type-3 variant virus K, which differs only in the loss of the epitope recognized by 9BG5 (idiotope).

The use of mAb 87.92.6 as an antiviral vaccine has been extended to include immunizations of a variety of mouse strains and across species barriers. In each instance 87.92.6, when administered with adjuvant,

Immunization	Challenge	DTH response		
Type 3 virus	Туре 3	37.8±2.3		
Antiidiotope	Type 3	25.5 ± 1.7		
Antiidiotope	Type 1	8.5±1.5*		
Antiidiotope	1 HA3	27.3 ± 2.0		
Antiidiotope	2 HA1	9.5±1.6*		
Antiidiotope	Variant K	11.8±1.7*		
Saline	Type 3	8.5±1.5*		

 Table 2
 Specificity of syngenetic delayed-type

 hypersensitivity responses elicited by mAb 87.92.6
 antiidiotope^a

^aDTH responses are expressed as the mean footpad swelling \pm SEM 24 hours after challenge, and day 5 after immunization, with virus as indicated (units of mm $\times 10^{-2}$).

=

^{*} p < 0.005.

stimulated a potent and type-3-specific neutralizing antibody response (G. Gaulton, manuscript in preparation). Preliminary results also indicate that these animals are resistant to viral-induced pathogenesis and mortality.

Studies conducted using the reovirus-type-3 antiidiotype system demonstrate the experimental versatility and corresponding practical importance of internal image antiidiotype antibodies. The demonstration that virally induced antiidiotypic antibodies can function as anticatecholamine receptor autoantibodies has provocative implications for the etiology of several autoimmune diseases that are indirectly linked to the presence of virus (90–93).

RETROVIRUS RECEPTORS

Using an analysis similar to that described for reovirus receptors, Ardman et al (94) have prepared antiidiotypic antibodies that react with the cellular receptor for a family of polytropic leukemogenic retroviruses. The binding of leukemogenic retrovirus to target cells occurs though the viral envelope glycoprotein gp70 (95–97), which is unique for each cloned viral recombinant. A monoclonal antibody, 1416, was prepared that reacted specifically with a cloned polytropic retrovirus termed P1, but not with two other recombinant viruses (P2 and P5) or with endogenous ecotropic and xenotropic viruses.

Antiidiotypic antibody to 1416 was prepared in rabbits and extensively absorbed with mouse immunoglobulin, then affinity purified over a mAb 1416-sepharose column. Eluted antiidiotype bound selectively to 1416, and this binding was completely inhibited by P1 virus or P1 gp 70 (in a two-fold excess by weight), but not by P2 virus. Thus, at least a portion of this antiidiotype was binding-site related. Surprisingly, immunofluorescence analysis indicated that antiidiotype bound to both P1- and P2-induced thymic leukemias and also bound to several leukemia cell lines of both Tand B-cell origin. Antiidiotype did not bind to normal lymphoid cells or to mitogen-stimulated thymocytes. These data indicate that anti-gp70 antiidiotypes recognized either a family of shared idiotypic structures on different anti-gp70s and on gp70 receptors or, as a result of the potential imprecision of related epitopes, recognized a common structural element at the gp70 binding site.

Immunoprecipitations of labeled P1-thymic-leukemia cells identified proteins of M_r 70,000, 63,000, and 55,000. Proteins of M_r 70,000 and 55,000 were also seen in immunoprecipitates from antiidiotype-binding cells, whereas the M_r 63,000 protein was not uniformly observed. Depending on the in vivo binding specificity of anti-gp70 antiidiotypes, these studies may have widespread diagnostic and therapeutic applications.

Receptors on Leukocytes

FACTOR H RECEPTOR Factor H (β IH-globulin) is an important controlling protein in the alternative pathway of complement activation. Factor H binds specifically to receptors on B lymphocyte membranes and triggers blastogenesis and release of factor I (98, 99). Factor H also binds to complement component C3b and acts as a cofactor for factor-I cleavage of bound C3b (100, 101). Antiidiotypic antibodies to antifactor H were induced in rabbits by injection of purified $F(ab')_2$ goat antifactor H; they were then isolated by affinity chromatography over an antifactor-H immunoadsorbent (102). ¹²⁵I-antiidiotype did bind specifically to cells known to bind factor H (B cells and sheep erythrocytes coupled with C3b); it also blocked the binding of ³H-factor H to these same cells. Antiidiotype mimicked factor-H activity by stimulating the release of factor I from B cells and by potentiating fluid-phase-C3b cleavage in the presence of factor I. These results demonstrated for the first time that C3b and factor-H membrane receptors have similar H-binding sites.

Antiidiotypic antibodies to antifactor H were also used in the isolation of the factor-H receptor from B cells. The immunoprecipitates, which were of detergent-solubilized B-cell membranes labeled with ³H-leucine, contained bands of M_r 100,000 and 150,000 on nondenaturing gels; these converted to a single M_r 50,000 species after reduction. Verification that these proteins comprised the factor-H receptor was achieved by the observation of identical bands from eluates of factor H–agarose affinity columns.

Marasco & Becker (103) used **NEUTROPHIL-FORMYL-PEPTIDE RECEPTORS** polyclonal antiidiotypic antibodies as probes of the neutrophil receptor for the chemotactic formyl peptide, fmet-leu-phe. Affinity-purified rabbit antifmet-leu-phe antibodies were used to elicit xenogenic antiidiotypic antibodies in goats, guinea pigs, and mice. After absorption with rabbit immunoglobulin, goat antiidiotypes were shown to bind anti-fmet-leu-phe. to block the binding of fmet-leu-phe to neutrophils, and to bind rabbit neutrophils. Receptor number and specificity predicted with antiidiotype were comparable to values obtained using labeled ligand. A hierarchy of antiidiotype production by species was seen, with goat antiidiotypes displaying the highest activity. Unfortunately, because preimmune immunoglobulins themselves induced chemotaxis, it was not possible to demonstrate mimicry of biological activity. These observations suggest that antiformyl peptide antiidiotype may contain Ab2, antibodies that display cross-reactivity to idiotypes on antiformyl peptide and epitopes on formyl peptide receptors.

Preliminary Examples of Mimicry

Based on the successes of the work discussed in preceding sections, numerous investigators have begun to utilize the phenomenon of idiotypic mimicry as an approach to the investigation of biological receptors. Accordingly, we include here a brief summary of the most recent and preliminary examples of receptor idiotypic mimicry.

Amit et al (104) have prepared polyclonal antiprolactin antiidiotypic antibodies that inhibit to 85% the binding of ¹²⁵I-prolactin to antiprolactin (idiotype). At a 10-fold higher concentration, antiidiotype noncompetitively inhibited 30% of prolactin binding to membrane receptors. Antiidiotypes were also shown to mimic prolactin biological activity by stimulating α -lactalbumen synthesis and secretion.

Schulz & Gramsch (105) have prepared antiidiotypic antibodies that recognize opioid receptors by immunization of rabbits with a murine mAb (3-E7) that recognizes the N-terminal site of many naturally occurring opioid peptides. Antiidiotypes were purified from sera by passage over 3-E7 affinity columns. Of 12 different rabbit antiidiotypes tested, 1 was found that inhibited 60-70% of ³H-diprenorphine binding to solubilized rat brain receptors. This same antiidiotype preparation also inhibited PGE₁-driven cyclic AMP synthesis by neuroglioma cell hybrids in vitro. This data suggests that anti-3-E7 antiidiotypes have an agonist activity, since the inhibition of cyclic AMP synthesis resembles that seen with opioid agonists.

Several groups have recently reported the isolation of components of membrane transport systems using antiidiotypic antibodies. These include the mammalian glucose transporter on rat myoblasts (5) and red blood cells (106), and bacterial dicarboxylic acid transport components (5). Mimicry or inhibition of biological activity has not been reported in any of these systems.

AUTOIMMUNITY AS A CONSEQUENCE OF IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY

Our knowledge of the immune system, especially through observations of the immune network, and class-I and -II MHC-restricted lymphocyte interactions, illustrates that autoreactivity is a normal and essential component of immune regulation. It is thus tempting to speculate that autoimmunity is in part a consequence of abnormal immune regulation. Data relevant to this proposal are critically reviewed in several recent articles (107–110). We restrict our discussion here to evidence that indicates that antiidiotypic antibodies can act as effectors of autoimmune disease. We

also present a hypothetical model for the induction of autoimmunity that encompasses both clinical observations and experimental demonstrations of idiotypic mimicry.

Occurrence of Receptor-Binding Antiidiotypes in Experimental Autoimmunity

In the previous section we presented several examples that demonstrate that one potential consequence of idiotypic mimicry of epitopes lying at or near the ligand binding site of biological receptors is the production of antiidiotypic antibodies that bind these receptors. The association between the induction of antiidiotypic, antireceptor antibodies and autoimmune disease is a logical one in view of the examples of human disease closely related to the presence of antireceptor antibodies. These include Grave's disease, in which TSH receptors are hyperactivated by antireceptor antibodies (11), myasthenia gravis, in which acetylcholine receptors are blocked by antibody (108), and certain forms of insulin-resistant diabetes mellitus associated with abnormal regulation of insulin receptors by antibodies to these receptors (109).

One might well ask at this point whether there are any specific examples of ligand-induced auto-antiidiotypic antibodies that can produce autoimmune disease. The answer is a qualified yes. We have already discussed the work of Erlanger et al (14, 66) which demonstrated that: (a) antiidiotypic anti-AChR antibodies arise spontaneously following immunization with an AChR agonist (BiSQ); and (b) the induction of antiidiotypic anti-AChR antibodies in a xenogeneic system often stimulates MG-like pathology.

Similar results have been reported by Shechter et al (42–44) for antiinsulin antiidiotypes and diabetes-like disease. These workers demonstrated the spontaneous autochthonous production of antiinsulin receptor antiidiotypes in mice following immunization with beef or pig insulin (42). When individual mice were followed for diabetes-like symptoms such as intolerance to glucose loading and hyperglycemia, a very tight correlation was seen between disease incidence and antiidiotypic antireceptor titers (43, 44). However, since these mice contained antiinsulin-receptor antibodies that were not antiidiotypic, an absolute correlation was not possible.

The observations of idiotypic mimicry of receptors for virus also have implications for autoimmune pathology. A number of viruses have been associated with an increased incidence of specific autoimmune disease. The best examples of this include β -islet tropic viruses such as coxsackie B-4, encephalomyocarditis, and reovirus, and the occurrence of insulindependent diabetes mellitus (90–93, 109). In these instances antiidiotypic, antiviral receptor antibodies would be expected to constitute either the primary active pathological agent or, more likely, to stimulate a widespread antireceptor or antitarget-cell immune response following limited antiidiotype-linked cell disruption.

Antiidiotypic Antibodies in Human Autoimmune Sera

If the predictions advanced above are true, then we might expect to see significant antiidiotype, and particularly antireceptor antiidiotype levels in the sera of patients with antireceptor-linked autoimmune diseases such as MG, Grave's disease, or insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The most thorough investigation of antireceptor antibodies and antiidiotypes in autoimmunity has been conducted in MG patients. The results of this survey are typical of those seen in other systems. Autoantibodies to AChR were seen in as many as 80-90% of MG patients tested (64); antibody titers varied greatly among individuals and were correlated with disease severity in a relative sense (108). Antireceptor antibodies were directed at multiple dispersed receptor epitopes indicating that this was a polyclonal response (111), and only a small fraction of antireceptor antibodies were directed against the ligand binding site (111–113). The percentage of antibinding site antibodies that were antiidiotypic antibodies was not determined.

Antiidiotypes that bind anti-AChR monoclonal antibodies have been detected in 40% of MG patients (113), and a low but significant level of shared idiotypes appears among antireceptor antibodies of MG patients (115, 114–116). Longitudinal studies of individual patients indicated that the appearance of anti-AChR antiidiotypes was cylical and had a reciprocal relationship to anti-AChR levels (118). These latter results are reminiscent of the regulation of β -adrenergic receptor-binding antiidiotypes discussed previously (53), and most probably represent classical idiotypic regulatory patterns (3, 59). In summary, although excellent evidence points to the role of antireceptor antibodies in the establishment of MG, no direct evidence exists for the presence or functional role of antiidiotypic antibodies that recognize AChR in MG or, in general, for the presence of antireceptor antiidiotypes in any human autoimmune disease.

A Model of Antiidiotypic Autoimmunity

How then do we reconcile these observations with those that demonstrate the spontaneous and pathogenic effects of experimentally induced antiidiotypes? Clearly, at the time of diagnosis most antireceptor antibodies are not either binding-site related or antiidiotypic. We propose the following model to account for these observations.

INDUCTION PHASE According to the principles discussed previously, the production of antiidiotypic antireceptor antibodies could be induced by
274 GAULTON & GREENE

virus, by a foreign antigen that contained cross-reactive epitopes with natural ligand-binding determinants, by a modified natural ligand, or by aberrant regulation of antiligand binding site-specific antibodies. Because they are induced through the immune network, we expect these antiidiotypic antireceptor antibodies to be typically, but not exclusively, IgM and of relatively low affinity.

EXPANSION PHASE The binding of antiidiotopes to receptors on target cells stimulates antireceptor effector responses such as complement fixation and cell lysis, or antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity. As a consequence of these events, receptor bound to IgM antiidiotope is processed by adherent cells or B cells and presented to the immune system in a more immunogenic form. This results in the expansion of B- and T-cell clones that recognize alternative or secondary epitopes on the receptor. Evidence for a role of IgM in the trapping of antigen that alters processing to expose secondary epitopes has been recently reported by Harte et al (119) and Lanzavecchia (120).

REGULATORY PHASE The recognition of secondary epitopes on the receptor stimulates the coordinate induction of helper T cells, which amplify this response, and selects for high-affinity IgG antireceptor antibodies. In contrast, the expansion of internal image B and helper T cells is inhibited by the coordinate effects of antiidiotype and antigen on idiotope-positive suppressor T cells. Excellent evidence for the activation of antiidiotopespecific suppression of idiotopic responses has been generated in studies of group A streptococcus and the azobenzenearsonate hapten (121, 122).

PATHOGENIC PHASE The presence of multiple, high-affinity antireceptor antibodies eventually leads to clinical symptoms of disease. The activity of antireceptor antibodies will be controlled in part by the induction of antiidiotypic antibodies, and thus the antireceptor response will cycle. Tissue destruction may lead to a tertiary immune response to a variety of cellular antigens, typical of diseases such as insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus.

This model accounts for all of the observations we have previously presented and discussed. It is also flexible enough to accommodate related observations of autoimmunity such as environmental, genetic, or age linkage. For example, genetic or age associations might be expressed at the clonal level by the restriction, or lack thereof, of internal image antiidiotopes, while environmental effects could be related to the presence of endemic viruses that bear epitopes related to ligand-binding sites. Finally, this model may be verified experimentally by observing the epitope specificity of antireceptor responses following the administration of monoclonal internal image antiidiotypic antibodies.

CONCLUSION

We have reviewed evidence that antiidiotypic immunoglobulins can be used to identify a variety of receptor proteins. Many of the advantages and limitations of this approach were discussed. Clearly, receptors that have composite binding sites or unusual structural features may be difficult to identify by antiidiotype-based techniques. The characteristics of the various species of antiidiotypic antibodies were also described. We suggest that the majority of antiidiotypic antibodies generated by conventional immunization procedures will not be able to interact with cell-surface receptors, although such antibodies are capable of binding to idiotypic immunoglobulin. The development of reliable techniques to readily induce or enhance those species of antiidiotypic immunoglobulins that mimic ligand binding is clearly needed. To accomplish this, a more thorough understanding of the regulation and function of the various classes of antiidiotypes will be required. In this respect a more complete investigation of the potential relationship of antiidiotypic antibodies to receptor-related autoimmune diseases should prove valuable. We have presented a speculative scheme of the etiology of certain forms of autoimmunity as a framework to define the regulation of autoreactive antiidiotypic antibodies and their contribution to the early and late stages of disease processes.

Literature Cited

- Rajewsky, K., Takemori, T. 1983. Genetics, expression, and function of idiotypes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:569
- Green, D. R., Flood, P. M., Gershon, R. K. 1983. Immunoregulatory T-cell pathways. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:439
- Bona, C. A., Pernis, B. 1984. Idiotypic networks. In Fundamental Immunology, ed. W. E. Paul, p. 577. New York: Raven
- Gaulton, G. N., Co, M. S., Royer, H.-D., Greene, M. I. 1985. Anti-idiotypic antibodies as probes of cell surface receptors. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 65:5
- Farid, N. R., Lo, T. C. Y. 1985. Antiidiotypic antibodies as probes for receptor structure and function. *Endocrinol. Rev.* 6:1
- Nepom, J. T., Weiner, H. L., Dichter, M. A., Tardieu, M., Spriggs, D. R., Gramm, C. F., Powers, M. L., Fields, B. N., Greene, M. I. 1982. Identification of a hemagglutinin-specific idiotype associated with reovirus recognition shared by lymphoid and neural cells. J. Exp. Med. 155:155
- 7. Noseworthy, J. H., Fields, B. N.,

Dichter, M. A., Sobotka, C., Pizer, E., Perry, L. L., Nepom, J. T., Greene, M. I. 1983. Cell receptors for the mammalian reovirus. I. Syngeneic monoclonal antiidiotypic antibody identifies a cell surface receptor for reovirus. J. Immunol. 131:2533

- Sege, K., Peterson, P. A. 1983. Use of anti-idiotypic antibodies as cell-surface receptor probes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 75:2443
- Guillet, J. G., Kaveri, S. V., Durieu, O., Delavie, C., Hoebeke, J., Strosberg, A. D. 1985. β-adrenergic agonist activity of a monoclonal anti-idiotypic antibody. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 1781
- Weigert, M., Riblet, R. 1976. Genetic control of antibody variable regions. *Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol.* 41:837
- Mäkelä, O., Karjalainen, K. 1977. Inherited immunoglobulin idiotypes of the mouse. *Immunol. Rev.* 34:119
- Khökher, M. A., Danoda, P., Janah, S., Coulston, G. 1981. Insulin-like stimulatory effect of human immunoglobulin G

276 GAULTON & GREENE

on adipocyte lipogenesis. Diabetes 30: 1068

- Dwyer, D. S., Bradley, R. J., Urquhart, C. K., Kearney, J. F. 1983. Naturally occurring anti-idiotypic antibodies in myasthenia gravis patients. *Nature* 301: 611
- 14. Wasserman, N. H., Penn, A. S., Freimuth, P. I., Treptow, N., Wentzel, S., Cleveland, W. L., Erlanger, B. F. 1982. Anti-idiotypic route to anti-acetylcholine receptor antibodies and experimental myasthenia gravis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:4810
- Farid, N. R., Briones-Urbina, R., Bear, J. C. 1983. Grave's disease—the thyroid stimulating antibody and immunological networks. *Mol. Aspects Med.* 6:355
- Biro, J. 1982. Thyroid-stimulating antibodies in Grave's disease and the effect of thyrotropin-binding globulins on their determinations. J. Endocrinol. 92: 175
- Flier, J. S., Kahn, C. R., Jarrett, D. B., Roth, J. 1976. Characterization of antibodies to the insulin receptor. A cause of insulin-resistant diabetes in man. J. Clin. Invest. 58:1442
- Cohen, I. R., Elias, D., Maron, R., Shechter, Y. 1984. Immunization to insulin generates antiidiotypes that behave as antibodies to the insulin hormone receptor and cause diabetes mellitus. In *Idiotypy in Biology and Medicine*, ed. H. Kohler, J. Urbain, P. A. Cazenave, p. 385. New York: Academic 19. Jerne, N. K. 1974. Towards a network
- Jerne, N. K. 1974. Towards a network theory of the immune system. Ann. Immunol. C 125:373
- Jerne, N. K., Roland, J., Cazenave, P. A. 1982. Recurrent idiotopes and internal images. Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ. J. 1:243
- Cosenza, H. 1976. Detection of antiidiotype reactive cells in the response to phosphorylcholine. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 6: 114
- Geha, R. S. 1982. Presence of auto-antiidiotypic antibody during the normal human immune response to tetanus toxoid antigen. J. Immunol. 129:139
- Geha, R. S., Communale, M. 1983. Regulation of immunoglobulin E antibody synthesis in man by antiidiotypic antibodies. J. Clin. Invest. 71:46
- Hart, D. A., Wang, A. L., Pawlak, L. L., Nisonoff, A. 1972. Suppression of idiotypic specificities in adult mice by administration of anti-idiotypic antibody. *J. Exp. Med.* 135:1293
- Kelsoe, G., Reth, M., Rajewsky, K. 1981. Control of idiotope expression by monoclonal anti-idiotope and idiotope-bearing antibody. *Eur. J. Immu-*

nol. 11:418

- Bluestone, J. A., Metzger, J. J., Knode, M. C., Ozato, K., Sachs, D. H. 1982. Anti-idiotypes to monoclonal anti-H2 antibodies. I. Contribution of isolated heavy and light chains to idiotype expression. Mol. Immunol. 19:515
- Huser, H., Haimovich, J., Jaton, J. C. 1975. Antigen binding and idiotypic properties of reconstituted immunoglobulins G derived from homogeneous rabbit anti-pneumococcal antibodies. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 5:206
- Nisonoff, A., Lamoyi, E. 1981. Implications to the presence of an internal image of the antigen in anti-idiotypic antibodies: possible application to vaccine production. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 21:397
- Urbain, J., Slaoui, M., Mariamé, B., Leo, O. 1984. Idiotypy and internal images. See Ref. 18, p. 15
 Kelus, A. S., Gell, P. G. H. 1968.
- Kelus, A. S., Gell, P. G. H. 1968. Immunological analysis of rabbit-antiantibody systems. J. Exp. Med. 127: 215
- Brient, B. W., Nisonoff, A. 1970. Quantitative investigation of idiotypic antibodies. IV. Inhibition by specific haptens of the reaction of anti-hapten antibody with its anti-idiotypic antibody. J. Exp. Med. 132:951
- 32. Kohler, H. 1984. The immune network revisited. See Ref. 18, p. 3
- Leo, O., Slaoui, M., Mariamé, B., Urbain, J. 1981. Internal images in the immune network. J. Supramol. Struct. Cell. Biochem. Suppl. 5:84
- 34. Fons, G., Uytdehaag, C. M., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. 1985. Induction of neutralizing antibody in mice against poliovirus type II with monoclonal antiidiotypic antibody. J. Immunol. 134: 1225
- Sharpe, A. H., Gaulton, G. N., McDade, K. K., Fields, B. N., Greene, M. I. 1984. Syngeneic monoclonal antiidiotype can induce cellular immunity to reovirus. J. Exp. Med. 160:1195
- 36. Gaulton, G. N., Co, M. S., Greene, M. I. 1985. Use of monoclonal anti-idiotypic antibodies as specific vaccines and as probes of the mammalian reovirus type 3 receptor. In Monoclonal Antibodies and Cancer Therapy, ed. R. Reisfeld, S. Sell. New York: Liss. In press
- 37. Ertl, H. C. J., Finberg, R. W. 1984. Sendai virus-specific T-cell clones: Induction of cytolytic T cells by an antiidiotypic antibody directed against a helper T-cell clone. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:2850
- 38. McNamara, M. K., Ward, R. E.,

Kohler, H. 1984. Monoclonal idiotype vaccine against Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. Science 226:1325

- 39. Bona, C. A., Finley, S., Waters, S., Kunkel, H. G. 1982. Antiimmunoglobulin antibodies. III. Properties of sequential antiidiotypic antibodies to heterologous antiy globulins. Detection of reactivity of anti-idiotype antibodies with epitopes of Fc fragments (homobodies) and with epitopes and idiotopes (epi-bodies). J. Exp. Med. 156:986
- Fong, S., Gilbertson, T. A., Carson, D. A. 1983. The internal image of IgG in cross-reactive anti-idiotypic antibodies against human rheumatoid factors. J. Immunol. 131:719
- 41. Sege, K., Peterson, P. A. 1978. Antiidiotypic antibodies against anti-vitamin A transport protein reacts with prealbumin. Nature 271:167
- 42. Shechter, Y., Maron, R., Elias, D., Cohen, I. R. 1982. Autoantibodies to insulin receptor spontaneously develop as anti-idiotypes in mice immunized with insulin. Science 216:542
- 43. Shechter, Y., Elias, D., Maron, R., Cohen, I. R. 1984. Mouse antibodies to the insulin receptor developing spontaneously as anti-idiotypes. I. Characterization of the antibodies. J. Biol. Chem. 259:6411
- 44. Elias, D., Maron, R., Cohen, I. R., Shechter, Y. 1984. Mouse antibodies to the insulin receptor developing spontaneously or anti-idiotypes. II. Effects on glucose homeostasis and the insulin receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 259:6416
- 45. Islam, M. N., Pepper, B. M., Briones-Urbina, R., Farid, N. R. 1983. Biological activity of anti-thyrotropin antiidiotypic antibody. Eur. J. Immunol. 13:57
- 46. Farid, N. R., Briones-Urbina, R., Nazrul-Islam, M. 1982. Biological activity of anti-thyrotropin anti-idiotypic antibody. J. Cell. Biochem. 19:305
- 47. Beall, G. N., Rapport, B., Chopra, I. J., Solomon, D. K., Kruger, S. 1984. Rabbits immunized with TSH produce thyroid stimulating antibodies. Prog. 7th Int. Cong. Endocrinol. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science. Abstr. 273
- 48. Baker, J. R. Jr., Lukes, Y. G., Burman, K. D. 1984. Production, isolation, and characterization of rabbit antiidiotypic antibodies directed against human antithyrotropin receptor antibodies. J. Clin. Invest. 74:488
- 49. Islam, M. N., Briones-Urbina, R., Bako, G., Farid, N. R. 1983. Both TSH and thyroid stimulating antibody of Grave's disease bind to an Mr 197,000 holo-

receptor. Clin. Res. 31:272A

- 50. Iida, Y., Konishi, J., Kasagi, K., Endo, K., Misaki, T., Kuma, K., Torizuka, K. 1983. Partial purification and properties of the TSH receptors from human thyroid plasma membranes. Acta Endocrinol. 103:198
- 51. Farid, N. R., Briones-Urbina, R., Islam, M. N. 1984. Antiidiotypic antibodies as probes for hormone-receptor interaction. Can. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 62: 1255
- 52. Schreiber, A. B., Couraud, P. O., Andre, C., Vray, G., Strosberg, D. A. 1980. Anti-alprenolol anti-idiotypic antibodies bind to β -adrenergic receptors and modulate catecholamine-sensitive adenylate cyclase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:7385
- 53. Couraud, P. O., Lü, B. Z., Strosberg, D. A. 1983. Cyclical antiidiotypic response to anti-hormone antibodies due to neutralization by autologous anti-antiidiotype antibodies that bind hormone. J. Exp. Med. 157:1369
- 54. Strosberg, D. A. 1983. Anti-idiotype and anti-hormone receptor antibodies. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 6:67
- 55. Homey, C. J., Rockson, S. G., Haber, E. 1982. An antiidiotypic antibody that recognizes the β -adrenergic receptor. J. Clin. Invest. 69:1147
- 56. Rockson, S. G., Homcy, C. J., Haber, E. 1980. Antialprenolol antibodies in the rabbit. A new probe for the study of β adrenergic receptor interactions. Circ. Res. 46:808
- 57. Homcy, C. J., Rockson, S. G., Countaway, J., Egan, D. A. 1983. Purification and characterization of the mammalian β_2 -adrenergic receptor. Biochemistry 22: 660
- 58. Cubero, A., Malbon, C. C. 1984. The fat cell β -adrenergic receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 259:1344
- 59. Kelsoe, G., Cerny, J. 1979. Reciprocal expansions of idiotypic and anti-idiotypic clones following antigenic stimulation. Nature 279:333
- 60. Karush, F. 1978. The affinity of antibody: Range, variability, and the role of multivalence. In Comprehensive Immunology, ed. G. W. Litman, R. A. Good, p. 85. New York : Plenum
- 61. Patrick, J., Lindstrom, J. 1973. Autoimmune response to acetylcholine receptor. Science 180:871
- 62. Lennon, V. A., Lindstrom, J. M., Seybold, M. E. 1975. Experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis: A model of myasthenia gravis in rats and guinea pigs. J. Exp. Med. 141:1365
- 63. Sanders, D. B., Johns, T. R., Eldefrawi,

278 GAULTON & GREENE

M. E., Cobb, E. E. 1977. Experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis in rats. *Arch. Neurol.* 34:75

- Lindstrom, J. 1977. An assay for antibodies to human acetylcholine receptor in serum from patients with myasthenia gravis. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 7: 36
- 65. Dwyer, D. S., Kearney, J. F., Bradley, R. J., Kemp, G. E., Oh, S. J. 1981. Interaction of human antibody and murine monoclonal antibody with muscle acetylcholine receptor. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 377:143
- 66. Cleveland, W. L., Wasserman, N. H., Sarangarajan, P., Penn, A. S., Erlanger, B. F. 1983. Monoclonal antibodies to the acetylcholine receptor by a normally functioning auto-antiidiotypic mechanism. *Nature* 305:56
- Burstin, S. J., Spriggs, D. R., Fields, B. N. 1982. Evidence for functional domains on the reovirus type 3 hemagglutinin. Virology 117:146
- Lee, P. W. K., Hayes, E. L., Joklik, W. 1981. Protein sigma is the reovirus cell attachment protein. *Virology* 108:156
- Epstein, R. L., Powers, M. L., Rogart, R. B., Weiner, H. L. 1984. Binding of ¹²⁵I labeled reovirus to cell surface receptors. *Virology* 133:46
- Weiner, H. L., Drayna, D., Averill, D. R., Fields, B. N. 1977. Molecular basis of reovirus virulence. Role of the S1 gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 74: 5744
- Fields, B. N., Greene, M. I. 1982. Genetic and molecular mechanisms of viral pathogenesis: Implications for prevention and treatment. *Nature* 300:19
- 72. Greene, M. I., Weiner, H. L. 1980. Delayed hypersensitivity in mice infected with reovirus. III. Induction of tolerance and suppressor T cells to viral specific gene products. J. Immunol. 125:283
- Finberg, R., Weiner, H. L., Fields, B. N., Benacerraf, B., Burakoff, S. J. 1979. Generation of cytolytic T lymphocytes after reovirus infection; role of S1 gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76:442
- 74. Nepom, J. T., Tardieu, M., Epstein, R. L., Noseworth, J. H., Weiner, H. L., Gentsch, J., Fields, B. N., Greene, M. I. 1982. Virus-binding receptors : similarities to immune receptors as determined by anti-idiotypic antibodies. Surv. Immunol. Res. 1:255
- 75. Kaufiman, R. S., Noseworth, J. H., Nepom, J. T., Finberg, R., Fields, B. N., Greene, M. I. 1983. Cell receptors for the mammalian reovirus. II. Monoclonal anti-idiotypic antibody blocks

viral binding to cells. J. Immunol. 131: 2539

- Gaulton, G. N., Co, M. S., Greene, M. I. 1985. Anti-idiotypic antibody identifies the cellular receptor of reovirus type 3. J. Cell. Biochem. 28:69
- 77. Co, M. S., Gaulton, G. N., Fields, B. N., Greene, M. I. 1985. Isolation and biochemical characterization of the mammalian reovirus type 3 cell-surface receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:1494
- Tardieu, M., Epstein, R. L., Weiner, H. L. 1982. Interaction of viruses with cell surface receptors. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 80:27
- Inada, T., Mims, C. 1984. Mouse Ia antigen are receptors for lactate dehydrogenase virus. *Nature* 309:59
- Fingeroth, J. D., Weiss, J. J., Tedder, T. F., Strominger, J. L., Biro, P. A., Fearon, D. T. 1984. Epstein-Barr virus receptor on human B lymphocytes is the C3d receptor CR2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:4510
- Jondal, M., Klein, G., Oldstone, M. B. A., Bokish, V., Yefenof, E. 1976. Surface markers on human B and T lymphocytes. Scand. J. Immunol. 5:401
- 82. Dalgleish, A. G., Beverley, P. C. L., Clapham, P. R., Crawford, D. H., Greaves, M. F., Weiss, R. A. 1984. The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. *Nature* 312:763
- Klatzmann, D., Champagne, E., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Guetard, D., Hercend, T., Gluckman, J. C., Montagnier, L. 1984. T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. *Nature* 312:767
- Lefkowitz, R. J. 1978. Identification and regulation of alpha- and betaadrenergic receptors. *Fed. Proc.* 37:123
- Minneman, K. P., Molinoff, P. B. 1980. Classification and quantitation of βadrenergic receptor subtypes. Biochem. Pharmacol. 29:1317
- 86. Co, M. S., Gaulton, G. N., Tominaga, A., Homcy, C. J., Fields, B. N., Greene, M. I. 1985. Structural similarities between the mammalian beta-adrenergic and reovirus type 3 receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:5315
- Krawinkel, U., Cramer, M., Beeke, C., Hammerling, G., Black, S. J., Rajewski, K., Eichmann, K. 1976. On the structure of the T cell receptor for antigen. *Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol.* 41:285
- Binz, H., Fischknecht, H., Shen, F. W., Wigzell, H. 1979. Idiotypic determinants on T cell subpopulations. J. Exp. Med. 149:910

- 89. Sharpe, A. H., Gaulton, G. N., Ertl, H. C. J., Finberg, R. W., McDade, K. K., Fields, B. N., Greene, M. I. 1985. Cell receptors for the mammalian reovirus. IV. Reovirus-specific cytolytic T cell lines that have idiotypic receptors recognize anti-idiotypic B cell hybridomas. J. Immunol. 134:2702
- 90. Tardieu, M., Powers, M. L., Hafler, D. A., Hauser, S. L., Weiner, H. L. 1984. Autoimmunity following viral infection: Demonstration of monoclonal antibodies against normal tissue following infection of mice with reovirus and demonstration of shared antigenicity between virus and lymphocytes. Eur. J. Immunol. 14:561
- 91. Haspel, M. V., Onodera, T., Prabhakar, B. S., Horita, M., Suzuki, H., Notkins, A. L. 1983. Virus-induced autoimmunity: Monoclonal antibodies that react with endocrine tissues. *Science* 220:304
- 92. Onodera, T., Jenson, A. B., Yoon, J. W., Notkins, A. L. 1978. Virus-induced diabetes mellitus: Reovirus infection of pancreatic β cells in mice. Science 201:529
- Onodera, T., Toniolo, A., Ray, U. R., Jenson, A. B., Knazek, R. A., Notkins, A. L. 1981. Virus-induced diabetes mellitus. XX. Polyendocrinopathy and autoimmunity. J. Exp. Med. 153:1457
- Ardman, B., Khiroya, R. H., Schwartz, R. S. 1985. Recognition of a leukemiarelated antigen by an antiidiotypic antiserum to an anti-gp70 monoclonal antibody. J. Exp. Med. 161:669
- Fowler, A. K., Twardzik, D. R., Reed, C. D., Weislow, O. S., Hellman, A. 1977. Binding characteristics of Rauscher leukemia virus envelope glycoprotein gp71 to murine lymphoid cells. J. Virol. 24:729
- Choppin, J., Schaffar-Deshayes, L., Debre, P., Levy, J. P. 1981. Lymphoid cell surface receptor for Moloney leukemia virus envelope glycoprotein gp71. I. Binding characteristics. J. Immunol. 126:2347
- 97. Bassin, R. H., Ruscetti, S., Ali, I., Haapala, D. K., Rein, A. 1982. Normal DBA/2 mouse cells synthesize a glycoprotein which interferes with MCF virus infection. Virology 123:139
- Hammann, K. P., Raile, A., Schmitt, M., Scheiner, O., Mussel, H. H., Peters, H., Dierich, M. P. 1981. Stimulation of murine lymphocytes by human β1H but not by human C3/C3b. *Immunobiology* 158:126
- Lambris, J. D., Dobson, N. J., Ross, G. D. 1980. Release of endogenous C3b

inactivator from lymphocytes in response to triggering membrane receptors for β 1H globulin. J. Exp. Med. 152: 1625

- 100. Whaley, K., Ruddy, S. 1976. Modulation of the alternative complement pathway by β 1H globulin. J. Exp. Med. 144:1147
- 101. Pangburn, M. K., Schreiber, R. D., Müller-Erberhard, H. J. 1977. Human complement C3b inactivator: Isolation, characterization, and demonstration of an absolute requirement for the serum protein β 1H for cleavage of C3b and C4b in solution. J. Exp. Med. 146:257
- 102. Lambris, J. D., Ross, G. D. 1982. Characterization of the lymphocyte membrane-receptor for factor-H (β 1Hglobulin) with an antibody to antifactor-H idiotype. J. Exp. Med. 155: 1400
- 103. Marasco, W. A., Becker, E. L. 1982. Anti-idiotype as antibody against the formyl peptide chemotaxis receptor of the neutrophil. J. Immunol. 128:963
- 104. Amit, T., Gavish, M., Barkey, R. J., Youdim, M. B. H. 1984. Anti-idiotypes to PRL antibody have PRL-like activity and bind to the PRL receptor. Prog. 7th Int. Congr. of Endocrinol. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science. Abstr. 202
- 105. Schulz, R., Gramsch, C. 1984. Antiidiotypic opioid receptor antibodies. *Neuropeptides* 5:221
- Kay, M. M. B. 1985. Glucose transport protein is structurally and immunologically related to band 3 and senescent cell antigen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:1731
- 107. Smith, H. R., Steinberg, A. D. 1983. Autoimmunity—a perspective. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:175
- Lindstrom, J. 1985. Immunobiology of myasthenia gravis, experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis, and Lambert-Eaton syndrome. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3:109
- Rossini, A. A., Mordes, J. P., Like, A. A. 1985. Immunology of insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3: 289
- 110. Tzartos, S. J., Seybold, M. L., Lindstrom, J. 1981. Specificity of antibodies to acetylcholine receptors in sera from myasthenia gravis patients measured by monoclonal antibodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:188
- 111. Barkas, T., Gairns, J. M., Kerr, H. J., Coggins, J. R., Simpson, J. A. 1982. α-Bungarotoxin binding to the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor is inhibited by

280 GAULTON & GREENE

two distinct subpopulations of antireceptor antibodies. Eur. J. Immunol. 12:757

- 112. Whiting, P. J., Vincent, A., Newsome-Davis, J. 1983. Acetylcholine receptor antibody characteristics in myasthenia gravis. Fractionation of α -bungarotoxin binding site antibodies and their relationship to IgG subclass. J. Neuroimmunol. 5:1
- 113. Besinger, U. S., Toyka, K. V., Homberg, M., Heininger, K., Hohlfeld, R., Fateh-Moghadam, A. 1983. Myasthenia gravis: Long-term correlation of binding and bungarotoxin blocking antibodies against acetylcholine receptors with changes in disease severity. Neurology 33: 1316
- 114. Deleted in proof
- Lefvert, A. K. 1981. Anti-idiotypic antibodies against the receptor antibodies in myasthenia gravis. Scand. J. Immunol. 13:493
- 116. Lefvert, A. K., James, R. W., Alliod, C., Fulpius, B. W. 1982. A monoclonal

anti-idiotypic antibody against antireceptor antibodies from myasthenic sera. Eur. J. Immunol. 12:790

- 117. Dwyer, D. S., Bradley, R. J., Oh, S. J., Kearney, J. F. 1984. Idiotypes in myasthenia gravis. In *Idiotypy in Biology and Medicine*, ed. H. Kohler, J. Urbain, P. A. Cazenave, p. 347. New York : Academic
- Harte, P. G., Cooke, A., Playfair, J. H. 1983. Specific monoclonal IgM is a potent adjuvant in murine malaria vaccination. *Nature* 302:256
- Lanzavecchia, A. 1985. Antigen-specific interaction between T and B cells. Nature 314:537
- Eichmann, K. 1975. Idiotypic suppression. II. Amplification of suppressor T cell with anti-idiotypic activity. Eur. J. Immunol. 5:511
- 121. Owen, F. L., Ju, S. T., Nisonoff, A. 1977. Presence on idiotype specific suppressor T cells of receptors that interact with molecules bearing the idiotype. J. Exp. Med. 145:1559



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 281-315

ANALYSIS OF THE EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF CLASS-II MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER¹

Ronald N. Germain

Laboratory of Immunology, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland 20892

Bernard Malissen

Centre d'Immunologie, INSERM-CNRS de Marseille-Luminy, Case 906 13288 Marseille, Cedex 9 France

INTRODUCTION

General

The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) was first recognized when the genes were mapped that are responsible for acute tissue or tumor graft rejection between members of a species (1). This chromosomal region contains a large number of genes whose products play particularly important roles in the self-nonself discrimination processes of the immune

¹ The US Government has the right to retain a nonexclusive, royalty-free license in and to any copyright covering this paper.

system. Recent advances in both in vitro methods of cellular immunologic study and recombinant DNA technology have permitted an explosive increase in our knowledge of the structure of individual MHC genes and their products and of the overall organization of these genes within the MHC. Perhaps equally significant has been the application of DNAmediated gene transfer (DMGT) to the analysis of structure-function relationships of MHC-gene products. Use of DMGT promises to provide substantial new insight into the actual biochemical bases of immune recognition and regulation, processes highly dependent upon the fine structure of MHC-encoded gene products and the lymphocyte receptors with which they interact. This review focuses on recent work utilizing this approach to identify individual class-II MHC genes and to explore their structure and function. New findings concerning the control of MHC-gene expression, molecular assembly, and the relationship among molecular organization, species polymorphisms, and immune recognition are detailed. Finally, we discuss future applications of these methods and some of the limitations of interpretation of experiments involving these techniques.

Class-II Proteins and Genes

A substantial body of information now exists (2, 3) concerning the structural organization of class-II MHC molecules and genes. Included in the class-II MHC category are the known Ia molecules (I-A and I-E in mice; HLA-DP, DQ, and DR in man), as well as genes homologous to these prototypic family members.

The tissue distribution of class-II molecules is limited to certain cell types and is distinct from that of class-I molecules, such as H2K, D, L or HLA-A, -B, -C. Ia is expressed primarily on B lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, certain epithelial and skin-associated cells, and in species other than the mouse, on activated T lymphocytes. Ia can be induced on a wide variety of Ia⁻ cells by exposure to γ -interferon (4, 5).

Ia antigens are heterodimeric cell-surface glycoproteins consisting of one heavy (33-34 kd), or α , and one light (28-29 kd), or β , chain (Figure 1). The difference in molecular weights of α and β is due to the presence of an additional N-linked carbohydrate side chain on the α molecule. The two chains are noncovalently associated, and both extend through the cell membrane. Each consists of two extracellular domains of ~96 amino acids. The NH₂-terminal domain of the β chain and the membrane proximal domains of both α and β have internal disulfide bonds, while the NH₂terminal α_1 domain does not. The membrane proximal domains of both α and β , like that of class-I molecules, show strong homology to immunoglobulin constant-region domains. These regions are followed by



Figure 1 Domain organization of class-I and class-II MHC molecules. Prototypic class-I and class-II molecules are illustrated. The TM (transmembrane) regions are shown spanning the plasma membrane. CY = cytoplasmic tail; α_1 , β_1 , etc = extracellular domains of the proteins; $\beta_2 m = \beta 2$ microglobulin; S-S = intradomain disulfide bonds.

membrane-spanning hydrophobic segments and cytoplasmic tails of up to $\sim 12-15$ amino acids.

The organization of class-II genes correlates well with the protein structure (Figure 2). Both α and β genes begin with a leader-encoding exon that also contains the codons for 3–6 of the amino-terminal residues of the mature protein. Exons 2 and 3 encode the β_1 or α_1 and β_2 or α_2 domains, respectively. β genes have three additional exons, encoding the TM, CY, and 3' UT, while α genes have the TM, CY, and the beginning of the 3' UT on exon 4, with the remainder of the 3' UT on exon 5.

A large number of allelic forms of the individual class-II genes have been cloned and sequenced (6-31). Comparison of the nucleotide sequences, and especially of the deduced amino acid sequences, revealed that for $A\alpha$, $A\beta$, and $E\beta$ of the mouse, and $DP\alpha$, $DQ\beta$, and $DR\beta$ of man, the allelic forms of each gene differ substantially from one another. The allelic polymorphism is concentrated in the amino terminal (β_1 or α_1) domain in each case, and within the domain, in three or four hypervariable regions spread across the domain.

Organization of the MHC

The availability of probes for the different class-II member genes of the MHC has permitted the creation of a molecular map of the murine H-2 complex with respect to these genes and related sequences. Similar studies are in progress in man but remain largely incomplete at this time.

The number and arrangement of class-II genes of the MHC of the mouse have been analyzed in detail for both the H-2^d and H-2^b haplotypes, using cosmid mapping techniques. Steinmetz and his collaborators have identi-

CLASS I



Figure 2 Class-I and class-II MHC gene organization. The intron-exon organizations of a class-I heavy-chain gene, a class-II α -chain gene, and a class-II β -chain gene are shown. 5' UT = 5' untranslated region; L = leader sequence; α_1 , β_2 , etc = exons-encoding the extracellular domains of the various proteins; TM = transmembrane segment; CY = cyto-plasmic tail; 3' UT = 3' untranslated region.

fied and mapped seven class-II genes or gene sequences in the H-2^d haplotype (32, 33). This includes $[A\beta_3 - A\beta_2 - A\beta - A\alpha - E\beta - E\beta_2 - E\alpha]$ in this order, centromere to telomere. Flavell and coworkers have similarly analyzed the H-2^b haplotype, demonstrating the same seven loci found in the H-2^d haplotype, as well as an additional cross-hybridizing sequence termed $E\beta_3$, located telomeric of $E\alpha$ (34). The physical distances between the various genes determined by cosmid walking and those reported on earlier maps based on recombination frequency show important differences, due primarily to the occurrence of "hot spots" for recombination. This has been especially well demonstrated for the intron following the second exon of $E\beta$ (32, 35).

Although no complete molecular linkage map of class-II genes has been produced for the HLA region of man, gene counting experiments and cosmid mapping have provided some idea about the number and local organization of these genes in humans (18–31). One DR α , two "DQ α " (DQ α and DX α), two DP α genes, and one DZ α gene have been identified, among which at least one DP α may be a pseudogene. Three DR β , two DQ β (DQ β and DX β), two DP β genes, and one DO β gene have also been described, with several of these likely to be pseudogenes. The corresponding α and β genes are always linked in clusters, usually of the β - α , β - α type. The clusters corresponding to DR, DP, and DQ have not been linked to each other.

TECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS

General

Three main types of gene transfer studies are possible. Transient expression assays evaluate gene transcription or gene product function shortly (a few hours to several days) after DNA introduction into target cells. Stable integration into the chromosomal DNA of the host cell is not required. This method has the advantages of being rapid, of permitting large numbers of constructs, clones, or conditions to be tested in a brief time interval, and of examining expression by a significant (several percent) proportion of target cells, minimizing artifacts due to clonal variation. The method suffers from the need to transfer the genes separately for each experiment, thus introducing variability into the system and precluding the study of homogeneous, permanently available target cells expressing the gene(s) of interest.

Stable transfectants have integrated the introduced DNA into their chromosomes or have an episomal version of the experimental genes maintained in the cell. It takes 1–3 weeks initially to identify clones of transfectants that have acquired the input gene(s), and several additional weeks to isolate clonal or mixed populations with homogeneous expression suitable for many of the desired studies. Target cells are limited to those into which one can introduce DNA successfully at suitable frequency and those able to permit expression at the gene, protein, and if appropriate, membrane level. This method has the advantages of yielding cell lines usable for a continuing series of experiments over a prolonged time period, of permitting easy exchange with other laboratories, and of allowing comparison of cells in which the known gene copy number or level of gene product varies.

The third method involves transfer of DNA into the germline of animals (transgenic animals). This is a difficult procedure available only in a few laboratories. Large series of experiments comparing different genes or gene constructions are not practical, and effects of the integration site on expression are hard to control. However, this is the only good method for evaluating the expression of a gene in a large number of tissues and during ontogeny or differentiation of a given cell lineage. Further, it is the only method available for examining the influence of a single gene product during development and for exploring the way in which the particular tissue(s) in which a given gene product is expressed affects the physiology of the entire individual.

Methods of DNA Introduction

Several methods are available for introducing genes into cells. They can be divided into methods relying on general cellular uptake processes, techniques involving membrane fusion, those in which the cell membrane is traversed by physical means, and those utilizing biological delivery systems. As these procedures have been recently reviewed in detail in this series (36), we will only summarize them briefly here.

CELLULAR UPTAKE The most common means of introducing exogenous DNA into cells is through use of the CaPO₄ coprecipitation technique, in which a microcrystalline precipitate of $CaPO_4$ and DNA is formed and applied directly to intact cells (37, 38). A fraction of the cells take up the DNA-containing particles, and a proportion of these incorporate the DNA into their chromosomes. If the site of integration is suitable, the gene of interest has not been disrupted during integration, and the cell is permissive for transcription, then mRNA able to lead to expression of the desired gene product will be produced at some level. Multiple copies of the gene may be integrated, usually as a concatamer (pecalosome) at a single site, though multiple integrations are possible (38). This approach has been used with a variety of target cell types. It seems to work more efficiently with adherent than nonadherent cells, and fibroblastoid or epithelial cells show transformation efficiencies one to several orders of magnitude greater than lymphoid cells. The CaPO₄ method is capable of simultaneous introduction of multiple cloned genes, or significant amounts of whole genomic DNA. The DEAE-dextran method, while not involving a physical precipitate, is similar in principle and practice to CaPO₄. Both methods give better results if the target cells are osmotically shocked using glycerol, polyethylene glycol, or dimethylsulfoxide, apparently enhancing DNA uptake. Transient transformation efficiencies range from 0.1-50%, while stable transformation occurs at rates of 10^{-5} to 10^{-3} .

MEMBRANE FUSION DNA can be packaged in natural or synthetic lipid bilayers, and fusion between the DNA-containing vehicle and the target cell membrane promoted by various means. The most widely used version of this method involves growing suitable *E. coli* (such as HB101) containing a plasmid bearing the gene of interest. Chloramphenicol amplification leads to high plasmid copy number per bacterial cell. The cell walls are then digested with lysozyme, and the resultant spheroplasts (protoplasts) are fused with the target cells using polyethylene glycol, as for somatic cell hybridization (39, 40). The introduced DNA can then be incorporated into host DNA. This often occurs with a single copy at a single site, but multiple integrations are seen. The spheroplast method has proven to be somewhat more efficient than $CaPO_4$ for transfection of nonadherent cells, such as lymphocytes and plasma cells, although only in rare circumstances does the transformation efficiency approach that of adherent fibroblastoid cells transfected by the $CaPO_4$ or DEAE-dextran methods. In general, stable transformation rates of $10^{-6}-10^{-4}$ can be achieved, depending on target cell types.

PHYSICAL METHODS Two distinct physical procedures are in use for DNA introduction. Cells can be microinjected with DNA directly. This method yields a high frequency of cells that have integrated the introduced DNA (41), but the technique is expensive to set up, difficult to carry out, and works readily only on certain cell types, especially large adherent cells with easily visualized nuclei. A more recent approach involves producing transient "holes" in the cell membrane by pulsed electroshock (42). By carrying out this shock with the cells in a solution containing a suitable concentration of linear DNA, high efficiencies of DNA transfection (10^{-4} to > 10^{-3}) have been reported for cells unsuitable or refractory to other techniques. However, this method has not yet been standardized to the extent that it works readily in a large number of laboratories, although results from many workers suggest it holds great promise.

DNA is routinely introduced into eukaryotic cells BIOLOGIC DELIVERY under natural conditions during viral infection. Attempts have therefore been made to utilize viral vectors to transfer DNA efficiently into target cells. A number of different viruses have been employed, the two most extensively studied of which are vaccinia (43, 44) and retroviruses of the Friend, Moloney, Rauscher group (45–47). Vaccinia cloning vectors containing genes incorporated into suitably modified vaccinia genomes can be readily transmitted to target cells by virus stocks produced using the recombinant DNA. These foreign genes, such as influenza hemagglutinin (48), are expressed at high levels by the infected cells, but such cells eventually die due to the effects of the virus; this approach is thus unsuitable for many studies. Retroviral vectors offer a means of infecting cells with high efficiency, of favoring precise gene integration without disruption, and of enhancing the expression of the transferred gene due to the action of the viral LTR. Numerous groups have designed and tested a whole series of retroviral vectors suitable for murine studies (ecotropic packaging systems) and other species (amphotropic packaging systems). The more recent of these constructs shows great promise in meeting the requirements of transmissibility and gene expression; retroviruses may thus become the method of choice for many gene transfection studies. Under optimal conditions, gene transfer to virtually 100% of a primary target cell population can be achieved by this method.

Selection of Stable Transformants

Although experiments involving transient expression following transfection do not require applying selective pressure on the target cell population, the frequency of stable transformation is too low to be suitable without a means for isolating transfectants with a high likelihood to have integrated the gene of interest correctly. This selection process is most often accomplished by including in the DNA used either a covalent construct involving the experimental gene and a gene conferring drug resistance, or a mixture of such genes. The CaPO₄, DEAE-dextran, liposome or RBCfusion, electroporation, and microinjection methods are all suitable for cotransformation of unlinked DNA, although some workers ligate the DNA before use. By employing a high ratio of test gene to drug resistance gene (10–100:1), it has been shown that most cells surviving drug selection contain the gene of interest in addition to the drug-marker gene (38). The spheroplast fusion and retroviral vector methods, although adaptable with difficulty to cotransformation, are most often used with covalent linkage of test and drug selection genes.

The choice of a suitable drug for selection depends on the nature of the target cell, the experimental plan, and in some cases, the ease of producing suitable constructions. Some systems require selection for gene loss (e.g. thymidine kinase deficiency selected by use of BUdR and light), followed by replacement of the missing gene via transfection. Increasingly, however, the method of choice involves dominant selectable markers, such as the aminoglycoside phosphotransferase gene that confers resistance to the neomycin analogue G418 (49), or the xanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase xgpt gene that permits growth in the presence of mycophenolic acid and xanthine (50).

Clones of transfectants can be selected directly, based on expression of the gene product being studied. This can be accomplished either by fluorescent antibody staining of the transfectant population, followed by preparative flow microfluorimetry (cell sorting) (51, 52), or by use of suitably tagged erythrocytes or latex spheres able to react with antibodies bound to transfectants expressing the desired gene product(s) (53). Clones identified by this latter method are physically isolated and expanded for use.

EXPRESSION OF CLASS-II GENES AND MOLECULES

Gene Expression

EXPRESSION BY Ia⁺ RECIPIENT CELLS Class-II (Ia) molecules are normally expressed only by a limited number of cell types. Membrane expression is

correlated with mRNA content of cells, indicating primary regulation of Ia expression at the level of gene transcription. Therefore, initial studies on Ia expression following DMGT were carried out using cells showing either constitutive (B lymphomas) or inducible (macrophage tumors) expression of endogenous Ia genes, with the expectation that these cells would be permissive for expression of introduced class-II genes. Using this strategy, several groups have shown that introduction of complete genomic copies of mouse class-II genes into B-lymphoma cells results in high levels of gene transcription and in expression of the protein product of the transfected gene on the cell membrane. Some of the early studies utilized a heterologous system in which mouse genes were introduced into an Ia⁺ SV40-transformed hamster B lymphoma (54; P. Jones, personal communication). The class-II α and β chains encoded by the transfected mouse genes could be shown to assemble with each other preferentially, but also with the hamster class-II chains.

More recently, Norcross et al (55) have demonstrated mouse-human interspecies Ia molecules following transfection of A^d_B into an EBVtransformed human lymphoblastoid cell line. The surprising result in this study was that the A β chain was associated with DR α , not DQ α , even though the latter chain shows the greatest homology to the mouse A α chain normally found associated with $A\beta$. Transfection studies have also been carried out using murine B-lymphoma cells. Transfer of the A^k_d gene into the mouse Ia^d-positive Balb/c B-lymphoma M12.4.1 resulted in high levels of membrane A_{θ}^{k} expression, detected using the anti-I-A^k monoclonal antibody 10.2.16 (56, 57). In these experiments the A_{θ}^{k} chain was expressed in association with the A^d_{α} endogenous gene product. Folsom and her collaborators (58) utilized the P388D1 macrophage line as the recipient of an E_{A}^{b} genomic clone introduced by spheroplast fusion. The P388D1 cell line is normally Ia⁻ but expresses high levels of I-A^d and I-E^d following culture for several days in mouse γ -interferon (γ -IFN). After DMGT of E_{θ}^{b} , the selected P388D1 cells were Ia⁻ and did not contain either endogenous Ia transcripts or E_{β}^{b} transcripts. Exposure of the transfectants to γ -IFN led to expression of $A^d_{\beta}A^d_{\alpha}$, $E^d_{\beta}E^d_{\alpha}$ and $E^b_{\beta}E^d_{\alpha}$ molecules, demonstrating that the introduced E_{a}^{b} gene was coordinately regulated with the endogenous class-II genes. These experiments all involved complementing a single introduced class-II β -gene product with an endogenous α chain. More recently, pairs of α and β genes have been introduced into murine B-lymphoma cells. Complete Ia molecules not involving endogenous target cell class-II products have been detected by biochemical analysis and functional studies (59), in accord with the earlier work in hamster cells (54).

The expression of class-II genes following DMGT into Ia⁺ recipient cells was not unexpected. Nonetheless, these studies did provide direct demonstration that the genomic class-II DNA clones isolated in various labora-

tories actually encoded the expected gene products and contained sufficient regulatory sequences for efficient expression in a permissive cellular environment. The experiments with P388D1 showing γ -IFN-responsive gene expression further indicated that introduction of class-II genes into abnormal chromosomal locations did not prevent apparently normal inducible control of gene transcription. Despite these important findings, however, the use of these model systems for studying certain aspects of class-II structure-function relationships posed several problems. Because all the available recipient cells expressed endogenous Ia molecules in addition to the transfected gene product, it was difficult to assign any observed gain in serologic or T cell-restriction elements solely to the introduced gene product. The assembly of a variety of Ia molecules following the introduction of both α and β genes, due to complementation with endogenous gene products, prevented clear understanding of which introduced chain(s) actually were involved in any new phenotypic trait. It was also hard to determine the level of expression on the cell membrane of each of the various Ia molecules produced under these circumstances, and this prevented careful quantitative analysis of antigen-presenting function in the context of the transfected gene product(s). Finally, since these target cells were already known to be capable of Ia expression and antigen presentation, no new insight into either control of Ia chain assembly and membrane transport or the physiology of APC function could be derived from these models.

EXPRESSION BY Ia⁻ RECIPIENT CELLS For all the above reasons as well as for technical considerations, several laboratory groups chose to look at the effects of transferring class-II genes into the Ia⁻ mouse fibroblastoid L-cell line. L cells lacking the thymidine kinase gene (tk⁻) have been derived from the original L-cell line of C3H fibroblasts and are a commonly used recipient cell for a variety of genes. They readily transfect using the CaPO₄ method and tk cotransformation at rates approaching 10⁻³. L cells do not express endogenous class-II genes and remain Ia⁻ after exposure to γ -IFN or activated T lymphocytes, thus precluding the problems of multiple class-II species that are seen when researchers use B lymphomas or macrophage tumor lines (R. N. Germain, B. Malissen, unpublished observations).

Rabourdin-Combe & Mach (60) were the first to show that L cells could express class-II genes following DMGT. Using cosmid clones that included complete DR β and DR α genes, these workers cotransfected L cells and selected drug-resistant colonies. Clones expressing a range of membrane DR β DR α molecules were identified, with one clone showing levels similar to EBV-transformed B-lymphoblastoid cells. No expression was seen when either DR β or DR α containing DNA was introduced separately, and this is consistent with previous suggestions of a requirement for α : β pairing for efficient cell-membrane expression of Ia. Analysis of immunoprecipitated products showed that the DR molecules expressed by transfected L cells were grossly normal biochemically.

These initial results were confirmed for mouse class-II genes by Malissen and colleagues (54, 61) and by Norcross et al (62). In both studies, transfection of α or β genes alone failed to lead to detectable membrane expression, while cotransfection with $A\alpha: A\beta$ pairs derived from the same haplotype (e.g. $A_{\alpha}^{k}A_{\beta}^{k}, A_{\alpha}^{d}A_{\beta}^{d}$) showed substantial surface expression. Again, electrophoretic gel analysis showed no significant differences in α - or β chain structure compared to normal lymphoid cell Ia, except that there was little or no Ii in the immune precipitates. However, it is clear that L cells synthesize invariant chain (63), and the failure to see Ii in immunoprecipitated material is not due to the absence of this molecule in L cells.

The ability of transfected L cells to transcribe class-II genes and express Ia in substantial quantities on the cell surface is somewhat unexpected, since no expression of endogenous Ia genes is observed. Although clearly no direct covalent linkage of class-II genes to strong enhancer-promoter combinations is required for expression (62), the use of such regulatory regions indeed enhances the level of class-II expression (61). A certain low but significant amount of class-II-gene transcription of introduced genes occurs in L cells, and selection for cells with high copy number, or integration in sites of active transcription, permits identification of cells with significant levels of Ia. Addition of viral enhancers to class-II genes increases the proportion of transfected cells with high expression by reducing the need for high copy number or special integration sites.

ANALYSIS OF CLASS-II-GENE TRANSCRIPTION The observations detailed above concerning expression of transfected class-II genes in Ia⁺ vs Ia⁻ recipient cells suggest that both *cis*- and *trans*-active elements control Ia gene expression in a partially tissue-specific manner. This is supported by the finding that in γ -IFN inducible cells, transfected class-II genes are coregulated with endogenous genes. DMGT has been used to explore this issue in greater detail.

Gillies et al (64) have utilized a stable transfection model to analyze the region(s) that control efficient transcription of the $E\beta$ class-II gene in murine-B-lymphoma cells. Various segments of 5' flanking DNA from an E_{β}^{4} containing genomic clone were linked to the selectable marker *xgpt*, and the resultant constructs transfected into either B-lymphoma cells, myeloma cells, or L cells. The frequency of drug-resistant colonies was taken to reflect the efficiency of transcription of the *xgpt* gene and to indicate whether the flanking DNA segment showed cell type-specific regulation of transcription. The results of this experiment revealed that *xgpt* constructs containing

5' flanking DNA from the $E\beta$ clones showed substantially greater (\geq 50 fold) activity in Ia⁺ B-lymphoma cells than in either Ia⁻myeloma or L cells. The relevant region of DNA mapped to a 2 kb HindIII-BstX1 fragment beginning approximately 600 bp from the initiation of $E\beta$ transcription. Smaller fragments within this 2 kb region were inactive, indicating the possible existence of multiple small regions involved in full activity. The function of this region appeared location and orientation independent, suggesting that a classical enhancer region was involved in the observed effects. A pair of conserved sequences usually found at ~(-100 to -150) 5' of class-II genes was not included in the active fragment, indicating that these sequences are not required for enhancer function.

Further information on the location of DNA sequences involved in regulation of class-II-gene expression comes from recent analyses of transgenic mice. LeMeur et al (65) have introduced genomic clones of the murine E_{α}^{a} gene into (C57B1/6 × SJL)F₁ mice. These mice fail to transcribe their endogenous Ea genes owing to apparently identical ~ 650 bp deletions encompassing the promoter region of the E^{b}_{α} and E^{s}_{α} genes. Injection of DNA containing 2 kb of 5' flanking DNA and 1.4 kb of 3' flanking DNA surrounding the complete E^a_{α} gene gave rise to mice expressing $E\alpha$ mRNA in precisely the same tissue pattern as the endogenous $A\alpha$ genes and initiating at the normal site. Similar results were obtained by Yamamura et al (66) and Pinkert et al (67) with somewhat different $E\alpha$ clones. In contrast, an analysis of transgenic mice containing the E^d_{α} gene plus only 1.4 kb of 5' flanking DNA show altered tissue expression confined to the thymus (G. Widera, personal communication). Thus, as for the E β gene, the 2 kb region 5' of the transcriptional start site is critically involved in regulating $E\alpha$ expression, and within this region there appear to be multiple regulatory elements.

Additional studies using gene transfer to map regions regulating class-IIgene expression are in progress. The data obtained by several groups using transient expression assays and constructs combining fragments of class-II genes with indicator genes such as chloramphenicol acetyl transferase (CAT) indicate a complex set of positive, and perhaps negative regulatory elements with distinct roles in response to γ -IFN and to tissue-specific *trans*-acting factors (D. Mathis; W. Roeder, R. Maki, personal communications). It can be anticipated that substantial definition of the precise regions involved in lymphokine regulation of Ia expression and in control of class-II transcription at different stages of cellular differentiation will be available shortly. In this regard, transcription of both endogenous and transfected class-I genes in L cells is upregulated by γ -IFN, while the transcription of endogenous and transfected class-II genes is not; this observation indicates that cell-specific elements beyond γ -IFN receptors Annual Reviews

and DNA target sequences are required for appropriate class-II-gene regulation. Thus, mapping of DNA sequences controlling inducibility in cells such as macrophages will only provide part of the picture, and identification of *trans*-acting factors and/or negative regulatory regions active in uninducible tissue types will be required for a more complete understanding of this issue.

Control of Ia Expression at the Protein Level

As mentioned above, detection of Ia on the cell membrane of transfected L cells required introduction of both α and β genes. Transfer of either α or β genes independently did not lead to surface expression as assessed using a variety of monoclonal antibodies. These results agreed with those obtained using Ia⁺ recipient cells, in that transfer of single α or β encoding genes only led to expression through pairing with endogenous complementary class-II-gene products. One important caveat to this view that α : β heterodimers are required for surface expression should be noted—most of the reagents used for detection of Ia molecules have not been shown to react with isolated α or β chains, which presumably have a significantly different configuration when not assembled in a heterodimer. Thus, surface expression of individual chains might be missed using these reagents. However, additional experiments are also consistent with a lack of surface expression of free α or β chains.

In one study, McCluskey et al (68) compared surface expression of the A_{R}^{k} gene product by L cells to the membrane expression of a chimeric class-II: class-I gene product. This latter molecule was comprised of the A_{a1}^k domain covalently linked to the α 3, TM, and CY portions of the class-I D^d molecule. Following DMGT into L cells, this chimeric gene led to the expression of a unique cell-surface molecule detectable with both anti- A_{a}^{k} (e.g. 10.2.16) or anti- α 3(D^d) monoclonal antibodies. The same anti-Ia antibodies failed to detect surface molecules in L cells receiving the native A_{β}^{k} gene and known to contain high levels of A_{β}^{k} mRNA. This pair of cells was also analyzed using a rabbit heteroantiserum prepared against purified I-A^k molecules. This reagent had been shown to immunoprecipitate free A β chains from a reticulocyte lysate in vitro translation system (69) and to detect both A α and A β polypeptides in western blots (A. Sant, R. N. Germain, unpublished observations). Again, the cells transfected with the chimeric gene construct stained, while those containing the native A_{β}^{k} gene did not. Although one cannot formally exclude the possibility that these results still reflect the use of unsuitable serologic reagents, they add credence to the view that isolated α and β proteins do not reach the cell surface efficiently and further imply that the $A\beta_1$ domain per se does not prevent surface expression.

The postulated role of the Ii (invariant) chain in membrane expression of class-II molecules has been explored using DMGT. Two groups have inserted class-II sequences into SV-40-based cDNA-expression vectors suitable for use in COS cells. These monkey fibroblasts have been transformed with defective SV-40 virus, so that they maintain expression of the SV-40 large T antigen required for replication of DNA containing SV-40 origins (70). Introduction of plasmids containing such SV-40 origins leads to extensive replication. If suitable (e.g. SV-40 early or late region) enhancer-promoters are present upstream of the gene of interest, high levels of transcription also are seen. Employing this system, these groups have found that cotransfer of $A\alpha$: $A\beta$, $E\alpha$: $E\beta$, or $DR\alpha$: $DR\beta$ gene pairs into COS cells leads to surface expression of I-A, I-E, or DR molecules, respectively (J. Miller, J. Tou, A. Sant, R. N. Germain; R. Sekaly, E. Long; in preparation). This surface expression of Ia occurs even though COS cells lack detectable invariant chain (Ii) transcripts, and this implies that invariant chain is not required for transport of Ia to the cell membrane. However, due to the nature of the COS cell system, it is not possible to determine if Ii normally increases the efficiency of Ia transport.

L cells have recently been used to reexplore the issues of allelic control of α : β chain pairing and restrictions on cross-isotype α : β assembly. Based on the initial findings of Fathman & Kimoto (71) and of Silver et al (72), it is generally accepted that Ia⁺ cells from heterozygous individuals contain a mixture of Ia molecules derived from the free assortment of allelic α and β chains of a single isotype in all possible combinations. Thus, in $(H-2^b \times$ H-2^k)F₁ mice, one would find $A_{\beta}^{b}A_{\alpha}^{b}$, $A_{\beta}^{b}A_{\alpha}^{k}$, $A_{\beta}^{k}A_{\alpha}^{b}$, and $A_{\beta}^{k}A_{\alpha}^{k}$ heterodimers in approximately equivalent proportions. Such α - and β -chain mixing, while occurring within an isotype, did not seem to occur between α and β chains of distinct isotype, as mixed molecules such as $A\beta$: Ea had never been demonstrated. These results were consistent with control of α : β assembly lying within the isotypically conserved COOH-terminal (β_2 or α_2 , TM, CY) portions of the molecules, and with little role for the NH₂-terminal polymorphic portions of the chains in this process. There are, however, several reports in the literature inconsistent with this view of Ia assembly: expression. For instance, McNicholas et al (73) found an 8-10fold preference of $E^{u}_{\beta}: E^{u}_{\alpha}$ assembly over $E^{k}_{\beta}: E^{u}_{\alpha}$ assembly in cells of the $(B10.A(4R) \times B10.PL)F_1$ mouse, and Conrad et al (74) showed lesser, but significant, allele-specific variation in expression of $E_{\beta}^{b,d,k}$ with E_{α}^{d} . These data indicate an important role for the highly polymorphic $E\beta_1$ domain in I-E expression. In addition, Lerner et al (75) commented on the possible precipitation of A α together with E β and E α molecules, implying the existence of $E\beta$: A α isotypically mixed dimers. However, for the most part, the I-E preferential pairing results were taken as unusual cases, and the $E\beta$: A α possibility never directly demonstrated.

A view of Ia-chain pairing much closer to the latter "unusual" results, and auite distinct from the generally accepted model, has emerged from L celltransfectant data (76). During attempts to develop cell lines expressing only F_1 -type Ia molecules (e.g. $A_{\beta}^k A_{\alpha}^d$), it was noted that while haplotype-matched $A\alpha: A\beta$ pairs gave a high proportion of primary L-cell transfectants expressing significant levels of membrane Ia, cotransfection of haplotypemismatched pairs gave little or no expression. This was true even though the DNAs employed for the matched or mismatched gene pairs were identical, and despite the presence of readily detectable A α and A β mRNA in the nonexpressing cells. Further experiments revealed that for genes of the b, d, and k haplotypes, *cis*-chromosomal α : β pairs (e.g. $A_{\beta}^{k}A_{\alpha}^{k}$) always gave better expression than trans-pairs (e.g. $A_{\theta}^{b}A_{\alpha}^{k}$); experiments also indicated that the level of expression of the latter varied over a wide range, depending on the particular allelic forms of α and β employed. Careful titration studies, the use of a large panel of monoclonal antibodies, and the use of the rabbit heteroantiserum to I-A discussed above, all indicated that these findings were not an artifact of serology, but truly reflected a different efficiency of α : β assembly and/or membrane expression for the various allelic forms of the genes. Particularly striking was the finding that irrespective of haplotype, α : β pairs normally coinherited due to chromosomal linkage seemed to express best. Also, $A_{\theta}^{k}A_{\alpha}^{b}$ and $A_{\theta}^{b}A_{\alpha}^{k}$ molecules, the basis for suggesting "free pairing," are in fact the best expressed of the haplotype-mismatched mixes, while $A_{\beta}^{d}A_{\alpha}^{k}$ has in fact not yet been detected. $A^k_{\theta}A^d_{\alpha}$ is intermediate in efficiency, and the ease of seeing $A^k_{\theta}A^d_{\alpha}$ after transfection of B-lymphoma cells appears to be related to the very high amount of A^{d}_{α} in such cells, which permits even inefficient pairing to give significant surface expression of $A^k_{\theta} A^d_{\alpha}$.

N. Braunstein and R. N. Germain have gone on to map the region of the $A\beta$ molecule controlling this preferential pairing (manuscript in preparation). We constructed a series of recombinant $A\beta$ genes involving the b, d, and k alleles, in which the entire $A\beta_1$ domain was exchanged with the β_2 , TM, and CY regions of a different allelic gene, or in which the NH₂-terminal half of $A\beta_1$ was assembled with the COOH-terminal portion of $A\beta_1$, and various β_2 , TM, and CY regions. These "domain or hemi-domain shuffled" $A\beta$ genes were cotransfected independently with $A_{\alpha}^{b,d, \text{ or } k}$ into L cells; then the number of Ia⁺ transfectants and level of Ia expression were monitored by flow microfluorimetry. The results clearly showed that the most important portion of $A\beta$ with respect to $\alpha:\beta$ pairing was the NH₂-terminal half of $A\beta_1$, in that molecules containing this region from a given allele

expressed best with the *cis*-matched A α , and at levels similar to wild-type A β , irrespective of the origin of the remainder of the A β chain.

Equally unexpected findings arose when isotype-different $\alpha : \beta$ pairs were cotransfected into L cells (126). Introduction of A_{β}^{k} and $E_{\alpha}^{a/k}$ gave no surface Ia detectable with either anti- $A\beta$ or anti- $E\alpha$ antibodies. However, A_{β}^{d} did pair with $E\alpha$ to produce surface molecules reactive with MKD6 (anti-I- A_{β}^{d}) and 14.4.S (anti-I- $E\alpha$) antibodies. Immunoprecipitation studies showed that these chains existed as noncovalently associated heterodimers. Use of recombinant $A\beta$ genes has shown the differential ability of A_{β}^{k} vs A_{β}^{d} to pair with $E\alpha$ to map to the $A_{\beta 1}$ domain, as expected, based on the predominance of allelic variation in this domain (A. Sant, R. N. Germain, unpublished observations). These results are consistent with those mentioned earlier showing A_{β}^{d} assembly with DR α , the human equivalent of $E\alpha$ (55).

These findings support the view that A α and A β genes located on the same chromosome (cis-pairs) actually coevolve for best "fit," such that cispairs form more efficiently than trans-pairs. This means that in heterozygous situations, a variable and generally low level of trans-paired Ia molecules will be found on the cell membrane, and that most immune responses will occur in the context of the cis-paired Ia molecules. Further, these data and the data on cross-isotype molecules indicate that control of α : β pairing is not the province solely of the conserved COOH-terminal portions of the molecules but, rather, is strongly influenced by the highly polymorphic amino termini. This may reflect the role of these regions in pairing of nascent chains during synthesis, or it may result from requirements of interactive folding in the assembly of the complete molecule. Additional studies are clearly needed to determine what if any role is played by the more isotypically conserved portions of the α and β chains in controlling heterodimer formation. Reexamination of normal cells for the existence of cross-isotypic molecules is clearly necessary, as is a series of competition experiments in transfected L cells to determine whether these previously unobserved molecules can form in the presence of the "appropriate" partner chains. Finally, it should be pointed out that such unexpected pairings can explain certain previously reported results (77). The A.TRF5 mouse possesses an MHC containing an intra-I-region recombination event between the f and k haplotypes. This mouse does not produce $E\beta$ molecules but does have a low level of E_{α}^{k} molecules on the cell membrane. One explanation of this result that does not require postulating free E α on the membrane is the possible existence of $A_{\beta}^{f} E_{\alpha}^{k}$ dimers in these cells. Such pairs may be weakly bound together and easily dissociated by monoclonal antibodies during immunoprecipitation; this would account for the lack of observed coprecipitation. The expression of $E\alpha$ on the cell membrane of previously negative Ea transfectants following supertransfection with A_{β}^{f} would be consistent with this possibility, and experiments testing this prediction are underway.

STRUCTURE-FUNCTION ANALYSIS OF CLASS-II MOLECULES

General

One of the primary goals of DMGT studies using class-II genes is to determine how the structure of Ia molecules relates to their immunological functions—in particular, how polymorphic variation accounts for the observed specificity of Ia-restricted antigen recognition by T lymphocytes, for Ir-gene effects, and for allorecognition. The issue of whether class-II molecules also subserve a receptor function—triggering the cells bearing them to produce monokines (78) or to initiate differentiation when bound by T-cell receptors (79)—is approachable with this technology. Further, transfection of class-II genes permits evaluation of the physiology of antigen-presenting cell function by exploration of the features required in addition to Ia expression for a cell to present native antigens to T cells. Finally, quantitative analysis of the relationship between Ia expression and T-cell responses, and examination of possible interactions with Ia of nonclonally distributed T cell surface molecules such as L3T4, can be carried out using this model.

Antigen Presenting Cell (APC) Function of Ia-Transfectants

CELL TYPES Three distinct cell types have been transfected with class-II genes and tested for their ability to present antigen to, or to be recognized by, T lymphocytes—murine B lymphomas (M12.4.1, A20-2J), a murine macrophage tumor (P388D1), and L cells. In all cases, transfectants expressing levels of Ia within a few-fold of the endogenous level of Ia expression by the B-lymphoma cells have been shown to present antigen to T-cell hybridomas (54, 56–59, 62). Ia ⁺ B lymphomas and L cells tested with T-cell clones and primary T cells stimulate these as well (57, 62, 80, 81).

ANTIGEN-PROCESSING The ability of these various cells to act as antigen presenting cells (APC) for T hybridomas is not surprising in light of the ability of Ia-containing planar membranes to do so (82). However, the planar membranes require the use of peptide antigens ("preprocessed" antigens), while native antigen can be presented by the transfected cells. Blymphoma cells had previously been shown to process antigen (83), but L cells were not necessarily expected to be capable of this. Direct examination of L-cell antigen processing has revealed that these fibroblastoid cells can

carry out the steps necessary to convert native antigen to a form recognizable by T cells (80). This analysis involved demonstrating (a) that Ia-transfected L cells can present native antigen to T cells previously shown to respond only to an altered form of the original immunogen, and (b) that after interaction with native antigen for a suitable time period (several hours), Ia-bearing L cells could be fixed with aldehyde and would still stimulate T cells, while fixation prior to antigen pulsing prevented T-cell activation. These findings suggest that antigen processing is based on biochemical processes more widespread than just among lymphoreticular elements. It is likely that the receptor-mediated endosome cycling system is involved, a supposition consistent with the effects of lysosomotropic agents on processing (84). Whether cells like L cells are as efficient as normal APC in this activity is unclear. Recently, Shastri et al (81) have found that certain I-A^k restricted, hen egg lysozyme (HEL)-specific T-cell clones respond only to a peptide fragment of HEL, but not to native HEL, when using I-A^kexpressing L-cell transfectants as APC. This did not seem to be a simple quantitative defect and may indicate some minor qualitative differences as well in antigen processing by L cells. Nonetheless, L cells clearly carry out this critical step in antigen presentation quite well for a wide variety of antigens.

IMPORTANCE OF QUANTITATIVE VARIATIONS IN Ia EXPRESSION Numerous studies have shown the critical importance of level of Ia expression on the efficiency of antigen-presentation to T cells (85–87). These findings bear on functional studies of transfected Ia genes in two major ways. First, the ability of DMGT to generate cells with defined levels of surface Ia, and to do so using cells not responsive to Ia-regulatory signals, such as γ -IFN (e.g. L cells), provides a unique means of examining quantitative variation in T-cell activation as a function of Ia density per cell or per assay culture. Second, the recognized importance of variation in Ia levels on T-cell triggering makes it imperative that all structure-function experiments using variant Ia molecules be carried out using cells with defined levels of Ia expression known to be at or above the amount required for stimulation of the test T cell using native Ia.

Transfected L cells displaying the same Ia molecules but varying over 15-fold in membrane expression have been isolated by picking random clones or by selective cell sorting. Use of these cells in careful dose-response titrations confirms earlier findings of a dependent relationship between (Ia) and (antigen) needed to achieve a given T-cell response such that: Response = k [(Ia) × (Antigen)] over a given range of Ia density and antigen concentration (80). Additional studies are needed to determine if there is a cutoff level of Ia density per cell below which increasing antigen levels cannot compensate, or whether the product relationship is a continuum. Similarly, high level effects have not been explored extensively yet.

With respect to the second issue, analysis has been done of T-cell responses to transfected L cells that bear widely disparate levels of surface Ia. In many cases the apparent inability of L cells to present antigen to a given T cell is strictly a reflection of a quantitative, not qualitative, defect; the use of a transfectant bearing a higher level of the same Ia molecule leads to good stimulation (R. Lechler, R. N. Germain, unpublished observations). Such findings indicate that great caution should be exercised in interpreting negative data using transfectants bearing modified Ia molecules. Only when extensive controls for quantitative variation in Ia levels between stimulatory and nonstimulatory cells are employed can the lack of presentation to a particular T cell be ascribed to a qualitative effect of the mutation being studied.

T CELL-ACCESSORY MOLECULES T-cell interaction with accessory cells involves not only recognition of antigen plus Ia by the clonotypic receptor, but the poorly understood function of several nonclonally distributed T cell-surface molecules. The two of major concern for studies of Iatransfected APC are L3T4 (T4 in man) and LFA-1.

LFA-1 is found on a broad array of cells of hematopoietic origins and consists of one α chain of 170 kd and one β chain of 90 kd. The β chain is shared with a family of related molecules possessing unique α chains (88). Studies on in vitro T-cell model systems suggest that LFA-1 serves as a "cell-adhesion" molecule, facilitating T cell-APC or target cell interaction in an antigen-nonspecific manner (89). Antibody to LFA-1 strongly inhibits virtually every T-cell activity dependent on interaction with a second cell type of hematopoietic origin. However, antimouse LFA-1 has no effect on murine-T cell responses to Ia-transfected L-cell APC when that cell expresses the same Ia molecules as B-lymphoma cells whose interaction with the T cells is blocked under the same conditions (80, 90). This same result is observed with several different antimouse LFA-1 reagents to distinct epitopes (91) and has led to the suggestion that L cells lack the putative target structure for LFA-1 binding. This interpretation does not explain, however, why the same T cell is blocked by anti-LFA-1 from responding to a B lymphoma, yet is able to respond to an L cell lacking the target structure and, hence, even more deficient in LFA-1-mediated adhesion. This issue is made even more confusing by the recent finding that human T cells recognizing class-I (HLA) molecules on transfected L cells can be inhibited by antihuman LFA-1 antibody (92). One possible explanation of these findings is that (a) some other L-cell molecule

substitutes for the adhesion normally mediated by LFA-1 (e.g. fibronectin), and (b) the human LFA-1 target is different from that of mouse LFA-1 and is present on L cells (perhaps a carbohydrate). Further studies are needed to resolve this point, but this difference in LFA-1 function should be kept in mind in evaluating structure-function studies using L-cell transfectants.

L3T4 is a surface glycoprotein found primarily on helper-inducer, Iarestricted T lymphocytes (93). This concordance of L3T4 expression and Ia restriction has led to the proposal that L3T4 binds to Ia via a monomorphic epitope and facilitates T cell-APC interaction (94-96). Experiments employing a class I (D^d)-specific, but L3T4⁺, T hybridoma were taken to be consistent with this model (97), but differences in amounts of D^d and Ia on the various cells used in these experiments made clear comparisons difficult. L-cell transfectants have been used to reexplore this issue in two ways. Greenstein et al (98) utilized a set of transfected L cells bearing either D^d alone or D^d plus I-A^k as stimulator cells for the class-I specific hybridoma. They found that anti-L3T4 antibody only inhibited the activation of this T cell when two conditions were met: (a) the amount of D^d in the system was suboptimal, and (b) I-A^k was present on the D^d-transfected L cell. These data are consistent with the earlier results and support the view that L3T4 acts by augmenting cell interactions via recognition of Ia.

A second approach to this question was taken by Golding et al (99). These workers were able to produce L3T4⁺ class II-specific CTL lines capable of lysing transfected L cells bearing either conventional I-A^k molecules or the chimeric $[A_{\beta 1}^k - \alpha 3, TM, CY (D^d)]$ molecule mentioned above. They then demonstrated that aL3T4 blocked the lysis of transfectants bearing the chimeric molecule. These findings were taken to indicate either that (a) L3T4 does not require the α or the isotypically conserved $\alpha 2$, β 2, TM, or CY portions of Ia for interaction and can do so solely via recognition of the A β_1 domain, or that (b) L3T4 does not bind to Ia, but anti-L3T4 interferes directly with T-cell activation, an interpretation made less likely by the work of Greenstein et al. Although these two studies put important constraints on any interpretation of L3T4 function, they do not fully explain all findings on anti-L3T4 inhibition of T-cell activation. An important next step will be to combine these two approaches to determine if the chimeric MHC gene can substitute for intact Ia in conferring anti-L3T4 sensitivity on the response of the D^d specific hybridoma. If so, further mapping of the L3T4 target structure will be feasible. A more direct approach involving actual binding studies will be possible with the recent cloning of the L3T4 gene.

Apart from information gained about the mechanism of L3T4 action, it is important to point out that these studies show clear involvement of L3T4 in T-cell responses to Ia transfectants. This means that different patterns of response to Ia variants may be due not to changes affecting recognition by the clonotypic receptor but to changes influencing L3T4 function. As it is apparent that the reactivity patterns of different T cells are affected in markedly distinct ways by L3T4 function, one needs to evaluate the importance of L3T4 in the particular T cell-APC combination being examined before deciding that a mutation in Ia has affected recognition by the MHC-restricted antigen receptor.

Antibody and T-Cell Recognition of Ia

STUDIES USING INTACT GENES Transfectants prepared using complete wildtype α and/or β genes have been analyzed using extensive panels of monoclonal antibodies and T-cell clones or hybridomas. B-lymphoma cells, macrophage tumors, or L cells expressing haplotype-matched pairs of α : β chains show precisely the same serologic and T cell-stimulatory activity as cells bearing the same Ia molecules based on expression of endogenous genes (54, 56-62). These results imply that any cell typespecific posttranslational differences in protein processing or glycosylation that may exist among these cells have little or no effect on the immunologically relevant structural features of Ia.

Transfer of intact class-II human genes into L cells has proved particularly useful in that the resulting transfectants permit unequivocal assignment of previously defined serologic epitopes to known α : β pairs from a given haplotype. For example, we now know that transfectants prepared using the DR α gene together with a DR β gene from a DR4, we heterozygous cell and determined by RFLP analyses to be the DRwe β gene showed reactivity with antibodies to the supratypic determinant MT2. These findings established that this epitope is dependent on DR β (100). Other studies have investigated cells prepared using DP α : β pairs and demonstrated reactivity of such transfectants with both certain antibodies and cytotoxic T cells (101, 102). Extensions of these early investigations should greatly increase our understanding of the relationships among the specificities defined by tissue typing and the actual human class-II-gene products expressed by various haplotypes.

Ia transfectants prepared by introducing only a single gene into Ia⁺ Blymphoma cells to generate haplotype-mismatched $\alpha:\beta$ pairs (56, 57, 103, 104), or by cotransfection of L cells with such "F1" type $\alpha:\beta$ pairs (N. Braunstein, R. N. Germain, in preparation), are useful for determining whether one or the other or both α and β chains of a parental (haplotypematched) Ia molecule are required for the formation of a particular serologic or T cell-restriction epitope. Although cross-reactivity of monoclonal antibodies with endogenous Ia of B-lymphoma cells decreases the utility of these cells for such an analysis, the results from both systems are

concordant to date. Many monoclonal antibodies appear to require the polymorphic residues of only one or the other parent chain to produce the relevant epitope. Among more than 30 antibodies tested only a small number reacted with a site involving contributions of both α and β chain allelic variation (N. Braunstein, R. Germain, in preparation). It should be kept in mind that these conclusions apply only to Ia molecules taken as a whole, not to the individual α or β chains in isolation. That is, these studies have not addressed whether the determinant is formed exclusively by α or β by itself or requires appropriate overall α : β interaction and specific polymorphic residues to create the site. Data suggesting that the latter is usually the case are discussed in the following section.

As far as T-cell recognition is concerned, a general rule (albeit one with a few interesting exceptions) has emerged from use of haplotype-mismatched, Ia-expressing transfectants. Reports of F₁-specific T cells previously established that at least some T cells required contributions of both α and β polymorphic residues for the creation of the restriction site seen (105). These studies did not address the issue of whether this was true only of rare cells selected for this phenotype or of most T cells. In a panel of 20 T hybridomas analyzed by Lechler et al (106), using Ia-transfected L cells bearing all expressed pairs of $A_{\beta}^{b,d,k}$ and $A_{\alpha}^{b,d,k}$, only 1 cell was able to respond to an Ia molecule containing the original restricting element A β chain and an allelic α chain, and only 1 cell was able to respond to an Ia molecule containing the original α chain and an allelic β chain. Cohn et al (103) also found only a few T cells from an extensive panel that were able to respond to an α : β pair other than the one to which they were originally restricted, and these T cells were alloreactive, not antigen specific. It is not yet known if the few T cells that respond to inappropriate α : β pairs do so with the same efficiency as they do to the original Ia molecule, or if, in fact, they represent very high avidity cells able to show some activation even though a substantial amount of binding energy is lost due to the change in α : β pairing. In general, then, in contrast to antibody recognition, it appears that most T cells depend on allele-specific contributions from both α and β chains for the structural features of Ia responsible for restricted antigen recognition.

STUDIES USING RECOMBINANT MOLECULES The next level of dissection of Ia structure-function involves resolution of the portions of the α or the β chains contributing to serologic or T cell-recognition. This has been approached by several groups through the use of "exon-shuffling" carried out in a manner similar to that described for class-I genes (107, 108). For the most part, regions of individual genes have been exchanged for the corresponding portion of an allelic form of the same gene. In some cases, however, variants have been created by combining pieces of unrelated genes.

The initial reports concerning exon-shuffled class-II genes involved experiments in which the first and second exons encoding the β_1 domain of E^b_β or A^k_β , were exchanged for the corresponding portions of the E^d_β or A^d_β genes, respectively (109, 110). The E^b_β - E^d_β recombinant was introduced into P388D1 (Ia^d) cells and induced with γ -IFN. The A^k_B-A^d_B gene was contransfected into L cells with A^k_{α} . Following expression of the recombinant gene product together with the appropriate α chain on the cell surface, the cells were stained with monoclonal anti-Ia antibodies or used as APC. In both cases, the recombinant gene products behaved in a way identical to that of the donor of the β_1 domain with respect to antibody binding and Tcell recognition. These results were consistent with the known concentration of allelic variation in the β_1 domain and with the importance of such variation in generating serologic and restriction epitopes. The data with the $E\beta$ gene were also consistent with the previous documentation of identical T-cell responses to cells from mice with naturally recombinant $E\beta$ genes such as B10.A(5R), which has an exchange of $E_{\beta_1}^b$ for $E_{\beta_1}^k$ (35) and acts like parental E^b_f.

A much more extensive series of recombinant genes has been produced by exchanging the first and second exons of $A_{\beta}^{b,d, or k}$ among all three genes, or by exchanging the first exon and 5' half of the second exon with the 3' half of the second exon and the remainder of the A β gene for the same three alleles, to produce a completely permuted set of A β gene segments. These were cotransfected individually with either $A_{\alpha}^{b,d, or k}$ into L cells, and transfectants expressing suitable levels of membrane Ia derived from those combinations that showed detectable assembly (see above). When stained with a large panel of monoclonal anti-I-A antibodies that had previously showed essentially exclusive dependence on α - or on β -chain polymorphism, an unexpected result was obtained (N. Braunstein, R. Germain, in preparation). Although for each antibody it was possible to identify either an A α -gene product or a region of the appropriate A β -gene product required for antibody recognition, combinations of chains possessing such an α -chain or β -chain region that failed to be seen by the antibody were noted. These negative molecules followed a consistent pattern. In each case, they involved a pair of α : β chains with a mismatch in the NH₂-terminal β_1 segment critical to α : β pairing, as described in an earlier section. Thus, for example, the B17-123 (anti-I-A^{b,d}) antibody required the COOH-terminal half of $A_{\beta}^{b \text{ or } d}$ for binding. However, a molecule involving an NH_2 -terminal $A_{\beta_1}^k$: COOH-terminal $A_{\beta_1}^d$: [A β_2 , TM, CY^d] chain paired with A_{α}^d was not recognized by B17-123, while the same β chain paired with A_{α}^{k} was recognized. This was true even though the antibody does not react with I-A^k. The most reasonable explanation for such data is that the α and β chains interact strongly and intimately with one another, and this influences chain folding and, hence, epitope formation. This is consistent with the require-

ment, noted previously, for both the proper α and β chain for T-cell recognition.

Use of this panel of recombinant gene transfectants as APC with a large number of responding T cells gave largely concordant results (106). A large number of T cells were unresponsive to recombinant β chains (with respect to the T cell's original restricting element). Of those T cells that tolerated any changes, most required the proper NH₂-terminal segment involved in the chain-pairing process but could accept some, but not other, substitutions in the COOH-terminal part of $A\beta_1$. For one of the two cells able to accept changes in the NH₂-terminal part of A β_1 , careful dose-response measurements showed significant (>10 fold) shifts in dose-response curves using these variant A β chains. Thus, changes in Ia structure affecting α : β chain pairing and serologic recognition have important effects on T-cell recognition as well. These findings have important implications for the physical interpretation of these studies, and those involving more limited mutations. The evidence for combinatorial, or more likely conformational epitopes resulting from extensive α : β chain interaction implies that any change introduced into the polymorphic domain of Ia may act by altering the conformation of Ia elsewhere in the molecule, at the actual site of T-cell recognition or antigen interaction. Thus, no direct correlation of Ia mutation site and the site(s) of binding to the T-cell receptor or antigen can be made. Such studies can only identify residues that contribute in an important but undefined manner to the structural bases of Ia function. Some other more direct (e.g. crystallographic) determination of the structure of Ia is needed to interpret such mutagenesis data physically. This is not to say that mutagenesis is not a useful tool. The cataloging of permissive and nonpermissive mutations will eventually prove valuable as more precise structural data emerge. More immediately, such studies can still approach the issue of whether distinct residues or sets of residues determine T cell-receptor recognition of Ia independently from any postulated binding of antigen to Ia (111–115), whether or not it is possible to say if such residues are themselves the physical site of such events.

Several additional points emerge from this analysis. Different T cells tolerate changes in different segments of $A\beta$, or mixing of various α 's and β 's, to different extents. These variations do not seem directly correlated with L3T4 expression or function, raising the possibility suggested earlier by antibody blocking studies (116–118) that there are multiple regions on a single Ia molecule used by T cells for restricted antigen recognition, and that no single pattern of sites for receptor binding or antigen interaction may exist. Alternatively, this apparent complexity may still reflect quantitative variation in receptor avidity, giving the appearance of different qualitative recognition patterns. Careful quantitative tests may help clarify

this point. In addition, the data make clear that comparison between only two allelic forms of a gene may be misleading. That is, although a region may be considered uninvolved because one residue or chain segment can be substituted for another without detriment, this may merely reflect the fact that the changes made are conservative or permissive. A different substitution at the same position might significantly alter function. This leads to the view that failure to see a change in response due to a change in Ia between two given alleles should be conservatively interpreted as indicating that the site in question is not responsible directly for the distinction between those particular haplotypes, without being considered informative as to whether the site plays a role in the overall recognition process.

In addition to these experiments involving exchanges between homologous genes, another involved analysis of one molecule comprised of the $A_{\beta_1}^k$ domain linked to the α_3 , TM, CY portions of the class-I D^d molecule that was expressed on L cells. McCluskey et al (68) demonstrated that of six monoclonal anti-I-A^k antibodies that showed indistinguishable reactivities with interallelic A β shuffled genes containing $A_{\beta_1}^k$ paired with A_{α}^k , only one antibody still reacted equivalently with the isolated $A_{\beta_1}^k$ domain of this chimeric molecule. The others showed weak or no reactivity, indicating that although the $A_{\beta_1}^k$ domain was required for the generation of the relevant epitopes, additional contributions from $A\beta_2$ and/or A α were needed to produce the native structure. These results again point out that direct physical interpretation of data obtained by recombination or mutagenesis is not possible.

A second, perhaps more surprising, result involving this class II-class I molecule was the finding that CTL raised to conventional I-A^k molecules could recognize L cells bearing only $A_{\beta 1}^{k}$ and lyse such targets (99). This seems to conflict directly with the results, discussed above, of testing antigen-specific hybridomas for α : β pairing requirements. Consistent with the previous findings, however, the L cells bearing the chimeric molecule fail to act as APC for the I-A^k-restricted T hybridomas requiring $A_{\beta}^{k}: A_{\alpha}^{k}$ pairs (R. Lechler, J. McCluskey, D. Margulies, R. Germain, unpublished observations). CTL from early cycles of stimulation only lyse I-A^k, and not $A_{\beta_1}^k$ -bearing L cells, while CTL from later cycles lyse both types of transfectants; this implies a change in phenotype with time in culture. Although more experiments are needed to explain these results fully, one possibility is that a small number of very high avidity cells are selected by repeated in vitro stimulation. Further, the effective concentration of ligand on the targets of these alloreactive CTL is likely to be significantly higher than on Ia-bearing L cells in the presence of exogenous antigen (119), which is the situation when testing antigen-specific hybridomas. Finally, one assay involves CTL function, the other IL-2 release. The combination of these

factors may permit a detectable "response" to $A_{\beta 1}^{k}$ in the absence of $A\alpha$, even though the actual avidity of interaction is substantially reduced compared to an intact I-A molecule. This would then represent an extreme case of what was seen with the antigen-specific T cells using recombinant $A\beta$ genes or mismatched $\alpha:\beta$ pairs, rather than a different mode of T cell–Ia recognition.

STUDIES USING GENE PRODUCTS WITH LIMITED MUTATIONS To determine the involvement of individual amino acids in generation of serologic epitopes or T-cell-restriction sites on class-II molecules, several groups have begun to analyze the properties of transfectants prepared with class-II genes subjected to site-directed mutagenesis. Alternatively, immunoselected mutants showing limited but reproducible functional differences from wildtype have been analyzed by cloning their class-II genes and carrying out nucleotide sequencing to localize the mutation.

Cohn et al (103) have independently introduced three A_{β}^{k} residues in place of the A^b_b residue at the same position, using oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis. The changes involve Tyr \rightarrow His at position 9, Gly \rightarrow Pro at position 13, and Pro, Gln, Ile \rightarrow -Tyr- at positions 65-67 (where A_{β}^{k} is deleted relative to A_{β}^{b}). These new $A\beta$ genes were cotransfected with or without A^{b}_{α} into Ia^d-positive B-lymphoma cells, and the resultant transfectants were used in panel tests with monoclonal anti-I-A antibodies and I-A^bspecific T cells. No serologic changes were seen with the position 9 or 13 mutants, while some but not all β -dependent antibodies lost reactivity with the 65-67 mutant. The T-cell reactivity results were complex, with six distinct patterns noted. At least two hybridomas distinguished the position 9 vs position 13 mutants, despite their serologic identity. These results led the authors to conclude that multiple distinct regions of class-II molecules are involved in the recognition events of different T cells, and, as was seen in the case of exon and hemi-exon shuffled genes, conformational effects probably are involved in the generation of these multiple sites.

Ronchese and coworkers (120) have utilized site-directed mutagenesis to evaluate the role of the individual amino acid changes involved in the natural bm12 mutation. McIntyre & Seidman (121) demonstrated that this mutation involves three amino acid changes (Ile \rightarrow Phe, Arg \rightarrow Gln, Thr \rightarrow Lys at positions 67, 70, and 71, respectively) in the A^b_β chain. Each of these positions of wild-type A^b_β and A^{bm12}. These A^β genes were cotransfected with A^b_α into L cells, and suitably expressing clones were isolated. Staining with three monoclonal antibodies that discriminate between the parent and mutant molecule showed that the Arg \rightarrow Gln substitution at position 70 was of critical importance for this serologic distinction, and the residues at 67 and 71 had little or no effect on binding. A very different picture emerged when T-cell hybridomas restricted to either I-A^b or I-A^{bm12} were tested. Only one of five such T cells showed reactivity approaching the level of the intact b or bm12 when any of the three positions was changed. These data indicate that all three residues contribute strongly to the structural features of I-A involved in antigen presentation to T cells. Thus, not only do changes in widely separated regions of the linear sequence of A β have effects on Ia function, but multiple residues in a small area can all play major roles in T cell–recognition events.

Results consistent with the above have been obtained by analyzing the A β genes of immunoselected mutant-B-lymphoma cells. Glimcher et al (122) derived a series of such mutants by treatment of the TA3 (H- $2^{a} \times$ H-2^d) cell with ethanemethylsulfonate, followed by negative selection with one monoclonal anti-I-A antibody plus C, then positive selection with a second monoclonal anti-I-A. Brown et al (123) have cloned and functionally characterized the A_{β}^{k} gene from one such cell created using an anti- A_{β}^{k} monoclonal for negative selection. For the A19 mutant cell line, there was a single nucleotide change in the relevant β_1 domain, changing Gly⁶⁷ \rightarrow Lys. Transfection of an exon-shuffled gene containing this mutant A_{B1} domain and the remainder of A^d_{β} showed that this change accounted for the altered reactivity with antibodies and for the limited changes previously noted for A19 APC function. The fact that a mutation in this region had no discernible effect in activating some I-A^k restricted cells, while leading to a complete failure to stimulate others, again indicates either multiple regions on I-A seen differently by distinct T cells or sufficiently great differences in avidity for a single site that the response of one cell becomes unmeasurable, while the other still responds. Careful antigen dose-response analysis using transfectants bearing equal amounts of wild-type or mutant I-A will help distinguish between these possibilities.

Other groups have also begun studying transfectants created using genes bearing site-directed mutations. B. Malissen has analyzed linker-insertion mutants of the E_{β}^{k} gene and found that a single antibody reactivity can be affected by changes at either position 24 or 93 (manuscript in preparation). Some T cells respond normally to mutants at either position, while others fail to respond to changes at position 24. D. Mathis and C. Benoist (personal communication) have created mutants of the A_{α}^{k} molecule and find that a change in amino acid 75 to the A_{α}^{b} allelic residue causes loss of reactivity with both 39C and 39J antibodies, even though these monoclonals show distinct cross-reactivities on a panel of allogeneic haplotypes (124). Again, these results point to the crucial role of chain pairing and
308 GERMAIN & MALISSEN

folding (i.e. three-dimensional configuration, not linear sequence) in creating B and T cell-recognition sites on class-II molecules.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

DMGT has proved to be an extraordinarily valuable methodology for the analysis of expression and function of class-II MHC genes. Specific segments of the noncoding DNA surrounding these genes have been identified as playing critical roles in tissue-specific expression and the response to lymphokines such as γ -IFN. The importance of cellular environment, in addition to DNA-sequence and mediator-receptor activity, has been documented for class-II-gene transcriptional activity. Some previously held views concerning Ia expression, such as the requirement for $\alpha:\beta$ chain pairing prior to membrane expression, have been confirmed, while others have been challenged, particularly those regarding expression of haplotype- or isotype-mismatched $\alpha:\beta$ pairs. The possibility that invariant chain is not required for transport of Ia to the plasma membrane has been raised by several studies.

Serologic analyses of the expressed products of transfected MHC genes have provided a clearer definition of the regions of class-II molecules controlling the epitopes seen by antibodies. Perhaps unexpected was the apparently rare involvement of polymorphic sites on more than one domain in the creation of such epitopes. At the same time, direct evidence for important structural interactions between domains was provided by analyses of class II-class I chimeric molecules or unusual recombinant A_{β} - A_{α} pairs. The use of nonhematopoietic recipient cells for class-II gene transfer resulted in additional insights into the physiology of APC function and the role of nonclonotypic membrane molecules such as LFA-1 or L3T4 \sim in T cell-APC interaction.

Attempts to define the regions of class-II molecules involved in allorecognition or MHC-restricted antigen recognition by T cells have been both rewarding and problematic. The expected special role of the highly polymorphic α_1 and β_1 class-II domains in T-cell recognition has been amply documented by this approach. At the same time, efforts to define particular subregions or residues within these domains as "the" critical one(s) involved in the recognition process have led to conclusions anticipated by earlier studies on spontaneous K^b mutants and by antibody blocking. It is now clear that the α_1 and β_1 portions of class-II molecules (as for the α_1 and α_2 domains of class-I molecules) interact to produce multiple complex combinational or conformational sites with distinct involvement in responses of individual T lymphocytes. While some of this complexity may be more apparent than real and may disappear as more data are gathered, such findings nonetheless imply that other techniques will be required for determining how T-cell receptors, antigen, and MHC molecules physically perform their roles in the recognition process. Furthermore, the results of analyzing one model system in this regard may not give an answer entirely generalizable to another.

One satisfying outcome of the work to date on MHC structure-function relationships is the close concordance between studies on class-I and class-II genes. It has been repeatedly noted (see 2, 3) that in their membrane forms both molecules consist of four extracellular domains, three of which have internal S-S bonds and two of which, membrane-proximal domains, show significant homology to immunoglobulin constant regions. The data from exon-shuffling studies and α : β pairing studies support the view that class I α_1 and α_2 and class II α_1 and β_1 domains are functionally equivalent, interacting in each case to form a quaternary structure seen by the T-cell receptor in a highly specific manner. This view implies that recognition by class I-restricted vs class II-restricted T cells is fundamentally the same process, differing only in fine specificity and consistent with the emerging data on shared V_β and V_α receptor gene usage by T cells of both restriction types (125).

With little doubt the next few years will see a rapid accumulation of data refining the mapping studies reviewed here on regulatory or functional regions of class-II MHC genes and their products. Even without new physical data on protein structure, the extensive cataloging of mutational variation vs functional effects is likely to lead to new insights into the relationships among protein sequence, molecular assembly/expression, and the events of T-cell receptor and/or antigen binding to MHC products. An increasing number of new (transgenic) mouse strains possessing unique MHC phenotypes will become available for dissecting the role of the MHC-gene products in determining the expressed T-cell repertoire and Ir phenotype. The excitement generated by the initial application of DMGT to the analyses of MHC genes has continued unabated, and the prospects for substantive progress in our understanding of these immunologically critical genes and molecules through application of this approach are excellent.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to express their sincere thanks to the numerous colleagues who provided access to unpublished, submitted, or in press material, permitting us to make this review as timely as possible. Our thanks also to Ms. Shirley Starnes for her excellent editorial assistance.

310 GERMAIN & MALISSEN

Literature Cited

- Klein, J. 1975. Biology of the Mouse Histocompatibility-2 Complex. Berlin: Springer-Verlag
- Kaufman, J. F., Auffray, C., Korman, A. J., Shackelford, D. A., Strominger, J. 1984. The class II molecules of the human and murine major histocompatibility complex. *Cell* 36:1
- Hood, L., Steinmetz, M., Malissen, B. 1983. Genes of the major histocompatibility complex of the mouse. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1: 529
- 4. Collins, T., Korman, A. J., Wake, C. T., Boss, J. M., Kappes, D. J., Fiers, W., Ault, K. A., Gimbrone, M. A. Jr., Strominger, J. L., Pober, J. S. 1984. Immune interferon activates multiple class II major histocompatibility complex genes and the associated invariant chain gene in human endothelial cells and dermal fibroblasts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:4917
- Londei, M., Lamb, J. R., Bottazzo, G. F., Feldmann, M. 1984. Epithelial cells expressing aberrant MHC class II determinants can present antigen to cloned human T cells. *Nature* 312:639
- Choi, E., McIntyre, K., Germain, R. N., Seidman, J. G. 1983. Murine I-Aβ chain polymorphism: Nucleotide sequences of three allelic I-Aβ genes. *Science* 221: 283
- Malissen, M., Hunkapiller, T., Hood, L. 1983. Nucleotide sequences of a light chain gene of the mouse I-A subregion: A^d_B. Science 211:750
- 8. Larhammar, D., Hammerling, U., Denaro, M., Lund, T., Flavell, R. A., Rask, L., Peterson, P. A. 1983. Structure of the murine immune response I- $A\beta$ locus: Sequence of the I- $A\beta$ gene and an adjacent β -chain second domain exon. *Cell* 34:179
- Benoist, C. O., Mathis, D. J., Kanter, M. R., Williams, V. E. II, McDevitt, H. O. 1983. Regions of allelic hypervariability in the murine Aα immune response gene. Cell 34:169
- Landais, D., Matthes, H., Benoist, C., Mathis, D. 1985. A molecular basis for the Ia.2 and Ia.19 antigenic determinants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82: 2930
- Saito, H., Maki, R. A., Clayton, L. K., Tonegawa, S. 1983. Complete primary structures of the Eβ chain and gene of the mouse major histocompatibility complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:5520
- 12. Denaro, M., Hammerling, U., Rask, L., Peterson, P. A. 1984. The $E\beta$ gene may

have acted as the donor gene in a geneconversion like event generating the A_{b}^{am12} -mutant, *EMBO J.* 3:2029

- A^{bm12}-mutant. EMBO J. 3:2029
 Widera, G., Flavell, R. A. 1984. The nucleotide sequence of the murine I-E^b_μ immune response gene: Evidence for gene conversion events in class II genes of the major histocompatibility complex. EMBO J. 3:1221
- 14. Mengle-Gaw, L., McDevitt, H. O. 1983. Isolation and characterization of a cDNA clone for the murine $E\beta$ polypeptide chain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 80:7621
- Mengle-Gaw, L., Conner, S., McDevitt, H. O., Fathman, C. G. 1984. Gene conversion between murine class II major histocompatibility complex loci. Functional and molecular evidence from the bm12 mutant. J. Exp. Med. 160:1184
- Mathis, D. J., Benoist, C. O., Williams, V. E. II, Kanter, M. R., McDevitt, H. O. 1983. The murine Eα immune response gene. *Cell* 32: 745
- McNicholas, J., Steinmetz, H., Hunkapiller, T., Jones, P., Hood, L. 1982. DNA sequence of the gene encoding the Eα Ia polypeptide of the BALB/c mouse. Science 218:1229
- Lee, J. S., Trowsdale, J., Bodmer, W. F. 1982. cDNA clones coding for the heavy chain of human HLA-DR antigen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:545
- Korman, A. J., Auffray, C., Schamboeck, A., Strominger, J. L. 1982. The amino acid sequence and gene organization of the heavy chain of the HLA-DR antigen: Homology to immunoglobulins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:6013
- Auffray, C., Korman, A. J., Roux-Dosseto, M., Bono, R., Strominger, J. L. 1982. cDNA clone for the heavy chain of the human B cell alloantigen DC1: Strong sequence homology to the HLA-DR heavy chain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:6337
- Auffray, C., Lillie, J. W., Arnot, D., Grossberger, D., Kappes, D., Strominger, J. L. 1984. Isotypic and allotypic variation of human class II histocompatibility antigen α-chain genes. *Nature* 308:327
- 22. Trowsdale, J., Kelly, A., Lee, J., Carson, S., Austin, P., Travers, P. 1984. Linkage map of two HLA-SBβ and two HLA-SBα-related genes: An intron in one of the SBβ genes contains a processed pseudogene. Cell 38:241
- Servenius, B., Gustafsson, K., Widmark, E., Emmoth, E., Andersson, G., Larhammar, D., Rask, L., Peterson, P.

A. 1984. Molecular map of the human HLA-SB (HLA-DP) region and sequence of an SB α (DP α) pseudogene. *EMBO J.* 3: 3209

- 24. Spielman, S. R., Lee, J., Bodmer, W. F., Bodmer, J. G., Trowsdale, J. 1984. Six HLA-D region α chain genes on human chromosome 6: Polymorphisms and associations of DCα-related sequences with DR types. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:3461
- Wiman, K., Larhammar, D., Claesson, L., Gustafsson, K., Schenning, L., Bill, P., Böhme, J., Denaro, M., Dobberstein, B., Hammerling, U., Kvist, S., Servenius, B., Sundellen, J., Peterson, P., Rask, L. 1982. Isolation and identification of a cDNA clone corresponding to an HLA-DR antigen β chain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:1703
- 26. Long, E. O., Wake, C. T., Strubin, H., Gross, N., Acolla, R. S., Carrell, S., Mach, B. 1982. Isolation of distinct cDNA clones encoding HLA-DRβ chains by use of an expression assay. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:7465
- 27. Larhammar, D., Schenning, L., Gustafsson, K., Wiman, K., Claesson, L., Rask, L., Peterson, P. A. 1982. Complete amino acid sequence of an HLA-DR antigen-like β-chain as predicted from the nucleotide sequence: Similarities with immunoglobulins and HLA-A, -B, and -C antigens. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:3687
- Okada, K., Boss, J. M., Prentice, H., Spies, T., Mengler, R., Auffray, C., Lillie, J., Grossberger, D., Strominger, J. L. 1985. Gene organization of DC and DX subregions of the human major histocompatibility complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82: In press
- Gustafsson, K., Emmoth, E., Widmark, E., Böhme, J., Peterson, P. A., Rask, L. 1984. Isolation of a cDNA clone coding for an SB β-chain. Nature 309:76
- Roux-Dosseto, M., Auffray, C., Lillie, J. W., Boss, J. M., Cohen, D., DeMars, R., Mawas, C., Seidman, J. G., Strominger, J. L. 1983. Genetic mapping of a human class II antigen β-chain cDNA clone to the SB region of the HLA complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:6036
- Tonnelle, C., Demars, R., Long, E. O. 1985. DOβ: A new β chain gene in HLA-D with a distinct regulation of expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. In press
- Steinmetz, M., Minard, K., Horvath, S., McNicholas, J., Frelinger, J., Wake, C., Long, E., Mach, B., Hood, L. 1982. A molecular map of the immune response region from the major histocompatibi-

lity complex of the mouse. *Nature* 300: 35

- 33. Steinmetz, M. 1985. Structural and functional studies of mouse class II genes. In Human Class II Histocompatibility Antigens, ed. S. Ferrone. Berlin: Springer-Verlag. In press
- 34. Devlin, J. J., Wake, C. T., Allen, H., Widera, G., Mellor, A., Fahrner, K., Weiss, E., Flavell, R. A. 1984. In Regulation of the Immune System, ed. H. Cantor, L. Chess, E. Sercarz, pp. 57-66. New York: Liss
- Kobori, J. A., Winoto, A., McNicholas, J., Hood, L. 1984. Molecular characterization of the recombinant region of six murine major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I-region recombinants. J. Mol. Cell. Immunol. 1:125
- Morrison, S. L., Oi, V. T. 1984. Transfer and expression of immunoglobulin genes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:239
- Wigler, M., Sweet, R., Sim, G.-K., Wold, B., Pellicer, A., Lacy, E., Maniatis, T., Silverstein, S., Axel, R. 1979. Transformation of mammalian cells with genes from procaryotes and eucaryotes. *Cell* 16:777
- Scangos, G., Ruddle, F. H. 1981. Mechanisms and applications of DNAmediated gene transfer in mammalian cells—a review. Gene 14:1
- 39. Sandri-Goldin, R. M., Goldin, A. L., Levine, M., Glorioso, J. C. 1981. High frequency transfer of cloned herpes simplex virus Type 1 sequences to mammalian cells by protoplast fusion. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 1:743
- Oi, V. T., Morrison, S. L., Herzenberg, L. A., Berg, P. 1983. Immunoglobulin gene expression in transformed lymphoid cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:825
- Capecchi, M. R. 1980. High efficiency transformation by direct microinjection of DNA into cultured mammalian cells. *Cell* 22:479
- 42. Potter, H., Weir, L., Leder, P. 1984. Enhancer-dependent expression of human k-immunoglobulin genes introduced into mouse pre-B cells by electroporation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:7161
- Panicali, D., Davis, S. W., Weinberg, R. L., Paoletti, E. 1983. Construction of live vaccines by using genetically engineered pox viruses: Biological activity of recombinant vaccinia virus expressing influenza virus hemagglutinin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:5364
- Smith, G. L., Murphy, B. R., Moss, B. 1983. Construction and characterization of an infectious vaccinia virus

312 GERMAIN & MALISSEN

recombinant that expresses the influenza hemagglutinin gene and induces resistance to influenza virus infection in hamsters. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:7155

- Cepko, C. L., Roberts, B. E., Mulligan, R. C. 1984. Construction and applications of a highly transmissible murine retrovirus shuttle vector. *Cell* 37:1053
- Miller, A. D., Law, M.-F., Verma, I. M. 1985. Generation of helper-free amphotropic retroviruses that transduce a dominant-acting, methotrexate-resistant dihydrofolate reductase gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 5:431
- Episkopou, V., Murphy, A. J. M., Efstratiadis, A. 1984. Cell-specified expression of a selectable hybrid gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 51:4657
- Bennick, J. R., Yewdell, J. W., Smith, G. L., Moller, C., Moss, B. 1984. Recombinant vaccinia virus primes and stimulates hemagglutinin-specific cytotoxic T cells. *Nature* 311: 578
- Southern, P. J., Berg, P. 1982. Transformation of mammalian cells to antibiotic resistance with a bacterial gene under control of the SV40 early region promoter. J. Mol. Appl. Genet. 1:327
- Mulligan, R. C., Berg, P. 1981. Selection for animal cells that express the Escherichia coli gene coding for xanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78:2072
- 51. Berman, J. W., Basch, R. S., Pellicer, A. 1984. Gene transfer in lymphoid cells: Expression of the Thy 1.2 antigen by Thy 1.1 BW5147 lymphoma cells transfected with unfractionated cellular DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81: 7176
- 52. Kavathas, P., Sukhatme, V. P., Herzenberg, L. A., Parnes, J. R. 1984. Isolation of the gene coding for the human T lymphocyte antigen Leu-2(T8) by gene transfer and cDNA subtraction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:7685
- Littman, D. R., Thomas, Y., Maddon, P. J., Chess, L., Axel, R. 1985. The isolation and sequence of the gene encoding T8: A molecule defining functional classes of T lymphocytes. *Cell* 40:237
- 54. Malissen, B., Peele-Price, M., Goverman, J. M., McMillan, M., White, J., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Pierres, F., Pierres, M., Hood, L. 1984. Gene transfer of H2 class II genes: Antigen presentation by mouse fibroblast and hamster B cell lines. *Cell* 36:319
- 55. Norcross, M. A., Raghupathy, R., Strominger, J. L., Germain, R. N. 1985. Expression of a mouse Ia gene by

human B-lymphoblastoid cells. Submitted

- Germain, R. N., Norcross, M. A., Margulies, D. H. 1983. Functional expression of a transfected murine class II MHC gene. *Nature* 306:190
- Ben-Nun, A., Glimcher, L. H., Weiss, J., Seidman, J. G. 1984. Functional expression of a cloned I-A^k_B gene in B lymphoma cells. Science 223:825
- 58. Folsom, V., Gold, D. P., White, J., Marrack, P., Kappler, J., Tonegawa, S. 1984. Functional and inducible expression of a transfected murine class II major histocompatibility complex gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:2045
- Ben-Nun, A., Choi, E., McIntyre, K. R., Leeman, S. A., McKean, D. J., Seidman, J. G., Glimcher, L. H. 1985. DNA-Mediated transfer of major histocompatibility class II I-A^b and I-A^{bm12} genes into B lymphoma cells: Molecular and functional analysis of introduced antigens. J. Immunol. 135:1456
- Rabourdin-Combe, C., Mach, B. 1983. Expression of HLA-DR antigens at the surface of mouse L cells cotransfected with cloned human genes. *Nature* 303: 670
- Malissen, B., Steinmetz, M., McMillan, M., Pierres, M., Hood, L. 1983. Expression of I-A^k molecules in mouse L cells after DNA-mediated gene transfer. *Nature* 305:440
- 62. Norcross, M. A., Bentley, D. M., Margulies, D. H., Germain, R. N. 1984. Membrane Ia expression and antigenpresenting accessory cell function of L cells transfected with class II major histocompatibility complex genes. J. Exp. Med. 160:1316
- Koch, N., Harris, A. W. 1984. Differential expression of the invariant chain in mouse tumor cells: Relationship to B lymphoid development. J. Immunol. 132:12
- Gillies, S. D., Folsom, V., Tonegawa, S. 1984. Cell type-specific enhancer element associated with a mouse MHC gene, Eβ. Nature 310: 594
- 65. LeMeur, M., Gerlinger, P., Benoist, C., Mathis, D. 1985. Correcting an immuneresponse deficiency by creating Eα gene transgenic mice. *Nature* 316:38
- 66. Yamamura, K. I., Kikutani, H., Folsom, V., Clayton, L. K., Kimoto, M., Akira, S., Kashiwamura, S.-I., Tonegawa, S., Kishimoto, T. 1985. Functional expression of a microinjected E^d_α gene in C57BL/6 transgenic mice. *Nature* 316:67
- Pinkert, C. A., Widera, G., Cowing, C., Heber-Katz, E., Palmiter, R. D., Flavell,

R. A., Brinster, R. L. 1985. Tissuespecific, inducible, and functional expression of the E_a^d MHC class II gene in transgenic mice. *EMBO J*. In press

- McCluskey, J., Germain, R. N., Margulies, D. H. 1985. Cell surface expression of an in vitro recombinant class II/class I major histocompatibility complex gene product. Cell 40:247
- Robinson, R. R., Germain, R. N., McKean, D. J., Mescher, M., Seidman, J. G. 1983. Extensive polymorphism surrounding the murine Ia Aβ chain gene. J. Immunol. 131:2025
- Gluzman, Y. 1981. SV-40 transformed simian cells support the replication of early SV40 mutants. *Cell* 23:175
- Fathman, C. G., Kimoto, M. 1981. Studies utilizing murine T cell clones: Ir genes, Ia antigens, and MLR stimulating determinants. *Immunol. Rev.* 54:57
- Silver, J., Swain, S. L., Hubert, J. J. 1980. Small subunit of I-A subregion antigen determines the allospecificity recognized by monoclonal antibody. *Nature* 286:272
- McNicholas, J. M., Murphy, D. B., Matis, L. A., Schwartz, R. H., Lerner, E. A., Janeway, C. A. Jr., Jones, P. P. 1982. Immune response gene function correlates with the expression of an Ia antigen. I. Preferential association of certain Ae and Eα chains results in a quantitative deficiency in expression of an Ae: Eα complex. J. Exp. Med. 155: 490
- 74. Conrad, P. J., Lerner, E. A., Murphy, D. B., Jones, P. P., Janeway, C. A. Jr. 1982. Differential expression of Ia glycoprotein complexes in F1 hybrid mice detected with alloreactive cloned T cell lines. J. Immunol. 129:2616
- Lerner, E. A., Matis, L. A., Janeway, C. A. Jr., Jones, P. P., Schwartz, R. H., Murphy, D. B. 1980. Monoclonal antibody against an Ir gene product? J. Exp. Med. 152:1085
- Germain, R. N., Bentley, D. B., Quill, H. 1985. Influence of allelic polymorphism on the assembly and surface expression of class II MHC (Ia) molecules. *Cell*. In press
- Murphy, D. B., Jones, P. P., Loken, M. R., McDevitt, H. O. 1980. Interaction between I region loci influences expression of a cell surface Ia antigen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77:5404
- Gilman, S. C., Rosenberg, J. S., Feldman, J. D. 1983. Inhibition of interleukin synthesis and T cell proliferation by a monoclonal anti-Ia antibody. J. Immunol. 130:1236
- 79. Palacios, R., Martinez-Maza, D.,

Guy, K. 1983. Monoclonal antibodies against HLA-DR antigens replace T helper cells in activation of B lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80: 3456

- Lechler, R. I., Norcross, M. A., Germain, R. N. 1985. Qualitative and quantitative studies of antigen presenting cell function using I-A expressing L cells. J. Immunol. 135:2914
- Shastri, N., Malissen, B., Hood, L. 1985. Ia transfected L-cell fibroblasts present a lysozyme peptide, but not the native protein to lysozyme-specific T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:5885
- Watts, T. H., Brian, A. B., Kappler, J. W., Marrack, P., McConnell, H. M. 1984. Antigen presentation by supported planar membranes containing affinity purified I-A⁴. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:7564
- Shimonkevitz, R., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Grey, H. 1983. Antigen recognition by H-2 restricted T cells. I. Cell-free antigen processing. J. Exp. Med. 158: 303
- Ziegler, K., Unanue, E. R. 1981. Identification of a macrophage antigen processing event required for I-region restricted antigen-presentation to T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 127:1869
- 85. Matis, L. A., Jones, P. P., Murphy, D. B., Hedrick, S. M., Lerner, E. A., Janeway, C. A. Jr., McNicholas, J. M., Schwartz, R. H. 1982. Immune response gene function correlates with expression of an Ia antigen. II. A quantitative deficiency in Ae: Eα complex expression causes a corresponding defect in antigen-presenting cell function. J. Exp. Med. 155: 508
- 86. Matis, L. A., Glimcher, L. H., Paul, W. E., Schwartz, R. H. 1983. Magnitude of response of histocompatibilityrestricted T-cell clones is a function of the product of the concentrations of antigen and Ia molecules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:6019
- 87. Janeway, C. A. Jr., Bottomly, K., Babich, J., Conrad, P., Conzen, S., Jones, B., Kaye, J., Katz, M., McVay, L., Murphy, D. B., Tite, J. 1984. Quantitative variation in Ia antigen expression plays a central role in immune regulation. *Immunol. Today* 5:99
- 88. Sanchez-Madrid, F., Nagy, J. A., Robbins, E., Simon, P., Springer, T. A. 1983. A human leukocyte differentiation antigen family with distinct alpha subunits and a common beta subunit: The lymphocyte function-associated antigen (LFA-1), the C3bi complement receptor (OKM1/Mac-1), and the

314 GERMAIN & MALISSEN

p150,95 molecule. J. Exp. Med. 158: 1785

- Pierres, M., Goridis, C., Golstein, P. 1982. Inhibition of murine T cell mediated cytolysis and T cell proliferation by a rat monoclonal antibody immunoprecipitating two lymphoid cell surface polypeptides of 94,000 and 180,000 molecular weight. Eur. J. Immunol. 12: 60
- Golde, W. T., Kappler, J. W., Greenstein, J. L., Malissen, B., Hood, L., Marrack, P. 1985. Major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells. VIII. Role of the LFA-1 molecule. J. Exp. Med. 161:635
- 91. Naquet, P., Malissen, B., Pont, S., Pierres, A., Bekkhoucha, F., Hood, L., Pierres, M. 1985. Functional properties of mouse L cells transfected with H-2 class II genes. I. L3T4 but not LFA-1 molecules participate in antigen presentation by I-A^k-positive L cell transformants. Immunogenetics. In press
- 92. Cowan, E. P., Coligan, J. E., Biddison, W. E. 1985. Human cytotoxic Tlymphocyte recognition of an HLA-A3 gene product expressed on murine L cells: The only human gene product required on the target cells for lysis is the class I heavy chain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:4490
- 93. Dialynas, D. P., Quan, Z. S., Wall, K. A., Pierres, A., Quintans, J., Loken, M. R., Pierres, M., Fitch, F. W. 1984. Characterization of the murine T cell surface molecule, designated L3T4, identified by monoclonal antibody Gk1.5: Similarity of L3T4 to the human Leu 3/T4 molecule. J. Immunol. 131: 2445
- 94. Swain, S. L. 1981. Significance of Lyt phenotypes: Lyt-2 antibodies block activities of T cells that recognize class I major histocompatibility complex antigens regardless of their function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:7107
- 95. Biddison, W. E., Rao, P. E., Talle, M. A., Goldstein, G., Shaw, S. 1982. Possible involvement of the OKT4 molecule in T cell recognition of class II HLA antigens. Evidence from studies of cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for SB antigens. J. Exp. Med. 156:1065
- Marrack, P., Endres, R., Shimonkevitz, R., Zlotnik, A., Dialynas, D., Fitch, F., Kappler, J. 1983. The major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells. II. Role of the L3T4 product. J. Exp. Med. 158:1077
- Greenstein, J. L., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Burakoff, S. J. 1984. The role of L3T4 in recognition of Ia by a cytotoxic H-2^d-specific T cell hybridoma. J. Exp.

Med. 159:1213

- Greenstein, J., Malissen, B., Burakoff, S. 1985. Role of L3T4 in antigen-driven activation of a class I-specific T cell hybridoma. J. Exp. Med. 162:369
- Golding, H., McCluskey, J., Munitz, T. I., Germain, R. N., Margulies, D. H., Singer, A. 1985. T cell recognition of a chimeric class II/class I MHC molecule and the role of L3T4. *Nature* 317:425
- 100. Gorski, J., Tosi, R., Strubin, M., Rabourdin-Combe, C., Mach, B. 1985. Serological and immunochemical analysis of the products of a single HLA-DR- α and DR- β chain gene expressed in a mouse cell line after DNA-mediated cotransformation reveals that the chain carries a known supertypic specificity. J. Exp. Med. 162:105
- 101. Austin, P., Trowsdale, J., Rudd, C., Bodmer, W., Feldman, M., Lamb, J. 1985. Functional expression of HLA-DP genes transfected into mouse fibroblasts. *Nature* 313:61
- 102. Okada, K., Prentice, H. L., Boss, J. M., Levy, D. J., Kappes, D., Spies, T., Raghupathy, R., Mengler, R. A., Auffray, C., Strominger, J. L. 1985. SB subregion of the human histocompatibility complex: Gene organization, allelic polymorphism, and expression in transformed cells. EMBO J. 4:739
- 103. Cohn, L. E., Glimcher, L. H., Waldmann, R. A., Smith, J., Ben-Nun, A., Seidman, J. G., Choi, E. 1985. Location of functional regions of the I-A^b molecule by site-directed mutagenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* In press
- 104. Wegmann, D. R., Roeder, W. D., Shutter, J. R., Chiller, J. M., Maki, R. A. 1985. Transfection of modified class II genes allows localization of T cell restriction epitopes. Submitted
- 105. Beck, B. N., Frelinger, J. A., Shigeta, M., Infante, A. J., Cummings, D., Hammerling, G., Fathman, C. G. 1982. T cell clones specific for hybrid I-A molecules. Discrimination with monoclonal anti-I-A^k antibodies. J. Exp. Med. 156:1186
- 106. Lechler, R. I., Ronchese, F., Braunstein, N. S., Germain, R. N. 1985. I-A restricted T cell antigen recognition: Analysis of the roles of $A\alpha$ and $A\beta$ using DNA-mediated gene transfer. Submitted
- 107. Evans, G. A., Margulies, D. H., Shykind, B., Seidman, J. G., Ozato, K. 1982. Exon-shuffling: Mapping polymorphic determinants on hybrid mouse transplantation antigens. *Nature* 300: 755
- Allen, H., Wraith, D., Pala, P., Askonas, B., Flavell, R. A. 1984. Domain inter-

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:281-315. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

actions of H-2 class I antigens alter cytotoxic T cell recognition sites. *Nature* 309:279

- 109. Folsom, V., Gay, D., Tonegawa, S. 1985. The β1 domain of the mouse Eβ chain is important for restricted antigen presentation to helper T-cell hybridomas. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 1678
- 110. Germain, R. N., Ashwell, J. D., Lechler, R. I., Margulies, D. H., Nickerson, K. M., Suzuki, G., Tou, J. Y. L. 1985. "Exon-shuffling" maps control of antibody and T-cell recognition sites to the NH₂-terminal domain of the class II major histocompatibility polypeptide Aβ. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 2940
- 111. Benacerraf, B. 1978. A hypothesis to relate the specificity of T lymphocytes and the activity of I region-specific Ir genes in macrophages and B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 120:1809
- 112. Heber-Katz, E., Hansburg, D., Schwartz, R. H. 1983. The Ia molecule of the antigen-presenting cell plays a critical role in immune response gene regulation of T cell activation. J. Mol. Cell. Immunol. 1:3
- . 113. Werdelin, O. 1982. Chemically related antigens compete for presentation by accessory cells to T cells. J. Immunol. 129:1883
 - 114. Rock, K. L., Benacerraf, B. 1983. Inhibition of antigen-specific T lymphocyte activation by structurally related Ir gene-controlled polymers. J. Exp. Med. 157: 1618
 - 115. Babbit, B. P., Allen, P. M., Matseuda, G., Haber, E., Unanue, E. R. 1985. The binding of immunogenic peptides to Ia histocompatibility molecules. *Nature* 317:359
 - 116. Burger, R., Shevach, E. M. 1980. Monoclonal antibodies to guinea pig Ia antigens. II. Effect on alloantigen-, antigen-, and mitogen-induced T lymphocyte proliferation in vitro. J. Exp. Med. 152: 1011
 - Frelinger, J. G., Shigeta, M., Infante, A. J., Nelson, P. A., Pierres, M., Fathman, C. G. 1984. Multiple functional sites on

a single Ia molecule defined using T cell clones and antibodies with chaindetermined specificity. J. Exp. Med. 159:704

- 118. Needleman, B. W., Pierres, M., Devaux, C. A., Dwyer, P. N., Finnegan, A., Sachs, D. H., Hodes, R. J. 1984. An analysis of functional T cell recognition sites on I-E molecules. J. Immunol. 133:589
- 119. Bevan, M. J. 1984. High determinant density may explain the phenomenon of alloreactivity. *Immunol. Today* 5:128
- 120. Ronchese, F., Brown, M. A., Germain, R. N. 1985. Functional dissection of the A^{bm12}_β gene product by site-directed mutagenesis and gene transfer. Submitted
- 121. McIntyre, K. R., Seidman, J. G. 1984, Nucleotide sequence of mutant I-A^{bm12} gene is evidence for genetic exchange between mouse immune response genes. *Nature* 308:551
- 122. Glimcher, L. H., Hamano, T., Asofsky, R., Sachs, D. H., Pierres, M., Samelson, L., Sharrow, S. O., Paul, W. E. 1983. Ia mutant functional antigen-presenting cell lines. J. Immunol. 130: 2287
- 123. Brown, M. A., Glimcher, L. H., Nielsen, E. A., Paul, W. E., Germain, R. N. 1985. A single amino acid substitution selectively alters T cell recognition of Ia molecules. *Science*. In press
- 124. Pierres, M., Devaux, C., Dosseto, M., Marchetto, S. 1981. Clonal analysis of B- and T-cell responses to Ia antigens. I. Topology of epitope regions on I-A^k and I-E^k molecules analyzed with 35 monoclonal antibodies. *Immunogene*tics 14:481
- 125. Rupp, F., Acha-Orbea, H., Hengartner, H., Zinkernagel, R., Joho, R. 1985. Identical V β T-cell receptor genes used in alloreactive cytotoxic and antigen plus I-A specific helper T cells. *Nature* 315:425
- 126. Germain, R. N., Quill, H. 1985. Unexpected expression by L cell transfectants of a unique mixed-isotope (A:E) class II MHC molecule. *Nature*. In press



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE- REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 317-38

THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF *c-myc* IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS'

Kathleen Kelly

Immunology Branch, National Cancer Institute, Building 10, 4B-17, Bethesda, Maryland 20205

Ulrich Siebenlist

Laboratory of Immunoregulation, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, Building 10, 11B-05, Bethesda, Maryland 20205

INTRODUCTION

Lymphocytes exist in a dynamic state that alternates between small quiescent cells and large, antigen-activated, proliferating cells. Their failure to activate properly or to turn off a proliferative program is a likely step in the development of lymphoid malignancies. Understanding the genetic mechanisms that regulate the expression of the alternately quiescent and activated phenotypes is a fundamental question for immunology and oncology. Significant progress in the identification of DNA elements that appear to play a role in the regulation of proliferation and differentiation has come about as a consequence of the isolation of oncogenes, pieces of genetic information that are involved in the malignant transformation of cells.

Oncogenes were first isolated as part of the small genomes of rare RNA tumor viruses, called *acute transforming retroviruses*. These viruses efficiently transform cells in culture and in animals. Acute retroviruses are

¹ The US Government has the right to retain a nonexclusive, royalty-free license in and to any copyright covering this paper.

distinct from slow transforming retroviruses that, by contrast, do not possess oncogenes. Accordingly, slow viruses are common in nature, do not transform cells in culture, and only rarely cause tumors in vivo.

Normal vertebrate cells contain similar, but nonidentical, copies of the oncogenes carried by the acute retroviruses. These cellular genes, therefore, have been termed *cellular oncogenes* (*c-oncs*) or *proto-oncogenes*. It has become clear that viral oncogenes arose as a consequence of genetic recombination between slow retroviruses and cellular oncogenes (1). Unlike viral oncogenes, however, proto-oncogenes do not transform cells. On the contrary, proto-oncogenes are widely expressed in normal cells and are thought to be fundamental to cellular metabolism. However, a role for oncogenes in spontaneous transformation has been strongly suggested by the finding that tumor cells often possess proto-oncogenes that are genetically altered, compared to a normal cellular counterpart from the same individual.

In this review, we focus on the role of one particular oncogene, c-myc, in both normal and neoplastic growth. In almost all differentiated cell types, cmyc is ubiquitously expressed. Structural alterations in the c-myc gene and abnormal expression associated with them have been observed in numerous tumors, most often B- and T-cell malignancies. In addition, c-myc expression is differentially regulated in resting versus activated cells; lymphocytes are one such model system. The regulation of c-myc gene expression is discussed as it relates to lymphoid and other cell types.

Data obtained from three experimental strategies that provide clues concerning the role of c-myc in normal and neoplastic proliferation are reviewed. These strategies include the following models: (a) naturally arising cancers that show associated alterations in c-myc, (b) normal and malignant cells whose growth state can be experimentally manipulated and correlated with c-myc expression, and (c) cultured cells and transgenomic mice harboring exogenously introduced myc sequences. Such model systems support a picture in which c-myc gene expression is highly regulated and intimately involved in the proliferative response of a number of cell types and can, when abnormally expressed, play a causative role in malignant transformation.

Structure of v- and c-myc

MC29 is the prototype avian defective retrovirus that carries the transforming v-myc sequence (2). Three additional replication-defective, oncogenic avian retroviruses (CMII, OK10, and MH2) have been classified with MC29 on the basis that they also possess common myc sequences (2). The transforming gene of MC29 has been shown to be a genetic hybrid composed of a partial retroviral structural gene, delta gag, linked to the vmyc sequence (3). Delta gag-myc gene proteins are thought to be encoded by CMII and OK10 (4). In contrast to the single oncogenes carried by MC29, CMII, and OK10, the MH2 virus encodes two cellular-derived sequences, delta gag-mil and myc (5, 6). The v-myc gene carried by the MC29 family of viruses is composed predominantly of sequences derived from the last two chicken c-myc exons.

The mature message for the *c-myc* oncogene is composed of three exons in man (7), mouse (8), and chicken (9), only the last two of which are translated into protein. The first exon is large (greater than 400 basepairs in length) and untranslated, and therefore, has been suspected to play some role in the regulation of *c-myc* expression, most probably at a posttranscriptional step. However, no supporting evidence for a clearly defined function of the first exon has come to light as yet. The *c-myc* gene is transcribed from two distinct promoters, located close to each other (7, 8). Though the relative rate at which these promoters are used in different cells is somewhat variable, no true selective regulation of the two promoters has been documented, nor has there been any evidence of a qualitative difference in the two transcripts, with one possible exception (10).

The protein encoded by *c-myc* travels at an anomalous molecular weight in SDS polyacrylamide gels (11, 12). This property appears to be inherent in the primary amino acid structure, as an *E. coli*-produced myc protein, encoded by a cloned cDNA, does the same (13). Thus, no extensive posttranslational modifications have to be invoked to explain the apparent size of the protein, although it is known that the protein is phosphorylated in its natural environment (11). Also, the *myc* protein travels as two distinct bands on SDS gels (11, 12), but the significance of this, if any, is not known. Both the message and the protein specified by the *myc* gene have a relatively short half-life (10, 11). Such rapid turnover rates are well suited for a protein whose expression needs to be regulated quickly, so that changes in transcription rates can be immediately translated into changes in protein amounts.

The putative regulatory regions of the *myc* gene have been identified by DNAase-I hypersensitivity (14, 15). DNAase-I-hypersensitive sites mark perturbations in the regular chromatin structure that are usually (and possibly always) caused by the binding of nonhistone factors to DNA. Thus, the five consistently observed hypersensitive sites of human *c-myc* lie at or near sequences that are likely to be functionally relevant. Each promoter is associated with a hypersensitive site just upstream of the TATA motif. Another site located almost 2 kilobasepairs (kb) upstream is found within a region of strong sequence conservation between mouse and man, suggesting functional significance. The two remaining sites are located near sequences now recognized as close to the consensus sequence for the

binding of nuclear factor 1, an abundant cellular protein with no obvious tissue specificity (16, 17). At least one of the two sites was indeed shown to bind this protein in vitro (14). The function of nuclear factor 1 is currently unknown, although it is important for replication in the context of the adenovirus, where such a binding site has also been identified (18). The putative regulatory region of c-myc, as defined by these hypersensitive sites, extends about 2 kb upstream of the transcriptional start sites (14).

ALTERATIONS IN *c-myc* OBSERVED IN TUMORS

A role for *c-myc* in spontaneous transformation has been strongly suggested by the finding that tumor cells often possess a *c-myc* gene that appears somatically altered when compared to a normal cellular counterpart. Such structural alterations near or in the *c-myc* gene include chromosomal translocations, retroviral insertions, and amplification. Here we review each category of *c-myc* gene modification and associated changes in expression.

Retroviral Insertion

Slow transforming retroviruses do not possess oncogenes, yet they are able, albeit infrequently, to cause tumors in vivo (1). Analysis of those rare tumors caused by slow retroviruses led to the identification of preferred integration sites associated with specific tumors. In this way, the first structural alteration in the *c*-mvc locus was demonstrated as an integration of avian leukosis virus (ALV) adjacent to *c-myc* in a majority of ALV-induced bursal lymphomas (19, 20). Tumor-bearing birds show transformation events that are monoclonal in origin with respect to ALV integrations. ALV integration occurs predominantly 5' of the second c-myc exon and in the same transcriptional orientation as *c-myc*. ALV insertion induces transcriptional activation of the *c*-myc gene resulting in hybrid transcripts that initiate in the ALV long terminal repeat (LTR) and continue through into the *c*-myc gene (19, 20). Such a mechanism of activation has been termed promotor insertion. In tumors where the alignment of the provirus and c-myc precludes a hybrid transcript (20), the stimulation of *c*-myc transcription has been ascribed to an LTR enhancer, an element that can, independent of orientation, increase utilization of a nearby promotor.

Recently it has been shown that retroviral insertions appear to be involved in the genesis of murine T lymphomas. Of the T lymphomas arising in AKR mice, a strain prone to leukemia, 15-20% were found to have MCF-like retroviral insertions near *c-myc* (21, 22). Most insertions lie upstream from, and in opposing transcriptional orientation to, *c-myc*, although insertions 3' to *c-myc* have also been observed (22). Elevated levels of normally initiated c-myc mRNA, relative to thymocyte c-myc mRNA levels, have been observed in such tumors (22). The orientation of the LTR promotor relative to c-myc and the structure of the mRNA exclude a promotor insertion model. Therefore, it has been suggested that c-myc activation is probably mediated by the LTR enhancer. In addition, the disruption of putative 5' regulatory sequences in the c-myc gene may be functionally important in some insertions.

In mouse strains other than AKR and in rats, proviruses near *c-myc* also have been found in several T lymphomas induced by murine leukemia viruses (23, 24). Additional sites of frequent integration, distinct from *myc*, have been described in rat thymomas (25, 26). One such integration region has a murine homologue on *myc*-bearing chromosome 15, which is, however, at a long distance from *c-myc* (27). Furthermore, over 50% of early T-cell lymphomas resulting from MuLV infection of newborn mice show integrations at a locus designated *pim-1* (28), which is on an altogether separate chromosome from that of *c-myc*. Thus, slow leukemia viruses seem able to induce lymphomagenesis by several routes, integration near *c-myc* being one.

In summary, the repeated isolation of avian B-cell and murine T-cell tumors that show slow retroviral insertions adjacent to the c-myc gene strongly implicates alterations of c-myc expression in the genesis of these tumors. The exact site and orientation of integration can vary. In both B-and T-cell tumors, c-myc is overexpressed relative to normal cell controls, although it is difficult to make comparisons because the exact nature of the tumor precursor cells is unclear. Also, one must consider the possibility that retroviral insertion into or near regulatory sequences disrupts the normal control of c-myc expression, a situation that may be more important than simple overall increase in steady-state mRNA levels.

Translocations

Murine plasmacytomas and human Burkitt's lymphomas (BL) are characterized by consistent reciprocal chromosomal translocations involving the *c-myc* locus and one of the three immunoglobulin (Ig) loci (29). Thus, following the translocation event, *c-myc* is juxtaposed with either the kappa, lambda, or heavy-chain genes (for review see 30-32). In both types of tumors, the joining of the *c-myc*-containing chromosome with the heavy chain-containing chromosome is most frequent, occurring in more than 80% of tumor isolates. The universality of one of the three types of translocations in BL and plasmacytomas is one of the most compelling reasons to associate this tumor causally with the translocation event.

Burkitt's lymphoma (BL) is a B-cell neoplasia that has its highest incidence in central Africa, where it occurs especially among children and is

usually associated with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (33). However, in other areas of the world, a consistent association between BL and EBV is not observed (34). Thus, although the presence of EBV may contribute to the overall occurrence of BL, possibly by acting as a B-cell mitogen, this virus appears not to be necessary for tumorigenesis. Although the expression of immunoglobulin genes places Burkitt's lymphoma cells in the B-cell lineage, the exact nature of the precursor cell giving rise to this tumor is unknown.

What characterizes the chromosomal translocation events that occur in Burkitt's lymphomas? In most cases, the *c-myc* gene located on chromosome 8 band q24 is joined by means of a reciprocal translocation event to the mu heavy chain, located on chromosome 14 band q32. Then *c-myc* is found on chromosome 14 q^+ , and the two gene loci are connected in a transcriptionally opposing fashion (31–33). As a consequence, *c-myc* is not transcribed from promoters belonging to the mu heavy chain but is transcribed from the normal *c-myc* promoters or crytic promoters within the *c-myc* locus. The actual chromosomal breakpoints within the mu locus and near the *myc* locus vary, but usually they occur within the mu switch sequences and near the beginning of the *c-myc* gene (see Figure 1). The precise role of the juxtaposed Ig sequences is unknown. The wellcharacterized transcriptional regulatory sequences within the heavy chain



Regions of the human c-myc locus containing the crossover points to immunoglobulin gene loci

Figure 1 Chromosomal breakpoints relative to c-myc for various Burkitt's lymphomas. The bars denote the approximate areas in which c-myc is joined to the immunoglobulin loci. The breakpoints occurring very far 5' and 3' have not been located as yet, as indicated by the broken lines. Breakpoints 5' of c-myc are for the t(8; 14) translocations, and breakpoints occurring 3' are for the t(2; 8) and t(8; 22) translocations. The boxed regions represent the 3 c-myc exons. The hypersensitive sites I, II_{1,2} and III_{1,2}, shown as dots, mark the putative control region of c-myc. P1 and P2 are the two c-myc transcription start sites. The translocations are described in the following references: 7, 8, 14, 35–43. R = Eco R1, H = Hind 3 restriction enzyme sites.

locus, the Ig promotor and enhancer, usually do not reside on the same chromosome as the *c*-myc structural sequences.

Murine plasmacytomas are tumors of Ig-producing plasma cells. By analogy with BL, such tumors virtually always display reciprocal translocations between the *c-myc*-resident chromosome 15 band and most often the heavy-chain-resident chromosome 12 band (30, 31, 44, 45). Molecular structural analyses have revealed that such translocations generally are very similar to those described above for t(8; 14) BL translocations. Translocations involving mu, gamma, and alpha heavy-chain genes have been described (46–48).

The less-well-characterized "variant" translocations found in about 15– 20% of plasmacytomas and BL also involve the *c-myc*-bearing chromosome band. However, exchanges occur with a chromosome bearing an Iglight-chain locus—in mice, chromosome 6 bearing the K locus (44), and in man, chromosome 2 (2p12) and 22 (2q11) bearing the kappa and lambda loci (32), respectively. In the BL variant translocations, *c-myc* remains on chromosome 8; this is shown by somatic cell hybrid analyses (49), in situ hybridization (37), and fluorescent chromosome sorting (35). Consequently it can be deduced, and in some cases shown by molecular cloning, that chromosome 8 scission occurs 3' instead of 5' to *c-myc* (35–37, 49). In general, the chromosome 8 breakpoint is at an unknown (but greater than 20-kb) distance from *c-myc*. However, in one unusual case of a BL t(8;22) translocation, the lambda light chain was shown to be within two kb of *c-myc* (36).

In t(2;8) BL, it has been shown by somatic cell hybrid and in situ chromosome analyses that the kappa constant region resides on the 8 q⁺ chromosome that also bears *c-myc* (38, 49). In one BL t(8;2) translocation, the breakpoint on chromosome 2 is just 5' to the kappa joining region (35). Thus, unlike the t(8;14) translocations, the *c-myc* locus and a transcriptional regulatory enhancer (kappa) are contained on the same chromosome, albeit at a great distance apart.

In plasmacytomas bearing t(6; 15) translocations, the breakpoint on chromosome 6 is just 3' to the kappa joining region, but 5' of the kappa enhancer and constant region (50). As with variant BL, such plasmacytomas demonstrate chromosomal breakpoints at a long distance from *c*-myc. A variety of such breakpoints occurs within a small region of chromosome 15 that has been termed pvt-1 (50). Interestingly, thymomas bearing slow retroviral insertions in this same chromosomal region have been described (51). Thus, pvt-1 may play a regulatory role for *c*-myc through long-range structural changes in chromatin or via a hypothesized protein product (51).

In summary, the less common "variant" translocations are structurally

quite distinct from the translocations involving the Ig heavy chain. In most cases the scission on the *c-myc*-bearing chromosome is at an indeterminate, long distance from *c-myc*. Additionally, in BL it is clear that the breakpoint on chromosome 8 occurs 3', not 5', to the *c-myc* gene. It is important, however, that variant BL and plasmacytomas show levels of *c-myc* mRNA that are roughly equivalent to those in BL and plasmacytomas bearing heavy-chain translocations.

EFFECTS OF TRANSLOCATIONS ON *c-myc* EXPRESSION The large number of translocation points that have been analyzed leads to a situation that is both confusing and educational. The variety of breakpoints adjacent to *c-myc* (see Figure 1) makes simple explanations regarding their effects difficult. On the other hand, with enough accumulated data, the crucial change(s) may finally be known. Two important questions must be considered in analyzing the consequences of these chromosomal translocations. First, how are the levels of *c-myc* mRNA altered in BL cells, and second, is the structure of the *c-myc*-encoded protein changed?

When compared to nondividing, normal peripheral blood lymphocytes, BL cells contain relatively high levels of *c-myc* mRNA (K. Kelly, U. Siebenlist, unpublished observation) but show the same or slightly higher levels of c-myc expression in comparison to proliferating, nontumorigenic B cells (38). Similarly, plasmacytomas and LPS-stimulated, dividing spleen cells display equivalent *c-myc-mRNA* levels (52). These data argue that a simple quantitative increase in *c*-myc alone does not satisfactorily explain transformed growth. The initial finding of *c*-myc translocation to Ig genes led to speculation that the *c-myc* gene would show increased expression because it was subject to the Ig regulatory mechanisms. However, it is now clear that this is not the case in the common t(8; 14) translocations since the immunoglobulin enhancer sequences, thought to be responsible for the very high level of immunoglobulin mRNA expression in B cells (53, 54), are not usually rearranged into the c-myc locus (32). Currently uncharacterized transcriptional regulatory sequences may be located 3' of heavy-chain switch regions.

Do the translocations cause mutations within the *c-myc* coding sequence that create an altered protein in a manner analogous to the *c-ras* mutations? Although translocated *c-myc* genes can clearly be mutated, no uniform, consistent nucleotide changes have been observed. Furthermore, several translocated *c-myc* genes are known to conserve their protein coding sequences (7, 55, 56). Thus, the tumorigenic phenotype of these BL cells cannot usually result from a modified activity of the *c-myc* protein itself. On the other hand, many mutations have been observed in the nontranslated first exon of c-myc (36, 38, 57). In addition, many translocations interrupt or eliminate the first exon from the main body of the c-myc gene. Two points must be considered, though. First, just as in the coding sequences, no consistent mutations in the first exon have been found, i.e. neither the extent of these DNA-base changes nor their positions conform to any pattern. Second, several of the Burkitt's lymphoma lines do not appear to have any gross alterations in the first exon as determined by S1 nuclease analyses (37, K. Kelly, unpublished observation). These data suggest that alterations in the c-myc protein sequence or the first exon are not required, but the data do not address the possibility that amino acid changes in c-myc or changes in the first exon may lead to an increased tumorigenic potential.

We are left then to consider the deregulation of c-myc transcription in BL and plasmacytomas as the crucial consequence of translocations, and for this there is good evidence. Although there is no dramatic overall increase in c-myc transcription, all or almost all of c-myc mRNA originates from the translocated allele, with little or no transcription originating from the germline allele (8, 32, 38, 57). Analyses of BL and plasmacytoma cells often show somatic alterations within the transcriptional unit of the translocated *c*-myc gene that allow its distinction from the normal allele's transcript. In addition, fusion of BL cells to mouse plasmacytoma cells results in cell lines carrying a chromosome harboring either the translocated or germline human c-myc gene. In such hybrid cells, only the translocated c-myc gene is expressed (58, 59). These observations have led to the suggestion that c-myc is negatively regulated by a mechanism that can repress the normal gene but not the translocated allele. Repression may occur via a negative feedback regulator sensitive to high levels of *c-myc* protein in the cell (32), but no direct evidence has been documented.

The data discussed so far support the notion that the regulation of c-myc is fundamentally upset in BL and plasmacytomas and that this deregulation may be due to an effect of the translocations on regulatory elements 5' of the gene (see Figure 1). Putative regulatory sites upstream from the c-myc gene defined by DNAase I hypersensitivity are interrupted or eliminated in almost all BL t(8;14) and plasmacytoma t(12;15) translocations. In the variant translocations and in those t(8;14) translocations involving breakpoints 5' of the regulatory region of c-myc, one must hypothesize long-range cis-acting effects of the translocation upon regulatory sequences as a consequence of, for example, changes in chromatin structure. If the disruption of these regulatory sites is essential, then the rare translocations occurring further 5', leaving the putative control elements intact, might also have an effect on these sites. Indeed, the hypersensitive sites are altered by a

translocation in the BL31 cell line that occurs far 5' to c-myc (see Figure 1) (14). The nontranscribed germline allele presents a chromatin pattern different from that of the translocated allele. Thus, the translocation event appears to have an effect at a distance, deregulating c-myc expression. The normal germline c-myc gene in BL31 exhibits a particularly strong, singular hypersensitive site, a possible site of action for a negative regulatory element, since this allele is silent.

All analyzed translocations in which the putative control region has been left connected to the body of the *c-myc* gene feature the presence of an immunoglobulin enhancer sequence on the chromosome that contains *cmyc*. As we indicated earlier, this is also true for the variant, t(2;8)translocations in which the regulatory region remains intact as the breakpoints occur 3' of the *c-myc* gene. Perhaps the immunoglobulin enhancer exerts a direct or indirect effect at a distance to regulate *c-myc* expression, counteracting a negative regulatory element. It may do so by directly stimulating the *c-myc* promoters or indirectly by interfering with repression. In any case, the loss or mutation of this regulatory element or the action of an immunoglobulin enhancer at a distance may prevent a proper downregulation of the *c-myc* promoter activity, thus creating a prerequisite for tumorigenesis. In conclusion, we are left with the picture of a gene apparently highly regulated, but which is deregulated in Burkitt's lymphoma.

Amplification

Unlike translocations and retroviral insertions involving the *c*-myc gene that have been demonstrated only in lymphoid malignancies, gene amplification of *c*-myc has been described in relation to a variety of cell types. Ten- to fifty-fold DNA amplifications of *c-myc* resulting in enhanced expression have been shown for two human cell lines, the promyelocytic leukemia HL60 (60) and the colon carcinoma COLO 320 (61), and in two murine osteosarcoma-derived SEWA cell lines (62). Amplification of c-myc is not commonly associated with tumor tissue of the above classifications isolated from different individuals. In fact, the degree of *c*-myc amplification varies depending upon whether SEWA cells are selected in vivo, where greater amplification is observed, or grown in vitro, where amplification is decreased (62). Thus, c-myc amplification may be a secondary selection for increased tumorigenicity, as opposed to a primary genetic lesion leading to malignancy. In addition, a causal role for *c-myc* amplification in contributing to degree of malignancy has been suggested by the observation that five out of five highly malignant small cell lung carcinoma (SCLC) variants show *c-myc* gene amplification, while SCLC of the less malignant nonvariant type do not necessarily display such amplification (63).

THE REGULATION OF *C-MYC* EXPRESSION RELATIVE TO GROWTH IN NORMAL AND NEOPLASTIC CELLS

Understanding the normal regulation of a gene allows insight into the potential function of a gene product as it relates to the changing phenotype of a cell. An obvious question concerns the expression of c-myc as it relates to the proliferative capacity and/or differentiated phenotype of a cell. Systems exist that allow the in vitro manipulation of cell growth, both in driving a quiescent cell to proliferate and in inducing the differentiation, accompanied by inhibition of proliferation, of other cell types. Such experimental models demonstrate that increased c-myc expression is closely associated with the entry of a cell from G0 into the cell cycle, while almost complete shutoff of c-myc expression accompanies the inhibition of proliferation.

The Definition of Signals Required for Cell-Cycle Progression

To investigate the regulation of c-myc expression relative to growth, researchers have used in vitro systems that allow the manipulation of cellcycle progression by defined, growth-inducing agents. These systems have included mitogen-activated lymphocytes and immortalized fibroblasts, whose growth factor requirements in vitro have been well described. In vitro studies utilizing B and T lymphocytes have defined at least two sequentially dependent positive signals required for progression from the quiescent, G0 state to the DNA-synthetic, S phase. In these cells, the first signal is most often stimulated in vitro by polyclonal mitogens and may be comparable with antigen binding to its matching receptor. In T cells, a subsequent, second signal is provided by the T cell-derived growth factor, interleukin 2 (IL-2)(64). By analogy, a second signal appears to occur (65) in B cells mediated by one or the other of at least two distinct, lymphocyte-derived B-cell growth factors (BCGF-I and -II).

Similarly, immortalized fibroblasts, e.g. 3T3 cells, also require two temporally separated signals in order to transit through G1. The growth factor PDGF has been shown to act on quiescent cells in the initial phase of G1, while EGF and somatomedins are required for the progression of PDGF-primed cells through a later stage of G1 (66).

Cell-Specific Induction of c-myc by Agents That Initiate a Mitogenic Response

The role of *c-myc* expression has been investigated in the mitogenic response of normal lymphocytes. Almost undetectable in resting lympho-

cytes, c-myc mRNA is induced approximately 20-fold between 1 and 2 hr after the addition of Con A to lymphocyte cultures. This increase in c-myc expression precedes by several hours increases in general RNA synthesis and replicative DNA synthesis (67). Qualitatively and quantitatively similar results concerning c-myc induction have been found following the stimulation of spleen cells by the B cell-specific mitogen, LPS (67).

The observation that c-myc mRNA levels dramatically increase promptly after the delivery of a proliferation signal to resting lymphocytes suggests that c-myc expression may be an important component in controlling the transit of cells through the cell cycle. The generality of such a control mechanism is supported by the fact that quiescent BALB/c and NIH-3T3 cells also show a rapid, approximately 40-fold induction of c-myc mRNA subsequent to treatment with PDGF (67) or other growthpromoting agents (such as serum or TPA) that mimic PDGF activation (67, 68). The PDGF-stimulated induction of c-myc in fibroblasts has been shown to result at least in part from transcriptional activation rather than from changes in mRNA stability (69).

The Regulation of c-myc by Late-Acting Growth Factors

The action of late-acting growth factors such as EGF and insulin on *c-myc* induction differs between immortalized fibroblast lines. EGF alone will stimulate a proliferative response in NIH-3T3 cells but not in BALB/c-3T3 cells (67, 70). It has been observed that EGF and insulin do not induce *c-myc* mRNA in quiescent BALB/c-3T3 cells (67), but EGF does promptly increase *c-myc* mRNA levels in NIH-3T3 cells (70). Therefore, it appears that the late-acting growth factor, EGF, can mediate *c-myc* induction when it acts upon a 3T3 cell that proliferatively responds to EGF binding. By analogy, noncycling human T cells that have been primed to express IL-2 receptors (71) show induction of *c-myc* mRNA and a proliferative response following treatment with recombinant IL-2 (K. Kelly, unpublished observation).

In summary, *c-myc* mRNA is induced by agents that initiate the first phase of a proliferative response in lymphocytes (Con A and LPS) and fibroblasts (PDGF). Further, *c-myc* mRNA levels are modulated in a primed cell by growth factors such as EGF and IL-2 that act subsequently. A strong relationship exists between the level of *c-myc* mRNA expression and the proliferative capacity of a cell population. In vivo correlates also have been reported. Regenerating rat liver cells display rapid induction of *cmyc* mRNA following partial hepatectomy (72). Also, human placental cytotrophoblasts show developmental changes in *c-myc* mRNA expression that parallel the proliferative activity of the cells (73).

The prompt induction of *c-myc* mRNA within 2 hr suggests that the *c*-

 m_{VC} gene is regulated directly by the biochemical events that immediately follow PDGF binding in fibroblasts and mitogen binding in lymphocytes. Indeed, inhibition of protein synthesis does not inhibit, but superinduces cmvc expression (67, 70). It seems reasonable to suggest that the *c*-myc encoded protein is an intracellular mediator of mitogen binding. However, it can be deduced from a variety of systems that increased levels of *c-myc* mRNA alone, in the absence of late-acting growth signals, are not sufficient to stimulate proliferation.

An important question concerns whether *c*-myc expression is regulated with regard to the "cycling" phases of the cell cycle, G1, S, G2, and M. Recent data indicate that actively proliferating normal and tumor cells show comparable levels of c-myc mRNA and protein throughout G1, S, G2, and M (74). In addition, cells blocked by nutrient deprivation in G1, unlike cells blocked in G0 by growth-factor deprivation, demonstrate minimal decreases in c-myc levels (74).

The Regulation of c-myc Expression with Differentiation and Cessation of Proliferation

Just as c-myc transcription is upregulated in cells induced to proliferate, it is downregulated in cells induced to differentiate terminally. Since these differentiated cells cease to proliferate, the shutoff of *c-myc* transcription may well be an integral part of the differentiation process. Also, this confirms further the suspected direct association of cellular growth with myc expression. The promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL60 (75-77), the mouse erythroleukemia cell line MEL (78), the mouse myeloid leukemia cell line WEHI-3B (79), the human histiocytic lymphoma cell line U937 (77), and the mouse F9 teratocarcinoma cell line (68) can be differentiated terminally in vitro by a variety of agents, and in each case, c-myc expression is dramatically decreased. This decrease can occur within a few hours. In MEL cells, however, c-myc levels rise again thereafter, before they fall off permanently (78). This biphasic regulation may be present during the differentiation of the other cells as well. Possibly more than one mechanism is at work to downregulate the steady-state level of *c-myc* mRNA.

In this regard, it is interesting that the pattern of myc DNAase Ihypersensitive sites changes when HL60 cells are committed to terminal differentiation after 48 hr exposure to the inducing agents (U. Siebenlist, unpublished observation). A subset of hypersensitive sites disappears, most notably those next to the *c*-myc promoters, suggesting a transcriptional regulatory process. To what extent the downregulation of *c-myc* mRNA levels is a result of transcriptional rate changes alone is unclear and may differ in the various systems mentioned above. Recent reports concerning alpha or beta interferon(IFN)-induced downregulation of c-myc in Daudi

cells give conflicting data. From two reports, it appears that a posttranscriptional mechanism is at work (10, 80). However a separate publication demonstrates transcriptional turnoff (77).

Changes in the chromatin of c-myc induced during the differentiation of HL60 cells have a very interesting and noteworthy parallel in BL cells. The nontranslocated and nontranscribed allele in BL31 displays the same pattern as differentiated HL60 cells (14). Specifically, several hypersensitive sites are absent, including those near the myc promoters. Possibly the BL precursor cell underwent a process akin to differentiation, which involved a shutoff of c-myc and a cessation of proliferative activity. The translocation, however, might have interfered with this repressive mechanism and resulted in transcription from the rearranged c-myc allele. Seen in this light, the fact that c-myc is transcribed at all in the context of the BL cell may be very relevant for tumor formation.

Taken together, the data on *c-myc* regulation during differentiation suggest a very important role for *c-myc* not only in the activation of resting cells to proliferate, but also in the regulated cessation of proliferation. As discussed, deregulation of *c-myc* in BL may be interfering specifically with the latter regulation. Also, there may be several distinct molecular mechanisms involved in the complex regulation of this oncogene, which befits a gene whose expression appears so critically linked to growth.

INTRODUCTION OF EXOGENOUS *MYC* GENES INTO CULTURED CELLS AND TRANSGENIC MICE

An important question concerns the functional activity of c-myc. Does a change in c-myc expression alone result in malignant transformation or might a more limited phenotypic change be defined? In order to approach these questions, DNA-mediated gene transfection has been utilized to introduce experimentally manipulated cellular and viral myc genes into defined cells.

Avian cells infected with *myc*-bearing viruses demonstrate morphological transformation in vitro. In addition, such cells show increased proliferative capacity defined by shorter cell-doubling times and growth in semisolid agar (81). However, infected fibroblasts are not immortalized and are not tumorigenic in nude mice (81). Similarly, there are reports that MC29-infected chicken-cell DNA (82) and cloned MC29 DNA (83) cause morphological transformation of immortalized, murine NIH-3T3 fibroblasts. In contrast, others utilizing heterologous promotor-driven *c-myc* sequences and immortalized murine fibroblasts, (84, 85) or cloned *v-myc* DNA and secondary rat embryo fibroblasts (86), observe no morphological transformation.

In view of the fact that transfected myc sequences often do not transform cells morphologically, the question arises as to what other phenotypic alterations are observed in such transfected cells. The induction of *c-myc* mRNA by mitogenic growth factors suggests that *c*-myc is an intracellular mediator of mitogen binding. This concept is supported by the observation that constitutive expression of an exogenously introduced c-myc gene in BALB/c-3T3 cells results in increased sensitivity of the transfected cells to the mitogenic activity of EGF and increases the probability of cell division in the absence of PDGF (85). However, constitutive myc expression in various BALB/c-3T3-transfected clones grown in PDGF-deficient media leads to DNA synthesis in, on average, about 5% of the cells over a 24-hr period, compared to less than 0.5% of nontransfected cells. On the other hand, greater than 70% of cells grown in PDGF-supplemented media will synthesize DNA during the same period. Thus, constitutive myc expression appears only partially to replace the requirements for mitogenic growth factors. In agreement with the above results, it has been shown that *c*-myc transfected FRF-3T3 cells become sensitized to the mitogenicity of EGF and acquire the ability to grow in semisolid agar (87).

An additional experimental strategy that has been used to define the activity of myc functionally is based upon the introduction of two oncogenes into normal rat embryo fibroblasts (REF) to effect morphological transformation. It has been shown that SV40 promoter-linked *c-myc* genes and mutant ras genes could transform secondary REF, while the ras gene alone could not (86). Because this cooperating myc activity can be replaced by the use of established fibroblasts or by so-called immortalizing genes, adenovirus E1A and polyma middle-T antigen (86, 88), an immortalization-like function has been suggested for *c-myc*. It should be noted that the tumorigenic potential of secondary REF transformed by cmyc and ras is limited, while ras-transformed immortalized fibroblasts (NIH-3T3 cells) are more malignant (86). In contrast to the suggested immortalization function for c-myc, LTR-driven c-myc expression has recently been shown to lead to tumorigenicity in the immortalized cell lines, NIH-3T3 and Rat-2, despite a lack of morphological transformation in these cells (84).

The results obtained from *myc*-transfection experiments into fibroblasts indicate that constitutive *myc* expression can result in a variety of phenotypic alterations. Because the various fibroblast recipient cells vary in regard to species, history in culture, and growth properties, it appears that the genetic background of the recipient cells (although all of these cells are of the same fibroblastic differentiated phenotype) sets the stage for defining a functional activity for *myc*. In summary, constitutive expression of *myc* in established Balb/c-3T3 fibroblasts alters the growth properties of these cells

as defined by a reduced requirement for the growth factors contained in serum. In addition, exogenously introduced *myc* contributes to the tumorigenic potential of NIH-3T3 and Rat-2 fibroblasts. Whether these separately defined functions of *myc* are related has yet to be clarified.

Transfection experiments are limited in the sense that only a restricted number of differentiated cell types can be examined. Moreover, alterations in cellular phenotype associated with the in vitro culture history of cells complicate interpretations. An experimental strategy that attempts to overcome these limitations uses transgenic mice. Thus, when transgenic mice possess a *c-myc* gene under the control of a glucocorticoid-responsive mouse mammary-tumor-virus (MTV) LTR promotor, the mice develop monoclonal mammary adenocarcinomas (89). Because the tumor-cell precursors most likely are capable of responding to MTV-regulatory hormones, over-expression of myc may be an important factor in the development of these tumors. The monoclonality of the tumors that arise suggests that high levels of myc expression alone are not sufficient for tumor induction, but myc overexpression can be a contributing factor in the tumorigenicity of mammary adenocarcinomas. Future experiments directed at targeting increased myc expression to other cell types in transgenic mice may help to clarify the variety of differentiated cellular backgrounds that are sensitive to myc deregulation.

BIOCHEMISTRY OF THE *myc* protein

The protein specified by *c-myc* has been shown to localize in the cell nucleus (11, 90, 91), in a way similar to that of *v-myc* protein encoded by the various isolates of *myc* containing avian retroviruses (92–94). The protein appears to have some structural similarity with the E1A-transforming protein of adenovirus (95), also localized in the nucleus and known to stimulate the transcription of other genes (96, 97). Therefore, *myc* may well function as a transcriptional regulator or even be involved in replication. In fact, a *c-myc* construct transfected into cells activates the transcription of an exogenously introduced heat-shock protein gene upon expression of the *myc* protein (98). Although more evidence is required to make definitive conclusions, a *trans*-activating role for *myc* would well explain the pleiotropic growth-related functions that we ascribe to this gene.

The myc protein may accomplish this role by direct DNA interaction in the nucleus. Both *c-myc* and *v-myc* proteins have been shown to have affinity for DNA (90, 91, 93). In addition, the *E. coli*-synthesized myc protein, as specified by a human cDNA clone, actually can be demonstrated to have a relatively high nonspecific binding constant for DNA in vitro (13). On the other hand, a major portion of myc in the cell reportedly interacts

with the nuclear matrix organization and remains there even after extensive digestion of DNA (91). Interestingly, the E1A protein appears not to bind to DNA directly, but rather stimulates transcription indirectly (99, 100). Whether the myc protein acts directly on DNA or indirectly through association with other proteins, and whether it does so within the framework of the nuclear matrix, is unclear at present. Nonetheless, the data suggest that myc is involved in nuclear regulation aimed at activating the cell to grow.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

The data discussed in this paper strongly implicate a link between *c-myc* expression and proliferative activity of a given cell. It is also clear that this important gene is highly regulated and sensitive to the environment via signals received from membrane receptors. Thus, *c-myc* may be an intracellular mediator of the extracellular environment.

Most likely, the overexpression or deregulated expression of c-myc observed in tumors bearing structural alterations in the c-myc gene, such as translocation, amplification, or adjacent retroviral insertion, contributes to tumor formation. Less clear is why genetic changes in c-myc are seen in some tumor types and not in others. The probability of a particular somatic change may be increased depending upon the cell type. Also, myc may be more tumorigenic in some cells, or others events may contribute to tumor formation in association with myc deregulation, and it is these other events that are tumor specific. In addition, many tumors do not appear to have undergone genetic changes of the c-myc locus although they do exhibit high c-myc expression. Thus, it is possible that genetic alterations in the pathway proximal to myc activation have obviated alterations in the c-myc structural locus.

As we discussed earlier, *c-myc* expression is correlated with cellular proliferation, and deregulated expression of *c-myc* is associated with tumor formation. However, *c-myc* expression alone is not sufficient for normal growth, nor is altered expression sufficient for tumorigenesis; much evidence suggests that at least two oncogenic events are required for transformation. Thus, *c-myc* expression is most likely a necessary, but not alone a sufficient, component of cellular growth. Whether *c-myc* expression is necessary for growth in all instances is not clear. Other proteins with *myc*-like function (possibly *N-myc* or *L-myc*) may be able to substitute for *c-myc*.

Exactly how *c-myc* mediates its effects has yet to be resolved, but a role as a pleiotropic transcriptional activator would fit current data. The work discussed in this review emphasizes the intricate network of growth regulation both of and within cells. The *c-myc* oncogene plays an important

role in these processes and presents a model system as well as entry for research into the molecular events that control growth and that can, when altered, lead to malignancy.

Literature Cited

- Bishop, J. M. 1983. Cellular oncogenes and retroviruses. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 52:301
- Bister, K., Duesberg, P. H. 1982. Genetic structure and transforming genes of avian retroviruses. In Advances in Virol Oncology, ed. G. Klein, 1:3-42. New York: Raven
- Mellon, P., Pawson, A., Bister, K., Martin, G. S., Duesberg, P. 1978. Specific RNA sequences and gene products of MC29 avian acute leukemia virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 75:5874
- 4. Hayman, M. J. 1981. Transforming proteins of avian retroviruses. J. Gen. Virol. 52:1
- Kan, N. C., Flordellis, C. S., Garon, C. F., Duesberg, P. H., Papas, T. S. 1983. Avian carcinoma virus MH2 contains a transformation-specific sequence, mht, and shares the myc sequence with MC29, CMII, and OK10 viruses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:6566
- Call, J., Righi, M., deTaisne, C., Dissous, C., Gigonne, A., Stehlin, D. 1983. Molecular cloning of the avian acute transforming retrovirus MH2 reveals a novel cell-derived sequence (v-mil) in addition to the myc oncogene. *EMBO J.* 2:2189
- Battey, J., Moulding, C., Taub, R., Murphy, W., Stewart, T., Potter, H., Lenoir, G., Leder, P. 1983. The human c-myc oncogene: Structural consequences of translocation into the IgH locus in Burkitt lymphoma. *Cell* 34:779
- Bernard, O., Cory, S., Gerondakis, S., Webb, E., Adams, J. M. 1983. Sequence of the murine and human cellular myc oncogenes and two modes of myc transcription resulting from chromosome translocation in B lymphoid tumours. *EMBO J.* 2:2375
- Shih, C. K., Linial, M., Goodenow, M. M., Hayward, W. S. 1984. Nucleotide sequence 5' of the chicken c-myc coding region: Localization of a noncoding exon that is absent from myc transcripts in most avian leukosis virus-induced lymphomas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:4697
- 10. Dani, C., Blanchard, J. M., Piechaczyk,

M., El Sabouty, S., Marty, L., Jeanteur, P. 1984. Exteme instability of myc mRNA in normal and transformed human cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:7046

- Hann, S. R., Eisenman, R. N. 1984. Proteins encoded by the human c-myc oncogene: Differential expression in neoplastic cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 4:2486
- Persson, H., Henninghausen, L., Taub, R., DeGrado, W., Leder, P. 1984. Antibodies to human c-myc oncogene product: Evidence of an evolutionarily conserved protein induced during cell proliferation. Science 225:687
- Watt, R. A., Shatzman, A. R., Rosenberg, M. 1985. Expression and characterization of the human c-myc DNAbinding protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 5:448
- Siebenlist, U., Hennighausen, L., Battey, J., Leder, P. 1984. Chromatin structure and protein binding in the putative regulatory region of the c-myc gene in Burkitt lymphoma. Cell 37:381
- Dyson, P. J., Rabbitts, R. H. 1985. Chromatin structure around the c-myc gene in Burkitt lymphomas with upstream and downstream translocation points. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82: 1984
- Hennighausen, L., Siebenlist, U., Danner, D., Leder, P., Rawlins, D., Rosenfeld, P., Kelly, T. 1985. High-affinity binding site for a specific nuclear protein in the human IgM gene. *Nature* 314:289
- Gronostajski, R. M., Nagata, K., Kenny, M., Hurwitz, J. 1984. Isolation of human DNA sequences that bind to nuclear factor I, a host protein involved in adenovirus DNA replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:4013
- Guggenheimer, R. A., Stillman, B. W., Nagata, K., Tamanoi, F., Hurwitz, J. 1984. DNA sequences required for the in vitro replication of adenovirus DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81: 3069
- Hayward, W. S., Neel, B. G., Astrin, S. M. 1981. Activation of cellular oncogenes by promoter insertion in ALVinduced lymphoid leukosis. *Nature* 296: 475

- Payne, G. S., Bishop, J. M., Varmus, H. E. 1982. Multiple rearrangements of viral DNA and an activated host oncogene in bursal lymphomas. *Nature* 295: 209
- Li, Y., Holland, C., Hartley, J., Hopkins, N. 1984. Viral integration near c-myc in 10-20% of MCF 247-induced AKR lymphomas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:6808
- Corcoran, L. M., Adams, J. M., Dunn, A. R., Cory, S. 1984. Murine T lymphomas in which the cellular myc oncogene has been activated by retroviral insertion. *Cell* 37:113
- Selten, G., Cuypers, H., Zijlstra, M., Meliof, C., Berns, A. 1984. Involvement of c-myc in MuLV-induced T cell lymphomas in mice: Frequency and mechanisms of activation. EMBO J. 3:3215
- Steffen, D. 1984. Proviruses are adjacent to c-myc in some murine leukemia virus-induced lymphomas. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:2097
- Tsichlis, P., Straus, P., Hu, L. 1983. A common region for proviral DNA integration in MoMuLV-induced rat thymic lymphomas. *Nature* 302:445
- 26. Lemay, G., Jolicouer, P. 1984. Rearrangement of a DNA sequence homologous to a cell-virus junction fragment in several Moloney murine leukemia virus-induced rat thymomas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:38
- Tsichilis, P., Straus, P., Kozack, C. 1984. Cellular DNA region involved in induction of thymic lymphomas (Mlvi-2) maps to mouse chromosome 15. Mol. Cell. Biol. 4:997
- Cuypers, H. T., Selten, G., Quint, W., Zijlstra, M., Maandag, E. R., Boelens, W., van Wczenbeek, P., Melief, C., Berns, A. 1984. Murine leukemia virusinduced T-cell lymphomagenesis: Integration of proviruses in a distinct chromosomal region. *Cell* 37:141
- Bernheim, A., Berger, R., Lenoir, G. 1981. Cytogenetic studies on African Burkitt's lymphoma cell lines: t(8;14), t(2;8) and t(8;22) translocations. *Cancer Genet. Cytogenet.* 3:307
- Klein, G. 1983. Specific chromosomal translocations and the genesis of B-cell derived tumors in mice and men. *Cell* 32:311
- Perry, R. P. 1983. Consequences of myc invasion of Ig loci: Facts and speculation. Cell 33:647
- Leder, P., Battey, J., Lenoir, G., Moulding, C., Murphy, W., Potter, H., Stewart, T., Taub, R. 1983. Transloca-

tions among antibody genes in human cancer. Science 222:765

- 33. Geser, A., Lenoir, G. M., Anvret, M., Bornkaurm, G., Klein, G., Williams, E. M., Wright, D. M., De-The, G. 1983. Epstein-Barr virus markers in a series of Burkitt's lymphomas from the West Nile District, Uganda. Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol. 19:1393
- 34. Lenoir, G. M., Land, H., Parada, L. F., Cunningham, J. M., Weinberg, R. A. 1983. Activated oncogenes in Burkit's lymphoma. In Oncogenes in B Cell Neoplasia, ed. M. Potter, F. Melchers, M. Weigert, pp. 6-14. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag
- 35. Taub, R., Kelly, K., Battey, J., Latt, S., Lenoir, G. M., Tantrahavi, U., Tu, Z., Leder, P. 1984. A novel alteration in the structure of an activated c-myc gene in a variant t(2; 8) Burkitt lymphoma. *Cell* 37: 511
- 36. Hollis, G. F., Mitchell, K. F., Battey, J., Potter, H., Taub, R., Lenoir, G. M., Leder, P. 1984. A variant translocation places the lambda immunoglobulin genes 3' to the c-myc oncogene in Burkitt's lymphoma. *Nature* 307:752
- Davis, M., Malcolm, S., Rabbitts, T. H. 1984. Chromosome translocation can occur on either side of the c-myc oncogene in Burkitt lymphoma cells. *Nature* 308:286
- 38. Taub, R., Moulding, C., Battey, J., Murphy, W., Vasicek, T., Lenoir, G. M., Leder, P. 1984. Activation and somatic mutation of the translocated c-myc gene in Burkitt lymphoma cells. Cell 36:339
- Rabbits, R. H., Hamlyn, P. H., Baer, R. 1983. Altered nucleotide sequence of a translocated c-myc gene in Burkitt lymphoma. *Nature* 306: 760
- 40. Gelman, E. P., Psallidopoulos, M. C., Papas, T. S., Della-Favera, R. 1983. Identification of reciprocal translocation sites within the c-myc oncogene and immunoglobulin mu locus in a Burkitt lymphoma. *Nature* 306:799
- 41. Della-Favera, R., Martinotti, S., Gallo, R. C., Erikson, J., Croce, C. M. 1983. Translocation and rearrangements of the c-myc oncogene locus in human undifferentiated B-cell lymphomas. *Science* 219:963
- Erikson, J., Finan, J., Nowell, P., Croce, C. M. 1982. Translocation of immunoglobulin V_H genes in Burkitt lymphoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:5611
- 43. Hayday, A., Gillies, S., Saito, H., Wood, C., Wiman, K., Hayward, W., Tone-

gawa, S. 1984. Activation of a translocated human c-myc gene by an enhancer in the immunoglobulin heavy chain locus. *Nature* 307:334

- 44. Ohno, S., Babonits, M., Weiner, F., Spira, J., Klein, G., Potter, M. 1979. Nonrandom chromosomal changes involving the Ig-gene carrying chromosomes 12 and 6 in pristane-induced mouse plasmacytomas. *Cell* 18:1001
- Ohno, S., Migita, S., Wiener, F., Babonits, M., Klein, G., Mushinski, J. F., Potter, M. 1984. Chromosomal translocations activating myc sequences and transductions of v-abl are critical events in the rapid induction of plasmacytomas by pristane and Abelson virus. J. Exp. Med. 159:1762
 Shen-Ong, G. L. C., Keath, E., Picolli, S.
- 46. Shen-Ong, G. L. C., Keath, E., Picolli, S. P., Cole, M. D. 1982. Novel myc oncogene RNA from abortive immunoglobulin gene recombination in mouse plasmacytomas. *Cell* 31:443
- 47. Adams, J. M., Gerondakis, S., Webb, E., Corcoran, L. M., Cory, S. 1983. Cellular myc oncogene is altered by chromosomal translocation to an immunoglobulin locus in murine plasmacytomas and is rearranged similarly in Burkitt lymphomas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80: 1982
- Marcu, K. B., Harris, L. J., Stanton, L. W., Erikson, J., Watt, R., Croce, C. M. 1983. Transcriptionally active c-myc oncogene is contained within NIARD, a DNA sequence associated with chromosome translocation in B cell neoplasia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 519
- 49. Erikson, J., Nishikura, K., ar-Rushdi, A., Finan, J., Emanuel, B., Lenoir, G., Nowell, P. C., Croce, C. M. 1983. Translocation of an immunoglobulin kappa locus to a region 3' of an unrearranged c-myc oncogene enhances c-myc transcription. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 7581
- Webb, E., Adams, J. M., Cory, S. 1984. Variant (6; 15) translocation in mouse plasmacytoma occurs near an immunoglobulin K gene but far from the myc oncogene. Nature 312:777
- Graham, M., Adams, J. M., Cory, S. 1985. Murine T lymphomas with retroviral inserts in the chromosome 15 locus for plasmacytoma variant translocations. *Nature* 314: 740
- Keath, E. J., Kelekar, A., Cole, M. D. 1984. Transcriptional activation of the translocated c-myc oncogene in mouse plasmacytomas: Similar RNA levels in tumor and proliferating normal cells. *Cell* 37:521

- 53. Gillies, S. D., Morrison, S. L., Oi, V. T., Tonegawa, S. 1983. A tissue-specific transcription enhancer element is located in the major intron of a rearranged immunoglobulin heavy chain gene. *Cell* 33:717
- Banerji, J., Olson, L., Schaffner, W. 1983. A lymphocyte-specific cellular enhancer is located downstream of the joining region in immunoglobulin heavy chain genes. Cell 33:729
- Rabbitts, T. H., Forster, A., Hamlyn, P., Baer, R. 1983. Effect of somatic mutation within translocated c-myc genes in Burkitt's lymphoma. *Nature* 309:592
- 56. Stanton, L. W., Fahrlander, P. D., Tesser, P. C., Marcu, K. B. 1984. Nucleotide sequence comparison of normal and translocated murine c-myc genes. *Nature* 310:423
- Štanton, L. W., Watt, R., Marcu, K. B. 1983. Translocation, breakage and truncated transcripts of c-myc oncogenes in murine plasmacytomas. *Nature* 303:401
- Nishikura, K., ar-Rushdi, A., Erikson, J., Watt, R., Rovera, G., Croce, C. M. 1983. Differential expression of the normal and of the translocated human cmyc oncogenes in B cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:4822
- ar-Rushdi, A., Nishikura, K., Erikson, J., Watt, R., Rovera, G., Croce, C. M. 1983. Differential expression of the translocated and the untranslocated cmyc oncogene in Burkitt lymphoma. *Science* 222:390
- Dalla-Favera, R., Wong-Staal, F., Gallo, R. C. 1982. Onc gene amplification in promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL-60 and primary leukaemic cells of the same patient. *Nature* 299:61
- 61. Alitalo, K., Schwab, M., Lin, C. C., Varmus, H. E., Bishop, J. M. 1983. Homogeneously staining chromosomal regions contain amplified copies of an abundantly expressed cellular oncogene (c-myc) in malignant neuroendocrine cells from a human colon carcinoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:1707
- 62. Schwab, M., Ramsay, G., Alitalo, K., Varmus, H. E., Bishop, J. M. 1985. Amplification and enhanced expression of the c-myc oncogene in mouse SEWA tumour cells. *Nature* 315:345
- Little, C. D., Nau, M. M., Carney, D. N., Gazdar, A. F., Minna, J. D. 1983. Amplification and expression of the cmyc oncogene in human lung cancer cell lines. *Nature* 306:194
- 64. Smith, K. A. 1980. T-cell growth factor. In T Cell Stimulating Growth Factors,

Immunological Reviews, ed. G. Moller, 51:337-57. Copenhagen: Munksgaard. 357 pp.

- gaard. 357 pp.
 65. Kehrl, J. H., Muraguchi, A., Butler, J. L., Falkoff, J. M., Fauci, A. S. 1984. Human B cell activation, proliferation and differentiation. In B Cell Growth and Differentiation Factors, Immunological Reviews, ed. G. Moller, 78:75–96. Copenhagen: Munksgaard. 224 pp.
- 66. Pledger, W. J., Stiles, C. D., Antoniades, H. N., Scher, C. D. 1978. An ordered sequence of events is required before BALB/c-3T3 cells become committed to DNA synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 75:2839
- Kelly, K., Cochran, B., Stiles, C. D., Leder, P. 1983. Cell-specific regulation of the c-myc gene by lymphocyte mitogens and platelet-derived growth factor. *Cell* 35:603
- Campisi, J., Gray, H. E., Pardee, A. B., Dean, M., Sonnenshein, G. E. 1984. Cell-cycle control of c-myc but not c-ras expression is lost following chemical transformation. *Cell* 36:241
- Greenberg, M. E., Ziff, E. B. 1984. Stimulation of 3T3 cells induces transcription of the c-fos proto-oncogene. *Nature* 311:433
- Muller, R., Bravo, R., Burckhardt, J., Curran, T. 1984. Immediate dramatic induction of c-fos by growth factors precedes activation of c-myc. *Nature* 312:317
- Cantrell, D. A., Smith, K. A. 1984. The interleukin-2 T-cell system. A new growth model. Science 224:1312
- Makino, R., Hayashi, K., Sugimura, T. 1984. c-myc transcript is induced in rat liver at a very early stage of regeneration or by cycloheximide treatment. *Nature* 310:697
- 73. Pfeifer-Ohlsson, S., Goustin, A. S., Rydnert, J., Wahlstrom, T., Bjersing, L., Stehelin, D., Ohlsson, R. 1984. Spatial and temporal pattern of cellular myc oncogene expression in developing human placenta: Implications for embryonic cell proliferation. Cell 38:585
- 74. Hann, S. R., Thompson, C. B., Eisenman, R. N. 1985. c-myc oncogene protein synthesis is independent of the cell cycle in human and avian cells. *Nature* 314: 366
- Reitsma, P. H., Rothberg, P. G., Astrin, S. M., Trial, J., Bar-Shavit, Z., Hall, A., Teitelbaum, S. L., Kahn, A. J. 1983.
 Regulation of myc gene expression in HL-60 leukaemia cells by a vitamin D metabolite. *Nature* 306:492
- Westin, E. H., Wong-Staal, F., Gelmann, E. P., Dalla-Favera, R., Papas, T.

S., Lautenberger, J. A., Eva, A., Reddy, E. P., Tronick, S. R., Aaronson, S. A., Gallo, R. C. 1982. Expression of cellular homologues of retroviral onc genes in human hematopoietic cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:2490

- Einat, M., Resnitzky, D., Kimchi, A. 1985. Close link between reduction of cmyc expression by interferon and G0/ G1 arrest. *Nature* 313: 597
- Lachman, H. M., Skoultchi, A. I. 1984. Expression of c-myc changes during differentiation of mouse erythroleukaemia cells. *Nature* 310: 592
- Gonda, T. J., Metcalf, D. 1984. Expression of myb, myc, and fos protooncogenes during the differentiation of a murine myeloid leukaemia. *Nature* 310:249
- Knight, E., Anton, E. D., Fahey, D., Friedland, B. K., Jonak, G. J. 1985. Interferon regulates c-myc gene expression in Daudi cells at the posttranscriptional level. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:1151
- Palmieri, S., Kahn, P., Graf, T. 1983. Quail embryo fibroblasts transformed by four v-myc-containing virus isolates show enhanced proliferation but are nontumorigenic. *EMBO J.* 2:2385
- Copeland, N. G., Cooper, G. M. 1980. Transfection by DNAs of avian erythroblastosis virus and avian myelocytomatosis virus strain MC29. J. Virol. 33:1199
- Lautenberger, J. A., Schultz, R. A., Garon, C. F., Tsichlis, P. N., Papas, T. S. 1981. Molecular cloning of avian myelocytomatosis virus (MC29) transforming sequences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 78:1518
- Keath, E. J., Caimi, P. G., Cole, M. D. 1984. Fibroblast lines expressing activated c-myc oncogenes are tumorigenic in nude mice and syngeneic animals. *Cell* 39:339
- 85. Armelin, H. A., Armelin, M. C. S., Kelly, K., Stewart, T., Leder, P., Cochran, B. H., Stiles, C. D. 1984. A functional role for c-myc in the mitogenic response to platelet-derived growth factor. *Nature* 310:655
- Land, H., Parada, L. F., Weinberg, R. A. 1983. Tumorigenic conversion of primary embryo fibroblasts requires at least two cooperating oncogenes. *Nature* 304:596
- Roberts, A. B., Anzano, M. A., Wakefield, L. M., Roche, N. S., Stern, D. F., Sporn, M. B. 1985. Type beta transforming growth factor: A bifunctional regulator of cellular growth. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82: 119

- Ruley, H. E. 1983. Adenovirus early region 1A enables viral and cellular transforming genes to transform primary cells in culture. *Nature* 304: 602
- Stewart, T., Pattengale, P. K., Leder, P. 1984. Spontaneous mammary adenocarcinomas in transgenic mice that carry and express MTV/myc fusion genes. Cell 38:627
- Persson, H., Leder, P. 1984. Nuclear localization and DNA binding properties of a protein expressed by human cmyc oncogene. *Science* 225:718
- Eisenman, R. N., Tachibana, C. Y., Abrams, H. D., Hann, S. R. 1985. v-myc and c-myc-encoded proteins are associated with the nuclear matrix. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 5:114
- 92. Hann, S. R., Abrams, H. D., Rohrschneider, L. R., Eisenman, R. N. 1983. Proteins encoded by v-myc and c-myc oncogenes: Identification and localization in acute leukemia virus transformants and bursal lymphoma cell lines. *Cell* 34:789
- Donner, P., Greiser-Wilke, J., Moelling, K. 1982. Nuclear localization and DNA binding of the transforming gene product of avian myelocytomatosis virus. *Nature* 296:262
- 94. Alitalo, K., Ramsay, G., Bishop, J. M., Pfeifer, S. O., Colby, W. W., Levinson,

A. D. 1983. Identification of nuclear proteins encoded by viral and cellular myc oncogenes. *Nature* 306:272

- Ralston, R., Bishop, J. M. 1984. The protein products of the myc and myb oncogenes and adenovirus E1a are structurally related. *Nature* 306:803
- Feldman, L. T., Nevins, J. R. 1983. Localization of the adenovirus ElAa protein, a positive-acting transcriptional factor, in infected cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 3:829
- Imperiale, M. J., Hart, R. P., Nevins, J. R. 1985. An enhancer-like element in the adenovirus E2 promoter contains sequences essential for uninduced and E1A-induced transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:381
- Kingston, R. E., Baldwin, A. S., Sharp, P. A. 1984. Regulation of heat shock protein 70 gene expression by c-myc. *Nature* 312:280
- 99. Kingston, R. E., Kaufman, R. J., Sharp, P. A. 1984. Regulation of transcription of the adenovirus EII promoter by E1a gene products: Absence of sequence specificity. Mol. Cell. Biol. 4: 1970
- 100. Green, M. R., Treisman, R., Maniatis, T. 1983. Transcriptional activation of cloned human beta-globin genes by viral immediate-early gene products. *Cell* 35:137



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
The Panspecific Hemopoietin of Activated T Lymphocytes (Interleukin-3), John W. Schrader	205
MOLECULAR IMMUNOBIOLOGY OF COMPLEMENT BIOSYNTHESIS: A MODEL OF SINGLE-CELL CONTROL OF EFFECTOR-INHIBITOR	001
BALANCE, Davia H. Perimutter and Harvey K. Cotten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N. Gaulton and Mark I. Greene	251
ANALYSIS OF THE EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF CLASS-II MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	233
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> in Normal and Malignant Cells, Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 339-68 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-REGION GENES

George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biophysics, Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons, New York, New York 10032

INTRODUCTION

During the past several years, it has become increasingly evident that the regulation of immunoglobulin (Ig) gene assembly and expression is intrinsically related to the progression of B-cell precursors to the B-cell differentiation stage. The general focus of this review is to describe in detail the mechanism of Ig variable-region gene assembly and to explore the possible regulatory mechanisms that the cell exploits to control these genomic rearrangement events. Because assembly of the variable region of the T-cell antigen-receptor genes appears to be mediated by the same molecular elements, the general principles we describe should apply to both Ig and T cell-receptor variable-region genes.

The immune system is capable of responding to an almost infinite number of antigenic challenges by producing a tremendous diversity of antibody specificities. Each antibody molecule consists of heavy (H) and light (L) immunoglobulin polypeptide chains. The carboxy terminus of H and L chains is a region of constant amino acid sequence. The constant region of the H chain is involved in a variety of effector functions, such as Fc-receptor binding and complement fixation. The amino terminus of both these chains contains a region of variable amino acid sequences (designated the variable region) that are usually unique to the chains in a given antibody molecule; the variable regions of a single H and L chain interact to form an antigen-binding pocket. It is now clear that the DNA sequences encoding

Annual Reviews

340 YANCOPOULOS & ALT

both H- and L-chain variable regions are assembled from component gene segments (for review, see 1). The combinatorial assortment of these component gene segments, together with further diversification mechanisms that act at their junctions, provides the immune system with the capacity to encode an almost unlimited number of different H and L chains despite a limited germline genome; random pairing of the many different H and L chains further increases the diversity of antibody specificities. The fully assembled H-chain variable-region gene is located just upstream to the first constant-region gene, $C\mu$ expressed during development; transcriptional processing mechanisms allow expression of these adjacent coding regions on the same H chain (Figure 1). A recombination mechanism independent from that used in variable-region gene assembly is capable





Figure 1 Organization, assembly, and expression of heavy chain locus is schematically depicted. In panel A the number of segments in each cluster is given in parentheses, with the indicated distances between segments given in kilobases. The map of the V_H locus is adapted mainly from Ref. 32 and 33, with identification of the most J_{H^-} proximal V_H segments (VH81X and VHE4.Psi) provided by Ref. 24. The preference numbers indicating the relative use of each of the represented V_H families are taken from G. D. Yancopoulos, F. W. Alt, in preparation. The recombination recognition sequences are schematically represented in panel B; heptamers are indicated by closed triangles, nonamers by open triangles, with spacers of either 12 or 23 bp.
of replacing the $C\mu$ gene with other constant-region genes located downstream to it while maintaining the same variable region gene; this allows a single antibody specificity to be sequentially expressed with different effector functions (2).

Ig genes are assembled and expressed by cells of the B-lymphoid lineage. The earliest identified precursor-B cells (pre-B cells) are found in the fetal liver and adult bone marrow (3, 4). These cells express cytoplasmic μ -heavy chains, but not L chains. The surface Ig-positive B cell represents the next major stage of B-cell development. It is important to note that each B cell and all of its progeny express a surface antigen receptor with a unique binding specificity. This unique specificity is maintained by the expression of just a single H- and a single L-chain variable-region gene by an individual cell. Thus, unlike most other genes, Ig genes are regulated by the principle of allelic exclusion: In a given B cell, only one of the two H-chain alleles and only one of the several L-chain alleles (see below) is expressed at the cell surface as antibody receptor (5, 6). This clonal specificity of a single B cell and its progeny is believed to be an intrinsic requirement for the proper functioning of an immune system based on antigen-stimulated clonal expansion. Only after a B cell expresses its surface receptor is it susceptible to antigen stimulation. Antigen that can bind the surface receptor triggers clonal expansion and differentiation of B cells to the terminal stage of the B-cell developmental pathway, the plasma cell. These cells secrete large amounts of antibodies bearing the initial antigen-binding specificity; allelic exclusion prevents the simultaneous production of large amounts of nonspecific antibodies by the cells involved in such a response.

MODEL SYSTEMS FOR STUDYING B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION

Analysis of B-cell differentiation has benefited from the availability of tumor cell analogues representing the various stages of the developmental pathway. B-cell leukemias and lymphomas represent the surface Ig-positive B-cell stage, while myelomas and plasmacytomas represent the mature Igsecreting stage. Comparison of the configuration of Ig genes in such lymphoid tumor cell lines and in nonlymphoid cells revealed that Ig variable-region genes are somatically assembled; the comparison also elucidated some of the mechanisms involved in the rearrangement process (1). However, insight into the dynamics of the rearrangement process required investigation of the cell stages during which rearrangement occurred. Direct studies of fetal liver allowed analysis of Ig-gene expression in a synchronously differentiating population of pre-B cells (3, 4), whereas analysis of adult bone marrow provided information concerning a steady

state, renewable population of pre-B cells and more mature B cells (7). Fusion of fetal liver cells to a myeloma line resulted in the production of fetal liver hybridomas, which provide a model system to study the gene rearrangements of a pre-B cell within the phenotypic background of a myeloma (8–11). A remarkably accurate and dynamic representation of the Ig gene-assembly process has been provided by investigations utilizing Abelson murine leukemia virus (A-MuLV)-transformed cell lines. The most valuable aspect of these lines is their ability to proceed through immunodifferentiative events when propagated in culture.

A-MuLV-Transformed Cell Lines

A-MuLV is a replication-defective retrovirus unique in its capacity to transform immature B-lymphoid cells in culture; transformation of fetal liver or adult bone marrow cells yields permanent cell lines essentially all of which represent the pre-B or earlier stages of the B-cell pathway (12–16). Analyses of such lines have provided static models of these early stages of B-cell development. More importantly, however, many of the A-MuLV transformants undergo immunodifferentiative events when propagated in culture, including assembly of H- and/or L-chain genes and H-chain class-switching events (15, 17–25). Studies of such lines have led to a number of interesting and sometimes surprising findings concerning the dynamic processes involved in the rearrangement and expression of Ig genes; strikingly, however, most of the apparently novel aspects of Ig-gene rearrangement or expression discovered in A-MuLV transformants have served to elucidate events later demonstrated to occur in normal pre-B cells.

ORGANIZATION OF IG VARIABLE-REGION GENES

Organization of H-Chain Variable-Region Genes

The variable region of the murine-immunoglobulin H-chain gene is encoded by at least three separate germline DNA elements. Most of the variable-region gene is encoded by a variable gene segment (V_H) that can code for the 98 N-terminal amino acids. The V_H segment is usually linked to a diversity segment (D segment) that encodes the next 1–15 amino acids, and the D segment is linked to a joining segment (J_H segment) that encodes the final variable-region amino acids. The V_H , D, and J_H segments are encoded in three separate clusters (Figure 1A) on chromosome 12 of the mouse (26). The 4 J_H segments lie 7 kilobases (kb) upstream of the C μ exons, and 10–20 D segments are located from 1 to 80 kb upstream to the J_H cluster (27). The D segments have been divided into 3 families based on nucleic acid sequence homology: The single DQ52 type D lies 1 kb upstream from J_H1; the 10 DSP2–type D segments lie from 10 to 80 kb upstream of DQ52; and the 2 known DFL16-type D segments bracket the most 5' member of the DSP2 family (27, 28). The possibility of a few additional D segments has not been ruled out. There are approximately 200 to more than 1000 V_H gene segments, and these lie at an as-yet-undetermined distance 5' to the D segments. The V_H segments can be subdivided into approximately 8 distinct families based on nucleotide sequence homology (there are 4 to at least 100 segments per family, with family members sharing 70-80%, or greater, homology), and the members of a given family are grouped together on the chromosome (29-33). Adjacent members of a V_H family seem to be separated by an average spacing of 10-20 kb (29-31). The known families have been ordered along the chromosome by both deletion and recombinant inbred strain mapping (Figure 1A; 29, 32, 33).

Organization of L-Chain Genes

L-chain variable-region genes are assembled from two germline DNA elements (V_L and J_L); L-chain variable-region genes do not contain D segments (1). There are two different families of L-chain genes in mammals, designated kappa (κ) and lambda (λ). These families lie on different chromosomes (26, 34, 35). In mice, κ is the predominant light chain (90% of the serum light chain), while λ is a minor component. In other species, the ratios may be more equal or even reversed.

In mice there are 4 functional J_{κ} segments (a fifth segment lacks a donor splice sequence) that lie several kb upstream to the single C_{κ} region (Figure 2; 36, 37). There are at least 200 V_{κ} segments grouped into families similar to those of the $V_{\rm H}$ segments (38, 39); although the V_{κ} segments are generally assumed to lie 5' to the J_{κ} cluster, neither their relative location nor orientation with respect to the J_{κ} locus has been clearly determined (see below). The murine λ locus is organized in a somewhat different fashion with only 2 V_{λ} genes, each of which is followed downstream by 2 J_{λ} - C_{λ} units (Figure 2; 40). The λ locus may be more complex in species where λ comprises a larger fraction of the serum light chain (40). Although the V_{λ} and J_{λ} segments have not been linked in mammals, in chickens the V_{λ} gene cluster begins just 1 kb 5' to the J_{λ} cluster (41).

VARIABLE-REGION GENE ASSEMBLY

Recognition sequences that apparently mediate site-specific recombination flank all Ig component gene segments involved in variable-region gene assembly (for review see 1); recent investigations have demonstrated that the component gene segments involved in the assembly of the T-cell antigen-receptor variable-region gene are also flanked by recognition sequences quite similar to those of Ig-gene segments (for review see 42). A

complete recognition sequence consists of a highly conserved palindromic heptamer, which directly abuts the end of the gene segment coding sequence, and a characteristic nonamer, separated from the heptamer by a nonconserved spacer region of either 12 or 23 bp (Figure 3). The length of the spacer region apparently directs the recombinational machinery: Joining only occurs between elements that are flanked, respectively, by recognition sequences containing 12 and 23 bp spacers (43, 44).

Each D segment is flanked on both its 5' and 3' side by recognition sequences containing 12 bp spacers, whereas the 3' end of all V_H segments and the 5' end of all J_H segments are flanked by recognition sequences containing 23 bp spacers. According to the 12/23 joining rule, V_H -to-D and D-to- J_H joins are thus permitted, whereas V_H -to- J_H joins are not. However, an additional level of control appears to further restrict this joining process (for more details, see below): $V_H D J_H$ formation is accomplished via an ordered, two-step process in which a V_H segment is appended to a preexisting $D J_H$ intermediate; V_H -to-D joins, although permitted according to the 12/23 joining rule, do not normally occur, and thus, $D J_H$ joins





Figure 2 Light chain locus. Organization, assembly, and expression of kappa and lambda loci. When there is more than one member per cluster of segments, the approximate cluster size is given in parentheses in panel A. Distances between segments are in kilobases. The recombination recognition sequences are represented as in Fig. 1.

Annual Reviews

Α.

B.



Figure 3 (A) Schematic representation of the model for imprecise joining of H-chain variableregion gene segments (99). (B) Representation of deletional and inversional modes of joining. The mode of joining seems to depend on the relative orientation of the elements to be joined. Recognition sequences are depicted as in Fig. 1. (C) Depiction of two types of recombination substrates discussed in the text. Selectable excision of the tk gene results from D-to-J_H joining as depicted on the left (109), whereas activation of an intervening gpt gene by inverted V_x to J_x joining is depicted on the right (100). The transcriptional orientation of the gpt gene and a promoter (P) in the viral long terminal repeat (LTR) are indicated by arrows. The recognition sequences are depicted by open triangles.

serve as the preferred intermediates in the joining process (23). Both D-to- J_H and V_H -to- DJ_H joining occur via a deletional mechanism, resulting in loss of all intervening DNA sequences (23). Thus, once formed, a preexisting DJ_H complex can still be (and is occasionally-45; M. G. Reth, S. Jackson, F. W. Alt, in preparation) replaced by joining of an upstream D to a downstream J_H . However, once assembled, a complete $V_H DJ_H$ complex is fixed; no D segments (i.e. 12 bp spacers) remain on the chromosome to mediate any further joining events to downstream J_H segments.

L-chain variable-region genes are assembled from V_L and J_L segments. These segments are appropriately flanked by recognition sequences containing 12 or 23 bp spacers in accordance with the 12/23 joining rule (1). Because of this organization, the fully assembled $V_L J_L$ gene could be replaced by joining an upstream V_L to a downstream J_L ; evidence exists indicating that this replacement does occur (19, 46).

Perhaps the most striking example of the 12/23 joining model came from analysis of the variable-region components of the β chain of the T-cell receptor. The J_b segments were found to be flanked by recognition elements containing 12 bp spacers and the V_{β} elements by recognition sequences containing 23 bp spacers; this suggested a V-to-J rearrangement mechanism reminiscent of that of Ig L chains (47, 48). However, the sequence of assembled β -chain genes suggested that D_{β} segments existed (47, 48). Consistent with the 12/23 joining model, these D_{β} segments were subsequently found to be flanked by recognition sequences containing asymmetric spacers, with the 12 bp spacer pointing towards the V_{f} segments and the 23 bp spacer pointing at the J_{β} elements (49, 50). Since direct joining of V_{β} to J_{β} and also D_{β} to D_{β} are still in accord with the spacer arrangements, it has been proposed that such rearrangements may occur and further contribute to diversification. However, the directionality of joining again may be mediated by factors in addition to the 12/23 rule that could prevent direct V_{θ} -to- J_{θ} joining and impose a V-to-DJ-joining order like that observed for Ig H-chain gene assembly (see below).

EXPRESSION OF INCOMPLETELY AND COMPLETELY ASSEMBLED IG GENES

Expression of Completely Assembled Variable-Region Genes

Although each germline V_H gene segment is preceded by a transcriptional promoter region that is unchanged by the rearrangement process, only rearranged V_H -gene segments are actively transcribed in mature B cells (51). The promoter of the rearranged V_H segment appears to be specifically

activated by close association (due to the rearrangement) with a tissuespecific enhancer element located in the intron which separates the fully assembled variable-region gene from the downstream constant region (Figure 1; 52–54). The H-chain enhancer is similar to other enhancer elements in its ability to enhance transcription only in *cis*, while exerting its effects in an orientation-independent manner and over large distances. In fact, it has been shown that the Ig enhancer can apparently activate an unrearranged V_H segment located 11 kb upstream to the assembled variable region, although it does not activate V_H segments further upstream (X. Wang, K. Calame, *Cell*. In press).

It has now become clear that the enhancer does not provide all the answers concerning the mechanism of high-level, tissue-specific, Ig-gene expression. The original evidence implicating an enhancer-like sequence in H-chain expression was the finding that H-chain expression was lost in the A-MuLV transformant 18–81 that had accumulated specific deletions in the intron between the J_H and $C\mu$ region (18). However, it was also found that high-level expression could be restored by treating these enhancerless cells with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or via fusion to a myeloma (18, 55). Later studies demonstrated that spontaneous deletions of the enhancer in hybridomas did not affect the level of Ig-gene expression (56). Such findings suggested that the enhancer may only be required for the initial activation of Ig-gene expression but is not obligatory for maintenance of transcription, or possibly, that the presence of the classical enhancer per se was not the only mechanism for high-level expression of these genes in B-cell lines.

The transcription of germ-line, unrearranged V_H gene segments in a tissue- and stage-specific manner (see below) demonstrated that sequences independent from the H-chain enhancer could be important in regulating the tissue and stage specificity of Ig-gene expression (51). Recent studies have found that sequences surrounding the V_H promoter can direct lymphocyte-specific transcription independent of the H-chain enhancer (57, 58). Transcription of completely assembled κ or λ L-chain genes appears to be under the control of similar processes (59, 60); an enhancer element has been found within the κ - (61–64) and possibly also the λ - (65) gene complex.

Expression of Incompletely Rearranged J-Associated Regions

A number of pre-B-cell lines produce truncated C μ H-chain products that are approximately one domain shorter than normal μ chains (66). These chains were demonstrated to be produced from DJ_H rearrangements (66). Both of the major families of murine D segments contain upstream transcriptional promoters (66), as does the single member (DQ52) of the

third D family (67). Thus, the appendage of a D segment to a J_{H} segment leads to the generation of a primary transcript that is processed to yield a " $D\mu$ mRNA." Each D of the SP2 and FL16 families also contains an upstream translational start codon, and if the D-to-J_H rearrangement occurs in such a way that this start codon is in the same translational reading frame as the J_H segment, the resulting mRNA is translated to yield a $D\mu$ polypeptide chain (66). Approximately 30 to 40 amino acids are contained in the "D" portion of this protein, and each upstream D-coding sequence contains a characteristic leader sequence (66). The upstream promoter, translation start site, and leader sequences are conserved across species, suggesting that the $D\mu$ proteins may serve some function. It is not known whether $D\mu$ proteins get to the cell surface or are secreted; both forms of the transcripts are made (66). The DJ_e joins of the T cell-receptor β genes are also transcribed, and DNA sequence analyses indicate that these DJ_{β} transcripts may also encode proteins (49). No obvious function for the DJ proteins has been indicated, although evidence suggests that they could potentially play a regulatory role (see below).

Although T cells never completely rearrange their H-chain genes to the $V_H DJ_H$ stage, they often make incomplete DJ_H joins (68). Furthermore, the H-chain enhancer appears to be active in at least a subset of T cells, allowing expression of these DJ_H joins; once again no role for such expression has been proposed (66, 69-71). Examination of T cells further reveals that unrearranged J_{H} regions can be actively transcribed (70). Similar analyses in B cells have not been possible because cells committed to the B lineage, but before the DJ_H rearrangement stage, have not yet been available for study. The finding that the H-chain enhancer is active without rearrangement suggests it may be activated in lymphoid cells prior to rearrangement. Similarly, germline J_{κ} alleles are transcriptionally active (72), and recent studies in pre-B cells that have not yet rearranged their L-chain genes demonstrate that this transcriptional activation precedes rearrangement (73). Such analyses have led to the concept that enhancers may play a role not only in gene transcription but also in targeting loci for tissue- or developmental stage-specific recombination events (51; also see below).

Expression of Germline V-Gene Segments

Expression of a single germline V_H gene was first demonstrated in a T-cell line (73a); expression level was very low and was not observed in many other T-cell lines (74, 75). Analysis of pre-B-cell lines demonstrated that a large number of germline V_H segments are capable of relatively high-level expression, with levels as high or higher than those of normal μ -chain expression that is characteristic of the pre-B stage (51). However, such expression is limited to the very early stages of the B-cell pathway, most prominently in cells that are in the process of V_{H} -to-DJ_H joining (51). The stage specificity of germline V_H expression is strikingly evident in normal fetal liver, where such expression occurs at a high level just prior to the burst of full-length μ -mRNA expression (51). Germline V_H transcripts usually initiate from the normal V_H promoter, are appropriately spliced, and appear in the cytoplasm where they are probably translated into V_{H} chains (51). Currently, no role for the potential $V_{\rm H}$ proteins has been demonstrated, although several possibilities exist. Such a V_H protein would consist of a signal peptide followed by a single V_H domain, an organization similar to β 2-microglobulin and Thy-1 glycoprotein (76-78). It is conceivable that the single Ig domains encoded by the expressed V_{H} -gene segments can associate with developmentally regulated cell-surface antigens in pre-B cells and be important for mediating cell-cell interactions. The V_H transcription specific to cells active in V_H to DJ_H rearrangement may reflect a targeting of these segments for rearrangement (51; also see below). Germline V_{λ} transcripts also have been detected, but only in cells that have rearranged both κ alleles (79).

REGULATION OF IG-GENE REARRANGEMENT AND EXPRESSION DURING THE EARLY STAGES OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION

The diversity of antibody specificities is due, in part, to the combinatorial assortment of the different component gene segments that can be used in variable-region gene assembly, as well as to additional sequence diversification mechanisms that are somatically imposed during or after assembly of these segments (1). All of these diversification mechanisms operate independently with respect to the two "alleles" for each species of H and L chain. Thus, for each differentiating B-lymphocyte, the potential exists for creating totally different variable-region genes at each H- and L-chain allele; assuming random assortment of the different H and L chains, a given B-cell clone could make Ig receptors with multiple specificities. However, each B lymphocyte produces a monospecific Ig receptor as a result of allelic exclusion: A given B-cell clone expresses just one of its two H-chain alleles and one of its multiple L-chain alleles (2 for κ and 4 for λ) as Ig chains that combine to form surface-Ig receptor (5, 6). Unique mechanisms appear to have evolved to ensure the generation of the monospecific B-lymphocytes that are a prerequisite to an immune system whose specificity is based upon clonal selection. The molecular mechanisms that effect allelic exclusion

involve control of V-gene assembly and must, therefore, be operative during the early, antigen-independent, stages of B-lymphocyte differentiation when these assembly events occur.

Productive and Nonproductive Rearrangements

Before we can consider the mechanism by which V-gene assembly is regulated, we must first outline another important aspect of the assembly process. The rearrangement process is by its nature imprecise (see below). In order to encode a protein, the component V and J segments must be joined in the same translational reading frame (this should occur in approximately one out of every three rearrangements), and the joins formed and the segments used must be free of in-phase nonsense codons. A rearrangement fulfilling these criteria is termed a "productive" join. Rearrangements in which the V segment is joined to the J in a different translational reading frame, or which contain a crippling mutation such as an in-phase translation termination codon, frequently are transcribed but usually encode incomplete proteins consisting of V-region fragments (80, 81). Such rearrangements are referred to as "non-productive" or "nonfunctional" rearrangements. Cell lines have been described that have V_HDJ_H rearrangements at both alleles, only one of which appears to be highly expressed at the level of steady state mRNA (18); the allele expressed at lower levels has been shown to be nonproductively rearranged (70). In such examples, it is likely that both alleles are transcribed equally, but the lower steady-state level of the mRNA expressed from the nonproductively rearranged allele results from decreased stability due to lack of ribosome protection of the untranslatable portion of the mRNA (82).

The Regulated Model of Allelic Exclusion

A simplified scheme of the antigen-independent stages of B-cell differentiation is shown in Figure 4. Our description of this portion of the pathway will focus on the regulation of Ig-gene assembly. These regulatory events are manifested in two ways: (a) the very strict order in which the various component gene elements are assembled and (b) the allelically excluded assembly of a single functional H- and L-chain variable region in each clonal lineage, which differentiates from a stem cell to yield a surface Ig-positive B lymphocyte (23, 83). H-chain variable-region gene assembly precedes L chain-gene rearrangement: A productive H chain-gene rearrangement appears to result in both the termination of further H chaingene assembly (thus preventing production of a second H chain in the cell) and the onset of L chain-gene assembly. The various L-chain alleles are then sequentially rearranged and tested for the expression of an L chain capable of functional interaction with the preexisting heavy chain in the cell. Production of complete Ig apparently leads to cessation of L chaingene rearrangement, ensuring the monospecificity of the resulting surface Ig-positive B lymphocyte and its progeny. As we describe these assembly events and their apparent regulation in detail, we will refer to the experiments that have led to this general model.

REGULATION OF H-CHAIN VARIABLE-REGION GENE ASSEMBLY The ordered expression of H and L chains was suggested by analyses of fetal liver hybridomas and A-MuLV transformants that revealed both often made μ H chains in the absence of L chains; this predicted the existence of the μ -only pre-B lymphocyte (8, 14). Subsequent analysis of normal fetal liver demonstrated the existence of cell populations in vivo which produced μ mRNA and protein and further indicated that these cells arose earlier in B-cell ontogeny than cells that produced L-chain mRNA, protein, or complete Ig chains (3, 4). Examination of the Ig-gene rearrangements in pre-B-cell lines demonstrated that the μ -only phenotype resulted from the most obvious possible genetic mechanism: The H-chain genes in these lines were all rearranged while the L-chain genes were not (9, 10, 15). Later



Figure 4 Schematic representation of the regulated model of allelic exclusion. A negative signal responsible for terminating further rearrangement is represented by a dotted arrow. Transcription that may reflect the accessibility of a given locus for rearrangement is indicated in the figure (see text).

investigations using normal sorted bone-marrow pre-B cells verified that ordered rearrangement of H- and L-chain genes occurs in vivo (7).

The first known step in the B-cell differentiation pathway is the joining of a D segment to a J_H segment. At least in murine B cells, this event occurs early and generally on both chromosomes, yielding a "null" pre-B cell with two DJ_H rearrangements. A tumor model for this cell is provided by the majority of A-MuLV-transformed cell lines that are derived when A-MuLV is used to transform fetal liver cells from days 14 through 18 (15, 23, 25). These pre-B-cell lines cannot produce complete μ chains, although they all express germline V_H genes and some produce D μ proteins from their DJ_H rearrangements (51, 66). An analogous cell population was recently identified in the fetal liver (51).

The next stage of the B-cell-differentiation pathway involves the appendage of a $V_{\rm H}$ segment to the preexisting $DJ_{\rm H}$ intermediate (15, 20, 21, 23, 25). The null A-MuLV pre-B-cell lines just described are capable of actively performing V_{H} -to-DJ_H joining when propagated in culture. V_{H} -to- DJ_{H} joining appears to be the regulated step in H chain-gene assembly in the sense that it is allelically excluded (23). Various models had been previously proposed to explain the phenomenon of H-chain allelic exclusion, but most consistent with available data is a regulated model in which the μ protein expressed from a productive rearrangement feeds back and in some way leads to the cessation of further H chain-gene rearrangement (23, 70, 83). Thus, if a cell makes a productive V_HDJ_H rearrangement on its first attempt, the μ protein produced would prevent further rearrangement on the remaining allele, leading to a μ -positive pre-B cell that had one productive $V_H DJ_H$ rearrangement and a frozen DJ_H complex on the second allele. If the first rearrangement were nonproductive, then the cell could continue rearrangement at the second allele. If the second rearrangement was productive, then a μ -positive pre-B cell would be generated that would have both a productive and a nonproductive $V_H DJ_H$ rearrangement. As described above, probably no more than one third of V_HDJ_H joins are productive. Thus, it would be predicted that a significant percentage (40%—see 23) of the cells generated after $V_{\rm H}$ -to-DJ_H joining would be null cells with nonproductive $V_H DJ_H$ rearrangements on both chromosomes. A-MuLV pre-B-cell lines derived from adult bone marrow generally seem to represent a nonselected population of cells that have just completed the V_H-to-DJ_H joining stage. Of these cells 40% exhibit the null phenotype as would be predicted, and analysis of several of these has indicated that most contain two out-of-phase V_HDJ_H rearrangements (15, 23). These null cells are different from the intermediate null cells with two DJ_H rearrangements (corresponding to the fetal liver A-MuLV transformant) in that they are presumably dead-end cells that would be lost from the differentiation pathway; their $V_H DJ_H$ rearrangements are fixed and cannot be replaced by normal joining events (see above).

The first evidence for regulation at the V_H-to-DJ_H joining step was based on the observation that a substantial percentage of μ -producing B-cell lines retained a DJ_H complex (23, 28, 84), indicating that rearrangement of the second allele could be blocked at the DJ_H stage. Because the only distinguishing characteristic of a productive, as opposed to a nonproductive, join is its ability to produce μ protein (both produce μ mRNA), it was argued that the μ protein itself was somehow preventing a second V_HDJ_H join in cells that had made productive rearrangements on their first attempts (70). Furthermore, assuming that approximately one in three joins are productive, the most simple form of the regulated model would predict that approximately 60% of normal B cells would have one V_HDJ_H and one DJ_H rearrangement, while the remaining 40% would have V_HDJ_H rearrangements on both H-chain alleles (23). These were approximately the numbers observed when a population of normal sorted B cells was assayed for relative content of DJ_{H} rearrangements (23). The frequency of productive joins in a line that rearranges its heavy-chain genes in culture (45) is consistent with the assumption that approximately one in three V_H-to-DJ_H joins results in protein production. Studies in transgenic mice have provided direct evidence that introduced H-chain genes are capable of regulating (preventing) rearrangement of endogenous loci; endogenous heavy chain-gene rearrangement was blocked in pre-B-cell lines and splenic hybridomas derived from μ -transgenic mice, although rearrangement was in some cases aborted even prior to D-to-J_H joining (85, 86).

REGULATION OF L-CHAIN VARIABLE-REGION GENE ASSEMBLY The next step in the B-cell pathway is the assembly of the L-chain variable-region genes. There has been some debate as to whether or not ordered H and L chaingene rearrangement is due to regulation or results simply from the stochastic likelihood of forming a $V_H DJ_H$ join as opposed a $V_L J_L$ join. Current evidence favors a regulated model in which μ protein plays the dual role of signaling (a) for the cessation of H chain-gene assembly and (b) for the onset of L chain-gene assembly (45). Thus, no transformed cell line has ever been observed that had rearranged L-chain genes in the absence of H chain-gene rearrangement. A few pre-B-cell lines or hybridomas that produce only light chains have been described, but most such lines analyzed in detail were found to have probably once expressed H chains but to have lost such expression due to secondary events (18). The strongest evidence in favor of the theory that expression of μ protein is a prerequisite to L chaingene rearrangement comes from the analysis of the complete in vitro differentiation of a pre-B-cell line to the B-cell stage (45; see below).

Light-chain variable-region gene assembly is also ordered and regulated, with the sequential rearrangement of the L-chain alleles apparently terminated by a join that results in the production of a L chain that can pair with the preexisting H chain to form complete Ig. Analyses of gene rearrangement and expression at the light-chain loci provided the initial evidence for the regulated model of light-chain allelic exclusion. The high percentage (60%) of unrearranged J_{κ} alleles in κ -producing tumor lines or normal sorted B cells suggested that κ assembly can be frozen and is not simply the result of a high level of aberrant rearrangement (for review see 87). In fact, the level of germline κ alleles approaches the theoretical level predicted by a regulated model that assumes roughly one in three joins will result in L-chain production (87). Studies with pre-B-cell lines active in κ gene assembly have determined that the rate of productive $V_r J_r$ rearrangement is indeed about 30% (19, 45). Occasionally κ producers have productive $V_{\kappa}J_{\kappa}$ rearrangements on both alleles; only one of the two κ proteins or k fragments produced will bind to the H chain present in the cell to form surface Ig (80, 81, 88, 89).

This indicated that κ -allelic exclusion is not mediated by the production of a κ protein per sebut apparently by the production of a κ protein that can combine with the preexisting H chain (80). κ producers almost never have λ gene rearrangement; while λ producers almost always have rearrangements of both κ genes (some of which may produce nonfunctional κ proteins that do not bind to heavy chain) or else deleted (80, 90-93). These results suggested that κ -gene assembly precedes that of λ genes and that productive κ -gene rearrangement also prevents λ gene rearrangement—effecting isotype as well as allelic exclusion (80, 90, 91). Separate phases of κ - and λ -gene rearrangement are further supported by the characterization of A-MuLV-transformed cell lines that actively rearrange their κ genes but maintain unrearranged λ genes (19, 45). A mechanism apparently exists whereby a cell can delete productively rearranged κ genes, allowing subsequent λ -gene rearrangement while maintaining L-chain allelic exclusion (92, 93). This deletion is site specific and usually occurs at a conserved heptamer sequence; this suggests it is mediated by the same recombinational machinery that performs variable-region gene assembly. Although such a deletion would clearly remove the repressive signal that complete Ig apparently exerts on the rearrangement process, it is not clear how such a deletion can signal for the onset of λ -chain gene rearrangement. Interestingly, this κ -deletion event appears to be much more frequent in humans, who have a much higher level of λ production than mice (93).

Recently, the regulated model of L-chain allelic exclusion has received support from transgenic mice studies. A block of endogenous κ -gene rearrangement was found in splenic hybridomas derived from mice expressing high levels of a κ transgene (94). None of the hybridomas that secreted transgenic κ chains in complete Ig had rearranged endogenous κ genes. When a hybridom secreted an endogenous κ chain, the κ transgene was either not expressed or not associated with an endogenous H chain; this was predicted by the regulated model of L-chain allelic exclusion. Results of another transgenic study in which the introduced κ chains were expressed at much lower levels yielded a somewhat different result : In this case, the lower level expression of the transgenic κ chain did not prevent rearrangement of the endogenous κ genes (86). This result was interpreted to mean that production of complete Ig per se was not enough to prevent subsequent L-chain rearrangement, but rather that saturation of the cellular H chain with L chain might be more important (95). A clear understanding of these results awaits demonstration that transgenic Lchain expression occurred normally at the B-cell stages when rearrangement was occurring.

The evidence presented above collectively provides strong support for the regulated model of allelic exclusion: In particular, the evidence is persuasive that in a programmed sequence of rearrangement events, μ protein production signals for the cessation of H chain-gene rearrangement, while complete Ig turns off L-chain rearrangement. Until recently, very little data addressed the second proposed regulatory function of the μ protein—that is, its ability to trigger the onset of L chain-gene rearrangement. The recent characterization of the complete in vitro progression of a pre-B-cell line to the B-cell stage has provided evidence, within the context of the antigen-independent differentiation of a single line, for almost all the aspects of the regulated model of allelic exclusion (45). In particular, strong evidence has been obtained for the role of μ protein in the initiation of L chain-gene rearrangement. This line is now discussed in detail.

A PRE-B-CELL LINE THAT COMPLETELY DIFFERENTIATES IN CULTURE

The 300-19 A-MuLV transformant was derived from the adult marrow of outbred NIH/Swiss mice. The original isolate of this line appeared to represent the most primitive known B-cell analogue; it had DJ_H rearrangements on both J_H alleles, and no J_L rearrangements (66). Both of the DJ_H rearranged alleles are transcribed to yield $D\mu$ mRNA, one of which encodes a $D\mu$ protein (66). $D\mu$ proteins are usually produced at low levels relative to that characteristic of normal μ -chain expression at this stage; this low-level $D\mu$ production did not prevent extensive secondary J_H rearrangements in

the 300-19 line, including frequent V_{H} -to-DJ_H joinings (45). Approximately 20-30% of such V_HDJ_H rearrangements formed in culture were productive, providing evidence that the unselected frequency of productive $V_H DJ_H$ joining is relatively high; progeny containing such joins accumulate high levels of normal μ chains (45). Significantly, all subclones of this line that express a complete H-chain gene have ceased further H chain-gene rearrangement but show evidence of ongoing and frequent κ -L-chain geneassembly events; in addition, none of the many subclones that had assembled and expressed κ -L-chain genes (with one interesting exception) had done so without assembling and expressing at high levels a complete Hchain gene. Furthermore, clones that had assembled two nonproductive $V_{\rm H}DJ_{\rm H}$ complexes showed no evidence of κ variable-region gene assembly, indicating that L chain-gene rearrangement does not necessarily follow H chain-gene assembly per se. These findings argued for separate phases of Hand L-chain variable-region gene assembly and strongly supported the contention that μ protein indeed serves the dual regulatory functions of signaling for the cessation of H-chain variable-region gene assembly and the onset of κ variable-region gene assembly. A clue to some of the necessary molecular determinants of this putative signal may come from the observation that one subclone that expressed extremely high levels of the D μ chain appeared to undergo no further rearrangements of the J_H locus (it was frozen in the DJ_{H} state) but began rapid rearrangement of its J_{κ} alleles (45). Thus, $D\mu$ proteins may contain the necessary molecular determinants to effect such regulatory events, but they are normally present at too low a level to do so. As mentioned above, it has also been proposed that L chains must be present at a critical level to effect L-chain allelic exclusion (86, 95).

The 300-19 line progresses from the most primitive pre-B-cell stage known to become a surface Ig-positive B cell, requiring no factors other than those normally found in the culture medium. This antigenindependent differentiation appears to be self-regulated, with the protein product of a given rearrangement stage initiating progression to the next stage of the B-cell developmental pathway.

PREFERENTIAL REARRANGEMENT OF V SEGMENTS BASED ON CHROMOSOMAL POSITION

The lack of randomness in the rearrangement processes thus far described seems to extend to the choice of the V_H segment used in rearrangements : In pre-B cells derived from the BALB/c mouse strain, segments from the most J_{H^-} proximal V_H family (V_H 7183) are thought to be rearranged at an

extraordinarily high frequency (24, 11); the most J-proximal members of this family are used at the highest frequency (24). The pre-B-cell line 300-19 preferentially rearranges a different set of V_H gene segments; once again, the frequently rearranged segments map to the most J-proximal position in the strain from which 300-19 was derived (M. G. Reth, S. Jackson, F. W. Alt, in preparation). Analysis of V_H family usage in normal fetal liver reveals that early in development preferential V_H usage occurs in vivo and that this position-dependent bias for rearrangement extends across the entire V_{H} locus (Figure 1A, bottom; G. D. Yancopoulos, F. W. Alt, in preparation); strains that exhibit immune deficiency or develop autoimmunity seem to have normal V_{H} usage patterns early in development (A. Mannheimer, F. W. Alt, C. Bona, in preparation). Although very thought provoking, the observation of biased V_H rearrangement has not yet been assigned a clear role in the developing immune system. The preferentially used V_H segments in pre-B cells are not overrepresented in the mature B-cell population, raising the dilemma of how randomization of the initially skewed V_H repertoire occurs in vivo-selection (either by antigen or due to cell-cell interactions) would seem to play an important role. The complex relationship between immune response and self-tolerance may in some way depend on a limited early repertoire; limited Ab diversity early in development, which has been documented in several species, clearly would result from preferential rearrangement. Biased V_H rearrangement has not been clearly correlated with the programmed appearance of Ab specificities that occurs during ontogeny; establishing such a relationship may depend on analysis of early V_L joining preferences. Other examples of developmentally controlled expression related to the linear organization of genetic information occur with mammalian hemoglobin genes, silk moth chorion genes, and the genes in the Drosophila bithorax complex (96–98). Because it is hard to imagine how the linear organization of V_H segments could determine their rearrangement frequency if recombinase acts by joining segments that randomly collide during three-dimensional diffusion, it seems more likely that recombinase acts via a one-dimensional tracking mechanism (24, 27). This tracking mechanism would be operative at least through the stage of development when V_H segments are rearranged preferentially according to their J_H proximity.

DETAILS OF THE JOINING MECHANISM

We have already discussed many of the basic mechanistic features of variable-region gene assembly. In this section we will explore some of these features in depth, and describe a general model that can account for the imprecise joining of gene segments.

Imprecise Joining of H-Chain Variable-Region Gene Segments

The third hypervariable region of the H-chain gene spans the $V_{\rm H}$ -D-J_H junctional region (1). The hypervariability of this region is due not only to the combinatorial assortment of the many different segments that can be used to form a particular join, but also to the imprecise joining mechanisms that tend to increase diversity at the joining junctures (1). These mechanisms result in the loss and addition of bases at the site of joining, which result in the loss and generation of potential amino acid coding regions; this flexibility is an important source of antibody diversity. A multistep, nonreciprocal joining process has been proposed in order to explain the joining patterns observed between H-chain component gene segments (Figure 3A; 99). First, a double-stranded cleavage occurs at the border of the segment coding region and its flanking recognition sequence. Precise back-to-back fusion of the recognition heptamers then occurs, resulting in the deletion of the fused recognition elements and all intervening sequences between them, in the form of a circle. The coding sequences are not fused precisely: A joining event distinct from that which joins the recognition sequences allows modification of the coding sequences before joining. First, bases can be removed from the potential coding regions of both segments to be joined, and then new bases can be added at the point of joining (N-region insertion). A double-stranded exonuclease could account most easily for the loss of bases observed (99), although other mechanisms are also possible (100). It has been suggested that terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) could be responsible for the addition of bases to the joints (99). This enzyme has the ability to add nucleotides to a free 3' hydroxyl group and is expressed at high levels in immature lymphocytes. Replication of the added bases and ligation of the altered segments (not necessarily in that order) must be accomplished to complete the joining process.

The recombination recognition sequences seem to be responsible for targeting the recombinational machinery to perform the proposed initial event in recombination—the double stranded cut. Although there is no direct evidence either for this targeting or for the existence of a double-stranded cut, extracts have recently been prepared that can make double-stranded cuts near J-joining signals in vitro (101, 102). Analogously, in yeast, it is clear that a sequence-specific endonuclease initiates the mating-type switch event by performing a double-stranded break (103). H-chain rearrangement occurs via an intrachromosomal deletion mechanism (Figure 3B). Sequences between D and J_H are lost in cells that have formed DJ_H rearrangements, whereas all D segments are lost in lines that have two $V_H DJ_H$ rearrangements (23). The only evidence for the precise fusion of the

heptamer sequences during H-chain gene assembly was obtained upon examination of an aberrant D-to-J_H join that occurred via a complicated inversion process, resulting in retention of the recombination recognition elements (99). Examination of these retained elements not only demonstrated that the heptamers do indeed undergo back-to-back fusion, but also that this fusion is precise. The occurrence of base loss and base addition during the joining of component gene segments was originally defined by extensive comparisons of variable-region joins in terminally rearranged cells with the sequence of the corresponding unrearranged segments (1). A dynamic analysis of the mechanisms involved in base deletion and addition was provided by studies of A-MuLV-transformed cell lines active in V_H-to- DJ_{H} joining in culture (25). Comparison of the nucleotide sequence of a series of $V_H D J_H$ joints that were assembled in culture with that of their component V_H and DJ_H precursors allowed a precise definition of the bases added and deleted. Of the two actively rearranging lines analyzed, only one appeared to be capable of base addition; strikingly, the level of TdT activity in these two lines correlated to their ability to insert N regions, supporting the notion that TdT may be responsible for N-region insertion (25).

Mechanistic Differences Between H- and L-Chain Variable-Region Gene Assembly

The assembly of H- and L-chain variable-region genes appears to employ similar mechanisms. However, deletion of bases upon joining is more limited in L-chain joining, and addition of bases to $V_L J_L$ joins is rarely if ever observed. Because L-chain variable-region assembly occurs at a different stage than H-chain assembly but appears to use the same basic recombinase system (see below), it is possible there are stage-dependent levels of certain accessory enzymes responsible for base deletion/insertion. Alternatively, it is possible that there is a very strong selective pressure to maintain the size of the L-chain variable region. However, this seems unlikely since the unselected $V_L J_L$ joins within an introduced recombination substrate mimic normal L chain-gene joins (100).

Another difference between H chain- and κ L chain-gene assembly is that sequences lying between V_{κ} and J_{κ} are often retained in the cell after $V_{\kappa}J_{\kappa}$ joining (these sequences often include fused recognition elements; 19: 104-107). Several models were proposed to explain the retention of the intervening sequences in $V_{\kappa}J_{\kappa}$ joins; these include joining by sister chromatid exchanges (104, 105), reintegration of sequences initially deleted as a circle (104, 105), and an inverted joining mechanism (19, 106, 107). Currently, the inversion model seems to best explain the retention of intervening sequences after $V_{\kappa}J_{\kappa}$ joining (Figure 3B). According to this model the basic difference between H chain- and κ L chain-gene assembly

can be explained by postulating that, unlike V_H segments, some V_{κ} segments are either inverted with respect to the J_{κ} cluster or are located downstream to it. That inverted joining between widely separated chromosomal elements is possible was demonstrated by the occurrence of inverted DJ_{H} joining (99). Inverted joins between V_{κ} and J_{κ} segments within introduced recombination substrates (see below) also demonstrated that such joining is possible between these elements if they are arranged in inverted orientation (100, 108). Clearly, definitive evidence that endogenous κ genes rearrange by inversion will involve direct demonstration of the relative location and orientation of the V_{κ} and J_{κ} segments on the chromosome. In this regard, a recent analysis has described the linkage of the V_{λ} and J_{λ} gene segments in the chicken; notably, several V_{λ} segments were in the inverted orientation, although it was not shown that they rearrange (41). A clear case of inverted joining as a normal mechanism of joining endogenous genes has recently emerged from the analysis of V_{B} -J_B joining in T cells (L. Hood, personal communication).

Evidence for the Joining Model from Recombination Substrate Studies

Recently several groups have observed site-specific recombination of variable-region gene segments that were introduced as recombination substrates into A-MuLV transformants. Probably the key factor in the success of these experiments was the derivation of recipient A-MuLV-transformed cell lines that were active in Ig-gene assembly. Such experiments allow more precise definition of the molecular requirements of the joining process.

One set of studies involved the introduction of recombinant DNA plasmids containing D and J_{H} segments separated by the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV-tk) gene into TK-negative derivatives of fetal liver transformants (109). Selection against expression of the HSV-tk gene (by growing the cells in the presence of bromodeoxyuridine) selected for cells that had deleted the HSV-tk gene by site-specific joining between the flanking D and J_H segments (Figure 3C, left); various criteria indicated that the joining process was a faithful replica of the endogenous process. A similar experiment utilizing T cell-receptor D_{β} and J_{β} segments (G. D. Yancopoulos, T. Blackwell, H. Suh, L. Hood, F. W. Alt, Cell, 44, in press) revealed that these introduced segments could be induced to rearrange at a high rate in pre-B cells (see below). A different approach was used to examine introduced κ -gene rearrangement in marrow-derived A-MuLV transformants that actively assembled endogenous κ genes in culture (108). In this case, V_{κ} and J_{κ} segments, in inverted orientation, were introduced via a Moloney MuLV-derived retrovirus vector; activation of a positive selectable marker located on this vector required the inverted joining of the V_{κ} and J_{κ} segments (Figure 3C, right). This type of vector allowed recovery of not only the joined gene segments, but also of the reciprocally joined recognition sequences.

Several insights into mechanistic detail have been provided by these experiments:

- 1. They have provided direct evidence for the deletional mechanism of DJ_H joining (109) and have also verified that joining can occur between segments arranged in an inverted configuration (108).
- 2. They have confirmed that although the flanking heptamers are precisely joined, there is imprecision in the joining of the variable-region gene segments themselves (108, 109).
- They have correlated the levels of TdT in the recipient cell line with N-region insertion within an introduced recombination substrate (G. D. Yancopoulos, T. K. Blackwell, H. Suh, L. Hood, F. W. Alt, *Cell*, 44, in press).
- 4. They have demonstrated that a precise chromosomal location is not required for recognition and joining by recombinase. In addition, these experiments have defined the minimum flanking sequences necessary for recombinase joining of introduced sequences. Thus, the sequences required for targeting and binding recombinase must all lie within these narrow regions included on the introduced constructs.

THE ACCESSIBILITY MODEL TO EXPLAIN CELL-AND STAGE-SPECIFICITY OF JOINING

As described above, the ordered rearrangement of Ig-gene segments has apparently evolved to ensure the clonal specificity of the B-cell response to antigen; similarly, ordered rearrangement appears to play a role in T-cell antigen-receptor assembly (110–112). Tissue- and stage-specific rearrangement is dependent upon the ability to differentially perform and regulate the many different segment-specific joining events. However, the recombination sequences that flank all Ig and T-cell antigen-receptor component gene segments are quite similar, with no consistent differences related to the tissue or stage specificity of rearrangement (1, 42). The similarity between the recombination recognition sequences flanking different gene families that diverged millions of years ago indicates a very important and basic functional role for these sequences; in fact it raises the possibility that these highly conserved recognition sequences may be responsible for the targeting of a common recombinase. If a common recombinase is present that can perform all the various segment-specific joining events, a higher

level of control would be required to regulate the segment specificity of its activity. Insight into this higher level of control may be provided by the pattern of expression of unrearranged/incompletely rearranged gene segments, which we have reviewed above. Unrearranged gene segments appear to become transcriptionally active just at or prior to the cell stage in which they are normally rearranged (Figure 3, bottom). This transcription may reflect an increased accessibility of these gene segments to both transcriptional and recombinational machinery; thus, a single common recombinase could be specifically targeted to make a particular type of join by regulating the level of accessibility of the component gene segments (51). For example, regulation of the "opening" of the V_H locus, as reflected by germline V_H transcription, would allow specific control of the critical V_Hto-DJ_H joining step. The μ protein resulting from a productive join would signal for the "closing" of the V_{H} locus, preventing further V_{H} -to-DJ_H joining, and would also induce "opening" of the κ locus, initiating V_{κ}-to-J_{κ} joining. Such a model for recombinational control proposes a second function for the Ig enhancer elements-"recombinational enhancement" based on control of accessibility-and predicts that similar as yet undefined control elements regulate the accessibility of the other component gene segments. This model is by no means complete. Other levels of recombinational control are obviously at work; for instance, recombinase seems to act by a one-dimensional scanning model, at least through the early stages of V_H to DJ_H joining (see above). Cooperation of "tracking" and "accessibility" mechanisms may occur.

Two recent recombination substrate experiments have supported the "accessibility model." One experiment demonstrated that the frequency of D-to-J_H joining, within a recombination substrate introduced into a rearranging pre-B-cell line, could be regulated by controlling the expression of an adjacent selectable marker gene (T. K. Blackwell, H. Suh, F. W. Alt, in preparation). A second experiment introduced a recombination substrate containing T cell-receptor β -chain gene segments into a pre-B-cell line (G. D. Yancopoulos, T. Blackwell, H. Suh, L. Hood, F. W. Alt, Cell, 44, in press). The corresponding endogenous segments do not normally rearrange in such lines, but the introduced segments were able to rearrange at a high rate. This rate was apparently related to the accessibility state of these introduced segments as compared to their endogenous counterparts. This experiment clearly demonstrated that a recombinase activity normally present in pre-B cells could be targeted to perform a site-specific join normally seen only in a different cell type, as would be predicted by the accessibility model for recombinase regulation.

The modes of recombinase regulation reviewed here have recently been invoked to explain site-specific recombinase control in prokaryotes (113, 114). It has been proposed that prokaryotic recombinational enhancers, reminiscent of eukaryotic transcriptional enhancers, facilitate site-specific joining either by providing an entry site for recombination proteins or by making the substrate DNA more accessible to recombination. Onedimensional tracking models have also been the preferred way to explain the predilection of prokaryotic site-specific recombination proteins for adjacent and correctly oriented sites (115). Accessibility as a mode of control for DNA-modifying enzymes also has precedent in eukaryotic organisms. It is well known that DNase 1 and other endonucleases preferentially cleave actively transcribed DNA. It has also been demonstrated that the repair of UV-induced pyrimidine dimers, presumably initiated by an adduct-recognizing excision enzyme, occurs much more efficiently at active loci than in the genome as a whole (116). Mating-type switch in yeast provides perhaps the best characterized example of an accessibility control mechanism analogous to Ig recombinase control. The switch event is initiated by a site-specific, endonuclease-mediated doublestrand break. This cut normally occurs at only one of three identical DNA sequences, the transcriptional activity of these sequences apparently determines their ability to be cut. The chromatin accessibility of these sequences, as reflected by their transcription, may determine their ability to be recognized by the initiating endonuclease (103).

Thus, DNA accessibility seems to be important as a general biological control mechanism. It has recently been invoked to explain the apparent targeting of heavy-chain class switching in certain lines to specific constant regions (117). It may also explain the tendency of certain genes (such as oncogenes) to be modified/amplified only in the cell types in which they are normally expressed at high levels (118).

PERSPECTIVES

The assembly of Ig and T cell-receptor variable-region genes involves a series of complex and highly regulated genomic recombination events. Recent studies have suggested that tissue- and stage-specific control of variable-region gene assembly is mediated by regulating the accessibility of component gene segments to a common enzymatic machinery (recombinase). However, much remains to be learned. Thus, although implicated in the control of specific gene expression in many differentiation pathways, chromatin accessibility as a means of regulation is not yet understood in any system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by NIH grants AI-20047, CA-40427, and CA-2112-09, and by a Searle Scholars Award. G. D. Yancopoulos was

supported by National Institute of Health training grant GM-07367, and F. W. Alt is an Irma T. Hirschl Career Scientist and a Mallinckrodt Scholar.

Literature Cited

- Tonegawa, S. 1983. Somatic generation of antibody diversity. *Nature* 302:575
- Shimizu, A., Honjo, T. 1984. Ig class switching. Cell 36:801
- Levitt, D., Cooper, M. D. 1980. Mouse pre-B cells synthesize and secrete μ heavy chains but not light chains. Cell 19:617
- Siden, E., Alt, F. W., Shinefeld, L., Sato, V., Baltimore, D. 1981. Synthesis of immunoglobulin μ chain gene products precedes synthesis of light chains during B lymphocyte development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78: 1823
- Pernis, B. G., Chiappino, G., Kelus, A. S., Gell, P. G. H. 1965. Cellular localization of immunoglobulins with different allotype specificities in rabbit lymphoid tissue. J. Exp. Med. 122:853
- Cebra, J., Colberg, J. E., Dry, S. 1966. Rabbit lymphoid cells differentiated with respect to α-, γ- and μ-heavy polypeptide chains and to allotypic markers AA1 and AA2. J. Exp. Med. 123:547
- Coffman, R., Weissman, I. 1983. Gene rearrangement in pre-B cells. Mol. Cell. Immunol. 1:33
- Burrows, P., LeJeune, M., Kearney, J. F. 1979. Evidence that murine pre-B cells synthesize μ heavy chains but not light chains. *Nature* 280:838
- Maki, R., Kearney, J. D., Paige, C., Tonegawa, S. 1980. Immunoglobulin gene rearrangements in immature B cells. Science 209:1366
- Perry, R. P., Kelley, D. E., Coleclough, C., Kearney, J. D. 1981. Organization and expression of immunoglobulin genes in fetal liver hybridomas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:247
- Perlmutter, R. M., Kearney, J. F., Chang, S. P., Hood, L. E. 1985. Developmentally controlled expression of Ig VH genes. Science 227:1597
- Rosenberg, N., Baltimore, D. 1976. A quantitative assay for transformation of bone marrow cells by A-MuLV. J. Exp. Med. 143: 1453
- Baltimore, D., Rosenberg, N., Witte, O. N. 1979. Transformation of immature lymphoid cells by A-MuLV. *Immunol. Rev.* 48:3
- 14. Siden, E. J., Baltimore, D., Clark, D.,

Rosenberg, N. E. 1979. Immunoglobulin synthesis by lymphoid cells transformed in vitro by Abelson murine leukemia virus. *Cell* 16:389

- 15. Alt, F., Rosenberg, N., Lewis, S., Thomas, E., Baltimore, D. 1981. Organization and reorganization of immunoglobulin genes and A-MuLV transformed cells: Rearrangement of heavy but not light chain genes. Cell 27:381
- Whitlock, C. A., Ziegler, S. F., Treiman, L. J., Stafford, J. J., Witte, O. N. 1983. Differentiation of cloned populations of immature B cells after transformation with A-MuLV. Cell 32:903
- Burrows, P. D., Beck, G. B., Wabl, M. R. 1981. Expression of μ and γ Ig heavy chains in different cells of a cloned mouse lymphoid line. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78: 564
- Alt, F. W., Rosenberg, N., Casanova, R. J., Thomas, E., Baltimore, D. 1982. Immunoglobulin heavy chain class switching and inducible expression in an A-MuLV transformed cell line. *Nature* 296:325
- Lewis, S., Rosenberg, M., Alt, F., Baltimore, D. 1982. Continuing kappa-gene rearrangement in a cell line transformed by Abelson murine leukemia virus. *Cell* 30:807
- Yaoita, Y., Matunami, N., Choi, C. Y., Sugiyama, H., Kishimoto, T., Honjo, T. 1983. The D-JH complex is an intermediate to the complete heavy chain region gene. Nucl. Acids Res. 11: 7303
- Sugiyama, H., Akira, S., Kitkutani, H., Kishimoto, S., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1983. Functional V region formation during in vitro culture of a murine immature B precursor cell line. *Nature* 303:812
- Akira, S., Sugiyama, H., Yoshida, M., Kitkutani, H., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1983. Isotype switching in murine pre-B cell lines. *Cell* 34:545
- Alt, F. W., Yancopoulos, G. D., Blackwell, T. K., Wood, C., Thomas, E., Boss, M., Coffman, R., Rosenberg, N., Tonegawa, S., Baltimore, D. 1984. Ordered rearrangement of immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region segments. *EMBO J.* 3: 1209
- 24. Yancopoulos, G. D., Desiderio, S. V.,

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:339-368. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

Paskind, M., Kearney, J. F., Baltimore, D., Alt, F. W. 1984. Preferential utilization of the most J_H proximal V_H gene segments in pre-B cell lines. *Nature* 311:727

- 25. Desiderio, S. V., Yancopoulos, G. D., Paskind, M., Thomas, E., Boss, M. A., Landau, N., Alt, F. W., Baltimore, D. 1984. Insertion of N regions into heavy chain genes is correlated with expression of terminal deoxytransferase in B cells. *Nature* 311:752-55
- 26. Hengartner, H., Meo, T., Muller, E. 1978. Assignment of gene for Ig κ and H chains to chromosomes 6 and 12 in mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. USA 75:4494
- Wood, C., Tonegawa, S. 1980. Diversity and joining segments of mouse Ig H genes are closely linked and in the same orientation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80: 3030
- Kurosawa, Y., Tonegawa, S. 1982.. Organization, structure and assembly of immunoglobulin heavy chain diversity (D) DNA segments. J. Exp. Med. 155:201
- Kemp, D. J., Tyler, B., Bernard, O., Gough, N., Gernodakis, S., Adams, J. M., Cory, S. 1981. Organization of genes and spacers within the mouse immunoglobulin V_H locus. J. Mol. Appl. Genet. 1:245
- Bothwell, A. L. M., Paskind, M., Reth, M., Imanishi-Kari, T., Rajewsky, K., Baltimore, D. 1981. Molecular basis of a mouse strain-specific anti-hapten response. Cell 24:625
- Loh, D. Y., Bothwell, A. L. M., White-Scharf, M. E., Imanishi-Kari, T., Baltimore, D. 1983. Molecular basis of a mouse strain-specific anti-hapten response. *Cell* 33:85
- Brodeur, P., Riblett, R. 1984. The immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region (Ig-H-V) in the mouse. I. 100 IgH-V genes comprise 7 families of homologous genes. Eur. J. Immunol. 14:922
- 33. Brodeur, P., Thompson, M. A., Riblett, R. 1984. The content and organization of mouse IgH-V families. In *Regulation* of the Immune System, UCLA Symposia on Molecular and Cellular Biology (New Series). 18:445-53. New York: Liss
- 34. Swan, D., D'Eustachio, P., Leinwand, L., Seidman, J., Keithley, D., Ruddle, F. 1979. Chromosomal assignment of the mouse κ light chain genes. *Proc. Natl. Scad. Sci. USA* 76:2735
- D'Eustachio, P., Pravcheva, D., Marcu, K., Ruddle, F. H. 1980. Chromosomal

location of structural genes encoding murine Ig light chains. J. Exp. Med. 151:1545

- 36. Sakano, H., Juppi, K., Heinrich, G., Tonegawa, S. 1979. Sequences at the somatic recombination sites of immunoglobulin light chain genes. *Nature* 280:288
- Max, E. E., Seidman, J. G., Leder, P. 1979. Sequences of five potential recombination sites encoded close to an immunoglobulin κ constant region gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76: 3450
- Cory, S., Tyler, B. M., Adams, J. M. 1981. Sets of Ig V_k genes homologous to ten cloned V_k sequences: Implications for the number of germline V_k genes. J. Mol. Appl. Genet. 1: 103
- Selsing, E., Storb, U. 1981. Mapping of immunoglobulin variable region genes: Relationship to the "deletion" model of immunoglobulin gene rearrangement. Nucl. Acids Res. 9:5725
- 40. Eisen, H. N., Reilly, E. B. 1985. Lambda chains and genes in inbred mice. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3: 337
- Reynand, C. A., Anquez, V., Dahan, A., Weill, J. C. 1985. A single rearrangement event generates most of the chicken Ig light chain diversity. *Cell* 40:283
- 42. Hood, L., Kronenberg, M., Hunkapiller, T. 1985. T cell antigen receptor and the immunoglobulin supergene family. *Cell* 40:225
- 43. Early, P., Huang, H., Davis, M., Calame, K., Hood, L. 1980. An immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region gene is generated from three segments of DNA: V_H, D and J_H. Cell 19:981
- 44. Sakano, H., Maki, R., Kurosawa, Y., Roeder, W., Tonegawa, S. 1980. Two types of somatic recombination are necessary for the generation of complete immunoglobulin heavy chain genes. *Nature* 286:676
- Reth, M. G., Amirati, P., Jackson, S., Alt, F. W. 1985. Regulated progression of a cultured pre-B cell line to the B cell stage. *Nature* 317:353
- Fedderson, R. M., VanNess, B. G. 1985. Double recombination of a single Ig κ-chain allele: Implications for the mechanism of rearrangement. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:4793
- Chien, Y., Gascoigne, N., Kavaler, J., Lee, N., Davis, M. 1984. Somatic recombination in a murine T cell receptor gene. *Nature* 309: 322
- 48. Siu, G., Clark, S., Yoshikai, Y.,

Malissen, M., Yanagi, Y., Strauss, E., Mak, T., Hood, L. 1984. The human T cell receptor is encoded by variable, diversity and joining segments that rearrange to generate a complete V gene. *Cell* 37: 393

- 49. Siu, G., Kronenberg, M., Strauss, E., Haars, R., Mak, T., Hood, L. 1984. The structure, rearrangement and expression of D[B] gene segments of the murine T-cell antigen receptor. *Nature* 311:344
- Kavaler, J., Davis, M. M., Chien, Y. 1984. Localization of a T-cell receptor diversity region element. *Nature* 310: 421
- Yancopoulos, G. D., Alt, F. W. 1985. Developmentally controlled and tissuespecific expression of unrearranged V[H] gene segments. *Cell* 40:271
- Banerji, J., Olson, L., Schaffner, W. 1983. A lymphocyte-specific cellular enhancer is located downstream of the joining region in immunoglobulin heavy chain genes. *Cell* 33:729
- 53. Gillies, S. D., Morrison, S. L., Oi, V. T., Tonegawa, S. 1983. A tissue-specific transcription enhancer element is located in the major intron of a rearranged immunoglobulin heavy chain gene. Cell 33:717
- 54. Neuberger, M. S. 1983. Expression and regulation of immunoglobulin heavy chain gene transfected into lymphoid cells. *EMBO J.* 2:1373
- 55. Wabl, M. R., Burrows, P. D. 1984. Expression of immunoglobulin heavy chain at a high level in the absence of a proposed immunoglobulin enhancer element in cis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 81:2452
- Klein, S., Sablitsky, F., Rajewsky, K. 1984. Deletion of the IgH enhancer does not reduce immunoglobulin heavy chain production of a hybridoma IgD class switch variant. EMBO J. 3:2473
- 57. Mason, J. O., Williams, G. T., Neuberger, M. S. 1985. Transcription cell type specificity is conferred by an Ig V_H gene promoter that includes a functional consensus sequence. *Cell* 40:479
- Grosschedl, R., Baltimore, D. 1985. Cell-type specificity of immunoglobulin gene expression is regulated by at least three DNA sequence elements. *Cell* 41:885
- Parslow, T. G., Blair, D. L., Murphy, W. J., Granner, D. K. 1984. Structure of the 5' ends of immunoglobulin genes: A novel conserved sequence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81: 2650
 D. W. G. C. Zerberg, H. C. 1084.
- 60. Falkner, F. G., Zachau, H. G. 1984. Correct transcription of an immuno-

globulin κ gene requires an upstream fragment containing conserved sequence elements. *Nature* 310:71

- 61. Queen, C., Baltimore, D. 1983. Immunoglobulin gene transcription is activated by downstream sequence elements. *Cell* 33:741
- 62. Picard, D., Schaffner, W. 1984. A lymphocyte specific enhancer in the mouse immunoglobulin κ gene. Nature 307:80
- Bergman, Y., Rice, D., Grosschedl, R., Baltimore, D. 1984. Two regulatory elements for immunoglobulin κ light chain gene expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:7041
- 64. Potter, H., Weir, L., Leder, P. 1984. Enhancer-dependent expression of human κ immunoglobulin genes introduced into mouse pre-B lymphocytes by electroporation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:7161
- 65. Mulligan, R. C. 1983. Construction of highly transmissible mammalian cloning vehicles derived from retrovirus. In *Experimental Manipulation of Gene Expression*, ed. M. Inouye, p. 155. New York: Academic
- 66. Reth, M. G., Alt, F. W. 1984. Novel immunoglobulin heavy chains are produced from DJ_H gene segment rearrangement in lymphoid cells. *Nature* 312:418
- Nelson, K. J., Haimovich, J., Perry, R. P. 1983. Characterization of productive and sterile transcripts from the Ig Hchain locus: Processing of μm and μs mRNA. Mol. Cell. Biol. 3:1317
- Kurosawa, Y., Von Boehmer, H., Hass, W., Sakano, H., Traunecker, A., Tonegawa, S. 1981. Identification of D segments of immunoglobulin heavy chain genes and their rearrangement in T lymphocytes. *Nature* 290:565
- Kemp, D. J., Harris, A. W., Cory, S., Adams, J. M. 1980. Expression of the immunoglobulin Cμ gene in mouse T and B lymphoid and myeloid cell lines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77:2876
- Alt, F. W., Rosenberg, N., Enea, V., Siden, E., Baltimore, D. 1982. Multiple immunoglobulin heavy-chain gene transcripts in Abelson murine leukemia virus-transformed lymphoid cell lines. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 2: 386
- Grosschedl, R., Weaver, D., Baltimore, D., Constantini, F. 1984. Introduction of a μ immunoglobulin gene into the mouse germ line: Specific expression in lymphoid cells and synthesis of functional antibody. *Cell* 38:647
- 72. Van Ness, B. G., Weigert, M., Coleclough, C., Mather, E. L., Kelley, D.

E., Perry, R. P. 1981. Transcription of the unrearranged mouse C_{κ} locus: Sequence of the initiation region and comparison of activity with a re-

- arranged V.-C. gene. Cell 27:593 73. Nelson, K. J., Kelley, D. E., Perry, R. P. 1985. Inducible transcription of the unrearranged C, locus is a common feature of pre-B cells and does not require DNA or protein synthesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:5305-9
- 73a. Ucker, D. S., Kurosawa, Y., Tonegawa, S. 1985. An unusual clonotypic determinant on a cytotoxic T-lymphocyte line is encoded by an immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region gene. J. Immunol. In press
- 74. Kemp, D. J., Adams, J. M., Mottram, P. L., Thomas, W. R., Walker, I. D., Miller, J. F. A. P. 1982. A search for mRNA molecules hearing Ig V_H nucleotide sequences in T cells. J. Exp. Med. 156:1848
- 75. Kronenberg, M., Kraig, E., Siu, G., Kapp, J. A., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Pierce, C. W., Hood, L. 1983. Three T cell hybridomas do not contain detectable heavy chain variable gene transcripts. J. Exp. Med. 158:210
- 76. Peterson, P. A., Cunningham, B. A., Berggard, I., Edelman, G. M. 1972. β_2 microglobulin-a free immunoglobulin domain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 69:1697
- Smithies, O., Poulik, M. D. 1972. Initiation of protein synthesis at an unusual position in an immunoglobulin gene? Science 175:187
- Williams, A. F., Gagnon, J. 1982. Neuronal cell Thy-1 glycoprotein: Homology with immunoglobulin. Science 216:696
- 79. Picard, D., Schaffner, W. 1984. Unrearranged Ig λ variable region is transcribed in κ -producing myelomas. EMBO J. 3:3031
- 80. Alt, F. W., Enea, V., Bothwell, A. L. M., Baltimore, D. 1980. Activity of multiple light chain genes in murine myeloma lines expressing a single, functional light chain. Cell 21 : 1
- 81. Kuehl, W. M., Kaplan, B. A., Scharff, M. D., Nau, M., Honjo, T., Leder, P. 1975. Characterization of light chain and light chain constant region fragment mRNAS in MPC11 mouse myelomas cells and variants. Cell 5:139
- 82. Baumann, B., Potash, M. J., Kohler, G. 1985. Consequences of frame-shift mutations at the Ig H chain locus of the mouse. EMBO J. 4:351
- 83. Alt, F. W. 1984. Exclusive immunoglobulin genes. Nature 312: 502

- Sakano, H., Kurosawa, Y., Weigert, M., Tonegawa, S. 1981. Identification and nucleotide sequence of a diversity DNA segment (D) of immunoglobulin heavy chain genes. Nature 290: 562
- 85. Weaver, D., Constantini, F., Imanishi-Kavi, T., Baltimore, D. 1985. A transgenic immunoglobulin mu gene prevents rearrangement of endogenous genes. Cell 42:117-27
- 86. Rusconi, S., Kohler, G. 1985. Transmission and expression of specific pair of rearranged immunoglobulin μ and κ genes in a transgenic mouse line. Nature 314:330
- 87. Coleclough, C. 1983. Chance, necessity, and antibody gene dynamics. Nature 303:23
- 88. Kwan, S. P., Max, E. E., Seidman, J. G., Leder, P., Scharff, M. D. 1981. Two kappa Ig genes are expressed in the myeloma S107. Cell 26:57
- 89. Bernard, O., Gough, N. M., Adams, J. M. 1981. Plasmacytomas with more than one Ig κ mRNA : Implications for allelic exclusion. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78:5812
- Hieter, P. A., Korsmeyer, S. J., Waldman, T., Leder, P. 1981. Human immunoglobulin κ light chain genes are deleted or rearranged in λ -producing B cells. Nature 290:368
- 91. Coleclough, C., Perry, R., Karjalainen, K., Weigert, M. 1981. Aberrant rearrangements contribute significantly to the allelic exclusion of immunoglobulin gene expression. Nature 290:372
- 92. Durdik, J., Moore, M. W., Selsing, E. 1984. Novel κ light-chain gene rearrangements in mouse λ light chainproducing B lymphocytes. Nature 307:749
- 93. Siminovitch, K. A., Bakhshi, A., Goldman, P., Korsmeyer, S. J. 1985. A uniform deleting element mediates the loss of κ genes in human B cells. Nature 316:260
- Ritchie, K. A., Brinster, R. L., Storb, U. 1984. Allelic exclusion and control of endogenous immunoglobulin gene rearrangement in κ transgenic mice. Nature 312:517
- 95. Wabl, M., Steinberg, C. 1982. A theory of allelic and isotypic exclusion for immunoglobulin genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:6976
- 96. Fritsch, E. F., Lawn, R. M., Maniatis, T. 1980. Molecular cloning and characterization of the human B-like gene cluster. Cell 19:959
- 97. Eickbush, T. H., Kafatos, F. C. 1982. A walk in the chorion locus of Bombyx Mori. Cell 29:633

Annual Reviews

368 YANCOPOULOS & ALT

- Lewis, E. B. 1978. A gene complex controlling segmentation in Drosophila. *Nature* 276: 565
- Alt, F. W., Baltimore, D. 1982. Joining of immunoglobulin heavy chain gene segments: Implications from a chromosome with evidence of three D-J_H fusions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:4118
- Lewis, S., Gifford, A., Baltimore, D. 1985. DNA elements are asymmetrically joined during the site-specific recombination of kappa Ig genes. *Science* 228:677
- 101. Desiderio, S., Baltimore, D. 1984. Double-stranded cleavage by cell extracts near recombinational signal sequences of Ig genes. *Nature* 308:860
- sequences of Ig genes. Nature 308:860
 102. Kataoka, T., Kondo, S., Nishi, M., Kodairo, M., Honjo, T. 1984. Isolation and characterization of endonuclease J: A sequence-specific endonuclease cleaving Ig genes. Nucl. Acids Res. 12:5995
- 103. Klar, A. J. S., Strathern, J. N., Abraham, J. A. 1984. Involvement of doublestrand chromosomal breaks for mating-type switch in Saccharomyces Cerevisiae. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 49:77
- 104. Šteinmetz, M., Altenburger, W., Zauchau, H. G. 1980. A rearranged DNA sequence possibly related to the translocation of Ig gene segments. Nucl. Acids Res. 8: 1709
- 105. Hochtl, J., Muller, C. R., Zachau, H. G. 1982. Recombined flanks of the variable and joining segment of Ig genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79: 1383
- 106. Hochtl, J., Zachau, H. G. 1983. A novel type of aberrant recombination in Ig genes and its implications for V-J joining mechanism. *Nature* 302:260
- 107. Fedderson, R. M., Van Ness, B. G. 1985. Double recombination of a single Ig κ-chain allele: Implications for the mechanism of rearrangement. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:4793
- Lewis, S., Gifford, A., Baltimore, D. 1984. Joining of V_k to J_k gene segments in a retroviral vector introduced into lymphoid cells. *Nature* 308:425
- 109. Blackwell, T. K., Alt, F. W. 1984. Site-

specific recombination between Ig D and J_H segments that were introduced into the genome of a murine pre-B cell line. Cell 37:105

- Raulet, D. H., Garman, R. D., Saito, H., Tonegawa, S. 1985. Developmental regulation of T-cell receptor gene expression. *Nature* 314:103
- 111. Snodgrass, H. R., Dembic, Z., Steinmetz, M., Von Boehmer, H. 1985. Expression of T-cell antigen receptor genes during fetal development in the thymus. *Nature* 315:232
- 112. Samelson, L. E., Lindsten, T., Fowlkes, B. J., van den Elsen, P., Terhorst, C., Davis, M. M., Germain, R. N., Schwartz, R. H. 1985. Expression of genes of the T-cell antigen receptor complex in precursor thymocytes. *Nature* 315:765
- 113. Kahmann, R., Rudt, F., Koch, C., Mertens, G. 1985. G inversion in bacteriophage mu DNA is stimulated by a site within the invertase gene and a host factor. *Cell* 41:771
- 114. Johnson, R. C., Simon, M. I. 1985. Hinmediated site-specific recombination requires two 26 bp recombination sites and a 60 bp recombinational enhancer. *Cell* 41:781
- 115. Benjamin, H. W., Matzuk, M. M., Krasnow, M. A., Cozzarelli, N. R. 1985. Recombination site selection by TN3 resolvase: Topological test of a tracking mechanism. *Cell* 40:147
- Bohr, V. A., Smith, C. A., Okumoto, D. S., Hanawalt, P. C. 1985. DNA repair in an active gene: Removal of pyrimidine dimers from the DHFR gene of CHO cells is much more efficient than in the genome overall. *Cell* 40:359
 Stavnezer, J., Abbott, J., Sirlin, S. 1984.
- 117. Stavnezer, J., Abbott, J., Sirlin, S. 1984. Ig H-chain switching in cultured 129 murine B lymphoma cells: Commitment to an IgA or IgE switch. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 113:109
- 118. Yancopoulos, G. D., Nisen, P. D., Tesfaye, A., Kohl, N. E., Goldfarb, M. P., Alt, F. W. 1985. N-myc can cooperate with ras to transform normal cells in culture. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82: 5455-59



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 369–88 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS

H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid

Immunothérapie Expérimentale, Institut Pasteur, 75724 Paris, Cedex 15 France

"However interesting they may be for application, they are at least as valuable because of the investigations that they may generate in order to understand the intimate mechanisms... of the production of antitoxins."

Ramon, 1926

INTRODUCTION

Sixty years ago Ramon demonstrated that it was possible to augment the antitoxin response to diphtheria and tetanus by administering vaccines with pyogenic bacteria or with various additional compounds (1). Since that time, clinicians and immunologists have sought to potentiate the immune response with adjuvants while attempting to minimize the often present side effects.

An explosion of information concerning the complexity and sophistication of immune regulation has occurred in the past decade. Coupled with presently available biosynthetic and recombinant DNA technology, this knowledge is permitting development of vaccines possessing antigenic epitopes that were previously impossible to produce. Current vaccine candidates, for example, include synthetic peptides mimicking streptococcal (2), gonococcal (3), and malarial antigens (4). However, these purified antigens are generally weak immunogens that will require adjuvants to evoke protective immunity. Thus, a corresponding surge of interest has arisen in the development of potent nontoxic adjuvants that will enhance the immunogenicity of haptenic epitopes. An adjuvant may also be needed for conventional vaccines in order to elicit an earlier, more potent, or more

370 WARREN, VOGEL & CHEDID

prolonged response, or in cases where antigen supply is limited or too costly to produce.

The development of adjuvants has until recently been empirical. An enormous number of compounds have been found to modulate the immune response. These compounds have been notably diverse in both substance and function, a fact that has complicated attempts to discover the unifying mechanisms of adjuvant action. The elucidation of these mechanisms has lagged behind recent advances in the understanding of the immune system.

This diversity of adjuvants has presented difficulties in their classification. Adjuvants are occasionally grouped according to their origin, be it mineral, bacterial, plant, synthetic, or host product. Adjuvants with bacterial origins have recently been purified and synthesized (e.g. muramyl dipeptides, lipid A) and host mediators have been cloned (Interleukin 1, 2), providing chemically characterized products for study.

Adjuvants have been also categorized by their proposed mechanisms of action. This type of classification is necessarily somewhat arbitrary because most adjuvants appear to function by more than one mechanism. Adjuvants may act through antigen localization and delivery, or by direct effects on macrophages and lymphocytes. The creation of an antigen depot appears to be important for the activity of aluminum compounds, oil emulsions, liposomes, and synthetic polymers. Three of these adjuvants are reviewed in the first section of this chapter. The adjuvant activity of lipopolysaccharides (LPS) and muramyl dipeptides (MDP) appears to be mainly mediated through activation of the macrophage, whereas Bordetella pertussis affects both macrophages and lymphocytes. We address the adjuvant actions of these three bacterial products in the second section. In the final section we discuss some very recent and speculative approaches to immunopotentiation, such as the utilization of monokines and lymphokines, and the manipulation of the antigen, carrier, and adjuvant to augment the immune response.

Several excellent and comprehensive reviews of adjuvants and their mechanisms have been recently published (5, 6, 7). We concentrate on adjuvants of bacterial origin that are naturally or synthetically derived, because notable chemical advances have occurred with these adjuvants in the last decade. Length limitations prevent discussion of many other compounds such as saponin, a widely used adjuvant for veterinary vaccines.

NONBACTERIAL ADJUVANTS

Aluminum Compounds

The first use of aluminum compounds as adjuvants was described in 1926 (8). Since that time antigens precipitated with aluminum salts or antigens

mixed with or adsorbed to performed aluminum compounds have been used extensively to augment immune responses in animals and humans. Their wide use has been summarized in an older (9) and a more recent clinical review (5). Aluminum compounds and similar adjuvants appear to work through the following means:

- 1. Excretion of the antigen is slowed, thus prolonging the time of interaction between the antigen and antigen-presenting cells such as macrophages or follicular-dendritic cells.
- 2. Immunocompetent cells are attracted to the area of injection. Aluminum particles have been demonstrated in regional lymph nodes of rabbits 7 days following immunization (10), and it may be that another significant function is to direct antigen to T cell-containing areas in the nodes themselves. Adjuvant potency has been described to correlate with inflammation of the draining lymph nodes (11).

While many studies have confirmed that antigens administered with aluminum salts led to increased humoral immunity (HI) (reviewed in 5), cell-mediated immunity (CMI) appears to be only slightly increased, as measured by delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) (12). Aluminum hydroxide has also been described as activating the complement pathway (13). This mechanism may play a role in the local inflammatory response as well as immunoglobulin production and B-cell memory (14).

Primarily because of their excellent record of safety, aluminum compounds are presently the most commonly used adjuvants in humans. They are, however, not without problems. Aluminum containing vaccines occasionally cause local reactions (10, 15). Although allergic manifestations are not usually a clinical problem, aluminum compounds have been also said to attract eosinophils to the area of injection via a T celldependent mechanism (16), to induce an IgE response if injected after antigen priming (17), and to elicit a carrier-specific cell population with helper function for IgE response (18). In addition, aluminum-containing vaccines cannot be lyophilized, thus necessitating refrigerated transport and storage. Finally, and most importantly, aluminum compounds are not always successful in inducing a better response than aqueous controls. Thus, while aluminum salts have been a sufficient adjuvant for strong immunogens that require antibody responses only to elicit protection, more potent adjuvants that elicit cell-mediated immunity are needed.

Liposomes

In 1974 diphtheria toxoid entrapped in artificial liposomes composed of lecithin, cholesterol, and stearylamine in molar ratios of 7:2:1 was demonstrated to elicit a better primary antibody response than free toxoid (19). These findings have since been confirmed by many investigators

372 WARREN, VOGEL & CHEDID

utilizing diverse antigens. Experiments to determine whether antigen entrapped within the liposomes is a more (20) or less (21) effective adjuvant produced conflicting results. These prompted a controversy regarding the question of whether liposomes with surface-associated antigen can substitute for macrophages (22), or whether the liposomes are ingested by macrophages leading to more efficient antigen presentation (23). The charge (19), composition (21, 24), and method of preparation (22, 24) of liposomes all influence their adjuvanticity. The number of lipid layers also appears to be relevant but is dependent on the system utilized.

The mechanism of action of the enhancement of humoral immunity induced by liposomes appears to be due in part to their function as a depot for antigen (23). A physical association between antigen and liposome is a necessary condition for the potentiation of antibody response. Simultaneous injection of empty liposomes and protein antigen revealed no primary antibody response when compared with injection of the same amount of protein antigen entrapped within the liposomes (25). In addition, the augmentation of humoral immunological memory by protein entrapped in liposomes retains the T-cell dependency of native protein (25).

There must, however, be other mechanisms of action as well, because antigens entrapped in liposomes, unlike antigens injected with aluminum salts or oil emulsions, appear to elicit cellular immunity in addition to humoral immunity (26, 27). The reason for this is not clear, although it may result from antigen presentation in a hydrophobic microenvironment. Protein antigens directly conjugated to lipid moieties induce increased delayed type hypersensitivity DTH in proportion to their hydrophobicity (28, 29). This appears to be caused by an increased uptake by macrophages resulting in more efficient presentation to T cells (30). The potency of liposomes for both humoral and cellular responses can be further increased by the inclusion of bacterial lipopolysaccharide (31), lipid A (32), or muramyl dipeptide (33) within the liposomes in addition to antigen.

The anatomic distribution of liposome-entrapped antigen depends upon the route of administration. Intravenous use results in rapid delivery of antigen to the liver, spleen, lungs, and kidney. Intradermal or intramuscular administration results in a depot in the area of the injection that is slowly absorbed over a period of days to weeks (23). It may be that these differences could be utilized to induce local or systemic immunity. Liposomes containing muramyl dipeptide have been shown to localize it efficiently within the lung for the purpose of eradicating experimental tumor metastases (34). It seems likely that local specific immunity to infectious agents could be induced by similar methodology.

While further studies remain to be done regarding toxicity and efficacy, and methods need to be developed to ensure stability, liposomes are a potentially promising delivery system for vaccines.

Synthetic Polymers

A recent and novel approach to studying depot and antigen-localizing adjuvants has been the use of nonionic polymer surfactants (35, 36). Pluronic polyol compounds composed of copolymers of hydrophilic polyoxyethylene and hydrophobic polyoxypropylene in different proportions have been utilized to examine the relevance of the physiochemical presentation of an antigen on an oil droplet. Copolymers that were relatively hydrophobic promoted the retention of bovine serum albumin on oil droplets and induced a higher antibody response than copolymers that were hydrophilic (35). By manipulating the array of hydrophilic and hydrophobic copolymers in oil emulsions with antigen, it was shown that the induction of antibody responses could be dissociated from the induction of inflammation and granuloma formation (36). Large insoluble polymers with hydrophilic moieties flanking hydrophobic moieties favored chemotaxis, complement activation, and antibody formation. When the proportion of the hydrophilic and hydrophobic moieties was kept constant and the molecular weight of the polymers was decreased, inflammation was favored rather than an adjuvant effect. On the other hand, polymers with hydrophobic moieties flanking hydrophilic moieties tended to have granulomatous responses (36).

These studies demonstrate that the host response to an antigen depends upon its local presentation in addition to its concentration, and such response raises the possibility of manipulating antigen presentation for therapeutic advantage. Synthetic polymer adjuvants are, however, at an early stage of development. Further work will need to be done to assess their effect on cellular immunity. As their use has depended upon the ability to alter antigen presentation on the surface of oil droplets, they will be subject to the same concerns about toxicity as mineral oil. In addition, the in vivo metabolism of the polymers will need to be evaluated carefully before they can be used clinically. Nevertheless synthetic copolymers also appear to be quite promising candidates for future adjuvant use.

ADJUVANTS OF BACTERIAL ORIGIN

The last decade has brought significant progress in the chemical purification of three adjuvants of bacterial origin: Bordetella pertussis, LPS, and Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA). B. pertussis is of interest due to its ability to modulate cell-mediated immunity through action on Tlymphocyte populations. For LPS and FCA, the adjuvant-active moiety has been identified and synthesized, which permits study of structurefunction relationships and the possibility of modifying the original adjuvant to create a more beneficial toxic-therapeutic ratio.

374 WARREN, VOGEL & CHEDID

Bacterial Lipopolysaccharide

The adjuvant activity of LPS was first described in 1956 (37). Since then, several mechanisms have been advocated to explain its adjuvant action. Most studies have reported that it can directly activate macrophages. Its adjuvant properties may stem from its ability to stimulate the production and release of monokines such as Interleukin 1 (IL-1) described in a following section. Another mechanism by which LPS may act is through increasing or decreasing the expression of Ia molecules on the surface of macrophages (thus affecting antigen presentation to T cells). It appears that Ia expression is dependent upon the length of time following the exposure of LPS to macrophages. Short exposure times in vitro (38) or in vivo (39) lead to decreased expression of Ia, whereas longer exposure times lead to increased Ia expression (39, 40). Lipopolysaccharide also has direct effects on lymphocytes. It is a T cell-independent polyclonal B-cell mitogen (41). The relative importance of this phenomenon as a mechanism of the adjuvanticity, as opposed to the role of macrophages and monokines, has been debated extensively. Lipopolysaccharide stimulates natural antibody if administered without an antigen, and specific antibody if injected with an antigen (42). Lipopolysaccharide also stimulates cell-mediated immunity as measured by DTH (43).

Since LPS is highly toxic, efforts have been directed to decrease its toxicity by chemical treatment. Succinylated or phthalylinated LPS is 100,000-fold less toxic than native LPS but retains its adjuvanticity (44). Derived from mutants of *S. typhimurium* that have been chemically degraded to remove a phosphate group, natural lipid A reportedly maintains its mitogenicity while becoming markedly less toxic as measured by pyrogenicity and chick embryo lethality (45).

The biological properties of LPS, including adjuvanticity, have long been postulated to reside with the lipid A portion of the molecule. This postulate has now been confirmed by the production of a family of wholly synthetic lipid A compounds with multiple activities including the local Schwartzman phenomenon, pyrogenicity, mitogenicity, and lethality (46-48). The use of LPS as an adjuvant has been prevented by its high toxicity. Studies of synthetic lipid A analogues have proven, however, that the activities of lipid A can be dissociated from one another (46, 49), thus providing hope that it might be possible to construct a nontoxic lipid A with adjuvant activity. Synthetic compounds have been developed with mitogenic potency similar to natural LPS. The mitogenicity of these synthetic lipid A products appears to be inhibited by polymyxin B, similar to natural lipopolysaccharide (47). In addition, the synthetic compounds are not mitogenic for LPS-resistant splenic cells from C3H/HeJ mice (47). Study of
a family of different synthetic compounds has revealed that a phosphate group at position 1 of the reducing glucosamine and amide-bound acyloxyacyl residues are important for mitogenicity (47).

Synthetic (49A) and natural (32) lipid A maintain their adjuvanticity when incorporated into liposomes, whether the antigen is incorporated into the same liposome or is separate. This may be a possible method of avoiding the solubility problems attendant with such hydrophobic compounds. In fact, when LPS is incorporated into liposomes, cell-mediated immunity is augmented, a strategy that has been proposed to increase immunity for organisms causing intracellular infections such as salmonella species (31).

Bordetella Pertussis

Whole cell *Bordetella pertussis* vaccine possesses several immunomodulatory substances that act together to enhance the immune response. Principal adjuvant components are LPS and pertussis toxin (PT), a protein exotoxin that has been linked to the harmful effects and long-lasting immunity to whooping cough (50).

Recent studies have employed highly purified preparations of PT which allow the study of its immunomodulating activities devoid of the confounding effects of LPS contained in suspensions of killed organisms. These studies have demonstrated that PT potentiates the immune response, particularly CMI, partly through its ability to alter recirculation of T lymphocytes (6, 51). Evidence of the effect of pertussis toxin on CMI through the T lymphocyte was obtained in studies examining the ability of PT to potentiate the inflammatory response to Freund's complete adjuvant (52) and on its ability to modulate DTH responses (51, 53, 54). Intravenous injection of submicrogram quantities of PT produces intense and prolonged footpad swelling at the site of injection of FCA in normal but not in nude mice (52). Moreover, administration of PT to mice 1 or 3 days after sensitization with Keyhole Limpet Hemocyamin (KLH) and FCA greatly intensifies and prolongs DTH reactions elicited with KLH alone (53). In these experiments, pertussis toxin was shown to enhance antigen driven inflammatory responses but did not affect inflammation induced by nonspecific irritants.

In adoptive transfer experiments, recipient mice that are administered PT plus lymph node cells from KLH-sensitized mice exhibit more intense and prolonged DTH reactions upon antigenic challenge than do non-PT-treated mice (53). In addition, injection of PT into donor mice greatly enhances the ability of spleen or lymph node cells from these mice to transfer DTH responsiveness to naive recipients (54). In lymph node cells from both normal and sensitized mice, PT increases the ratio of Lyt-2-negative-to-Lyt-2-positive T cells and decreases the proportion of B cells.

376 WARREN, VOGEL & CHEDID

This alteration in the balance of T cells in secondary lymphoid organs may contribute to the ability of PT to modulate DTH response.

Pertussis toxin possesses the ability to break DTH-unresponsiveness to high doses of sheep erythrocytes (SRBC) in mice (51). Mice injected intravenously with high doses of SRBC (10⁹) are unresponsive to subsequent elicitation of DTH reactions. However, high and persistent DTH responses are observed if PT is injected on days 1 to 21 after sensitization. The restoration of DTH responsiveness is accompanied with the appearance of circulating DTH-mediating cells. In non-PT treated mice, DTH mediating cells, which transfer DTH to naive recipients, are found in the spleen but not the blood. Inhibition of the function or induction of splenic DTH suppressor cells upon PT administration is also observed. Treatment with pertussis toxin was not shown to suppress B-cell responses, however; titers of circulating antibody to SRBC in PT-treated mice primed with high doses of SRBC were equal to or higher than those of control mice primed with SRBC alone. These data further suggest that altered recirculation of lymphocytes contributes to the ability of PT to break DTH unresponsiveness, as well as to its adjuvant activity.

Suspensions of killed Bordetella pertussis organisms have been known for decades to potentiate antibody formation to unrelated antigens administered with them. Purified pertussis toxin enhances IgG and IgE production (55). In addition, the ability of Bordetella pertussis to block carrier-specific epitopic suppression of antibody responses has been shown recently (56). Epitope suppression occurs when a host is immunized with a haptenic epitope conjugated to a carrier to which the animal has been previously immunized (56, 57). A strong secondary antibody response to the carrier is produced, but IgG responses to the linked haptenic epitope are suppressed. Injection of Bordetella pertussis, but not FCA, at the time of carrier priming limits the induction of epitopic suppression (56). Investigations in our laboratory indicate that purified pertussis toxin can also block epitopic suppression (F. R. Vogel, C. Leclerc, M. Jolivet, F. Audibert, T. W. Klein, L. Chedid, manuscript in preparation). Epitopic suppression is mediated by discrete populations of suppressor T-cells (57). Therefore, abrogation of epitopic suppression by B. pertussis organisms or toxin may be mediated through diversion of suppressor-cell subpopulations from secondary lymphoid organs at the time of priming by the carrier.

Freund's Adjuvants and Muramyl Dipeptides

The combination of an emulsion of mineral oil and killed mycobacteria (FCA) is one of the most potent adjuvants known for stimulating both humoral and cellular immunity. It is, however, too toxic for use outside of

the laboratory, mainly because it contains nonmetabolizable mineral oil and because the mycobacterial elements elicit severe granulomatous reactions.

Oil emulsions alone, such as Freund's incomplete adjuvant (FIA) have been demonstrated both to localize the antigen in its initial depot (58) and, like alum, to disseminate to the lymph nodes (59), which has been thought to be more important for its adjuvant function (6). Water-in-oil emulsions made with an emulsifier such as Arlacel A have been used clinically in humans and induce an improved antibody response, compared to control preparations (reviewed in Ref. 5). Major disadvantages have been questions of toxicity concerning local granulomas and cysts (60, 61) and concerns raised by the development of tumors in mice given different mineral oil adjuvants (62). The latter resulted in their removal from use in the United States. It should be noted, however, that long-term follow-up of patients who had received FIA with influenza vaccines failed to show an increase in mortality, tumors, or autoimmune diseases attributable to the oil adjuvant (63). A final disadvantage has been that FIA does not substantially increase CMI.

Recent efforts to utilize oil-type emulsions have involved trying different types of oils such as squalane or squalene or metabolizable peanut or sesame oils with the hope of developing a degradable emulsion that is stable, effective, and not carcinogenic. More complex emulsions such as water-in-oil-in-water emulsions have also been tried in order to decrease viscosity and toxicity (64). Metabolizable lipid emulsions composed of materials such as glycerol and lecithin have been examined recently, but they have yielded conflicting results with respect to efficacy in the studies performed to date (65, 66).

Freund's complete adjuvant was developed in 1937 (67). A progressive series of biochemical studies attempting to purify the active adjuvant components gradually succeeded in isolating ever smaller compounds. Trehalose dimycolate (cord factor) was identified, purified, and found to have immunostimulating properties. The search culminated with the discovery of a tripeptide-monosaccharide (68). A family of similar compounds was rapidly synthesized (69, 70) and tested for adjuvant and other biological properties. The smallest structure possible that still resulted in adjuvant activity was N-acetylmuramyl-L-alanyl-D-isoglutamine or muramyl dipeptide (MDP). Several investigators then examined the relationship between chemical structure and adjuvanticity (71, 72). Since that time MDP and MDP derivatives have been studied intensively and demonstrated to have numerous potent, diverse, and interesting activities. While many of these may be clinically undesirable, they can often be dissociated from one another through the use of different MDP derivatives,

378 WARREN, VOGEL & CHEDID

and this allows selection of compounds that are adjuvant-active yet nontoxic.

Muramyl dipeptide is able to replace killed mycobacteria in FCA for the induction of both humoral and cellular immunity (68, 70). It differs from FCA in that it does not induce a change in immunoglobulin levels in mice when given without an antigen (73). It is capable of inducing humoral immunity when administered with an antigen in saline (74) and induces an antibody response when given orally, even if the antigen is given by a different route (71).

The classes of antibody elicited by an antigen given with MDP depend on the method of administration. Aqueous MDP given to mice with an antigen stimulates only IgG_1 and not IgG_2 or IgM antibodies (73, 75). On the other hand, injection of an antigen with MDP in mineral oil induces an IgG_2 response in guinea pigs (73). Muramyl dipeptide given with BSA in mice has been reported to elicit an IgE response (76), although lipophilic MDP conjugated to an antigen inhibits the IgE response while enhancing the IgG response (77). Intragastric administration of MDP with antigen to rats resulted in an increased IgA response in both serum and saliva which was protective for dental caries if given with certain antigens from *Streptococcus mutans* (78). Aerosol administration of MDP combined with parenteral antigen priming induced increased IgA antibody in lung washings (79).

Muramyl dipeptides have been shown to stimulate specific humoral immunity to a wide variety of natural antigens from bacteria, viruses, and protozoa. Examples include *Brucella*, Pseudomonas toxoid, diphtheria and tetanus toxoid, influenza, hepatitis B surface antigen, herpes simplex type I and *Trypanosoma brucei*. Muramyl dipeptides have also been shown to elicit antibodies to numerous synthetic antigens, usually after conjugation to a carrier. Examples include diphtheria toxin, streptococcal M-type 24 protein, foot-and-mouth disease virus, *Plasmodium knowlesi* circumsporozoite protein, and hepatitis B virus surface antigen (see Ref. 80 for review).

Hydrophilic muramyl dipeptides administered in saline alone do not appear to augment CMI markedly as measured by DTH (12). On the other hand, they markedly increase cellular-mediated immunity if administered with mineral oil as FCA (12), or if administered in liposomes (81). Cellmediated immunity is also enhanced if the MDP derivative is made lipophilic by the addition of glycerol mycolate to the peptide (82). The incorporation of lipophilic MDP derivatives into liposomes yielded even more potent cell-mediated immunity (83). Muramyl peptides administered in oil have been used to elicit antitumor effects (84) and to induce autoimmunity in experimental models (85), both of which reflect specific cell-mediated responses. Desmuramyl derivatives of MDP that contain diaminopimelic acid but lack the sugar moiety can also enhance HI and CMI (86) but are unable to reproduce all of the activities of FCA, such as the induction of autoimmunity.

When large doses of MDP are given prior to the antigen instead of with it, the humoral and cell-mediated responses are reduced instead of enhanced (87, 88). This appears to be due to the generation of suppressor T cells (88, 89) that are present in the spleen but not the lymph nodes (90).

The precise mechanism of action of adjuvanticity is poorly understood and multivariable. Muramyl dipeptide has a direct effect on lymphocytes. It has been reported to enhance carrier-specific helper-T-cell function (91) and to increase mitogen-induced thymocyte proliferation (92). It is also mitogenic for B lymphocytes (93) and can induce primary immune responses in T cell-depleted splenic cultures (94). It is likely that the monocyte-macrophage system plays a major role through the development of a local inflammatory response and through the production of monokines. Muramyl dipeptide may also stimulate better antigen processing of antigen by stimulating phagocytosis (95), although there is no direct evidence that MDP augments antigen presentation by the macrophage. Antigen presentation and T-cell interactions have been described to correlate with the level of expression of Ia-molecules on the macrophage outer membrane (38, 96), and several adjuvants including LPS and FCA (40) have been reported to stimulate Ia expression. The expression of macrophage Ia has been reported to be unaffected by MDP (40), although preliminary experiments in this laboratory suggest that there may be some augmentation of Ia expression in splenocytes. Muramyl dipeptide reportedly increases macrophage adherence and spreading, stimulates chemotaxis, inhibits macrophage migration, and increases production of prostaglandin and collagenase (reviewed in 97). All of these likely contribute to an amplification of the response. Direct metabolic activation of macrophages has also been demonstrated by MDP-induced stimulation of glucose oxidation (98). Another mechanism of action of MDP may be through the release of IL-1. Other mediators that may be important include B-cell growth factor, fibroblast-activating factor, colony-stimulating factor, slow-wave-sleep factor, and macrophage-inhibiting factor. These factors probably affect specific humoral and cellular immunity through complex interactions with each other and their target cells.

Pharmokinetic studies have shown that aqueous MDP is cleared extremely rapidly from the bloodstream. This suggests that it must either act immediately at the cellular level or that minute amounts are effective for the stimulation of humoral immunity. Injection of aqueous ¹⁴C-labeled MDP intravenously, subcutaneously, or intragastrically into mice results in

380 WARREN, VOGEL & CHEDID

greater than 90% of the label appearing in the urine after 2 hr. When ¹⁴C-MDP was given in mineral oil, 45% of the dose remained at the injection site at 24 hr, and there was 80-fold more radiolabel in the draining lymph nodes (99). The slower clearance and localization in draining lymph nodes following administration in oil may be a significant reason that this method of administration leads to much greater cellular immunity, perhaps by increasing the duration and concentration of antigen and MDP in the T-dependent areas of the lymph node.

The use of MDP derivatives clinically will depend on their toxictherapeutic ratio. Native MDP has untoward side effects that prevent its use in humans, at least for vaccines. This is probably in part due to the production of IL-1-like molecules by macrophages. The process of screening a large number of MDP derivatives has revealed several compounds that are adjuvant-active yet not pyrogenic. One of these, murametide (NAcMur-L-Ala-D-Gln-OCH₃) induces macrophages to produce endogenous pyrogen but simultaneously inhibits its fever-producing activity by mechanisms presently not understood (100). Another nonpyrogenic adjuvant-active derivative is murabutide (NAcMur-L-Ala-D-Gln- α -n-butyl-ester), a compound which lacks many of the undesirable properties of MDP (101). One reason for this selectivity may be that murabutide induces macrophages to produce lymphocyte-activating factor, but not endogenous pyrogen (102). Animal studies have shown that murabutide has minimal side effects (103), and human studies have shown that it augments antibody responses to tetanus toxoid (104) and to a natural fragment of streptococcal-M protein (105).

FUTURE APPROACHES FOR IMMUNOPOTENTIATION

There are several other possibilities on the horizon for increasing the immune response. It may be that the idiotype network can be beneficially exploited. This approach has been shown to enhance the antibody response to hepatitis B surface antigen (106). Another approach currently being developed is the use of vaccinia virus as a vector to enhance HI and CMI to single and even multiple antigens (107). This topic is addressed in detail in another chapter. Other possibilities include the use of monokines or lymphokines, or manipulation of the antigen, carrier, and adjuvant to achieve a desired response.

Monokines and Lymphokines as Adjuvants

As noted above, one probably mechanism of action of MDP and LPS is through the activation of macrophages with release of monokines and consequently lymphokines. A large number of immunomodulating factors have been described and it is likely that many remain unknown. For Interleukin 1 (IL-1) and Interleukin 2 (IL-2), DNA recombinant techniques have resulted in purified products. It is theoretically possible that one or the other could have future roles as adjuvants.

One major activity of IL-1 is its role in augmenting proliferation of thymic lymphocytes when in the presence of a mitogen. This activity (called LAF activity for lymphocyte-activating-factor activity) may well correlate with in vivo adjuvanticity. Partially purified IL-1 from activated macrophages that has LAF activity has been demonstrated to increase secondary IgG responses to BSA when administered 1-2 hr after the priming dose (108). IL-1 contained in macrophage supernatants has numerous diverse effects including fever and the production of acute phase reactants (109). Therefore, crude preparations of IL-1 are too toxic for adjuvant use. There is, however, evidence that their properties can be dissociated. Supernatants harvested from macrophages activated by a nonpyrogenic derivative of MDP have LAF activity but no endogenous pyrogen activity (102). Three groups have recently described the cloning of IL-1 (110-112), thus making available purified products that can be characterized and studied in abundant quantities. It appears at the present time that there are at least two different molecules (labeled IL-1 α and IL-1 β) with LAF activity (112). As with the other adjuvants, the potential clinical use of recombinant IL-1 as a clinical adjuvant will be dependent upon its toxic/therapeutic ratio. The recombinant molecules and their future derivatives should permit further investigations regarding the nature of IL-1 receptor sites, in addition to the development of nonpyrogenic compounds with adjuvant activity.

The multiple activities in vitro and in vivo of IL-2, a T-cell growth factor, have recently been reviewed (113). It has been suggested that IL-2 is induced, at least in part, from IL-2-producing T cells in the combined presence of IL-1 and antigen. The released IL-2 then activates effector T cells, which modulate CMI (114). It thus may have potential for use as an antitumor agent and for augmenting immunity in patients with immunodeficiency (113, 114). The recent cloning of IL-2 (115, 116) should also permit conclusive investigations as to its future role as an adjuvant.

Manipulation of the Antigen, Carrier, and Adjuvant in Induction of Specific Immunity

Experiments 20 years ago demonstrated that low-molecular-weight antigens, coated onto inert support substances such as acylic plastic particles (117) or bentonite (118), induce increased primary antibody responses. More recently, it was shown that making an antigen more hydrophobic

382 WARREN, VOGEL & CHEDID

enhances cell-mediated responses to the modified antigen (28, 29). One approach that has been employed to enhance the immunogenicity of small synthetic peptides has been to couple the peptide to itself to create a polymeric antigen. This has been done successfully to increase antibody responses to a synthetic peptide of streptococcal M24 protein (2). A more elegant approach has been to couple several different synthetic peptides together to create a larger polyvalent molecule capable of eliciting greater responses to each peptide than the responses elicited by the individual peptides alone (119). With this strategy each peptide functions as a carrier for the other peptides. It is also possible to couple the antigen directly to the adjuvant itself. Muramyl dipeptide conjugated directly to a protein antigen induces a greater immune response than the protein alone (120). Another interesting manipulation is to administer an antigen combined with specific IgM. This technique enhanced the IgG response and increased survival in a murine malaria model (121). An increase in adjuvanticity has also been obtained by mixing antigen conjugated to MDP with anti-MDP monoclonal antibodies, thus creating a yet larger complex with exposed Fc fragments on the complex. Complexes with F(ab')2 but without Fc fragments were less active (122). The exact mechanism of this phenomenon is unclear although it is perhaps relevant that MDP-anti-MDP complexes enhance macrophage activation 1000-fold compared to MDP alone (123).

Early studies of haptenic antigens demonstrated that conjugation of small antigens to carriers increases their immunogenicity. While efficacious in the laboratory, this approach applied to vaccines may lead to two problems. The repeated use of a carrier could induce hypersensitivity to the carrier. In addition, the administration of a vaccine epitope on a carrier to which the host has been previously exposed, such as tetanus toxoid, may lead to suppression of the new epitope (56). The recent description of totally synthetic carriers successfully conjugated to synthetic viral proteins (124) demonstrated that it may be possible to synthesize multiple different carriers for future vaccines. Another possible approach may be to incorporate *B. pertussis* toxin together with the hapten-carrier conjugate. As noted above, this adjuvant has the potential to overcome epitopic suppression. Efforts should be directed toward improving this activity and finding other less toxic compounds.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, it should be noted that most of the compounds described in this chapter have a wide variety of activities ranging from immune suppression to the mediation of potent humoral and cellular immunity. The muramyl peptides are a good example. The expression of their properties depends upon their chemical structure and the mode and timing of administration. It seems unlikely that there will evolve a single adjuvant for all uses. Each adjuvant and its derivatives has advantages and disadvantages. Through adept manipulation of these compounds in the future we may be able to select desired properties while avoiding undesirable ones.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge the skillful secretarial assistance of Colette de Champs, Martine de Galbert, and Elizabeth Hoff in the preparation of the manuscript. S. Warren was supported by NIH Grant AI 06960-02 and a Mosely fellowship from Harvard Medical School, Boston, Mass. F. Vogel was supported by NIH Grant F0 7 TW 00933-01.

Literature Cited

- Ramon, G. 1925. Sur l'augmentation anormale de l'antitoxine chez les chevaux producteurs de sérum antidiphtérique. Bull. Soc. Centr. Med. Vet. 101:227
- Jolivet, M., Audibert, F., Beachey, E. H., Tartar, A., Gras-Masse, H., Chedid, L. 1983. Epitope-specific immunity elicited by a synthetic streptococcal antigen without adjuvant or carrier. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com.* 117:359
- Rothbard, J. B., Fernandez, R., Wang, L., Teng, N. N. H., Schoolnik, L. K. 1985. Antibodies to peptides corresponding to a conserved sequence of gonococcal pilins block bacterial adhesion. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:915
- Ballou, W. R., Rothbard, J., Wirtz, R. A., Gordon, D. M., Williams, J. S., Gore, R. W., Schneider, I., Hollingdale, M. R., Beaudoin, R. L., Maloy, W. L., Miller, L. H., Hockmeyer, W. T. 1985. Immunogenicity of synthetic peptides from circumsporozoite protein of plasmodium falciparum. Science 228:996
- Edelman, R. 1980. Vaccine adjuvants. Rev. Infect. Dis. 2:370
- Waksman, B. H. 1979. Adjuvants and immune regulation by lymphoid cells. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 2:5
- 7. Drews, J. 1984. Immunostimulation, clinical and experimental perspectives. *Klin. Wochenschr.* 62:254
- Glenny, A. T., Pope, C. G., Waddington, H., Wallace, U. 1926. The antigenic valve of toxoid precipitated by potassium alum. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 29:38
- Wardlaw, A. C., Aprile, M. A. 1966. Field trials of aluminum adjuvant vac-

cines and toxoids: A review. Symp. Ser. Immunobiol. Stand. 6:257

- White, R. G., Coons, A. H., Connally, J. M. 1955. Studies on antibody production. III. The alum granuloma. J. Exp. Med. 102:73
- Taub, R. N., Krantz, A. R., Dresser, D. W. 1970. The effect of localized injection of adjuvant material on the draining lymph node. I. Histology. *Immunology* 18:171
- 12. Bomford, R. 1980. The comparative selectivity of adjuvants for humoral and cell-mediated immunity. II. Effect on delayed-type hypersensitivity in the mouse and guinea pig, and cell-mediated immunity to tumour antigens in the mouse of Freund's incomplete and complete adjuvants, alhydrogel, Cornyebacterium parvum, Bordetella pertussis, muramyl dipeptide and saponin. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 39: 435
- Ramanathan, V. D., Badenoch-Jones, P., Turk, J. L. 1979. Complement activation by aluminum and zirconium compounds. *Immunology* 37:881
- Klaus, G. G. B., Humphrey, J. H. 1977. The generation of memory cells. *Immunology* 33:31
- Goto, N., Akama, K. 1982. Histopathological studies of reactions in mice injected with aluminum absorbed tetanus toxoid. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 26: 1121
- Walls, R. S. 1977. Eosinophil response to alum adjuvants: Involvement of T cells in non-antigen dependent mechanisms. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 156: 431

384 WARREN, VOGEL & CHEDID

- Bergstrand, H., Anderson, I., Nyström, I., Pauwels, R., Bazin, H. 1983. The nonspecific enhancement of allergy. *Allergy* 38:247
- Kishimoto, T., Ishizaka, K. 1973. Regulation of antibody response in vitro. VI. Carrier-specific helper cells for IgG and IgE antibody response. J. Immunol. 111:720
- Allison, A. C., Gregoriadis, G. 1974. Liposomes as immunological adjuvants. *Nature* 252:252
- Shek, P. N., Sabiston, B. H. 1982. Immune response mediated by liposomeassociated protein antigens. II. Comparison of the effectiveness of vesicleentrapped and surface-associated antigen in immunopotentiation. *Immunology* 47:627
- Heath, T. D., Edwards, D. C., Ryman, B. E. 1976. The adjuvant properties of liposomes. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 4:129
- Van Rooijen, N., Van Nieuwmegen, R. 1983. Use of liposomes as biodegradable and harmless adjuvants. *Methods Enzymol.* 93:83
- Kramp, W. J., Six, H. R., Kasel, J. A. 1982. Post-immunization clearance of liposome-entrapped adenovirus type 5 Hexon. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 169: 135
- Tyrrell, D. A., Heath, T. D., Colley, C. M., Ryman, B. E. 1976. New aspects of liposomes. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 457: 259
- Shek, P. N., Sabiston, B. H. 1981. Immune response mediated by liposomeassociated protein antigens. I. Potentiation of the plaque-forming cell response. *Immunology* 45: 349
- Lawman, M. J. P., Naylor, P. T., Huang, L., Courtney, R. J., Rouse, B. T. 1981. Cell-mediated immunity to herpes simplex virus: Induction of cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses by viral antigens incorporated into liposomes. J. Immunol. 126:304
- 27. Sanchez, Y., Ionescu-Matiu, I., Dreesman, G. R., Kramp, W., Six, H. R., Hollinger, F. B., Melnick, J. L. 1980. Humoral and cellular immunity to hepatitis B virus-derived antigens: Comparative activity of Freund complete adjuvant, alum and liposomes. *Infect. Immun.* 30:728
- Coon, J., Hunter, R. 1975. Properties of conjugated protein immunogens which selectively stimulate delayed-type hypersensitivity. J. Immunol. 114:1518
- Dailey, M. O., Hunter, R. L. 1977. Induction of cell-mediated immunity to chemically modified antigens in guinea pigs. I. Characterization of the immune

response to lipid conjugated protein antigens. J. Immunol. 118:957

- Dailey, M. O., Post, W., Hunter, R. L. 1977. Induction of cell-mediated immunity to chemically modified antigens in guinea pigs. II. The interaction between lipid conjugated antigens, macrophages, and T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 118:963
- Desiderio, J. V., Campbell, S. G. 1985. Immunization against experimental murine Salmonellosis with liposomeassociated O-Antigen. *Infect. Immun.* 48:658
- 32. Alving, C. R., Richardson, E. C. 1984. Mitogenic activities of lipid A and liposome-associated lipid A: Effects of epitope density. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 6:493
- Jolivet, M., Sache, E., Audibert, F. 1981. Biological studies of lipophilic MDP derivatives incorporated into liposomes. *Immunol. Commun.* 10:511
- 34. Phillips, N. C., Moras, M. L., Chedid, L., Lefrancier, P., Bernard, J. M. 1985. Activation of alveolar macrophage tumoricidal activity and eradication of experimental metastases by freezedried liposomes containing a new lipophilic muramyl dipeptide derivative. *Cancer Res.* 45: 128
- Hunter, R., Strickland, F., Kezdy, F. 1981. The adjuvant activity of non-ionic block polymer surfactants. I. The role of hydrophile-lipophile balance. J. Immunol. 127:1244
- 36. Hunter, R. L., Bennett, B. 1984. The adjuvant activity of non-ionic block polymer surfactants. II. Antibody formation and inflammation related to the structure of triblock and octablock copolymers. J. Immunol. 133:3167
- 37. Johnson, A. J., Gaines, S., Landy, M. 1956. Studies on the O antigen of Salmonella typhosa. V. Enhancement of the antibody response to protein antigens by the purified lipopolysaccharide. J. Exp. Med. 103:225
- Yem, A. W., Parmeley, M. J. 1981. Modulation of Ia-like antigen expression and antigen-presenting activity of human monocytes by endotoxin and zymosan A. J. Immunol. 127:2245
- Žiegler, H. K., Staffileno, L. K., Wentworth, P. 1984. Modulation of macrophage Ia-expression by lipopolysaccharide. I. Induction of Ia expression in vivo. J. Immunol. 133:1825
- Behbehani, K., Beller, D. I., Unanue, E. R. 1985. The effects of beryllium and other adjuvants on Ia expression by macrophages. J. Immunol. 134: 2047
- 41. Gery, I., Kruger, J., Spiesel, S. 1972. Stimulation of B lymphocytes by endo-

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:369-388. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS 385

toxin. Reactions of thymus-deprived mice and karyotypic analysis of dividing cells in mice bearing T_cT₆ thymus grafts. J. Immunol. 108: 1088
42. Seppala, I. J. T., Makela, O. 1984.

- Seppala, I. J. T., Makela, O. 1984. Adjuvant effect of bacterial LPS and/or alum precipitation in response to polysaccharide and protein antigens. *Immunology* 53:827
- 43. Ohta, M., Nakashima, I., Kato, N. 1982. Adjuvant action of bacterial lipopolysaccharide in induction of delayed-type hypersensitivity to protein antigens. II. Relationships of intensity of the action to that of other immunological activities. Immunobiology 163:460
- Chedid, L., Audibert, F., Bona, C., Damais, C., Parant, F., Parant, M. 1975. Biological activities of endotoxins detoxified by alkylation. *Infect. Immun.* 12:74
- Ribi, E., Cantrell, J. L., Takayama, K., Qureshi, N., Peterson, J., Ribi, H. O. 1984. Lipid A and immunotherapy. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 6:567
- Rev. Infect. Dis. 6:567
 46. Tanamoto, K., Zahringer, U., McKenzie, G. R., Galanos, C., Rietschel, E., Lüderitz, O., Kusumoto, S., Shiba, T. 1984. Biological activities of synthetic lipid A analogs: Pyrogenicity, lethal toxicity, anticomplement activity, and induction of gelation of limulus ameobocyte lysate. Infect. Immun. 44:421
- bocyte lysate. Infect. Immun. 44: 421
 47. Tanamoto, K., Galanos, C., Lüderitz, O., Kusumoto, S., Shiba, T. 1984. Mitogenic activities of synthetic lipid A analogs and suppression of mitogenicity of lipid A. Infect. Immun. 44: 427
- 48. Kotani, S., Takada, H., Tsujimoto, M., Ogawa, T., Harada, K., Mori, Y., Kawasaki, A., Tanaka, A., Nagao, S., Tanaka, S., Shiba, T., Kusumoto, S., Imoto, M., Yoshimura, H., Yamamoto, M., Shimamoto, T. 1984. Immunologically active lipid A analogues synthesized according to a revised structural model of natural lipid A. Infect. Immun. 45:293
- 49. Galanos, C., Hansen-Hagge, T., Lehmann, V., Lüderitz, O. 1985. Comparison of the capacity of two lipid A precursor molecules to express the local Schwartzman phenomenon. Infect. Immun. 48:355
- 49a. Yasuda, T., Kanegasaki, S., Tsumita, T., Takakuma, T., Homma, J. Y., Inage, M., Kusumoto, S., Shiba, T. 1982. Biological activity of chemically synthesized analogues of Lipid A. Demonstration of adjuvant effect in hapten-sensitized liposomal system. Eur. J. Biochem. 124:405
- 50. Pittman, M. 1979. Pertusis toxin: the

cause of the harmful effects and prolonged immunity of whooping cough. A hypothesis. Rev. Infect. Dis. 1:401

- 51. Tamura, S. I., Tanaka, H., Takayama, R., Sato, H., Sato, Y., Uchida, N. 1985. Break of unresponsiveness of delayedtype hypersensitivity to sheep red blood cells by pertussis toxin. *Cell. Immunol.* 92: 376
- Munoz, J. J., Sewell, W. A. 1984. Effect of pertussigen on inflammation caused by Freund adjuvant. *Infect. Immun.* 44: 637
- 53. Sewell, W. A., Munoz, J. J., Vadas, M. A. 1983. Enhancement of the intensity, persistence and passive transfer of delayed-type hypersensitivity lesions by pertussigen in mice. J. Exp. Med. 157:2087
- Sewell, W. A., Munoz, J. J., Scollay, R., Vadas, M. A. 1984. Studies on the mechanism of the enhancement of delayed-type hypersensitivity by pertussigen. J. Immunol. 133:1716
- Munoz, J. J., Arai, H., Bergman, R. K., Sadowski, P. 1981. Biological activities of crystalline pertussigen from Bordetella pertussis. Infect. Immun. 33:820
- Herzenberg, L. A., Tokuhisa, T. 1982. Epitope-specific regulation, I. Carrierspecific induction of suppression for IgG anti-hapten antibody responses. J. Exp. Med. 155:1730
- 57. Tagawa, M., Tokuhisa, T., Ano, K., Taniguchi, M., Herzenberg, L. A., Herzenberg, L. A. 1984. Epitope specific regulation. IV. *In vitro* studies with suppressor T cells induced by carrier/ hapten-carrier immunization. *Cell Immunol.* 86:327
- Herbert, W. J. 1968. The mode of action of mineral-oil emulsion adjuvants on antibody production in mice. *Immuno*logy 14: 301
- Freund, J. 1956. The mode of action of immunological adjuvants. Adv. Tuberc. Res. 7: 130
- 60. Ogonuki, H., Hashizume, S., Abe, H. 1966. Histopathological tests of tissues in the sites of local reactions caused by the injection of oil adjuvant cholera vaccine. Symp. Ser. Immunobiol. Stand. 6:125
- Fukumi, H. 1966. Effectiveness and untoward reactions of oil adjuvant influenza vaccines. Symp. Series Immunobiol. Stand. 6:237
- Murray, R., Cohen, P., Hardegree, M. C. 1972. Mineral oil adjuvants: Biological and chemical studies. Ann. Allergy 30:146
- Beebe, G. W., Simon, A. H., Vivona, L. S. 1972. Long-term mortality follow-up

of army recruits who received adjuvant influenza virus vaccine in 1951–1953. Am. J. Epidemiol. 95:337

- 64. Kimura, J., Nariuchi, H., Watanabe, T., Matuhasi, T., Okayasu, I., Hatakeyama, S. 1978. Studies on the adjuvant effect of water-in-oil-in-water emulsion of sesame oil. Jpn. J. Exp. Med. 48: 149
- Brugh, M., Stone, H. D., Lipton, H. W. 1983. Comparison of inactivated Newcastle disease viral vaccines containing different emulsion adjuvants. Am. J. Vet. Res. 44:72
- Reynolds, J. A., Herrington, D. G., Crabbs, C. L., Peters, C. J., DiLuzio, N. R. 1980. Adjuvant activity of a novel metabolizable lipid emulsion with inactivated viral vaccines. *Infect. Immu*nol. 28:937
- Freund, J., Casals, J., Hismer, E. P. 1937. Sensitization and antibody formation after injection of tubercle bacilli and paraffin oil. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 37: 509
- Ellouz, F., Adam, A., Ciorbaru, R., Lederer, E. 1974. Minimal structural requirements for adjuvant activity of bacterial peptidoglycan derivatives. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com.* 59:1317
- 69. Kotani, S., Watanabe, Y., Kinoshita, F., Shimono, T., Morisaki, I., Shiba, T., Kusumoto, S., Tarumi, Y., Ikenaka, K. 1975. Immunoadjuvant activities of synthetic N-acetylmuramyl peptides or amino acids. *Biken J.* 18:105
- Merser, C., Sinay, P., Adam, A. 1975. Total synthesis and adjuvant activity of bacterial peptidoglycan derivatives. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com. 66:1316
- Chedid, L., Audibert, F., Lefrancier, P., Choay, J., Lederer, E. 1976. Modulation of the immune response by a synthetic adjuvant and analogues. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 73:2472
- 72. Azuma, I., Sugimura, K., Taniyama, T., Yamawaki, M., Yamamura, Y., Kusumoto, S., Okada, S., Shiba, T. 1976. Adjuvant activity of mycobacterial fractions: Immunological properties of synthetic N-acetylmuramyl dipeptide and related compounds. *Infect. Immun.* 14:18
- Leclerc, C., Audibert, F., Chedid, L. 1978. Influence of a synthetic adjuvant (MDP) on qualitative and quantitative changes of serum globulins. *Immunology* 35:963
- Audibert, F., Chedid, L., Lefrancier, P., Choay, J. 1976. Distinctive adjuvanticity of synthetic analogs of mycobacterial water-soluble components. *Cell. Immunol.* 21:243

- 75. Bomford, R. 1980. The comparative selectivity of adjuvants for humoral and cell mediated immunity. I. Effect on the antibody response to bovine serum albumin and sheep red blood cells of Freund's incomplete and complete adjuvants, alhydrogel, corynebacterium parvum, Bordella pertussis, muramyl dipeptide and saponin. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 39:426
- 76. Ohkuni, H., Norose, Y., Ohta, M., Hayama, M., Kimura, Y., Tsujimoto, M., Kotani, S., Shiba, T., Kusumoto, S., Yokogawa, K., Kawata, S. 1979. Adjuvant activities in production of reaginic antibody by bacterial cell wall peptidoglycan or synthetic N-acetylmuramyl dipeptides in mice. *Infect. Immun.* 24: 313
- 77. Kishimoto, T., Hirai, Y., Nakanishi, K., Azuma, I., Nagamatsu, A., Yamamura, Y. 1979. Regulation of antibody response in different immunoglobulin classes. VI. Selective suppression of IgE response by administration of antigenconjugated muramyl peptides. J. Immunol. 123:2709
- Morisaki, I., Michalek, S. M., Harmon, C. C., Torii, M., Hamada, S., McGhee, J. R. 1983. Effective immunity to dental caries: Enhancement of salivary anti-Streptococcus mutans antibody responses with oral adjuvants. *Infect. Immun.* 40: 577
- Butler, J. E., Richardson, H. B., Swanson, P. A., Kopp, W. C., Suelzer, M. T. 1983. The influence of muramyl peptide on the secretory immune response. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 409:669
- Audibert, F., Leclerc, C., Chedid, L. 1986. Muramyl peptides as immunopharmacological response modifiers. In Biological Response Modifiers, ed. P. F. Torrence, pp. 307-27. San Diego, Calif: Academic
- Masek, K., Zaoral, M., Jezek, J., Straka, R. 1978. Immunoadjuvant activity of synthetic N-acetylmuramyl dipeptide. *Experimentia* 34:1363
- 82. Parant, M., Audibert, F., Chedid, L., Level, M., Lefrancier, P., Choay, J., Lederer, E. 1980. Immunostimulant activities of a lipophilic muramyl dipeptide derivative and of desmuramyl peptidolipid analogs. *Infect. Immun.* 27: 826
- 83. Kotani, S., Kinoshita, F., Morisaki, I., Shimono, T., Okunaga, T., Takada, H., Tsujimoto, M., Watanabe, Y., Kato, K., Shiba, T., Kusumoto, S., Okada, S. 1977. Immunoadjuvant activities of synthetic 6-O-acyl-N-acetylmuramyl-L-alanyl-D-isoglutamine with special

reference to the effect of its administration with liposomes. Biken J. 20:95

- 84. Yamamura, Y., Azuma, I., Sugimura, K., Yamawaki, M., Uemiya, M., Kusu-moto, S., Okada, S., Shiba, T. 1977. Immunological and antitumor activities of synthetic 6-O-mycoloyl-N-acetylmuramyl dipeptides. Proc. Jpn. Acad. 53:63
- Nagai, Y., Akiyama, K., Suzuki, K., Kotani, S., Watanabe, Y., Shimono, T., Shiba, T., Kusumoto, S., Ikuta, F., Takeda, S. 1978. Minimum structural requirements for encephalitogen and for adjuvant in the induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Cell. Immunol. 35:158
- 86. Migliore-Samour, D., Bouchaudon, J., Floc'h, F., Zerial, A., Ninet, L., Werner, G. H., Jollès, P. 1980. A short lipopeptide representative of a new family of immunological adjuvants devoid of
- sugar. Life Sci. 26:883
 87. Leclerc, C., Juy, D., Bourgeois, E., Chedid, L. 1979. In vivo regulation of humoral and cellular immune responses of mice by a synthetic adjuvant, Nacetylmuramyl - L - alanyl - D - isoglutamine, muramyl dipeptide for MDP. Cell. Immunol. 45: 199
- 88. Fergusson, T. A., Krieger, M. J., Pesce, A., Michael, J. G. 1983. Enhancement of antigen specific suppression by muramyl dipeptide. Infect. Immun. 39:800
- 89. Leclerc, C., Bourgeois, E., Chedid, L. 1982. Demonstration of muramyl dipeptide (MDP)-induced T-suppressor cells responsible for MDP immunosuppressive activity. Eur. J. Immunol. 12:249
- 90. Brummer, E., Stevens, D. A. 1981. Opposite modulation of lymph node cell and spleen cell responses to mitogens by muramyl dipeptide and its desmethyl analogue. Cell. Immunol. 59:195
- 91. Sugimoto, M., Germain, R. N., Chedid, L., Benacerraf, B. 1978. Enhancement of carrier-specific helper T-cell function by the synthetic adjuvant, N-acetylmuramyl-L-alanyl-D-isoglutamine (MDP). J. Immunol. 120:980
- Iribe, H., Koga, T. 1984. Augmentation of the proliferative responses of thymocytes to phytohemagglutinin by muramyl dipeptide. Cell. Immunol. 88:9
- 93. Damais, C., Parant, M., Chedid, L., Lefrancier, P., Choay, J. 1978. In vitro spleen cell responsiveness to various analogs of MDP (N-acetylmuramyl-Lalanyl-D-isoglutamine), a synthetic immunoadjuvant, in MDP high-responder mice. Cell. Immunol. 35:173

- IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS 94. Watson, J., Whitlock, C. 1978. Effect of
 - synthetic adjuvants on the induction of primary immune response in T-cell depleted spleen cultures. J. Immunol. 121: 383
 - 95. Tanaka, A., Nagao, S., Kotani, S., Shiba, T., Kusumoto, S. 1979. Stimulation of the reticuloendothelial system of mice by muramyl dipeptide. Infect. Immun. 24:302
 - 96. Beller, D. I. 1984. Functional significance of the regulation of macrophage
 - Ia expression. Eur. J. Immunol. 14:138 97. Leclerc, C., Vogel, F. 1986. Synthetic immunomodulators and synthetic vaccines. Critical Reviews in Therapeutic Drug Carrier Systems. In press
 - 98. Imai, K., Tomioka, M., Nagao, S., Kushima, K., Tanaka, A. 1980. Biochemical evidence for activation of guinea pig macrophages by muramyl dipeptide. Biochem. Res. 1:300
 - 99. Parant, M., Parant, F., Chedid, L., Yapo, A., Petit, J. F., Lederer, E. 1979. Fate of the synthetic immunoadjuvant, muramyl dipeptide (14C-labelled) in the mouse. Int. J. Immunopharmacol. 1:35
 - 100. Parant, M., Riveau, G., Parant, F., Chedid, L. 1984. Inhibition of endogenous pyrogen-induced fever by a muramyl dipeptide derivative. Am. J. Physiol. 247:169
 - 101. Chedid, L., Parant, M., Audibert, F., Riveau, G., Parant, F., Lederer, E., Choay, J., Lefrancier, P. 1982. Biological activity of a new synthetic muramyl peptide adjuvant devoid of pyrogenicity. Infect. Immun. 35:417
 - 102. Damais, C., Riveau, G., Parant, M., Gerota, J., Chedid, L. 1982. Production of lymphocyte activating factor in the absence of endogenous pyrogen by rabbit or human leukocytes stimulated by a muramyl dipeptide derivative. Int. J. Immunopharmacol. 4:451
 - 103. Parant, M., Chedid, L. 1984. Stimulation of nonspecific resistance to infections by synthetic immunoregulatory agents. Infection 12:230
 - 104. Telzak, E., Wolff, S. M., Dinarello, D. A., Conlon, T., Elkholy, E., Bahr, G. M., Choay, A., Morin, A., Chedid, L. 1986. Clinical evaluation of the immunoadjuvant, murabutide, a derivative of MDP. administered with a tetanus toxoid vaccine. II. Studies in non-previously immunized normal volunteers in Egypt. J. Infect. Dis. In press
 - 105. Oberling, F., Morin, A., Duclos, B., Lang, J. M., Beachey, E. H., Chedid, L. 1985. Enhancement of antibody response to a natural fragment of streptococcal M protein by murabutide ad-

ministered to healthy volunteers. Int. J. Immunopharmacol. 7:398

- 106. Kennedy, R. C., Dreesman, G. R. 1984. Enhancement of the immune response to hepatitis B surface antigen. *In vivo* administration of antiidiotype induces anti-HBS that expresses a similar idiotype. J. Exp. Med. 159:655
- 107. Smith, G. L., Mackett, M., Moss, B. 1983. Infectious vaccinia virus recombinants that express hepatitis B virus surface antigen. *Nature* 302:490
- Staruch, M. J., Wood, D. D. 1983. The adjuvanticity of Interleukin-1 in vivo. J. Immunol. 130:2191
- 109. Dinarello, C. A. 1984. Interleukin-1. Rev. Infect. Dis. 6:51
- 110. Lomedico, P. T., Gubler, U., Hellmann, C. P., Dukovich, M., Giri, J. G., Pan, Y. E., Collier, K., Semionow, R., Chua, A. B., Mizel, S. B. 1984. Cloning and expression of murine Interleukin-1 cDNA in Escherichia coli. Nature 312:458
- 111. Auron, P. E., Webb, A. C., Rosenwasser, L. J., Mucci, S. F., Rich, A., Wolff, S. M., Dinarello, C. A. 1984. Nucleotide sequence of human monocyte Interleukin 1 precursor cDNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:7907
- 112. March, C. J., Mosley, B., Larsen, A., Cerretti, D. P., Braedt, G., Price, V., Gillis, S, Henney, C. S., Kronheim, S. R., Grabstein, K., Coulon, P. J., Hopp, T. P., Cosman, D. 1985. Cloning, sequence, and expression of two distinct human interleukin-1 complementary DNAS. Nature 315:641
- 113. Merluzzi, U. J., Last-Barney, K. 1985. Potential use of human Interleukin 2 as an adjunct for the therapy of neoplasia, immunodeficiency and infectious disease. Int. J. Immunopharmacol. 7:31
- 114. Gillis, S. 1983. Interleukin 2: Biology and biochemistry. J. Clin. Immunol. 3:1
- 115. Devos, R., Plaetinck, G., Cheroutre, H., Simons, G., Degrave, W., Tavernier, J., Rimaut, E., Fiers, W. 1983. Molecular cloning of human Interleukin 2 cDNA and its expression in E. coli. Nucleic Acid Res. 11:4307

- 116. Taniguchi, T., Matsui, H., Fujita, T., Takaoka, C., Kashima, N., Yoschimoto, R., Jamuro, J. 1983. Structure and expression of a cloned cDNA for human Interleukin 2. Nature 302:305
- 117. Berglund, G. 1965. Preparation of antiserum to an antigen of low-molecular weight. *Nature* 206: 523
- 118. Gallily, R., Garvey, J. S. 1968. Primary stimulation of rats and mice with hemocyanin in solution and absorbed on bentonite. J. Immunol. 101:924
- 119. Audibert, F., Jolivet, M., Gras-Masse, H., Tartar, A., Chedid, L. 1984. Construction of antimicrobial polyvalent synthetic vaccines active in saline. In Proceedings of the Cold Spring Harbor Conference: "Modern Approaches to Vaccines," ed. R. M. Chanock, R. A. Lerner, pp. 397-400. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory
- 120. Carelli, C., Audibert, F., Chedid, L., Gaillard, J. 1982. Immunological castration of male mice by a totally synthetic vaccine (LH-RH conjugated to MDP) administered in saline. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79: 5392
- 121. Harte, P. G., Cooke, A., Playfair, J. H. L. 1983. Specific monoclonal IgM is a potent adjuvant in murine malaria vaccination. *Nature* 302:256
- 122. Bahr, G. M., Tello, D., Chedid, L. 1985. Marked enhancement in vivo of adjuvant activity of muramyl dipeptide to protein antigens and to synthetic weak immunogens with monoclonal anti-muramyl dipeptide antibodies. Infect. Immun. 49: 312
- 123. Leclerc, C., Bahr, G. M., Chedid, L. 1984. Marked enhancement of macrophage activation induced by synthetic muramyl dipeptide (MDP) conjugate using monoclonal anti-MDP antibodies. *Cell. Immunol.* 86:269
- 124. Arnon, R., Sela, M., Parant, M., Chedid, L. 1980. Antiviral response elicited by a completely synthetic antigen with built-in adjuvanticity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77: 6769



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 389–417 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: Strategic Defense Initiative at the Mucosal Surface

Brian J. Underdown

Department of Pathology, Faculty of Health Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada L8N 3Z5

J. Michael Schiff

Department of Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5S 1A8

INTRODUCTION

IgA is the predominant immunoglobulin in the external secretions of humans. Specific IgA-producing cells home to mucosal epithelia throughout the body to provide humoral protection as a frontline defense against pathogens borne in aerosols, the environment, and the diet.

Much of the recent research on IgA has been directed toward three central questions: (a) What are the factors that account for the localization and regulation of IgA-producing cells at the mucosae; (b) What is the nature of the mechanism that selectively transports secretory IgA to the mucosal lumen; and (c) What are the physiologically important roles of IgA, both in blood and in the exocrine environment. Regulation of IgA production is an extensive topic in itself and will be touched on here only briefly. We concentrate on the fate and function of IgA after synthesis and try to assess which of its experimentally described properties are essential for IgA to contribute to the well-being of the host.

SYNTHESIS AND STRUCTURE

Lymphocyte Traffic and Immunoregulation

IgA is produced by cells of the B-lymphocyte lineage, both in the peripheral and mucosal lymphoid tissue. The functions of IgA in blood are poorly

390 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

understood, and few studies have focused on the factors that regulate circulating IgA levels. Mucosal IgA production, on the other hand, has been the subject of more intensive investigation (1, 2).

Most B lymphocytes at the external mucosae are dedicated to IgA synthesis and form a recirculating pool of cells that home preferentially back to mucosal sites (3-5). In the small intestine, these cells are enriched in Peyer's patches. Antigens present within the small intestine are sampled by a specialized type of cell, termed the M cell (6, 7), located over each Peyer's patch and bordering on the intestinal lumen. The antigens are transferred to an environment of immune cells, accessory antigen presenting cells, and regulatory T cells inside the patch (8, 9). After antigen stimulation, precursors of IgA plasma cells migrate via the lymphatics to blood, the spleen, and the liver; then they either return to the gut or localize at distant mucosal sites (10).

Several factors have been postulated to explain the accumulation of potential IgA-producing cells at these specialized sites. The mucosal environment, rich in microbial antigens and mitogens, is known to influence the immune specificity of lymphocytes in mucosal tissue (11). Chronic antigenic stimulation superimposed with modulation from neighboring T cells may result in the commitment of naive B cells towards IgA synthesis (9). This assumes that cells early in the B-lymphocyte lineage are isotypically pluripotent. An alternative view would be that a special subpopulation of B lymphocytes becomes committed to IgA production long before IgA is even expressed by these cells. Stimulation would have the effect of hastening the cells of appropriate immune specificity along their precommitted path.

T Cells and Soluble Factors

Regulation of IgA production by T cells has been studied by several groups of investigators. Kawanishi et al (12, 13) have isolated T-cell clones from mouse Peyer's patches. These clones act on lipopolysaccharide-stimulated B cells bearing IgM, but not IgA, on their surface: The B cells differentiate and begin expression of surface IgA, presumably becoming direct precursors of IgA secreting cells.

T cells have also been described that act at a later stage of differentiation. These cells bear receptors for the Fc region of IgA and are thus classified as T_{α} cells. They act on surface IgA-positive B cells, either to promote or to suppress IgA secretion (14–16). The size of the T_{α} -cell population increases in IgA myeloma (17). T_{α} cells have also been described that can suppress secretion and growth of IgA-producing tumor cells (18). Recent evidence suggests that the T-cell signals for help or suppression are conveyed by soluble factors capable of binding to IgA (19, 20).

IgA Structure

Some potential synthetic products of an IgA plasma cell are illustrated in Figure 1. Like the other immunoglobulin classes, IgA is made up of fourchain-monomer subunits with two antigen combining sites oriented with two-fold rotational symmetry. Several distinctive features are probably important for IgA to function as a secretory antibody. One is the ability of IgA monomer subunits to polymerize. IgA and IgM heavy chains both possess a special C-terminal extension containing an extra cysteine, which can participate in cross-linking monomer subunits together. As a late event in synthesis, J chain (an unrelated $\sim 15,000$ M, peptide) initiates the polymerization reaction and becomes incorporated into the molecule (reviewed in 30). When this occurs, the product of an IgM-secreting cell is pentameric; the product of an IgA-secreting cell is usually dimeric, with trimers, tetramers, and pentamers produced in decreasingly small amounts (31). Polymer formation is essential for binding to the mucosal transport receptor and increases the avidity for antigen. It also directly increases the resistance of IgA to proteolytic digestion (32).

The number of active genes (or subclasses) for IgA is different among different species. The mouse has only one, but the rabbit apparently has at least three (33). There are two subclasses in man, IgA1 and IgA2; the most notable difference between them is the hinge region. Unlike IgG heavychain genes that have separate hinge exons, the hinge region of the IgA heavy chain is encoded at the beginning of the exon for the middle constant region domain (C α 2). In IgA1, the hinge includes a duplicated eight amino acid, proline-rich sequence (23) that acquires five O-linked oligosaccharides. In IgA2, this region is replaced by a shorter stretch of consecutive proline residues (24). There are two allotypic variants of IgA2—A2m(1) and A2m(2)—of which the former appears to be a recombinant between IgA2m(2) and IgA1 (34).

The immunoglobulin hinge is generally a labile site for proteolysis, but the amino acid composition of the IgA hinge makes it an unsuitable substrate for many proteolytic enzymes. Specialized bacterial proteases have been described that cleave the IgA hinge exclusively at a single site (35, 36). Divergence of the length and composition of the hinge region of the two IgA subclasses may have been the consequence of selective pressures created by microorganisms secreting proteases with different specificities (34, 35).

The IgA in human blood is $\sim 80\%$ monomeric and $\sim 80\%$ of the IgA1 subclass. At synthetic sites in the mucosae, $\sim 40\%$ is IgA2 and $\sim 90\%$ is polymeric (37). It is not entirely clear whether this reflects a proportional difference in synthetic products of cells contributing to these two pools or

Annual Reviews

392 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF



whether the ratios detected in blood are partly biased due to different clearance rates. There is no good correlation between exact serum IgA1: IgA2 ratios and serum monomer: polymer ratios amongst different individuals (38).

TRANSPORT

Beyond antigen clearance, the functions of IgA in blood are limited. Its primary physiological role is played in the milieu of the secretory mucosa, where it is the predominant immunoglobulin class. However, the epithelial cells of the mucosa form a tight barrier between the site of IgA synthesis and the mucosal lumen. Consequently, a specific transport mechanism has evolved to conduct each IgA molecule through the interior of the epithelial cell towards its appropriate destination in secretions.

The first clue to the nature of this mechanism came with the demonstration that IgA recovered from secretions bore an additional \sim 70,000 M_r polypeptide, secretory component (SC) (39, 40). Subsequently, immunohistology revealed no evidence of SC within the immune cells synthesizing the

Disulfide bonds bridging different polypeptide chains are indicated by solid lines (based on Refs. 22–29). In IgA1, the light chains are linked covalently to the heavy chains. When the corresponding cysteine is missing from the heavy chain, the light chains link to each other [IgA2m(1)] or to the chain through an alternative residue [IgA2m(2); not shown]. The bond in the monomer linking the middle constant domain and the end of the molecule is depicted based on data from Ref. 25. This disulfide is permissible, because the second cysteine is the penultimate residue on a 19-amino acid extension to the heavy chain, which could fold back across the molecule within range of the preceding domain. However, Yang et al (26) have conflicting evidence that suggests that both cysteines link symmetrically to the opposing heavy chain.

The disulfide bonds drawn between IgA monomer subunits, J chain, and SC have been adapted from the proposal of Mestecky (27) as a likely arrangement based on currently available data. It has been proposed instead that J chain spans the two monomer subunits (28). The data are equivocal, however, and we regard this matter as unresolved. SC is bonded to the penultimate heavy chain domain of only one monomer subunit (29) even though two disulfide bonds are formed (22). The arrangement shown is a partly symmetric construction consistent with this data, but it is alternatively possible that SC links to the second monomer subunit through the heavy-chain C-terminal tail section.

Figure 1 The covalent structure of human monomeric, dimeric, and secretory IgA. Each large elliptical section represents a double β -pleated sheet 11,000–14,000 M_r with one or two internal disulfides, a domain in the immunoglobulin superfamily. IgA monomers are stabilized by both covalent and noncovalent forces, but homologous association into IgA dimer relies on disulfide bonding exclusively. Secretory component, a polypeptide of five immunoglobulin-like domains (21, 22), is generated by hydrolytic cleavage of the mucosal transport receptor on epithelial cells. Since SC binds only the polymeric form of IgA, it is likely that it interacts noncovalently with two monomer subunits simultaneously.

394 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

IgA heavy chain, but SC was detected in the neighboring cells of the epithelium. Part of the activity was localized near the basolateral membrane facing the IgA source, and this implied that SC-IgA coupling was an early event in the transport process. Unfortunately, studying antibodies in secretions is significantly less appealing than studying antibodies in plasma. The investigation of secretory IgA (and how it became secretory IgA) received less attention than other aspects of the humoral immune response, until convenient experimental models were established.

Experimental Models for Studying IgA Transport

Analysis of tissue sections has demonstrated IgA transport at mucosal sites throughout the body, ranging from the gastrointestinal and respiratory tracts to ocular tissue, minor salivary glands, the urinary tract, the uterus, and the skin. With the one exception noted below, these sites are segregated from the circulating antibody pool by a basement membrane. Consequently, almost all the IgA in secretions is from local synthesis, with a minimal contribution from blood (41–43). An advantage of this is that levels of secretion can be regulated locally to respond to physiological needs, reflecting the estrous cycle (44) or the presence of infection.

To follow the transepithelial IgA pathway in action, researchers have developed several approaches. Nagura, Brown, and colleagues have described a human colon carcinoma line (45), subsequently cloned and selected by Mostov (46) for high levels of SC expression. Kraehenbuhl and coworkers have used the lactating mammary gland of the rabbit (47). Another model became available when Graham Jackson (on sabbatical, with Jean-Pierre Vaerman) demonstrated the transport of IgA antibody from blood to bile in the rat. Word of this finding was spread at a local meeting, and publication of the phenomena emerged from a number of groups (48, 49). Subsequently, we developed a liver perfusion technique to study hepatobiliary IgA transport in vitro (50). An important benefit of the rat liver model is the ease of supplying ligand to the endocytic face and collecting from the secretory face, while the responsible cell is still in a physiological context. Studying the cell biology of IgA transport in any of these systems has revealed features common to all mucosal sites.

Features of the Hepatobiliary IgA Pathway

Using the rat liver model, the kinetics of IgA transport across the cell have been determined precisely. Essentially all receptor-bindable IgA is cleared from blood as soon as it can access an appropriate receptor in the liver (51). The hepatocyte was identified as the responsible cell type by demonstrating specific binding of IgA to suspension cultures of isolated cells (52, 53). When hepatocytes are allowed to form monolayers, IgA can be seen entering the cells through an endocytic process (54, 55). After endocytosis, the IgA is packaged in small ~ 100 nm vesicles, which are translocated across the cell to deliver their cargo into the bile canaliculus (56–58). This process takes ~ 20 min; the limiting step is perhaps the fusion of the vesicle with the canalicular membrane. All hepatocytes in the liver appear to be equivalent in their ability to transport IgA.

MOLECULAR WEIGHT-SIEVING RESTRICTION There is an access restriction, perhaps conferred by the hepatocyte's surface architecture, that limits the size of ligands suitable for transport. IgA dimers are cleared from blood with a half-time of about 4 min, but trimers and tetramers take progressively longer, with sufficient impairment of the tetramer to prevent a proportion of transportable ligand from ever reaching bile (59). IgM is too large to bypass the molecular weight restriction in sizeable amounts (50, 60) and remains in blood. Even IgA dimer may be restricted by the sieving mechanism, because the polymeric (Fc) α fragment is taken up significantly faster than the native molecule, approaching the kinetics of ligands cleared from the circulation on their first pass through the liver (59).

PHYLOGENY Blood to bile transport of IgA is efficient in only three of the species studied to date : the rat, the rabbit, and the chicken (Table 1). In all others (including, surprisingly, the mouse), < 5% of a dose of polymeric IgA finds its way to bile within 3 hr of injection. Several additional features distinguish the second group of animals from the first : one is the relative persistence of polymeric IgA in the circulation—ranging from several hours in the mouse to several days in primates. For these animals, no short-term secretory sink has been detected for the bulk of labeled IgA polymer injected intravenously (43, 66). The balance of evidence provides a second correlating feature : In animals without a hepatobiliary IgA pathway, there is no easily detectable staining for SC in the hepatocyte (74, 75).

Physiological Role of the Hepatobiliary IgA Pathway

Since IgA is recognized by the liver through its Fc region, the transport system is blind to the antigen specificity of the immunoglobulin and to whether the antigen-binding sites are filled. By constructing complexes in antigen excess, IgA can be induced into the role of secretory carrier for small proteins (61, 72, 76, 77). This has provoked the suggestion that the hepatobiliary pathway exists as an important natural route for the disposal of bacterial antigens (78).

We believe that immune complex deposition is not the primary purpose of the hepatobiliary IgA pathway, for a number of reasons. The first is the molecular weight-sieving restriction. Only complexes formed with a single IgA polymer and a low molecular weight antigen are suitable: Antigens Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:389-417. Downloaded from arjournals. annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

Table 1 Phylogeny of the hepatobiliary IgA transport pathway^a

Test species	plgA source	Technique	intact to bile (% injected activity)	Reference
GROUP I				
Rat:	Rat	Fistula	40-75%	(48, 49, 51)
	Rat, mouse	Isolated liver perfusion	20-40%	(50, 61)
	Affinity-purified human	Fistula	65-85%	(62)
Rabbit :	Rat, rabbit	Fistula	35-70%	(63, 64)
Chicken:	Rat, human	Dual fistula	30-50%	(65)
GROUP II				
Nonhuman primate:	Human, rat	Fistula	<1%	(99)
Human:	Human	T-tube sample	<1%	(67, 68)
Guinea pig:	Human, rat	Fistula	<5%	(69, 70)
Dog:	Dog, human	Fistula	<1%	(43)
Sheep:	Sheep, human	Fistula	< 5%	(64, 69)
Mouse :	Mouse	Gall bladder sample	< 5%	(71, 72)
	Mouse, rat	Fistula	1-4%	°
Fish (sheepshead):	Fish	Gall bladder sample	< 5%	(13)

Group I animals rapidly transport most or all receptor-binding IgA to bile; Group II animals transport only a small fraction of an administered dose within 3 hr, even though this transport may be demonstrably specific.

^b A limited unpublished study (J. M. Schiff & Y. Sung) in three inbred mouse strains. Other unpublished work from T. E. Koertge & J. E. Butler suggests higher transport levels in Swiss mice if collection times are extended to 24 hr.

Annual Reviews

396

UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

the size of thyroglobulin are virtually excluded from transport (60, 61). Complexes formed with reasonably large viruses or larger particles, or those formed at antibody equivalence or excess, would be ineligible for uptake. The second is the phylogeny of the hepatobiliary IgA pathway: There are only three known species in which hepatobiliary IgA transport is reasonably efficient, but surely the proper disposal of immune complexes is vital to all species. The third is that particles able to bind the receptor on the hepatocyte in a polyvalent way may be diverted from the bile excretion pathway for degradation within the cell (79). More likely, the ability of IgA to carry antigen to bile in a few experimental situations is just a fortuitous consequence of the properties of the system. For bacterial antigens, the amount actually reaching bile in the mouse is tiny compared to the amount initially present in blood (78). By far the predominant disposal route for IgA-containing immune complexes is through other mechanisms, where uptake is initiated through receptors distinct from those involved in mucosal transport.

Manning et al (80) have recently completed the bookkeeping on the source of endogenous IgA for hepatobiliary transport in the rat. Considerably more IgA flows out of the rat thoracic lymph duct than is the case in man, and this ultimately contributes most of the IgA transported from blood to bile. This finding supports the contention that the IgA pathway in the liver salvages IgA that has been synthesized in the gut but then escaped into blood, perhaps due to inadequate local transport. This salvage mechanism may actually provide a significant proportion of the humoral immunity in the intestine of the rat. There is evidently no requirement for this pathway in most species, possibly because local transport in the intestine is sufficient to accommodate the entire synthesizing capacity of the surrounding IgA-producing cells.

NO BLOOD-TO-BILE IgA TRANSPORT IN MAN When cholestasis is induced artificially in rats, there is a 10–20-fold increase in circulating IgA levels (43, 81, 82). Similarly, during liver dysfunction in man, there is a 2–3-fold increase in the level of circulating polymeric IgA (83–86). Thus, early projections suggested a hepatobiliary-IgA-transport pathway in humans. However, it turned out that in man and other primates, the hepatobiliary transport of IgA is so low as to be virtually nonexistent (66–68). In our hands, <0.5% of an injected dose is transported to bile within 3 hr of injection, apparently by an SC-independent mechanism and with no apparent preference for polymer over monomer (66). The small increase of circulating IgA in man during liver disease probably has a number of contributing factors, including: (a) increased synthesis of IgA by an abnormal mucosa; (b) decreased integrity of the intestinal mucosa causing

398 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

influx of IgA into the circulation (87); (c) impaired clearance of IgA, IgAcontaining immune complexes, and free antigen by the liver for catabolism (85, 86, 88); (d) interference with hepatic localization of IgA immunocytes and diversion to systemic lymphoid tissue. Abnormal circulating IgA may be concomitant with IgA deposits in the renal mesangium (89).

Using a jejunal perfusion technique in situ, Jonard et al (90) showed that > 30 mg of IgA is secreted directly per 40 cm of human jejunum every hour. Of this IgA 98% is synthesized locally. High local transport in the intestine with negligible expression of the hepatobiliary salvage pathway in man illustrates that marked differences in the design of physiological function in different species can achieve the same end: provision of humoral immunity to the gut.

Secretory Component (SC) as the IgA Transport Receptor

Proof that a membrane-fixed analogue of SC played the part of receptor for IgA transport into secretions has come from three recent demonstrations. The first was that affinity-purified IgG antibodies against SC can also undergo limited transport across the cell by attaching to cell-surface receptors via their antigen-combining site (50, 91). The second was that among cloned colon carcinoma cells, the only ones capable of binding IgA were those that could be fluorescently stained for SC (92). The third demonstration involved preparation of two populations of human IgA polymers from a myeloma source that differed > 5-fold in their capacity to bind SC; however, the two populations were indistinguishable by all other biochemical criteria examined (93). When injected into blood, only the SC-binding fraction could be transported to bile efficiently, even though both populations were taken up rapidly by the liver.

SELECTION FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN POLYMERS Implicating SC directly in the transport process brought with it a history of understanding obtained from SC-immunoglobulin interactions observed with isolated proteins. Free SC, isolated from sources such as colostral whey, binds the Fc region of polymeric IgA or IgM tightly, but not IgA monomer or immunoglobulins of other classes (94, 95). Transport through the liver reflects this specificity exactly (50), except for the additional molecular-weight-sieving constraint described above that discriminates against IgM and larger IgA polymers. Since IgM can partly replace IgA as the secretory immunoglobulin in IgA-deficient individuals, it is possible that this sieving effect applies less rigorously to locally produced antibody at sites outside the liver. The benefit of being able to transport IgM antibody in normal circumstances is obvious—it would provide humoral immunity to secretions in the primary immunological response before class switching occurs.

A perplexing issue is why the transport process should select so stringently against IgA monomers, when apparently any polymer will do. J chain is the only peptide that is common and exclusive to both IgM and IgA polymers. Is J chain the binding site for SC? The answer to this appears to be no: IgA polymers can be isolated that have a full complement of J chain but that do not bind SC (93). In unpublished work, we have found that using subtilisin to digest away the exposed portion of J chain from IgM does not necessarily destroy the SC binding site. Polymer selection is therefore a deliberate feature of the transport system. This feature has been long preserved in evolution; even the antibody present in fish bile is dimeric (73).

The transport system provides a second level of polymer selection, since most IgA synthesized in the mucosa is already in the polymeric form. A likely corollary is that polymeric structure is essential for IgA to perform its function after secretion. This is in contrast to IgG, the principal immunoglobulin in blood, which can satisfactorily bind antigen and exercise its effector functions without prior association of immunoglobulin monomers. It likely reflects the difference in the way circulating and secretory antibodies perform their respective duties in deactivating potential pathogens.

HIGH AFFINITY BINDING SC binds IgA first by noncovalent interaction; then disulfide bonds form subsequently, as shown in Figure 1. These steps can be unlinked by performing the binding reaction at 4°C (96). The originally published association constant was $\sim 10^8$ M⁻¹ (95), which indicates only a moderately strong association that should be readily reversible. Similar values have since been published by a number of labs, but we now know that the original binding studies were interpreted in error (97). Offsetting protein heterogeneity and separation problems in this reaction can conspire to generate an apparently linear Scatchard plot with an artificial slope. Isolated rat liver membranes bind virtually all active IgA added to the medium up to its saturation point, even when both components are only at 10^{-10} M. By this and other criteria, the affinity of SC for all polymeric immunoglobulins is $> 10^{10}$ M⁻¹, sufficiently high for the complex to be essentially irreversible during its residency in the mucosal transport pathway.

MEMBRANE AND SECRETED FORMS OF THE RECEPTOR The effective irreversibility of IgA-SC interaction is important in explaining the cell biology of IgA transport. There are other examples of transcellular pathways for antibody; most notably, the transport of IgG across the placenta (98), and the import of IgG from the lumen of the neonatal intestine (99). IgA transport is unique in that a portion of the receptor remains with the ligand after exocytosis from the cell. Since IgA bound to SC is better able to resist

Annual Reviews

400 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

proteolytic cleavage (32), it has long been assumed that SC is sacrificed by the cell in order to protect its cargo against bacterial proteases. More likely, the cell has no choice in the matter : IgA is bound permanently to SC; it can only be released for secretion by jettisoning the receptor at the apical face. A frequent mechanism for ligand-receptor decoupling inside cells, exposure to a mildly acidic environment, is not available in this instance, since IgA-SC complexes are resistant to pH change (95). Thus, the protective effect of SC may be a fortuitous benefit accruing from other requirements of the transport pathway.

In biochemical terms, this generates a complication: SC must be secured in the membrane at one pole of the cell in order to capture IgA, but SC must be freely releasable at the other pole of the cell after transport. A conceivable solution is for SC to be bound first noncovalently to an additional protein in the membrane, from which it dissociates at a subsequent stage. This possibility was favored by Kuhn & Krachenbuhl, when they detected SC-binding activity in mammary epithelium (100). Another solution is for SC to be synthesized initially as a larger peptide, with the lipophillic-anchoring extension cleaved from the molecule at the end of the transport process. When the molecular biology of the receptor was elucidated, it was the latter possibility that turned out to be correct.

A major accomplishment by Mostov et al (101) was the isolation of mRNA for SC from the rabbit mammary gland. When translated using a cell-free system supplemented with microsomal vesicles, a polypeptide was synthesized ~ 20,000 M_r larger than SC isolated from milk (~ 70,000 M_r). This peptide traversed the vesicle bilayers, and ~ 15,000 M_r could be removed from the C-terminus by digesting the intact vesicles with trypsin from what was equivalent to the cytoplasmic face. Demonstration that this form of SC was synthesized in vivo came with the isolation of the corresponding ~95,000 M_r protein by affinity techniques from rabbit liver (102). The epitopes for soluble SC and several glycosylation sites are located in the N-terminal 70,000 M_r of the sequence.

Using rabbit tissue as the protein source was a fortunate choice, because IgA from the rabbit happens to bind SC by noncovalent interaction only (103). Rat IgA, like human IgA, forms a disulfide bond with SC (104). Probably for this reason, we have found the IgA transport receptor difficult to affinity-purify from rat liver. A crude receptor isolate contained multiple peptides at ~ 100,000 M_r, but sufficient quantities have not been purified for proper characterization. However, when immune overlays are used on electrophoresed membrane preparations, 95,000–115,000 M_r proteins reactive with anti-SC have been identified in the golgi and plasma membrane of the rat hepatocyte (105). That the IgA receptor is initially synthesized as a transmembrane protein appears to be universal to all species: mRNA for SC has also been isolated from the human carcinoma line and again produces a protein with a membrane-anchoring segment (46). There is probably only one expressed SC gene in man, implying that the secreted form of SC must derive from the larger transmembrane form.

CELL BIOLOGY OF SC SECRETION Biosynthetic labeling studies have elucidated the receptor's synthetic pathway (46, 47, 105, 106). First produced as a core glycosylated transmembrane protein in the rough endoplasmic reticulum, the secretory component acquires endo-H resistance via oligosaccharide modification in the golgi. It appears at the cell surface after ~ 30 min to pick up a molecule of IgA, and after a brief interval, migrates across the cell for secretion. Monoclonal antibodies prepared against the external and cytoplasmic portions of the receptor have been used elegantly to show that the entire peptide remains intact throughout these events until just before release from the cell, when the membrane anchoring C-terminal segment is removed (47).

Two questions linger: First, what is the protease that releases the secreted portion of the receptor from its membrane anchor? The primary sequence of SC from human whey reveals a ragged C-terminus (22). Perhaps this indicates that there is no dedicated IgA-receptor protease; rather, the receptor is released by hydrolysis at a labile site by any bystander protease that happens to be present in the organelles along the transport pathway. Second, what is the fate of the anchoring segment after cleavage? Since it cannot be reutilized, this segment is presumably degraded by the cell. But it is still unclear whether the anchor is separated away from the secreted portion in transit or whether it appears briefly on the apical membrane.

Endocytosis of the IgA Receptor—Is It Inducible or Constitutive?

Since the receptor is cleaved in the course of secretion, it obviously must be resynthesized for each trip across the cell. There are $\sim 200,000$ receptors on the surface of the hepatocyte (52) and presumably a comparable number on cells at other secretory sites. After IgA binds to the receptor, it is internalized within a very few minutes (56). Maintaining the full receptor complement at the plasma membrane therefore represents a very major metabolic commitment. One would suppose that evolution would have tended to minimize the expenditure by permitting endocytosis of the receptor only when it was occupied by a molecule of IgA.

Surprisingly, when Mullock et al (107) performed in vitro liver perfusions with an artificial medium, they found that SC was still being released into bile. Is there enough IgA resident in the donated liver to trigger the level of

402 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

SC secretion that is observed in these experiments? Over the course of a 5 hr perfusion with whole blood, we find that SC secretion is maintained fairly consistently, even after endogenous IgA in the perfusate is depleted. In fact, in the intact animal, most SC released into bile is in the free form, indicating that the system is less than 50% saturated by endogenous IgA. Apparently, the receptor shuttles across the cell and is secreted into bile, even without ligand triggering.

Why this transport system should be constitutive is not obvious. A simple explanation is that the valence of both ligand and receptor is one. Thus, the triggering signal typical for immunoglobulin receptors on mast cells and phagocytes—i.e. receptor cross-linking—is not a suitable mechanism to stimulate IgA uptake, and endocytosis must proceed continually without an inductive signal. Another possible explanation hearkens back to the cell biology of the system : Since SC is continually being synthesized de novo, perhaps it must be cleared regularly from the plasma membrane to prevent a transport backlog. Regulation of transport may only be possible at the level of receptor assembly, which may require several days to undergo significant change. Evidence for long-term modulation of SC transport has recently been obtained from mucosal biopsy specimens of IgA-deficient children (108). Within immunofluorescence staining, SC was still detectable in the intestinal epithelial cells. However, rather than being presented at the basolateral surface, SC had accumulated in the interior of the cell at the golgi.

Ligand Sorting and the Involvement of Other Receptors

Most vesicular transport pathways either initiate or terminate at points inside the cell. Transcellular pathways, of which IgA transport is an example, create problems of ligand sorting for the cells in which they occur. With the exception of IgA, protein endocytosed by the liver hepatocyte is largely either degraded in lysosomes or returned to blood. Asialoglycoprotein (ASG) is a model ligand for the degradative pathway (reviewed in 109). Even though IgA and ASG are processed within the same cell, there is <5% delivery of either ligand to the opposite destination (51). The two ligands are therefore sorted from each other—either on the cell surface, in lysosomes, or in an intracellular prelysosomal compartment (Figure 2).

It was easy to decide that the two pathways diverge at an early stage before the ligands reach lysosomes. Perhaps the most convincing evidence was that drugs that block lysosomal function and cause the accumulation of ASG in the liver do not obstruct IgA transport (51, 111). Distinguishing between cell-surface and early intracellular sorting has been more difficult. Certain drugs affect the two pathways independently (111), and ligands from each pathway do not cross-inhibit (51). On the other hand, both ligands are initially endocytosed into vesicles of similar density (112). It is easily argued that these findings are circumstantial and do not address directly the issue of separateness of the pathways. The best morphological data is from Geuze et al (110). They showed that ASG and IgA receptors are sometimes compartmentalized together, and so they concluded that ligand sorting occurs intracellularly. This apparently conflicted with micrographic data published previously (113), which showed encapsulated ligands in vesicles that have different structural features.

Biochemical data on this question came from an unexpected finding. Human polymeric IgA1 (unlike IgA2, or IgA from other species) can bind to the ASG receptor (70, 114), probably through the unique O-linked oligosaccharides present in the hinge region. In the rat liver model, this means that human IgA1 is heterovalent—able to bind receptors for both the transcellular and degradative pathways (62). If prevented from binding



Figure 2 Alternative models for hepatocellular sorting between the mucosal transport pathway delivering IgA to bile and the degradative pathway delivering asialoglycoprotein (ASG) to lysosomes. The possibilities drawn show sorting at progressively earlier stages in the transport process. IgA never reaches the lysosome (model 1), but a ligand capable of binding both receptors can switch from one to another inside the cell (62). This could not occur if both pathways were completely separate (model 3). The data therefore support sorting intracellularly in a prelysosomal compartment (model 2). Immunoelectron microscopy has been used to identify a special tubular organelle near the sinusoidal membrane where IgA is peeled away from ligands intended for degradation (110). (Drawing reproduced from Ref. 51, by copyright permission of The Rockefeller University.)

404 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

to SC, human IgA1 is taken up by the liver for degradation. If prevented from binding to the ASG receptor, it is taken up and transported to bile, but at a rate significantly more slowly than for rat IgA. However, in the heterovalent state, human IgA1 is transported to bile just as fast as rat IgA; captured initially by the ASG receptor, human IgA1 switches to SC for rerouting to the bile canaliculus (62). The kinetic constraints imply that the receptor switching event occurs while transport is in progress—that is, while the two receptors temporarily occupy a common intracellular compartment before sorting (Figure 2, model 2). We expect that all published data can probably be consolidated, if the residency of SC in the common compartment is transient.

That human IgA1 can bind the ASG receptor creates a side issue which is nonetheless important. IgA normally survives in the circulation of humans for several days. In an overlay analysis, J. Baenziger has shown that polyclonal IgA1 is the one component of electrophoresed normal human serum with substantial binding activity for the isolated ASG receptor (personal communication). Primates, like rats, have an ASG uptake system capable of clearing small desialylated glycoproteins from portal blood on first pass through the liver (115). The enigma is therefore how human IgA1 manages to survive in the circulation of humans for so long.

Antibody Excretion Without SC: IgA-Producing Cells in the Liver

An important recent development related to IgA transport comes from Jackson et al (116). When immunized with a suitable antigen in Peyer's patches, rats soon begin to secrete IgA antibodies into bile. It is unlikely that this secretion occurs by an SC-mediated mechanism, because if the immunization strategy is changed, IgM or IgG antibodies appear in bile instead. Transfer experiments and in vitro liver perfusions have provided evidence that the specific IgA-producing cells migrate to the liver, where they may secrete their product directly into the biliary tract.

The impact of this work is multiple. First, it explains some outriding data on immunoglobulins in bile, attributed to the SC-mediated transport mechanism through hepatocytes but not easily reconcilable with our full understanding of that system. Second, these results account for the observed homing of labeled lymphocytes to the liver; such homing is often assumed to be simply an artifact due to damaged cells. Third, it suggests that the liver is an important contributor to secretory immunity by mechanisms distinct from SC-mediated transport. The phylogeny of this phenomenon is still unknown, but there is no reason to suspect that it will be as restricted as the SC-mediated hepatobiliary pathway. These findings might provide a new link between liver disease and the integrity of the mucosal immune system in man.

FUNCTION

Antigen Clearance from Blood

The physiological role of IgA in blood is poorly understood, especially in humans where it is found predominantly in the monomeric form, 5–10 fold more concentrated than in most animals (117). The only function of IgA that is reasonably substantiated by direct observation is antigen clearance. If circulating IgA originates partly from mucosal sites, then its immune specificity might make it especially useful for clearing the small quantities of dietary and microbial antigens absorbed from the gut into the systemic circulation (118). Inflammatory events accompanying infection can increase antigen absorption by the intestine, but IgA antibodies can attenuate this process (118). It may be important to clear dietary antigens quickly, to avoid stimulating a more widespread immune response that would divert the resources of the immune system away from the true cause of the infection.

Clearance of artificially created IgA-containing immune complexes has been studied by several groups. For reasons stated in a previous section, SC-mediated uptake of immune complexes probably plays a limited role under most natural circumstances, especially in species such as the mouse and man, where there is no substantial expression of SC on the hepatocyte surface. However, Rifai & Mannik (71) reported the uptake of IgAcontaining immune complexes from the circulation of the mouse into nonparenchymal liver cells, especially Kupffer cells. This process is inhibitible only with other complexes bearing IgA; it is not mediated by SC, C3b receptors, or receptors for terminal fucose (119). Sancho and colleagues have reported the uptake of aggregated IgA by both parenchymal and nonparenchymal cells in the liver (120). There is some controversy as to how effective IgA antibodies really are in enhancing antigen clearance (121). Additional studies will be required to characterize the responsible receptors more fully and to evaluate their physiological importance.

Bienenstock & Befus (122) have proposed an immunogenic role for IgA, suggesting it may carry antigens in blood back to mucosal sites via SCmediated transport. Outside the liver, the level of transport of IgA from blood to secretions is very low. Whether the small amount of antigen transferred in this fashion can play a role in sensitizing distant mucosal sites remains to be tested.

Immune Protection and Elimination

The prime biological function of IgA is obviously to protect the host from invading organisms that initiate their assault from outside the mucosal surface. Unfortunately, the effector mechanisms for IgA in secretions are difficult to document directly. Insight has been gained from a number of

406 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

experimental approaches, including: (a) in vitro experiments that evaluate the potential of IgA antibodies to affect microorganisms, either directly or in concert with effector elements, such as the complement system or cells, that mediate inflammation; (b) passive transfer experiments to determine whether IgA antibodies can protect a naive host against a challenge infection; (c) correlations between the level of specific IgA and elimination of infectious agents; and (d) studies on the consequence of selective IgA deficiency on disease susceptibility.

IN VITRO EXPERIMENTS: IMMOBILIZATION AND INHIBITION OF AD-The ability of IgA to bind antigen is in itself beneficial. HERENCE Aggregation of microorganisms in the mucosal lumen would retard their movement to the mucosal surface and impair invasion of the host. The polymeric nature of secretory IgA provides not only increased overall avidity for antigen, but also an enhanced ability to cross-link multiple particles (123). The predominantly dimeric form of secretory IgA may reflect an evolutionary compromise between the cross-linking ability of IgM and the greater tissue permeability of monomeric immunoglobulins, such as IgG. It would be instructive to use exon shuffling techniques to assemble IgG, IgA, and IgM analogues with identical antigen-combining sites, with a view to examining the importance of these effects more closely.

When microorganisms such as virus particles succeed in reaching the epithelium, they attach to the membrane through receptors complementary to structures on the epithelial cell surface. Binding of antibody near these receptors on the organism's surface could prevent attachment by direct blocking, steric hindrance, or induction of a conformational change (124, 125). Similarly, purified secretory IgA antibodies have been shown to prevent the attachment of bacteria to musocal surfaces (126–128).

Under these circumstances, the ultimate effector of elimination may be nonspecific. Mucins that coat the mucosal wall provide a protective effect (129). Lysozyme, peroxidase, lactoferrin, and α -lactalbumin have important bactericidal and antifungal activities (1, 130). Cilia work actively to pass small particles out of mucosal areas such as the respiratory tract. By reducing the motility of microorganisms and preventing their adherence to the epithelial surface, IgA would render them susceptible to the natural cleansing functions of the mucosae.

Even if a pathogen succeeds in binding to the epithelium, IgA can still have a role to play. When neutralizing IgG is premixed with influenza virus, the virus is still able to enter target cells and be accumulated in the nucleus (131). When similar experiments are performed using specific secretory IgA (132), the virus again attaches to the cells but cannot be internalized. There is also evidence for a role as antitoxin : Specific IgA antibodies can minimize the effect of cholera toxin (133), presumably by preventing attachment of its B subunit to host epithelial cells.

ANTIBODY-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY The ability of specific secretory IgA to participate in the direct killing of invading organisms is more controversial. Early work showed that Vibrio cholerae could not be opsonized by IgA (134). More recently, several investigators have identified receptors specific for the Fc region of IgA on peripheral and alveolar macrophages, lymphocytes, and neutrophils (135, 136). These $Fc\alpha$ receptors promote antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) of IgA-sensitized target cells in vitro (136–138). IgA could therefore play an important physiological role in ADCC responses, providing that suitable effector cells are available in the mucosal environment. However, there have been several reports in which IgA inhibited the bactericidal activity of specific IgG (139-141). At sites accessible from blood, IgA could theoretically impair cytotoxicity by competing for antigen with IgG, but since specific IgG would predominate, the level of inhibition would be minimal. At the mucosa, less IgG is present, and there may be more $Fc\alpha$ receptor-bearing effector cells in the vicinity, so that IgA could assume an opsonizing role.

Aggregated IgA possesses a limited ability to activate complement by the alternative pathway (142, 143). This could add to the activation due to bacterial polysaccharides. However, IgA can also block classical pathway activation: Mouse monoclonal IgA antibodies inhibit the IgG-mediated lysis of red blood cells, either through direct competition for antigenic sites or through steric hindrance of the C1q binding sites of the IgG in the immune complex (144). This blocking effect may have pathologic consequences in bacterial meningitis, where meningococcal dissemination is associated with a lack of bactericidal activity in blood, and with the presence of specific serum IgA that can interfere with antibody-mediated lysis (139).

Pfaffenback et al (145) showed that mouse monoclonal IgA antibodies complexed with antigen could activate complement through the alternative pathway, but binding of C3b to the complex was weak, and the subsequent cascade of terminal complement components (C5–C9) was poor. The tendency of IgA and C3 to deposit together at selective tissue sites is strikingly illustrated in several clinical conditions, including IgA nephropathy, anaphylactoid purpura, and dermatitis herpetiformis (146, 147). The results of Pfaffenback et al (145) show how a primary deposition of IgA could lead to a chronic accumulation of C3, which in turn would have inflammatory sequelae. Whether the limited ability of IgA to activate complement plays a beneficial role in the mucosal interstitium is uncertain. In the lumen of the intestine, where complement components

408 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

are scarce, other biologic properties of IgA are undoubtedly more important.

PASSIVE TRANSFER STUDIES Designing a good transfer experiment to investigate the function of IgA is difficult. For example, because of the limited access from blood to the mucosa, intravenously injected IgA could not be expected to provide mucosal protection, except in the upper bowel of animals with an efficient hepatobiliary transport pathway. A more feasible approach is to provide secretory IgA to the lumen of a blind-ended ileal loop, segregated surgically from the rest of the intestine. Fubara & Freter (127) showed that secretory IgA, specific for *Vibrio cholera*, caused a fivefold reduction of bacterial attachment to the ileal wall.

Another approach is to preincubate a microorganism with specific antibody as a prelude to infectious challenge. Using this strategy, Lloyd & Soulsby (148) showed that specific IgA from colostrum or intestinal secretions could protect mice against an oral challenge with tapeworm oncospheres of *Taenia taeniaformis*. More recently, Kaplan et al (149) reported that specific IgA antibody against the intestinal protozoan parasite *Giardia muris*, when mixed with phagocytic cells, was able to render *Giardia trophozoites* noninfective. The ability of specific IgA to protect against challenge is generally equal to or greater than that of IgG on a mole-to-mole basis. Since IgA predominates in mucosal secretions, the bulk of antimicrobial antibody in the natural defense against these infections is undoubtedly of the IgA class.

CORRELATIVE STUDIES There have been a number of demonstrations that recovery from mucosal infection parallels the timing and magnitude of the secretory antibody response, better than it does the antibody response in blood. The literature is extensive, and it has been reviewed elsewhere (150– 152). While these studies illustrate that local secretory immunity is subject to different regulatory mechanisms from the systemic immune system, they do not provide direct insight as to whether IgA participates in curing the host.

The preceding sections described reasonable mechanisms by which specific IgA in a previously immunized individual could confer protection against a fresh mucosal challenge. However, immune elimination is a different problem. Once an infection has taken hold, initial obstructions such as adherence have been partially overcome, and there is an enormous antigen load on the system. The value of an antibody whose primary strategies are direct neutralization and prevention of adherence might decline during infection, depending on the invasive strategy of the pathogen. If antibody must cooperate with other effector elements such as complement in order to assist in elimination, then the smaller amounts of
IgG and other immunoglobulins in the mucosa might be more useful. It is also possible that many infectious agents can be eliminated only by cellular mechanisms, provided by specialized intraepithelial lymphocytes (153, natural killers, macrophages, or mast cells. The correlation between recovery and increased secretory IgA levels in some clinical situations may just mean that humoral and cellular components of the mucosal immune system are regulated in parallel.

Comparison between susceptibility to disease and the ability to synthesize IgA is weaker, but this comparison is more informative in the present context. Inability to synthesize IgA is the most frequent immunoglobulin deficiency in humans, with a prevalence of 0.125-0.2% (154, 155). Increased prevalence in these individuals of a history of childhood infection (150), atopy (156), and circulating antibodies to food antigens (157) shows that the deficiency is not without its consequences. However, the majority of IgA-deficient individuals usually have no major health problems. Indeed, a compensatory increase in secretory IgM has been correlated with a lower prevalence of infection in IgA deficient children (158). This compensation might occur because the same immunocompetent cells are still capable of homing to the mucosa but are unable to undergo class switch from IgM to IgA, due to the genetic defect. The effectiveness of this substitution suggests there is no effector function exclusive to IgA that is an absolute requirement for health.

EPILOGUE

The secretory immune system has evolved with specialized features that reflect the priorities required for frontline defense in the mucosa. There are regulatory mechanisms, antigen presentation systems, and cell types that are distinct from their counterparts in the systemic immune system. As the primary mode of humoral immunity in secretions, IgA has evolved not to trigger a large repertory of Fc-mediated effector mechanisms (since many of these are not available in secretions), but to resist proteolytic attack of invading microorganisms and effectively to prevent them from gaining a foothold on the mucosal wall. Subsequently, most potential pathogens are disarmed by the nonspecific factors present in secretions and pass harmlessly out of the system. IgA may also limit the systemic immune response during times of health by clearing antigens from blood. Less certain is whether IgA plays a role in limiting the course of a major infection already underway.

The SC-mediated mechanism delivering IgA into secretions is the most active and widespread transcellular protein transport system in the body. Just to maintain the continual shuttle of IgA receptors across the cell

410 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

requires the synthesis of roughly 30 μ g SC protein hr⁻¹ per g tissue. Investigating this phenomenon has helped address some fundamental questions in cell biology, relating to intracellular traffic and ligand sorting. By genetic recombination of elements from different protein processing pathways, it will soon be possible to define the factors that regulate these events.

Even though the effector mechanisms of IgA may be unspectacular, the expenditure undertaken to provide IgA to mucosal sites underlines its importance. The essential nature of humoral immunity in secretions is further illustrated by the redundancies built into the system: When IgA synthesis is deficient, IgM-producing cells localize in the mucosa instead. And, not to rely completely on SC-mediated transport, immunoglobulinproducing cells home to the liver and secrete directly into bile, thereby providing an additional source of antibody for the intestine. Just recently, the wasted mouse was described as a disease-susceptible strain that is depleted of any humoral secretory immune system (159). Perhaps because of the multiple redundancies present, such a generalized secretory immune deficiency is rarely detected in humans. The mucosal IgA system is an important strategic defense initiative that is designed and regulated to obtain maximum benefit from the required metabolic investment.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Due to space limitations, the bibliography that follows is only a restricted sampling of the extensive recent literature on the immunobiology of IgA. Omission of a particular article from this list should not be taken to reflect adversely on the quality or importance of the work. To the many investigators who have not been cited, but who have contributed to the development of ideas presented in this review, our apologies and thanks.

Literature Cited

- McNabb, P. C., Tomasi, T. B. 1981. Host defense mechanisms at mucosal surfaces. Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 35:477
- McGhee, J. R., Mestecky, J., eds. 1983. The secretory immune system. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 409:1–896
- Craig, S. W., Cebra, J. J. 1971. Peyer's patches: An enriched source of precursors for IgA producing immunocytes in the rabbit. J. Exp. Med. 134:188
 Husband, A. J., Gowans, J. L. 1978. The
- Husband, A. J., Gowans, J. L. 1978. The origin and antigen-dependent distribution of IgA-containing cells in the intestine. J. Exp. Med. 148:1146
- 5. Bienenstock, J., Befus, A. D. 1980.

Mucosal immunology. Immunology 41: 249

- Bockman, D. E., Cooper, M. D. 1973. Pinocytosis by epithelium associated with lymphoid follicles in the bursa of Fabricius, appendix and Peyer's patches. An electron microscopic study. Am. J. Anat. 156:455
- Owen, R. L., Jones, A. L. 1974. Epithelial cell specialization within human Peyer's patches: An ultrastructural study of intestinal lymphoid follicles. *Gastroenterology* 66:189
- 8. Lause, D. B., Bockman, D. E. 1981. Heterogeneity, position and functional

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:389-417. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

capability of the macrophages in Peyer's patches. Cell Tissue Res. 218: 557

- Elson, C. O., Heck, J. A., Strober, W. 1979. T-cell regulation of murine IgA synthesis. J. Exp. Med. 149:632
- Phillips-Quagliata, J. M., Roux, M. E., Arny, M., Kelly-Hatfield, P., Mc-Williams, M., Lamm, M. E. 1983. Migration and regulation of B cells in the mucosal immune system. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 409: 194
- Cebra, J. J., Gearhart, P. J., Halsey, J. F., Hurwitz, J. L., Shahin, R. D. 1980. Role of environmental antigens in the ontogeny of the secretory immune response. *J. Reticuloendo. Soc.* 28:61 (Supp.)
- Kawanishi, H., Saltzman, L. E., Strober, W. 1982. Characteristics and regulatory function of murine Con A-induced cloned T cells obtained from Peyer's patches and spleen: Mechanisms regulating isotype-specific immunoglobulin production by Peyer's patch B cells. J. Immunol. 129: 475
- Kawanishi, H., Saltzman, L. E., Strober, W. 1983. Mechanisms regulating IgA class-specific immunoglobulin production in murine gut-associated lymphoid tissues. I. T cells derived from Peyer's patches that switch sIgM B cells to sIgA B cells in vitro. J. Exp. Med. 157:433
- Strober, W., Hague, N. E., Lum, L. G., Henkart, P. A. 1978. IgA-Fc receptors on mouse lymphoid cells. J. Immunol. 121:2440
- Kiyono, H., McGhee, J. R., Mosteller, L. M., Eldridge, J. H., Koopman, W. J., Kearney, J. F., Michalek, S. M. 1982. Murine Peyer's patch T cell clones: Characterization of antigen specific helper T cells for immunoglobulin A responses. J. Exp. Med. 156:1115
- Hoover, R. G., Lynch, R. G. 1983. Isotype specific regulation of IgA: Suppression of IgA responses in orally immunized mice by T_α cells. J. Immunol. 130:521
- Hoover, R. G., Hickman, S., Gebel, H. M., Rebbe, N., Lynch, R. G. 1981. Expansion of Fc-receptor bearing T lymphocytes in patients with immunoglobulin G and immunoglobulin A myeloma. J. Clin. Invest. 67: 308
- Muller, S., Hoover, R. G. 1985. T cells with Fc receptors in myeloma; suppression of growth and secretion of MOPC 315 by T_a cells. J. Immunol. 134:644
- Yodoi, J., Adachi, M., Teshigawara, K., Miyama-Inaba, M., Masuda, T., Fridman, W. H. 1983. T cell hybridomas coexpressing Fc receptors (FcR)

for different isotypes. II. IgA-induced formation of suppressive IgA binding factor(s) by a murine T hybridoma bearing Fc γ R and Fc α R. J. Immunol. 131:303

- Kiyono, H., Mosteller-Barnum, L. M., Pitts, A. M., Williamson, S. I., Michalek, S. M., McGhee, J. R. 1985. Isotype-specific immunoregulation. IgA binding factors produced by Fc_a receptor-positive T cell hybridomas regulate IgA responses. J. Exp. Med. 161:731
- Mostov, K. E., Friedlander, M., Blobel, G. 1984. The receptor for transepithelial transport of IgA and IgM contains multiple immunoglobulin-like domains. *Nature* 308:37
- Eiffert, H., Quentin, E., Decker, J., Hillemeir, S., Hufschmidt, M., Klingmuller, D., Weber, M. H, Hilschman, N. 1984. Die Primarstrucktur der menschlichen freien Sekretkomponente und die Anordnung der Disulfidbrucken. Hoppe-Seyler's Z. Physiol. Chem. 365: 1489
- Liu, Y.-S. V., Low, T. L. K., Infante, A., Putnam, F. 1976. Complete covalent structure of a human IgA1 immunoglobulin. Science 193:1017
- Tsuzukida, Y., Wang, C.-C., Putnam, F. W. 1979. Structure of the A2m(1) allotype of human IgA—a recombinant molecule. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76: 1104
- Prahl, J. W., Abel, C. A., Grey, H. M. 1971. Carboxy-terminal structure of the α chain of human IgA myeloma proteins. *Biochemistry* 10:1808
- 26. Yang, C.-Y., Kratzin, H., Gotz, H., Hilschmann, N. 1979. Die primarstructur eines monoklonalen IgA1-immunoglobulins (Myelomaprotein Tro). VII. Darstellung, Reinigung und Charakterisierung der Disulfidbrucken. Hoppe-Seyler's Z. Physiol. Chem. 360:1919
- Mestecky, J. 1976. Structural aspects of human polymeric IgA. Ric. Clin. Lab. 6 (Suppl. 3):87
- Garcia-Pardo, A., Lamm, M. E., Plaut, A. G., Frangione, B. 1981. J chain is covalently bound to both monomer subunits in human secretory IgA. J. Biol. Chem. 256:11734
- Underdown, B. J., de Rose, J., Plaut, A. G. 1977. Disulfide bonding of secretory component to a single monomer subunit in human IgA. J. Immunol. 118: 1816
- Koshland, M. E. 1985. The coming of age of J chain. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3: 425

412 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

- Radl, J., Schuit, H. R. E., Mestecky, J., Hijmans, W. 1974. The origin of monomeric and polymeric forms of IgA in man. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 45: 57
- 32. Underdown, B. J., Dorrington, K. J. 1974. Studies on the structural and conformational basis for the relative resistance of serum and secretory immunoglobulin A to proteolysis. J. Immunol. 112:949
- 33. Knight, K., Martens, C. L., Stoklosa, C. M., Schneiderman, R. D. 1984. Genes encoding α-heavy chains of rabbit IgA: Characterization of cDNA encoding IgA-g subclass α-chains. Nucleic Acids Res. 12:1657
- Flanagan, J. G., Lefranc, M. P., Rabbitts, T. H. 1984. Mechanisms of divergence and convergence of the human immunoglobulin α1 and α2 constant region gene sequences. Cell 38: 681
- Plaut, A. G. 1983. The IgA1 proteases of pathogenic bacteria. Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 37:603
- 36. Fujiyama, Y., Kobayashi, K., Senda, S., Benno, Y., Bamba, T., Hosoda, S. 1985. A novel IgA protease from *Clostridium* sp. capable of cleaving IgA1 and IgA2 A2m(1) allotype but not IgA2 A2m(2) allotype paraproteins. J. Immunol. 134: 573
- Delacroix, D. L., Dive, C., Rambaud, J. C., Vaerman, J.-P. 1982. IgA subclasses in various secretions and in serum. *Immunology* 47:383
- Delacroix, D. L., Liroux, E., Vaerman, J.-P. 1983. High proportion of polymeric IgA in young infants' sera and independence between IgA-size and IgA-subclass distributions. J. Clin. Immunol. 3:51
- Tomasi, T. B. Jr., Tan, E. M., Solomon, A., Prendergast, R. A. 1965. Characteristics of an immune system common to certain external secretions. J. Exp. Med. 121:101
- South, M. A., Cooper, M. D., Wollheim, F. A., Hong, R., Good, R. A. 1966. The IgA system. I. Studies on the transport and immunochemistry of IgA in the saliva. J. Exp. Med. 123:615
- Dahlgren, U., Ahlstedt, S., Hedman, L., Wadsworth, C., Hanson, L. A. 1981.
 Dimeric IgA in the rat is transferred from serum to bile but not into milk. Scand. J. Immunol. 14:95
- Sullivan, D. A., Allansmith, M. R. 1984. Source of IgA in tears of rats. Immunology 53:791
- Delacroix, D. L., Furtado-Barreira, G., de Hemptinne, B., Goodswaard, J., Dive, C., Vaerman, J.-P. 1983. The liver

in the IgA secretory immune system. Dogs, but not rats and rabbits, are suitable models for human studies. *Hepatology* 3:980

- 44. Wira, C. R., Sullivan, D. A. 1985. Estradiol and progesterone regulation of immunoglobulin-A and -G and secretory component in cervicovaginal secretions of the rat. *Biol. Reprod.* 32:90
- Nagura, H., Nakane, P. K., Brown, W. R. 1979. Translocation of dimeric IgA through neoplastic colon cells in vitro. J. Immunol. 123:2359
- Mostov, K. E., Blobel, G. 1982. A transmembrane precursor of secretory component. The receptor for transcellular transport of polymeric immunoglobulins. J. Biol. Chem. 257: 11816
- 47. Solari, R., Kraehenbuhl, J.-P. 1984. Biosynthesis of the IgA antibody receptor: A model for the transepithelial sorting of a membrane glycoprotein. *Cell* 36:61
- 48. Jackson, G. D. F., Lemaitre-Coelho, I., Vaerman, J.-P., Bazin, H., Beckers, A. 1978. Rapid disappearance from serum of intravenously injected rat myeloma IgA and its secretion into bile. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 8:123
- Orlans, E., Peppard, J., Reynolds, J., Hall, J. G. 1978. Rapid active transport of immunoglobulin A from blood to bile. J. Exp. Med. 147:588
- Fisher, M. M., Nagy, B., Bazin, H., Underdown, B. J. 1979. Biliary transport of IgA. Role of secretory component. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76:2008
- Schiff, J. M., Fisher, M. M., Underdown, B. J. 1984. Receptor-mediated biliary transport of immunoglobulin A and asialoglycoprotein: Sorting and missorting of ligands revealed by two radiolabeling methods. J. Cell Biol. 98:79
- Socken, D. J., Jeejeebhoy, K. N., Bazin, H., Underdown, B. J. 1979. Identification of secretory component as an IgA receptor on rat hepatocytes. J. Exp. Med. 150:1538
- Orlans, E., Peppard, J., Fry, J. F., Hinton, R. H., Mullock, B. M. 1979. Secretory component as the receptor for polymeric IgA on rat hepatocytes. J. Exp. Med. 150:1577
- 54. Jones, A. L., Huling, S., Hradek, G. T., Gaines, H. S., Christiansen, W. D., Underdown, B. J. 1982. Uptake and intracellular distribution of IgA by rat hepatocytes in monolayer culture. *Hepatology* 2:769
- 55. Gebhardt, R. 1983. Primary cultures of

rat hepatocytes as a model system of canalicular development, biliary secretion and intrahepatic cholestasis. III. Properties of the biliary transport of immunoglobulin A revealed by immunofluorescence. Gastroenterology 84:1462

- Renston, R. H., Jones, A. L., Christiansen, W. D., Hradek, G. T., 56. Renston, Underdown, B. J. 1980. Evidence for a vesicular transport mechanism in hepatocytes for biliary secretion of immunoglobulin A. Science 208:1276
- 57. Wilson, P., Wong, M., Erlandsen, S. T. L. 1980. Immunohistochemical localization of IgA and secretory component in rat liver. Gastroenterology 79:924
- 58. Takahashi, I., Nakane, P. K., Brown, W. 1982. Ultrastructural events in the translocation of polymeric IgA by rat hepatocytes. J. Immunol. 128:1181
- 59. Schiff, J. M., Endo, Y., Kells, D. I. C Fisher, M. M., Underdown, B. J. 1983. Kinetic differences in hepatic transport of IgA polymers reflect molecular size. Fed. Proc. 42:1341 (Abstr.)
- 60. Phillips, J. O., Russell, M. W., Brown, T. A., Mestecky, J. 1983. Selective hepatobiliary transport of monoclonal IgG but not IgM anti-idiotypic antibodies by IgA. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 409:859
- 61. Socken, D. J., Simms, E. S., Nagy, B. R., Fisher, M. M., Underdown, B. J. 1981. Secretory component-dependent hepatic transport of IgA antibody-antigen complexes. J. Immunol. 127:316
- 62. Schiff, J. M., Fisher, M. M., Jones, A. L., Underdown, B. J. 1985. Human IgA as a heterovalent ligand: Switching from the asialoglycoprotein receptor to secretory component during transport across the rat hepatocyte. J. Cell Biol. In press
- 63. Delacroix, D. L., Denef, A. M., Acosta, G. A., Montgomery, P. C., Vaerman, J.-P. 1982. Immunoglobulins in rabbit hepatic bile: Selective secretion of IgA and IgM and active plasma-to-bile transfer of polymeric IgA. Scand. J. Immunol. 16:343
- 64. Orlans, E., Peppard, J. V., Payne, A. W. R., Fitzharris, B. M., Mullock, B. M., Hinton, R. H., Hall, J. G. 1983. Comparative aspects of the hepatobiliary transport of IgA. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 409:411
- 65. Peppard, J. V., Rose, M. E., Hesketh, P. 1983. A functional homologue of mammalian SC exists in chickens. Eur. J. Immunol. 13:566
- 66. Schiff, J. M., Jones, A. L., Huling, S. L. Underdown, B. J. 1985, Low level blood to bile transport of immunoglobulins

by primate hepatocytes: Lack of evidence for a secretory component dependent mechanism. Submitted

- 67. Delacroix, D. L., Hodgson, H. J. F., McPherson, A., Dive, C., Vaerman, J.-P. 1982. Selective transport of polymeric immunoglobulin A, immunoglobulin M, and other proteins in serum, bile and saliva. J. Clin. Invest. 70:230
- 68. Dooley, J. S., Potter, B. J., Thomas, H. C., Sherlock, S. 1982. A comparative study of the biliary secretion of human dimeric and monomeric IgA in the rat and in man. Hepatology 2:323
- 69. Vaerman, J.-P., Lemaitre-Coelho, I. M., Limet, J. N., Delacroix, D. L. 1982. Hepatic transfer of polymeric IgA from plasma to bile in rats and other animals: A survey. In Recent Advances in Mucosal Immunity, ed. W. Strober, L. A. Hanson, K. W. Sell, pp. 233-50. New York: Raven. 375 pp.
- Schiff, J. M., Underdown, B. J. 1985. Low level transport of IgA to bile via the asialoglycoprotein receptor. FEBS Lett. 182:85
- 71. Rifai, A., Mannik, M. 1983. Clearance kinetics and fate of mouse IgA immune complexes prepared with monomeric or dimeric IgA. J. Immunol. 130: 1826
- 72. Brown, T. A., Russell, M. W., Mestecky, J. 1982. Hepatobiliary transport of IgA immune complexes: Molecular and cellular aspects. J. Immunol. 128: 2183
- 73. Lobb, C. J., Clem, L. W. 1981. The metabolic relationships of the immunoglobulins in fish serum, cutaneous mucus, and bile. J. Immunol. 127:1525
- 74. Nagura, H., Smith, P. D., Nakane, P. K., Brown, W. R. 1981. IgA in human bile and liver. J. Immunol. 126:587
- 75. Delacroix, D. L., Courtoy, P. J., Rahier, J., Reynaert, M., Vaerman, J.-P., Dive, C. 1984. Localization and serum concentration of secretory component during massive necrosis of human liver. Gastroenterology 86: 521
- 76. Peppard, J., Orlans, E., Payne, A. W. R. Andrew, E. 1981. The elimination of circulating complexes containing polymeric IgA by excretion in the bile. Immunology 42:83
- 77. Harmatz, P. R., Kleinman, R. E. Bunnell, B. W., Bloch, K. J., Walker, W. A. 1982. Hepatobiliary clearance of IgA immune complexes formed in the circulation. Hepatology 2:328
- 78. Russell, M. W., Brown, T. A., Claflin, J., Schroer, K., Mestecky, J. 1983. IgAmediated hepatobiliary transport constitutes a natural pathway for disposing

414 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

of bacterial antigens. Infect. Immunol. 42:1041

- 79. Kim, E., Hradek, G. T., Jones, A. L. 1985. Degradative transcellular transport of anti-secretory component in cultured hepatocytes: An alternate pathway for the IgA receptor. Gastroenterology 88:1791
- Manning, R. J., Walker, P. G., Carter, L., Barrington, P. J., Jackson, G. D. F. 1984. Studies on the origins of biliary immunoglobulins in rats. Gastroenterology 87:173
- Kaartinen, M. 1978. Liver damage in mice and rats causes ten-fold increase of blood immunoglobulin A. Scand. J. Immunol. 7:519
 Rank, J., Wilson, I. D. 1983. Changes in
- Rank, J., Wilson, I. D. 1983. Changes in IgA following various degrees of biliary obstruction in the rat. *Hepatology* 3: 241
- Kutteh, W. H., Prince, S. J., Phillips, J. O., Spenny, J. G., Mestecky, J. 1982. Properties of immunoglobulin A in serum of individuals with liver diseases and in hepatic bile. *Gastroenter*ology 82:184
- 84. Newkirk, M. W., Klein, M. H., Katz, A., Fisher, M. M., Underdown, B. J. 1983. Estimation of polymeric IgA in human serum: An assay based on binding of radiolabeled human secretory component with applications in the study of IgA nephropathy, IgA monoclonal gammopathy, and liver disease. J. Immunol. 130: 1176
- Delacroix, D. L., Elkon, K. B., Geubel, A. P., Hodgson, H. F., Dive, C., Vaerman, J.-P. 1983. Changes in size, subclass and metabolic properties of serum immunoglobulin A in liver diseases and in other diseases with high serum immunoglobulin A. J. Clin. Invest. 71:358
- 86. Chandy, K. G., Hubscher, S. G., Elias, E., Berg, J., Khan, M., Burnett, D. 1983. Dual role of the liver in regulating circulating polymeric immunoglobulin A in man : Studies on patients with liver disease. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 52 : 207
- Fukumoto, T., Brandon, M. R. 1982. Importance of the liver in immunoglobulin catabolism. Res. Vet. Sci. 32: 62
- 88. Matsutani, S., Akahonai, Y. 1982. Studies on the mechanism of hypergammaglobulinemia, in particular an increase of serum IgA in chronic liver diseases from the aspect of the antibody production against extrinsic antigens. Sapporo Med. J. 51:301
- Sancho, J., Egido, J., Sanchez-Crespo, M., Blasco, R. 1982. Detection of mono-

meric and polymeric IgA containing immune complexes in serum and kidney from patients with alcoholic liver disease. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 47:327

- 90. Jonard, P. P., Rambaud, J. C., Dive, C., Vaerman, J.-P., Galian, A., Delacroix, D. L. 1984. Secretion of immunoglobulins and plasma proteins from the jejunal mucosa. Transport rate and origin of polymeric immunoglobulin A. J. Clin. Invest. 74: 525
- 91. Lemaitre-Coelho, I., Acosta Altamirano, G. A., Barranco-Acosta, C., Meykens, R., Vaerman, J.-P. 1980. *In vivo* experiments involving secretory component in the rat hepatic transfer of polymeric IgA from blood to bile. *Immunology* 43:261
- Brandtzaeg, P., Prydz, H. 1984. Direct evidence for an integrated function of J chain and secretory component in epithelial transport of immunoglobulins. *Nature* 311:71
- 93. Schiff, J. M., Fisher, M. M., Underdown, B. J. 1985. Secretory component as the mucosal transport receptor: Separation of physicochemically analogous human IgA fractions with different receptor binding capacities. *Mol. Immunol.* In press
- Mach, J.-P. 1970. Studies on the combination of free secretory component with myeloma or serum IgA. In *Immunopathology: VIth International Symposium*, ed. P. A. Miescher, pp. 164– 71. Basel: Schwabe. 449 pp.
- Weicker, J., Underdown, B. J. 1975. A study of the association of human secretory component with IgA and IgM proteins. J. Immunol. 114:1337
- Lindh, E., Bjork, I. 1977. Relative rates of the non-covalent and covalent binding of secretory component to an IgA dimer. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. C 85:449
- Schiff, J. M., Dorrington, K. J., Underdown, B. J. 1979. Correction of the affinity of secretory component for polymeric immunoglobulins: Inherent artifact in Scatchard analyses. Int. Congr. Biochem., Toronto 11:08-08-R100 (Abstr.)
- Hemmings, W. A., ed. 1976. Maternofoetal Transmission of Immunoglobulins. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press. 461 pp.
- 99. Abrahamson, D. R., Rodewald, R. 1981. Evidence for the sorting of endocytic vesicle contents during the receptormediated transport of IgG across the newborn rat intestine. J. Cell Biol. 91:270

- 100. Kuhn, L. C., Kraehenbuhl, J.-P. 1979 Role of secretory component, a secreted glycoprotein, in the specific uptake of IgA dimer by epithelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 254 : 11072
- 101. Mostov, K. E., Kraehenbuhl, J.-P. Blobel, G. 1979. Receptor-mediated transcellular transport of immunoglobulin: Synthesis of secretory component as multiple and larger transmembrane forms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:7257
- 102. Kuhn, L. C., Kraehenbuhl, J.-P. 1981. The membrane receptor for polymeric immunoglobulin is structurally related to secretory component. Isolation and characterization of membrane secretory component from rabbit liver and mammary gland. J. Biol. Chem. 256: 124
- 103. Underdown, B. J. 1972. Studies on the subunit structure of rabbit secretory IgA. J. Immunol. 109:227
- 104. Altamirano, G. A., Barranco-Acosta, C., Roost, E. V., Vaerman, J.-P. 1980. Isolation and characterization of secretory IgA and free secretory component from rat bile. Mol. Immunol. 17:1525
- 105. Sztul, E. S., Howell, K. E., Palade, G. E. 1985. Biogenesis of the polymeric IgA receptor on rat hepatocytes. II. Localization of its intracellular forms by cell fractionation studies. J. Cell Biol. 100: 1255
- 106. Mullock, B. M., Hinton, R. H., Dobrota, M., Peppard, J., Orlans, E. 1980. Distribution of secretory component in hepatocytes and its mode of transfer into bile. Biochem. J. 190:819
- 107. Mullock, B. M., Jones, R. S., Hinton, R. H. 1980. Movement of endocytic shuttle vesicles from the sinusoidal to the bile canalicular face of hepatocytes does not depend on occupation of receptor sites. FEBS Lett. 113:201
- 108. Dura, W. T., Bernatowska, E. 1984. Secretory component, α_1 -antitrypsin and lysozyme in IgA deficient children. An immunohistochemical evaluation of intestinal mucosa. Histopathology 8: 747
- 109. Schwartz, A. L. 1984. The hepatic asialoglycoprotein receptor. CRC Crit. Rev. Biochem. 16:207
- 110. Geuze, J. H., Slot, J. W., Strous, G. J. A. M., Peppard, J., von Figura, K., Hasilik, A., Schwartz, A. L. 1984. Intracellular receptor sorting during endocytosis: Comparative immunoelectron microscopy of multiple receptors in rat liver. Cell 37:195
- 111. Underdown, B. J., Schiff, J. M., Nagy, B., Fisher, M. M. 1983. Differences in

processing of polymeric IgA and asialoglycoproteins by the rat liver. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 409:402

- 112. Limet, J. N., Quintart, J., Schneider, Y.-J., Courtoy, P. J. 1985. Receptormediated endocytosis of polymeric IgA and galactosylated serum albumin in rat liver. Eur. J. Biochem. 146:539
- 113. Jones, A. L., Renston, R. H., Burwen, S. J. 1982. Uptake and intracellular disposition of plasma-derived proteins and apoproteins by hepatocytes. Prog. Liver Dis. 7:51
- 114. Stockert, R. J., Kressner, M. S., Collins, J. C., Sternlieb, I., Morell, A. G. 1982. IgA interaction with the asialoglycoprotein receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:6229
- 115. Schiff, J. M., Huling, S., Underdown, B. J., Jones, A. L. 1985. Receptor mediated uptake of asialoglycoprotein by the primate liver initiates both lysosomal and transcellular pathways. Submitted
- 116. Jackson, G. D. F., Walker, P. G., Schiff, J. M., Barrington, P. J., Fisher, M. M., Underdown, B. J. 1985. A role for the spleen in the appearance of IgM in the bile of rats injected intravenously with horse erythrocytes. J. Immunol. 135: 152
- 117. Heremans, J. F. 1974. Immunoglobulin A. Antigens 2:365
- 118. Walker, W. A., Block, K. J. 1983. Intestinal uptake of macromolecules: In vitro and in vivo studies. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 409 : 593
- 119. Rifai, A., Mannik, M. 1984. Clearance of circulating IgA immune complexes is mediated by a specific receptor on Kupffer cells in mice. J. Exp. Med. 160:125
- 120. Sancho, J., Gonzalez, E., Rivera, F., Escanero, J. F., Egido, J. 1984. Hepatic and kidney uptake of soluble monomeric and polymeric IgA aggregates. Immunology 52:161
- Skogh, T., Edebo, L., Stendahl, O. 1983. Gastrointestinal uptake and blood clearance of antigen in the presence of IgA antibodies. Immunology 50:175
- 122. Bienenstock, J., Befus, A. D. 1983. Some thoughts on the biologic role of immunoglobulin A. Gastroenterology 84:178
- 123. Ishizaka, K., Ishizaka, T., Lee, E. H. Fudenberg, H. 1965. Immunochemical properties of human yA isohemagglutinin. I. Comparisons with yG- and yM-globulin antibodies. J. Immunol. 95: 197
- 124. Lachmann, P. J. 1985. Antibody and complement in viral infections. Br. Med. Bull. 41:3

415

416 UNDERDOWN & SCHIFF

- Dimmock, N. J. 1984. Mechanisms of neutralization of animal viruses. J. Gen. Virol. 65:1015
- 126. Williams, R. C., Gibbons, R. J. 1972. Inhibition of bacterial adherence by secretory immunoglobulin A : A mechanism of antigen disposal. *Science* 177: 697
- 127. Fubara, E. S., Freter, R. 1973. Protection against bacterial infection by secretory IgA antibodies. J. Immunol. 111: 395
- 128. Svanborg-Eden, C., Svennerholm, A. M. 1978. Secretory immunoglobulin A and G antibodies prevent adhesion of *Escherichia coli* to human urinary tract epithelial cells. *Infect. Immunity* 22: 790
- 129. Newby, T. J. 1984. Protective immune responses in the intestinal tract. In *Local Immune Responses of the Gut*, ed. T.J. Newby, C. R. Stokes, pp. 143–98. Boca Raton, Fla: CRC. 249 pp.
- 130. Herlea, V. 1983. Testing the antimicrobial activity of some active factors isolated from human milk and colostrum. *Rev. Roum. Biol. Ser. Biol. Veg.* 28:145
- 131. Schlegel, R., Wade, M. 1983. Neutralized virus binds to host cells by a different receptor. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 114:774
- 132. Taylor, H., Dimmock, N. J. 1985. Mechanism of neutralization of influenza virus by secretory IgA is different from that of monomeric IgA or IgG. J. Exp. Med. 161:198
- 133. Pierce, N. F., Reynolds, H. Y. 1975. Immunity to experimental cholera. I. Secretory and humoral antitoxin response to local and systemic toxoid administration. J. Infect. Dis. 131:383
- 134. Steele, E. J., Chaicumpa, W., Rowley, D. 1974. Isolation and biological properties of three classes of rabbit antibody to Vibrio cholerae. J. Infect. Dis. 130:93
- 135. Gauldie, J., Richards, C., Lamontage, L. 1983. Fc receptors for IgA and other immunoglobulins on resident and activated alveolar macrophages. *Mol. Immunol.* 20: 1029
- Fanger, M. W., Goldstine, S. N., Shen, L. 1983. The properties and role of receptors for IgA on human leukocytes. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 409: 552
- 137. Lowell, G. H., Smith, L. F., Griffiss, J. M., Brandt, B. L. 1980. IgA-dependent, monocyte mediated antibacterial activity. J. Exp. Med. 152:452
- 138. Tagliabue, A., Boraschi, D., Villa, L., Keren, D. F., Lowell, G. H., Rappuoli, R., Nencioni, L. 1984. IgA-dependent cell-mediated activity against enteropathogenic bacteria: Distribution, specificity and characterization of the effec-

tor cells. J. Immunol. 133:988

- 139. Griffiss, J. M., Bertram, M. A. 1977. Immunoepidemiology of meningococcal disease in military recruits. II. Blocking of serum bactericidal activity by circulating IgA early in the course of invasive disease. J. Infect. Dis. 136:733
- 140. Van Epps, D. E., Reed, K., Williams, R. C. Jr. 1978. Suppression of human PMN bactericidal activity by human IgA paraproteins. Cell. Immunol. 36: 363
- 141. Musher, D. M., Goree, A., Baughn, R. E., Birdsall, H. H. 1984. Immunoglobulin A from bronchopulmonary secretions blocks bactericidal and opsonizing effects of antibody to nontypable Haemophilus influenzae. Infect. Immun. 45:36
- 142. Boackle, R. J., Pruitt, K. M., Mestecky, J. 1974. The interactions of human complement with interfacially aggregated preparations of human secretory IgA. Immunochemistry 11:543
- 143. Romer, W., Rother, V., Roelcke, D. 1980. Failure of IgA cold agglutinin to activate complement. *Immunobiology* 157:41
- 144. Russell-Jones, G. J., Ey, P. L., Reynolds, B. L. 1984. The ability of IgA to inhibit complement consumption by complement-fixing antigens and antigenantibody complexes. Aust. J. Exp. Biol. Med. 62:1
- 145. Pfaffenbach, G., Lamm, M. E., Gigili, I. 1982. Activation of guinea pig alternative complement pathway by mouse IgA immune complexes. J. Exp. Med. 155:231
- 146. Hall, R. P., Lawley, T. J., Heck, J. A., Katz, S. I. 1980. IgA-containing complexes in dermatitis herpetiformis, Henoch-Schonlein purpura, systemic lupus erythematosus and other diseases. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 40:431
- 147. Conley, M. E., Cooper, M. D., Michael, A. F. 1980. Selective deposition of immunoglobulin A1 in immunoglobulin A nephropathy, anaphylactoid purpura nephritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. J. Clin. Invest. 66: 1432
- 148. Lloyd, S., Soulsby, E. J. L. 1978. The role of IgA immunoglobulins in the passive transfer of protection to *Taenia taeniaeformis* in the mouse. *Immunology* 34:939
- 149. Kaplan, B. S., Uni, S., Aikawa, M., Mahmoud, A. A. F. 1985. Effector mechanism of host resistance in murine giardiasis: Specific IgG and IgA cellmediated toxicity. J. Immunol. 134: 1975
- 150. Tomasi, T. B. 1976. The Immune System

IgA: SYNTHESIS, TRANSPORT, FUNCTION 417

of Secretions. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall. 161 pp.

- 151. Allardyce, R. A., Bienenstock, J. 1984. The mucosal immune system in health and disease, with an emphasis on parasitic infection. Bull. WHO 62:7
- 152. Ogra, P. L. 1985. Local immune responses. Br. Med. Bull. 41:28
- 153. Ernst, P. B., Befus, A. D., Bienenstock, J. 1985. Leukocytes in the intestinal epithelium: An unusual immunological compartment. *Immunol. Today* 6:50
- Frommel, D., Moullec, J., Lambin, P., Fine, J. M. 1973. Selective serum IgA deficiency. Vox Sang. 25:513
- 155. Kolstinen, J. 1975. Selective IgA deficiency in blood donors. Vox Sang. 29:192

- 156. Stokes, C. R., Taylor, B., Turner, M. W. 1974. Association of house-dust and grass-pollen allergies with specific IgA antibody deficiency. *Lancet* 2:485
- antibody deficiency. Lancet 2:485 157. Cunningham-Rundles, C., Brandeis, W. E., Good, R. A., Day, N. K. 1978. Milk precipitins, circulating immune complexes and IgA deficiency. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 75:3387 158. McGhee, J. R., Michalek, S. M.
- McGhee, J. R., Michalek, S. M. 1981. Immunobiology of dental caries Microbial aspects and local immunity. *Ann. Rev. Microbiol.* 35:595
- 159. Kaiserlian, D., Delacroix, D., Bach, J. F. 1985. The wasted mutant mouse. I. An animal model of secretory IgA deficiency with normal serum IgA. J. Immunol. 135:1126



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE- REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 419-70

THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E^{1,2}

Henry Metzger, Gisele Álcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean-Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto

Section on Chemical Immunology, Arthritis and Rheumatism Branch, National Institute of Arthritis, Diabetes, and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland 20892

INTRODUCTION

This review is about one of the physiologically important macromolecules that interact with the Fc domains of immunoglobulins. Such substances (complement, "immunoglobulin binding factors," Fc receptors) can convert the simple binding of antigen to antibody into a biologically meaningful event.

The protein we review here—the Fc receptor with high affinity for monomeric immunoglobulin E (IgE)—is only one of several proteins that interact with IgE (1–5). In addition to high affinity, its special characteristic is its distribution on the plasma membrane of mast cells and basophils exclusively. Activation of this receptor initiates release of preformed mediators contained in intracellular granules and the biosynthesis of a variety of biologically active lipids such as the leukotrienes. Here we review what is known about the structure of this receptor and the early biochemical events that it initiates. We do not consider the consequences of

¹ The US Government has the right to retain a nonexclusive, royalty-free license in and to any copyright covering this paper.

² Abbreviations: IgE, immunoglobulin E; RBL, rat basophilic leukemia; PI, phosphatidyl inositol; PIP, phosphatidyl inositol-4-phosphate; PIP₂, phosphatidyl-4,5-bis phosphate; AdoMet, s-adenosylmethionine; AdoHcy, s-adenosylhomocysteine.

these initial perturbations—an area that deserves separate discussion. Because our subject has been regularly reviewed (6–8), we focus principally on recent data.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

IgE and Cells

Molecular characterization of receptors requires reasonable amounts of material. With respect to the ligand, human IgE myelomas have been available since the late 1960s (9), but the lack of suitable preparations of human cells was a serious drawback. Modest numbers of mast cells can be purified from rats and mice, but preparing sufficient rodent IgE was laborious (10). The discovery by Bazin and his colleagues of rat immunocytomas (11), many of which secreted homogeneous IgE (12), was a major breakthrough. The development of the monoclonal antibody technology (13) now permits the preparation of virtually unlimited numbers and amounts of antigen-specific mouse IgEs. One of these—HI-DNP- ε -26.82, which is specific for the dinitrophenyl moiety (14)—has been particularly popular.

The unique development of a *basophilic leukemia* in rats treated with β chlorethylamine was first reported in 1973 (15). In vitro culture of these RBL cells was initiated in our laboratory that same year (16) and independently by Froese and his colleagues in 1975 (17). These initial isolates are apparently the source of all subsequent work on these widely used cells. By several criteria these cells seem most closely related to socalled mucosal mast cells (18).

The initial cell lines appeared granular and had low but palpable amounts of histamine and substantial numbers of receptors; even so, they failed to undergo receptor-mediated secretion (16). Subsequently secreting cell lines arose spontaneously—an event so unexpected that the cells were originally thought to have arisen from a mouse mastocytoma (19, 20). Cloning of the releasing cells led to a line, 2H3(HR+), (21) which has continued to be highly functional. Recently, other cell lines have been prepared that will be useful for comparative purposes (22).

The IgE-mediated release from RBL cells has many of the characteristics of release from human basophils and rodent mast cells (23). Similarly, no substantial discrepancy between the structure of the receptor on the RBL cells and that on normal cells has been uncovered, although only limited comparative data are available (17, 24–27). The differences that do exist, rather than diminishing the usefulness of the tumor cells, may assist in sorting out the essential from the trivial. Likely, this will be equally true for the reactions initiated by the receptor.

Purification of the Receptor

Once solubilized, the receptor can be absorbed to IgE-adsorbents. After washing, the receptor can then be released by use of a variety of protein-denaturants (7, 28, 29). There are problems with this approach. (a) Since the adsorbents will likely contain aggregates of IgE as well as monomeric IgE, cellular proteins with low affinity for monomeric IgE may coabsorb (1). (b) The aggregated IgE may activate those receptors absorbed to it—if such an event as "activation" indeed occurs (see below). (c) The use of denaturants can dissociate the receptor (30) and may induce functional changes. Since no functional assays as yet exist, such changes are undetectable. (d) Nonspecificically absorbed contaminants may also be released by the denaturant.

An alternative approach involves binding monomeric IgE to the receptor either before or after solubilization and then trapping the IgE either on an antihapten adsorbent utilizing hapten-conjugated IgE (31, 32) or on a hapten-conjugated adsorbent using antigen-specific IgE (33). After washing, the IgE-receptor complexes can be eluted with hapten without employing denaturants. The slow rate of dissociation (34) prevents appreciable losses of receptor throughout purification especially when nmolar concentrations of IgE and receptor are used. The disadvantage of this approach is that IgE-receptor complexes, rather than unliganded receptors, are purified. However, the binding of monomeric IgE to the receptor is not known to lead to any changes in the receptor (see below), so that in principle this is not a serious problem. With this procedure 30% yields of intact receptors can be isolated. Most current lines of RBL cells have approximately 3×10^5 receptors per cell and can be readily grown to a density of 10^6 cells/ml. Thus 10 liter of cells can yield ~ 1.5 nmol receptor.

STRUCTURE OF THE RECEPTOR

Analysis of the receptor was initiated in the mid-1970s in several laboratories, and progress has been regularly reviewed (6, 7). In 1983 we presented a new model for the receptor (35), and we use that model as the basis for discussing recent observations. We focus on several major aspects: The properties of the subunits that constitute the unit receptor; the topology of these subunits in the membrane; the interaction of the receptor with detergents and lipids; and some questions of definition.

Covalent Structure

PROTEIN CHEMICAL APPROACHES The model of the receptor contains four polypeptide chains: a single α chain (36), which contains the binding site for

IgE (17, 24), a single β chain (26, 33); and two identical, disulfide-linked γ chains (27) (Figure 1). Some of the properties of these chains are collected in Table 1.

New findings support specific features of this model. On the basis of the products of proteolytic cleavage of the α chain (46) and, later, on the basis of the kinetics of proteolytic cleavage of receptor bound IgE (47), we proposed that the α chain consists of two similar-sized but nonidentical domains. That the Fab fragments of a particular monoclonal antibody directed to the α chain (antibody BC4) bind in a ratio of ~ 2 mols per mol receptor (48) is consistent with this proposal. We also proposed that the two γ chains are identical, and two-dimensional analysis of intact γ chains subsequently confirmed that conclusion (unpublished observations).

That the γ components are not degradation products of either α or β has been further confirmed by two-dimensional chymotryptic peptide maps of extrinsically iodinated α , β , and γ , which show discrete patterns with essentially no common peptides (G. Alcaraz, J.-P. Kinet, H. Metzger, unpublished observations). This confirms the distinctiveness of the γ chains and implies that lengthy runs of sequence identity between them and β or α are unlikely. We have insufficient data to show that by the same criteria this is also true for the relationship between α and β .

GENETIC APPROACHES To explore the sequences and sequencerelationships further, cloning of the genes that code for them is the most reasonable strategy. We plan to prepare cDNA probes synthesized on the basis of limited sequence analysis. Because the amino terminus of each of the chains appears to be blocked (36; J.-P. Kinet, G. Alcaraz, H. Metzger, unpublished observations, in collaboration with M. Bond), isolation of one

Figure 1 Schematic diagram of receptor for immunoglobulin E. The circles represent spheres whose volumes are proportional to the mass of the peptide and carbohydrate (shaded areas) they define. From Ref. 35 by permission.



or more peptides is necessary to obtain such data; isolation of tryptic peptides has been initiated.

An alternative approach is to prepare cDNA from mRNA with or without prior fractionation of the latter. Using RBL cells, Pure et al (49) as well as Liu & Orida (50) obtained 13-14S fractions of mRNA from sucrose gradients that, when injected into frog oocytes, induced binding activity for IgE. Analysis of this IgE-binding material on polyacrylamide gels showed principally a 31 kd component of uncertain relationship to either the α , β , or γ chains (50). Liu et al (51) have cloned the double-stranded cDNA prepared

		Subunit	
Properties	α	β	γ
Mol/mol receptor (35) ^b	1	1	2
M _r (kd) (27, 33, 37)	45	33	9
Labeling properties Extrinsic Surface			
Intact cells, vesicles (17, 24, 38) Lysed vesicles (38)°	+ -	 +	 +
Intramembrane (27, 39) Intrinsic	-	+	+
Glucosamine (24, 27, 40)	+	_	
Phosphorus (41, 42) ^d	-	+	+
Fatty acids (45)	+	+	+
Composition			
Carbohydrate (wt%) (36) Amino-acids (mol%) (36) ^e	30%	_	-
Basic (Lys, Arg, His)	14.6	11.2	15.7
Acidic (Glx, Asx)	20.7	20.9	20.7
Hydroxy (Ser, Thr)	16.1	19.4	12.3
Hydrophobic (Val, Leu, Ile)	22.7	23.6	26.1
Aromatic (Tyr, Phe, Trp) Other	11.3	8.3	8.0
Cys	2.36	2.05	1.92
Met	1.04	1.3	0
Gly, Ala, Pro	14.0	18.6	17.1

Table 1 Properties of the subunits of the receptor for immunoglobulin E^a

^a Data from RBL cells exclusively.

^b Reference.

° Refers to labeling in addition to that seen on intact vesicles.

^d Refers to intact cells only. Hempstead et al (43, 44) report labeling of α chains on rat peritoneal mast cells. ^e The data for the β and γ chains are from G. Alcaraz, T. Y. Liu, J.-P. Kinet, H. Metzger (unpublished studies).

from such mRNA fractions, and this cDNA in turn hybridizes with the mRNA coding for the 31 kd protein. In the amino acid sequence published so far (encompassing approximately one half of the peptide), there appear to be five methionines—more than our own analysis suggests for either the α , β , or γ chains (Table 1). Liu et al suggest that possibly their protein represents the similar-sized material described by Kulczycki & Parker (29) and Holowka & Baird (38).

The relationship of the protein described by Liu and his colleagues to the α , β , and γ chains could be clarified with suitable antibodies. Reports exist of anti- α -chain antibodies (7, 48, 52, 53), but no rigorous analysis of their specificity or of their cross-reactivity with the cloned protein has been published. We (and perhaps others) have tried to prepare antibodies specific for β and γ but as yet we have not succeeded.

Topology

New evidence supports one or another aspect of the topology of the receptor, as depicted in Figure 1. Holowka & Baird (38) used lactoperoxidase to label regions of the receptor exposed on plasma membrane vesicles prepared by treating RBL cells with formaldehyde and dithiothreitol (54). The intact vesicles, which appeared to be primarily right side out, revealed labeling of the α chain almost exclusively. Labeling after lysis of these vesicles produced no increase in the modification of α but now revealed labeling of β and γ . These results are consistent with the model. The results of Lee & Conrad (55) are also confirmatory. As we did also (26, 56, 57), they observed covalent cross-linking of α , β , and γ when bifunctional reagents were reacted with the solubilized receptors. However, when membrane-impermeable cross-linking reagents were reacted with intact cells, no cross-linking was evident (55). [With membrane-permeant reagents such as the bis-imidates, cross-linking of α , β , and γ on intact cells is obtained (26).] These observations are consistent with minimal or no exposure of the β and γ chains on the surface (Figure 1). Although some additional analyses are needed to improve the accuracy of our amino acid analyses, the current data (Table 1) show that the general distribution of hydrophobic and hydrophilic amino acids in α , β , and γ is similar. Though enriched in hydrophobic residues compared to soluble proteins in general (58), each chain has numerous hydrophilic and charged residues; this indicates that each is partially exposed to an aqueous environment.

We emphasize that the current topological scheme is based in part on negative data and in part on no data whatsoever. For example, there are no data that allow one to speculate whether α interacts with β or with γ . Only a hint exists that α does not independently interact with both (see below).

Interaction with Detergents and Lipids

DETERGENTS An unusual feature of the $\alpha\beta\gamma_2$ complex is its dissociation in so-called mild detergents (30, 56), and it was this property that delayed detection of the β and γ chains. Two observations have allowed us to examine this dissociation in detail. The first was that the instability could be largely obviated by maintaining the solubilized receptor in submicellar detergent (30, 59). The second was that by briefly exposing the receptor to micellar detergent in the absence of lipid and then maintaining it in submicellular detergent, even the α chain in the IgE- $\alpha\beta\gamma_2$ complex could be labeled (see also below) (30, 45, 59).

Our principal findings on the dissociation of β and γ_2 from α were as follows (30): (a) The β chain and dimer of γ chains always dissociated in unison. This is a hint that β and γ don't interact independently with α (Figure 1). (b) The dissociation is due to detergent micelles and, under appropriate conditions, the extent of dissociation correlates well with the concentration of micells regardless of which of six different commonly used mild detergents is employed. (c) Under otherwise mild conditions, the molar ratio of detergent monomers (in micellar form) to receptor that is required for dissociation is about 10⁵. This ratio is strikingly higher than the ratio of detergent to lipid that is required to dissolve membranes, where a ratio of ~ 2 suffices (60, 61). (d) Detergents that are most effective for dissolving biomembranes—those with an HLB number (62) of about 13 (63)—disrupt the receptor most efficiently. (e) At low levels of micellar detergents, the kinetics of dissociation implicate a component other than the receptor and the detergent, that influences the process. We believe this component is lipid that is tightly associated with the receptor (below).

The dissociability in mild detergents of the β and γ chains from the α chains is useful for preparatory isolation of the subunits, especially when Triton X-114 is employed (59, 64). With this detergent we can separate the α subunits of the receptor from the β and γ chains under conditions that maintain high concentrations of all the subunits and that are otherwise extremely gentle (59). Nevertheless, we have not so far been successful in recombining the β and γ chains with α , once they have been dissociated.

LIPIDS Recent studies indicate that lipids bind to the receptor in several ways (45). Evidence for *loosely* bound lipid is derived from observations on the conditions necessary to iodinate extrinsically the α chain of the receptor in the IgE- $\alpha\beta\gamma_2$ complex (see above). Previous data had indicated that α could not be oxidatively iodinated once bound to IgE (17, 25). We found that if the complex was briefly exposed to lipid-free micellar detergent and then iodinated in submicellar concentrations of detergent, substantial

iodination of the α chain is obtained. If micellar detergent, with or without lipids, is added back to the complex prior to iodination, the labeling of α is again suppressed. These observations suggest that there are sites on or near the α chain to which lipid binds weakly and that these are rather nonspecific.

Evidence for *tightly* bound lipid comes from the observation that phospholipids prevent the disruptive action of detergent (45, 56), and from the dissociation studies cited above that implicated a third component. Cell-derived mixed lipids are the only ones that have so far been found to protect fully against the disruption induced by detergent (45, 56); this suggests that the tightly-bound lipid may be rather specific. A direct analysis to test this proposal has been initiated (65).

The receptor also contains *covalently* bound lipid (45). Because only small amounts of radioactive fatty acids are incorporated, it is impractical to assess the molar ratio of fatty acid to polypeptide. In the absence of knowledge of whether a substantial proportion of the receptors are modified, it is futile to speculate about the potential function of such lipid.

Defining the Receptor

 β and γ_2 dissociate from α under conditions in which most multisubunit membrane proteins remain intact, and the β and γ chains associated with α chains already inserted in the plasma membrane incorporate radioactive phosphorus (42) and fatty acids (45). These facts raise the question of whether it is appropriate, therefore, to consider the β and γ chains as true subunits of the receptor rather than as receptor-associated components. Once the molar ratio has been defined as reasonable (a small integral number), we consider the most decisive criteria to be biosynthetic ones. An examination of the biosynthesis more detailed than had been previously performed (27) has been published (66). These new experiments showed that α , β , and γ are coordinately synthesized and degraded, and cannot exchange independently of each other once inserted into the plasma membrane. It, therefore, seems reasonable to consider the $\alpha\beta\gamma_2$ complex as the unit receptor.

BINDING OF IgE TO THE RECEPTOR

Reaction Mechanism, Kinetics

The principal findings have been reviewed (e.g. 67) and can be summarized easily. All the evidence favors a simple bimolecular, nondiffusion-controlled interaction between a monomer of IgE and a single univalent receptor to which it binds (34, 68, 69). The forward reaction can be described by a single-valued rate constant of about $10^5 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ for intact cells and

about 30-fold greater for solubilized receptors. The reason for this discrepancy is uncertain. Possibly the slower rate is due to a "gating" effect of other glycoproteins on the cell surface (69). Alternatively, the bending of IgE, which may occur when it binds to cell-bound receptors (see below), may not happen when IgE binds to solubilized receptors (70). The former proposal can be studied by using receptors reincorporated into liposomes free of other proteins (57); the latter, with comparative studies using energy transfer techniques (70, 71). The forward reaction is unremarkable either in its rate constant or in its sensitivity to pH, temperature, salts, etc (34, 72). The dissociation is slow and has a concentration dependence appropriate for a unimolecular reaction. When studied over long time periods, the kinetics suggest that the receptors are heterogeneous since the dissociation data show a concave-upward shape on a semilog plot (73). The shape of this plot is not influenced by the fractional occupancy of the receptors (69), so there is no reason to invoke any (negative) cooperative effect. These data likewise preclude a diffusion-controlled reaction (69). Thus, the slow rate of dissociation $(k_{-1} < 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1})$ accounts for the high affinity of the receptor for IgE.

Specificity

The specificity for the epsilon isotype is virtually perfect—no homologous monomeric isotype can compete effectively against the binding of IgE. The species specificity is imperfect. For example, rodent IgE can bind to human cells (74), and recent evidence was presented that human IgE could bind to rodent cells (75). The former observation is not surprising; it is only surprising that it had not been adequately tested previously. The latter finding is unexpected because it had earlier been found that human IgE cannot block the binding of rodent IgE (16, 76). In those instances the human IgE may have become largely inactivated, but because very large concentrations of the IgE were used, this explanation seems improbable. Another unusual aspect of these recent findings is that RBL cells failed to bind human IgE, whereas peritoneal mast cells did (75). Previous studies had suggested very similar binding properties for these cells (76, 77), and peptide maps failed to pick up reproducible differences in the α subunit which binds IgE (25). Some older studies had suggested that human reaginic sera could sensitize rodent mast cells (reviewed in 67); this could have resulted from minimal binding of IgE or perhaps from binding to other receptors. It was in any case difficult to reproduce (78).

Binding Sites on IgE

The binding of IgE to the receptor is not known to cause any significant perturbations by itself. Therefore, definition of the sites on IgE that interact

with the receptor is unlikely to clarify the mechanism of action of the receptor. The interest in this area of research is prompted, rather, by the therapeutic implications of success. That is, if one could prepare suitable peptides based on knowledge of the interactive sites, one might have a useful way of preventing sensitization of mast cells and basophils with endogenous IgE.

OLDER DATA A problem in this line of investigation has been the failure to obtain small fragments of IgE that are active. Human IgE can be split by proteases to produce active Fc fragments $[(C_{\epsilon}2-C_{\epsilon}3-C_{\epsilon}4)_2]$ (79–81), but no smaller fragment has been found to be reproducibly active (reviewed in 47).

Dorrington & Bennich (82) correlated the inactivation of binding of human IgE with the irreversible changes induced by denaturants and concluded that both the $C_{\epsilon}3$ and $C_{\epsilon}4$ domains—particularly the former—were involved.

Perez-Montfort & Metzger (47) attempted to generate active fragments by carefully controlled proteolytic digestion of rat and mouse IgE in the presence and absence of receptor. Although no active fragments (not even an Fc fragment) could be generated, the kinetics of cleavage at several sites yielded some useful information. The presence of receptor slowed (but did not totally inhibit) digestion at sites presumed to be between $C_{e^3}: C_{e^4}$ and $C_{e^3}: C_{e^2}$ (mouse IgE) or within C_{e^3} and between $C_{e^3}: C_{e^2}$ (rat IgE). The latter cleavage was most profoundly affected, the rate being sufficiently slow that the breakdown might actually have been of the small amount of IgE that had dissociated during the course of the experiment. These results clearly implicate a region close to the $C_{e^2}: C_{e^3}$ juncture on each epsilon chain as one that interacts with the receptor.

NEW RESULTS

Genetic Approaches Two groups have infected bacteria with plasmids bearing an insert of the cDNA that codes for all or most of the Fc region or the human epsilon chain (83, 84). The bacteria produced unglycosylated Fc fragments that bound to human mast cells or basophils with the requisite specificity. These results confirm previous data (with rodent IgE) that carbohydrate does not importantly contribute to the binding of IgE (85). The fragment isolated by Liu et al (84) is missing the NH₂-terminal one third of the C_e2 region, so this region is apparently also not required.

Both Kenten et al and Liu et al had to use rather harsh conditions to isolate and purify the epsilon fragment dimers. This is not a trivial matter for the following reason. Both groups indicate that it will now be possible to perform site-specific mutations and to study their effect on the binding to the receptor. Such mutations may, however, change the sensitivity to, or reversibility of, the denaturing conditions used to prepare the material. It will be difficult to disentangle losses in activity due to such effects from those due to alterations at the binding sites themselves.

Even if conditions could be found whereby the use of denaturants could be avoided, the underlying assumption of all such studies, i.e. that an exchange of a specific amino acid will have only local effects, is not universally true (86). It is likely that many mutants will have to be screened before an interpretable pattern emerges.

Physicochemical approaches Holowka & Baird and their colleagues have employed energy transfer techniques to assess the interaction of IgE with receptors on cells or on membrane vesicles (54, 70, 71, 87). They inserted acceptor probes into the bilayer via hydrophobic tails and measured the quenching of fluorescent donor probes chemically attached to various sites on IgE, or on antibodies to IgE, and of a fluorescent hapten in the combining sites. Energy transfer between probes on antibodies that bind at or near C_e1 and somewhere in C_e3 or C_e4 (88) was also measured. The quenching data can, with certain assumptions, be interpreted to yield an average distance between the donor and acceptor with an estimated accuracy of $\pm 20\%$.

Such studies yield only indirect information and require too lengthy an interpretive analysis to review here. The authors conclude that the IgE binds via only one face of the Fc region and bends at the $C_e 2: C_e 3$ interface. Bending at the analogous interface in IgM has been proposed, and this is also the principal locus of the limited segmental flexibility of IgM and IgE. It is, therefore, surprising that no substantial changes in the flexibility of IgE occur when it binds to the cell-bound receptor (89). More direct alternative approaches will be necessary to confirm the model of Holowka et al. It is, however, consistent with the observation that interactions occur well removed from the distal end of the Fc and that the terminal portions are not totally prevented from interacting with enzymes (47) or antibodies (88).

Studies with monoclonal antibodies Another way to identify the regions on IgE critical for binding to the receptor is to employ monoclonal antibodies. Baniyash and coworkers (90, 91) have described a monoclonal antibody "51.3," which binds to the Fc portion of mouse IgE and has some interesting properties. The antibody blocks the binding of IgE to RBL cells but only partially—55-65% (90). Nevertheless, this antibody reacts with cell-bound IgE, albeit to a lesser extent than to unbound IgE. When Fab fragments of the anti-IgE were prepared and the stoichiometry of their binding assessed, Baniyash et al (91) estimated that 3 mols Fab bound per mol IgE in solution and only 2 mols per mol with cell-bound IgE. These observations could be related. We suggest there may be two pairs of similar epitopes that this antibody recognizes. If the antibody binds to sites of one set (A) first, it

inhibits binding of antibody to the other set (B) but does not inhibit binding of IgE to the cell. Contrariwise, those molecules of IgE to which antibody binds at site B first are inhibited from binding to the receptor and have a reduced capacity to interact with the antibodies at site A. This could explain the partial inhibition of binding, a phenomenon based on a stochastic event, rather than on the heterogencity of receptors, as the authors suggest (90). Our proposal could also explain the decreased binding of the antibodies to cell-bound IgE. The B sites (above) are unavailable on cell-bound IgE, whereas the A sites would still react with antibody.

Differences in the reactivity of free and cell-bound IgE and the apparent discrepancy in the observation that antibody can inhibit binding but still react with cell-bound IgE, could also be explained by changes in the conformation of IgE when it binds, as noted above.

Each of the approaches described so far yields results that Other strategies are difficult to interpret unambiguously. It is appropriate therefore to consider other stratagems. One is to compare the sequences of IgE from different species with each other and with sequences of other isotypes of immunoglobulin. Given the partial cross-reactivity of mouse and human IgE with the corresponding heterologous receptors (above), it is difficult to know what to look for! Notably, the least divergent portion of the mouse and human epsilon chain is in $C_{\epsilon}4$ (92)—a region that is implicated to a lesser extent than C_e3 (above). It seems likely that comparative sequence analysis can at best provide a basis for deciding on which site-specific mutations it would be most profitable to focus (see above). We previously (6) suggested alternative approaches that still seem worth exploring by those interested in this area: (a) Use of cross-linking reagents and (b) modification of IgE in the presence and absence of the receptor. Although the work in analyzing the appropriate peptides will be tedious, the results are likely to be less ambiguous than those produced by most other methods.

AGGREGATION AS THE INITIATING SIGNAL

We shall not recount once more the oft-reviewed extensive evidence that aggregation of the receptors is the initiating signal in IgE-mediated release (6). Rather, we shall focus on newer studies that relate to several specific aspects of such aggregates.

Size of the Aggregates

Earlier studies had suggested that aggregates of IgE as small as a dimer might be sufficient to initiate release (93, 94) but the possibility that minor quantities of larger aggregates were in fact the critical stimuli could not be excluded. The quantitative analysis by Segal et al (95) appeared to settle the issue, since this showed that highly purified, covalently cross-linked dimers could indeed initiate release from rodent mast cells. Similarly, human basophils were shown to be stimulated by dimeric IgE (96). The water was only a little muddied when Fewtrell & Metzger (97) observed that with RBL cells, dimers were virtually inactive in the absence of D_2O (below), and even in its presence were considerably less effective than trimers, and the latter less than higher oligomers. Analogous studies have been performed by Menon et al (98) using a monoclonal anti-IgE (A2(88)) that at low concentrations forms dimers of IgE almost exclusively but which at higher concentrations can form larger aggregates (71). With this reagent, peritoneal mast cells show the same poor response to dimers as is shown by RBL cells, whereas with preformed dimers of IgE, Segal et al studying cutaneous mast cells (95) and Fewtrell & Metzger using peritoneal mast cells (97) found excellent responses. Because putatively similar cells may show substantial differences in their responsiveness to dimers (below), experiments with both types of reagents need to be performed with a single batch of cells in order to determine the basis of this variability.

The initial studies on human basophils yielded quantitatively less dramatic differences between dimers, trimers, and higher oligomers but the results were qualitatively similar to those reported on RBL cells (96). More recent studies by MacGlashan & Lichtenstein show a correlation between the "releasability" of cells and their ability to discriminate between dimers and higher oligomers, i.e. their ability to respond to dimers (99, 100). It is known that the peripheral blood basophils of 10–20% of donors fail to release when challenged with antigen or anti-IgE. Other donors respond to different degrees even when care is taken to compare cells that have equivalent quantities of bound IgE. MacGlashan & Lichtenstein find that cells that are more responsive in general also respond well to dimers, whereas those that respond sluggishly in general respond poorly to dimers but quite adequately to trimers (100).

A fundamental question about the interpretability of the studies with small oligomers of IgE is raised by a recent observation of Holowka & Baird's group. They showed that cell-bound small oligomers of IgE with a multiplicity < 6 slowly coalesce and form larger clusters containing 100s to 1000s of molecules (101). This raises the question of whether the concept of a "unit signal" being as small as a dimer of receptors must now be discarded. The implicit assumption of the original proposal (95) was that oligomers of IgE whose *maximum* size was well defined would induce aggregates of receptors, the multiplicity of which had a similarly well-defined upper limit. If this is not the case, then although it might still be true that a dimer could initiate the chain of events, the size of the mechanistically active aggregate

of receptors would remain uncertain. Holowka & Baird and their colleagues have provided data that suggest the original proposal is still likely to be correct. Allowing receptors occupied by small oligomers to coalesce into larger aggregates prior to initiating release by a temperature jump had no effect on either the magnitude or the kinetics of the subsequent degranulation (98). Thus, although it is difficult to rule it out completely, the coalescence of aggregated receptors into larger clusters does not seem to play an essential role, and with responsive cells, dimers of receptors appear to be capable of generating at least a modest or, in some cases, an optimal signal. Whether this signal is adequate to induce substantial release appears to be related to other factors, still undefined. Where the question has been examined, all the perturbations that appear to reflect early events (see below) exhibit the difference between stimulation by dimers and trimers, etc.

Number of Aggregates

Localized aggregation of receptors by reagents bound to beads induces only localized degranulation (102). Furthermore, all the quantitative analyses suggest that more than a single aggregate of receptors is necessary to get maximum degranulation. But these studies also indicate that only a few per cent of the total receptors need to be aggregated to observe substantial release (23, 97). Nevertheless, the dose response curves are relatively shallow, and per unit of release, progressively larger numbers of receptors must be engaged as maximal release is approached (97). There are insufficient data to assess the stage at which the relative refractoriness occurs, but it is likely to be an early one. For example, the breakdown of phosphatidyl inositols (PIs) can be studied on RBL cells (see below) using trimers of IgE, and the maximum number of receptors that could have been aggregated can be determined from the number of trimers that were bound. Detectable breakdown is observed when no more than ~ 100 receptors per cell could have been aggregated (103), but even though more and more receptors become aggregated, a proportional increase in breakdown of PI does not occur. It is likely that the progressive disproportionality is amplified by the process of desensitization (see below). In any case, until some of the fundamental biochemical phenomena in both activation and inactivation can be identified positively and studied independently, the relationship between the numbers of receptors aggregated and the amount of release probably cannot be studied rigorously. On the other hand, it is already clear that the maximum release of mediators attained is not limited by either the number of receptors aggregated nor, for example, by the amount of PI broken down. Thus, maximal (but incomplete) release is

obtained before either of the latter two phenomena have reached a maximum (103).

Mechanistic Role of Aggregates

In later sections, we review a variety of phenomena each of which has been reported as an early consequence of aggregation of the receptors. The role of the receptor has not been defined for any of these events. In this section we, therefore, consider some general aspects of this problem and review what progress has been made in its solution.

We previously indicated that it is useful to consider **INTRINSIC ACTIVITIES** two classes of possible mechanisms (6). Upon aggregation, the receptor itself may assume one or more functions, such as forming a channel for ions or carrying out an enzymatic activity. The first steps in testing for such intrinsic activities have been accomplished: Methods of purification have been devised that obviate the need for using ordinary denaturants (32), and the deleterious effects of the mild detergents necessary to solubilize the receptors can be minimized either by maintaining a low micellar detergent: lipid ratio or only submicellar concentrations of detergents throughout purification (30, 56). Uncovering such intrinsic activities presents several problems. First, one must decide for which activities to test. Such experiments may require a considerable effort, because in such analyses negative results mean nothing, and because the activity one is searching for may be rather specific. For example, it has been proposed that a serine protease is activated as an early consequence of aggregation (see below). This could be analogous to the mechanism of activation of C1 where C1r becomes a protease. However, C1s is virtually the only known substrate for this enzyme! Therefore, the protease activity of the receptor for IgE, if it exists, could be missed entirely without the appropriate substrate. Furthermore, the intrinsic activity sought for may require the receptor (and its substrate, if there is one) to be incorporated in a bilayer structure-possibly in a bilayer whose total concentration of proteins is similar to the native one. Some general aspects of this latter problem are discussed in Grasberger et al (104). So far no evidence for an intrinsic function of the receptor has been presented.

EXTRINSIC ACTIVITIES The receptor, like IgE, may have no intrinsic function, and a distal component may be the one activated by interaction with the aggregated receptor. We have termed this an *extrinsic function* of the receptor (6). There are a variety of ways to find evidence for such components. Methods such as radiation inactivation and measurement of rotational or translational diffusion have the advantage of being applicable

to intact systems—even living cells—but can give only very indirect information. Direct methods involve trying to isolate a complex composed of the receptor and the relevant molecule, by maintaining the interactions with the use of gentle procedures for purification or covalent cross-linking reagents. Currently two candidates exist for molecules that interact with the receptor (see below), though it is not known whether this interaction is due to some intrinsic action of the receptor upon them or simply to aggregation of the receptor per se.

INITIATION AND PERSISTENCE OF PERTURBATIONS We comment on one additional general aspect of the role of aggregation: that is, whether a particular perturbation, once initiated, can persist in the absence of aggregation of the receptor. Only the very late stages of internalization of the receptor show this property. Thus, whatever the mechanistic role of the aggregation may be, it, rather than some later step, appears to be the timedependent one for virtually all receptor-mediated events. However, there are the perturbations that, although initiated by and dependent upon aggregation throughout their own lifetime, appear not to persist throughout the lifetime of other aggregation-dependent steps (Table 2). The role of such phenomena is unclear. Whereas results with various inhibitors suggest that at least some of these perturbations play an essential role, they clearly

Perturbation	Initiated	Lifetime	Dependent on extracellular Ca ²⁺
Morphological changes	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
in plasma membrane	Very early	Throughout secretion	No
Immobilization of	-		
receptors	Very early	Throughout secretion	No
Internalization of			
receptors	Delayed	Throughout secretion	No
Activation of			
protease	Very early	Uncertain	No
Activation of methyl			
transferase	Very early	Briefa	Partial ^a
Rise in cAMP	Very early	Brief	No
Hydrolysis of PIs	Early	Throughout secretion	Yes ^b
Opening of channels			
for Ca ²⁺	Early	Throughout secretion	Yes

Table 2 Early perturbations stimulated by aggregating the receptor for IgE

* Refers to incorporation of counts into phospholipids.

^b See text. There are some data which suggest otherwise.

cannot simply be the initial step in a single linear sequence of events. They could, however, represent an essential, parallel stimulus.

EARLY EVENTS INITIATED BY THE RECEPTOR

Changes in Plasma Membrane and in Mobility and Distribution of Receptor

CHANGES IN THE PLASMA MEMBRANE Morphological changes in the plasma membrane of cells that were reacted with a variety of ligands have been documented in several systems (105–108). Similar events have recently been documented by Pfeiffer et al on RBL cells, after aggregation of receptorbound IgE (109). Prior to stimulation the surface of these cells shows numerous microvilli (109, 110), but within 30 sec after aggregating the cell-bound monomeric IgE, the surface becomes highly lamellar. If the aggregation is induced by a multivalent hapten-protein conjugate the original morphology of the membrane is restored within minutes after the addition of hapten. As little as 5 ng of antigen-a dose that produced maximal secretion but only after 30 min-produced maximal morphological changes in seconds (109). Other changes that occur equally rapidly include a dramatic spreading of the cells and increased areas of adhesion to the substrate. A generalized increase in fluid pinocytosis occurs somewhat more slowly. All these events can proceed in the absence of added Ca^{2+} in the medium—a medium in which exocytosis does not occur. Even in the presence of Ca²⁺, neither the morphological changes nor exocytosis occur if the cells are stimulated while in mitosis. This is true despite the fact that the internalization of the aggregated receptors (111) as well as the receptor mediated influx of Ca²⁺ (112), occurs normally.

CHANGES IN MOBILITY OF RECEPTORS Earlier studies using fluorescent labeling techniques and light microscopy, or ferritin-labeling techniques and electron microscopy (68, 113–119), showed that the diffusely distributed receptors for IgE, like many other membrane proteins, can be clustered with a suitable multivalent reagent. At least in those analyses that involved minimal perturbation of the cells (68), the involved receptors for IgE appeared to be independently mobile. Photobleaching techniques confirmed these observations and showed that the translational diffusion coefficient— 2×10^{-10} cm² s⁻¹ (117)—was similar to that found for other membrane proteins when these were studied with probes that did not aggregate them (120). Examination of the rotational dynamics and electrokinetic mobility of unliganded receptors and of receptors liganded with monomeric IgE has led to similar conclusions (120a, 120b).

Menon et al (98, 121) have extended such photobleaching studies on RBL

cells, using small preformed oligomers of IgE, as well as the "A₂" monoclonal anti-IgE antibody (88) which, as noted above, primarily forms dimers at low concentrations and larger aggregates only at high ratios of antibody to IgE. On a time-scale similar to that observed for the morphological changes in the plasma membrane, substantial decreases occurred in the recovery of fluorescence in the bleached areas-most likely due to immobilization of the receptors. This immobilization occurs in the absence of added Ca²⁺ in the medium and even at sharply reduced levels of cellular ATP. Dimers of IgE, which induce virtually no exocytosis in these cells, also do not induce immobilization. If D₂O is added, the cells do show a modest amount of release and a corresponding immobilization (121). Thus, a close correlation exists between the degree of immobilization of receptors, biochemical perturbations such as the influx of Ca²⁺, and the breakdown of phosphoinositides (see below), and secretion. Because all of the latter processes require added Ca²⁺ and normal levels of ATP, it is apparent that they cannot account for the immobilization. It is more difficult to prove the opposite, i.e. that the immobilization is a necessary antecedent for the other changes.

Suggestive data implicate an interaction of the aggregated receptors with cytoskeletal elements during immobilization. First, immobilization is not seen on the blebs of plasma membranes with which these investigators have recently worked (98). If anything, the mobility of unaggregated receptors on these blebs is increased, so that aggregation of receptors, which should proceed normally on them, appears, in and of itself, insufficient to explain the immobilization. Such blebs are, however, depleted of filimentous F-actin (122). In normal plasma membranes, a reversible attachment of aggregated receptors to actin has been implicated because of partial colocalization of fluorescently labeled clusters of IgE and phallacidin (see below). More direct evidence for such an interaction has also been obtained. If cells are reacted with a covalent cross-linking reagent prior to solubilization with detergent, the aggregated receptors remain in the detergent-insoluble pellet (26, 123)—a pellet which contains cytoskeletal elements.

The process by which aggregated receptors could become attached to cytoskeletal structures is unclear. Indirect evidence for an active process comes from the observation that phorbol esters can induce internalization of membrane proteins (124–28) including the receptor for IgE (K. Furuichi, C. Isersky, personal communication). The phorbol esters probably do aggregate the receptors directly. It is more plausible that they induce covalent changes in one or more cellular components involved in the interaction between the membrane protein and cytoskeletal components, either by activating protein kinase C (128) or by some other mechanism. Nevertheless, because the immobilization of the receptors for IgE (as well as

their coalescence and internalization; see below) is readily reversed by disaggregating them, it is likely that the normal (nondrug-induced) process is passive and based upon multivalent interactions.

Interaction with cytoskeletal components is also implicated in the clustering of aggregated receptors. As noted previously, Holowka & Baird and their colleagues (101) noted that when receptors are aggregated even with relatively small oligomers of IgE, patches containing thousands of receptors gradually form. Such clustering is not observed on the actin-depleted blebs, even when the latter are still attached to cells on which unblistered portions of membrane exhibit large-scale aggregation. These latter clusters appear to be enriched in actin, as assessed by staining with phallacidin (98).

INTERNALIZATION AND REEXPRESSION OF RECEPTORS

Effect of Monomeric IgE When the surface proteins of RBL cells are oxidatively iodinated, e.g. with ¹²⁵I, and the cells reacted with ¹³¹I-labeled IgE at various times thereafter, a fall in the ratio of ¹²⁵I to ¹³¹I is observed in the IgE-receptor complexes subsequently isolated (66, 129). Since any increase in the total number of IgE-binding sites is too small to account for the change in the ratio, the simplest interpretation is that labeled receptors are progressively degraded and replaced by new unlabeled receptors. Assuming such a mechanism, the half-life of the unliganded receptors has been calculated to be 8-12 hr (66, 129). If a similar experiment is conducted, but the cells are exposed to the IgE immediately after labeling and at the start of the incubation, the receptors liganded with IgE and the bound IgE are degraded more slowly. The latter finding agrees with the observation that in cells reacted with radiolabeled IgE and examined by electronmicroscopic autoradiography, the retained radioactivity is observed on the surface of the cell only (73). One explanation for all of these results is that whereas unliganded receptors are internalized and degraded, receptors liganded with IgE are not internalized. If so, then the binding of monomeric IgE has some significant effect on the receptor and on its interaction with other cellular constituents. An alternative explanation should be considered. This posits that the binding of IgE produces no significant change in the receptor; the liganded and vacant receptors alike are internalized and exposed to lysosomes. However, just as the receptor can protect bound IgE from being hydrolyzed by exogenous proteases (47), so the bound IgE can protect the receptor from being degraded (28). Such undegraded IgEreceptor complexes would then recycle to the plasma membrane. That receptor-IgE complexes once internalized can be reexpressed (see below) shows that such a pathway exists. The failure to observe internalized monomeric IgE-receptor complexes in the electronmicroscopic studies (73) could be explained quantitatively. At any instant in time only a small Annual Reviews

438 METZGER, ALCARAZ, HOHMAN ET AL

fraction of the total IgE bound to a normally cycling receptor might be in the interior, and thus it could escape detection.

That RBL cells incubated with IgE show an increase in total receptors (66, 129) could be related to the observation that basophils from individuals with high levels of serum IgE have increased numbers of receptors (130). Possibly, the normal mechanism by which the receptors/cell is controlled is simply a balance between degradation and biosynthesis, rather than a more elaborate counting mechanism.

Effect of oligomeric IgE If cells are reacted with preaggregated IgE, or the monomeric IgE on their surface is aggregated with an appropriate multivalent antigen, the receptors, the IgE, and, if present, the antigen are fairly rapidly internalized. This phenomenon has been examined in detail by Isersky and her collaborators (119, 131-135). Their principal findings are: (a) Dimers of IgE provide a sufficient stimulus for internalization. Even on RBL cells, where dimers induce little secretion (especially in the absence of D_2O and exhibit minimal immobilization (see above), the process proceeds expeditiously although not as rapidly as when trimers or higher oligomers are tested (119). (b) The internalized covalent oligomers and the receptors to which they are bound are not reexpressed (119). (c) The kinetics of internalization are similar on rat peritoneal mast cells and the RBL cells $(t_{1/2} 3-5 \text{ min})$, even though the rate of secretion by the mast cells is ~ 20-fold greater than that by RBL cells (131). (d) As is true of the morphological changes in the membrane and the immobilization of receptors described above, internalization proceeds as rapidly in the absence of added Ca²⁺ as in its presence (131). (e) The process is incomplete, with 40% or more of the IgE remaining on the surface (119, 131, 132). (f) A fraction of vacant receptors, or receptors liganded with monomeric IgE, transiently "coendocytose" when receptors aggregated with IgE are internalized (119). The cointernalization is not totally independent of added Ca²⁺, and several inhibitors of exocytosis ablate cointernalization of monomeric receptors without affecting internalization of aggregated ones (133). Peculiarly, the fractional coendocytosis is relatively insensitive to the ratio of monomeric to aggregated receptors. The process appears to be specific in that internationalization of monomeric IgE-receptor complexes is not observed even when the receptors for IgG on the same cells are extensively aggregated. These results suggest that at least a proportion of the monomeric receptors may interact with aggregated receptors of the same type (134). A similar conclusion was reached by the Ishizakas on the basis of quite different methods (118). The failure to observe such interactions when copatching or immobilization were examined (68, 98, 117) may have resulted from methods that were less sensitive and that therefore failed to detect

small amounts of such interactions. (g) Even at fairly late stages of internalization induced by a multivalent hapten-conjugate, the process can be reversed by addition of hapten (135). Thus, internalization, like so many other phenomena we shall review, is in large part maintained only so long as the receptors remain aggregated.

Since the morphological changes in the plasma Relationship to secretion membrane and the changes in mobility and distribution of the receptors are manifested in the absence of added Ca2+, they must be initiated independently of other early events, such as the influx of Ca²⁺ and the hydrolysis of the phosphatidyl inositides, which require added Ca²⁺ (see below). It is unclear, however, whether the former are parallel phenomena or early steps in the sequence leading to secretion. This question is difficult to explore because most methods provide average data for the entire population of receptors, whereas it is known that aggregation of only a tiny fraction of receptors is sufficient to obtain a near-maximal response of the cells (see above). One experimental finding-but only one-suggests that at least the internalization of the aggregated receptors is not required: When the surface IgE is aggregated by concanavalin A attached to large beads, localized degranulation is observed (102). A test of whether aggregated, internalized receptors are competent to induce secretion could be performed with an impermeant hapten.

Activation of Proteases

Over 20 years ago Austen & Brocklehurst reported that inhibitors and substrates of proteolytic enzymes inhibited secretion by lung mast cells from guinea pigs (136). This basic observation has been reproduced many times with a variety of mast cells, with basophils, and with RBL cells, and with many different inhibitors and substrates that interact with serine proteases (reviewed in 8). Some confusion arose because there appear to be two stages of secretion sensitive to such inhibitors, but it now appears clear that one of these is at an early step. Thus, all of the biochemical changes we describe in subsequent sections appear to be blocked by these inhibitors. Whether the inhibitors also block the morphological changes of the plasma membrane and the changes in mobility and distribution of the receptor that occur upon aggregation of the latter has not been reported. However, preliminary data on RBL cells (K. Furuichi, C. Isersky, unpublished results) suggest that internalization is not inhibited by doses of phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride that would be expected to block secretion.

The inhibitors of proteases are only effective if they are present during the aggregation of the receptors. If the cells are reacted with the inhibitors and washed prior to stimulation, the receptor-mediated changes occur nor-

Annual Reviews

440 METZGER, ALCARAZ, HOHMAN ET AL

mally. This implies that aggregation of the receptors is required to activate a protease which then becomes sensitive to the inhibitor. This protease has been dubbed E^{r} (137). Evidence exists for an analogous entity (E^{d}) the receptor-mediated activation of which is required for receptor-induced desensitization (see below) (137, 138). The latter enzyme presumably has a lower K₁ for the inhibitors than E^r, since low doses of inhibitors (10-40 nM in mouse mast cells) can block desensitization (induced by aggregating receptors in the absence of Ca^{2+}) without blocking the release that occurs when Ca^{2+} is subsequently restored (137, 138). This also indicates that E^{d} can be activated in the absence of Ca²⁺. Similarly, activation of E^r appears to be Ca^{2+} independent. Thus, if the receptors are aggregated in the absence of Ca^{2+} and in the presence of high doses $(10^{-4}-10^{-3} \text{ M})$ of inhibitor and the cells then washed prior to addition of Ca²⁺, the expected secretion is not observed. Presumably, the receptor-activated E^d and E^r were both inactivated by the inhibitors during the incubation in the Ca²⁺free medium. These results are consistent with receptor-mediated activation of two discrete proteases as an early event.

That exogenously added proteases can induce Ca^{2+} -dependent release (139 and references therein) is consistent with such a model, but of course this result can also be explained otherwise. Although it would be interesting to know if exogenous proteases also initiate some of the biochemical changes induced by aggregation of the receptors for IgE, it is difficult to conceive how their use can provide insight into the nature of the putative endogenous enzyme(s). The substantial concentrations of inhibitors that are required to inhibit E^r (see above) make it impractical to use affinitylabeling techniques with radioactive inhibitors to try to identify the enzyme, although this approach might work for E^d. Identifying the molecular basis for the phenomenological observations is a major experimental challenge.

Activation of Methyltransferases

Activation of methyltransferases as an essential step in IgE-mediated secretion by mast cells was first reported by Hirata & Axelrod (140). We discuss these and related studies in some detail, first because it has been proposed that methylation may be one of the earliest steps in secretion, and second because of the controversy that surrounds these findings. To evaluate the experimental data, the metabolic pathways must be understood and some of the methodological problems in exploring them appreciated. We divide our discussion into two sections. We first consider the evidence that methyl transferases are activated by the receptor. We then analyze the evidence that the relevant substrates are phospholipids.

GENERAL ASPECTS Methylation reactions control many biochemical pathways. Discrete methyltransferases catalyze the transfer of a methyl group to either phospho- or neutral lipids, to proteins, or to DNA, or RNA (t, r, and m) (141, 142). These modifications are thought to be important in cellular functions such as chemotaxis, transport, and gene expression. Despite the wide range of substrates, all methyl transfer enzymes use s-adenosylmethionine (AdoMet) as the methyl donor and all are competitively inhibited by s-adenosylhomocysteine (AdoHcy), the demethylated product of AdoMet (Figure 2). It should be noted, however, that AdoMet is also a substrate for AdoMet decarboxylase (143) and interacts with a variety of other proteins (reviewed in 141).

Since the K_1 for AdoHcy of various transmethylases vary over a 1000fold range (144), the activity of a particular enzyme will depend on the relative concentrations of AdoHcy and AdoMet, and on the ratio of its K_m for AdoMet to its K_1 for AdoHcy. Certain of these enzymes may thus be regulated by the intracellular concentration of AdoHcy via AdoHcy hydrolase.

The latter enzyme is the only one that metabolizes AdoHcy in eukaryotic cells. It cleaves AdoHcy into adenosine and homocysteine (Figure 2)—a hydrolysis that is readily reversible. In fact, the equilibrium constant probably favors synthesis, but under normal conditions adenosine is rapidly metabolized by adenosine deaminase and the AdoHcy hydrolase reaction is pulled towards hydrolysis.

Many investigators use pharmacological agents to raise the intracellular levels of AdoHcy, in order to establish that a methylation reaction is involved in a particular cellular function. Addition of adenosine plus homocysteine increases AdoHcy by driving AdoHcy hydrolase in the synthetic direction. This effect can be potentiated and prolonged by



Figure 2 Enzymes that control methyl transferase reactions.

Annual Reviews

442 METZGER, ALCARAZ, HOHMAN ET AL

inhibitors of adenosine deaminase. In addition, there are analogues of adenosine and AdoHcy that inhibit AdoHcy hydrolase and cause an elevation of AdoHcy. Several adenosine analogues are substrates for AdoHcy hydrolase. Administering these compounds, along with homocysteine, or an analogue thereof, results in the buildup of analogues of AdoHcy that also inhibit transmethylases (141, 142).

Inhibitors of methyltransferases block IgE-EFFECTS OF INHIBITORS mediated secretion by a variety of mast cells as well as by RBL cells (8, 145). Evidence that early receptor-mediated events are affected is based on the concomitant inhibition of (a) stimulated methylation of phospholipids, (b) the early rise in cAMP, (c) the influx of 45 Ca, and (d) an absence of an effect on histamine release stimulated by Ca^{2+} ionophores (146). Numerous studies of the effects of inhibitors of methylation have been reported. For example, human lung mast cells were incubated with 3-deaza-adenosine and homocysteine (thiolactone (147). These should induce AdoHcy hydrolase to synthesize 3-deaza-adenosine-homocysteine, an inhibitor of methyltransferases. That action on the latter was responsible for the observed inhibition of the cellular activities was strongly supported by the counter-inhibitory action of AdoMet (148, 149). Although higher doses of the inhibitors were required to diminish histamine release than to diminish the rise in cAMP and the influx of ⁴⁵Ca (Figure 6 in 147), this can be easily rationalized. Only a fraction of the receptors must be aggregated to produce maximal secretion (see above), whereas at least some of the biochemical perturbations that are stimulated by the receptors are directly proportional to the number of aggregates formed (see below). Thus, under conditions where most of the receptors are aggregated, it is likely that a receptor-mediated early event would have to be substantially inhibited before a decrease in secretion was evident. Studies on RBL cells have similarly shown that inhibitors of methyltransferases cause concomitant inhibition of influx of ⁴⁵Ca and of secretion (150).

Further evidence that the action of the inhibitors of methyltransferase is specific comes from studies of their effect on desensitization, which we discuss more fully below. That the inhibitors can actually prevent inactivation of the cells under conditions where secretion by untreated cells is inhibited (137) is reassuring.

If the aggregation of receptors leads to activation of methyltransferases, one might be able to observe this indirectly by finding some decrease in their substrate, AdoMet. The published data on such experiments are contradictory. Moore et al failed to observe any decrease in RBL cells (151), whereas Ishizaka et al (152) saw a 12-fold drop in incorporated radioactive AdoMet with mast cells. The latter is rather surprising since it implies that upon triggering of the receptors for IgE, the cells metabolized over 90% of their pool of AdoMet in ~ 15 sec!

METHYLATION OF PHOSPHOLIPIDS Hirata et al first reported that bridging the cell-bound IgE on mast cells with concanavalin A promoted methylation of phospholipids (153). This group investigated the phospholipid methyltransferases in several systems. From studies on red blood cells, they proposed that methyltransferase I, in the inner leaflet of the membrane, monomethylated phosphatidylethanolamine which, upon flipping to the outer leaflet, was further methylated by a methyltransferase II located there (154). Although this pathway is a physiologically minor one for generating phosphatidylcholine, they proposed that activation of these enzymes is a critical event in the stimulation of cells by several different receptors (140).

Before reviewing the findings on mast cells and RBL cells, two methodological points should be stressed. Virtually all the studies where changes in methylation of phospholipids have been claimed involve simply the measurement of chloroform extractable counts from cells whose AdoMet pool has been labeled by incubation in [methyl³H] methionine. Although it has been stated that the phospholipids in the chloroform phase showed "a marked" incorporation of radioactive methyl groups (152), the fraction of the radioactivity in such extracts is not regularly assessed. Moore et al recently showed that as little as 30% of such counts may be associated with phospholipid, the remainder being in undefined moieties (151). It should also be noted that in experiments with inhibitors, only a single time point is routinely reported so that one cannot determine whether incorporation of methyl groups into chloroform-soluble moieties was reduced or simply slowed.

Ishizaka and her colleagues regularly observe incorporation in mast cells whose receptors for IgE have been aggregated in a variety of ways (8). Recently they showed that interrupting the aggregation diminished the incorporation (149), but a dose response curve relating the number of receptors aggregated to the extent of incorporation has never been reported.

The time course of incorporation is curious. It begins promptly, peaks at 15 sec after addition of stimulant and returns virtually to baseline in 30 sec to 2 min. Since their earlier data showed rapid marked depletion of radioactive AdoMet (above), one can rationalize a failure to see a further rise in radioactivity, but the decline suggests virtually immediate breakdown of the chloroform-soluble moieties. There is nothing in the current models that suggests a mechanism or role for this rapid change. If the radioactively labeled AdoMet is rapidly metabolized, this does not of course mean that there is a net change in total cellular AdoMet since this
might be continuously replenished. If so, then similarly any methylated products derived from the newly synthesized AdoMet would be unlabeled. Therefore, these experiments are not informative about any net changes in phospholipids as a consequence of aggregation of the receptors. In analogous experiments on RBL cells, Crews et al presented similar results, although the kinetics of incorporation, of 45 Ca uptake and of secretion were all substantially slower (150). Using nominally the same line of cells, Moore et al (151) failed to observe stimulated incorporation of methyl groups, although IgE-mediated influx of 45 Ca²⁺, release of arachidonic acid, breakdown of PIs (see below), and secretion were substantial. They used conditions that gave optimal incorporation of [methyl³H] methionine into AdoMet but observed no enhanced incorporation of counts into individual phospholipids as assessed by high pressure liquid chromatography. As already noted, they also failed to see any enhanced metabolism of AdoMet.

The basis for this discrepancy is unclear. Clearly, it is more reliable to quantitate changes in the specific phospholipids directly than to rely simply on counts extracted in the chloroform phase. It would also be useful to see if the differences in the specific methods used were important (cf 150, 151). Finally, it is regrettable that in the study by Moore et al, the effects of inhibitors were not tested since, as we emphasize here, the question of whether methyltransferases are involved and if so, which substrates they modify, are separate issues.

Ishizaka tried to define more precisely which of the phospholipid methyltransferases were involved (148) by exploiting the finding of Hirata & Axelrod that transferase I requires Mg^{2+} but not Ca^{2+} (155). Ishizaka reported that when mast cells were incubated in the presence of Mg^{2+} and EGTA, methyl groups were incorporated only into phosphatidylethanolamine as expected. She also observed that receptor-mediated incorporation of ³²P into phosphatidic acid, phosphatidylcholine, and phosphatidylinositol was unabated. It should be noted that this is the first report to claim that inhibitors of methyltransferases such as 3-deaza-adenosine inhibit receptor-mediated breakdown of PIs.

If an early consequence of aggregating the receptor for IgE is activation of phospholipid methyltransferases, it might be expected that this could be observed with preparations of plasma membranes. Positive results have been reported for membrane preparations from rat mast cells (156) but are difficult to evaluate. First, the results are reported in dpm, whereas comparable experiments on mast cells are reported in pmol, and there is insufficient information to convert one unit into the other. Second, the incorporation by the intact cells was measured at 15 sec as usual, whereas that by the membranes was determined at 60 min. Thus, it remains to be proven that such preparations show a significant amount of activity relative to intact cells.

McGivney et al reported an innovative approach to this subject (157). They treated RBL cells with a powerful mutagen and selected clones grown from the small number of surviving cells which (a) bound IgE, (b) failed to secrete in response to aggregation of cell-bound IgE, (c) did secrete in response to ionophore, and (d) were deficient in either phospholipid methyltransferase I or II. When a clone missing enzyme I was fused with one missing enzyme II, IgE-mediated secretion was partially restored. Their strategy is modeled on one used to select specific bacterial mutants. However, with bacteria, specific metabolic intermediates can be used to growth-select appropriate auxotrophs. This could not be done with the mutagenized RBL cells, so the number of genes mutated in the chosen variants is indeterminate. Many complementation studies would have to be performed to demonstrate that it was loss of the phospholipid methyl transferases that was the only relevant variable.

After reviewing the published data we conclude that the APPRAISAL evidence for involvement of methyltransferases—evidence derived principally from studies with inhibitors—is more solid than the evidence that phospholipids are the relevant substrates. That no increase in methylation of bulk cellular proteins (and polynucleotides) has been observed (150, 152) could simply reflect inadequate sensitivity or unrecognized degradation. As noted above, even the incorporation into chloroform-soluble moieties is relatively transient. It is also worth noting that whereas the results with inhibitors suggest that methyltransferases are involved in early steps that precede the rise in intracellular Ca²⁺, the methylation of phospholipids could involve much later steps, unless it can be proven that lipids are the only substrates on which the stimulated methyltransferases are acting. In the end, proof for the role of methyltransferases will have to await information about what their activation accomplishes in molecular terms. There are no data whatsoever on this matter.

Activation of Adenylate Cyclase

PRINCIPAL FINDINGS Aggregation of the receptor on mast cells initiates a rapid rise in cAMP (8). The nucleotide increases to a maximum in less than 30 sec and returns to basal levels in ~ 2 min. The rise in cAMP begins a little later than the stimulated incorporation of methyl groups (see above), and despite earlier reports to the contrary (158), recent studies show that it can be blocked by inhibitors of methyl transferases (8). Since the rise in cAMP occurs in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺ (137) and prior to the stimulated uptake of ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$ (seen in the presence of Ca²⁺) (148), it appears to be an

early event initiated by aggregation of the receptors. As with other receptormediated events, the apparent stimulation of adenylate cyclase is blocked by protease inhibitors (8). Indirect evidence for a receptor-mediated increase in cellular cAMP has also been obtained by demonstrating increased levels of cAMP-activated protein kinases (159, 160).

Since adenylate cyclase is a plasma membrane protein, one anticipates that the receptor-mediated stimulation of this enzyme should also be observable on isolated membranes. Although positive results have been claimed (156), the stimulation appeared to be substantially less than that observed on intact cells. For the membranes, the rise in cAMP took ~ 60 min to reach a maximum (cf above), and we calculate that, per cell equivalent, the stimulation of the cyclase in the membranes was only $\sim 2 \times 10^{-5}$ of that observed in intact cells! Even if we correct for the fact that binding of IgE to the membranes was only 0.3% of that expected for intact mast cells, the recovery of activity was only $\sim 0.6\%$.

SIGNIFICANCE The significance of the apparent stimulation of adenylate cyclase is unknown. That no rise in cAMP is seen in receptor-mediated secretion from RBL cells (145) suggests that the rise observed in mast cells may be incidental rather than essential. Possibly, it is related to receptormediated inactivation (desensitization) (below), since mast cells are much more readily desensitized than RBL cells. Furthermore, when intracellular cAMP is increased artificially, secretion of mediators is frequently inhibited rather than enhanced, although discrepant results have been reported (161). Perhaps the rise in cAMP represents simply a side effect of the interaction between the receptor and GTP-binding regulatory proteins—an interaction that has been proposed to mediate receptor-initiated activation of phospholipase C (see below). Studies analogous to those with inhibitors of methyl transferases that have strengthened the case for the importance of those enzymes (see above) would be useful for evaluating the significance of the stimulation of adenylate cyclase.

Breakdown of Phosphatidyl Inositides (PIs)

The breakdown of PIs in calcium-dependent activation of cellular events by membrane receptors is receiving increasing attention (162–164). After outlining the elements of this system, we will briefly describe older data on mast cells and then focus on newer studies on RBL cells.

METABOLISM OF PIs Phosphatidyl inositol (PI) and its phosporylated derivatives phosphatidyl inositol-4-phosphate (PIP) and phosphatidyl inositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) are ubiquitous components of eukaryotic membranes; in mammalian cells they constitute 5–7% (PI), 1% (PIP), and 0.4% (PIP₂) of the total phospholipids (164). PI is synthesized from the

glycerol backbone in the endoplasmic reticulum, from which it is transferred to the plasma membrane. Because the PI kinases as well as other relevant enzymes appear in the cytoplasm (as well as on membranes), it is assumed that the PIs are chiefly localized in the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane (165, 166).

In some instances (167) the receptor-mediated release of the inositide moiety can be catalyzed by a phospholipase D (which, therefore, also generates phosphatidic acid), but in most systems it is phospholipase C (which generates diacyl glycerol and inositol phosphates) whose action is enhanced. Soluble cytoplasmic forms of the latter enzyme have been isolated from liver and from sheep seminal vesicles (168, 169). The enzymes from the latter show greater activity towards PIP and PIP₂, when these lipids are presented in vesicles; and the vesicles hydrolyze them at submicromolar concentrations of Ca²⁺ (170). Whether membrane-bound phospholipase C activity (171–173) represents a distinct entity is uncertain. It is also unclear whether the role of receptors in initiating breakdown of the PIs is to activate a membrane-bound enzyme, to recruit cytoplasmic enzyme to the membrane, or simply to mobilize membrane PIs making them more susceptible to hydrolysis.

Despite the ability of variations in Ca^{2+} concentrations to modulate the activity of phospholipase C (170, 174, 175), current models of receptor action postulate that this pathway is activated directly. Receptors are thought to stimulate the enzyme—possibly through an intermediary GTP-binding regulatory protein (below)—releasing inositol phosphates that in turn release Ca^{2+} from intracellular stores (163).

OLDER REPORTS ON MAST CELLS Early studies reported turnover of PI as a consequence of aggregating receptors for IgE on mast cells on the basis of an enhanced incorporation of ³²P and/or ³H-inositol into PI, phosphatidyl choline, and phosphatidic acid (176-178). The dose response curve of release of histamine and incorporation of ³²P into these lipids correlated well. However, when stimulation was performed in the absence of Ca^{2+} . incorporation of ³²P and ³H-inositol into PI persisted whereas secretion did not occur. These studies have methodological drawbacks that were common to a number of early reports in this field: (a) The techniques for either extracting or separating the lipids did not permit one to visualize the inositol polyphosphates (179) and (b) brief preincubation with the radioactive label (³²P or ³H-inositol) and measurements of the lipids after rather lengthy stimulation with the agonist prevented direct observation of the initial stages in the enhanced breakdown. In mast cells the breakdown of the PIs is initiated 5 to 30 sec after activation, and 1 to 2 min later the resynthesized lipids return to their baseline values, increasing further after

longer incubations (180, 181). Short incubation times are particularly important for observing the rapid hydrolysis of the inositol polyphosphates, especially when this is assessed by quantitating the lipids rather than the water-soluble breakdown products. Thus, an enhanced phosphorylation of diacyl glycerol (to phosphatidic acid) is observed in mast cells within 8 sec after activation, whereas labeling of PI and phosphatidyl choline starts only after two min (177).

STUDIES ON RBL CELLS

Correlation with aggregation of the receptors Activation of RBL cells by aggregating the bound IgE with an appropriate antigen increases the level of the inositol phosphates within 10 to 40 sec (182). Experiments with preformed oligomers of IgE showed an excellent correlation between the amount of oligomer bound (and, therefore, of receptors aggregated) and the rise in the inositol phosphates (103). Larger oligomers were more effective than trimers, and trimers much more than dimers-exactly what was observed when secretion and rises in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ were measured (see below). Similarly, the effectiveness of all of the oligomers was enhanced by D_2O . As was true for the rise in intracellular Ca²⁺, doses of oligomers above those necessary to achieve maximal secretion further enhanced the breakdown of PIs. Thus, the failure to obtain 100% release of mediators cannot be ascribed to limitations of the metabolism of PIs. Finally, it is noteworthy that-again as was true for the rise in [Ca²⁺]_i-doses of trimer and larger oligomers, necessary to achieve maximal secretion, led to equivalent breakdown of the PIs. Interrupting the aggregation of the receptors promptly halts several receptor-initiated phenomena including secretion, but such protocols have not yet been applied with respect to turnover of PIs.

Characteristics of breakdown products After stimulation, RBL cells exhibit an initial rapid rise in IP₂, followed by a smaller increase in IP₃. Both of the latter reach a plateau value at about 10 to 15 min, whereas the rise in IP, which begins at about the same time as the rise in IP₃, continues virtually linearly for over 20 min (Figure 1 in 182). Since the polyphosphoinositides are present in much smaller amounts than PI (the ratio is about 1:1:20 in RBL cells for PIP₂, PIP, and PI, respectively), it is apparent that there is a substantial preferential breakdown of PIP₂ and PIP. However, it is not clear whether the IP is generated exclusively from the action of phosphatases on IP₃ and IP₂ (as is the case in some systems (183)), or whether it also results from direct breakdown of PI. If the latter is not the case, then only continuous synthesis of PIP and PIP₂ can account for the amount of IP that is generated. Possibly the inhibition observed when the cells are depleted of ATP (184) is due to reduced synthesis of PIP and PIP₂.

In mast cells PIP also decreases, reaching a minimum 5 sec after stimulation and thereafter increasing (apparently at the expense of PI) back to baseline values at about 30 sec (181). In those studies both PIP and PI reached levels higher than those prior to stimulation at 1 and 2 min respectively. No substantial changes in PIP₂ were noted.

Dependence on Extracellular Ca^{2+} The breakdown of PIs initiated by aggregating the receptors for IgE on RBL cells is dependent upon adequate extracellular Ca²⁺, in apparent contradiction to the situation observed in mast cells (see above). It is possible that the results on mast cells were amplified by a failure to reach isotopic equilibrium during the short incubations employed. The apparent synthesis of PIs may have been relatively minor and cannot be assumed to reflect accurately the extent of breakdown of the PIs. In RBL cells the variation in breakdown as a function of external Ca²⁺ parallels exactly the variation in the rise of intracellular Ca^{2+} and secretion (182). However, ions such as La^{3+} and Zn^{2+} that inhibit the rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and secretion [presumably by blocking the passage of Ca²⁺ through receptor-induced channels (see below)] do not block receptor-mediated stimulation of breakdown of PL Since under these circumstances the IP₃ generated should release Ca²⁺ from internal stores, it is curious that no change in quin-2 fluorescence was detected (182). Raising the intracellular Ca^{2+} directly with ionophores does not in itself substantially stimulate hydrolysis of PIs.

ROLE OF GTP-BINDING PROTEINS We have already noted that in some systems a GTP-binding regulatory protein has been postulated to serve as a go-between from the activated receptor to the phospholipase C, in analogy to the role such proteins play in receptor-mediated activation of adenylate cyclase (185–188). The evidence is based partly on the effect of GTP or its nonhydrolyzable analogues and partly on the use of toxins such as pertusis, at least one of those actions is on the inhibitory GTP-binding protein N_i . Although effects of both types of reagents have been noted on mast cells, their site of action is by no means certain (189–191).

Pertussis toxin has been reported to inhibit passive cutaneous anaphylaxis in the rat and to inhibit partially IgE-mediated release of histamine from peritoneal rat mast cells in vitro (192). We have seen no effect of the toxin on IgE-mediated turnover of PIs or on secretion from RBL cells, even though ADP-ribosylation of a 41 kd protein was documented (unpublished observations in collaboration with J. Moss). The effect of the toxin on breakdown of PIs mediated by the receptor for IgE has not been reported for mast cells. The GTP analogue, Gpp(NH)p, introduced into transiently permeabilized mast cells, causes secretion in the presence of Ca^{2+} , and this reaction is inhibited by neomycin (thought to act on PIs) (179). However, these findings are insufficient to prove the involvement of a GTP-binding

regulatory protein in the breakdown of PIs induced by the receptor for IgE.

We have explored the possibility that the receptor itself might be a member of the family of the GTP-binding regulatory proteins, since there are some obvious similarities between the subunit structure of the receptor and these proteins (185). Comparative peptide-mapping data and our initial analyses of the amino acid composition of the β subunit suggest no such relationship. Nor have we seen consistently positive results on Western blots using antibodies (193) that react with the β chain common to all GTPbinding proteins (J.-P. Kinet, H. Metzger, unpublished observations).

SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS The special feature of the receptorinduced breakdown of PI in RBL cells (but less clearly on mast cells) is its dependence on extracellular Ca²⁺-a dependence not observed in several other systems. Since the evidence is against the stimulation of breakdown being initiated (or even requiring) a rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ (see below), the high concentration of extracellular Ca²⁺ that is required $[K_m \sim 0.4 \text{ mM (192)}]$ must be for an earlier step. The receptor-induced formation of ion channels occurs even in the absence of Ca^{2+} , but the specificity of such channels for Ca²⁺ requires concentrations of extracellular Ca^{2+} similar to those required to initiate breakdown of PIs (see below). If these observations are related, then either these latter phenomena share a common Ca²⁺-dependent antecedent step or one of them precedes the other. If the breakdown of PIs is a necessary antecedent for the initiation of channels specific for Ca²⁺, this would provide a ready explanation for the existence of the PI pathway in this system.

It should be emphasized that there is still no evidence that hydrolysis of PIs plays a significant role in the cellular functions stimulated by the receptor for IgE. The lack of specific inhibitors of this system forecloses one obvious approach to this question. One substance that does inhibit receptor-induced breakdown of PIs and the rise in cytosolic Ca²⁺ completely (but inhibits secretion only partially) is phorbol myristic acetate (194; M. Beaven, personal communication). This is interesting because this substance stimulates protein kinase C, an enzyme that is also activated by a metabolite of PI (and other phospholipids): diacylglyceride. Whether the receptor-mediated breakdown of PI secondarily stimulates protein kinase C, and how this may relate to other receptor-mediated secretory events, are under investigation.

It will ultimately be important to reconstitute the receptor-mediated hydrolysis of PIs using purified components. As a step in that direction, the demonstration of receptor-mediated breakdown on isolated plasma membranes is important. Although a variety of preparations of such membranes from RBL cells contain phospholipase C activity, we have not observed stimulation of the enzyme when the receptors are aggregated, even after readdition of cytoplasmic components. Indeed, cells simply permeabilized (with saponin), as gently as possible, lose their responsiveness even though the cytoplasmic contents have not been aspirated from the sample. In experiments on cytoplasmic phospholipase C, the hydrolysis of the PIs is markedly affected by the other phospholipids present in the mixture and by deoxycholate (174, 175). Similarly we and others (195) have found that hydrolysis of PIs in intact cells is exquisitely sensitive to low concentrations of organic solvents. It appears that the topological relationships between the proteins and lipids are critical in these reactions.

Increase in Intracellular Ca²⁺

Since the observations of Mongar & Schild (197), it has **OLDER STUDIES (196)** been repeatedly shown that mM concentrations of extracellular calcium are required for optimal receptor-mediated secretion. Because maneuvers that directly raise the intracellular Ca^{2+} induce secretion (198-202), it is reasonable to postulate that the receptors for IgE initiate a transfer of calcium ions from outside the cell to the inside. Aggregation of receptors induces an enhanced uptake of ⁴⁵C²⁺ (150, 203), which supports this proposal. Although this apparently enhanced uptake could be due to a stimulated decrease in efflux, direct assessment of this with RBL cells showed that efflux actually was stimulated, not diminished (204). The enhanced uptake of ⁴⁵Ca²⁺ could also result simply from an enhanced exchange across the membrane without a net increase in cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} , and this possibility cannot be excluded by such studies. Recent investigations have more directly demonstrated a net rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ and provided evidence that this occurs owing to the receptor-induced opening of ion channels in the plasma membrane.

MEASUREMENTS OF $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ The development of the fluorescent tetracarboxylate probe quin-2 by Tsien (205) has permitted rather simple quantitation of intracellular Ca²⁺, and a detailed examination using this approach with RBL cells has been performed by a group in Cambridge, United Kingdom (151, 182, 206). Measurements on unstimulated cells showed the intracellular concentration of Ca²⁺ to be 104 ± 5 nM, and over brief periods this was essentially independent of extracellular Ca²⁺ in the range 0.05 to 1.0 mM. At very low concentrations of extracellular Ca²⁺ in the range 0.05 to 1.0 mM. At very low concentrations of extracellular Ca²⁺ (<5 μ M) obtained by EDTA, the [Ca²⁺]_i progressively decreased, the rate of efflux being ~60 amol ions/cell/min; adding back Ca²⁺ to the medium caused a corresponding rate of uptake. This dynamic balance of > 3.6 × 10⁷ ions/cell/min, which maintains an intracellular CATP.

Upon aggregation of the cell-bound IgE with antigen (ovalbumin), or with concanavalin A, a prompt increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ was observed at rates greater than 1 fmol/cell/min under maximal stimulation. This is greater by a factor of two than the rate that can be calculated from the ⁴⁵Ca measurements of Crews et al on RBL cells (150). Intracellular concentrations up to 12-fold higher than the resting concentrations were observed by Beaven et al (206). The essential features of receptor-mediated increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ were these: (a) The increase was only observed at $[Ca^{2+}]_0 >$ 50 μ M. Whereas the normal influx pathway appeared to saturate at $[Ca^{2+}]_0 > 0.1 \text{ mM}$, the pathway stimulated by the receptors was saturated only at 10-fold higher concentrations, with an estimated $K_m \sim 0.4$ mM. In studies on rat mast cells, White et al (207) observed an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ upon aggregation of receptors even in the presence of EGTA. However, in those studies the cells were exposed to 100 μ M quin-2 (cf 206), a concentration at which there is evidence of cell cytotoxicity (151). This seriously complicates the interpretability of that study. (b) The rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ was directly related to $[Ca^{2+}]_0$ (206). (c) After an initial rapid rise, the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ showed only a slow decrease as long as the cross-linking of the receptors was maintained. When aggregation of the receptors was disrupted, there was a rapid decrease similar to the decrease observed by addition of lanthanide ions or EDTA. (d) The enhanced transport of Ca^{2+} into the cell required cellular ATP levels well above those required for the transport of Ca²⁺ into unstimulated cells (see above).

These studies were recently extended in experiments employing covalent oligomers of IgE (103). Such oligomers allow one to vary both the total number of receptors aggregated and the multiplicity of the individual aggregates that form more rigorously than can be accomplished either with antigen or with anti-IgE antibodies. The new studies by Maeyama et al (103) document the relationship between the aggregation of receptors and rises in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. They also show that the enhanced effectiveness of larger oligomers as inducers of secretion is mirrored by the enhanced increases in the intracellular Ca that they induce. At the higher doses of the larger oligomers, more receptors become aggregated than appear to be necessary to generate the maximal amount of secretion. It is noteworthy that in the studies of Maeyama et al the maximal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ continues to increase until doses of IgE are reached that saturate the receptors. This differs from the release of histamine but is similar to the hydrolysis of PIs (see above). These findings suggest that the maximal amount of secretion is not limited as a consequence of the mechanism that generates the rise in cellular Ca^{2+} . Similar to all other receptor-mediated events that have been examined so far, D_2O substantially enhanced the uptake of Ca^{2+} (103).

The relatively low extinction coefficient (< 5000) and quantum yield (0.03

to 0.14) of quin2 require that loadings of several tenths of millimolar or more (internal concentration) are necessary to overcome cellular autofluorescence. Such concentrations may perturb cells [e.g. mast cells (207)], buffer transient changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, and may have other undesirable side effects (208). A new generation of indicators (208) have 30-fold brighter fluorescence, exhibit a shift in wavelength (not just an increase in intensity) when they bind Ca²⁺, and have an increased selectivity for Ca²⁺. Their development should substantially improve the usefulness of this approach.

DEPOLARIZATION OF PLASMA MEMBRANE POTENTIAL Evidence for a receptor-mediated opening of a channel for Ca²⁺ through the plasma membrane has been sought, using the tetraphenylphosphonium cation as a probe. Equilibration of this ion between the medium and the interior of cells is thought to reflect a combination of the potential difference $(\Delta \psi)$ across the plasma and mitochondrial membranes (209, 210). The formation of channels through the plasma membrane that allows the entrance of positive ions diminishes $\Delta \psi$, and phosphonium ions are released into the medium to an extent governed by the Nernst equation: $\Delta \psi = -(RT/F) \ln [(\text{probe}_{in})/(\text{probe}_{out})]$. Here R is the gas constant, T, the absolute temperature, and F is Faraday's constant. Experimentally, the change in potential can be indirectly assessed by measuring the decrease in cell-associated tritiated phosphonium ions.

Two groups used this approach on RBL cells stimulated with either anti-IgE (211–213) or an appropriate multivalent hapten-conjugate (211). Both groups observed slow (\sim 30 min) equilibration of the probe, which makes kinetic experiments (212) difficult to interpret. Upon aggregation of the receptor-bound IgE, partial release of the phosphonium ions was observed. Addition of hapten, which did not affect release induced by anti-IgE, led to prompt reuptake of the ions (211).

The results of these studies differed in two important respects. In order to assess the role of the plasma membrane in the receptor-induced effects, both groups sought to eliminate the influence of the mitochondria. Sagi-Eisenberg & Pecht (213) used the protonophore carbonyl-cyanide-p-trifluomethoxy phenyl hydrazone; they observed a 50% drop in the potential of unstimulated cells and little change after aggregation of the receptors. They, therefore, concluded that the changes observed on unpoisoned cells did *not* reflect changes in the plasma membrane, but rather reflected uptake of Ca²⁺ by the mitochondria, secondary to an increase of that ion in the cytoplasm. Kanner & Metzger (211) blocked the mitochondrial respiratory chain with rotenone and the proton-dislocating adenosine triphosphatase with oligomycin. They observed an ~20% drop in the baseline potential. Notably, the *relative* decrease initiated by aggregation

of the receptors was still observed. High concentrations (100 mM) of the probe—which preferentially collapse the mitochondrial potential difference—gave similar results. They, therefore, concluded that the receptor-induced changes were *principally* the result of a change in the plasma membrane potential.

A further difference was in the influence of external Ca^{2+} . Eisenberg & Pecht observed a parallel decrease in receptor-mediated depolarization and secretion (212), whereas Kanner & Metzger observed comparable receptor-induced depolarization in the presence or absence of mM Ca^{2+} , even though in the latter medium, secretion was totally blocked (211).

The independence of depolarization from the concentration of external Ca^{2+} led the latter workers to suggest that the putative plasma membrane channel could pass Na^+ at low concentrations of Ca^{2+} . This was experimentally verified by studying the uptake of $^{22}Na^+$ (214). The authors concluded that the plasma membrane channels are induced by aggregation of the receptors, regardless of the concentration of external Ca^{2+} , but become specific for Ca^{2+} only at mM concentrations of the latter (214). Their conclusions are consistent with the "direct" measurements of cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} using a fluorescent probe (206), as well as with the characteristics of the putative channel protein (see below). The latter approaches can yield more easily interpretable data. It seems, therefore, more productive to focus future efforts on these more direct measurements, rather than to try to unravel the cause of the contradictory findings from studies on the membrane potential.

MOLECULAR BASIS OF CHANNEL ACTIVITY In a series of provocative papers (215–220) Mazurek, Pecht, and their collaborators characterize a plasma membrane protein from RBL cells that they propose is the Ca²⁺-channel-forming protein whose activity is initiated by aggregation of the receptors for IgE. The basis of their work is the drug cromolyn—a drug known to inhibit IgE-mediated secretion from mast cells. One of the mechanisms that has been proposed for the action of this drug is that it interferes with the receptor-mediated gating of Ca²⁺ through the plasma membrane. The correctness of this proposal forms the conceptual basis for interpreting the results of Mazurek et al. It should be noted, however, that the mechanism(s) of action of cromolyn is by no means certain. Cromolyn can have a variety of actions and, indeed, after a thorough review of the subject (196), Pearce concluded that "the calcium gating mechanism must now be rejected and alternative explanations for … [its] . . . action should be sought."

The principal findings of Mazurek et al are as follows: (a) Rat peritoneal mast cells and RBL cells bind beads conjugated with cromolyn, in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner (215). (b) A surface membrane protein (M_r 60,000 in

unreduced gels) can be isolated from detergent lysates of RBL cells using the ligand-binding properties of the protein and either immunoprecipitation or affinity chromatography (216). Substantial amounts of the protein can be isolated. If we assume an overall yield of $\sim 30\%$, their data (219) suggest ~ 6 \times 10⁵ copies/cell, i.e. an amount at least equal to the number of receptors on these cells (c) Using a cell sorter, variants of RBL cells can be isolated that are deficient in binding cromolyn and in IgE-mediated influx of Ca²⁺ and secretion (217). These variants appear to have a normal capacity to bind IgE and to respond normally to ionophore. (d) If such variants are fused with envelopes of Sendai virus implanted with isolated cromolynbinding protein, virtually full IgE-mediated influx of Ca2+ and secretion are restored. These activities can be blocked by ascitic fluid said to contain monoclonal antibodies to the cromolyn-binding protein (218). From the sigmoidal-dose-response data the authors calculate that two molecules of the protein are required to generate a unit response (218). (e) If isolated cromolyn-binding protein is reconstituted into planar bilayers and reacted with a monoclonal antibody said to initiate degranulation of RBL cells, conductances can be measured in the presence of Ca^{2+} and Na^{+} (219). The conductances are similar to those observed when receptor-bound IgE in planar bilayers prepared from the plasma membranes of RBL cells is aggregated. In either case, cromolyn blocks the conductances. The flux of either Na⁺ (at low concentrations of Ca²⁺) or Ca²⁺ (at mM concentrations of Ca²⁺) is consistent with the observations of Kanner & Metzger referred to above (214). The findings of Mazurek et al are obviously of considerable interest; they report the first direct evidence for a cellular component that may interact with the receptor and that performs one of the critical receptor-mediated events.

There are, however, several aspects of the published work that require clarification: (a) Most, though apparently not all, workers have failed to observe any reproducible inhibition of degranulation by RBL cells with cromolyn, and indeed, Mazurek et al have published only minimal data in this regard. (b) The published method for preparing the conjugates of cromolyn—an essential procedure without which none of their studies can be reproduced—does not work in our laboratory or apparently in the hands of others. An analysis of the derivative of cromolyn from which the conjugates were made has not been given. (c) The evidence that the cromolyn-binding protein used in the various experiments is pure is, as yet, inadequate. Indeed, close inspection of their gels shows a disturbing similarity between their principal component and serum albumin, and they themselves appear to be uncertain about the significance of a variably copurifying 24 kd protein (216, 219). It is possible that this, rather than the larger component, contains the activity they are measuring. (d) The

characteristics of the monoclonal antibodies that are essential reagents in their recent studies have not been published. For example, there has been no description of the cellular proteins with which these antibodies react.

The work of Mazurek et al raises the question of the role of ATP in the opening of the calcium channel (see above), since reconstitution of active channels with purified preparations of receptors and cromolyn-binding protein has been reported by these workers (220). Similarly, it is at present difficult to integrate their findings with those of Ishizaka and her coworkers on the essential role of a serine protease, methyltransferases, and activation of adenylate cyclase in receptor-mediated influx of Ca^{2+} (see above).

Protein kinase activity Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of proteins are widely used mechanisms by which cells regulate their functions, and several instances in which these mechanisms may control the function of plasma membrane receptors are currently under intensive investigation (221-223). In some of these, the membrane protein is itself a kinase, as well as one of the substrates for that activity (221, 222). Because no biochemical function can yet be assigned to the receptor for IgE, the possible role of phosphorylation in regulating its function can only be explored indirectly. Here we consider three questions : (a) Can one or more of the subunits of the receptor serve as a substrate for protein kinases? (b) If so, are there changes in the extent (or type) of phosphorylation upon aggregating the receptors, and is this a primary or secondary event? (c) Is the receptor itself a kinase?

THE RECEPTOR AS A SUBSTRATE FOR KINASES Hempstead et al (43, 44) observed incorporation of ³²P_i into phosphothreonine and phosphoserine on the α chain of receptors for IgE on rat mast cells. This finding on the intact mast cells is intriguing because it implies that the α chain may be a transmembrane protein (cf Figure 1). So far, the evidence that α does not penetrate the membrane has been based exclusively on negative results (above) which by their nature are much less convincing. Intact RBL cells incorporate ³²P into phosphoserine in the β chains and into undetermined sites in the γ chains, but not into the α chains (41, 42). Using membranes from RBL cells incubated with ³²P-ATP, we have observed labeled phosphoserine and phosphothreonine in α chains, and phosphoserine and phosphotyrosine in the β and γ chains (R. Quarto, H. Metzger, unpublished observations). Teshima et al (224) reported incorporation of counts into phosphoserine in a 36 kd protein that coprecipitated with the receptor for IgE when membranes of RBL cells were incubated with ³²P-ATP. This kinase activity had the properties of protein kinase C (224, 225). There are insufficient data in that report to determine whether the 36 kd component represents the β chain of the receptor. Finally, we have observed Mn²⁺dependent kinase activity in preparations of solubilized receptors that actively incorporate counts into phosphotyrosine on both the β and γ chains (but not into the α chain or IgE) of solubilized IgE- $\alpha\beta\gamma_2$ complexes (below). Thus, each of the subunits of the receptor for IgE can serve as a substrate for one or more protein kinases.

CHANGES IN AGGREGATED RECEPTORS

Mast cells Hempstead et al reported enhanced phosphorylation of the α chains of the receptor for IgE on mast cells when the latter were reacted with antigen (44). No changes were observed in the regions of the gel where the β and γ chains would have been located.

There are several aspects of this study that make interpretation difficult: (a) The purification procedure used in their study (44, 52) would reduce the yields of just those receptors in which one is most interested, i.e. those that had bound IgE on the intact cells and that had been aggregated with antigen. We are not convinced by the evidence that such losses were minimal (44). Furthermore, the purification procedure employed leads to virtually complete loss of the β and γ chains in our hands (30). (b) No estimate of the extent of modification was possible so that the fraction of the receptors that were modified is unknown. (c) The changes were similar to those observed when the cells were triggered with the ionophore A23187 (43). Since it is unlikely that this drug has any direct effect on the receptors, it suggests that the changes observed in the α chains in both studies (43, 44) may have been secondary ones, e.g. induced by the rise in intracellular Ca^{2+} (226). That RBL cells show no change in the phosphorylation of α chains upon triggering (see below) even though their receptor-mediated secretion in many ways resembles that of normal mast cells, also suggests that the modification of α is not a critical event for activation.

RBL cells Changes in the phosphorylation of the β and γ chains of the receptors from stimulated RBL cells were described by Perez-Montfort et al (42). They used cells that had biosynthetically incorporated ³H-leucine so that the yields of triggered and untriggered receptors could be assessed (they were equivalent) and the change in phosphorylation per unit peptide could be determined. The principal findings were: (a) Receptors from antigen-triggered cells showed an average increase in phosphorylation in β of about 45%, whereas the γ chains showed an average decrease of about 35%. In these experiments, the changes in the unaggregated and aggregated receptors from the antigen-treated cells were equivalent. (b) The fraction of the receptors that incorporated ³²P was small—less than 10% and perhaps much less. This could be assessed because the phosphorylated chains had a slightly reduced mobility on polyacrylamide gels. Neither that study nor a previous one (41) showed evidence of phosphorylation of α chains.

Thus, neither the results of Hempstead et al nor ours provide evidence

that phosphorylation or dephosphorylation of the receptor is a primary event in the early steps initiated by aggregation of the receptors.

INTRINSIC KINASE ACTIVITY OF THE RECEPTOR We recently observed that when receptors that had been purified by the technique we regularly employ (see above) were incubated with ³²P-ATP, substantial kinase activity was present (R. Quarto, H. Metzger, unpublished observations). This activity has the properties of a tyrosine kinase and substantial incorporation of phosphorous into tyrosine is observed on both the β and γ chains. When casein is present also, it too is modified but, on a molar basis, much less efficiently than the β and γ chains. If prior to elution of the receptors from the affinity column the latter is briefly "stripped" with micellar detergent (using the same protocol we employ to make the α chain of the receptor susceptible to iodination—see above), activity is found in the detergent wash. These findings suggest that the observed activity may not be due to the receptor itself. To what extent it is specifically associated with the receptor is currently being examined.

Receptor-Induced Inactivation

PRINCIPAL OBSERVATIONS When receptors on mast cells or basophils are aggregated under nonpermissive conditions, such as in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺, the cells not only fail to secrete but may become inactivated. That is, restoring permissive conditions-in this case adding back Ca²⁺-does not lead to degranulation. This inactivation is referred to as desensitization. In some cases the inactivation is specific. For example, using the protocol just cited, if relatively few receptors were initially aggregated in the absence of Ca²⁺, only these will be incapable of initiating release, whereas others subsequently aggregated after the restoration of mM Ca^{2+} can induce release from the same cells (227, 228). If larger numbers of receptors are aggregated under the nonpermissive conditions, desensitization becomes nonspecific, and it is then no longer possible to initiate any receptor-mediated secretion (227, 228). Studies on RBL cells have given somewhat different results. In this case desensitization only becomes prominent if minimal aggregation of receptors is employed (204, 229), although here too it is likely that the inactivation only involved those receptors aggregated in the absence of Ca²⁺. The process of inactivation has the following properties: (a) It is initiated by aggregation of the receptors, and as with the activation process, dimers of IgE are sufficient but larger oligomers are more effective (96). (b) It appears to involve steps prior to the rise in intracellular Ca²⁺. Thus, the receptor-mediated increase in cellular uptake of ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$ is ablated in desensitized cells (230), but if the intracellular Ca²⁺ is raised directly with ionophores, normal secretion is observed (231). (c) The process is an active one and shows interesting parallels to the process that initiates secretion. Thus, inactivation is not observed if the desensitization is conducted at low temperature (232). Furthermore, Kazimierczak et al (138) observed that within a narrow range of doses, DFP when added during aggregation of receptors under nonpermissive conditions could interfere with desensitization as assessed by following secretion from human basophils. Ishizaka et al (137) reported analogous studies on mouse mast cells and showed that the inhibition of desensitization was observable by examining uptake of ⁴⁵Ca²⁺ as well as secretion. The desensitization was not only blocked by very low doses of DFP but also by inhibitors of methyltransferases (137). (d) The process of desensitization appears to be a normal accompaniment of the activation process. For example, it occurs even under permissive conditions if the aggregating stimulus is minimal (233 and references therein). Furthermore, in the study by Kazimierczak et al noted above, DFP actually enhanced secretion under permissive conditions if added at appropriate doses (138).

MECHANISM The mechanism by which aggregation of receptors initiates desensitization is uncertain. One particularly simple explanation does not seem adequate. Thus, it might be supposed that during the desensitization phase of the experimental protocols described above, the receptors were shed, degraded, or internalized (234) and were, therefore, not available to be aggregated upon subsequent exposure to the appropriate cross-linking reagents. The observation of MacGlashan et al (235) that *no* internalization occurred with human basophils in the absence of Ca²⁺ could not be substantiated at least with RBL cells (109, 133). However, all studies on this aspect suggest that more than enough IgE-receptor complexes remain on the surface of the desensitized cells to stimulate release.

Thus, the data support the proposal that secretion results from a (positive) balance between activation and inactivation (137, 138, 236). They further suggest that the inactivation occurs as an early event involving reactions similar to those that initiate secretion.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

In our introductory comments, we noted that the receptor for IgE is one of a class of proteins whose interaction with the Fc domains of immunoglobulins transforms the reaction of antibody with antigen into a physiologically important event. In common with other such systems the initiating signal is dependent upon aggregation of the antibody (237, 238).

The proximal component that "senses" the aggregation of the IgE antibody-the receptor-is understood only in broad outline. It is clear

that the α chain binds the IgE, but we know nothing yet about what the β and γ subunits do. Information about the more distal components is based largely on phenomenological data. The molecular nature of these components and how they interact with the receptor and with each other must now be defined. The literature is replete with elaborate flow diagrams sometimes several in a single paper—that illustrate putative events taking place in the plasma membrane. What is missing is even a single report of a preparation of membranes that demonstrates a meaningful level of any activity initiated by aggregation of the receptor. We are convinced that the goal of developing such preparations deserves highest priority by those wishing to understand the early events mediated by the receptor for IgE.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

G. Alcaraz is an Attache de Recherche Institut National de la Sante et de la Recherche Medical on leave from INSERM Unit 174, Marseille, and received partial support from DNAX, Inc. V. Pribluda holds a Chaim Weizmann Fellowship. We are grateful to colleagues who sent us preprints of their work. We also thank Toni Vaughn for preparation of the manuscript.

Literature Cited

- Froese, A. 1980. The presence of two kinds of receptors for IgE on rat mast cells. J. Immunol. 125:981-87
- Spiegelberg, H. L. 1984. Structure and function of Fc receptor for IgE on lymphocytes, monocytes, and macrophages. Adv. Immunol. 35:61-88
- Capron, M., Capron, A., Dessaint, J.-P., Torpier, G., Johansson, S. G. O., Prin, L. 1981. Fc receptor for IgE on human and rat cosinophils. J. Immunol. 126:2087-92
- Capron, A., Ameisen, J. C., Joseph, M., Auriault, C., Tonnel, A. B., Caen, J. 1985. New functions for platelets and their pathological implications. *Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol.* 120: In press
- İshizaka, K. 1984. Regulation of IgE synthesis. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:159-82
- Metzger, H. 1983. The receptor on mast cells and related cells with high affinity for IgE. Contemp. Top. Mol. Immunol. 9:115-45
- Froese, A. 1984. Receptors for IgE on mast cells and basophils. Prog. Allergy 34:142-87
- 8. Ishizaka, T., Ishizaka, K. 1984. Activa-

tion of mast cells for mediator release through IgE receptors. *Prog. Allergy* 34: 188–235

- Johansson, S. G. O., Bennich, H. 1967. Immunological studies of an atypical (myeloma) immunoglobulin. *Immunology* 13:381-94
- Isersky, C., Kulczycki, A. Jr., Metzger, H. 1974. Isolation of IgE from reagin rich rat serum. J. Immunol. 112:1909– 19
- Bazin, H., Beckers, A., Querinjean, P. 1974. Three classes and four (sub) classes of rat immunoglobulins: IgM, IgA, IgE, IgG, IgG(2a), IgG(2b), and IgG(2c). Eur. J. Immunol. 4:44-48
- Bazin, H., Querijean, P., Beckers, A., Heremans, J. F. 1974. Transplantable immunoglobulin-secreting tumors in rats. IV. Sixty-three IgE-secreting immunocytoma tumors. *Immunology* 26: 713–23
- Kohler, G., Milstein, C. 1975. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. *Nature* 256: 495–97
- 14. Liu, F.-T., Bohn, J. W., Ferry, E. L., Yamamoto, H., Molinaro, C. A.,

Sherman, L. A., Klinman, N. R., Katz, D. H. 1980. Monoclonal dinitrophenylspecific murine IgE antibody: Preparation, isolation, and characterization. J. Immunol. 124: 2728–36

- Eccleston, E., Leonard, B. J., Lowe, J. S., Welford, H. J. 1973. Basophilic leukemia in the albino rat and a demonstration of the basopoetin. *Nature New Biol.* 244:73-76
- Kulczycki, A. Jr., Isersky, C., Metzger, H. 1974. The interaction of IgE with rat basophilic leukemia cells. I. Evidence for specific binding of IgE. J. Exp. Med. 139:600-16
- Conrad, D. H., Berczi, I., Froese, A. 1976. Characterization of the target cell receptor for IgE. I. Solubilization of IgE-receptor complexes from rat mast cells and rat basophilic leukemia cells. *Immunochemistry* 13:329–32
- Seldin, D. C., Adelman, S., Austen, K. F., Stevens, R. L., Hein, A., Caulfield, J. P., Woodbury, R. G. 1985. Homology of the rat basophilic leukemia cell and the rat mucosal mast cell. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:3871-75
- Taurog, J. D., Mendoza, G. R., Hook, W. A., Siraganian, R. P., Metzger, H. 1977. Non-cytotoxic IgE-mediated release of histamine and serotonin from murine mastocytoma cells. J. Immunol. 119:1757-61
- Siraganian, R. P., Metzger, H. 1978. Evidence that the "mouse mastocytoma" cell line (MCT-1) is of rat origin. J. Immunol. 121:2584-85
- Barsumian, E. L., Esersky, C., Petrino, M. G., Siraganian, R. P. 1981. IgEinduced histamine release from rat basophilic leukemia cell lines: isolation of releasing and non-releasing clones. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 11:317-23
- Barsumian, E. L., McGivney, A., Basciano, L. K., Siraganian, R. P. 1985. Establishment of four mouse mastocytoma cell lines. *Cell. Immunol.* 90: 131-41
- Fewtrell, C., Kessler, A., Metzger, H. 1979. Comparative aspects of secretion from tumor and normal mast cells. *Adv. Inflam. Res.* 1: 205–21
- Kulczycki, A. Jr., McNearney, T. A., Parker, C. W. 1976. The rat basophilic leukemia cell receptor for IgE. I. Characterization as a glycoprotein. J. Immunol. 117:661-65
- Pecoud, A., Conrad, D. H. 1981. Characterization of the IgE receptor by tryptic mapping. J. Immunol. 127: 2208-14
- Holowka, D., Hartmann, H., Kannellopoulos, J., Metzger, H. 1980. Associa-

tion of the receptor for immunoglobulin E with an endogenous polypeptide on rat basophilic leukemia cells. J. Receptor Res. 1:41-68

- Perez-Montfort, R., Kinet, J.-P., Metzger, H. 1983. A previously unrecognized subunit of the receptor for immunoglobulin E. *Biochemistry* 22: 5722-28
- Rossi, G., Newman, S. A., Metzger, H. 1977. Assay and partial characterization of the solubilized cell surface receptor for immunoglobulin E. J. Biol. Chem. 252:704–11
- Kulczycki, A. Jr., Parker, C. W. 1979. The cell surface receptor for immunoglobulin E. I. The use of repetitive affinity chromatography for the purification of a mammalian receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 254: 3187-93
- Kinet, J.-P., Alcaraz, G., Leonard, A., Wank, S., Metzger, H. 1985. Dissociation of the receptor for immunoglobulin E in mild detergents. *Biochemistry* 24:4117-24
- Conrad, D. H., Froese, A. 1978. Characterization of the target cell receptor for IgE. IV. Isolation of IgE-receptor complexes. *Immunochemistry* 15: 282-88
- Kanellopoulos, J., Rossi, G., Metzger, H. 1979. Preparative isolation of the cell receptor for immunoglobulin E. J. Biol. Chem. 254:7691–97
- Holowka, D., Metzger, H. 1982. Further characterization of the beta component of the receptor for IgE. Mol. Immunol. 19:219-27
- Kulczycki, A. Jr., Metzger, H. 1974. The interaction of IgE with rat basophilic leukemia cells. II. Quantitative aspects of the binding reaction. J. Exp. Med. 140:1676-95
- Metzger, H., Kinet, J.-P., Perez-Montfort, R., Rivnay, B., Wank, S. A. 1983. A tetrameric model for the structure of the mast cell receptor with high affinity for IgE. *Prog. Immunol.* 5: 493– 501
- Kanellopoulos, J., Liu, T. Y., Poy, G., Metzger, H. 1980. Composition and subunit structure of the cell receptor for immunoglobulin E. J. Biol. Chem. 255: 9060-66
- Kumar, N., Metzger, H. 1982. Gelfiltration in 6M guanidine hydrochloride of the alpha-subunit (and its fragments) of the receptor for immunoglobulin E. Mol. Immunol. 19:1561-67
- Holowka, D., Baird, B. 1984. Lactoperoxidase-catalyzed iodination of the receptor for immunoglobulin E at the cytoplasmic side of the plasma membrane. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 3720-28

- Holowka, D., Gitler, C., Bercovici, T., Metzger, H. 1981. Reaction of 5iodonaphthyl-1-nitrene with the receptor for IgE on normal and tumor mast cells. Nature 289: 806-8
- Helm, R. M., Froese, A. 1981. The incorporation of tritiated precursors into receptors for IgE of rat basophilic leukemia cells. *Immunology* 42:629–36
- Fewtrell, C., Goetze, A., Metzger, H. 1982. Phosphorylation of the receptor for immunoglobulin E. *Biochemistry* 21: 2004–10
- Perez-Montfort, R., Fewtrell, C., Metzger, H. 1983. Changes in the receptor for immunoglobulin E coincident with receptor-mediated stimulation of basophilic leukemia cells. *Biochemistry* 22: 5733–37
- Hempstead, B. L., Kulczycki, A. Jr., Parker, C. W. 1981. Phosphorylation of the IgE receptor from ionophore A23187 stimulated intact rat mast cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 98: 815-22
- Hempstead, B. L., Parker, C. W., Kulczycki, A. Jr. 1983. Selective phosphorylation of the IgE receptor in antigen-stimulated rat mast cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80: 3050-53
- Kinet, J.-P., Quarto, R., Perez-Montfort, R., Metzger, H. 1985. Non-covalently and covalently bound lipid on the receptor for immunoglobulin E. *Biochemistry* 24: In press
- Goetze, A., Kanellopoulos, J., Rice, D., Metzger, H. 1981. Enzymatic cleavage products of the alpha subunit of the receptor for immunoglobulin E. *Biochemistry* 20:6341-49
- Perez-Montfort, R., Metzger, H. 1982. Proteolysis of soluble IgE-receptor complexes: Localisation of sites on IgE which interact with the Fc receptor. *Mol. Immunol.* 19:1113–25
- Basciano, L. K., Stracke, M. L., Siraganian, R. P. 1985. Monoclonal antibodies that inhibit IgE binding. *Fed. Proc.* 44:584 (Abstr. 1016)
- Pure, E., Luster, A. D., Unkeless, J. C. 1984. Cell surface expression of murine, rat, and human Fc receptors by Xenopus cocytes. J. Exp. Med. 160:606– 11
- Liu, F.-T., Orida, N. 1984. Synthesis of surface immunoglobulin E receptor in Xenopus oocytes by translation of mRNA from rat basophilic leukemia cells. J. Biol. Chem. 259:10649-52
- Liu, F.-T., Albrandt, K., Mendel, E., Kulczycki, A. Jr., Orida, N. K. 1985. Identification of an IgE-binding protein by molecular cloning. *Proc. Natl. Acad.*

Sci. USA 82:4100-4

- Hempstead, B. L., Parker, C. W., Kulczyki, A. Jr. 1981. The cell surface receptor for immunoglobulin E. Effect of tunicamycin on molecular properties of receptor from rat basophilic leukemia cells. J. Biol. Chem. 256: 10717-23
- 53. Stracke, M. L., Basciano, L. K., Berenstein, E. H., Siraganian, R. P. 1985. Hybridoma antibodies produced by immunization with immunoprecipitated IgE-receptor complexes. Fed. Proc. 44: 584 (Abstr. 1018)
- Holowka, D., Baird, B. 1983. Structural studies on the membrane-bound immunoglobulin E-receptor complex.
 Characterisation of large plasma membrane vesicles from rat basophilic leukemia cells and insertion of amphipathic fluorescent probes. *Biochemistry* 22: 3466-74
- 55. Lee, W. T., Conrad, D. H. 1985. The murine lymphocyte receptor for IgE. III. Use of chemical cross-linking reagents to further characterize the B lymphocyte Fc epsilon receptor. J. Immunol. 134:518-25
- Rivnay, B., Wank, S., Poy, G., Metzger, H. 1982. Phospholipids stabilize the interaction between the alpha and beta subunits of the solubilized receptor for immunoglobulin E. *Biochemistry* 21: 6922-27
- Rivnay, B., Rossi, G., Henkart, M., Metzger, H. 1984. Reconstitution of the receptor for immunoglobulin E into liposomes. Reincorporation of purified receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 1212-17
 Barrantes, F. J. 1975. The nicotinic
- Barrantes, F. J. 1975. The nicotinic cholinergic receptor: Different compositions evidenced by statistical analysis. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 62: 407-14
- Alcaraz, G., Kinet, J.-P., Kumar, N., Wank, S. A., Metzger, H. 1984. Phase separation of the receptor for immunoglobulin E and its subunits in Triton X-114. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 14922–27
- Rivnay, B., Metzger, H. 1982. Reconstitution of the receptor for immunoglobulin E into liposomes: Conditions for incorporation of the receptor into vesicles. J. Biol. Chem. 257:12800-8
- Mimms, L. T., Zampighi, G., Nozaki, Y., Tanford, C., Reynolds, J. A. 1981. Phospholipid vesicle formation and transmembrane protein incorporation using octyl glucoside. *Biochemistry* 20: 833-40
- Griffin, W. C. 1949. Classification of surface-active agents by "HLB". J. Soc. Cosmet. Chem. 1:311-26

- Umbreit, J. N., Strominger, J. L. 1973. Relation of detergent HLB number to solubilization and stabilization of D-Alanine carboxypeptidase from Bacillus subtilis membranes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 70:2997-3001
- Bordier, C. 1981. Phase separation of integral membrane proteins in Triton X-114 solution. J. Biol. Chem. 256: 1604-7
- Rivnay, B., Fischer, G. 1985. Phospholipid distribution in the microenvironment of the IgE-receptor from rat basophilic leukemia cell membrane. Submitted
- Quarto, R., Kinet, J.-P., Metzger, H. 1985. Coordinate synthesis and degradation of the alpha, beta and gamma subunits of the receptor for immunoglobulin E. Mol. Immunol. 22: 1045-51
- 67. Froese, A. 1980. Structure and function of the receptor for IgE. Crit. Rev. Immunol. 1:79-132
- Mendoza, G. R., Metzger, H. 1976. Distribution and valency of receptor for IgE on rodent mast cells and related tumor cells. *Nature* 264: 548-50
- Wank, S. A., DeLisi, C., Metzger, H. 1983. Analysis of the rate-limiting step in a ligand-cell receptor interaction: The IgE system. *Biochemistry* 22:954– 59
- Holowka, D., Baird, B. 1983. Structural studies on the membrane-bound immunoglobulin E-receptor complex.
 Mapping of distances between sites on IgE and the membrane surface. *Biochemistry* 22: 3475-84
- 71. Holowka, D., Conrad, D. H., Baird, B. 1985. Structural mapping of membrane-bound immunoglobulin Ereceptor complexes: Use of monoclonal anti-IgE antibodies to probe the conformation of receptor-bound IgE. Biochemistry. In press
- Metzger, H., Budman, D., Lucky, P. 1976. Interaction of IgE with rat basophilic leukemia cells. VI. Binding properties of cell free particles. *Immunochemistry* 13:417–23
- Isersky, C., Rivera, J., Mims, S., Triche, T. 1979. The fate of IgE bound to rat basophilic leukemia cells. J. Immunol. 122:1926-36
- Conrad, D., Wingard, J. R., Ishizaka, T. 1983. The interaction of human and rodent IgE with the human basophil IgE receptor. J. Immunol. 130: 327–33
- Sterk, R., Barret, K. E., Metcalfe, D. D., Ishizaka, T. 1985. Binding of human IgE to rodent mast cells and basophils. *Fed. Proc.* 44:585 (Abstr. 1019)
- Sterk, A. R., Ishizaka, T. 1982. Binding

properties of IgE receptors on normal mouse mast cells. J. Immunol. 128:838-43

- Mendoza, G., Metzger, H. 1976. Disparity of IgE binding properties of normal vs. tumor mouse mast cells. J. Immunol. 117:1573-78
- Plaut, M., Lichtenstein, L. M., Bloch, K. J. 1973. Failure to obtain histamine release from rat mast cells exposed to human allergic serum and specific antigen or IgE myeloma protein and anti-IgE. J. Immunol. 111:1022-30
- 79. Stanworth, D. R., Humphrey, J. H., Bennich, H., Johansson, S. G. O. 1968. Inhibition of Prausnitz-Kustner reaction by proteolytic-cleavage fragments of a human myeloma protein of immunoglobulin class E. Lancet 2:17-18
- Ishizaka, K., Ishizaka, T., Lee, E. H. 1970. Biologic function of the Fc fragments of E mycloma protein. *Immuno*chemistry 7:687-702
- Bennich, H., Johansson, S. G. O. 1971. Structure and function of human immunoglobulin E. Adv. Immunol. 13:1– 55
- Dorrington, K. J., Bennich, H. 1978. Structure-function relationship in human immunoglobulin E. Immunol. Rev. 41:3-25
- Kenten, J., Helm, B., Ishizaka, T., Cattini, P., Gould, H. 1984. Properties of a human immunoglobulin E-chain fragment synthesized in Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81: 2955-59
- Liu, F.-T., Albrandt, K. A., Bry, C. G., Ishizaka, T. 1984. Expression of a biologically active fragment of human IgE epsilon chain in Escherichia coli. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:5369–73
- Kulczycki, A. Jr., Vallina, V. L. 1981. Specific binding of nonglycosylated IgE to Fc epsilon receptor. *Mol. Immunol.* 18:723-31
- Lesk, A. M. 1985. Protein structure and evolution: Similar amino-acid sequences sometimes produce strikingly different three-dimensional structures. *BioEssays* 2:213-14
- 87. Baird, B., Holowka, D. 1985. Structural mapping of Fc receptor-bound immunoglobulin E: Proximity to the membrane surface of the antibody combining site and another site in the Fab segments. *Biochemistry*. In press
- Conrad, D. H., Studer, E., Gervasoni, J., Mohanakumar, T. 1983. Properties of two monoclonal antibodies directed against the Fc and Fab' regions of rat IgE. Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 70: 352-60

- Slattery, J., Holowka, D., Baird, B. 1985. Segmental flexibility of receptorbound immunoglobulin E. *Biochemis*try. In press
- Baniyash, M., Eshhar, Z. 1984. Inhibition of IgE binding to mast. Eur. J. Immunol. 14:799-807
- Baniyash, M., Eshhar, Z., Rivnay, B. 1985. Relationships between epitopes on IgE recognized by defined monoclonal antibodies and by the Fc epsilon receptor on basophils. J. Immunol. In press
- 92. Ishida, N., Voda, S., Hayashida, H., Miyata, T., Honjo, T. 1982. The nucleotide sequence of the mouse immunoglobulin epsilon gene: Comparison with the human epsilon gene sequence. *EMBO J.* 1:1117-23
- Ishizaka, K., Ishizaka, T. 1968. Induction of erythema-wheal reactions by soluble antigen-gamma E complexes in humans. J. Immunol. 101:68–78
- 94. Siraganian, R. P., Hook, W. A., Levine, B. B. 1975. Specific in vitro histamine release from basophils by divalent haptens: Evidence for activation by simple bridging of membrane-bound antibody. *Immunochemistry* 12:149-57
- Segal, D. M., Taurog, J. D., Metzger, H. 1977. Dimeric immunoglobin E serves as a unit signal for mast cell degranulation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 74: 2993-97
- Kagey-Sobotka, A., Dembo, M., Goldstein, B., Metzger, H., Lichtenstein, L. M. 1981. Qualitative characteristics of histamine release from human basophils by covalently cross-linked IgE. J. Immunol. 127:2285-91
- Fewtrell, C., Metzger, H. 1980. Larger oligomers of IgE are more effective than dimers in stimulating rat basophilic leukemia cells. J. Immunol. 125:701-10
- Menon, A. K., Holowka, D., Webb, W. W., Baird, B. 1985. Cross-linking of receptor-bound immunoglobulin E to aggregates larger than dimers leads to rapid immobilization. Submitted
- MacGlashan, D. W., Lichtenstein, L. M. 1985. Characterization of leukotriene release from human basophils. I. Qualitative differences between dimeric and trimeric stimulation. Submitted
- 100. MacGlashan, D. W., Lichtenstein, L. M. 1985. Characterization of leukotriene release from human basophils. II. The concept of releasability defined as the ability to initiate release with dimeric crosslinks. Submitted
- Menon, A. K., Holowka, D., Baird, B. 1984. Small oligomers of immunoglobulin E (IgE) cause large-scale clus-

tering of IgE receptors on the surface of rat basophilic leukemia cells. J. Cell Biol. 98:577-83

- 102. Lawson, D., Fewtrell, C., Raff, M. C. 1978. Localized mast cell degranulation induced by concanavalin A-Sepharose beads: Implications for the Ca⁺⁺ hypothesis of stimulus-secretion coupling. J. Cell Biol. 79:394–400
- 103. Maeyama, K., Hohman, R. J., Metzger, H., Beaven, M. A. 1985. IgE receptor crosslinking, phosphatidylinositol breakdown, and histamine release : Enhanced responses with deuterium. *Fed. Proc.* 44 : 1917 (Abstr. 8800)
- 104. Grasberger, B., Minton, A., DeLisi, C., Metzger, H. 1985. Effects of excluded volume and preorientation upon the interaction between proteins in membranes. Submitted
- 105. Chinkers, M., McKanna, J. A., Cohen, S. 1979. Rapid induction of morphological changes in human carcinoma cells A-431 by epidermal growth factor. J. Cell Biol. 83: 260–65
- 106. Davis, B. H., Walter, R. J., Pearson, C. B., Becker, E. L., Oliver, J. M. 1982. Membrane activity and topography of f-met-leu-phe-treated polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Acute and sustained responses to chemotactic peptide. Am. J. Pathol. 108:206-16
- 107. Preston, S. F., Berlin, R. D., Oliver, J. M. 1983. Immediate effects of MSH on melanoma cells in culture. J. Cell Biol. 95:195a
- Goshima, K., Masuda, A., Owaribe, K. 1984. Insulin-induced formation of ruffling membrane of KB cells and its correlation with enhancement of amino acid transport. J. Cell Biol. 98:801–9
- 109. Pfciffer, J. R., Deanin, G. G., Seagrave, J. C., Feibig, M., Davis, B. H., Oliver, J. M. 1985. Surface and cytoskeletal changes associated with IgE-mediated degranulation in rat basophilic leukemia cells. Submitted
- 110. Buell, D. N., Fowlkes, B. J., Metzger, H., Isersky, C. 1976. Cell cycle and morphologic changes during growth and differentiation of a rat basophilic leukemia cell line. *Cancer Res.* 36:3131– 37
- 111. Oliver, J. M., Seagrave, J. C., Pfeiffer, J. R., Deanin, G. G. 1985. Surface functions during mitosis in rat basophilic leukemia cells. Submitted
- 112. Hesketh, T. R., Beaven, M. A., Rogers, J., Burke, B., Warren, G. B. 1984. Stimulated release of histamine by a rat mast cell line is inhibited during mitosis. J. *Cell Biol.* 98:2250-54
- 113. Sullivan, A. L., Grimley, P. M.,

- 114. Becker, K. E., Ishizaka, T., Metzger, H., Ishizaka, K., Grimley, P. 1973. Surface IgE on human basophils during histamine release. J. Exp. Med. 108: 394-409
- 115. Carson, D. A., Metzger, H. 1974. Interaction of IgE with rat basophilic leukemia cells. IV. Antibody-induced redistribution of IgE receptors. J. Immunol. 113:1271-77
- 116. Lawson, D., Fewtrell, C., Gomperts, B., Raff, M. C. 1975. Anti-immunoglobulin induced histamine secretion by rat peritoneal mast cells studied by immunoferritin electron microscopy. J. Exp. Med. 142:391–402
- 117. Schlessinger, J., Webb, W. W., Elson, E. L., Metzger, H. 1976. Lateral motion and valence of Fc receptors on rat peritoneal mast cells. *Nature* 264:550– 52
- Ishizaka, T., Ishizaka, K. 1975. Cellsurface IgE on human basophil granulocytes. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 254: 462-75
- 119. Isersky, C., Rivera, J., Segal, D. M., Triche, T. 1983. The fate of IgE bound to rat basophilic leukemia cells. II. Endocytosis of IgE oligomers and effect on receptor turnover. J. Immunol. 131: 388-96
- 120. Dragsten, P., Henkart, P., Blumenthal, R., Weinstein, J., Schlessinger, J. 1979. Lateral diffusion of surface immunoglobulin, Thy I antigen, and a lipid probe in lymphocyte plasma membranes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76: 5163-67
- 120a. Zidovetzki, R., Arndt-Jovin, D., Bartholdi, M., Fewtrell, C., Jovin, T. M. 1986. Rotational dynamics of the Fc receptor for immunoglobulin E on histamine-releasing rat basophilic leukemia cells. *Biochemistry*. In press
- 120b. McCloskey, M. A., Liu, Z.-Y., Poo, M.-M. 1984. Lateral electromigration and diffusion of Fcc receptors on rat basophilic leukemia cells: Effects of IgE binding. J. Cell Biol. 99:778-87
- 121. Menon, A. K., Holowka, D., Webb, W. W., Baird, B. 1985. Clustering, mobility, and triggering activity of small oligomers of immunoglobulin E (IgE) on rat basophilic leukemia cells. Submitted
- 122. Barak, L. S., Webb, W. W. 1982. Diffusion of low density lipoprotein-receptor complex on human fibroblasts. J. Cell Biol. 95:846-52
- Baird, B., Menon, A. K., Robertson, D., Webb, W. W., Holowka, D. 1985. Cell surface crosslinking of IgE-receptor

complexes to aggregates larger than dimers results in rapid immobilization and anchoring to a detergent-insoluble cytoskeleton. *Fed. Proc.* 44:1918 (Abstr. 8805)

- 124. May, W. S., Jacobs, S., Cuatrecasas, P. 1984. Association of phorbol esterinduced hyperphosphorylation and reversible regulation of transferrin membrane receptors in HL60 cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:2016–20
- 125. Klausner, R. D., Harford, J., van Renswoude, J. 1984. Rapid internalization of the transferrin receptor in K562 cells is triggered by ligand binding or treatment with a phorbol ester. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81: 3005–9
- 126. Bequinot, L., Hanover, J. A., Ito, S., Richert, N. D., Willingham, M. C., Pastan, I. 1985. Phorbol esters induce transient internalization without degradation of unoccupied epidermal growth factor receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 82:2774-78
- 127. Changelion, P. S., Jack, R. M., Collins, L. A., Fearon, D. T. 1985. PMA induces in ligand independent internalization of CR1 on human neutrophils. J. Immunol. 134:1851-58
- 128. Stratford-May, W., Sahyoun, N., Jacobs, S., Wolf, M., Cuatrecasas, P. 1985. Mechanism of phorbol diesterinduced regulation of surface transferrin involves the action of activated protein kinase C and an intact cytoskeleton. J. Biol. Chem. 260:9419–26
- 129. Furuichi, K., Rivera, J., Isersky, C. 1985. The receptor for immunoglobulin E on rat basophilic leukemia cells: Effect of ligand binding on receptor expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:1522–25
- Malveaux, F. J., Conroy, M. C., Adkinson, N. F., Lichtenstein, L. M. 1978. IgE receptors on human basophils: Relationship to serum IgE concentration. J. Clin. Invest. 62:176-81
- 131. Furuichi, K., Rivera, J., Isersky, C. 1984. The fate of IgE bound to rat basophilic cells. III. Relationship between antigen induced endocytosis and serotonin release. J. Immunol. 133:1513-20
- 132. Furuichi, K., Rivera, J., Isersky, C. 1985. The fate of IgE bound to rat basophilic cells. IV. Functional relationship between the receptors for IgE. J. Immunol. 134:1766-73
- 133. Furuichi, K., Rivera, J., Isersky, C. 1985. Effect of pharmacological agents on endocytosis and coendocytosis of IgE by rat basophilic leukemia cells. Submitted
- Rivera, J., Mullins, J. M., Furuichi, K., Isersky, C. 1986. Endocytosis of aggregated immunoglobulin G by rat baso-

philic leukemia cells: Rate, extent, and effects on the endocytosis of immunoglobulin E. J. Immunol. In press

- Furuichi, K., Rivera, J., Buonocore, L., Isersky, C. 1985. Recycling of receptorbound IgE on rat basophilic leukemia cells. J. Immunol. In press
- Austen, K. F., Brocklehurst, W. E. 1960. Anaphylaxis in chopped guinea pig lung. Effect of peptidase substrates and inhibitors. J. Exp. Med. 113:521-39
 Ishizaka, T., Sterk, A. R., Daeron, M.,
- 137. Ishizaka, T., Sterk, A. R., Daeron, M., Becker, E., Ishizaka, K. 1985. Biochemical analysis of desensitization of mouse mast cells. J. Immunol. 135:492-501
- Kazimierczak, W., Meier, H. L., Mac-Glashan, D. W. Jr., Lichtenstein, L. M. 1984. An antigen-activated, DFP-inhibitable enzyme controls basophil desensitization. J. Immunol. 132: 399–405
- Lagunoff, D., Chi, E. Y., Wan, H. 1975. Effects of chymotrypsin on rat peritoneal mast cells. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 24:1573-78
- Hirata, F., Axelrod, J. 1980. Phospholipid methylation and biological signal transmission. Science 209:1092–90
- Usdin, E., Borchardt, R. T., Creveling, C. R., eds. 1979. *Transmethylation*. New York: Elsevier. 631 pp.
- Usdin, E., Borchardt, R. T., Creveling, C. R., eds. 1982. Biochemistry of S-adenosylmethionine and related compounds. New York: Elsevier. 760 pp.
- Pegg, A. E., Poso, H., Bennett, R. A. 1982. Biosynthesis and accumulation of decarboxylated S-adenosylmethionine. In Biochemistry of S-adenosylmethionine and Related Compounds, ed. E. Usdin, R. T. Borchardt, C. R. Creveling, pp. 547– 65. New York: Elsevier
- 144. Kredich, K. M., Hershfield, M. S. 1980. Perturbations in S-adenosylhomocysteine and S-adenosylmethionine metabolism: Effects on transmethylation. Adv. Enzyme Regul. 18:181-91
- 145. Morita, Y., Siraganian, R. P. 1981. Inhibition of IgE-mediated histamine release from rat basophilic leukemia cells and rat mast cells by inhibitors of transmethylation. J. Immunol. 127:1339–44
- 146. Morita, Y., Chiang, P. K., Siraganian, R. P. 1981. Effect of inhibitors of transmethylation on histamine release from human basophils. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 30:785–91
- 147. Ishizaka, T., Conrad, D. H., Schulman, E. S., Sterk, A. R., Ishizaka, K. 1983. Biochemical analysis of initial triggering events of IgE-mediated histamine release from human lung mast cells. J. Immunol. 130:2357-62

- 148. Ishizaka, T. 1985. Molecular and biochemical mechanisms of IgE-mediated histamine release from mast cells. In Advances in the Biosciences. Frontiers in Histamine Research, ed. C. R. Ganellin, J. C. Schwartz, pp. 401–9. New York: Pergamon Press
- 149. Ishizaka, T., Conrad, D. H., Huff, T. F., Metcalfe, D. D., Stevens, R. L., Lewis, R. A. 1985. Unique features of human basophilic granulocytes developed in in vitro culture. Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 77:137-43
- 150. Crews, F. T., Morita, Y., McGivney, A., Hirata, F., Siraganian, R. P., Axelrod, J. 1981. IgE-mediated histamine release in rat basophilic leukemia cells: receptor activation, phospholipid methylation, Ca⁺⁺ flux, and release of arachidonic acid. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 212: 561– 71
- 151. Moore, J. P., Johannsson, A., Hesketh, T. R., Smith, G. A., Metcalfe, J. C. 1984. Calcium signals and phospholipid methylation in eukaryotic cells. *Biochem. J.* 221:675-84
- 152. Ishizaka, T., Hirata, F., Ishizaka, K., Axelrod, J. 1980. Stimulation of phospholipid methylation, Ca⁺⁺ influx, and histamine release by bridging of IgE receptors on rat mast cells. *Proc. Natl.* Acad. Sci. USA 77:1903-6
- 153. Hirata, F., Axelrod, J., Crews, F. T. 1979. Concanavalin A stimulates phospholipid meythlation and phosphatidylserine decarboxylation in rat mast cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76: 4813-16
- 154. Hirata, F., Axelrod, J. 1978. Enzymatic synthesis and rapid translocation of phosphatidylcholine by two methyltransferases in eukaryotic membranes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 75:2348-52
- 155. Hirata, F., Viveros, O. H., Diliberto, E. J., Axelrod, J. 1978. Identification and properties of two methyltransferases in conversion of phosphatidylethanolamine to phosphatidylcholine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 75:1718-21
- 156. Ishizaka, T., Hirata, F., Sterk, A. R., Ishizaka, K., Axelrod, J. A. 1981. Bridging of IgE receptors activates phospholipid methylation and adenylate cyclase in mast cell plasma membranes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:6812-16
- 147. McGivney, A., Crews, F. T., Hirata, F., Axelrod, J., Siraganian, R. P. 1981. Rat basophilic leukemia cell lines defective in phospholipid methyltransferase enzymes, Ca⁺⁺ influx, and histamine release: Reconstitution by hybridization. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78: 6176-80

- 158. Ishizaka, T. 1981. Analysis of triggering events in mast cells for immunoglobulin E-mediated histamine release. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 67:90–96
- 159. Holgate, S. T., Lewis, R. A., Austen, K. F. 1980. 3',5'-cyclic-AMP-dependent protein kinase of the rat serosal mast cell and its immunologic activation. J. *Immunol.* 124: 2093–99
- Winslow, C. M., Lewis, R. A., Austen, K. F. 1981. Mast cell mediator release as a function of cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase activation. J. Exp. Med. 154:1125-33
- Winslow, C. M., Austen, K. F. 1984. Role of cyclic nucleotides in the activation-secretion response. *Prog. Allergy* 34: 236–70
- Berridge, M. J. 1984. Inositol triphosphate and diacylglycerol as second messengers. *Biochem. J.* 220: 345–60
- 163. Berridge, M. J., Irvine, R. F. 1984. Inositol triphosphate, a novel second messenger in cellular signal transduction. *Nature* 312:315–21
- Majerus, P. W., Neufeld, E. J., Wilson, D. B. 1984. Production of phosphoinositide-derived messengers. *Cell* 37:701– 3
- 165. Abdel-Latif, A. A. 1983. Metabolism of phosphoinositides. In Handbook of Neurochemistry, ed. A. Lajtha, 3:91– 131. New York: Plenum
- 166. Cockcroft, S., Taylor, J. A., Judah, J. O. 1985. Subcellular localisation of inositol lipids kinases in rat liver. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 845:163-70
- 167. Cockcroft, S. 1984. Ca⁺²-dependent conversion of phosphatidylinositol to phosphatidate in neutrophiles stimulated with fMet-Leu-Phe or ionophore A 23187. 1984. Biochem. Biophys. Acta 795:37-46
- Takenawa, T., Nagai, Y. 1981. Purification of phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C from rat liver. J. Biol. Chem. 256: 6768-75
- 169. Hofman, S. L., Majerus, P. W. 1982. Identification and properties of two distinct phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C enzymes from sheep seminal vesicular glands. J. Biol. Chem. 257:6461-69
- 170. Wilson, D. B., Bross, T. E., Hofman, S. L., Majerus, P. W. 1984. Hydrolysis of polyphosphoinositides by purified sheep seminal vesicle phospholipase C enzymes. J. Biol. Chem. 259:11718-24
- 171. Akhtar, R. A., Abdel-Latif, A. A. 1978. Studies on the properties of triphosphoinositide phosphomonoesterase and phosphodiesterase of rabbit iris smooth muscle. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 527:

159-70

- 172. Allan, D., Michell, R. H. 1978. A calcium activated polyphosphoinositide phosphodiesterase in the plasma membrane of human and rabbit erythrocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 508:277– 86
- 173. Cockcroft, S., Baldwin, J. M., Allan, D. 1984. The Ca⁺²-activated polyphosphoinositide phosphodiesterase of human and rabbit neutrophil membranes. *Biochem. J.* 221:477-82
- 174. Hofman, S. L., Majerus, P. W. 1982. Modulation of phosphatidyl inositolspecific phospholipase C activity by phospholipid interactions, diglycerides and calcium ions. J. Biol. Chem. 257: 14359–64
- 175. Irvine, R. F., Letcher, A. J., Dawson, R. M. C. 1984. Phosphatidylinositol-4,5bisphosphate phosphodiesterase and phosphomonoesterase activities of rat brain. *Biochem. J.* 218:177-85
- 176. Cockcroft, S., Gomperts, B. D. 1979. Evidence for a role of phosphatidylinositol turnover in stimulus-secretion coupling. *Biochem. J.* 178:681–87
- 177. Kennerley, D. A., Sullivan, T. J., Parker, C. W. 1979. Activation of phospholipid metabolism during mediator release from stimulated rat mast cells. J. Immunol. 122:152-59
- 178. Schellenberg, R. R. 1980. Enhanced phospholipid metabolism in rat mast cells stimulated to release histamine. *Immunology* 41:123–29
- 179. Schacht, T. 1981. Extraction and purification of polyphosphoinositides. Methods Enzymol. 72: 626–31
- 180. Ishizuka, Y., Nozawa, Y. 1983. Concerted stimulation of PI-turnover, Ca⁺²-influx and histamine release in antigen-activated rat mast cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 117:710– 17
- 181. Ishizuka, Y., Imai, A., Nozawa, Y. 1984. Polyphosphoinositide turnover in rat mast cells stimulated by antigen : Rapid and preferential breakdown of phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate (DPI). Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 123: 875-81
- 182. Beaven, M. A., Moore, J. P., Smith, G. A., Hesketh, T. R., Metcalfe, J. C. 1984. The calcium signal and phosphatidylinositol breakdown in 2H3 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 259:7137-42
- 183. Berridge, M. J. 1983. Rapid accumulation of inositol trisphosphate reveals that agonists hydrolize polyphosphoinositides instead of phosphatidylinositol. Biochem. J. 212:849–58
- 184. Lo, T. N., Saul, W. F., Beaven, M. A.

1985. Correlation between ATP content, phosphoinositide breakdown, and histamine release in rat basophilic leukemia 2H3 cells. *Pharmacologist* 27: 184

- 185. Gilman, A. G. 1984. G proteins and dual control of adenylate cyclase. *Cell* 36: 577-79
- 186. Volpi, M., Naccache, P. H., Molski, T. F. P., Shefcyk, J., Huang, C., Marsh, M. L., Munoz, J., Becker, E. L., Sha'afi, R. I. 1985. Pertussis toxin inhibits fMet-Leu-Phe- but not phorbol ester stimulated changes in rabbit neutrophils: Role of G proteins in excitation response coupling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 2708-12
- 187. Smith, C. D., Iane, B. C., Kusaka, I., Varghese, M. W., Snyderman, R. 1985. Chemoattractant receptor-induced hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate in human polymorphonuclear leukocyte membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 260: 5875-78
- Litosch, I., Wallis, C., Fain, J. N. 1985.
 5-Hydroxytryptamine stimulates inositol phosphate production in a cell-free system from salivary glands. J. Biol. Chem. 260: 5464-71
- 189. Cockcroft, S., Gomperts, B. D. 1985. Role of guanine nucleotide binding protein in the activation of polyphosphoinositide phosphodiesterase. *Nature* 314:534-36
- 190. Nakamura, T., Ui, M. 1984. Islet activating protein, pertussis toxin, inhibits Ca⁺²-induced and guanine nucleotide-dependent releases of histamine and arachidonic acid from rat mast cells. *FEBS Lett.* 173:414-18
- 191. Nakamura, T., Ui, M. 1985. Simultaneous inhibitions of inositol phospholipid breakdown, arachidonic acid release, and histamine secretion in mast cells by islet activating protein, pertussis toxin. J. Biol. Chem. 260: 3584–93
- 192. Nakamura, T., Ui, M. 1983. Suppression of passive cutaneous anaphylaxis by pertussis toxin, an islet-activating protein, as a result of inhibition of histamine release from mast cells. Biochem. Pharmacol. 32: 3435–41
- 193. Gierschik, P., Codina, J., Simons, C., Birnbaumer, L., Spiegel, A. 1985. Antisera against a guanine nucleotide binding protein from retina cross-react with the beta subunit of the adenyl cyclaseassociated guanine nucleotide binding proteins, Ns and Ni. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:727-31
- 194. Sagi-Eisenberg, R., Lieman, H., Pecht, I. 1985. Protein kinase C regulation of the receptor-coupled calcium signal in

histamine-secreting rat basophilic leukaemia cells. Nature 313:59-60

- 195. Sullivan, T. J. 1985. Aliphatic alcohol effects on mediator release from mast cells. *Fed. Proc.* 44: 1325 (Abstr. 5346)
- Pearce, F. L. 1982. Calcium and histamine release from mast cells. *Prog. Med. Chem.* 19: 59–109
- 197. Mongar, J. L., Schild, H. O. 1958. The effect of calcium and pH on the anaphylactic reaction. J. Physiol. 140:272-84
- 198. Kanno, T., Cochrane, D. E., Douglas, W. W. 1973. Exocytosis (secretory granule extrusion) induced by injection of calcium into mast cells. *Can. J. Phy*siol. Pharmacol. 51:1001-4
- Foreman, J. C., Mongar, J. L., Gomperts, B. D. 1973. Calcium ionophores and movement of calcium ions following the physiological stimulus to a secretory process. *Nature* 245:249-51
 Bennett, J. P., Cockcroft, S., Gomperts,
- Bennett, J. P., Cockcroft, S., Gomperts, B. D. 1979. Ionomycin stimulates mast cell histamine secretion by forming a lipid soluble calcium complex. *Nature* 282:851-53
- 201. Gomperts, B. D., Baldwin, J. M., Micklem, K. J. 1983. Rat mast cells permeabilized with sendai virus secrete histamine in response to calcium buffered in the micromolar range. *Biochem.* J. 210:737-45
- 202. Theoharides, T. C., Douglas, W. W. 1978. Secretion in mast cells induced by Ca⁺⁺ entrapped within phospholipid vesicles. *Science* 201:1143–45
- Foreman, J. C., Hallet, M. B., Mongar, J. L. 1977. The relationship between histamine secretion and [45-Ca] uptake by mast cells. J. Physiol. 271:193– 214
- 204. Fewtrell, C., Metzger, H. 1981. Stimulus-secretion coupling in rat basophilic leukemia cells. In *Biochemistry* of Acute Allergic Reactions, ed. E. L. Becker, A. S. Simon, K. F. Austen, pp. 295–314. New York: Liss
- 205. Tsien, R. Y. 1981. A non-disruptive technique for loading calcium buffers and indicators into cells. *Nature* 290: 527-28
- 206. Beaven, M. A., Rogers, J., Moore, J. P., Hesketh, T. R., Smith, G. A., Metcalfe, J. C. 1984. The mechanism of the calcium signal and correlation with histamine release in 2H3 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 7129–36
- 107. White, J. R., Ishizaka, T., Ishizaka, K., Sha'afi, R. I. 1984. Direct demonstration of increased intracellular concentration of free calcium as measured by quin-2 in stimulated rat peritoneal mast

cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81: 3978-82

- Grynkiewicz, G., Poenie, M., Tsien, R. Y. 1985. A new generation of Ca⁺⁺ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties. J. Biol. Chem. 260:3440-50
- Lichtshtein, D., Kaback, H. R., Blume, A. J. 1979. Use of a lipophilic cation for determination of membrane potential in neuroblastoma-glioma hybrid cell suspensions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76:650-54
- 210. Kiefer, H. R., Blume, A. J., Kaback, H. R. 1980. Membrane potential changes during mitogenic stimulation of mouse spleen lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77:220-4
- 211. Kanner, B. I., Metzger, H. 1983. Crosslinking of the receptor for immunoglobulin E depolarizes the plasma membrane of rat basophilic leukemia cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80: 5744-48
- 212. Sagi-Eisenberg, R., Pecht, I. 1983. Membrane potential changes during IgE-mediated histamine release from rat basophilic leukemia cells. J. Membr. Biol. 75:97-104
- 213. Sagi-Eisenberg, R., Pecht, I. 1984. Resolution of cellular compartments involved in membrane potential changes accompanying IgE-mediated degranulation of rat basophilic leukemia cells. *EMBO J.* 3: 497–500
- Kanner, B. I., Metzger, H. 1984. Initial characterization of the calcium channel activated by the cross-linking of the receptors for immunoglobulin E. J. Biol. Chem. 259:10188-93
- 215. Mazurek, N., Berger, G., Pecht, I. 1980. A binding site on mast cells and basophils for the anti-allergic drug cromolyn. *Nature* 286:722–23
- Mazurek, N., Bashkin, P., Pecht, I. 1982. Isolation of a basophilic membrane protein binding the anti-allergic drug cromolyn. *EMBO J.* 1:585-90
- 217. Mazurek, N., Bashkin, P., Petrauk, A., Pecht, I. 1983. Basophil variants with impaired cromoglycate binding do not respond to an immunological degranulation stimulus. *Nature* 303: 528-30
- 218. Mazurek, N., Bashkin, P., Loyter, A., Pecht, I. 1983. Restoration of Ca⁺⁺ influx and degranulation capacity of variant RBL-2H3 cells upon implantation of isolated cromolyn binding protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 6014-18
- Mazurek, N., Schindler, H., Schurholz, T. L., Pecht, I. 1984. The cromolyn binding protein constitutes the Ca⁺⁺

channel of basophils opening upon immunological stimulus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:6841-45

- 220. Pecht, I., Dulic, V., Rivnay, B., Corcia, A. 1986. Transmembrane signalling in basophils: Ion conductance measurements on planar bilayers reconstituted with purified Fce receptors and the cromolyn binding protein. In Mast Cell Differentiation and Heterogeniety, ed. A. D. Befus, J. A. Denburg, J. Bienenstock. New York: Raven Press. In press
- 221. Buhrow, S. A., Cohen, S., Staros, J. V. 1982. Affinity labeling of the protein kinase associated with the epidermal growth factor receptor in membrane vesicles from A431 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 257:4019-22
- 222. Kasuga, M., Fujita-Yamaguchi, Y., Blithe, D. L., Kahn, C. R. 1983. Tyrosine-specific protein kinase activity is associated with the purified insulin receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:2137-41
- 223. Gordon, A. S., Guillory, R. J., Diamond, I., Hucho, F. 1979. ATPbinding proteins in acetylcholine receptor-enriched membranes. FEBS Lett. 108:37-39
- 224. Teshima, R., Ikebuchi, H., Terao, T. 1984. Ca⁺⁺ dependent and phorbol ester activating phosphorylation of a 36K-dalton protein of rat basophilic leukemia cell membranes and immunoprecipitation of the phosphorylated protein with IgE-anti IgE system. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 125: 867-74
- 225. Nishizuka, Y. 1984. The role of protein kinase C in cell surface signal transduction and tumor promotion. *Nature* 308:693-98
- 226. Sieghart, W., Theoharides, T. C., Alper, S. L., Douglas, W. W., Greengard, P. 1978. Calcium-dependent protein phosphorylation during secretion by exocytosis in the mast cell. *Nature* 275: 329-31
- Sobotka, A. K., Dembo, M., Goldstein, B., Lichtenstein, L. M. 1979. Antigen specific desensitization of human basophils. J. Immunol. 122:511-17
- MacGlashan, D. W. Jr., Lichtenstein, L. M. 1981. The transition from specific to non-specific desensitization in human basophils. J. Immunol. 127:2410-14
- 229. Fewtrell, C. 1985. Activation and desensitization for immunoglobulin E on tumor basophils. In *Biology of Calcium*, ed. R. P. Rubin, G. Weiss, J. Putney, Jr. New York: Plenum. pp. 129–36
- 230. Foreman, J. C., Garland, L. G. 1974. Desensitization in the process of hista-

mine secretion induced by antigen and dextran. J. Physiol. 239:381-91

- 231. Foreman, J. C., Garland, L. G., Mongar, J. L. 1976. The role of calcium in secretory processes : Model studies in mast cells. In *Calcium in Biological Systems*, ed. C. J. Duncan, pp. 193–218. Cambridge : Cambridge Univ. Press
- Osler, A. G., Lichtenstein, L. M., Levy, D. A. 1968. In vitro studies of human reaginic allergy. Adv. Immunol. 8:183– 231
- 233. Mendoza, G. R., Minagawa, K. 1982. Subthreshold and suboptimal desensitization of human basophils. 1. Kinetics of decay of releasability. Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 68:101-7
- 234. Dembo, M., Goldstein, B., Sobotka, A. K., Lichtenstein, L. M. 1979. Degranulation of human basophils: Quantitative analysis of histamine release and

desensitization due to a bivalent penicilloyl hapten. J. Immunol. 123:1864-72

- 235. MacGlashan, D. W. Jr., Mogowski, M., Lichtenstein, L. M. 1983. Studies of antigen binding on human basophils. II. Continued expression of antigenspecific IgE during antigen-induced desensitization. J. Immunol. 130:2337-42
- Baxter, J. H., Adamik, R. 1975. Control of histamine release: Effects of various conditions on rate of release and rate of cell desensitization. J. Immunol. 114: 1034-41
- 237. Metzger, H. 1974. Effect of antigen binding on antibody properties. Adv. Immunol. 18:169-207
- Metzger, H. 1985. Antibodies as effector molecules. *The Harvey Lectures* (Ser. 80). New York : Liss. In press



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE- REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4:471–502 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: Molecular Analysis and Structure-Function Implications

Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter, Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff

Department of Microbiology and Immunology and Department of Cell Biology, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, New York 10461

INTRODUCTION

A span of 50 years separates us from the original description of the genetic region termed H-2, which was found to control transplant rejection in mice (1, 2). The transplantation genes are now known to be part of the major histocompatibility complex (*MHC*), a multigene cluster located on chromosome 17. At present, at least three major gene families—classes I, II, and III—occupy the H-2 region. The class-I genes encode the classical transplantation antigens, H- $2K^1$, H-2D, and H-2L (called K, D, and L), and the differentiation markers, Qa and TL. Class-II genes encode Ia products, involved in antigen presentation to T cells, and the class-III genes encode certain components of complement (see 3).

The H-2 K, D, and L genes each determine a 45,000 M_r glycoprotein (the MHC heavy chain) that is associated noncovalently with an 11,600 M_r light-chain subunit (β_2 microglobulin). These two entities, existing as a heterodimeric unit in a 1:1 relationship, comprise the classical H-2 transplantation antigen (4, 5) (see Figure 1). The heavy chain that anchors

¹ Genetic designations for the H-2 locus depict the gene in capital letters and the particular haplotype as lower case superscripts, e.g. the K gene of the b haplotype is $H-2^{b}$.

472 NATHENSON ET AL

the complex in the cell membrane is divided into three extracellular domains (designated $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, and $\alpha 3$), a hydrophobic transmembrane region, and a cytoplasmic region. The domain structure is consistent with class-I gene, exon-intron organization (6).

While historically the K-, D-, and L-gene products were defined as targets in allogeneic homograft rejection, they are now known to play a crucial role in enabling the immune system to recognize and react against cells bearing foreign antigens. One of the key features of the class-I transplantation antigens, thought to play a role in their function, is the extraordinary diversity in primary structure. Studies directed towards understanding the structure-function relationships are hampered by this variability among alleles since subtle, functionally crucial, amino acid alterations are not conspicuous against a background of 15-20% amino acid diversity (5, 7). The spontaneous, in vivo MHC mutants have provided a crucial model system for these analyses. The mutant mice, detected by skin graft incompatibility with individuals of the parental haplotype (8, 9, 10), have alterations in their K, D, or L, class-I molecules (11). Further, the nature of alterations in the K^b mutants suggest that they are derived from the genetic interaction of the K^b gene with other class-I genes. Thus, in addition to information necessary for understanding structure-function relationships, the analysis of MHC mutants has provided a model for the study of the underlying mechanism of gene diversification.

In this review we focus on mutants of the $H-2K^b$ gene. We describe the present knowledge of the structure of K genes and products from a number of these mutant strains and attempt to relate biochemical changes to altered reactivity in various immunological test systems. We also describe and



Figure 1 Schematic representation of the $H-2K^b$ glycoprotein. The postulated three subregions, $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, and $\alpha 3$, comprise the extracellular portion of $H-2K^b$, each domain consisting of approximately 90 amino acid residues. The disulfide bridges (SS) are depicted, as are sites of glycosylation (CHO). β_2 microglobulin is shown bound to the third domain, $\alpha 3$. The transmembrane region (TM) is postulated to span the lipid bilayer of the cellular membrane and is followed by the intracytoplasmic carboxy-terminus (CP).

document evidence for a genetic mechanism that plays a role in the diversification of this gene system. Additional model systems designed to produce MHC mutants for the purpose of analysis of MHC structure-function relationships are also described. Discussion of studies in the homologous human system, human leucocyte antigen (HLA), are included where pertinent. The reader is referred to previous reviews for further information on genes and products of the H-2 system and mutants (3-5, 10-15), and the HLA system and variants (16, 17).

IN VIVO CLASS-I MUTANTS

Structural Analysis of K^b Mutations

The sequencing of the mutant K^b molecules was undertaken in order to relate altered histocompatibility with precise amino acid changes in class-I molecules. The results of tryptic peptide mapping and amino acid sequencing studies of the parent and mutant K^b molecules (4, 11, 18–21) have recently been confirmed and extended by DNA and RNA sequencing techniques (22–28). The elucidation of the primary nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequences of the mutant molecules, in addition to cloning and restriction enzyme analysis, have provided evidence that the mutant genes are alleles of the K locus (19, 25, 29, 30), rather than a series of closely linked K-like genes subject to alternative expression.

The results of the above studies are summarized in Table 1, and an amino acid substitution profile of the K^b mutations is diagrammed in Figure 2. When evaluated collectively, the K^b mutations have a number of intriguing properties (for an earlier description of the characteristics of the K^b mutants, see 11 and 19). These properties are:

- 1. All mutations have occurred in the two amino terminal domains, $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$. This finding supports the idea that the amino acids that contribute to the polymorphic determinants of transplantation antigens are located in this portion of the molecule (5, 11, 31). It must, however, be pointed out that the detection of altered amino acids in mutant K^b molecules is biased by the selection procedure, i.e. skin graft rejection. Mutations at other positions may have occurred, but because they would not have resulted in histoincompatibility, they would not have been detected.
- 2. Most mutant K^{b} molecules contain multiple amino acid substitutions. K^{bm10} contains 4 substituted amino acids (28), K^{bm1} contains 3 (23, 25), and K^{bm8} (32) has at least 3 alterations. The only mutant molecules with single amino acid substitutions are K^{bm5} and K^{bm16} , which have been found by amino acid sequencing to contain a Tyr-to-Phe change at position 116 (20).

7. Immunol. 1986.4:471-502. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org	by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.
. Immune	
Annu. Rev.	

Mutant	Position of altered amino acids ¹	Altered nucleotides/ consecutive nucleotides ²	Donor gene	Length of identity encompassing mutation ³	References
K^{bm1}	152 Glu → Ala	7/13	Q10	50	19, 23, 25, 43
	155 Arg \rightarrow Tyr				× •
	156 Leu \rightarrow Tyr				
$K^{\mathfrak{bm8}}$	22 Tyr \rightarrow Phe	4	I		19, 32
	23 Met \rightarrow IIe				
	24 Glu \rightarrow Ser				
$K^{\mathfrak{bm5}}$	116 Tyr \rightarrow Phe	Ι		Ι	20
$K^{{\mathfrak{b}}{\mathfrak{m}}{\mathfrak{1}}{\mathfrak{6}}}$	116 Tyr \rightarrow Phe	I	Ι	Ι	20
K^{pm6}	116 Tyr \rightarrow Phe	2/15	Q4	95	21, 26
	121 Cys \rightarrow Arg				
$K^{{ m bm}7}$	116 Tyr \rightarrow Phe	Ι	I		21
	121 Cys \rightarrow Arg				
$K^{{ m bm9}}$	116 Tyr \rightarrow Phe	2/15	Q4	95	21, 27
	121 Cys \rightarrow Arg				
$K^{\mathfrak{hm3}}$	77 Asp \rightarrow Ser	4/38	ĺ	Ι	11, 28, 39
	89 Lys \rightarrow Ala				
$K^{\mathfrak{bm11}}$	77 Asp \rightarrow Ser	3/11	Å	45	11, 28
	80 Thr \rightarrow Asn				
K^{bm23}	75 Arg \rightarrow His	4/7	Q10	52	44
	77 Asp \rightarrow Ser				
K^{bm4}	173 Lys → Glu	3/5	$\mathbf{K}1^4$	I	28
	174 Asn \rightarrow Leu		Q4	26	
			Q10	21	
$K^{{\mathfrak{bm}}10}$	163 Thr \rightarrow Ala	5/35	K1	-	10, 28
	165 Val \rightarrow Met				
	173 Lys \rightarrow Glu				
	174 Asn \rightarrow Leu				

Table 1 Molecular characteristics of K^{b} mutations and donor genes

¹ Racad an available comanae data

Annual Reviews

474

NATHENSON ET AL

- 3. Multiple nucleotide and resultant amino acid substitutions have always occurred in a cluster. For example, the K^{bm1} gene contains 7 altered nucleotides in a span of 13 (23, 25). The most extended clusters are found in K^{bm3} and K^{bm10} genes, which are altered in 4 of 38 and 5 of 35 nucleotides, respectively (28). Furthermore, alterations in the primary sequence are limited to a single cluster per molecule (11, 25, 26). This has also been found to be the case for K-gene mutants of the k and f haplotypes (33, 34).
- 4. Identical amino acid substitutions have been detected in the altered K^b molecules of several independently arising mutant mice. The most striking example of this is the "bg series" of mutants—(bm5, bm6, bm7, bm9, bm16, bm17 and bm20) (35). The "bg series" of mutants are histocompatible with one another, although they reject parental H-2^b skin grafts (35). Amino acid sequencing studies have determined that K^{bm5}, K^{bm6}, K^{bm7}, K^{bm9}, and K^{bm16} gene products have a Tyr-to-Phe substitution at position 116 (20, 21). In addition, K^{bm6}, K^{bm7} and K^{bm9} products have a second substitution, Cys-to-Arg, at position 121 (21). Further analyses have demonstrated that K^{bm6} and K^{bm9} are identical



Figure 2 Amino acid substitution profile of the K^b mutants. The K^b molecule is represented as an empty rectangle; K^b mutants are depicted as solid lines. Domain structure of K^b is according to exon-intron organization as described by Weiss et al (22). The three extracellular domains are $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$; the transmembrane domain is abbreviated, TM; three cytoplasmic exons are presented in a single domain, CY. Amino acid residues are numbered according to Nathenson et al (4); the numbering of amino acids at domain junctions is according to Weiss et al (22). Disulfide bridges are represented as S-S and carbohydrate moieties are represented by CHO. Vertical dashes represent known amino acid alterations. Where sequence data are incomplete additional amino acid substitutions may be present.

476 NATHENSON ET AL

on the nucleotide level, indicating that the same mutation has occurred at least twice (26, 27).

- 5. Many amino acid substitutions have involved multiple nucleotide alterations per codon. Of the collective 13 substituted amino acids in all of the mutant K^{b} alleles analyzed, 7 amino acid substitutions involve 2 or more nucleotides per codon (Table 1). In particular, of the three altered codons of the K^{bm1} gene, two have a double nucleotide substitution and one has three substitutions (23, 25).
- 6. The substituted nucleotides and replaced amino acids present in mutant K^{b} genes are found, at homologous positions, in other class-I genes of various haplotypes. This observation was originally made on the amino acid level by Evans et al (36) and Pease et al (19).

Genetic Recombination² Generates the K^b Mutants

The features of the K^b mutants suggest that they are not the result of simple, random point mutations, but rather, are due to a more complex genetic process. This led to the hypothesis that genetic interaction between class-I genes may be the driving force behind the production of the K^b mutants as well as the generation of diversity in H-2 antigens (19, 22, 31, 36–42). In fact, this hypothesis was used as a basis for the identification of additional altered amino acids in several K^b mutant molecules (19).

DONOR GENES An extension of the recombination hypothesis is the prediction that donor sequences, capable of interacting with the K^b gene, would be present in the genome of the mouse strain in which the mutation arose (25). Synthetic oligonucleotides were constructed to mutant DNA sequences and used as probes to identify donor genes from the $H-2^b$ haplotype. The potential of the donor genes to provide the mutant sequence was confirmed by DNA sequencing (26–28, 43, 44). Thus, the prediction of the existence of donor genes was borne out by the identification of class-I genes in the $H-2^b$ haplotype that contain nucleotide sequences identical to those substituted into mutant K^b genes.

Notably, class-I genes of the K, D, and Qa regions of the H-2 complex are capable of interacting as donors with the K^b gene (Table 1, Figure 3). The Q10 gene contains sequences identical to the substitutions in the K^{bm1} and K^{bm23} mutant genes (43, 44). Genetic interactions between the Q4 and K^b genes have been demonstrated to be responsible for the generation of two

² While the term *gene conversion* has been used by a number of groups to describe the findings of genetic transfer between class-I genes, proof of such a mechanism, as defined in lower eukaryotes, is not available. Thus, we will utilize the term *recombination* in its broadest sense, referring to the rearrangement of DNA sequences by the reciprocal or nonreciprocal mechanisms of unequal crossing over, gene conversion and postmeiotic or mitotic segregation.

independent, identical mutant genes, K^{bm6} and K^{bm9} (26, 27). The K1, Q10 and Q4 genes are identical with K^{bm4} at positions 173 and 174 and might be potential donor genes for the K^{bm4} mutation (28). The K1 gene, however, is the only possible donor for the related K^{bm10} gene (28). The D^b gene is the donor for the K^{bm11} gene (28).

No gene of the TL region has as yet been found to contain a donor sequence. Perhaps TL genes lack sufficient identity with K^b to initiate recombination (3, 45, 46). Alternatively, TL sequences substituted in the K^b gene may not be detected because selection at the protein level may eliminate K molecules that have been altered with TL sequences (3, 23, 43, 47).

The amount of genetic transfer to K^{b} from other class-I donor genes ranges from a potential minimum of 5 nucleotides for the K^{bm4} gene to a potential maximum of 95 nucleotides for the K^{bm6} and K^{bm9} genes (Table 1). Q4, the donor gene for the K^{bm6} and K^{bm9} genes and possibly for an additional 6 related "bg series" genes, shares the longest length of identity with K^{b} (95 nucleotides) surrounding the substitutions at the codons corresponding to amino acid positions 116 and 121. After a silent single base mismatch in the codon for amino acid 108, K^{b} and Q4 share an additional 64 bases of identity (26). This relatively great extent of identity between Q4 and K^{b} may be responsible for increased recombination between the two genes and the subsequent high frequency of "bg series" mutations (26).

The amount of genetic information transferred between class-I genes in the generation of the K^b mutations is relatively small compared to other mammalian gene systems that often indicate genetic transfers of several hundred nucleotides (42, 48-50). The limited alterations observed in the mutant K^b genes thus far examined have involved only exons (with the



Figure 3 Generation of K^b mutants by the transfer of DNA from donor genes to K^b . Uppermost capital letters represent the K, D, Qa, and TL regions of the MHC. K region genes, K1 and K^b , are indicated; Qa region genes are numbered 1–10, and TL region genes are numbered 1–13 according to Weiss et al (29). Mutants are indicated next to arrows connecting donor genes and K^b . The donor gene that generated the bm4 mutant might have been Q4, Q10, or K1, based on limited sequence data.
possible exception of K^{bm3}), whereas recombination in other gene systems often involved both exons and introns.

A summary of class-I donor gene interactions with the K^b gene is presented in Figure 3. This figure depicts the transfer of genetic information from donor genes to K^b . It is not known whether the K^b gene is capable of donating genetic sequences to other class-I genes. Due to the selection procedure for mutant mice, the transfer of K^b sequences into a recipient gene (e.g. Q10) may not be detectable. The examination of *D*-region mutants (bm13 and bm14), selected by histoincompatibility (51), may provide the opportunity to determine whether K^b can serve as a donor gene for other class-I genes.

Several features associated with the K^{b} mutants are also evident in naturally occurring variants of *HLA* class-I molecules. For example, the *HLA-B27.2* variant of *HLA-B27* contains substitutions at amino acid positions 77, 80, and 81 (52), a region altered in K^{bm3} , K^{bm11} and K^{bm23} . The *E1-A3* variant of *HLA-A3* has alterations at amino acid positions 152 and 156 (53), which resemble the positions of change in K^{bm1} . The *CF* variant of *HLA-B7* has an unidentified change at position 116 (54), identical to the position of change in K^{bm5} and K^{bm16} molecules. Not only are the substituted positions very similar to those of the K^{b} mutant molecules, but the known, substituted amino acid clusters are present, at homologous positions, in other human class-I gene products. Thus, gene interaction apparently plays a major role in the diversification of class-I transplantation genes of both mouse and man.

MITOTIC RECOMBINATION The genetic interactions that lead to the formation of mutant K^{b} genes probably occur in the germ-line cells of either the male or female mouse, although it has been suggested (55) that there may be a bias toward recombination in the female. Recombination may occur during the mitotic amplification of the germ-line cells or the pairing of chromosomes in meiosis, or following fertilization of the ovum. Since many of the bm mutant mice were detected in the offspring of C57BL/6 \times BALB/c ($H-2^b \times H-2^d$) matings (11, 35, 55), it has been suggested that the K^{b} gene may have interacted with a donor gene from either the H-2^b or H-2^d haplotype in the fertilized egg (3, 23, 43). Thus, the K^{bm9} mutation may have arisen via zygotic recombination between K^{b} and either $Q4^{b}$, K^{d} , or possibly some other gene in the $H-2^{d}$ haplotype. However, genealogical analysis indicates that the K^{bm9} gene was detected in 5 of 19 siblings (35). Sibships with multiple mutant mice have also been identified for bm6 (3/14) and bm23 (4/12) (35, 56). These findings argue against both zygotic and meiotic recombination; only one ovum can result from a single meiotic recombination, and the probability of the identical zygotic recombination occurring as many as five times in a single sibship is nil.

A more plausible explanation for multiple, identical mutants in a single sibship is that one of the parents (the female in the case of bm9 and bm23) was a gonadal mosaic, having germ cells of which a sizeable percentage (up to 33%) carried the same mutant allele (12, 35). On the molecular level, this may be explained by the occurrence of mitotic recombination early in the expansion of the germ line, such that a large fraction of the germ cells contained the mutant allele. Cases in which a single mutant was found in a sibship can be explained by the occurrence of a mitotic recombination late in ontogeny, resulting in a decreased percentage of the mutant allele in the germ-cell pool. Thus, it is possible that all of the K^b mutations occurred in the mitotic amplification of the germ line (27).

Generation of Diversity in Class-I Genes

The genetic homogeneity among members of an inbred mouse strain represents a system in which the evolutionary time clock has been reset to zero. Each recombination event leading to a mutation in K^b is, in effect, a step in the rediversification of the C57BL/6 genome. As substitutions accumulate due to recombination between the K^b gene and the various class-I donor genes, the K^b gene would acquire the characteristics of other class-I genes. The effect of sequential mutations in a single K^b gene is depicted in the hypothetical scheme in Figure 4. In addition to the Q4, Q10,



Figure 4 A hypothetical diversification scheme for the K^b gene. Exons 2 and 3 (domains $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$) are depicted as empty rectangles. Vertical lines within the exons represent altered codons resulting from recombination between K^b and donor gene. The D^b gene is depicted as the donor gene for both the K^{bm3} and K^{bm11} mutations as it contains the appropriate sequence at positions 77, 80, and 89. The 27.1 gene of the $H-2^d$ haplotype is used as a hypothetical donor gene for the K^{bm8} mutation on the basis of amino acid identity. Hatched areas represent the potential minimum (nucleotides within the first to last substitution) and potential maximum (consecutive, identical nucleotides between the mutant K^b gene and the donor gene in the region of the mutation) transfer of DNA from donor gene to K^b .

K1, and D^b donor genes known to interact with K^b , a Q gene of the $H-2^d$ haplotype, 27.1, is included because it contains the same amino acid sequence as the K^{bm8} mutation. The hatched areas in Figure 4, which indicate the maximum extent of recombination between the donor genes and K^b , demonstrate that after several interactions, the second and third exons of K^b are almost 60% substituted with sequences from other class-I genes. Hence, the lack of K-ness and D-ness among transplantation antigens can be explained by this phenomenon: Genetic interactions, as illustrated in Figure 4, have changed K^b into a mosaic of K, D, K1, Q4, and Q10 gene sequences. Thus, the recombination events generating the K^b mutants may be representative of the underlying mechanism involved in the ongoing evolution of class-I genes.

A possible example of diversity created by sequential recombinations may be the spontaneous human class-I variant *HLA-B27.3* which, when detected, had already undergone two distant substitutions, one at amino acid 77 and the other at amino acid 152, positions also affected in the K^{b} mutant series (57).

Conservation and Diversification of Sequence in Class-I Genes

Class-I genes are distinguished by both diversity and conservation of sequence. Exons 2 and 3 of the K, D, and L genes show extensive allelic diversity, in contrast to the limited diversity exhibited for these exons in alleles of Qa and TL region loci (45–47, 58–60). Short recombination events, such as those observed in the generation of the K^b mutants, can serve as a mechanism for the diversification of alleles of the K, D, and L loci. The absence of diversity in the alleles of Qa- and TL-region loci may reflect the inability of these genes to serve as recipients of genetic information in short recombination events (3, 23, 43, 47). Alternatively, alterations in the amino terminal portion of Qa and TL molecules may be severely restricted by functional constraints and natural selection (3, 23, 43, 47), while such alterations are selected for in K, D, and L alleles.

Sequence conservation exists within the fourth exon (α 3 domain) where all class-I genes show extensive homology. Functional constraints imposed by the binding of β_2 m to the α 3 domain appear to be responsible for the amino acid sequence conservation (61). Furthermore, the homology among α 3 domains of class-I molecules extends beyond amino acid sequence into the nucleotide sequence of exon 4. This can be explained by the occurrence of long recombination events that would serve to maintain sequence homology. Therefore, short and long recombination events may work in concert to produce a multigene family with properties of both sequence diversity and conservation.

IN VITRO CLASS-I VARIANTS

Somatic Cell Variants

The analysis of mice bearing spontaneous mutations of the K^b molecule has provided the foundation for an understanding of *MHC* class-I protein structure in relation to function. Studies of these mutant mice offered our initial insight into the regions of the class-I heavy chain involved in allogeneic rejection and *MHC* restriction. Nevertheless, the in vivo mutants are few in number, resulting in a limited appreciation for various functional regions of K^b . Additionally, as previously mentioned, the mutations are often complex nucleotide alterations resulting in clustered, multiple amino acid changes. Thus, from analysis of K^{bm} variants, it has been difficult to define the minimal biochemical change—i.e. mutation in a single amino acid residue—that will give rise to critical functional alterations. This limitation has necessitated the additional approach of generating variants of *H-2* genes in established cell lines.

Passage of tumors from F1 animals in parental strains has been used to obtain H-2 haplotype loss variants (62). Selection in vitro, with anti-H-2 alloantisera, identified stable leukemia cell variants that had lost cell-surface expression either of an entire haplotype or of a single MHC class-I antigen (63–65). The use of monoclonal antibodies to select somatic variants with more defined alterations in a specific H-2 antigen was first performed by Rajan (66). This latter study utilized the property of monoclonal antibodies to react with selected regions of class-I heavy chains (67). By using a single monoclonal antibody as a selecting reagent, one could thus identify variants that had lost a single serologically defined antigenic epitope. With this negative selection approach, it was possible to identify mutagen-induced H-2 variants with altered antigenic properties recognized by both antibody and T cells (68–70). An additional approach employing positive selection has been used successfully to identify H-2 K^k variants (71).

A series of chemically mutagenized K^b variants with a wide range of serological phenotypes (72) have been isolated. Flow cytofluorometric analysis of these variants has been performed with seven monoclonal antibodies recognizing either the $\alpha 1$ or $\alpha 2$ domain. Using this array of monoclonal antibodies, two classes of K^b variants have been identified. These include (a) structural variants with altered phenotypic expression of the K^b molecule, evidenced by the loss of reactivity with certain monoclonal antibodies, but retention of reactivity with others, and (b) loss variants with a total loss of expression of K^b molecules at the plasma membrane surface, revealed by nonreactivity with a pool of all seven monoclonal antibodies. Similar types of somatic changes have been identified in mutagen-induced

Annual Reviews

482 NATHENSON ET AL

HLA-A2-variant cell lines (73). HLA variants have also been identified that secrete class-I heavy-chain products (74, 75).

ANALYSIS OF MHC STRUCTURAL VARIANTS Somatic cell variants have been obtained that express the K^{b} molecule with a variety of antigenic forms. In the majority of cases the monoclonal antibody specificity originally selected against is the only K^{b} epitope lost. This phenotype characterized by loss of a single epitope was observed in 18 of the 32 independently derived cell lines we have tested to date. This pattern is presented for several different selecting monoclonal antibodies in Table 2A. These mutant cell lines presumably have limited structural alterations that result in minimal antigenic changes. In addition to the variant cell lines with an alteration in the binding pattern of a single monoclonal antibody, a second group of immunoselected variants possess a more complex K^{b} phenotype. Among the latter group of variants, selection with a monoclonal antibody to a given domain (either $\alpha 1$ or $\alpha 2$) results in the loss of binding of monoclonal antibodies reactive with the same domain. For example, variant 208 (see Table 2B) selected with an α 1-domain-reactive antibody, EH144, lost reactivity with monoclonal antibody B8-24-3, also reactive with the $\alpha 1$ domain. This same pattern has been observed for selecting monoclonal

Anti-K ^b monoclonal antibody							
Cell line	EH144 (α1)	B8-24-3 (α1)	K9-136 (α1/α2)	28-13-3 (α2)	K9-178 (α2)	5F1.2.14 (α2)	Y-31
R8 ²	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
			A. Single	mAb loss			
R8.246	_	+	+	+	+	+	+
R8.205	+	+	_	+	+	+	+
R 8.8	+	+	+	_	+	+	+
R8.332	+	+	+	+	+	·	+
R8.14	+	+	+	+	+	+	_
			B. Multipl	e mAb los	s		
R8.208	-	_	+ '	+	+	+	+
R 8.70	+	+	+	_	_	+	+
R8.335	+	+	+	+	_		+

Table 2 Somatic cell variants of K^b with domain-specific monoclonal-antibody loss phenotype

¹ Not mapped.

² R8 is a heterozygous $(H-2^b \times H-2^d)$ pre-B lymphoblastoid cell line immortalized by Abelson virus transformation. Mutants derived from R8 were obtained by chemical mutagenesis with either ethylmethane sulfonate or ethyl nitrosourea (Geier et al 72).

antibodies to the $\alpha 2$ domain and loss of reactivity with other $\alpha 2$ -reactive monoclonal antibodies (Table 2B). Such findings support the idea that antibodies bind to specific domains of the H-2 molecule, consistent with the results of monoclonal antibody-binding studies on the in vivo mutant K^b molecules (67, 76) and on hybrid H-2 molecules produced by exon shuffling of H-2 genes (77–79).

Analysis of HLA class-I variants produced by a similar procedure of mutagenesis followed by immunoselection has been performed by Pious et al (73, 80). Selection with an HLA-A2-specific monoclonal antibody identified structural mutants from a B-lymphoblastoid cell line which, although nonreactive with the selecting monoclonal antibody, retained reactivity with other HLA-A2 specific antibodies (73). Structural analysis of three such variants (81, 82) defined residues important for antibody recognition of the HLA-A2 product. Alterations in the tryptic peptide comprising amino acid residues 98-108 in the $\alpha 2$ domain have been identified for two independently isolated variants (81). Although the mutations appear different, the exact substitutions are not known. A third variant, which fails to react with at least two HLA-A2-specific antibodies, has undergone a mutation resulting in the replacement of lysine for glutamic acid at position 161 (82). These results point to the α 2 domain for the expression of certain HLA-A2 antigenic epitopes and specifically to glutamic acid at position 161 in the formation of at least two epitopes recognized by monoclonal antibody.

Recombinant H-2 Genes

The advent of gene-cloning procedures and DNA-mediated gene transfer into eukaryotic cells has established an entirely new direction for production and analysis of mutant or hybrid H-2 products. *MHC* genes have now been cloned from several haplotypes including $H-2^{b}$ (24, 29), $H-2^{d}$ (30, 36, 83, 84), $H-2^{k}$ (85), and $H-2^{q}$ (86). Introduction of cloned H-2 genes into cultured mammalian cells results in the stable expression of allogeneic class-I products on the cell surface (36, 87–92). The recent development of intraembryonic injection of cloned genes has, in addition, produced transgenic mice expressing foreign class-I genes (93). These approaches enable isolated *MHC* products to be studied in different microenvironments, separated from the class-I molecules with which they are usually coordinately expressed.

A number of approaches, including exon-shuffling (77–79, 94–97), deletion mutagenesis (98, 99), and oligonucleotide-directed, site-specific mutagenesis (100, 101), have been utilized in order to construct altered MHC genes. Recombinant constructions have been prepared from K^b/D^b

(96), K^b/K^k , K^d/K^k , K^b/K^d (97), and L^d/D^d (77, 94, 95). These genes, when transfected into tissue-culture cells, are expressed as hybrid products. Thus, using this approach it is possible to study the immunobiology of isolated class-I domains, a topic discussed in the following section. The construction of interspecies class-I hybrids (102) and H-2 class-I/class-II chimeric genes (103) should prove useful for determining the degree of functional relatedness for *MHC* genes derived from different species and neighboring loci.

Regulatory Variants

In addition to the structural variants of H-2 and HLA, immunoselected cell lines also have been identified that no longer express specific MHCproducts on the cell surface. Such lines have proven useful for determining the molecular and structural mechanisms involved in directing a particular class-I protein to the cell surface.

Somatic cell variants have been identified that either do not translate a specific MHC product or that synthesize an altered intracellular product (73, 104, 105). Molecular analysis of variants that do not translate a specific heavy chain, described for both H-2 (105, 106) and HLA (107, 108), reveals in some cases an absence of the corresponding class-I messenger RNA. Studies designed to determine the nature of this defect in HLA variants have employed somatic cell fusion and have identified *trans*-acting regulatory factors for proper HLA class-I gene expression (108). Although the basis for the transcriptional defect described in H-2 variants is not completely understood, it is expected that a detailed analysis of the region of the genome within or surrounding the altered gene will provide important information concerning the normal expression of H-2 class-I genes.

Variants that synthesize an altered intracellular molecule provide an opportunity to determine the structural features involved in transport and expression of class-I products. The synthesis of HLA-A2 heavy chains that associate with β_2 m either inefficiently or not all gives rise to very low or undetectable levels of the HLA-A2 protein on the variant cell surface (73, 104). In contrast, an H- $2K^{b}$ variant has been identified that synthesizes an intracellular product and, although not expressed on the cell surface, is found associated with β_2 m (109). Normal levels of K^{b} mRNA have been found in this latter variant, suggesting posttranscriptional, perhaps structural, regulation of H- $2K^{b}$ expression. Thus, alterations resulting in the loss of association with β_2 m, or alterations in the heavy chain not necessarily correlated with loss of β_2 m association, potentially can influence class-I antigen expression. The dm2 mutant mouse, which has sustained a complex mutation in the L^{d} molecule, revealed by tryptic peptide map analysis,

provides an example of an intracellular localized class-I product occurring in vivo (110).

The collective studies of several laboratories employing gene modification suggest that the cytoplasmic domain (98, 99), α 2-domain disulfide linkage (100), and carbohydrate moieties (101) may not play a significant role in transport of L^d class-I heavy chains to the plasma membrane surface. These studies, utilizing different approaches for producing in vitro variants of class-I genes and their products, provide an entirely new direction for identifying the particular features of class-I molecules involved in regulation of their expression.

STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS ARISING FROM STUDIES OF CLASS-I MUTANTS

Cellular Recognition of In Vivo Variants

Our present concept of the function of class-I molecules concerns their property of interacting with cytolytic T cells. The mutants have proven to be a valuable resource for obtaining information on the two general functional attributes of the class-I products : (a) allogeneic recognition, and (b) H-2 restricted or antigen-associated recognition. Allogeneic recognition refers to the recognition by cytolytic T cells of the MHC class-I product leading to the lysis of the target cell. This type of cellular immune recognition is found in graft rejection, a phenomenon that originally allowed the discovery and description of the class-I products (111). MHCor H-2-restricted antigen recognition refers to a process whereby foreign antigens are recognized in the context of a particular class-I molecule (112).

The K^b mutants have been studied in a variety of functional assays in which they serve as specific targets for recognition by alloreactive CTLs (113–115), virus-restricted CTLs (116–123), and minor histocompatibility antigen-restricted CTLs (124–126). From this complex array of studies, one can attempt to correlate the structure of the K^b molecule to its recognition by the cellular immune system.

ALLOGENEIC RECOGNITION Studies on CTL alloreactivity by Melief and coworkers (113) and Egorov & Egorov (56) established the relatedness of the bm mutants to parental mice and to each other. Functional relatedness among mutants is consistent with the finding of a similar or identical amino acid sequence of their K^{bm} molecules. For instance, bm3, bm11, and bm23 demonstrate similar patterns of reciprocal CTL alloreactivity, and their K^{b} molecules share a common change (amino acid position 77, Asp to Ser) (11, 28, 44). The bm6 and bm9 mutants, as another example, exhibit identical CTL alloreactivity. The basis for their similarity in function is now evident Annual Reviews

486 NATHENSON ET AL

from sequence analysis that demonstrated complete identity of their K^b genes (26, 27). The changes in the bm1, bm8, and bm10 K molecules generate unique alloreactive epitopes that are not shared among themselves or with other mutants. These studies support the concept that there exist mutant-specific as well as shared functional CTL determinants.

In a series of studies using cloned alloreactive CTL lines, rather than primary cultures, Sherman (114, 115) has confirmed and extended the studies described above using a number of mutant/parent combinations. In one group of parent anti-bm11 clones, it was found that, in addition to reacting with the stimulator-bm11 cells and the related bm3-mutant cells, a number of CTLs cross-reacted on other mutant target cells that had alterations in stretches of the K^{b} molecule different from K^{bm3} and K^{bm11} . These target K^b molecules had changes in either the $\alpha 1$ or $\alpha 2$ domain. In concert with the observations of Melief et al (113) on cross-reactivity of primary mutant/parent CTL, such data suggested that CTLs recognize conformational determinants produced by interaction of residues located at different sites on the heavy-chain polypeptide. Additional support for the concept that CTLs do not recognize sites consisting of linear amino acids in a single domain comes from the work of de Waal et al (127), in which CTLs generated to K^{bm1} were not reactive with L^{d} although K^{bm1} and L^{d} share the stretch of amino acids from 146-161, containing the mutant site 152-156.

MHC RESTRICTION The functional characteristics of the K^b mutants have also been evaluated in virus restriction assays. A number of viruses appear to be recognized by CTL in the context of class-I molecules, and Table 3 lists an extensive review of this series of studies utilizing either virus-infected mutant or parental cells as targets for K^b -restricted, virus-specific CTLs. The bm1 mutant, which has changes in K^b at amino acid positions 152, 155, and 156, is in all cases the most different from other mutants and from the parental type. This mutant appears to define a crucial region for CTL recognition. The basis for this effect on CTL/MHC recognition is not completely understood but must certainly relate to the nature and position of the amino acid changes.

The bm 5, 16, 6, 7, and 9 mutants ("bg series") share a similar spectrum of reactivity for a number of viral systems, fitting with structural similarities of their K^b molecules. These mutants appear to be the most closely related to the parental B6 mouse in these analyses. The bm3 and bm11 mutants exhibit similar, but not identical, profiles as viral restriction elements, again consistent with their partially shared structural changes. Other *MHC*-restriction assay systems, i.e. association with minor *H* antigens, also suggest a relatedness between bm3 and bm11 (125, 126), as do patterns of alloreactivity on haptenated mutant target cells (128, 129). These data

Table 3 Effect of $H-2^{bm}$ mutation on recognition by virus-specific K^{b} -restricted cytotoxic effector cells

References [19 118 [1] [40 116 116 123 117 127 121 [21 120 173, 174 + + + ++++ bm4 g + + 163, 165, 173, 174 bm10 ++ g + + Virus-infected mutant target cells 152, 155, bm1 156 82 ţ ļ ţ ŧ ļ ł ł ۱ ł ł bm6, 7, 9, 17 116, 121 ++ + ++++ ++ ++ g + + + bm5, 16 ++++ ++++ 116 + + ++ ++ S +1 + + bm3 77, 89 +++ + + ++ 5 +1 + +1 ۱ 77, 80 bm11 ++ ++ ++ З ł I I ¹ Positions of known amino acid substitutions. 22, 23, 24 ++2 bm8 + + 8 + I +1 + + I Altered residues¹ Affected-domain αK^{b} Ectromelia $\alpha K^{\mathbf{b}}$ Influenza αK^{b} Moloney $\alpha K^{\mathbf{b}}$ Vaccinia αK^b LCMV αK^{b} Sendai $\alpha K^{\mathrm{b}} \mathrm{SV40}$ $\alpha K^{b} VSV$ Effector Mutant

Annual Reviews

487

 $^{2}(-)$ Indicates 0-10% of the cytolysis in the positive control in the reference cited; (\pm) indicates 10-25%; (+) indicates 25-50%; (+) indicates 50-75%; (+ +)

indicates 75-100%.

suggest that the structural features of the mutant K^{b} molecule determine its recognition by CTL, to a large degree independent of the foreign antigen functional system used.

An overall conclusion from these studies has been that small alterations play a crucial role in the recognition by the CTL for *MHC*-plus-foreignantigen; in addition, conformational determinants must be implicated to explain loss of CTL recognition of different K^b molecules in which there are changes in sites linearly distant from each other. That is, amino acid changes in either the $\alpha 1$ domain or the $\alpha 2$ domain can alter the recognition by parental K^b -restricted virus-specific CTLs. Such is the case for Sendai virus-restricted CTL that no longer recognize virus-infected bm1 ($\alpha 2$) or bm11 ($\alpha 1$) (Table 3), and also for Moloney-virus-restricted CTL that no longer recognize virus-infected bm1 ($\alpha 2$) or bm8 ($\alpha 1$).

At least two components are involved in the recognition by CTL of foreign antigen in the context of class-I molecules. Thus, the loss of recognition of virus in the context of mutant K^b may be due to the inability of the virus or viral products to associate with the mutant K^b molecule; or alternatively, it may be due to an alteration in the site on the *MHC* class-I molecule to which the T-cell receptor binds. At present we have little information on these different aspects of the recognition process.

While we have primarily described mutants of K^b , mutations in D^b also occur. Two D^b mutants, bm13 and bm14, have been isolated (51) that are histoincompatible with parental mice as well as with each other. These mutants also have marked alterations in virus restriction properties. Thus, in Moloney virus infection, bm13 and bm14 lose the D^b -restricted response. The bm13 mutant transfers restriction to K^b , while bm14 is a total nonresponder (122).

Analysis of In Vitro Variants

As previously mentioned, monoclonal antibody-selected H-2 and HLA somatic-cell variants have been isolated. The conclusion has emerged from analysis of these variants that antibody and CTL recognize different determinants on the class-I heavy chain (70, 72). In a series of studies using cloned CTL, a number of the variants described in Table 2A and B were studied, and in results similar to those obtained with in vivo mutants (115), different CTL clones showed a complicated pattern of cross-reactivity on the in vitro selected mutants (70). For example, bm10 anti- K^b CTL clones would be expected to recognize sites within the $\alpha 2$ domain of K^b molecules dependent upon a polypeptide stretch that includes residues from 163 to 174. However, a majority of these CTL clones lost recognition of mutants with putative changes in the $\alpha 1$ domain (since the mutants were selected with an anti- $\alpha 1$ domain monoclonal antibody). Therefore, much like the conclu-

sions drawn from the in vivo variants, CTLs appear to recognize determinants present on in vitro variants formed by interaction of the $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains (70).

The immune recognition of hybrid H-2 gene products produced by exon exchange between different class-I genes (see Recombinant H-2 Genes) has also been analyzed. Again, the alloreactive CTL determinants for these hybrid genes were shown to be located in the $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains (78, 79, 94, 95, 96). The analyses further suggested that interaction between $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ gives rise to conformational sites recognized by both allogeneic (79, 96) and virus-specific CTL (96, 97) and that $\alpha 3$ does not significantly influence these sites (96, 97). Thus, the analysis of in vitro variants produced both by chemical mutagenesis and genetic engineering confirms and extends the results obtained with the naturally occurring mutants.

Deletion mutagenesis and exon-shuffling have been utilized to identify the functional role of the class-I cytoplasmic domain in CTL recognition of *MHC* products. Excision of this region from cloned L^d genes yielded disparate results in T cell-mediated killing of vesicular stomatitis virusinfected cells. Zuniga et al (99) demonstrated that lysis was independent of the cytoplasmic domain of L^d whereas Murre et al (98) suggested that the truncated L^d molecule was recognized less efficiently than the intact molecule. Analysis of CTL directed against either lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (99) or influenza virus (98) in the context of *MHC* has shown lack of a requirement for the L^d cytoplasmic domain. Similarly, influenza-Avirus recognition by K^b restricted CTL is independent of the phenotype of the intracellular C-terminus (97). By consensus, therefore, it appears that the cytoplasmic domain does not play a crucial role in *MHC*-restricted T cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

Antibody Recognition of \mathbf{K}^{b} Variants

Using a series of monoclonal antibodies raised for a number of different allogeneic combinations by several laboratories, studies on K^b mutant and parent molecules have revealed relevant features of the antigenic determinants on $H-2K^b$ with which these antibodies interact. It is striking that of 15 monoclonal antibodies against K^b derived from various alloimmunizations (56, 67, 76, 130), 10 were found to react specifically with sites located in either the $\alpha 1$ or $\alpha 2$ domain. Of these, 5 were localized further to epitopes influenced by alterations in amino acid positions 75, 77, or 89, since monoclonal antibodies EH-144 (T. V. Rajan, unpublished), B8-24-3 (131), 20-8-4 (132), K10-56 (67), and Y-25 (133) were weakly bound or unreactive with cells from the mutants bm3 and 23 (Table 4). The bm11 mutant cells, while unreactive with Y-25 retained reactivity with other monoclonal antibodies of this series. Significantly, determinants detected by five other

.

4 Pr

* Carbohydrate moiety.

¹ Data are compilation of references 67, 76, 130, 56. ² Key: Reactivity in different studies: (+) greater than 25%; (±) 10-25%; (-) 0-10%. ³ Not determined.

Annual Reviews

490

NATHENSON ET AL

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:471-502. Downloaded from arjournals. annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

Table 5 Properties of mutants altered in the $\alpha 2$ recognition region (150–180)

	5 		Amino	acid sequen	8							
	150 A G F	155 A F P I D	160 A V I E C	165 T C V E W	170 170	175 V NGN A T			mAb	profile ¹		
	2	4 + 4 + 4 +			- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -		K7-65	K9-178	5F-1	28-13-3	K9-136	28-8-6
k ^b bm1							8 +	+ 1	+	+	+	 +
bm10				EM		-E L	۳.		I	I		I
* Carbohi ¹ Data ara ² Key: Re ³ Not dete	ydrate moiety e compilation activity in dif srmined.	of references Terent studies	67, 76, 130, 56 : (+) greater t	, han 25%;(±) 10-25%; () 0-10%.	i					

MHC CLASS-I MUTANTS 491

Annual Reviews

antibodies, K7-65 (67), 28-8-6 (132), K9-178 (67), 5F1 (134), and 28-13-3 (135), were mapped to amino acid changes at positions 152, 155, 156, 163, 165, 173, and 174 by loss of reactivity with cells from mutants bm1, bm4, or bm10 (Table 5). A single monoclonal antibody, K9-136 (67), appeared to map to a site created by interaction between the α 1 and α 2 domains; it showed weak or complete loss of binding to both bm3 (α 1) and bm4 (α 2).

The monoclonal antibodies that can be mapped to these regions (Tables 4 and 5) reveal different binding patterns on the various mutants, suggesting that they are detecting related but nonidentical epitope patterns. Regarding the antibody mapping data, chemically mutagenized variants selected for loss of reactivity by the above antibodies also show amino acid changes in these stretches. For example, preliminary analysis (P. Ajit Kumar, personal communication) of one such variant, R8.246 (see Table 2A) selected by loss of binding by EH-144, an α 1 reactive monoclonal antibody has a single change at position 80 in its K molecule.

Summary of Structure-Function Studies on MHC Mutants

In summary, both in vivo and in vitro class-I variants have been studied as recognition elements for alloreactive and viral-restricted CTLs, and monoclonal antibodies. Not all the available mutants have been tested in all the virus restriction systems, nor has an extremely large number of monoclonal antibodies to K^b been examined; however, taken together, the studies demonstrate that:

- 1. Small changes in amino acid sequence in either the $\alpha 1$ or $\alpha 2$ domain can cause significant alterations in recognition by antibody or CTL.
- 2. Primary sequence similarity of different mutants is reflected in similar patterns of immune recognition by both the antibody and cell-mediated systems.
- 3. The majority of monoclonal antibodies to K^b recognize discrete, domain-specific sites present either in $\alpha 1$ or $\alpha 2$. These sites are localized to or influenced by polypeptide stretches in the $\alpha 1$ domain from amino acid residues 70 to 90, and in the $\alpha 2$ domain from 150 to 180.
- 4. CTLs recognize conformational determinants produced by apparent interaction of amino acid residues located in sites in either the $\alpha 1$ or the $\alpha 2$ domains of the class-I heavy-chain polypeptide.
- 5. The α 3 domain does not appear to influence the conformational determinants (present in α 1 and α 2) required for CTL recognition.

Features of Class-I Molecules Relevant to MHC/T Cell–Receptor Interactions

The advances in protein sequencing and molecular genetic analyses have expanded our understanding of the overall structural properties of the class-I molecules and the organization and interaction of their genes in the *MHC*. At the three-dimensional structure level, we have no information on the properties of these molecules that relates to interactions between the class-I protein and the T-cell receptor. Nonetheless, primary sequence data specifically with respect to the bm mutant changes, when correlated with antibody-binding and CTL-recognition data, suggest a number of features of the class-I molecule relevant to its recognition by the immune system.

RECOGNITION REGIONS Studies on the antigenic structures of proteins (136) conclude that antigenic determinants must be formed of, or assembled from, amino acid residues that are situated on the surface of the protein and are topographically adjacent. In addition, there are certain sequences that appear to be "immunodominant" for reasons intrinsic to the protein or the regulatory mechanism of the host.

Clearly, immunodominant or recognition regions must exist on class-I molecules to interact with the T-cell receptor. While there is no direct evidence, the data available on the K^b molecule on critical residues for antibody binding and CTL recognition permit speculation on possible recognition sites. The speculation is necessarily biased to the available data. Since the majority of monoclonal antibodies have detected clusters of amino acids in either the $\alpha 1$ domain (70–90) or $\alpha 2$ domain (150–180) we have defined these stretches as major recognition regions (Tables 4 and 5).

By "recognition region" we imply only that certain amino acid residues in such stretches may be in contact with an immune receptor or, possibly, may affect other residues that form a class-I molecule site for immune recognition. Since residues in the recognition regions interact with an immune receptor, it would follow that these stretches of residues are located on the surface of the protein domains. Consistent with their proposed surface exposure is the finding that both stretches contain a large number of charged hydrophilic residues, Arg, Lys, Glu, or Asp, and a carbohydrate moiety. In defining these regions we have arbitrarily chosen boundaries encompassing amino acid residues defined only by those K^{bm} mutant molecules that demonstrate altered binding by monoclonal antibodies. The mutant K molecules of the bm8 mice and "bg series" mice do not show altered antibody binding, and therefore the stretch of substitutions are not included as recognition regions, although the changes in the K sequence in these mutants are detected by CTL.

It is particularly relevant that several CTL-detected *HLA* variants have amino acid changes in the postulated recognition regions described for the K^{bm} mutants. For example, the peptide encompassing amino acids 147–157 has been altered in four *HLA* variants (53, 57, 82, 83, 137, 138). In addition, two *HLA* variants were found to have changes in the α 1 recognition region at position 77 (and 152) (57) and another at positions 77, 80, 81 (52). It is

striking therefore that studies on variants from the human system, as discussed by Lopez de Castro et al (17), as well as the mouse system, identify similar immune dominant stretches of amino acids in class-I molecules. Of course, it is quite possible that as more data accumulate we may find evidence to establish the importance of other regions in MHC recognition.

Whereas individual antibodies appear to interact with either one or the other recognition region of the $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains, CTLs concordantly recognize sites determined by these two stretches. This could mean that the T-cell receptor interacts simultaneously with these separate immunodominant regions, since a change in either the $\alpha 1$ or $\alpha 2$ recognition region alters CTL interaction, or that stretches of polypeptide from each region of the class-I molecule interact to form a single combinatorial determinant. The interpretation that interaction of the $\alpha 1$ - and $\alpha 2$ -recognition regions forms a joint noncontiguous site is favored by the finding that one monoclonal antibody, K9-136, appears to recognize a site dependent upon juxtaposition of the two regions, since it has lost binding to both the K^{bm3} (alterations at residues 77 and 89) and the K^{bm4} products (alterations at residues 173 and 174).

An additional possibility could be that one of the postulated recognition regions is dominant, and the T-cell receptor interacts with this site—most likely the $\alpha 2$ region; this is suggested by the extraordinary biological effects of the changes found in bm1 (Table 3) and in many *HLA* variants (17). The site in the $\alpha 1$ region, while still accessible to monoclonal antibody as a site distinct from the $\alpha 2$ region, must have long-range allosteric effects on the conformation of the $\alpha 2$ recognition region. Consistent with this idea is the fact that the $\alpha 1$ domain lacks a disulfide bridge. Thus, the lack of constraint imposed by intradomain disulfide cross-linking might allow sufficient flexibility in the folding of the polypeptide strands of the $\alpha 1$ domain to permit interaction with polypeptide stretches of the $\alpha 2$ domain.

The sites defined by the bm mutants are clearly important for both monoclonal antibody and CTL recognition. The hypothesis that CTLs see sites on both the $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains or on an $\alpha 1/\alpha 2$ interaction site, and that antibodies see individual sites localized to a single domain, identifies a fundamental difference between recognition by the two systems. Further analysis using additional in vitro mutants of K^b will allow finer probing of the requirements for interaction between the T-cell receptor and a particular "site" on the *MHC* molecule. Precise topographical relationships must await the knowledge of the three-dimensional configuration of both the T-cell receptor and *MHC* class-I molecules.

SUMMARY

The class-I mutants have provided a model system for understanding the generation of diversity of the genes encoding the histocompatibility molecules K, D, and L, and the relationship of their structure to function. The complex nature of the alterations found in K^{b} molecules from mutant mice has been documented at the nucleic acid level for eight mutants. The clustered changes in the mutant genes are consistent with the hypothesis that genetic recombination between class-I genes generates the K^{b} mutants. Techniques using synthetic oligonucleotide probes to mutant DNA sequence demonstrated that other class-I genes were available as donors for interaction with the K^{b} gene to produce the mutations. Intriguingly, donor genes found in the K region (K1) and the D region (D^{b}), as well as the Qa regions (04, 010), were capable of the interactions. The amount of genetic transfer to K^{b} from other class-I donor genes may range from a potential minimum of 5 nucleotides to a potential maximum of 95 nucleotides. Genealogical analysis of several bm mutants has further indicated that at least some, if not all, of the gene interaction events generating K^{b} mutations occurred during mitotic amplification of the germ cells. Genetic recombination among class-I genes occurring in nature to the extent observed for the K^{bm} mutants could readily generate mosaic transplantation genes containing sequences derived from other class-I genes. Thus, it seems likely that genetic interaction plays a major role in the diversification and ongoing evolution of the MHC.

The localization of altered amino acids in the in vivo mutant K^b molecules has directed our attention to recognition regions on the K^b product that play a major role in determining alloreactivity and H-2 associative recognition. The replacement of one or a few amino acids in either of the postulated recognition regions located in the $\alpha 1$ domain (residues 70–90) or $\alpha 2$ domain (residues 150–180) can have marked effects on biological function. While the majority of monoclonal antibodies recognize epitopes in one or the other recognition region, CTL recognize determinants dependent on the apparent interaction of amino acids located in both regions. These overall conclusions are supported to a large extent by studies on mutants derived from several sources, i.e. spontaneous mutants, mutagen-induced somatic variants, and products of hybrid H-2 genes.

Studies of in vitro variants can provide a more refined approach for analysis of structure-function relationships through the introduction of minimal biochemical changes. Loss variants will provide a unique approach to understanding the regulation of class-I gene expression and, in addition, information on those regions of the encoded products respon-

sible for directing these molecules to the cell surface. Clearly, analysis of variants produced by a variety of methods is essential to a complete understanding of the regions of class-I molecules that play a role in their expression and function.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The original work reviewed in this chapter was supported by USPHS grants AI-07289, AI-10702, NCI P30-CA-13330, and a grant from the American Cancer Society (IM-236). Stanley G. Nathenson is a member of The Irvington House Institute for Immunological Research. Richard A. Zeff is an established fellow of the New York Heart Association. We especially thank Jose Lopez de Castro for his generosity in sending preprints of his review and other papers, Silvio Hemmi and Deborah French for critical review of the manuscript, and Catherine Whelan for her excellent secretarial services.

Literature Cited

- 1. Gorer, P. A. 1937. The genetic and antigenic basis of tumour transplantation. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 44:691
- Snell, G. D. 1948. Methods for the study of histocompatibility genes. J. Genet. 49:87
- Hansen, T. H., Spinella, D. G., Lee, D. R., Shreffler, D. C. 1984. The immunogenetics of the mouse major histocompatibility gene complex. Ann. Rev. Genet. 18:99
- Nathenson, S. G., Uehara, H., Ewenstein, B. M., Kindt, T. J., Coligan, J. E. 1981. Primary structural analysis of transplantation antigens of the murine H-2 major histocompatibility complex. *Ann. Rev. Biochem.* 50:1025
- Kimball, E. S., Coligan, J. E. 1983. Structure of class I major histocompatibility antigens. In *Contemporary Topics* in *Molecular Immunology*, ed. F. P. Inman, T. J. Kindt, 9:1. New York: Plenum
- Steinmetz, M., Hood, L. 1983. Genes of the major histocompatibility complex in mouse and man. Science 222:727
- Brown, J. L., Kato, K., Silver, J., Nathenson, S. G. 1974. Notable diversity in peptide composition of murine H-2K and H-2D alloantigens. *Biochemistry* 13:3174
- Bailey, D. W., Kohn, H. I. 1965. Inherited histocompatibility changes in progeny of irradiated and unirradiated inbred mice. *Genet. Res.* 6:330

- 9. Egorov, I. K. 1967. A mutation of histocompatibility-2 locus in the mouse. *Genetika* 3:136
- Kohn, H. I., Klein, J., Melvold, R. W., Nathenson, S. G., Pious, D., Shreffler, D. C. 1978. The first H-2 mutant workshop. *Immunogenetics* 7: 279
- Nairn, R., Yamaga, K., Nathenson, S. G. 1980. Biochemistry of the gene products from murine MHC mutants. Ann. Rev. Genet. 14:241
- Klein, J. 1978. H-2 mutations: Their genetics and effect on immune functions. Adv. Immunol. 26:55
- Klein, J. 1979. The major histocompatibility complex of the mouse. Science 203:516
- McKenzie, I. F. C., Pang, T., Blanden, R. V. 1977. The use of H-2 mutants as models for the study of T cell activation. *Immunol. Rev.* 35:181
- 15. Vitetta, E. S., Capra, J. D. 1978. The protein products of the murine 17th chromosome: Genetics and structure. *Adv. Immunol.* 26:147
- Strominger, J. L., Engelhard, V. H., Fuks, A., Guild, B. C., Hyafil, F., Kaufman, J. F., Korman, A. J., Kostyk, T. G., Krangel, M. S., Lancet, D., Lopez de Castro, J. A., Mann, D. L., Orr, H. T., Parham, P., Parker, K. C., Ploegh, H. L., Pober, J. S., Robb, R. J., Shackelford, D. A. 1981. Biochemical analysis of products of the MHC. In The Role of the Major Histocompatibility Complex

in Immunobiology, ed. M. E. Dorf, p. 115. New York: Garland

- Lopez de Castro, J. A., Barbosa, J. A., Krangel, M. S., Biro, P. A., Strominger, J. L. 1985. Structural analysis of the functional sites of class I HLA antigens. *Immunol. Rev.* 85: 149
- Pease, L. R., Ewenstein, B. M., Mc-Govern, D., Melvold, R. W., Nisizawa, T., Nathenson, S. G. 1983. Biochemical studies on the H-2K mutant B6.C-H-2^{bm10}. Immunogenetics 17:7
- Pease, L. R., Schulze, D. H., Pfaffenbach, G. M., Nathenson, S. G. 1983. Spontaneous H-2 mutants provide evidence that a copy mechanism analogous to gene conversion generates polymorphism in the major histocompatibility complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:242
- Yamaga, K. M., Pfaffenbach, G. M., Pease, L. R., McGovern, D., Nisizawa, T., Melvold, R. W., Kohn, H. I., Nathenson, S. G. 1983. Biochemical studies of H-2K antigens from a group of related mutants. I. Identification of a shared mutation in B6-H-2^{bm5} and B6-H-2^{bm16}. Immunogenetics 17:19
- Yamaga, K. M., Pfaffenbach, G. M., Pease, L. R., McGovern, D., Nisizawa, T., Melvold, R. W., Kohn, H. I., Nathenson, S. G. 1983. Biochemical studies of H-2K antigens from a group of related mutants. II. Identification of a shared mutation in B6-H-2^{bm6}, B6.C-H-2^{bm7} and B6.C-H-2^{bm9}. Immunogenetics 17:31
- 22. Weiss, E., Golden, L., Zakut, R., Mellor, A., Fahrner, K., Kvist, S., Flavell, R. A. 1983. The DNA sequence of the H-2K^b gene: Evidence for gene conversion as a mechanism for the generation of polymorphism in histocompatibility antigens. EMBO J. 2:453-62
- 23. Weiss, E. H., Mellor, A., Golden, L., Fahrner, K., Simpson, E., Hurst, J., Flavell, R. A. 1983. The structure of a mutant H-2 gene suggests that the generation of polymorphism in H-2 genes may occur by gene conversionlike events. *Nature* 301:671
- Schulzc, D. H., Pease, L. R., Obata, Y., Nathenson, S. G., Reyes, A. A., Ikuta, S., Wallace, R. B. 1983. Identification of the cloned gene for the murine transplantation antigen H-2K^b by hybridization with synthetic oligonucleotides. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 3:750
- Schulze, D. H., Pease, L. R., Geier, S. S., Reyes, A. A., Sarmiento, L. A., Wallace, R. B., Nathenson, S. G. 1983. Comparison of the cloned H-2K^{bm1} variant gene with the H-2K^b gene shows a cluster of

seven nucleotide differences. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:2007

- 26. Geliebter, J., Zeff, R. A., Schulze, D. H., Pease, L. R., Weiss, E. H., Mellor, A. L., Flavell, R. A., Nathenson, S. G. 1986. Interaction between K^b and Q4 gene sequences generated the K^{bm6} mutation. Mol. Cell. Biol. In press
- 27. Geliebter, J., Melvold, R. W., Zeff, R. A., Nathenson, S. G. 1986. Mitotic recombination in germ cells generates two MHC mutants determined to be identical by RNA sequence analysis: K^{bm9} and K^{bm6}. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. In press
- 28. Geliebter, J., Nathenson, S. G. 1985. Sequence analysis of MHC mutants K^{bm3}, K^{bm4}, K^{bm10} and K^{bm11}, and identification of donor genes provides evidence of recombination between class I genes as a mechanism for the generation of diversity. In preparation
- Weiss, E. H., Golden, L., Fahrner, K., Mellor, A. L., Devlin, J. J., Bullman, H., Tiddens, H., Bud, H., Flavell, R. A. 1984. Organization and evolution of the class I gene family in the major histocompatibility complex of the C57BL/10 mouse. *Nature* 310: 650
- Steinmetz, M., Winoto, A., Minard, K., Hood, L. 1982. Clusters of genes encoding mouse transplantation antigens. Cell 28:489-98
- 31. Lopez de Castro, J. A., Strominger, J. L., Strong, D. M., Orr, H. 1982. Structure of crossreactive human histocompatibility antigens HLA-A28 and HLA-A2: Possible implications for the generation of HLA polymorphism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:3813
- Pfaffenbach, G. M., Uehara, H., Schulze, D. H., Nathenson, S. G. 1986. Biochemical and molecular biological studies of the MHC mutant B6-H-2^{6m8}: Complete sequence and functional implications. In preparation
 Callahan, G. N., Walker, L. E., Martin,
- Callahan, G. N., Walker, L. E., Martin, W. J. 1981. Biochemical comparison of H-2K antigen isolated from C3HfB/ HeN and C3H/HeN mice. *Immuno*genetics 12:561
- 34. Éwald, S. J., Klein, J., Hood, L. E. 1979. Peptide map analysis of mutant transplantation antigens. *Immunogenetics* 8: 551
- Melvold, R. W., Kohn, H. I., Dunn, G. R. 1982. History and genealogy of the H-2K^b mutants from the C57BL/6Kh colony. *Immunogenetics* 15:177
- 36. Evans, G. A., Margulies, D. H., Camerini-Otero, D., Ozata, K., Seidman, J. G. 1982. Structure and expression of a mouse major histocompati-

bility antigen gene, H-2L^d. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA : 1994

- 37. Klein, J. 1984. Gene conversion in MHC genes. Transplantation 38:327
- Ohta, T. 1982. Allelic and non-allelic homology of a supergene family. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79: 3251
- 39. Pease, L. R. 1985. Diversity in H-2 genes encoding antigen-presenting molecules is generated by interactions between members of the major histocompatibility complex gene family. *Transplantation* 39:227
- Lalanne, J. L., Bregegere, F., Delarbre, C., Abastado, J. P., Gachelin, G., Kourilsky, P. 1982. Comparison of nucleotide sequences of mRNAs belonging to the mouse H-2 multigene family. Nucleic Acids Res. 10: 1039
- Hayashida, H., Miyata, T. 1983. Unusual evolutionary conservation and frequent DNA segment exchange in class I genes of the major histocompatibility complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 80:2671
- 42. Schreier, P. H., Bothwell, A. L. M., Mueller-Hill, B., Baltimore, D. 1981. Multiple differences between the nucleic acid sequences of the IgG2a^a and IgG2a^b alleles of the mouse. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:4495
- Mellor, A. L., Weiss, E. H., Ramachandran, K., Flavell, R. A. 1983. A potential donor gene for the bm1 gene conversion event in the C57BL mouse. *Nature* 306:792
- 44. Ajit Kumar, P., Egorov, E., Nathenson, S. G. 1986. Sequence analysis of a unique H-2K^b mutant, bm23, and determination of its donor gene. In preparation
- 45. Fisher, D. A., Hunt, S. W., Hood, L. 1985. The structure of a gene encoding a murine thymus leukemia antigen and the organization of Tla genes in the Balb/c mouse. J. Exp. Med. 162: 528
- 46. Pontarotti, P., Mashimo, H., Zeff, R. A., Fisher, D., Hood, L., Mellor, A., Flavell, R. A., Nathenson, S. G. 1986. Conservation vs diversity in class I genes of the major histocompatibility complex: Sequence analysis of the Tla^b gene and comparison with a Tla^c gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. In press
- Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. In press
 47. Mellor, A. C., Weiss, E. H., Kress, M., Jay, G., Flavell, R. A. 1984. A nonpolymorphic class I gene in the murine major histocompatibility complex. Cell 36:139
- Miyata, T., Yasunaga, T., Yamawaki-Kataoka, Y., Obata, M., Honjo, T. 1980. Nucleotide sequence divergence of mouse immunoglobulin y1 and y2b

chain genes and the hypothesis of intervening sequence-mediated domain transfer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:2143

- 49. Slightom, J. L., Blechl, A. E., Smithies, O. 1980. Human fetal G_y- and A_y-globin genes: Complex nucleotide sequences suggest that DNA can be exchanged between duplicated genes. *Cell* 21:627
- Ruppert, S., Scherer, G., Schutz, G. 1984. Recent gene conversion involving bovine vasopressin and oxytocin precursor genes suggested by nucleotide sequence. Nature 308:554
- Morgan, G. M., Dellos, H., McKenzie, I. F. C., Melvold, R. W., Bailey, D. W. 1980. Studies of two H-2D^b mutants: B6.C-H-2^{bm13} and B6.C-H-2^{bm14}. Immunogenetics 11:341
- 52. Vega, M. A., Ezquerra, A., Rojo, S., Aparicio, P., Bragado, R., Lopez de Castro, J. A. 1985. Structural analysis of an HLA-B27 functional variant: Identification of residues that contribute to the specificity of recognition by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 82:7394
- 53. van Schravendijk, M. R., Biddison, W. E., Berger, A. E., Coligan, J. E. 1985. Comparative structural analysis of HLA-A3 antigens distinguishable by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 134:410
- 54. Taketani, S., Krangel, M. S., Spits, H., De Vries, J., Strominger, J. L. 1984. Structural analysis of an HLA-B7 antigen variant detected by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 133:816
- 55. Loh, D. Y., Baltimore, D. 1984. Sexual preference of apparent gene conversion events in MHC genes of mice. *Nature* 309:639
- Egorov, O. S., Egorov, I. K. 1984. H-2^{bm23}, a new K^b mutant similar to but not identical with H-2^{bm3}. *Immunogen*etics 20:83
- 57. Vega, M. A., Wallace, L., Rojo, S., Bragado, R., Aparicio, P., Lopez de Castro, J. A. 1985. Delineation of functional sites in HLA-B2 variant WEWAK I defined by cytolytic lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 135: 3323
- 58. Steinmetz, M., Moore, K. W., Frelinger, J. G., Sher, B. T., Shen, F.-W., Boyse, E. A., Hood, L. 1981. A pseudogene homologous to mouse transplantation antigens: Transplantation antigens are encoded by eight exons that correlate with protein domains. *Cell* 25:683
- Lalanne, J. L., Transy, D., Guerin, S., Darche, S., Meulien, P. 1985. Expression of class I genes in the major histocompatibility complex : Identifica-

tion of eight distinct mRNAs in DBA/2 mouse liver. Cell 41:469

- 60. Yokoyama, K., Stockert, E., Old, L. J., Nathenson, S. G. 1981. Structural comparisons of TL antigens derived from normal and leukemia cells of TL⁺ and TL⁻ strains and relationship to genetically linked H-2 major histocompatibility complex products. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:7078
- 61. Yokoyama, K., Nathenson, S. G. 1983. Intramolecular organization of class I H-2 MHC antigens: Localization of the alloantigenic determinants and the β_{2m} binding site to different regions of the H-2K^b glycoprotein. J. Immunol. 130: 1419
- 62. Bjaring, B., Klein, G. 1968. Antigenic characterization of mouse lymphomas after immunoselection in vivo. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 41:1411
- Flores, C., Rajan, T. V. 1977. H-2 antigen variants in a cultured mouse leukemia cell line. II. Effect of selection against a K-end gene. *Immunogenetics* 5:295
- 64. Rajan, T. V., Flores, C. 1977. H-2 antigen variants in a cultured heterozygous mouse leukemia cell line. III. Effect of selection against a D-end gene. *Immunogenetics* 5:585
- Rajan, T. V. 1977. H-2 antigen variants in a cultured heterozygous cell line. *Immunogenetics* 4:105
- Rajan, T. V. 1980. H-2 antigen variants in a cultured heterozygous mouse leukemia cell line. VII. Effect of selection with a hybridoma antibody. *Immunogenetics* 10:423
- 67. Hammerling, G. J., Rusch, E., Tada, N., Kimura, S., Hammerling, U. 1982. Localization of allodeterminants on H-2K^b antigens determined with monoclonal antibodies and H-2 mutant mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:4737
- Chapdelaine, J. M., Rajan, T. V., Nathenson, S. G., Lilly, F. 1981. Use of hybridoma-resistant variant cell lines to study H-2D^b/FMR-specific cytotoxic T cells. *Immunogenetics* 14:429
- Potter, T. A., Palladino, M. A., Wilson, D. B., Rajan, T. V. 1983. Epitopes on H-2D^d somatic cell mutants recognized by cytotoxic T cells. J. Exp. Med. 158: 1061
- 70. Bluestone, J. A., Palman, C., Foo, M., Geier, S. S., Nathenson, S. G. 1984. Analysis of major histocompatibility complex class I antigens using *in vitro*derived somatic cell mutants. In *Regulations of the Immune System*, 89 pp. New York: Liss
- 71. Holtkamp, B., Cramer, M., Lemke, H.,

MHC CLASS-I MUTANTS 49

Rajewsky, K. 1981. Isolation of a cloned cell line expressing variant H-2K^k using fluorescence-activated cell sorting. *Nature* 289:66

- 72. Geier, S. S., Zeff, R. A., Rajan, T. V., Nathenson, S. G. 1986. Analysis of K^b somatic cell variants: An approach to the study of MHC structure-function relationships. In preparation
- 73. Pious, D., Krangel, M. S., Dixon, L. L., Parham, P., Strominger, J. L. 1982. HLA antigen structural gene mutants selected with an allospecific monoclonal antibody. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 79:7832
- 74. Krangel, M. S., Pious, D., Strominger, J. L. 1984. Characterization of a B lymphoblastoid cell line mutant that secretes HLA-A2. J. Immunol. 132: 2984
- Krangel, M. S. 1985. Unusual RNA splicing generates a secreted form of HLA-A2 in a mutagenized B lymphoblastoid cell line. EMBO J. 4:1205
- Bluestone, J. A., McKenzie, I. F. C., Melvold, R. W., Ozato, K., Sandrin, M. I., Sharrow, I. A., Sachs, D. H. 1984. Serological analysis of H-2 mutations using monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunogenetics 11:197
- Evans, G. A., Margulies, D., Shykind, B., Seidman, J. G., Ozato, K. 1982. Exon shuffling maps polymorphic determinants on hybrid mouse transplantation antigens. *Nature* 300: 755
- 78. Murre, C., Choi, E., Weis, J., Seidman, J. G., Ozato, K., Liu, L., Burakoff, S. J., Reiss, C. S. 1984. Dissection of serologic and cytolytic T lymphocyte epitopes on murine major histocompatibility antigens by a recombinant H-2 gene separating the first two external domains. J. Exp. Med. 160:167
- Bluestone, J. A., Foo, M., Allen, H., Segal, D., Flavell, R. A. 1985. Allospecific cytolytic T lymphocytes recognize conformational determinants on hybrid mouse transplantation antigens. J. Exp. Med. 162:268
- Pious, D., Soderland, C., Gladstone, P. 1977. Induction of HLA mutations by chemical mutagens in human lymphoid cells. *Immunogenetics* 4:437
- Krangel, M. S., Taketani, S., Pious, D., Strominger, J. L. 1983. HLA-A2 mutants immunoselected in vitro: Definition of residues contributing to an HLA-A2 specific serological determinant. J. Exp. Med. 157:324
- Taketani, S., Krangel, M. S., Pious, D., Strominger, J. L. 1983. Structural analysis of a mutant HLA-A2 antigen obtained by selection with an allospeci-

Annual Reviews

500 NATHENSON ET AL

fic monoclonal antibody. J. Immunol. 131:2935

- Moore, K. W., Sher, B. T., Sun, Y. H., Eakle, K. A., Hood, L. 1982. DNA sequence of a gene encoding a BALB/c mouse L⁴ transplantation antigen. *Science* 215:679
- Kvist, S., Roberts, L., Dobberstein, B. 1983. Mouse histocompatibility genes: Structure and organisation of a K^d gene. EMBO J. 2:245
- Arnold, B., Burget, H. G., Archibald, A. L., Kvist, S. 1984. Complete nucleotide sequence of the murine H-2K^k gene. Comparison of three H-2K locus alleles. Nucleic Acids Res. 12:9473
- 86. Morita, T., Delarbre, C., Kress, M., Kourilsky, P., Gacheline, D. 1985. An H-2K gene of the t^{w23} mutant at the T/t complex is a close parent of an H-2K^b gene. *Immunogenetics* 21:367
- Goodenow, R. S., McMillan, M., Nicolson, M., Sher, B. T., Eakle, K., Davidson, N., Hood, L. 1982. Identification of the class I genes of the mouse major histocompatibility complex by DNA-mediated gene transfer. *Nature* 300: 231
- 88. Mellor, A. L., Golden, L., Weiss, E., Bullman, H., Hurst, J., Simpson, E., James, R. F. L., Townsend, A. R. M., Taylor, P. M., Schmidt, W., Ferluga, J., Leben, L., Santamaria, M., Atfield, G., Festenstein, H., Flavell, R. A. 1982. Expression of murine H-2K^b histocompatibility antigen in cells transformed with cloned H-2 gencs. Nature 298:529
- 89. Orn, A., Goodenow, R. S., Hood, L., Brayton, P. R., Woodward, J. G., Harmon, R. C., Frelinger, J. A. 1982. Product of a transferred H-2L^d gene acts as a restriction element for LCMVspecific killer T cells. *Nature* 297:415
- Woodward, J. G., Orn, A., Harmon, R. C., Goodenow, R. S., Hood, L., Frelinger, J. A. 1982. Specific recognition of the product of a transferred major histocompatibility complex gene by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79: 3613
- 91. Forman, J., Goodenow, R. S., Hood, L., Ciavara, R. 1983. Use of DNA mediated gene transfer to analyze the role of H-2L^d in controlling the specificity of antivesicular stomatitis virus cytotoxic T cells. J. Exp. Med. 157:1261
- 92. Margulies, D. H., Evans, G. A., Ozato, K., Camerini-Otero, R. D., Tanaka, K., Appella, E., Scidman, J. G. 1983. Expression of H-2D^d and H-SL^d mouse major histocompatibility antigen genes in L cells after DNA-mediated gene transfer. J. Immunol. 130:463

- Frels, W. I., Bluestone, J. A., Hodes, R. J., Capecchi, M. R., Singer, D. S. 1985. Expression of a microinjected porcineclass I MHC gene in transgenic mice. *Science* 228:577
- 94. Ozato, K., Evans, G. A., Shykind, B., Margulies, D. H., Seidman, J. G. 1983. Hybrid H-2 histocompatibility gene products assign domains recognized by alloreactive T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:2040
- 95. Reiss, C. S., Evans, G. A., Margulies, D. H., Seidman, J. G., Burakoff, S. J. 1983. Allospecific and virus-specific cytolytic Tlymphocytes are restricted to the N or C1 domain of H-2 antigens expressed on L cells after DNA mediated gene transfer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:2709
- Allen, H., Wraith, D., Pala, P., Askonas, B., Flavell, R. A. 1984. Domain interactions of H-2 class I antigens alter cytotoxic T-cell recognition sites. *Nature* 309:279
- 97. Arnold, B., Burget, H. G., Hamann, U., Hammerling, G., Kees, U., Kvist, S. 1984. Cytotoxic T-cells recognize the two amino-terminal domains of H-2K antigens in tandem in influenza A infected cells. Cell 38: 79
- Murre, C., Reiss, C. S., Bernabeu, C., Chen, L. B., Burakoff, S. J., Seidman, J. G. 1984. Construction, expression and recognition of an H-2 molecule lacking its carboxyl terminus. *Nature* 307:432
- Zuniga, M. C., Malissen, B., McMillan, M., Brayton, P. R., Clark, S. S., Forman, J., Hood, L. 1983. Expression and function of transplantation antigens with altered or deleted cytoplasmic domain. *Cell* 34:535
- 100. Shiroishi, T., Evans, G. A., Appella, E., Ozato, K. 1984. Role of a disulfide bridge in the immune function of major histocompatibility class I antigen as studied by *in vitro* mutagenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:7544
- 101. Shiroishi, T., Evans, G. A., Appella, E., Ozato, K. 1985. In vitro mutagenesis of a mouse MHC class I gene for the examination of structure-function relationships. J. Immunol. 134:623
- 102. Engelhard, V. H., Yannelli, J. R., Evans, G. A., Walk, S. F., Holterman, M. J. 1985. Construction of novel class I histocompatibility antigens by interspecies exon shuffling. J. Immunol. 134:4218
- 103. McCluskey, J., Germain, R. N., Margulies, D. H. 1985. Cell surface expression of an *in vitro* recombinant class II/class I major histocompatibility complex gene product. Cell 40: 247

- 104. Krangel, M. S., Pious, D., Strominger, J. L. 1982. Human histocompatibility antigen mutants immunoselected in vitro biochemical analysis of a mutant which synthesizes an altered HLA-A2 heavy chain. J. Biol. Chem. 257: 5296
- 105. Zeff, R. A., Geier, S. S., Nathenson, S. G. 1985. Nonexpression of H-2 histocompatibility molecules in somatic cell variants due to transcriptional regulation. ICSU Short Rep. Advances in Gene Technology: Molecular Biology of the Immune System 2:359-60
- 106. Potter, T. A., Zeff, R. A., Schmitt-Verhulst, A.-M., Rajan, T. V. 1985. Molecular analysis of an EL-4 cell line that expresses H-2D^b but not H-2K^b or β_2 microglobulin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:2950
- 107. Howell, D. N., Kostyu, D. D., Ting, J. P.-Y., Cresswell, P. 1984. Expression of class I histocompatibility antigens on human T-B lymphoblast hybrids. *Somatic Cell Mol. Genet.* 10:217
- Salter, R., Alexander, J., Cresswell, P. 1985. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of HLA class I antigen expression on T-B lymphoblast hybrids. See Ref. 105, pp. 283-84
- 109. Zeff, R. A., Gopas, J., Steinhauer, E., Rajan, T. V., Nathenson, S. G. 1986. Analysis of somatic cell H-2 loss variants to define the molecular requirements of class I antigen expression. In preparation
- 110. Robinson, P. J. 1982. Synthesis of a defective H-2 histocompatibility antigen by mutant mouse strain BALB/c-H-2^{dm2} Immunogenetics 15:333
- Snell, G. D., Dausset, J., Nathenson, S. G. 1976. Histocompatibility. New York : Academic. 401 pp.
- 112. Zinkernagel, R. M., Doherty, P. C. 1979. MHC-Restricted cytotoxic T cells: Studies on the biological role of polymorphic major transplantation antigens determining T-cell restrictionspecificity, function, and responsiveness. Adv. Immunol. 27:51
- 113. Melief, C. J. M., de Waal, L. P., van der Meulen, M. Y., Melvold, R. W., Kohn, H. I. 1980. Fine specificity of alloimmune cytotoxic T lymphocytes directed against H-2K. J. Exp. Med. 151:993
- 114. Sherman, L. A. 1981. Mutationally derived H-2 antigenic differences as defined by cytolytic T-lymphocyte clones. J. Immunol. 127:1259
- 115. Sherman, L. A. 1982. Recognition of conformational determinants on H-2 by cytolytic T lymphocytes. *Nature* 297:511
- 116. Blanden, R. V., Dunlop, M. B. C.,

MHC CLASS-I MUTANTS 5

Doherty, P. C., Kohn, H. I., McKenzie, I. F. C. 1976. Effects of four H-2K mutations on virus-induced antigens recognized by cytotoxic T cells. *Immunogenetics* 9: 541-48

- 117. Zinkernagel, R. M., Klein, J. 1977. H-2 associated specificity of virus-immune cytotoxic T cells from H-2 mutants and wild-type mice: M523(H-2K^{ka}) and M505 (H-2K^{bd}) do, M504 (H-2D^{da}) and M506 (H-2K^{ra}) do not crossreact with wild-type H-2K or H-2D. *Immunogen*etics 4:581
- Whitmore, A. C., Gooding, L. R. 1981. Specificities of killing by T lymphocytes generated against syngeneic SV40 transformants: Cross-reactivity of the H-2K^{bm1} through K^{bm4} H-2 mutant alleles in K^b restricted SV40-specific killing. J. Immunol. 127:1207
 Pan, S., Wettstein, P. J., Knowles, B. B.
- 119. Pan, S., Wettstein, P. J., Knowles, B. B. 1982. H-2K^b mutations limit the CTL response to SV40 TASA. J. Immunol. 128:243
- Melief, C. J. M., Stukart, M. J., de Waal, L. P., Kast, W. M., Melvold, R. W. 1983. Specificity and regulation of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses analyzed with H-2 mutants. *Transplant. Proc.* 15: 2086
- Clark, S. S., Forman, J. 1983. Allogeneic and associative recognition determinants of H-2 molecules. *Transplant. Proc.* 15:2090
- 122. Stukart, M. J., Vos, A., Boes, J., Melvold, R. W., Bailey, D. W., Melief, C. J. M. 1982. A crucial role of the H-2D locus in the regulation of both the Dand the K- associated cytotoxic Tlymphocyte response against Moloney leukemia virus, demonstrated with two D^b mutants. J. Immunol. 128:1360
- 123. Byrne, J. A., Ahmed, R., Oldstone, M. B. A. 1984. Biology of cloned cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. I. Generation and recognition of virus strains and H-2^b mutants. J. Immunol. 133:433
- 124. Chiang, C. L., Klein, J. 1978. Immunogenetic analysis of H-2 mutations. VII. H-2 associated recognition of minor histocompatibility antigens in H-2K^b mutants. *Immunogenetics* 6:333
- 125. Wettstein, P. J. 1982. H-2 effects on cellcell interactions in the response to single non-H-2 antigens. V. Effects of H-2K^b mutations on presentation of H-4 and H-3 alloantigens. J. Immunol. 128:2629
- 126. Wettstein, P. J., Melvold, R. W. 1983. H-2 effects on cell-cell interactions in the response to single non-H-2 antigens. VI. H-2K^b mutants differentially

regulate the immune response to the H-4.2 alloantigen. Immunogenetics 17:109

- 127. de Waal, L. P., Nathenson, S. G., Melief, C. J. M. 1983. Direct demonstration that cytotoxic T lymphocytes recognize conformational determinants and not primary amino acid sequences. J. Exp. Med. 138:1720
- 128. Levy, R. B., Shearer, G. M. 1982. Cell-mediated lympholysis responses against autologous cells modified with haptenic sulfhydryl reagents. IV. Selfdeterminants recognized by wild-type anti-H-2K^d and H-2D^b restricted cytotoxic T cells specific for sulfhydryl and amino-reactive haptens are absent in certain H-2 mutant strains. J. Immunol. 129:1525
- 129. Davignon, J.-L., Albert, F., Boyer, C., Hua, C., Buferne, M., Schmitt-Verhulst, A. M. 1983. Structural changes in class I MHC molecules influencing recognition by allo- or self+TNP-reactive cytotoxic T-cell clones and by monoclonal antibodies. *Transplant. Rev.* 15: 2080
- 130. Hua, C., Langlet, C., Buferne, M., Schmitt-Verhulst, A. M. 1985. Selective destruction by formaldehyde fixation of an H-2K^b serological determinant involving lysine 89 without loss of T-cell reactivity. *Immunogenetics* 21:227
- 131. Kohler, G., Fischer-Lindahl, K., Heusser, C. 1981. Characterization of a monoclonal anti-H-2K^d antibody. In *The Immune System*, ed. C. Steinberg, I. Lefkovits, 2: 202. Basel : Karger
- 132. Sachs, D. H., Mayer, N., Özato, K. 1981. Hybridoma antibodies directed toward murine H-2 and I-A antigens. In Monoclonal Antibodies and T cell Hybridomas, ed. G. S. Hammerling, U. Hammerling, J. F. Kearney, p. 95. Amsterdam: Elsevier
- 133. Jones, N., Janeway, C. A. Jr. 1981.

Cooperative interaction of B lymphocytes with antigen-specific helper T lymphocytes is MHC restricted. *Nature* 292: 547

- 134. Sherman, L. A., Randolph, C. P. 1981. Monoclonal anti-H-2K^b antibodies detect serological differences between H-2K^b mutants. *Immunogenetics* 12:183
- 135. Ozato, K., Sachs, D. H. 1981. Monoclonal antibodies to mouse *MHC* antigens. III. Hybridoma antibodies reacting to antigens of the H-2^b haplotype reveal genetic control of isotype expression. J. Immunol. 126:317
- 136. Benjamin, D. C., Berzofsky, J. A., East, I. J., Gurd, F. R. N., Hannum, C., Leach, S. J., Margoliash, E., Michael, J. G., Miller, A., Prager, E. M., Reichlin, M., Sercarz, E. E., Smith-Gill, S. J., Todd, P. E., Wilson, A. C. 1984. The antigenic structure of proteins: A reappraisal. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:67
- 137. Krangel, M. S., Taketani, S., Biddison, W. E., Strong, D. M., Strominger, J. L. 1982. Comparative structural analysis of HLA-A2 antigens distinguishable by cytotoxic T lymphocytes: Variants M7 and DR1. Biochemistry 24:6313
- Krangel, M. S., Biddison, W. E., Strominger, J. L. 1983. Comparative structural analysis of HLA-A2 antigens distinguishable by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. II. Variant DK1:evidence for a discrete CTL recognition region. J. Immunol. 130:1856
- 139. Hurwitz, J. L., Pan, S., Wettstein, P. J., Doherty, P. C. 1983. Cross-reactivity patterns of vaccinia-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes from H-2K^b mutants. *Immunogenetics* 17:79
- 140. Townsend, A. R. M., Taylor, P. M., Mellor, A. L., Askonas, B. 1983. Recognition of D^b and K^b gene products by influenza-specific cytotoxic T cells. *Immunogenetics* 17:283

NOTE ADDED IN PROOF Additional sequence data on mutant K^{bm4} indicate that further changes at amino acid positions 162, 163, and 165 are present, which are not identical to the changes in K^{bm10} .



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
The Panspecific Hemopoietin of Activated T Lymphocytes (Interleukin-3), John W. Schrader	205
MOLECULAR IMMUNOBIOLOGY OF COMPLEMENT BIOSYNTHESIS: A MODEL OF SINGLE-CELL CONTROL OF EFFECTOR-INHIBITOR	001
BALANCE, Davia H. Perimutter and Harvey K. Cotten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N. Gaulton and Mark I. Greene	251
ANALYSIS OF THE EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF CLASS-II MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> in Normal and Malignant Cells, Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE- REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4 : 503–28 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT

Hans J. Müller-Eberhard

Division of Molecular Immunology, Research Institute of Scripps Clinic, 10666 North Torrey Pines Road, La Jolla, California 92037

INTRODUCTION

Cell-killing mechanisms are essential components of host defense against infectious agents, parasites, and malignant cells. We distinguish humoral and cellular killing mechanisms. Complement utilizes specific proteins to assemble its killer molecule. Macrophages generate active oxygen radicals that injure target membranes. Lymphocytes, like complement, use protein molecules as tools in the cellular cytotoxicity reaction. As will be suggested at the conclusion of this chapter, considerable similarity between the structure of the cytolytic apparatus of complement and that of lymphocytes has recently come to light. An in-depth knowledge of the structure and function of the killer molecule of complement may therefore facilitate elucidation of the cell-killing mechanism of lymphocytes.

Complement encompasses 20 proteins, not including the various cellsurface complement receptors and regulatory proteins. Only 5 of these 20 proteins participate directly in cell killing—C5, C6, C7, C8, and C9—and none has enzymatic activity, proteolytic or lipolytic. Upon activation of C5, the 5 proteins interact in a sequential manner and fuse into a macromolecular organization, called the membrane attack complex or MAC. Fusion brings forth hydrophobic sites through which the complex inserts itself into the hydrocarbon core of lipid membranes. There it forms transmembrane channels, the largest of which constitutes tubular poly C9.

Activation of C5 is accomplished by a highly specific serine protease, C5 convertase, itself an assembly of three protein molecules. Thus, formation of the MAC is initiated enzymatically, but this enzyme does not participate in actual membrane attack, which is entirely a physicochemical process.

504 müller-eberhard

The actual elucidation of the membrane attack mechanism began about 15 years ago when it was regarded for the first time as a problem of macromolecular protein chemistry. Electron microscopy has greatly facilitated progress in this field; in fact, the image of the MAC was visualized in the electron microscope long before the existence of the MAC became known.

HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE

The first clear evidence that complement produced functional holes in cell membranes rather than membrane rupture was presented by Green, Goldberg and their associates in 1959 (1). Four years later, Humphrey & Dourmashkin (2, 3) reported their electron microscopic findings, that complement evoked structural membrane lesions. They described these lesions as membrane holes (top view) or hollow cylinders filled with negative stain (side view). These lesions were not affected by treatment with proteases but were removed from formaline-fixed membranes by lipid extraction with chloroform-methanol; this suggested that complement attack effected a structural change of the lipid bilayer rather than of membrane proteins.

In his one-hit theory of immune hemolysis, Mayer (4) had postulated in 1961 that a single membrane lesion was sufficient to cause lysis of an erythrocyte and that a single complement molecule at least at some stage of the reaction sequence suffices for production of this lesion. When it was found in 1964 that the number of ultrastructural lesions corresponded approximately to the theoretically predicted number of functional lesions, it was assumed that the visible membrane holes also constituted the functional holes (5).

In the 1960s the classical pathway of complement was shown to be composed of 11 proteins, but it was not until 1969 that knowledge of the functional organization of the pathway emerged (6). The conceptual distinction could now be made between the activation mechanism consisting of C1q, C1r, C1s, C2, C3, and C4 and the actual membrane attack mechanism comprising C5, C6, C7, C8, and C9. The experimental basis for the definition of C5-C9 as the membrane attack unit was furnished by Götze & Müller-Eberhard (7) and through an independent approach by Lachman & Thompson (8).

Since the five proteins were available in highly purified radiolabeled form, a molecular analysis of their mechanism of action was performed. In 1972 Kolb et al (9) reported that all five proteins become firmly bound to the target membrane as a compact complex containing equimolar amounts of C5b, C6, C7, C8 and multiple molecules of C9. Binding of C9 was proposed to be a cooperative process (10).

Utilizing the available experimental information, Mayer (11) in 1972 proposed the doughnut model of the MAC according to which each of the five proteins contributes one molecule to form a large hydrophilic protein channel or doughnut within the lipid bilayer of a target membrane. This bold suggestion turned out to be essentially correct, except that the image of the annular structure is not evoked by C5b-9, but, as we know today, by poly C9. Direct evidence for the occurrence of a stable C5b-9 complex was furnished by Kolb & Müller-Eberhard (12), who in 1973 described the hydrophilic counterpart of the MAC, SC5b-9; subsequently, Bhakdi et al (13) in 1976 reported extraction of the MAC from the membranes of sheep erythrocytes lysed by complement. Mayer's doughnut model appeared to be verified when Tranum-Jensen et al (14) in 1978 found the extracted MAC to resemble morphologically the membrane lesion that Humphrey & Dourmashkin (3) had described as a hollow cylinder. As noted before, the assumption was made that all five proteins participated in the physical make-up of the cylinder. But just how five hydrophilic and physically different serum proteins create a cylindrical membrane structure was not addressed.

Between 1980 and 1982 it was found in this laboratory that the cylindrical structure of the MAC was due to C9 polymerization. It was shown that isolated C9 can undergo spontaneous polymerization to hollow tubular structures that resemble the MAC morphologically (15, 16). And, with SDS gel gradient electrophoresis, poly C9 was detected in 1982 for the first time as a constituent of the fully assembled MAC (17). It has now become clear that a cytolytically active C5b-9 site on the surface of a cell need not look like a membrane hole and thus that poly C9 is not an obligatory constituent of the MAC. The cytolytic potential of nontubular C9 oligomers within the MAC remains to be fully evaluated.

In 1980 Dourmashkin et al reported that human killer lymphocytes insert tubular structures into target membranes that morphologically resembled the MAC of complement (18). Subsequently, these tubular structures were also observed in cytolytic reactions involving mouse (19) and rat (20) lymphocytes.

THE MAC PRECURSOR PROTEINS

The five proteins that execute membrane attack are, in their native form, hydrophilic glycoproteins with molecular weights ranging from 70,000 to 190,000. Some of their properties are summarized in Table 1. C5 has a

Annual Reviews

506 MÜLLER-EBERHARD

molecular weight (M_r) of 191,000 (21) and consists of two disulfide linked chains, an α and a β chain, with respective M_r of 115,000 and 75,000 (22). The M_r of the carbohydrate of C5 is 5,200 (21). The primary structure of human C5 has been partially elucidated (23) and that of murine C5 (24) completely derived from cDNA sequence analysis. The amino acid sequence of C5 exhibits pronounced homology to that of C3, C4, and a2macroglobulin. C5 lacks an internal thioester since the region corresponding to the thioester domain of C3 and C4, although homologous, shows a decisive difference in sequence. The structural gene of murine C5 has been assigned to chromosome 2 (25). C5 is the precursor of two biologically active fragments, C5a (M_r , 11,200) and C5b ($M_r \sim 180,000$), that arise when C5 convertase selectively cleaves the arginyl-leucine bond at position 74–75 of the α chain of C5. C5a is one of three complement-derived anaphylatoxins and a potent leukocyte chemotactic peptide (26). It also exhibits immunoregulatory activity in vitro, since it enhances the humoral T cellmediated immune response (27). C5b in its nascent state (5b*) constitutes the nucleus in the assembly of the MAC. C5b* possesses a metastable binding site with specificity for C6. The metastability is probably due to the transient expression of hydrophobic sites, because C5b* forms aggregates in the absence of C6 that are not dissociable by high salt concentration but are completely dissociated in 1% SDS (21). Electron microscopy of negatively stained C5 revealed a multilobal, irregular molecular structure with estimated dimensions of $168 \times 151 \times 104$ Å (21).

C6 and C7 have similar physical and chemical properties, suggesting that

Protein	M _r	Subunits	M _r carbohydrate	s-Rate	Serum concentration (µg/ml)
C5	191,000	α: 115,000 β: 75,000	5200	8.7 S	70 (55–80)
C5b	180,000	$\alpha': 104,000$ $\beta: 75,000$	3000	7.5S	
C6	120,000	Single chain	4000	6.0S	64 (54-72)
C7	110,000	Single chain	6000	5.6S	56 (49-70)
C8	151,000	$\alpha: 64,000$ $\beta: 64,000$ $\gamma: 22,000$	ma	8.0S	55 (43–63)
C9	71,000	Single chain	5500	4.7S	59 (47–69)
S-protein	83,000	Single chain	na	4.0S	505 (418600)

Table 1 Properties of the proteins of the membrane attack pathway

na: Information not available.

they evolved from a common ancestral gene. In fact, a close linkage between the loci for both proteins has become apparent from family studies of the genetic polymorphisms of C6 and C7 (28). Further evidence for linkage was provided by the observation of an inherited combined C6, C7 deficiency (29). Both are single chain glycoproteins (30). The reported M_r values for C6 range from 104,800 to 128,000 and for C7 from 92,400 to 121,000 (31). C6 is synthesized primarily in the liver (32), whereas the site of C7 synthesis is uncertain. The human histiocytic cell line U937 has recently been shown to synthesize C7 (33). C6 had been claimed to be a serine protease because its hemolytic activity appeared to be inactivated by serine protease inhibitors (34). Inactivation of C6 by DIFP (diisopropyl fluorophosphate) or PMSF (phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride) could not be confirmed (35). The notion that C6 might be a protease also came from the observation that the α chain of C5 is cleaved within the acid-induced, hemolytically active complex of C5 and C6 (36). It has become abundantly clear that C6 is not a serine active site enzyme. The serine protease activity associated with preparations of isolated C6 could be separated from C6 hemolytic activity and characterized as thrombin (37). This study also established that the hemolytically active, acid-induced C5,6 complex contains an intact C5 α chain if the complex is prepared from protease-free C5 and C6. Neither C6 nor C7 has been structurally elucidated, and although attempts have been made in several laboratories, cDNA for the two proteins has not been successfully cloned.

C8 is an unusual protein with respect to its structure and resistance to irreversible denaturation by protein denaturants. It consists of three nonidentical chains: The α and γ chains are disulfide linked, whereas the β chain is noncovalently associated with the former two (38, 39). This exceptional subunit structure is, in part, explained by the recent finding of separate loci encoding the C8 α - γ and C8 β subunits (40). C8 possesses an M_r of 151,000; the M_rs of the α , β , and γ chains are respectively 64,000, 64,000, and 22,000 (41). Denaturation of C8 by 6 M guanidine hydrochloride and 8 M urea or 0.2% SDS was almost completely reversible by removal of the denaturants (41).

C9 consists of a single polypeptide chain, has an M_r of 71,000, contains 7.8% carbohydrate, and has a blocked NH_2 -terminus (42). A significant advance was made toward understanding the structure of C9 in relation to its function when it was shown that the molecule can be cleaved by α -thrombin at a single site into a 34,000 M_r hydrophilic fragment, C9a, and a 37,000 M_r hydrophobic fragment, C9b (43). C9a represents the NH_2 -terminal and C9b, the COOH-terminal segment of the molecule. The fragments remain noncovalently associated and can be separated in the presence of SDS. The hydrophilic C9a may be important for the solubility

508 MÜLLER-EBERHARD

of native C9 and for its interaction with C5b-8; the hydrophobic C9b may serve to anchor the MAC or poly C9 within the target membrane. Recently, the entire amino acid sequence of human C9 has been derived from the sequence of C9 cDNA isolated from a liver cDNA library (44). The deduced C9 protein consists of 537 amino acid residues, and the a-thrombin cleavage site was identified as a histidyl-glycine bond between residues 244 and 245. A hydropathy analysis of the amino acid sequence confirmed that the primary structure of C9 has an amphipathic organization. However, C9 lacks the transmembrane domain of 20-30 hydrophobic and nonpolar amino acids that is characteristic of membrane-spanning polypeptides. As a protein capable of forming a hydrophilic transmembrane channel, the hydrophobic phospholipid binding region is, not unexpectedly, a function of the tertiary and quaternary conformation of the molecule. Both C9a and C9b contain carbohydrate (43), but only one typical carbohydrate attachment site, Asn-X-(Ser/Thr), was identified (44). The sequence Asn-Glu-Thr occurs in the C9b portion of the molecule, which suggests that the asparaginyl residue in position 256 may be the carbohydrate attachment site in that domain. The carbohydrate moiety of C9a may be attached to a hydroxyamino acid. C9a contains 15 and C9b, 8 cysteinyl residues (44). Since no free sulfhydryl groups could be detected in C9 (45), it is likely that 1 sulfhydryl group in C9a is substituted and that all other groups in the C9 molecule are engaged in disulfide bonds. C9 cDNA was also cloned and sequenced by Stanley et al (46), and these authors noticed that C9 contains a 39-residue segment (residues 91-122) that is homologous to the major repeat unit in the NH₂-terminal position of the low density lipoprotein receptor. Lately, another homology was pointed out between a sequence near the COOH-terminus of C9 and an NH2-terminal stretch of residues in urokinase and tissue plasminogen activator (47).

S-protein is the primary MAC-inhibitor of serum. It binds to the metastable membrane binding site of the nascent MAC and prevents C9 polymerization (48). The inhibitor ($K_i = 0.49 \ \mu m$) was isolated from human serum and characterized as an 80,000- M_r single-chain glycoprotein with electrophoretic characteristics of an α globulin (49).

THE C5 CONVERTASES

There are two C5 convertases, one for the classical and the other for the alternative pathway. They are metallo-serine proteases consisting of a nonenzymatic subunit, either C3b or C4b, and the catalytic site-bearing subunit, Bb or C2a. They are basically C3 convertases and to act on C5 require a helper molecule, C3b (50-52). Its task is to change the conformation of C5 in such a way that the peptide bond 74-75 of the C5 α

chain becomes accessible to the catalytic site and C5 can be cleaved to C5a and C5b. Although the two enzymes are composed of different proteins, they exhibit considerable structural homology. Cloning and sequencing of DNA coding for C3 (53-55), C4 (56), Factor B (57), and C2 (58) revealed sequence homologies between C3 and C4 and between Factor B and C2. Factor B, C2, and C4 are products of the class-III MHC genes (59), whereas the C3 gene is not located within the MHC but resides on chromosome 19 in man (60). The classical C5 convertase, C4b,2a,3b (50), and the C5 convertase of the alternative pathway, C3b,Bb,C3b (51, 61), are labile enzymes with a half-life at 37°C of 2-3 min. The classical enzyme could be stabilized utilizing iodine treated C2 (62) and the alternative pathway C5 convertase by using Ni⁺⁺ (63) instead of Mg⁺⁺ for enzyme formation. The stable form of the enzymes was amenable to physical analysis including electron microscopy. In both enzyme complexes the catalytic subunit was visualized as a dumbbell-like two-domain structure, each sphere measuring 42–45 Å in diameter (64). Since only one domain (binding domain) can be seen in contact with the nonenzymatic subunit, the other, freely projecting domain may bear the catalytic site, which in the case of Bb has been located to the C-terminal half of the molecule (57). Due to the internal thioester in C3 and C4, nascent C3b and C4b can establish covalent bonds with hydroxyl or amino groups (65), enabling the C5 convertases to anchor themselves firmly to the surface of target cells.

THE REACTION SEQUENCE

The relevant product of C5 convertase action is nascent C5b (C5b*). It is labile but capable of forming a stable, hydrophilic, bimolecular complex with C6. C5b,6 remains loosely bound to C3b until it binds to C7 and induces it to undergo a hydrophilic-amphiphilic transition. Hydrophobic binding regions for phospholipid are thereby exposed, and the trimolecular complex is endowed with a metastable membrane binding site. Membranebound C5b-7 inflicts no harm on a cell but marks it for further assault. C5b-7 constitutes the receptor for C8 that binds and processes C8 so that its α chain can enter the target membrane. C8 then binds C9 and nonenzymatically catalyzes its polymerization, during which C9 undergoes hydrophilicamphiphilic transition and considerable molecular reorganization. The final product is tubular poly C9 with C5b-8, the polymerizing unit, firmly attached to it. Alternatively, C5b-9 may contain nontubular C9 oligomers. As the assembly progresses, the number of phospholipid binding sites increases. Whereas C5b-9 creates the large complement channel, C5b-8 produces a small membrane pore sufficient to lyse erythrocytes but by and large unable to kill a nucleated cell. The MAC-inhibitor or S-protein, which

510 MÜLLER-EBERHARD



Figure 1 Schematic representation of assembly of the MAC and its control by S-protein. The asterisks denote the metastable forms of C5b and C5b-7, respectively.

is a serum glycoprotein, is capable of binding to the membrane binding site of metastable C5b-7, thereby forming the soluble SC5b-7 complex. The complex will accept C8 and C9 to form hydrophilic SC5b-9, but will not allow C9 polymerization. Figure 1 shows a schematic representation of the reaction sequence.

THE METASTABLE MEMBRANE BINDING SITE

The first direct membrane contact by the forming MAC is made through metastable C5b-7. And the subunit of the trimolecular complex that furnishes the binding site is, in all probability, C7. When metastable C5b. the half-life of which is 2.3 min at 37°C (50), binds C6, the stable C5b,6 complex is created which has an s-rate of 11.5S and an M. of 328,000 (66). Upon binding of C5b,6 to C7, the membrane binding site is generated, and the C5b-7 complex anchors itself firmly in the lipid bilayer of the target membrane by hydrophobic interaction. The lifetime of the transient membrane binding site of C5b-7* has been estimated to be less than 10 ms (67). Bound to single bilayer phospholipid vesicles, C5b-7 is visualized by electron microscopy as a leaflet extending approximately 210 Å above the vesicle surface which is attached to the membrane through a 40 Å long, thin stalk (68). Often V-shaped bileaflet images are seen with a single stalk that appear to be C5b-7 dimers. If binding to a membrane does not occur, C5b-7* forms soluble protein micelles that have an s-rate of approximately 36S (68). The soluble aggregates are imaged in the electron microscope as flower-like structures in which the C5b-7 monomers remain clearly distinguishable, three to six leaflets terminating in a pedicle at the center of the flower, which indicates that this is the region of hydrophobic interaction. Two independent experimental approaches strongly suggest that the hydrophobic binding site of C5b-7 is located in C7.

First, colloidal gold particles were coated with either C5b,6 or C7 and

then exposed to the other protein not present on their surface. Gold-C7 conjugates treated with C5b,6 appeared in the electron microscope as individual particles with finger-like protein structures protruding from their surface and resembling C5b-7 protein micelles. In contrast, when the gold-C5b,6 conjugates were treated with soluble C7, clusters of gold particles were visualized in which the individual particles were linked up by proteinacious material (68). This experiment was interpreted to show that a C7 molecule adsorbed to a surface simply binds a molecule of C5b,6, whereas free C7, on binding to C5b,6 adsorbed to particles, is activated and then enters into hydrophobic C7-C7 interaction.

Second, exposure of isolated C7 to 4 mM DOC at 37°C for 10 min resulted in complete loss of hemolytic activity and dimerization of the protein (69). The effect of DOC treatment was strongly temperaturedependent and increased the s-rate from 5.5S to 7S, the M, from 120,000 to 230,000, and β -pleated sheet structure by 18%. The dimer possessed hydrophobic surface domains that are evidenced by its ability to bind approximately 82 mol of DOC per mol of dimer. Removal of the detergent rendered the C7 dimer insoluble, but readdition of detergent solubilized the precipitated protein, suggesting that the C7 dimer behaved as would a membrane protein. In fact, the dimer readily incorporated itself into lipid vesicle membranes and rendered them leaky (69). Because dimer formation was induced by detergent, it may be assumed that the dimerization site in the C7 molecule has polar properties. None of the changes in properties observed with C7 occurred with C5 or C6 upon treatment with DOC. Thus, C7 appears to be constructed so as readily to undergo hydrophilicamphiphilic transition.

The available information suggests that in the physiological pathway C5b,6 acts on C7 as does DOC; it converts C7 to an activated, amphiphilic state. C7 emerges as a highly versatile molecule with several different functional sites: Native C7 has a binding site for C5b,6. When bound by C5b,6, activated C7 has multiple phospholipid binding sites. In the aggregate these constitute the hydrophobic membrane binding site of C5b-7*. It also expresses a protein binding site, probably polar, by means of which C5b-7 can dimerize.

TETRAMOLECULAR C5b-8

Native C8 has no detectable affinity for membranes and is therefore entirely dependent on the mediating function of C5b-7, which determines the site of membrane attack and serves as a receptor for the C8. Membrane-bound C5b-7 not only binds C8, it also affords its insertion into the membrane. The recognition site on C8 for C5b-7 has been located to the β chain of C8 (70).
This chain was shown to bind to C5b-7 in absence of the α - γ subunit and with the same affinity as native C8. The α - γ subunit did not attach to C5b-7 without the mediation of the β chain (70, 71). This initial contact probably brings a second site of the receptor into play that enables C8 to undergo the necessary conformational rearrangement to allow the α chain to penetrate into the hydrophobic core of the lipid bilayer. The function of the second or C8 processing site would be greatly facilitated if it were located near the membrane surface and on a structure that itself is partially inserted into the membrane. It is quite possible, therefore, that this site is located on C7. Using membrane-restricted, photoactivatable probes in lipid vesicle or erythrocyte membranes, it was shown that the α - γ subunit (72) and, more specifically, the α chain of C8 (73) were primarily interacting with the hydrocarbon phase. Electron microscopy of C5b-8 bound to erythrocytes made visual the foliaceous, branched structures that radiated from a central pedicle (74). However, on small phospholipid vesicles, monomeric C5b-8 could be imaged as a 250-Å-long and 50-140-Å-wide rodlike structure with a rather polymorphic appearance (75). The C5b,6 subunit was detected at the end of the rod, distal to the lipid binding site, using avidin-coated gold particles recognizing biotinyl C5b,6. C5b-8 serves to concentrate C9 on its surface and thereby to facilitate its oligomerization or polymerization. Binding of C9 occurs via the C8 portion of C5b-8. By what mechanism the complex catalyzes the self-association of C9 is unknown. Soluble C8 binds only one molecule of C9 even when C9 is in considerable molar excess (17).

COMPOSITION AND STRUCTURE OF C5b-9

The MAC is heterogeneous with respect to size and composition. The basic composition of the MAC is described by the formula $C5b_1, C6_1, C7_1, C8_1$, $C9_{w}$ where n can vary between 1 and 18. Hence, the minimum M_{r} of the MAC ranges between 660,000 and 1,850,000. That multiple copies of C9 can be incorporated into C5b-9 first became apparent when the binding of differentially radiolabeled C8 and C9 to target cells was quantitated (9). The binding curve and hemolytic dose response curve were sigmoidal, indicating cooperativity between multiple C9 molecules during this reaction step (10). The C9-binding capacity of C5b-8 was found to average 15.4 molecules per C8 molecule with a range of 12 to 21 (17). SDS-resistant macromolecular C9 was first detected in the MAC by employing SDS polyacrylamide gel gradient (2.5-10%) electrophoresis (17, 76). This form of C9, which has a molecular weight of 1.1 million, was shown to resemble spontaneously formed poly C9 (see below) by electron microscopic, physical, and immunochemical criteria (17, 15). There is no doubt that the image of the cylinder-like membrane lesion caused by complement is

evoked by poly C9. Poly C9 of the membrane-bound MAC extends 120 Å above the surface of the membrane; it has an inner diameter of 110 Å; and it terminates at its upper, hydrophilic end in a 30 Å-thick annulus, which has an outer diameter of 210 Å (14, 17, 74). The C5b-8 subunit appears firmly attached to the poly C9 tubule and extends 160–180 Å above its annulus as a 50–140 Å-wide elongated structure (75). The total length of the structure is thus 280–300 Å above the surface of the membrane.

The structure of the MAC is determined by the molar C9/C5b-8 ratio. When the MAC was assembled on vesicles or erythrocytes and the molar C9/C5b-8 ratio was 1 to 3, no poly C9 was detectable by SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (77), and no complement membrane lesions were seen on electron microscopy (17). Instead, large protein aggregates were observed that probably represented a C5b-9 network maintained by C9-C9 interactions. When this molar ratio was 1 to 6 or 12, the proportion of C9 present as poly C9 was 35% and 72%, respectively (77). At these ratios discrete ring structures were observed on the cell surface by electron microscopy; the structures appeared unaggregated and well separated from each other (17). Incompletely polymerized or oligometric C9 is not readily visualized by the negative staining technique and not detected by gel electrophoresis in presence of SDS because it is not SDS-resistant. However, oligometric C9 is stable in DOC and can therefore be estimated in the DOC-solubilized MAC (78). The C9 content relative to C5b-8 is inversely proportional to the size of the aggregates. This may indicate that oligomeric C9, in contrast to poly C9, promotes aggregation of C5b-9. In fact, poly C9 was detected primarily in the unaggregated material of relatively low Mr (77). Thus, C5b-9 will either aggregate to larger clusters when the C9 multiplicity is low or form poly C9 containing MAC monomers when the C9 multiplicity is high. Obviously, SDS-resistant poly C9 cannot be regarded an obligatory constituent of the MAC, and C5b-9 does not necessarily manifest itself as the typical ultrastructural membrane lesion.

C9 polymerization within the MAC is distinct from spontaneous poly C9 formation in that it proceeds in the absence of metal ions. Under these conditions, the rate of poly C9 formation by C5b-8 is 10,000-fold greater than that of spontaneous poly C9 formation (77).

SPONTANEOUS C9 POLYMERIZATION

In isolated form, C9 has the propensity to aggregate and to undergo hydrophilic-amphiphilic transition that results in cyclic polymerization. Spontaneous poly C9 formation is presumably an unphysiological reaction, but its analysis may aid our understanding of the physiological

process of MAC assembly. Poly C9 is a tubular structure which has a hydrophilic annulus of 30 Å thickness at one end and is lipophilic at the other end. The height of the tubule is 160 Å, the inner diameter 100 Å, and the wall thickness approximately 20 Å. Of the C9 12–18 molecules are incorporated into tubular poly C9, also defined as an approximately 1.1 million M_r complex that is resistant to dissociation by SDS and reducing agents. Poly C9 possesses more β -pleated sheet structure than native, monomeric C9, and it expresses antigenic determinants that are not detectable on its precursor (15–17). In the ultracentrifuge poly C9 exhibits polydisperse sedimentation behavior with s-rates ranging from 27S to 250S. By electron microscopy, the aggregates were visualized as arrays in which the annuli of adjacent tubules pointed in opposite directions, and in which the smaller ends of the tubules combined side-by-side and overlapped by about 40 Å. These aggregates could be dissociated to 27S unaggregated poly C9 by 1% DOC or 0.1 M octylglucoside (78).

Through the lipophilic end the assembling tubule is capable of inserting itself into the membrane of phospholipid vesicles, to render them leaky (15). The hydrophobic portion of the poly C9 tubule corresponds to the C-terminal region (C9b) of its subunits (79). To measure the size of the poly C9 channel, the marker retention assay was used in which high molecular weight proteins of defined molecular diameter are entrapped in lipid vesicles. Preformed poly C9 was incorporated into the membrane of the vesicles during their preparation. Alcohol dehydrogenase, which has a Stokes' radius of 45 Å, escaped through the poly C9 channel, whereas C3, which has a Stokes' radius of 51 Å, did not (80). The functional diameter of the poly C9 channel is therefore between 90 Å and 102 Å, which is in excellent agreement with the electron microscopic image.

Poly C9 was detected serendipitously by electron microscopy. The environmental conditions employed initially were unfavorable, and several days of incubation at 37° C were needed to yield a small amount of poly C9 (16, 15). However, a systematic exploration showed that spontaneous polymerization of isolated C9 commenced within minutes and reached its final extent within a few hours if the salt concentration was low (20 mM), the pH between 7.5 and 9.0, and if metal ions were present; the 1–2 mM Ca⁺⁺ or Mg⁺⁺ or 50 μ M Zn⁺⁺ were most effective. EDTA completely prevented polymerization (81–83).

The molecular weight of poly C9 was determined by sedimentation equilibrium ultracentrifugation in presence of 0.2% SDS or 1% DOC and found to be $1,060,000 \pm 118,000$, exclusive of the bound detergent. It was also determined by electron scattering of unstained poly C9 in the scanning transmission electron microscope, and this method yielded a value of $1,078,000 \pm 194,000$. Since negative-staining electron microscopy revealed a

variation of the inner diameter of poly C9 between 90 and 120 Å, poly C9 is assumed to be heterogeneous with respect to the number of protomers (84).

A comparison of the physical properties of poly C9 and monomeric C9 (Table 2) reveals that they differ most strikingly in molecular dimensions. Electron microscopy showed that the long axis of monomeric C9 is approximately 80 Å and the height of the poly C9 cylinder is 160 Å. It was proposed therefore that the C9 molecule is constructed to undergo constrained unfolding and to assume an elongated rodlike structure under nondenaturing conditions (15). To test this possibility, native C9 was treated with an excess of succinic anhydride at room temperature in order to substitute lysine residues with negatively charged, mutually repellent succinyl groups (83). Native C9 and succinyl-C9 were then compared by analytical ultracentrifugation and molecular sieve chromatography on Sephacryl S-300. Succinvlation reduced the s-rate of C9 from 4.7S to 2.6S and increased the apparent molecular weight from 80,000 to 440,000. The pronounced increase in Stokes radius from 38 Å to 61 Å indicates a considerable increment in molecular asymmetry upon succinylation of C9. This observation is consistent with the notion that C9 is capable of changing its conformation from globular to rodlike. Electron microscopic analysis of monomeric C9 has recently revealed one type of image that has the appearance of a small "c" with one half of the structure considerably thicker than the other (F. J. Chiu, H. J. Müller-Eberhard, unpublished). This image would suggest that the molecule is poised to open itself up.

The question arises as to the molecular events that are a prerequisite for polymerization. Poly C9 formation is strongly temperature dependent. The optimal temperature lies between 30°C and 40°C, virtually no polymerization occurring below 15°C and above 50°C (82). The activation energy for heat-induced polymerization of C9 in solution was reported to be 40 kcal mol⁻¹ (16) compared to 13 kcal mol⁻¹ for polymerization by C5b-8-

	C9	Poly C9
 M _r	71,000	1,100,000
s-Rate	4.7S	275
Subunits	1	12-18
Dimensions:		
Length	~80 Å	160 Å
Width	~55 Å	~210 Å
α helix	24%	22%
β sheet	32%	38%

Table 2	Physical	properties	of	C9	and
poly C9					

bearing erythrocyte ghosts (85). Therefore, native C9 was examined by analytical ultracentrifugation at a temperature (15°C) not sufficient for polymerization. The following observations were made (83): In the presence of EDTA, C9 sedimented as monomer (4.3S); in the presence of 50 μ M Zn⁺⁺ or 1 mM Mg⁺⁺, C9 behaved as dimer (5.9S), which dissociated to the monomer in 150 mM NaCl. When, in the presence of metal ions, the protein concentration was raised from 250 to 1,000 μ g/ml, the dimer and tetramer (9.5S) were seen. Thus, self-association of C9 is metal-ion and protein-concentration dependent, ionic and reversible. Since conditions promoting reversible C9-C9 interaction at 15°C allowed poly C9 formation at 37°C, reversible oligomerization appears to be a prerequisite for tubular poly C9 formation. It may be hypothesized that in the spontaneous polymerization of C9 the metal ions bring about a proper intermolecular orientation so that specific recognition between certain residues can occur. At an elevated temperature this leads to structural rearrangements of two or more C9 molecules and a tight intermolecular fit or fusion.

In the physiological reaction C9 polymerizes in the absence of metal ions. It is proposed therefore that C5b-8 induces the critical orientation between two or more C9 molecules, which then leads to unfolding of C9, insertion into the lipid bilayer, and polymerization. C5b-8 reduces the activation energy of C9 polymerization and greatly enhances its rate, thus acting as a catalyst. Also, whereas polymerizing C9 can attack lipid vesicles in absence of C5b-8, it cannot lyse biological membranes unless C5b-8 is present on their surface.

The unusual stability of poly C9 was demonstrated by its resistance to boiling in 2% SDS and reducing agents (78). However, its dissociation into 70,000 M_r monomers by incubation at 60°C in 8 M guanidine thiocyanate for 3 hr suggested that the intersubunit forces holding C9 together are noncovalent. More recent studies suggest that the property of SDS-resistance of poly C9 may be induced by boiling the sample prior to SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. When poly C9 was first succinylated and then subjected to SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, it completely dissociated to monomeric succinyl-C9 (83).

CONTROL OF MAC FORMATION

The enzymes that initiate MAC assembly are controlled by three plasma proteins and, at least on the surface of erythrocytes, by two membrane proteins. The C3b of both C5 convertases that is instrumental in the modulation of C5 and the binding of C5b,6 is inactivated by Factor I with the help of either Factor H or CR1 (86). The subunits of the C5 convertases that contain the enzymatic site are efficiently dissociated and thereby inactivated by DAF (86, 87).

The S-protein of plasma (88) competes with membrane lipids for the metastable binding site of C5b-7, and by binding to the complex, it prevents its attachment to the cell surface. The inhibition constant, K_i , is 0.48 μM_i , which is less than one tenth of the plasma concentration of the protein (49, 66). The resultant SC5b-7 complex contains three molecules of S-protein $(M_r = 80,000)$ and has an s-rate of 18.5S and a molecular weight of 668,000. The hydrophilic complex binds C8 and three molecules of C9 to form SC5b-8 (s-rate, 20.5S; M, 820,000) and SC5b-9 (s-rate, 23S; M, 1,030,000) (88, 66). In addition to blocking the membrane binding site, S-protein also prevents polymerization of C9. Purified SC5b-9 lacks poly C9 as revealed by electron microscopy and SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Poly C9 formation that occurs on mixing of purified C5b,6, C7, C8 and excess C9 was inhibited by the addition of purified S-protein in a dose-dependent manner (48). The C9 within SC5b-9 was in the native state, as evidenced by its ability to transfer to EAC1-8 and to lyse these cells (89). By removal of the S-protein the hydrophilic SC5b-9 complex can be transformed into amphiphilic C5b-9 that resembles the MAC with respect to ultrastructure, neoantigenic determinants, lipid binding regions and the ability to incorporate into lipid bilayers (90, 91).

At least on the surface of erythrocytes, yet another regulatory principle appears to operate. C5b-9 is much less efficient in lysing homologous erythrocytes than it is in lysing heterologous cells. Yamamoto (92) attributed the phenomenon of homologous species restriction specifically to C9. Others proposed that it is due to a C8 binding protein on human erythrocyte membranes (93). Lately Houle & Hoffmann (94) reported evidence that homologous restriction involves a serum factor that is adsorbed by homologous erythrocytes on exposure to serum. J. J. Houle, E. M. Hoffmann, and A. F. Esser (personal communication, 1985) now believe that this protecting serum factor is, in fact, C9. Hänsch et al (95) studied the lytic effect of C8 and C9 of five different species on the erythrocytes of the same five species and found that in all cases lysis was least efficient when C8 and C9 were homologous with respect to the target cell species. Inefficient lysis in the homologous systems was not due to failure of C9 to bind to the target membrane but was attributed to impaired channel formation by C9 (96).

A 38,000 M_r protein has been isolated from whole human erythrocyte membranes solubilized in 2% DOC by adsorption to and subsequent elution from a Sepharose-C9 column. The protein was incorporated into liposomes and was found to inhibit the liposome swelling assay when

Annual Reviews

C5b,6, C7, C8, and C9 were added. It also inhibited the poly C9 channel (97). The results suggest that there is a protein in human erythrocyte membranes that can block the channel-forming ability of the MAC.

THE MAC CHANNELS

Until recently there was considerable dispute as to whether the MAC contained within itself a hydrophilic protein channel that accounted for the cytolytic action of the MAC (doughnut model) (11), or whether possibly it caused the formation of hydrophilic lipid channels, i.e. a weakening of membrane structure with breakdown of the permeability barrier (leaky patch model) (98). It has now become clear that the MAC functions through both mechanisms.

The MAC possesses high affinity binding sites for 1,400 mol of phospholipid per mol of complex (99). On insertion of the MAC into the bilayer of phospholipid vesicles (72, 79) or of erythrocyte membranes (73), all constituents of the complex came in contact with lipid; this is evidenced by positive labeling with photosensitive membrane-restricted probes. However, the C9b portion of C9 and the α chain of C8 were identified as the primary contributors of the intramembrane peptide domains of the MAC. The penetration of the MAC into flat lipid bilayers and its impact on the order of the bilayer were determined by electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy using spin-labeled membrane probes (100). The observed spectral changes were interpreted to indicate that the strong hydrophobic interaction of C5b-9 with membrane phospholipids overcomes the cooperative interactions between the ordered lipid molecules. As a result, the bilayer lipids undergo a reorientation into micellar domains surrounding the C5b-9 complex. Lipid molecules adjacent to those bound to C5b-9 must also undergo reorientation and assume a corresponding configuration. A lipid bilayer so modified no longer constitutes a permeability barrier because packing defects at the boundary between different lipid phases allow transmembrane ion flow to occur. Thus, reorientation of bilayer lipids in a membrane creates a leaky patch. The formation of multiple, confluent leaky patches may facilitate membrane disassembly by C5b-9. The instability of the lipids in a C5b-9 modified membrane may result in ejection from the membrane of C5b-9 phospholipid complexes in the form of lipoproteins that are soluble in an aqueous milieu. This may explain the membrane effects of C5b-9 that are independent of channel formation, such as the release of phospholipid from Escherichia coli (101) and liposomes (102), and the dissolution of phospholipid vesicles and of viral envelope membranes (103). The MAC shows no lipase activity that could effect

covalent degradation of phospholipids and thus be responsible for weakening of membrane structure (135).

A functional membrane pore is already formed at the C5b-8 step of MAC assembly. Formation of the pore is slow, requiring several hours at 37° C, and the channel diameter is below 30 Å. (80, 104, 105). C5b-8 lyses erythrocytes and causes transient release of ions from nucleated cells, but it does not kill nucleated cells (106), with the rare exception of undifferentiated human U937 histiocytes (107). The formation of C5b-8 channels suggests that secondary rearrangements of the C5b-8 complex have to occur, or possibly aggregation of two or more complexes within the target membrane may be required.

The size of the functional transmembrane pore produced by C5b-9 is highly variable, even on the same membrane, and dependent on the C5b-9 density and the molar C9/C5b-8 ratio. Recall that the theoretical M_r of the unaggregated MAC varied between 660,000 and 1,850,000 depending on the number of C9 molecules incorporated. If this number is low, the functional pore size may be small (80, 108); if it is high, formation of poly C9 tubules will be favored, and the pore diameter may be as large as 100–110 Å (80, 98, 109–112). The liposome swelling assay was used to reveal recently that upon addition of C9 to C5b-8-liposome complexes (from 1–12 C9 molecules per C8 molecule), the apparent channel size increased in proportion to the number of C9 molecules added (80). When there were 12 C9 molecules per C5b-8, the channel size was indistinguishable from that of poly C9.

That the channel structures of the MAC are capable of penetrating the target membrane to establish a transmembrane communication with the intracellular or intravesicular space was shown by several independent techniques. An open channel between the hollow core of the MAC and the vesicle interior was visualized by three-dimensional analysis of MAC-phospholipid vesicle complexes using electron microscopy (113). C9 could be cross-linked by entrapped transglutaminase from the interior of resealed erythrocyte ghosts bearing the MAC (114). A monoclonal antibody to C9 that did not bind to the MAC when added extracellularly inhibited complement-dependent marker release when sealed inside erythrocyte ghosts (115).

Lysis of nucleated cells by the MAC is a multiple hit phenomenon (116) partly due to the cell's ability to eliminate the inserted channels (117, 118). Whether the poly C9 channel or the C5b-9 network is more effective in bringing about lethal membrane damage despite cellular defense and membrane repair is not known. Parenthetically, it should be mentioned that killing of a rough strain of E. coli by complement required a high C9 to

C5b-8 ratio and poly C9 formation (119). Channel elimination and thereby recovery of nucleated cells from MAC attack has been shown to be due to removal of the MAC from the cell surface by vesiculation (121, 120). It was also found that the MAC causes a rapid increase in intracellular free calcium ion concentration long before cell lysis becomes detectable and that thereby certain functions of nucleated cells may be activated (122). For instance, the MAC on polymorphonuclear leukocytes was shown to stimulate the production of active oxygen metabolites (121); and on Ehrlich ascites tumor cells (123) and peritoneal macrophages (124), it activated the formation and release of arachidonic acid derivatives. The triggering of the arachidonic acid pathway in human leukocytes with generation of leukotriene B4 has also been shown to be effected by C5b-8 and attributed to calcium influx through the small 5b-8 membrane channel (125).

COMPARISON OF THE MAC WITH THE CYTOLYTIC MECHANISM OF LYMPHOCYTES

The killing mechanism of lymphocytes has been enigmatic for a long period of time and still remains to be fully elucidated. However, in 1980 Dourmashkin, Henkart, and their associates found that killer lymphocytes can elaborate a tubular structure that inserts into target membranes and that bore striking morphological resemblance to the MAC of complement (18). This tubular structure is currently regarded as the principal candidate for the cytolytic mechanism of CTL, NK, and K cells and has been observed in cytolytic reactions involving human (18), rat (20), and mouse lymphocytes (19). By electron microscopy the killer lymphocyte-derived membrane attack complex (LMAC) has the same height as poly C9 (160 Å), but a larger inner diameter, 160 Å instead of 100 Å. A smaller version of the complex has also been described. It is shorter than 160 Å and has an inner diameter of 60-70 Å (19). The precursor protein of the cylindrical structure, which may be referred to as membrane attack protein (MAP) (126), is contained in the cytoplasmic granules of killer lymphocytes (20, 127, 128) that have been isolated and found, in the presence of Ca^{++} , to lyse sheep erythrocytes or certain nucleated cells (20, 128) and to cause marker release from lipid vesicles (129). The MAP is also referred to as cytolysin, lymphopore, or perforin.

Earlier studies have shown the functional membrane pore produced by killer lymphocytes to be larger than that produced by complement (136). Using partially purified rat MAP, researchers showed the release of carboxyfluorescein from lipid vesicles to be highly efficient, and the initial

rate and final extent of release dose-dependent (129). Ca^{++} could be replaced by Sr^{++} , but not by Ba^{++} or Mg^{++} .

After disruption of isolated cytoplasmic granules of the mouse CTL cell line B6.1 in 2 M NaCl, and extensive ultracentrifugation to remove particulate matter, a soluble protein of $M_r \sim 66,000$ was isolated by Masson & Tschopp (130) that they identified as mouse MAP. In presence of Ca⁺⁺ it exhibited hemolytic activity and formed tubular LMAC on lipid vesicles.

A C9-related protein was recently detected in isolated cytoplasmic granules of human large granular lymphocytes (LGL) which were maintained in culture for 2–6 weeks with regular addition of IL-2 (131). The cells were positive in the K562 cell-killing assay. The cytoplasmic granules of the LGL were isolated, lysed, and the soluble proteins were passed over a Sepharose-anti-human C9 column. The retained protein was eluted with NaCl and found to consist of essentially one component with an Mr of \sim 70,000 as judged by SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The protein was not precipitated by anti-C9 in Ouchterlony tests, but it reacted reproducibly with anti-human C9 by Western blot analysis. By ELISA the cross-reaction with human C9 was approximately 1%. The C9-related lymphocyte protein lacked C9 hemolytic activity, but it formed functional pores in liposomes in the presence of the Ca^{++} (137). These observations have revealed a heretofore unknown immunochemical relationship between the channel-forming protein of cytotoxic lymphocytes and C9 of complement, and they suggest a common evolutionary ancestry of the two proteins. The question, therefore, arises as to whether MAP and C9 are structurally homologous proteins. Cloning and sequencing of MAP cDNA will allow direct comparison with the known structure of C9 (44, 46), which should be accomplished in due time.

The process of target cell killing by lymphocytes as currently understood has been reviewed and summarized by Henkart (132). After binding of the effector to the target cells, the microtubule organizing center and the Golgi apparatus of NK cells and CTL are repositioned to face the contact area with the target cell (133, 134). This rearrangement serves to direct the secretory granules toward the contact site thus allowing granule exocytosis. The MAP along with other substances contained in the granules is secreted into the narrow space between killer and target cell. Under the influence of Ca⁺⁺, the MAP undergoes conformational rearrangements, insertion into the target membrane and polymerization. Whether the LMAC channel functions merely as a membrane hole or whether it also facilitates the injection of a cytotoxic substance is unknown. Unknown also is how the killer cell protects itself against self-attack and whether metabolically active

nucleated cells are, at least in part, capable of eliminating the killer cellinserted channels. Although the two molecular mechanisms may be quite different in terms of the reaction pathway and molecules involved, it now appears that the modes of cell killing by complement and by lymphocytes are surprisingly similar.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This is publication number 4108-IMM from the Division of Molecular Immunology, Research Institute of Scripps Clinic. This work is supported by United States Public Health Service Grants AI 17354, CA 27489, and HL 16411. Dr. Müller-Eberhard is the Cecil H. and Ida M. Green Investigator in Medical Research, Research Institute of Scripps Clinic.

Literature Cited

- Green, H., Fleischer, R. A., Barrow, P., Goldberg, B. 1959. The cytotoxic action of immune gamma globulin and complement on Krebs ascites tumor cells.
 II. Chemical studies. J. Exp. Med. 109:511
- Humphrey, J. H. 1963. Discussion on mechanisms of blood cell damage produced by immunological reactions. In *Immunopathology*, 3rd International Symposium, ed. P. Grabar, P. A. Miescher, p. 369. Basel: Schwabe
- Humphrey, J. H., Dourmashkin, R. R. 1969. The lesions in cell membranes caused by complement. Adv. Immunol. 11:75
- Mayer, M. M. 1961. Development of the one-hit theory of immune hemolysis. In *Immunochemical Approachess* to Problems in Microbiology, ed. M. Heidelberger, O. J. Plescia, p. 268. New Brunswick : Rutgers Univ. Press
- Borsos, T., Dourmashkin, R. R., Humphrey, J. H. 1964. Lesions in erythrocyte membranes caused by immune hemolysis. *Nature* 202:251
- Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1969. Complement. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 38:389
- Götze, O., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1970. Lysis of erythrocytes by complement in the absence of antibody. J. Exp. Med. 132:898
- Lachmann, P. J., Thompson, R. A. 1970. Reactive lysis: The complement-mediated lysis of unsensitized cells. II. The characterization of activated reactor as C5,6 and the participation of C8 and C9. J. Exp. Med. 131:643
- 9. Kolb, W. P., Haxby, J. A., Arroyave,

C. M., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1972. Molecular analysis of the membrane attack mechanism of complement. J. Exp. Med. 135:549

- Kolb, W. P., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1974. Mode of action of human C9: Adsorption of multiple C9 molecules to cell-bound C8. J. Immunol. 113:479
- Mayer, M. M. 1972. Mechanism of cytolysis by complement. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 69:2954
- Kolb, W. P., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1973. The membrane attack mechanism of complement: Verification of a stable C5-9 complex in free solution. J. Exp. Med. 138:438
- Bhakdi, S., Ey, P., Bhakdi-Lehnen, B. 1976. Isolation of the terminal complement complex from target sheep erythrocyte membranes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 419: 445
- Tranum-Jensen, J., Bhakdi, S., Bhakdi-Lehnen, B., Bjerrum, O. J., Speth, V. 1978. Complement lysis: The ultrastructure and orientation of the C5b-9 complex on target sheep erythrocyte membranes. Scand. J. Immunol. 7:45
- Tschopp, J., Müller-Eberhard, H. J., Podack, E. R. 1982. Formation of transmembrane tubules by spontaneous polymerization of hydrophilic complement protein C9. *Nature* 298:534
- 16. Podack, E. R., Tschopp, J. 1982. Polymerization of the ninth component of complement (C9): formation of poly C9 with a tubular ultrastructure resembling the membrane attack complex of complement. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:574

- Podack, E. R., Tschopp, J., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1982. Molecular organization of C9 within the membrane attack complex of complement: Induction of circular C9 polymerization by the C5b-8 assembly. J. Exp. Med. 156:268
- Dourmashkin, R. R., Deteix, P., Simone, C. B., Henkart, P. 1980. Electron microscopic demonstration of lesions in target cell membranes associated with antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 42:554
- Podack, E. R., Dennert, G. 1983. Assembly of two types of tubules with putative cytolytic function by cloned natural killer cells. *Nature* 302:442
- Henkart, P. A., Millard, P. J., Reynolds, C. W., Henkart, M. P. 1984. Cytolytic activity of purified cytoplasmic granules from cytotoxic rat large granular lymphocyte tumors. J. Exp. Med. 160: 75
- DiScipio, R. G., Smith, C. A., Müller-Eberhard, H. J., Hugli, T. E. 1983. The activation of human complement component C5 by a fluid phase C5 convertasc. J. Biol. Chem. 258:10629
- Tack, B. F., Morris, S. C., Prahl, J. W. 1979. Fifth component of human complement: Purification from plasma and polypeptide chain structure. *Biochemis*try 18:1490
- Lundwall, A. B., Wetsel, R. A., Kristensen, T., Whitehead, A. S., Woods, D. E., Ogden, R. C., Colten, H. K., Tack, B. F. 1985. Isolation and sequence analysis of a cDNA clone encoding the fifth complement component. J. Biol. Chem. 260:2108
- Wetsel, R. A., Ogata, R. T., Tack, B. F. 1985. Isolation and sequence of a murine cDNA clone encoding the fifth complement component. *Fed. Proc.* 44(4):987 (Abstr.)
- Wetsel, R. A., D'Eustachio, P., Strunk, R. C., Ogata, R. T., Tack, B. F. 1986. The fifth complement component: complete cDNA sequence, chromosomal assignment and deficiency studies. *Complement.* (Abstr.) In press
- Hugli, T. E. 1984. Structure and function of the anaphylatoxins. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 7:193
- Morgan, E. L., Thoman, M. L., Weigle, W. O., Hugli, T. E. 1983. Anaphylatoxin-mediated regulation of the immune response. II. C5a-mediated enhancement of human humoral and T cell-mediated immune responses. J. Immunol. 130:1257

- Lachmann, P. J., Hobart, M. J. 1978. C6-C7: a further "complement supergene." J. Immunol. 120:1781
- gene." J. Immunol. 120:1781
 29. Lachmann, P. J., Hobart, M. J., Woo, P. 1978. Combined genetic deficiency of C6 and C7 in man. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 33:193
- Podack, E. R., Kolb, W. P., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1976. Purification of the sixth and seventh component of human complement without loss of hemolytic activity. J. Immunol. 116:263
- Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1984. The membrane attack complex. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 7:93
- Hobart, M. J., Lachmann, P. J., Calne, R. Y. 1977. C6: Synthesis by the liver in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 146:629
- Minta, J. O., Pambrun, L. 1985. Biosynthesis of complement proteins by U-937 cells. Fed. Proc. 44(4):991 (Abstr.)
- Kolb, W. P., Kolb, L. M., Savary, J. R. 1982. Biochemical characterization of the sixth component (C6) of human complement. *Biochemistry* 21:294
- DiScipio, R. G., Gagnon, J. 1982. Characterization of human complement components C6 and C7. Mol. Immunol. 19:1425
- 36. Hammer, C. H., Hänsch, G., Gresham, H. D., Shin, M. L. 1983. Activation of the fifth and sixth components of the human complement system: C6dependent cleavage of C5 in acid and the formation of a bimolecular lytic complex, C5^b.6^a. J. Immunol. 131:892
- complex, C5^b,6^a. J. Immunol. 131: 892
 37. Chakravarti, D. N., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1985. Characterization of human C6: Identification of C6 associated proteolytic activity as thrombin. Fed. Proc. 44(4):991 (Abstr.)
- Kolb, W. P., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1976. The membrane attack mechanism of complement: The three polypeptide chain structure of the eighth component (C8). J. Exp. Med. 143:1131
- Kolb, W. P., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1975. The membrane attack mechanism of complement: Isolation and subunit composition of the C5b-9 complex. J. Exp. Med. 141:724
- 40. Alper, C. A., Marcus, D., Raum, D., Petersen, B. H., Spira, T. J. 1983. Genetic polymorphism in C8 β-chains. Evidence for two unlinked genetic loci for the eighth component of human complement (C8). J. Clin. Invest. 72: 1526
- Steckel, E. W., York, R. G., Monahan, J. B., Sodetz, J. M. 1980. The eighth component of human complement: Purification and physicochemical char-

acterization of its unusual subunit structure. J. Biol. Chem. 255:11997

- Biesecker, G., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1980. The ninth component of complement: Purification and physicochemical characterization. J. Immunol. 124: 1291
- Biesecker, G., Gerard, C., Hugli, T. E. 1981. An amphiphilic structure of the ninth component of human complement. Evidence from analysis of fragments produced by α-thrombin. J. Biol. Chem. 257:2584
- 44. DiScipio, R. G., Gehring, M. R., Podack, E. R., Kan, C. C., Hugli, T. E., Fey, G. H. 1984. Nucleotide sequence of cDNA and derived amino acid sequence of human complement component C9. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:7298
- 45. Yamamoto, K., Kawashima, T., Migita, S. 1982. Glutathione-catalyzed disulfide linking of C9 in the membrane attack complex of complement. J. Biol. Chem. 257:8573
- 46. Stanley, K. K., Kocher, H. P., Luzio, J. P., Jackson, P., Tschopp, J. 1985. The sequence and topology of human complement component C9. *EMBO J*. 4:375
- Doolittle, R. F. 1985. The genealogy of some recently evolved vertebrate proteins. Trends Biochem. Sci. 10:233
- Podack, E. R., Preissner, K. T., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1984. Inhibition of C9 polymerization within the SC5b-9 complex of complement by S-protein. *Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Immunol. Scand.* (Suppl. C) 284, 92:89
- Podack, E. R., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1979. Isolation from human serum of an inhibitor of the membrane attack complex of complement. J. Biol. Chem. 254:9908
- Cooper, N. R., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1970. The reaction mechanism of human C5 in immune hemolysis. J. Exp. Med. 132:775
- 51. Medicus, R. G., Götze, O., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1976. Alternative pathway of complement: Recruitment of precursor properdin by the labile C3/ C5 convertase and the potentiation of the pathway. J. Exp. Med. 144:1076
- 52. Vogt, W., Schmidt, G., van Buttlar, B., Dieminger, L. 1978. A new function of the activated third component of complement: Binding to C5, an essential step for C5 activation. *Immunology* 34: 29
- De Bruijn, M. H. L., Fey, G. H. 1985. Human complement component C3: cDNA coding sequence and derived

primary structure. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:708

- 54. Wetsel, R. A., Lundwall, A., Davidson, F., Gibson, T., Tack, B. F., Fey, G. H. 1984. Structure of murine complement component C3. II. Nucleotide sequence of cloned complementary DNA coding for the α chain. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 13857
- 55. Lundwall, A., Wetsel, R. A., Domdey, H., Tack, B. F., Fey, G. H. 1984. Structure of murine complement component C3. I. Nucleotide sequence of cloned complementary and genomic DNA coding for the β chain. J. Biol. Chem. 259:13851
- Carroll, M. C., Porter, R. R. 1983. Cloning of a human complement component C4 gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:264
- 57. Campbell, R. D., Porter, R. R. 1983. Molecular cloning and characterization of the gene coding for human complement protein factor B. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:4464
- Bentley, D. R., Porter, R. R. 1984. Isolation of cDNA clones for human complement component C2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:1212
- Colten, H. R. 1983. Molecular genetics of the major histocompatibility linked complement genes. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 6:149
- 60. Fey, G., Domdey, H., Wiebauer, K., Whitehead, A. S., Odink, K. 1983. Structure and expression of the C3 gene. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 6:119
- Daha, M. R., Fearon, D. T., Austen, K. F. 1976. C3 requirements for formation of alternative pathway C5 convertase. J. Immunol. 117:630
- Polley, M. J., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1967. Enhancement of the hemolytic activity of the second component of human complement by oxidation. J. Exp. Med. 126:1013
- Fishelson, Z., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1982. C3 convertase of human complement: Enhanced formation and stability of the enzyme generated with nickel instead of magnesium. J. Immunol. 129: 2603
- 64. Smith, C. A., Vogel, C. W., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1984. MHC class III products: An electron microscope study of the C3 convertases of human complement. J. Exp. Med. 159: 324
- 65. Tack, B. F. 1984. The β -Cys- γ -Glu thiolester bond in human C3, C4, and α_2 -macroglobulin. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 6:259
- 66. Podack, E. R., Kolb, W. P., Müller-

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:503-528. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

Eberhard, H. J. 1978. The C5b-6 complex: Formation, isolation and inhibition of its activity by lipoprotein and the S-protein of human serum. J. Immunol. 120:1841

- Podack, E. R., Biesecker, G., Kolb, W. P., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1978. The C5b,6 complex: Reaction with C7, C8, C9. J. Immunol. 121:484
- Preissner, K. T., Podack, E. R., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1985. The membrane attack complex of complement: Relation of C7 to the metastable membrane binding site of the intermediate complex C5b-7. J. Immunol. 135:445
- 69. Preissner, K. T., Podack, E. R., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1985. Self-association of the seventh component of human complement (C7): Dimerization and polymerization. J. Immunol. 135:452
- 70. Monahan, J. B., Sodetz, J. M. 1981. Role of the β -subunit in the interaction of the eighth component of human complement with the membrane bound cytolytic complex. J. Biol. Chem. 256: 3258
- Tschopp, J., Esser, A. F., Spira, T. J., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1981. Occurrence of an incomplete C8 molecule in homozygous C8 deficiency in man. J. Exp. Med. 154:1599
- 72. Podack, E. R., Stoffel, W., Esser, A. F., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1981. The membrane attack complex of complement: Distribution of subunits between the hydrocarbon phase of target membranes and water. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78:4544
- 73. Steckel, E. W., Welbaum, B. E. Sodetz, J. M. 1983. Evidence of direct insertion of terminal complement proteins into cell membrane bilayers during cytolysis: Labeling by a photosensitive membrane probe reveals a major role for the eighth and ninth components. J. Biol. Chem. 258:4318
- Dourmashkin, R. R. 1978. The structural events associated with the attachment of complement components to cell membranes in reactive lysis. *Immunology* 35:205
- Tschopp, J., Podack E. R., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1982. Ultrastructure of the membrane attack complex of complement: Detection of the tetramolecular C9 polymerizing complex C5b-8. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79: 7474
- Yamamoto, K., Migita, S. 1982. Evidence for polymeric assembly of C9 within the membrane attack complex of complement. J. Immunol. 129:2335
- 77. Tschopp, J., Podack, E. R., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1985. The membrane

attack complex of complement: C5b-8 complex as accelerator of C9 polymerization. J. Immunol. 134:495

- Podack, E. R., Tschopp, J. 1982. Circular polymerization of the ninth component of complement (poly C9): Ring closure of the tubular complex confers resistance to detergent dissociation and to proteolytic degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 257: 15204
- Ishida, B., Wisnieski, B. J., Lavine, C. H., Esser, A. F. 1982. Photolabeling of a hydrophobic domain of the ninth component of human complement. J. Biol. Chem. 257: 10551
- Zalman, L. S., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1985. Comparison of channels formed by poly C9, C5b-8 and the membrane attack complex using the liposome swelling assay. *Fed. Proc.* 44(3):551 (Abstr.)
- Tschopp, J. 1984. Circular polymerization of the membranolytic ninth component of complement. Dependence on metal ions. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 10569
- Chiu, F. J., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1984. Conditions favoring spontaneous poly C9 formation from isolated human C9. *Fed. Proc.* 43:1449 (Abstr.)
- Chiu, F. J., Ziccardi, R. J., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1985. Reversible selfassociation of monomeric C9 preceding poly C9 formation and dissociation of poly C9 into monomeric C9. *Fed. Proc.* 44(6):1874 (Abstr.)
- Tschopp, J., Engel, A., Podack, E. R. 1984. Molecular weight of poly C9: 12 to 18 C9 molecules form the transmembrane channel of complement. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 1922
- Sims, P. J., Wiedmer, T. 1984. Kinetics of polymerization of a fluoresceinated derivative of complement protein C9 by the membrane-bound complex of complement proteins C5b-8. *Biochemistry* 23:3260
- Pangburn, M. K., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1984. The alternative pathway of complement. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 7:163
- Nicholson-Weller, A., Burge, J., Fearon, D. T., Weller, P. F., Austen, K. F. 1982. Isolation of a human erythrocyte membrane glycoprotein with decay-accelerating activity for C3 convertases of the complement system. J. *Immunol.* 129:184
- Kolb, W. P., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1975. The membrane attack mechanism of complement: Isolation and subunit composition of the C5b-9 complex. J. Exp. Med. 141:724
- 89. Kinoshita, T., Hong, K., Inoue, K. 1981.

Soluble C5b-9 complex of guinea pig complement: Demonstration of its heterogeneity and the mechanism of its C9 hemolytic activity as transfer of reversibly bound C9 molecules from the complex. Mol. Immunol. 18:423

- Bhakdi, S., Bhakdi-Lehnen, B., Tranum-Jensen, J. 1979. Proteolytic transformation of SC5b-9 into an amphiphilic macromolecule resembling the C5b-9 membrane attack complex of complement. *Immunology* 37:901
- Podack, E. R., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1980. SC5b-9 complex of complement: Formation of the dimeric membrane attack complex by removal of Sprotein. J. Immunol. 124:1779
- Yamamoto, K. I. 1977. Lytic activity of C5-9 complexes for erythrocytes from the species other than sheep: C9 rather than C8-dependent variation in lytic activity. J. Immunol. 119:1482
- 93. Schönermark, S., Rauterberg, E. W., Roelcke, D., Löke, S., Hänsch, G. M. 1984. A C8-binding protein on the surface of human erythrocytes: The inhibitor of lysis in a homologous system. *Immunobiology* 167:103
- Houle, J. J., Hoffmann, E. M. 1984. Evidence for restriction of the ability of complement to lyse homologous erythrocytes. J. Immunol. 133: 1444
- 95. Hänsch, G. M., Hammer, C. H., Vanguri, P., Shin, M. L. 1981. Homologous species restriction in lysis of erythrocytes by terminal complement proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:5118
- 96. Hu, V. W., Shin, M. L. 1984. Speciesrestricted target cell lysis by human complement: Complement-lysed erythrocytes from heterologous and homologous species differ in their ratio of bound to inserted C9. J. Immunol. 133:2133
- Zalman, L. S., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1985. Purification of a human erythrocyte membrane protein capable of inhibiting C5b-9 and poly C9 channels. *Complement* (Abstr.) 2:90
- Esser, A. F. 1982. Interactions between complement proteins and biological and mode membranes. In *Biological Membranes*, ed. D. Chapman, p. 277. New York: Academic
- 99. Podack, E. R., Biesecker, G., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1979. Membrane attack complex of complement: Generation of high affinity phospholipid binding sites by fusion of five hydrophilic plasma proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76: 897
- 100. Esser, A. F., Kolb, W. P., Podack, E. R.,

Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1979. Reorganization of lipid bilayers by complement: A possible mechanism for membranolysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76: 1410

- 101. Inoue, K., Kinoshita, T., Okada, M., Akiyama, Y. 1977. Release of phospholipids from complement-mediated lesions on the surface of *Escherichia coli*. J. Immunol. 119:65
- 102. Shin, M. L., Paznekas, W. A., Abramovitz, A. S., Mayer, M. M. 1977. On the mechanism of membrane damage by complement: Exposure of hydrophobic sites on activated complement proteins. J. Immunol. 119:1358
- 103. Esser, A. F., Bartholomew, R. M., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1979. Disassembly of viral membranes by complement independent of channel formation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76: 5843
- 104. Gee, A. P., Boyle, M. D. P., Borsos, T. 1980. Distinction between C8-mediated and C8/C9-mediated hemolysis on the basis of independent ⁸⁶RB and hemoglobin release. J. Immunol. 124: 1905
- Ramm, L. E., Whitlow, M. B., Mayer, M. M. 1982. Size of the transmembrane channel produced by complement proteins C5b-8. J. Immunol.: 1143
- 106. Boyle, M. D. P., Ohanian, S. H., Borsos, T. 1976. Lysis of tumor cells by antibody and complement. VII. Complement-dependent ⁸⁶Rb release—a nonlethal event? J. Immunol. 117:1346
- lethal event? J. Immunol. 117:1346
 107. Morgan, B. P., Imagawa, D. K., Farzadegan, H., Ramm, L. E. 1985. Lysis of U937, a nucleated mammalian cell line by complement in the absence of C9. Fed. Proc. 44(3):552 (Abstr.)
- Ramm, L. E., Whitlow, M. B., Mayer, M. M. 1985. The relationship between channel size and the number of C9 molecules in the C5b-9 complex. J. Immunol. 134:2594
- 109. Bhakdi, S., Tranum-Jensen, J. 1983. Membrane damage by complement. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 737:343
- 110. Ramm, L. E., Whitlow, M. B., Mayer, M. M. 1983. Distribution and stability of the transmembrane channels formed by complement complex C5b-9. Mol. Immunol. 20:155
- 111. Sims, P. J. 1983. Complement pores in erythrocyte membranes. Analysis of C8/C9 binding required for functional membrane damage. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 732:541
- 112. Dalmasso, A. P., Benson, B. A. 1981. Lesions of different functional size produced by human and guinea pig com-

plement in sheep red cell membranes. J. Immunol. 127:2214

- 113. Podack, E. R., Müller-Eberhard, H. J., Horst, H., Hoppe, W. 1982. Membrane attack complex of complement (MAC): Three-dimensional analysis of MACphospholipid vesicle recombinants. J. Immunol. 128:2353
- 114. Whitlow, M. B., Ramm, L. E., Mayer, M. M. 1985. Penetration of C8 and C9 in the C5b-9 complex across the erythrocyte membrane into the cytoplasmic space. J. Biol. Chem. 260:998
- 115. Morgan, B. P., Luzio, J. P., Campbell, A. K. 1984. Inhibition of complementinduced (¹⁴C) sucrose release by intracellular and extracellular monoclonal antibodies to C9: Evidence that C9 is a transmembrane protein. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 118:616
- 116. Koski, C. L., Ramm, L. E., Hammer, C. H., Mayer, M. M., Shin, M. L. 1983. Cytolysis of nucleated cells by complement: Cell death displays multi-hit characteristics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 80:3816
- 117. Ramm, L. E., Whitlow, M. B., Koski, C. L., Shin, M. L., Mayer, M. M. 1983. Elimination of complement channels from the plasma membranes of U937, a nucleated mammalian cell line: Temperature dependence of the elimination rate. J. Immunol. 131:1411
- 118. Carney, D. F., Koski, C. L., Shin, M. L. 1985. Elimination of terminal complement intermediates from the plasma membrane of nucleated cells: The rate of disappearance differs from cells carrying C5b-7 or C5b-8 or a mixture of C5b-8 with a limited number of C5b-9. J. Immunol. 134:1804
- 119. Joiner, K. A., Schmetz, M. A., Sanders, M. E., Murray, T. G., Hammer, C. H. 1985. Multimeric complement component C9 is necessary for killing of *Escherichia coli* J5 by terminal attack complex C5b-9. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 82:4808
- 120. Morgan, B. P., Campbell, A. K., Luzio, J. P., Hallett, M. B. 1984. Recovery of polymorphonuclear leukocytes from complement attack. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 12:779
- 121. Roberts, P. A., Morgan, B. P., Campbell, A. K. 1985. 2-chloroadenosine inhibits complement-induced reactive oxygen metabolite production and recovery of human polymorphonuclear leukocytes attacked by complement. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 126:692
- 122. Campbell, A. K., Daw, R. A., Hallett, M. B., Luzio, J. P. 1981. Direct measure-

ment of the increase in intracellular free Ca^{2+} concentration in response to the action of complement. *Biochem. J.* 194:551

- 123. Imagawa, D. K., Osifchin, N. E., Paznekas, W. A., Shin, M. L., Mayer, M. M. 1983. Consequences of cell membrane attack by complement: Release of arachidonate and formation of inflammatory derivatives. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:6647
- 124. Hänsch, G. M., Seitz, M., Martinotti, G., Betz, M., Rauterberg, E. W., Gemsa, D. 1984. Macrophages release arachidonic acid, prostaglandin E₂, and thromboxane in response to late complement components. J. Immunol. 133: 2145
- 125. Seeger, W., Suttorp, N., Hellwig, A., Bhakdi, S. 1985. C5b-8 complement channels may serve as calcium gates to elicit leukotriene generation in human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J. Biol. Chem. In press
- 126. Mayer, M. M. 1982. Membrane attack by complement (with comments on cellmediated cytotoxicity). In *Mechanisms* of *Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity*, ed. W. R. Clark, P. Golstein, p. 193. New York: Plenum
- 127. Millard, P. J., Henkart, M. P., Reynolds, C. W., Henkart, P. A. 1984. Purification and properties of cytoplasmic granules from cytotoxic rat LGL tumors. J. Immunol. 132:3197
- 128. Podack, E. R., Konigsberg, P. J. 1984. Cytolytic T cell granules. Isolation, structural, biochemical and functional characterization. J. Exp. Med. 160:695
- 129. Blumenthal, R., Millard, P. J., Henkart, M. P., Reynolds, C. W., Henkart, P. A. 1984. Liposomes as targets for granule cytolysin from cytotoxic large granular lymphocyte tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:5551
- Masson, D., Tschopp, J. 1985. Isolation of a lytic, pore forming protein (perforin) from cytolytic T lymphocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 260:9069
- 131. Zalman, L. S., Brothers, M. A., Chiu, F. J., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1985. Anti-C9 reactive protein in the granules of large granular human lymphocytes. *Complement* (Abstr.) 2:90
- 132. Henkart, P. A. 1985. Mechanism of lymphocyte mediated cytotoxicity. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3:31
- 133. Kupfer, A., Dennert, G., Singer, S. J. 1983. Polarization of the Golgi apparatus and the microtubule-organizing center within cloned natural killer cells bound to their targets. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:7224

527

Annual Reviews

528 MÜLLER-EBERHARD

- Kupfer, A., Dennert, G. 1984. Reorientation of the microtubule-organizing center and the Golgi apparatus in cloned cytotoxic lymphocytes triggered by binding to lysable target cells. J. Immunol. 133:2762
 Yogel, C. W., Plückthun, A., Podack, E.
- 135. Vogel, C. W., Plückthun, A., Podack, E. R., Dennis, E. A., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1983. The membrane attack complex of complement and its precursor proteins lack phospholipase activity. Mol. Immunol. 20: 377
- 136. Simone, C. B., Henkart, P. A. 1980. Permeability changes induced in erythrocyte ghost targets by antibodydependent cytotoxic effector cells: Evidence for membrane pores. J. Immunol. 124:954
- 137. Zalman, L. S., Brothers, M. A., Müller-Eberhard, H. J. 1985. A C9 related channel forming protein in the cytoplasmic granules of human large granular lymphocytes. *Bioscience Reports* 5: No. 12



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
The Panspecific Hemopoietin of Activated T Lymphocytes (Interleukin-3), John W. Schrader	205
MOLECULAR IMMUNOBIOLOGY OF COMPLEMENT BIOSYNTHESIS: A MODEL OF SINGLE-CELL CONTROL OF EFFECTOR-INHIBITOR	001
BALANCE, Davia H. Perimutter and Harvey K. Cotten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N. Gaulton and Mark I. Greene	251
ANALYSIS OF THE EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF CLASS-II MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> in Normal and Malignant Cells, Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 529–91 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION

Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri

Division of Biology, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, California 91125

INTRODUCTION

T and B lymphocytes participate in the vertebrate immune response through their recognition and elimination of foreign pathogens and macromolecules. Lymphocytes possess both the specificity and the ability to react with a broad range of structures; these properties are mediated through both T-cell antigen receptors and immunoglobulins that serve as antigen receptors for B cells. Despite some similarities, T-cell antigen recognition and function are different in several important respects from the corresponding processes in B cells. First, T cells recognize only antigens that are present on the surfaces of other cells in the context of polymorphic cell-surface molecules encoded by the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) (1–3). The mechanism by which T-cell receptors express an apparently dual specificity for both antigen and polymorphic determinants of the MHC-encoded molecule is not known and has been the subject of much debate. Second, T cells can be subdivided into separate functional categories including cytotoxic effector cells (T_c) (4), inducer or helper cells $(T_{H})(5, 6)$, and suppressor cells $(T_{S})(7)$. Since immunoglobulins encode both antigen recognition and effector functions within the same molecule, an important question is whether antigen receptors expressed by different T-cell functional classes are distinct. Third, T cells mature in the thymus, an organ composed almost entirely of developing T lymphocytes, while B cells in mammals differentiate in the fetal liver or bone marrow (8-10).

Development in the thymus is characterized by both rapid proliferation and cell death (reviewed in 11, 12), processes that are probably related to the expression and selection of T-cell receptors. Finally, a number of accessory molecules play an important role in T-cell antigen recognition and/or activation; similar molecules have not been identified for B cells. For example, in humans the T3 molecule, composed of the δ , γ and ε polypeptides, is intimately associated with the T-cell receptor and may serve as an ion channel that functions in T-cell recognition and activation (13, 14). In addition, the human T4 and T8 molecules, and their mouse equivalents, L3T4 and Lyt-2, may bind nonpolymorphic determinants on class-II and class-I MHC molecules, respectively, thereby stabilizing the interaction of T cells with their targets (15–19). Although much has been learned about the functional characteristics of T cells, until recently little was known about the molecular nature of the antigen-specific receptor.

The first breakthrough in the characterization of the T-cell antigen receptor came with the generation of monoclonal antibodies that could bind to only one of a panel of T-cell clones (20–26). These clone-specific antibodies were capable of affecting antigen-specific activation, suggesting that they recognized the antigen receptor. Using these serological reagents, researchers demonstrated that the receptor is composed of a disulfide-linked heterodimer composed of two subunits, denoted α and β , each with a molecular weight of approximately 40–50 kd (kilodaltons). Further characterization of this heterodimer demonstrated that each chain contains portions that are variable and portions that are constant between different T cells; this suggested the presence of both α - and β -chain variable and constant regions (23, 27, 28).

Study of the molecular genetics of the T-cell antigen receptor began when cDNA clones encoding the α and β chains, as well as γ , a third T cell-specific gene family whose function is unknown, were isolated using subtractive or differential hybridization techniques (29-33). In March of 1984, the first papers that characterized cDNA clones encoding the β polypeptide of the T-cell antigen receptor were published (29, 30, 34). Since that date, over 70 papers concerned with the T-cell receptor α and β , and the γ genes of either mice or humans have been written. Progress has been rapid, and in some areas the depth of knowledge of these genes already approaches that we have of the immunoglobulin genes. This article summarizes the current understanding of the organization, rearrangement, ontogeny of expression, and diversification of the genes encoding the α and β chains of T-cell antigen receptor. We discuss the y genes as well, because of their obvious structural similarity to the α and β T cell-receptor genes. We also attempt to integrate the available knowledge of T cell-receptor genes with theories that account for the mechanisms responsible for MHC-restricted antigen recognition and immune response gene defects, areas that are still characterized by controversy and speculation.

STRUCTURE AND ORGANIZATION

Structure of the α , β , and γ Chains

The polypeptides encoded by the α , β , and γ genes have significant structural homology to the immunoglobulin genes (29, 31–37). Many of the detailed structural features of these polypeptides have been inferred from the translated sequences of cDNA clones. The α , β , and γ chains are 30–37 kd prior to both glycosylation and cleavage of the leader sequence. They can each be subdivided into seven regions : A hydrophobic leader region of 18–29 amino acids characteristic of all cell-surface and secreted proteins; a variable (V) segment of 88–98 amino acids; a joining (J) segment of approximately 14–21 amino acids; a sequence of 87–113 amino acids that resembles an immunoglobulin constant (C) region; a connecting peptide of varying length; a transmembrane region of 5–12 amino acids (Figure 1). The V



Scale in amino acids

Figure 1 α , β , and γ polypeptides. The murine α , β , and γ chains are represented by open rectangles. Cysteines are represented by a C connected by a vertical line to the rectangle. Potential sites for N-linked glycosylation are represented by -CHO. Above the protein, the relative lengths of seven sections are indicated. L is leader; V, variable segment; J, joining segment; C, constant region; CP, connecting peptide; T, transmembrane region; and CY, cytoplasmic region. The scale is given in amino acids.

and J segments together constitute the V regions that display significant structural similarity with immunoglobulin V regions, including a length of approximately 110 amino acids, a centrally positioned disulfide bridge spanning 63-69 amino acids, and several other conserved amino acids that are believed to be important for protein structure. The α and β chains both have a cysteine, located near the carboxyl terminus in the connecting peptide, that probably participates in the known disulfide bond linking the α and β subunits of the heterodimer. The γ chain has a similar cysteine in the connecting peptide that may participate in a disulfide bond with another γ chain to form a homodimer, or possibly with another polypeptide to form a heterodimer. The β and γ chain have one, and the α chain has two, positively charged amino acids in the transmembrane region. The presence of charged amino acids in this hydrophobic stretch is unusual, although not unprecedented (38). One or more of the positive charges in α and β could form an ionic interaction with a negatively charged aspartic acid in the transmembrane portion of the δ chain of the T3 complex, or possibly with other membrane proteins.

Chromosomal Locations of the α , β , and γ Genes

The chromosomal locations of the murine and human α , β , and γ loci have been determined by a variety of techniques. The results of these studies are summarized in Table 1. In mice, each of the three T-cell gene families that undergo rearrangement is encoded on a separate chromosome. The gene that encodes the murine C_{α} region is located on chromosome 14, bands C or D (39, 40). A group of related V_{α} region genes were shown to be linked to the C_{α} gene (40). In the human α gene family (41), and in the mouse (42, 43) and human (44-46) β gene families as well, all the data are consistent with chromosomal linkage of V and C genes. Thus, as in the three unlinked immunoglobulin gene families, V and C genes that are members of the same gene family, yet separate in the germline (see below), are chromosomally linked.

The genes that encode the C_{β} regions in mice are located on chromosome

Table 1 genes ^a	s of the α , β , and γ	
Gene	Mouse	Human
α	14C-D	14q11–12
β	6 B	7q32–35
γ	13 A 2–3	7p15

^aDetails concerning the experimental methods and references are given in the text.

6, band B (45, 47), which also contains the immunoglobulin κ gene family (48, 49) and the gene encoding the Lyt-2 molecule expressed primarily by MHC class I-specific T cells (50, 51). Genetic analysis using monoclonal antibodies directed against V_β genes in one case (42, 52, 53), or a combination of both monoclonal antibodies and restriction fragment length polymorphisms in another (43), have shown that the β genes are approximately 10–13 centimorgans from the very closely linked Lyt-2 and C_{κ} genes. The murine γ genes have been located to band A2 or A3 of chromosome 13 (40).

In humans the three T cell–rearranging gene families also are unlinked (Table 1). The α locus is located on chromosome 14, bands q11–12 (41, 54–57). The immunoglobulin heavy-chain genes are also on chromosome 14, but they are located at band q32 (58) and therefore are not closely linked to the α genes. The region of chromosome 14 containing the α genes is often rearranged in T-cell malignancies (59–61). Although there is so far no proof that these rearrangements directly involve either the α gene locus or oncogenes, they may be analogous to the proto-oncogene rearrangements observed in the immunoglobulin loci in B lymphocyte malignancies (62, 63).

The relatively close linkage of the β - and κ -chain genes in mice is not an essential feature of the organization of these gene families. The human β -chain genes have been localized to chromosome 7 (44–46, 64–66) and the human κ genes are found on chromosome 2 (67). Data from in situ hybridization studies indicate that the β genes are located on bands q32–35 of chromosome 7 (46, 65, 66), although in some individuals a significant amount of hybridization is observed on the short arm of chromosome 7 (bands p_{15-21}) (46). In the earliest study in which metaphase chromosome spreads from a single individual were analyzed, most of the observed grains were in fact located around 7p13-21, and relatively few were located near 7q32–35 (45). There is no simple explanation for the variable hybridization of β probes to the short arm of chromosome 7. Although the human γ genes are located at chromosome 7 band p15 (41), the β and y genes have diverged extensively and should not cross-hybridize. Chromosomal rearrangements with breakpoints that are close to the α , β , and γ gene loci are common in lymphocytes from ataxia telangiectasia patients (68). To a much lesser extent, such abnormalities are also seen in mitogen-stimulated T lymphocytes from normal individuals (69, 70); this suggests that fragile sites in these chromosomes are related to the sites that undergo normal gene rearrangements in T lymphocytes.

Organization of the α , β , and γ Gene Families

Using cDNA clones as probes, researchers have characterized the organization of the α , β , and γ gene families (Figure 2). As in the immunoglobulins,

Annual Reviews

534 KRONENBERG, SIU, HOOD, & SHASTRI



Figure 2 Genomic organization of the six known rearranging gene families of B and T cells. (a) Murine immunoglobulin genes; (b) murine T-cell α, β , and y genes. Coding sequences are indicated by boxes or short vertical lines; introns and flanking sequences are represented by a thin horizontal line. The separate exons and introns of the different C genes are not shown. A double diagonal line indicates that all the flanking sequences are not depicted The nomenclature of Davis and colleagues has $C_{\beta 1} = C_T \beta$ and $C_{\beta 2} = C_T \beta'$ (261). the genes that encode these molecules are actually composed of two parts : a variable gene and a constant gene. The variable gene is composed of either two (V and J) or three (V, D, and J) gene segments (71–76). Each gene family has multiple V and J gene segments and one to three constant genes (71–79). The V, D, and J gene segments are separate in the germline and are brought together by DNA rearrangement during T-lymphocyte differentiation to form the complete V gene (71–76). This DNA rearrangement is mediated by rearrangement signals located directly 3' to the V gene segments, 5' to the J gene segments, and on either side of the D gene segments (71–78, 80–82) (Figure 3). The sequences of these rearrangement signals in the three families are similar to one another and to those found in the immunoglobulin gene families. These sequences are composed of a conserved heptamer, 5' CACAGTG 3', and a conserved A/T-rich nonamer, separated



Figure 3 (3a) Rearrangement signals in a hypothetical V-to-J joining. The 23 and 12 refer to the lengths of the nonconserved spacer sequence. The inverse complementarity and the ability of a single strand to form a base-paired stem-loop structure are illustrated. (3b) Rearrangement signals for DNA rearrangement in the six known rearranging gene families, The numbers 7 and 9 represent the conserved heptamer and A/T rich nonamer sequences, respectively. (1) denotes the one-turn or 12-base-pair nonconserved spacer sequence, and (2) denotes the two-turn or 23-base-pair spacer sequence.

by a nonconserved spacer sequence of either 12 or 23 base pairs (Figure 3). The rearrangement signals of any two gene segments that can undergo joining are, with the exception of the spacer sequence, nearly inverse complements of one another, and therefore, these sequences on the same DNA strand can hypothetically base pair with one another (Figure 3a). As in immunoglobulin genes (83–85), DNA rearrangement is believed to occur only when one gene segment has a rearrangement signal with a 12-base-pair spacer (approximately one turn of the DNA helix and therefore denoted a *one-turn signal*) and the other gene segment has a 23-base-pair spacer (approximately two turns of the DNA helix and designated a *two-turn signal*) (Figure 3b).

Variable Gene Segments

The germline variable (V) gene segments of the α , β , and γ gene families are composed of 2 exons separated by an intron of 100-400 base pairs. The first exon is approximately 49 base pairs in length and encodes most of the hydrophobic leader sequence, while the second exon of approximately 300 base pairs encodes the remaining 5 amino acids of the leader and the V segment that comprises the first 88-98 amino acids of the variable-region gene (71–76). All of the α , β , and γ V gene segments have a two-turn signal for DNA rearrangement immediately adjacent to their 3' ends, as do the immunoglobulin V_H and V_λ gene segments (85) (Figure 3). The rearrangement of a V_{β} gene segment often deletes some others from the same chromosome, suggesting that many V_{β} gene segments are located 5' of both the deleted V_{β} gene segments and the C_{β} genes (R. Barth, J. Goverman, unpublished data). However, the murine β locus has V_{β} gene segments distributed both 5' and 3' of the C_{β} genes. One V_{β} gene segment is located 10 kb 3' to $C_{\beta 2}$ in reverse transcriptional orientation (Figure 2) and is utilized by a functional T-cell clone (86). It is not known if other V_{β} gene segments are located 3' of the C_g genes. The orientation of the V_{α} and V_{γ} gene segments, as well as the V_H and V_L gene segments, to their respective C genes is also unknown.

Figure 4 shows the amino acid sequence of the 16 known murine V_{β} gene segments. Like the immunoglobulin V gene families, the T-cell antigenreceptor V gene families can be divided into different subfamilies, each consisting of V gene segments more than 75% similar in DNA sequence (87– 89). The 16 mouse V_{β} sequences constitute 14 different subfamilies. We have proposed an arbitrary but simple numerical nomenclature for the V_{β} gene segment subfamilies and gene segments (88), and it is presented in Figure 4. According to this nomenclature, members of the same subfamily share the first digit and differ in the second; therefore $V_{\beta 8.1}$, $V_{\beta 8.2}$, and $V_{\beta 8.3}$ are all members of the $V_{\beta 8}$ subfamily. The mouse V_{β} gene family is unique in that

Annual Reviews

	NGUYUGNFYIIKGKGGKIIKCOONFNHDT WAWYROJGGGGLE FIYWIUNGNLT SHTSYWUSUFUTUNTEMMANALELELANS NGUYUGNFYLIGGGKLIKCOONFNHDT WAWYROJGGGLE LIYWINDLOKGUS EGYDASAFKSSFSLTVTSADANTFLAAS GMKVTQMSRYLIKRMGENVLLECGQDMSHET MYWYRODJGHELR LIYYSYADSTEKGDIP DGYKASRPSGEFSLILLBALSQTAVFCAS EAAVTGSPRSKVAVTGGKYTLSCHOTNNHN MYWYRODJGHELR LIHYSYGAGSTEKGDIP DGYKASRPSGEFSLILLELAFSGATVYFCAS EAAVTGSPRNKVAVTGGKVTLSCHOTNNHN MYWYRODTGHELR LIHYSYGAGNLOIDOVP DGYKASRPSGEFSLILLELAFSGATVYFCAS EAAVTGSPRNKVAVTGGKVTLSCHOTNNHN MYWYRODTGHELR LIHYSYGAGNLOIDOVP DGYKASRPSGEFSLILLELAFSGATVYFCASS EAAVTGSPRNKVAVTGGKVTLSCHOTNNHN MYWYRODTGHELR LIHYSYGAGNLOIDOVP DGYKASRPSGEFSLILELAFSGATVFCASS EAAVTGSPRNKVAVTGGKVTLSCHOTNNHN MYWYRODTGHELR LIHYSYGAGNLOIDOVP DGYKASRPSGEFSLILELASLSGATVFCASS SYWYRGHSKLIK IMFYSYAGNSANNAFYKLARVFKTORGASFSCHVASSTRANSFSTALTGEDFFLLLELASPSGTSVYFCASS NGUJOTPRHKVTGGKVTLSCHOTNNHD MYWYRODTGHELR LIHYSYGAGNLOIDOS DGYKATRTTGEDFFLLLELASPSGTSVYFCASS SYWYRGHSKKLLK IMFSYNGALIVUENTF RFFGSSPANSFSCHJLLELASPSGATSVFCASS SYWYRGHSKKLLK IMFSYNGALIVUENTF RFFGSSPANSFSTLKIGSTGPGDSAVYLCASS NGUJOTPRHKVTGKGGEATLWCEPISGHSA VFWYRGTIVGGLFLTYFRNDAAPIDDSG MPKERFSAQMPNOSHSTLKIGSTGPGDSAVYLCASS AGTIHQWPVEIKAVGSPLSLGCTIKGKSSPNLYWYWDĂŢGGTLQ QLFYSINSFSCHTKAFFFGGDTSTKTGSSFGHOTATVCASS	V_{β} segments. The protein sequences of 16 mouse V_{β} segments aligned for maximum similarity. The sequence data are derived from the	ndicated (31, 32, 34, 86–89). The sequences of $V_{\beta13}$ and $V_{\beta13}$ are derived from cDNA clones that do not contain the complete V_{β} gene simplified but arbitrary nomenclature is used, equivalent to the following designations from other papers: $V_{\beta1} = 86T1$ (34) and $V_{\beta11}$ (89); 87) and V_{sc} (89): $V_{sc} = 2R_{sc}$ (89): $V_{sc} = V_{sc}$ (89): $V_{sc} = 1R_{sc}$ (89): $V_{sc} = 1R_{sc}$ (89): $V_{sc} = 2R_{sc}$ (32) and V_{sc} (89): $V_{sc} = 1R_{sc}$ (89). $V_{sc} = 1R_{sc}$ (89) V_{sc} (89). $V_{sc} = 1R_{sc}$ (89) V_{sc} (80)	= C5 $\Gamma_{p_0}(x_{j_1}, y_{j_2}, y_{j_3}, y_{j_1}, y_{j_2}, y_{j_3}, y_{j_3}, y_{j_3}, y_{j_3}, y_{j_4}, y_{j_1}, y_{j_1}, y_{j_2}, y_{j_1}, y_{j_1$	Ad by an asterisk if this amino acid is conserved only in the β gene family. If the same amino acid is conserved in other gene families as well, ated by the letters in the open box. $L = \kappa$ and λ ; $H = heavy$; $\alpha = \alpha$ chain. The arrow indicates invariant or semi-invariant amino acids that
200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200	22222222222222222222222222222222222222	Figure 4 V ₈ s	references indic segments. A sin V 2. = E1 (87) 2	(89); $V_{\beta 8.1} = C$ Members of the Conserved ami	are indicated b this is indicated

537

are thought to interact with one another to stabilize V_H-V_L interactions in immunoglobulins.

hybridization of Southern blots with V_{β} gene segment probes has shown that it consists of a large number of single-member gene subfamilies. Of 14 V_{β} subfamilies, 12 are single copy, and the remaining 2 have only 3 members each (87–89). One of the 3-member subfamilies is $V_{\beta 8}$, and the other is $V_{\beta 5}$, although only 1 of the 3 members of the $V_{\beta 5}$ subfamily has so far been cloned and sequenced. In contrast, the murine V_{κ} and V_{H} gene segment subfamilies contain 4 to 50 or more members (90–92). Although the sizes of the V_{β} subfamilies are small, there are a larger number of known subfamilies than can be found in murine immunoglobulin genes, where only 7 V_{H} subfamilies and 8 V_{κ} subfamilies have been identified (90–92). It is not yet known whether human V_{β} gene segment subfamilies are organized in a way similar to those of the mouse. At present only one human subfamily with 5 members has been characterized (93).

A compilation of the known V_{α} gene segment sequences is presented in Figure 5 (31, 33, 94, 95). The amino acid sequences shown were translated from the nucleotide sequence of 22 different cDNA clones. The 22 sequences can be grouped into 11 subfamilies, and Southern blots have shown these families consist of 1 to 10 members each (94, 95). The V_{α} gene family is therefore similar to the V_{κ} and V_{H} gene families in that, with one exception, all the V_{α} gene segment subfamilies have multiple members. A numerical nomenclature for the mouse V_{α} genes (Figure 5). The murine V_{γ} family contains at least one subfamily of 3 members, only 1 of which appears to be utilized frequently (73) (see below). Of the 3 members of this V_{γ} gene segment subfamily, 2 have been linked and are in opposite transcriptional orientations (73).

Comparisons of the different V_{α} or V_{β} gene segments reveal that they can be quite diverse, differing from other gene segments in the same gene family by as much as 70% in DNA sequence and 84% in protein sequence (87-89, 93-95). This is somewhat more diverse than in the immunoglobulin V gene families, where the most divergent V gene segments of the same family differ by as much as 76% in protein sequence (90-92). Despite this diversity, the V_{β} and V_{α} genes both have conserved amino acids that are also conserved in immunoglobulin V gene segments (see below).

Diversity Gene Segments

Two murine D_{β} (diversity) gene segments have been characterized (Figure 2). The more 5' gene segment, $D_{\beta 1}$, is 12 base pairs long and is identical in sequence in mice and humans (80–82). The more 3' gene segment, $D_{\beta 2}$, is 14 nucleotides long (82). The sequences of both murine D_{β} gene segments are G-rich and similar to each other. The D_{β} gene segments have one-turn recognition signals for DNA rearrangement in their 5' flanking regions and

			→	
	الله الله الله الله الله الله الله الله			<u> </u>
		*		
۷.,	I OQKVQQSPESLSVPES MASLNCTSSORNF QYFWWYRQHSGEGPKALMSIFSUGDKKE GF ADNVDASPFSI TVPFGARTSI NCTFSDSAS QYFWWYRQHSGKAPKAI MSTFSNGFKFF GF	RFTAHL N RFTTHI N	IKASLHVSLHIRDSGPSDSALYFU IKASLHFSLHIRDSGPSDSALYLC	AAS 1484 AVT TT11
,	QEKVQQSPESLIYPEQMIVSLIOSSQSSS QTIWWYQQHPGKGPKALISIFSNGMKKE GF		RASCHVSLHIKDSQPSDSAVYLC	AVRRS C5
	CORVOOSPESLSVPEGGMASFNCTSSDRNF OYFWWYRQHSGEGPKALMSIFSDGDKKE GF	RFTAHL N	IKASLHVSLHIRDSQPSDSALYFC	AASRT E1
Va2	J QQVRQSPQSLTVWEGETAILNCSYEDSTF DYFPWYWQFPRESPALLIAIRPVSNKKED GF	RETIFE 2	KREKKLSLHITDSQPGDSATYFC	AAN TA39
2			KREKKLSCHI IDSQPGUSALYEC	
Va3	J GAVIGTUARY I VSEGASI GIRACKYSYSAI FILFWI VWITHWGLALLCKI I 300UFVVGGVNG 1 GAVIGDAADVIVSEGASI GIRACKYSYLSYSAI DYI F			
	1 DSVTOTEGOVALSEEDFLTINCNYSSSSY PALFWYV0YPGEGPOFLFPASPDKEKGS SPO	GFEATY D	KGTTSFHLRKASVOESDSAVYYC	ALG TA65
40>	COSVIDIEGPVILSEGISLIVNCSYETKOY PILFWYVQYPGEGPQLLFKVPKANEKGS NRC	GFEATY N	IKEATSFHLOKASVOESDSAVYYC	ALG MD13-1(
	ITAPYIDPNS YYFFWYKOEPGASLOLLMKVFSSTEINE GOC	GFTVLL N	IKKDKRLSLNLTAAHPGDSAAYFC	AVS TA80
Vas	4 EQVEGRPPHLSVREGDSAVIICTYTDPNS YYFFWYKQEPGAGLQLLMKVFSSTEINE GQG	GFTVLL N	IKKDKQLSLNLTAAHPGDSAVYFC	AVR TA72
	[GEQVEORPHLSVREGDSAVITCTYTDPNS YYFFWYKOEPGASLOLLMKVFSSTEINE GOC	GFTVLL N	IKKDKRLSLNLTAAHPGDSAAYFC	AVNYG MDA
Va 6	^C DAKTTOPDSMEST EGETVHLPCSHATISGNEYIYWYRQVPLOGPEYVTHGLQQNTINS MA	FLAIASDR	KSSTSI L PHVSLADAVYHC	ILR TAI
Va7	, EKVIQVWSTASRQEGEELTLJCSYETSQVLYHLFWYKHLLSGEMVFLIRQTSSSTAKERSGF	RYSVF 0	KSLKSISLIISALOPDDSGKYFC	ALW TA27
i	VOYLNEAPOVLLKSSTDNKRTE HOG	GFHATL H	IKSSSSFHLOK SSOLSDSALYYC	ALP TA61
Va8	GDSVTQTEGLVTL TEGLPVMLNCTYQTIYSNPFLFWYVHYLNESPRLLLKSSTDNKRTE HQG ADD A	GFHATL H	IKSSSSFHLOKSSAQLSDSALYYC	ALGTG P71
;	(LTLTKGLPVMLNCTYGTTYS PFLFWYVGHLNEAPKLLLKSSTDNKHTE HJG	GFYATL_H	IKSSSSFHLOKSSVOLSUSALYFC	ALSDR LB2
Va9	GNV QRAAT	TFLSDCGGC	OSSS VLCPARIGOO SGTYLC	AMN 1437
Vato V			TKENNSSCHTSSSGIJDSGIJLC	ALP 1A5/
2		RLTSTT V	TKERRSCHISSSOTTDSGTYLC	AMGGS FNI-18
Vall	GDQVEQSPSALSLHEGTGSALACNFTTTMP, AVQWFQQNSAGSLINLFYLASGTKE ,NGF	RLKSTF N	SKESYSILHIRDAGLEDSGIYFC	AALHV 284
		- ;		
	10 20 30 40 50 60	70	80 90	
Figure	e5 V _a segments. The protein sequences of 22 mouse V _a gene segments aligned for maxim	ium similarit	y. The sequence data are derived	from the
referei	nces indicated (32, 33, 94, 95). A simplified but arbitrary nomenclature is used as described t	for the V_{β} ge	one segment sequences. Individua	IV_{a} gene
segme	ents were not numbered, because in some cases it was not clear whether two closely rel	lated V _a gen	le segments were separate mem	bers of a

Annual Reviews

subfamily, alleles that differ between mouse strains, or possibly somatic mutants. Conserved amino acid and amino acids important for V_H-V_L

interactions are indicated as described in the legend to Figure 4.

two-turn recognition signals in their 3' flanking region (Figure 3); each is located approximately 500–600 nucleotides upstream to a cluster of J_{β} gene segments (80–82).

No germline D_{α} and D_{γ} gene segments have been isolated, and it is not known whether such gene segments exist. Sequence analysis of both germline and rearranged α and γ gene segments shows that generally all but a few nucleotides in the V-J junctional regions are encoded by the germline gene segments (73-76). These additional nucleotides could be encoded by D gene segments, or they could be the result of other mechanisms that add random nucleotides to the junctional region in the process of joining the gene segments (see below).

Joining Gene Segments

In the mouse there are 14 J_{β} gene segments, at least 3 J_{γ} gene segments, and perhaps more than 50 J_{α} gene segments (71, 73–78) (Figure 2). All of the functional T cell-receptor J gene segments have one-turn recognition signals for DNA rearrangement in their 5' flanking regions (Figure 3) and a splice-donor signal at their 3' boundary, which in the primary transcript permits splicing of the joined V-J to the C region sequences. The J_{β} , J_{α} , and J_{γ} gene segments contain 15–17, 19–21, and 19 codons respectively, as well as parts of two other codons at their 5' and 3' ends (Figure 6). As in the variable gene segment, the J_{α} , J_{β} , and J_{γ} gene segments encode several

	4
pHDS58	QTGFASALTFGSGTKVIPCLP
TT11	NYGSSGNKLIFGIGTLLSVKP
Jα 80	NTEGADRLTFGKGTQLIIQP
Jα 84	ATSSGQKLVFGQGTILKVYL
J _α 19	VNTGNYKYVFGAGTRLKVIA
J _α 65	NTGYGNFYFGKGTSLTVIP
J _β 1.1	NTEVFFGKGTRLTVV
J _β 1.3	SGNTLYFGEGSRLIVV
J _β 1.5	QPAPLFGEGTRLSVL
J _β 2.1	NYAÉQFFGPGTALTVL
J _β 2.3	SAETLYFGSGTALTVL
J _β 2.5	NQDTQYFGPGTRLLVL
J _γ 10.5	SSGFHKVFAEGTKLIVIPS
J _Н 1	YWYFDVWGAGTTVTVSS
Ј _Н З	WFAYWGQGTLVTVSA
J _К 1	WTFGGGTKLEIK
J _K 5	LTFGAGTKLELK
J _λ 1	WVFGGGTKLTVL
J <mark>,</mark> З	FIFGSGTKVTVL

Figure 6 Comparison of murine J gene segments from six different gene families. In order from top to bottom, six J_{α} , six J_{β} , one J_{γ} , two J_{H} , two J_{κ} , and two J_{λ} gene segments are shown. Conserved amino acids found in most J gene segments are indicated by an asterisk. The position having conserved amino acids important for immunoglobulin V_{H} - V_{L} interaction is depicted by an arrow. Data are from the indicated references (71, 73, 75, 77, 78).

conserved amino acids that are also present in immunoglobulin J segments and that are believed to be important for the structure of the immunoglobulin variable regions (see below).

The murine J_{β} gene segments are grouped into two clusters, $J_{\beta 1}$ and $J_{\beta 2}$, each containing six functional gene segments and one nonfunctional gene segment (Figure 2). The J_{β} gene segments in each cluster are separated by 36-421 bp and are located 2-3 kb 5' to their respective C_{g} genes (71, 77, 78). Nucleotide sequence analysis of 27 J_{α} -containing cDNA clones has identified 22 different segments. This implies that the repertoire of J_{α} gene segments is perhaps larger than 50 functional gene segments and therefore much larger than that of the β locus, which has 12 functional J gene segments, and the murine immunoglobulin gene loci, which each have 3-4 functional J gene segments (94, 95). In addition, the organization of these gene segments is unique in that the mouse and human J_{α} gene segments are distributed over a large stretch of DNA (74-76). The mouse J_{α} gene segments span from 3 kb to greater than 63 kb 5' to the C_{α} gene (75) (Figure 2). Thus a V_{α} gene segment that rearranges to one of the J_{α} gene segments at the 5' end of the cluster will be expressed on a very large primary transcript that would include a 63 kb intron. Preliminary data indicate the J_{α} gene segments are also further apart from one another than either the J_{β} , J_{H} , or J_{κ} gene segments, as sequence analyses indicate that no two J_{α} gene segments studied to date are closer to one another than 500 base pairs (74-76). There are at least three murine J_{y} gene segments. These are not organized in a J gene segment cluster; instead, each one is linked 3-4 kb 5' to a different C_y gene (73). Therefore the J_{y} - C_{y} gene organization is similar to that of the immunoglobulin λ genes (Figure 2).

Constant Region Genes

 C_{β} GENES In mice and humans there are two C_{β} genes, denoted $C_{\beta 1}$ and $C_{\beta 2}$ (77, 78, 96–99). The β locus is a tandem duplication of DNA containing one D_{β} gene segment, a cluster of seven J_{β} gene segments, and a C_{β} gene (Figure 2). The two C_{β} genes are very similar to each other. The two mouse C_{β} proteins indeed differ by four amino acids; in humans, they differ by six. In both species the differences are concentrated towards the 3' end of the gene (77, 78, 97, 99).

The murine and human C_{β} genes are encoded by four exons that, in contrast to the immunoglobulin C genes, do not correlate with the presumed functional domains of the constant region (77, 78, 99). In the mouse, the first exon is 375 base pairs in length and encodes a block of 113 amino acids with homology to immunoglobulin constant regions followed by the first 12 amino acids of the connecting peptide. This is the only instance in which a block of sequence homologous to an immunoglobulin V or C region is not encoded in a separate exon (see below). The 113-amino-

acid sequence contains two cysteines that could form a disulfide bond spanning 60 amino acids, and it is most homologous to the C_{λ} genes (37%) and the first domain of the immunoglobulin γ heavy chain constant regions (32-36%) (78). The remainder of the connecting peptide is encoded by a second exon of 18 nucleotides and a portion of the third exon of 107 base pairs. In immunoglobulin heavy chain constant regions, the second exon encodes a proline-rich hinge region that permits flexibility in the constant region (100-105). Although the second exon of the C_{β} gene is positioned in approximately the same place as is the heavy chain hinge exon, it does not encode any prolines and thus does not resemble a hinge region. The remainder of the third exon encodes most of the transmembrane region, which consists of neutral and nonpolar amino acids, with the exception of a single lysine. The fourth exon of 179 base pairs encodes 1 amino acid of the transmembrane region, a 5-6 amino acid cytoplasmic region, and the 3' nontranslated region.

 C_{α} GENE There appears to be only one C_{α} gene in both mice and humans (37, 74–76). Like the C_{β} genes, the C_{α} gene consists of four exons. In humans, the first exon is 261 bp long and encodes the region that is homologous to immunoglobulin constant regions. However, in the C_{α} gene, this region is only 87, rather than 113, amino acids long, and it contains a cystine bridge spanning only 49 amino acids, as opposed to the typical 60–75 amino acids. The second exon is 45 bp long and encodes 15 amino acids of the connecting peptide. The third exon, 108 bp, encodes the remainder of the connecting peptide, the transmembrane region, and a short cytoplasmic region, while the fourth exon encodes a 3' nontranslated region of 558 bp (76).

 C_{γ} GENES There are three murine C_{γ} genes (73). One of these C_{γ} genes is a pseudogene in that mutation in a donor splice recognition signal would probably prevent successful splicing of a C_{γ} transcript. In humans, there are two C_{γ} genes that are separated by approximately 6 kb of DNA (106). Unlike the C_{α} and C_{β} genes, the murine C_{γ} gene has only three exons (73). The first exon, 330 bp long, encodes the region with homology to immunoglobulin constant regions; the second, 30 bp long, encodes a portion of the connecting peptide; the third, 545 bp long, encodes the remainder of the connecting peptide, the transmembrane sequence, a 12 amino acid cytoplasmic region, and the 3' nontranslated region.

EVOLUTION

Immunoglobulin Gene Superfamily

A gene superfamily is a set of multigene families and single copy genes related by sequence (implying a common ancestry), but not necessarily related in function (107, 108). The immunoglobulin and T cell-rearranging gene families are members of the immunoglobulin gene superfamilynamed after the first well-studied members of this family (109). Over the past five years, gene cloning and nucleotide sequence analyses have led to the identification of a number of other genes that are considered members of this superfamily because of their sequence similarity with immunoglobulins. Therefore, the immunoglobulin gene superfamily now includes: the three B-cell and the three T-cell rearranging gene families; the MHCencoded class-I heavy-chain (110, 111) and class-II (112, 113) genes; a number of single copy genes including Thy-1 (108, 114) and MRC-OX2 (115), antigens of unknown function that are expressed in brain, in thymus, and on other cell types; the poly-Ig receptor, which transports polymeric IgA and IgM immunoglobulin across mucous membranes (116); the T-cell accessory molecules T4 and T8 (116a, 117, 118); and β_2 -microglobulin that is expressed in association with the heavy chain of the MHC class-I molecule (119) (Figure 7).

Immunoglobulin Homology Unit

The polypeptide members of this gene superfamily are all constructed of one or more immunoglobulin homology units. Each homology unit is approximately 110 amino acids long and has several conserved amino acids and a centrally placed cystine disulfide bridge usually spanning 60–75 amino acids. From sequence analyses, it can be predicted that the immunoglobulin homology units all probably form a conserved tertiary structure denoted the *antibody fold*, composed of two sheets of 3–4 antiparallel β -pleated strands (120). Pairs of homology units can fold together in turn to create discrete polypeptide domains (e.g. V_L-V_H or C_L-C_H) characteristic of immunoglobulins. Thus, the tertiary structure of one homology unit appears to facilitate interactions with a second homology unit to form a functional domain. At the DNA level, nearly every homology unit is encoded by a separate exon; this demonstrates a correlation between the distinct structural features of these proteins and the exon-intron structure of the corresponding genes.

Genealogical Tree

A genealogic tree has been constructed for the immunoglobulin gene superfamily (109) by assuming that evolutionary relatedness correlates with both the degree of sequence similarity among the members and with other features such as intron-exon structure and the ability to undergo DNA rearrangements (Figure 7). The figure illustrates the hypothesis that many of the molecules important for the vertebrate immune response are encoded by genes that descended from a single ancestral sequence. According to this

analysis, one of the earliest events in the evolution of the gene superfamily was a duplication leading to the divergence of V and C exons. Contemporary V and C homology units have little primary sequence similarity, suggesting an ancient divergence, although in immunoglobulins they retain similar tertiary structures. V and C homology units can be



Figure 7 A schematic representation of the evolution of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily. V and C denote a V- or C-like homology unit, respectively. The open circles for the MHC molecules do not exhibit significant sequence similarity with the immunoglobulin homology units, although they are of similar length. The Thy-1 homology unit does exhibit sequence similarity, although it is not easily classified as V or C and may have diverged prior to the V-C divergence. The horizontally paired homology units represent probable domain structures, apart from those speculated for the poly Ig receptor and the T8 molecule. The T4 gene and MRC-OX2 (not shown) each have both a single V and a single C homology unit.

Annual Reviews

distinguished from one another by their length and by the presence of certain V- or C-specific conserved amino acids. Members of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily are composed of different numbers of either V and/or C homology units. A second critical early event was the acquisition of the ability to rearrange DNA, which may have arisen from the capture of a complex transposon by a primordial V gene (121, 121a).

REARRANGEMENT AND EXPRESSION OF α , β , AND γ GENES

A large panel of lymphoid cells has been tested for rearrangement and expression of T-cell receptor α , β , and γ genes. Several questions have been addressed by these analyses. First, in light of the dual specificity of T lymphocytes for antigen and self-MHC-encoded molecules, is it possible that two T-cell antigen receptor molecules are expressed on individual T cells? This could occur if other receptor gene families besides α and β are expressed, or if the expression of the V genes in at least one of the defined receptor gene families is not subject to allelic exclusion. Second, are there antigen receptor isotypes that are associated with the different functional categories of T lymphocytes? Finally, are gene segment rearrangements regulated so that they occur in a well-defined progression, and, if so, what insight does it give us into the ontogeny of T lymphocytes and into possible mechanisms leading to allelic exclusion?

Tissue-Specific DNA Rearrangements

The available data summarized above indicate that the rearrangement processes in the immunoglobulin and T cell-specific gene families are quite similar. For example, similar recognition sequences for DNA rearrangement are used in all six gene families (Figure 3). In spite of these similarities, the complete rearrangement of T-cell antigen receptor and immunoglobulin genes appears to be tissue specific. Approximately 10% of mouse T lymphocytes have D_H -J_H rearrangements (122–126), but V_H (127–130) and light chain gene segments do not rearrange in these cells (122, 131). Similarly, only 6 cell lines out of a sample of more than 100 B lymphocyte tumors and hybridomas that were examined have undergone β gene rearrangement (F. Alt, M. Kronenberg, R. Perlmutter, unpublished observations; and 132-134). No evidence indicates that these events lead to the production of a functional β polypeptide. Insight into this tissue-specific regulation has emerged from studies in which DNA constructs containing unjoined D_{B} and J_{B} gene segments were introduced into B-cell lines that carry out immunoglobulin gene segment rearrangements (G. Yancopoulos, K. Blackwell, L. Hood, F. Alt, unpublished data). In these cells, the β gene
segments are rearranged in a site-specific fashion as efficiently as D_H and J_H gene segments introduced in a similar manner. These data suggest that the DNA recombinational machinery in B and T cells is very similar and that other cell type–specific features such as chromatin structure may determine which gene families rearrange in the two cell types.

Mechanisms of DNA Rearrangement

Several mechanisms have been proposed to account for immunoglobulin gene segment rearrangements (Figure 8). The DNA between gene segments may loop out; the stem of this loop may be formed by base pairing between the recognition signals for DNA rearrangement (Figure 3a). The stem-loop structure may then be excised to complete gene segment joining. Most of the rearrangements in the immunoglobulin heavy chain gene family result in the deletion of the DNA sequences between the joined gene segments from the genome and are therefore consistent with the deletion model (135). However, κ gene rearrangements often appear incompatible with this deletion model (136–141), and consequently three other models for rearrangement have been proposed: homologous but unequal sister chromatid exchange (137, 138, 140), inversion (139, 142, 143), and reintegration of the deleted sequences (136, 137) (Figure 8).

Several of these models are required to explain the rearrangements that occur in the β gene family. Although the majority of T cells (24/37) analyzed in detail had a β gene rearrangement pattern that is consistent with the deletion model, 13 out of 37 T cells had Southern blot patterns that could not be explained in this way (144). In some cases, the DNA in the region between joined gene segments was retained in the genome, an observation consistent with any one of the three additional models (144). In other cases, a partial duplication of the J_{β} - C_{β} locus was observed, an observation consistent only with homologous but unequal sister chromatid exchange (144, 145).

The detailed analysis of all the β gene segment rearrangements in one T_H cell line has shown that the V_{β} gene segment expressed in this cell had rearranged by inversion (86). As noted above, in germline DNA one of the V_{β} gene segments, V_{β 14}, is located 10 kb 3' to the C_{β 2} gene and in the opposite transcriptional orientation to the J_{β} gene segments and C_{β} geness (Figure 2). Two different mechanisms were required to form the complete V_{β} gene in this cell (Figure 9). First, the D_{β 1} gene segment joined to the J_{β 2.3} gene segment via a deletion or homologous but unequal sister-chromatid exchange. The V_{β 14} gene segment then rearranged, inverting a 15 kb sequence of DNA. One inversion breakpoint contains the joined V_{β}-D_{β}-J_{β} gene, while the other encompasses the reciprocal recombination product containing the heptamer 3' of the V_{β} gene segment joined to the heptamer 5'

a. Excision



b. Sister chromatid exchange



C. Inversion



Figure 8 Three models for antigen receptor gene rearrangement. \blacktriangleleft = one-turn recognition signals for DNA rearrangement. \triangleright = two-turn recognition signals for DNA rearrangement. For clarity, only rearrangement of a hypothetical V2 gene segment to an already-joined D-J2 gene segment is illustrated, although the same models apply to D-J rearrangements. (a) Excision or deletion. A stem and loop is formed by base-paired DNA-joining recognition sequences, this stem-loop is the excised, and the adjacent sequences, connected by a broken line, are joined. (b) Unequal sister chromatid exchange. The right-hand brackets represent the connection of the sister chromatids at the centromere. The broken line connects the breakpoints in the two chromatids. The diamond on the horizontal line between C1 and V1 denotes a recombination breakpoint containing DNA rearrangement signals joined in a head-to-head fashion. (c) Inversion. The horizontal arrows indicate the transcriptional orientation of the various gene segments and C genes. This figure is adapted from reference 144.

Annual Reviews

548 KRONENBERG, SIU, HOOD, & SHASTRI

of the $D_{\beta 1}$ gene segment (86). Thus, taking into account all the data, it appears that all three of the mechanisms depicted in Figure 9 may be employed for β gene rearrangements.

The detailed mechanisms of rearrangement in the α and γ gene families have not been so well characterized. It is also not clear why rearrangements in some of these gene families are always characterized by deletions, such as are observed for the immunoglobulin heavy chain genes, while in others, such as the κ and β gene families, different mechanisms also appear to operate. Any V gene segment, such as $V_{\beta14}$, that is in the opposite orientation to the J gene segments must undergo an inversion in order to be expressed. Perhaps an inversion of germline DNA that included some V gene segments occurred during the evolution of both κ and β gene families; therefore, they require a second inversion as a mechanism for their somatic rearrangement and expression. The factors that might facilitate unequal sister chromatid exchanges in some but not other gene families, however, are unclear.

Allelic Exclusion

The rearrangement of β genes in T cells normally occurs on both chromosomal homologues. In a panel of 37 clonal T lymphocyte lines, only 3% of the J_{β 1} gene segment clusters and 13% of the J_{β 2} gene segment clusters



Figure 9 β gene rearrangement by two mechanisms in a T-helper-cell line (86). The drawing is not to scale. \triangleleft and \triangleright represent one-turn and two-turn DNA rearrangement signals, respectively. For simplicity, only some of the rearrangement signals adjacent to the gene segments are shown \triangleleft represents the joined rearrangement signals that result from the inversion, and the horizontal arrows indicate the transcriptional orientation of some of the relevant coding sequences.

were in a germline configuration (144). Densitometric analysis of Southern blots from heterogeneous T-cell populations demonstrates that normal T cells also display a similar degree of β gene rearrangement (146, 147).

Southern blot analysis of three T-cell lines and the isolation of all the β gene rearrangements from three others indicate that each of these six T cells can express only a single V_{β} gene (86, 144, 148). Therefore, although β gene rearrangement occurs on both chromosomal homologues, the expression of these genes may be allelically excluded in that only one allele is productively rearranged and used in the synthesis of a functional β chain in individual T cells. Whether a β gene rearrangement is productive is determined by the joining of the V_{β} gene segment, which sets the translational reading frame of the J_{β} gene segments. Because only one of the three possible translational reading frames is productive for each J_{β} gene segment, and because the addition and deletion of nucleotides at the V_{β} -D_{β}-J_{β} rearrangements the J gene segments will not be in the proper translational reading frame.

The α and γ gene rearrangements also generate diversity through the random deletion and possible addition of nucleotides at the junction between joined gene segments (73–75, 149) (see below). As a consequence, many rearranged genes in these families should not be in the proper translational reading frame. There is not yet enough information to determine whether α and γ gene rearrangements are allelically excluded, although this is a reasonable hypothesis. Southern blots of four cytotoxic T-cell clones initially analyzed showed they had undergone γ chain gene rearrangements on both homologues (31); however, one of these T-cell clones, analyzed in more detail, had one productive and one nonproductive γ gene rearrangement (149).

Beta Gene Rearrangements in Different Cell Types

HELPER AND CYTOTOXIC T CELLS AND T-CELL TUMORS β gene rearrangement is nearly ubiquitous in human and murine T cells. In humans, 4/4 helper T-cell lines, 7/7 cytotoxic T-cell lines, 1 cell line with both cytotoxic and helper function (150, 151), and 65/71 T-cell tumors all exhibited β gene rearrangement (132–134, 152). The remaining 6 tumors had germline β genes, and they may be similar to immature T cells, or they may not in fact belong to the T-cell lineage. Similarly, in the mouse, 28/28 helper-T-cell lines and hybridomas, 16/16 cytotoxic-T-cell lines, and 14/14 T-cell tumors exhibited β gene rearrangements (144, 153). Therefore, all cytotoxic and β helper cells rearrange and probably express β genes, although in many cases there is no conclusive evidence that these rearrangements are productive.

550 kronenberg, siu, hood, & shastri

SUPPRESSOR T CELLS Suppressor T cells are defined by a number of different and complex immunological assays. Of 15 mouse suppressor-Tcell hybridomas tested, 2 exhibited β gene rearrangements, 1 had germline β genes, and the remaining 12 hybrid cells had apparently deleted the β gene loci from both chromosomes that were contributed by the suppressor-T-cell fusion partner (144, 153). Therefore, the T_s cells in these cases do not utilize the β chain in their antigen receptors. In contrast, 5/5 human suppressor-T-cell lines tested exhibit β gene rearrangements, and evidence indicates that some of these cells express a typical α/β heterodimer (150, 151, 154). These data imply that there may be several classes of T_s cells, only some of which utilize the β genes, although other explanations are possible.

NATURAL KILLER CELLS Lymphoid cells that spontaneously exhibit cytotoxic activity against a variety of tumor and nontransformed cell types are known as natural killer (NK) cells. NK cells can have several β gene phenotypes. Cloned murine NK lines that are cultured in the presence of IL-2 have β gene rearrangements and transcripts (155), although several rat large granular lymphomas that display NK activity have germline β genes (156). Peripheral blood cells from normal human donors that express cellsurface markers characteristic of NK cells also had β gene rearrangements, although there was significantly less rearrangement than was observed in T-cell populations (147). This result is consistent with the results of an analysis of a panel of human clones with NK activity; those that express T3 have β gene rearrangements and α transcripts, while those that do not express T3 have no α transcripts and may only have D_B-J_B rearrangements (157). Collectively these results indicate that NK cells are a mixed population with regard to β gene rearrangement and that expression of an α/β heterodimer is not required for NK activity. It remains possible, however, that in some cases T-cell antigen receptors participate in the recognition of NK target molecules.

Transcription of Beta Genes

There are two predominant size classes for the β transcript: a 1.3 kb RNA that contains a V_{β} gene and a 1.0 kb RNA that does not (82, 144, 150). The 1.0 kb transcripts appear to be derived from rearrangements that joined a D_{β} to a J_{β} gene segment in the absence of a V_{β} gene segment rearrangement (82). In the mouse, both $D_{\beta 1}$ and $D_{\beta 2}$ gene segments have been identified in cDNA clones that contain D_{β} joined to J_{β} gene segments but that lack V_{β} gene segments; this implies that promoters exist in the 5' flanking regions of both germline D_{β} gene segments (81, 82). Because the transcribed 5' flanking regions also contain open-reading frames and an in-frame methionine

codon that could serve as a start-signal for translation (82), the sequences of these rearranged D_{β} - J_{β} genes could encode truncated polypeptides containing sequences 5' to the D_{β} gene segments, as well as a D_{β} , J_{β} , and C_{β} sequences. Although so far no evidence exists for these truncated β polypeptides, in immunoglobulins the analogous D_{H} - J_{H} rearrangements do give rise to both transcripts and truncated polypeptides containing the C_{μ} gene product (158). Other transcripts that may be derived from unrearranged genes and several aberrantly spliced β transcripts have also been observed (R. Barth, unpublished observations, and 159).

Alpha Gene Rearrangement and Transcription

The C_{α} gene is transcribed in a variety of cell types including helpers, cytotoxic cells, many tumors, and the T3⁺ NK clones mentioned above. Two size classes of α chain RNA have been described—a 1.7 kb transcript that contains V_{α} sequences and a 1.4 kb transcript (32, 33). By analogy with the β chain genes, the shorter transcript could be derived from a D_{α} - J_{α} rearrangement or from a J_{α} - C_{α} transcript initiated by a promoter 5' to the J_{α} gene segment. Consistent with the latter hypothesis is the identification of a cDNA encoding a germline J_{α} - C_{α} transcript (A. Winoto, unpublished). The levels of α and β RNA in peripheral T cells are roughly equivalent (32, 146, 160). However, the thymus contains far more β than α RNA, and this is consistent with the hypothesis that the β genes rearrange and are expressed before the α genes (32, 146) (see below).

Gamma Gene Rearrangement and Transcription

Transcripts containing γ gene sequences were found in 4/4 cytotoxic cells tested, but in only 1/10 helper-T-cell lines and hybridomas (31, 149), and in none of the human NK clones tested (157). This pattern of expression suggests that the γ chain and MHC class-I recognition or antigen-specific T-cell cytotoxicity are in some way linked. Compared to β transcripts, γ RNA is at least 10-fold less abundant in both adult thymocytes and peripheral T cells (32, 146, 160).

While transcription of γ gene is confined primarily to cytotoxic cells, γ gene rearrangement is equally prevalent in both helper- and cytotoxic-T-cell populations. DNA prepared from Lyt-2⁺ cells that are predominantly cytotoxic and suppressor T cells, and DNA prepared from L3T4⁺ cells that are predominantly helper T cells, had approximately the same amount of γ gene rearrangement (149). In addition, 8/10 IL-2-producing T hybridomas restricted by class-II-MHC molecules have γ gene rearrangements and no germline γ chromosomes (R. Haars, J. Kobori, N. Shastri, unpublished data; 149). The other two hybrid cells deleted the γ genes that were not

derived from the BW5147 fusion partner. All of the T4⁺, T8⁻ human cell lines tested also had γ gene rearrangement (106). It is not yet known whether any of these rearrangements are productive.

All or most of the γ gene rearrangements in murine T cells are similar; this suggests that murine V_{γ} and J_{γ} gene segment diversity is quite limited (146, 149). In the human, most cell lines have different rearrangements, suggesting that V_{γ} gene segments may be more diverse (106).

T-Cell Receptor Isotypes

Isotypes are defined as multiple nonallelic forms of constant-region genes. The immunoglobulin heavy chain gene locus is characterized by several C region isotypes that participate in different effector functions (reviewed in 161). There is no evidence for C_{α} isotypes; only one C_{α} gene hybridizes with the available probes (37, 74, 75), and this C_{α} is transcribed in a variety of cell types (32, 33). The $C_{\beta 1}$ and $C_{\beta 2}$ genes are isotypes, yet there is no evidence that expression of either one of these two C_{β} genes is related to the ontological development of a T cell (146, 160), its function, or the specificity for either antigen or MHC molecule. For example, both helper and cytotoxic T cells can express either the $C_{\beta 1}$ or the $C_{\beta 2}$ genes (144). The $C_{\beta 2}$ transcript is more abundant than C_{B1} in RNA from lymphoid tissues (146), and T-cell clones use the $C_{\beta 2}$ gene more often than the $C_{\beta 1}$ gene (88, 144). However, this bias probably reflects an inherent statistical bias for rearrangement of D_{β} gene segments to the $J_{\beta 2}$ gene cluster (see below). Finally, the functional equivalence of $C_{\beta 1}$ and $C_{\beta 2}$ is best demonstrated by NZW mice that lack a C_{β_1} gene, as well as D_{β_2} and J_{β_2} gene segments, and that have apparently normal T-cell function (162). Since it appears that all helper and cytotoxic and some suppressor T cells employ an α/β heterodimer, the T-cell antigen receptor apparently lacks the equivalents of both functional heavy chain isotypes and the immunoglobulin heavy chain class switch.

Unlike expression of the α and β genes, the pattern of γ gene transcription suggests that expression of this molecule, possibly in association with some other cell-surface protein, is related to either class-I MHC recognition or cytotoxic function. Analysis of γ gene expression in MHC class II-specific cytotoxic T cells should establish whether the type of MHC molecule recognized or the T-cell function correlates better with expression of this molecule. The lack of γ gene transcripts in some cell types, however, raises the possibility of an isotypic γ chain functional equivalent that could be expressed by these cells.

THE ONTOGENY OF T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR REARRANGEMENT AND EXPRESSION

The ontogeny of α , β , and γ gene rearrangement and expression in fetal and adult cells has been studied by several groups. Two major issues have been addressed by these studies. First, do rearrangements occur in a sequence of steps, as is the case in the three immunoglobulin gene families? If rearrangements occur in this manner, it might be possible to assess unambiguously the developmental stage of some T cells by determining which gene families had and which had not rearranged. Second, when and where in development are these genes first expressed?

Ordered Rearrangement and Expression

The study of the develop-ORDERED EXPRESSION OF IMMUNOGLOBULINS mental control of T-cell antigen receptor and y gene rearrangement and expression has been influenced by studies on the ontogeny of immunoglobulin rearrangement and expression in B cells. Based on these immunoglobulin gene studies, a regulated model for the rearrangement of gene segments in B cells has been proposed that accounts for the observed rearrangements in developing B cells and suggests a mechanism for allelic exclusion. Immunoglobulin rearrangement and expression can be divided into four separate stages (reviewed in 163). The first stage is D_{μ} -J_{μ} rearrangement (135, 164), and the second stage involves the rearrangement of the V_H gene segment to the joined D_H -J_H gene segments. According to the regulated model, if this second rearrangement event is nonproductive, further gene segment rearrangements occur on the other chromosomal homologue (135). A productive $V_H - D_H - J_H$ rearrangement is believed to inhibit further heavy chain gene rearrangements; it has been proposed that the synthesis of a heavy chain polypeptide plays a role in this process (165). The third step involves the rearrangement of the V_x and J_y gene segments (166). Because this appears to require productive heavy chain gene rearrangement, the heavy chain polypeptide may also play a role in activating gene rearrangement in the κ gene family. The successful rearrangement and expression of a κ protein and the subsequent formation of a complete cell-surface immunoglobulin molecule is believed to be involved in the termination of further κ rearrangements (167, 168). The fourth step is the rearrangement of the λ light chain genes, which only occurs if the κ genes have rearranged nonproductively on both homologues (167, 169).

FETAL TISSUES AND T CELLS To determine if there is an order to the rearrangement and transcription of the α , β , and γ genes, RNA and DNA

from the appropriate fetal tissues have been hybridized with DNA probes. The results of these studies are summarized in Table 2. The mouse has a gestation period of approximately 20 days, and immunocompetent thymocytes can be detected shortly before birth (170). The thymus itself develops from nonlymphoid cells in the pharyngeal pouch and cleft, and other tissues, and is first seeded by lymphocytes around the eleventh day of gestation (171). Most of the prethymic cells originate in the fetal liver. The thymus increases dramatically in cell number between day 12 and day 18, due to both cell migration from fetal liver and proliferation of thymocytes.

Analysis of the transcripts present in fetal tissues indicates that γ RNA appears first, followed by β and finally α , and that the level of γ RNA decreases around the time that the α message appears (146, 160, 172, 173) (Table 2). Although no transcripts were detected in fetal liver from any stage, γ RNA could be detected in day-14 fetal thymus, the earliest day tested (146). At this stage, the thymus contains mostly developing T cells. The Lyt-2 and L3T4 molecules are not yet expressed (174–176), but most day-14 fetal thymocytes express the Thy-1 antigen (175, 176), and some express IL-2 receptors (177, 178). No C_{α} RNA can be detected at this stage (146, 160, 173). A 1.0 kb transcript derived from D_{β}-J_{β} rearrangements is

	DNA rea	arrangeme	ents	R	NA transcr	ipts
	γ	I	3	C,	C _β	C _a
	-	D-J	V-D-J		(1.3 kb)	(1.7 kb)
Fetal liver	+/-	_	_	_	_	_
d12–19	(d12-13 only)					
Fetal thymus						
d14	+/	+/-	_	+	-	_
d15	+/-	+	+/-	+	+/-	_
d16	+	+	+	+	+	+/-
d17	+	+	+	+	+	+
Neonatal thymus	+	+	+	+	+	+
Adult thymus						
Lyt-2 ⁻ , L3T4 ⁻	nd	+	+	+	+	+/-
Lyt-2 ⁻ , L3T4 ⁻ , Pgp-1 ⁻	+ nd	-	_	nd	nd	nd

Table 2 Gene rearrangement and expression in developing T lymphocytes^a

"The table is compiled from the references cited in the text. Information on other adult thymus subpopulations can be found in the indicated references (12, 173, 192, 193). "+" indicates rearrangement or transcript is present. For detectable transcripts, different levels of abundance are not distinguished. "+/-" indicates rearrangement is present but in less than 10% of the chromosomes, or the transcript is barely detectable. "-" indicates rearrangement or transcripts not detectable. Indicates not done. The presence or absence of the complete 1.3 kb C_{β} and 1.7 kb C_{α} transcripts are listed in the table; the shorter C_{β} and C_{α}

present, but 1.3 kb transcripts containing V_{β} genes can first be barely detected on day 15 (146, 172). On day 16, a relatively large amount of 1.3 kb β gene RNA is present (146, 160, 172), and α gene transcripts can be detected, although most of the α RNA is found in the shorter 1.4 kb RNA transcript (146). Substantial levels of both α and β RNA are present by day 17 (146, 160, 172, 173). The presence of significant amounts of complete α and β gene transcripts on day 17 is consistent with biochemical and immunochemical studies demonstrating that cell-surface expression of α/β heterodimers can first be detected on this day (172, 179).

Analysis of DNA prepared from fetal organs or from hybridomas made by fusing fetal cells with the BW5147 T lymphoma indicates that the order of rearrangement of the β and γ genes in fetal tissues is consistent with the order of expression: namely, V_{γ} joins to a J_{γ} gene segment; around the same time or soon after, D_{β} - J_{β} gene segment joining occurs, followed by V_{β} rearrangement (146, 180).

IMMATURE ADULT THYMOCYTES Experiments on selected populations of adult thymocytes have yielded results similar to those obtained with fetal thymocytes of day 14-16 gestation. The Lyt-2⁻L3T4⁻, or doublenegative, subpopulation resembles fetal thymocytes from days 14-15 gestation in that both populations do not express the Lyt-2 and L3T4 antigens, both are rapidly dividing, and both probably rearrange and express the α , β , and γ genes in a similar order (160, 181, 182) (Table 2). These double-negative cells, which are thought to give rise to the other thymus subpopulations (reviewed in 183, 184), have large amounts of γ (160) and very little, if any, α RNA (181, 185). In addition, although most of the cells in the adult thymus have already undergone β gene rearrangements on both homologues, some of the double-negative cells have germline β genes (181, 182). A subpopulation of the double-negative cells express the cell-surface antigen Pgp-1, which is also found on bone marrow cells and on many day-14-15 fetal thymocytes. This subpopulation, which may represent the earliest lineage in the adult thymus, has almost no β gene rearrangement (182). Therefore, despite the fact that the different immature subpopulations are a minute fraction of the adult thymus and are difficult to separate from one another, the γ - β - α progression also appears to occur in these cells.

In summary, although it is still controversial whether a single differentiation pathway characterizes T-cell development, or whether cortical and medullary cells differentiate separately (11, 12, 184, 186), the results are consistent with a single ordered pathway for the rearrangement of γ , then β , and then α genes in all T cells (Figure 10). In the proposed pathway, the V_{γ} genes rearrange and are transcribed first; around this time or soon after, rearrangement and transcription of joined D_g-J_g gene segments occurs,

followed by rearrangement and transcription of V_{β} gene segments, and then finally by rearrangement and transcription of V_{α} gene segments. If either D_{α} or D_{γ} gene segments exist, then further discrete steps may be identified.

The apparent regulation of gene rearrangement in T cells is consistent with the model described for immunoglobulin genes. As outlined above, according to this rearrangement model proceeds in a stepwise fashion; the result of a particular step is tested before proceeding to the next step. Applying this model to T cells, a productive V_{β} gene segment rearrangement may shut down further V_{β} gene segment rearrangement and activate V_{α} rearrangement through the synthesis of a β polypeptide. However, γ gene rearrangement may be regulated differently, because although this gene family rearranges early, data from helper cells suggests that productive γ gene rearrangement may not be required for further T-helper-cell development. We might therefore speculate that productive γ gene rearrangement is a developmental switch-point, in that cells with productive γ rearrangements tend to become either MHC class-I restricted or cytotoxic cells, while cells with only nonproductive rearrangements tend to become MHC class-II restricted or helper cells (Figure 10).

The Site of Rearrangement and Expression

INTRATHYMIC AND EXTRATHYMIC REARRANGEMENTS Several experiments strongly suggest that thymic precursors do not express T-cell antigen



Figure 10 A schematic outline of four stages in the ontogeny of the rearrangement and expression of α , β , and γ genes. A zero superscript, as in " γ^0 ," represents a germline gene. A"+"superscript signifies productive rearrangement and a"-"superscript nonproductive rearrangement. The filled circle superscript represents a D-J rearrangement alone. The status of each homologue is illustrated; therefore, " γ^+/γ^- " represents a cell with one productive and one nonproductive γ gene rearrangement. The status of the gene rearranging at a particular stage is presented. Class I, $T_c = MHC$ class I-restricted cytotoxic T cell. Class II, $T_H = MHC$ class II-restricted helper T cell.

receptors and that α and β gene segment rearrangement and expression occur following migration to the thymus, although some γ gene rearrangement may occur prior to migration of precursors to the thymus.

Some fetal liver cells have y gene segment but not β gene segment rearrangement. The discrepancy found between the lack of γ RNA in fetal liver and the observed rearrangements in these few fetal liver cells may be due to low levels of this transcript. The results of several experiments suggest that expression of α and β chains is initiated by gene rearrangement events that occur in the thymus. First, complete α and β transcripts cannot be detected in fetal liver, and they are not present in the most immature adult thymocytes or in fetal thymus until day 17 of gestation (146, 160, 173). Second, there appears to be a gradient of increasing β gene rearrangement in thymocytes as development progresses from day 14 through day 18 of gestation (146, 180). It is unlikely that these changes in the thymus DNA are caused by seeding of this organ by waves of increasingly mature precursors, because culture of day-14 and -15 thymus tissue has demonstrated that these cells can differentiate and attain immunocompetence in vitro (174, 175, 187-192). Although the possibility of some productive prethymic rearrangement of α and β genes cannot be formally ruled out, all the data are consistent with the hypothesis that thymic precursors do not express α and β polypeptides and that productive rearrangement and expression of these genes take place in the thymus.

NONPRODUCTIVE REARRANGEMENTS AND THYMIC T-CELL DEATH If the α and β genes rearrange in the thymus, and cells that have only nonproductive α or β gene rearrangements do not emigrate, then a large part of the intrathymic cell death that occurs in the adult thymus can be attributed to these nonproductive rearrangements. As mentioned above, two out of every three V_{β} gene segment rearrangements will be nonproductive because they would place the J_{β} gene segment in an inappropriate translational reading frame. This would mean that $0.67 \times 0.67 = 0.44$, or 44%, of the cells will have nonproductive β gene rearrangements on both homologues and therefore may not survive to emigrate from the thymus; the remaining 56% might go on to rearrange their α genes. If we assume either a direct V_{α} -J_{α} joining or a V_{α} - D_{α} - J_{α} mechanism similar to that observed in β genes, then two out of three V_{α} rearrangements will also be nonproductive. Again, 44% of the remaining T cells will have only nonproductive α gene rearrangements, and conversely, 56% of the remaining T cells will have a productive rearrangement. If we consider the progeny of a pre-T cell undergoing gene segment rearrangement in the thymus, no more than $0.56 \times 0.56 = 0.31$, or 31%, of the cells will produce a functional α - β heterodimer. Thus, a large percentage of the intrathymic cell death could be due to the lack of

Annual Reviews

558 KRONENBERG, SIU, HOOD, & SHASTRI

successful rearrangements in the α and/or β genes. This hypothesis predicts that many of the cells that are destined to die in the thymus should not express T-cell antigen receptors on their surface. Recent experiments that have addressed this issue are not entirely conclusive. While it is certain that many of the cells with a surface phenotype thought to be characteristic of those that die in the thymus have α and β transcripts (185), there are conflicting estimates of the fraction of cells in this category that express α/β heterodimers (174, 193, 194).

GENERATION OF DIVERSITY IN THE VARIABLE-REGION GENES

The problem of generating diversity in the lymphocyte antigen receptor is common to both B and T cells. The immunoglobulin genes utilize three basic mechanisms: germline diversity, the utilization of a large number of different gene segments for variable-region gene formation; combinatorial joining, the random rearrangement of the different germline gene segments; and somatic mutational mechanisms that occur during and after the formation of the variable-region gene. A number of experiments have been conducted to determine to what extent these mechanisms are utilized in the T-cell antigen receptor.

Germline Diversity

BETA GENES The mouse germline β gene repertoire is composed of a relatively limited number of V_{β} and D_{β} gene segments and a relatively large number of J_g gene segments. Characterization of 37 expressed V_g sequences from murine thymus, spleen, T-cell hybridomas, and functional T-cell lines revealed only 16 different V_{θ} gene segments (87–89, 148, 159). Because of the repeated use of V_{β} gene segments, and assuming that each gene segment is expressed with equal frequency, we calculated that the total number of functional germline V_{β} gene segments can be expected to be 24 or less, at the 95% confidence level (88; M. Meister, unpublished). Although the numerical calculation may be unreliable because the different V_{β} gene segments are not expressed with equal frequency (87), only a few V_{β} gene segments are expressed by many different clones in several different mouse strains; this would be unlikely if there were a large V_{β} gene segment repertoire. Southern blot analyses using the different V_{β} gene segment probes also support the notion of a limited repertoire (87–89). Surprisingly, several mouse strains have deleted a significant fraction of this repertoire and can still survive in the laboratory. In SJL mice, the best studied example, $10 V_{\beta}$ gene segments from 6 subfamilies have been deleted from the germline repertoire (R. Barth,

B. Kim, unpublished observations; D. Loh, personal communication; 89), and there is no evidence so far in favor of the theory that extra SJL V_{β} gene segments compensate for this deficiency (D. Loh, personal communication). However, studies on human β gene cDNA clones have indicated that the human V_{β} gene segment repertoire may be much larger than that of the mouse (P. Concannon, L. Pickering, P. Kung, L. Hood, unpublished).

Allowing for diversity arising from the recombination process, all of the D_{β} regions in murine V_{β} genes could be encoded by one of the two known germline D_{β} gene segments (87-89). However, in some cases only a few central nucleotides are shared with these D_{β} gene segments, and the existence of other germline D_{β} gene segments cannot be ruled out. Of the 14 murine J_{β} gene segments in the two J_{β} clusters, one in each cluster is a pseudogene and the other 12 are apparently functional (71, 77, 78). Of these 12 J_{β} gene segments, 10 have been found in the V_{β} regions that have been sequenced so far.

ALPHA GENES The germline V_{α} and J_{α} gene segment repertoires are larger than the corresponding β gene segment repertoires. A number of murine V_{α} gene segments obtained from cDNA libraries constructed from thymus and functional T-cell hybridomas have been sequenced (32, 33, 94, 95). The 25 different cDNA clones analyzed have 22 different V_{α} sequences that can be grouped into 11 subfamilies. Southern blot analyses with V_{α} probes from 9 different subfamilies reveal that there are at least 55 bands that crosshybridize with these probes (32, 33, 94, 95; J. Klotz, unpublished), indicating that the germline V_{α} gene segment repertoire is larger than the V_{β} gene segment repertoire in mouse. The identification of 11 different V_{α} gene segment subfamilies is more than that observed so far in the murine immunoglobulin families and comparable to that of the β gene family. As noted previously, the J_{α} gene segment repertoire is much larger than the J gene segment repertoire in any of the other B- or T-cell receptor gene families (94, 95).

GAMMA GENES There are three V_{γ} gene segments that cross-hybridize with the V gene segment present in the original murine γ gene cDNA clone, and there are three murine J_{γ} gene segments (74). Although joining of these V and J gene segments permits nine different rearrangements, only three rearrangements account for most of those observed in murine T cells (146, 149). One of the rearranged γ gene restriction fragments that occurs frequently does not hybridize to the V_{γ} probe (149), and it therefore could involve another V_{γ} gene segment, or alternatively, it could result from a D_{γ} - J_{γ} rearrangement. The remaining two nongermline fragments hybridize with the V_{γ} probe (149). However, one of these rearrangements joins a V_{γ} to

a J_{γ} gene segment adjacent to the C_{γ} pseudogene (73) and accordingly is not functional. Therefore, it is possible that of the three predominant γ rearrangements, only one involving a particular V_{γ} and J_{γ} gene segment leads to the expression of a γ polypeptide. It is not clear why the other two known V_{γ} gene segments are rearranged only infrequently.

Combinatorial Joining

Analysis of expressed murine V_{β} genes and β gene rearrangements in T-cell hybrids and clones indicates that combinatorial joining occurs in β genes (87–89). For example, the $D_{\beta 1}$ gene segment joins to J gene segments in either cluster with approximately equal frequency (88, 180). In contrast, if we consider only rearrangement by deletion, the $D_{\beta 2}$ gene segment can only join to $J_{\beta 2}$ gene segments (87–89). The available sequences are also consistent with the hypothesis that V_{β} gene segments may join to any D_{β} -J_{β} rearrangements (87–89). If these V_{β} rearrangements are equally likely, there should be a bias in favor of $J_{\beta 2}$ and hence $C_{\beta 2}$ expression, because one germline D_{β} gene segment can join to either $J_{\beta 1}$ or $J_{\beta 2}$ gene segments, while the other can only join to $J_{\beta 2}$ gene segments. Such a bias in favor of $C_{\beta 2}$ expression is in fact seen in the analysis of different cDNA clones or of RNA from lymphoid tissues. There is also evidence supporting combinatorial joining of V_{α} and J_{α} gene segments (A. Winoto, unpublished). As noted above, the extent of combinatorial joining in the γ genes may be quite limited.

In addition to the random usage of gene segments, the β genes have an additional feature that may permit either optional or multiple usage of the D_{β} gene segments. The V_{β} gene segments have a two-turn recognition signal for DNA rearrangement (71, 72), the D_{β} gene segments have a one-turn recognition signal in the 5' and a two-turn recognition signal in the 3' flanking region (80–82), and the J_{β} gene segments have a one-turn recognition signal (71, 72, 77, 78) (Figure 3). In principle, the V_{β} gene segment can therefore rearrange directly to a J_{β} gene segment and still obey the one-turn to two-turn joining rule. Similarly, D_{β} - D_{β} joinings could perhaps create longer D_{β} regions. Either of these events would increase the diversity of the junctional region of the V_{β} gene. Analyses of different V-D-J junctions have identified a few potential V-J and D-D joining events (97, 98, 159), although there are other interpretations for these examples. However, if direct V_{β} - J_{β} joining or D_{β} - D_{β} rearrangements do occur, it is clear that these events are infrequent.

Somatic Mutational Mechanisms

The α , β , and γ genes employ three different mechanisms for somatic mutation that occur during the formation of the V gene. These mechanisms

also occur in the immunoglobulin V gene families, although the use of a fourth mechanism found in immunoglobulins is doubtful for the T-cell receptor.

JUNCTIONAL DIVERSITY The process that joins two gene segments together is imprecise. The joining event can delete nucleotides from the ends of the V, D, and J gene segments, leading to codon changes at the junctions of these segments (Figure 11). This process, called junctional diversity, occurs in both the immunoglobulin (123, 195, 196) and T-cell receptor (73, 75, 76, 81, 82, 148, 149) gene families.

N REGION DIVERSITY Additional nucleotides not encoded by either gene segment are added at the junction between the joined gene segments during rearrangement (Figure 11). This mechanism, known as N region diversification, is utilized by the immunoglobulin V_H genes, but not by the V_{κ} or V_{λ} genes (195, 197). N regions are also clearly present in the T-cell V_{β} genes (81, 82, 148); the occurrence of N region diversification in these four gene families is therefore correlated with the presence of D gene segments. However, this correlation may not include all six rearranging gene families because extra nucleotides are also seen in the V-J junctions of α and γ genes (73–76). It is not known whether these α and γ sequences arise from a combination of N region diversification and D gene segments, from D gene segments alone, or from N region diversification in the absence of D gene segments.

MULTIPLE TRANSLATIONAL READING FRAMES IN THE D GENE SEGMENT Analysis of the D_{β} regions of different V_{β} genes have shown that the two germline D_{β} gene segments are utilized with approximately equal fre-

	V _{ø3}	D _{B1}	^J β1-2
GERMLINE	CAGCAGTCTGTC	GGGACAGGGGGCC	CAAACTCC
3H.25		тс	
	V _{β3}	D ₈₂	J _{β2-5}
GERMLINE	CAGCAGTCTGTC	GGGACTGGGGGGGGCC	AACCAAGAC
284		ΑΑ	

Figure 11 Junctional and N region diversity in functional V_{β} genes. Two rearrangements that include the V_{β} 3 gene segment, but different D_{β} and J_{β} gene segments, are illustrated; one from a lysozyme/I-A^b-specific T_H clone (3H.25), and one from a cytochrome c/I-E^k-specific T_H hybridoma (2B4) (71, 77, 78, 81, 82, 148). For each rearranged gene, the germline gene segments that comprise it are listed above, and the rearranged sequence below. For the rearranged sequence, nucleotides introduced by N-region diversification that are not in any of the germline gene segments are indicated, while nucleotides encoded in the germline are represented by a dot. A blank beneath a nucleotide encoded in the germline indicates those sequences deleted by the rearrangement event (junctional diversity).

Annual Reviews

562 KRONENBERG, SIU, HOOD, & SHASTRI

quency in all three translational reading frames (88, 148) (Figure 12). Although this adds to the diversity of V_{β} gene segments, the low sequence complexity of the two germline D_{β} gene segments limits the contribution of this mechanism. In immunoglobulin $V_{\rm H}$ genes, however, the $D_{\rm H}$ gene segments are used in the same reading frame in most of the cases analyzed. The statistical preference for a single reading frame for the $D_{\rm H}$ gene segments cannot be accounted for simply by the presence of a stop codon in one reading frame of some of the $D_{\rm H}$ gene segments. The ability to use the D_{β} gene segments in three reading frames need not be considered an actual mechanism but may instead reflect the fact that there is little selection for particular protein sequences in this part of the molecule. Despite this coding sequence flexibility, the germline nucleotide sequences of mouse and human $D_{\beta 1}$ are identical; this suggests that there may be some selective pressure for the maintenance of a particular germline DNA sequence in this region of the β locus.

SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION Immunoglobulins employ an additional mechanism for diversification—somatic hypermutation—that generates base-pair substitutions throughout the V gene and its flanking sequences at a late stage in B-cell development (198–200). This mechanism is capable of



Figure 12 Ds in three. The D_{β} gene segments can be read in three reading frames. The nucleotide sequences of the two known D_{β} gene segments are shown along with the part of the D region amino acid sequence that could be encoded by germline D gene segments, as opposed to nucleotides due to N region diversification, from 15 V_{β} genes (31, 32, 34, 87, 88, 148). The reading frame for each set of translated sequences is shown on the right. Those sequences in the same reading frame are enclosed by a bracket on the right, and the reading frame is indicated by a number.

generating up to 3% sequence differences between the mutant and the corresponding germline gene segment (199). Those B cells with receptors that have higher affinities for antigen as a result of somatic hypermutation are believed to be selectively expanded when the antigen concentration is limiting (201).

Analyses of several different expressed V_{β} genes have shown that with the exception of the differences in the junctional regions, they are identical in sequence to their germline gene segment counterparts (71, 93, 148). Substantially more data is available if the nucleotide sequences of different cDNA clones are compared to one another, including several cases where no germline sequence is available. T cells expressing the same germline gene segments most often have identical gene segment sequences (71, 87–89, 159). In those cases where the sequences are not identical, there are very few differences in nucleotide sequence and never more than two substitutions at the amino acid level. The observed differences could be due to either somatic hypermutation or interstrain sequence polymorphisms, or they could be due to nucleotide sequencing errors (87-89). The preliminary nucleotide sequence data of V_{α} genes suggests that somatic hypermutation is also rare in this gene family. Two different sets of identical, expressed V_{α} gene segments have been found : the first from a collection of thymus cDNA clones (94) and the second from a series of cytochrome $c/I-E^k$ -specific T hybridomas (A. Winoto, unpublished results). Because in each case either the three identical V_{α} gene segments were associated with different J_{α} gene segments or else the V_{α} -J_{α} junctional region was different, so the independent origin of each of these clones is established. Taken together, these data indicate that somatic hypermutation occurs infrequently, if at all, in the Tcell receptor genes.

There has, however, been a report of somatic variants arising in alloreactive T hybridomas in which new specificities were generated against class-II molecules after more than 200 cell generations in vitro (202). Because of the small number of mutant cells isolated, the frequency with which similar events occur has not been established. Therefore, it is not clear that the mechanism by which these mutants arise is comparable to that producing hypermutation in immunoglobulins, and the physiologic relevance of this provocative finding is uncertain.

Extent of T-Cell Receptor V, D, and J Diversity

Although the T-cell antigen receptor utilizes the same mechanisms for generating diversity as do the immunoglobulin genes, there are several differences in the extent to which these mechanisms are utilized. For example, the V_{α} and J_{α} gene segment repertoires are very diverse, but the murine T-cell receptor β gene family has a limited number of V_{β} and D_{β}

Annual Reviews

564 kronenberg, siu, hood, & shastri

gene segments. Nonetheless, the total germline diversity potential in the V_{θ} genes of normal mice may not be significantly less than that of immunoglobulin V_{H} and V_{κ} genes because of the relatively large number of J_{θ} gene segments and the use of D gene segments in three different reading frames. Furthermore, many $V_{\rm H}$ as well as V_{κ} gene segments are very closely related and could be nearly equivalent functionally, while the few V_{β} gene segments are found in a relatively large number of diverse gene segment subfamilies. Some calculations of this diversity-potential for the murine Tcell antigen receptor and for immunoglobulins are presented in Table 3. If we assume that there are 250 V_{H} gene segments, 10 D_{H} gene segments, 4 J_{H} gene segments, as well as 250 V_{κ} gene segments and 4 functional J_{κ} gene segments (161), then a total of approximately 10⁷ different antibodies could be synthesized. For the T-cell antigen receptor, if we assume that there are 30 V_{β} gene segments, 2 D_{β} gene segments used in all 3 translational reading frames, $12 J_{\theta}$ gene segments, $100 V_{\theta}$ gene segments, and $50 J_{\theta}$ gene segments, then a total of nearly 10⁷ different T-cell antigen receptors are possible as well. Thus, using these reasonable estimates for the number of germline gene segments and assuming that the combinatorial mechanism for generating diversity can operate randomly, the magnitude of germline and combinatorial diversity possible for immunoglobulins and T-cell receptors is similar. Although the number of binding sites that can be generated is similar, clearly the composition of the gene segments involved is different, While the combined immunoglobulin κ and heavy chain families are estimated to have 500 V gene segments and only 8 J gene segments, the combined T-cell receptor α and β chains may have nearly as many J gene segments (~ 65) as V gene segments (~ 130). Because the 5' ends of the J gene segments are diverse (Figure 6), T-cell receptors will have extra diversity just beyond the V-(D)-J junction, at positions homologous to those that fall within the third immunoglobulin hypervariable region. Thus, diversity is distributed differently in the variable regions of the calculated T- and B-cell repertoires, although the functional significance of this difference, if any, is unclear.

Perhaps one of the more surprising findings to emerge from the study of T-cell antigen receptors is that somatic hypermutation, a major mechanism for diversity generation in immunoglobulins, does not appear to play a significant role in the T-cell receptor genes. If this is true, then all the mechanisms for diversity generation in these V genes occur early in ontogeny during V gene formation in the thymus. There are three possible explanations for the failure to detect somatic hypermutation in the T-cell receptor genes. The first proposes that somatic hypermutation does occur but is not detected because the sequences analyzed were isolated mostly from cells that have not yet undergone somatic mutation (J. Howard, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:529-591. Downloaded from arjournals. annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

 $100 \times 50 = 5000$ 8 ß 8 $1620 \times 5000 = 8.1 \times 10^{6}$ T-cell receptor $30 \times 1 \times 3 \times 6 = 1620^{\text{b}}$ $(30 \times 1 \times 3 \times 12)^+$ ŝ 12 2 Ø $250 \times 4 = 1 \times 10^3$ 250 AN NA Ч $1 \times 10^4 \times 1 \times 10^3 = 1 \times 10^7$ Immunoglobulins $250 \times 10 \times 4 = 1 \times 10^4$ ٩N 250 10 H Combinatorial association D in three reading frames Diversity gene segment Variable gene segment Combinatorial joining Joining gene segment

Table 3 Potential diversity in murine T-cell receptor and immunoglobulin variable regions

^a NA, not applicable; —, possible contribution, not yet established.

^b The calculation assumes the D_{μ_1} rearranges to any of the 12 functional J_{μ} gene segments, but that D_{μ_2} rearranges only to the 6 functional J_{μ_2} gene segments.

Annual Reviews

personal communication). Many of the sequences are derived from β chains synthesized by thymocytes that are relatively immature and therefore are perhaps not likely to have undergone somatic hypermutation. Moreover, many of the T-cell lines analyzed were stimulated in vivo with antigen only once and were then propagated in vitro under antigen-excess conditions. These would not, therefore, be subject to extensive selection for high-affinity receptor interactions associated with somatic hypermutation. A similar argument can be made for the T-cell hybridomas that do not require antigen to proliferate. Although the maturity of an antigen-stimulated B cell can to some extent be assessed by the immunoglobulin heavy chain isotype expressed (e.g. IgM vs others), there is no similar test for antigenstimulated T cells. The second explanation proposes that somatic hypermutation in T-cell antigen receptor genes is not permitted because the resulting mutations, especially if they arise after T-cell migration from the thymus, could be deleterious to the organism (203). According to this view, since the T-cell antigen receptor repertoire has been selected for the recognition of antigen in the context of self-MHC-encoded molecules, T cells that undergo somatic hypermutation in the periphery will generate many autoreactive cells. As T cells on the average are believed to live longer than B cells, and $T_{\rm H}$ cells (unlike B cells) may not be dependent on other lymphocytes for activation and proliferation, these autoreactive T-cell somatic mutants present a greater threat than autoreactive B-cells. The third explanation proposes that somatic hypermutation events are rarely detected because of a lack of selection pressure for the expansion of the hypermutation events. This explanation implies that the activation of T cells is not highly dependent upon receptor affinity for antigen or an antigen/MHC complex (88).

MHC-RESTRICTED ANTIGEN RECOGNITION BY T CELLS

One or Two Receptors?

T cells recognize antigen when it is present on the surface of other cells only if the appropriate allele of a polymorphic MHC molecule is also expressed. Thus, T cells have a dual specificity for both antigen and allele-specific determinants of the MHC molecule (1–3), and the recognition of antigen is said to be restricted by the MHC-encoded molecule. This fundamental discovery was made more than a decade ago, and since then a debate has raged over the molecular basis of antigen and MHC recognition by T cells. Two types of models have been proposed to explain this dual specificity. The first hypothesizes that a single T-cell antigen receptor binding site

recognizes a combined determinant formed by the restricting MHC molecule and antigen (3, 204–206). This might occur if the antigen and the MHC molecule can interact with sufficient avidity to form a complex antigen. Recent experiments have shown that a peptide fragment of lysozyme capable of stimulating T_H cells can bind to an appropriate responder (but not the nonresponder) I-A molecule with significant affinity (207). The functional relevance of this binding to T-cell activation remains to be determined, and it is difficult to imagine that a similar, relatively highaffinity binding occurs for each of the antigens that are recognized in the context of a MHC class-I or class-II molecule. Alternatively, only a low affinity interaction between antigen and the MHC molecule may generally exist that is stabilized by the single binding site of the T-cell receptor (203). The second model proposes that the T-cell receptor is composed of either two separate molecules or two binding sites in the same molecular complex (208–213). In this case, separate binding sites exist for antigen and the MHC molecule.

Evidence has accumulated against the models in which antigen and MHC are recognized independently. First, independent segregation of antigen and MHC recognition was not found in somatic T-cell hybrids expressing two distinct antigen/MHC specificities (214). Second, when a panel of several hundred T-cell hybridomas was screened for reactivity with a clone-specific antibody that binds a particular α/β heterodimer, a second antibody-reactive clone was found that possessed the same antigen/MHC specificity, as well as a fortuitous allo-MHC cross-reactivity (215). This observation suggests that the same α/β heterodimer is involved in both antigen and MHC recognition. Finally, for both MHC class-I- and class-II-restricted T-cell clones, antigen recognition was shown to be directly influenced by the MHC haplotype expressed by the stimulating or target cells (216-219). For example, several instances have been described of T hybridomas that recognize peptides of cytochrome c and either one of two I-E molecules. The fine specificity of these individual T cells for a set of related cytochrome c peptides depended on which of the two possible I-E restriction elements was used to present antigen. Although for each of these experiments more than one interpretation has been proposed (220), these studies and others taken together imply that antigen and the MHC molecule are not recognized independently (214-219, 221-223), but that dual recognition is mediated through a receptor composed of α and β subunits. As we discuss below, the structure of the T-cell receptor itself argues against a model in which the α and β chains constitute two independent binding sites. This implies that a single receptor binding site can recognize both antigen and MHC.

Despite this evidence, the single-binding site model has not received

568 kronenberg, siu, hood, & shastri

universal acceptance. The major unresolved difficulties with such models are the means by which MHC molecules can interact with a diversity of antigens to form a single determinant and the means of selection of a self-MHC-restricted repertoire of T-cell receptors. Although several hypotheses have been offered to account for these problems (204–206, 224, 225), none has won general acceptance. Despite problems with two binding site models, the discovery of the γ chain led to renewed speculation on the possibility of a second T-cell antigen receptor (212). The γ chain, although limited in diversity, could associate with the α or β chains (160, 212), or with a diverse, hypothetical δ chain, to generate a second T-cell antigen binding site. Alternatively, if the γ chain formed a homodimer or associated with a monomorphic molecule, it might act as an accessory molecule similar to Lyt-2.

Structural Comparisons Between Immunoglobulin and T-Cell Receptor V Genes

The V and C regions of the α , β , γ , and immunoglobulin polypeptides exhibit significant sequence similarity and have descended from common ancestral genes. Since the immunoglobulin molecule has been thoroughly analyzed at the level of primary, secondary, and tertiary structure (120, 226), it is pertinent to compare the structures of the T-cell receptor (α/β) and immunoglobulin V regions to gain insights into shared structural features relevant to binding of antigenic determinants.

SECONDARY STRUCTURE As noted above, immunoglobulin V regions fold into two planes of antiparallel β strands stabilized by the invariant disulfide bridge. The β strands are relatively conserved in sequence and are connected to one another by polypeptide loops, some of which constitute the hypervariable regions. The secondary structures of V_L and V_H regions are highly conserved. Several algorithms have been developed to assess the tendency of polypeptides of known sequence to have similar secondary structures. First, hydrophobicity analyses measure the hydrophobic characteristics of amino acid side chains (227). From this analysis, the exposure of side chains to the interior or exterior of the molecule can be inferred. Second, techniques have been devised for estimating the tendency for short regions of a polypeptide chain to form β -strand structures (228). Analyses of the average hydrophobicity or the β -strand forming potential of large collections of V_{α} , V_{β} , V_{H} , and V_{x} regions have shown that all four sets of V region are similar to each other in these properties (87, 88, 94, 95).

AMINO ACID SIMILARITIES Invariant or nearly invariant amino acids are present at 8 positions in immunoglobulin variable regions, 5 in the V segment and 3 in the J joining region. At these positions, a single amino acid is present in greater than 95% of both light (κ and λ) and heavy chain variable regions from several species (229). Four other positions are semiinvariant; a single amino acid is present in more than 75% of κ , λ , and heavy chain variable regions (229). In addition, there are a number of other positions where one set of variable regions, heavy or light, has a particular amino acid, and the other set does not (229). Fourteen conserved positions, 11 shared by both V_H and V_L regions, and three in which V_H and V_L regions are conserved within a family but differ from one another, are shown in Table 4. These 14 were selected from a larger group of conserved positions by two criteria : (a) The three-dimensional structures of immunoglobulins McPC603 and NEW indicate they might be important for V_H-V_L interactions (230, 231); and (b) the three-dimensional structure of both the NEW light and the NEW heavy chain indicates that these amino acids form hydrogen bonds that might be important for intrachain folding (231).

Many of the conserved amino acids in immunoglobulin variable regions are also present in the α , β , and γ chains. The invariant and semi-invariant amino acids in the β and α V gene segments are indicated above the blocks of sequence in Figures 4 and 5, respectively, and the invariant positions in the J_{α} , J_{β} , and J_{γ} gene segments are similarly denoted in Figure 6. Table 4 compares the V_{α} , V_{β} , and V_{γ} regions with immunoglobulins at the 14 conserved positions described above. Most of the conserved amino acids at these positions are also present in the three T-cell families of variable regions. For example, all of the 8 amino acids that are highly conserved (>95%) in both the V_H and V_L regions are also present in both V_a and V_b regions, and 7 are also present in the V, region. Of these highly conserved positions, 7 are indicated by asterisks in the left-hand column of Table 4, and the role these play in immunoglobulin intra-V-region folding and V_{H} - V_{L} interaction is indicated. The presence of these invariant amino acids, and most of the others listed in Table 4, in both V_{α} , V_{β} , and V_{γ} regions argues strongly that these variable regions are similar to immunoglobulins in overall structure.

INTERACTIONS BETWEEN V REGIONS The amino acids thought to be important for contact between immunoglobulin V_H and V_L regions include both variable and more conserved amino acids. Those contacts between two conserved amino acids on the light and heavy chain are likely to be most important for understanding the general features of V_H-V_L interactions. If we consider the three-dimensional structures of the mouse myeloma protein McPC603 and the human myeloma protein NEW, five amino acids on both the V_L and V_H regions are involved in such contacts (230, 231). Using the numbering of Kabat et al these include tyrosine-36L, glutamine-38L, proline-44L, tyrosine-87L, phenylalanine-98L in both κ

		Position in	Ϋ́	resence in cell gene	с »		
Number	Amino acid	globulins	8	β	x	Intrachain folding (H bond)	Interchain $(V_{H}-V_{L}$ interaction)
*	CYS	23L, 22H	+	+	+	+	
2*	TRP	35L, 36H	+	÷	+	+, with 12-13 positions C terminal	
ę	TYR/VAL	TYR = 36L	+	÷	+	+, with TYR(PHE) 87L or 91H	+, with TRP 103H
		VAL = 37H	(TYR)	(TYR) ((TYR)		+, with PHE 98L
4*	GLN	38L, 39H	+	+	+	+, with amino acid 85L or 89H	+, with GLN 38L or 39H
5	PRO/LEU	PRO = 44L	I	+	1		+, with TRP 103H
		LEU = 45H		(LEU)			+, with PHE 98L and TYR 87L
9	ASP	82L, 86H	+	I	+	+, hydrogen bonds to amino acid 79L or 83H	
7	ALA	84L, 88H	+	ļ	+	+, with VAL 109H or VAL, LEU 104L	
*8	TYR	86L, 90H	+	+	+	+, with THR 102L or 107H	
6	TYR(PHE) ⁴	87L, 91H	۱	I	+	+. with TYR 36L or VAL 37H	+, with PRO 44L
							or LEU 45H
10*	CYS	88L, 92H	+	+	+	+, with glycine 99L or 104H	
11	PHE/TRP	PHE = 98L	+	+	+		+, with VAL 37H
		TRP = 103H	(PHE)	(PHE) ((PHE)		+, with TYR 36L
12*	GLY	99L, 104H	+	+	Ì	+, with CYS 88L or 92H	
13*	THR	102L, 107H	+	+	+	+, with TYR 86L or 90H	
14	VAL, LEU	104L, 109H	+	+	+	+, with ALA 84L or 88H	
^a Fourte data and r conserved or 103H (⁵ marks sev and in >7	the nonserved arr numbering of the amino acids are ± 11 , where V _L a en positions where V_{x} and 5% of the V _x J _x .	and a cids that mathematical actions is positions is accorrest in $>75\%$ cond $V_{\rm H}$ each have a model of $V_{\rm B}$, and $J_{\rm B}$ gene set	y be impo ding to K of both lig different into acid j gments, is	cabat et al cabat et al tht and hes conserved is present	intracha (229). T avy chain 1 amino in > 95% 1 by a "	in folding and/or V_{H} - V_{L} interaction of variable region ho he first 10 positions are encoded by the V gene segment at rsequences, except for positions 36L or 37H (# 3 in the left acid, and at 104L, where light chains have either VAL or 1. 5 of both all V _H and all V _L regions. Presence of the conserve +" under the appropriate column. If a conserved amino a	mology units. Immunoglobulin sequence and the last four by the J gene segment. All -band column), 44L to 45 H (\pm 5) and 98L $\pm U$. The asterisk in the left-hand column ed amino acid in the V, gene from pHDS4, cid is involved in an intrachain hydrogen
bond in b conserved	oth the light and amino acid on be	I neavy chains of t oth chains, this is a	he myeio Iso indica	ma protei ated. Cons	n NEW.	this is indicated by a " $+$ " under the nearing intrachain aino acids that interact with other conserved amino acids t	lolding. If this H bonu involves a second to potentially stabilize $V_{\rm H}$ - $V_{\rm L}$ interactions

are also indicated by a "+" under the appropriate column along with the amino acid involved in the interaction. Two amino acids are considered to be in contact if X-ray

Table 4 Some conserved amino acids important for immunoglobulin variable region structure^a

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:529-591. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

Annual Reviews

570

and λ light chains, valine-37H, glutamine-39H, leucine-45H, tyrosine-91H, and tryptophan-103H in the heavy chain. Several of these amino acids are also highly conserved in α and β variable regions. The glutamine is found at the homologous position in both V_{α} and V_{β} regions. The V_{β} regions have leucine, and the V_{α} regions have either proline or leucine, at a position homologous to leucine 45H or proline 44L. On the other hand, the tyrosine (87L or 91H) is not commonly found in α and β variable regions, which often have a conservative substitution of phenylalanine or leucine at this position. At the two other conserved positions important for interchain contacts, both the V_{α} and V_{β} regions tend to have a tyrosine and a phenylalanine, and therefore resemble V_L regions somewhat more than they resemble $V_{\rm H}$ regions, which nearly always have valine and tryptophan at these positions (95) (Table 4). Furthermore, the distance between the cysteines that form the intrachain disulfide bond of the V_{α} and the V_{β} regions is 63-69 amino acids (95). Again, this property is more similar to the V_L regions, where this distance is 64–69 amino acids, than it is to V_H regions, where it is 69–75 amino acids (229). The α/β heterodimer may therefore resemble a light chain dimer more than it does a heavy-light chain pair. This is intriguing, because the structure of one light chain dimer that has been studied by X-ray analyses is unusual in that it has a very deep antigenbinding pocket (232). However, the tendency for V_{α} and V_{β} regions to be more similar to V_L regions is not uniform. In the length of their J gene segments and the presence of conserved amino acids homologous to alanine-92H and valine-111H, the V_{α} and the V_{β} regions are more similar to V_H than to V_L regions. It is therefore likely that the slightly greater resemblance of the V_{α} and the V_{β} regions to the V_{L} regions is due to convergent rather than divergent evolution of these V regions.

Antigen Binding by the α/β Heterodimer

HYPERVARIABLE REGIONS Calculations of variability, defined as the number of different amino acids occurring at a given position divided by the frequency of the most common amino acid at that position, permit the assessment of diversity at each position in a set of variable regions (233). An analysis of V_L and V_H regions with this approach reveals three distinct hypervariable segments—one around positions 24–35, a second near positions 50–65, and a third at the V-J or V-D-J junctions or positions 89–102 (233). The positions of the hypervariable regions correspond to those portions of the molecule that X-ray crystallographic studies have shown to be in contact with antigens (120, 226, 233). Examination of V_L and V_H region variability plots also reveals some additional regions of variability around positions 10–20 and 75–80, particularly in light chains, although these are not as variable as the three "classical" hypervariable

regions (229). The identification of hypervariable regions of T-cell receptor α and β chains is therefore expected to indicate those portions of the molecule involved in antigen/MHC contact. Such analyses have been carried out, and several general conclusions can be drawn. First, within the β chain, there is greater variability in positions homologous to those previously defined as hypervariable in immunoglobulins (87-89). Second, there is an overall higher level of background variability in both α and β chains, than in immunoglobulin light and heavy chains (87-89, 94, 95). Interestingly, hypervariability plots of collections of V_{α} regions have shown the variability to be broadly distributed throughout the variable region with the exception of the third hypervariable region, which is more variable, and a few scattered conserved positions (B. Arden, unpublished observation). This broader distribution of variability in both chains is consistent with other comparisons, indicating that there are fewer highly conserved amino acids in T-cell receptor V regions and that the average V_{α} and V_{β} regions are more different from one another than are immunoglobulin V regions (M. Kronenberg, unpublished observation; 87-89). However, the immunoglobulin sample used for comparison contains many myeloma proteins and hapten-binding proteins, and there is some evidence these may not represent the full extent of the diversity of the germline immunoglobulin repertoire (234–236). Third, it has been proposed that the V_{β} gene segments have several extra distinct hypervariable regions (87), although this was not observed in a second analysis (88). The discrepancy is best explained by differences in sequence alignments and the sensitivity of the analysis to slight sample differences when relatively small samples are employed.

Because of the apparent greater variability of V_{α} and V_{β} regions, and the possible existence of extra β chain hypervariable regions, it has been hypothesized that for the T-cell receptor a greater surface may interact with antigen than is the case for immunoglobulin (87). Although this is plausible, considering that the T-cell receptor is required to bind a complex determinant containing both antigen and MHC, there is too little structural information on the interaction of antibodies with protein antigens, as opposed to haptens, to definitively state that the two sets of receptors must be different from one another. The available crystallographic structure of an antibody-binding lysozyme suggests that a large surface may be involved in binding (237). This type of antibody-antigen interaction may account for the extra regions of immunoglobulin variability mentioned above and may well be comparable to the T-cell receptor interaction with antigen in the context of MHC.

THE α/β HETERODIMER: ONE OR TWO SITES? In summary, the V_{α} , V_{β} , V_{H} , and V_{L} regions all appear to exhibit a conserved set of amino acids that are

important in immunoglobulins for $V_{H}V_{L}$ interactions, a striking similarity in their patterns of secondary structure and similarity in their variability patterns. The data suggest that the antibody fold is conserved in the V_{α} and the V_{β} regions and that the V_{α} and V_{β} regions interact as in antibodies to generate a single binding site. In this regard, immunoglobulins apparently can be MHC restricted; several antibodies that recognize influenza polypeptides in the context of a specific MHC allele have been described (238). Accordingly, the antibody binding site has at least the potential for recognizing antigen in the context of an MHC molecule, and it is therefore possible that a single T-cell receptor could do the same. Alternatively, the α/β heterodimer may be responsible only for antigen or MHC recognition, in which case a second receptor needs to be defined.

Our view that the V_{α} and V_{β} regions fold in a manner similar to immunoglobulins to form a single binding site is not consistent with models that require the V_{α} and the V_{β} regions to form separate antigen and MHC binding sites, either as single chains (220) or in association with other molecules such as individual subunits of the Ia molecule (239). However, this single-site view of the α/β heterodimer can easily be reconciled with the lack of correlation between the expression of particular V_{β} gene segments and the ability to recognize either particular antigens or MHC molecules (Table 5). In one of the earliest studied cases, it was found that a T-cell hybridoma specific for cytochrome c and I-E^k, and a T-cell line specific for lysozyme and I-A^b, both express the $V_{\beta3}$ gene segment (148) (Figure 11); however, other cytochrome $c/I-E^k$ -specific hybridomas do not use this V₈ gene segment (J. Goverman, A. Winoto, unpublished). Since then a number of similar cases have been described (Table 5). Because in immunoglobulins specificity can be associated with use of a particular light chain (240), a particular heavy chain (241), or both, we expect that the same will hold true for the T-cell receptor and that valid generalizations about α or β usage and antigen or MHC specificity will not be possible.

MHC Class I- and Class-II-Specific T Cells

There is a correlation between T-cell recognition of MHC class-I molecules, expression of γ gene RNA, and cytotoxic function on the one hand (149, 242-244), and a correlation between T-cell recognition of antigens in the context of MHC class-II molecules and helper function and/or IL-2 secretion on the other (242, 245-248). The reason for these correlations is unknown, although the structure of the T-cell antigen receptor in the two categories of cells is probably not responsible. Both $T_{\rm H}$ and $T_{\rm C}$ express C_{α} and C_{β} RNA, indicating that unlike immunoglobulins there are not function-associated T-cell-receptor constant-region isotypes. Furthermore, the T-cell receptors for both murine $T_{\rm H}$ and $T_{\rm C}$ cells appear to be encoded Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:529-591. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

Table 5 V_{β} genes expressed by functional murine T cells

I

		Specific	ity	>	ß gene segment:	20	
T cell	Strain of origin	Antigen	MHC molecule	٧ß	D_{\beta}	J_B	Reference
1.9.2	B10.A(5R)	(Am-DAsp)	I-E ^{k/b}	1	1	1.1	88
A20.2.15	$(BALB/c \times B6)F_1$	Beef insulin	P-A ^d	1	1		2
E1	BALB/c	trinitrophenyl	P-A ^d	2	1	2.2	87
ARI	C57BL	alloreactive	H-2 ^{d1}	7	1	2.5	87
AOIT.8	B10.A	lysozyme (aa 74–86)	I-A ^k	2	1	1.3	£
A10	B10.A	ovalbumin	I-A ^k	2	1	1.2	86
2B4	B10.A	cytochrome c	I-E ^k	e.	2	2.5	71
3H.25	C57BL/6	lysozyme	I-A ^b	e	1	1.2	148
V11.5	B10A(5R)	cytochrome c	I-E ^{k/b}	ŝ	1	1.2	4
LB2	C67BL/6	chicken RBC	I-A ^b	9	2	2.3	87
AOIC.25.1	B10.A	lysozyme (aa 85–96)	I-E ^k	9	1 or 2	2.2	£
3F9	BALB/c	alloreactive	D	6	1 or 2	1.1	159
2C	BALB.B	alloreactive	Dq	7	1	2.6	31
C	C57BL/6	DNP-ovalbumin	I-A ^b	8.1	7	2.5	87
AOIT.13.1	B10.A	lysozyme (aa 85–96)	I-E ^k	8.3	1	1.1	6
V15.4	B10.A(5R)	cytochrome c	I-E ^{k/b}	8.3	1	1.4	4
AOIC.9.4	B10.A	lysozyme (aa 85–96)	I-E ^k	10	1	1.2	£
AOIC.19.3	B10.A	lysozyme (aa 85–96)	I-E ^k	10	1 or 2	2.2	£
J6-19	B10.A	ovalbumin	I-A ^k	14	1	2.3	86

KRONENBERG, SIU, HOOD, & SHASTRI

¹ Specific for an undefined MHC class-I molecule.

² T. Wegmann, personal communication. ³ J. Kobori, N. Shastri, unpublished data. ⁴ J. Goverman, unpublished data.

574

by the same pool of V_{β} , D_{β} , and J_{β} gene segments. For example, analyses of a T-cell hybridoma specific for TNP and I-A^d and a cloned T-cell line specific for an H-2^d class-I molecule have shown that both utilize the $V_{\beta 2}$ gene segment in their antigen receptor (88) (Table 5). In addition, two monoclonal antibodies have been generated that each recognize a single V_{β} gene segment subfamily. KJ16-133 (52) is specific for the murine $V_{\beta 8}$ subfamily, which contains three members (87, 88), while Ti_{3A} (194) is specific for the human $V_{\beta M3}$ subfamily, which contains five members, three of which are functional (93). Both monoclonal antibodies bind both to L3T4⁺ or T4⁺ populations enriched for helper T cells and to Lyt-2⁺ or T8⁺ T-cell populations enriched for cytotoxic T cells. Therefore, cells of both phenotypes utilize the same V_{β} gene segments (179, 194). There is currently no data indicating whether the same might also be true for V_{α} gene segment usage.

Development of the T-Cell Specificity Repertoire

The ontological origin of a self-MHC restricted, antigen-specific repertoire of T-cell receptors has long been a controversial issue. It is now clear from experiments that determined the chromosomal locations of the α and β genes (Table 1) that these genes are not linked to those encoding the MHC molecules. It is therefore intriguing that MHC-congenic strains of mice with the same germline receptor genes express antigen-specific repertoires that in each strain are strongly biased for the recognition of different self-MHC molecules.

A number of studies, including those utilizing chimeric mice, have explored this question (249-251). Chimeric mice are constructed for this purpose by transferring precursor stem cells from the bone marrow of a mouse with one MHC genotype into another lethally irradiated mouse having a different MHC genotype. Stem cells in the bone marrow repopulate the hematopoietic system, and therefore in the chimera the hematopoietic cells have a different genotype than the irradiated recipient. Alternatively, chimeras have been constructed by transplanting thymus tissue into athymic mice that have a different MHC genotype. Many, but not all, of the chimera studies are consistent with a "thymic education" model for the ontogeny of a self-MHC restricted repertoire. According to this model, T cells with particular antigen-receptors are selected for in the thymus in the absence of antigen. This selection is believed to depend upon MHC molecules expressed by certain thymic cells; thus, T cells capable of recognizing antigens in the context of self-MHC molecules emigrate and populate the peripheral lymphoid organs. T cells that only recognize antigen plus allo-MHC, or that recognize antigen alone, do not emigrate and are presumed to die in the thymus. This selection process therefore

provides a rationale for the extensive cell death that takes place in thymus. According to several models of this type, selection is associated with a somatic hypermutation process (209, 210). The thymic education model contrasts with alternative antigen-priming models that assert that selection of T-cell specificities restricted by a given MHC haplotype occurs only in the periphery during T-cell activation in the presence of antigen (250). According to these models, mature cells emerging from the thymus are not particularly biased in favor of recognizing antigen plus self-MHC as opposed to antigen plus allo-MHC. However, in the peripheral lymphoid organs, the combination of antigen plus the available MHC molecules will lead to the clonal expansion of those T cells restricted to self-MHC molecules. Regulatory influences by suppressor and other cells may also prevent expansion of allo-MHC restricted clones.

Although study of the molecular biology of the α and β genes has not resolved this controversy, the available evidence permits the following conclusions. First, the thymus is the site where the α/β heterodimer is first expressed. Therefore, selection of receptor specificities for self-MHC recognition or induction of tolerance before the entry of T cells into the thymus is unlikely. Second, as mentioned above, up to 70% of the cell-death in the thymus may be caused by nonproductive α and β gene rearrangements. Some additional cell-death may also be due to the removal of selfreactive cells. However, these two explanations do not account quantitatively for the significant amount of cell death, estimated to be up to 95% of the total thymocytes. If the estimate is accurate, there must be additional causes for this phenomena (252-254). Finally, the absence of conclusive evidence for somatic hypermutation in both the α and β genes of the receptors expressed by peripheral T cells rules out models that require this as an obligatory step in the selection of a self-MHC-restricted T-cell repertoire. Therefore, the postulated selection of T-cell receptor specificities must act only upon the expressed receptor formed by germline genes and the diversity-generating rearrangement processes described above. However, none of these data argue directly for thymic selection as opposed to selection in peripheral lymphoid organs.

Implications for Immune Response Gene Defects

Immune response (Ir) gene defects are said to occur when heritable differences in responsiveness to the same antigen are demonstrated among individuals. In such cases, one group or individual are responders, while the other group manifesting the so-called "defect" are nonresponders (250, 255, 256). In most cases, it has been shown that responsiveness in inbred mice maps to MHC class-I molecules for cytotoxic cells (257) and to class-II molecules for helper T-cell responses (258). In these cases, nonresponsive-

ness is highly specific for the combination of particular antigens and particular alleles of MHC-encoded molecules.

Several models have been proposed to explain these Ir gene-encoded immune response gene defects (250, 255). One possibility is that germline genes that could encode a receptor with the specificity in question do not exist. A second category of models proposes that selective constraints lead to an absence of clones that recognize the combination of antigen-plus-MHC molecule. The requirement for self-tolerance is an example of such a selective constraint. Deletion of self-reactive clones could eliminate all those T cells that react with certain foreign antigen/self-MHC combinations, if the receptor expressed by these cells fortuitously cross-reacts with a self-determinant (259). A second explanation for this selective constraint proposes that selection of a self-MHC restricted repertoire in the absence of antigen (see above) leads incidentally to deletion of clones reactive with certain antigen/MHC combinations. The exact details of the relationship between repertoire selection and clonal deletion depend on whether one believes in one- or two-site models of the receptor (209, 210, 256). Explanations based upon a lack of germline genes or those requiring selective constraints both imply that T-cell responses that show Ir-gene control probably require the expression of relatively few genes, so that occasionally the gene(s) required for a particular response are not present or cannot be expressed.

A third hypothesis for Ir gene defects does not invoke an inability to express a particular T-cell specificity but proposes instead that certain antigen/MHC combinations may not effectively activate T cells in the periphery, although T cells that could react with these determinants are present. For example, the determinant selection theory states that a single T-cell receptor recognizes an antigen-MHC complex, but that in some cases a particular MHC molecule and antigen may fail to interact with the avidity required to form a complex and stimulate T lymphocytes (225). Another hypothesis invokes regulatory interactions between potentially responsive clones and suppressor cells that prevent responsiveness.

Two recent observations favor those explanations that do not require unavailability or deletion of clones expressing certain specificities, as is assumed by the prior two models. First, recent studies characterizing the specificity profiles of T-cell clones reactive to several small peptides have revealed considerable diversity among clones. For example, T-cell clones derived from B10.A mice immunized with a 23-amino-acid peptide of lysozyme (amino acids 74–96) showed a strict correlation between the minimal peptide determinants and the Ia molecule required for recognition; namely, clones specific for amino acids 74–86 were always I-A^k restricted, and clones reacting with amino acids 85–96 were I-E^k restricted

(260; N. Shastri, G. Gammon, A. Miller, E. Sercarz, unpublished). This correlation between the antigenic determinant and the MHC molecule also illustrates the phenomenon of Ir-gene defects, in that B10.A mice are nonresponders both to peptide $74-86/I-E^k$ and to peptide $85-96/I-A^k$. Further analysis of the specificity profiles of these peptide-specific clones has shown that among each of the two sets restricted to different class-II molecules, individual clones can be distinguished by their reactivities to a set of variant synthetic peptides. Thus, it appears that T cells can recognize these small peptides along with the restricting MHC molecule, in several different ways.

The diversity of T-cell-specificity phenotypes observed for even minimal peptide determinants argues against absence of appropriate clones or clonal-deletion mechanisms as valid explanations for Ir-gene defects. For example, considering the self-tolerance model, given the diversity of the observed responses, it is difficult to see how fortuitous cross-reactions with a self-antigen could cause deletion of all the potential T cells reactive with the peptide. However, this could conceivably occur if the observed distinct specificity patterns of the clones were due to the fact that these clones had descended from a single parental clone through a somatic hypermutation mechanism. However, the sequencing of the V_{θ} genes of the receptors employed by these clones has failed to reveal any somatic hypermutation, and different V_{β} sequences were found for each of the seven I-A^k- or I-E^krestricted clones analyzed (J. Kobori, N. Shastri, unpublished). Similar diversity has been found for the β genes expressed in a series of cytochrome c-specific, T-cell hybrids (A. Winoto, N. Lan, D. Hansburg, unpublished data). This demonstrates that Ir-gene-regulated T-cell responses directed towards even minimal peptide determinants are not constrained in their usage of particular V_{β} genes, and it argues against the models described above, which predict that a relatively limited set of genes would be employed in these responses.

Another observation argues against the theory that the absence of clones with certain T-cell receptors is the cause of Ir gene defects. This is the finding that in one instance immune responsiveness to a different lysozyme peptide (amino acids 46–61) could be clearly correlated with binding of this peptide to an appropriate, but not to an inappropriate or nonresponder, MHC class-II molecule (207). This result is most consistent with the determinant selection hypothesis, although as mentioned previously, the generality of this finding has not yet been established.

In summary, these findings argue against a limitation in the existence or expression of appropriate T-cell receptor genes as a complete explanation for nonresponsiveness. To some extent, the studies cited support the alternative explanations, including determinant selection and regulation by suppressor cells that assign the Ir defect to the activation of T cells in the periphery.

SUMMARY

The genes encoding the α and β chain of the T-cell receptor and the γ gene have been cloned, and their structure, organization, ontogeny of expression, pattern of rearrangement, and diversification are now generally understood. In most cases, the immunoglobulin paradigm applied very well to the corresponding phenomena in T cells, although as described above, some interesting and potentially important differences exist. Nevertheless, there are still many unanswered questions regarding the ontogeny and mechanism of MHC-restricted antigen recognition, and it is not clear how far the immunoglobulin model can take us in understanding these phenomena. Although the α/β heterodimer looks like an antibody and the binding sites of the two molecules may be similar, the rules governing Band T-cell activation are clearly different, and the ligand(s) bound by the receptor are still poorly characterized. In the future, T-cell receptor genes, as well as those encoding the T-cell accessory molecules, will be altered in vitro and transferred into mammalian cells in culture and into whole organisms in an attempt to understand T-cell antigen recognition. These tools will allow us to manipulate the mammalian immune response in a variety of different ways that will have a profound impact both on our understanding of immunology and on medicine in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The literature search for this article was completed in July, 1985. This work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health, and T Cell Sciences, Inc. Nilabh Shastri is a Lievre Fellow of the California Division of the American Cancer Society. We thank P. Pjura for computer assistance in visualizing three-dimensional immunoglobulin structures and A. Augustin, M. Cohn, M. Davis, E. Haber, J. Kappler, R. Langman, D. Loh, T. Mak, P. Marrack, E. Palmer, T. Rabbitts, G.-K. Sim, S. Tonegawa, and E. Unanue for sending us their papers prior to publication. We also thank Richard Barth, Ulf Landegren, and Astar Winoto for critical reading of the manuscript, our colleagues at Caltech for their many helpful suggestions, and S. Mangrum, R. Thorf, K. Patterson, C. Katz, and B. Jones for helping with all the drafts and figures.

Literature Cited

- Kindred, B., Shreffler, D. C. 1972. H-2 dependence of cooperation between T and B cells in vivo. J. Immunol. 109:940-43
- Katz, D. H., Hamaoka, T., Benacerraf, B. 1973. Cell interactions between histoincompatible T and B lymphocytes. II. Failure of physiologic cooperative interactions between T and B lymphocytes from allogeneic donor strains in humoral response to haptenprotein conjugates. J. Exp. Med. 137:1405–18
- 2a. Rosenthal, A. S., Shevach, E. M. 1973. Function of macrophages in antigen recognition by guinea pig T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 138:1194
- Zinkernagel, R. M., Doherty, P. C. 1974. Restriction of in vitro T-cell mediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis within a syngeneic or semi-allogeneic system. *Nature* 248:701-2
- Cerottini, J. C., Nordin, A. A., Brunner, K. T. 1970. Specific *in vitro* cytotoxicity of thymus-derived lymphocytes sensitized to alloantigens. *Nature* 228:1308– 9
- Mitchell, G. F., Miller, J. F. A. P. 1968. Cell-to-cell interaction in the immune response. II. The source of hemolysinforming cells in irradiated mice given bone marrow and thymus or thoracic duct lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 128: 821-37
- Cantor, H., Boyse, E. A. 1975. Functional subclasses of T lymphocytes bearing differing Ly antigens. II. Cooperation between subclasses of Ly⁺ cells in the generation of killer activity. J. Exp. Med. 141:1390–99
- 7. Gershon, R. K. 1974. T-cell suppression. Contemp. Top. Immunobiol. 3: 1-40
- Cantor, H., Weissman, I. 1976. Development and function of subpopulations of thymocytes and T lymphocytes. Prog. Allergy 20: 1-64
- Whitlock, C., Denis, K., Robertson, D., Witte, O. 1985. In vitro analysis of murine B-cell development. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3:213-35
- Weissman, I. L. 1967. Thymus cell migration. J. Exp. Med. 126:291-304
- Scollay, R., Bartlett, P., Shortman, K. 1984. T-cell development in the adult murine thymus: Changes in the expression of the surface antigens Ly2, L3T4 and B2A2 during development from early precursor cells to emigrants. *Immunol. Rev.* 82: 79-103

- Rothenberg, E., Lugo, J. 1985. Differentiation and cell division in the mammalian thymus. *Dev. Biol.* In press
- Borst, J., Alexander, S., Elder, J., Terhorst, C. 1983. The T3 complex on human T lymphocytes involves four structurally distinct glycoproteins. J. Biol. Chem. 258: 5135-43
- Meuer, S. C., Cooper, D. A., Hodgdon, J. C., Hussey, R. E., Fitzgerald, K. A., Schlossman, S., Reinherz, E. L. 1983. Identification of the receptor for antigen and major histocompatibility complex on human inducer T lymphocytes. *Science* 222:1239–42
- Engleman, E. G., Benike, C., Glickman, E., Evans, R. L. 1981. Antibodies to membrane strutures that distinguish suppressor/cytotoxic and helper T lymphocyte subpopulations block the mixed leukocyte reaction in man. J. Exp. Med. 154:193-98
- Landegren, U., Ramstedt, U., Axberg, I., Ullberg, M., Jondal, M., Wigzell, H. 1982. Selective inhibition of human T-cell cytotoxicity at levels of target recognition or initiation of lysis by monoclonal OKT3 and Leu-2a antibodies. J. Exp. Med. 155: 1579-84
- Marrack, P., Endres, R., Shimonkevitz, R., Zlotnik, A., Dialynas, D., Fitch, F., Kappler, J. 1983. The major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells. II. Role of the L3T4 product. J. Exp. Med. 158:1077-91
- Śwain, S. L. 1981. Significance of Lyt phenotypes: Lyt2 antibodies block activities of T cells that recognize class 1 major histocompatibility complex antigens regardless of their function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:7101-5
- Biddison, W. E., Rao, P. E., Talle, M. A., Goldstein, G., Shaw, S. 1984. Possible involvement of the T4 molecule in Tcell recognition of class II HLA antigens: Evidence from studies of CTLtarget cell binding. J. Exp. Med. 159:793-97
- Allison, J. P., McIntyre, B. W., Bloch, D. 1982. Tumor-specific antigen of murine T lymphoma defined with monoclonal antibody. J. Immunol. 129:2293-2300
- Haskins, K., Kubo, R., White, J., Pigeon, M., Kappler, J., Marrack, P. 1983. The major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells. I. Isolation with a monoclonal antibody. J. Exp. Med. 157:1149-69
- Lancki, D. W., Lorber, M. I., Loken, M. R., Fitch, F. W. 1983. A clone-specific monoclonal antibody that inhibits

cytolysis of a cytolytic T-cell clone. J. Exp. Med. 157:921-35

- McIntyre, B. W., Allison, J. P. 1983. The mouse T-cell receptor: Structural heterogeneity of molecules of normal T cells defined by xenoantiserum. *Cell* 34:739-46
- Meuer, S. C., Fitzgerald, K. A., Hussey, R. E., Hodgdon, J. C., Schlossman, S. F., Reinherz, E. L. 1983. Clonotypic structures involved in antigen-specific human T-cell function. Relationship to the T3 molecular complex. J. Exp. Med. 157:705-19
- 25. Samelson, L. E., Germain, R. N., Schwartz, R. H. 1983. Monoclonal antibodies against the antigen receptor on a cloned T-cell hybrid. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:6972–76
- Haars, R., Rohowsky-Kochan, C., Reed, E., King, D. W., Suciu-Foca, N. 1984. Modulations of T-cell antigen receptor on lymphocyte membrane. *Immunogenetics* 20:397-405
- Kappler, J., Kubo, R., Haskins, K., Hannum, C., Marrack, P., Pigeon, M., McIntyre, B., Allison, J., Trowbridge, I. 1983. The major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells in mouse and man: Identification of constant and variable peptides. *Cell* 35:295-302
- Cell 35:295-302
 28. Meuer, S. C., Acuto, O., Hercend, T., Schlossman, S. F., Reinherz, E. L. 1984. The human T-cell receptor. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:23-50
- 29. Yanagi, Y., Yoshikai, Y., Leggett, K., Clark, S. P., Aleksander, I., Mak, T. W. 1984. A human T cell-specific cDNA clone encodes a protein having extensive homology to immunoglobulin chains. *Nature* 308:145-49
- Hedrick, S. M., Cohen, D. I., Nielsen, E. A., Davis, M. M. 1984. Isolation of cDNA clones encoding T cell-specific membrane-associated proteins. *Nature* 308:149-53
- Saito, H., Kranz, D. M., Takagaki, Y., Hayday, A. C., Eisen, H. N., Tonegawa, S. 1984. Complete primary structure of a heterodimeric T-cell receptor deduced from cDNA sequences. *Nature* 309:757-62
- Chien, Y., Becker, D., Lindsten, T., Okamura, M., Cohen, D., Davis, M. 1984. A third type of murine T-cell receptor gene. *Nature* 312:31-35
- Saito, H., Kranz, D., Takagaki, Y., Hayday, A., Eisen, H., Tonegawa, S. 1984. A third rearranged and expressed gene in a clone of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nature* 312: 36–40
- Hedrick, S. M., Nielsen, E. A., Kavaler,

T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR

J., Cohen, D. I., Davis, M. M. 1984. Sequence relationships between putative T-cell receptor polypeptides and immunoglobulins. *Nature* 308:153–58

- Fabbi, M., Acuto, O., Smart, J. E., Reinherz, E. L. 1984. Homology of Ti alpha-subunit of a T-cell antigen-MHC receptor with immunoglobulin. *Nature* 312:269-71
- 36. Hannum, C. H., Kappler, J. W., Trowbridge, I. S., Marrack, P., Freed, J. H. 1984. Immunoglobulin-like nature of the α-chain of a human T-cell antigen/MHC receptor. Nature 312:65-67
- 37. Sim, G. K., Yagüe, J., Nelson, J., Marrack, P., Palmer, E., Augustin, A., Kappler, J. 1984. Primary structure of human T-cell receptor α-chain. Nature 312:771-75
- Nathans, J., Hogness, D. S. 1983. Isolation, sequence analysis, and intronexon arrangement of the gene encoding bovine rhodopsin. *Cell* 34:807–14
- 39. Dembic, Z., Bannwarth, W., Taylor, B. A., Steinmetz, M. 1985. The gene encoding the T-cell receptor α-chain maps close to the Np-2 locus on mouse chromosome 14. Nature 314:271-73
- Kranz, D. M., Saito, H., Disteche, C. M., Swisshelm, K., Pravtcheva, D., Ruddle, F. H., Eisen, H. N., Tonegawa, S. 1985. Chromosomal locations of the murine T-cell receptor alpha-chain gene and the T-cell gamma gene. *Science* 227:941-45
- Rabbitts, T. H., Lefranc, M. P., Stinson, M. A., Sims, J. E., Schroeder, J., Steinmetz, M., Spurr, N. L., Solomon, E., Goodfellow, P. N. 1985. The chromosomal location of T-cell receptor genes and a T-cell rearranging gene: Possible correlation with specific translocations in human T-cell leukaemia. EMBO J. 4: 1461-65
- 42. Roehm, N. W., Carbone, C., Kushnir, E., Taylor, B. A., Riblet, R. J., Marrack, P., Kappler, J. W. 1985. The major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells: The genetics of expression of an allotype. J. Immunol. 135:2176-82
- Epstein, R., Roehm, N., Marrack, P., Kappler, J., Davis, M., Hedrick, S., Cohn, M. 1985. Genetic markers of the antigen-specific T-cell receptor locus. J. Exp. Med. 161:1219-24
- Barker, P. E., Ruddle, F. H., Royer, H. D., Acuto, O., Reinherz, E. L. 1984. Chromosomal location of human T-cell receptor gene Ti β. Science 226: 348–49
- 45. Caccia, N., Kronenberg, M., Saxe, D., Haars, R., Bruns, G., Goverman, J.,
582 KRONENBERG, SIU, HOOD, & SHASTRI

Malissen, M., Willard, H., Yoshikai, Y., Simon, M., Hood, L., Mak, T. 1984. The T-cell receptor β chain genes are located on chromosome 6 in mice and chromosome 7 in humans. *Cell* 37:1091–99

- 46. Morton, C. C., Duby, A. D., Eddy, R. L., Shows, T. B., Seidman, J. G. 1985. Genes for β chain of human T-cell antigen receptor map to regions of chromosomal rearrangement in T cells. *Science* 228:582-85
- Lee, N. E., D'Eustachio, P., Pravtcheva, D., Ruddle, F. H., Hedrick, S. M., Davis, M. M. 1984. Murine T-cell receptor β chain is encoded on chromosome 6. J. Exp. Med. 160:905-13
- Hengartner, H., Meo, T., Muller, E. 1978. Assignment of genes for immunoglobulin k and heavy chains to chromosomes 6 and 12 in the mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 75:4494–98
- Swan, D., Eustachio, P. D., Leinwand, L., Seidman, J., Keithley, D., Ruddle, F. H. 1979. Chromosomal assignment of the mouse κ light chain genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76:2735-39
- Itakura, K., Hutton, J. J., Boyse, E. A., Old, L. J. 1972. Genetic linkage relationships of loci specifying differentiation alloantigens in the mouse. *Transplantation* 13:239–43
- 51. Gottleib, P. D., Durda, P. J. 1976. The I_{g} -peptide marker and the Ly-3 surface alloantigen: Structural studies of V_{κ} -region polymorphism and a T-cell marker determined by linked genes. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 41:805-15
- 52. Haskins, K., Hannum, C., White, J., Roehm, N., Kubo, R., Kappler, J., Marrack, P. 1984. The major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells. VI. An antibody to a receptor allotype. J. Exp. Med. 160:452-71
- Sim, G.-K., Augustin, A. 1985. V_β gene polymorphism and a major polyclonal T-cell receptor idiotype. *Cell* 42:89–92
- 54. Caccia, N., Bruns, G.A. P., Kirsch, I. R., Hollis, G. F., Bertness, V., Mak, T. W. 1985. T-cell receptor α chain genes are located on chromosome 14 at 14q11-14q12 in humans. J. Exp. Med. 161:1255-60
- 55. Collins, M. K. L., Goodfellow, P. N., Spurr, N. K., Solomon, E., Tanigawa, G., Tonegawa, S., Owen, M. J. 1985. The human T-cell receptor α-chain gene maps to chromosome 14. Nature 314:273-74
- 56. Croce, C. M., Isobe, M., Palumbo, A., Puck, J., Ming, J., Tweardy, D.,

Erikson, J., Davis, M., Rovera, G. 1985. Gene for α -chain of human T-cell receptor: Location on chromosome 14 region involved in T-cell neoplasms. *Science* 227:1044–47

- Jones, C., Morse, H. G., Kao, F.-T., Carbone, A., Palmer, E. 1985. Human T-cell receptor α-chain genes: Location on chromosome 14. Science 228:83–85
- Kirsch, I. R., Morton, C. C., Nakahara, K., Leder, P. 1982. Human immunoglobulin heavy chain genes map to a region of translocations in malignant B lymphocytes. *Science* 216:301-3
- Hecht, F., Morgan, R., Hecht, R., Smith, S. D. 1984. Common region on chromosome 14 in T-cell leukemia and lymphoma. *Science* 226:1445-47
- phoma. Science 226:1445-47
 60. Williams, D. L., Look, A. T., Melvin, S. L., Roberson, P. K., Dahl, G., Flake, T., Stass, S. 1984. New chromosomal translocations correlate with specific immunophenotypes of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cell 36:101-9
- 61. Žech, L., Gahrton, L., Hammarstrom, L., Juliusson, G., Mellstedt, H., Robert, K. H., Smith, C. I. E. 1984. Inversion of chromosome 14 marks human T-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Nature* 308:858-60
- Klein, G. 1983. Specific chromosomal translocations and the genesis of B-cellderived tumors in mice and men. *Cell* 32:311-15
- Leder, P., Battey, J., Lenoir, G., Moulding, C., Murphy, W., Potter, H., Stewart, T., Taub, R. 1983. Translocations among antibody genes in human cancer. Science 222:765-71
- 64. Collins, M. K. L., Goodfellow, P. N., Dunne, M. J., Spurr, N. K., Solomon, E., Owen, M. J. 1984. A human T-cell antigen receptor β chain gene maps to chromosome 7. EMBO J. 3:2347–49
- 65. Isobe, M., Erikson, J., Emanuel, B. S., Nowell, P. C., Croce, C. M. 1985. Location of gene for β subunit of human Tcell receptor at band 7q35, a region prone to rearrangements in T cells. *Science* 228: 580–82
- Lebeau, M. M., Diaz, M. O., Rowley, J. D., Mak, T. W. 1985. Chromosomal localization of the human T-cell receptor β-chain genes. Cell 41:335
- McBride, O. W., Hieter, P. A., Hollis, G. F., Swan, D., Otey, M. C., Leder, P. 1982. Chromosomal location of human kappa and lambda immunoglobulin light chain constant region genes. J. Exp. Med. 155:1480-90
- Aurias, A., Dutrillaux, B., Buriot, D., Lejeune, J. 1980. High frequencies of inversions and translocations of

chromosomes 7 and 14 in ataxia telangiectasia. Mutat. Res. 69: 369-74

- Welch, J. P., Lee, C. L. Y. 1975. Nonrandom occurrence of 7–14 translocations in human lymphocyte cultures. *Nature* 255:241–42
- Ayme, S., Mattei, J. F., Mattei, M. G., Aurran, Y., Giraud, F. 1976. Nonrandom distribution of chromosome breaks in cultured lymphocytes of normal subjects. *Hum Genet.* 31:161-75
- Chien, Y.-H., Gascoigne, N. R. J., Kavaler, J., Lee, N. E., Davis, M. M. 1984. Somatic recombination in a murine T-cell receptor gene. *Nature* 309:322-26
- 72. Siu, G., Clark, S. P., Yoshikai, Y., Malissen, M., Yanagi, Y., Strauss, E., Mak, T. W., Hood, L. 1984. The human T-cell antigen receptor is encoded by variable, diversity and joining gene segments that rearrange to generate a complete V gene. Cell 37: 393-401
- Hayday, A. C., Saito, H., Gillies, S. D., Kranz, D. M., Tanigawa, G., Eisen, H. N., Tonegawa, S. 1985. Structure, organization and somatic rearrangement of T-cell gamma genes. *Cell* 40:259-69
- 74. Hayday, A., Diamond, D., Tanigawa, G., Heilig, J., Folsom, V., Saito, H., Tonegawa, S. 1985. Unusual features of the organization and diversity of T-cell receptor α chain genes. *Nature* 316:828-32
- 75. Winoto, A., Mjolsness, S., Hood, L. 1985. Genomic organization of the geness encoding the mouse T-cell receptor α chain: 18 J_a gene segments map over 60 kilobases of DNA. *Nature* 316:832-36
- 76. Yoshikai, Y., Clark, S. P., Taylor, S., Sohn, U., Wilson, B., Minden, M., Mak, T. W. 1985. Organization and sequences of the variable, joining and constant region genes of the human T-cell receptor α chain. *Nature* 316:837-40
- 77. Gascoigne, N. R. J., Chien, Y.-H., Becker, D. M., Kavaler, J., Davis, M. M. 1984. Genomic organization and sequence of T-cell receptor β-chain constant- and joining-region genes. *Nature* 310:387-91
- 78. Malissen, M., Minard, K., Mjolsness, S., Kronenberg, M., Goverman, J., Hunkapiller, T., Prystowsky, M. B., Yoshikai, Y., Fitch, F., Mak, T. W., Hood, L. 1984. Mouse T-cell antigen receptor: Structure and organization of constant and joining gene segments encoding the β polypeptide. *Cell* 37: 1101-10
- 79. Yanagi, Y., Chan, A., Chin, B., Minden,

M., Mak, T. W. 1985. Analysis of cDNA clones specific for human T cells and the α and β chains of the T-cell receptor heterodimer from a human T-cell line. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82: 3430–34

- Clark, S. P., Yoshikai, Y., Taylor, S., Siu, G., Hood, L., Mak, T. W. 1984. Identification of a diversity segment of the human T-cell receptor β chain, and comparison to the analogous murine element. *Nature* 311:387–89
- Kavaler, J., Davis, M. M., Chien, Y.-H. 1984. Localization of a T-cell receptor diversity region element. *Nature* 310:421-23
- 82. Siu, G., Kronenberg, M., Strauss, E., Haars, R., Mak, T. W., Hood, L. 1984. The structure, rearrangement and expression of D_{β} gene segments of the murine T-cell antigen receptor. *Nature* 311:344-50
- Max, E. E., Seidman, J. G., Leder, P. 1979. Sequences of five potential recombination sites encoded close to an immunoglobulin κ constant region. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76: 3450-54
- 84. Sakano, H., Hüppi, K., Heinrich, G., Tonegawa, S. 1979. Sequences at the somatic recombination sites of immunoglobulin light-chain genes. *Nature* 280:288-94
- Early, P., Huang, H., Davis, M., Calame, K., Hood, L. 1980. An immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region gene is generated from three segments of DNA: V_H, D and J_H. Cell 19:981-92
- Malissen, M., McCoy, C., Blanc, D., Trucy, J., Devaux, C., Schmitt-Verhulst, A.-M., Fitch, F., Hood, L., Malissen, B. 1985. Direct evidence for chromosomal inversion during T-cell receptor β gene rearrangements. *Nature*. In press
- rearrangements. Nature. In press
 87. Patten, P., Yokota, T., Rothbard, J., Chien, Y.-H., Arai, K.-I., Davis, M. M. 1984. Structure, expression and divergence of T-cell receptor β-chain variable regions. Nature 312:40-46
- 88. Barth, R., Kim, B., Lan, N., Hunkapiller, T., Sobieck, N., Winoto, A., Gershenfeld, H., Okada, C., Hansburg, D., Weissman, I., Hood, L. 1985. The murine T-cell receptor employs a limited repertoire of expressed V_g gene segments. *Nature* 316:517-23
- Behlke, M. A., Spinella, D. G., Chou, H., Sha, W., Hartl, D. L., Loh, D. Y. 1985.
 T-cell receptor β chain expression: Dependence on relatively few variable region genes. *Science* 229: 566–70
- Cory, S., Tyler, B., Adams, J. 1981. Sets of immunoglobulin V_x genes homolog-

ous to 10 cloned V_{κ} sequences: Implications for the number of germline V_{κ} sequences. J. Mol. Appl. Genet. 1:103-16

- 91. Brodeur, P., Riblet, R. 1984. The immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region (Igh-V) locus in mouse. I. One hundred Igh-V genes comprise seven families of homologous genes. Eur. J. Immunol. 14:922-30
- Dildrop, R. 1984. A new classification of mouse V_H sequences. Immunol. Today 5:85-86
- Siu, G., Strauss, E., Hood, L. 1985. Analysis of a human V_β gene subfamily. Submitted
- 94. Arden, B., Klotz, J., Siu, G., Hood, L. 1985. Diversity and structure of genes of the α family of mouse T-cell antigen receptor genes. *Nature* 316:783–87
- 95. Becker, D., Patten, P., Chien, Y.-H., Yokota, T., Eshhar, Z., Giedlin, M., Gascoigne, N. R. J., Goodenow, C., Wolf, R., Arai, K.-I., Davis, M. M. 1985. Variability and repertoire size in T-cell receptor V_α gene segments. *Nature* 317:430
- 96. Sims, J. E., Tunnacliffe, A., Smith, W. G., Rabbitts, T. H. 1984. Complexity of human T-cell antigen receptor betachain constant- and variable-region genes. Nature 312:541-45
- 97. Yoshikai, Y., Anatoniou, D., Clark, S. P., Yanagi, Y., Sangster, R., Van den Elsen, P., Terhorst, C., Mak, T. W. 1984. Sequence and expression of transcripts of the human T-cell receptor β -chain genes. Nature 312: 521–24
- 98. Jones, N., Leiden, J., Dialynas, D., Fraser, J., Clabby, M., Kishimoto, T., Strominger, J. L., Andrews, D., Lane, W., Woody, J. 1985. Partial primary structure of the alpha and beta chains of human tumor T-cell receptors. *Science* 227:311-14
- 99. Tunnacliffe, A., Lefford, R., Milstein, C., Forster, A., Rabbitts, T. H. 1985. Sequence and evolution of the human T-cell receptor β-chain genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 5068-72
- 100. Honjo, T., Obata, M., Yamawaki-Kataoka, Y., Kataoka, T., Kawakami, T., Takahashi, N., Mano, Y. 1979. Cloning and complete nucleotide sequence of mouse immunoglobulin y1 chain gene. Cell 18:559-68
- 101. Tucker, P., Marcu, K., Newell, N., Richard, J., Blattner, F. 1979. Sequence of the cloned gene for the constant region of the murine y2b immunoglobulin heavy chain. *Science* 206: 1303-6
- 102. Cheng, H.-L., Blattner, F., Fitzmaurice,

L., Mushinski, J., Tucker, P. 1982. Structure of genes for membrane and secreted murine IgD heavy chains. *Nature* 296:410–15

- Ellison, J., Berson, B., Hood, L. 1982. The nucleotide sequence of a human C_{y1} gene. Nucleic Acids Res. 10:4071-79
- 104. Ellison, J., Hood, L. 1982. Linkage and sequence homology of two human immunoglobulin γ heavy chain constant region genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79: 1984–88
- 105. Ishida, N., Ueda, S., Hayashida, H., Miyata, T., Honjo, T. 1982. The nucleotide sequence of the mouse immunoglobulin epsilon gene: Comparison with the human epsilon gene sequence. *EMBO J.* 1: 1117-23
- 106. Lefranc, M. P., Rabbitts, T. H. 1985. Two tandemly organised human genes encoding the T-cell γ constant region sequences show multiple rearrangement in different T-cell lines. *Nature* 316:464-66
- 107. Hood, L., Campbell, J., Elgin, S. R. C. 1975. The organization, expression, and evolution of antibody genes and other multigene families. *Ann. Rev. Genet.* 9:305-54
- 108. Williams, A. R., Gagnon, J. 1982. Neuronal cell Thy-1 glycoprotein: Homology with immunoglobulin. Science 216:696-703
- 109. Hood, L., Kronenberg, M., Hunkapiller, T. 1985. T-cell antigen receptors and the immunoglobulin supergene family. *Cell* 40:225–29
- 110. Strominger, J., Orr, T., Pachan, P., Ploegh, H. L., Mann, D. L., Bilofsky, H., Saroff, H. A., Wu, T. T., Kabat, E. A. 1980. An evaluation of the significance of amino acid sequence homologies in human histocompatibility antigens (HLA-A and HLA-B). Scand. J. Immunol. 11:573-93
- 111. Steinmetz, M., Frelinger, J. G., Fisher, D., Hunkapiller, T., Pereira, D., Weissman, S. M., Uehara, H., Nathanson, S., Hood, L. 1981. Three cDNA clones encoding mouse transplantation antigens: Homology to immunoglobulin genes. Cell 24: 125–34
- 112. Larhammar, D., Gustafsson, K., Claesson, L., Bill, P., Wiman, K., Schenning, L., Sundelin, J., Widmark, E., Peterson, P. A., Rask, L. 1982. Alpha chain of HLA-DR transplantation antigens is a member of the same protein superfamily as the immunoglobulins. *Cell* 30:153-61
- Malissen, M., Hunkapiller, T., Hood, L. 1983. Nucleotide sequence of a light

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:529-591. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

chain gene of the mouse I-A subregion : A_{g}^{d} . Science 221 : 750–54

- 114. Campbell, D. G., Williams, A. F., Bayley, P. M., Reid, K. B. M. 1979. Structural similarities between thy-1 antigen from rat brain and immunoglobulin. *Nature* 282: 341–43
- 115. Člark, M. J., Gagnon, J., Williams, A. F., Barclay, A. N. 1985. MRC OX-2 antigen: a lymphoid/neuronal membrane glycoprotein with a structure like a single immunoglobulin light chain. *EMBO J.* 4:113–18
- 116. Mostov, K. E., Friedlander, M., Blobel, G. 1984. The receptor for transepithelial transport of IgA and IgM contains multiple immunoglobulin-like domains. *Nature* 308: 37–43
- 116a. Maddon, P. J., Littman, D. R., Godfrey, M., Maddon, D. E., Chess, L., Axel, R. 1985. The isolation and nucleotide sequence of a cDNA encoding the T-cell surface protein T4: A new member of the immunoglobulin gene family. *Cell* 42:93-104
- 117. Littman, D. R., Thomas, Y., Maddon, P. J., Chess, L., Axel, R. 1985. The isolation and sequence of the gene encoding T8: A molecule defining functional classes of T lymphocytes. *Cell* 40:237-46
- Sukhatme, V. P., Sizer, K. C., Vollmer, A. C., Hunkapiller, T., Parnes, J. R. 1985. The T cell differentiation antigen Leu-2/T8 is homologous to immunoglobulin and T cell receptor variable regions. *Cell* 40: 591-97
- 119. Peterson, P. A., Cunningham, B. A., Berggard, I., Edelman, G. M. 1972. β₂microglobulin—a free immunoglobulin domain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 69:1697-1701
- Amzel, L. M., Poljak, R. J. 1979. Threedimensional structure of immunoglobulins. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 48:961– 97
- 121. Huang, H., Hood, L. 1982. The ontogenetic and evolutionary origins of antibody diversity. *Stadler Symp.* 14:59-68
- 121a. Hood, L. E., Hunkapiller, T., Kraig, E. 1983. Strategies for gene organization and information expression. In *Modern Cell Biology*, ed. J. R. McIntosh, 2: 305– 28. New York: Liss
- 122. Cory, S., Adams, J. M., Kemp, D. J. 1980. Somatic rearrangements forming active immunoglobulin μ genes in B and T lymphoid cell lines. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:4943-47
- Forster, A., Hobart, M., Hengartner, H., Rabbitts, T. H. 1980. An immunoglobulin heavy-chain gene is altered in

two T-cell clones. Nature 286:897-99

- 124. Kurosawa, Y., von Bochmer, H., Haas, W., Sakano, H., Trauneker, A., Tonegawa, S. 1981. Identification of D segments of immunoglobulin heavychain genes and their rearrangement in T lymphocytes. *Nature* 290: 566–70
- 125. Kronenberg, M., Kraig, E., Horvath, S. J., Hood, L. E. 1982. Cloned T cells as a tool for molecular geneticists: Approaches to cloning genes which encode T-cell antigen receptors. In *Isolation, Characterization and Utilization of T Lymphocyte Clones*, ed. C. G. Fathman, F. Fitch, pp. 467-91. New York: Academic
- 126. Zuñiga, M. C., D'Eustachio, P., Ruddle, N. 1982. Immunoglobulin heavy chain gene rearrangement and transcription in murine T cell hybrids and T lymphomas. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:3015-19
- 127. Kemp, D. J., Adams, J. M., Mottram, P. L., Thomas, W. R., Walker, I. D., Miller, J. F. A. P. 1982. A search for messenger RNA molecules bearing immunoglobulin V_H nucleotide sequences in T cells. J. Exp. Med. 156:1848–53
- 128. Nakanishi, K., Sugimura, K., Yaoita, Y., Maeda, K., Kashiwamura, S.-I., Honjo, T., Kishimoto, T. 1982. A T15-idiotype-positive T suppressor hybridoma does not use the T15 V_H gene segment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:6984–88
- 129. Kraig, E., Kronenberg, M., Kapp, J., Pierce, C. W., Abruzzini, A. F., Sorensen, C. M., Samelson, L. E., Schwartz, R. H., Hood, L. E. 1983. T and B cells that recognize the same antigen do not transcribe similar heavy chain variable regions gene segments. J. Exp. Med. 158:192-209
- 130. Kronenberg, M., Kraig, E., Siu, G., Kapp, J. A., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Pierce, C. W., Hood, L. 1983. Three Tcell hybridomas do not express detectable heavy chain variable gene transcripts. J. Exp. Med. 158:210-27
- 131. Kronenberg, M., Davis, M. M., Early, P. W., Hood, L. E., Watson, J. D. 1980. Helper and killer T cells do not express B cell immunoglobulin joining and constant region gene segments. J. Exp. Med. 152:1745-61
- 132. Flug, F., Pelicci, P.-G., Bonetti, F., Knowles, D. M. II, Dalla-Favera, R., 1985. T-cell receptor gene rearrangements as markers of lineage and clonality in T-cell neoplasms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 3460-64
- O'Connor, N. T. J., Wainscoat, J. S., Weatherall, D. J., Gatter, K. C., Feller,

A. C., Isaacson, P., Jones, D., Lennert, K., Pallesen, G., Ramsey, A., Stein, H., Wright, D. H., Mason, D. Y. 1985. Rearrangement of the T-cell receptor β chain gene in the diagnosis of lymphoproliferative disorders. *Lancet* 1:1295– 97

- 134. Rabbitts, T. H., Stinson, A., Forster, A., Foroni, L., Luzzatto, L., Catovsky, D., Hammarström, L., Smith, C. I. E., Jones, D., Karpas, A., Minowada, J., Taylor, A. M. R. 1985. Heterogeneity of T-cell β chain gene rearrangements in human leukaemias and lymphomas. *EMBO J.* 4:2217
- 135. Alt, F. W., Yancopoulos, G. D., Blackwell, T. K., Wood, C., Thomas, E., Boss, M., Coffman, R., Rosenberg, N., Tonegawa, S., Baltimore, D. 1984. Ordered rearrangement of immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region segments. *EMBO J.* 3:1209–19
- 136. Steinmetz, M., Altenburger, W., Zachau, H. G. 1980. A rearranged DNA sequence possibly related to the translocation of immunoglobulin gene segments. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 8: 1709–20
- 137. Selsing, E., Storb, U. 1981. Mapping of immunoglobulin variable region genes: Relationship to the "deletion" model of immunoglobulin gene rearrangement. Nucleic Acids Res. 9: 5725-35
- Höchtl, J., Müller, C. R., Zachau, H. G. 1982. Recombined flanks of the variable and joining segments of immunoglobulin genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 79:1383-87
- 139. Lewis, S., Rosenberg, N., Alt, F., Baltimore, D. 1982. Continuing kappagene rearrangement in a cell line transformed by Abelson murine leukemia virus. *Cell* 30:807–16
- 140. Van Ness, B. G., Coleclough, C., Perry, R. P., Weigert, M. 1982. DNA between variable and joining gene segments of immunoglobulin κ light chain is frequently retained in cells that rearrange the κ locus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:262-66
- 141. Höchtl, J., Zachau, H. G. 1983. A novel type of aberrant recombination in immunoglobulin genes and its implications for V-J joining mechanisms. *Nature* 302:260-63
- 142. Hozumi, N., Tonegawa, S. 1976. Evidence for somatic rearrangement of immunoglobulin genes coding for variable and constant regions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 73: 3628–32
- 143. Lewis, S., Gifford, A., Baltimore, D. 1984. Joining of V_κ to J_κ gene segments in a retroviral vector introduced into lymphoid cells. *Nature* 308:425-28

- 144. Kronenberg, M., Goverman, J., Haars, R., Malissen, M., Kraig, E., Phillips, L., Delovitch, T., Suciu-Foca, N., Hood, L. 1985. Rearrangement and transcription of the β-chain genes of the T-cell antigen receptor in different types of murine lymphocytes. *Nature* 313:647-53
- 145. Duby, A. D., Klein, K. A., Murre, C., Seidman, J. G. 1985. A novel mechanism of somatic rearrangement predicted by a human T-cell antigen receptor β-chain complementary DNA. *Science* 228:1204-06
- 146. Haars, R., Kronenberg, M., Owen, F., Gallatin, M., Weissman, I., Hood, L. 1985. Rearrangement and expression of T-cell antigen receptor and γ chain genes during thymic differentiation. Submitted
- 147. Kronenberg, M., Haars, R., Gartland, L., Hood, L., Cooper, M. 1985. Rearrangement of T-cell receptor beta genes in human peripheral blood cells that express surface markers characteristic of NK cells. Submitted
- 148. Goverman, J., Minard, K., Shastri, N., Hunkapiller, T., Hansburg, D., Sercarz, E., Hood, L. 1985. Rearranged β T-cell receptor genes in a helper T cell clone specific for lysozyme: No correlation between V_β and MHC restriction. Cell 40:859-67
- 149. Kranz, D. M., Saito, H., Heller, M., Takagaki, Y., Haas, W., Eisen, H. N., Tonegawa, S. 1985. Limited diversity of the rearranged T-cell γ gene. *Nature* 313:752-55
- 150. Royer, H. D., Bensussan, A., Acuto, O., Reinherz, E. L. 1984. Functional isotypes are not encoded by the constant region genes of the β subunit of the T-cell receptor for antigen/major histocompatibility complex. J. Exp. Med. 160:947-52
- 151. Toyonaga, B., Yanagi, Y., Suciu-Foca, N., Minden, M., Mak, T. W. 1984. Rearrangements of T-cell receptor gene YT35 in human DNA from thymic leukaemia T-cell lines and functional T-cell clones. *Nature* 311:385–87
- 152. Minden, M. P., Toyonaga, B., Ha, K., Yanagi, Y., Chin, B., Gelfand, E., Mak, T. 1985. Somatic rearrangement of Tcell antigen receptor gene in human Tcell malignancies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 82:1224-27
- 153. Hedrick, S. M., Germain, R. N., Bevan, M. J., Dorf, M., Engel, I., Fink, P., Gascoigne, N., Heber-Katz, E., Kapp, J., Kaufmann, Y., Kaye, J., Melchers, F., Pierce, C., Schwartz, R. H., Sorensen, C., Taniguchi, M., Davis, M. M. 1985. Rearrangement and transcription of a

T-cell receptor β -chain gene in different T-cell subsets. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 82:531-35

- 154. Bensussan, A., Acuto, O., Hussey, R. E., Milanese, C., Reinherz, E. L. 1984. T3-Ti receptor triggering of T8+ suppressor T cells leads to unresponsiveness to interleukin-2. *Nature* 311: 565-67
- 155. Yanagi, Y., Caccia, N., Kronenberg, M., Chin, B., Roder, J., Rohel, D., Kiyohare, T., Lauzon, R., Toyonaga, B., Rosenthal, K., Dennert, G., Acha-Orbea, H., Hengartner, H., Hood, L., Mak, T. W. 1985. Gene rearrangement in cells with natural killer activity and expression of the *B*-chain of the T-cell antigen receptor. *Nature* 314:631-33
- 156. Reynolds, C. W., Bonyhadi, M., Herberman, R. B., Young, H. A., Hedrick, S. M. 1985. Lack of gene rearrangement and mRNA expression of the beta-chain of the T cell receptor in spontaneous rat large granular lymphocyte leukemia lines. J. Exp. Med. 161:1249-54
- 157. Ritz, J., Campen, T. J., Schmidt, R. E., Royer, H. D., Hercend, T., Hussey, R. E., Reinherz, E. L. 1985. Analysis of T-cell receptor gene rearrangement and expression in human natural killer clones. Science 228:1540-43
- 158. Reth, M. G., Alt, F. W. 1984. Novel immunoglobulin heavy chains are produced from DJ_H gene segment rearrangements in lymphoid cells. *Nature* 312:418-23
- 159. Rupp, F., Acha-Orbea, H., Hengartner, H., Zinkernagel, R., Joho, R. 1985. Identical V_β T-cell receptor genes used in alloreactive cytotoxic and antigen plus I-A specific helper T cells. *Nature* 315:425-27
- 160. Raulet, D. H., Garman, R. D., Saito, H., Tonegawa, S. 1985. Developmental regulation of T-cell receptor gene expression. *Nature* 314:103-7
- 161. Honjo, T. 1983. Immunoglobulin genes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1: 499-528
- 162. Kotzin, B. L., Barr, V., Palmer, E. 1985. A large deletion within the T-cell receptor beta chain gene complex in NZW mice. Science 229:167-71
- 163. Alt, F. W. 1984. Exclusive immunoglobulin genes. Nature 312: 502-3
- 164. Sugiyama, H., Akira, S., Kikutani, H., Kishimoto, S., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1983. Functional V region formation during *in vitro* culture of murine immature B precursor cell line. *Nature* 303:812-15
- 165. Alt, F. W., Rosenberg, N., Enea, V., Siden, E., Baltimore, D. 1982. Multiple

T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR

immunoglobulin heavy-chain gene transcripts in Abelson murine leukemia virus-transformed lymphoid cell lines. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2:386-400

- 166. Alt, F., Rosenberg, N., Lewis, S., Thomas, E., Baltimore, D. 1981. Organization and reorganization of immunoglobulin genes in A-MULV transformed cells: Rearrangement of heavy but not light chain genes. Cell 27:381-90
- 167. Alt, F. W., Enea, V., Bothwell, A. L. M., Baltimore, D. 1980. Activity of multiple light chain genes in murine myeloma cells producing a single, functional light chain. Cell 21: 1–12
- 168. Kwan, S.-P., Max, E. E., Seidman, J. G., Leder, P., Scharff, M. D. 1981. Two kappa immunoglobulin genes are expressed in the myeloma S107. Cell 26:57-66
- 169. Hieter, P. A., Korsmeyer, S. J., Waldmann, T. A., Leder, P. 1981. Human immunoglobulin k light-chain genes are deleted or rearranged in λ-producing B cells. Nature 290: 368-72
- 170. Widmer, M. D., MacDonald, H. R., Cerottini, J.-C. 1981. Limiting dilution analysis of alloantigen-reactive T lymphocytes. VI. Ontogeny of cytolytic T lymphocyte precursors in the thymus. *Thymus* 2:245-55
- 171. Moore, M. A. S., Owen, J. J. T. 1967. Experimental studies on the development of the thymus. J. Exp. Med. 126:715-25
- 172. Snodgrass, H. R., Kisielow, P., Kiefer, M., Steinmetz, M., von Boehmer, H. 1985. Ontogeny of the T-cell antigen receptor within the thymus. *Nature* 313:592-95
- 173. Snodgrass, H. R., Dembic, Z., Steinmetz, M., von Boehmer, H. 1985. Expression of T-cell antigen receptor genes during fetal development in the thymus. *Nature* 315:232-33
- 174. van Ewijk, W., Jenkinson, E. J., Owen, J. J. T. 1982. Detection of Thy-1, T-200, Lyt-1, and Lyt-2 bearing cells in the developing lymphoid organs of the mouse embryo in vivo and in vitro. Eur. J. Immunol. 12: 262-71
- Ceredig, R., MacDonald, H. R., Jenkinson, E. J. 1983. Flow microfluorometric analysis of mouse thymus development in vivo and in vitro. Eur. J. Immunol. 13:185-90
- 176. Habu, S., Okumura, K. 1984. Cell surface antigen marking the stages of murine T cell ontogeny and its functional subsets. *Immunol. Rev.* 82:117– 39
- 177. Takacs, L., Osawa, H., Diamantstein, T.

588 KRONENBERG, SIU, HOOD, & SHASTRI

1984. Detection and localization by the monoclonal anti-interleukin-2 receptor antibody AMT-13 of IL2 receptor-bearing cells in the developing thymus of the mouse embryo and in the thymus of cortisone-treated mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 14:1152-56

- 178. Habu, S., Okumura, K., Diamantstein, T., Shevach, E. M. 1985. Expression of interleukin 2 receptor on murine fetal thymocytes. Eur. J. Immunol. 15:456– 60
- 179. Roehm, N., Herron, L., Cambier, J., DiGuisto, D., Haskins, K., Kappler, J., Marrack, P. 1984. The major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells: Distribution on thymus and peripheral T cells. Cell 38:577-84
- 180. Born, W., Yagüe, J., Palmer, E., Kappler, J., Marrack, P. 1985. Rearrangement of T-cell receptor β-chain genes during T-cell development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 2925-29
- 181. Samelson, L. E., Lindsten, T., Fowlkes, B. J., van den Elsen, P., Terhorst, C., Davis, M. M., Germain, R. N., Schwartz, R. H. 1985. Expression of genes of the T-cell antigen receptor complex in precursor thymocytes. *Nature* 315:765-68
- 182. Trowbridge, I. S., Lesley, J., Trotter, J., Hyman, R. 1985. Thymocyte subpopulation enriched for progenitors with an unrearranged T-cell receptor β-chain gene. Nature 315:666-69
- 183. Fowlkes, B. J., Edison, L., Mathieson, B., Chused, T. M. 1984. Differentiation in vitro of an adult precursor thymocyte. In Regulation of the Immune System. UCLA Symposia on Molecular and Cellular Biology (NS), ed. H. Cantor, L. Chess, E. Sercarz, 18:275– 93. New York: Liss
- 184. Mathieson, B. J., Fowlkes, B. J. 1984. Cell surface antigen expression on thymocytes: Development and phenotypic differentiation of intrathymic subsets. *Immunol. Rev.* 82:141-73
- 185. Kinnon, C., Diamond, R., Rothenberg, E. 1985. Expression of T-cell antigen receptor mRNAs in the thymus: Implications for cell lineages. Submitted
- 186. Shortman, K., Jackson, H. 1974. The differentiation of T lymphocytes. I. Proliferation kinetics and interrelationships of subpopulations of mouse thymus cells. Cell. Immunol. 12:230-46
- 187. Robinson, J. H., Owen, J. J. T. 1976. Generation of T-cell function in organ culture of foetal mouse thymus. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 23: 347-54

- Robinson, J. H., Owen, J. J. T. 1977. Generation of T-cell function in organ culture of foetal mouse thymus. II. Mixed lymphocyte culture reactivity. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 27: 322–27
- 189. Ceredig, R., Jenkinson, E. J., Mac-Donald, H. R., Owen, J. J. T. 1982. Development of cytolytic T lymphocyte precursors in organ-cultured mouse embryonic thymus rudiments. J. Exp. Med. 155:617-22
- 190. Owen, J. J. T., Jenkinson, E. J., Kingston, R. 1983. The ontogeny of T lymphocytes. Ann. Immunol. D 134:115-22
- 191. Kisielow, P., Leiserson, W., von Boehmer, H. 1984. Differentiation of thymocytes in fetal organ culture: Analysis of phenotypic changes accompanying the appearance of cytolytic and interleukin 2-producing cells. J. Immunol. 133:1117-23
- 192. Teh, H.-S., Ho, M. 1985. Ontogeny of proliferative and cytotoxic responses to interleukin 2 and concanavalin A in murine fetal thymus. J. Immunol. 134:1653-58
- 193. Royer, H. D., Acuto, O., Fabbi, M., Tizard, R., Ramachandran, K., Smart, J. E., Reinherz, E. L. 1984. Genes encoding the Ti β subunit of the antigen/MHC receptor undergo rearrangement during intrathymic ontogeny prior to surface T3-Ti expression. *Cell* 39:261-66
- 194. Acuto, O., Campen, T. J., Royer, H. D., Hussey, R. E., Poole, C. B., Reinherz, E. L. 1985. Molecular analysis of T cell receptor (Ti) variable region (V) gene expression. Evidence that a single Tiß V gene family can be used in formation of V domains on phenotypically and functionally diverse T cell populations. J. Exp. Med. 161:1326-43
- 195. Sakano, H., Maki, R., Kurosawa, Y., Roeder, W., Tonegawa, S. 1980. Two types of somatic recombination are necessary for generation of complete immunoglobulin heavy chain genes. *Nature* 286:676-83
- 196. Weigert, M., Perry, R., Kelley, D., Hunkapiller, T., Schilling, J., Hood, L. 1980. The joining of V and J gene segments creates antibody diversity. *Nature* 283:497–99
- 197. Alt, F., Baltimore, D. 1982. Joining of immunoglobulin heavy chain gene segments: Implications from a chromosome with evidence of three D-J_H fusions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78:5812-16
- Weigert, M. G., Cesari, I. M., Yonkovich, S. J., Cohn, M. 1970. Variability

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:529-591. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

in the lambda light chain sequences of mouse antibody. Nature 228: 1045-47

- 199. Kim, S., Davis, M., Sinn, E., Patten, P., Hood, L. 1981. Antibody diversity: Somatic hypermutation of rearranged V_H genes. Cell 27: 573-81
- 200. Pech, M., Höchtl, J., Schnell, H., Zachau, H. G. 1981. Differences between germ-line and rearranged immunoglobulin V, coding sequences suggest a localized mutation mechanism. Nature 291:668-70
- Bauer, D. C., Mathies, M. J., Stavitsky, A. A. 1963. Sequences of synthesis of y-1 macroglobulin and y-2 globulin antibodies during primary and secondary responses to proteins, Salmonella antigens, and phage. J. Exp. Med. 117:889– 907
- Augustin, A. A., Sim, G. K. 1984. T-cell receptors generated via mutations are specific for various major histocompatibility antigens. *Cell* 39:5–12
- Schwartz, R. H. 1985. T-lymphocyte recognition of antigen associated with gene products of the major histocompatibility complex. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3:237-61
- 204. Cohen, R. J., Eisen, H. 1977. Interactions of macromolecules on cell membranes and restrictions of T-cell specificity by products of the major histocompatibility complex. *Cell. Immunol.* 32: 1-9
- 205. Matzinger, P. 1981. A one-receptor view of T-cell behavior. Nature 292:497-501
- 206. Schrader, J. 1982. A single T-cell receptor: A speculative review of the intrathymic generation and modulation of the repertoire. *Thymus* 4:181– 207
- 207. Babbitt, B. P., Allen, P. M., Matsueda, G., Haber, E., Unanue, E. R. 1985. The binding of immunogenic peptides to Ia histocompatibility molecules. *Nature* 317:359-61
- Blanden, R. V., Ada, G. L. 1978. A dual recognition model for cytotoxic T cells based on thymic selection of precursors with low affinity for self H-2 antigens. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 7:181-90
- 209. Cohn, M., Epstein, R. 1978. T-cell inhibition of humoral responsiveness. II. Theory on the role of restrictive recognition in immune regulation. Cell. Immunol. 39:125-53
- 210. von Boehmer, H., Haas, W., Jerne, N. K. 1978. Major histocompatibility complex-linked immune-responsiveness is acquired by lymphocytes of lowresponder mice differentiating in thymus of high-responder mice. Proc.

T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR 589

Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 75:2439-42

- 211. Parham, P. 1984. A repulsive view of MHC-restriction. Immunol. Today 5:89-92
- 212. Pernis, B., Axel, R. 1985. A one and a half receptor model for MHC-restricted antigen recognition by T lymphocytes. *Cell* 41:13-16
- 213. Cleveland, W. L., Elanger, B. F. 1985. Hypothesis: The MHC-restricted Tcell receptor as a structure with two multistate allosteric combining sites. *Mol. Immunol.* In press
- 214. Kappler, J. W., Skidmore, B., White, J., Marrack, P. 1981. Antigen-inducible, H-2-restricted interleukin-2-producing T cell hybridomas. Lack of independent antigen and H-2 recognition. J. Exp. Med. 153:1198-1214
- 215. Marrack, P., Shimonkevitz, R., Hannum, C., Haskins, K., Kappler, J. 1983. The major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells. IV. An anti-idiotypic antibody predicts both antigen and I-specificity. J. Exp. Med. 158:1635-46
- Hünig, T. R., Bevan, M. J. 1982. Antigen recognition by cloned cytotoxic Tlymphocytes follows rules predicted by the altered-self hypothesis. J. Exp. Med. 155:111-25
- 217. Heber-Katz, E., Schwartz, R. H., Matis, L. A., Hannum, C., Fairwell, T., Appella, E., Hansburg, D. 1982. Contribution of antigen-presenting cell major histocompatibility complex gene products to the specificity of antigeninduced T-cell activation. J. Exp. Med. 155:1086-99
- 218. Hedrick, S. M., Matis, L. A., Hecht, T. T., Samelson, L. E., Longo, D. L., Heber-Katz, E., Schwartz, R. H. 1982. The fine specificity of antigen and Ia determinant recognition by T cell hybridoma clones specific for cytochrome c. Cell. 30: 141-52
- 219. Matis, L. A., Longo, D. L., Hedrick, S. M., Hannum, C., Margoliash, E., Schwartz, R. H. 1983. Clonal analysis of the major histocompatibility complex restriction and the fine specificity of antigen recognition in the T cell proliferative response to cytochrome c. J. Immunol. 130:1527-35
- Langman, R. E., Cohn, M. 1985. T-cells function via restricted recognition of antigen, not antigen-restricted recognition. Cell. Immunol. 94: 598
- 221. Groves, E. S., Singer, A. 1983. Role of the H-2 complex in the induction of T cell tolerance to self minor histocompatibility antigens. J. Exp. Med. 158:1483-97

Annual Reviews

590 KRONENBERG, SIU, HOOD, & SHASTRI

- 222. Matzinger, P., Zamoyska, R., Waldmann, H. 1984. Self tolerance is H-2 restricted. *Nature* 308:738-41
- 223. Rammensee, H.-G., Bevan, M. J. 1984. Evidence from *in vitro* studies that tolerance to self antigens is MHCrestricted. *Nature* 308:741-44
- 224. Benacerraf, B. 1978. A hypothesis to relate the specificity of T lymphocytes and the activity of I region-specific Ir genes in macrophages and B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 120:1809–12
- 225. Rosenthal, A. S. 1978. Determinant selection and macrophage function in genetic control of the immune response. *Immunol. Rev.* 40:136
- 226. Davies, D. R., Metzger, H. 1983. Structural basis of antibody function. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:87-117
- 227. Kyte, J., Doolittle, R. G. 1982. A simple method for displaying the hydropathic character of a protein. J. Mol. Biol. 157:105-32
- Chou, P. Y., Fasman, G. D. 1978. Empirical predictions of protein conformation. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 47: 251-76
- 229. Kabat, E. A., Wu, T. T., Bilofsky, H., Reid-Miller, M., Perry, H. 1983. Sequences of immunological interest. US Dep. Health Serv., Washington, DC
- 230. Segal, D., Padlan, E., Cohen, G., Rudikoff, S., Potter, M., Davies, D. 1974. The three-dimensional structure of a phosphorylcholine-binding mouse immunoglobulin Fab and the nature of the antigen binding site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 71: 4298–4302
- 231. Saul, F., Amzel, L., Poljak, R. 1978. Preliminary refinement and structural analysis of the Fab fragment from human immunoglobulin New at 2.0 Å resolution. J. Biol. Chem. 253:585-97
- 232. Edmundson, A. B., Ely, K. R., Girling, R. L., Abola, E. E., Schiffer, M., Westholm, F. A., Fausch, M. D., Deutsch, H. F. 1974. Binding of 2, 4dinitrophenyl compounds and other small molecules to a crystalline λ-type Bence-Jones dimer. Biochemistry 13:3816-27
- 233. Wu, T., Kabat, E. 1970. Analysis of the sequences of Bence-Jones proteins and myeloma light chains and their implications of antibody complementarity. J. Exp. Med. 132:211-50
- 234. Capra, J. D., Wasserman, R. L., Kehoe, J. M. 1973. Phylogenetically associated residues within the V_{HII} subgroup of several mammalian species. Evidence for a "pauci-gene" basis for antibody diversity. J. Exp. Med. 138:410-27
- 235. Loh, E., Black, B., Riblet, R., Weigert,

M., Hood, J. M., Hood, L. 1979. Myeloma proteins from NZB and BALB/c mice: Structural and functional differences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 76:1395-99

- 236. Loh, E., Hood, J. M., Riblet, R., Weigert, M., Hood, L. 1979. Comparisons of myeloma proteins from NZB and BALB/c mice: Structural and functional differences of heavy chains. J. Immunol. 122:44-48
- 237. Amit, A. G., Mariuzza, R. A., Phillips, S. E. V., Poljak, R. J. 1985. Three-dimensional structure of an antigen-antibody complex at 6 Å resolution. *Nature* 313:156-58
- Wylie, D. E., Sherman, L. A., Klinman, N. R. 1982. Participation of the major histocompatibility complex in antibody recognition of viral antigens expressed on infected cells. J. Exp. Med. 155: 403-14
- 239. Norcross, M. A., Kanehisa, M. 1985. The predicted structure of the Ia β_1 domain : A hypothesis for the structural basis of MHC-restricted T-cell recognition of antigens. Scand. J. Immunol. 21:511-23
- 240. Clarke, S. H., Huppi, K., Ruezinsky, D., Staudt, L., Gerhard, W., Weigert, M. 1985. Inter- and intraclonal diversity in the antibody response to influenza hemagglutinin. J. Exp. Med. 161:687-707
- 241. Crews, S., Griffin, J., Huang, H., Calame, K., Hood, L. 1981. A single V_H gene segment encodes the immune response to phosphorylcholine: Somatic mutation is correlated with the class of the antibody. *Cell* 25:59-66
- 242. Alter, B. J., Schendel, D. J., Bach, M. L., Bach, F. H., Klein, J., Stimpfling, J. H. 1973. Cell-mediated lympholysis. Importance of serologically defined H-2 regions. J. Exp. Med. 137:1303-09
- 243. Zinkernagel, R. M., Doherty, P. C. 1975. H-2 compatibility requirement for T-cell-mediated lysis of target cells infected with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. J. Exp. Med. 141: 1427–36
- 244. Zinkernagel, R. M., Doherty, P. C. 1979. MHC restricted cytotoxic T cells: Studies on the biological role of polymorphic major transplantation antigens determining T cell restriction specificity, function and responsiveness. Adv. Immunol. 51-177
- 245. Meo, T., David, C. S., Rijnbeek, H. M., Nabholz, M., Miggiano, V. C., Shreffler, D. C. 1975. Inhibition of mouse MLR by anti-Ia sera. *Transplant. Proc.* 7:127-29

- 246. Katz, D. H., Graves, M., Dorf, M. E., Dimuzio, H., Benacerraf, B. 1975. Cell interactions between histoincompatible T and B lymphocytes. VII. Cooperative responses between lymphocytes are controlled by genes in the I region of the H-2 complex. J. Exp. Med. 141:263-68
- H-2 complex. J. Exp. Med. 141: 263-68
 247. Thomas, D. W., Yamashita, U., Shevach, E. M. 1977. Nature of the antigenic complex recognized by T lymphocytes. IV. Inhibition of antigenspecific proliferation by antibodies to stimulator macrophage Ia antigens. J. Immunol. 119: 223-26
- 248. Swierkosz, J. E., Marrack, P., Kappler, J. W. 1979. The role of H-2 linked genes in helper T cell function. V. I-region control of helper T cell interaction with antigen-presenting macrophages. J. Immunol. 123:654-59
- 249. Zinkernagel, R. M., Callahan, G. N., Althage, A., Cooper, S., Klein, P. A., Klein, J. 1978. On the thymus in the differentiation of "H-2 self-recognition" by T cells: Evidence for dual recognition? J. Exp. Med. 147:882-96
- 250. Klein, J., Nagy, Z. A. 1982. MHC restriction and Ir genes. Adv. Cancer Res. 37:234-317
- 251. Schwartz, R. H. 1984. The role of gene products of the major histocompatibility complex in T-cell activation and cellular interactions. In *Fundamental Immunology*, ed. W. E. Paul, pp. 379– 438. New York: Raven
- 252. Bryant, B. J. 1972. Renewal and fate in the mammalian thymus: Mechanisms and inferences of thymocytokinetics. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2:38-45
- 253. McPhee, D., Pye, J., Shortman, K. 1979. The differentiation of T lymphocytes. V. Evidence for intrathymic death of most

thymocytes. Thymus 1:151-62

- 254. Scollay, R., Butcher, E., Weissman, I. 1980. Thymus migration: Quantitative studies on the rate of migration of cells from the thymus to the periphery in mice. Eur. J. Immunol. 10:210-18
- Paul, W. E. 1984. Immune response genes. See Ref. 251, p. 439
 Longo, D. L., Matis, L. A., Schwartz, R.
- 256. Longo, D. L., Matis, L. A., Schwartz, R. H. 1981. Insights into immune response gene function from experiments with chimeric animals. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 2:83-132
- 257. Zinkernagel, R. M., Althage, A., Cooper, S., Kreeb, G., Klein, P. A., Sefton, B., Flaherty, L., Stimpfling, J., Shreffler, D., Klein, J. 1978. I-r genes in H-2 regulate generation of anti-viral cytotoxic T cells. Mapping to K or D and dominance of unresponsiveness. J. Exp. Med. 148:592-606
- McDevitt, H. O., Deak, B. D., Shreffler, D. G., Klein, J., Stimpfling, J. H., Snell, G. D. 1972. Genetic control of the immune response. Mapping of the Ir-1 locus. J. Exp. Med. 135:1259-78
- Schwartz, R. H. 1978. A clonal deletion model for Ir gene control of the immune response. Scand. J. Immunol. 7: 3-10
- 260. Shastri, N., Oki, A., Miller, A., Sercarz, E. 1985. Distinct recognition phenotypes exist for T cell clones specific for small peptide regions of proteins. Implications for the mechanism underlying major histocompatibility complexrestricted antigen recognition and clonal deletion models of immune response gene defects. J. Exp. Med. 162:332-45
- Davis, M. M. 1985. Molecular genetics of the T-cell receptor beta chain. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 3: 537-60



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
The Panspecific Hemopoietin of Activated T Lymphocytes (Interleukin-3), John W. Schrader	205
MOLECULAR IMMUNOBIOLOGY OF COMPLEMENT BIOSYNTHESIS: A MODEL OF SINGLE-CELL CONTROL OF EFFECTOR-INHIBITOR	001
BALANCE, Davia H. Perimutter and Harvey K. Cotten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N. Gaulton and Mark I. Greene	251
ANALYSIS OF THE EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION OF CLASS-II MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	233
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> in Normal and Malignant Cells, Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4: 593–619 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION

Arthur Weiss,¹ John Imboden,¹ Kenneth Hardy,¹ Bernhard Manger,¹ Cox Terhorst² and John Stobo^{1*}

¹Howard Hughes Medical Institute and the Department of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco and the ²Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts

INTRODUCTION

T lymphocytes can be activated to produce lymphokines, to express new cell-surface molecules, and, eventually, to proliferate. This activation of T lymphocytes is the result of ligand-receptor interactions occurring at the plasma membrane. As a consequence of these cell-surface interactions, signals are transmitted across the plasma membrane to the cellular interior. The T-cell antigen receptor plays a central role in these transmembrane signalling events. The triggering of the T-cell antigen receptor results in the generation of inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) and subsequent increases in the concentration of cytoplasmic free calcium $[Ca^{++}]_i$. Although the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ signal alone is not sufficient to activate the cell, an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, together with other signals, sets in motion processes that result in new gene expression. This review will focus on the role of the T3/antigen receptor (T3/Ti) complex in human T-cell activation.

THE ANTIGEN RECEPTOR HETERODIMER

Of fundamental importance in understanding the events involved in T-cell activation is the identification and characterization of the cell-surface

^{*}Dr. Weiss is an Associate and Dr. Stobo an investigator of the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.

molecules involved. Antigen-induced stimulation and subsequent activation of the T cell must be initiated, in part, through interactions with the T-cell antigen receptor. The nature of this receptor has been elucidated through the use of monoclonal antibodies reactive with the receptor and the cloning of the genes encoding the receptor.

The T-cell antigen receptor was initially identified by the generation of monoclonal antibodies (MAb) that reacted with antigenic epitopes unique to individual human or murine T-cell clones, lines or hybridomas (1-6). These antibodies are thought to react with the antigen receptors of these cells since they are able to function either as agonists or antagonists for individual T-cell clones. For example, they can induce T-cell clone proliferation or lymphokine secretion (4, 6–8). Alternatively, they can block lymphokine production or cytolytic activity (2, 3, 5). Thus, such antibodies represent ligands interacting with clonally distributed antigenic epitopes involved in T-cell functions.

The antibodies react with disulfide-linked heterodimer glycoproteins of 80–90 kd (1–6). On human cells, the two chains consist of an acidic α -chain of 48–54 kd and a more basic β -chain of 40–44 kd (2, 6, 9, 10). The α - and β -chains are integral membrane proteins with peptide backbones of 30–35 kd with two and six possible N-linked glycosylation sites, respectively (11–13). There are only five intracytoplasmic amino acids for each chain. The antigenic polymorphism exhibited by the receptors isolated from different T-cell clones reflects the structural differences of α - or β -chains isolated from different cells. Peptide mapping studies of individual α - or β -chains isolated from different clones reveals that, although there are common peptide fragments observed in such digests, differences are also observed (10, 14, 15). These results suggest that the α - and β -chains contain both constant and variable regions. Indeed, such a motion has been confirmed by the characterization of their genetic structure.

A more complete understanding of the structure of the antigen receptor heterodimer (Ti) comes from the isolation of cDNA clones encoding these proteins. Subtractive hybridization was used to isolate cDNA clones for both the α - and β -chains (12, 13, 16–19). Such cDNA clones are unique to T cells, encode integral membrane proteins, and are rearranged when compared to nonlymphoid tissues in a manner analogous to immunoglobulin genes. The sequence of these cDNAs agrees with the sequencing data obtained with proteins isolated with monoclonal antibodies.

Clones encoding the β -chain were independently isolated by two laboratories (12, 16, 17). The β -chain exhibits considerable homology with the κ light chain of immunoglobulin, which suggests a common evolutionary origin. Genomic analysis reveals that, like immunoglobulin, the β chain is assembled from distinct gene segments that undergo rearrangement. Thus, variable (V), diversity (D), joining (J), and constant (C) gene segments have been identified (20–23). The human β -chain locus is encoded on chromosome 7 with two constant regions (C $_{\beta 1}$ and C $_{\beta 2}$), each with its own cluster of D and J gene segments (20, 22, 24). Two transcripts of 1.3 and 1.0 kb that are homologous to these cDNAs are detected by Northern blot analyses (12, 25). The 1.0 kb transcript is present in greater frequency in immature cells or tissues (26, 27). The 1.3 kb message represents a full-length transcript with leader, V, D, J, and C gene segments, whereas the 1.0 kb transcript does not contain a rearranged V gene segment (23, 28). The nature of the splicing sequences adjacent to the V, D, and J gene segments suggests that in the case of β -chain rearrangements, unlike that of immunoglobulin genes, direct joining of V and J gene segments might occur (20). Indeed, examples of cells containing direct V-to-J joining have been reported (28). Such an alternative system of joining would allow for increased diversity.

The α -chain was isolated by subtractive hybridization and partial amino acid sequencing in the mouse and human (13, 18, 19, 29). Homology to both the β -chain and immunoglobulin genes suggests that all these proteins belong to a supergene family (30). Variable and constant gene segments appear to undergo rearrangements in a manner analogous to the β -chain (18, 19). The genomic analysis of the α -chain gene has not been completed. The α -chain is present on the *fourteenth* chromosome in mouse and man and is tightly linked to the purine nucleoside phosphorylase gene, a deficiency of which is associated with immunodeficiencies in man (31, 32). Moreover, translocations of the fourteenth chromosome are commonly seen in some T-cell malignancies, raising the question of the role of sequences in or near the α -chain gene in the transforming event. The α -chain transcripts are 1.5 and 1.3 kb in length, and the 1.3 kb transcript appears to lack V gene segments (13). Studies in the mouse demonstrate that the α chain transcripts appear later during thymocyte ontogeny than do β -chain transcripts (26). These observations are of particular interest in light of the studies discussed below, which suggest that the β -chain may regulate the level of α -chain transcripts.

Another cDNA, the γ -chain, has been isolated; it is T-cell specific, undergoes limited rearrangements, and has considerable homology to the β -chain (33). Its role as an antigen receptor molecule, however, is not clear. Transcripts encoding this gene are more frequently detected in cytolytic T lymphocytes than in other T-cell subpopulations and appear to be more abundant early in T-cell ontogeny (26, 34). Unlike the α - and β -chain genes, there are no N-linked glycosylation sites (33). The γ -chain has limited variability and has not been detected on the surface of cells (34). The failure to detect this molecule may be the result of the lack of monoclonal Annual Reviews

596 WEISS, IMBODEN, HARDY ET AL

antibodies reactive with it. Alternatively, given its restricted distribution and its limited variability, it may have a different, as yet unidentified, function confined to the cell interior.

THE STRUCTURE OF T3

Associated with Ti on human cells are the three T3 peptides that have been termed T3- γ (25 kd), T3- δ (20 kd glycoprotein), and T3- ε (20 kd protein), according to their apparent molecular weights (35, 36). The 25-kd T3- γ has been found in immunoprecipitates with all anti-T3 reagents. This glycoprotein, which has a 16-kd polypeptide chain backbone, appears structurally different from the other T3 proteins (37, 38). T3- γ is susceptible to Endoglycosidae(Endo)-F, but not to Endo-H, and is a transmembrane protein (38–40). Whether this is a T cell–specific component is unknown. As T3- γ is sometimes weakly represented in immunoprecipitates prepared with anti-T3 reagents, it is assumed that none of the known monoclonal reagents react with the T3- γ chain.

Several experiments indicated that two 20-kd T3 proteins exist (T3- δ and T3- ε). Two hydrophobic reagents, ¹²⁵I-iodo-naphthyl-azide (¹²⁵INA) and the carbene 3-(trifluoromethyl)-3-(m-[¹²⁵I]-iodophenyl) diazirine (¹²⁵I-TID), label the T3- ε preferentially (39; R. Malin, C. Terhorst, unpublished). In fact, no counts were detected in the α , β , or γ -chains, whether the labeling reagent was offered to intact cells or to isolated plasma membranes. The largest part of the 20-kd T3 material that could be labeled with ¹²⁵I-TID or ¹²⁵INA was not susceptible to Endo-F. Analysis by isoelectric focusing showed that most of ¹²⁵I-TID material was found in one band. About 10% of the counts were present in the area of the T3- δ chains. These experiments strongly support the notion that one of the two 20-kd T3 chains is a nonglycosylated membrane protein, which can be labeled preferentially by hydrophobic reagents. Further evidence for the existence of a non-glycosylated 20-kd T3 species was derived from pulse/chase kinetic experiments, peptide maps, and N-terminal sequence analysis (36, 39).

To obtain another means of positive identification of the T3- ε chain, monoclonal antibodies were prepared by immunizing mice with purified denatured 20-kd T3. Two of these antibodies (SP6 and SP10) detected a 20kd T3 (T3- ε) in an immunoblotting experiment after treatment with Endo-F (41). In order to establish that hydrolysis with Endo-F was complete, a control experiment was included using a rabbit antiserum (6081) that had been raised against a synthetic peptide with the amino acid sequence 1–14 of the 14-kd T3. Conversely, five monoclonal antibodies recognized the 14-kd T3 chain. To test the tissue specificity of the anti-T3- δ and anti-T3- ε monoclonal reagents, frozen tissue sections of human thymus, lymph nodes, and tonsils were stained using a sensitive indirect immunoperoxidase technique. Results from these experiments strongly suggest that both T3- δ and T3- ε are T-cell specific. T3- ε is present in all thymocytes, whereas T3- δ is expressed more strongly on medullary cells than on cortical cells.

Recently, cDNA clones coding for the T3- δ chain were isolated (42). Several conclusions can be drawn from the amino acid sequence that was derived from the nucleotide sequence of these cDNAs. The T3- δ protein consists of three domains, an extracellular domain (residue 1-79), a transmembrane segment (80-106), and an intracellular domain (107-150). The transmembrane segment consists of a stretch of 27 predominantly hydrophobic amino acids (residues (80–106) that is interrupted by an aspartic acid (residue 90). Asp 90 could form a salt bridge with the Lys residue in the transmembrane segment of the T3/T-cell receptor α - or β chain (12, 16–19). This type of bond would be pronounced, due to the low dielectric constant of the hydrophobic environment. The extracellular domain contains two N-linked oligosaccharides. It is unlikely that the T3- δ chain has a hairpin configuration, because protease K experiments with "inside-out microsomal vesicles" showed that all components present in anti-T3 immunoprecipitates span the plasma membrane (40). The cytoplasmic domain is large in relation to that in the extracellular compartment, when compared with the T-cell receptor α - and β -chains. This may reflect the signal transferring function of the invariable T3 chains as opposed to the ligand binding function of the clonotypic T-cell receptor heterodimer.

The primary translation product of the T3- δ chain is 19 kd, including a 2200-M_r signal peptide. Combined with our previous finding that deglycosylation results in a 16-kd and a 14-kd product, this observation strongly suggests a proteolytic processing step (36, 38). Since the 14-kd and 16-kd T3 have the same N-terminal sequences, the proteolytic processing must occur in the C-terminal cytoplasmic portion of the T3- δ chain (36, 42). That this proteolytic processing plays a role during the activation of T lymphocytes following the binding of antigen to the T-cell receptor is an appealing speculation in view of the role of T3 in T-cell activation.

Southern blotting experiments using several restriction enzymes showed that the T3- δ gene is a single-copy gene (42). The T3- δ gene has been mapped to human chromosome 11 by hybridization of a T3- δ cDNA clone to DNA from a panel of human/rodent somatic cell hybrids (43). In contrast, the gene for the human T-cell receptor β -chain was found on chromosome 7 (24). In Southern blotting experiments with DNAs of somatic cell hybrids that contained segments of chromosome 11, we have been able to assign the T3- δ gene to the distal portion of the long arm of chromosome 11 (11q23-11qter) (43).

Murine T cells also contain at least the T3- δ chain, a fact confirmed by a

cDNA clone coding for the murine T3- δ chain that was recently described (44). Several conclusions can be drawn from the comparison of amino acid sequences of human and murine T3- δ . A high level of amino acid sequence conservation occurred in both the transmembrane (70.4%) and intracellular (79%) domains of murine and human T3- δ . Much less was found in the extracellular domain (57.5%).

The relative position of the cysteine residues and of two attachment sites for Asn-linked glycosylation are conserved in the extracellular domain of the molecule. The murine T3- δ chain contains a third consensus sequence (Asn³⁴-Lys³⁵-Thr³⁶) for N-linked glycosylation. This would predict that the mature glycosylated murine T3- δ chain has a higher molecular weight than its human equivalent. The amino acid sequences around Asn-34 are very different from those in the human polypeptide chain. This suggests that an antigenic determinant, recognized by murine monoclonal antibodies, could be located in the human polypeptide chain between residues 20 and 39. Since this area of the molecule carries an oligosaccharide in the murine chain, this putative determinant could be located on the surface of both the human and the murine protein. The existence of an easily accessible determinant on the surface of the human molecule would explain why anti-T3 monoclonal antibodies have been prepared with a relatively high frequency. Another potential site for an antigenic determinant on the human T3- δ chain is around amino acid 60.

The assignment of murine T3- δ to mouse chromosome 9 is not surprising, since the human T3- δ gene had been mapped to the long arm of human chromosome 11 (11q23-11qter). Linkage studies in mice have indicated that at least a 4cM-long part of the long arm of human chromosome 11 is homologous to mouse chromosome 9 (45). Interestingly, in the mouse another T cell-surface antigen, Thy-1, is linked to UPS, esterase 17, and ALP-1, in the order : esterase 17/UPS/ALP-1/Thy-1. The synteny of human chromosome 11 and mouse chromosome 9 would predict that the human Thy-1 gene is located on the long arm of chromosome 11. Conversely, the mouse T3- δ chain gene would map to the UPS-Thy-1 region of chromosome 9.

ASSOCIATION OF T3 AND THE ANTIGEN RECEPTOR HETERODIMER AS A MULTI-SUBUNIT COMPLEX

Several lines of evidence support the notion that the T-cell antigen receptor exists as a molecular complex composed of the α/β -chain heterodimer and T3 on the plasma membrane : (a) Ti comodulates with T3 antigens on T-cell clones and lines (2); (b) antigen-induced unresponsiveness of T-cell clones is

associated with a diminished expression of T3 (46); (c) the appearance of T3 and Ti is linked during T-cell ontogeny (15); (d) under some circumstances, immunoprecipitation of T3 results in coprecipitation of Ti (9); and (e) T3 and Ti have been chemically cross-linked using bifunctional reagents (47, 48). The exact structural and functional relationships between Ti and T3 have not been defined. Cross-linking studies suggest a structural association between the β -chain of Ti and the γ chain of T3 (47). In these studies, cleavable and noncleavable reagents cross-linked the T3- γ -chain to the β chain. However, the three chains of T3 were not cross-linked, nor were the α - and β -chains of Ti. Therefore, the ability of these reagents to cross-link the T3- γ -chain and the β -chain may simply reflect a spatial relationship between two free amino groups, rather than an actual molecular association between these two chains. Therefore, the structural relationship between Ti and T3, as well as their functional interactions, is not clear.

In an effort to study the structural and functional relationships between T3 and Ti, we attempted to derive mutants of the T3-bearing leukemic line, Jurkat, which lacked either T3 or Ti (6). To accomplish this, Jurkat cells were mutagenized either with ethyl methane sulfonate (EMS) or gamma radiation. Cells were negatively selected with either anti-T3 or anti-Ti (C305) plus complement. Cells that failed to express the cell-surface antigens selected against were isolated using indirect immunofluorescence and a fluorescence-activated cell sorter. Cells were shown to be negative for the relevant cell-surface antigen by indirect immunofluorescence, antibodyand complement-mediated cytolysis, and quantitative absorption. In four separate mutagenization experiments in which more than 50 clones were analyzed, the identical phenotype was found regardless of the antibody used in the selection procedure. All cells, whether they were selected for T3 negativity or Ti negativity, fail to express both T3 and Ti (Figure 1, from 6). Moreover, the failure to detect Ti is not due to an alteration in the conformation of the antigen receptor heterodimer. The disulfide-linked heterodimer representing Ti can not be detected on diagonal gels of wholecell lysates containing iodinated cell-surface proteins of all of the mutants analyzed. These studies suggest an oligate requirement for the coexpression of T3 and Ti proteins on the cell surface.

The underlying defect that results in the failure of these mutants to express either Ti or T3 was explored in an attempt to understand the relationship between T3 and Ti (49). Biosynthetic labeling studies reveal that all mutants analyzed contain intracellular T3 proteins that can not be distinguished from proteins isolated from the wild-type cell (49). Nonetheless, these cells fail to express these T3 proteins on their plasma membranes. These results suggest that another defect in these cells prevents the expression of T3 on the cell surface and may involve the antigen

receptor heterodimer. Indeed, Northern blot analysis reveals that three of seven independently derived mutants fail to contain the 1.3 kb full-length β chain transcript of the antigen receptor (49). They all contain the 1.0 kb transcript also detectable in the wild-type Jurkat cell. These same three mutants also contain a diminished level of α -chain transcripts; this suggests that the β -chain regulates the level of α -chain transcripts (49). The presence of T3 proteins detected intracellularly in mutants lacking the full-length β chain transcript suggests that the expression of an α/β -chain heterodimer is a requirement for the cell-surface expression of T3 glycoproteins. This supports an intimate structural relationship between T3 and Ti. A prediction of such a hypothesis is that reconstitution of the β -chain of Ti should result in cell-surface expression of T3 as well as the heterodimer.

To establish that cell-surface expression of T3 requires the expression of



FLUORESCENCE INTENSITY (Log Scale)

Figure 1 A mutant of Jurkat selected for T3 negativity also fails to express antigen receptor determinants. Shown are flow cytometer fluorescence histograms of Jurkat, S.5 (a mutant selected for T3 negativity), and peripheral-blood lymphocytes stained by indirect immunofluorescence with the indicated antibodies. The heavy lines in each panel are the control histograms obtained with a nonreactive monoclonal antibody, and the light lines are the histograms obtained with the indicated antibodies.

RELATIVE CELL NUMBER

Ti, we attempt to reconstitute one of the mutants that lacks the full-length 1.3 kb β -chain transcript (49). YT35, a cDNA of the full-length β -chain gene isolated from Molt 3 was found to be identical in sequence to the β -chain gene isolated from Jurkat (28). A plasmid was constructed that contained YT35 under the influence of the Friend spleen focus forming virus, long terminal repeat and the neomycin resistance gene (49). By protoplast fusion, this plasmid was introduced into J.RT3-T3.5, a radiation-induced mutant of Jurkat that lacks the 1.3 kb β -chain transcript and has a diminished level of α -chain mRNA (49). Of 15 clones resistant to geneticin, 7 express abundant levels of antigenic determinants detected by the anti-Ti monoclonal antibody, C305. Moreover, all these cells also reexpress T3 antigenic determinants. Southern blot analysis reveals that such transfectants contain new sequences homologous with the β -chain, not seen in either Jurkat or the recipient mutant cell. Northern blot analysis confirms that such cells contain new transcripts homologous to the β -chain of YT35 but different in size from the 1.3- and 1.0-kb transcript seen in Jurkat. These results demonstrate that insertion of a β -chain gene, which results in reconstitution of Ti, also results in reexpression of T3 glycoproteins on the cell surface. Thus, these results establish that cell-surface expression of T3 depends on cell-surface expression of an antigen receptor heterodimer.

Collectively, these observations support the model of the T-cell antigen receptor as a multisubunit structure consisting of T3 and Ti (Figure 2). Whereas, the function of antigen receptor heterodimer must certainly involve an interaction with antigen, the role of T3 in this multimeric complex is not clear. Whether it contributes to antigen binding, correct conformation of the receptor, or transduction of the activation signal remains to be explored.



Figure 2 The T-cell receptor/T3 complex. Model of the T3/Ti complex as a multimeric structure.

THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION

In vivo, T cells are activated by antigen presented by macrophages in the context of the major histocompatibility antigens. Such an interaction must involve the T3/Ti complex. In vitro, however, T cells may be activated not only by antigen on appropriate antigen-presenting cells, but also by other ligands interacting with the T3/Ti complex. Thus, monoclonal antibodies directed against either T3 or Ti can activate T cells (50, 51). Under appropriate circumstances, they can induce proliferative responses and the secretion of lymphokines (50–53).

In addition to antigen or antibodies reactive with T3 or Ti, lectins such as PHA or Con A have been used to activate T cells. We examined the ability of PHA to activate the T3/Ti negative mutants of Jurkat described above (6, 54). Like peripheral T cells, Jurkat requires two stimuli for activation (53). For both peripheral T cells and Jurkat, one stimulus involves a ligand interaction involving a T3 or Ti. In the case of peripheral T cells, the second stimulus appears to be provided by macrophages and may be interleukin-1 (IL-1) (55-57). Jurkat and peripheral T cells can also receive this second stimulus by the addition of phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) (53, 54, 58, 59). Thus, anti-T3 or anti-Ti induce Jurkat to produce IL-2 if added together with PMA. Similarly, if Jurkat is stimulated with the combination of PHA and PMA, it will produce abundant levels of IL-2 (53, 54). In contrast, mutants of Jurkat that do not express the T3/Ti complex fail to produce IL-2 in response to PHA and PMA (6, 54). These results suggest that cellsurface expression of the T3/Ti complex is required for PHA-induced activation of Jurkat. An alternative explanation is that these cells lack the ability to produce IL-2 due to other intrinsic defects. Therefore, it is necessary to show that such cells have the ability to produce IL-2.

Since calcium ionophores are mitogenic for peripheral T cells, we attempted to bypass the requirement for interactions involving cell-surface molecules by utilizing calcium ionophores (58). Jurkat can be activated to produce IL-2 in response to two different calcium ionophores (A23187 and ionomycin), but only if PMA is also added (6, 54, 59). Moreover, we were able to activate, with a Ca^{2+} ionophore and PMA (6, 54), the Jurkat mutants that fail to express the T3/Ti complex. These results suggest that responsiveness to PHA requires the cell-surface expression of the T3/Ti complex. More direct evidence for this notion is provided by the observation that the transfected cell, PF-2.8, which expresses a reconstituted T3/Ti complex also now responds to the combination of PHA and PMA (Table 1). These data provide strong evidence to suggest that the mitogenic action of PHA involves a direct or indirect interaction with the

Cell	Supernatant dilution	IL-2 production in response to		
		РМА	PHA + PMA CPM	A23187+PMA
	1:4	1,742	58,422	59,490
Jurkat	1:8	622	54,674	55,778
	1:16	248	55,004	55,682
	1:4	857	2,294	50,768
J.RT3-T3.5	1:8	284	1,248	48,338
	1:16	188	140	32,644
	1:4	1,978	53,222	48,228
PF-2.8	1:8	1,644	33,964	34,922
	1:16	244	20,008	19,732

Table 1 Reconstitution of PHA responsiveness in the transfected cell, PF-2.8ª

^a Jurkat, J.RT3-T3.5, or PF-2.8, 10⁶ cells/ml, were stimulated with PMA (50 ng/ml) in the presence or absence of PHA (1 μ g/ml) or the calcium ionophore A23187 (1 μ g/ml) for 24 hr. Culture supernatants were collected and serial two-fold dilutions were prepared. To each dilution, 3000 IL-2 dependent cells, CTLL-20, were added and cultured for 24 hr. One μ Ci of ³H-thymidine was added during the last 4 hr of culture, and the -thymidine uptake determined.

T3/antigen receptor complex. Supporting this notion is the recent finding that Ti proteins are included among the proteins to which PHA binds on human T cells (60).

PERTURBATION OF T3/Ti INCREASES [Ca²⁺],

An increase in the concentration of cytoplasmic free calcium $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ can function as the "second messenger" by which receptor-ligand interactions regulate cellular activities (61). Ca^{2+} ionophores, which increase $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, can substitute for lectins or MAbs to T3/Ti in activating Jurkat and can bypass the requirement for the expression of T3/Ti on the mutants (6, 54, 59). These observations suggest that increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ play a role in antigen receptor-mediated activation.

Because MAbs to the T3/Ti complex on Jurkat act as agonists, we used these MAbs to study the mechanism by which the antigen receptor transmits a signal or signals across the plasma membrane in order to initiate activation (6, 54, 59, 62). This approach makes it possible to study directly the signalling capabilities of T3/Ti complex itself and avoids the ambiguities inherent in using nonspecific stimuli such as lectins.

To determine whether perturbation of T3/Ti increases $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, we monitored $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ with the Ca^{2+} -sensitive fluor, quin2. In unstimulated quin2-loaded Jurkat cells, $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is approximately 80 nM (54, 59, 62). The

addition of MAbs to either T3 or to Ti results in a prompt, sustained increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (Figure 3) (54, 59, 62). Under optimal conditions, $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases 20 sec after the addition of the MAb to the cellular suspension, reaches a peak of 750 nM within 45 sec, and then falls to a "plateau" that remains elevated above basal levels for at least 1 hr (59). Although PMA lowers $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ somewhat, T3/Ti MAbs induce substantial increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in PMA-treated Jurkat cells (59). In marked contrast to the effects of the Ti MAbs, MAbs to other cell-surface determinants (Leu 1, Leu 5, T4, HLA class I) on Jurkat do not affect $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (54, 59). Concentrations of the Ca²⁺ ionophore, ionomycin, that synergize with PMA in activation lead to increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in quin2-loaded Jurkat cells that are comparable to those induced by perturbation of T3/Ti (59). The antigen receptor-mediated increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, then, appears to function as a physiological signal for activation in Jurkat cells.

Antigen receptor-mediated increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ are not limited to Jurkat but can be demonstrated in other T-cell malignant lines, as well as in T-cell clones (62–65). In addition, perturbation of T3 can increase $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in polyclonal T-cell populations. For example, 64.1, a MAb to T3, induces a two-fold increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in bulk cultures of human peripheral-blood T cells (J. Imboden, J. Stobo, unpublished). Similarly, O'Flynn et al have found that MAbs increase $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in freshly isolated T cells (63). This important observation suggests that perturbation of T3/Ti increases $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in normal, resting T lymphocytes.

PHA increases $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in T lymphocytes (66). Similarly, in Jurkat cells, the addition of this lectin results in substantial, sustained increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (54). PHA does not affect $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in mutants that fail to express T3/Ti (54). Therefore, the ability of PHA to increase $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in Jurkat cells.



Figure 3 A monoclonal antibody to T increases $(Ca^{2+})_i$. Jurkat cells were loaded with the Ca^{2+} -sensitive indicator, quin-2 and the fluorescence of the cellular suspension was monitored over time. C305, a monoclonal antibody to Ti, was added at the indicated time. $(Ca^{2+})_i$ was calculated by the method of Tsien et al (8).

as well as to activate Jurkat, requires the cell-surface expression of T3/Ti. The density of the E-rosette receptor that is expressed by these mutants is identical to that of the wild-type Jurkat (6). This is noteworthy as MAbs to the T11₃ epitope of the E-rosette receptor can increase $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (64). Although PHA may interact with the E-rosette receptor on peripheral T cells, it is quite clear that, with Jurkat, interaction between the E-rosette receptor and PHA is not sufficient to $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (6, 54, 67).

THE MECHANISM OF THE T3/Ti-MEDIATED INCREASE IN $[Ca^{2+}]_i$

Because the T3/Ti-mediated increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ appears to function as a physiologically significant signal for T-cell activation, the mechanism by which the antigen receptor complex increases $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ becomes one of critical importance. Receptor-mediated increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ can be due to the influx of extracellular Ca²⁺, to release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores. or to a combination of these mechanisms. To determine whether perturbation of T3/Ti mobilizes intracellular Ca²⁺, we tested the ability of the T3/Ti MAbs to increase $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ when extracellular Ca^{2+} is depleted (62). The addition of 10 mM EGTA to a suspension of quin2-loaded Jurkat cells reduces the concentration of extracellular Ca^{2+} from its normal level of 1 mM to less than 60 nM (62). Under these conditions, the addition of T3/Ti MAbs to quin2-loaded Jurkat cells increases $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ to a peak level that is comparable to that seen in the presence of 1 mM extracellular Ca^{2+} (62). This increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$, occurring in the absence of the Ca^{2+} gradient of 10⁴ that normally exists across the plasma membrane, must be due to the mobilization of intracellular Ca²⁺ and cannot be due to the opening of a Ca^{2+} channel. It should be noted that excessive loading of the cells with quin2 can buffer this released Ca²⁺ and completely mask detection of the antigen receptor-mediated mobilization of intracellular Ca²⁺ (68). This property of quin2 is due to its ability to act as a Ca²⁺ chelator and has been explored in detail in several recent publications (69, 70).

Perturbation of T3/Ti must generate some signal that in turn releases intracellular Ca²⁺. The putative Ca²⁺-mobilizing signal for many receptors is inositol trisphosphate (IP₃), a water-soluble product of the hydrolysis of the phospholipid, phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP₂) (reviewed in 71). To determine whether perturbation of the antigen receptor complex generated IP₃, we labelled the membrane phospholipid pool of Jurkat cells with [³H]-inositol (62). Following stimulation, the cells are lysed, the water-soluble fraction is obtained, and the inositol phosphates are separated by anion exchange chromatography. The addition of MAbs to either T3 or to Ti, but not to other cell-surface determinants (Leu 5, HLA

class I), generates substantial increases in IP₃, as well as in its breakdowr products, inositol bisphosphate (IP_2) and inositol phosphate (IP_1) (62) Changes in IP₃ are detected within 20 sec after the addition of MAbs to T3/Ti (62). Therefore, the generation of IP₃, like the increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$, is an early and specific consequence of perturbation of T3/Ti. The increases in inositol phosphates, however, cannot be a consequence of the antiger receptor-mediated increase in [Ca²⁺], as ionomycin has no effect on the levels of any of these compounds (62). Purified IP₃ releases Ca^{2+} from intracellular pools in permeabilized Jurkat cells, suggesting that this compound functions as a Ca²⁺-mobilizing signal in intact cells (62). The maximal amount of Ca^{2+} released by IP₃ from permeabilized cells is 100 pmol of Ca^{2+} per 10⁶ cells (68). As perturbation of T3/Ti consistently releases 30 pmol of Ca²⁺ from the intracellular stores of 10⁶ intact cells, the IP₃-accessible intracellular Ca²⁺ store can account for all of the T3/Ti mediated mobilization of intracellular Ca²⁺ (68). Taken together, these results indicate that perturbation of the antigen receptor complex in turn activates a phosphodiesterase that generates IP₃ from PIP₂ (Figure 4) IP_3 is released into the cytoplasm where it mobilizes Ca^{2+} from a nonmitochondrial pool that is probably within the endoplasmic reticulum This release of Ca^{2+} causes a prompt increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (Figure 4).

Mitogenic lectins also generate inositol phosphates when added to 7 lymphocytes. It has been known for several years that lectins increase the turnover of phosphatidylinositol (the parent compound of PIP₂) in peripheral-blood T cells (72). Recently, the addition of Concanavalin A to murine thymocytes has been shown to generate IP₃ and to mobilize intracellular Ca²⁺ stores (73, 74). We also have found that PHA and Con A generate substantial increases in all three inositol phosphates in Jurkat (68)

Although mobilization of intracellular Ca^{2+} accounts for the initial peak increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ following perturbation of T3/Ti, the sustained increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ requires the presence of extracellular Ca^{2+} (62). While the mechanism responsible for the sustained increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ has not been elucidated, a classical voltage-gated Ca^{2+} -channel does not appear to be involved. Several groups, using very sensitive patch-clamping techniques have failed to identify such Ca^{2+} channels in T lymphocytes (75, 76) Furthermore, we have observed that, in quin2-loaded Jurkat cells, th T3/Ti-mediated increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is not affected by the Ca^{2+} -channel blockers, nifedipine and verapamil, and that depolarization of the plasm membrane does not increase $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (68). These observations, of course, de not exclude the possibility that T3/Ti activates a Ca^{2+} channel that differ fundamentally from the channels found on excitable cells, and they also do not rule out involvement of Ca^{2+} exchange mechanisms.

It is possible that the increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is sustained without increasing

the permeability of the plasma membrane to Ca^{2+} . We have recently observed that, 15 min after the addition of the Ti MAb to Jurkat cells in the presence of 1 mM extracellular Ca^{2+} , the level of IP₃ is still significantly elevated (68). Furthermore, intracellular Ca^{2+} stores remain depleted in these cells even though $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ has been maintained at a level greater than 200 nM for 15 min (68). These observations suggest that continued generation of IP₃, either by blocking reuptake of Ca^{2+} into intracellular stores or by continually depleting those stores, contributes to the sustained phase increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. An additional mechanism that could sustain an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is the slowing of the pumps that normally extrude Ca^{2+} from the cell in order to maintain the Ca^{2+} gradient across the plasma



Figure 4 Model of the early events of antigen receptor activation. Perturbation of T3/Ti by monoclonal antibodies in turn activates a phosphodiesterase (PDE) that catalyzes the hydrolysis of the phospholipid phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP₂) to inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DG). IP₃ is released into the cytoplasm and mobilizes Ca²⁺ from a nonmitochondrial pool that is probably within the endoplasmic reticulum (14). This release of Ca²⁺ causes an increase in (Ca²⁺)_i. IP₃ is broken down to inositol bisphosphate (IP₂), inositol phosphate (IP₁), and finally to inositol which can be recycled into phosphatidylinositol (PI). DG is the putative physiological activator of protein kinase C (PKC). It is likely, therefore, that the perturbation of T3/Ti can activate PKC as well as increase (Ca²⁺)_i. Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) also activates PKC(23, 24). Perturbation of T3/Ti and PMA act synergistically to induce the appearance of transcripts for IL-2 and γ -IFN and the production of IL-1 and γ -IFN biological activity.

membrane. Of note in this regard is the observation in hepatocytes that the Vmax of the plasma membrane Ca^{2+} pump is reduced by 50% following vasopressin-induced release of Ca^{2+} (77). A similar mechanism may b operative following Con A-induced mobilization of intracellular Ca^{2+} in murine thymocytes (73). Finally, it should be emphasized that multiple different mechanisms may contribute to the sustained increase in $[Ca^{2+}]$ following perturbation of T3/Ti. Increased permeability of the plasma membrane to Ca^{2+} , the activation of Ca^{2+} exchangers, continued release of Ca^{2+} from intracellular stores, and slowed Ca^{2+} extrusion are no mutually exclusive possibilities.

A TWO-SIGNAL MODEL FOR T-CELL ACTIVATION

In Jurkat cells, as well in other systems of T-cell activation, increases i $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ act synergistically with PMA to initiate the events that lead to th production of lymphokines (54, 58, 59). Synergism between these two stimuli is not unique to T cells but appears to be a general mechanism that can influence intracellular activities in a variety of different tissues (78 PMA has been shown to bind to, and to activate, protein kinase C (79, 80). It is a reasonable assumption that activation of protein kinase C accounts for at least some, and perhaps all, of the effects of PMA on T-cell activation Indeed, it can be demonstrated that PMA causes translocation of kinast activity from the cytosol to the plasma membrane of Jurkat (B. Manger, Stobo, unpublished observations). Similar translocation has been used a an assay of protein kinase C activation in other systems.

The putative physiological activator of protein kinase C is diacylglycero a necessary product in the hydrolysis of PIP₂ to IP₃ (Figure 4) (71). The lin between T3/Ti and the generation of IP₃, therefore, ties T3/Ti to a poten transmembrane signalling system that has the capability to activate protei kinase C as well as to increase $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (71, 78). Since we have shown tha MAbs to T3/Ti can hydrolyze PIP₂ to IP₃ and thus generate diacylglycero one might ask why these MAbs by themselves did not generate the tw signals (i.e. increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and protein kinase C activation) necessar for T-cell activation. Two possibilities might explain this. First, PMA migh provide a signal in addition to protein kinase C activation that is no provided by MAb to T3/Ti but that is necessary for activation. Second while MAb to T3/Ti may induce the generation of diacylglycerol, the level may not be sufficient to activate protein kinase C.

When MAb to T3/Ti are immobilized by linkage to a solid surface suc as sepharose, they can activate T-cell clones in the absence of any additiona stimulus (7). Since clones have been previously stimulated, the basal state of activation may determine the quality or quantity of signals required for T cell activation. This is supported by the following experiments. HUT-78 is another human T-cell line, which differs from Jurkat in that it displays the activation marker Ia (i.e. human HLA-DR) and receptors for IL-2. Therefore, Jurkat phenotypically resembles a resting and HUT-78stimulated T cell. Activation of both Jurkat and HUT by MAb's to T3/Ti requires a second signal that can be mediated by PMA. MAbs to T3 immobilized onto sepharose or plastic petri dishes are not sufficient, by themselves, to induce IL-2 production by Jurkat. However, the same immobilized antibodies can, in the absence of any other added stimulus induce maximal IL-2 production by HUT-78. Immobilized antibodies to T3 can activate Jurkat if IL-1 is added. Our interpretation of these studies is the following. Activation of T cells that have not been previously stimulated requires at least three stimuli. One is represented by the binding of antibodies to appropriate epitopes in the T3/Ti complex. A second is represented by immobilization of these antibodies. A third is IL-1. The intracellular message for the first stimulus requires increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$. The intracellular message for the second and third stimuli is unknown. However, since PMA can induce IL-2 production by Jurkat when used in conjunction with soluble MAbs, it is able to substitute for the second and third stimulus. Therefore, the combination of anti-T3/Ti and PMA or calcium ionophores and PMA can provide the three stimuli necessary for activation of resting T cells represented by Jurkat. Others have postulated a three-signal requirement in the activation of T cells (81, 82).

Activation of previously stimulated T cells does not require IL-1. Immobilization of antibodies to T3/Ti allows perturbation of the antigen receptor complex to provide the proper intracellular signals, thus obviating the need for PMA. Presently we are assaying protein kinase C activation in HUT following the addition of soluble vs immobilized T3 antibodies.

Molecular Events in T-Cell Activation

Recently, both IL-2 and IFN- γ genes have been cloned, and cDNA probes for each made available. Therefore, it is possible to explore the level—i.e. gene transcription, RNA processing, translation—at which signals that activate T cells influence the expression of lymphokine genes such as IL-2 and IFN- γ . In the model represented by activation of Jurkat, it is possible that antibodies to T3/Ti exert their effect at one level of gene expression such as transcription while PMA influences another such as RNA processing. Alternatively, both stimuli may be required for maximal activity at a single step in gene activation such as transcription. This section examines the data relating to these possibilities.

Other investigators have demonstrated that nonstimulated, peripheralblood T cells, tonsilar lymphocytes, and cell lines such as Jurkat do not Annual Reviews

610 WEISS, IMBODEN, HARDY ET AL

contain transcripts (i.e. mRNA) hybridizing with cDNA probes for either IL-2 and IFN- γ (83, 84). When these same populations are appropriately stimulated, abundant transcripts from both genes are detectable. Therefore, activating signals cause expression of IL-2 and IFN- γ genes by influencing events that occur prior to the translation of mRNA. These events include gene transcription and processing of the primary RNA transcript.

To determine more precisely how T-cell activation leads to gene expression Kronke et al performed nuclear "run-on" experiments (84). This procedure utilizes radioactive RNA precursors and endogenous nuclear polymerases to label native nuclear RNA in vitro by elongating incomplete, nascent RNA transcripts previously initiated in vivo. Artifacts common to complete in vitro transcription systems are thus avoided. After purification, these labeled transcripts are hybridized to specific immobilized recombinant DNA gene fragments. The extent of hybridization reflects primarily the transcriptional activity of a particular gene or gene region. These experiments demonstrated that in nonstimulated Jurkat there is no detectable transcription of the IL-2. In contrast, when Jurkat is stimulated with both PHA and PMA, nuclear transcripts are detected. These studies did not examine nuclear transcription occurring after stimulation with either PHA alone or PMA alone. The most straightforward interpretation of these experiments is that in a two-stimulus model of T-cell activation, both stimuli exert their effect at the level of gene transcription. However, in the run-on experiments the recovery of the nuclear transcripts depends not only on the rate of transcription but also on the degradation of the RNA. Therefore, it is possible that one or both signals influence the level of detectable IL-2 transcripts by slowing RNA degradation rather than by increasing the rate of transcription.

We have used cDNA probes for IL-2 and cDNA, as well as genomic probes for IFN- γ , to examine molecular events involved in expression of these genes. Initial studies demonstrated that nonstimulated Jurkat did not contain any detectable IL-2 or IFN- γ -specific RNA. Stimulation of Jurkat with PHA alone, anti-T3 alone, or PMA alone failed to induce the appearance of either IL-2 and IFN- γ RNA. In contrast, the combination of PHA plus PMA on anti-T3 plus PMA did generate detectable transcripts for both genes. This did not represent simply a general increase in RNA occurring with activation since there was no substantial increase in actinspecific RNA during activation. These results are consistent with those of other workers and exclude the possibility that activating stimuli influence posttranslational events. Instead, the data suggests that they modify either gene transcription or RNA processing.

We have recently used a nuclear transcription assay such as that used by Kronke et al in combination with specific IFN- γ probes to localize more

precisely the site at which these signals influence gene expression. When compared to nonstimulated Jurkat, IFN- γ nuclear transcripts increase fourfold after stimulation with PHA and PMA; this suggests that both stimuli modulate gene transcription (Figure 5). That actin RNA is not affected by activation minimizes the possibility of effects on global RNA stability as an explanation of this observation. However, since detection of nuclear transcripts in the run-on assay requires that the transcript be protected from degradation, the possibility that both signals specifically affect stabilization of IFN- γ transcripts within the nucleus cannot be excluded. As we discuss subsequently, there is data that indirectly supports the hypothesis that transcriptional activity exists for at least one of the two signals required for activation.

Given the limitation of the run-on experiments in distinguishing precisely



Figure 5 Nuclear transcription in nonstimulated and stimulated Jurkat. Nuclear run-on experiments were performed with cDNA probes for IFN- γ , actin, and PBR-322 using nuclei isolated from nonstimulated Jurkat and from Jurkat stimulated with PHA and PMA. The results are presented as densitometric tracings of dot blots.

transcriptional vs processing events, another approach was used to localize more precisely the level at which activation signals influence gene expression. This approach takes advantage of the fact that the conformation of regions of a gene that regulate transcription is such that they are unusually sensitive, i.e. hypersensitive, to digestion with pancreatic deoxyribonuclease (DNAase). For example, activation of the chicken globin gene with specific inducing agents results in the appearance of a new DNAase-hypersensitive site in the 5' region (85). Hormonal induction of chicken lysozyme in vitallogenin genes is accompanied by the appearance of several new hypersensitive sites (86). Inactivation of fetal hemoglobin genes results in the loss of hypersensitive sites (87). Hypersensitive sites present in κ light-chain and IgM heavy-chain immunoglobulin gene transcription (88).

We have used this approach to study further the γ -IFN gene and have identified three major regions of strong DNAase-I hypersensitivity that correlate with regulation of that gene (Figure 6). One site localizes to the first intron and is found only in cells potentially capable of synthesizing γ -IFN. In other words, this intronic-hypersensitive site is seen in T cells capable of synthesizing γ -IFN but not in other cells such as B cells, monocytes, and nonlymphoid cells. This hypersensitive site is present in nonstimulated, as well as PHA/PMA-stimulated, Jurkat, which indicates that it is not an "activation-specific" regulator of transcription. Another area of hypersensitivity is localized just 5' to the site for initiation of transcription. This site is in close proximity to the γ -IFN gene promoter. This area is insensitive to DNAase I in unstimulated Jurkat but develops hypersensitivity after stimulation with PHA and PMA. A third area of

DNA



Figure 6 DNAase hypersensitivity sites in Jurkat, the IFN- γ gene. The three major areas of DNAase hypersensitivity located in the IFN- γ gene are presented. The numbers indicate KB and solid boxes the exons.

hypersensitivity is found in unstimulated Jurkat, 3 kb 5' to the first exon. This site increases in hypersensitivity after PHA/PMA stimulation. To this point, changes in hypersensitivity in the 5' sites have not been assayed after stimulation with a single activational signal (i.e. PHA or PMA alone).

We interpret these experiments in the following way. At least three regions of the γ -IFN gene are involved in regulating its experesion. One resides in the first intron, and an appropriate chromatin confirmation at this site seems necessary but not by itself sufficient for γ -IFN transcription. Two other sites are in the 5' flanking region of the gene, and these either appear or markedly increase only after T-cell activation. These observations of induced hypersensitivity further support the notion that signals required for γ -IFN gene activation indeed exert their effect at least in part at the level of gene transcription. Preliminary experiments are under way to determine how cell-surface signals of activation are transduced into gene activation at this level by investigating binding of specific regulatory proteins to these hypersensitive regions of DNA in stimulated and unstimulated cells. It is likely that synthesis and/or modification of such proteins is somehow regulated by the signals inducing γ -IFN gene activation.

A kinetic analysis of the appearance of the IL-2 and y-IFN mRNA vs biologic activity after stimulation of Jurkat with PHA and PMA reveals the following (Figure 7). Transcripts for both lymphokines are first detectable 2 hr after stimulation, peak at 4-6 hr, and then decline so that by 24 hr they have approached basal levels seen in nonstimulated cells. Biologic activity for both lymphokines is first detectable 4 hr after stimulation, with maximal amounts found in cell culture fluids 24 hr after activation. This decline in detectable RNA could reflect cessation of transcription or increased degradiation of transcripts, Efrat & Keampfer demonstrated that addition of cyclohexamide, an inhibitor of protein synthesis, to mitogen-stimulated tonsillar lymphocytes leads to a marked and sustained increase in IL-2 mRNA (83). This "super induction" of IL-2 transcripts was inhibited by 5,6dichloro-1-beta-D-ribofuranosyl benzimidazole, a compound that inhibits gene transcription. This suggested that accumulation of mRNA seen following the addition of cyclohexamide was dependent on continued gene transcription and implied that the decline normally seen in IL-2 transcripts following T-cell activation reflects the induction of repressor molecules requiring new protein synthesis. In studying the same phenomena, Kronke et al arrived at a slightly different conclusion (84). In a series of "run-on" experiments these investigators noted that nuclear transcription of IL-2 continues for at least 15 hr following stimulation of Jurkat at a time when mRNA levels are decreasing. Therefore, they concluded that nontranscriptional regulatory mechanisms are involved in the rapid fall of IL-2, and

presumably γ -IFN transcripts, following activation. Such nontranscriptional regulatory mechanisms could include degradation of the transcribed RNA. Since cyclohexamide has also been reported to inhibit degradation of RNA, the results of Efrat & Keampfer could be partially consistent with the interpretation of Kronke and his colleagues. In other words, as a late response to the increased transcription of IL-2 and γ -IFN induced by activating signals, there seems to occur a negative feedback system by which repressor-induced reduction in transcription and/or increase in selective RNA degradation can lower intranuclear transcripts of these lymphokine genes. Either of these pathways if inhibited by cyclohexamide could result in prolonged appearance of transcripts. There are numerous examples of



Figure 7 Appearance of IL-2 and IFN- γ activity and mRNA in Jurkat. Jurkat was stimulated with PHA and PMA. At the indicated times IL-2 activity (solid line, top) and IFN- γ activity (dotted line, top) were measured and are presented as units/ml. Total RNA hybridizing with cDNA probes for actin, IL-2, and IFN- γ were also assayed by dot blots with the results presented as a fraction of the maximal amount of hybridizing RNA as determined by densitometric analysis.

gene repressors in prokaryotic systems and several new lines of evidence that eukaryotic repressors of gene transcription do indeed exist although they are certainly less well elucidated. Further study of the molecular mechanisms that result in the turning on and off of IL-2 γ -IFN genes will be particularly important to our understanding of T-cell activation, lymphokine gene regulation, and overall immune responsiveness.

SUMMARY

The role of the T3/antigen receptor complex is summarized by the diagram presented in Figure 4. Signals transmitted through T3/Ti activate a phosphodiesterase. This enzyme acts on its substrate PIP₂ to generate two important mediators, IP₃ and diacylglycerol. IP₃ mobilizes calcium from bound intracellular stones. This increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is one intracellular signal which, in conjunction with others, induces expression of lymphokine genes by influencing pretranslational, presumably transcriptional, events.

Several problems remain. Which of the five molecules in the T3/Ti complex serves as the effector molecule in the transmembrane signalling process is not known. Which molecules serve to link T3/Ti to the phosphodiesterase enzyme is under investigation. The role diacylglycerol protein kinase C and other mediators play in signalling activation is not established. Finally, for those events occurring after the early events pictured in Figure 4 that result in gene activation, the sequence is a black box. Approaches to address each of these questions are available, and answers should be forthcoming.

Literature Cited

- Allison, J., McIntyre, B., Bloch, D. 1982. Tumor-specific antigen of murine Tlymphoma defined with monoclonal antibody. J. Immunol. 129:2293
- Meuer, S., Fitzgerald, K., Hussey, R., Hodgdon, J., Scholssman, S., Reinherz, E. 1983. Clonotypic structures involved in antigen-specific human T cell function. J. Exp. Med. 157:705
- Haskins, K., Kubo, R., White, J., Pigeon, M., Kappler, J., Marrack, P. 1983. The major histocompatibility complexrestricted antigen receptor on T cells. J. Exp. Med. 157:1149
- 4. Kaye, J., Porcelli, S., Tite, J., Jones, B., Janeway Jr., C. 1983. Both a monoclonal antibody and antisera specific for determinants unique to individual cloned helper T cell lines can substitute for antigen and antigen-presenting cells in

the activation of T cells. J. Exp. Med. 158:836

- Samelson, L., Germain, R., Schwartz, R. 1983. Monoclonal antibodies against the antigen receptor on a cloned T-cell hybrid. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 6972
- Weiss, A., Stobo, J. D. 1984. Requirement for the coexpression of T3 and the T cell antigen receptor on a malignant human T cell line. J. Exp. Med. 160:1284
- Meuer, S., Hodgdon, J., Hussey, R., Protentis, J., Schlossman, S., Reinherz, E. 1983. Antigen-like effects of monoclonal antibodies directed at receptors on human T cell clones. J. Exp. Med. 158: 988
- Kappler, J., Kubo, R., Haskins, K., White, J., Marrack, P. 1983. The mouse T cell receptor: Comparison of MHC-

restricted receptors on two T cell hybridomas. Cell 34:727

- Reinherz, E., Meuer, S., Fitzgerald, K., Hussey, R., Hodgdon, J., Acuto, O., Schlossman, S. 1983. Comparison of T3-associated 49- and 42-kilodalton cell surface molecules on individual human T-cell clones: Evidence for peptide variability in T-cell receptor structures. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:4104
- Kappler, J., Kubo, R., Haskins, K., Hannum, C., Marrack, P., Pigeon, M., McIntyre, B., Allison, J., Trowbridge, I. 1983. The major histocompatibility complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells in mouse and man: Identification of constant and variable peptides. *Cell* 35: 295
- McIntyre, B., Allison, J. 1984. Biosynthesis and processing of murine T-cell antigen receptor. Cell 38:659
- Yanagi, Y., Yoshikai, Y., Leggett, K., Clark, S., Aleksander, I., Mak, T. 1984. A human T cell-specific cDNA clone encodes a protein having extensive homology to immunoglobulin chains. *Nature* 308:145
- Yanagi, Y., Chan, A., Chin, B., Minden, M., Mak, T. 1985. Analysis of cDNA clones specific for human T cells and the α and β chains of the T-cell receptor heterodimer from a human T-cell line. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:3430
- Acuto, O., Meuer, S., Hodgdon, J., Schlossman, S., Reinherz, E. 1983. Peptide variability exists within α and βsubunits of the T cell receptor for antigen. J. Exp. Med. 158:1368
- 15. Acuto, O., Hussey, R., Fitzgerald, K., Protentis, J., Meuer, S., Schlossman, S., Reinherz, E. 1983. The human T cell receptor: Appearance in ontogeny and biochemical relationship of α and β subunits on IL-2 dependent clones and T cell tumors. *Cell* 34:717
- Hedrick, S., Cohen, D., Nielsen, E., Davis, M. 1984. Isolation of cDNA clones encoding T cell-specific membraneassociated proteins. *Nature* 308:149
- Hedrick, Ś., Nielsen, E., Kavaler, J., Cohen, D., Davis, M. 1984. Sequence relationships between putative T-cell receptor polypeptides and immunoglobulins. *Nature* 308:153
- Chien, Y., Becker, D., Lindsten, T., Okamura, M., Cohen, D., Davis, M. 1984. A third type of murine T-cell receptor gene. *Nature* 312:31
- Šaito, H., Kranz, D., Takagaki, Y., Hayday, A., Eisen, H., Tonegawa, S. 1984. A third rearranged and expressed gene in a clone of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nature* 312:36

- Siu, G., Clark, S., Yoshikai, Y., Malissen, M., Yanagi, Y., Strauss, E., Mak, T., Hood, L. 1984. The human T cell antigen receptor is encoded by variable, diversity, and joining gene segments that rearrange to generate a complete V gene. *Cell* 37: 393
- Malissen, M., Minard, K., Mjolsness, S., Kronenberg, M., Goverman, J., Hunkapiller, T., Prystowsky, M., Yoshikai, Y., Fitch, F., Make, T., Hood, L. 1984. Mouse T cell antigen receptor : Structure and organization of constant and joining gene segments encoding the β polypeptide. Cell 37:1101
- 22. Clark, S., Yoshikai, Y., Taylor, S., Siu, G., Hood, L., Mak, T. 1984. Identification of a diversity segment of human T-cell receptor β -chain, and comparison with the analogous murine element. *Nature* 311:387
- 23. Siu, G., Kronenberg, M., Strauss, E., Haars, R., Mak, T., Hood, L. 1984. The structure, rearrangement and expression of D_{β} segments of the murine T-cell antigen receptor. *Nature* 311:344
- 24. Caccia, N., Kronenberg, M., Saxe, D., Haars, R., Bruns, G., Goverman, J., Malissen, M., Williard, H., Yoshikai, Y., Simon, M., Hood, L., Mak, T. 1984. The T cell receptor β chain genes are located on chromosome 6 in mice and chromosome 7 in humans. *Cell* 37:1091
- Yoshikai, Y., Yanagi, Y., Suciu-Foca, N., Mak, T. 1984. Presence of T-cell receptor mRNA in functionally distinct T cells and elevation during intrathymic differentiation. *Nature* 310: 506
- Raulet, D., Garman, R., Saito, H., Tonegawa, S. 1985. Developmental regulation of T-cell receptor gene expression. *Nature* 314:103
- Snodgrass, H., Kisielow, P., Kiefer, M., Steinmetz, M., von Boehmer, H. 1985. Ontogeny of the T-cell antigen receptor within the thymus. *Nature* 313: 592
- 28. Yoshikai, Y., Anatoniou, D., Clark, S., Yanagi, Y., Sangster, R., Van den Elsen, P., Terhorst, C., Mak, T. 1984. Sequence and expression of transcripts of the human T-cell receptor β-chain genes. *Nature* 312:521
- Sim, G., Yague, J., Nelson, J., Marrack, P., Palmer, E., Augustin, A., Kappler, J. 1984. Primary structure of human T-cell receptor α-chain. *Nature* 312:771
- Hood, L., Kronenberg, M., Hunkapiller, T. 1985. T cell antigen receptors and the immunoglobulin supergene family. *Cell* 40:225
- Dembic, Z., Bannwarth, W., Taylor, B., Steinmetz, M. 1985. The gene encoding the T-cell receptor α-chain maps close to
the Np-2 locus on mouse chromosome 14. *Nature* 314:271

- Collins, M., Goodfellow, P., Spurr, N., Solomon, E., Tanigawa, G., Tonegawa, S., Owen, M. 1985. The human T-cell receptor α-chain gene maps to chromosome 14. *Nature* 314: 273
- Saito, H., Kranz, D., Takagaki, Y., Hayday, A., Eisen, H., Tonegawa, S. 1984. Complete primary structure of a heterodimeric T-cell receptor deduced from cDNA sequences. *Nature* 309:757
- 34. Kranz, D., Saito, H., Heller, M., Takagaki, Y., Haas, W., Eisen, H., Tonegawa, S. 1985. Limited diversity of the rearranged T-cell γ gene. *Nature* 313: 752
- Oettgen, H. C., Kappler, J., Tax, W. J. M., Terhorst, C. 1984. Characterization of the two heavy chains of the T3 complex on the surface of human T lymphocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 259:12039
- 36. Borst, J., Coligan, J. E., Oettgen, H., Pessano, S., Malin, R., Terhorst, C. 1984. The human T3/T cell receptor complex : The T3-δ and T3-ε subunits are distinct polypeptide chains. *Nature* 312:455
- Borst, J., Prendiville, M. A., Terhorst, C. 1982. Complexity of the human T lymphocyte-specific cell surface antigen T3. J. Immunol. 128:1560
- Borst, J., Alexander, S., Elder, J., Terhorst, C. 1983. The T3 complex on human T lymphocytes involves four structurally distinct glycoproteins. J. Biol. Chem. 258:5135
- 39. Borst, J., Prendiville, M. A., Terhorst, C. 1983. The T3 complex on human thymus-derived lymphocytes contains two different subunits of 20 kDa. Eur. J. Immunol. 13:576
- Kanellopoulos, J. M., Wigglesworth, N. M., Owen, M. J., Crumpton, M. J. 1983. Biosynthesis and molecular nature of the T3 antigen of human T lymphocytes. *EMBO J.* 2:1807
- Pessano, S., Oettgen, H., Bhan, A. K., Terhorst, C. 1985. The T3/T cell receptor complex: Antigenic distinction between the two 20 kD-T3 (T3-δ and T3-ε) subunits. *EMBO J.* 4:337
- 42. Van den Elsen, P., Shepley, B. A., Borst, J., Coligan, J., Markham, A., Orkin, S., Terhorst, C. 1984. Isolation of cDNA clones coding for the 20 kD T3 glycoprotein associated with antigen specific receptors on the surface of human T lymphocytes. *Nature* 312:413
- 43. Van den Elsen, P., Bruns, G., Gerhard, D., Jones, C., Housman, D., Orkin, S., Terhorst, C. 1985. Assignment of the gene coding for the T3 &-subunit of the T3/T cell receptor complex to the distal

portion of the long arm of human chromosome 11 and to mouse chromosome 9. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 2920

- 44. Van den Elsen, P., Shepley, B. A., Cho, M., Terhorst, C. 1985. Isolation and characterization of a cDNA clone coding for the murine homologue of the human 20 kd T3/T cell receptor glycoprotein (T3-δ). Nature 314:542
- Antonucci, T. K., Von Deimling, O. H., Rosenblum, B. B., Skow, L. C., Meisler, M. H. 1984. Conserved linkage within a 4-CM region of mouse chromosome 9 and human chromosome 11. Genetics 107:463
- 46. Zanders, E., Lamb, J., Feldman, M., Green, N., Beverley, P. 1983. Tolerance of T-cell clones is associated with membrane antigen changes. *Nature* 303:625
- 47. Brenner, M. B., Trowbridge, I. S., Strominger, J. L. 1985. Cross-linking of human T cell receptor proteins: Association between the T cell idiotype β subunit and the T3 glycoprotein heavy subunit. Cell 40:183
- Allison, J. P., Lanier, L. L. 1985. Identification of antigen receptor-associated structures on murine T cells. *Nature* 314: 107
- Ohashi, P. S., Mak, T. W., Van den Elsen, P., Yanagi, Y., Yoshikai, Y., Calman, A., Terhorst, C., Stobo, J. D., Weiss, A. 1985. Reconstitution of an active surface T3/T-cell antigen receptor by DNA transfer. *Nature* 316:606
- Chang, T., Testa, D., Kung, P., Perry, L., Dreskin, H., Goldstein, G. 1982. Cellular origin and interactions involved in γinterferon production induced by OKT3 monoconal antibody. J. Immunol. 128: 585
- 51. Tax, W., Willems, H., Reekers, P., Capel, P., Koene, R. 1983. Polymorphism in mitogenic effect of IgG1 monoclonal antibodies against T3 antigen on human T cells. *Nature* 304:445
- 52. Von Wussow, P., Platsoucas, C. D., Wiranowska-Stewart, M., Stewart, W. E. 1981. Human γ interferon production by leukocytes induced with monoclonal antibodies recognizing T cells. J. Immunol. 127:1197
- 53. Weiss, A., Wiskocil, R., Stobo, J. 1984. The role of T3 surface molecules in the activation of human T cells: A two stimulus requirement for IL-2 production reflects events occurring at a pretranslational level. J. Immunol. 133:123
- Weiss, A., Imboden, J., Shoback, D., Stobo, J. 1984. Role of T3 surface molecules in human T cell activation: T3 dependent activation results in a rise in

cytoplasmic free calcium. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:4169

- 55. Chiller, J. M., DeFreitas, E., Chesnut, R., Grey, H., Skidmore, B. 1982. Signal requirement for T lymphocyte activation. In Isolation, Characterization, and Utilization of T Lymphocyte Clones, ed. C. Fathman, F. Fitch, p. 83. New York: Academic
- 56. Mizel, S. B. 1982. Interleukin 1 and T cell activation. *Immunol. Rev.* 63:51
- 57. Gery, I. 1982. Production and assay of interleukin-1 (IL-1). See Ref. 56, p. 41
- 58. Truneh, A., Albert, F., Golstein, P., Schmitt-Verhulst, A. 1985. Early steps of lymphocyte activation bypassed by synergy between calcium ionophores and phorbol ester. *Nature* 313:318
- Imboden, J., Weiss, A., Stobo, J. D. 1985. The antigen receptor on a human T cell line initiates activation by increasing cytoplasmic free calcium. J. Immunol. 134:663
- 60. Kanellopoulos, J., De Petris, S., Leca, G., Crumpton, M. 1985. The mitogenic lectin from Phaseolus vulgaris does not recognize the T3 antigen of human T lymphocytes. Eur. J. Immunol. 15:479
- Exton, J. H. 1985. Role of calcium and phosphoinositides in the actions of certain hormones and neurotransmitters. J. Clin. Invest. 75:1753
- Imboden, J. B., Stobo, J. D. 1985. Transmembrane signalling by the T cell antigen receptor. J. Exp. Med. 161:446
- 63. O'Flynn, K., Zanders, E., Lamb, J., Beverley, P., Wallace, D., Tatham, P., Tax, W., Linch, D. 1985. Investigation of early T cell activation: Analysis of the effect of specific antigen, interleukin 2 and monoclonal antibodies on intracellular free calcium concentration. Eur. J. Immunol. 15:7
- 64. Weiss, M. J., Daley, J. F., Hodgdon, J. C., Reinherz, E. L. 1984. Calcium dependency of antigen-specific (T3-Ti) and alternative (T11) pathways of human T-cell activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 81:6836
- Oettgen, J., Terhorst, C., Cantley, L., Rosoff, P. 1985. Stimulation of the T3-T cell receptor complex induces a membrane-potential-sensitive calcium influx. Cell 40:583
- 66. Tsien, R. Y., Pozzan, T., Rink, T. J. 1982. T-cell mitogens cause early changes in cytoplasmic free Ca²⁺ and membrane potential in lymphocytes. *Nature* 295:68
- 67. O'Flynn, K., Krensky, A., Beverley, P., Burakoff, S., Linch, D. 1985. Phytohaemagglutinin activation of T cell through the sheep red blood cell receptor. Nature 313:686
- 68. Imboden, J., Sloan, A., Weiss, A., Stobo,

J. 1985. The role of Ca^{2+} mobilization in the T cell antigen receptor-mediated increase in cytoplasmic free calcium. *Immunol. Today.* In press

- 69. Johnson, P. C., Ware, J. A., Cliveden, P. B., Smith, M., Dvorak, A. M., Selzman, E. W. 1985. Measurement of ionized calcium in blood platelets with the photoprotein aequorin. Comparison with quin 2. J. Biol. Chem. 260:2069
- Lew, P. D., Wollheim, C. B., Waldvogel, F. A., Pozzan, T. 1984. Modulation of cytosolic-free calcium transients by changes in intracellular calcium-buffering capacity: Correlation with exocytosis and O₂ production in human neutrophils. J. Cell Biol. 99:1212
- Berridge, M. J., Irvine, R. F. 1984. Inositol trisphosphate, a novel second messenger in cellular signal transduction. *Nature* 312:315
- 72. Michell, R. H. 1982. Inositol lipid metabolism in differentiated and dividing cells. *Cell Calcium* 3:429
- Taylor, M. V., Metcalfe, J. C., Hesketh, T. R., Smith, G. A., Moore, J. P. 1984. Mitogens increase phosphorylation of phosphoinositides in thymocytes. *Nature* 312:462
- 74. Hesketh, T. R., Moore, J. P., Morris, J. D. H., Taylor, M. V., Rogers, J., Smith, G. A., Metcalfe, J. C. 1985. A common sequence of calcium and pH signals in mitogenic stimulation of eukaryotic cells. *Nature* 313:481
- Deutsch, C. J., Holian, A., Holian, S. K., Daniele, R. P., Wilson, D. F. 1979. Transmembrane electrical and pH gradients across human erythrocytes and human peripheral lymphocytes. J. Cell. Phys. 99:79
- Matteson, D. R., Deutsch, C. 1984. K⁺ channels in T lymphocytes: A patch clamp study using monoclonal antibody adhesion. *Nature* 307:468
- 77. Prpic, V., Green, K. C., Blackmore, P. F., Exton, J. H. 1984. Vasopressin-, angiotension II-, and a₁-adrenergic-induced inhibition of Ca²⁺ transport by rat liver plasma membrane vesicles. J. Biol. Chem. 259:1382
- Nishizuka, Y. 1984. Turnover of inositol phospholipids and signal transduction. Science 225:1365
- Niedel, J. E., Kuhn, L. J., Vandenbark, G. R. 1983. Phorbol diester receptor copurifies with protein kinase C. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:36
- Kraft, A. S., Anderson, W. B. 1983. Phorbol esters increase the amount of Ca²⁺, phospholipid-dependent protein kinase associated with plasma membrane. Nature 301:621
- 81. Kaibuchi, K., Takai, Y., Nishizuka, Y.

T-CELL ACTIVATION 619

1985. Protein kinase C and calcium ion in mitogenic response of macrophagedepleted human peripheral lymphocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 260: 1366–69

- Gelfand, E. W., Cheung, R. K., Mills, G. B., Grinstein, S. 1985. Mitogens trigger a calcium-independent signal for proliferation in phorbol-ester-treated lymphocytes. *Nature* 315:4190
- Éfrat, S., Kaempfer, R. 1984. Control of biologically active interleukin 2 messenger RNA formation in induced human lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:2601-5
- 84. Kronke, M., Leonard, W. J., Depper, J. M., Arya, S. K., Wong-Staal, F., Gallo, R. C., Waldman, T. A., Greene, W. C. 1984. Cyclosporin A inhibits T-cell growth factor gene expression at the level of mRNA transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:5214-18
- 85. Ginder, G. D., Whitters, M. J., Pohlman,

J. K. 1984. Activation of a chicken embryonic globin gene in adult erythroid cells by 5-azacytidine and sodium butyrate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81: 3954-58

- Burch, J. B., Weintraub, H. 1983. Temporal order of chromatin structural changes associated with activation of the major chicken vitellogenin gene. *Cell* 33:65-76
- 87. Groudine, M., Kohwi-Shigematsu, T., Gerlinas, R., Stamatoyannopoulos, G., Papayannopoulou, T. 1983. Human fetal to adult hemoglobin switching: changes in chromatin structure of the beta-globin gene locus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:7551–55
- Mercola, M., Wang, X.-F., Olsen, J., Calame, K. 1983. Transcriptional enhancer elements in the mouse immunoglobulin heavy chain locus. *Science* 221: 663–65



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE- REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4:621–649 Copyright © 1986 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS

Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch

Departments of Pathology and Microbiology, University of Iowa College of Medicine, Iowa City, Iowa 52242

INTRODUCTION

An exquisite adaptation of vertebrates appears in their production of antibodies in response to infectious agents. When antibodies bind to microbes in vivo, they trigger cascades of events that typically eliminate the infectious agent. The degree to which the relevant antibodies are expressed during such an immune response is a function of both the size and stage of differentiation of specific B-cell clones. The factors that influence these parameters are multiple, complex, highly regulated, and the focus of much current research.

During the past 20 years, our knowledge of antibodies has grown extraordinarily. Much has been learned about their molecular structure, the chemical basis of their binding specificity, the structural basis of their idiotypes, allotypes, and isotypes, and the structure and organization of their genes (1). Virtually all of these advances in molecular immunology derive from studies with B-cell tumors. The present review considers recent studies that have successfully used B-cell tumors to investigate some of the physiological processes that underlie B-cell function and regulation.

A major advance in the study of antibodies was the observation reported in 1967 by Eisen et al (2) that human myeloma proteins were, in fact, monoclonal antibodies. This finding was rapidly confirmed for murine myeloma proteins by Eisen et al (3) and Schubert et al (4). The discovery that murine myeloma proteins were monoclonal antibodies was particularly significant because a sizable library of BALB/c plasmacytomas

had been developed by Michael Potter and colleagues at the National Cancer Institute. These monoclonal immunoglobulins were systematically screened for antibody activity, and some were identified that specifically bound dextrans, levans, phosphorylcholine, 2,4-di-nitrophenyl, or other ligands (5).

The identification of myeloma proteins with antibody activity was an exciting finding that came at a time when efforts to investigate the structural basis of antibody binding had reached an impasse because of the molecular heterogeneity of conventional antibodies. The availability of large quantities of antigen-binding myeloma proteins led immediately to structural studies. The subsequent development of hybridomas by Kohler & Milstein (6) made possible isolation of monoclonal antibodies from virtually anywhere in the B-cell repertoire and extension of the structural studies to antibodies of any desired antigen specificity and isotype. While the original objective was to establish the structural basis of antibody binding, the wave of amino acid sequence analyses of murine myeloma proteins in the 1970s had the additional impact of generating data that began to (a) raise questions about genetic and somatic mechanisms that might account for the enormous size and diversity of the antibody repertoire, and (b) provide clues to the organization of the genetic elements that coded for immunoglobulin chains. The history of these developments is detailed by Kindt & Capra (1).

In addition to their dominant role in the development of knowledge about antibody structure, B-cell tumors have been the major source of new information about immunoglobulin genes. The pioneering studies of Hozumi & Tonegawa (7) used murine plasmacytoma cells to begin to visualize the molecular organization of immunoglobulin genes and to identify the developmental rearrangements that occured in these genes in immunoglobulin-expressing cells. Molecular genetic tools and strategies have been successfully applied to murine plasmacytoma cells to investigate (a) the nucleotide sequences, organization (8), and chromosomal locations (9) of immunoglobulin genes; (b) the role of RNA processing in the expression of immunoglobulin genes; and (c) the structural differences between surface membrane and secreted immunoglobulin heavy chains (11). Furthermore, murine plasmacytoma cells have been productively used: (a) to identify steps in immunoglobulin chain synthesis and assembly (12), (b) to investigate posttranslational modifications of immunoglobulins (13), and (c) to assess the role of glycosylation in immunoglobulin secretion (14).

From the material briefly reviewed above, it is clear that B-cell tumors have been extremely useful tools for the study of immunoglobulins and their genes as they exist in a more or less fixed state in each clone. The experimental strategy common to these studies has been the utilization of tumor cells as the source of a single, specific, readily purified macromolecule such as an antibody, a messenger RNA, or an immunoglobulin gene. The present review discusses recent studies that establish the feasibility of using B-cell tumors to investigate dynamic aspects of B-cell function such as immunoglobulin gene activation (15), heavy-chain class switching (16), and regulatory mechanisms that control B-cell proliferation, differentiation, and immunoglobulin expression (17). Progress made in many laboratories during the past five years has shown that B-cell tumors are powerful model systems that can be productively used to investigate physiological processes in B cells and to develop an understanding of the mechanisms by which immunoregulatory signals influence B-cell function.

RELEVANCE OF TUMOR MODELS

An important issue to address at the outset is the relevance of observations made with tumor cells to an understanding of the physiology of normal B cells. This question is frequently raised because certain characteristics of tumor cells are considered aberrant. The designation "aberrant" carries with it the implication that the feature is a curiosity of the tumor state, is of no physiological relevance, or has no normal counterpart. However, many "aberrant" features of tumor cells have later proved to be normal features that had previously gone undetected. An example is the expression of Lyt-1 by some B-cell tumors (18). Lyt-1 was considered to be a T cell-specific marker. Its "aberrant" expression on some malignant B cells preceded its detection on a subpopulation of normal B cells (19). The prophetic nature of some aberrant features is not restricted to lymphoid tumors. For example, syndromes of hormone excess associated with carcinomas of the lung and gastrointestinal tract were originally considered aberrant expressions of "de-repressed" polypeptide hormone genes in malignant mucosal cells. In retrospect, however, these tumors facilitated discovery of the intestinal and bronchial endocrine systems by pointing out a previously unknown population of normal mucosal cells that produce these hormones. These examples emphasize that an unknown fraction of "aberrant" features of tumor cells have normal counterparts that simply have not yet been discovered. Considered in this sense, tumors do not lie; they only exaggerate.

Perhaps the greatest value of tumor models comes from investigations of bona fide aberrant features. For example, when the amino acid sequences of the truncated heavy chains produced by lymphoma cells in Franklin's disease were compared with the normal-sized heavy chains of human myeloma proteins, the data implied that the DNA that coded for the

variable region domain was separated by a significant distance from the DNA that coded for the constant region (20). This finding was one of the first pieces of evidence in confirmation of the Dryer-Bennett hypothesis that two genes encoded a single polypeptide chain (21). DNA sequence analysis later proved this predicted pattern of immunoglobulin gene organization to be correct.

In summary, the appropriateness of using tumors as models might best be considered in terms of the enormous productivity and success of this approach. It is difficult to find examples in which information obtained from studies with tumor cells has been misleading. In fact, one could argue that tumor cells can be more useful models than normal cells themselves because of the extraordinary insight that can be prompted by an aberrant feature. The study of tumor cells to develop an understanding of normal cells is a specific instance of the more general and proven principle that the study of pathological processes often leads to an improved understanding of the normal state. Perhaps nowhere is this more true than in immunology, where the study of immunodeficiency diseases has provided so much insight into the development, organization, and function of lymphoid cells and tissues.

THE DEVELOPMENT AND COMMITMENT OF B CELLS STUDIED WITH PRE–B CELL TUMORS

Until recently, the earliest stages of differentiation during B-cell ontogeny have been hard to define because they are transient, and in most lymphoid tissues, cells in these stages represent only a minor component of a widely diverse population. Furthermore, immature B cells and B-cell precursors are not functionally competent and thus cannot be studied using classical techniques that assay for activation or antibody production. In fact, their existence was deduced from experiments in which polyclonal explants of murine fetal liver or adult bone marrow were found to generate populations of cells bearing surface immunoglobulin (sIg) after several days of culture in vitro (22). Using immunofluorescent techniques and unit gravity sedimentation, researchers demonstrated the existence of populations of both large and small pre-B cells expressing cytoplasmic μ -heavy-chain protein, but not sIg or light-chain protein, which might give rise to B lymphocytes expressing surface IgM (23-27). Such cells were found to lack Fc and C3 receptors as well as Ia determinants (28, 29), which are displayed by mature B cells.

Initial attempts to culture or clone sIg⁻ precursors for further characterization were disappointing. A major breakthrough in this regard came when it was realized that the Abelson murine leukemia virus (A-MuLV) would preferentially transform cells with a pre-B phenotype (30). In addition, a murine leukemia cell line, 70Z/3, which had been induced by methyl nitrosourea, was characterized as having a pre-B phenotype (31). Isolation of these tumors spurred a reexamination of lymphomas that, because they exhibited neither immunoglobulin synthesis nor the surface antigens of T cells, were thought to be unusual neoplasms. Analysis of these lymphomas, as well as of some human non-T, non-B actue lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) cells, demonstrated that many of these have the characteristics of B-cell precursors (32, 33). In addition, some cell lines transformed with Epstein Barr virus (EBV) displayed a pre-B phenotype (34), as did fetal liver hybridomas (35). The availability of these cell lines has had a profound impact on studies of the processes involved in B-cell differentiation. They have provided useful homogeneous populations of cells in numbers sufficient for functional and biochemical analyses and so have allowed investigators to address problems previously inaccessible.

Analysis of Cell-Surface Antigens of B-Lineage Precursors

One major problem in studying B-lymphocyte precursors has been identification. Although many differentiation antigens specific for mature B cells have been described, until recently detection of cells with the pre-B phenotype relied primarily on the presence of cytoplasmic μ -heavy chain in the absence of sIg and other differentiation antigens. Lately, several laboratories have addressed this problem and, using human- and murinetransformed cell lines as immunogens, have generated a number of monoclonal antibodies (MAb) that recognized cell-surface antigens on normal pre-B cells from bone marrow and fetal liver. These are summarized in Table 1.

Although these antibodies react with surface antigens on cells that express a pre-B cell phenotype, many also bind to sIg^+ B cells (14.8, DNL1.9, GF1.2, BA-2) or plasma cells and plasmacytomas (RA3-2C2). BA-2 and J-5 bind to some human T-ALL cells, while AA4.1 ⁺ cell populations include erythroid and myeloid progenitors. However, with respect to Blineage lymphocytes and transformed cells, the AA4.1 and GF1.2 appear to be specific for antigens expressed in the early stages of differentiation (36). In combination with previously characterized reagents, these MAb are proving useful in identifying and selecting subsets of B lymphocytes. Recently Paige et al (43) have used AA4.1 and 14.8 to clone pre-B cells from normal fetal liver or bone marrow and to analyze their responsiveness to growth factors. The MAb 14.8 also has been used by Jyonouchi et al (44) to

MAb	Produced in	Immunogen	Reference
AA4.1	Rat	70Z/3	36
GF1.2	Rat	ABE-8	36
RA3-2C2	Rat	RAW-112	37
DNL1.9	Rat	70Z/3	38
14.8	Rat	WEHI-279	39
ā BL1	Mouse	Nalm-6	40
BA-2	Mouse	Halm-6MI	41
J-5	Mouse	Human ALL cells	42

 Table 1
 Monoclonal antibodies that recognize cell-surface antigens

 on normal pre-B cells from bone marrow and fetal liver

study the age-dependent immunodeficiency of New Zealand black (NZB) mice, while J-5 and BA-2 have been used to phenotype acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) cells prior to further biochemical analysis (45).

Immunoglobulin Genes in Pre-B Cells: Structure, Rearrangement, Expression, and Regulation

The availability of transformed cell lines exhibiting a pre-B phenotype allowed analysis of the rearrangement of immunoglobulin genes that occurs during B-cell ontogeny, with some stunning results. A variety of A-MuLV or EBV transformants, as well as fetal liver hybridomas and ALL cells, were useful in this regard, exhibiting characteristics intermediate to those described for embryonic tissues and mature B lymphocytes. Moreover, since some of these cells—70Z/3 and 18-81 (31, 46)—can be induced to differentiate, the sequence of events leading to Ig-gene expression and the regulation of that expression could be addressed.

STRUCTURE OF Ig GENES: AN OVERVIEW Immunoglobulin (Ig) genes undergo rearrangements in a tissue-specific manner. This became apparent after the organization and structure of these genes in Ig-producing cells were compared to their configurations in embryonic and nonlymphoid tissue. These complex genes are found in three distinct loci on separate chromosomes, and as is true for many eukaryotic genes, coding regions for both heavy- (IgH) and light-chain (IgL) immunoglobulin genes are segmented. The germline organization and structure of murine and human immunoglobulin genes have been described in detail in a recent review (47) and are discussed only briefly here. In mice, all of the coding regions (exons) for heavy-chain genes are located on chromosome 12 and arranged so that segments encoding variable regions of Ig protein are separated from constant region exons. The sequences that code for variable regions of Ig protein are subdivided into three groups or families of segments for the heavy-chain genes (V, D, and J) and two for each of the light-chain genes (V and J). These groups are arranged sequentially with between 100 and 200 variable (V_H) region exons at the 5' end, followed in order by at least 14 diversity (D) elements unique to heavy-chain genes, and 4 functional joining (J_{H}) region exons (as well as 1 J_{H} pseudogene). The constant region genes for each of the 8 heavy-chain isotypes lie at the 3' end of this locus. Murine κ light-chain genes are organized similarly, on chromosome 6, with an estimated 280 V_k gene segments, 4 J_k segments, and a single κ -constant region (C_x) exon. The murine λ -light chain genes, found on chromosome 16, are organized somewhat differently, with only 2 variable region (V_{λ}) segments but 4 J_{λ} - and λ -constant region (C_{λ}) genes. These are arranged so that 2 J_{λ} - C_{λ} pairs lie in tandem behind each V_{λ} gene (i.e. V_{λ} - J_{λ} - C_{λ} - J_{λ} - C_{λ}). Human Ig loci have basically the same structure and organization, differing from murine loci in the DNA sequences of coding regions and in the number of elements found in each of the V, D, and J families. In the embryonic configuration, each of these elements and each family of segments is flanked by intervening sequences (IVS) of noncoding DNA, often several kilobases (kb) in length. However, DNA sequencing of variable region Ig genes in myelomas and plasmacytomas showed that transcriptionally active genes are rearranged in such a way as to juxtapose one element from each family of variable region coding sequences (V_H, D, and J_H at IgH loci, and V_L and J_L at IgL loci), with concomitant removal of any DNA that had separated these sequences in germline configuration. From this, it became obvious that B-cell precursors must rearrange IgH and IgL genes as part of the differentiation process. A detailed analysis of the reorganization of Ig genes was made possible by the availability of homogenous populations of transformed B-cell precursors and demonstrated that recombination at Ig loci occurs in an ordered sequence of discrete steps.

REARRANGEMENTS OF Ig GENES IN TRANSFORMED PRE-B CELLS The reorganization of Ig gene loci is discussed in detail in a review in this volume (48) and so is only summarized briefly here. Reorganization of the Ig genes begins at the IgH loci with a D-to-J_H recombination. The DJ_H complex then serves as an intermediate for V_H to DJ_H rearrangement. The V_H-to-DJ_H recombination occurs on one allele at a time, and if the first rearrangement is productive, the second allele remains in the intermediate configuration. If the first V_H-to-DJ_H rearrangement is aberrant or nonproductive, the second allele can be rearranged, as described by Alt et al (49) for cells of murine origin and by Korsmeyer et al (45) who used human non-T, non-B ALL cells. Thus, a secondary or V_H-to-DJ_H recombination does not in itself

appear to provide a signal sufficient to stop IgH gene rearrangements. The rearrangement must also be "productive" in that a protein is synthesized from the processed transcripts. Otherwise, rearrangements will continue, as evidenced by the frequency of aberrant V_H -to-DJ_H rearrangements identified so far (49) in a variety of cell lines. It is interesting to note that no V_HD or DD segment rearrangements have been detected in any of the cell lines studied so far. Also of interest is the observation that when both IgH alleles had V_H -to-DJ_H rearrangements, at least one of them was aberrantly rearranged and so would yield no heavy-chain protein.

Only after a productive IgH rearrangement has been made can recombination be detected at IgL loci. Both normal B cells and their transformed analogues frequently exhibit rearrangements of more than one IgL allele and/or locus (50-56). Furthermore, productive rearrangements at IgL loci must provide not only a light-chain protein, but also one that can combine with the μ heavy chain already expressed, in order to generate a functional immunoglobulin protein. It can be argued that synthesis of κ -chain protein somehow provides a necessary signal for cells to stop rearranging IgL loci. In the absence of such a signal, recombination can continue, with the possibility of generating a productive gene at either an unrearranged allele or at an aberrantly rearranged locus (56, 57). To date initial rearrangements most frequently involve κ - rather than λ -gene loci, and this suggests a hierarchy of light-chain gene rearrangements found in normal B cells and their transformed counterparts, as well as asynchrony in heavy- and light-chain gene rearrangements. Each of the recombinatorial events described above was defined initially in transformed cell lines and subsequently confirmed in studies of normal cells, which underscores the utility of tumor models in delineating B-cell physiology at the molecular level.

IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENE EXPRESSION IN PRE B-CELL MODELS Apparently, transcription of recombined Ig genes and translation of their mRNAs into proteins can occur as soon as a productive recombination has been made. Thus, μ -heavy chain protein appears in the cytoplasm of cells that have not yet rearranged their light-chain genes (58, 59, 56, 57). Remarkably, IgH genes in the DJ_H intermediate configuration also are transcribed (59, 60). Studies of 12 bone marrow-derived and 10 fetal liver-derived A-MuLV transformants by Reth & Alt (59) addressed this phenomenon directly, demonstrating that (\dot{a}) while one allele was transcribed in some of the cell lines they studied, others were producing mRNA from both alleles; (b) subsequent V_H-to-DJ_H rearrangements, which occurred spontaneously and rather frequently in fetal liver-derived lines, could generate a functional and actively transcribed gene; and (c) both alleles may continue to be transcribed, even after a productive V_H -to- DJ_H rearrangement. Again, in all of these cell lines, the IgL loci were in germ-line configuration.

Not only are the DJ_H loci transcribed, but synthesis of protein with $C\mu$ sequences also can occur as soon as a productive DJ_{H} -intermediate has been formed. Translation of such an RNA generates a truncated μ -heavy chain, or D μ , protein. Reth & Alt (59) demonstrated that several of the A-MuLV transformants containing only DJ_H rearrangements produce $D\mu$ protein. It had been demonstrated previously that secretory and membrane-associated μ -chains are translated from mRNAs that differ only at the 3' end (10, 61), this alteration results from differential splicing of primary transcripts from the same gene (10). As a result two polypeptides are synthesized that differ in their carboxyterminal sequences (11, 62), i.e. both secretory and membrane-bound forms of these $D\mu$ proteins might be synthesized. However, while protein containing heavy-chain sequences can be detected in the cytoplasmic compartment, as yet no D μ protein has been found on the surface of these A-MuLV transformants, even though the predicted amino acid sequences of $D\mu$ proteins synthesized by these cell lines include amino terminal sequences that might serve as signal peptides for translation of their mRNAs on membrane-bound polyribosomes (63).

Another interesting set of observations has been made regarding these gene products. Previously, Perry & Kelley (64) had reported the isolation of four mRNAs containing $C\mu$ sequences, three of which -3.0, 2.7, and 2.4 kb in length-are associated with membrane-bound polyribosomes and one of which was found predominantly in free (cytoplasmic) polyribosomes and in ribonucleoprotein of 70Z/3 cells. This mRNA was 2.1 kb long and was not found in WEHI 231 cells, which exhibit a more mature phenotype; these cells were shown to contain only the other three sizes of C μ -encoding mRNAs. By comparison, Northern analysis of the C μ -encoding mRNA from pre-B cell hybrids derived from patients with x-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA) showed that these cells also contain mRNAs 2.0-2.1 kb long, roughly 300 bases shorter than the μ -chain mRNA from SM14, a normal B-cell line (65). Taken together, these observations suggest that the 2.1-kb mRNA from 70Z/3 might encode a truncated (D μ) heavy chain derived from the IgH allele containing only a DJ_{H} rearrangement, which is not translated on membrane-bound polyribosomes. Thus, the protein could be neither expressed on the plasma membrane, glycosylated, nor secreted. If this is the case, then concurrent transcription can take place on both IgH loci in 70Z/3 cells, as had been observed by Reth & Alt (59) in A-MuLV-transformed cell lines. Furthermore, expression of $D\mu$ transcripts might be developmentally regulated so that $D\mu$ protein is synthesized only in cells that do not make light-chain protein.

In support of the physiological relevance of these observations, Schwaber

et al (65) noted that approximately 5% of normal pre-B cells from human adult bone marrow produced polypeptides of 54–57 kilodaltons (kd) containing μ -heavy chain determinants, but lacking a V_H region. The pre-B cells from patients with XLA were all found to have this phenotype, suggesting the XLA might result from a block in differentiation of B-cell precursors at the second step in IgH gene rearrangement. Similar results were obtained by Levitt & Cooper (66), who demonstrated not only synthesis, but also secretion of short μ -heavy chains of sIg⁻ cells from murine fetal liver cells, as well as those from a patient with XLA. It has been suggested that these polypeptides might serve some regulatory function, but such a role is purely speculative at this point.

REGULATION OF Ig GENE EXPRESSION DURING EARLY B-CELL DEVELOP-MENT Transformed precursor cell lines also have provided model systems for studying the regulation of gene expression during differentiation. A mature B lymphocyte produces a single functional immunoglobulin molecule containing at least two identical heavy chains and two light chains. Each type of polypeptide is the product of a single rearranged gene. In mature B cells and their transformed analogues, transcripts from productively rearranged genes predominate among the variety of possible transcripts (64, 67), implying that expression of these genes is controlled at least partially at the level of transcription. In support of this notion, a transcriptional enhancer region has been identified that operates in a tissuespecific manner (68, 69). This enhancer is found between J and constant region exons in both heavy-chain and κ -light chain genes (69, 70). In 70Z/3 cells, this region of the κ -light chain locus becomes hypersensitive to nuclease digestion after treatment with LPS, which induces transcription of the rearranged κ gene (71), in a cell cycle–dependent manner (72).

However, one subclone of 18-81 (an A-MuLV transformant) expresses high levels of cytoplasmic μ -heavy chain despite deletion of the enhancer element on the transcribed allele (73). Yet this cell line is unique, since most μ^+ , light chain-negative Abelson transformants express little heavy-chain protein (46, 74). A high intracellular level of heavy-chain protein in the absence of light chain appears to be toxic, since it adversely affects growth in plasmacytomas that have lost light-chain gene expression (75). However, variants of these cells can be isolated that continue to synthesize abnormal heavy-chain protein (76, 77). Such an effect may be at work in the 18-81 parental line, because μ -protein synthesis decreases during long-term culture of these cells, and subcloning of this cell line isolated variants carrying deletions that removed some or all of the enhancer region. These cells produced very low levels of heavy-chain mRNA and protein, but both transcription and translation could be induced by treatment with LPS; this only affected expression of alleles containing productively rearranged variable regions (78).

Some of these secondary subclones appear to have undergone class switching (79–81), an event known to occur in mature B cells. Class switching results in expression of a heavy-chain isotype other than μ and is associated with deletion of huge stretches of DNA containing both coding and noncoding regions. The sequences of heavy-chain genes generated by this kind of rearrangement have been studied in a large variety of plasmacytomas and myelomas; such sequences uniformly involve recombination sites called switch regions (reviewed in 47 and 82). However, the apparent class switching seen in Abelson transformants does not meet these criteria and so may not be physiologically relevant in this regard. Instead, the variants that have been isolated may be deletional mutants selected as a function of clonal outgrowth.

By definition, pre-B cells do not synthesize light-chain protein or express sIg. These events appear to be coupled, in that sIg appears as soon as synthesis of light-chain peptide can be detected. The resulting change in phenotype is associated with differentiation of precursors into immune competent cells, i.e. with a pre-B to B-cell transition. As mentioned previously, 70Z/3 cells have one productively rearranged κ -gene locus and constitutively produce low levels of μ -heavy chain. When treated with LPS (31), IL-1 (83), or BMF (84), they synthesize κ -light chain protein and begin to express surface IgM, suggesting a transcriptional level of control for expression of light-chain protein in 70Z/3. However, despite high levels of secretory μ -heavy chain protein in these cells, they never secrete IgM (84, 85). Since these cells do not make J chain, this lack of secretion may result from an inability to assemble the IgM pentamer. These cells appear to represent precursors frozen at a stage of differentiation immediately preceding the pre-B to B-cell transition but capable of responding to immunoregulatory stimuli by synthesizing light-chain protein. 70Z/3 cells appear to be unique in this regard, since other cell lines that have productively rearranged an IgL locus synthesize light-chain protein constitutively (62). Investigations of 70Z/3 cells have provided many interesting insights. Studying these cells, Parslow et al (15) defined another putative control region. They identified a highly conserved sequence of eight nucleotides, positioned approximately 70 base pairs upstream of the transcriptional initiation site of the rearranged κ gene in 70Z/3 and 13 other light-chain genes (both murine and human). A precise inversion of this sequence is found in the same position in heavy-chain loci. No homologies exist in sequences flanking this octanucleotide. Since both sequence and location are highly conserved, this locus may serve as a site of recognition for factors regulating Ig gene expression. Perhaps this site is involved in the

response to LPS of 70Z/3 cells and 18-81 subclones A-2 and A-20, but that remains to be determined.

More than one intracellular event may be involved in LPS induction, since 70Z/3 cells respond to stimulation with dextran sulfate by increasing synthesis of μ -heavy chain and expressing it on the cell surface in the absence of light chain (86). By comparison, Gordon et al (87) and Hendershot & Levitt (88) demonstrated that the lymphomas they were studying also express cell-surface μ -heavy chain in the absence of light chain. In addition, one of the A-MuLV transformants derived from cloned pre-B cells—the 4.1 cell line—expresses surface μ despite the fact that no discrete IgL rearrangements can be detected in these cells (89). Further analysis will be required to determine whether or not these sIgM⁺, L⁻ cells represent some previously undefined stage in the differentiative process.

Summary

In a variety of ways transformed B-cell precursors have proven to be an invaluable resource to investigators seeking to define the differentiative pathway by which stem cells mature into immune-competent B lymphocytes. These cell lines have been useful in characterizing the pre-B cell phenotypes in greater detail, with the result that such cells are now easier to identify. Transformed cells also have permitted a detailed analysis of the stepwise process of reorganization of Ig genes by which a functional locus is constructed. Using these cells, researchers can now address questions regarding the regulation of both gene rearrangements and gene expression at the molecular level. Clearly these transformed cell lines will remain powerful tools for the analysis of developmentally regulated processes and ultimately may provide insights into the molecular mechanisms by which eukaryotic cells are immortalized.

REGULATION OF IMMUNE FUNCTION USING Ig-SECRETING TUMOR CELLS

Background

Antigen-specific murine plasmacytomas were the first class of B-cell tumors to be extensively examined with the objective of developing monoclonal Bcell model systems. Significant progress has been made and it is now well established that at least some murine plasmacytomas are responsive to normal immunoregulatory signals (90). Depending on the experimental conditions, various regulatory signals have been shown to influence (a) the proliferation and (b) the differentiation of plasmacytoma cells; and to alter (c) the surface membrane expression and (d) the secretion of immunoglobulin. Clearly, distinct signals mediate these effects since each can be experimentally segregated (91). A sizable literature now suggests that plasmacytoma cell proliferation, differentiation, and immunoglobulin expression can be influenced by processes initiated by antigen-specific, idiotype-specific, or isotype-specific triggering mechanisms. These experimental systems offer exciting possibilities for visualizing the biochemical alterations that occur in a B cell subsequent to receipt of an immunoregulatory signal.

The initial suggestion that murine plasmacytoma cells are susceptible to immunoregulatory signals was provided by the osbservation that mice immunized with a purified myeloma protein were rendered resistant to challenge with otherwise lethal numbers of plasmacytoma cells that expressed the corresponding idiotype. Originally demonstrated by Lynch et al (92) with the TNP-specific BALB/c plasmacytomas MOPC-315 (IgA λ 2) and MOPC-460 (IgA κ), comparable findings have been reported by Meinke et al (93), Sugai et al (94), Eisen et al (95), Freedman et al (96), Haughton et al (97), Stevenson et al (98), Krolick et al (99), Perek et al (100), Flood et al (101), Beatty et al (102), Puskas et al (103), and Theilmans et al (104). Miller et al (105) have used an antiidiotype therapeutic strategy in human B-cell lymphoma.

The finding that idiotypic antigens of myeloma proteins could function as tumor-specific transplantation antigens was surprising and appeared somewhat paradoxical. Even though Hannestad et al (106) had shown that murine myeloma cells expressed surface membrane immunoglobulin and proposed that it was a potential target for immune effectors, it nonetheless was surprising that the secreted myeloma protein did not rapidly neutralize the cellular and/or humoral idiotype-specific effectors that mediated the transplantation resistance. Subsequent studies by Rohrer et al (107) demonstrated that the cells of MOPC-315 were cytologically and functionally heterogeneous and that the large, plasmacytoid, M315-secreting cells in the tumor were preferentially lost in the first 24 hr following transplantation into normal recipients. The small, lymphocytoid, nonsecreting, stem cell-enriched tumor population that survived transplantation gave rise, over a period of 10 days, to the original cytologically and functionally heterogeneous tumor. This pattern of cyclic differentiation during in vivo passage has also been reported for hybridoma cells by Tsao & Aldo-Benson (108). Earlier studies by Saunders & Wilder (109), Russell et al (110), and Frondoza et al (111) also provided evidence that murine myeloma cells differentiate as they are passaged in vitro and in vivo. Kubagawa et al (112) have presented evidence that a similar pattern of differentiation occurs in human myeloma clones and have suggested that the extent of clonal involvement may span the pre-B to plasmacyte stages of development.

Following the observation that idiotype-immune mice prevented plas-

macytoma growth, additional evidence for immune regulation of plasmacytomas in vivo came from studies of Paraf et al (113), Barnhill et al (114), Osborne & Katz (115), and Bosma & Bosma (116). In vitro studies by Abbas & Klaus (117), Kim (118), Abbas (119), Bankert et al (120), and Kans et al (121) provided further evidence that antigen-binding plasmacytoma cells could be regulated by antigen-specific mechanisms. Similar conclusions were reached in studies with hybridoma cells by Boyd & Schrader (112), Tsao & Aldo-Benson (108), and Kresina et al (123). In aggregate these studies show that antigen-specific plasmacytoma and hybridoma cells can be influenced by antigen in vivo and in vitro. The nature and intensity of the effects have varied as have the experimental conditions employed in the different systems examined. Many of these interesting studies have been discussed in a review by Abbas (90).

Idiotype-Specific Regulation of MOPC-315

The most extensivly investigated murine plasmacytoma from an immunoregulatory perspective has been the TNP-specific, IgA2-producing, BALB/c plasmacytoma MOPC-315. A multiplicity of idiotype-specific immune responses have been identified in BALB/c mice immunized with M315. These have recently been reviewed (124), and only selected aspects will be discussed here. M315-immunized mice inhibit the proliferation of MOPC-315 cells by a mechanism that is idiotype-specific (92) and appears to involve a short-lived, thymus-dependent T cell (125). The effect appears to be cytostatic, not cytotoxic, but further studies are needed to determine the cytostatic mechanism. In addition, M315-immunized mice develop antiidiotypic (Id³¹⁵) antibodies that are directed to combinatorial determinants (V_{L+H}) , some of which are located at or near the TNP-binding site of M315 while others appear to be directed to framework determinants (126). The antiidiotypic antibodies specifically and reversibly modulate surface-membrane expression of M315 in vitro but do not influence M315 secretion or MOPC-315 proliferation (127). The in vivo effects of anti-Id³¹⁵ antibodies are not as yet defined.

M315-immunized mice also develop idiotype-specific suppressor T cells that inhibit secretion of M315 but do not influence MOPC-315 proliferation (128) or the cytologic differentiation of MOPC-315 cells from small lymphocytoid to large plasmacytoid forms. The suppressor T cell is specific for a $V_{\rm H}^{315}$ idiotope, mediates its effect via a soluble factor, and expresses the surface phenotype Thy-1⁺, Lyt1⁻2⁺ (129). At the effector step it is clear that the suppressor T cells act directly on the actual antibody-secreting cell rather than a secretory-cell precursor. Suppression of M315 secretion is due to a selective inhibition of M315 synthesis by a mechanism that inhibits the expression of λ_2 mRNA in MOPC-315 cells without influencing the expression of α -heavy chain or J-chain mRNAs (130). It is not yet known whether the λ_2 mRNA inhibition reflects a transcriptional or post-transcriptional level of control.

Although M315 synthesis is blocked in suppressed MOPC-315 cells, normal amounts of the membrane and secreted forms of α -heavy chain mRNA are present, and they function normally in a cell-free translation system (131). These findings have provided strong evidence for a regulatory role of light chain in the expression of heavy chain. It may be that lightchain polypeptides, once synthesized and released from their polysomes, either (a) facilitate the release of heavy-chain polypeptides from their polysomes or (b) protect heavy chains from degradation. This mechanism could account for the patterns of heavy- and light-chain expression generally observed in B-cell tumors (discussed in 131). A regulatory role of light chain in the full expression of heavy chain appears to operate in the transition of a pre-B cell to an immunocompetent B cell (discussed in 131). A similar mechanism in which a light chain regulates the full expression of a heavy chain may account for the abnormal patterns of expression of human granulocyte adhesion glycoproteins that have been observed in certain families (132).

An interesting aspect of light-chain mRNA regulation in MOPC-315 cells is the coordinate regulation of λ_2 and λ_1 mRNAs (130). In MOPC-315 cells an aberrantly rearranged λ_1 gene produces a truncated mRNA that is translated into a rapidly degraded short λ_1 light-chain polypeptide (133). In suppressed MOPC-315 cells the coordinate regulation of λ_2 and λ_1 mRNAs appears to be mediated by a trans mechanism since the aberrantly rearranged λ_1 gene in MOPC-315 cells is located on a different chromosome from the productively rearranged λ_2 gene (134). The considerable nucleotide sequence homology between λ_1 and λ_2 -variable regions provides a structural basis for coordinate regulation of the λ family of light chains. Coordinate *trans* regulation of λ_2 - and λ_1 -gene expression implies the existence of a λ -specific regulatory molecule. It is of interest that Abbas et al (135) observed independent regulation of M11 ($\gamma_{2b}\kappa$) and M315 ($\alpha\lambda_2$) expression in a myeloma-myeloma hybrid line (MPC-11 × MOPC-315) exposed to suppressor T cells specific for the corresponding idiotype. While the molecular details of suppression in those studies were not investigated, the findings are of particular interest since one of the immunoglobulin molecules expressed a κ -light chain, while the other expressed a λ_2 -light chain. A light-chain class-specific mechanism could account for independent regulation in a cell producing two immunoglobulins. One predicted consequence of a class-specific inhibition of light-chain expression triggered by idiotype-specific T cells is the suppression of Ig production in that clone independent of heavy-chain class switch. If a

similar mechanism existed for the regulation of κ -light chain expression, then it might be possible to regulate immunoglobulin expression of the entire B-cell repertoire by a mechanism in which an idiotype-specific encounter triggered the expression of either a κ - or λ -regulatory molecule.

The findings of coexpression (133) and coordinate regulation (130) of λ_2 and λ_1 genes in MOPC-315 cells exemplify the penetrating focus that can be achieved in the study of what are usually considered aberrant features expressed in tumor cells.

In addition, the immune responses to idiotypes in the tumor model exhibit an interesting linkage of idiotopic specificity with immune function. Lynch & Milburn (136) have shown that the Id³¹⁵-specific suppressor T cells that inhibit M315 synthesis and secretion are specific for a $V_{\rm H}^{315}$ idiotope. In contrast, Jorgensen & Hannestad (137) have shown that M315-immunized BALB/c mice also develop MHC-restricted, Id³¹⁵-specific helper T cells that are specific for $V_{\rm L}^{315}$. These findings are of particular interest because several studies have shown that the Id³¹⁵-specific antibodies induced in BALB/c mice by immunization with M315 are specific for combinatorial ($V_{\rm L+H}$)³¹⁵ determinants (126). It remains to be seen whether these striking associations and segregations of idiotopes and regulatory functions are fortuitous or have a more fundamental significance.

In a sequence of studies Abbas and colleagues have described an idiotype-specific suppressor system in which M315 secretion is inhibited by splenic T cells from mice immunized intravenously with idiotype-coupled spleen cells (138). Moser et al (139) demonstrated the requirement for an I- A^+ accessory cell in the effector phase of this system.

Antigen-Specific Regulation of MOPC-315

In a sequence of studies Rohrer (reviewed in 90) established that MOPC-315 cells are antigen-sensitive. Using immunization procedures that preferentially induced helper or suppressor T cells specific for sheep erythrocytes, immunized BALB/c mice were implanted with peritoneal diffusion chambers that contained TNP-SRBC, MOPC-315 cells, and accessory cells. Diffusion chambers were sequentially recovered, and MOPC-315 cells assayed for growth, TNP-binding cells, and anti-TNP secretory cells. MOPC-315 growth and differentiation were enhanced in mice with SRBC-specific helper T cells and were suppressed in mice with SRBC-specific suppressor T cells.

The help and suppression were carrier specific. They were observed when MOPC-315 cells were mixed with TNP-SRBC and implanted with SRBCimmunized hosts or mixed with TNP-RRBC (rabbit red blood cells) and implanted into RRBC-immunized hosts. The crisscross experiment did not result in MOPC-315 regulation, i.e. TNP-RRBC did not work in SRBC- primed mice and TNP-SRBC did not work in RRBC mice. Furthermore, a requirement for linked recognition was observed that had previously been found by Mitchison (140) for normal T:B collaboration. MOPC-315 regulation was not observed in SRBC-primed mice when TNP was present on mouse erythrocytes (TNP-MRBC) with nonhaptenated SRBC also present in the diffusion chamber. In subsequent studies, MOPC-315 regulation was shown to be adoptively transferred to normal mice with T cells, purified through nylon wool, from carrier-primed donors; adoptive transfer was abrogated by treatment of the donor cells with anti-Thy-1 serum plus complement (141). Carrier-specific regulation of MOPC-315 requires histocompatible macrophages in the diffusion chamber with the MOPC-315 cells and the TNP-carrier. As with idiotype-specific regulation of MOPC-315, distinct sets of carrier-specific T cells regulate clonal proliferation and secretory differentiation. The regulatory capacity of this system is considerable, as is demonstrated by studies in mice with advanced, disseminated MOPC-315 tumors (142).

In an interesting sequence of studies (reviewed in 90), Abbas demonstrated that DNP-conjugated IgG could inhibit synthesis and secretion of M315 by MOPC-315 cells in vitro without influencing MOPC-315 growth. DNP-Ig was rapidly endocytosed by MOPC-315 cells, and electron microscopic studies showed abundant localization near the perinuclear Golgi zone. Detailed biochemical studies were not carried out, but this system may be a useful model for investigation of suppression by tolerogenic antigens and antigen-antibody complexes.

Isotype-Specific Regulation of MOPC-315

While most studies of B-cell regulation that have used a tumor model have employed the tumor cells as monoclonal *targets* of immunoregulatory signals, a number of studies have established that malignant B cells can also be *inducers* of immunoregulatory signals. Examples include the plasmacytoma-induced macrophage activation that leads to immune deficiency (143) and the osteoclast activation that results in skeletal demineralization (144). If these two effects are "exaggerated" but otherwise normal functions of Ig-secreting cells, it remains to be determined how these activities contribute to immune homeostasis.

A striking example of immunoregulatory induction by B-cell tumors is the pattern of T-cell alteration seen in murine and human myeloma (145). These B-cell neoplasms are accompanied by the development of large numbers of regulatory T lymphocytes that express surface receptors specific for the heavy-chain class of the corresponding myeloma protein. T_{α} cells are increased with IgA-secreting tumors (146), T_{Σ} cells with IgE (147), T_{γ} cells with IgG, and T_{μ} cells with IgM (148). The FcR⁺ T cells that increase in

mice with plasmacytomas and hybridomas are Thy-1⁺, L3T4⁻, Lyt1⁻, Lyt2⁺, adult-thymectomy-sensitive lymphocytes (149). The T_{α} cells that develop in mice with MOPC-315 tumors are IgA-specific suppressor T cells that can inhibit normal IgA responses (150) and can suppress proliferation and IgA secretion by MOPC-315 cells (151). The phenotypic and functional properties of the FcR⁺ T cells in myeloma suggest that the cells reflect exaggerated responses of isotype-specific regulatory circuits. B-cell tumors that exhibit such regulatory functions may provide powerful models for investigating the mechanisms that control isotype selection and expression in B cells.

Summary

MOPC-315 is an extensively characterized tumor that is both a *target* and an *inducer* of immunoregulatory signals. A single effect, e.g. inhibition of M315 secretion, can be triggered by separate idiotype-, antigen, and isotype-specific mechanisms. An issue of considerable interest is whether different regulators trigger the same final common pathway. For example do the antigen-specific and isotype-specific suppressor mechanisms that inhibit M315 secretion do so by regulation of λ_2 -mRNA expression as has been shown for idiotype-specific suppression?

TUMOR MODELS OF B-LYMPHOCYTE FUNCTION AND REGULATION

The I.29 Lymphoma Model of Heavy-Chain Class Switch

I.29 is a monoclonal B lymphoma of I/St mice (152). When grown in vivo this tumor consists of cells expressing IgM and IgA on their surfaces. Both isotypes express the same idiotype (153) and are encoded by the same $V_{\rm H}$ gene (154). In an elegant study Stavnezer et al (155) have developed this tumor system as a model for studying heavy-chain class switching. Clones of IgM⁺ I.29 cells have been induced by LPS to switch to IgA, IgE, on IgG2a. Fifteen days after exposure to LPS, up to 90% of the originally IgM⁺, IgA⁻ I.29 cells become IgM⁻, IgA⁺. In actively switching cultures up to 50% of the cells simultaneously express IgM and IgA, indicating that the appearance of IgA is due to isotype switching and not to clonal outgrowth.

Prior to switching, the I.29 cells contain two H chromosomes bearing two rearranged μ genes—an expressed μ gene (which has undergone VDJ, recombination) and a nonexpressed μ gene that has undergone a DJ, recombination. In the IgM⁺ cells the C_H genes 3' to the μ genes are present in the germline configuration on both chromosomes. Southern blots of Ig heavy-chain genes in I.29 cells before and after switching show that isotype switching is accompanied by DNA recombinations that occur within, or immediately 5' to, the switch sequences. Cells that have switched to IgA expression contain rearranged, expressed α genes, produced by recombination between the S_µ region within the expressed μ gene and the S α region (155).

The I.29 tumor is an attractive model for investigating molecular mechanisms involved in heavy-chain class switching. It has the major advantage that the switch can be induced by LPS, one of several features the I.29 model shares with normal B cells, and antiidiotypic antibody synergizes the LPS induction (155). Isotype switching has been investigated with other tumor systems such as pre-B-cell lymphomas (32) and a number of myelomas and hybridomas (156), but in these systems the switch is: (a) spontaneous, not induced; (b) an extremely low frequency event; (c) not accompanied by DNA recombinations in the switch sequences; and (d) often a switch to the C_{H} gene located immediately 3' to the gene being expressed. The I.29 tumor, therefore, provides a clonal model of isotypeswitching that appears to be physiologically relevant. It may provide a powerful experimental system for addressing issues such as: (a) the linkage of membrane receptors to the activation of specific switch recombinases; (b)the role of T cells and T-cell factors in the switch from IgM to IgA and IgE; and (c) the nature and significance of switch recombinations that occur in the allelic, nonexpressed heavy-chain genes.

In addition to isotype switching, I.29 cells may be useful models to investigate the transition of B lymphocytes to plasmacytes. Sitia et al (153) have reported that LPS induces $sIgA^+$ I.29 cells to increase in diameter, to become $sIgA^-$, to develop intense cytoplasmic IgA, and to increase IgA secretion 50-fold. Induction of high-rate secretion was also observed by Hamano & Asofsky (157) when mIgM⁺ murine B-hybridoma cells were exposed to anti-IgM antibody. Interestingly, a subline of this hybridoma produced IgG2a as well as IgM when exposed to anti-IgM antibody.

Regulation of Growth and Differentiation in B-Cell Lymphomas and Leukemias

There are now many examples of B-lymphocyte tumors that differentiate spontaneously or following exposure to a variety of immunoregulatory signals. In humans the studies of Fu et al (158) showed that certain clones of chronic lymphocytic leukemias (CLL) contained cells at different stages of differentiation from mIgM⁺, mIgD⁺ lymphocytes to mIgM^{+/-}, mIgD⁻, IgM-secreting plasma cells. They showed that CLL cells could be induced to differentiate by allogeneic helper-T-cell factors or by pokeweed-mitogen

stimulation in the presence of autologous T cells. Differentiation was not dependent on cell division and could be blocked by anti-IgM or antiidiotypic antibodies.

An intense research effort has been directed towards identification and characterization of T cell-derived lymphokines that affect B-cell growth and differentiation, to develop an understanding of their mechanisms of action. Vitetta, Uhr, and colleagues have employed BCL₁, a BALB/c B-cel prolymphocytic leukemia/lymphoma (159), in some of these studies Brooks et al (160) have established in vitro clones of BCL_1 that express high surface IgM, low surface IgD, and variable levels of surface Ia. In the presence of BCDF_w, the BCL₁ cells exhibit a 10-90-fold increase in IgM secretion and comparable increases in cytoplasmic IgM. Northern blotting using a μ -specific DNA probe showed that prior to the addition of BCDF, a 1.7 kb mRNA for membrane μ chain was the predominant species o cytoplasmic μ -specific RNA in the BCL₁ cells. After exposure to BCDF, and induction of IgM secretion, there was a marked increase in the quantity of the 2.4 kb mRNA encoding the secreted form of the μ chain. The BCL system has been a productive model for investigating B-lymphocyte growth and differentiation.

There is now a sizable literature describing studies in which Blymphocyte tumors have been used to investigate a feature known to be expressed by normal B lymphocytes. Berman et al (161) used this approach to examine the structure of membrane IgM. Paige et al (31) and Boyd et a (162) studied the effect of LPS on WEHI-231, a B-cell lymphoma that expressed surface IgM. They found that LPS induced a marked reduction in surface IgM (7S) and a concomitant increase in secretion of (19S) IgM.

The basis for inactivation of normal B cells by antiimmunoglobulir antibodies was investigated by Boyd & Schrader using WEHI-231 (163) They showed that low concentrations (0.1 μ g/ml) of anti-IgM inhibited WEHI-231 proliferation and resulted in cell death. This finding suggested that WEHI-231 might be a tumor model of anti-IgM-induced B-cel tolerance (164). McCormack et al (165) showed that WEHI-231 cells exposed to anti-IgM undergo a single round of division but that further proliferation is inhibited. Interestingly, this arrest of growth by a specific receptor-mediated signal is preceded by a 25-50-fold decrease in the cytoplasmic levels of *c*-myc mRNA. The drop in *c*-myc mRNA is highly selective in that other mRNAs are not affected. Further studies are needed to determine the molecular basis for the dramatic *c-myc* mRNA decrease and to identify the mechanism that leads to death of WEHI-231 cells following exposure to anti-IgM antibodies. While perturbations of the c myc locus and dysregulation of c-myc expression have been identified in many human, murine, and avian B-cell tumors, WEHI-231 is an example of a B-cell tumor in which the germ-line *c-myc* proto-oncogene is not rearranged. Furthermore, *c-myc* appears to be under strict positive and negative regulatory control in WEHI-231 cells by a mechanism that can be influenced by engagement of surface-membrane IgM. This tumor appears to provide a useful model for investigating the mechanisms of B-cell inactivation by antiimmunoglobulin.

Tumor Models for the Study of Immunoglobulin Secretion

In an interesting series of experiments Hickman and colleagues have used murine plasmacytoma cells to investigate some of the biochemical requirements for immunoglobulin secretion. They observed that tunicamycin blocked the secretion of IgA and IgE by inhibiting heavy-chain glycosylation (166). Interestingly, nonglycosylated M315 could be reexpressed at the surface membrane of tunicamycin-treated MOPC-315 cells (167). Additional insight into the biochemistry of IgA secretion has come from studies of 315/P, a nonsecreting variant of MOPC-315 that expresses surface-membrane M315 (168). This clone expresses several other features characteristic of presecretory B cells (169). Compared to wild-type M315 cells, this variant exhibits a marked elevation in sugar-nucleotide pyrophosphatase which essentially depletes the pool of glucosylated nucleotides that are required for heavy-chain glycosylation (170). Glucocorticoids induce high levels of sugar-nucleotide pyrophosphatase activity in the M315-secreting wild-type MOPC-315 cells, and this results in inhibition of M315 secretion (171). These studies have identified potentially important biochemical control points for the regulation of secretion. They are particularly interesting in view of the effect of glycosylation on regulatory functions that have been ascribed to some T cells that influence IgE secretion (reviewed in 172).

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

B-cell tumors have been extraordinary sources of information about antibodies, their genes, and the cells that express them. An important principle that has emerged from the study of lymphoid tumors is that the long-held view that malignant lymphoid cells are "frozen" at a fixed point in differentiation is not generally valid. Presentation of immunoregulatory signals to transformed B cells can profoundly influence their proliferation, morphology, differentiation, gene expression, and immunoglobulin synthesis. In addition to their responsiveness to immunoregulatory signals, some tumors of B lineage elaborate immunoregulatory signals. Until quite recently B-cell tumors were used primarily as monoclonal sources of molecules of immunological interest. While they continue to be important

sources of receptors, growth and differentiation factors, differentiation antigens, and immunoregulatory factors, they are being used with increasing frequency to define the molecular events that occur in B cells subsequent to receipt of an immunoregulatory signal. While the use of tumor cells as models of normal cells is often viewed with some skepticism, it is difficult to find examples wherein tumors have been misleading. Quite to the contrary B-cell tumors have regularly provided powerful tools for dissecting the molecular events that underlie B-cell development, function, and regulation

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge the excellent secretarial contributions of Betty Simpson in the preparation of this manuscript.

Literature Cited

- Kindt, T. J., Capra, J. D. 1984. The Antibody Enigma. New York : Plenum. 270 pp.
- Eisen, H. N., Little, J. R., Osterland, C. K., Simms, E. S. 1967. A myeloma protein with antibody activity. *Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol.* 32:75
 Eisen, H. N., Simms, E. S., Potter, M.
- Eisen, H. N., Simms, E. S., Potter, M. 1968. Mouse myeloma proteins with anti-hapten antibody activity. The protein produced by plasma cell tumor MOPC-315. Biochemistry 7:4126
- Schubert, D., Jobe, A., Cohen, M. 1968. Mouse myelomas producing precipitating antibody to nucleic acids and/or nitrophenyl derivatives. *Nature* 220: 882
- Potter, M. 1977. Antigen-binding myeloma proteins of mice. Adv. Immunol. 25:141
- Kohler, G., Milstein, C. 1975. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibodies of predefined specifications. *Nature* 256:495
- Hozumi, N., Tonegawa, S. 1976. Evidence for somatic rearrangement of immunoglobulin genes coding for variable and constant regions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 73:3628
- Tonegawa, S., Brock, C., Hozumi, N., Matthyssens, G., Schuller, R. 1979. Dynamics of immunoglobulin genes. *Immunol. Rev.* 36:73
- Erikson, J., Finan, J., Nowell, P. C., Croce, C. M. 1982. Translocation of immunoglobulin V_κ genes in Burkitt lymphoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:5611

- Early, P., Rogers, J., Davis, M., Calame K., Bond, M., Wall, R., Hood, L. 1980 Two mRNA can be produced from *a* single immunoglobulin μ gene by alternative RNA processing pathways. Cel 20:313
- Alt, F. W., Bothwell, A. L. M., Knapp M., Siden, E., Mather, E., Koshland, M. Baltimore, D. 1980. Synthesis of sec reted and membrane-bound immunoglobulin mu heavy chains is directed by mRNAs that differ at their 3' end. Cel 20:293
- Kuehl, W. 1977. Synthesis of immunoglobulin in myeloma cells. Curr. Top Microbiol. Immunol. 76:1
- Kikutani, H., Sitia, R., Good, R. A. Stavenezer, J. 1981. Synthesis and processing of the α heavy chains of secretec and membrane-bound IgA. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 78:6426
- Wall, R., Kuehl, M. 1983. Biosynthesis and regulation of immunoglobulins. Ann Rev. Immunol. 1: 393
- Parslow, T. G., Blair, D. L., Murphy, W J., Granner, D. K. 1984. Structure o the 5' ends of immunoglobulin genes: A novel conserved sequence. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 81:2650
- Stavnezer, J., Sirlin, S., Abbott, J. 1985 Induction of immunoglobulin isotype switching in cultured 1.29 B lymphoma cells. Characterization of the accompanying rearrangements of heavy chair genes. J. Exp. Med. 161: 577
- genes. J. Exp. Med. 161:577 17. Lynch, R. G., Rohrer, J. W., Odermatt B. O., Gebel, H. M., Autry, J. R. Hoover, R. G. 1979. Immunoregulatior

of murine myeloma cell growth and differentiation: A monoclonal model of B cell differentiation. *Immunol. Rev.* 48: 45

- Lanier, L. L., Warner, N. L., Ledbetter, J. A., Herzenberg, L. A. 1981. Expression of Lyt-1 antigen on certain B cell lymphomas. J. Exp. Med. 153:998
- Hayakawa, K., Hardy, R. R., Parks, D. R., Herzenberg, L. A. 1983. The "Ly-1 B" cell subpopulation in normal, immunodefective, and autoimmune mice. J. Exp. Med. 157:202
- Seligmann, M., Mihaesco, E., Preudhomme, J., Danon, F., Brouetx, J. 1979. Heavy chain diseases: Current findings and concepts. *Immunol. Rev.* 48:145
- Dreyer, W. N., Bennett, J. C. 1965. The molecular basis of antibody formation: A paradox. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 54:864
- Owen, J. J. T., Raff, M. C., Cooper, M. D. 1975. Studies on the generation of B lymphocytes in mouse embryo. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 5:468
- Melchers, F., Von Boehmer, H., Phillips, R. A. 1975. B lymphocyte subpopulations in the mouse. Organ distribution and ontogeny of immunoglobulinsynthesizing and mitogen-sensitive cells. *Transplant. Rev.* 25:26
- Raff, M. C., Megson, M., Owen, J. J. T., Cooper, M. D. 1976. Early production of intracellular IgM by B-lymphocyte precursors in mouse. *Nature* 259:224
- 25. Gathings, W. E., Lawton, A. R., Cooper, M. D. 1977. Immunofluorescent studies of the development of pre-B cells, B lymphocytes and immunoglobulin isotype diversity in humans. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 7:804
- Owen, J. J. T., Wright, D. E., Habu, S., Raff, M. C., Cooper, M. D. 1977. Studies on the generation of B lymphocytes in fetal liver and bone marrow. J. *Immunol.* 118:2067
- Siden, E., Alt, F. W., Shinefield, L., Sato, V., Baltimore, D. 1979. Synthesis of immunoglobulin µ chain gene products precedes synthesis of light chains during B-lymphocyte development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78:1823
- Rosenburg, Y. G., Parish, C. R. 1977. Ontogeny of antibody-forming cell line in mice. IV. Appearance of cells bearing Fc receptors, complement receptors, and surface immunoglobulin. J. Immunol. 118:612
- Kearney, J. F., Cooper, M. D., Klein, J., Abney, E. R., Parkhouse, R. M. E., Lawton, A. R. 1977. Ontogeny of Ia and

IgD on IgM-bearing B lymphocytes in mice. J. Exp. Med. 146:297

- Baltimore, D., Rosenberg, N., Witte, O. N. 1979. Transformation of immature lymphoid cells by Abelson murine leukemia virus. *Immunol. Rev.* 48:3
- Paige, C. J., Kincade, P. W., Ralph, P. 1978. Murine B cell leukemia line with inducible surface immunoglobulin expression. J. Immunol. 121:641
- Vogler, L. B., Preud'homme, J. L., Seligmann, M., Gathings, W. E., Crist, W. M., Cooper, M. D., Bollum, F. J. 1981. Diversity of immunoglobulin expression in leukaemic cells resembling Blymphocyte precursors. *Nature* 290: 339
- Brouet, J. C., Preud'homme, J. L., Penit, C., Valensi, F., Rouget, P., Seligmann, M. 1979. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia with pre-B-cell characteristics. *Blood* 54:269
- 34. Fu, S. M., Hurley, J. N., McCune, J. M., Kunkel, H. G., Good, R. A. 1980. Pre-B cells and other possible precursor cell lines derived from patients with Xlinked agammaglobulinemia. J. Exp. Med. 152:1519
- Burrows, P., LeJeune, M., Kearney, J. F. 1979. Evidence that pre-B cells synthesize μ heavy chains but no light chains. Nature 280:838
- McKearn, J. P., Baum, C., Davie, J. D. 1984. Cell surface antigens expressed by subsets of pre-B cells and B cells. J. Immunol. 132:332
- Coffman, R. L., Weissman, I. L. 1981. A monoclonal antibody that recognizes B cells and B cell precursors in mice. J. Exp. Med. 153:269
- Dissner, D. S., Lokin, M. R. 1981. DNL 1.9: A monoclonal antibody which specifically detects all murine B lineage cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 11:282
- Kincade, P. W., Lee, J., Watanabe, T., Sun, L., Scheid, M. P. 1981. Antigens displayed on murine B lymphocyte presursors. J. Immunol. 127:2262
- Wang, C. Y., Azzo, W., Al-Katib, A., Chiorazzi, N., Knowles, D. M. 1984. Preparation and characterization of monoclonal antibodies recognizing three distinct differentiation antigens (BL1, BL2, BL3) on human B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 133:684
- 41. Kersey, J. H., LeBien, T. W., Abramson, C. S., Newman, R., Sutherland, R., Greaves, M. 1981. p24: A human leukemia-associated and lymphohemopoietic progenitor cell surface structure identified with monoclonal antibody. J. Exp. Med. 153:726

- Ritz, J., Pesanda, J. M., Notis-McConarty, J., Lazarus, H., Schlossman, S. F. 1980. A monoclonal antibody to human acute lymphoblastic leukaemia antigen. *Nature* 283:583
- 43. Paige, C. J., Skarvall, H., Sauter, H. 1985. Differentiation of murine B cell precursors in agar culture. II. Response of precursor-enriched populations to growth stimuli and demonstration that the clonable pre-B cell assay is limiting for the B cell precursor. J. Immunol. 134:3699
- 44. Jyonouchi, H., Kincade, P. W., Landreth, K. S., Lee, G., Good, R. A., Gershwin, M. E. 1982. Age-dependent deficiency of B lymphocyte lineage precursor in NZB mice. J. Exp. Med. 155: 1665
- 45. Korsemeyer, S. J., Arnold, A., Bakshi, A., Ravitch, J. V., Siebenlist, U., Heiter, P. A., Sharrow, S. O., LeBien, T. W., Kersey, J. H., Poplak, D. G., Leder, P., Waldmann, T. A. 1983. Immunoglobulin gene rearrangement and cell surface antigen expression in acute lymphocytic leukemias of T cell and B cell precursor origins. J. Clin. Invest. 71:301
- 46. Rosenberg, N., Siden, E., Baltimore, D. 1979. Synthesis of mu chains by Abelson virus-transformed cells and induction of light chain synthesis with lipopolysaccaride. In B. Lymphocytes and the Immune Response, ed. M. D. Cooper, D. Mosier, C. Scher, E. Vitetta, pp. 379-86. Amsterdam: Elsevier North Holland
- Honjo, T. 1983. Immunoglobulin genes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:499
- Alt, F. W. 1986. Assembly of immunoglobulin genes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 4: In press
- Alt, F. W., Yancopoulos, G. D., Blackwell, T. K., Wood, C., Thomas, E., Boss, M., Coffmann, R., Rosenberg, N., Tonegawa, S., Baltimore, D. 1984. Ordered rearrangement of heavy chain variable region segments. *EMBO J.* 3:1209
- Heiter, P. A., Korsemeyer, S. J., Waldmann, T. A., Leder, P. 1981. Human immunoglobulin κ light chain genes are deleted or rearranged in λ-producing B cells. *Nature* 290: 368
- Korsemeyer, S. J., Hieter, P. A., Ravitch, J. V., Poplack, D. G., Waldmann, T. A., Leder, P. 1981. Developmental hierarchy of immunoglobulin gene rearrangements in human leukemic pre-B cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78: 7096
- Perry, R. P., Coleclough, C., Weigert, M. 1980. Reorganization and expres-

sion of immunoglobulin genes: Status of allelic elements. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 45:925

- Coffman, R. L., Weissman, I. L. 1983. Immunoglobulin gene rearrangement during pre-B differentiation. J. Mol. Cell. Immunol. 1:31
- Nottenburg, C., Weissman, I. L. 1981. C gene rearrangement of mouse immunoglobulin genes in normal B cells occurs on both the expressed and nonexpressed chromosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:484
- Perry, R. P., Kelley, D. E., Coleclough, C., Kearney, J. D. 1981. Organization and expression of immunoglobulin genes in fetal liver hybridomas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:247
- Lewis, S., Rosenberg, N., Alt, F., Baltimore, D. 1982. Continuing kappa-gene rearrangement in a cell line transformed by Abelson murine leukemia virus. *Cell* 30:807
- 57. Whitlock, C. A., Ziegler, S. F., Treiman, L. J., Stafford, J. I., Witte, O. N. 1983. Differentiation of cloned populations of immature B cells after transformation with Abelson murine leukemia virus. *Cell* 32:903
- Alt, F., Rosenberg, N., Lewis, S., Thomas, E., Baltimore, D. 1981. Organization and reorganization of immunoglobulin genes in A-MuLV-transformed cells: Rearrangement of heavy but not light chain genes. Cell 27:381
- Reth, M. G., Alt, F. W. 1984. Novel immunoglobulin heavy chains are produced from DJ gene segment rearrangements in lymphoid cells. *Nature* 312: 418
- Alt, F. W., Rosenberg, N., Enea, V., Siden, E., Baltimore, D. 1982. Multiple immunoglobulin heavy-chain gene transcripts in Abelson murine leukemia virus-transformed lymphoid cell lines. *Molec. Cell. Biol.* 2: 386
- Rogers, J., Early, P., Carter, C., Calame, K., Bond, M., Hood, L., Wall, R. 1980. Two mRNAs with different 3' ends encode membrane-bound and secreted forms of immunoglobulin μ chain. Cell 20:303
- McCune, J. M., Lingappa, V. R., Fu, S. M., Blobel, G. 1980. Biogenesis of membrane-bound and secreted immunoglobulins. I. Two distinct translation products of human µ-chain with identical N-termini and different C-termini. J. Exp. Med. 152:463
- Watson, M. W. 1984. Compilation of published signal sequences. Nucl. Acids Res. 12:5145
- 64. Perry, R. P., Kelley, D. E. 1979.

Immunoglobulin messenger RNAs in murine cell lines that have characteristics of immature B lymphocytes. Cell 18:1333

- 65. Schwaber, J., Molgaard, H., Orkin, S. H., Gould, H. J., Rosen, S. J. 1983. Early pre-B cells from normal and X-linked agammaglobulinemia produce Cμ without an attached V region. Nature 304:355
- Levitt, D., Cooper, M. D. 1980. Mouse pre-B cells synthesize and secrete heavy chains but not light chains. *Cell* 19:617
- Kemp, D. J., Harris, A. W., Adams, J. M. 1980. Transcripts of the immunoglobulin Cμ gene vary in structure and splicing during lymphoid development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77:7400
- Gillies, S. D., Morrison, S. J., Oi, V. T., Tonegawa, S. 1983. A tissue-specific transcription enhancer element is located in the major intron of a rearranged immunoglobulin heavy chain gene. Cell 33:717
- Banerji, J., Olson, L., Schaffner, W. 1983. A lymphocyte-specific cellular enhancer is located downstream of the joining region in immunoglobulin heavy chain genes. Cell 33:729
- Queen, C., Baltimore, D. 1983. Immunoglobulin gene transcription is activated by downstream sequence elements. Cell 33:741
- Parslow, T., Granner, D. K. 1982. Chromatin changes accompany immunoglobulin gene activation: A potential control region within the gene. *Nature* 299: 449
- Sakaguchi, N., Kishimoto, T., Kikitani, H., Watanabe, T., Yoshida, N., Shimizu, A., Yainawaki-Kataoka, Y., Honjo, T., Yamamura, Y. 1980. Induction and regulation of immunoglobulin expression in a murine pre-B cell line, 70Z/3. I. Cell cycle-associated induction of sIgM expression and κ-chain synthesis in 70Z/3 cells by LPS stimulation. J. Immunol. 125:2654
- 73. Wabl, M. R., Burrows, P. D. 1984. Expression of immunoglobulin heavy chain at a high level in the absence of a proposed immunoglobulin enhancer element in cis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:2452
- 74. Siden, E. J., Baltimore, D., Clark, D., Rosenberg, N. 1979. Immunoglobulin synthesis by lymphoid cells transformed *in vitro* by Abelson murine leukemia virus. *Cell* 16:389
- Kohler, G. 1980. Immunoglobulin chain loss in hybridoma lines. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:2197
- 76. Morrison, S. L., Scharff, M. D. 1975.

Heavy chain-producing variants of a mouse myeloma cell line. J. Immunol. 114:655

- Argon, Y., Burrone, O. R., Milstein, C. 1983. Molecular characterization of a nonsecreting myeloma mutant. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 13:301
- 78. Alt, F. W., Rosenberg, N. E., Lewis, S., Casanova, R. J., Baltimore, D. 1981. Variations in immunoglobulin heavy and light chain gene expression in a cloned Abelson murine leukemia virustransformed cell line. In B Lymphocytes in the Immune Response: Functional, Developmental, and Interactive Properties, ed. N. Klinman, D. E. Mosier, I. Scher, E. S. Vitetta, p. 33. New York: Elsevier North Holland
- Alt, F. W., Rosenberg, N., Casanova, J., Thomas, E., Baltimore, D. 1982. Immunoglobulin heavy-chain expression and class switching in a murine leukaemia cell line. *Nature* 296:325
- Burrows, P. D., Beck-Engeser, G. B., Wabl, M. 1983. Immunoglobulin heavychain class switching in a pre-B cell line is accompanied by DNA rearrangement. *Nature* 306:243
- Akira, S., Sugiyama, H., Yoshida, N., Kikutani, H., Yamamura, Y., Kishimoto, T. 1983. Isotype switching in murine pre-B cell lines. *Cell* 34: 545
- Tonegawa, S., Sakano, H., Trauneker, A., Heinrich, G., Roeder, W., Kurosawa, Y. 1980. Somatic reorganization of immunoglobulin genes in lymphocyte differentiation. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 45:859
- Giri, J. G., Kincade, P. W., Mizel, S. B. 1984. Interleukin 1-mediated induction of κ-light chain synthesis and surface immunoglobulin expression on pre-B cells. J. Immunol. 132:223
- 84. Sidman, C. L., Paige, C. J., Schreier, M. H. 1984. B cell maturation factor (BMF): A lymphokine or family of lymphokines promoting the maturation of B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 132:209
- Mains, P. E., Sibley, C. H. 1982. Control of IgM synthesis in the murine pre-B cell line, 70Z/3. J. Immunol. 128:1664
- Paige, Ć. J., Kincade, P. W., Ralph, P. 1981. Independent control of immunoglobulin heavy and light chain expression in a murine pre-B-cell line. *Nature* 292:631
- Gordon, J., Hamblin, T. J., Smith, J. L., Stevenson, F. K., Stevenson, G. T. 1981.
 A human B-cell lymphoma synthesizing and expressing surface μ-chain in the absence of detectable light chain. Blood 58:552

- Hendershot, L., Levitt, D. 1984. Analysis of surface μ-chain in human lymphoblastoid cell lines that do not produce light chains. J. Immunol. 132: 502
- 89. Silverstone, A. E., Rosenberg, N., Baltimore, D., Sato, V. L., Scheid, M. D., Boyse, E. A. 1978. Correlating terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase and cell-surface markers in the pathway of lymphocyte ontogeny. In *Differentiation of Normal and Neoplastic Hematopoietic Cells*, ed. B. Clarkson, P. A. Marks, J. A. Till, p. 433. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Lab.
- Abbas, A. K. 1982. Immunologic regulation of lymphoid tumor cells: Model systems for lymphocyte function. Adv. Immunol. 32: 301
- Immunol. 32:301
 91. Rohrer, J. W., Gershon, R. K., Lynch, R. G., Kemp, J. D. 1984. The enhancement of B lymphocyte secretory differentiation by an Ly 1⁺, 2⁻, Qa-1⁺ helper T cell subset that sees both antigen and determinants on immunoglobulin. J. Cell. Mol. Immunol. 1:50
- Lynch, R. G., Graff, R., Sirisinha, S., Simms, E. S., Eisen, H. N. 1982. Myeloma proteins as tumor specific transplantation antigens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 69:1540
- Meinke, G. C., McConakey, P. J., Spiegelberg, H. L. 1974. Suppression of plasmacytoma growth in mice by immunization with myeloma protein. *Fed. Proc.* 33:792
- 94. Sugai, S., Palmer, D. W., Talal, N., Witz, I. P. 1974. Protective and cellular immune responses to idiotypic determinants on cells from a spontaneous lymphoma of NZB/NZW mice. J. Exp. Med. 140:1547
- Eisen, H. N., Sakato, N., Hall, S. J. 1975. Myeloma proteins as tumor-specific antigens. *Transplant. Proc.* 7:209
- Freedman, P., Autry, J. R., Tokuda, S., Williams, R. C. 1976. Tumor immunity induced by pre-immunization with BALB/c mouse myeloma protein. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 45:735
- 97. Haughton, G., Lanier, L. L., Babcock, G. F., Lynes, M. A. 1978. Antigeninduced murine B cell lymphomas. II. Exploitation of the surface idiotype as tumor specific antigen. J. Immunol. 121:2358
- Stevenson, G. T., Elliott, E., Stevenson, F. K. 1977. Idiotypic determinants on the surface of neoplastic lymphocytes: A therapeutic approach. *Fed. Proc.* 36:2268
- Krolick, K. A., Isakson, P. C., Uhr, J. W., Vitetta, E. S. 1979. BCL₁, a murine model for chronic lymphocytic

leukemia; use of the surface immunoglobulin idiotype for detection and treatment of a tumor. *Immunol. Rev.* 48:81

- 100. Perek, Y., Hurwitz, E., Burowsky, D. 1983. Immunotherapy of a murine B cell tumor with antibodies and F(ab)2 fragments against idiotypic determinants of its cell surface IgM. J. Immunol. 131:1600
- 101. Flood, P. M., Phillips, C., Taupier, M., Schrieber, H. 1980. Regulation of myeloma growth in vitro by idiotype-specific T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 124:424
- 102. Beatty, P. G., Kim, B. S., Rowley, D. W., Coppelson, L. W. 1976. Antibody against the antigen receptor of a plasmacytoma prolongs survival of mice bearing that tumor. J. Immunol. 116:1391
- 103. Puskas, E., Uher, F., Gergely, J., Bazin, H. 1984. An experimental immunocytoma model in /LOU/M/Wsl X CFY/F rats: Neoplastic cells as targets of the hosts immune apparatus. Immunology 52: 547
- 104. Thielmans, K., Rothbard, J. B., Levy, S., Levy, R. 1985. Syngeneic antiidiotypic immune responses to a B cell lymphoma. Comparison between heavy chain hypervariable region peptides and intact Ig as immunogens. J. Exp. Med. 162:19
- 105. Miller, R. A., Maloney, D. G., Warnke, R., Levy, R. 1982. Treatment of B cell lymphoma with monoclonal antiidiotype antibody. N. Engl. J. Med. 306:517
- 106. Hannestad, K., Kao, M. S., Eisen, H. N. 1972. Cell-bound myeloma proteins on the surface of myeloma cells: Potential targets for the immune system. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 69: 2295
- 107. Rohrer, J. W., Vasa, K., Lynch, R. G. 1977. Myeloma cell immunoglobulin expression during *in vivo* growth in diffusion chambers: Evidence for repetitive cycles of differentiation. J. *Immunol.* 119:861
- 108. Tsao, B. P., Aldo-Benson, M. A. 1984. Central suppression of monoclonal B cells: DNP-MGG suppresses proliferation and immunoglobulin synthesis in anti-DNP-secreting hybridoma and myeloma. Cell. Immunol. 88:96
- 109. Saunders, G. C., Wilder, M. A. 1971. Repetitive maturation cycles in a cultured mouse myeloma. J. Cell. Biol. 51:344
- Russell, J. H., Hale, A. H., Ginns, L. C., Eisen, H. A. 1978. Periodic loss of reactivity of a myeloma tumor with

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:621-649. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

cytotoxic thymus-derived lymphocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 75:441

- 111. Frondoza, C. G., Trivedi, S. M., Humphrey, R. L. 1979. Temporary disappearance ("eclipse") of LPC-1 plasmacytoma—component synthesis following tumor cell transfer. *Cancer Res.* 39:2497
- 112. Kubagawa, H., Vogler, L. B., Capra, J. D., Conrad, M. E., Lawton, A. R., Cooper, M. D. 1979. Studies on the clonal origin of multiple myeloma: Use of individually-specific (idiotype) antibodies to trace the oncogenic event to its earliest point of expression in B-cell differentiation. J. Exp. Med. 150:792
- 113. Paraf, A., Gueron-Marchand, C., Aubrey, J., Dubert, J. M. 1974. Inhibition of murine plasmacytoma tumors with antibody activity by their specific antigens. Ann. Immunol. (Inst. Pasteur) 126C: 411
- 114. Barnhill, C. W., Ghanta, V. K., Hiramoto, R. N., Yielding, K. L. 1976. Immunologic suppression of DNA synthesis in MOPC-104E plasmacytoma cells. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 153: 107
- 115. Osborne, D. P., Katz, D. H. 1977. The allogeneic effect on tumor growth. I. Inhibition of a murine plasmacytoma, MOPC-315, by the graft-vs-host reaction. J. Immunol. 118:1441
- 116. Bosma, M. J., Bosma, G. C. 1977. Prevention of IgG_{2a} production as a result of allotype specific interaction between T and B cells. J. Exp. Med. 145:743
- 117. Abbas, A., Klaus, G. G. B. 1977. Inhibition of antibody production in mouse plasmacytoma cells by antigens. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 7:667
- 118. Kim, B. A. 1979. Mechanisms of idiotype suppression. I. In vitro generation of idiotype-specific suppressor T cells by anti-idiotype antibodies and specific antigen. J. Exp. Med. 149:1371
- 119. Abbas, A. 1979. Inhibition of antibody production in plasmacytoma cells. III. Interactions of suppressive and non-suppressive DNP-conjugates with MOC-315 cells. J. Immunol. 122:1791
- 120. Bankert, R. B., Mayers, G. L., Pressman, D. 1978. Clearance and re-expression of a myeloma cell's antigenbinding receptors induced by ligands known to be immunogenic or tolerogenic for normal B lymphocytes: A model to study membrane events associated with B cell tolerance. Eur. J. Immunol. 512
- 121. Kans, J., D'Ottavio, R., Kohler, H. 1981. Mechanism of neonatal idiotype

suppression. III. Delayed maturation of plasmacytoma stem cells in neonatally suppressed hosts. J. Immunol. 127:509

- 122. Boyd, A. W., Schrader, J. W. 1980. Mechanism of effector-cell blockade. I. Antigen-induced suppression of Ig synthesis in a hybridoma cell line, and correlation with cell-associated antigen. J. Exp. Med. 151:1436
- 123. Kresina, T. F., Baine, Y., Nisonoff, A. 1983. Adoptive transfer of resistance to growth of an idiotype-secreting hybridoma by T cells from idiotypically suppressed mice. J. Immunol. 130: 1478
- 124. Lynch, R. G., Milburn, G. L. 1984. Murine plasmacytoma MOPC 315 as a tool for the analysis of network regulation. In *The Biology of Idiotypes*, ed. M. I. Greene, A. Nisonoff, p. 299. New York : Plenum
- 125. Daley, M. J., Gebel, H. M., Lynch, R. G. 1978. Idiotype-specific transplantation resistance to MOPC-315: Abrogation by post-immunization thymectomy. J. *Immunol.* 120:1620
- 126. Odermatt, B. O., Perlmutter, R., Lynch, R. G. 1978. Molecular heterogeneity and fine specificity of BALB/c antibodies elicited by isologous myeloma protein. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 8:858
- Milburn, G. L., Lynch, R. G. 1983. Antiidiotypic regulation of IgA expression in myeloma cells. *Molec. Immunol.* 20:931
- Rohrer, J. W., Odermatt, B. O., Lynch, R. G. 1979. Immunoregulation of murine myeloma: Isologous immunization with M315 induces idiotypespecific T cells that suppress IgA secretion by MOPC-315 cells in vivo. J. Immunol. 122:2011
- 129. Milburn, G. L., Lynch, R. G. 1982. Immunoregulation of murine myeloma in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 155:852
- 130. Parslow, T. G., Milburn, G. L., Lynch, R. G., Granner, D. K. 1983. Suppressor T cell action inhibits the expression of an excluded immunoglobulin gene. *Science* 220:1389
- 131. Milburn, G. L., Parslow, T. G., Goldenberg, C., Granner, D. K., Lynch, R. G. 1984. Idiotype-specific T cell suppression of light chain mRNA expression in MOPC-315 cells is accompanied by a post-transcriptional inhibition of heavy chain expression. J. Cell. Mol. Immunol. 1:115
- 132. Springer, T. A., Thompson, W. S., Miller, L. J., Schmalsteiz, F. C., Anderson, D. C. 1984. Inherited deficiency of the Mac-1, LFA-1, p150, p95 glycoprotein family and its molecular basis. J. Exp. Med. 160: 1901

- Bothwell, A., Paskind, M., Schwartz, R., Sonenshein, G., Gefter, M., Baltimore, D. 1981. Nature 290:65
- 134. Hozumi, N., Wu, G., Murialdo, H., Baumal, R., Mosman, T., Winberry, L., Marks, A. 1982. Arrangement of λ light chain genes in mutant clones of the MOPC-315 mouse myeloma cells. J. Immunol. 129:260
- 135. Abbas, A., Burakoff, S., Gefter, M., Green, M. 1980. T lymphocyte mediated suppression of myeloma function *in vitro*. III. Regulation of antibody production in hybrid myeloma cells by T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 152:969
- 136. Lynch, R. G., Milburn, G. L. 1983. Id³¹⁵-specific T cells that suppress MOPC-315 IgA synthesis recognize a $V_{\rm H}^{\rm 315}$ idiotope. Fed. Proc. 42:688 (Abstr.)
- 137. Jorgensen, T., Hannestad, K. 1979. T helper lymphocytes recognize the V_L domain of the isologus mouse myeloma protein 315. Scand. J. Immunol. 10:317
- 138. Abbas, A. K., Takaoki, M., Greene, M. I. 1982. T lymphocyte-mediated suppression of myeloma function *in vitro*. IV. Generation of effector suppressor cells specific for myeloma idiotypes. J. *Exp. Med.* 155:1216
- 139. Moser, G., Kauffman, M. J., Abbas, A. K. 1985. Accessory cells in immune suppression. II. Evidence for presentation of idiotype-specific suppressor factors to B cell targets by I-A accessory cells. J. Immunol. 134: 2867
- 140. Mitchison, N. A. 1971. Carrier effects on the secondary immune response. II. Cellular cooperation. Eur. J. Immunol. 1:118
- 141. Rohrer, J. W., Lynch, R. G. 1978. Antigen-specific regulation of myeloma cell differentiation in vivo by carrierspecific T cell factors and macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 120:1066
- 142. Rohrer, J. W., Lynch, R. G. 1979. Immunoregulation of systemic murine myeloma: Antigen-specific regulation of MOPC-315 stem cell proliferation and differentiation. J. Immunol. 123: 1083
- 143. Zolla-Pazner, S. 1980. Immunodeficiency induced by plasma cell tumors: Comparison of findings in human and murine hosts. In *Progress in Myeloma*, ed. M. Potter, p. 171. New York: Elsevier North Holland
- 144. Mundy, J. R., Raisz, L. G., Cooper, R. A., Schechter, G. P., Salmon, S. E. 1974. Evidence for the secretion of an osteoclast stimulating factor in myeloma. N. Engl. J. Med. 291:1041
- 145. Hoover, R. G., Gebel, H. M., Dieck-

graefe, B. K., Hickman, S., Rebbe, N., Hirayama, N., Ovary, Z., Lynch, R. G. 1981. Occurrence and potential significance of increased numbers of T cells with Fc receptors in myeloma. *Immu*nol. Rev. 56:115

- 146. Hoover, R. G., Dieckgraefe, B. K., Lynch, R. G. 1981. T cells with Fc receptors for IgA: Induction of T_α cells in vivo and in vitro by purified IgA. J. Immunol. 127:1560
- 147. Mathur, A., Maekawa, S., Ovary, Z., Lynch, R. G. 1985. Increased T_e cells in BALB/c mice with an IgE-secreting hybridoma. Submitted
- 148. Mathur, A., Lynch, R. G. 1985. Increased T γ and T μ cells in BALB/c mice with IgG and IgM plasmacytomas and hybridomas. J. Immunol. In press
- 149. Hoover, R. G., Dieckgraefe, B. K., Lake, J., Kemp, J. D., Lynch, R. G. 1982. Lymphocyte membrane immunoglobulin myeloma. III. IgA plasmacytomas induce large number of circulating, adult thymectomy-sensitive, θ⁺, Lyt-1⁻²⁺ lymphocytes with IgA-Fc receptors. J. Immunol. 129:2329
- 150. Hoover, R. G., Lynch, R. G. 1983. Isotype-specific suppression of IgA: Suppression of IgA responses in BALB/c mice by Tα cells. J. Immunol. 130: 521
- 151. Muller, S., Hoover, R. G. 1985. T cells with Fc receptors in myeloma: Suppression of growth and secretion of MOPC-315 by Tα cells. J. Immunol. 134:644
- 152. Sato, H. E., Boyer, A., Aoki, T., Iritani, C., Old, L. J. 1973. Leukemiaassociated transplantation antigens related to murine leukemia virus. The X.1 system: Immune response controlled by a locus linked to H-2. J. Exp. Med. 138:593
- 153. Sitia, R., Rubartelli, A., Haemmerling, U. 1981. Expression of 2 immunoglobulin isotypes, IgM and IgA, with identical idiotype in the B cell lymphoma I.29. J. Immunol. 127:1388
- 154. Stavnezer, J., Marcu, K. B., Sirlin, S., Alhadiff, B., Haemmerling, U. 1982. Rearrangements and deletions of immunoglobulin heavy chain genes in the double producing B cell lymphoma I.29. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2:1002
- 155. Stavnezer, J., Abbott, J., Sirlin, S. 1984. Immunoglobulin heavy chain switching in cultured I.29 murine B-lymphoma cells: Commitment to an IgA or IgE switch. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 113:109
- 156. Sablitsky, F., Radbruch, A., Rajewsky, K. 1982. Spontaneous immunoglobulin class switching in myeloma and hy-

bridoma cell lines differs from physiological class switching. Immunol. Rev. 67:59

- 157. Hamano, T., Asofsky, R. 1983. Functional studies on B-cell hybridomas with B cell surface antigens. I. Effects of anti-immunoglobulin antibodies on proliferation and differentiation. J. Immunol. 130:2027
- 158. Fu, S. M., Chiorazzi, N., Kunkel, H. G. 1979. Differentiative capability and other properties of the leukemia cells of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Immunol. Rev.* 48:23
- Isakson, P. C., Pure, E., Uhr, J. W., Vitetta, E. S. 1981. Induction of proliferation and differentiation of neoplastic B cells. See Ref. 78, p. 501
- Brooks, K. H., Uhr, J. W., Krammer, P. H., Vitetta, E. S. 1983. Lymphokineinduced IgM secretion by clones of neoplastic B cells (BCL₁). *Nature* 302:825
- 161. Bergman, Y., Haimovich, J. 1977. Characterization of a carcinogen-induced murine B Lymphocyte cell line of C3H/ eb origin. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 7: 413
- 162. Boyd, A. W., Goding, J. W., Schrader, J. W. 1981. The regulation of growth and differentiation of a murine B cell lymphoma. I. Lipopolysaccharide-induced differentiation. J. Immunol. 126:2461
- 163. Boyd, A. W., Schrader, J. W. 1981. The regulation of growth and differentiation of a murine B cell lymphoma. II. The inhibition of WEHI 231 by anti-immunoglobulin antibodies. J. Immunol. 126:2466
- 164. Sidman, C. L., Unanue, E. R. 1978. Control of proliferation and differentiation in B lymphocytes by anti-Ig and a serum derived co-factor. *Proc. Natl.*

Acad. Sci. USA 75:2401

- 165. McCormack, J. E., Pepe, V. H., Kent, R. G., Dean, M., Marshak-Rothstein, A., Sonnenshein, G. E. 1984. Specific regulation of c-myc oncogene expression in a murine B-cell lymphoma. *Proc. Natl.* Acad. Sci. USA 81:5546
- Hickman, S., Kulczycki, A. Jr., Lynch, R. G., Kornfeld, S. 1977. Studies of the mechanism of tunicamycin inhibition of IgA and IgE secretion by plasma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 252:4402
- Hickman, S., Wong-Yip, Y. P. 1979. Re-expression of nonglycosylated surface IgA in trypsin-treated MOPC 315 plasmacytoma cells. J. Immunol. 123: 389
- 168. Gebel, H. M., Autry, J. R., Rohrer, J. W., Lynch, R. G. 1979. In vitro and in vivo studies of a TNP-binding IgA lymphoma isolated from MOPC-315, a TNP-binding IgA plasmacytoma of BALB/c mice. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 62:201
- 169. Cohen, D. I., Steinberg, A. D., Paul, W. E., Davis, M. D. 1985. Expression of an x-linked gene family (XLR) in late-stage B cells and its alteration by the xid mutation. Nature 314: 372
- Hickman, S., Wong-Yip, Y. P., Rebbe, N. F., Greco, J. M. 1985. Formation of lipid-linked oligosaccharides by MOPC-315 plasmacytoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 260:6098
- 171. Rebbe, N. F. 1983. Nucleotide-sugar pyrophosphatase induction and associated effects on glycoprotein biosynthetic pathways, p. 125. PhD thesis. Washington Univ. St. Louis. 175 pp.
- 172. Ishizaka, K. 1984. Regulation of IgE synthesis. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1:159



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE- REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter, Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Little Index, volumes 1–4	726
Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1986. 4:651-80

MECHANISM OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS¹

Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John R. Ortaldo

Biological Therapeutics Branch, Biological Response Modifiers Program, Division of Cancer Treatment, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Frederick Cancer Research Facility, Frederick, Maryland 21701

INTRODUCTION

Natural killer (NK) cells were discovered about 13 years ago during studies of cell-mediated cytotoxicity against tumor cells (see 1 for review). Although investigators expected to find specific cytotoxic activity in tumor-bearing individuals against autologous tumor cells or against allogeneic tumors of similar or the same histologic type, appreciable cytotoxic activity was evident when lymphocytes from normal individuals were observed. It became clear that such cytotoxic activity was mediated by a subpopulation of effector cells that have come to be known as NK cells. The characteristics of NK cells and their possible relationship to T cells or macrophages have been extensively studied, and a previous review in this series has summarized much of the available information (2). One of the most consistent features of NK cells, which has permitted their purification and detailed comparison with other types of effector cells, is their close association with a morphological subpopulation of cells, the large granular lymphocytes (LGL) (3).

In addition to extensive efforts to characterize NK cells and to determine their in vivo relevance, particularly in regard to their possible role in

¹ The US Government has the right to retain a nonexclusive, royalty-free license in and to any copyright covering this paper.

immune surveillance and in resistance to progressive growth and metastases of tumor (4), there has been much interest in elucidating the mechanism of cytotoxicity by NK cells (5). Recent progress makes it now possible to assimilate most of the available evidence in a model that divides the interactions between NK cells and NK-susceptible target cells into several phases (Figure 1).

Clearly the NK cell first has to bind to the target cell through a receptor that recognizes structures on the target cells. The second phase involves the triggering or activation of intracellular processes in the NK cells, probably



Figure 1 Model for phases in interaction between NK cells and NK-susceptible target cells.

affecting the cytoplasmic granules and leading to the rearrangement of the granules and other cytoplasmic organelles towards the site of binding with the target cell. Demonstration of potent and rapid cytotoxic activity by isolated LGL granules makes it likely that the next step is release of some granules or their contents from the effector cell at, or in close proximity to, the junction with the target. Then molecules of the granule cytolysin would bind to the target cell, presumably at sites separate from those recognized by the NK receptor. One might expect that most of the target selectivity for lysis is based on the NK receptors, and the finding that LGL granules have less specificity than NK cells is consistent with this expectation. The soluble NK cytotoxicity factor (NKCF) might be an alternative but less efficient mechanism of lysis or it might be related to the granule cytolysin. There is evidence for a binding step in the interaction of NKCF with target cells, since NKCF can be absorbed out by susceptible targets and these then lyse without any further exogenous exposure to granules or NKCF.

The final step in the pathway of cytotoxicity is the lysis of the target cells. The details of the lytic event remain to be elucidated. An intriguing possibility is that the cytolysin causes a channel or ring-like hole to be introduced into the target structure. Alternatively, the cytolysin may make a channel which then allows a toxin to enter the target cell and kill it.

Less information exists about how NKCF mediates lytic effects and whether that process is similar or distinct from that associated with LGL granule cytolysin.

A recent opportunity to explore the nature of NKCF and other possible soluble mediators has come from the availability of several highly purified cytotoxic molecules, e.g. lymphotoxin (LT) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and antibodies against these factors. Studies have been initiated to determine the possible relationship of NKCF to these well-defined factors and to evaluate the role of such molecules in NK activity.

Clearly, this model is an oversimplification of a complex sequence of events, and Targen et al (6) have carefully dissected out several distinct phases, which are subsequent to the binding of NK cells to target cells. However, this model does provide a framework for classifying the mechanism of action of the many factors demonstrated over the last several years either to increase or to inhibit NK activity. It is now possible to arrange most of these factors in a sequence according to whether they are affecting binding or one of the later events.

The present review summarizes much of the available information on each of the phases of the NK cell-target cell interaction that can lead to the lysis of target cells. The review particularly emphasizes the nature of the recognition receptors on NK cells, the complementary target structures that lead to conjugate formation, and the cytotoxic molecules that mediate lytic activity.

PHASES IN THE CYTOLYTIC PROCESS

Binding of NK Cells to Target Cells

NATURE OF TARGET-CELL STRUCTURE As indicated in the previous section, the cell-mediated cytolytic process can be divided into a number of distinct steps. The initial step in cytotoxicity by all types of cytotoxic lymphoid cells, including natural killer (NK) cells, involves binding of the effector cell to the target cell. For cytolytic T cells, much is known about the interacting structures on the surface of both the effector cells and the target cells responsible for this interaction. The T-cell receptor and its associated structures have been well defined (7), and it is clear that recognition of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) in association with specific antigen on the target cell is usually required for binding and subsequent lysis (8). In contrast, little information exists as yet about the recognition structure on the surface of NK cells or the target-cell structure(s) they recognize. We review here the evidence obtained thus far.

While it is clear that a broad array of tumor target cells are lysed by NK cells, there is nonetheless a selective pattern of killing, with some lines distinctly resistant to NK activity (9, 10). The susceptibility of such a wide spectrum of target cells to recognition and lysis by NK cells could be due to expression of a common determinant. Alternatively, multiple subsets of NK cells may each recognize a different determinant. From studies using adsorption procedures (11, 12) or cloning of effector cells (13–15), the evidence favors the existence of at least several subsets of NK cells, some with broad reactivity and others with narrower patterns of cytotoxic effects.

Insight into the nature of the NK target structure and its heterogeneity would be much increased by determination of the biochemical nature of the target cell determinant. However, to date very few studies have directly addressed this question. The paucity of biochemical studies on the NK target structure can be attributed (a) to limitations, at least until recently, in the methodology to isolate and purify large numbers of NK cells, and (b) to unavailability of a rapid quantitative method to assess the interaction of NK cells with soluble membrane-derived materials.

A number of indirect approaches have been used to investigate NK target structure(s). Treatment of targets with various enzymes (e.g. proteases, lipases) and agents like tunicamycin have led to the suggestion of a role for a glycoprotein or glycolipid structure (16). A second, more indirect, approach used specific reagents such as antitransferrin receptor (17–20), antilaminin (20a), or antitarget antibodies (21). However, none of these studies yielded information that accounts for NK activity against an array of susceptible target cells; of more concern—most such inhibitory agents block NK activity at step(s) subsequent to binding of the effector

cells to target cells. However, digestion of target cells with proteases can result in the loss of recognition by NK cells (22), implying that surface proteins are a part of the target structure that is recognized.

A more direct approach would be to isolate membrane components from NK-susceptible targets and to measure their effects on the binding of NK cells to targets. Roder et al (23, 27) reported that high molecular weight (140-200 kd) glycoproteins can inhibit conjugate formation of normal mouse spleen cells with NK-susceptible targets, but a more detailed characterization of the target-cell molecules and the determinants recognized by mouse NK cells has not been reported. The ability to isolate highly purified NK cells, using discontinuous Percoll gradients, prompted a biochemical characterization of NK target-cell molecules involved in binding of human NK cells to the highly NK-susceptible target K562 (24). The use of highly purified effector cells was important since the previous study by Roder et al (23) used unfractionated mouse spleen cells, which have been shown to contain a high percentage of cells that bind to NKsusceptible targets but that lack any detectable cytolytic activity (25). A detection system using highly purified NK cells avoids inhibition by non-NK cell binders, since the majority (>80%) of binders have lytic activity against the target cells (26). Solubilized membrane proteins from K562 target cells were purified by various chromatographic procedures, reconstituted with exogenous lipid, and then tested for their ability to inhibit conjugates of LGL and target cells (24). The evidence that the inhibitory material was the target-cell molecule(s) recognized by NK cells was provided by the specificity of the inhibition. Membrane material from the human NK-susceptible target K562 inhibited conjugate formation between human LGL and several human NK-susceptible target cells but did not affect binding between human LGL and antibody-coated targets nor between rat NK cells and their NK-susceptible mouse or rat targets. The characteristics of the conjugate-inhibitory materials are summarized in Table 1. Results from the studies with human target cells indicate that the target-cell structures are protein in nature (27). The inhibitory material was sensitive to trypsin and lost activity after incubation at 65° for 40 min, but not after incubation at 56°. The material could be purified by a variety of lectins with strong binding to Con A and weak binding to peanut agglutinin. The size of the inhibitory molecules appeared to cover a broad range of molecular weights, with the range in the human from 30-165 kd and in the mouse, 140-240 kd. Collectively these studies indicate that inhibition of binding of effector cells to target cells by materials that have been separated by standard biochemical methods can be used to elucidate the structure recognized by NK cells. The available evidence regarding the detailed characteristics of the molecule(s) remains limited in regard to (a) the

Annual Reviews

656 HERBERMAN, REYNOLDS & ORTALDO

Characteristic	Species	Nature	Reference
Composition	Human	Protein	26
-	Mouse	Protein	27
Sensitivity to inactivation	Human	Trypsin-sensitive	24
-	Human	Heat-labile (65° for 40 min)	24
Adsorption to lectins	Human	Con-A (strong)	24
-	Human	Ulex europa (weak)	24
	Human	Peanut [Arachis] (weak)	24
Molecular weight range of	Human	Broad (30–165 kd)	24
inhibitory material	Mouse	Broad (140-240 kd)	23

Table 1	Nature	of isolated	NK	target	structures
---------	--------	-------------	----	--------	------------

relationship of binding structures from one target to the next, (b) what regulates the expression of these target cell structures, and (c) whether they are associated with viral or oncogene products. Current data do not indicate the nature of the determinant(s) recognized by NK cells; they only indicate the characteristics of molecules bearing these determinants. It is possible that the determinants recognized by NK cells may be protein and/or carbohydrate in nature. That treatment with trypsin destroyed the inhibitory activity does not exclude a carbohydrate determinant since the protein may be required for efficient interaction of the soluble inhibitory material with lipid. Evidence for such a requirement exists for the human T-cell receptor that has a transmembrane lipophilic sequence (28, 29). Likewise the heat inactivation of the target structure may be attributable to a requirement for tertiary protein conformation for its reconstitution into lipid vesicles or for presentation to the effector cell; it does not necessarily imply a protein determinant. Studies to be discussed later indicate that initial binding is only one step in these cytolytic mechanisms. A number of systems have been defined in which inhibition of lysis is due to postbinding events. Also, some mutant NK-resistant target cells are not deficient in their binding to NK cells, but rather in their ability to activate NK-cell cytolytic mechanisms (30, 31), indicating that some postbinding activation structures or signals are not recognized by the effector cell. Therefore, a target cell may be easily recognized by the effector cells but may be unable to activate the lytic machinery or, alternatively, may possess molecules that interfere with subsequent events required to lyse the target cell.

THE RECOGNITION RECEPTOR ON NK CELLS Although the binding of NK cells to target cells is clearly required to activate the lytic process of these cells, the mechanism(s) by which these effectors recognize target cells is still not clear. Most of the data regarding the NK-recognition receptor only

serve to show what it is not. For instance, although NK and antibodydependent cellular cytotoxic (ADCC) activities may be mediated by the same effector cell, blocking of the receptor for the Fc portion of IgG (Fc γ R) inhibits only ADCC activity and has little or no effect on NK activity (32). This demonstrates that the NK receptor is not simply the Fc γ R binding to cell-bound antibody on the target. Similarly, the NK-recognition receptor is unlikely to be immunoglobulin (Ig) since Ig-like molecules are absent from the surface membrane of LGL (33, 34), and treatment of lymphocytes with anti-Ig and complement has no effect on their NK activity (35).

It has been suggested that the recognition of murine NK-susceptible target cells by NK cells is via a laminin-like structure (20a), but use of purified populations of human LGL has so far not obtained similar results (J. Ortaldo, unpublished observations). Therefore, the role of laminin and/or laminin receptors in target-cell recognition by LGL is still unclear.

It has also been suggested that murine NK cells and cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) and other clones with NK-like activity express mRNA as well as rearrangements of the genes coding for the β -chain of the T-cell receptor (36). Experiments in the human cells using $T3^+$, but not $T3^-$. lymphocyte clones with NK-like activity have produced similar data (37). The authors suggest that the T-cell receptor on such cells acts as the recognition receptor for NK-like activity, since antibodies to the idiotypic determinants of the T-cell receptor blocked cytotoxic activity against K 562 (38). However, even in those studies, some clones with NK-like activity had no detectable expression of T-cell receptors, indicating that other structures can recognize NK-susceptible targets. In addition, data from our laboratory indicate that the NK-recognition receptor is different from the T-cell receptor. First, in the rat, LGL tumor lines with high NK activity have no genomic rearrangement of the T-cell receptor β -chain and no detectable complete 1.3-kb mRNA for this structure (39). Second, freshly isolated, highly purified populations of rat, mouse, and human LGL have no detectable 1.3-kb mRNA or β -chain gene rearrangement, in spite of very high NK activity (40). Third, the addition of anti-T3 antibody, which recognizes a portion of the human T-cell receptor complex, has no effect on the NK activity of freshly isolated human LGL or T3⁺ cytotoxic clones with NK-like activity (J. Ortaldo, unpublished observations). Finally, Binz, Wigzell, and associates (41) have reported that addition of antiidiotype antibodies to CTL lines with both antigen-specific and NK-like activity inhibited only the antigen-specific cytotoxicity but did not affect the NKlike activity of these clones.

The likely reason for divergent results regarding fresh mouse NK cells (36, 40) is related to the difficulty in obtaining highly purified NK cells without appreciable contamination by T cells (i.e. < 5% T cells) from mouse

spleen, and the previous positive report (36) is probably due to insufficient purification of the effector cell population. The detection of T cell-receptor gene rearrangement and/or expression in in vitro cultured cells may be explained by the appearance of T cell-receptor molecules as well as T3 in some NK cells when cultured (42) or by the development of NK-like activity in typical T cells when cultured in IL-2 (43). In either case, the expression of the T-cell receptor is unlikely to be related to the expression of NK-like receptors on these cells.

Taken together, these results indicate that the NK-cell recognition receptor is not identical to the previously described T-cell receptor complex and its molecular nature remains elusive. Perhaps use of a molecular biological approach similar to that successfully used for the T-cell receptor will lead to the elucidation of the structure(s) by which NK cells recognize target cells.

Activation of NK Cells and Rearrangement of Granules

After conjugate formation, the next interaction appears to involve the triggering or activation of intracellular processes in the NK cells, probably affecting the cytoplasmic granules and leading to the rearrangement of the granules and other cytoplasmic organelles towards the site of binding with the target cell. Several years ago, Saksela et al (44) presented evidence for such rearrangement after binding to target cells, and recently Dennert et al (45) have obtained similar evidence. Based on the isolation of the LGL granules and the demonstration of their potent and rapid cytotoxic activity (see section on LGL Granule Cytolysin), it is likely that the next stage involves the release of granules close to the junction with the target.

Release of Cytotoxic Molecules

Recently, an appreciable amount of experimental evidence has accumulated for a mechanism of NK activity involving secretion of cytolytic molecules. This evidence includes (a) rearrangement of cytoplasmic organelles and release of granules from NK cells following their binding to target cells (46, 47); (b) decreased NK activity in Chediak-Higashi patients (48-50) and Beige (bg/bg) mice (51) that bear mutations leading to abnormal formation of lysosomal granules; (c) the reported inability of agranular lymphocytes to kill after they contact tumor cells (52); (d) a reduction in NK activity by strontium (53, 54), which promotes leukocyte degranulation (55); (e) a requirement for lipid metabolism (transmethylation and phospholipase A_2 activity) for both secretion of lysosomal enzymes and NK-cell activity (56, 57); and (f) the inhibition of NK activity by lysosomotropic amines that interfere with lysosomal function (58). Demonstrations that NK cells release soluble cytolytic factors (NKCF) upon incubation with NK-susceptible target cells or lectins (59, 60) provide further evidence that a secretory process is involved.

To evaluate directly the role of LGL granules in LGL GRANULE CYTOLYSIN the lysis of tumor cells, the cytoplasmic granules from rat LGL tumors have been purified (61, 62). These cells provide a convenient and uniform source of highly active cytolytic cells with NK specificity (63, 64). The granules contain a potent, calcium-dependent cytolytic material, termed LGL granule cytolysin, not present in the cytoplasmic granules of other noncytolytic leukocytes (62). The characteristics of the cytolysin are summarized in Table 2. LGL-cytolysin is a protein of approximately 60 kd that lyses a wide range of target cells in a rapid and Ca²⁺-dependent manner. When tested on liposomes, LGL-cytolysin induced a rapid release of internalized carboxyfluorescein (62). As previously seen on lysed NK or ADCC targets (46, 65, 66), characteristic ring-like structures appeared, inserted into the lipid membrane. Penetration of negative stain into the liposomes correlated well with the presence of these pore structures. Together these data provide strong support for the model that assumes LGL granule-derived pore insertion into the lipid layer as a mechanism of cytolysin activity.

The activity of LGL-cytolysin clearly supports the model for lymphocyte cytotoxicity involving granule exocytosis after target-cell recognition. However, it is not easy to design definitive experiments to test whether granule cytolysins are responsible for the lethal damage inflicted by cytotoxic lymphocytes. One approach is to use rabbit antibodies against the purified LGL tumor granules. Fluorescence microscopy shows that such rabbit antibodies stain cytoplasmic granules in LGL tumor cells, LGL, and CTL, but not in normal splenocytes, thymocytes, or peripheral T cells (67). The antibodies do not stain the plasma membranes of LGL

Characteristic	Attribute
Lymphocyte source	Fresh LGL, rat LGL tumors
Kinetics (37°C)	Rapid $(1-2 \min)$
Divalent cation requirement	Ca^{+2} or Sr^{+2}
Sensitivity of targets to lysis	SRBC > nucleated cells > LGL
Molecular weight	60–62 kd
Stability	Heat-labile, pronase-sensitive, inactivated following addition of Ca ⁺²
Concentration required for	·
lytic activity	$>4 \times 10^{-11}$ M (3 ng/ml)

Table 2 General characteristics of LGL granule cytolysin

and granule staining can be detected only after permeabilization of the membrane. By Western blots, antigranule antibodies react with four of the five major granule proteins (67), and IgG from the antigranule sera specifically block granule cytolysin activity (67). Importantly, $F(ab')_2$ fragments of these antibodies specifically block the lytic activity of purified rat LGL in NK and ADCC assays in addition to the cytolysin activity (67) (Table 3). The antibodies do not interfere with binding of LGL to target cells, an expected result for antibodies to cytoplasmic granules. We regard these experiments with antigranule antibodies as strong direct evidence for a role of granule components in NK activity. Presumably the antibodies have access to the granule cytolysin upon its release from the NK cells and prior to its effective interaction with target cells bound to the effector cells

As summarized in Table 2, the LGL granule cytolysin has much broader specificity for target cells than that seen with NK cells. NK-resistant tumor cell lines and even LGL themselves are lysed by the cytolysin, and sheep erythrocytes—not susceptible to NK activity—are particularly sensitive indicators of cytolysin activity (62). This major difference in specificity of NK cells and cytolysin, and the lack of lysis of NK-resistant third-party cells during an NK assay, need to be explained to postulate a central role for LGL granule cytolysin in the lytic process of NK cells. It is likely that during the interaction between NK cells and targets, the granule cytolysin is released mainly in the small intercellular space at the point of conjugate formation. Extracellular Ca²⁺ should rapidly inactivate the cytolysin that escapes into the surrounding medium before it reaches other target cells Thus, the specificity of the NK reaction would be defined mainly by the initial recognition of susceptible targets, with cytolysin released only upor

	51	Cr-release	ª (%)	Con of LO	jugates GL ^b (%)
Treatment	SRBC	YAC-1	P815+Ab	YAC-1	P815+Ab
None	NT℃	34 <u>+</u> 1	38±3	18±5	34±1
PBS control	78 <u>+</u> 2	34 <u>+</u> 3	37 ± 3	20 ± 2	33 ± 2
Anti-TNP control ^d Anti-LGL granule ^d	$\begin{array}{c} 81\pm 3\\ 1\pm 1\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 30\pm 6\\ 3\pm 1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 38 \pm 2 \\ 14 \pm 1 \end{array}$	17±4 18±5	26 ± 1 35 ± 2

Table 3 Effect of antigranule Ab on cytolysin and on NK and ADCC activity

^a With either 10 units cytolysin (versus SRBC targets) or purified rat LGL (versus YAC-1 or P815 + Ab), effector/target = 25:1.

^b Effector/target = 2:1 at 37°C for 5 min.

^d F(ab')₂ fragments of rabbit antibodies at 300 μ g/ml in the assay.

[°] Not tested.

an effective interaction. According to this model, it would not be necessary to have specificity at the lytic molecule phase as well.

NK CYTOTOXIC FACTOR (NKCF) Wright & Bonavida described a soluble factor that selectively lyses NK-susceptible target cells (59, 60, 68). This factor, produced during the interaction of mouse spleen cells with NKsusceptible targets, was termed natural killer cytotoxic factor (NKCF). Similarly, human NKCF is released upon incubation of human peripheral blood lymphocytes (16, 69) or of purified large granular lymphocytes (16, 69, 70) with NK-susceptible targets or mitogens. Table 4 summarizes some of the characteristics of NKCF.

Both human and murine NKCF appear to be protein in nature, in that they are inactivated by trypsin treatment (72). Sialic acid does not seem to be an important part of the molecule since activity is maintained after treatment with neuraminidase (72). NKCF is susceptible to sodium periodate and other reducing agents (72), suggesting the involvement of carbohydrate and/or S-S bonds in the functional portion of the molecules. NKCF seems relatively unstable compared to other secreted proteins in that stability at 4°C or in the frozen state is limited to days or weeks (16, 68, 69). On molecular sieving columns both human and mouse NKCF show one peak of activity at 20 kd and another at 40 kd (16, 72).

Properties	Nature	Reference
General		
Cellular source	LGL	16, 69
Stimuli for release	NK-susceptable targets or mitogens	16, 68, 71
Rate of release increased by interferon	Release detectable in 3-6 hours	16, 70
Kinetics of lysis	Slow (>10 hour) required for detectable activity	16, 68, 69
Pattern of target cell susceptibility	Similar to NK cells	16, 72
Biochemical		
Molecular weight	20-40 kđ	16, 72
Stability at		-
- 20°C	Weeks to months	16, 68, 69
4°C	Days to weeks	16, 68, 69
56°C	Hours	16, 68, 69
>65°C	< 10 minutes	16, 68, 69
Inactivation by enzymes	Sensitive to trypsin	16, 72
	Insensitive to neuraminidase	72

Table 4 Characteristics of NKCF

Several observations suggest that NKCF is involved in the lysis by NK cells: (a) NKCF can be produced by highly purified LGL (69, 70) that account for virtually all NK activity of peripheral blood lymphocytes (73); (b) the ability of various target cells to stimulate release of NKCF correlates well with susceptibility to lysis by NK cells (16, 68, 71); (c) the specificity of the effects of NKCF is similar to that of NK activity; NKCF has lytic activity mainly against NK-susceptible target cells (16, 72); and (d) the amount of NKCF activity released from effector cells can be substantially augmented by pretreatment with interferon (16, 70), paralleling the ability of this cytokine to boost NK activity.

In contrast to these similarities between the characteristics of NKCF and NK activity, the kinetics of lysis are quite different. The lytic activity of NK cells can be detected within 20 min and reaches close to maximal levels by 3-4 hr against highly susceptible target cells, whereas the activity of NKCF usually cannot be seen before 6 hr and maximal levels of lysis usually require incubation periods of > 18 hr (16, 68, 69). It is possible to reconcile these differences and retain consideration of NKCF as an important mediator of NK activity. One might postulate that in the interaction between NK cells and susceptible targets, NKCF is secreted at a high concentration into the tight junction between the cells where it is considerably more efficient and protected from inhibition by proteins in the surrounding medium. In contrast, the concentration of NKCF in the culture medium would be expected to be very much lower and directly susceptible to rapid inhibition by the serum proteins in the medium. Such features would also account for the lack of lysis of unconjugated, bystander cells during the NK assay. Recent studies using partially purified and concentrated NKCF have resulted in accelerated kinetics of lysis (16, 69) This result is consistent with the hypothesis that the rate of lysis is proportional to the concentration at the intercellular junction.

NK inhibitors have provided an opportunity to dissect the step(s) in the lytic process. Agents known to inhibit NK activity at a post-binding phase have been tested for their ability to block either (a) the production and/or release of NKCF when present during the 24-hr period of interaction between the effector cells and target cells, (b) binding of NKCF to target cells, when present during the 6-hr period required for maximal adsorption of NKCF (16), or (c) during the terminal lytic phase when the agent is added to target cells precoated with NKCF. Table 5 summarizes the results. The majority of the agents tested—those that remove divalent cations, ATP or cyclic AMP, prostaglandins, ammonium chloride, strontium chloride, and monensin (an inhibitor of microfilament and microtubule movement) were potent inhibitors of the production and/or release of NKCF. Most of these had no effect on the subsequent binding of NKCF to targets or on the lytic stage itself. The ability of antiserum to isolated cytotoxic granules from LGL tumors (see section on LGL Granule Cytolysin) to inhibit production or release of NKCF was not analyzable because the antibody could not be removed from the culture medium and because it inhibited the subsequent binding of NKCF to target cells. The other agents were easily removed from the reaction mixture by dialysis and, therefore, could be assessed for their effects on factor production or release. That the majority of agents that inhibited NK activity inhibited production and/or release of NKCF supports the concept that these NKCF-related processes are key steps in NK activity. These observations also indicate that binding is not sufficient to activate NK cells and that postbinding events are necessary for initiation of the lytic process. This hypothesis has been substantiated further by Wright & Bonavida (31) who identified NK-resistant YAC variants that can bind NKCF and are susceptible to lysis by NKCF but are unable to stimulate production and/or release of NKCF. Of all the inhibitory agents tested, only phosphorylated mannose and antibody to granule cytolysin inhibited the binding of NKCF to target cells. As indicated in the section above, antibodies to LGL granule cytolysin presumably inhibit the activity of cytotoxic molecules after their release from the effector cells and prior to effective interactions with targets. The inhibition of binding of NKCF also by mannose-PO₄ suggests that a carbohydrate-dependent interaction is involved in the binding of NKCF to target cells. (See section on Binding of NKCF for more detailed discussion.)

The evidence for involvement of both LGL granule cytolysin and NKCF

	Effect or			
Agent	Production and/or release	Binding	Lysis	Reference
Sugar-PO4				
Mannose-PO4	_	L	_	16, 72
Fructose-PO4	_	-	_	16,72
Antigranule cytolysin	?	Ţ	1	16, 74
Protease inhibitors			_	16, 74, 75
Removal of Ca ⁺⁺ /Mg ⁺⁺	Ţ	?	?	16, 75
Strontium chloride	· Į	_	_	16
ATP or cAMP	Ļ	-	_	16
PGE ₂	Ĩ		_	16
Ammonium chloride	Ļ	_		16
Monensin	i	—	1	16

Table 5 Effects on NKCF of agents that inhibit NK lysis^a

^a The "—" indicates no change, \uparrow indicates increase, and \downarrow is decrease in NKCF production, binding, or lysis, ? indicates not possible to evaluate.

in NK activity raises the question of whether these molecules are related. The hypothesis of a direct relationship was supported by the ability of antibodies produced against purified cytoplasmic granules from LGL also to neutralize the activity of NKCF (74). However, from limited evidence, it is difficult to reconcile the major differences in their apparent molecular weights, their patterns of activity against various target cells, and in the kinetics of their lytic effects on target cells. Furthermore, it is possible that they are distinct molecules and that the apparent antigenic cross-reactivity is due to antibodies with various specificities in the polyclonal rabbit antisera to LGL granules. Alternatively, LGL granule cytolysin and NKCF may share portions of the same molecule. For example, upon release of LGL granule cytolysin into the culture medium, it may be degraded from the original 60-kd molecule into fragments of 20 and 40 kd and such degradation may be accompanied by a marked decrease in the efficiency of its lytic activity. This hypothesis would not easily account for the NK-related target specificity of NKCF, in contrast to the much wider spectrum of activity of LGL granule cytolysin. However, it is possible that the portion of the cytolysin molecule that is responsible for the potent nonselective activity is lost or inactivated upon degradation to NKCF. To resolve this question, it will be very helpful to purify both proteins to homogeneity, to compare their amino acid sequences, and also to produce monoclonal antibodies against each.

Binding of Cytotoxic Molecules to Target Cells

BINDING OF GRANULE CYTOLYSIN As indicated above, LGL granule cytolysin releases the marker carboxy-fluorescein from liposomes in a rapid, calcium-dependent manner (76). Electron microscopic observations of negatively stained liposomes exposed to cytolysin and calcium showed cylindrical, pore-like structures inserted into the lipid bilayer. It was therefore proposed that after secretion from cytoplasmic granules, cyto lysin inserts into a lipid bilayer where it forms pores. This mechanism would be similar to that proposed for the lytic activity of the terminal complement pathway (77; see also The Membrane Attack Complex of Complement by H. J. Müller-Eberhard, this volume), and to several bacterial toxins including staphylococcal α -toxin (78) and streptolysin 0 (79).

To provide further insights into the nature of the interaction between cytolysin and lipid bilayers, researchers studied the effects of a number of different compounds on the lysis of target cells by LGL tumor granules (80) Table 6 is a summary of the data obtained in typical inhibition experiments with SRBC and YAC-1 targets. The lytic activity of granule cytolysin was inhibited by inorganic phosphate and by various monophosphoesters with I_{50} values in the range of 8–20 mM. Choline phosphate was exceptionally

potent, with an I_{50} of 1.4 mM. In contrast to the inhibition by phosphate esters, the parent compounds, such as neutral sugars, glycerol, and choline, showed no detectable inhibition at 50 mM. A lysolipid bearing a short aliphatic chain (L- α -lysocaproylphosphatidylcholine) and some detergents (CHAPS) were inhibitory with I_{50} values in the range of 1 mM. Lysolipids with longer aliphatic chains (L- α -lysopalmitoylphosphatidylcholine), phospholipids as liposomes, and related lipid compounds also displayed potent inhibition of the hemolytic activity of LGL granule cytolysin, with I_{50} values in the range of 0.2–30 μ M. Soluble globular proteins inhibited LGL granule cytolysin hemolytic activity with I_{50} of 0.1–0.4 mg/ml. However, lipoproteins were 2–3 orders of magnitude more potent inhibitors, with I_{50} values less than 1 μ g/ml. These results lend support to a model

	I ₅₀ (1	nM)ª
Compounds tested	SRBC	YAC-1
Phosphate compounds		
Inorganic phosphate	12	nd ^b
Organic phosphate ^e	0.48	2–7
Monophosphate esters		
Glycerophosphate	10	> 36
Choline phosphate	1.4	nd
Sugar phosphate ^d	9–21	> 50
Glycerol	> 50	nd
Choline	> 50	nd
Neutral sugars ^e	> 50	> 50
Lipids and lipid-like compounds		
L-a lysocaproyl phosphatidylcholine	0.8	nd
L-a lysopalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine	2×10^{-3}	$>9 \times 10^{-3}$
CHAPS detergent	0.7	nd
Phosphatidylcholine liposomes	0.2×10^{-3}	nd
Lipoprotein fraction of FCS	$<1 \times 10^{-3}$	1.5×10^{-3}
Globular proteins		
Bovine serum albumin (BSA)	0.4	2.7
Bovine gamma globulin (BGG)	0.2	2.5
Ovalbumin	0.1	>6

Table 6 Inhibition of LGL granule cytolysin

* Concentration of inhibition giving 50% reduction in granule cytolysin activity.

^b nd, not done.

° ATP, GTP, RNA, and DNA.

^dGlucose-1 and glucose-6-phosphate, fructose-1 and fructose-6-phosphate and mannose-6-phosphate.

^eGlucose, fructose, mannose, galactose, N-acetylglucosamine, and N-acetylgalactosamine all give similar results.

(Reference 80.)

in which soluble cytolysin molecules insert into membrane lipid during the course of the lytic event.

BINDING OF NKCF Evidence for the presence of receptors for NKCF on the surface of NK-susceptible target cells was first obtained in experiments by Wright & Bonavida (68, 71), who demonstrated that the activity of NKCF preparations could be reduced or eliminated upon incubation with a variety of target cells. This loss of NKCF activity from the medium was most efficient when NK-susceptible target cells were used; however inhibitory effects were also seen with some NK-nonsusceptible targets Because this type of experiment could not rule out the possibility o nonspecific binding to target cells or of inactivation of NKCF, e.g. by tar get cell-associated degradative enzymes, it was important to determine whether the target cells used to remove NKCF activity went on to lyse after removal of the original NKCF-containing medium. Such experiments showed that target cells incubated for 6 hr with NKCF and then washed were subsequently lysed with the same kinetics as when they were continuously exposed to NKCF (74, 81). The presence of mannose phosphate during the 6-hr incubation with NKCF blocked the subsequen lysis of the NK-susceptible target cells. After removal of the sugars by dialysis, the supernatants retained NKCF activity. These results suppor the hypothesis that the sugar molecules compete with carbohydrate determinants on NKCF for binding to receptors on the target cells Alternatively, the inhibition by sugars could be explained by a lectin-like activity of NKCF, binding to phosphorylated sugars on the surface o target cells. In order to evaluate this latter possibility, we studied the effects of NKCF on target cells treated with tunicamycin, which blocks gly cosylation of cell membranes by selectively inhibiting the addition o asparagine-linked sugars (74). Such treatment significantly decreased targe cell susceptibility to lysis by NKCF and also decreased their ability to adsorb NKCF. In parallel, there was a significant decrease in the susceptibility of these tunicamycin-treated target cells to be lysed by purified LGL. To further test the hypothesis that NKCF might bind in a lectin-like fashion to mannosephosphate residues on the surface of targe cells, the binding of NKCF preparations to mannose phosphate column was studied (16, 74). Inhibition by mannose saccharides of NKCI adsorption could be demonstrated, and the pattern of sugar inhibition see was similar to that seen for inhibition of NK activity, i.e. mannose-6 phosphate inhibited activity, whereas nonphosphorylated mannose did not. Furthermore, tunicamycin-treated target cells demonstrated deficien NKCF binding and lysis.

Overall, the concept that NKCF binds to a glycoprotein or glycolipic receptor is consistent with the sugar inhibition data. Elucidation of the chemical nature of the NKCF receptor must await binding studies performed with radiolabeled pure or recombinant NKCF. However, the events that occur after initial binding of NKCF still remain obscure.

Lysis of Target Cells

There is very little information on the mechanisms by which target cells are lysed by cytolytic molecules and, conversely, how they resist damage by NK cells. The hypothesis of the direct lytic effects of pore insertion in the targetcell membrane by LGL granule cytolysin remains to be experimentally supported, and virtually no information is available regarding the mechanism of lysis by NKCF. We focus here on the question of what factors seem to make target cells resistant to lysis.

There are several possible reasons: (a) target cells may not be recognized by NK cells; (b) they may not stimulate the release of cytotoxic factors from NK cells; and (c) they may not bind the factors that are released. Some recent data suggest that at stages following binding, some target cells are inherently resistant to lysis. The data come from two types of experiments: (a) cold-target inhibition of LGL granule cytolysin activity and (b) enzymatic treatment of target cells to modify resistance to lysis.

To investigate whether the ability to bind cytolysin correlated with susceptibility to lysis, a cold-target inhibition assay was developed to study quantitatively the competition of various target cells for LGL cytolysin (C. Reynolds, unpublished observations). As shown in Table 7, for the target cells tested, an inverse correlation was found between the amount of cytolysin required to give 50% lysis and the number of cells needed to cold-target-inhibit 10 units of LGL cytolysin. This relationship is especially obvious using SRBC, where only very small amounts of LGL cytolysin (1 unit) are necessary for 50% lysis, but large numbers of cells (1.7×10^8)

Target cell	Units of cytolysin to give 50% lysis ^a	Number of target cells required to give 50% inhibition of LGL cytolysin
SRBC	1	1.7×10^8
RDM-4	51	1.4×10^{4}
YAC-1	159	1.5×10^{4}
EL-4	264	1.2×10^{4}
L5178Y	>1000	0.7×10^{4}
P815	>1000	0.6×10^4

 Table 7
 Sensitivity to lysis and ability of various tumor cells to cold-target inhibit the cytotoxic effects of LGL granule cytolysin

^a Various amounts of LGL granule cytolysin were added to 5 × 10⁴ ⁵¹Cr-labeled targets. One unit of LGL granule cytolysin is defined as the amount of material necessary to give 50% lysis of SRBC targets. ^b Unlabeled target cells were added to 5 × 10⁴ ⁵¹Cr-labeled SRBC and 10 units of LGL granule cytolysin.

are needed to give 50% cold-target inhibition. The other target cells required substantially more LGL granule cytolysin to produce lysis, yet far fewer cells were necessary to give cold-target inhibition. These data indicate that those targets that are the best competitive inhibitors of LGL cytolysin are not the best targets. The most likely explanation for these observations is that the cytolysin-resistant targets are good cold-target inhibitors because they bind high amounts of the LGL cytolysin but are poor targets for lysis because of their ability to inactivate the cytolysin or to repain cytolysin-induced damage.

To investigate whether there is a cell-surface molecule involved in resistance to lysins, LGL cytolysin-sensitive and -resistant target cells were pretreated for 60 min with 1 mg/ml pronase and then tested for susceptibility to lysis by LGL cytolysin. As shown in Table 8, treatment o relatively sensitive target cells (SRBC, YAC-1) with pronase had no effec on the cytotoxic activity observed. In contrast, pretreatment of cytolysinresistant target cells (P815, L5178Y) with pronase significantly increased their sensitivity to lysis. This change in susceptibility was not accompanied by a change in their capacity to bind cytolysin competitively (data no shown).

Similar experiments have been done with human NKCF and IFNa or IFN γ treatment of target cells (82). Treatment of K562 target cells with IFN γ markedly inhibited their lysis by NKCF and caused a 35–75% reduction in NK susceptibility, but did not significantly alter conjugate formation with LGL.

Taken together, such experiments suggest that some target cells may be inherently more resistant than other targets to the lytic effects of LGI granule cytolysin or NKCF. This resistance is independent of the competitive binding of cytolysin by these targets and appears to be at leas partially due to surface molecule(s) which, when removed by pronase

				Pret	reatmen	t of target c	ellsª	
Amount of	S	RBC	Y.	AC-1	F	815	L5	5178Y
(U) added	PBS	Pronase	PBS	Pronase	PBS	Pronase	PBS	Pronase
100	85 ^b	81	41	43	11	57	11	24
25	87	84	27	27	5	28	7	19
6	82	83	23	18	3	15	4	12
1	70	72	17	12	1	4	NT	NT

Table 8	Effect of	pronase treatment	on target-cell	susceptibility	to lys	sis by	LGL cyto	lysin
---------	-----------	-------------------	----------------	----------------	--------	--------	----------	-------

* 1 mg/ml pronase for 60 min at 37°C.

^b Percentage ⁵¹Cr released from target cells upon incubation for 60 min at 37°C.

renders these cells more sensitive to lysis by LGL granule cytolysin. These data suggest that the surface characteristics of a target cell play an important role in ultimately determining its ability to be lysed by the cyto-toxic molecules associated with NK cells.

RELATIONSHIP OF NKCF TO OTHER CYTOTOXIC OR CYTOSTATIC EFFECTORS

Recently, interest has centered on proteins isolated from activated leukocyte populations that have either cytolytic or cytostatic activity against tumor cells. For example, most interferon species inhibit the growth in vitro of a variety of tumor cell lines (83–86). In addition, a wide variety of other proteins derived from various activated effector cells have cytolytic or cytostatic activity (87, 88). Most of these factors have not been fully characterized or purified, so whether there are distinct protein mediators for the cytotoxic effects associated with each of the wide range of cytotoxic effector cells is uncertain. With the availability of an increasing number of genetically engineered homogeneous recombinant molecules with either cytostatic or cytolytic activity, and monoclonal and/or polyclonal antibodies against these defined proteins, it is now possible to analyze the role of these factors in the various forms of cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Our studies have particularly focused on the possible relationship of such defined cytotoxic molecules to NKCF and/or granule cytolysin and on their possible involvement in the cytolytic and/or cytostatic activity of NK cells or other natural effector cells. Particular emphasis has been placed on the possible relationship of lymphotoxin (LT) or tumor necrosis factor (TNF) to NKCF.

Lymphotoxin was initially derived from cell supernatants of antigenor mitogen-stimulated lymphocytes and has been reported to have tumoricidal or cytostatic activity in situ against a wide range of tumor cells (87). It has also recently been reported to interfere with the malignant transformation of cells (89, 90). LT appears to be produced mainly by stimulated T cells or B cells (91, 92) and has also been found to be constitutively produced by some human B lymphoblastoid cell lines (92). TNF has also been shown to have cytostatic or cytolytic activity against a variety of transformed cell lines in vitro, whereas most normal target cells have been resistant to its effects (93–95). In addition, TNF has an impressive ability to produce extensive hemorrhagic necrosis of several mouse tumor cell lines in vivo, particularly after intralesional injections (93, 94, 96). In contrast to LT, TNF appears to be produced mainly by macrophages or macrophage cell lines (94, 95). The cloning of the genes for LT and TNF in Escherichia coli has demonstrated about 30% amino acid homology between the two molecules (97).

Lymphotoxin and TNF are active against a much narrower range of target cells then those that are NK-sensitive, with L929 perhaps the most susceptible target. The majority of NK-susceptible human and mouse targets are not susceptible to growth inhibition or cytolysis by either of these recombinant molecules (J. Ortaldo, R. B. Herberman, unpublished observations). In addition, the cells producing these factors and the stimuli needed to induce them vary considerably. TNF and LT are not produced by NK cells and are mainly produced by monocyte or B lineage cells Antigen and lectins are the usual stimuli for release of TNF and LT (87, 91 94), whereas NK targets are the best stimuli for release of NKCF (16, 68, 71)

The mechanism by which LT and TNF affect target cells is also distinct from NKCF or LGL granule cytolysin. For example, whereas mannose- PO_4 inhibits lysis of targets by NKCF (16, 74), it has no effect on the activity of either LT or TNF (J. Ortaldo, R. B. Herberman, unpublished observations). In addition, whereas tunicamycin pretreatment of target cells inhibits binding to NKCF and subsequent lysis by this factor, such treatment enhances the susceptibility to lysis by TNF (J. Ortaldo, R. B. Herberman, unpublished observations).

To examine the relationship of the factors more directly and to determine their role in NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity, studies have been performed with antibodies to recombinant human LT and TNF (98). A summary of these results is present in Table 9. The antibodies to LT or TNF strongly inhibited the cytotoxicity by the homologous protein against L929 cells but had no detectable effects on the cytotoxicity induced by NKCF or on NK or ADCC activities. For comparison, the effects of antibodies to granule cytolysin were examined in the same experiments. The anticytolysin, as expected, inhibited the cytotoxicity by NKCF and also inhibited NK and ADCC activities, but had no effects on the activity of either LT or TNF These results support the conclusions that NKCF and LGL granule cytolysin are distinct from LT or TNF and that their activity does not depend on the presence of either LT or TNF in the assay. Further, ADCC or NK activity against the prototype target cells appears not to be mediated by, or dependent on, either LT or TNF.

It is possible that NKCF is not one factor, but a functional activity that is the sum of many factors acting synergistically. However, NKCF activity could not be mimicked by various combinations of LT, TNF, and α or γ interferon. Therefore, it seems very unlikely that LT, TNF, or interferon, of a combination of these molecules are involved in the cytotoxic activity mediated by NKCF.

Coincubation of human lymphocytes with NK-sensitive target cells causes release of a cytostatic factor into the culture medium (98). Since this procedure was initially described for the production of NKCF, it was Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:651-680. Downloaded from arjournals. annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

Effector/target combinations and their effects Table 9 Effects of antibodies to LT, TNF, or granule cytolysin on cytolysis by effector cells or by cytotoxic molecules Components of interaction

Effectors	PBL or LGL	PBL or LGL	NKCF	Granules	LT	TNF
Targets	K562	ab-target (ADCC)	K562	YAC-1	L929	L929
Antibody added to assay Rabbit antirat LGL granule cytolysin Monoclonal antirecombinant human LT Monoclonal or rabbit antirecombinant human LT	ª→ }	→	→ I	→ I I	->	

", significant inhibition of cytolysis; -, no significant effect; 1, significant augmentation of cytolysis; ?, not done or not interpretable.

Annual Reviews

671

important to evaluate the role of NKCF in this growth inhibition. It also was of interest to determine the possible relationship of this cytostatic factor to leukoregulin, a molecule with cytostatic activity reportedly induced from human PBL by incubation with lectins (99). As demonstrated earlier, NKCF has a somewhat limited target specificity and lyses only NKsensitive target cells. In contrast, leukoregulin and the cytostatic factor induced by target cells were highly cytostatic for a number of cells like the mouse lymphoma, MBL2, which has little sensitivity to lysis by human NK cells. The effects of mannose-6-phosphate and antibodies against rat LGL granule cytolysin were also tested. These reagents, as discussed above strongly inhibited NKCF but had no effect on the ability of either leukoregulin or target cell–induced cytostatic factor to mediate growth inhibitory effects on a variety of targets (data not shown).

The fact that antibodies to recombinant lymphotoxin and TNF failed to inhibit cytostasis by leukoregulin or target cell-induced cytostatic factor suggests that LT or TNF are not involved in the growth-inhibitory activity against K562. In addition, the growth of K562 was not affected by high concentrations of lymphotoxin or TNF. The failure of antibodies to LT or TNF to inhibit the antiproliferative effects of leukoregulin or tumor cellinduced cytostatic factor also argues against a possible synergy between low levels of LT and TNF and the other cytostatic factors.

Lymphotoxin has been reported to have a molecular weight of 18 kc (96), and TNF has an apparent M_r of 17 kd (95, 97). Although the exact molecular weights of NKCF, leukoregulin, or tumor-induced cytostatic factor have not been determined, preliminary evidence indicates that NKCF has an M_r of 18 kd, and both leukoregulin and tumor-induced cytostatic factor have M_r of 20 kd (99, 100; T. Sayers, J. Ortaldo, R. B Herberman, unpublished observations).

From all evidence, it appears that the tumor cell-induced cytostatic factor and leukoregulin represent the same factor, which is distinct from NKCF, LT, or TNF. This factor can be induced from PBL by either NK sensitive target cells or lectins, but further studies are needed to determine whether it is produced by NK cells and/or by other effector cells.

ROLE OF TNF IN CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL CYTOTOXIC (NC) CELLS

In studies on the possible involvement of TNF or LT in cytotoxicity by NK cells, it was of considerable interest to examine the possible involvement of these factors in cytolysis by NC cells. NC cells have been detected in mice as natural effector cells which differ from NK cells in regard to targe selectivity, cell-surface characteristics, organ and strain distribution, and

susceptibility to regulatory factors (101). Whereas the prototypic target cell for detection of mouse NK activity is the YAC-1 lymphoma cell line, WEHI-164 cells are the main targets used to measure NC activity selectively (101, 102). Elimination by antibody plus complement of cells bearing any of the markers that have been associated with mouse NK activity has little effect on NC activity (101-103). Whereas NK activity reaches close to maximal levels within 4 hr, NC activity usually requires incubation periods of 18 hr or longer (101-103). While NK activity is augmented by pretreatment of the effector cells with interferon or interleukin 2, NC activity is enhanced primarily by interleukin 3 (104). Also, while NK cells have been closely associated with LGL, it has been difficult to associate NC activity directly with any specific cell type, suggesting that it is not a cell-mediated event. This possibility is also suggested by observations that NC-susceptible targets, such as WEHI-164, are often lysed at very low ratios of effector to target cells, frequently below 1:1. We therefore considered the possibility that this form of effector activity was mediated by release of a soluble factor, and we examined the possible involvement of TNF and LT (105).

TNF was of particular interest as a possible mediator of NC activity since the prototype target cell for NC activity, WEHI-164, is highly susceptible to lysis by recombinant mouse, as well as by human, TNF. Table 10 summarizes the effects of antibodies against mouse TNF on mouse NC and NK activity as well as on the recombinant protein (105). Both antibodies completely neutralized the cytotoxic effects of recombinant mouse TNF on the WEHI-164 target cells and completely inhibited the NC activity of normal spleen cells against WEHI-164, but had no detectable effect on NK

		Lytic activity versus		
Factor of effector cells	Antibody	WEHI-164	YAC-1	
Mouse rTNF ^b	None	+	_	
Mouse rTNF	Antimouse rTNF	_	_	
Mouse rTNF	Antimouse TNF	-	_	
Spleen cells (C57BL/6)	None	+	+	
Spleen cells (C57BL/6)	Antimouse rTNF		+	
Spleen cells (C57BL/6)	Antimouse TNF	_	+	
Spleen cells (C57BL/6)	Antihuman rLT	+	+	

 Table 10
 Cytotoxicity of TNF against WEHI-164 cells and effect of anti-TNF on NC activity of normal mouse spleen cells^a

* Summary of data from (105),

^brTNF, recombinant TNF.

activity against YAC-1 target cells. Thus, in contrast to NK activity, mouse NC activity depends on the release of TNF during the cytotoxic assay Whether the release of this cytotoxic molecule is spontaneous or is triggered by the interaction of the effector cells with the NC-susceptible target cells is unclear. The association of TNF release with NC activity should also provide a new basis to characterize the NC cell. In view of the previous association of TNF production with macrophages (94, 95), these results suggest that the NC cell may be within the myelomonocytic lineage.

SUMMARY AND COMPARISON WITH MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY T CELLS AND MACROPHAGES

The initial phase in the interaction of NK cells with NK-susceptible targer cells is the recognition of target structures by receptors on the surface of NK cells. Little is known about the nature of this receptor, but it seems to be distinct from the T cell receptor. The target structures recognized by NK cells are also poorly understood but again are different from those recognized by the T cell-receptor complex. A fundamental distinction between recognition by NK cells and T cells is the apparent lack o involvement of recognition of the major histocompatibility complex by the natural effector cells. Indeed, some of the most sensitive targets for NK activity are devoid of antigens of the major histocompatibility complex.

The phases subsequent to recognition and conjugate formation and leading to target lysis appear very similar, if not identical, for NK cells and T cells. Agents that interfere with postbinding steps of NK activity also inhibit T cell-mediated cytotoxicity, and substantial evidence has been gathered for the involvement of a granule cytolysin in T cell-mediated lysis (106). The characteristics of T-cell granule cytolysin are very similar to those described for LGL granule cytolysin, and these proteins may be closely analogous, if not entirely identical.

About the mechanism of cytotoxicity by macrophages, considerably less information is available. However, interaction between cytotoxic macro phages and tumor target cells appears to be similar to that used by NK cells or CTL (107). Activated macrophages bind to susceptible targets by receptors able to discriminate accurately between tumor cells and norma cells. However, there is virtually no information about these receptors of about the target structure they recognize on tumor cells. Several differen mechanisms for the lytic process have been explored. The possible role o reactive oxygen species in the mechanism of cytotoxicity by macrophages has been carefully examined, since activated macrophages can undergo a vigorous oxidative burst and this mechanism appears to contribute to antibody-dependent macrophage-mediated cytotoxicity of erythrocytes (108). Involvement of reactive oxygen species has also been suggested for NK activity (109), but several recent studies have indicated that purified LGL cannot undergo an oxidative burst (e.g. 110). Rather, Greenberg et al (111) have found that NK cells can be stimulated by NK-susceptible targets to release a factor that stimulates macrophages to undergo an oxidative burst.

As with NK cells and CTL, there is substantial evidence for an involvement of proteases in the killing of tumor cells by macrophages (107). In fact, it has been suggested that macrophages release a protease that is selectively cytolytic for tumor cells (107). However, this enzyme has not yet been purified, and it remains unclear whether it directly causes lysis or is involved in a cascade of events leading to the generation of cytolytic molecules.

In summary, there are many details of the mechanisms responsible for cell-mediated cytotoxicity that remain to be defined. However, the discovery of granule cytolysins and the cloning of soluble cytolytic molecules such as TNF and LT have allowed rapid progress in the understanding of the potential effector molecules. It may be anticipated that the characterization of NKCF and leukoregulin and the determination of the nature of the structures involved in recognition will provide the next major advances in our understanding of the mechanism of cytotoxicity by NK cells.

Literature Cited

- 1. Herberman, R. B., Holden, H. T. 1978. Natural cell-mediated immunity. *Adv. Cancer Res.* 27: 305
- 2. Ortaldo, J. R., Herberman, R. B. 1984. Heterogeneity of natural killer cells. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 2:359
- Timonen, T., Reynolds, C. W., Ortaldo, J. R., Herberman, R. B. 1982. Isolation of human and rat natural killer cells. J. Immunol. Methods 51:269
- 4. Herberman, R. B., ed. 1982. NK Cells and Other Natural Effector Cells. New York: Academic
- Herberman, R. B., Callewert, D., eds. 1985. Mechanisms of Cytotoxicity by NK Cells. Orlando, Fla: Academic
- Targan, S., Deem, R. L. 1985. See Ref. 5, p. 155
- Acuto, O., Fabbi, M., Bensussan, A., Milanese, C., Campen, T. J., Royer, H. D., Reinherz, E. L. 1985. The human T cell receptor. J. Clin. Immunol. 5:141
- 8. Zinkernagael, R. M., Doherty, P. C.

1975. H-2 compatibility requirement for T cell mediated lysis of targets infected with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. Different cytotoxic and cell specificities are associated with structures coded in H-2K or H-2D. J. Exp. Med. 141: 1427

- 9. Herberman, R. B., Ortaldo, J. R. 1981. Natural killer cells. Their role in defense against disease. Science 214:24
- Herberman, R. B., ed. 1980. Natural Cell-Mediated Immunity Against Tumors. New York : Academic. 1321 pp.
- Jensen, P. J., Koren, H. S. 1979. Depletion of NK by cellular immunoadsorption. J. Immunol. 123:1127
- Phillips, W. H., Ortaldo, J. R., Herberman, R. B. 1980. Selective depletion of human natural killer cells on monolayers of target cells. *J. Immunol.* 125: 2322
- Allavena, P., Ortaldo, J. R. 1983. Specificity and phenotype of IL-2 expanded

Annual Reviews

676 HERBERMAN, REYNOLDS & ORTALDO

clones and human large granular lymphocytes. *Diagnostic Immunol.* 1:162

- Hercend, T., Meuer, S., Reinherz, E. L., Schlossman, S. F., Ritz, J. 1982. Generation of a cloned NK cell line derived from the "null cell" fraction of human peripheral blood. J. Immunol. 129:1299
- 15. Bolhuis, R. L., van de Griend, R. J., Ronteltap, C. P. 1983. Clonal expansion of human B73.1-positive natural killer cells or large granular lymphocytes exerting strong antibody-dependent and -independent cytotoxicity and occasionally lectin-dependent cytotoxicity. Natural Immunity Cell Growth Regul. (Switzerland) 3: 61
- Ortaldo, J. R., Blanca, I., Herberman, R. B. 1985. Studies of human natural killer cytotoxic factor (NKCF): Characterization and analysis of its mode of action. In P. Henkart, E. Martz, eds. Mechanisms of Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity. New York: Plenum. 203 pp.
- Vodinelich, L., Sutherland, R., Schneider, C., Newman, R., Greaves, M. 1983. Receptor for transferrin may be a "target" structure for natural killer cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:835
- Newman, R. A., Warner, J. F., Dennert, G. 1984. NK recognition of target structures: Is the transferrin receptor the NK target structure? J. Immunol. 133:1841
- Schuurman, H. J., Kluin, P. M., de Gast, R., Kater, L. 1985. HNK-1+ cells in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: Lack of relation with transferrin receptor expression on malignant cells. Br. J. Cancer 51:171
- Alarcon, B., Fresno, M. 1985. Specific effect of anti-transferrin antibodies on natural killer cells directed against tumor cells. Evidence for the transferrin receptor being one of the target structures recognized by NK cells. J. Immunol. 134:1286
- 20a. Hiserodt, J. C., Laybourn, K. A., Varani, J. 1985. Expression of a laminlike substance on the surface of murine natural killer (NK) lymphocytes and its role in NK recognition of tumor target cells. J. Immunol. 135: 1484
- Werkmeister, J. A., Burns, G. F., Triglia, T. 1984. Anti-idiotype antibodies to the 9.1C3 blocking antibody used to probe the lethal hit stage of NK cell-mediated cytolysis. J. Immunol. 133:1385
- Decker, J. M., Hinson, A., Ades, E. W. 1984. Inhibition of human NK cell cytotoxicity against K 562 cells with glycopeptides from K 562 plasma membranes. J. Clin. Lab. Immunol. (Scotland)

15:137

- Roder, J. C., Rosen, A., Fenyo, E., Troy, F. 1979. Target effector interaction in the natural killer cell system: Isolation of target structures. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 3:1405
- Ortaldo, J. R., Lewis, J. T., Braatz, J., Mason, A., Henkart, P. 1982. Isolation of target antigens from NK-susceptible targets. In *Intracellular Communication* in *Leukocyte Functions*, ed. J. W. Parker, R. L. O'Brien. New York: Wiley. 551 pp.
- Piontek, G. E., Kiessling, R., Gronberg, A. E., Ahrlund-Richter, L. 1982. Non-NK leukocytes demonstrate NK-patterned binding. See Ref. 4, p. 705
- Timonen, T., Ortaldo, J. R., Herberman, R. B. 1982. Analysis by a single cell cytotoxicity assay of NK cell frequencies among human large granular lymphocytes and of the effects of interferon on their activity. J. Immunol. 128:2514
- Roder, J. C., Ahrlund-Richter, L. Jondal, M. 1979. Target-effector interaction in the human and murine natural killer system. J. Exp. Med. 150:471
- Hedrick, S. M., Nielsen, E. A., Kavaler, J., Cohen, D. I., Davis, M. M. 1984. Sequence relationships between putative T-cell receptor polypeptides and immunoglobulins. *Nature* 308:153
- Williams, A. F. 1984. The T-lymphocyte antigen (T cell receptor)—elusive no more. Nature 308:108
- Kawase, I., Urdal, D. L., Brooks, C. G., Henney, C. S. 1982. Selective depletion of NK cell activity in vivo and its effect on the growth of NK-sensitive and NK-resistant tumor cell variants. Int. J. Cancer 29: 567
- Wright, S. C., Bonavida, B. 1983. YAC-1 variant clones selected for resistance to natural killer cytotoxic factors are also resistant to natural killer cellmediated cytotoxicity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:1688
- 32. Perussia, B., Acuto, O., Terhorst, C., Faust, J., Lazaruz, R., Fanning, V., Trinchiesi, G. 1983. Human natural killer cells analyzed by B731.1, a monoclonal antibody blocking Fc receptor functions. J. Immunol. 130:2142
- Reynolds, C. W., Sharrow, S. O., Ortaldo, J. R., Herberman, R. B. 1981. Natural killer (NK) activity in the rat. II. Analysis of surface antigens on LGL by flow cytometry. J. Immunol. 127: 2204
- Ortaldo, J. R., Sharrow, S. O., Timonen, T., Herberman, R. B. 1981. Determination of surface antigens on highly puri-

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:651-680. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

fied human NK cells by flow cytometry with monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunol. 127:2401

- Keissling, R., Klein, E., Proso, H., Wigzell, H. 1975. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. II. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Maloney leukemia cells. Characteristics of the killer cell. Eur. J. Immunol. 5:117
- 36. Yanagi, Y., Caccia, N., Kronenberg, M., Chin, B., Roder, J., Rohel, D., Kiyohara, T., Lauzon, R., Toyanaga, B., Rosenthal, O. K., Dennert, G., Acha-Orbea, H., Hengartner, H., Hood, L., Mak, T. W. 1985. Gene rearrangement in cells with natural killer activity and expression of the β-chain of the T-cell antigen receptor. 314:631
- 37. Ritz, J., Campen, T. J., Schmidt, R. E., Royer, H. D., Hercend, T., Hussey, R. E., Reinherz, E. L. 1985. Analysis of Tcell receptor gene rearrangement and expression in human natural killer clones. Science 228:1540
- Hercend, T., Meuer, S. C., Brennan, A., Edson, M. A., Acuto, O., Reinherz, E. L., Schlossman, S. F., Ritz, J. 1983. Identification of a clonally restricted 90 KD heterodimer on two cloned natural killer cell lines: Its role in cytotoxic effector function. J. Exp. Med. 158: 1547
- 39. Reynolds, C. W., Bonyhadi, M., Herberman, R. B., Young, H. A., Hedrick, S. M. 1985. Lack of gene rearrangement and mRNA expression of the beta chain of the T cell receptor in spontaneous rat large granular lymphocyte leukemia lines. J. Exp. Med. 161: 1249
- Young, H. A., Ortaldo, J. R., Herberman, R. B., Reynolds, C. W. 1985. T cell receptors in highly purified human and rat large granular lymphocytes (LGL); lack of functional 1.3 kb β-chain mRNA. J. Immunol. Submitted
- Binz, H., Fenner, M., Frei, D., Wigzell, H. 1983. Two independent receptors allow selective target lysis by T cell clones. J. Exp. Med. 157:1252
- Allevena, P., Rambaldi, A., Palliocci, P. G., Della-Favera, R., Mantovani, A. 1985. Immunological and genotypic analysis of human large granular lymphocytes expansions. J. Leukocyte Biol. 38:59
- Brooks, C. G. 1983. Reversible induction of natural killer cell activity in clonal murine cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nature* 305:155
- Saksela, E., Carpen, O., Virtanen, I. 1982. Cellular secretion associated with human natural killer cell activity. See Ref. 4, p. 983

- MECHANISM OF NK ACTIVITY 677
 - 45. Dennert, G., Jupfer, A., Singer, J. S. 1985. See Ref. 5, p. 173
 - 46. Henkart, M. P., Henkart, P. A. 1982. Lymphocyte mediated cytolysis as a secretory process. In *Mechanisms in Cell Mediated Cytotoxicity*, ed. W. R. Clark, P. Goldstein. New York: Plenum. 227 pp.
 - Carpen, O., Virtanen, I., Saksela, E. 1982. Ultrastructure of human natural killer cells: Nature of the cytolytic contacts in relation to cellular secretion. *J. Immunol.* 128:2691
 - Haliotis, T., Roder, J., Klein, M., Ortaldo, J. R., Fauci, A. S., Herberman, R. B. 1980. Chediak-Higashi gene in humans. I. Impairment of natural killer function. J. Exp. Med. 151:1039
 - Katz, P., Zaytoun, A. M., Fauci, A. S. 1982. Deficiency of active natural killer cells in the Chediak-Higashi syndrome: Localization of the defect using a single cell cytotoxicity assay. J. Clin. Invest. 70:193
 - Abo, T., Cooper, M. D., Balch, C. M. 1982. NK (HNK-1+) cells in Chediak-Higashi patients are present in normal numbers but are abnormal in function and morphology. J. Clin. Invest. 70: 193
 - Roder, J. C., Duwe, A. K. 1979. The beige mutation in the mouse selectively impairs NK cell function. *Nature* 278: 451
 - Itoh, K., Suzuki, R., Umezu, Y., Hanaumi, K., Kumagai, K. 1982. Studies on murine large granular lymphocytes. II. Tissue, strain, and age distributions of LGL and LAL. J. Immunol. 129: 395
 - Neighbour, P. A., Huberman, H. S. 1982. SR⁺²-induced inhibition of human natural killer (NK) cell-mediated cytotoxicity. J. Immunol. 128:1236
 - Neighbour, P. A., Huberman, H. S., Kress, Y. 1982. Human large granular lymphocytes and natural killing ultrastructural studies of strontium-induced degranulation. Eur. J. Immunol. 12:588
 - Foreman, J. C. 1977. Spontaneous histamine secretion from mast cells in the presence of strontium. J. Physiol. 217: 215
 - 56. Hoffman, T., Hirata, F., Bougnoux, P., Fraser, B. A., Goldfarb, R. H., Herberman, R. B., Axelrod, J. 1981. Phospholipid methylation and phospholipase A activation in cytotoxicity by human natural killer cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:3839
 - Hattori, T., Hirata, F., Hoffman, T., Hizuta, A., Herberman, R. B. 1983. Inhibition of human natural killer (NK) cytotoxicity and antibody-dependent

cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) by lipomodulin, a phospholipase inhibitory protein. J. Immunol. 131:662

- Verhoef, J., Sharma, S. D. 1983. Inhibition of human natural killer activity by lysosomotropic agents. J. Immunol. 131:125
- Wright, S. C., Bonavida, B. 1981. Selective lysis of NK-sensitive target cells by a soluble mediator released from murine spleen cells and human peripheral blood lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 125:1561
- 60. Wright, S. C., Bonavida, B. 1982. Studies on the mechanism of natural killer (NK) cell mediated cytotoxicity (CMC). I. Release of cytotoxic factors specific for NK-sensitive target cells (NKCF) during coculture of NK effector cells with NK target cells. J. Immunol. 129:433
- Millard, P., Henkart, M. P., Reynolds, C. W., Henkart, P. A. 1984. Purification and properties of cytoplasmic granules from cytotoxic rat LGL tumors. J. Immunol. 132:3197
- Henkart, P. A., Willard, P. J., Reynolds, C. W., Henkart, M. P. 1984. Cytolytic activity of purified cytoplasmic granules from cytotoxic rat LGL tumors. J. Exp. Med. 160:75
- Ward, J. M., Reynolds, C. W. 1983. Large granular lymphocytic leukemia in F344 rats. Amer. J. Pathol. 111:1
- 64. Reynolds, C. W., Bere, E. W., Ward, J. M. 1984. Natural killer activity in the rat. III. Characterization of transplantable large granular lymphocyte (LGL) leukemias in the F344 rat. J. Immunol. 132: 534
- 65. Dourmashkin, R. R., Deteix, P., Simone, C. B., Henkart, P. 1980. Electron microscopic demonstration of lesions on target cell membranes associated with antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 43:554
- 66. Podack, E. R., Dennert, G. 1983. Assembly of two types of tubules with putative cytolytic function by cloned natural killer cells. *Nature* 302:442
- natural killer cells. Nature 302: 442
 67. Reynolds, C. W., Reichardt, D., Henkart, M., Millard, P., Henkart, P. 1985. Inhibition of NK and ADCC activity by antibodies against purified cytoplasmic granules from rat LGL tumors. J. Exp. Med. Submitted
- 68. Wright, S. C., Bonavida, B. 1982. Studies on the mechanism of natural killer (NK) cell-mediated cytotoxicity (CMC). I. Release of cytotoxic factors specific for NK-sensitive target cells (NKCF) during co-culture of NK effector cells with NK target cells. J.

Immunol. 129:433

- Farram, E., Targan, S. R. 1983. Identification of human natural killer soluble cytotoxic factors (NKCF) derived from NK-enriched lymphocyte populations: Specificity of generation and killing. J. Immunol. 130:1252
- Wright, S. C., Bonavida, B. 1983. Studies on the mechanism of natural killer cytotoxicity. III. Activation of NK cells by interferon augments the lytic activity of released natural killer cytotoxic factors (NKCF). J. Immunol. 130:2960
- 71. Wright, S. C., Weitzen, M. L., Kahle, R., Granger, G. A., Bonavida, B. 1983. Studies on the mechanism of natural killer cell lines stimulates release of natural killer cytotoxic factors (NKCF) selectively cytotoxic to NK-sensitive target cells. J. Immunol. 130: 2479
- Wright, S. C., Wilber, S. M., Bonavida, B. 1985. Biochemical characterization of natural killer cytotoxic factors. See Ref. 16:179
- Timonen, T., Ortaldo, J. R., Herberman, R. B. 1981. Characteristics of human large granular lymphocytes and relationship to natural killer and K cells. J. Exp. Med. 153: 569
- Blanca, I., Herberman, R. B., Ortaldo, J. R. 1985. Human natural killer cytotoxic factor. Natural Immunity Cell Growth Regul. 4:48
- 75. Hiserodt, J. C., Britvan, L. J., Targan, S. R. 1983. Studies on the mechanism of the human natural killer cell lethal hit: Evidence for transfer of proteasesensitive structures requisite for target cell lysis. J. Immunol. 131:2710
- Blumenthal, R., Millard, P. J., Henkart, M. P., Reynolds, C. W., Henkart, P. A. 1984. Liposomes as targets for granule cytolysin from cytotoxic LGL tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:5551
- Bhakdi, S., Tranum-Jensen, J. 1983. Membrane damage by complement. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 737:343
- Fussle, R., Bhakdi, S., Sziegoleit, A., Tranum-Jensen, J., Kranz, Wellensink, J. 1981. On the mechanism of membrane damage by S. aureus alpha toxin. J. Cell. Biol. 81:83
- Bhakdi, S., Tranum-Jensen, J., Sziegoleit, A. 1984. Mechanism of membrane damage by streptolysin O. Infect. Immunity 47:52
- Yu, C. C., Reynolds, C. W., Henkart, P. A. 1985. Inhibition of granule cytolysin from rat LGL tumors. Membrane insertion model for LGL granule cytolysin. J. Immunol. Submitted
- 81. Deem, R. L., Targan, S. R. 1984. Evi-

dence of a dynamic role of the target cell membrane during the early stages of the natural killer cell lethal hit. J. Immunol. 133:72

- Gronberg, A., Reynolds, C. W., Ortaldo, J. R. 1985. Selectivity in the action of recombinant IFNs on the susceptibility of K562 cells to NK cellmediated lysis. J. Leukocyte Biol. 38: 158
- Gresser, I., Tovey, M. G. 1978. Antitumor effects of interferon. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 516:231
- Rubin, B. Y., Gupta, S. L. 1980. Differential efficacies of human type I and type II interferons as antiviral and antiproliferative agents. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77: 5928
- Tyring, S., Klimpel, G. R., Fleischmann, W. R. Jr., Baron, S. 1982. Direct cytolysis by partially-purified preparations of immune interferon. *Int. J. Cancer* 30:59
- Blalock, J. E., Georgiades, J. A., Langford, N. F., Johnson, H. M. 1980. Purified human immune interferon has more potent anticellular activity than fibroblast or leukocyte interferon. *Cell. Immunol.* 49: 390
- Granger, G. A., Shacks, S. J., Williams, T. W., Kolb, W. P. 1969. Lymphocyte in vitro cytotoxicity: Specific release of lymphotoxin-like materials from tuberculin-sensitive lymphoid cells. Nature 221:1155
- Helson, L., Green, S., Carswell, E., Old, L. J. 1975. Effect of tumor necrosis factor on cultured human melanoma cells. *Nature* 258:731
- Evans, C. H., Heinbaugh, J. A. 1981. Lymphotoxin cytotoxicity, a combination of cytolytic and cytostatic cellular responses. *Immunopharmacology* 3:347
- 90. Evans, C. H., DiPaolo, J. A. 1981. Lymphotoxin: An anticarcinogenic lymphokine as measured by inhibition of chemical carcinogen or ultravioletirradiation-induced transformation of Syrian hamster cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 27:45
- Leopardi, E., Rosenau, W. 1984. Production of α-lymphotoxin by human Tcell subsets. Cell. Immunol. 83:73
- Aggarwal, B. B., Henzel, W. J., Moffat, B., Kohn, W. J., Harkins, R. N. 1985. Primary structure of human lymphotoxin derived from 1788 lymphoblastoid cell line. J. Biol. Chem. 260:2334
- Matthews, N., Watkins, J. F. 1978. Tumor-necrosis factor from the rabbit. I. Mode of action, specificity and physiochemical properties. Br. J. Cancer

38:302

MECHANISM OF NK ACTIVITY

- Carswell, E. A., Old, L. J., Kassel, R. L., Green, S., Fiore, N., Williamson, B. 1975. An endotoxin-induced serum factor that causes necrosis of tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 72: 3666
- 95. Aggarwal, B. B., Kohr, W. J., Hass, P. E., Moffat, B., Spencer, S. A., Henzel, W. J., Bringman, T. S., Hedwin, G. E., Goeddel, D. V., Harkins, R. N. 1985. Human tumor necrosis factor. Production, purification and characterization. J. Biol. Chem. 260:2345
- 96. Gray, P. W., Aggarwal, B. B., Benton, C. V., Bringman, T. S., Henzel, W. J., Jarrett, J. A., Leung, D. W., Moffat, B., Ng, P., Svedersky, L. P., Palladino, M. A., Nedwin, G. E. 1984. Cloning and expression of cDNA for human lymphotoxin, a lymphokine with tumor necrosis activity. Nature 312:721
- 97. Pennica, D., Nedwin, G. E., Hayflick, J. S., Seeburg, P. H., Derynck, R., Palladino, M. A., Kohr, W. J., Aggarwal, B. B., Goeddel, D. V. 1984. Human tumor necrosis factor: Precursor structure, expression and homology to lymphotoxin. Nature 312:724
- Ortaldo, J. R., Palladino, M., Sayers, T., Denn, A. C., Shepard, M., Herberman, R. B. 1985. Role of αT and TNF in NK cell mediated cytotoxicity. J. Leukocyte Biol. 38(1):161
- 99. Ransom, J. H., Evans, C. H., McCabe, R. P., Pomato, N., Heinbaugh, J. A., Chin, M., Hanna, M. G. Jr. 1985. Leukoregulin, a direct-acting anticancer immunological hormone that is distinct from lymphotoxin and interferon. Cancer Res. 45:851
- Ranson, J. H., Evans, C. H., McCabe, R. P., Hanna, M. G. Jr. 1985. The mechanism of leukoregulin enhancement of target cell susceptibility to NK cell mediated cytotoxicity in humans. See Ref. 16, p. 281
- Stutman, O., Paige, C. J., Figarella, E. F. 1978. Natural cytotoxic cells against solid tumors in mice. I. Strain and age distribution and target cell susceptibility. J. Immunol. 121:1819
- 102. Kumar, V., Luevano, E., Bennett, M. 1979. Hybrid resistance to EL-4 lymphoma cells. I. Characterization of natural killer cells that lyse EL-4 cells and their distinction from marrowdependent natural killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 150:531
- 103. Paige, C. J., Figarella, E. F., Cuttito, M. J., Cahan, A., Stutman, O. 1978. Natural cytotoxic cells against solid tumors in mice. II. Some characteristics of the effector cells. J. Immunol. 121: 1827

Annual Reviews

680 HERBERMAN, REYNOLDS & ORTALDO

- Djeu, J. Y., Lanza, E., Pasture, S., Hapel, A. J. 1983. Selective growth of natural cytotoxic but not natural killer effector cells in interleukin-3. *Nature* 306:788
- 105. Ortaldo, J. R., Mason, L. H., Mathieson, B. J., Liang, S.-M., Flick, D. A., Herberman, R. B. 1985. Mediation of mouse natural cytotoxic (NC) activity by tumor necrosis factor (TNF). *Nature* Submitted
- 106. Podack, E. R., Konigsberg, P. J. 1984. Cytolytic T cell granules. Isolation, structural, biochemical, and functional characterization. J. Exp. Med. 160:695
- 107. Adams, D. O., Johnson, W. E., Marino, P. A. 1982. Mechanisms of target recognition and destruction and in macrophage-mediated tumor cytotoxicity. *Fed. Proc.* 41:2212

- 108. Deleted in proof
- 109. Roder, J. C., Helfand, S. L., Werkmeister, J., McGarry, R., Beumont, T. J., Duwe, A. 1982. Oxygen intermediates are triggered early in the cytolytic pathway of human NK cells. *Nature* 298:569
- 110. Kay, H. D., Smith, D. L., Sullivan, G., Mandell, G. L., Donowitz, G. R. 1983. Evidence for a nonoxidative mechanism of human natural killer (NK) cell cytotoxicity by using mononuclear effector cells from healthy donors and from patients with chronic granulomatous disease. J. Immunol. 131:1784
- 111. Pohajdak, B., Gomez, J. L., Wilkins, J. A., Greenberg, A. H. 1984. Tumor activated NK cells trigger monocyte oxidative metabolism. J. Immunol. 3: 2430



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE-	220
REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter,	471
Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	4/1
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Title Index, Volumes 1–4	726

CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES¹

Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze

Surgery Branch, Division of Cancer Treatment, National Cancer Institute, Building 10, Room 2B42, Bethesda, Maryland 20892

INTRODUCTION

The development of immunologic approaches to the treatment of cancer has progressed through major changes in the past five years. In the 1970s considerable enthusiasm existed for immunotherapeutic approaches to cancer based on attempts to provide nonspecific stimulation of the host immune system in the hope that this general increase in immune reactivity would lead to an increased reactivity to putative tumor antigens on growing cancers. This approach was based on minimal experimental data from animal tumor models. A large number of clinical trials in humans utilized attempts to stimulate the immune system nonspecifically. Using substances such as Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG), methenol-extracted residue (MER), Corynebacterium parvum, levamisole, and other immune stimulators, researchers treated patients with extensive tumor, as well as with minimal tumor burdens. This experience was almost universally unsuccessful and, both in animal tumor model systems and in the human, has largely been abandoned (1).

An alternate approach to cancer immunotherapy can be categorized as "passive" or "adoptive" immunotherapy, in which the tumor-bearing host receives the systemic transfer of immunologic reagents such as antibodies or reactive cells already possessing antitumor reactivity (2–5). Because the

¹ The US Government has the right to retain a nonexclusive, royalty-free license in and to any copyright covering this paper.

682 ROSENBERG & LOTZE

cellular effector arm of the immune system is primarily responsible for the rejection of both allografted and tumor tissue, increasing emphasis has been placed on this cellular transfer approach in recent years. A variety of animal models have shown that the transfer to the tumor-bearing host of relatively large numbers of sensitized lymphoid cells with a high degree of specific antitumor reactivity can mediate the rejection of established localized and metastatic cancer (2–10).

The major impediment to the development of a successful adoptive immunotherapy for the treatment of established cancer in humans has been the inability to generate lymphoid cells with antitumor reactivity. The description of interleukin-2 (IL-2) in 1976 (11), however, opened several new possibilities for this approach. The advent of IL-2 made it possible to expand T-lymphoid cells in culture, and the possibility existed that even a small number of lymphoid cells with antitumor reactivity could be expanded into numbers sufficient to mediate antitumor effects. In 1980, a rather unexpected finding opened yet further possibilities for the generation of lymphoid cells with antitumor reactivity. In both the mouse and the human, the incubation of normal lymphocytes in IL-2 was found to result in the generation of cells capable of killing fresh tumor target cells, but not normal cells, in short-term chromium release assays (12, 13). These lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells have been extensively characterized and appear able to mediate antitumor effects in vivo (14-18). Administration in vivo of IL-2 could lead to the in vivo expansion of cells with antitumor reactivity (19, 20). Further, the administration of sufficient quantities of IL-2 resulted in the generation of LAK cells in vivo that probably mediate antitumor reactivity directly (21, 22). Studies in this area have received great impetus from the cloning of the gene for IL-2 (23) and its successful insertion and expression in Escherichia coli. Thus, large amounts of highly purified IL-2 with full biologic activity are now available for use in animal and human studies (24).

The use of IL-2 and IL-2-activated lymphoid cells (LAK cells) for the immunotherapy of animal and human tumors has progressed significantly in recent years. We review results with the use of these approaches in the immunotherapy of a variety of established tumors in mice and in humans.

INTERLEUKIN-2 AS A PHARMACOLOGIC REAGENT

In Vitro Evidence for a Pharmacologic Role of IL-2

Numerous studies in rodents and humans demonstrated that decreased immune responsiveness in vitro can be reversed by supernatants containing IL-2 (summarized in Table 1). Following incubation in IL-2, murine thymocytes produce a cytolytic response almost equal to that of peripheral T cells. In addition, peanut agglutinin positive thymocytes, thought to represent immature cortical cells, generate cytolytic activity in the presence of IL-2. Further, extension of these experiments in vitro and in vivo demonstrated that a number of functions normally poorly expressed, if at all, in nude mice developed with the administration of IL-2 in vivo, including the cytolytic response to alloantigens (25), a helper-T-cell response against heterologous erythrocytes (26), and the generation of autoantibodies (27).

Aged animals exhibit diminished IL-2 production as well as decreased allogeneic mixed lymphocyte responses, cell-mediated lympholysis, and antigen-induced T-cell proliferation. As measured in these immune assays T-cell function was markedly enhanced by supplementing cultures with supernatants containing IL-2 (28).

Immunosuppressive treatment with agents such as cyclosporin A or cyclophosphamide leads in animals to a marked diminution or failure

Table 1	In vitro	evidence for a	possible	pharmaco	logic r	ole of	IL-	2
---------	----------	----------------	----------	----------	---------	--------	-----	---

Murine and rat studies
Decreased immune responsiveness is reversed by IL-2 containing supernatants
Nude mice (25–27)
Aged animals (28)
Cyclosporine-treated animals (29)
Cyclophosphamide-treated animals (30)
IL-2 containing supernatants and purified IL-2 allows generation of lymphokine-activated
killer cells
Murine IL-2 from Con A-induced spleen cells or EL-4 tumor (12, 16)
Recombinant human IL-2 (24)
IL-2 allows the differentiation of cytotoxic T cells (31)
Metabolically inactivated cells (32)
Reverses inhibitory effect of antibody to IL-2 (33)
Human studies
Immune deficiencies and immune responsiveness can be partially restored by IL-2
Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (34)
Other immunodeficiencies including Nezeloff's syndrome (35)
Leprosy (36)
Cancer (37)
Rheumatoid arthritis (38)
IL-2 allows generation of lymphokine activated killer cells
PHA-activated lymphocyte supernatants (13)
Human tumor-derived (Jurkat) IL-2 (54)
Recombinant IL-2 (22)
IL-2 stimulates the migration of activated T cells (39)
IL-2 allows the differentiation of metabolically inactivated cells into cytotoxic T cells (40)

684 ROSENBERG & LOTZE

to respond significantly to alloantigen (29, 30). Addition of exogenous sources of IL-2 was found to result in a marked increase in reactivity. Cyclophosphamide-treated mice have adequate CTL precursors to mount an allogeneic cytotoxic-T-cell response but lack sufficient Lyt^{1+2-} cells. The supernatants of mixed lymphocyte cultures, containing IL-2 as well as other lymphokines, were capable of reversing this defect in cyclophosphamide-treated mice. Thus, in a number of situations associated with decreased immune responsiveness, supernatants containing IL-2 used in vitro were capable of reversing this immune suppression.

In addition to the ability of IL-2 to mediate the generation of LAK cells in vitro, IL-2 also appears important in the differentiation of cytotoxic T cells. The stimulating role of metabolically inactivated (heat-inactivated or UV-irradiated) cells can be reconstituted by the addition of supernatants containing IL-2 (31, 32). In addition, when antibodies to IL-2 are added to mixed-leukocyte-reaction cultures, an effective decrement in T-cell division occurs, as assessed by tritiated thymidine incorporation and by short-term cytoxicity assays. These effects could be reversed by adding IL-2 to the culture (33).

A variety of human immune deficiencies, demonstratable by in vitro assays, can also be partially restored by the addition of supernatants containing IL-2. When taken from patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (34), lymphocytes incubated with IL-2 demonstrated an increased ability to lyse both virally infected target cells and the cultured tumor cell line K 562. The reconstitution of in vitro reactivity of cells from patients with immune defects such as Nezoloff's syndrome (35), patients with leprosy (36), cancer (37), and rheumatoid arthritis (38), has been demonstrated in all cases by adding IL-2. In vitro mixed lymphocyte culture of cells from a child with Nezoloff's T-cell deficiency showed marked proliferative responses to T-cell mitogens and alloantigens and the generation of cytotoxic cells only when exogenous IL-2 was added (35).

Patients with leprosy have deficient T-cell responses to *M. leprae* but not to other antigens (36). This selective antigen defect appears to occur at the T-helper-cell level since cells are capable of proliferating to this antigen when exogenous IL-2 is added to cultures. The ability of patients with rheumatoid arthritis to respond in vitro with a proliferative response to PPD was significantly depressed compared to other individuals (38). This could not be reversed by prostaglandin inhibitors such as indomethicin but was overcome by addition of crude supernatants from a mixed lymphocyte reaction as well as by purified IL-2, but not by IL-1.

Recent experiments have indicated that IL-2 is a potent inducer of human-T-lymphocyte motility (39). Unstimulated T cells do not respond to IL-2 alone, but T cells exposed to mitogens respond with significantly
increased migration. This activity appeared to be primarily limited to the OKT4+ subset and thus suggested that IL-2 may serve as a specific regulatory molecule causing the proliferation *and* specific migration of class-II-reactive T cells.

Finally, in observations similar to those made in murine studies, it was discovered that IL-2 restores the generation of target-specific CTL by providing a proliferative stimulus when allogeneic stimulator cells had been rendered nonimmunogenic by UV irradiation or by heat treatment (40). Thus, IL-2 administration could potentially be useful in vivo for increasing the immunogenic response to weak antigens.

In Vivo Administration of IL-2 in Rodents (Table 2)

The earliest studies demonstrating an in vivo effect of IL-2 were conducted in nude mice. In studies reported by Wagner and colleagues, Con-Astimulated spleen cell supernatants were injected into nude mice along with allogeneic stimulator cells (25). This treatment allowed the in vivo differentiation of alloreactive cytotoxic T lymphocytes. In addition, rat erythrocytes injected along with IL-2-containing supernatants, into nude mice resulted in the development of autoantibodies to murine erythrocytes (27). These studies were the first clear indication that IL-2 might have an in vivo pharmacologic role and in fact partially defined the immune defect present within nude mice.

In specially prepared B rats, treated with 750 rads of irradiation following adult thymectomy and reconstituted with syngeneic bone marrow cells, cardiac allografts survived indefinitely (41). Transferred alloimmune syngeneic spleen cells alone were incapable of causing graft rejection. These animals developed acute graft rejection when IL-2-enriched, conditioned supernatant was injected along with transferred cells. In this early study, little information was provided regarding the precise dose of IL-2 required to demonstrate this effect. Conditioned media supernatants were given in a volume that was 20% of the circulating blood volume. These supernatants were given intravenously for 5 consecutive days, and when given alone, did not cause the rats to develop graft rejection. Similarly, an antibody to the IL-2 receptor was noted to prolong cardiac allograft survival in mice indicating that IL-2 itself is important in the rejection process (42).

IL-2 administration can stimulate an increase in the in vivo cellular cytotoxic response to alloantigens (43, 44) when IL-2 is given 1 to 2 days following allostimulation. Similarly in immunosuppressed animals treated with cyclophosphamide, an allocytotoxic response could be reconstituted by the in vivo injection of MLC supernatants containing IL-2 (45) at the site of a draining inguinal node adjacent to the alloimmunization site.

mmunol. 1986.4:681-709. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.	
Immunol. by	
u. Rev. J	
Ann	

 Table 2
 Effects of the in vivo administration of IL-2 to rodents

686)	ROSE	NBERG	& LOTZE						
Comment	Increased alloresponse (cytotoxicity)	Induction of T helper cells for RBC	Development of auto- antibodies to erythro- cytes	IL-2 alone did not cause rejection of stable cardiac grafts	Mice injected with IL-2 one day after immuniza- tion	IL-2 given 2 days after ip immunization worked better than concurrent administration	Tested in spleen cells 48 hr after ip treat- ment	Tested in spleen cells after 3 days	Continuous administration over 4 days caused LAK activity in spleen	Lungs, liver, and mesenteric LN all it, I AV activity
Toxocity	NS	NS	Hemolysis	NS	Debility	NS	NS	NS	SN	NS
T _{1/2} IL-2	NSª	NS	SN	SN	3-5"	SN	SN	1.6″	1.6″	SN
Strain	B6 nu/nu	B6 nu/nu	C3H & BALB/c nu/nu	Lewis rat	B6 & DBA/2	BALB/c	CBA/J	B6	B6	B6
Source and dose of IL-2	Con A-stimulated spleen cells, iv, units NS ^a	Same	Same	Con A-stimulated rat spleen cell supernatants, iv, units NS ^a	PMA-stimulated EL-4 or Con A-stimulated splenocytes ip tid 1400 units × 3 days	PHA-stimulated LBRM lymphoma; 10–100 U ip	PHA stimulated LBRM lymphoma; 50-150 U ip	Human recombinant IL-2 (HRIL-2) 10 ³ –10 ⁴ units ip, tid	Human recombinant IL-2 (HRIL-2) 10 ³ –10 ⁴ U iv, ip, or subcutaneous	HRIL-2, 1–2 × 10 ⁵ U ip tid × 5 days
Reference	25	26	27	41	43	4	4	21	21	20
Effect	Restore immunity in nude mice			Causes rejection of stable cardiac allografts with transferred cells	Increase alloimmune response		Increase natural killer activity		In vivo generation of LAK	

Annual Reviews

686

				LAK	CELLS AND	IL-2 687
Long-term cultured T cells distinguished from host using con- genic mouse cells	Increased proliferation in lung, liver, spleen, kidney, mesenteric lymph nodes	Increased proliferation of lymphocytes in lung, liver, spleen; decreased in thymus	Antiviral activity of transferred anti-herpes specific T cells increased	Marked dose dependence requiring > 10 ⁶ U/kg in sarcomas and melanomas; effect radiation sensitive	Hepatic sarcoma mets reduced Adoptive therapy of FBL-3 lymphoma	Adoptive therapy of FBL-3 lymphoma
SN	SN	Hepatotoxicity	NS	SN	Ascites None	None
NS	SN	2.9"	SN	NS	NS N	1.6–2.6″
B6	B6	Fisher rat	C3H/HEJ mice	B6	B6 B6	B6
Purified PHA, PMA stimu- lated LBRM-33, 320 U ip daily × 5 days	HRIL-2, 1-2 × 10 ⁵ U ip tid \times 5 days	HRIL-2, 2 × 10 ⁵ U/kg/hr iv by continuous infusion	Purified EL-4 super- natants iv or ip 100-200 U/day	Purified HRIL-2, 5 × 10 ³ – 10 ⁵ U ip × 5 days	HRIL-2, 1-25 × 10 ³ U ip tid × 5 days Purfied LBRM super- natants; 80 U ip	dauy A J days Purified human Jurkat derived EL-4 super- natants, 500 U ip in gelatin daily for 3 days
19	20	46	47	22	48 49	50, 51
Increase growth and function of cultured transferred T cells	Increase proliferation of endogenous lymphocytes		Increase immunity and clearance of viruses by transferred cells	Causes regression of pulmonary metastases and subcutaneous tumor	Causes regression of liver metastases Augments antitumor effect of long-term	cultured 1 cens

Mice treated with supernatants from the PHA-stimulated LBRM lymphoma or with human recombinant IL-2 (21, 44) display an increased ability to lyse NK-sensitive target cells. In both studies, increased natural killer cell activity was found in the spleen within 2 to 3 days following daily administration of IL-2.

IL-2 administered intraperitoneally can lead to the generation of LAK cells in vivo (21). In mice receiving 150,000–200,000 units of IL-2 three times a day, fresh lymphocytes obtained from lung, liver, spleen, and mesenteric lymph nodes exhibited significant cytotoxicity for fresh tumor target cells in short-term chromium-release assays (20).

When IL-2 derived from the LBRM tumor line was injected intraperitoneally at low doses (320 units/day) for 5 days in mice congenic at the Thy-1 allele, the experiment demonstrated that donor cells introduced into the peritoneal cavity expanded significantly (19). Donor cells in the ascites of treated mice increased by as much as 10-fold with IL-2 administration and as much as 20-fold in the spleen of irradiated or cyclophosphamide-treated mice. Increase in T-cell growth, augmented by IL-2, occurred only with T cells that had been precultured in IL-2.

In addition to the proliferation of transferred T cells under the influence of administered IL-2, the proliferation of endogenous lymphocytes has been demonstrated using an assay based on the incorporation of ¹²⁵labeled IUdR into whole mice (20). The increase in endogenous lymphocytes occurred in the lung, liver, spleen, kidney, and mesenteric lymph nodes of animals treated with $1-2 \times 10^5$ units of IL-2 intraperitoneally 3 times a day for 5 days, the proliferation was inhibited by irradiating the animals.

Using a continuous infusion of human recombinant IL-2 in rats, researchers studied the toxicity of IL-2 administration (46). Rats showed a half-life of HRIL-2 of approximately 2.9 min; this was similar to the half-life found in mice. Increased proliferation of lymphocytes within the lung, liver, and spleen of rats receiving IL-2 by this route was noted histologically. A decreased number of lymphocytes appeared in the thymus. Very high doses of IL-2 had significant toxicity that could lead to the death of affected animals. A dose of 140,000 U/kg/hr was uniformly lethal, while no deaths were noted in rats receiving 3,000 U/kg/hr.

Studies evaluated the role of IL-2 in augmenting immunity to herpes simplex virus in C3H/HEJ mice. These demonstrated that purified IL-2 from EL-4-stimulated tumor cells administered in conjunction with transferred antiherpes-specific T cells increased cell-mediated antiviral activity (47). Relatively low quantities of IL-2 administered intraperitoneally in gelatin decreased the mean viral titers 20–100 fold.

The systemic administration of high doses of recombinant IL-2 alone to tumor-bearing mice can lead to the generation of LAK cells in vivo and can mediate the regression of established pulmonary hepatic and subcutaneous metastases from a variety of tumors (22). A mean reduction of pulmonary metastases of 80% was seen in 10 experiments involving mice treated with 100,000–170,000 units of IL-2, starting 3 days after tumor injection. The effectiveness of IL-2 was even greater in animals whose treatment was begun 10 days following establishment of pulmonary metastases. In these animals, doses of 20,000–50,000 units of IL-2 administered 3 times a day mediated tumor regression. These treatments appear to require the in vivo proliferation of lymphoid cells since irradiated mice received no benefit from IL-2 therapy. Similar experiments, using the MCA-105 sarcoma metastatic to the liver (48), demonstrated that IL-2 injected intraperitoneally 3 times a day for 7 days was effective in markedly reducing the number of liver metastases. In 20 consecutive experiments, various doses of IL-2 resulted in a consistent reduction in hepatic metastases at all doses over 15,000 units administered intraperitoneally 3 times a day.

Studies conducted by Cheever et al (49) and by Donohue et al (50, 51) have demonstrated that IL-2 can enhance the therapeutic effectiveness of the adoptive transfer of specifically immune, cultured T cells in mice bearing the FBL-3 lymphoma. Shu & Rosenberg have reported similar findings in mice bearing MCA-induced sarcomas (10).

In summary, in a number of different murine models, IL-2 significantly increased immune reactivity and the growth and function of both endogenous and transferred T cells, as well as of lymphokine-activated killer cells. In addition, at very high doses, IL-2 alone appeared to have significant antitumor effects. The mechanism by which IL-2 mediated these effects is thought to be primarily the ability of this agent to increase the proliferation of lymphoid cells as well as the generation, in vivo, of lymphokine-activated killer cells.

Studies of IL-2 Administered to Patients With Cancer (Table 3)

The first reported studies of the administration of IL-2 in humans used relatively low doses of IL-2 obtained from the supernatants of mitogenstimulated normal human lymphocytes (52). Doses of $2-8.4 \times 10^4$ units of this material were administered to patients with malignancy. Increased spontaneous lymphocyte proliferation as well as the development of atypical lymphocytes in the circulation was reported.

We began our studies with IL-2 derived from the Jurkat cell line in 1983. A total of approximately 30 mg of IL-2 was purified from thousands of liters of supernatant from stimulated Jurkat tumor cells. The serum half-life, toxicity, and in vivo immunologic effects of this IL-2 preparation were studied in patients with AIDS, as well as in patients with cancer un-

Source and dose of purified IL-2	Reference	T _{1/2}	Number of patients	Immunologic findings	Toxicity
PHA-stimulated human PBL $(2-8.4 \times 10^4 \text{ U})$	52 .	22.5"	7	Increased spontaneous lymphocyte proliferation Occasional atypical lymphocytes and lymphocytopenia	Fever Increased cortisol levels
Jurkat tumor derived IL-2 (Total dose of 5.6 \times 10^4 U -8×10^6 U)	53, 54	5-7" (x) 30-120 (β)	16	Acute decrease in total PBMC after bolus administration Decreased IL-2 responsiveness and ability to generate LAK from PBMC after approximately 15 min with recovery by 24–48 hr Increase in serum ACTH and	Mild DIC Fever, chills Headache Malaise Transient hyper- bilirubinemia
Recombinant IL-2 (Total dose of 0.4-2.5 × 10 ⁶ U/kg)	56, 57	6.9″ (α) 70″ (β)		cortisol Early depletion of all lymphoid cells followed by expansion with continuous administration of IL-2 2-16-fold increase in total lymphoid cells with continuous IL-2 administration Increase in serum gamma interferon levels Early depletion of LAK precursors Increase in Tac (+) cells in the periphery with continuous IL-2 administration	Fever, chills Headache Malaise Nausea and vomiting Weight gain and fluid retention Diarrhea Rash and pruritis Eosinophilia

 Table 3
 Pharmacokinetics, immunologic findings, and toxicity of IL-2 in patients with cancer

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:681-709. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.

690

responsive to standard therapy (53, 54). Patients received 0.25, 2.5, or 25 μ g/kg of IL-2 by bolus or by 24-hour continuous infusion on a weekly basis for 4 weeks. The serum half-life of IL-2 was short, with an alpha distribution phase of 5-7 min and a beta clearance phase of 30-120 min. A total of 16 patients were studied, 4 of whom received the direct intralesional injection of IL-2. Immunologic findings associated with the use of Jurkat IL-2 included an acute decrease in the total numbers of peripheral-blood mononuclear cells obtainable after bolus administration, decreased IL-2 mitogenic responsiveness, and decreased ability to generate LAK cells from PBMC within 15 min following IL-2 administration, an ability recovered by 24-48 hr. An increase in serum ACTH and cortisol was noted. No patients demonstrated beneficial therapeutic effects, and toxocity was minimal including : headache (6/16), nausea (4/16), malaise (6/16), and fever and chills (8/16). No pulmonary, hematologic, or renal toxicity was noted. Our ability to conduct further studies with the use of this IL-2 preparation was limited by its availability. Thus, future studies were conducted with recombinant IL-2 (kindly supplied by the Cetus Corporation, Emeryville, Calif.).

The description of the cloning of the gene for IL-2 by Taniguchi et al in 1983 and its subsequent stable expression in *E. coli* allowed production of large quantities of IL-2 (23, 24). Site-specific mutagenesis of the human IL-2 gene, with a serine-for-cysteine substitution at amino acid residue 125 of the mature protein, allowed the production of a stable molecule containing the full biologic activity of native IL-2 (55). We have currently treated over 25 patients with recombinant IL-2 alone and have determined that its serum alpha distribution phase is 6.9 min, with a beta clearance phase of approximately 70 min (56). One of the difficulties associated with conducting serial immunologic assays in patients receiving IL-2 is that all lymphoid cells decrease in the peripheral blood following IL-2 administration. With continuous administration of IL-2, recovery and actual expansion of lymphoid cells in the periphery occurs, with the total numbers of lymphocytes sometimes increasing as much as 16-fold.

Measurement of IL-2 in the serum (Figure 1) is readily accomplished using the in vitro biologic assay initially described by Gillis and by Smith (54). An increase in gamma interferon levels, with up to 26 units of gamma interferon detectable in the serum at 2 hr, followed bolus infusion of 10^6 units/kg of IL-2. Interferon levels decreased to normal within 48 hr following treatment. Smaller increases of interferon occurred with continuous infusion of IL-2. In the use of both the Jurkat and recombinant IL-2, one of the most consistent findings is a marked early decrease in LAK precursors within the peripheral blood following bolus IL-2 administration. As shown in Table 4, patients receiving a variety of doses of IL-2

exhibited the early depletion of cells capable of generating LAK activity following IL-2 incubation. LAK precursor cells were rapidly cleared with decreases to less than 1-5% of the starting number of lytic cells within minutes following the administration of IL-2. Although it is unclear how this phenomenon is mediated, it is apparent that IL-2 caused rapid migration of LAK precursor cells to sites inaccessible to peripheral phlebotomy. Similar decreases in LAK precursor cells appeared in the lymphocytes contained within the thoracic duct lymph in patients receiving IL-2 (56).

With continuous administration of recombinant IL-2 at doses greater than 1000 units/kg/hr, circulating Tac-positive cells accounted for as many as a third of all peripheral mononuclear cells (56). Further studies (57) demonstrated that a majority of the Tac-positive cells were $\text{Leu}^{2-,3+}$. That these cells indeed expressed messages for the IL-2 receptor was confirmed by use of a cDNA probe for the IL-2 receptor. IL-2 could inhibit anti-Tac binding on these cells, whereas recombinant insulin could not.

Major toxicities occurred with the administration of large doses of recombinant IL-2 (58). Fever and chills developed in every patient receiving



Figure 1 Titration of IL-2 in the serum of a patient receiving recombinant IL-2 by bolus infusion of 10^6 units/kg. Timed serum samples were obtained and tested in a biologic assay with the CTLL murine IL-2 dependent cell line. Low levels of activity could be detected up to 24 hr following this dose.

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1986.4:681-709. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.or by HINARI on 08/27/07. For personal use only.
--

 Table 4
 LAK precursors markedly decrease early after IL-2 administration

				Days in cultu	re with IL-2 ^a		
		1 d	lay	3-4	days	7 dî	iys
Patient	IV bolus dose of IL-2	Fresh tumor lysis ^a	K 562 lysis ^a	Fresh tumor lysis ^a	K 562 lysis ^a	Fresh tumor lysis ^a	K562 lysis*
1	100,000 U/kg						
	Pre	QN	QN	16.9 ± 3.0	38.3 ± 11.9	31.1 ± 3.7	61.3 ± 11.0
	Post (30")	QN	QN	-4.6±4.4	3.8±0.5	-10.9 ± 5.3	11.6 ± 1.5
7	300,000 U/kg						
	Pre	QN	Ð	36.8 ± 8.0	140.0 ± 12.6	18.0 ± 5.1	51.1 ± 2.0
	Post (4 hr)	QN	QN	1.1 ± 1.0	0.9 ± 3.5	0.8 ± 1.7	-8.5 ± 5.1
ŝ	1,000,000 U/kg						
	Pre	19.9 ± 5.3	49.9 ± 6.1	33.5 ± 3.4	67.1 ± 1.8	57.1 ± 10.2	79.0±5.3
	Post (15")	7.5±2. 1	-6.8 ± 2.2	-2.0 ± 1.6	1.9 ± 3.3	-1.2 ± 0.7	3.5 ± 1.2

*% cytotoxicity at 20:1 E:T ratio.

Annual Reviews

693

more than 1000 U/kg of IL-2 as a bolus or as an hourly continuous infusion. These symptoms were readily inhibited by the administration of acetaminophen and the prostaglandin inhibitor, indomethicin. Moderate headache, malaise, nausea and vomiting, and diarrhea developed in most patients. One of the most striking toxicities in treated patients was the reproducible weight gain related to marked fluid retention from what was presumed to be a capillary-leak syndrome. Unless patients received exogenous fluids, a syndrome occurred marked by hypotension, tachycardia, and oliguria. Weight gains of as much as 20 kg were noted over a 3week period. In conjunction with this profound weight gain, other toxicities appeared in some patients; these included confusion, hypoxia related to development of an acute respiratory distress syndrome, hyperbilirubinemia and the development of significant renal dysfunction. A marked eosinophilia developed in most patients, often at levels exceeding those seen in parasitic infections or in the idiopathic eosinophilia syndrome. No apparent toxocity was associated with these high levels of circulating eosinophils, which sometimes amounted to as many as 90% of the circulating white cells. Similar toxicities have been reported by others using IL-2 taken from identical sources (Cetus Corporation) or from other manufacturers (Biogen) (59, 60). All of these side effects were reversible with the discontinuation of IL-2. Though we saw no antitumor responses in patients treated at lower doses of IL-2, we have recently seen significant tumor shrinkage in 3 patients with melanoma receiving 100,000 units/kg of IL-2 3 times a day.

THE ROLE OF INTERLEUKIN-2 IN ADOPTIVE IMMUNOTHERAPY

General Principles of Adoptive Immunotherapy

Experience with a large number of animal tumor models has demonstrated that the systematic transfer of lymphoid cells with specific antitumor reactivity is capable of mediating the regression of established invasive, as well as metastatic, tumors (2–10). Use of carefully selected immunogenic experimental tumor models and the ability to immunize large numbers of normal mice to provide sufficient numbers of immune lymphoid cells for adoptive transfer have been requirements in these studies. Though this immunization approach to the generation of cells used for adoptive transfer is not applicable in humans, these tumor models have established important principles for the application of adoptive immunotherapy in the human.

The most extensively studied tumor model of successful adoptive immunotherapy is the FBL-3 lymphoma in C57BL/6 mice (7, 9), a Friend-

virus-induced leukemia-lymphoma that grows rapidly in irradiated syngeneic C57BL/6 mice but only sporadically in nonirradiated animals. This model has been extensively studied by Fefer, Cheever, and Greenberg (7) and by Eberlein, Rosenberg, and colleagues (9), who established a variety of important principals concerning successful adoptive immunotherapy of this tumor (Table 5). The adoptive transfer of both established local, as well as disseminated, lymphoma can be mediated by the adoptive transfer of either immune-fresh splenocytes, in vitro boosted-immune splenocytes, or immune splenocytes expanded in IL-2 in vitro (9, 49, 51, 61–63). The high degree of immunogenicity of this tumor and its inability to grow in nonirradiated animals, however, raises concern about the applicability of these findings to the treatment of spontaneous human tumors.

A more realistic model for specific adoptive immunotherapy studies in murine models has been developed by Shu & Rosenberg using newly methylcholanthrene-induced sarcomas in early transplant generations (10, 64). These workers have demonstrated that established, growing methylcholanthrene-induced tumors can be made to regress by the systemic adoptive transfer of specifically immune splenocytes. A summary of findings utilizing this tumor model is shown in Table 6.

These tumor models have helped to demonstrate that established tumors can be made to regress by immunologic maneuvers; they also helped to establish several principles, jointly applicable to both model systems, that probably will pertain to the treatment of human tumors by adoptive immunotherapy as well. Specific adoptive immunotherapy appears capable

Table 5Systemic adoptive immunotherapy of disseminated FBL-3 lymphoma (footpadmodel) 9, 49, 51, 61-63)

- Regression of established local and disseminated tumor can be mediated by the adoptive transfer of:
 - -immune fresh splenocytes
 - -in vitro boosted immune splenocytes
 - -immune lymphoid cells expanded in interleukin-2 (IL-2).
- Transfer of both Lyt-1⁺ and Lyt-2⁺ lymphoid cells is essential for mediating regression of established tumor.
- Host macrophage function plays an essential role in the tumor regression mediated by the adoptive transfer of immune lymphocytes.
- When cloned cytolytic and cloned proliferative cell lines reactive specifically with FBL-3 lymphoma were adoptively transferred, only cloned lines with proliferative reactivity could prolong survival of tumor-bearing mice.

Both cytolytic and proliferative clones were Lyt-2⁺; proliferative responses to FBL-3 were H-2 restricted (KD antigens).

Systemic administration of IL-2 can enhance the efficacy of adoptively transferred murine lymphocytes.

Annual Reviews

696 ROSENBERG & LOTZE

of mediating the regression of established locally invasive and metastatic tumors, though it requires the adoptive transfer of relatively large numbers (approximately 10^8 immune cells to control a 5–10 mm diameter tumor in a mouse). In both model systems the transferred fresh lymphoid cell capable of mediating tumor regression appears to be Thy-1⁺ Lyt-1⁺2⁺ (62). Some degree of in vivo proliferation of these cells appears necessary since the irradiation of cells prior to adoptive transfer abrogates their therapeutic effectiveness (9). As in other tumor models, successful adoptive immuno-therapy with these specifically immune cells is dependent on prior immunosuppression of the host using either total body irradiation or treatment with cyclophosphamide (6, 9, 10).

The use of specific adoptive immunotherapy in the human will almost surely involve some aspect of in vitro sensitization to tumor antigens to generate specifically immune cells. Successful adoptive immunotherapy with these stimulated cells is either critically dependent on, or can be substantially enhanced by, the concomitant administration of IL-2 and in vitro sensitized or expanded lymphoid cells (49, 51). The administration of IL-2 appears to have little impact on adoptive immunotherapy utilizing fresh immune cells; however, the in vitro sensitization procedure appears to result in the generation of IL-2 receptors on specifically immune lymphoid cells and the responsiveness of these cells to IL-2. This leads to their proliferation in vivo, which is an important component of their successful therapeutic effect.

The adoptive immunotherapy of human tumors using specifically immune lymphocytes is not yet feasible because of the lack of reliable techniques for the generation of human lymphocytes with specific antitumor reactivity. Should cells with antitumor reactivity become available for use in humans, the simultaneous transfer of IL-2 to sustain the in vivo survival and expansion of these cells will likely be required.

 Table 6
 Systemic adoptive immunotherapy of established newly induced murine sarcomas

 (10, 64)
 (10, 64)

Regression of established intradermal sarcomas can be mediated by the systemic adoptive transfer of specifically immune splenocytes.

The transferred cell mediating tumor regression is Thy⁺ Lyt-1⁺2⁺.

Irradiation of transferred cells abrogates their therapeutic effectiveness.

Adoptive transfer of in vitro boosted immune cells is effective in mediating tumor regression only when Interleukin-2 (IL-2) is administered concommitantly. IL-2 administration does not, however, boost the therapeutic effectiveness of fresh immune cells.

Tumor regression mediated by the adoptive transfer of immune splenocytes is tumor-specific and can be mediated only by splenocytes immune to that tumor.

Successful adoptive therapy is dependent on prior immunosuppression of the host (irradiation or cyclophosphamide treatment).

The inability to generate lymphoid cells with specific immune antitumor reactivity has greatly impeded the application of this approach to the treatment of human cancer. However, an unexpected effect of IL-2 in vitro has led to an alternative (12, 13). The use of IL-2-stimulated, lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells in immunotherapy has already achieved some success in the treatment of established murine and human tumors (5, 17, 18). Because of the current applicability of this approach, the remainder of this review will deal with recent developments in the use of LAK cells in conjunction with IL-2 cancer immunotherapy.

Lymphokine-Activated Killer Cells

IL-2 acts primarily to stimulate proliferation of T-lymphoid cells bearing the IL-2 receptor. However, in 1980, we observed that the incubation for 3– 5 days of either murine or human lymphoid cells in supernatants containing IL-2 was capable of generating lymphoid cells (LAK cells) that could mediate the lysis of fresh tumor target cells, though not of fresh normal cells (12, 13). The most striking feature of this phenomenon is the ability of these LAK cells to lyse fresh, noncultured tumor cell preparations that are natural-killer-cell resistant, either syngeneic or allogeneic, primary or metastatic (14). In this regard these cells are quite different from natural killer cells whose major lytic activity is against carefully selected cultured cell lines, with little reactivity against fresh tumor cell preparations. An example of the generation of murine LAK cells from normal splenocytes is presented in Table 7, and the generation of human LAK cells from normal peripheral blood lymphocytes is shown in Table 8.

The characteristic elements of LAK lysis are clearly exhibited in the murine model. Fresh uncultured cells are incapable of killing a variety of syngeneic fresh target cells despite the presence of natural killer activity in these cells (as shown by their ability to lyse the YAK tumor target line). Culture of fresh splenocytes in complete medium alone does not result in the generation of lytic cells. However (final column in Table 7), the culture of

<u> </u>	C57BL/6 Splenocyte Effector Cells ^a					
Target	Fresh (uncultured)	Cultured in medium	Cultured in IL-2			
MCA-102 sarcoma	1±1	2±2	53±2			
MCA-106 sarcoma	3 ± 1	4 ± 1	53 <u>+</u> 1			
EL-4 lymphoma	-20 ± 2	-18 ± 1	43±2			
Normal splenocyte	-12 ± 3	-20 ± 5	8 ± 2			
YAC	20 ± 1	8 ± 1	72±1			

Table 7 Generation of murine LAK cells

^a% lysis (±SEM); 100:1, effector: target (from Reference 16).

fresh lymphocytes in IL-2 is capable of generating cells lytic for these fresh, NK-resistant, tumor cells. Similarly in the human (Table 8), fresh lymphocytes are incapable of lysing either autologous fresh sarcoma cells or a variety of allogeneic cells despite the fact that these cells have natural killer activity, as exemplified by their ability to lyse the NK-susceptible K562 cell line. The incubation of these same lymphoid cells in IL-2 for 3–5 days gives rise to LAK cells capable of lysing these fresh tumor target cells. The LAK cells lyse not only autologous sarcoma but a variety of allogeneic sarcomas and carcinomas as well. Extensive in vitro studies of the characteristics of murine and human LAK cells are summarized in Tables 9 and 10. Several of these findings require emphasis. In the human the precursor of the LAK cell is a non-B, non-T, "null" lymphocyte. Lysis of target cells exhibits no MHC restriction, and a large number of allogeneic tumor target cells, 36 were susceptible to significant LAK lysis (Table 11).

LAK cells are also capable of killing cultured normal cells and, in fact, even minor perturbations in the normal cell surface appear to convert normal cells to sensitivity to LAK lysis. Concanavalin-A induced lymphocyte blasts—normal skin fibroblasts—in culture, and even normal cells with cell-surface modifications such as trinitrophenylation appear susceptible to LAK lysis. It is important to emphasize, however, that in the fresh nontransformed state, normal cells are not susceptible to lysis by LAK cells.

Though early experiments were performed using crude supernatants

	Effector Cell ^b					
	LA	K	Fresh	PBL		
Target cell	40:1 ^a	10:1	60:1	15:1		
Autologous sarcoma	76±6	73±1	-4 ± 10	-9 ± 1		
Allogeneic sarcoma	88 ± 3	78 ± 2	7 ± 2	-1 ± 1		
Colon cancer	62 ± 1	41 ± 3	-16 ± 1	-14 ± 1		
Esophageal cancer	78 ± 5	62 ± 2	0 ± 4	-1 ± 1		
Adrenal cancer	68 ± 2	41 ± 3	-16 ± 1	-20 ± 2		
Pancreas cancer	28 ± 5	17 ± 2	-5 ± 1	-2 ± 1		
Normal lymphocyte	4 ± 1	9 ± 6	-9 ± 3	-8 ± 2		
K 562 cultured cell line	105 ± 6	89 ± 2	46 ± 3	15 ± 1		

Table 8 Generation of human LAK cells

* Effector : target (Reference 65).

b% lysis ± 1 SEM.

Table 9 Characteristics of murine lymphokine activated killer (LAK) cells

Generated by incubation in interleukin-2 (IL-2).
Peak lysis observed from 3 to 6 days after onset of incubation in IL-2.
Lyse fresh, noncultured, NK resistant, primary and metastatic tumor cells but do not lyse normal cells.
Syngeneic, allogeneic, and exogeneic tumor cells are lysed (murine LAK lyse human tumors and vice versa).
Frequency of LAK precursor lymphocyte is about 1 in 5000 splenocytes as measured in limiting dilution assays.
Precursor of the LAK cell is a non-B, non-T lymphocyte (Thy-1 ⁻ , Ia ⁻ , surface Ig ⁻ ; thus is a "null" lymphocyte).
Precursor LAK lymphocyte bears asialo-GM1 antigen.
LAK effector cell (resulting from incubation in IL-2) is Thy 1 ⁺ . Thus LAK cells are probably "primitive" cells in the T-lymphocyte lineage.
LAK cells bear cytolysin granules. Lysis can be inhibited by anti-LFA-1 monoclonal antibody and is partially inhibited by anti-Lyt-2 antibody

containing IL-2, the availability of highly purified recombinant IL-2 has clearly demonstrated that IL-2 is the sole lymphokine responsible for the generation of LAK cells (24). The availability of large amounts of recombinant IL-2 and the ability to obtain large numbers of lymphocytes by repeated leukophereses in humans provided the opportunity to study the ability of LAK cells with IL-2 to mediate therapeutic effects in humans. Before beginning these efforts, however, a large number of animal studies were performed to define the in vivo effectiveness of LAK cells in mediating the regression of established tumors.

Table 10 Characteristics of human lymphokine activated killer (LAK) cells

LAK cell precursors
Nonadherent
E-rosette negative
OKM-1
OKT-3 ⁻
Leu 1 ⁻
Leu 7 ⁻
Present in peripheral blood, spleen, lymph nodes, bone marrow, thoracic duct
LAK cell effector
Nonadherent
OKM-1 ⁻
OKM-3 ⁻
Lyse autologous and allogeneic fresh tumor cells but not fresh normal cells

Annual Reviews

700 ROSENBERG & LOTZE

Diagnosis	Number of specimens tested	Number killed by LAK cells (>10% specific lysis)	% Lysis (mean)
Soft tissue sarcoma	20	18	49
Osteosarcoma	5	5	50
Adenocarcinoma			
Colon	7	4	20
Ovary	2	2	23
Pancreas	2	2	24
Lymphoma	3	3	41
Esophageal carcinoma	1	1	78
Adrenal carcinoma	1	1	68
Total	41	36	

Table 11 LAK cells kill a variety of fresh numan tumor targe	Table 11	LAK cells	kill a	variety	of fresh	human	tumor	target
---	----------	-----------	--------	---------	----------	-------	-------	--------

(From Reference 65.)

The Role of LAK Cells in Cancer Immunotherapy

Many studies have now demonstrated that the adoptive transfer of LAK cells in conjunction with recombinant IL-2 can mediate the regression of established pulmonary and hepatic metastases from a variety of murine tumors in several mouse strains (17, 18, 22, 48, 66). In these experiments, therapy was begun from 3 to 10 days after tumor cell injection, at a time when established metastases were evident. The efficacy of therapy was evaluated by counting in a coded fashion the number of either pulmonary or hepatic metastases at approximately 2 weeks after tumor cell injection, or by evaluating survival of mice. A typical experiment is shown in Table 12.

	Number of metastases (mean) at day 13 ^a			
Cells ^b	HBSS	RIL-2		
None	228	152		
Cultured splenocytes	183	156		
Fresh splenocytes	214	191		
LAK	200	20°		

 Table 12
 Immunotherapeutic effect of LAK cells and recombinant interleukin-2 on established pulmonary sarcoma metastases

⁸ The number of MCA sarcoma cells injected iv was 3×10^5 ; each group contained 6 mice. RIL-2 (15,000 U/injection) or HBSS was injected ip approximately every 8 hr from days 3-8 after tumor injection.

 6 1 × 10⁸ LAK cells, fresh normal splenocytes, or normal splenocytes cultured for 3 days without RIL-2 were injected iv on days 3 and 6 after tumor injection.

^cLAK + RIL-2 vs RIL-2 alone; p < 0.01. (After Reference 66.)

Cells from an early generation, methylcholanthrene-induced sarcoma were injected intravenously, and 3 and 6 days later 10⁸ syngeneic LAK cells' normal splenocytes, or splenocytes cultured in vitro in the absence of IL-2, were injected into these mice. One half of mice in each group also received the intraperitoneal injection of 15,000 units of IL-2 every 8 hours from 3 to 8 days after tumor injection. Fresh splenocytes, or splenocytes cultured in the absence of IL-2, had no impact on the number of metastases. IL-2 alone at this dose, or LAK cells alone, had little or no impact on the number of metastases. However, combination therapy, with LAK cells and with recombinant IL-2, reduced by greater than 90% the number of pulmonary metastases in these mice (from 228 metastases to 20 metastases, p < 0.001). This ability to reduce pulmonary metastases was highly reproducible. Experiments demonstrated that the infusion of both LAK cells and IL-2 was required for the maximal reduction of pulmonary metastases. Though high doses of IL-2 alone are capable of reducing pulmonary metastases (see earlier section), at the low doses of IL-2 used in these experiments, the administration of LAK cells was required. At any dose of IL-2 the combination of LAK cells and IL-2 was more effective in reducing metastases than was therapy with IL-2 alone.

A typical experiment demonstrating the effectiveness of LAK and IL-2 therapy in the treatment of hepatic metastases is shown in Table 13. This experiment again demonstrates that the combination of LAK cells and IL-2 is essential to mediate antitumor effects. It is important to emphasize that successful adoptive therapy with LAK cells and IL-2 can be achieved using

Treatment			······································	
Group Cells ^a		RIL-2 ^b	Number of metastases (mean) ^c	
A	None	_	246	
В	None	+	53	
С	LAK		193	
D	LAK	+	1	
Ε	Cultured splenocyte	_	250	
F	Cultured splenocyte	+	50	
G	Fresh splenocyte	_	245	
Н	Fresh splenocyte	+	60	

 Table 13
 Effects of LAK cells versus fresh cells and cultured cells with and without RIL-2 on the reduction of day-3 established liver metastases

* 1 × 10⁸ LAK cells, fresh normal splenocytes, or splenocytes cultured for 3 days in complete media without IL-2 were given iv on days 3 and 6 after tumor injection.

^b Mice received 7500 units per injection of RIL-2 from days 3-10 after tumor injection.

° Statistical significance of differences : A vs B, p < 0.005; C, p < 0.05; D, p < 0.005; E, nonsignificant ; F, p < 0.005; G, nonsignificant ; H, p < 0.005; B vs D, p < 0.005; F, nonsignificant ; H, nonsignificant .

(Reference 48.)

_

nonimmunogenic tumors. A characteristic experiment demonstrating this point is shown in Figure 2. The MCA-102 sarcoma utilized in this experiment is nonimmunogenic, and all attempts to immunize mice against this tumor using a variety of techniques have failed. Whereas high doses of IL-2 alone are capable of providing a minor reduction in the number of metastases seen in this tumor model, the reduction in metastases seen with the combination therapy of LAK cells and IL-2 is far greater.

A large number of experiments have now been performed analyzing the parameters important for the successful immunotherapy of established murine lung and liver metastases with LAK cells and IL-2. The findings of these experiments are summarized in Table 14 (17, 18, 22, 48, 66). Several points require emphasis. Therapy with LAK cells and IL-2 is successful against a variety of immunogenic and nonimmunogenic sarcomas and carcinomas. The effective cell in vivo is derived from a non-T-cell (Thy-1⁻) precursor that develops into a Thy-1⁺ cell in vitro under the influence of IL-2 stimulation. LAK cells effective in adoptive immunotherapy can be generated from tumor-bearing animals as well as from allogeneic normal mice. In contrast to the use of specific immune cells, immunotherapy with



Figure 2 Effect of RIL-2 and LAK cells plus RIL-2 on therapy of MCA liver metastases Reduction of liver metastases in mice bearing the MCA-102 nonimmunogenic sarcoma treated with either IL-2 alone or LAK cells plus IL-2.

LAK cells and IL-2 is effective in the normal host as well as in hosts whose immune system has been suppressed by total body irradiation or treatment with cyclophosphamide. Thus, immune depression of the host is not required to achieve successful LAK therapy. In all of the animal model systems studied, the more LAK cells transferred and the larger the doses of IL-2 administered, the greater the therapeutic effects against established tumors.

The mechanism of the therapeutic effect of LAK cells and IL-2 is under intensive investigation. It appears clear in murine models that the adoptively transferred LAK cells proliferate in vivo in a variety of host tissues under the stimulation of IL-2 (67). Using the adoptive transfer of congenic Thy-1.2 LAK cells into Thy-1.1 host mice, the proliferating cells in mouse organs were shown to be of donor rather than of host phenotype. Further, following the injection of LAK cells plus IL-2, it was possible to recover expanded numbers of lymphocytes with LAK activity against fresh murine tumor from the lung or liver itself. It thus appears that LAK cells with antitumor reactivity proliferate in vivo under the influence of IL-2 and that these expanded cell populations maintain their lytic activity. These expanding lymphocytes appear capable of mediating antitumor effects in

 Table 14
 Characteristics of the immunotherapy of established murine lung and liver metastases with LAK cells and IL-2 (17, 18, 22, 48, 66)

Immunotherapy with LAK cells and IL-2 is effective in hosts suppressed by total body irradiation or treatment with cyclophosphamide. Therapy is also effective in "B" mice (thymectomized, lethally irradiated, reconstituted with T-cell-depleted bone marrow).

Allogeneic LAK cells are effective in conjunction with IL-2.

Irradiated LAK cells (3000 rads) are less effective than nonirradiated cells.

- LAK cells effective in immunotherapy can be generated from the splenocytes of tumor bearing mice.
- Successful therapy of immunogenic and nonimmunogenic sarcomas, melanoma, and a colon adenocarcinoma has been demonstrated.

The precursor of the LAK cells effective in vivo is a non-T cell (Thy 1⁻).

Administration of IL-2 leads to in vivo proliferation of transferred LAK cells.

Established lung and liver metastases can be inhibited by treatment with LAK cells and IL-2. Both LAK cells and IL-2 are required, and either administered alone is less effective.

A direct relationship exists between the number of LAK cells administered and the therapeutic effect.

A direct relationship exists between the amount of IL-2 administered and the therapeutic effect.

Incubation of splenocytes for 3 days appears optimal for the generation of LAK cells effective in vivo.

Metastases that persist after in vivo therapy with LAK cells plus IL-2 are sensitive to LAK cell lysis both in vitro and in subsequent in vivo experiments.

Annual Reviews

704 ROSENBERG & LOTZE

vivo. Though diffuse lymphoid infiltrates appear in most mouse organs and presumably result in toxic side effects, these cells are exquisitely sensitive to the presence of IL-2. When IL-2 administration is discontinued, these lymphoid infiltrates resolve over the course of several days.

Therapy of Cancer in Humans Utilizing LAK Cells and IL-2

The results of therapy with LAK cells plus IL-2 in experimental tumor models predicted that maximal effects from using this approach for the treatment of human cancer would be expected when therapy involved both LAK cells and IL-2. The dose of IL-2 alone required to mediate consistent antitumor effects in murine models was 2.5×10^6 units of IL-2/kg administered every 8 hours. This dose is approximately 25 times higher than that tolerated by humans on a per kilogram basis. In contrast, 2.5×10^5 U/kg of IL-2 was capable of supporting the antitumor effects of LAK cells in murine models.

Early efforts to apply the use of LAK cells and IL-2 to the treatment of human malignancy proceeded in three stages. First it was necessary to demonstrate that recombinant IL-2 and activated killer cells could be given separately, with safety, to humans. This was a prerequisite to the combination of these treatments in patients with advanced cancer. The ability to generate LAK cells in numbers sufficient for transfer to patients with cancer was dependent upon large amounts of recombinant IL-2, which first became available in 1984 (23, 24). However, between 1980 and 1982, a variety of methods for activating human lymphoid cells to generate cells that were active in lysing fresh human tumor were described by Rosenberg and colleagues (68-71). These techniques included the stimulation of human peripheral-blood lymphocytes with lectins such as phytohemagglutinin (phytohemagglutinin-activated killer cells-PAK) or by the use of pooled allosensitization as previously described by Zarling & Bach. Using human activated-killer cells (either PAK or LAK cells) for the treatment of 27 patients with advanced cancer, early clinical trials were conducted between 1982 and 1984 (72, 73). Though no antitumor effects were seen in any patient, these clinical protocols demonstrated that relatively large numbers (nearly 2×10^{11}) of activated killer cells could be administered to humans with minimal toxicity. The major toxicities associated with the administration of activated killer cells alone were transient fever and chills, and these could easily be eliminated by the use of appropriate medications. Pulmonary diffusion capacity decreased transiently, then returned to normal hours after cell administration. Cells for these studies were obtained by repeated leukophereses of these cancer patients, and this procedure was also well tolerated.

Following the repeated infusion of activated killer cells from successive leukophereses, the appearance of cells lytic against autologous tumor was measured in the peripheral blood of these patients (72). In addition the traffic of these activated killer cells was evaluated utilizing Indium¹¹¹-labeled cells. Following the first infusion of Indium¹¹¹-labeled PAK cells, these cells were promptly cleared by the liver and spleen. Following the ninth infusion of PAK cells, however, excretion of these cells was significantly delayed, and increased numbers of infused cells were found in the lung.

In December 1984, the first clinical trials were initiated using LAK cells plus IL-2 for the treatment of patients with a variety of advanced malignancies. An important part of the evolution of this clinical protocol was the performance of the cell harvests at a time after the IL-2 administration had stopped. This was essential because, as our findings described previously, LAK precursors disappeared from the circulation following IL-2 administration.

Of the 22 evaluable patients with advanced cancer treated with LAK cells plus IL-2, 9 patients have shown an objective regression of metastatic cancer. These responses have occurred in four different histologic types of cancer including colon cancer, melanoma, renal cell cancer, and a primary lung adenocarcinoma. Metastases in the lung, subcutaneous tissues, and liver have regressed during these therapies.

One patient has experienced a complete regression of all metastatic melanoma that has lasted twelve months following the completion of therapy. This patient was a 29-year-old woman with metastatic melanoma who had previously failed surgical resection and therapy with interferon. She was treated with a total of 4.2×10^{10} LAK cells obtained from 9 successive leukophereses. Concomitantly, she received 47 doses of IL-2 comprising a total of 7.9×10^5 total units of recombinant IL-2 per kg. This patient had multiple subcutaneous melanoma metastases in the arm, thigh, back, and buttock. All lesions began to regress following the completion of therapy with LAK cells and IL-2, and by three months after the completion of therapy, all lesions had disappeared.

The use of LAK cells plus recombinant IL-2 appears to hold some promise for the treatment of human malignancy. Principals established from animal models appear to be applicable to the treatment of humans with malignancy. Currently, efforts are underway to test further the use of this approach for the treatment of cancer in humans. The toxicity associated with the administration of IL-2 and the number of cells that can be obtained by repeated leukophereses represent limits to the application of this therapy. Means to overcome these limitations are currently under active investigation.

Literature Cited

- 1. Terry, W. D., Rosenberg, S. A., eds. 1982. Immunotherapy of Human Cancer. New York : Elsevier North-Holland
- Rosenberg, S. A., Terry, W. D. 1977. Passive immunotherapy of cancer in animals and man. Adv. Cancer Res. 25: 323-88
- 3. Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. The adoptive immunotherapy of cancer: Accomplishments and prospects. *Cancer Treat. Rep.* 68:233-55
- Fefer, A., Cheever, M. A., Greenberg, P. D. 1982. Lymphocyte transfer as potential cancer immunotherapy. In *Immunological Approaches to Cancer Therapeutics*, ed. E. Mihich, 1: 333-62. New York : Wiley. 587 pp.
- Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. Lymphokine activated killer cells: A new approach to the immunotherapy of cancer. Guest editorial. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 75:595–603
- North, R. J. 1982. Cyclophosphamidefacilitated adoptive immunotherapy of an established tumor depends on elimination of tumor-induced suppressor T cells. J. Exp. Med. 155: 1063
- Cheever, M. A., Kempf, R. A., Fefer, A. 1977. Tumor neutralization, immunotherapy and chemoimmunotherapy of a Friend leukemia with cells secondarily sensitized in vitro. J. Immunol. 119:714
- Smith, H. G., Harmel, R. P., Hanna, M. G. Jr., Zwilling, B. S., Zbar, B., et al. 1977. Regression of established intradermal tumors and lymph node metastases in guinea pigs after systemic transfer of immune cells. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 58: 1315
- Eberlein, T. J., Rosenstein, M., Rosenberg, S. A. 1982. Regression of a disseminated syngeneic solid tumor by systemic transfer of lymphoid cells expanded in IL-2. J. Exp. Med. 156:385-97
- Shu, Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. Adoptive immunotherapy of newly-induced murine sarcomas. *Cancer Res.* 45:1657– 62
- Morgan, D. A., Ruscetti, F. W., Gallo, R. 1976. Selective in vitro growth of T lymphocytes from normal human bone marrows. *Science* 193:1007-8
- Yron, I., Wood, T. A., Spiess, P. J., Rosenberg, S. A. 1980. In vitro growth of murine T cells. V. The isolation and growth of lymphoid cells infiltrating syngenetic solid tumors. J. Immunol. 125: 238-45
- Lotze, M. T., Grimm, E. A., Mazumder, A., Strausser, J. L., Rosenberg, S. A. 1981. In vitro growth of cytotoxic human lymphocytes. IV. Lysis of fresh and cul-

tured autologous tumor by lymphocytes cultured in T cell growth factor (TCGF). *Cancer Res.* 41:4420–25

- Grimm, E. A., Mazumder, A., Zhang, H. Z., Rosenberg, S. A. 1982. Lymphokineactivated killer cell phenomenon: Lysis of natural killer-resistant fresh solid tumor cells by interleukin 2-activated autologous human peripheral blood lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 155:1823-41
- Grimm, E. A., Ramsey, K. M., Mazumder, A., Wilson, D. J., Djeu, J. Y., Rosenberg, S. A. 1983. Lymphokine activated killer cell phenomenon: II. The precursor phenotype is serologically distinct from peripheral T lymphocytes, memory CTL, and NK cells. J. Exp. Med. 157:884-97
- Rosenstein, M., Yron, I., Kaufmann, Y., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. Lymphokine activated killer cells: Lysis of fresh syngeneic NK-resistant murine tumor cells by lymphocytes cultured in interleukin-2. *Cancer Res.* 44: 1946–53
- Mazumder, A., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. Successful immunotherapy of natural killer-resistant established pulmonary melanoma metastases by the intravenous adoptive transfer of syngeneic lymphocytes activated in vitro by interleukin-2. J. Exp. Med. 159:495-507
- Mule, J. J., Shu, S., Schwarz, S. L., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. Adoptive immunotherapy of established pulmonary metastases with LAK cells and recombinant interleukin-2. Science 225:1487– 89
- Cheever, M. A., Greenberg, P. D., Irle, C., Thompson, J. A., Urdal, D. Y., Mochizuki, D. Y., Henney, C. S., Gillis, S. 1984. Interleukin-2 administered in vivo induces the growth of cultured T cells in vivo. J. Immunol. 132:2259
- Ettinghausen, S. E., Lipford, E. H. III, Mule, J. J., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. Systemic administration of recombinant interleukin-2 stimulates *in vivo* lymphoid cell proliferation in tissues. J. Immunol. 135:1488-97
- Chang, A. E., Hyatt, C. L., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. Systemic administration of recombinant human interleukin-2 in mice. J. Biol. Resp. Modifiers 3:561-72
- Rosenberg, S. A., Mule, J. J., Spiess, P. J., Reichert, C. M., Schwarz, S. L. 1985. Regression of established pulmonary metastases and subcutaneous tumor mediated by the systemic administration of high dose recombinant IL-2. J. Exp. Med. 161:1169-88
- 23. Taniguchi, T., Matsui, H., Fujita, T.,

Takaoka, C., Kashina, N., Yoshimoto, R., Hamuro, J. 1983. Structure and expression of a cloned cDNA for human interleukin-2. *Nature* 302:305-7

- Rosenberg, S. A., Grimm, E. A., McGrogan, M., Doyle, M., Kawaslci, E., Koths, K., Mark, G. F. 1984. Biological activity of recombinant human interleukin-2 produced in *E. coli. Science* 223:1412–15
- Wagner, H., Hardt, C., Heeg, K., Rollinghoff, M., Pfizenmaier, K. 1980. T-cellderived helper factor allows in vivo induction of cytotoxic T cells in nu/nu mice. Nature 284:278-80
- Stotter, H., Rude, E., Wagner, H. 1980. T cell factor (interleukin-2) allows in vivo induction of T helper cells against heterologous erythrocytes in athymic (nu/nu) mice. Eur. J. Immunol. 10:719-22
- Reimann, J., Diamanstein, T. 1981. Interleukin-2 allows in vivo induction of antierythrocyte autoantibody production in nude mice associated with the injection of rat erythrocytes. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 43: 641–44
- Thoman, M. L., Weigle, W. O. 1982. Cellmediated immunity in aged mice: An underlying lesion in IL-2 synthesis. J. Immunol. 128:2358-61
- Wang, B. S., Heacock, E. H., Zheng, C. X., Tilney, N. L., Mannick, J. A. 1982. Restoration of allogeneic responsiveness of lymphocytes from cyclosporin Atreated animals with Interleukin-2. *Transplantation* 33:454–56
- Merluzzi, V. J., Walker, M. M., Fananes, R. B. 1981. Inhibition of cytotoxic T-cell clonal expansion by cyclophosphamide and the recovery of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte precursors by supernatants from mixed-lymphocyte cultures. *Cancer Res.* 41:850-53
- Kern, D. E., Gillis, S., Okada, M., Henney, C. S. 1981. The role of Interleukin-2 (IL-2) in the differentiation of cytotoxic T cells: The effect of monoclonal anti IL-2 antibody and absorption with IL-2 dependent T cell lines. J. Immunol. 127: 1323-31
- Baker, P. E., Gillis, S., Ferm, M. M., Smith, K. A. 1978. The effect of T cell growth factor on the generation of cytolytic T cells. J. Immunol. 121:2168-73
- Granelli-Piperno, A., Andrus, L., Reich, E. 1984. Antibodies to interleukin 2: Effects on immune responses in vitro and in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 160:738-50
- Rook, A. H., Masur, H., Lane, H. C., Frederick, W., Kasahara, T., Macher, A. M., Djev, J. V., Manischevitz, J. F., Jackson, L., Fauci, A. S. 1983. Inter-

leukin-2 enhances the depressed natural killer and cytomegalovirus specific cytotoxic activities of lymphokines from patients with the acquired immune deficiency syndrome. J. Clin. Invest. 72: 398– 407

- 35. Flomenberg, N., Welte, K., Mertelsmann, R., Kernan, N., Ciobanu, N., Venuta, S., Feldman, S., Kruger, G., Kirkpatrick, D., Dupont, B., O'Reilly, R. 1983. Immunologic effects of Interleukin-2 in primary immunodeficiency diseases. J. Immunol. 130:2644-50
- Haregewoin, A., Godal, T., Mustafa, A. S., Belehu, A., Yemaneberhan, T. 1983. T-cell conditioned media reverse T-cell unresponsiveness in leptomatous leprosy. *Nature* 303: 342-44
- Vose, B. M., Ferguson, R., Moore, M. 1982. Mitogen responsiveness and inhibitory activity of mesenteric lymph node cells. Conditioned medium containing T cell growth factor reverses suppressor function. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 13:105-11
- Emery, P., Panayi, G. S., Nouri, A. M. E. 1984. Interleukin-2 reverses deficient cell-mediated immune responses in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 57:123-29
- Kornfield, H., Berman, J. S., Beer, D. J., Center, D. M. 1985. Induction of human T lymphocyte motility by interleukin-2. J. Immunol. 134: 3887-90
- 40. Grimm, E. A., Mazumder, A., Rosenberg, S. A. 1982. In vitro growth of cytotoxic human lymphocytes. V. Generation of allospecific cytotoxic lymphocytes to nonimmunogenic antigen by supplementation of *in vitro* sensitization with partially purified T-cell growth factor. *Cell. Immunol.* 70:148-259
- Clason, A. E., Duarte, A. J. S., Kupiec-Weglinski, J. W., Williams, J. N., Wang, B. S., Strom, T. B., Tilney, N. L. 1982. Restoration of allograft responsiveness in B rats by interleukin-2 and or adherent cells. J. Immunol. 129:252-59
- Kirkman, R. L., Barrett, L. V., Gaulton, G. N., Kelley, V. E., Ythier, A., Strom, T. B. 1985. Administration of an antiinterleukin-2 receptor monoclonal antibody prolongs cardiac allograft survival in mice. *Exp. Med.* 162:358-62
 Rosenberg, S. A., Spiess, P. J., Schwarz, S.
- Rosenberg, S. A., Spiess, P. J., Schwarz, S. L. 1983. In vivo administration of interleukin-2 enhances specific alloimmune responses. Transplantation 35:631-34
- Hefeneider, S. H., Conlon, P. J., Henney, C. S., Gillis, S. 1983. *In vivo* interleukin-2 administration augments the generation of alloreactive cytolytic T lymphocytes

and resident natural killer cells. J. Immunol. 130: 222-27

- 45. Merluzzi, V. J., Kenney, R. E., Schmid, F. A., Choi, Y. S., Faanes, R. B. 1981. Recovery of the *in vivo* cytotoxic T-cell response in cyclophosphamide-treated mice by injection of mixed-lymphocyte-culture supernatants. *Cancer Res.* 41: 3663–65
- Matory, Y. L., Chang, A. E., Lipford III, E. H., Braziel, R., Hyatt, C. L., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. Toxicity of recombinant human interleukin-2 in rats following intravenous infusion. J. Biol. Resp. Modifiers 377-90
- Rouse, B. T., Miller, L. S., Turtinen, L., Moore, R. N. 1985. Augmentation of immunity to herpes simplex virus by *in vivo* administration of interleukin-2. J. *Immunol.* 134:926-30
- Lafreniere, R., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. Successful immunotherapy of murine experimental hepatic metastases with lymphokine-activated killer cells and recombinant interleukin-2. *Cancer Res.* 45:3735-41
- Cheever, M. A., Greenberg, P. D., Fefer, A., Gillis, S. 1982. Augmentation of the anti-tumor therapeutic efficacy of longterm cultured T lymphocytes by *in vivo* administration of purified interleukin-2. J. Exp. Med. 155:968-80
- Donohue, J. H., Lotze, M. T., Robb, R. J., Rosenstein, M., Braziel, R. M., Jaffe, E. S., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. *In vivo* administration of purified Jurkat-derived interleukin-2 in mice. *Cancer Res.* 44:1380– 86
- Donohue, J. D., Rosenstein, M., Chang, A. E., Lotze, M. T., Robb, R. J., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. The systemic administration of purified interleukin-2 enhances the ability of sensitized murine lymphocytes to cure a disseminated syngeneic lymphoma. J. Immunol. 132: 2123-28
- Bindon, C., Czerniecki, M., Ruell, P., Edwards, A., McCarthy, W. H., Harris, R., Hersey, P. 1983. Clearance rates and systemic effects of intravenously administered interleukin-2 (IL-2) containing preparations in human subjects. Br. J. Cancer 47:123-33
 Lotze, M. T., Robb, R. J., Sharrow, S. O.,
- Lotze, M. T., Robb, R. J., Sharrow, S. O., Frana, L. W., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. Systemic administration of interleukin-2 in humans. J. Biol. Resp. Modifiers 3: 475-82
- Lotze, M. T., Frana, L. W., Sharrow, S. O., Robb, R. J., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. *In* vivo administration of purified human interleukin-2. I. Half-life and immunologic effects of the Jurkat cell line-derived

interleukin-2. J. Immunol. 134:157-66

- 55. Wang, A., Lu, S.-D., Mark, D. F. 1984. Site-specific mutagenesis of the human interleukin-2 gene: Structure-function analysis of the cysteine residues. *Science* 224:1431–33
- 56. Lotze, M. T., Matory, Y. L., Ettinghausen, S. E., Rayner, A. A., Sharrow, S. O., Seipp, C.-A., Custer, M. C., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. *In vivo* administration of purified human interleukin-2. II. Half life, immunologic effects and expansion of peripheral lymphoid cells *in vivo* with recombinant IL-2. *J. Immunol.* 135: 2865-75
- 57. Lotze, M. T., Custer, M. C., Sharrow, S. O., Rubin, L. A., Nelson, D. L., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. In vivo administration of purified human interleukin-2. III. Development of Tac positive cells and circulating soluble IL-2 receptors following IL-2 administration to humans. Submitted
- Lotze, M. T., Matory, Y. L., Rayner, A. A., Ettinghausen, S. E., Vetto, J. T., et al. 1985. Clinical effects and toxicity of interleukin-2 in patients with cancer. Submitted
- 59. Jacobs, S. K., Wilson, D. J., Kornblith, P. L., Grimm, E. A. 1985. Phase I studies utilizing interleukin-2 and autologous lymphokine activated killer (LAK) cells in the treatment of malignant glioma. Submitted
- 60. Kern, P., Toy, J., Dietrich, M. 1985. Preliminary clinical observations with recombinant interleukin-2 in patients with AIDS or LAS. Submitted
- Rosenstein, M., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. The generation of lytic and proliferative clones to syngeneic tumor: In vitro and in vivo studies. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 72: 1161-65
- Rosenstein, M., Eberlein, T. J., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. Adoptive immunotherapy of established syngeneic solid tumors: Role of T lymphoid subpopulations. J. Immunol. 132: 2117-22
- Mule, J. J., Rosenstein, M., Shu, S., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. Eradication of a disseminated syngeneic lymphoma by systemic adoptive transfer of immune lymphocytes is dependent upon a host component(s). *Cancer Res.* 45: 526-31
- Shu, S., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. Adoptive immunotherapy of a newly-induced sarcoma: Immunologic characteristics of effector cells. J. Immunol. 135:2895– 2903
- Rayner, A. A., Grimm, E. A., Lotze, M. T., Chu, E. W., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. Lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cell phenomenon. Analysis of factors rele-

vant to the immunotherapy of human cancer. Cancer 55:1327-33

- Mule, J. J., Shu, S., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. The anti-tumor efficacy of lymphokineactivated killer cells and recombinant interleukin-2 in vivo. J. Immunol. 135: 646-52
- Ettinghausen, S. E., Lipford, E. H. III, Mule, J. J., Rosenberg, S. A. 1985. Recombinant interleukin-2 stimulates in vivo proliferation of adoptively transferred lymphokine activated killer (LAK) cells. J. Immunol. 135:3623-35
- Strausser, J. L., Mazumder, A., Grimm, E. A., Lotze, M. T., Rosenberg, S. A. 1981. Lysis of human solid tumors by autologous cells sensitized in vitro to alloantigens. J. Immunol. 127:266-71
- Mazumder, A. M., Grimm, E. A., Zhang, H. Z., Rosenberg, S. A. 1982. Lysis of fresh human solid tumors by autologous lymphocytes activated in vitro with lectins. *Cancer Res.* 42:913–18

- Mazumder, A., Grimm, E. A., Rosenberg, S. A. 1983. The lysis of fresh human solid tumors by autologous lymphocytes activated in vitro by allosensitization. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 15:1-10
- Mazumder, A., Grimm, E. A., Rosenberg, S. A. 1983. Characterization of the lysis of fresh human solid tumors by autologous lymphocytes activated in vitro with phytohemagglutinin. J. Immunol. 130:958-64
- 72. Mazumder, A., Eberlein, T. J., Grimm, E. A., Wilson, D. K., Keenan, A. M., Aamodt, R., Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. Phase I study of the adoptive immunotherapy of human cancer with lectin activated autologous mononuclear cells. *Cancer* 53:896–905
- Rosenberg, S. A. 1984. Immunotherapy of cancer by the systemic administration of lymphoid cells plus interleukin-2. J. Biol. Resp. Modifiers 3: 501-11



Annual Review of Immunology Volme 4, 1986

CONTENTS

THE ACCEPTANCE AND REJECTION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL CONCEPTS, David W. Talmage	1
FACTORS CONTROLLING THE B-CELL CYCLE, Fritz Melchers and Jan Andersson	13
AN OVERVIEW OF T-SUPPRESSOR CELL CIRCUITS, Geoffrey L. Asherson, Vittorio Colizzi, and Marek Zembala	37
THE HUMAN INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR, Warner C. Greene and Warren J. Leonard	69
LYMPHADENOPATHY-ASSOCIATED-VIRUS INFECTION AND ACQUIRED IMMUNODEFICIENCY SYNDROME, J. C. Gluckman, D. Klatzmann, and L. Montagnier	97
EFFECTOR MECHANISMS IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION, Don W. Mason and Peter J. Morris	119
STRUCTURAL CORRELATES OF IDIOTOPES, Joseph M. Davie, Michael V. Seiden, Neil S. Greenspan, Charles T. Lutz, Timothy L. Bartholow, and Brian L. Clevinger	147
REGULATION OF B-CELL DIFFERENTIATION: INTERACTIONS OF FACTORS AND CORRESPONDING RECEPTORS, Toshiyuki Hamaoka and Shiro Ono	167
THE PANSPECIFIC HEMOPOIETIN OF ACTIVATED T LYMPHOCYTES (INTERLEUKIN-3), John W. Schrader	205
Molecular Immunobiology of Complement Biosynthesis: A Model of Single-Cell Control of Effector-Inhibitor	
BALANCE, David H. Perlmutter and Harvey R. Colten IDIOTYPIC MIMICRY OF BIOLOGICAL RECEPTORS, Glen N.	231
Gaulton and Mark I. Greene Analysis of the Expression and Function of Class-II Major	253
HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX-ENCODED MOLECULES BY DNA-MEDIATED GENE TRANSFER, Ronald N. Germain and Bernard Malissen	281
THE REGULATION AND EXPRESSION OF <i>c-myc</i> IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT CELLS, <i>Kathleen Kelly and Ulrich Siebenlist</i>	317
	ix

x CONTENTS (continued)

REGULATION OF THE ASSEMBLY AND EXPRESSION OF VARIABLE- REGION GENES, George D. Yancopoulos and Frederick W. Alt	339
CURRENT STATUS OF IMMUNOLOGICAL ADJUVANTS, H. S. Warren, F. R. Vogel, and L. A. Chedid	369
IMMUNOGLOBULIN A: STRATEGIC DEFENSE INITIATIVE AT THE MUCOSAL SURFACE, Brian J. Underdown and J. Michael Schiff	389
THE RECEPTOR WITH HIGH AFFINITY FOR IMMUNOGLOBULIN E, Henry Metzger, Gisele Alcaraz, Robert Hohman, Jean- Pierre Kinet, Victor Pribluda, and Rodolfo Quarto	419
MURINE MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS-I MUTANTS: MOLECULAR ANALYSIS AND STRUCTURE-FUNCTION IMPLICATIONS, Stanley G. Nathenson, Jan Geliebter, Gertrude M. Pfaffenbach, and Richard A. Zeff	471
THE MEMBRANE ATTACK COMPLEX OF COMPLEMENT, Hans J. Müller- Eberhard	503
THE MOLECULAR GENETICS OF THE T-CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR AND T-CELL ANTIGEN RECOGNITION, Mitchell Kronenberg, Gerald Siu, Leroy E. Hood, and Nilabh Shastri	529
THE ROLE OF THE T3/ANTIGEN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN T-CELL ACTIVATION, Arthur Weiss, John Imboden, Kenneth Hardy, Bernhard Manger, Cox Terhorst, and John Stobo	593
THE PHYSIOLOGY OF B CELLS AS STUDIED WITH TUMOR MODELS, Joan M. Hanley-Hyde and Richard G. Lynch	621
MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS, Ronald B. Herberman, Craig W. Reynolds, and John Ortaldo	651
CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY USING INTERLEUKIN-2 AND INTERLEUKIN-2-ACTIVATED LYMPHOCYTES, Steven A. Rosenberg and Michael T. Lotze	681
Indexes	
Subject Index	711
Cumulative Author Index, Volumes 1–4	724
Cumulative Little Index, volumes 1–4	726